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PREFACE.

After several months of almost uninterrupted labor, the History

of Shelby County is completed. In issuing it to our patrons we do

not claim for it perfection; but that it contains that reasonable de-

gree of accuracy which onl}^ could be expected of us, is confidently

asserted. The ditficulties that surround such an undertaking can

scarcely be realized by one who has never engaged in work of the

kind. To reconcile the doubtful and often conflicting statements

that are so frequently made by those who would seem to be best

informed, is a task both perplexing and tedious. Yet we beheve

that we have been able to present a history of the county that is as

nearl}^ complete as reason can demand, and the book exceeds our

promises in almost every particular. We have endeavored to set

forth the facts in as concise and unostentatious language as possible,

believing it is for the facts and not for rhetorical display that the

book is desired. The mechanical execution and general appear-

ance of the volume will recommend it, even to the fastidious. The

arrangement of the matter is such as to render an index almost

superfluous, as the subject under consideration is at the top of ever}?-

right-hand page. For further details the italic subdivisions will

enable the reader to refer with readiness to any topic. In the spell-

ing of proper names there is such a wide difference, even among
members of the same family, and is a matter of so arbitrary a nature,

that our only guide was each man's desire. Every clew that gave

promise of important facts connected with the county's history has

been investigated by those engaged in the work. We believe the

volume will be favorably received and highly appreciated by those

for w^hom it was prepared. Our thanks are due to those who have

rendered us assistance and to our patrons.

THE PUBLISHERS.

Chicago, III., October, 1887.
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HISTORY OF INDIANA.

FORMER OCCUPANTS.

PREHISTORIC RACES,

Scientists have ascribed to the Mound Builders varied origins

and though their divergence of opinion may for a time seem incom-

patible with a thorono^h investigation of the subject, and tend to

a confusion of ideas, no doubt whatever can exist as to the compar-
ative accuracy of conclusions arrived at by some of them. Like

the vexed question of the Pillar Towers of Ireland, it has caused

much speculation, and elicited the opinions of so many learned

antiquarians, ethnologists and travelers, that it will not be found

beyond the range of possibility to make deductions that may
suffice to solve the problem who were the prehistoric settlers of

America. To achieve this it will not be necessary to go beyond the

period over which Scripture history extends, or to indulge in those

airy flights of imagination so sadly identified with occasional

writers of even the Christian school, and all the accepted literary-

exponents of modern paganism.
That this continent is co-existent with the world of the ancients

cannot be questioned. Every investigation, instituted under the

auspices of modern civilization, confirms the fact and leaves no

channel open through which the skeptic can escape the thorough
refutation of liis opinions. China, with its numerous living testi-

monials of antiquity, with its ancient, though limited literature

and its Babelish superstitions, claims a continuous history from

antediluvian times; but although its continuity may be denied

with every just reason, there is nothing to prevent the transmission

of a hieroglyphic record of its history prior to 1656 anno tnundi,,

since many traces of its early'settlement survived the Deluge, and

became sacred objects of the first historical epoch. This very sur-

vival of a record, such as that of which the Cliinese boast, is not

at variance with the designs of a God who made and ruled the

universe; but that an antediluvian people inhabited this continent,
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will not be claimed; because it is not probable, thougli it may be

possible, that a settlement in a land which may be considered a

portion of the Asiatic continent, was effected by the immediate

followers of the first progenitors of the human race. Therefore, on

entering the study of the ancient people who raised these tumu-

lus monuments over large tracts of the country, it will be just

sutiicient to wander back to that time when the flood-gates of

heaven were swung open to hurl destruction on a wicked world;

and in doing so the inquiry must be based on legendary, or rather

upon many circumstantial evidences; for, so far as written narra-

tive extends, there is nothing to show that a movement of people
too far east resulted in a Western settlement.

THE FIRST IMMIGRATION.

The first and most probable sources in which the origin of the

Builders must be sought, are those countries lying along the east-

ern coast of Asia, which doubtless at that time stretched far beyond
its present limits, and presented a continuous shore from Lopatka
to Point Cambodia, holding a population comparatively civilized,

and all professing some elementary form of the Boodhism of later

days. Those peoples, like the Chinese of the present, were bound

to live at home, and probably observed that law until after the con-

fusion of languages and the dispersion of the builders of Babel in

175Y, A. M.
;
but subsequently, within the following century, the

old Mongolians, like the new, crossed the great ocean in tlie very

paths taken by the present representatives of the race, arrived on

the same shores, which now extend a very questionable hospitality

to them, and entered at once upon the colonization of the country-

south and east, while the Caucasian race engaged in a similar move-

ment of exploration and colonization over what may be justly

termed the western extension of Asia, and both peoples growing
stalwart under the change, attained a moral and physical eminence

to which they never could lay claini under the tropical sun which

shed its beams upon the cradle of the human race.

That mysterious people who, like the Brahmins of to-day, wor-

shiped some transitory deity, and in after years, evidently embraced

the idealization of Boodhism, as preached in Mongolia early in the

35th century of the world, together with acquiring the learning of

tlie Confucian and Pythagorean schools of the same period, spread

all over the land, and in their numerous settlements erected these

ratiiSj or mounds, and sacrificial altars whereon they received their
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periodical visitinor gods, surrendered their bodies to natural absorp-
tion or annihilation, and watched lor the return of some transmi-

grated soul, the while adoring the universe, which with all beings

they believed would be eternally existent. They possessed religious

orders corresponding .in external show at least with the Essenes or

TheraputaB of the pre-Christian and Christian epochs, and to the

reformed TlieraputjB or monks of the present. Every memento
of their coming and their stay which has descended to us is an evi-

dence of .their civilized condition. The free copper found within

the tumuli; the oj^en veins of the Superior and Iron Mountain

copper-mines, with all the modus operandi of ancient mining, such

as ladders, levers, chisels, and hammer-heads, discovered by the

French explorers of the Northwest and the Mississippi, are conclu-

sive proofs that those prehistoric people were highly civilized, and

that many flourishing colonies were spread throughout the Missis-

sippi valle}-, while yet the mammoth, the mastodon, and a hundred-

other animals, now only known by their gigantic fossil remains,

guarded the eastern shore of the continent as it were against sup-

posed invasions of the Tower Builders who went west from Babel;
while yet the beautiful isles of the Antilles formed an integral

portion of tliis continent, long years before the European Northman
dreamed of setting forth to the discovery of Greenland and the

northern isles, and certainly at a time when all that portion of

America north of latitude 45*^ was an ice-incumbcred waste.

Within the last few years great advances have been made toward

the discovery of antiquities whether pertaining to remains of organic
or inorganic nature. Together with many small, but telling

relics of the early inhabitants of the country, the fossils of pre-

historic animals have been unearthed from end to end of the land,

and in districts, too, long pronounced by geologists of some repute
to be without even a vestige of vertebrate fossils. Among the

collected souvenirs of an aije about which so verv little is known,

are twenty-five vertebrte averaging thirteen inches in diameter,

and three vertebrae ossified together measure nine cubical feet; a

thigh-bone five feet long by twenty-eight, by twelve inches in

diameter, and the shaft fourteen by eight inches thick, the entire

lot weighing 600 lbs. These fossils are presumed to belong to the

cretaceous period, when the Dinosaur roamed over the country from

East to West, desolating the villages of the people. This animal

is said to have been sixty feet long, and when feeding in cypress

and palm forests, to extend himself eighty-five feet, so that he may
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devour the budding tops of those great trees. Other efforts in this

direction may lead to great results, and culminate probably in the

discovery of a tablet engraven by some learned Mound Builder,

describing in the ancient hieroglyphics of China all these men and

beasts whose history excites so much speculation. The identity of

the Mound Builders with the Mongolians might lead us to hope
for such a consummation; nor is it beyond tlie range of probability,

particularly in this practical age, to find the future labors of some
industrious antiquarian requited by tlie upheaval of a tablet, written

in the Tartar characters of 1700 years ago, bearing on a subject

which can now be treated only on a purely circumstantial basis.

THE SECOND IMMIGRATION

may have begun a few centuries prior to the Christian era, and

unlike the former expedition or expeditions, to have traversed north-

eastern Asia to its Arctic confines, and then east to the narrow

channel now known as Behring's Straits, which they crossed, and

sailing up the unchanging Yukon, settled under the shadow of

Mount St. Elias for many years, and pusliing South commingled
with their countr3''men, soon acquiring the characteristics of the

descendants of the first colonists. Chinese chronicles tell of such

a people, who went North and were never heard of more. Circum-

stances conspire to render that particular colony the carriers of a

new religious faith and of an alphabetic system of a representative
character to the old colonists, and they, doubtless, exercised a most

beneficial influence in other respects ;
because the influx of immi-

grants of such culture as were the Cliinese, even of that remote

period, must necessarily bear very favorable results, not only in

bringing in reports of their travels, but also accounts from the

fatherland bearing on the latest events.

With the idea of a second and important exodus there ard many
theorists united, one of whom saj'S: "It is now the generally
received opinion that the first inhabitants of America passed over

from Asia through these straits. The number of small islands

lying between both continents renders this opinion still more

probable; and it is yet further confirmed by some remarkable traces

of similarity in the physical conformation of the northern natives

of both continents. The Esquimaux of North America, the

Samoieds of Asia, and the Laplanders of Europe, are supposed to

be of the same family; and this supposition is strengthened by the

affinity which exists in their languages. The researches of Hum-
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boldt liave traced the Mexicans to the vicinity of Behrin^'s Straits;

whence it is conjectured that they, as well as the Peruvians and

other tribes, came originally from Asia, and were the Iliongnoos,

who are, in the Chinese annals, said to have emigrated under Puno,
and to have been lost in the North of Siberia."

Since this theory is accepted by most antiquaries, there is every
reason to believe that from the discovery of what may be called an

overland route to what was then considered an eastern extension of

that country which is now known as the " Celestial Empire," many
caravans of emigrants passed to their new homes in the land of

illimitable possibilities until the way became a well-marked trail

over which the Asiatic might travel forward, and having once

entered the Elysian fields never entertained an idea of returning.

Thits from generation to generation the tide of immigration poured
in until the slopes of the Pacific and the banks of the great inland

rivers became hives of busy industry. Magnificent cities and

monuments were raised at the bidding of the tribal leaders and

populous settlements centered with happy villages sprung up

everywhere in manifestation of the power and wealth and knowL

edge of the [)eoj)le. The colonizing Caucasian of the historic

period walked over this great country on the very ruins of a civil-

ization which a thousand years before eclipsed all that of which he

could boast. He walked througli the wilderness of the West over

buried treasures hidden under the accumulated growth of nature,

nor rested until he saw, with great surprise, the remains of ancient

pyramids and temples and cities,. larger and evidently more beauti-

ful than ancient Egypt could bring forth after its long years of

uninterrupted history. The pyramids resemble those of Egypt in

exterior form, and in some instances are of larger dimensions. The

pyramid of Oholula is square, having each side of its base 1,335

feet in length, and its height about 172 feet. Anotlier pyramid?
situated in the north of Yera Cruz, is formed of large blocks

of highly-polished porphyry, and bears upon its front hiero-

glyphic inscriptions and curious sculpture. Each side of its

square base is 82 feet in length, and a flight of 57 steps conducts to

its summit, which is 65 feet in height. The ruins of Palenque are

said to extend 20 miles along the ridge of a mountain, and the

remains of an Aztec city, near the banks of the river Gila, are

spread over more than a square league. Their literature consisted

of hieroglyphics; but their arithmetical knowledge did not extend

farther than their calculations by the aid of grains of corn. Yet,
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notwithstanding all their varied accomplishments, and they were

evidently many, their notions of religious duty led to a most demo-

niac zeal at once barbarously savage and ferociously cruel. Each

visiting, god instead of bringing new life to the people, brought
death to thousands; and their grotesque idols, exposed to drown

the senses of the -beholders in fear, wrought wretchedness rather

than spiritual happiness, until, as some learned and humane Monte-

zumian said, the people never approached these idols without fear,

and this fear was the great animating principle, the great religious

motive power which sustained the terrible religion. Their altars

were sprinkled with blood drawn from their own bodies in large

quantities, and on them thousands of human victims were sacri-

ficed in honor of the demons whom they worshiped. The head

and heart of every captive taken in war were offered up as a bloody
sacrifice to the god of battles, while the victorious legions feasted

on the remaining portions of the dead bodies. It has been ascer-

tained that during the ceremonies attendant on the consecration of

two of their temples, the number of prisoners offered up in sacri-

fice was 12,210; while tlieir own legions contributed voluntary
victims to the terrible belief in large numbers. Nor did this

horrible custom cease immediately after 1521, when Cortez entered

the imperial city of the Montezumas; for, on being driven from

it, all his troops who fell into the hands of the native soldiers were

subjected to the most terrible and prolonged suffering that could be

experienced in this world, and when about to yield up that spirit

which is indestructible, were offered in sacrifice, their hearts and

heads consecrated, and the victors allowed to feast on the yet warm
flesh.

A reference is made here to the period when the Montezumas

ruled over Mexico, simply to gain a better idea of the hideous

idolatr}' which took the place of the old Boodhism of the Mound

Builders, and doubtless helped in a great measure to give victory

to the new comers, even as the tenets of Mahometanism urged the

ignorant followers of the prophet to the conquest of great nations.

It was not the faith of the people who built the mounds and the

pyramids and the temples, and who, 200 years before theOhristian

era, built the great wall of jealous China. No: rather was it that

terrible faith born of the Tartar victory, which carried the great

defenses of China at the point of the javelin and hatchet, who
afterward marched to the very walls of Rome, under Alaric, and
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spread over the islands of Polynesia to the Pacific slopes of South

America.

THE TARTARS

came there, and, like the pure Moui^ols of Mexico and the Missis-

sippi valley, rose to a state of civilization bordering on that attained

by them, l^ere for centuries the sons of the tierce Tartar race con-

tinued to dwell in comparative peace until the all-ruling ambition

of empire took in the whole country from the Pacific to the Atlan-

tic, and peopled the vast territory watered by the Amazon with a

race that was destined to conquer all the peoples of the Orient,

and only to fall before the march of the arch-civilizing Caucasian.

In course of time those fierce Tartars pushed their -settlements

northward, and ultimately entered tiie territories of the Mound

Builders, putting to death all who fell within their reach, and

causing the survivors of the death-dealing invasion to seek a refuge

from the hordes of this semi-barbarous people in the wilds and fast-

nesses of the Nortli and Northwest. The beautiful couutr}'^ of the

Mound Builders was now in the hands of savage invaders, the quiet,

industrious people who raised the temples and pyramids were gone;
and the wealth of intelligence and industry, accumulating forages,

passed into the possession of a rapacious horde, who could admire

it only so far as it offered objects for plunder. Even in this the

invaders were satisfied, and then having arrived at the height of

their ambition, rested on their swords and entered upon the luxury
and ease in the enjoyment of which they were found when the van-

guard of European civilization ap|)eared upon the scene. Mean-

time the southern countries which those adventurers abandoned

after having completed their conquests in the North, were soon

peopled by hundreds of people, always moving from island to

island and ultimafely halting amid the ruins of villages deserted

by those who, as legends tell, had passed eastward but never returned;

and it would scarcely be a matter for surprise if those emigrants
were found to be the progenitors of that race found by the Spaniards
in 1532, and identical with the Araucanians, Cuenches and Hull-

tiches of to-day.

RELICS OF THE MOUND BUILDERS.

One of the most brilliant and impartial historians of the Republic
stated that the valley of the Mississippi contained no monuments.

So far as the word is entertained now, he was literally correct, but
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in some hasty effort neglected to qualify his sentence by a refer-

ence to the numerous relics of antiquity to be found throughout
its length and breadth, and so exposed his chapters to criticism.

The vallev of the Father of Waters, and indeed the country from

the trap rocks of the Great Lakes southeast to the Gulf and south-

west to Mexico, abound in tell-tale monuments of a race of people
much farther advanced in civilization than the Monteeumas of the

sixteenth century. The remains of walls and fortifications found

in Kentucky and Indiana, the earthworks of Vincennes and

throughout the valley of the Wabash, the mounds scattered over

Alabama, Florida, Georgia and Virginia, and those found in Illi-

nois, Wisconsin and Minnesota, are all evidences of the univer-

sality of the Chinese Mongols and of their advance toward a com-

parative knowleda^e of man and cosmology. At the mouth of

Fourteen -Mile creek, in Clark county, Indiana, there stands one of

these old monuments known as the '' Stone Fort." It is an

unmistakable heirloom of a great and ancient people, and must
have formed one of their most important posts. The State Geolo-

gist's report, filed among the records of the State and furnished

by Prof. Cox, says: "At the mouth of Fourteen-Mile creek, and

about three miles from Charleston, the county-seat of Clark county,
there is one of the most remarkable stone fortifications which has

ever come under my notice. Accompanied by my assistant, Mr.

Borden, and a number of citizens of Charleston, I visited the 'Stone

Fort' for the purpose of making an examination of it. The locality

selected for this fort presents many natural advantages for making
it impregnable to the opposing forces of prehistoric times. It

occupies the point of an elevated narrow ridge which faces the

Ohio river on the east and is bordered by Fourteen-Mile creek on

the west side. This creek empties into the Ohio a short distance

below the fort. The top of the ridge is pear-shaped, with the

part answering to the neck at the north end. This part is not

over twenty feet wide, and is protected by precipitous natural walls

of stone. It is 280 feet above the level of the Ohio river, and the

slope is very gradual to the south. At the upper field it is 210 feet

high and one hundred steps wide. At the lower timber it is 120

feet high. The bottom land at the foot of the south end is sixty
feet above the river. Along the greater part of the Ohio river

front there is an abrupt escarpment rock, entirely too steep to be

scaled, and a similar natural barrier exists along a portion of the

northwest side of the ridge, facing the creek. This natural wall
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is joined to the neck of an artificial wall, made by piling up, mason
fashion but without mortar, loose stone, which had evidently been

pried up from the carboniferous layers of rock. This made wall, at

this point, is about 150 feet long. It is built along the slope of the

hill and had an elevation of about 75 feet above its base, the upper
ten feet being vertical. The inside of the wall is protected by a

ditch. The remainder of the hill is protected by an artificial stone

wall, built in the same manner, but not more than ten feet liigh.

The elevation of the side wall above the creek bottom is 80 feet.

"Within the artificial walls is a string of mounds which rise to the

height of the wall, and are protected from the washing of the hill-

sides by a ditch 20 feet wide and four feet deep. The position of

the artificial walls, natural cliffs of bedded stone, as well as that of

the ditch and mounds, are well illustrated. The top of the enclosed

ridge embraces ten or twelve acres, and there are as many as five

mounds that can be recugnized on the flat surface, while no doubt

many others existed which have been obliterated by time, and

though the agency of man in his efforts to cultivate a portion of

the ground. A trench was cut into one of these mounds in search

of relics. A few fragments of charcoal and decomposed bones, and

a large irregular, diamond-shaped boulder, with a small circular

indentation near the middle of the upper part, that was worn quite
smooth by the use to which it had been put, and the small pieces

of fossil coral, comprised all the articles of note which were revealed

by the excavation. The earth of which the mound is made resem-

bles that seen on the hillside, and was probably in most part taken

from the ditch. The margin next to the ditch was protected by
slabs of stone set on edge, and leaning at an angle corresponding to

the slope of the mound. This stone shield was two and one-half

feet wnde and one foot high. At intervals along the great ditch

there aie chaimels formed between the mounds that probably served

to carry off the surplus water through openings in the outer wall.

On the top of the enclosed ridge, and near its narrowest part, there

is one mound much lai'ger than any of the others, and so situated

as to command an extensive view up and down the Ohio river, as well

as affbrdine: an unobstructed view east and west. This is designated

as ' Look-out Mound.' There is near it a slight break in the cliff

of rock, which furnished a narrow passage way to the Ohio river.

Though the locality afforded many natural advantages for a fort or

stronghold, one is compelled to admit that much skill was displayed

and labor expended in making its defense as perfect as possible at
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all points. Stone axes, pestles, arrow-heads, spear-points, totums,

charms and flint flakes have been found in great abundance in

plowing the field at the foot of the old fort."

From the " Stone Fort " the Professor turns his steps to Posey

county, at a point on the Wabash, ten miles above the mouth,
called "Bone Bank," on account of the number of human bones

continually washed out from the river bank. " It is," he states

"situated in a bend on the left bank of the river; and the ground
is about ten feet above high-water mark, being the only land along

this portion of the river that is not submerged in seasons of high
water. The bank slopes gradually back from the river to a slough.

This slough now seldom contains water, but no doubt at one time

it was an arm of the Wabash river, which flowed around the Bone

Bank and aftbrded protection to the island home of the Mound
Builders. The Wabash has been changing its bed for many years,

leaving a broad extent of newly made land on the right shore, and

gradually making inroads on the left shore by cutting away the

Bone Bank. The stages of growth of land on the right bank of the

river are well defined by the cottonwood trees, which increase in size

as you go back from the river. Unless there is a change in the cur-

rent of the river, all trace of the Bone Bank will be obliterated.

Already within the memory of the white inhabitants, the bank has

been removed to the width of several hundred yards. As the bank

is cut by the current of the river it loses its support, and when the

water sinks it tumbles over, carrving with it the bones of the

Mound Builders and the cherished articles buried with them. No
locality in the country furnishes a greater number and variety of

relics than this. It has proved especially rich in pottery of

quaint design and skillful workmanship. I have a number of jugs
and pots and a cup found at the Bone Bank. This kind of work

has been very abundant, and is still found iu such quantities that

we are led to conclude that its manufacture formed a leadino^ Indus-

try of the inhabitants of the Bone Bank. It is not in Europe
alone that we And a well-founded claim of high antiquity for the

art of making hard and durable stone by a mixture of clay, lime,

sand and stone; for I am convinced that this art was possessed by
a race of people who inhabited this continent at a period so remote

that neither tradition nor history can furnish any account of them.

They belonged to the Neolithic, or polished-stone, age. They lived

in towns and built mounds for sepulture and worship and pro-
tected their homes bv surrounding them with walls of earth and
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stone. In some of these mounds specimen^ of various kinds of

pottery, in a perfect state oi preservation, have from time to time

been found, and frao^ments are so common that every student of

archaeology can have a bountiful supply. Some of these fragments
indicate vessels of very great size. At the Saline'springs of Gal-

latin I picked up fragments that indicated, by their curvature, ves-

sels five to six feet in diameter, and it is probable they are frag-

ments of artificial stone pans used to hold brine that was manufac-

tured into salt by solar evaporation.

"Now, all tlie pottery belonging to the Mound Builders' age,

which I have seen, is composed of alluvial clay and sand, or a mix-

ture of the former with pulverized fresh-water shells. A paste
made of such a mixture possesses, in high degree, the properties of

hydraulic Puzzuoland and Portland cement, so that vessels formed

of it hardened without being burned, as is customary with modern

pottery."
The Professor deals very aptly with this industry of the aborig-

ines, and concludes a very able disquisition on the Bono Bank in

its relation to the prehistoric builders.

HIEROGLYPHICS OF THE MOUND-BUILDERS.

The great circular redoubt or earth-work found two miles west of

the village of New Washington, and the " Stone Fort," on a ridge

one mile west of the village of Deputy, ofi'er a subject for the anti-

quarian as deeply interesting as any of the monuments of a

decayed empire so far discovered.
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From end to end of Indiana there are to be found many other rel-

ics of the obscure past. Some of them liave been unearthed and now

appear among the collected antiquities at Indianapolis. The highly
finished sandstone pipe, the copper ax, stone axes, flint arrow-heads

and magnetic pTummets found a few years ago beneath the soil of

Cut-Off Island near New Harmony, together with the pipes of rare

workmanship and undoubted age, unearthed near Covington, all

live as it were in testimony of their owner's and maker's excel-

lence, and hold a share in the evidence of the partial annihilation

of a race, with the complete disruption of its manners, customs

and industries; and it is possible that when numbers of these relics

are placed together, a key to the phonetic or rather hieroglyphic

S3'stem of that remote period might be evolved.

It may be asked what these hieroglyphical characters really are,

"Well, they are varied in form, so much so that the pipes found in

the mounds of Indians, each bearing a distinct representation of

some animal, may be taken for one species, used to represent the

abstract ideas of the Mound Builders, The second form consists

of pure hieroglypliics or phonetic characters, in which the sound is

represented instead of the object; and the third, or painted form of

the first, conveys to the mind that which is desired to be repre-

sented. This form exists among the Cree Indians of the far Korth-

west, at present. They, wlien departing from their permanent vil-

lages for the distant hunting grounds, paint on the barked trees in

the neighborhood the figure of a snake or eagle, or perhaps huskey

dog; and this animal is supposed to guard the position until the

warrior's return, or welcome any friendly tribes that may arrive

there in the interim. In the case of the Mound Builders, it is un-

likely that this latter extreme was resorted to, for the simple reason

that the relics of their occupation are too high in the ways of art to

tolerate such a barbarous science of language; but the sculptured

pipes and javelins and spear-heads of the Mound Builders may be

taken as a collection of graven images, each conveying a set of

ideas easily understood, and perhaps sometimes or more generallv
used to designate the vocation, name or character of the owner.

That the builders possessed an alphabet of a phonetic form, and

purely hieroglyphic, can scarcely be questioned; but until one or

more of the unearthed tablets, which bore all or even a portion of

such characters, are raised from their centuried graves, the mystery
which surrounds this people must remain, while we must dwell in

a world of mere speculation.
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Vigo, Jasper, Sullivan, Switzerland and Ohio counties can boast

of a most liberal endowment in this relation; and when in other

days the people will direct a minute inquiry, and penetrate to the

very heart of the thousand cones which are scattered throuo^hout

the laud, they may possibly extract the blood in the shape of metal-

lic and porcelain works, with liieroglyphic tablets, while leaving
the form of heart and body complete to entertain and delight un-

born generations, who in their time will wonder much when they
learn that an American people, living toward the close of the 59th

century, could possibly indulge in such an anachronism as is im-

plied in the term "Xew World. "

THE INDIANS.

The origin of the Red Men, or American Indians, is a subject
which interests as well as instructs. It is a favorite with the eth-

nologist, even as it is one of deep concern to the ordinary reader.

A review of two works lately publislied on the origin of the Indians

treats the matter in a peculiarly reasonable light. It says:
"
Recently a German writer has put forward one theory on the

subject, and an English writer has put forward another and directly

opposite theory. Tiie difference of opinion concerning our aborig-
inals among authors who have made a profound study of races is at

once curious and interesting. Blumenbach treats them in his

classifications as a distinct variety of the human family; but, in the
threefold division of Dr. Latham, they are ranked among the JVIon-

golidse. Other writers on race regard them as a branch of the great
Mongolian family, which at a distant period found its way from
Asia to this continent, and remained here for centuries separate
from the rest of mankind, passing, meanwhile, through divers

phases of barbarism and civilization. Morton, our eminent eth-

nologist, and his followers, Nott and Gliddon, claim for our native

Red Men an origin as distinct as the flora and fauna of this conti-

nent. Prichard, whose views are apt to differ from Morton's, finds

reason to believe, on comparing the American tribes together, that

they must have formed a separate department of nations from the
earliest period of the world. The era of their existence as a distinct

and insulated people must probably be dated back to the time
which separated into nations the inhabitants of the Old World, and

fave
to each its individuality and primitive language. Dr. Robert

Irown, the latest authority, attributes, in his " Races of Mankind,"
an Asiatic origin to our aboriginals. He says that the Western In-

dians not only personally resemble their nearest neighbors
—the

Northeastern Asiatics—but they resemble them in language and
traditions. The Esquimaux on the American and the Tchuktchis
on the Asiatic side understand one another perfectly. Modern an-
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thropologists, indeed, are disposed to think tliat Japan, the Kuriles,
and neighboring regions, may be regarded as the original home of

the greater part of the native American race. It is also admitted

by them that between the tribes scattered from the Arctic sea to

Cape Horn there is more uniformity of physical features than is

seen in any other quarter of the globe. The weight of evidence

and authority is altogether in favor of the opinion that our sa-

called Indians are a branch of the Mongolian family, and all addi-

tional researches strengthen the opinion. The tribes of both North
and Soutli America are unquestionably homogeneous, and, in all

likelihood, had their origin in Asia, though they have been altered

and modified by thousands of years of total separation from the

parent stock."

The conclusions arrived at by the reviewer at that time, though

safe, are too general to lead the reader to form any definite idea on

the subject. No doubt whatever can exist, when the American In-

dian is regarded as of an Asiatic origin; but there is nothing in the

works or even in the review, to which these works were subjected,

which might account for the vast difference in manner and form

between the Red Man, as he is now known, or even as he appeared
to Columbus and his successors in the field of discovery, and the

comparatively civilized inhabitants of Mexico, as seen in 1521 by
Cortez, and of Peru, as witnessed by Pizarro in l532. The fact is

that the pure bred Indian of the present is descended directly

from the earliest inhabitants, or in other words from the survivors

of that people who, on being driven from their fair possessions, re-

tired to the wilderness in sorrow and reared up their children under

the saddening influences of their unquenchable griefs, bequeathing
them only the habits of the wild, cloud-roofed home of their de-

clining years, a sullen silence, and a rude moral code. In after

years these wild sons of the forest and prairie grew in numbers and

in strength. Some legend told them of their present sufferings, of

the station which their fathers once had known, and of the riotous

race which now reveled in wealth which should be theirs. The
fierce passions of the savage were aroused, and uniting their scat-

tered bands marched in silence upon the villages of the Tartars,

driving them onward to the capital of their lucas, and consigning
their homes to the flames. Once in view of the great city, the

hurrying bands halted in surprise; but Tartar cunning took in the

situation and offered pledges of amity, which were sacredly ob-

served. Henceforth Mexico was open to the Indians, bearing pre-

cisely the same relation to them that the Hudson's Bay Company's
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villages do to the Northwestern Indians of the present; obtaining
all, and bestowing very little. The subjection of the Mongolian
race represented in North America by that branch of it to which

the Tartars belonged, represented in the Southern portion of the con-

tinent, seems to have taken place some five centuries before the

advent of the European, while it may be concluded that the war of

the races which resulted in reducing the villages erected by the

Tartar hordes to ruin took place between one and two hundred

^jears later. These statements, though actually referring to events

which in point of time are comparatively modern, can only be sub-

stantiated by the facts that, about the periods mentioned the dead

bodies of an unknown race of men were washed ashore on the Eu-

ropean coasts, while previous to that time there is no account

whatever in European annals of even a vestige of trans-Atlantic hu-

manity being transferred by ocean currents to the gaze of a won-

dering people. Towards the latter half ot the 15th century two

dead bodies entirely free from decomposition, and corresponding
with the Red Men as they afterward appeared to Columbus, were

cast on the shores of the Azores, and confirmed Columbus in his be-

lief in the existence of a western world and western people.

Storm and flood and diseat^e have created sad havoc in the ranlfs

of the Indian since the occupation of the country by the white man.

These natural causes have conspired to decimate the race even more

than the advance of civilization, which seems not to affect it to any
material extent. In its maintenance of the same number of rep-

resentatives during three centuries, and its existence in the very
face of a most unceremonious, and, whenever necessary, cruel con-

quest, the grand dispensations of the unseen Ruler of the universe

is demonstrated; for, without the aborigines, savage and treach-

erous as they were, it is possible that the explorers of former times

would have so many natural difficulties to contend with, that their

work would be surrendered in despair, and the most fertile regions

of the continent saved for the plowshares of generations yet un-

born. It is questionable whether we owe the discovery of this con-

tinent to the unaided scientific knowledge of Columbus, or to the

dead bodies of the two Indians referred to above; nor can their ser-

vices to the explorers of ancient and modern times be over-esti-

mated. Their existence is embraced in the plan of the Divinity

for the government of the world, and it will not form subject for

surprise to learn that the same intelligence which sent a thrill of

liberty into every corner of the republic, will, in the near future,
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devise some method under which the remnant of a great and an-

cient race may taste the sweets of public kindness, and feel that,

after centuries of turmoil and tyranny, they have at last found a

shelter amid a sympathizing people. Many have looked at the In-

dian as the pessimist does at all things; they say that he was never

formidable until the white man supplied him with the weapons of

modern warfare; but there is no "mention made of his eviction from

his retired home, and the little plot of cultivated garden which

formed the nucleus of a village that, if fustered instead of being

destroyed, might possibly hold an Indian population of some im-

portance in the economy of the nation. There is no intention what-

ever to maintain that the occupation of this country bj' the favored

races is wrong even in principle; for where any obstacle to advanc-

ing civilization exists, it has to fall to the ground; but it may be

said, with some truth, that the white man, instead of a policy of

conciliation formed upon the power of kindness, indulged in bel-

ligerency as impolitic as it was unjust. A modern writer says,

when speaking of the Indian's character: '"He did not exhibit that

steady valor and efficient discipline of the American soldier; and

to-day on the plains Sheridan's troopers would not hesitate to

attack the bravest band, though outnumbered three to one." This

piece of information applies to the European and African, as well

as to the Indian. The American soldier, and particularly the

troopers referred to, would not fear or shrink from a very legion ot

demons, even with odds against them. This mode of warfare seems

strangeh' peculiar when compared with the military systems of

civilized countries; yet, since the main object of armed men is to

defend a country or a principle, and to destroy anything which may
oppose itself to them, the mode of warfare pursued b3' the savage
will be found admirablj^ adapted to their requirements in this con-

nection, and will doubtless compare favorably with the systems of

the Afghans and Persians of the present, and the Caucasian people
yf the first historic period.

MANNERS AND CUSTOMS.

The art of hunting not only supplied the Indian with food, but,

like that of war, was a means of gratifying his love of distinction.

The male children, as soon, as they acquired sufficient age and

strength, were furnished with a bow and arrow and taught to shoot

birds and other small game. Success in killing a large quadruped
required years of careful study and practice, and the art was as
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sedulously inculcated in the minds of the rising generation as are

the elements of reading, writing and arithmetic in the common
schools of civilized communities. The mazes of the forest and the

dense, tall grass of the prairies were the best fields for the exercise

of the hunter's skill. No feet could be* impressed in the yielding

soil but that the tracks were the objects of the most searching

scrutiny, and revealed at a glance the animal that made them, the

direction it was pursuing, and the time that had elapsed since it

had passed. In a forest country he selected the valleys, because

they were most frequently the resort of game. The most easily

taken, perhaps, of all the animals of the chase M'as the deer. It is

endowed with a curiosity which prompts it to stop in its flight and

look back at the approaching hunter, who always avails himself of

this opportunity to let fly the fatal arrow.

Their general councils were composed of the chiefs and old men.

When in council, they usually sat in concentric circles around the

speaker, and each individual, notwithstanding the fiery passions
that rankled within, preserved an exterior as immovable as if cast

in bronze. Before commencing business a person appeared with

the sacred pipe, and another with fire to kindle it. After being

lighted it was first presented to lieaven, secondly to the earth,

thirdly to the presiding spirit, and lastly the several councilors,

each of whom took a whifl". These formalities were observed with

as close exactness as state etiquette in civilized courts.

The dwellings of the Indians v,'ere of the simplest and rudest

character. On some pleasant spot by the bank of a river, or near

an ever-running spring, they raised their groups of wigwams, con-

,
structed of the bark of trees, and easily taken down and removed

to another spot. The dwelling-places of the chiefs were sometimes

more spacious, and constructed with greater care, but of the same

materials. Skins taken in the chase served them for repose.

Though principally dependent upon hunting and fishing, the

uncertain supply from those sources led them to cultivate small

patches of corn. Every family did everything necessary within

itself, commerce, or an interchange of articles, being almost unknown
to them. In cases of dispute and dissension, each Indian relied

upon himself for retaliation. Blood for blood was the rule, and

the relatives of the slain man were bound to obtain bloody revenge
for his death. This principle gave rise, as a matter of course, to

innumerable and bitter feuds, and wars of extermination where such

were possible. "War, indeed, rather than peace, was the Indian's
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glory and delight,
—war, not conducted as civilization, but war

where individual skill, endurance, gallantry and cruelty were prime

requisites. For such a purpose as revenge the Indian would make

great sacrifices, and disphiy a patience and perseverance truly heroic;

but when the excitement was over, he sank back into a listless, un-

occupied, well-nigh useless savage. During the intervals of his

more exciting pursuits, the Indian employed his time in decorating
his person with all the refinement of paint and feathers, and in the

manufacture of his arms and of cauoes. These were constructed of

bark, and so light that they could easily be carried on the shoulder

from stream to stream. His amusements were the war-dance, ath-

letic games, the narration of his exploits, and listening to the ora-

tory of the chiefs; but during long periods of such existence he

remained in a state of torpor, gazing listlessly upon the trees of

the forests and the clouds that sailed above them; and this vacancy

imprinted an habitual gravity, and even melancholy, upon his gen-
eral deportment.
The mam labor and drudgery of Indian communities fell upon

the women. The planting, tending and gathering of the crops,

making mats and baskets, carrying burdens,—in fact, all things of

the kind were performed by them, thus making their condition but

little better than that of slaves. Marriage was merely a matter of

bargain and sale, the husband giving presents to the father of the

bride. In general they had but few children. They were sub-

jected to many and severe attacks of sickness, and at times famine

and pestilence swept away whole tribes.



EXPLORATIONS BY THE WHITES.

EARLIEST EXPLORERS.

The State of Indiana is bounded on the east by the meridian line

wliich forms also the western boundary of Ohio, extending due

north from the mouth of the Great Miami river; on the south by
the Ohio i-iver from the mouth of tlie Great Miami to the mouth
of the Wabash; on the west by aline drawn along the middle of

the Wabash river from its mouth to a point where a due north

line from the town of Vincennes would last touch the shore of said

river, and thence directly north to Lake Michigan; and on the north

by said lake and an east and west line ten miles north of the ex-

treme south end of the hike, and extending to its intersection with

the aforesaid meridian, the west boundary of Ohio. These bound-

aries include an area of 33,809 square miles, lying between 37°

47' and 41° 50 north latitude, and between 7° 45' and 11° 1' west

long-itude from Washini^ton.

After the discovery of America by Columbus in 1192, more than

150 years passed away before any portion of the territory now com-

prised within the above limits was explored by Europeans, Colo-

nies were established in Florida, Virginia and Nova Scotia by the

principal rival governments of Europe, but not until about 1670-'2

did the first white travelers venture as far into the Northwest as

Indiana or Lake Micliigan. These explorers were Frenchmen by
the names of Claude AUouez and Claude Dablon, who then visited

what is now the eastern part of Wisconsin, the northeastern portion
of Illinois and probably that portion of this State north of the Kan-
kakee river. In the following year M, Joliet, an agent of the

French Colonial government, and James Marquette, a good and

simple-hearted missionary who had his station at Mackinaw, ex-

plored the country about Green Bay, and along Fox and Wiscon-

sin rivers as far westward as the Mississippi, the banks of which

they reached June 17, 1673. They descended this river to about

33° 40', but returned by way of the Illinois river and the route

they came in the Lake Region, At a village among the Illinois In-

dians, Marquette and his small band of adventurers were received

C37.>
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in a friendly manner and treated Lospitably. They were made the

honored guest;! at a great feast, where hominy, fish, dog meat and

roast buffalo meat were spread before them in great abundance. In

1682 LaS&l^e explored the West, but it is not known that he entered

the region now embraced within the State of Indiana. He took

formal possession, however, of all the Mississippi region in the

name of tlie King of France, in whose honor he gave all this Mis-

sissippi region, including what is now Indiana, the name " Louisi-

ana." Spain at the same time laid claim to all the region about

the Gulf of Mexico, and thus these two great nations were brought
into collision. But the country was actually held and occupied by
the great Miami confederacy of Indians, the Miamis proper (an-

ciently the Twightwees) being the eastern and most powerful tribe.

Their territory extended strictly from the Scioto river west to the

Illinois river. Their villages were few and scattering, and their

occupation was scarcely dense enough to maintain itself against in-

vasion. Their settlements were occasionally visited by Christian

missionaries, fur traders and adventurers, but no body of white men
made any settlement sufficiently permanent for a title to national

possession. Christian zeal animated France and England in mis-

sionary enterprise, tlie former in the interests of Catholicism and

the latter in the interests of Protestantism. Hence their haste to

preoccupy the land and proselyte the aborigines. No doubt this

ugly rivalry was often seen by Indians, and they refused to be

proselyted to either branch of Christianity.
The " Five Nations," farther east, comprised the Mohawks,

Oneidas, Cayugas, Onondaguas and Senecas. In 1677 the number
of warriors in this confederacy was 2,150. About 1711 the Tusca-

roras retired from Carolina and joined the Iroquois, or Five Na-

tions, which, after that event, became known as the " Six Nations."

In 1689 hostilities broke out between the Five Nations and the

colonists of Canada, and the almost constant wars in which France

was engaged until the treaty of Ryswick in 1697 combined to

check the grasping policy of Louis XIV., and to retard the plant-

ing of French colonies in the Mississippi valley. Missionary efforts,

however, continued with more failure than success, the Jesuits

allying themselves with the Indians in habits and customs, even

encouraging inter-marriage between them and their white fol-

lowers.
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OUABACHE.

The Wabash was first named by the French, and spelled by them

Ouabache. This river was known even before the Ohio, and was

navigated as the Ouabache all the way to the Mississippi a long time

before it was discovered that it was a tributary of the Ohio (Belle

Riviere). In navigating the Mississippi they thought they passed

the mouth of the Ouabache instead of the Ohio. In traveling from

the Great Lakes to the south, the French always went by the way of

the Ouabache or Illinois,

VINCENNES.

Francois Morgan de Vinsenne served in Canada as early as 1720

in the regiment of " De Carrignan
" of the French service, and

again on the lakes in the vicinity of Sault Ste. Marie in the same

service under M. de Vaudriel, in 1725. It is possible that his ad-

vent to Yincennes may have taken place in 1732; and in proof of

tliis the only record is an act of sale under the joint names of him-

self and Madame Vinsenne, the daughter of M. Philip Longprie,^

and dated Jan. 5, 1735. This document gives his military position

as commandant of the post of Ouabache in the service of the French

King. The will of Longprie, dated March 10, same year, bequeaths

him, among other things, 408 pounds of pork, which he ordered to

be kept safe until Vinsenne, who was then at Ouabache, returned

to Kaskaskia,

There are many other documents connected with its early settle-

ment b}' Vinsenne, among which is a receipt for the 100 pistoles

granted him as his wife's marriage dowry. In 1736 this officer was

ordered to Charlevoix by D'Artagettp, viceroy of the King at New-

Orleans, and commandant of Illinois. Here M. St. Vinsenne re-

ceived his mortal wounds. The event is chronicled as follows, in

the words of D'Artagette:
" We have just received very bad news

from Louisiana, and our war with the Chickasaws. Tlie French

have been defeated. Among the slain is M. de Vinsenne, who
ceased not until his last breath to exhort his men to behave worthy
of their faith and fatherland."

Thus closed the career of this gallant officer, leaving a name

which holds as a remembrancer the present beautiful town of Vin-

cennes, changed from Vinsenne to its present orthography in 1749.

Post Vincennes was settled as early as 1710 or 1711. In a letter

from Father Marest to Father Germon, dated at Kaskaskia, Nov. 9,

1712, occurs this passage: ^'Les Franoois itoient itabli unfort sur
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lefleuve Ouahache j iU dernanderent un missionaire ^ et le Pere

Mermet leurfat envoye. Ce Pere crut devoir travailler a la

conversion des Mascoutens qui avoient fait un village siir les

bords dwneme jieiive. Cest tine nation Indians qui entend la

langue Illinoise.^^ Translated: " The French liave established a

fort upon the river "Wabash, and want a missionary; and Father

Mermet has been sent to them. That Father believes he should

labor for the conversion of the Mascoutens, who have built a vil-

lage on the banks of the same river. They are a nation of Indians

who understand the language of the Illinois."

Mermet was therefore the first preacher of Christianity in this

part of the world, and his mission was to convert the Mascoutens,

a branch of the Miamis. "The waj'- I took," says he,
" was to con-

found, in the presence of the whole tribe, one of these charlatans

[medicine men], whose Manitou, or great spirit which he wor-

shiped, was the buffalo. After leading him on insensibly to the

avowal that it was not the buffalo that he worshiped, but the Man-

itou, or spirit, of the buffalo, which was under the earth and ani-

mated all buffaloes, which heals the sick and has all power, I asked

him whether other beasts, the bear for instance; and which one of

his nation worshiped, was not equally inhabited by a Manitou,
which was under the earth. 'Without doubt,' said the grand medi-

cine man. ' If this is so,' said I,
' men ought to have a Manitou

who inhabits them.' '

Nothing more certain,' said he. '

Ought
not that to convince you,' continued I,

' that you are not very
reasonable? For if man upon the earth is the master of all animals,
if he kills them, if he eats them, does it not follow that the Mani-

tou which inhabits him must have; a mastery over all other Mani-

tous? Why then do you not invoke him instead of the Manitou

of the bear and the buffalo, when you are sick?' This reasoning
disconcerted the charlatan. But this was all the effect it

produced."
The result of convincing these heathen by logic, as is generally

the case the world over, was only a temporary logical victory, and

no change whatever was produced in the professions and practices
of the Indians.

But the first Christian (Catholic) missionary at this place whose
name we find recorded in the Church annals, was Meurin, in 1849.

The church building used by these early missionaries at Yin-

cennes is thus described hy the " oldest inhabitants:" Fronting on
Water street and running back on Church street, it was a plain
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building with a rough exterior, of upright posts, chinked and

daubed, with a rough coat of cement on the outside; about 20 feet

wide and GO long; one story high, with a small belfry and an equally
small bell. It was dedicated to St. Francis Xavier. This spot is

now occupied by a splendid cathedral.

Yincennes has ever been a stronghold of Catholicism. The
Church there has educated and sent out many clergymen of her

faith, some of whom have become bishops, or attained other high

positions in ecclesiastical authority.

Almost contemporaneous with the progress of the Church at

Yincennes was a missionary work near the mouth of the Wea river,

among the Ouiatenons, but the settlement there was broken up in

early day.

NATIONAL POLICIES.

THE GREAT FRENCH SCHEME.

Soon after the discovery of the mouth of the Mississippi by La-

Salle in 1682, the government of France began to encourage ths

policy of establishing a line of trading posts and missionary
stations extending through the West from Canada to Louisiana,
and this policy was maintained, with partial success, for about 75

years. The traders persisted in importing whisky, which cancelled

nearly every civilizing influence that could be brought to bear upon
the Indian, and the vast distances between posts prevented that

strength which can be enjoyed only by close atid convenient inter-

communication. Another characteristic of Indian nature was to

listen attentively to all the missionary said, pretending to believe

all he preached, and then offer in turn his theory of the world, of

religion, etc., and because he was not listened to with the same

degree of attention and pretense of belief, would go off disgusted.
This was his idea of the golden rule.

The river St. Joseph of Lake Michigan was called " the river

Miamis" in 1679, in which vear LaSalle built a small fort on its

bank, near the lake shore. The principal station of the mission

for the instruction of the Miamis was established on the borders of

this river. The first French post within the territory of the

Miamis was at the mouth of the river Miamis, on an eminence

naturally fortified on two sides by the river, and on one side by a
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deep ditch made by a fall of water. It was of trian^niar form.

The missionary Hennepin gives a good description of it, as he was

one of the company who built it, in 1679. Says he: " We fell the

trees that were on the top of the hill; and having cleared the same

from bushes for about two musket shot, we began to build a

redoubt of 80 feet long and 40 feet broad, with great square pieces

of timber laid one upon another, and prepared a great number of

stakes of about 25 feet long to drive into the ground, to make our

fort more inaccessible on the riverside. "We employed the whole

month of November about that work, which w^as very hard, though
we had no other food but the bear's flesh our savage killed. These

beasts are very common in that place because of the great quantity
of grapes they find there; but their flesh being too fat and luscious,

our men began to be weary of it and desired leave to go a hunting
to kill some wild goats. M. LaSalle denied them that libert}^,

which caused some murmurs among them; and it was but unwill-

ingly that they continued their work. This, together with the

approach of winter and the apprehension that M. LaSalle had that

hL vessel (the Grifiin) was lost, made him very melancholy, though
lib concealed it as much as he could. We made a cabin wherein

we performed divine service every Sunday, and Father Gabriel and

I, who preached alternately, took care to take such texts as were

suitable to our present circumstances and fit to inspire us with

courage, concord and brotherly love. * * -^ The fort was at

last perfected, and called Fort Miami s."

In the year 1711 the missionary Chardon, who was said to be

very zealous and apt in the acquisition of languages, had a station

on the St. Joseph about 60 miles above the mouth. Charlevoix,
another distinguished missionary from France, visited a post on
this river in 1721. In a letter dated at the place, Aug, 16, he says:
" There is a commandant here, with a small garrison. His house,
which is but a very sorry one^ is called the fort, from its being sur-

rounded with an indifierent palisado, which is pretty near the case

in all the rest. We have here 'two villages of Indians, one of the

Miamis and the other of the Pottawatotnies, both of them mostly
Christians; but as they have been for along time without any pas-

tors, the missionary who has been lately sent to them will have no
small difficulty in bringing them back to the exercise of their re-,

ligion." He speaks also of the main commodity for which tlie In,

dians would part with their goods, namely, spirituous liquors,
which they drink and keep drunk upon as long as a supply lasted.
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More than a century and a half has now passed since Charlevoix

penned the above, without any change whatever in this trait of In-

dian character.

In 1765 the Miami nation, or confederacy, was composed of four

tribes, whose total number of warriors was estimated at only 1,050

men. Of these about 250 were Twightwees, or Miamis proper,
300 Weas, or Ouiatenons, 300 Piankeshawsaiid 200 Shockeys; and

at this time the principal villages of the Twightwees were situated

about the head of the Mauinee river at and near the place where

Fort "Wavne now is. The larger Wea villages were near the banksV CD Cj

of the Wabash river, in the vicinity of the Post Ouiatenon; and

the Shockeys and Piankeshaws dwelt on the banks of the Vermil-

lion and on the borders of the Wabash between Yincennes and

Ouiatenon. Branches of the Pottawatomie, Shawnee, Delaware and

Kickapoo tribes were permitted at different times to enter within

the boundaries of the Miamis and reside for a while.

The wars in which France and England were engaged, from 1688

to 1697, retarded the growth of the colonies of those nations in

North America, and the efforts made by France to connect Canada

and the Gulf of Mexico by a chain of trading posts and colonies

naturally excited the jealousy of England and gradually laid the

foundation for a struggle at arms. After several stations were estab-

lished elsewhere in the West, trading posts were started at the

Miami villages, which stood at the head of the Maumee, at the Wea

villages about Ouiatenon on the Wabash, and at thePiankeshaw vil-

lages about the present sight of Vincennes. It is probable that before

the close of the year 1719, temporary trading posts were erected at the

sites of Fort Wayne, Ouiatenon and Vincennes. These points were

probably often visited by French fur traders prior to 1700. In the

meanwhile the English people in this country commenced also to

establish military posts west of the Alleghanies, and thus matters

went on until they naturally culminated in a general war, which,

being waged by the French and Indians combined on one side, was

called " the French and Indian war." This war was terminated in

1763 by a treaty at Paris, by which France ceded to Great Britain

all of North America east of the Mississippi except New Orleans

and the island on which it is situated; and indeed, France had the

preceding autumn, by a secret convention, ceded to Spain all the

country west of that river.
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PONTIAC S WAR.

In 1762, after Canada and its dependencies had been surrendered

to tlie English, Pontiac and his partisans secretly organized a pow-
erful confederacy in order to crush at one blow all English power
in the West. This great scheme was skillfully projected and cau-

tiously matured.

The principal act in the programme was to gain admittance into

the fort at Detroit, on pretense of a friendly visit, with short-

ened muskets concealed under their blankets, and on a given signal

suddenly break forth upon the garrison; but an inadvertent remark

of an Indian woman led to a discovery of the plot, which was con-

sequently averted. Pontiac and his warriors afterward made many
attacks upon the English, some of which were successful, but the

Indians were finally defeated in the general war.

BRITISH POLICY.

In 1765 the total number of French families within the limits of

the j^orthwestern Territory did not probably exceed 600. These

were in settlements about Detroit, along the river Wabash and the

neighborhood of Fort Chartres on the Mississippi. Of these fami-

lies, about 80 or 90 resided at Post Yincennes, 14 at Fort Ouiate-

non, on the Wabash, and nine or ten at the confluence of the St.

Mary and St. Joseph rivers.

The colonial policy of the British government opposed any meas-

ures which might strengthen settlements in the interior of this

country, lest they become self-supporting and independent of the

mother country; hence the early and rapid settlement of the North-

western territory was still further retarded by the short-sighted
selfishness of England. That fatal policy consisted mainly in hold-

ing the land in the hands of the government and not allowing it to

be subdivided and sold to settlers. But in spite of all her efibrts

in this direction, she constantly made just such efforts as provoked
the American people to rebel, and to rebel successfully, which was

within 15 years after the perfect close of the French and Indian

war.

AMERICAN POLICY.

Thomas Jefierson, the shrewd statesman and wise Governor of

Virginia, saw from the first that actual occupation of "Western lands

was the only way to keep them out of the hands of foreigners and
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Indians. Therefore, directly after tlie conquest of Vincennes by
Clark, lie engaged a scientific corps to proceed under an escort to

the Mississippi, and ascertain by celestial observations the point
on that river intersected by latitude 36° 30', the southern limit of

the State, and to measure its distance to the Ohio. To Gen. Clark

was entrusted the conduct of the military operations in that quar-
ter. He was instructed to select a strong position near that point
and establish there a fort and garrison ;

thence to extend his conquests
northward to the lakes, erecting forts at different points, which

might serve as monuments of actual possession, besides affording

protection to that portion of the country. Fort "Jefferson " was

erected and garrisoned on the Mississippi a few miles above the

southern limit.

The result of these operations was the addition, to the chartered

limits of Virginia, of that immense region known as the " North-

western Territory." The simple fact that such and such forts were

established by the Americans in this vastremon convinced the Brit-

isii Commissioners that we had entitled ourselves to the land. But
where are those " monuments "

of our power now?

INDIAN SAVAGERY.

As a striking example of the inhuman treatment which the early

Indians were capable of giving white people, we quote the follow

ing blood-curdling story from Mr. Cox' " Recollections of the

Wabash Valley":
On the 11th of February, 17S1, a wagoner named Irvin Hinton

was sent from the block-house at Louisville, K}'., to Ilarrodsburg
for a load of provisions for the fort. Two young men, Richard

Rue and George Holman, aged respectively 19 and 16 years, were

sent as guards to protect the wagon from the depredations of any
hostile Indians who misht be lurkino-in the cane-brakes or ravines

through which they must pass. Soon after their start a severe

snow-storm set in which lasted until afternoon. Lest the melting
snow might dampen the powder in their rifles, the guards fired

them off, intending to reload them as soon as the storm ceased.

Hinton drove the horses while Rue walked a few rods ahead and

Holman about the same distance behind. As they ascended a hill

about eight miles from Louisville Hinton heard some one say "Whoa

to the horses. Supposing that something was wrong about the

wagon, he stopped and asked Holman why he had called him to

halt. Holman said that he had not spoken; Rue also denied it,
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but said that he had heard the voice distinctly. At tliis time a voice

cried out,
" I will solve the mystery for you; it was Simon Girty that

cried Whoa, and he meant what he said,"—at the same time emerg-

ing from a sink-liole a few rods from the roadside, followed by 13

Indians, who immediately surrounded the three Kentuckians and

demanded them to surrender or die instantly. The little party,

making a virtue of necessity, surrendered to this renegade white

man and his Indian allies.

Eeing so near two forts, Girty made all possible speed in making
fast his prisoners, selecting the lines and other parts of the harness,

he prepared for an immediate flight across the Ohio. The panta-
loons of the prisoners were cut off about four inches above the

knees, and thus they started through the deep snow as fast as the

horses could trot, leaving the wagon, containing a few empty bar-

rels, standing in the road. They continued their march for sev-

eral cold days, without fire at night, until they reached Wa-puc-ca-

nat-ta, where they compelled their prisoners to run the gauntlet as

they entered the village. Hinton first ran the gauntlet and reached

the council-house after receiving several severe blows upon the head

and shoulders. Rue next ran between the lines, pursued by an

Indian with an uplifted tomahawk. He far outstripped his pursuer
and dodged most of the blows aimed at him. Holman complaining
that it was too severe a test for a worn-out stripling like himself,

was allowed to run between two lines of squaws and bojs, and was
followed by an Indian with a long switch.

The first council of the Indians did not dispose of these young
men; they were waiting for the presence of other chiefs and war-

riors. Hinton escaped, but on the afternoon of the second day he

was re-captured. Kow the Indians were glad that they had an

occasion to indulge in the infernal joy of burning him at once.

Soon after their supper, which they shared with their victim, they
drove the stake into the ground, piled np the fagots in a circle

around it, stripped and blackened the prisoner, tied him to the

stake, and applied the torch. It was a slow fire. The war-whoop
then thrilled through the dark surrounding forest like the chorus

of a band of infernal spirits escaped from pandemonium, and the

scalp dance was struck up by those demons in human shape, who
for hours encircled their victim, brandishing their tomahawks and

war clubs, and venting their execrations upon the helpless sufferer,

who died about midnight from the effects of the slow heat. As
soon as he fell upon the ground, the Indian who first discovered
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him m the woods that evening sprang in, sunk his tomahawk into

his skull above the car, and with his knife stripped off the scalp,
which he bore back with him to the town as a trophy, and which
was tauntingly thrust into the faces of Rue and Holman, with the

question,
" Can you smell the fire on the scalp of your red-headed

friend? We cooked him and left hiui for the wolves to make a

breakfast upon; that is the way we serve runaway prisoners."
After a march of three days more, the prisoners. Rue and Hol-

man, had to run the gauntlets again, and barely got through with

their lives. It was decided that they should both be burned at the

stake that night, though this decision was far from being unani-

mous. The necessary preparations were made, dry sticks and
brush were gathered and piled around two stakes, the faces

and hands of the doomed men were blackened in the customary
manner, and as the evening approached the poor wretches sat look-

ing upon the setting sun for the last time. An unusual excitement

was manifest in a number of chiefs who still lingered about the

council-house. At a pause in the contention, a noble-looking In-

dian approached the prisoners, and after speaking a few words to

the guards, took Holman by the hand, lifted him to his feet, cut the

cords that bound him to his fellow prisoners, removed the black from

his face and hands, put his hand kindly upon his head and said: " I

adopt you as my son, to till the place of the one I have lately buried;

you are now a kinsman of Logan, the white man's friend, as he has

been called, but who has lately proven himself to be a terrible

avenger of the wrongs inflicted upon him by the bloody Cresap and

his men." With evident reluctance, Girty interpreted this to Hol-

man, who was thus unexpectedly freed.

But the preparations for the burning of Rue went on. Holman

and Rue embraced eacli other most affectionately, with a sorrow too

deep for description. Rue was then tied to one of the stakes; but

the general contention among the Indians had not ceased. Just as

the lighted fagots were about to be applied to the dry brush piled

around the devoted youth, a tall, active young Shawnee, a son of

the victim's captor, sprang into the ring, and cutting the cords

which bound him to the stake, led him out amidst the deafening

plaudits of a part of the crowd and the execrations of the rest. Re-

gardless of threats, he caused water to be brought and the black to

be washed from the face and hands of the prisoner, whose clothes

were then returned to him, when the young brave said: " I take

this young man to be my brother, in the place of one I lately lost;
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I loved that brother well; I will lovetliis one, too; my old mother

will be glad when I tell her that 1 have brought her a son, in place

of the dear departed one. We want no more victims. The burning
of Hed-head [Hinton] ought to satisfy us. These innocent young
men do not merit such cruel fate; I would rather die myself than

see this adopted brother burned at the stake."

A loud shout of approbation showed that the youDg Shawnee had

triumphed, though dissension was manifest among the various

tribes afterward. Some of them abandoned their trip to Detroit,

others returded to Wa-puc-ca-nat-ta, a few turned toward the Mis-

sissinewa and the Wabash towns, while a portion continued to De-

troit. Ilolman was taken back to Wa-puc-ca-nat ta, where he re-

mained most of the time of his captivity. Rue was taken first to

the Mississinewa, then to the Wabash towns. Two years of his

eventful captivity were spent in the region of the Wabash and Illi-

nois rivers, but the last few months at Detroit; was in captivity

altogether about three years and a half.

Rue effected his escape in the following manner: Dui-ing one of

the druidcen revels of the Indians near Detroit one of them lost a

purse of $90; various tribes were suspected of feloniously keeping
the treasure, and much ugly speculation was indulged in as to who
was the thief. At length a prophet of a tribe that was not suspected
was called to divine the mystery. He spread sand over a green

deer-skin, watched it awhile and performed various manipulations,
and professed to see that the money had been stolen and carried

away by a tribe entirely different from any that had been

suspicioned; but he was shrewd enough not to announce who the

thief was or the tribe he belonged to, lest a war might arise. His

decision quieted the belligerent uprisings threatened by the excited

Indians.

Rue and two other prisoners saw this display of the prophet's
skill and concluded to interroo^ate him soon concerninsr their fanii-

lies at home. The opportunity occurred in a few days, and the In-

dian seer actually astonished Rue with the accuracy with which he

described his famil}-, and added, "You all intend to make your

escape, and you will effect it soon. You will meet with many trials

and hardships in passingover so wild a district of country, inhabited

by so many hostile nations of Indians. You will almost starve to

death; but about the time you have given up all hope of finding

game to sustain you in your famished condition, succor will come
when you least expect it. The first game you will succeed in taking
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will be a male of some kind
;
after that you will have plenty c-f

game and return home in safety."
The prophet kept this matter a secret for the prisoners, and the

latter in a few days set off upon their terrible journey, and had

just such experience as the Indian prophet had foretold; they
arrived home with their lives, but were pretty well worn out with the

exposures and privations of a three weeks' journey.
On the return of Holman's party of Indians to Wa-puc-ca-nat-ta,

much dissatisfaction existed in regard to the manner of his release

from the sentence of condemnation pronounced against him by the

council. Many were in favor of recalling the council and trying
him again, and this was finally agreed to. The young man was

again put upon trial for his life, with a strong probability of his

being condemned to the stake. Both parties worked hard for vic-

tory in the final vote, which eventually proved to give a majority of

one for the prisoner's acquittal.

"While with tlie Indians, Ilolman saw them burn at the stake a

Kentuckiau named Ilichard Ilogeland, who had been taken prisoner
at the defeat of Col. Crawford. They commenced burning him at

nine o'clock at night, and continued roasting him until ten o'clock

the next day, before he expired. During his excruciating tortures he

begged for some of them to end his life and sufferings with a gun
or tomahawk. Finally his cruel tormentors promised they would,

and cut several deep gashes in his flesh with their tomahawks, and

shoveled up hot ashes and embers and threw them into the gaping
wounds. When he was dead they stripped off his scalp, cut him

to pieces and burnt him to ashes, which they scattered through the

town to expel the evil spirits from it.

After a captivity of about three years and a half, Ilolman saw an

opportunity of going on amission for the destitute Indians, namely,

of going to Ilarrodsburg, Ky., where he had a rich uncle, from

whom they could get what supplies they wanted. They let him go
with a guard, but on arriving at Louisville, where Gen. Clark was

in command, he was ransomed, and he reached home only three

days after the arrival of Eue. Both these men lived to a good old

asfe, terminating their lives at their home about two miles south of

Richmond, lud.



EXPEDITIONS OF COL. GEORGE ROGERS CLARK.

In the Slimmer of 1778, Col. George Rogers Clark, a native of

Albemarle county, Va., led a memorable expedition against the

ancient French settlements about Kaskaskia and Post Vincennes.

"With respect to the magnitude of its design, the valor and perse-

verance with which it was carried on, and the memorable Results

which were produced bv it, this expedition stands without a parallel

in the early annals of the valley of the Mississippi. That portion

of the West called Kentucky was occupied by Henderson & Co.,

who pretended to own the land and who held it at a high price.

Col. Clark wished to test the validity of their claim and adjust the

government of the country so as to encourage immigration. He
accordingly called a meeting of the citizens at Harrodstown, to

assemble June 6, 1776, and consider the claims of the company and

consult with reference to the interest of the country. He did not

at first publish the exact aim of this movement, lest parties would

be formed in advance and block the enterprise; also, if the object
of the meeting were not announced beforehand, the curiosity of the

people to know what was to be proposed would bring out a much

greater attendance.

The meeting was held on the day appointed, and delegates were

elected to treat with the government of Virginia, to see whether

it would be best to become a county in that State and be protected

by it, etc. Various delays on account of the remoteness of the

white settlers from the older communities of Virginia and the hos-

tility of Indians in every direction, prevented a consummation of

this object until some time in 1778. The government of Virginia
was friendly to Clark's enterprise to a certain extent, but claimed

that they had not authority to do much more than to lend a little

assistance for which payment should be made at some future time,
as it was not certain whether Kentuck}^ would become a part of Vir-

ginia or not. Gov. Henry and a few gentlemen were individually
so hearty in favor of Clark's benevolent undertaking that they
assisted him all they could. Accordingly Mr. Clark organized his

expedition, keeping every particular secret lest powerful parties

would form in the West against him. He took in stores at Pitts-

(52)
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burg and "Wlieeling, proceeded down the Ohio to the "
Falls,"

where he took possession of an island of a about seven acres, and
divided it among a small number of families, for whose protection
he constructed some light fortifications. At this time Post Vin-
cennes comprised about 400 militia, and it was a daring undertak-

ing for Col. Clark, with liis small force, to go up against it and Kas-

kaskia, as he had planned. Indeed, some of his men, on hearing of

his plan, deserted him. Reconducted himself so as to gain the

sympathy of the French, and through them also thcit of the

Indians to some extent, as both these people were very bitter

against the British, who had possession of the Lake Region.
From the nature of the situation Clark concluded it was best to

take Kaskaskia first. The fact that the people regarded him as a

savage rebel, he regarded as really a good thing in his ftivor; for

after the first victory he would show them so much unexpected

lenity that thev would rally to his standard. In this policy he was

indeed successful. He arrested a few men and put them in irons.

The priest of the village, accompanied by five or six aged citizens,

waited on Clark and said that the inhabitants expected to be separ-

ated, perhaps never to meet again, and they begged to be permitted
to assemble in their church to take leave of each other. Clark

mildly replied that he had nothing against their religion, that they

might continue to assemble in their church, but not venture out of

town, etc. Thus, by what has since been termed the "Earey"
method of taming horses, Clark showed them he had power over

them but designed them no harm, and they readily took the oath

of allegiance to Virginia.
After Clark's arrival at Kaskaskia it was difficult to induce the

French settlers to accept the "Continental paper" introduced by
him and his troops. Nor until Col. Yigo arrived there and guar-

anteed its redemption would they receive it. Peltries and piastres

formed the only currency, and Yigo found great difiiculty in ex-

plaining Clark's financial arrangements. ""Their commandants

never made money," was the reply to Vigo's explanation of the

policy of the old Dominion. But notwithstanding the guarantees,

the Continental paper fell very low in the market. Vigo had a

trading establishment at Kaskaskia, wdiere he sold coff'ee at one

dollar a pound, and all the other necessaries of life at an equally

reasonable price. The unsophisticated Frenchmen were generally

asked in what kind of money they would pay tlieir little bills.
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"Douleur," was the general reply; and as an authority on the sub-

ject says, "It took about twenty Continental dollars to purchase a

silver dollar's worth of coffee; and as the French word "douleur" sig-

nifies grief or pain, perhaps no word either in the French or Eng-
lish languages expressed the idea more correctly than the douleur

for a Continental dollar. At any rate it was truly douletir to the

Colonel, for he never received a single dollar in exchange for the

laro^e amount taken from him in order to sustain Ch^rk's credit.

Now, tlie post at Yincennes, defended by Fort Sackville, came

next. The priest just mentioned, Mr. Gibault, was really friendly

to " the American interest;" lie had spiritual charge of the church

at Yincennes, and he with several others were deputed to assemble

the people there and authorize them to garrison their own fort like

a free and independent people, etc. This plan had its desired effect,

and the people took the oath of allegiance to the State of Yirginia
and became citizens of the United States. Their stvle of lano-uacre

and conduct changed to a better hue, and they surprised the numer-

ous Indians in the vicinity by displaying anew flag and informing
them that their old father, the King of France, was come to life

again, and was mad at them for fighting the English; and they ad-

vised them to make peace with the Americans as soon as they

could, otherwise they might expect to make the land very bloody,

etc. The Indians concluded they would have to fall in line, and

they offered no resistance. Capt. Leonard Helm, an American,
was left in charge of this post, and Clark began to turn his atten-

tion to other points. But before leaving this section of the coun-

try he made treaties of peace with the Indians; this he did, how-

ever, by a different method from what had always before been

followed. By indirect methods he caused them to come to him,
instead of going to them. He was convinced that inviting them to

treaties was considered by them in a difiFerent manner from what

the whites expected, and imputed them to fear, and that giving
them great presents confirmed it. He accordingly established

treaties with the Piankeshaws, Ouiatenons, Kickapoos, Illinois,

Kaskaskias,.Peorias and branches of some other tribes that inhab-

ited the country between Lake Michigan and the Mississippi.

Upon this the General Assembly of the State of Yirginia declared

all the citizens settled west of the Ohio oro^anized into a countv of

that State, to be known as "Illinois" county; but before the pro-
visions of the law could be carried into effect, Henry Hamilton, the

British Lieutenant-Governor of Detroit, collected an army of about
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30 regulars, 50 French v^oluntcers and 400 Indians, went down and

re-took the post Vincennes in December, 1778. No attempt was

made by the population to defend the town. Capt. Hehn and a

man named Henry were the only Americans at the fort, the only
members of the garrison. Capt. Helm was taken prisoner and a

number of the French inhabitants disarmed.

Col. Clark, hearing of the situation, determined to re-capture the

place. He accordingly gathered together what force he could in

this distant land, 170 men, and on the 5th of February, started from

Kaskaskia and crossed the river of that name. The weather was

very wet, and the low lands were pretty well covered with water.

The march was difficult, and the Colonel had to work hard to keep
his men in spirits. He suiFered them to shoot game whenever they
wished and eat it like Indian war-dancers, each company by turns

inviting the others to their feasts, which was the case every night.

Clark waded through water as much as any of them, and thus stimu-

lated the men by his example. They reached the Little Wabash
on the 13th, after suffering many and great hardships. Here a camp
was formed, and without waiting to discuss plans for crossing the

river, Clark ordered the men to construct a vessel, and pretended
that crossing the stream would be only a piece of amusement, al-

though inwardly he held a different opinion.

The second day afterward a reconnoitering party was sent across

the river, who returned and made an encouraging report. A scaf-

folding was built on the opposite shore, upon which the baggage
was placed as it was tediously ferried over, and the new camping

ground was a nice half acre of dry land. There were many amuse-

ments, indeed, in getting across the river, which put all the men in

high spirits. The succeeding two or three days they had to march

through a great deal of water, having on the night of the 17th to

encamp in the water, near the Big Wabash.

At daybreak on the ISth they heard the signal gun at Yincennes,

and at once commenced their march. Reaching the Wabash about

two o'clock, they constructed rafts to cross the river on a boat-steal-

ing expedition, but labored all day and night to no purpose. On
the 19th they began to make a canoe, in which a second attempt to

steal boats was made, but this expedition returned, reporting that

there were two "lars:e fires" within a mile of them. Clark sent a

canoe down the river to meet the vessel that was supposed to be on

her way up with the supplies, with orders to hasten forward day and

night. This was their last hope, as their provisions were entirely
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gone, and starvation seemed to be Iioverin^ about them. Tlie next

aay they commenced t() make more canoes, wlien about noon the

sentinel on the river brought a boat with five Fienclimen from the

fort. From this party they learned that they were not as yet dis-

covered. All the army crossed the river in two canoes the next

day, and as Clark had determined to reach the town tliat nii^ht, he

ordered his men to move forward. They plunged into the water

sometimes to the neck, for over three miles.

Without food, benumbed with cold, up to their waists in water,

covered with broken ice, the men at onetime mutinied and refused

to march. All the persuasions of Clark had no efi"ect upon the

half-starved and half-frozen soldiers. In one company was a small

drummer boy, and also a sergeant who stood six feet two inches in

socks, and stout and athletic. He was devoted to Clark. The Gen-

eral mounted the little drummer on the shoulders of the stalwart

sergeant and ordered him to plunge into the water, half-frozen as it

was. He did so, the little boy beating tlie charge from his lofty

perch, while Clark, sword in hand, followed them, giving the com-

mand as he threw aside the floating ice, "Forward." Elated and

amused with the scene, the men promptly obeyed, holding their

rifles above their heads, and in spite of all the obstacles they reached

the high land in perl'ect safety. _
But for this and the ensuing days

of this campaign we quote from Clark's account:
" This last day's march through the water v,^as far superior to any-

thing the Frenchmen had any idea of. The}'- were backward in

speaking; said that the nearest land to us was a small league, a

sugar camp on the bank of the river. A canoe was sent off and re-

turned without finding that we could pass. I went in her myself
and sounded the water and found it as deep as to my neck. I returned

with a design to have the men transported on board the canoes to

the sugar camp, which I knew would expend the whole dav and en-

suing night, as the vessels would pass slowly through the bushes.

The loss of so much time to men half starved was a matter of con-

sequence. I would have given now a great deal for a day's provis-

ion, or for one of our horses. I returned but slowly to the troops,

giving myself time to think. On our arrival all ran to hear what

was the report; every eye was fixed on me; I unfortunateh^ spoke
in a serious manner to one of the officers. The whole were alarmed

without knowing what I said. I viewed their confusion for about

one minute; I whispered to those near me to do as I did, immedi-

ately put some water in my hand, poured on powder, blackened my
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face, gave the war-whoop, and marched into the water without say-

ino^ a word. The party gazed and fell in, one after another without

saying a word, like a flock of sheep. I ordered those near me to

begin a favorite song of tlieirs; it soon passed through the line, and
the whole went on cheerfully.

" I now intended to have them transported across the deepest

part of the water; but when about waist-deep, one of the men in-

formed me that he thought he felt a path; we examined and found

it so, and concluded that it kept on the highest ground, which it did,

and by taking pains to follow it, we got to the sugar camp with no

difficulty, where there was about half an acre of dry ground,
—at

least ground not under water, and there we took up our lodging.******
"The night had been colder than any we had had, and the ice in

the morning was one-half or three-quarters of an inch thick in still

water; the morning was the finest. A little after sunrise I lectured

the whole; what I said to them I forget, but I concluded by in-

forming them that passing the plain then in full view, and

reaching the o])posite woods would put an end to their fatigue;

that in a few hours they would have a sight of their long wished-for

object; and immediately stepped into the water without waiting
for any reply. A huzza took place. As we generally marched

through the water in a line, before the third man entered, I called to

Major Bowman, ordering him to fall in the rear of the 25 men, and

put to death any man who refused to march. This met with a cry

of approbation, and on we w^ent. Getting about the middle of the

plain, the water about mid-deep, I found myself sensibly failing;

and as there were no trees nor bushes for the men to support them-

selves by, I feared that many of the weak would be drowned. I or-

dered the canoes to make the land, discharge their loading, and play

backward and forward with all diligence and pick up the men
;
and

to encourage the party, sent some of the strongest men Ibrward,

with orders when they got to a certain distance, to pass the word

back that the water was getting shallow, and when getting near the

woods, to cry out land. This stratagem had its desired effect; the

men exerted themselves almost beyond their abilities, the weak

holding by the stronger. The water, however, did not become

shallower, but continued deepening. Getting to the woods where

the men expected land, the water was up to my shoulders; but

gaining the woods was of great consequence; all the low men and

weakly hung to the trees and floated on the old logs until they were
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taken off by the canoes; the strong and tall got ashore and built

fires. Many would reach the shore and fall with their bodies half

in the water, not being able to support themselves without it.

"This was a dry and delightful spot of ground of about ten acres.

Fortunately, as if designed by Providence, a canoe oflndian squaws
and children was coming up to town, and took through this part of

the plain as a nigh way; it was discovered by our canoe-men as they
were out after the other men. They gave chase and took tlie Indian

canoe, on board of which was nearly half a quarter of buffalo, some

corn, tallow, kettles, etc. This was an invaluable prize. Broth was

immediately made and served out, especially to the weakly; nearly

all of us got a little; but a great many gave their part to the

weakly, saying something cheering to their comrades. By the

afternoon, this refreshment and fine weather had greatly invigor-

ated the whole party.
"
Crossing a narrow and deep lake in the canoes, and marching

some distance, we came to a copse of timber called ' Warrior's

Island.' We were now in full view of the fort and town; it was

about two miles distant, with not a shrub intervening. Everyman
now feasted his eyes and forgot that he had suffered anything, say-

ing that all which had passed was owing to good policy, and noth-

in.o- but what a man could bear, and that a soldier had no right to

think, passing from one extreme to the other,
—which is common in

such cases. And now stratagem was necessary. The plain between

us and the town was not a perfect level; the sunken grounds were

covered with water full of ducks. We observed several men within

ahalf a mile of us shooting ducks, and sent out some of our active

young Frenchmen to take one of these men prisoners without

alarming the rest, which they did. The information we got from

this person was similar to that which we got from those taken on the

river, except that of the British having that evening completed the

wall of the fort, and that there wei'e a great many Indians in town.
" Our situation M'as now critical. No possibility of retreat in

case of defeat, and in full view of a town containing at this time

more than 600 men, troops, inhabitants and Indians. The crew of the

galley, though not 50 men, would have been now a re-enforcement

of immense magnitude to our little army, if I may so call it, but

we would not think of them. We were now in the situation that I

had labored to get ourselves in. The idea of being made prisoner

was foreign to almost every man, as they expected nothing but tor-

ture from the savages if they fell into their hands. Our fate was
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now to be determined, probably in a few hours; we knew that

nothing but the most daring conduct would insure success; 1 knew
also that a number of the inhabitants wished us well. This was a

favorable circumstance; and as there was but little prooability of our

remaining until dark undiscovered, I determined to begin opera-

tions immediately, and therefore wrote the following placard to the

inhabitants:

To the Inhahitants of Post Yincennes:

Gentlemen:—Being now within two miles of vour village with

my army, determined to take your fort this night, and not being
willing to surprise 3'ou, I take this method to request such of you
as are true citizens and willing to enjoy the liberty I bring you, to

remain still in your houses; and those, if any there be, that are

friends to the king, will instantly repair to the fort and join the

hair-buyer general and fight like men; and if any such as do not go
to the fort shall be discovered afterward, they may depend on
severe punishment. On the contrary, those who are true friends

to liberty may depend on being well treated; and I once more

request them to keep out of the streets; for everyone I find in

arms on my arrival I shall treat as an enemy.
[Signed] G. R. Clark.

" I had various ideas on the results of this letter. I knew it

could do us no damage, but that it would cause the lukewarm to

be decided, and encourage our friends and astonish our enemies.

We anxiously viewed this messenger until he entered the town, and

in a few minutes we discovered by our glasses some stir in every

street we could penetrate, and great numbers running or riding out

into the commons, we supposed to view us, which was the case.

But what surprised us was that nothing had yet happened that had

the appearance of the garrison being alarmed,—neither gun nor

drum. We began to suppose that the information we got from our

prisoners was false, and liiat the enemy had already knew of us and

were prepared. A little before sunset we displayed ourselves in

full view of the town,—crowds gazing at us. We were plunging

ourselves into certain destruction or success
;
there was no midway

thought of. We had but little to say to our men, except inculcat-

ing an idea of the necessity of obedience, etc. We moved on

slowly in full view of the town; but as it was a point of some con-

sequence to us to make ourselves appear formidable, we, in leaving

the covert we were in, marched and counter- marched in such a

manner that we appeared numerous. Our colors were displayed to

the best advantage ;
and as the low plain we marched through was
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not a perfect level, but had frequent risings in it, of 7 or 8

higher than the common level, which was covered with water; and

as these risings generally run in an oblique direction to the town,

we took the advantage of one of them, marching through the water

by it, which completely prevented our being numbered. We gained

the heights back of the town. As there were as yet no hostile

appearance, we were impatient to have the cause unriddled. Lieut.

Bay ley was ordered with 14 men to march and fire on the fort;

the main body moved in a different direction and took possession

of the strongest part of the town."

Clark then sent a written order to Hamilton commanding
him to surrender immediately or he would be treated as a

murderer; Hamilton replied that he and his garrison were not

disposed to be awed into any action unworthy of British sub-

jects. After one hour more of fighting, Hamilton proposed a

truce of three days for conference, on condition tliat each side

cease all defensive work; Clark rejoined that he would "not

agree to any terms other than Mr. Hamilton surrendering himself

and garrison prisoners at di'scretion," and added that if he, Hamil-

ton, wished to talk with him he could meet him immediately at the

church with Capt. Helm. In less than an hour Clark dictated the

terms of surrender, Feb. 24, 1779. Hamilton agreed to the total

surrender because, as he there claimed in writing, he was too far

from aid from his own government, and because of the "
unanimity"

of his officers in the surrender, and his "confidence in a generous

enemy."
"Of this expedition, of its results, of its importance, of the merits of

those engaged in it, of their bravery, their skill, of their prudence, of

their success, a volume would not more than suffice for the details.

Suffice it to say that in my opinion, and I have accurately and criti-

cally weighed and examined all the results produced by the con-

tests in which we were engaged during the Revolutionary war,

that for bravery, for hardships endured, for skill and consummate
tact and prudence on the part of the commander, obedience, dis-

cipline and love of country on the part of his followers, for the

immense benefits acquired, and signal advantages obtained by it

for the whole union, it was second to no enterprise undertaken dur-

ing that struggle. I might add, second to no undertaking in an-

cient or modern warfai-e. The whole credit of this conquest be-

longs to two men; Gen. George Rogers Clark and Col. Francis

Yigo. And when we consider that by it the whole territory now



HISTORY OF KXDIANA. 63

covered by the three great states of Indiana, Illinois and Michigan
was added to the union, and so admitted to be by the British commis-
sioners at the preliminaries to the treaty of peace in 1783; (and but
for this very conquest, the boundaries of our territories west would
have been the Ohio instead of the Mississippi, and so acknowledged
by both our commissioners and the British at that conference;) a

territory embracing upward of 2,000,000 people, the human mind
is lost in the contemplation of its effects; and we can but wonder
that a force of 170 men, the whole number of Clark's troops,
should by this single action have produced such important results."

[John Law,

The next day Clark sent a detachment of 60 men up the river

"Wabash to intercept some boats which were laden with provisions
and goods from Detroit. This force was placed under command of

Capt. Helm, Major Bosseron and Major Legras, and the\" proceeded

up the river, in three armed boats, about 120 miles, when the

British boats, about seven in number, were surprised and captured
without firing a gnn. These boats, which had on board about

$50,000 worth of goods and provisions, were manned by about

40 men, among whom was Philip Dejean, a magistrate of Detroit.

The provisions were taken for the public, and distributed among
the soldier}'.

Having oro^anized a militarv government at Vincennes and

appointed Capt. Helm commandant of the town. Col. Clark return-

ed in the vessel to Kaskaskia, where he was joined by reinforce-

raents from Kentucky under Capt. George. Meanwhile, a party of

traders who were going to the falls, were killed and plundered by
the Delawares of AVhite River; the news of this disaster having
reached Clark, he sent a dispatch to Capt. Helm ordering him to

make war on the Delawares and use every means in his power to

destroy them; to show no mercy to the men, but to save the

women and children. This order was executed without delay.

Their camps were attacked in every quarter where they could be

found. Many fell, and others were carried to Post Vincennes and

put to death. The surviving Delawares at once pleaded for mercy
and appeared anxious to make some atonement for their bad con-

duct. To these overtures Capt. Helm replied that CoL Clark, the

*'

Big Knife," had ordered the war, and that he had no power to lay

down the hatchet, but that he would suspend hostilities until a

messenger could be sent to Kaskaskia. This was done, and the

crafty Colonel, well understanding the Indian character, sent a
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message £0 the Delawares, telling them that he would not accept
their friendship or treat with them for peace; but that if they
could get some of the neighboring tribes to become responsible for

their future conduct, he would discontinue the war and spare their

lives; otherwise they must all perish.

Accordingly a council was called of all the Indians in the neigh-

borhood, and Clark's answer was read to the assembly. After due

deliberation the Piankeshaws took on themselves to answer for the

future good conduct of the Delawares, and the " Grand Door "
in a

long speech denounced their base conduct. This ended the war

with the Delawares and secured the respect of the neighboring
tribes

Clark's attention was next turned to the British post at Detroit,

but being unable to obtain suflScient troops he abandoned the en-

terprise.

Clark's ingenious ruse against the Indians.

Tradition says that when Clark captured Hamilton and his gar-

rison at P^'ort Sackville, he took possession of the fort and kept the

British flag flying, dressed his sentinels with the uniform of the

British soldiery, and let everything about the premises remain as

they were, so that when the Indians sympathizing with the British

arrived they would walk right into the citadel, into the jaws of

death. His success was perfect. Sullen and silent, with the scalp-

lock of his victims hanging at his girdle, and in full expectation of

his reward from Hamilton, the unwary savage, unconscious of

danger and wholly ignorant of the change that had just beenefifected

in his absence, passed the supposed British sentry at the gate of the

fort unmolested and unchallenged; but as soon as in, a volley from

the rifles ofa platoon of Clark's men, drawn up and awaiting his

coming, pierced their hearts and sent the unconscious savage, reek-

ing with murder, to that tribunal to which he had so frequently,

by order of the hair-buyer general, sent his American captives,

from the infant in the cradle to the grandfather of the famih% tot-

tering with age and infirmity. It was a just retribution, and few

men but Clark would have planned such a ruse or carried it out

successfully. It is reported that
fiftj'-

Indians met this fate within

the fort; and probably Hamilton, a prisoner there, witnessed it all

subsequent career of HAMILTON.

Henry Hamilton, who had acted as Lieutenant and Governor of

the British possessions under Sir George Carleton, was sent for-
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ward, with two other prisoners of war, Dejean and LaMotlie, to

Williamsburg, Vu., early in June following, 1779. Proclamations.

in his own handwriting, were found, in which he had offered a

specific sum for every American scalp brought into the camp, either

by liis own troops or his allies, the Indians; and from this he was

denominated the "hair-buyer General." This and much other tes-

timony of living witnesses at the time, all showed what a savage he

was. Thomas Jefferson, then Governor of Yirginia, being made
aware of the inhumanity of this wretch, concluded to resort to a

little retaliation by way of closer confinement. Accordingly he

ordered that these three prisoners be put in irons, confined in a

dungeon, deprived of the use of pen, ink and paper, and be ex-

cluded from all conversation except with their keeper. Major
General Phillips, a British officer out on parole in the vicinity of

Charlottesville, where the prisoners now were, in closer confine-

ment, remonstrated, and President Washington, while approving
of Jefferson's course, requested a mitigation of the severe order,

lest the British be goaded to desperate measures.

Soon afterward Hamilton was released on parole, and he subse-

quently appeared in Canada, still acting as if he had jurisdiction

in the United States.

GIBAULT.

The faithful, self-sacrificing and patriotic services of Father

Pierre Gibault in behalf of the Americans require a special notice

of him in this connection. He was the parish priest at Vincennes,

as well as at Kaskaskia. He was, at an early period, a Jesuit mis-

sionary to the Hlinois. Had it not been for the infiuence of this man,
Clark could not have obtained the influence of the citizens at either

place. He gave all his property, to the value of 1,500 Spanish
milled dollars, to the support of Col. Clark's troops, and never re-

ceived a single dollar in return. So far as the records inform us,

he was given 1,500 Continental paper dollars, which proved in the

end entirely valueless. He modestly petitioned from the Govern-

ment a small allowance of land at Cahokia, butw^e find no account

of his ever receiving it. He was dependent upon the public in his

older days, and in 1790 Winthrop Sargent ''conceded" to him a lot

of about "14 toises, one side to Mr. Millet, another to Mr. Yaudrsy,

and to two streets,"
—a vague description oi land.

^
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VIGO.

Ool. Francis Vigo was born in jMondovi, in the kingdom of Sar-

dinia, in 1747. He left his parents and guardians at a very early

age, and enlisted in a Spanish regiment as a soldier. The regiment
was ordered to Havana, and a detachment of it subsequently to

New Orleans, then a Spanish post; Col. Yigo accompanied this de-

tachment. But he left the army and engaged in trading with the

Indians on the Arkansas and its tributaries. Next he settled at St.

Louis, also a Spanish post, where he became closely connected, both

in friendship and business, with the Governor of Upper Louisiana,

then residing at the same place. This friendship he enjoyed, though
he could only write his name; and we have many circumstantial

evidences tliat he was a man of high intelligence, honor, purity of

heart, and ability. Here he was living when Clark captured Kas-

kaskia, and was extensively engaged in trading up the Missouri.

A Spaniard by birth and allegiance, he was under no obligation

to assisfc^the Americans. Spain was at peace with Great Britain,

and any interference by her citizens was a breach of neutrality, and

subjected an individual, especially one of the high character and

.=;tanding of Col. Vigo, to all the contumely, loss and vengeance
which British power could inflict. But Col. Vigo did not falter.

With an innate love of libert}^ an attachment to Republican prin-

ciples, and an ardent sympathy for an oppressed people struggling
for their rights, he overlooked all personal consequences, and as

soon as he learned of Clark's arrival at Kaskaskia, he crossed the

line and went to Clark and tendered him his means and influence,

both of which were joyfully accepted.

Knowing Col. Vigo's influence with the ancient inhabitants of

the countrv, and desirous of obtaining some information from

Yincennes, from which he liad not heard for several months, Col.

Clark proposed to him that he might go to that place and learn the

actual state of afiairs. Vigo went without hesitation, but on the

Embarrass river he was seized by a party of Indians, plundered of

all he possessed, and brought a prisoner before Hamilton, then in pos-

session of the post, which he had a short time previously captured,

holding Capt. Helm a prisoner of war. Being a Spanish subject,

and consequently a non-combatant. Gov. Hamilton, although he

etrongly suspected the motives of the visit, dared not confine him,

but admitted him to parole, on the single condition that he

should daily report himself at the fort. But Hamilton was embar-
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rassed bj his detention, being besieged by the inhabitants of the

town, who loved Vigo and threatened to withdraw their support
from the garrison if he would not release him. Father Gibault was

the cliief pleader for Yigo's release. Hamilton finally 3delded, on con-

dition that lie, Yigo, would do no injury to the British interests on

his way to St. Louis. He went to St. Louis, sure enough, doing no

injury to British interests, but immediately returned to Kaskaskia

and reported to Clark in detail all he had learned at Yincennes,
without which knowledge Clark would have been unable to ac-

complish his famous expedition to that post with final triumph.
The redemption of this country from the British is due as much,

probably, to Col. Yigo as Col. Clark.

GOYERNMENT OF THE NORTHWEST.

Col. John Todd, Lieutenant for the county of Illinois, in the

spring of 1779 visited the old settlements at Yincennes and Kas-

kaskia, and organized temporary civil governments in nearly all the

settlements west of the Ohio. Previous to this, however, Clark

had established a military government at Kaskaskia and Yincennes,

appointed commandants in both places and taken up his headquar-
ters at the falls of the Ohio, where he Could watch the operations

of the enemy and save the frontier settlements from the depreda-
tions of Indian warfare. On reaching the settlements, Col. Todd

issued a proclamation regulating the settlement of unoccupied
lands and requiring the presentation of all claims to the lands set-

tled, as the number of adventurers who would shortly overrun the

country would be serious. He also organized a Court of civil and

criminal jurisdiction at Yincennes, in the month of June, 1779.

This Court was composed of several magistrates and presided over

by Col. J. M. P. Legras, who had been appointed commandant at

Yincennes. Acting from the precedents established by the early

French commandants in the West, this Court began to grant tracts

of land to the French and American inhabittots; and to the year

1783, it had granted to different parties about 26,000 acres of land;

22,000 more was granted in this mann*er by 1787, when the practice

was prohibited by Gen. Harmer. These tracts varied in size from

a house lot to 500 acres. Besides this loose business, the Court

entered into a stupendous speculation, one not altogether creditable

to its honor and dignity. The commandant and the magistrates

under him suddenly adopted the opinion that they were invested
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with the authority to dispose of the whole of that large region

which in 1842 Jiad been granted by the Pianl^eshaws to the French

inhabitants of Yincennes. Accordingly a very convenient arrange-
ment was entered into by which the whole tract of country men-

tioned was to be divided between the members of the honorable

Court. A record was made to that effect, and in order to gloss over

the steal, each member took pains, to be absent from Court on the

day that the order was made in his favor.

In the fall of 1780 La Balme, a Frenchman, made an attempt to

capture the British garrison of Detroit by leading an expedition

against it from Kaskaskia. At the head of 30 meti he marched to

Yincennes, where his force was slightly increased. From this

plac^
he proceeded to the British trading post at the head of the

Maumee, where Fort Wayne now stands, plundered the British

traders and Indians and then retired. While encamped on the

bank of a small stream on his retreat, he was attacked by a band

of Miamis, a number of his men were killed, and his expedition

against Detroit was ruined.

In this manner border war continued between Americans and

their enemies, with varying victory, until 17S3, when the treaty of

Paris was concluded, resulting in the establishment of the inde-

pendence of the United States. Up to this time the territory now
included in Indiana belonged by conquest to the State of Yirginia;
but in January, 1783, the General Assembly of that State resolved

to cede to the Congress of the United States all the territory north-

west of the Ohio. The conditions offered by Yirginia were

accepted by Congress Dec. 20, that year, and early in 1781 the

transfer was completed. In 1783 Virginia had platted the town of

Clarksville, at the falls of the Ohio. The deed of cession provided
that the territory should be laid out into States, containing a suita-

ble extent of territory not less than 100 nor more than 150 miles

square, or as near thereto as circumstances would permit; and that

the States so formed shall be distinct Republican States and

admitted members of 'the Federal Union, having the same rights of

sovereignty, freedom and independence as the other States. The
other conditions of the deed were as follows: That the necessary
and reasonable expenses incurred by Yirginia in subduing any
British posts, or in maintaining forts and garrisons within and for

the defense, or in acquiring any part of the territory so ceded or

relinquished, shall be fully reimbursed by the United States; that

the French and Canadian inhabitants and other settlers of the Kas-
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kaskia, Post Yincennes and the neighboring villages who have pro-
fessed themselves citizens of Virginia, shall have their titles and

possessions confirmed to them, and be protected in the enjoyment
of their rights and privileges; that a quantity not exceeding 150,-
000 acres of land, promised by Virginia, shall be allowed and

granted to the then Colonel, now General, George Rogers Clark,
and to the officers and soldiers of his regiment, who marched with
him when the posts and of Kaskaskiaand Vincennes were reduced,
and to the officers and soldiers that have been since incorporated
into the said regiment, to be laid off in one tract, the length oK

which not to exceed double the breadth, in such a place on ths

northwest side of the Ohio as a majority of the officers shall

choose, and to be afterward divided among the officers and soldiers

in due proportion according to the laws of Virginia; that in case

the quantity of good lands on the southeast side of the Ohio, upon
the waters of Cumberland river, and between Green river and Ten.
nessee river, which have been reserved by law for the Virginia

troops upon Continental establishment, should, from the North
Carolina line, bearing in further upon the Cumberland lands than
was expected, prove insuffxient for their legal bounties, the defi-

ciency shall be made up to the said troops in good lands to be laid

off between the rivers Scioto and Little Miami, on the northwest

side of the river Ohio, in such proportions as have been engaged
to them by the laws of Virginia; that all the lands within the ter-

ritory so ceded to the United States, and not reserved for or appro-

priated to any of the before-mentioned purposes, or disposed of in

bounties to the officers and soldiers of the American army, shall be

considered as a common fund for the use and benefit of such of the

United States as have become, or shall become, members of the

confederation or federal alliance of the said States, Virginia included,

according to their usual respective proportions in the general

charge and expenditure, and shall be faithfully and honafide dis-

posed of for that purpose and for no other use or purpose whatever.

After the above deed of cession had been accepted by Congress,
in the spring of 1784, the matter of the future government of the

territory was referred to a committee consisting of Messrs. Jefi^er-

son of Virginia, Chase of Maryland and Howell of Rhode Island,

which committee reported an ordinance for its government, provid-

ing, among other things, that slavery should not exist in said terri-

tory after 1800, except as punishment of criminals; but this article

of the ordinance was rejected, and an ordinance for the temporary
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government of the county was adopted. In 1785 laws were passed

by Congress for the disposition of lands in the territory and pro-

hibiting the settlement of unappropriated lands by reckless specu-
lators. Bnt human passion is ever strong enough to evade the law

to some extent, and large associations, representing considerable

means, were formed for the purpose of monopolizing the land busi-

ness. Millions of acres were sold at one time by Congress to asso-

ciations on the installment plan, and so far as the Indian titles

could be extinguished, the work of settling and improving the

lands was pushed rapidly forward.

OKDINANCE OF 1787.

This ordinance has a marvelous and interesting historv. Con-

siderable controversy has been indulged in as to who is entitled to

the credit for framing it. This belongs, undoubtedly, to Nathan

Dane; and to Rufus King and Timothy Pickering belong the

credit for suggesting the proviso contained in it against slavery,

and also for aids to religion and knowledge, and for assuring for-

ever the common use, without charge, of the great national high-

ways of the Mississippi, the St. Lawrence and their tributaries to

all the citizens of the United States. To Thomas Jefferson is also

due much credit, as some features of this ordinance were embraced

in his ordinance of 1781. But the part taken by each in the long,

laborious and eventful struggle which had so glorious a consum-

mation in the ordinance, consecrating forever, by one imprescript-
ible and unchangeable monument, the very heart of our country to

Freedom, Knowledge, and Union, will forever honor the names of

those illustrious statesmen.

Mr. Jefferson had vainlv tried to secure a svstem of government
for the Northwestern territory,. He was an emancipationist and

favored the exclusion of slavery from the territory, but the South
• voted him down every time he proposed a measure of this nature.

In 1787, as late as July 10, an organizing act witlioiit the anti-

slavery clause was pending. This concession to the South was

expected to carry it. Congress was in session in New York. On

July 5, Rev. Manasseh Cutler, of Massachusetts, came into New
York to lobby on the Northwestern territory. Everything seemed

to fall into his hands. Events were ripe. The state of the public

credit, the growing of Southern prejudice, the basis of his mission,

his personal character, all combined to complete one of those sudden
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and marvelous revolutions of public sentiment that once in five or

ten centuries are seen to sweep over a country like the breath of the

Almio^htv.

Cutler was a graduate of Yale, He had studied and taken de-

grees in the three learned professions, medicine, law, and divinity.

He had published a scientific examination of the plants of New
England. As a scientist in America his name stood second only to

that of Franklin. He Wfis a courtly gentleman of the old style, a

man ofcommanding presence and of inviting face. The Southern

members said they had never seen such a gentleman in the North.

He came representing a Massachusetts company that desired to

purchase a tract of land, now included in Ohio, for the purpose of

planting a colony. It was a speculation. Government money was

worth eighteen cents on' the dollar. This company had collected

enough to purchase 1,500,000 acres of land. Other speculators in

New York made Dr, Cutler their agent, which enabled him to

represent a demand for 5,500,000 acres. As this would reduce the

national debt, and Jefferson's policy was to provide for the public

credit, it presented a good opportunity to do something.
Massachusetts then owned the territory of Maine, which she was

crowding on the mai-ket. She was opposed to opening the North-

western reo^ion. This fired the zeal of Virsjinia. The South causfht

the inspiration, and all exalted Dr. Cutler. The entire South ral.

lied around him. Massachusetts could not vote against him, be-

cause many of the constuitents of her members were interested

•personally in the Western speculation. Thus Cutler, making
friends in the South, and doubtless using all the arts of" the lobby,

was enabled to command the situation. True to deeper convic-

tions, he dictated one of the most compact and finished documents

of wise statesmanship that has ever adorned any human law book.

He borrowed from Jefferson the term "Articles of Compact," which,

preceding the federal constitution, rose into the most* sacred char-

acter. He then followed very closely the constitution of Massa-

chusetts, adopted three years before. Its most prominent points

were :

1. The exclusion of slavery from the territory forever.

2. Provision for public schools, giving one township for a semi-

nary and every section numbered 1(3 in each township; that is, one

thirty-sixth of all the land for public schools.

3. A provision prohibiting the adoption of any constitution or

the enactment of any law that should nullify pre-existing contracts.
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Be it forever remembered that this compact declared that "
re-

ligion, moi'alitj, and knowledge being necessary to good govern-

ment and the happiness of mankind, schools and the means of edu-

cation shall always be encouraged." Dr. Cutler planted himself

on this platform and would not yield. Giving bis unqualified dec-

laration that it was that or nothing,
—that unless they could make

the land desirable they did not want it,
—he took his horse and buggy

and started for the constitutional convention at Philadelphia. On

July 13, 1787, the bill was put upon its passage, and was unani-

mously adopted. Thus the great States of Ohio, Indiana, Illinois,

Michigan and Wisconsin, a vast empire, were consecrated to free

dom, intelligence, and morality. Thus the great heart of the nation

was prepared to save the union of States, for it was this act that was

the salvation of the republic and the destruction of slavery. Soon

the South saw their great blunder and tried to have the compact

repealed. In 1803 Congress referred it to a committee, of which

John Randolph was chairman. He reported that this ordinance

was a compact and opposed repeal. Thus it stood, a rock in the

way of the on-rushing sea of slavery.

The " Northwestern Territory
" included of course what is now

the State of Indiana; and Oct 5, 1787, Maj. Gen. Arthur St. Clair

was elected by Congress Governor of this territory. Upon
commencing the duties of his office he was instructed to ascertain

the real temper of the Indians and do all in his power to remove

the causes for controversy between them and the United States,

and to effect the extinguishment of Indian titles to all the land

possible. Che Governor took up quarters in the new settlement of

Marietta, Ohio, where he immediately began the organization of

the government of the territory. The first session of the General

Court of the new territory was held at that place in 1788, the

Judges being Samuel H. Parsons, James M. Varnum and John C.

Symmes, but* under the ordinance Gov. St. Clair was President of

the Court. After the first session, and after the necessary laws for

government were adopted. Gov. St. Clair, accompanied by the

Judges, visited Kaskaskia for the purpose of organizing a civil gov-
ernment there. Full instructions had been sent to Maj. Hamtramck,
commandant at Yincennes, to ascertain the exact feeling and temper
of the Indian tribes of the Wabash. These instructions were ac-

companied by speeches to each of the tribes. A Frenchman named
Antoine Gamelin was dispatched with these messages April 5, 1790,

svho visited nearly all the tribes on the Wabash, St, Joseph and St.
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Marj's rivers, but was coldly received; most of the chiefs being
dissatisfied with the policy of the Americans toward them, and

prejudiced through English misrepresentation. Full accounts of

his adventures among the tribes reached Gov. St. Clair at Kaskas-

kia in June, 1790. Being satisfied that there was no prospect of

efiecting a general peace with the Indians of Indiana, he resolved

to visit Gen. Harmar at his headquarters at Fort Washington and

consult with him on the means of carrying an expedition against

the hostile Indians; but before leaving he intrusted Winthrop

Sargent, the Secretary of the Territory, with the execution of the

resolutions of Congress regarding the lands and settlers on the

"Wabash. He directed that ofiicer to proceed to Vincennes, lay

out a county there, establish the militia and appoint the necessary

civil and military officers. Accordingly Mr. Sargent went to Yin-

cennes and organized Camp Knox, appointed the oflicers, and noti-

fied the inhabitants to present their claims to lands. In establish-

ing these claims the settlers found great difficulty, and concerning

this matter the Secretary in his report to the President wrote as

follows:

"Althouirh the lands and lots which were awarded to the inhabi-

tants appeared from very good oral testimony to belong to those

persons to whom they were awarded, either by original grants, pur-

chase or inheritance, yet there was scarcely one case in twenty

where the title was complete, owing to the desultory manner in

which public business bad been transacted and some other unfor-

tunate causes. The original concessions by the French and British

commandants were generally made upon a small scrap of paper,

which it has been customary to lodge in the notary's office, who

has seldom kept any book of record, but committed the most im-

portant land concerns to loose sheets, which in process of time

have come into possession of persons that have fraudulently de-

stroyed them; or, unacquainted with their consequence, innocently

lost or trifled them away. By French usage they are considered

family inheritances, and often descend to women and children. In

one instance, and during the government of St. Ange here, a royal

notary ran off" with all the public papers in his possession, as by a

certificate produced to me. And I am very sorry further to obser.ve

that in the office of Mr. Le Grand, which continued from 1777 to

1787, and where should have been the vouchers for important land

transactions, the records have been so falsified, and there is such

gross fraud and forgery, as to invalidate all evidence and informa-

tion which I might have otherwise acquired from his papers."
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Mr. Sargent says there were about 150 French families at Vin-

cennes in 1790. The heads of all these families had been at some

time vested with certain titles to a portion of the soil; and while

the Secretary was busy in straightening out tliese claims, he re-

ceived a petition signed by 80 Americans, asking for the confirma-

tion of grants of land ceded by the Court organized by Col. John

Todd under the authoritv of Virginia. With reference to this

cause, Congress, March 3, 1791, empowered the Territorial Governor,

in cases where land had been actually improved and cultivated

under a supposed grant for the same, to confirm to the persons who
made such improvements the lands supposed to have been granted,

not, however, exceeding the quantity of 400 acres to any one per-

son.

LIQUOK AND GAMING LAWS.

The General Court in the summer of 1790, Acting Governor

Sargent presiding, passed the following laws with reference to

vending liquor among the Indians and others, and with reference

to games of chance:
CD

1. An act to prohibit the giving or selling intoxicating liquors
to Indians I'esiding in or comiiiif into the Territorv of the United

States noi-tliwest of the riv-er Ohio, and for preventing foreigners
from trading with Indians therein.

2. An act prohibiting the sale of spirituous or other intoxicat-

ing liquors to soldiers in the service of the United States, being
within ten miles of any military post in the territory; and to pre-

vent the selling or pawning of arms, ammunition, clothing or

accoutrements.

3. An act prohibiting every species of gaming for money or

property, and for making void contracts and payments made in

consequence thereof, and for restraining the disorderly practice

of discharging arms at certain hours and places.

Winthrop Sargent's administration was highly eulogized by the

citizens at Vincennes, in a testimonial drawn up and signed by a

committee of officers. He had conducted the investigation and

settlement of land claims to the entire satisfaction of the residents,

had upheld the principles of free government in keeping with the

animus of the American Revolution, and had established in good
order the machinery of a good and wise government. In the same
address Major Hamtramck also received a fair share of praise for

his judicious management of affiiirs.
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EXPEDITIONS OF IIARMA.R, SCOTT AND WILKINSON.

Gov. St. Clair, on his arrival at Fort Washington from Kas-

kaskia, had a long conversation with Gen. Ilarmar, and condnded
to send a powerful force to chastise tlie savages about the head-

waters of the Wabash. He had been empowered by the President

to call on Virginia for 1,000 troops and on Pennsylvania for 500,

and he immediately availed himself of this resource, ordering 300

of the Virginia militia to muster at Fort Steuben and march with

the garrison of that fort to Vincennes, and join Maj. llamtramck,
who had orders to call for aid from the militia of Vincennes, march

up the Wabash, and attack any of the Indian villages which he

miiiht think he could overcome. The remaining: 1,200 of the mi-

litia were ordered to rendezvous at Fort Washington, and to join

the regular troops at that post under command of Gen. Harmar.

At this time the United States troops in the West were estimated

by Gen. Harmar at 400 effective men. These, with the militia,

gave him a force of 1,450 men. With this army Gen. Harmar
marched from Fort Washington Sept. 30, and arrived at the Mau-

mee Oct. 17. The}' commenced the work of punishing the Indians,

but were not very successful. The savages, it is true, received a

severe scourging, but the militia behaved so badly as to be of little

or no service. A detachment of 340 militia and 60 reguhirs, under

the command of Col. Hardin, were sorely defeated on the Maumee
Oct. 22. The next day the army took up the line of march for

Fort Washington, which place they reached l^ov. 4, having lost in

the expedition 183 killed and 31 wounded; the Indians lost about

as many. During the progress of this expedition Maj. Hamtramck
marched up the Wabash from Vinceimes, as far as the Vermillion

river, and destroyed several deserted villages, but without finding

an enemy to oppose him.

Although the savages seem to have been severely punished by
these expeditions, yet they refused to sue for peace, and continued

their hostilities. Thereupon the inhabitants of the frontier settle-

ments of Virginia took alarm, and the delegates of Ohio, Monon-

(75)
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gahela, Hai-rison, Randolph, Greenbrier, Kanawha and Mont-

gomery counties sent a joint memorial to the Governor of Yir-

ginia, saying that the defenseless condition of the counties, form-

ing a line of nearly 400 miles along the Ohio river, exposed to the

hostile invasion of their Indian enemies, destitute of every kind of

support, was truly alarming; for, notwithstandmg all the regula-

tions of the General Government in that country, they have reason

to lament that they have been up to that time ineffectual for their

protection; nor indeed could it be otherwise, for the garrisons kept

by the Continental troops on the Ohio river, if of any use at all,

must protect only the Kentucky settlements, as they immediately
covered that country. They farther stated in their memorial: "We
heo; leave to observe that we have reason to fear that the conse-

quences of the defeat of our army by the Indians in the late expe-

dition will be severely felt on our frontiers, as there is no doubt

that the Indians will, in their turn, being flushed with victory, in-
.

vade our settlements and exercise all their horrid murder upon the

inhabitants thereof whenever the weather will permit them to

travel. Tlien is it not better to support us where we are, be the ex-

pense what it may, than to oblige such a number of your brave

citizens, who have so long supported, and still continue to support,

a dangerous frontier (although thousands of their relatives in the

flesh have in the prosecution thereof fallen a sacrifice to savage in-

ventions) to quit the country, after all they have done and suffered,

when you know that a frontier must be supported somewhere?"

This memorial caused the Legislature of Virginia to autiiorize

the Governor of that State to make any defensive operations neces-

sary for the temporary defense of the frontiers, until the general
Government could adopt and carry out measures to suppi-ess the

hostile Indians. The Governor at once called upon the military

commanding officers in the western counties of Virginia to raise by
the first of March, 1791, several small companies of rangers for this

purpose. At the same time Charles Scott was appointed Brigadier-

General of the Kentucky militia, with authority to raise 226 vol-

unteers, to protect the most exposed portions of that district. A
full report of the proceedings of the Virginia Legislature being
transmitted to Congress, that bodv constituted a local Board of

War for the district of Kentuckv, consisting of five men. March 9,

1791, Gen. Henry Knox, Secretary of War, sent a letter of instruc-

tions to Gen. Scott, recommending an expedition of mounted men
not exceeding 750, against the Wea towns on the Wabash. With
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this force Gen. Scott accordingly crossed the Ohio, May 23, 1791,
and reached the "Wabash in about ten days. Many of the Indians,

having discovered his approach, fled, but he succeeded in destro}^-

ing all the villages around Ouiatenon, together with several Kick-

apoo towns, killing 32 warriors and taking 58 prisoners. He
released a few of the most infirm prisoners, giving them a "

talk,"

which they carried to the towns farther up the Wabash, and which
the wretched condition of his horses prevented him from reaching.
March 3, 1791, Congress provided for raising and equipping a

regiment for the protection of the frontiers, and Gov. St. Clair was
invested with the chief command of about 3,000 troops, to be raised

and employed against the hostile Indians in the territory over

which his jurisdiction extended. He was instructed by the Secre-

tary of War to march to the Miami village and establish a strong
and permanent military post there; also such posts elsewhere along
the Ohio as would be in communication with Fort Washington.
The post at Miami village was intended to keep the savages in that

vicinity in check, and was ordered to be strong enongh in its gar-
rison to afford a detachment of 500 or 600 men in case of emer-

gency, either to chastise any of the Wabash or other hostile Indians

or capture convoys of the enemy's provisions. The Secretary of

War also urged Gov. St. Clair to establish that post as the first and

most important part of the campaign. In case of a previous

treaty the Indians were to be conciliated upon this point if possible;
and he presumed good arguments might be offered to induce their

acquiescence. Said he: "Having commenced your march upon the

main expedition, and the Indians continuing hostile, you will use

every possible exertion to make them feel the effects of your superi-

ority; and, after having arrived at the Miami village and put your
works in a defensible state, you will seek the enemy with the whole

of your remaining force, and endeavor by all possible means to

strike them with great severity.
•5t * * w

In order to avoid future wars, it might be proper to make the Wa-
bash and thence over to the Maumee, and down the same to its

mouth, at Lake Erie, the boundary between the people of the

United States and the Indians (excepting so far as the same should

relate to the Wyandots and Delawares), on the supposition of their

continuing faithful to the treaties; but if they should join in the

war against the United States, and your army be victorious, the

said tribes ought to be removed without the boundary mentioned."

Previous to ranrching a strong force to the Miami town, Gov. St.
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Clair, June 25, 1791, authorized Geii Wilkinson to conduct a second

expedition, not exceeding 500 mounted men, against the Indian

villages on the "Wabash. Accordingly Gen. Wilkinson mustered

his forces and was ready July 20, to march with 525 mounted vol-

unteers, well armed, and provided with 30 days' provisions, and

with this force he reached the Ke-na-pa-com-a-qua village on the

north bank of Eel river about six miles above its mouth, Aug. 7,

where he killed six warriors and took 3-1 prisoners. This town,

which was scattered along the river for three miles, was totally de-

stroyed. Wilkinson encamped on the ruins of the town that night,

and the next day he commenced his march for the Kickapoo town

on the prairie, which he was unable to reach owing to the impassa-

ble condition of the route which he adopted and the failing condi-

tion of his horses. He reported the estimated results of the expe-

dition as follows: "I have destroyed the chief town of the Ouiate-

non nation, and have made prisoners of tlie sons and sisters of the

king. I have burned a respectable Kickapoo village, and cut down

at least 400 aeres of corn, chiefly in the milk."

EXPEDITIONS OF ST. CLAIR AND WAYNE.

The Indians were greatly damaged by the expeditions of Harmar,
Scott and W^'ilkinson, but were far from being subdued. They

regarded the pclicy of the United States as calculated to extermi-

nate them from the land; and, goaded on by the English of Detroit,

enemies of the Americans, thej^ were excited to desperation. At
this time the British Government still supported garrisons at

Niagara, Detroit and Michilimackinac, although it was declared by
the second article of the definitive treaty of peace of 1783, that

the king of Great Britain would,
" with all convenient speed, and

without causing any destruction or carrying away any negroes or

property of the American inhabitants, withdraw all his forces,

garrisons and fleets from the United States, and from every post,

place and harbor within the same." That treaty also provided that

the creditors on either side should meet with no lawful impedi-

ments to the recovery of the full value, in sterling money, of all

hona fide debts previously contracted. The British Government

claimed that the United States had broken faith in this particular

understanding of the treaty, and in consequence refused to with-

draw its forces from the territory. The British garrisons in the

Lake Region weya a source of much annoyance to the Americans,

as they aflforded oYictor xo hostile Indians, encouraging them to
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make raids among the Ainei-icans. This state of affairs in the

Territory Northwest of the Ohio continued from the commence-

ment of the Revolutionary war to 179G, when under a second

treaty all British soldiers were withdrawn from the country.

In September, 1791, St. Clair moved from Fort Washington
with about 2,000 men, and November 3, the main army, consisting

of about 1,400 effective troops, moved forward to the head-waters

of the Wabash, where Fort Recovery was afterward erected, and

here the army encamped. About 1,200 Indians were secreted aTew

miles distant, awaiting a favorable opportunity to begin an attack,

which they improved on the morning of Nov. 4, about half an hour

before sunrise. The attack was first made upon the militia, which

immediately gave way. St. Clair was defeated and he returned to

Fort Washington with a broken and dispirited army, liaving lost

39 officers killed, and 539 men killed and missing; 22 officers and

232 men were wounded. Several pieces of artillery, and all the

baggage, ammunition and provisions wei*e left on the field of bat-

tle and fell into the hands of the victorious Indians. The stores

and other public property lost in the action were valued at $32,S00.

There were also 100 or more American women with the army of

the whites, very few of whom escaped the cruel carnage of the sav-

age Indians. The latter, characteristic of their brutal nature,

proceeded in the flush of victory to perpetrate the most horrible

acts of cruelty and brutality upon the bodies of the living and the

dead Americans who fell into their hands. Believing that the

whites had made war for many years merely to acquire land, the

Indians crammed clay and sand into the eyes and down the throats

of the dying and the dead! •

GEN. Wayne's great victory.

Although no particular blame was attached to Gov. St. Clair for

the loss in this expedition, yet he resigned the office of Major-Gen«-

eral, and was succeeded by Anthony Wayne, a distinguished

officer of the Revolutionary war. Early in 1792 provisions were

made by the geireral Government for re-organizing the army, so

that it should consist of an efficient degree of strength. Wayne
arrived at Pittsburg in June, where the army was to rendezvous.

Here he continued actively engaged in organizing and training his

forces until October, 1793, when with an army of about 3,600 men

he moved westward to Fort Washington.
While Wayne was preparing for an offensive campaign, every
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possible means was employed to induce the hostile tribes of the

Northwest to enter into a general treaty of peace with the Ameri-
can Government; speeches were sent among them, and agents to

make treaties were also sent, but little was accomplished. Major
Hamtramck, who still remained at Yincenues, succeeded in con-

cluding a general peace with the Wabash and Illinois Indians; but

the tribes more immediately under the influence of the British

refused to hear the sentiments of friendsliip that were sent among
them, and tomahawked several of the messengers. Their courage
had been aroused by St. Clair's defeat, as well as by tlie unsuccess-

ful expeditions which had preceded it, and they now felt quite pre-

pared to meet a superior force under Gen. Wayne. The Indians

insisted on the Ohio river as the boundary line between their lands

and the lands of the United States, and felt certain that they could

maintain that boundary.

Maj. Gen. Scott, with about 1,600 mounted volunteers from

Kentucky, joined the regular troops under Gen. Wayne July 26,

1794, and on the 28tli the united forces began their march for the

Indian towns on the Mauniee river. Arriving at the mouth of

the Auglaize, they erected Fort Defiance, and Aug. 15 the army
advanced toward the British fort at the foot of the rapids of the

Maumee, where, on the 20th, almost within reach of the British^

the American army gained a decisive victory over the combined

forces of the hostile Indians and a considerable number of the

Detroit militia. The number of the enemy was estimated at 2,000,

against about 900 American troops actually engaged. This horde

of savages, as soon as the action began, abandoned themselves to

flight and dispersed with terror and dismay, leaving Wayne's vic-

torious army in full and quiet possession of the field. The Ameri-
cans lost 33 killed and 100 wounded; loss of the enemy more than

double this number.

The army remained three days and nights on the banks of the

Maumee, in front of the field of battle, during which time all the

houses and cornfields were consumed and destroyed for a considera-

ble distance both above and below Fort Miami, as well as within

pistol shot of the British garrison, who were compelled to remain

idle spectators to this general devastation and conflagration, among
which were the houses, stores and property of Col. McKee, the

British Indian agent and "
principal stimulator of the war then

existing between the United States and savages." On the return

march to Fort Defiance the villages and cornfields for about 50
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miles on each side of tlie Mauinee were destroyed, as well as those

for a considerable distance around that post.

Sept. 14, 1794, the army under Gen. "Wayne commenced its

marcli toward the deserted Miami villages at the confluence of St.

Joseph's and St. Mary's rivers, arrivino^ Oct. 17, and on the follow*

ing day the site of Fort Wayne was selected. The fort was com-

pleted Xov. 22, and garrisoned by a strong detachment of infantry
and artillery, under the command of Col. John F. Hamtramck, who

gave to the new fort the name of Fort Wayne. In 1814 a new fort

was built on the site of this structure. The Kentuckv volunteers

returned to Fort Washington and were mustered out of service.

Gen. Wayne, with the Federal troops, marched to Greenville and

took up his headquarters during the winter. Here, in August,

1795, after several months of active negotiation, this gallant officer

succeeded in concluding a general treaty of peace with all the hos-

tile tribes of the Northwestern Territory. This treaty opened the

way for the flood of immigration for many years, and ultimately

made the States and territories now constituting the mighty North-

west.

Up to the organization of the Indiana Territory there is but little

history to record aside from those events connected with military

affairs. In July, 1796, as before stated, after a treaty was con-

cluded between the United States and Spain, the British garrisons,

with their arms, artillery and stores, were withdrawn from the

posts within the boundaries of the United States northwest of the

Ohio river, and a detachment of American troops, consisting of 65

men, under the command of Capt. Moses Porter, took possession

of the evacuated post of Detroit in the same month.

In the latter part of 1796 Winthrop Sargent went to Detroit and

organized the county of Wayne, forming a part of the Indiana

Territory until its division in 1805, when the Territory of Michigan
was organized.



TERRITORIAL HISTORY.

ORGANIZATION OF INDIANA TERRITORY.

On the final success of American arras and diplomacy in 1796,

the principal town within the Territory, now the State, of Indiana

was Yincennes, which at this time comprised about 50 houses, all

presenting a thrifty and tidy appearance. Each house was sur-

rounded by a garden fenced with poles, and peach and apple-trees

grew in most of the enclosures. Garden vegetables of all kinds

were cultivated with success, and corn, tobacco, wheat, barley and

cotton grew in the fields around the village in abundance. During
the last few years of the ISth century tlie condition of society at

Vincennes improved wonderfully.

Besides Vincennes there was a small settlement near where the

town of Lawrenceburg now stands, in Dearborn county, and in the

course of that year a small settlement was formed at "
Armstrong's

Station," on the Ohio, within the present limits of Clark county.

There were of course several other smaller settlements and trading

posts in the present limits of Indiana, and the number of civilized

inhabitants comprised within the territory was estimated at 4,875.

The Territory of Indiana was organized by Act of Congress May
7, 1800, the material parts of the ordinance of 1787 remaining in

force; and the inhabitants were invested v^ith all the rights, privi-

leges and advantages granted and secured to the people by that

ordinance. The seat of government was fixed at Vincennes. May
13, 1800, Wm. Henry Harrison, a native ot Virginia, was appoint-

ed Governor of this new territory, and on the next day John Gib-

son, a native of Pennsylvania and a distinguished Western pioneer,

(to whom the Indian chief Logan delivered his celebrated speech in

1774), was appointed Secretary of the Territory. Soon afterward

"VYm. Clark, Henry Vanderburgh and John Grifiin were appointed
territorial Judges.

Secretary Gibson arrived at Vincennes in July, and commenced,
in the absence of Gov. Harrison, the administration of government.
Gov. Harrison did not arrive until Jan. 10, 1801, when he imme-

diately called together the Judges of the Territory, who proceeded
(88)
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to pass such laws as they deemed necessary for the present govern-
ment of the Territory. Tliis session began March 3, 1801.

From this time to 1810 the principal subjects which attracted the

attention of tiie people of Indiana were land speculations, the

adjustment of land titles, the question of negro slavery, the purchase
of Indian lands by treaties, the organization of Territorial legis-

latures, the extension of the right of suffrage, the division of

Indiana Territory, the movements of Aaron Burr, and the hostile

views and proceedings of the Shawanee chief, Tecumseh, and his

brother, the Prophet.

Up to this time the sixth article of the celebrated ordinance of

1787, prohibiting slavery in the Northwestern Territory, had been

somewhat neglected in the execution of the law, and many French

settlers still held slaves in a manner. In some instances, according
to rules prescribed by Territorial legislation, slaves agreed by
indentures to remain in servitude under their masters for a certain

number of years; but many slaves, with whom no such contracts

were made, were removed from the Indiana Territory either to the

west of the Mississippi or to some of the slaveholding States.

Gov. Harrison convoked a session of delegates of the *lerritory,

elected by a popular vote, who petitioned Congress to declare the

sixth article of the ordinance of 1787, prohibiting slavery, suspend-

ed; but Congress never consented to grant that petition, and many
other petitions of a similar import. Soon afterward some of the

citizens began to take colored persons out of the Territory for the

purpose of selling them, and Gov. Harrison, by a proclamation

xVpril 6, 1801, forbade it, and called upon the authorities of the

Territory to assist him in preventing such removal of persons

of color.

During the year 1804 all the country west of the Mississippi and

north of 33° was attached to Indiana Territory by Congress, but in

a few months was again detached and organized into a separate ter-

ritory.

AVhen it appeared from the result of a popular vote in the Terri-

tory that a majority of 138 freeholders were in favor of organizing

a General Assembly, Gov. Harrison, Sept. 11, 1804, issued a procla-

mation declaring that the Territory had passed into the second grade

of government, as contemplated by the ordinance of 1787, and

fixed Thursday, Jan. 3, 1805, as the time for holding an election in

the several counties of the Territory,to choose members of a House

of Representatives, who should meet at Vincennes Feb. 1 and
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adopt measures for the organization of a Territorial Council. These

delegates were elected, and met according to the proclamation, and

selected ten men from whom the President of the United States,

Mr, Jefferson, should appoint five to be and constitute the Legisla-

tive Council of the Territory, but he declining, requested Mr. Har-

rison to make the selection, which was accordingly done. Before

the first session of this Council, however, was held, Michigan Ter-

ritory was set off, its south line being one drawn from the southern

end of Lake Michigan directly east to Lake Erie.

FIEST TERKITORIAL LEGISLATURE.

The first General Assembly, or Legislature, of Indiana Territory

met at Yincennes July 29, 1805, in pursuance of a gubernatorial

proclamation. The members of the House of Representatives were

Jesse B. Thomas, of Dearborn county; Davis Floyd. of Clark county;

Benjamin Parke and John Johnson, of Knox county; Shadrach

Bond and William Biggs, of St. Clair county, and George Fisher,

of Randolph count3^ July 30 the Governor delivered his first mes-

sage to "the Legislative Council and House of Representatives of

the Indiana Territory." Benjamin Parke was the first delegate

elected to Congress. He had emigrated from New Jersey to In-

diana in 180L
THE "western sun"

was the first newspaper published in the Indiana Territory, now

comprising the four great States of Indiana, Illinois, Michigan and

Wisconsin, and the second in all that country once known as the

"Northwestern Territory." It was commenced at Vincennes in

1803, by Elihn Stout, of Kentucky, and first called the Indiana,

Gasdte, and July, 4, 1804, was changed to the Western Sun. Mr.

Stout continued the paper until 1845, amid many discouragements,
when he was appointed postmaster at the place, and he sold out

the ofiice.

INDIANA IN 1810.

The events which we have just been describing really constitute

the initiatory steps to the great military campaign of Gen. Harrison

which ended in the "battle of Tippecanoe;" but before proceeding
to an account of that brilliant affair, let us take a glance at the re-

sources and strength of Indiana Territory at this time, 1810:

Total population, 24,520; 33 grist mills; 14 saw mills; 3 horse

mills; 18 tanneries; 28 distilleries; 3 powder mills; 1,256 looms;



HISTOKY OF INDIANA. 85

1,350 spinning wheels; vnlue of manufactures—woolen, cotton

hempen and flaxen cloths, $159,052; of cotton and wool spun in

mills, $150,000; of nails, 30,000 pounds, $-1,000; of leather tanned,

$9,300; of distillery products, 35,950 gallons, $16,230; of gun-

powder, 3,600 pounds, $1,800; of wine from grapes, 96 barrels,

$6,000, and 5 0,000 pounds of maple sugar.

During the year 1810 a Board of Commissioners was established

to straighten out the confused condition into which the land-title

controversy had been carried by the various and conflicting admin-

istrations that had previously exercised jurisdiction in this regard.

This work was attended with much labor on the part of the Commis-
sioners and great dissatisfaction on the part of a few designing specu-

lators, who thought no extreme of perjury too hazardous in their

mad attempts to obtain lands fraudulently. In closing their report
the Commissioners used the following expressive language: "We
close this melancholy picture of human depravity by rendering our

devout acknowledgment that, in the awful alternative in which we
have been placed, of either admitting perjured testimony in sup-

port of the claims before us, or having it turned against our char-

acters and lives, it has as yet pleased that divine providence which

rules over the affairs of men, to preserve us, both from legal mur-

der and private assassination."

The question of dividing the Territory of Indiana was agitated

from 1806 to 1809, when Congress erected the Territory of Illinois,

to comprise all that part of Indiana Territory lying west of the

Wabash river and a direct line drawn from that river and Post

Yincennes due north to the territorial line between the United

States and Canada. This occasioned some confusion in the govern-

ment of Indiana, but in due time the new elections were confirmed,

and the new territory started off on a journey of prosperity which

this section of the United States has ever since enjoyed.

From the first settlement of Yincennes for nearly half a century

there occurred nothing of importance to relate, at least so far as

the records inform us. The place was too isolated to grow very

fast, and we suppose there was a succession of priests and com-

mandants, who governed the little world around them with almost

infinite power and authority, from whose decisions there was no

appeal, if indeed any was ever desired. The character of society

in such a place would of course grow gradually difterent from the

parent society, assimilating more or less with that of neighboring

tribes. The whites lived in peace with the Indians, each under-
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Standing the other's peculiarities, which remained fixed long

enough for both parties to study out and understand them. The

government was a mixture of the military and the civil. There

was little to incite to enterprise. Speculations in money and prop-

erty, and their counterpart, beggary, were both unknown; the nec-

essaries of life were easily procured, and beyond these there were

but few wants to be supplied; hospitality was exercised by all, as

there were no taverns; there seemed to be no use for law, judges
or prisons; each district had its commandant, and the proceedings
of a trial were singular. The complaining party obtained a notifi-

cation from the commandant to his adversary, accompanied by a

command to render justice. If this had no eflfect he was notified

to appear before the commandant on a particular day and answer;
and if the last notice was neglected, a sergeant and file of men
were sent to bring him,—no sheriff and no costs. The convicted

party would be fined and kept in prison until he rendered justice

according to the decree; when extremely refractory the cat-o'-nine-

tails brought him to a sense of justice. In such a state of society

there was no demand for learning and science. Few could read,

and still fewer write. Their disposition was nearly always to deal

honestly, at least simply. Peltries were their standard of value.

A brotherly love generally prevailed. But they were devoid of

public spirit, enterprise or ingenuity.



GOY. HARKISON AND THE INDIANS.

Immediately after the organization of Indiana Territory Governor

Harrison's attention was directed, by necessity as well as by in-

structions from Congress, to settling affairs with those Indians who
still held claims to lands. He entered into several treaties, by
which at the close of 1805 the United States Government had ob-

tained about 46,000 square miles of territory, including all the

lands lying on the borders of the Ohio river between the mouth of

the Wabash river and the State of Ohio.

The levying of a tax, especially a poll tax, by the General Assem-

bly, created considerable dissatisfaction among many of the inhabit-

ants. At a meeting held Sunday, August 16, 1807, a number of

Frenchmen resolved to
" withdraw their confidence and support

forever from those men who advocated or in any manner promoted
the second e'rade of o^overnment."

In 1807 the territorial statutes were revised and under the new

code, treason, murder, arson and horse-stealing were each punish-
able by death. Tlie crime of manslaughter was punishable by the

common law. Burglary and robbery were punishable by whip-

ping, fine and in some cases by imprisonment not exceeding forty

years. Hog stealing was ]ninishable by fine and whipping. Bigamy
was punishable by fine, whipj)ing and disfranchisement, etc.

In 1801: Congress established three land offices for the sale of

lands in Indiana territory; one was located at Detroit, one at Vin-

cennes and one at Kaskaskia. In 1807 a fourth one was opened at

Jefferson ville, Clark county; this town was first laid out in 1802,

agreeably to plans suggested by Mr. Jefferson then President of

the United States.

Governor Harrison, according to his message to the Legislature

in 1806, seemed to think that the peace then existing between the

whites and the Indians was permanent; but in the same document

he referred to a matter that might be a source of trouble, which in-

deed it proved to be, namely, the execution of white laws among
the Indians—laws to which the latter had not been a party in their

enactment. The trouble was aggravated by the partiality with

which the laws seem always to have been executed; the Indian

(87)
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was nearly always the sufferer. All along from 180.5 to 1810 the

Indians complained bitterly against the encroachments of the white

people upon the lands that belonged to them. The invasion of their

hunting grounds and the unjustifiable killing of many of their peo-

ple were the sources of their discontent. An old chief, in laying
the trouble of his people before Governor Harrison, said: "You
call us children

; why do you not make ns as happy as our fathers,

the French, did? They never took from us our lands; indeed, they
were common between us. They planted where they pleased, and

they cut wood where they pleased; and so did we; but now if a

poor Indian attempts to take a little bark from a tree to cover him
from the rain, up comes a white man and threatens to shoot him,

claiming the tree as his own."

The Indian truly had grounds for his complaint, and the state of

feeling existing among the tribes at this time was well calculated

to develop a patriotic leader who should carry them all forward to

victory at arms, if certain concessions were not made to them by the

whites. But this golden opportunity was seized by an unworthy
warrior. A brother of Tecumseh, a "prophet" named Law-le-was-i-

kaw, but who assumed the name of Pems-quat-a-wah (Open Door),
was the crafty Shawanee warrior who was enabled to work upon
both the superstitions and the rational judgment of his fellow In-

dians. He was a good orator, somewhat peculiar in his appearance
and well calculated to win the attention and respect of the savages.
He began by denouncing witchcraft, the use of intoxicating liquors,

the custom of Indian women marrying white men, the dress of the

whites and the practice of selling Indian lands to the United States.

He also told the Indians that the commands of the Great Spirit re-

quired them to punish with death those who practiced the arts of

witchcraft and magic; that the Great Spirit had given him power
to find out and expose such persons; that he had power to cure all

diseases, to confound his enemies and to stay the arm of death in

sickness and on the battle-field. His harangues aroused amono^

some bands of Indians a high degree of superstitious excitement.

An old Delaware chief named Ta-te-bock-o-she, through whose in-

fluence a treaty had been made with the Delawares in 1801:, was

accused of witchcraft, tried, condemned and tomahawked, and

his body consumed by fire. The old chief's wife, nephew

("Billy Patterson ") and an aged Indian named Joshua were next

accused of witchcraft and condemned to death. The two men were

burned at the stake, but the wife of Ta-te-bock-o-she was saved from
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death by her brother, who suddenly approached her, took her by the

hand, and, without meeting any opposition from the Indians present,
led her out of the council- house. He then immediately returned and

checked the growing influence of the Prophet by exclaiming in a

strong, earnest voice,
" The Evil Spirit has come among us and we

are killing each other."—\_Dilloii's History of Indiana.

When Gov. Harrison was made acquainted with these events he

sent a special messenger to the Indians, strongly entreating them to

renounce the Prophet and his works. This really destroyed to some
extent the Prophet's influence; but in the spring of 1808, having
aroused nearly all the tribes of the Lake Region, the Prophet with

a large number of followers settled near the mouth of the Tippe-
canoe river, at a place which afterward had the name of "Prophet's-
Town." Taking advantage of his brother's influence, Tecumseh

actively engaged himself in forming the various tribes into a con-

federacy. He announced publicly to all the Indians that the

treaties by which the United States had acquired lands northwest

of the Ohio were not made in fairness, and should be considered

void. He also said that no single tribe was invested with power to

sell lands without the consent of all the other tribes, and that he

and his brother, the Prophet, would oppose and resist all future

attempts which the white people might make to extend their set-

tlements in the lands that belonged to the Indians.

Early in 1808, Gov. Harrison sent a speech to the Shawanees,
in which was this sentence: " My children, this business must be

stopped; I will no longer sufier it. You have called a number of

men from the most distant tribes to listen to a fool, who speaks
not the words of the Great Spirit but those of the devil and the

British agents. My children, your conduct has much alarmed the

white settlers near you. They desire that you will send away those

people; and if they wish to have the impostor with them they can

carry him along with them. Let him go to the lakes; he can hear

the British more distinctly." This message wounded the pride of

the Prophet, and he prevailed on the messenger to inform Gov.

Harrison that he was not in league with the British, but was speak-

ing truly the words of the Great Spirit.

In the latter part of the summer of 1808, the Prophet spent sev-

eral weeks at Vincennes, for the purpose of holding interviews

with Gov. Harrison. At one time he told the Governor that he

was a Christian and endeavored to persuade his people also to

become Christians, abandon the use of liquor, be united in broth-
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erlj love, etc., making Mr. Harrison believe at least, that he was

honest; but before long it was demonstrated that the "Prophet''
was designing, cunning and unreliable; that both he and Tecumseh

were enemies of the United States, and friends of tlie English; and

that in case of a war between the Americans and English, they
would join the latter. The next year the Prophet again visited

Yincennes, with assurances that he was not in syinpatliy with the

English, but the Governor was not disposed to believe l.tim; and in

a letter to the Secretary of War, in July, 1809, he said that he

regarded the bands of Indians at Prophet's Town as a combination

w^iich had been produced by British intrigue and intiuenee, in antic-

ipation of a war between them and the United States.

In direct opposition to Tecumseh and the prophet and in spite

of all these difficulties, Gov. Harrison continued the work of extin-

guishing Indian titles to lands, with very good success. By the

close of 1809, the total amount of land ceded to the United States,

under treaties which had been efiected by Mr. Harrison, exceeded

30,000,000 a res.

From 1805 to 1807, the movements of Aaron Burr in the Ohio

valley created considerable excitement in Indiana. It seemed that

he intended to collect a force of men, invade Mexico and found a

republic there, com])rising all the country west of the Alleghany
mountains. He gathered, however, but a few men, started south,

and was soon arrested by the Federal authorities. But before his

arrest he had abandoned his expedition and his followers had

dispersed.
Harrison's campaign.

While the Indians were combining to prevent any further trans-

fer of land to the whites, the British were using the advantage as a

groundwork for a successful war upon the Americans. In the

spring of 1810 the followers of the Prophet refused to receive their

annuity of salt, and the officials who offered it were denounced as

"American dogs," and otherwise treated in a disrespectful manner.

Gov. Harrison, in July, attempted to gain the friendship of the

Prophet by sending him a letter,offering to treat with him person-

ally in the matter of his grievances, or to furnish means to send

him, with three of his principal chiefs, to the President at Wash-

ington; but the messenger was coldly received, and they returned

word that they would visit Vincennes in a few days and interview

the Governor, Accordingly, Aug. 12, 1810, the Shawanee chief

with TO of his principal warriors, marched up to the door of the
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Governor's house, and from that day until the 22d held daily inter-

views with His Excellency. In all of his speeches Tecuinseh was

haughty, and sometimes arrogant. On the 20tli he delivered that

celebrated speech in which he gave the Governor the alternative of

return! no: their lands or meeting them in battle.
'

While the Governor was replying to this speech Tecumseh inter-

rupted him with an angry exclamation, declaring that the United

States, through Gov, Harrison, had "cheated and imposed on the

Indians." When Tecumseh first rose, a number of his party also

sprung to their feet, armed with clubs, tomahawks and spears, and

made some threatening demonstrations. The Governor's guards,

who stood a little way off, were marched up in haste, and the In-

dians, awed by the presence of this small armed force, abandoned

what seemed to be an intention to make an open attack on the Gov-

ernor and his attendants. As soon as Tecumseh's remarks were

interpreted, the Governor reproached him for his conduct, and com-

manded him to depart instantly to his camp.
On the following day Tecumseh repented of his rash act and re-

quested the Governor to grant him another interview, and pro-

tested against any intention of offense. The Governor consented,

and the council was re-opened on the 21st, when the Shawanee

chief addressed him in a respectful and dignified manner, but re-

mained immovable in his policy. The Governor then requested

Tecumseh to state plainly wliether or not the surveyors who might
be sent to survey the lands purchased at the treaty of Fort Wayne
in 1809, would be molested by Indians. Tecumseh replied:

"Brother, when you speak of annuities to me, I look at the land

and pity the women and children. I am authorized to say that they

will not receive them. Brother, we want to save that piece of land.

We do not wish you to take it. It is small enough for our purpose.

If you do take it, you must blame yourself as the cause of the

trouble between us and the tribes who sold it to you. I want the

present boundary line to continue. Should you cross it, I assure

you it will be productive of bad consequences."

The next day the Governor, attended only by his interpreter,

visited the camp of the great Shawanee, and in the course of along

interview told him that the President of the United States would

not acknowledge his claims. "Well," replied the brave warrior,

"as the great chief is to determine the matter, I hope the Great

Spirit will put sense enough into his head to induce him to direct

you to give up this land. It is true, he is so far ofi" he will not be



l)4 IIISTOKY OF INDIANA.

injured by the war. He may sit still in his town and drink his

wine, while you and I will have to fight it out."

In his message to the new territorial Legislature in 1810 Gov,

Harrison called attention to the dangerous views held bv Tecumseh

and the Prophet, to the pernicious influence of alien enemies

among the Indians, to the unsettled condition of the Indian trade

and to the policy of extinguishing Indian titles to lands. The

eastern settlements were separated from the western by a consider-

able extent of Indian lands, and the most fertile tracts within the

territory were still in the hands of the Indians. Almost entirely

divested of the game from which they had drawn their subsistence,

it had become of little use to them; and it was the intention of

the Government to substitute for the precarious and scanty sup-

plies of the chase the more certain and plentiful support of agri-

culture and stock-raisin o^. The old habit of the Indians to hunt

so long as a deer could be found was so inveterate that they would

not break it and resort to intelligent agriculture unless they were

compelled to, and to this they would not be compelled unless they
were confined to a limited extent of territory. The earnest lan-

guage of the Governor's appeal was like this: "Are then those

extin<ruishments of native title which are at once so beneficial to

the Indian and the territory of the United States, to be suspended on

account of the intrigues of a few individuals? Is one of the fair-

est portions of the globe to remain in a state of nature, the haunt

of a few wretched savages, when it seems destined by the Creator

to give support to a large population, and to be the seat of civili-

sation, of scieiice and true religion?"

In the same message the Governor also urored the establishment

of a system of popular education.

Among the acts passed bj' this session of the Legislature, one

authorized the President and Directors of the Yincennes Public

Library to raise $1,000 by lottery. Also, a petition was sent to

Congress for a permanent seat of government for the Territory, and

commissioners were appointed to select the site.

With the beginning of the year 1811 the British agent for

Indian affairs adopted measures calculated to secure the support of

the savages in the war which at this time seemed almost inevitable.

Meanwhile Gov. Harrison did all in his power to destroy the influ-

ence of Tecumseh and his brother and break up the Indian confed-

eracy which was oeing organized in the interests of Great Britain.

Pioneer settlers and the Indians naturally grew more and more
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aggressive and intolerant, committing depredations and murders,
until the Governor felt compelled to send the following speech,

substantially, to the two leaders of the Indian tribes: "This is the

third year that all the white people in this country have been

alarmed at your proceedings; you threaten us with war; you invite

all the tribes north and west of 3'ou to join against us, while your
warriors who have lately been here deny this. The tribes on the

Mississippi have sent me word that you intended to murder me
and then commence a war upon my people, and your seizing the salt

I recently sent up the Wabash is also siiffieient evidence of such

intentions on your part. My warriors are preparing themselves,

not to strike you, but to defend themselves and their women and

children. You shall not surprise us, as you expect to do. Your

intended act is a rash one: consider well of it. AYliat can induce

you to undertake such a thing when there is so little prospect of

success? Do you really think that the handful of men you have

about you are able to contend with the seventeen 'fires?' or even

that the whole of the tribes united could contend against the Ken-

tucky "fire' alone? I am myself of the Long 'Knife fire.' As soon

as they hear my voice you will see them pouring forth their swarms

of hunting-shirt men as numerous as the musquitoes on the shores

of the Wabash. Take care of their stings. It is not our wish to

hurt you; if we did, we certainly have power to do it.

" You have also insulted the Government of the United States,

by seizing the salt that was intended for other tribes. Satisfaction

must be given for that also. You talk of coming to see me, attend-

ed by all of your young men; but this must not be. If your inten-

tions are good, you have no need to bring but a few of your young

men with you. I must be plain with you. I will not sufler you

to come into our settlements with such a force. My advice is that

you visit the President of the United States and lay your griev-

ances before him.
" With respect to the lands that were purchased last fall I can

enter into no negotiations with you; the aifair is with the Presi-

dent. If you wish to go and see him, I will supply you with the

means.
" The person who delivers this is one of my war oflicers, and is a

man in whom I have entire confidence; whatever he says to you^

although it may not be contained in this paper, you may believe

comes from me. My friend Tecumseh, the bearer is a good man

and a brave warrior; I hope you will treat him well. You are
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yourself a warrior, and all such should liave esteem for each other."

The bearer of this speech was politely received by Tecumseh,
who replied to the Governor briefly that he should visit Yincennes

in a few days. Accordingly he arrived July 27, IS 11, bringing
with him a considerable force of Indians, which created much
alarm among the inhabitants. In view of an emergency Gov.

Harrison reviewed liis militia—about 750 armed men—and station-

ed two companies and a detachment of dragoons on the borders of

the town. At tliis interview Tecumseh held forth that he intended

no war against the United States; that he would send messengers

among the Indians to prevent murders and depredations on the

white settlements; that the Indians, as well as the whites, who had

committed murders, ought to be forgiven ;
that he had set the white

people an example of forgiveness, wliich tliey ought to follow;

that it was his wish to establish a union among all the Indian

tribes; that the northern tribes were united; that he was going to

visit the southern Indians, and then return to the Prophet's town.

He said also that he would visit the President the next spring and

settle all difficulties with him, and tliat he hoped no attempts would

be made to make settlements on the lands which had been sold to

the United States, at the treaty of Fort Wayne, because the Indians

wanted to keep those grounds for hunting.
Tecumseh then, with about 20 of his followers, left for the South,

to induce the tribes in that direction to join his confederacy.

By the way, a lawsuit was instituted by Gov. Harrison against a

certain Wm. Mcintosh, for asserting that the plaintiff had cheated

the Indians out of their lands, and that by so doing he had made
them enemies to the United States. The defendant was a wealthy
Scotch resident of Vincennes, well educated, and a man of influence

among the people opposed to Gov, Harrison's land policy. The

jury rendered a verdict in favor of Harrison, assessing the damages
at $4,000. In execution of the decree of Court a large quantity of

the defendant's land was sold in the absence of Gov. Harrison;
but some time afterward Harrison caused about two-thirds of the

land to be restored to Mr. Mcintosh, and the remainder was given
to some orphan children.

Harrison's first movement was to erect a new fort on the Wabash
river and to break up the assemblage of hostile Indians at the

Prophet's town. For this purpose he ordered Col. Boyd's regiment
of infantry to move from the falls of Ohio to Yincennes. When
the military expedition organized by Gov, Harrison was nearly
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ready to march to the Prophet's town,several Indian chiefs arrived

at Vincennes Sept. 25, 1811, and declared that the Indians

would comply with the demands of the Governor and disperse; but

this did not check the military proceedings. The army under com-

mand of Harrison moved from Yincennes Sept. 26, and Oct. 3, en-

countering no opposition from the enemy, encamped at the place
where Fort Harrison was afterward built, and near where the city

of Terre Haute now stands. On the night of the 11th a few hos-

tile Indians approached the encampment and wounded one of the

sentinels, which caused considerable excitement. The army was

immediately drawn up in line of battle, and small detachments

were sent in all directions; but the enemy could not be found.

Then the Governor sent a message to Prophet's Town, requiring
the Shawanees, Winnebagoes, Pottawatomies and Kickapoos at

that place to return to their respective tribes; he also required the

Prophet to restore all the stolen horses in his possession, or to give

satisfactory proof that such persons were not there, nor had lately

been, under his control. To this message the Governor received

no answer, unless that answer was delivered in the battle of Tip-

pecanoe.
The new fort on the Wabash was finished Oct. 28, and at the re-

quest of all the subordinate officers it was called "Fort Harrison,"
near what is now Terre Hamte. This fort was garrisoned with a

small number of men under Lieutenant-Colonel Miller. On the

29th the remainder of the army, consisting of 910 men, moved
toward the Prophet's town; about 270 of the troops were mounted.

The regular troops, 250 in number, were under the command of

Col. Boyd. With this army the Governor marched to withm a

half mile of the Prophet's town, when a conference was opened
with a distinguished chief, in high esteem with the Prophet, and

he informed Harrison that the Indians were much surprised at the

approach of the army, and had already dispatched a message to

him by another route. Harrison replied that he would not attack

them until he had satisfied himself that they would not comply
with his demands; that he would continue his encampment on the

Wabash, and on the following morning would have an interview

with the prophet. Harrison then resumed his march, and, after

some difficulty, selected a place to encamp—a spot not very desir-

able. It was a piece of dry oak land rising about ten feet above

the marshy prairie in front toward the Indian town, and nearly

twice that height above a similar prairie in the rear, through which
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and near this bank ran a small stream clotlied with willow and

brush wood. Toward the left flank this highland widened consid-

erably, but became gradually narrower in the opposite direction,

and at the distance of 150 yards terminated in an abrupt point.

The two columns of infantry occupied the front and rear of this

ground, about 150 yards from each other on the left, and a little

more than half that distance on the right, flank. One flank was

filled by two companies of mounted riflemen, 120 men, under com-

mand of Major-General Wells, of the Kentucky militia, and one

by Spencer's company of mounted riflemen, numbering 80 men.

The front line was composed of one battalion of United States in-

fantry, under command of Major Floyd, flanked on the. right by
two companies of militia, and on the left by one company. The
rear line was composed of a battalion of United States troops,

under command of Capt. Bean, acting as Major, and four companies
of militia infantry under Lieutenant-Colonel Decker. The regular

troops of this line joined the mounted riflemen under Gen. Wells,

on the left flank, and Col. Decker's battalion formed an angle with

Spencer's company on the left. Two troops of dragoons, about 60

men in all, were encamped in the rear of the left flank, and Capt.
Parke's troop, which was larger than the other two, in rear of

the right line. For a night attack the order of encampment was

the order of battle, and each man slept opposite his post in the

line. In the formation of the troops single file was adopted, in

order to get as great an extension of the lines as possible.
t

BATTLE OF TIPPECANOE,

No attack was made by the enemy until about 4 o'clock on the

morning of Nov. 7, just after the Governor had arisen. The
attack was made on the left flank. Only a single gun was fired by the

sentinels or by the guard in that direction, which made no resist-

ance, abandoning their posts and fleeing into camp; and the first

notice which the troops of that line had of the danger was the yell

of the savages within a short distance of them. But the men
were courageous and preserved good discipline. Such of them as

were awake, or easily awakened, seized arms and took their stations;,

others, who were more tardy, had to contend with the enemy in

the doors of their tents. The storm first fell upon Capt. Barton's

company of the Fourth United States Regiment, and Capt. Geiger's

company of mounted riflemen, which formed the left angle of the

rear line. The fire from the Indians was exceedingly severe, and
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men in these companies suffered considerably before relief could be

brought to them. Some few Indians passed into the encampment
near the angle, and one or two penetrated to some distance before

they were killed. All the companies formed for action before they
were fired on. The morning was dark and cloudy, and the fires of

the Americans aflforded only a partial light, which gave greater

advantage to the enemy than to the troops, and they were there-

fore extinguished.

As soon as the Governor could mount his horse he rode to the

angle which was attacked, where he found that Barton's company had

sufl:ered severely, and the left of Geiger's entirely broken. He
immediately ordered Cook's and Wentworth's companies to march

up to tlie center of the rear line, where were stationed a small com-

pany of U. S. riflemen and the companies of Bean, Snelling and

Prescott. As the General rode up he found Maj. Daviess forming
the dragoons in the rear of these companies, and having ascertained

that the heaviest fire proceeded from some trees 15 or 20 paces in

front of these companies, he directed the Major to dislodge them

with a part of the dragoons; but unfortunately the Major's gal-

lantry caused him to undertake the execution of the order with a

smaller force than was required, which enabled the enemy to avoid

him in front and attack his flanks. He was mortally wounded and

his men driven back. Capt. Snelling, however, with his company
immediately dislodged those Indians. Capt. Spencer and his 1st

and 2nd Lieutenants were killed, and Capt. Warwick mortally
wounded. The soldiery remained brave, Spencer had too much

ground originally, and Harrison re-enforced him with a company
of riflemen which had been driven from their position on the left

flank.

Gen. Harrison's aim was to keep the lines entire, to prevent the

enemy from breaking into the camp until daylight, which would

enable him to make a general and effectual charge. With this view

he had re-enforced every part of the line that had suflfered much,
and with the approach of morning he withdrew several companies
from the front and rear lines and re-enforced the right and left

flanks, foreseeing that at these points the enemy would make their

last effort. Maj. Wells, who had commanded the left flank, charged

upon the enemy and drove them at the point of the bayonet into

the marsh, where they could not be followed. Meanwhile Capt.

Oook and Lieut. Larrabee marched their companies to the right

flank and formed under fire of the enemy, and being there joined

686728A
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by the riflemen of that flank, charged upon the enemy, killing a

number and putting the rest to a precipitate flight.

Thus ended the famous battle of Tippecanoe, victoriously to the

whites and honorably to Gen. Harrison.

In this battle Mr. Harrison had about 700 efficient men, wliile

the Indians had probably more than that. The loss of the Ameri-

cans was 37 killed and 25 mortally wounded, and 126 wounded; the

Indians lost 38 killed on the field of battle, and the number of the

wounded was never known. Among the whites killed were Daviess,

Spencer, Owen, Warwick, Randolph, Bean and White. Standing on

an eminence near by, the Prophet encouraged his warriors to battle

by singing a favorite war-sonsf. He told them that thev would (jain

an easy victory, and that the bullets of their enemies would be made
harmless by the Great Spirit. Being informed duringthe engagement
that some of the Indians were killed, he said that his warriors must

fight on and they would soon be victorious. Immediately after

their defeat the surviving Indians lost faith in their great (?) Proph-

et, returned to their respective tribes, and thus the confederacy
was destroyed. The Prophet, with a very few followers, thqn took

up his residence among a small band of Wyandots encamped on

Wild-Cat creek. His famous town, with all its possessions, was

destroyed the next day, x^ov. 8.

On the 18th the American arm}- returned to Yincennes, where
most of the troops were discharged. The Territorial Legislature,

being in session, adopted resolutions complimentary to Gov. Harri-

son and the officers and men under him, and made preparations for

a reception and celebration.

Capt. Logan, the eloquent Shawanee chief who assisted our

forces so materially, died in the latter part of November, lol2,
from the effects of a wound received in a skirmish with a recon-

noitering party of hostile Indians accompanied by a white man in

the British service, Nov. 22. In that skirmish the white man was

killed, and Winamac, a Pottawatomie chief of some distinction,

fell by the rifle of Logan. The latter was mortally wounded, when
he retreated with two warriors of his tribe, Capt. Johnny and

Bright-Horn, to the camp of Gen. Winchester, where he soon after-

ward died. He was buried witli the honors of war.



WAR OF 1812 WITH GREAT BRITAIN.

The victory recently gained by the Americans at the battle of

Tippecanoe insured perfect peace for a time, but only a short time

as the more extensive schemes of the British had so far ripened as

to compel the United States again to declare war against them.

Tecumseh had lied to Maiden, Canada, where, counseled by the

English, he continued to excite the tribes against the Americans.

As soon as this war with Great Britain was declared (June 18,

1812), the Indians, as was expected, commenced again to commit

depredations. During the summer of 1812 several points along
the Lake Region succumbed to theBritish, as Detroit, under Gen.

Hull, Fort Dearborn (now Chicago), commanded by Capt. Heald

under Gen. Hull, the post at Mackinac, etc.

In the early part of Se])tember, 1812, parties of hostile Indians

began to assemble in considerable numbers in the vicinity of Forts

Wayne and Harrison, with a view to reducing them. Capt. Rhea,
at this time, had command of Fort Wayne, but his drinking pro-

pensities rather disqualified him for emergencies. For two weeks

the fort was in great jeopardy. An express had been s^nt to Gen.

Harrison for reinforcements, but many days passed without any

tidings of expected assistance. At length, one day, Maj. Wm.
Oliver and four friendly Indians arrived at the fort on horseback.

One of the Indians was the celebrated Logan. They had come in

defiance of " 500 Indians," had "broken their ranks" and reached

the fort in safely. Oliver reported that Harrison was aware of the

situation and was raisino^ men for a re-enforcement. Ohio was also

raising volunteers; 800 were then assembled at St. Mary's, Ohio,

60 miles south of Fort Wayne, and would march to the relief of

the fort in three or four days, or as soon as they were joined by re-

enforcements from Kentucky.
Oliver prepared a letter, announcing to Gen. Harrison his safe ar-

rival at the besieged fort, and giving an account of its beleaguered

situation, which he dispatched by his friendly Shawanees, while he

concluded to take his chances at the fort. Brave Logan and his

companions started with the message, but had scarcely left the fort

when they were discovered and pursued by the hostile Indians, yet

passing the Indian lines in safety, they were soon out of reach.

The Indians now began a furious attack upon the fort; but the little

garrison, with Oliver to cheer them on, bravely met the assault, re-

pelling the attack day after day, until the army approached to their

relief. During this siege the commanding ofiicer, whose habits of
con
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intemperance rendered him unfit for tlie command, was confined in

the " black hole," while the junior ofiicer assumed charge. This

course was approved by the General, on his arrival, but Capt. Rhea

received very little censure, probably on account of his valuable ser-

vices in the Revolutionary war.

Sept. 6, 1S12, Harrison moved forward with his army to the re-

lief of Fort Wayne; the next day he reached a point within three

miles of St. Mary's river; the next day he reached the river and

was joined at evening by 200 mounted volunteers, under Col. Rich-

ard M. Johnson; the next day at " Shane's Crossing" on the St.

Mary's they were joined by 800 men from Ohio, under Cols, Adams
and Hawkins. At this place Chief Logan and four other Indians

offered tlieir services as spies to Gen. Harrison, and were accepted.

Logan was immediately disguised and sent forward. Passing

through the lines of the hostile Indians,he ascertained their number
to be about 1,500, and entering the fort, he encouraged the solaiers

to hold out, *as relief was at hand. Gen. Harrison's force at this

time was about 3,500,

After an early breakfast Friday morning they were under march-

ing orders; it had rained and the guns were damp; they were dis-

charged and reloaded; but that day only one Indian was encount-

ered; ])reparations were made at night for an expected attack by
the Indians, but no attack came; the next day, Sept, 10, they ex-

pected to fight their way to Fort Wayne, but in that they were hap-

pily disappointed ;
and "At the first grey of the morning," as Bryce

eloquently observes, "the distant halloos of the disappointed sav-

ages revealed to the anxious inmates of the fort the glorious news

of the approach of 'the army. Great clouds of dust could be seen

from the fort, rolling up in the distance, as the valiant soldiery

under Gen. Harrison moved forward to the rescue of the a^arrison

and the brave boys of Kentucky and Ohio."

Tliis siege of Fort Wayne of course occasioned great loss to the

few settlers who had gathered around the fort. At the time of its

commencement quite a little village had clustered around the mili-

tary works, but during the siege most of their improvements and

crops were destroyed by the savages. Every building out of the reach

of the guns of the fort was leveled to the ground, and thus the in-

fant settlement was destroyed.

During this siege the garrison lost but three men, while the

Indians lost 25. Gen, Harrison had all -the Indian villages for 25

miles around destroyed. Fort Wayne was nothing but a military

post until about 1819.
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Simultaneously with the attack on Fort Wayne the Indians also

besieged Fdrt Harrison, which was commanded by Zachary Taylor.

The Indians commenced firing upon the fort about 11 o'clock one

night, Avhen the garrison was in a rather poor plight for receiving

them. The enemy succeeded in firing one of the block-houses,

which contained whisky, and the whites had great difiiculty in pre-

venting the burning of all the barracks. The word "fire
" seemed

to have thrown all the men into confusion; soldiers' and citizens'

wives, who had taken shelter within the fort, were crying; Indians

were yelling; many of the garrison were sick and unable to be on

duty; the men despaired and gave themselves up as lost; two of

the strongest and apparently most reliable men jumped the pickets

in the very midst of the emergency, etc., so that Capt. Taylor was

at his wit's end what to do; but he gave directions as to the many
details, rallied the men by a new scheme, and after about seven

hours succeeded in saving themselves. The Indians drov^e up the

horses belonging to the citizens, and as they could not catch th-^m

very readily, shot the whole of them in the sight of their owners.

and also killed a number of the hogs belonging to the whites.

They drove ofi" all of the cattle, 65 in number, as well as the public

oxen.

Among many other depredations committed by the savages dur-

ing this period, was the massacre of the Pigeon Roost settlement,

consisting of one man, five women and 16 children; a few escaped.

An unsuccessful eflbrt was made to capture these Indians, but

when the news of this massacre and the attack on Fort Harrison

reached Vincennes, about 1,200 men, under the command of Col.

Wm. Russell, of the 7th U. S. Infantry, marched forth for the re-

lief of the fort and to punish the Indians. On reaching the fort

the Indians had retired from the vicinity; but on the 15th of Sep-

tember a small detachment composed of 11 men, under Lieut. Rich-

ardson, and acting as escort of provisions sent from Vincennes to

Fort Harrison, was attacked by a party of Indians within the pres-

ent limits of Sullivan county. It was reported that seven of these

men were killed and one wounded. The provisions of course fell

into the hands of the Indians.

EXPEDITIONS AGAINST THE INDIANS.

By the middle of August, through the disgraceful surrender of

Gen. Hull, at Detroit, and the evacuation of Fort Dearborn and

massacre of its garrison, the British and Indians were in possession

of the whole Northwest. The savages, emboldened by their sue-
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cesses, penetrated deeper into the settlements, committing great

depredations. The activity and success of the enemy aroused the

people to a realization of the great danger their homes and families

were in. Gov. Edwards collected a force of 350 men at Camp
Russell, and Capt. Russell came from Vincennes with about 50 more.

Being officered and equipped, they proceeded about the middle of

October on horseback, carrying with them 20 day's rations, to

Peoria. Capt. Craig was sent with two boats up the Illinois, with

provisions and tools to build a fort. The little army proceeded to

Peoria Lake, where was located a Pottawatomie village. They
arrived late at nicrht, within a few miles of the villaofe, without

their presence being known to the Indians. Four men were sent

out that night to reconnoiter the position of the village. The four

brave men who volunteered for this perilous service were Thomas
Carlin (afterward Governor), and Robert, Stephen and Davis White-

side. They proceeded to the village, and explored it and the ap-

proaches to it thoroughly, without starting an Indian or provoking
the bark of a dog. The low lands between the Indian village and

the troops were covered with a rank growth of tall grass, so high
and dense as to readily conceal an Indian on horseback, until within

a few feet of him. The ground had become still more yielding by
recent rains, rendering it almost impassable by mounted men. To

prevent detection the soldiers had camped without lighting the

usual camp-fires. The men lay down in their cold and cheerless

camp, with many misgivings. They well remembered how the

skulking savages fell upon Harrison's men at Tippecanoe during
the niglit. To add to their fears, a gun in the hands of a soldier

was carelessly discharged, raising great consternation in the camp.

Through a dense fog which prevailed the following morning, the

army took up its line of march for the Indian town, Capt. Judy
with his corps of spies in advance. In the tall grass they came up
with an Indian and his squaw, both mounted. The Indian wanted

to surrender, but Judy observed that he " did not leave home to take

prisoners," and instantly shot one of them. With the blood

streaming from his mouth and nose, and in his agony
"
singing the

death song," the dying Indian raised his gun, shot and mortally
wounded a Mr. Wright, and in a few minutes expired! Many guns
were iminediatelv discharged at the other Indian, not then known
to be a squaw, all of which missed her. Badly scared, and her hus-

band killed by her side, the agonizing wails of the squaw were

heart-rending. She was taken prisoner, and afterward restored

to her nation.
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On Hearing tlie town a general charge was made, the Indians

fleeing to the interior wilderness. Some of their warriors made a

stand, when a sharp engagement occurred, but the Indians were

routed. In their flight they left behind all their winter's store of

provisions, which was taken, and their town burneS. Some Indian

children were found who had been left in the hurried flight, also

some disabled adults, one of whom was in a starving condition, and

wnth a voracious appetite partook of the bread given him. He is

said to have been killed by a cowardly trooper straggling behind,

after the main army had resumed its retrograde march, who wanted

to be able to boast that he had killed an Indian.

September 19, 1812, Gen. Harrison was put in command of the

Northwestern army, then estimated at 10,000 men, with these

orders; "Having provided for the protection of tlie western front-

ier, you will retake Detroit; and, with a view to the conquest of

upper Canada, you will penetrate that country as far as the force

under your command will in your judgment justify."

Although surrounded by many difficulties, the General began

immediately to execute these instructions. In calling for volun-

teers from Kentucky, however, more men offered than could be

received. At this time there were about 2,000 mounted volunteers

at Vincennes, under the command of Gen. Samuel Hopkins, of the

Revolutionai-y war, who was under instructions to operate against

the enemy along the Wabash and Illinois rivers. Accordingly,

early in October, Gen. Hopkins moved from Vincennes towards the

Kickapoo villages in the Illinois territory, with about 2,000 troops;

but after four or five days' march the men and officers raised a

mutiny which gradually succeeded in carrying all back to Vin-

cennes. The cause of their discontent is not apparent.

About the same time Col. Russell, with two small companies of

U. S. rangers, commanded by Capts. Perry and Modrell, marched

from the neighborhood of Vincennes to unite with a small force of

mounted militia under the command of Gov. Edwards, of Illinois,

and afterward to march with the united troops from Cahokia

toward Lake Peoria, for the purpose of co operating with Gen.

Hopkins against the Indian towns in that vicinity; but not find-

ing the latter on the ground, was compelled to retire.

Immediately after the discharge of the mutinous volunteers,

Gen. Hopkins began to organize another tbrce, mainly of infantry,

to reduce the Indians up the Wabash as far as the Prophet's town.

These troops consisted of three regiments of Kentucky militia,
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commanded by Cols. Barbour, Miller and Wilcox; a small company
of regulars commanded by Capt. Zachary Taylor; a company of

rangers commanded by Capt. Beckes; and a com])any of scouts or

spies under the command of Capt. Washburn. The main body of

this army arrived at Fort Harrison Nov. 5; on the 11th it pro-

ceeded up the east side of the Wabash into the heart of the Indfan

country, but found the villages generally deserted. Winter set-

ting in severely, and the troops poorly clad, they had to return to

Vincennes as rapidly as possible. With one exception the men
behaved nobly, and did much damage to the enemy. That

exception was the precipitate chase after an Indian by a detach-

ment of men somewhat in liquor, until they found themselves sur-

rounded by an overwhelming force of the enemy, and. they had to

retreat in disorder.

At the close of this campaign Gen. Hopkins resigned his

command.
In the fall of 1812 Gen. Harrison assigned to Lieut, Col. John

B. Campbell, of the 19th U. S. Inf., the duty of destroying the

Miami villages on the Mississinewa rivei', with a detachment of

about GOO men. Kov. 25, Lieut. Col. Campbell marched from

Franklinton, according to orders, toward the scene of action, cau-

tiously avoiding falling in with the Delawares, who had been ordered

by Gen. Harrison to retire to the Shawanee establishment on the

Auglaize river, and arriving on the Mississinewa Dec. 17, when

they discovered an Indian town inhabited by Delawares and

Miamis This and three other villages were destroyed. Soon

after this, the sup])lies growing short and the troops in a suffering

condition, Campbell began to consider the propriety of returning
to Ohio; but just as he was calling together his officers early one

morning to deliberate on the proposition, an army of Indians

rushed upon them with fury. The engagement lasted an hour,

with a loss of eight killed and 42 wounded, besides about 150 horses

killed. The whites, however, succeeded in defending themselves

and taking a number of Indians prisoners, who proved to be Mun-

sies, of Silver. Heel's band. Campbell, hearing that a large force

of Indians were assembled at Mississinewa village, under Tecnm-

seh, determined to return to Greenville. The privations of his

troops and the severity of the cold compelled him to send to that

place for re-enforcements and supplies. Seventeen of the men had

to be carried on litters. The}^ were met by the re-enforceraent

about 40 miles from Greenville.
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Lieut. Col. Campbell sent two messages to the Delawares, who
lived on White river and who had been previously directed and

requested to abandon their towns on that river and remove into

Ohio. In these messages he expressed his regret at unfortunately

killing some of their men, and urged them to move to the Sliaw-

anee settlement on the Auglaize river. He assured them that their

people, in his power, would be compensated by the Government
for their losses, if not found to be hostile; and the friends of those

killed satisfied by presents, if such satisfaction would be received.

This advice was heeded by the main body of the Delawares and a

few Miamis. The Shawanee Prophet, and some of the principal
chiefs of the Miamis, retired from the country of the Wabash, and,
with their destitute and suffering bands, moved to Detroit, where

they were received as the friends and allies of Great Britain.

On the approach of Gen. Harrison with his army in September,
1813, the British evacuated Detroit, and the Ottawas, Chippewas,
Pottawatomies, Miamis and Kickapoos sued for peace with the

United States, which was granted temporarily by Brig. Gen. Mc-

Arthur, on condition of their becoming allies of the United States

in case of war.

In June, 1813, an expedition composed of 137 men, under com-

mand of Col. Joseph Bartholomew, moved from Yalonia toward

the Delaware towns on the we.st fork of White river, to surprise
and punish some hostile Indians who were supposed to be lurking
about those villages. Most of these places they found deserted;

some of them burnt. They had been but temporarily occupied for

the purpose of collecting and carrying away corn. Col. Bartholo-

mew's forces succeeded in killing one or two Indians and destroy-

ing considerable corn, and they returned to Valonia on the 21st of

this month.

July 1, 1813, Col. William Russell, of the 7th U. S., organized
a force of 573 effective men at Valonia and marched to the Indian

villages about the mouth of the Mississinewa. His experience was

much like that of Col. Bartholomew, who had just preceded him.

He had rainy weather, suffered many losses, found the villages de-

serted, destroyed stores of corn, etc. The Colonel reported that he

went to every place where he expected to find the enemy, but they

nearly always seemed to have fled the country. The march from

Valonia to the mouth of the Mississinewa and return was about

250 miles.

Several smaller expeditions helped to "checker" the surrounding
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country, and find that tlie Indians were very careful to keep tbem-

selves out of sight, and t)ius closed this series of campaigns,

CLOSE OF THE WAR.

The war with England closed on the 24th of December, 1814,

when a treaty of peace was signed at Ghent. The 9th article of

the treaty required the United States to put an end to hostilities

with all tribes or nations of Indians with whom they had been at

war; to restore to such tribes or nations respectively all the rights
and possessions to which they were entitled in 1811, before the

war, on condition that such Indians should agree to desist from all

hostilities against the United States. But in February, just before

the treaty was sanctioned by our Government, there were signs of

Indians accumulating arms and ammunition, and a cautionary
order was therefore issued to have all the white forces in readiness

for an attack by the Indians; but the attack was not made. During
the ensuing summer and fall the United States Government ac-

quainted the Indians with the provisions of the treaty, and entered

into subordinate treaties of peace with the principal tribes.

Just before the treaty of Spring Wells (near Detroit) was signed,

the Shavvanee Prophet retired to Canada, but declaring his resolu-

tion to abide by any treaty which the chiefs might sign. Some
time afterward he returned to the Shawanee settlement in Ohio, and

lastly to the west of the Mississippi, where he died, in 1834. The
British Government allowed him a pension from 1813 until his

death. His brother Tecumseh was killed at the battle of the

Thames, Oct. 5, 1813, by a Mr. Wheatty, as we are positively in-

formed by Mr. A. J. James, now a resident of La Ilarpe township,
Hancock county. 111., whose father- in -law, John Pigman, of Co-

shocton county, Ohio, was an eye witness. Gen. Johnson has gener-

ally had the credit of killing Tecumseh.
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TECUMSEH.

If one should inquire who has been the greatest Indian, the most

noted, the "
principal Indian "

in North America since its disccv-

erj by Columbus, we would be obliged to answer, Tecumseh. For

all those qualities which elevate a man far above his race; for talent,

tact, skill and bravery as a warrior; for high-minded, honorable and

chivalrous bearing as a man; in a word, for all those elements of

greatness which place him a long way above his fellows in savage

life, the name and fame of Tecnmseh will go down to posterity in

the West as one of the most celebrated of the aborigines of this

continent,
—as one who had no equal among the tribes that dwelt

in the country drained by the Mississippi, Born to command him-

self, he used all the appliances that would stimulate the courage
and nerve the valor of his followers. Always in the front rank of

battle, his followers blindly followed his lead, and as his war-cry

rang clear above the din and noise of the battle-field, the Shawnee

warriors, as they rushed on to victory or the grave, rallied around

him, foemen worthy of the steel of the most gallant commander
that ever entered the lists in defense of his altar or his home.

The tribe to which Tecumseh, or Tecumtha, as some write it, be-

longed, was the Shawnee, or Shawanee. The tradition of the nation

held that they originally came from the Gulf of Mexico; that they
wended their way up the Mississippi and the Ohio, and settled at

or near the present site of Shawneetown, 111., whence they removed

to the upper Wabash. In the latter place, at any rate, they were

found early in the IStli century, and were known as the " bravest

of the brave." This tribe has uniformly been the bitter enemy of

the white man, and in every contest with our people has exhibited

a degree of skill and strategy that should characterize the most

dangerous foe.

Tecumseh's notoriety and that of his brother, the Prophet, mutu-

ally served to establish and strengthen each other. While the

Prophet had unlimited power, spiritual and temporal, he distributed

his greatness in all the departments of Indian life with a kind of

fanaticism that magnetically aroused the religious and superstitious

passions, not only of his own followers, but also of all the tribes in
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this part of the country; but Tecuraseh concentrated his greatness

upon the more practical and busirfess affairs of military conquest,
it is doubted whether he was really a sincere believer in the preten-

sions of his fanatic brother; if he did not believe in the pretentious

feature of them he had the shrewdness to keep his unbelief to him-

self, knowin_^ that religious fanaticism was one of the strongest im-

pulses to reckless bravery.

During his sojourn in the oSTorthwestern Territor^^, it was Tecnm-

seh's uppermost desire of life to confederate all the Indian tribes of

the countrv together against the whites, to maintain their choice

hunting-grounds. . All his public policy converged toward this sin-

gle end. In his vast scheme he comprised even all the Indians in

the Gulf country,
—all in America west of the Alleghany moun-

tains. He held, as a subordinate principle, that the Great Spirit

had given the Indian race all these hunting-grounds to keep in

common, and that no Indian or tribe could cede any portion of the

land to the whites without the consent of all the tribes. Hence, in

all his councils with the whites he ever maintained that the treaties

were null and void.

When he met Harrison at Vincennes in council the last time,

and, as he was invited by that General to take a seat with him on

the platform, he hesitated; Harrison insisted, saying that it was the

"wish of their Great Father, the President of the United States,

that he should do so." The chief paused a moment, raised his tall

and commanding form to its greatest height, surveyed the troops

and crowd around him, fixed his keen eyes upon Gov. Harrison,

and then turning them to the sky above, and pointing toward

heaven with his sinewy arm in a manner indicative of supreme

contempt for the paternity assigned him, said in clarion tones: " My
father? The sun is my father, the earth is my mother, and on her

bosom I will recline." He then stretched himself, Avith his war-

riors, on the green sward. The effect was electrical, and for some

moments there was perfect silence.

The Governor, then, through an interpreter, told him that he un-

derstood he had some complaints to make and redress to ask, etc.,

and that he wished to investigate the matter and make restitution

wherever it misht be decided it should be done. As soon as the

Governor was through with this introductory speech, the stately

warrior arose, tall, athletic, manly, dignified and graceful, and with

a voice at first low, but distinct and musical, commenced a reply.

As he warmed up with his subject his clear tones might be heard,
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as if
"
trumpet-tongued," to the utmost limits of the assembly.

The most perfect silence prevailed, except when his warriors gave
their guttural assent to some eloquent recital of the red man's

wrong and the white man's injustice. Tecumseh recited the wrongs
which his race had suffered from clie ti.ne of the massacre of the

Moravian Indians to the present; said he did not know how he

could ever again be the friend of the white man; that the Great

Spirit had given to the Indian all the land from the Miami to the

Mississippi, and from the lakes to the Ohio, as a common property
to all the tribes in these borders, and that the land could not and

should not be sold without the consent of all; that all the tribes on

the continent formed but one nation; that if the United States

would not give up the lands they had bought of the Miamis and

the other tribes, those united with him were determined to annihi-

late those tribes; that they were determined to have no more chiefs,

but in future to be governed by their warriors; that unless the

whites ceased their encroachments upon Indian lands, the fate of

the Indians was sealed; they had been driven from the banks of

the Delaware across the Alleghanies, and their possessions on the

Wabash and the Illinois were now to be taken from thera; that in

a few years they would not have ground enough to bury their war-

riors on this side of the "Father of Waters;" that all would perish,

all their possessions taken from them by, fraud or force, unless they

stopped the progress of the white man westward; that it must be

a war of races in which one or the other must perish; that their

tribes had been driven toward the setting sun like a galloping

horse (ne-kat a-kush-e ka-top-o-lin-to).

The Shawnee language, in -which this most eminent Indian states-

man spoke, excelled all other aboriginal tongues in its musical ar-

ticulation; and the effect of Tecumseh's oratory on this occasion

can be more easily imagined than described. Gov. Harrison,

although as brave a soldier and General as any American, was over-

come by this speech. He well knew Tecumseh's power and influ-

ence among all the tribes, knew his bravery, courage and determi-

nation, and knew that he meant what he said. When Tecumseh

was done speaking there was a stillness throughout the assembly

which was really painful; not a whisper was heard, and all eyes were

turned from the speaker toward Gov. Harrison, who after a few

moments came to himself, and recollecting many of the absurd

statements of the great Indian orator, began a reply which was.

more logical, if not so eloquent. The Shawnees were attentive un-
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til Harrison's interpreter be^an to translate his speech to the Mia-

mis and Pottawatomies, when Tecuniseh and his warriors sprang
to their feet, brandishing their war-clubs and tomahawks. "Tell

him," said Tecumseh, addressing the interpreter in Shawnee,
" he

lies." The interpreter undertook to convey this message to the

Governor in smoother language, but Tecumseh noticed the effort

and remonstrated,
" No, no; tell him he lies." The warriors began

to grow more excited, when Secretary Gibson ordered the Ameri-

can troops in arms to advance. This allayed the rising storm, and

as soon as Tecumseh's "He lies" was literally interpreted to the

Governor, the latter told Tecumseh through the interpreter to tell

Tecumseh he would hold no further council with him.

Thus the assembly was broken up, and one can hardly imagine a

more exciting scene. It would constitute the finest subject for a

historical painting to adorn the rotunda of the capitol. The next

day Tecumseh requested another interview with the Governor,
which was granted on condition that he should make an apology to

the Governor for his language the day before. This he made

through the interpreter. Measures for defense and protection were

taken, however, lest there should be another outbreak. Two com-

panies of militia were ordered from the country, and the one in

town added to them, while the Governor and his friends went into

council fully armed and prepared for any contingency. Ou this oc-

casion the conduct of Tecumseh was entirely different from that of

the day before. Firm and intrepid, showing not the slightest fear

or alarm, surrounded with a military force four times his own, he

preserved the utmost composure and equanimity. Ko one would

have supposed that he could have been the principal actor in the

thrilling scene of the previous day. He claimed that half the

Americans were in sympathy with him. He also said that whites

had informed him that Gov. Harrison had purchased land from the

Indians without any authority from the Government; that he,

Harrison, had but two years more to remain in office, and that if

he, Tecumseh, could prevail upon the Indians who sold the lands

not to receive their annuities for that time, and the present Gover-

nor displaced by a good man as his successor, the latter would re-

store to the Indians all the lands purchased from them.

The Wyandots, Kickapoos, Pottawatomies, Ottawasand the Win-

nebagoes, through their respective spokesmen, declared their

adherence to the great Shawnee warrior and statesman. Gov. Harri-

Bon then told them that he would send Tecumseh's speech to thePresi-
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dent of the United States and return tlieanswer to the Indians as soon
as it was received. Tecumseh then declared that he and his allies were
determined that the old boundary line should continue; and that

if the whites crossed it, it would be at their peril. Gov. Harrison re-

plied that he would be equally plain with him and state that the

President would never allow that the lands on the Wabash were the

property of any other tribes than those who had occupied them
since the white people first came to America; and as the title to

the lands lately purchased was derived from those tribes by a fair

purchase, he might rest assured that the right of the United States

would be supported by the sword. "So be it," was the stern and

haughty reply of the Shawnee chieftan, as he and his braves took
leave of the Governor and wended their way in Indian file to their

camping ground.
Thus ended the last conference on earth between the chivalrous

Tecumseh and the hero of the battle of Tippecanoe. The bones of
the first lie bleaching on the battle-field of the Thames, and those

of the last in a mausoleum on the banks of the Ohio; each struo-.

gied for the mastery of his race, an'^ each no doubt was equally
honest and patriotic in his purposes. The weak yielded to the

strong, the defenseless to the powerful, and the hunting-ground of

the Shawnee is all occupied by his enemy.
Tecumseh, with four of his braves, immediately embarked in a

birch canoe, descended the Wabash, and went on to the Soutli to

unite the tribes of that country in a general system of self-defense

against the encroachment of the whites. His emblem was a dis-

jointed snake, with the motto, "Join or die!" In union alone was

strength.

Before Tecumseh left the Prophet's town at the mouth of the

Tippecanoe river, on his excursion to the South, he had a definite

understanding with his brother and the chieftains of the other tribes

in the Wabash country, that they should preserve perfect peace
with the whites nntil his arrangements were completed for a con-

federacy of the tribes on both sides of the Ohio and on the Missis-

sippi river; but it seems that while he was in the South engaged
in his work of uniting the tribes of that country some of the North-

ern tribes showed signs of fight and precipitated Harrison into that

campaign which ended in the battle of Tippecanoe and the total

route of the Indians. Tecumseh, on his return from the South,

learning what had happened, was overcome with chagrin, disappoint-

ment and anger, and accused his brother of duplicity and coward-
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ice; indeed, it is said that he never forgave him to the day of his

death. A short time afterward, on the breaking out of the war of

Great Britain, he joined Proctor, at Maiden, with a party of his

warriors, and finally suffered the fate mentioned ou page 108.

CIVIL MATTERS lS12-'5.

Owing to the absence of Gov. Harrison on military duty, John

Gibson, the Secretary of the Territory, acted in the administration

of civil affairs. In his message to the Legislature convening on the

1st of February, 1813, he said, substantially:

"Did I possess the abilities of Cicero or Demosthenes, I could

not portray in more glowing colors our foi'eign and domestic politi-

cal situation than it is already experienced within our own breasts.

The United States have been compelled, by frequent acts of injus-

tice, to declare war against England. For a detail of the causes of

this war I would refer to tlie message of President Madison; it

does honor to his head and heart. Althougli not an admirer of

war, I am glad to see our little but inimitable navy riding triumph-
ant on the seas, but chagrined to find that our armies by land are

so little successful. The spirit of '76 appears to have fled from our

continent, or, if not fled, is at least asleep, for it appears not to

pervade our armies generally. At your last assemblage ourpoliti-
calhorizon seemed clear, and our intant Territory bid fair for rapid
and rising grandeur; but, alas, the scene has changed; and whether

this change, as respects our Territory, has been owing to an over

anxiety in us to extend our dominions, or to a wish for retaliation

by our foes, or to a foreign influence, I shall not say. The Indians^
our former neighbors and friends, have become our most inveterate

foes. Our former frontiers are now our wilds, and our inner settle-

ments have become frontiers. Some of our best citizens, and old

men worn down with ao^e, and helnless women and innocent

babes, have fallen victims to savage cruelty. I have done my duty
as well as I can, and hope that the interposition of Providence will

protect us."

The many complaints made about the Territorial Government
Mr. Gibson said, were caused more by default of officers than of the

law. Said he: "It is an old and, I believe, correct adage, that
'

good officers make good soldiers.' This evil having taken root, I do

not know how it can be eradicated; but it may be remedied. In

place of men searching after and accepting commissions before they
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are even tolerably qualified, thereby subjecting themselves to ridi-

cule and their country to ruin, barely for the name of the thing, I

think may be remedied by a previous examination."

During this session of the Legislature the seat of the Territorial

Government was declared to be at Corjdon, and immediately acting
Governor Gibson prorogued the Legislature to meet at that place,
the first Monday of December, 1813. During this 3'ear the Terri-

tory was almost defenseless; Indian outrages were of common
occurrence, but no general outbreak was made. The militia-men

were armed with rifles and long knives, and many of the rangers
carried tomahawks.

In 1813 Thomas Posey, who was at that time a Senator in Con-

gress from Tennessee, and who had been officer of the army of the

Revolution, was appointed Governor of Indiana Territory, to suc-

ceed Gen. Harrison. He arrived in Yincennes ai'd entered upon
the discharge of his duties May 25, 1813. During this year several

expeditions against the Indian settlements were set on foot.

In his first message to the Legislature the following December,
at Corydon, Gov. Posey said: " Tiie present crisis is awful, and big
with great events. Our land and nation is involved in the common

calamity of war; but we are under the protecting care of the benefi-

cent Being,who has on a former occasion brought us safely through
an arduous struggle and placed us on a foundation of independence,
freedom and happiness. He will not suffer to be taken from us

what He, in His great wisdom has thought proper to confer and

bless us with, if we make a wise and virtuous use of His good

gifts.
-5^ * *

Although our affairs, at the commencement of

the war, wore a gloomy aspect, they have brightened, and promise
a certainty of success, if properly directed and conducted, of which

I have no doubt, as the President and heads of departments of the

general Government are men of undoubted patriotism, talents and

experience, and who have grown old in the service of their country.
* * * It must be obvious to every thinking man that we were

forced into the war, Every measure consistent with honor, both

before and since the declaration of war, has tried to be on amicable

terms with our enemy,
* * * You who reside in various parts

of the Territory have it in your power to understand what will tend

to its local and general advantage. The judiciary system would

require a revisal and amendment. The militia law is very defective

and requires your immediate attention. It is necessary to have
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good roads and highways in as manj directions through the Terri-

tory as the circumstances and situation of the inhabitants will

admit; it would contribute very much to promote the settlement

and improvement of the Territory. Attention to education is liighly

necessary, Tliere is an appropriation made by Congress, in lands,

for the purpose of establishing public schools. It comes now with-

in your province to carry into operation the design of the ap^^ro-

priation."

This Legislature passed several very necessary laws for the wel-

fare of the settlements, and the following year, as Gen. Harrison

was generally successful in his military campaigns in the North-

west, the settlements in Indiana began to increase and improve.
The fear of danger from Indians had in a great measure subsided,

and the tide of immigration began again to flow. In January,

1814, about a thousand Miamis assembled at Fort A¥ayne for the

purpose of obtaining food to prevent starvation. They met with

ample hospitality, and their example was speedily followed by
others. These, with other acts of kindness, won the lasting friend-

ship of the Indians, many of whom had fought in the interests of

Great Britain. General treaties between the United States and the

Northwestern tribes were subsequently concluded, and the way
was fully opened for the improvement and settlement of the lands.

POPULATION IN 1815.

The population of the Territory of Indiana, as given in tlie

official i-eturns to the Legislature of 1815, was as follows, by
counties:
COUNTIES. White males of21 and over.

*

TOTAL.

Wayne 1,225 0,407
Franklin 1,430 , 7,870
Dearborn 902 , 4,424
Switzerland o77 1,832
Jelferson--- 874 .. 4,270
Clark 1,387 7,1.50

Washinston 1,420 7,317
Harrison 1,05G 0,975
Knox 1,391 8,068
Gibson 1,100 5,3.0

Posey 320 1,019
Warrick 280 l,41o

Perry 350 1,720

Grand Totals 12,112. 03,897

GENERAL VIEW.

The well-known ordinance of 1787 conferred many
"
rights and

privileges
"
upon the inhabitants of the Northwestern Territory, and
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consequently upon the people of Indiana Territory, but after all it

came far short of conferring as many privileges as are enjoyed at

the present day by our Territories. They did not have a full form

of Republican government. A freehold estate in 500 acres of land

was one of the necessary qualifications of each member of the legis-

lative council of theTerritor}'; every member of the Territorial House

of Representatives was required to hold, in his own right, 200 acres

of land; and the privilege of voting for members of the House

of Renresentatives was restricted to those inhabitants who, in addi-

tion to other qualifications, owned severally at least 50 acres of

land. The Governor of the the Territory was invested with the

power of appointing officers of the Territorial militia, Judges of the

inferior Courts, Clerks of the Courts, Justices of the Peace, Sheriflfs,

Coroners, County Treasurers and County Surveyors. He was also

authorized to divide the Territory into districts; to apportion

among tlie several counties the members of the House of Represent-

atives; to prevent the passage of any Territorial law; and to con-

vene and dissolve the General Assembly whenever he thought best.

None of the Governors, however, ever exercised these extraordinary

powers arbitrarily. Nevertheless, the people were constantly agi-

tating the question of extending the right of suffrage. Five years

after the organization of the Territory, the Legislative Council, in

reply to the Governor's Message, said: "Although we are not as

completely independent in our legislative capacity as we would

wish. to be, yet we are sensible that we must wait with patience for

that period of time when our population will burst the trammels

of a Territorial government, and we shall assume the character more

consonant to Republicanism.
* * * The confidence which our

fellow citizens have uniformly had in your administration has been

such that they have hitherto had no reason to be jealous of the un-

limited power which you possess over our legislative proceedings.

We, however, cannot help regretting that such powers have

been lodged in the hands of any one, especially when it is recol-

lected to what dangerous lengths the exercise of those powers may
be extended."

After repeated petitions the people of Indiana were empowered

by Congress to elect the members of the Legislative Council by popu-

lar vote. This act was passed in 1809, and defined what was known

as the property qualification of voters. These qualifications were

abolished by Congress in 1811, which extended the right of voting

for members of the General Assembly and for a Territorial delegate
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to Congress to every free white male person who had attained the

age of twenty-one years, and who, iiaving paid a county or Terri-

torial tax, was a resident of the Territory and had resided in it for

a year. In 1814 the voting qualitication in Indiana was defined by

Congress,
" to every free white male person having a freehold in

the Territor}^, and being a resident of the same." The House of

Representativ^es was authorized by Congress to lay off the Territory
into five districts, in each of which the qualified voters were em-

powered to elect a member of the Legislative Council. The division

was made, one to two counties in each district.

At the session in August, 1814:, the Territory was also divided

into three judicial circuits, and provisions were made for holding
courts in the same. The Governor was empowered to appoint a

presiding Judge in each circuit, and two Associate Judges of the

circuit court in each county. Their compensation was fixed at

$700 per annum.

The same year the General Assembly granted charters to two

banking institutions, the Farmers' and Mechanics' Bank of Madi-

son and the Bank ofVincennes. The first was authorized to raise

a capital of $750,000, and the other $500,000. On the organization
of the State these banks were merged into the State Bank and its

branches.

Here we close the history of the Territory of Indiana.



ORGANIZATION OF THE STATE.

The last regular session of the Territorial Legislature was held at

Corydon, convening in December, 1815. The message of Governor

Posey congratulated the people of the Territory upon the general

successof the settlements and the great increase of immigration,
recommended light taxes and a careful attention to the promotion

of education and the improvement of the State roads and highways.
He also recommended a revision of the territorial laws and an

amendment of the militia system. Several laws were passed pre-

paratory to a State Government, and December 14, 1815, a me-

morial to Congress was adopted praying for the authority to adopt
a constitution and State Government, Mr. Jennings,the Territorial

delegate, laid this memorial before Congress on the 28th, and April

19, 1816, the President approved the bill creating the State of In-

diana. Accordingly, May 30 following, a general election was held

for a constitutional convention, which met at Corydon June 10 to

29, Johathan Jennings presiding and Wm. Hendricks acting as

Secretary.

"The convention that formed the first constitution of the State

of Indiana was composed mainly of clear-minded, unpretending

men of common sense, whose patriotism was unquestionable and

whose morals were fair. Their familiarity with the theories of the

Declaration of American Independence, their Territorial experience

under the provisions of the ordinance of 1787, and their knowledge of

the principles of the constitution of the United States were sufficient,

when combined, to lighten materially their labors in the great work

of forming a constitution for a new State. With such landmarks

in view, the labors of similar conventions in other States and Ter-

ritories have been rendered comparatively light. In the clearness

and conciseness of its style, in the comprehensive and just pro-

visions which it made for the maintainance of civil and religious

liberty, in its mandates, which were designed to protect the rights

of the people collectively and individually, and to provide for the

public welfare, the constitution that was formed for Indiana in 1816

was not inferior to any of the State constitutions which were in ex-

istence at that time.''-—Billon's History of Indiana.
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The first State election took place on the first Monday of An^nst,

1816, and Jonathan Jennings was elected Governor, and Christo-

pher Harrison, Lieut. Governor. Win. Hendricks was elected to

represent the new State in the House of Representatives of the

United States.

The first General Assembly elected under the new constitution

began its session at Corydon, Nov. 4, 1816. John Paul was called

to the chair of the Senate pro tem., and Isaac Blackford was elected

Speaker of the House of Representatives.

Among other things in the new Governor's message were the

following remarks: " The result of your deliberation will be con-

sidered as indicative of its future character as well as of the future

happiness and prosperity of its citizens. In the commencement

of the State o-overnment the shackles of the colonial should be for-

gotten m our exertions to prove, by happy experience, that a uni-

form adherence to the first principles of our Government and a

virtuous exercise of its powers will best secure efficiency to its

measui'es and stability to its character. Without a frequent recur-

rence to those principles, the administration of the Government

will imperceptibly become more and more arduous, until the sim-

plicity of our Republican institutions may eventually be lost in

dangerous e.\;)e.iients and political design. Under every free gov-
ernment the happiness of the citizens must be identified with their

morals; and while a constitutional exercise of their rights shall

continue to have its due weight in discharge of the duties required
of the constituted authorities of the State, too much attention can-

not be bestowed to the encouragement and promotion of every
moral virtue, and to the enactment of laws calculated to restrain

the vicious, and prescribe punishment for every crime commensu-

rate with its enormity. In measuring, however, to each crime its

adequate punishment, it will be well to recollect that the certainty

of punishment has generally the surest eflfect to prevent crime;

while punishments unnecessarily severe too often produce the ac-

quittal of the guilty and disappoint one of the greatest objects of

legislation and good government.
* * * The dissemination of

useful knowledge will be indispensably necessary as a suppta't to

morals and as a restraint to vice; and on this sulDJect it will only
be necessary to direct your attention to the plan of education as

prescribed by the constitution. * ^ * J recommend to your
consideration tlie propriety of providing by law, to prevent more

eflectually any unlawful attempts to seize and carry into bondage
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persons of color legally entitled to their freedom; and at the same

time, as far as practicable, to prevent those who rightfully owe ser-

vice to the citizens of any other State or Territory from seekino*

within the limits of this State a refuge from the possession of their

lawful owners. Such a measure will tend to secure those who are

free from any unlawful attempts (to enslave them) and secures the

rights of the citizens of the other States and Territories as far as

ought reasonably to be expected."
This session of the Legislature elected James Noble and Waller

Taylor to the Senate of the United States; Robert A. Kew was
elected Secretary of State; W. H. Lilley, Auditor of State; and

Daniel C. Lane, Treasurer of State. The session adjourned Janu-

ary 3, 1817.

As the history of the State of Indiana from this time forward is

best given by topics, we will proceed to give them in the chronolog-
ical order of their origin.

The happy close of the war with Great Britain in 1814 was fol-

lowed by a great rush of immigrants to the great Territory of the

Northwest, including the new States, all now recently cleared of

the enemy; and by 1820 the State of Indiana had more than

doubled her population, having at this time 147,178, and by 1825

nearly doubled this again, that is to say, a round quarter of a mil-

lion,
—a growth more rapid probably than that of any other section

in this country since the days of Columbus.

The period 1825-'30 was a prosperous time for the young State.

Immigration continued to be rapid, the crops were generally good
and the hopes of the people raised higher than they had ever been

before. Accompanying this immigration, however, were paupers
and indolent people, who threatened to be so numerous as to

become a serious burden. On this subject Governor Ray called for

legislative action, but the Legislature scarcely knew what to do

and they deferred actiou.



BLACK HAWK WAR.

In 1830 there stiil lingered within the bounds of the State two

tribes of Indians, whose growing indolence, intemperate liabits,

dependence upon their neighbors for the bread of lite, diminished

prospects of liv^ing by tiie chase, continued perpetration of murders

and other outrages of dangerous precedent, primitive igno-

rance and unrestrained exhibitions of savas^e customs before the

children of the settlers, combined to make them subjects for a more

rigid government. The removal of the Indians west of the Missis-

sippi Vvas a melancholy but necessary duty. The time having
arrived for the emigration of the Pottawatomies, according to the

stipulations contained in their treaty with the United States, they
evinced that reluctance common among aboriginal tribes on leav-

ing the homes of their childhood and the graves of their ancestors.

Love of country is a principle planted in the bosoms of all man-

kind. The Laplander and the Esquimaux of the frozen north,

who feed on seals, moose and the meat of the polar bear, would not

exchange their country for the sunny clime of "Araby the blest."

Color and shades of complexion have nothing to do with the

heart's best, warmest emotions. Then we should not wonder that the

Pottawatomie, on leaving his home on the Wabash, felt as sad as

^schines did when ostracised from his native land, laved by the

waters of the classic Scamander; and the noble and eloquent Nas-

waw-kay, on leaving the encampment on Crooked creek, felt his

banishment as keenly as Cicero when thrust from the bosom of his

beloved Rome, for which he had spent the best efforts of his life,

and for which he died.

On Sunday morning. May 18, 1832, the people on the west side

of the Wabash were thrown into a state of great consternation, on

account of a report that a large body of hostile Indians had

approached within 15 miles of Lafayette and killed two men. The
alarm soon spread tliroughout Tip])ecanoe, Warren, Vermillion,

Fountain, Montgomery, and adjoining counties. Several brave

commandants of companies on the west side of the Wabash in

Tippecanoe county, raised troops to go and meet the enemy, and

dispatched an express to Gen. Walker with a request that he should
(126)
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make a call upon the militia of the county to equip themselves

iiit^tantly and march to the aid of their bleeding countrymen.
Tliereui)on Gen. Walker, Col. Davis, Lieut-Col. Jenners, Capt,
Brown, of the artillery, and various other gallant spirits mounted
their war steeds and proceeded to the army, and thence upon a

scout to the Grand Prairie to discover, if possible, the number,
intention and situation of the Indians. Over 300 old men, women
and children flocked precipitately to Lafayette and the surrounding

country east of the Wabash. A remarkable event occurred in this

stampede, as follows:

A man, wife and seven children resided on the edge of the

Grand Prairie, west of Lafayette, in a locality considered particu-

larly dangerous. On hearing of this alarm he made hurried

preparations to fly with his family to Lafayette for safety. Imag-
ine his surprise and chagrin when his wife told him she would not

go one step; that she did not believe in being scared at trifles, and

in her opinion there was not an Iiidiai\ within 100 miles of them.

Importunity proved unavailing, and the disconsolate and frightened
husband and father took all the children except the youngest, bade

his wife and babe a long and solemn farewell, never expecting to

see them again, unless perhaps he might find their mangled re-

mains, minus their scalps. On arriving at Lafayette, his acquaint-
ances rallied and berated him for abandoning his wife and child in

that way, but he met their jibes with a stoical indifference, avowing
that'he should not be held responsible for their obstinacj'.

As the shades of the first evening drew on, the wife felt lonely;

and the chirping of the frogs and the notes of the whippoorwill only
intensified her loneliness, until she half wished she had accom-

panied the rest of the family in their flight. She remained in the

house a .ew hours without striking a light, and then concluded

that '• discretion was the better part of valor," took her babe and

some bed-clothes, fastened the cabin door, and hastened to a sink-

hole in the woods, in which she afterward said that she and her

babe slept soundly until sunrise next morning.

Lafayette literally boiled over with people and patriotism. A
meeting was held at the court-house, speeches were made by

patriotic individuals, and to allay the fears of the women an armed

police was immediately ordered, to be called the "
Lafayette Guards."

Thos. T. Benbridge was elected Captain, and John Cox, Lieutenant.

Capt. Benbridge yielded the active drill of his guards to the

Lieutenant, who had served two years in the war of 1812. After
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the meeting adjourned, the guards were paraded on the green
wliere Purdue's block now stands, and put through sundry evolu-

tions by Lieut. Cox, who proved to be an expert drill officer, and

whose clear, shrill voice rung out on the night air as he marched

and counter-marched the troops from where the paper-mill stands

to Main street ferry^ and over the suburbs, generally. Every old

gun and sword that could be found was brought into requisition,

with a new shine on them.

Gen. Walker, Colonels Davis and Jenners, and other officers

joined in a call of the people of Tippecanoe county for volunteers to

march to the frontier settlements. A large meeting of the citizens

assembled in the public square in the town, and over 300 volunteers

mostly mounted men, left for the scene of action, with an alacrity

that would have done credit to veterans.

The first night they camped nine miles west of Lafayette, near

Grand Prairie. They placed sentinels for the night and retired to

rest. A few of the subaltern officers very injudiciously concluded

to try wliat effect a false alarm would have upon the sleeping sol-

diers, and a few of them withdrew to a neighboring thicket, and

thence made a charge upon the picket guards, who, after hailing
them and receiving no countersign, fired oft" their guns and ran for

the Colonel's marquee in the center of the encampment. Tlie aroused

Colonels and stafi" sprang to their feet, shouting "To arms! to arms!"

and the obedient, though panic-stricken soldiers seized their guns
and demanded to be led against the invading foe. A wild scerte of

disorder ensued, and amid the din of arms and loud commands of

the officers the raw militia felt that they had already got into the

red jaws of battle. One of the alarm sentinels, in running to the

center of the encampment, leaped over a blazing camp fire, and

alighted full upon the breast and stomach of a sleeping lawyer, who

was, no doubt, at that moment dreaming of vested and contingent

remainders, rich clients and good fees, which in legal parlance was

suddenly estopped by the hob-nails in the stogas of the scared

sentinel. As soon as the counselor's vitality and consciousness

sufficiently returned, he put in some strong demurrers to the con-

duct of the affi'ighted picket men, averring that he would greatly

prefer being wounded by the enemy to being run over by a cowardly

booby. Next morning the organizers of the ruse were severely

reprimanded.

May 28, 1832, Governor Noble ordered General Walker to call

out his wdiole command, if necessary, and supply arms, horses and
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provisions, even though it be necessary to seize them. The next

day four baggage wagons, loaded with camp equipments, stores,

provisions and other articles, were sent to the little army, who were

thus provided for a campaign of five or six weeks. The following

Tluirsday a squad of cavalry, under Colonel Sigler, passed through

Lafayette on the way to the hostile region; and on the 13th of June

Colonel Russell, commandant of the 40th Regiment, Indiana Militia,

passed through Lafayette with 340 mounted volunteers from the

counties of Marion, Hendricks and Johnson, Also, several com-

panies of volunteers from Montgomery, Fountain and Warren

counties, hastened to the relief of the frontier settlers. The troops

from Lafayette marched to Sugar creek, and after a short time,

there being no probability of finding any of the enemy, were

ordered to return, They all did so except about 45 horsemen, who

volunteered to cross Hickory creek, where the Indians had com-

mitted their depredations. They organized a company by electing

Samuel McGeorge, a soldier of the war of 1812, Captain, and Amos
Allen and Andrew W. Ingraham, Lieutenants.

Crossing Hickory creek, they marched as far as O'Plein river

without meeting with opposition. Finding no enemy here they

concluded to return. On the first night of their march home they

encamped on the open prairie, posting sentinels, as usual. About

ten o'clock it began to rain, and it was with difficulty that the sen-

tinels kept their guns dry. Capt. I. H. Cox and a man named Fox
had been posted as sentinels within 15 or 20 paces of each other.

Cox drew the skirt of his overcoat over his gun-lock to keep it dry;

Fox, perceiving this motion, and in the darkness taking him for an

Indian, fired upon him and fractured his thigh-bone. Several sol-

diers immediately ran toward the place where the flash of the gun
had been seen; but when they cocked and leveled their guns on the

figure which had fired at Cox, the wounded man caused them to

desist by crying,
" Don't shoot him, it was a sentinel who shot me."

The next day the wounded man was left behind the company in

care of four men, who, as soon as possible, removed him on a litter

to Col, Moore's company of Illinois militia, then encamped on the

O'Plein, where Joliet now stands.

Although the main body returned to Lafayette in eight or nine

days, yet the alarm among the people was so great that they could

not be induced to return to their farms for some titne. The pres-

ence of the hostiles was hourly expected by the frontier settlements

of Indiana, from Yincennes to La Porte. In Clinton county the
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inhabitants gathered within the forts and prepared for a regular

siege, while our neiglibors at Crawfordsville were suddenly
astounded by the arrival of a courier at full speed with tlie announce-

ment that the Indians, more than a thousand in number, were then

crossing the Nine-Mile prairie about twelve miles north of town,

killing and scalping all. The strongest houses were immediately

put in a condition of defense, and sentinels were placed at the prin-

cipal points in the direction of tli3 enemy. Scouts were sent out to

reconnoitre, and messengers were dispatched in different directions

to announce the danger to the farmers, and to urge them to hasten

with their families into town, and to assist in fighting the moment-

aril}' expected savages. At night-fall the scouts brought in the

news that the Indians had not crossed the Wabash, but were liourly

expected at Lafayette. The citizens of Warren, Fountain and Yer-

million counties were alike terrified bvexaojo-erated stories of Indian

massacres, and immediately prepared for defense. It turned out

that the Indians were not within 100 miles of these temporary

forts; but this by no means proved a want of courage in the citizens.

After some time had elapsed, a portion of the troops were

marched back into Tippecanoe county and honorably discharged ;

but the settlers were still loth for a long time to return to their

farms. Assured by published reports that the Miamis and Potta-

watomies did not intend to join the hostiles, the people by degrees
recovered from the panic and began to attend to their neglected

crops.

During this time there was actual war in Illinois. Black Hawk
and his warriors, well nigh surrounded by a well-disciplined foe,

attempted to cross to the west bank of the Mississippi, but after

being chased up into Wisconsin and to the Mississippi again, he

was in a final battle taken captive. A few years after his liberation,

about 1837 or 1838, he died, on the banks of the Des Moines river,

in Iowa, in what is now the county of Davis, where his remains

were deposited above ground, in the usual Indian style. His re-

mains were afterward stolen and carried away, but they were re-

covered by the Governor of Iowa and placed in the museum of the

Historical Society at Burlington, where they were finally destroyed

by fire.



LAST EXODUS OF THE INDIANS.

In July, 1837, Col. Abel C. Pepper convened the Pottawatomie

nation of Indians at Lake Ke-waw-nay for the purpose of remov-

ing them west of the Mississippi. That fall a small party of some
80 or 90 Pottawatomies was conducted west of the Mississippi
river by George Proffit, Esq. Among the number were Ke-waw-

nay, Nebash, Nas-waw-kay, Pash-po-ho and many other leading
men of the nation. The regular emigration of these poor Indians,

about 1,000 in number, took place under Col. Pepper and Gen. Tip-
ton in the summer of 1838.

It was a sad and mournful spectacle to witness these children of

the forest slowly retiring from the home of their childhood, that

contained not only the graves of their revered ancestors, but also

many endearing scenes to which their memories would ever recur

as sunny spots along their pathway through the wilderness. They
felt that they were bidding farewell to the hills, valleys and streams

of their infancy; the more exciting hunting-grounds of their ad-

vanced youth, as well as the stern and bloody battle-fields where

they had contended in riper manhood, on which they had received

wounds, and where many of their friends and loved relatives had

fallen covered with gore and with glory. All these they were leav-

ing behind them, to be desecrated by the plowshare of the white

man. As they cast mournful glances back toward these loved

scenes that were rapidly fading in the distance, tears fell from the

cheek of the downcast warrior, old men trembled, matrons wept,

the swarthy maiden's cheek turned pale, and sighs and half-sup-

pressed sobs escaped from the motley groups as they passed along,

some on foot, some on horseback, and others in wagons,
—sad as a

funeral procession. Several of the aged warriors were seen to cast

glances toward the sky, as if they were imploring aid from the

spirits of their departed heroes, who w^ere looking down upon them

from the clouds, or from the Great Spirit, who would ultimately

redress the wrongs of the red man, whose broken bow had fallen

from his hand, and whose sad heart was bleeding within him.

Ever and anon one of the party would start out into the brush and

break back to their old encampments on Eel river and on the Tippe-
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canoe, declaring that tliey would rather die than be banished from
their country. Thus, scores of discontented emigrants returned

from different points on their journey; and it was several years
before thev could be induced to loin their countrymen west of the

Mississippi.

Several years after the removal of the Pottawatomies the Miami
nation was removed to their Western home, by coercive means, un-

der an escort of United States troops. They were a proud and

once powerful nation, but at the time of tlieir removal were far

inferior, in point of numbers, to the Pottawatomie guests whom
they had permitted to settle and hunt upon their lands, and fish in

their lakes and rivers after they had been driven southM'ard by

powerful and warlike tribes who inhabited the shores of the North-

ern lakes.

INDIAN TITLES.

In 1831 a joint resolution of the Legislature of Indiana, request-

ing an appropriation by Congress for the extinguishment of the

Indian title to lands within the State, was forwarded to that body?
which granted the request. The Secretary of War, by authority,

appointed a committee of three citizens to carry into effect the pro-
visions of the recent law. The Miarais were surrounded on all

sides by American settlers, and were situated almost in the heart

of the State on the line of the canal then being made. The chiefs

were called to a council for the purpose of making a treatj^; they

promptly came, but peremptorily refused to go westward or sell

the remainder of their land. The Pottawatomies sold about

6,000,000 acres in Indiana, Illinois and Michigan, including all

their claim in this State.

In 1838 a treaty was concluded with the Miami Indians through
the good offices of Col. A. C. Pepper, the Indian agent, by which

a considerable of the most desirable portion of their reserve was

ceded to the United States.



LAND SALES.

As an example of the manner in which land speculators were
treated bj the early Lidianians, we cite the following instances

from Cox's '' Recollections of the Wabash Yallej."
At Crawfordsville, Dec. 24, 182J:, many parties were present

from the eastern and southern portions of the State, as well as from

Ohio, Kentucky, Tennessee and even Pennsylvania, to attend a

land sale. There was but little bidding against each other. The

settlers, or "
squatters," as they were called by the speculators, had

arranged matters among themselves to their general satisfaction.

If, upon comparing numbers, it appeared that two were after the

same tract of land, one would ask the other what he would take

not to bid against him; if neither would consent to be bought off

they would retire and cast lots, and the lucky one would enter the

tract at Congress price, $1.25 an acre, and the other would enter the

second choice on his list. If a speculator made a bid, or showed a

disposition to take a settler's claim from him, he soon saw the

white of a score of eyes glaring at him, and he would " crawfish"

out of the crowd at the first opportunity.
The settlers made it definitely known to foreign capitalists that

they would enter the tracts of land they had settled upon before

allowing the latter to come in with their speculations. The land

was sold in tiers of townships, beginning at the southern part of

the district and continuing north until all had been oflered at

public sale. This plan was persisted in, although it kept many on

the ground for several days waiting, who desired to purchase land

in the northern part of the district.

In 1827 a regular Indian scare was gotten up to keep specu-

lators away for a short time. A man who owned a claim on Tippe-

canoe river, near Pretty prairie, fearing that some one of the

numerous land hunters constantly scouring the country might
enter the land he had settled upon before he could raise the money
to buy it, and seeing one day a cavalcade of land hunters riding

toward where his land lay, mounted his horse and darted off at

full speed to meet them, swinging his hat and shouting at the top

of his voice,
'' Indians! Indians! the woods are full of Indians,
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murdering and scalping all before them!" They paused a moment^
but as the terrified horseman still urged his jaded animal and cried,

"Help! Longlois, Cicots, help!" they turned and fled like a troop of

retreating cavaliy, hastening to the thickest settlements and giving
the alarm, which spread like fire among stubble until the whole

frontier region was shocked with the startling cry. The squatter
who fabricated the story and started this false alarm took a cir-

cuitous route home that evening, and while others were busy

building temporary block-houses and rubbing up their guns to

meet the Indians, he was quietly gathering up money and slipped
down to Crawfordsville and entered his land, chuckling to himself,
" There's a Yankee trick for you, done up by a Hoosier."

HARMONY COMMUNITY.

In 1814 a society of Germans under Frederick Rappe, who had

originally come from Wirtemberg, Germany, and more recently

from Pennsylvania, founded a settlement on the Wabash about 50

miles above its mouth. They were industrious, frugal and honest

Lutherans. They purchased a large quantity of land and laid off

a town, to which they gave the name of "Harmony," afterward

called "New Harmony." They erected a church and a public

school-house, opened farms, planted orchards and vineyards, built

flouring mills, established a house of public entertainment, a public

store, and carried on all the arts of peace with skill and regularity.

Their property was "in common," according to the custom of an-

cient Christians at Jerusalem, but the governing power, both tem-

poral and spiritual, was vested in Frederick Rappe, the elder, wha
was regarded as the founder of the society. By the year 1821 the

society numbered about 900. Every individual of proper age con-

tributed his proper share of labor. There were neither spendthrifts,

idlers nor drunkards, and during the whole 17 years of their sojourn
in America there was not a single lawsuit among them. Ev^ery

controversy arising among them was settled by arbitration, expla-

nation and compromise before sunset of the day, literally according
to the injunction of the apostle of the New Testament.

About 1825 the town of Harmony and a considerable quantity
of land adjoining was sold to Robert Owen, father of David Dale

Owen, the State Geologist, and of Robert Dale Owen, of later

notoriety. He was a radical philosopher from Scotland, who had

become distinguished for his philanthropy and opposition to
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Christianity. He charged the latter with teaching false notions

regarding human responsibility
—notions which have since been

clothed in the language of physiology, mental philosophy, etc.

Said he:

"That which has hitherto been called wickedness in our fellow

men has proceeded from one of two distinct causes, or from some

combination of those causes. They are what are termed bad or

wicked,
"

1. Because they are born with faculties or propensities which

render them more liable, under the same circumstances, than other

men, to commit such actions as are usually denominated wicked;

or,
*'

2. Because they have been placed by birth or other events in

particular countries,
—have been influenced from infancy by par-

ents, playmates and others, and have been surrounded by those

circumstances which gradually and necessarily trained them in the

habits and sentiments called wicked; or,

"
3. They have become wicked in consequence of some particu-

lar combination of these causes.

" If it should be asked, Whence then has wickedness pro-

ceeded? I reply, Solely from the ignorance of our forefathers.

"
Every society which exists at present, as well as every society

which history records, has been formed and governed on a belief

in the following notions, assumed as first principles:
''

1. That it is in the power of every individual to form his own

character. Plence the various systems called by the name of religion,

codes of law, and punishments; hence, also, the angry passions

entertained by individuals and nations toward each other.

"
2. That the aifections are at the command of the individual.

Hence insincerity and degradation of character; hence the miseries

of domestic life, and more than one-half of all the crimes of man-

kind.
"

3. That it is necessary a large portion of mankind should ex-

ist in ignorance and poverty in order to secure to the remaining part

such a degree of happiness as they now enjoy. Hence a system of

counteraction in the pursuits of men, a general opposition auiong

individuals to the interests of each other, and the necessary effects

of such a system,—ignorance, poverty and vice.



THE MEXICAN WAE.

DuriDg the administration of Gov. "Whitcomb the war with

Mexico occurred, which resulted in annexing to the United States

vast tracts of land in the south and west. Indiana contributed her

full ratio to the troops in that war, and with a remarkable spirit of

promptness and patriotism adopted all measures to sustain the gen-
eral Government. These new acquisitions of territory re-opened
the discussion of the slavery question, and Governor Whitcomb

expressed his opposition to a further extension of the " national

sin."

The causes which led to a declaration of war against Mexico in

1846, must be sought for as far back as the year 1830, when the

present State of Texas formed a province of New and Independent
Mexico. During the years immediately preceding 1830, Moses

Austin, of Connecticut, obtained a liberal grant of lands from the

established Government, and on his death his son was treated in an

equally liberal manner. The glowing accounts i-endered by Aus-

tin, and the vivid picture of Elysian fields drawn by visiting jour-

nalists, soon resulted in the influx of a large tide of immigrants,
nor did the movement to the Southwest cease until 1830. The
Mexican province held a prosperous population, comprising 10,000
American citizens. The rapacious Government of the Mexicans

looked with greed and jealousy upon their eastern province, and,
under the presidency of Gen. Santa Anna, enacted such measures,
both unjust and oppressive, as would meet their design of goading
the people of Texas on to revolution, and thus afford an opportu-

nity for the infliction of punisliment upon subjects whose only
crime was industry and its accompaniment, prosperity. Precisely
in keeping with the course pursued by the British toward the col-

onists of the Eastern States in the last century, Santa Anna's

Government met the remonstrances of the colonists of Texas with

threats; and they, secure in their consciousness of right quietly _

issued their declaration of independence, and proved its literal

meaning on the field of Gonzales in 1835, having with a force ol
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500 men forced the Mexican army of 1,000 to fly for refuse to their

strongholds. Battle after battle followed, bringing victory always
to the Colonists, and ultimately resulting in the total rout of the

Mexican army and the evacuation of Texas. The routed army
after a short term of rest reorganized, and reappeared in the Terri-

tory, 8,000 strong. On April 21, a division of this large force

under Santa Anna encountered the Texans under General Samuel
Houston on the banks of the San Jacinto, and thouo-h Houston
could only oppose 800 men to the Mexican legions, the latter were
driven from the Held,nor could they reform their scattered ranks until

their General was ca])tured next day and forced to sign the declaration

of 1835. The signature of Santa Anna, though ignored by the

Congress of the Mexican Kepublic, and consequently left unratified

on the part of Mexico, was effected in so much, that after the sec-

ond defeat of the army of that Republic all the hostilities of an

important nature ceased, the Republic of Texas was recognized by
the powers, and subsequently became an integral part of the United

States, July 4-, 1846. At this period General Herrera was pres-

ident of Mexico. He was a man of peace, of common sense, and

very patriotic; and he thus entertained, or pretended to enter-

tain, the great neighboring Republic in high esteem. For this

reason he grew unpopular with his people, and General Paredes

was called to the presidential chair, which he continued to occupy
until the breaking out of actual hostilities with the United States,

when Gen. Santa Anna was elected thereto.

President Polk, aware of the state of feeling in Mexico, ordered

Gen. Zachary Taylor, in command of the troops in the Southwest, to

proceed to Texas, and post himself as near to the Mexican border

as he deemed prudent. At the same time an American squadron was

dispatched to the vicinity, in the Gulf of Mexico. In November,
General Taylor had taken his position at Corpus Christi, a Texan

settlement on a bay of the same name, with about 4,000 men. On
the 13th of January, 1846, the Presklent ordered him to advance

with his forces to the Rio Grande; accordingly he proceeded, and

in March stationed himself on the north bank of that river, with-

in cannon-shot of the Mexican town of Matamoras. Here he

hastily erected a fortress, called Fort Brown. The territory ly-

ing between the river Nueces and the Rio Grande river, about

120 miles in width, was claimed both by Texas and Mexico; ac-

cording to the latter, therefore, General Taylor had actually

invaded her Territory, and had thus committed an open
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act of war. On the 26tli of April, the Mexican General, Ampudia,

gave notice to this effect to General Taylor, and on the same day a

party of American dra^roons, sixty-three in number, being on the

north side of the Kio Grande, were attacked, and, after the loss of

sixteen men killed and wounded, were forced to surrender. Their

commander, Captain Thornton, only escaped. The Mexican forces

had now crossed the river above Matamoras and were supposed to

meditate an attack on Point Isabel, where Taylor had established a

depot of supplies for his army. On the 1st of May, this officer left

a small number of troops at Fort Brown, and marched with his

chief forces, twenty-three hundred men, to the defense of Point

Isabel. Having garrisoned this place, he set out on his return.

On the Stli of May, about noon, he met the Mexican army, six

thousand strong, drawn up in battle array, on the prairie near Palo

Alto. The Americans at once advanced to the attack, and, after an

action of five hours, in which their artillery was very effective,

drove the enemy before them, and encamped upon the field. The

Mexican loss was about one hundred killed; that ot the Americans,
four killed and forty wounded. Major Ringgold, of the artillery,

an officer of great merit, was mortally wounded. The next day, as

the Americans advanced, they again met the enemy in a strong

position near Resaca de la Palma, three miles from Fort Brown.

An action commenced, and was fiercely contested, the artillerj' on

both sides being served with great vigor. At last the Mexicans

gave way, and fied in confusion. General de la Vega having fallen

into the hands of the Americans. They also abandoned their guns
and a large quantity of ammunition to the victors. The remain-

ing Mexican soldiers speedily crossed the Rio Grande, and the next

day the Americans took up their position at Fort Brown. This

little fort, in the absence of General Taylor, had gallantly sustained

an almost uninterrupted attack of several days from the Mexican

batteries of Matamoras.

When the news of the capt,ure of Caj^tain Thornton's party was

spread over the United States, it produced great excitement. The

President addressed a message to Congress, then in session, declar-

ino- " that war with Mexico existed bv her own act;" and that bodv.

May, 1846, placed ten millions of dollars at the President's dispo-

sal, and authorized him to accept the services of fifty thousand

volunteers. A great part of the summer of lSi6 was spent in prep-
aration for the war, it beino^ resolved to invade Mexico at several

points. In pursuance of this plan, General Taylor, who had taken
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possession of Matamoras, abandoned by the enemy in May, marched
northward in the enemy's country in August, and on the 19th of

September he appeared before Monterey, capital of the Mexican
State of New Leon. His army, after having garrisoned several

places along his route, amounted to six thousand men. The attack

began on the 21st, and after a succession of assaults, during the

period of four days, the Mexicans capitulated, leaving the town
in possession of the Americans. In October, General Taylor
terminated an armistice into which he had entered with the

Mexican General, and again commenced offensive operations.
Various towns and fortresses of the enemy now rapidly fell into

our possession. In November, Saltillo, the capital of the State

of Coahuila was occupied by the division of General Worth;
in December, General Patterson took possession of Yictoria,

the capital of Tamaulipas, and nearly at the same period,
Commodore Perry captured the fort of Tampico. Santa Fe,
the capital of New Mexico, with the whole territory of the State

had been subjugated by General Harney, after a march of one

thousand miles through the wilderness. Events of a startling char-

acter had taken place at still earlier dates along the Pacific coast. On
the 4th of Julv, Captain Fremoi't, having repeatedly. defeated su-

perior Mexican forces with the small band under his command, de-

clared California independent of Mexico. Other important places

ill this region had yielded to the American naval force, and in Au-

gust, 1846, the whole of California was in the undisputed occupa-
tion of the Americans.

The year ISttT opened with still more brilliant victories on the

part of our armies. By the drawing off of a large part of

General Taylor's troops for a meditated attack on Vera Cruz, he

was left with a comparatively small force to meet the great body of

Mexican troops, now marching upon him, under command of the

celebrated Santa Anna, who had again become President of Mexico.

Ascertaining the advance of this powerful army, twenty thou-

sand strong, and consisting of the best of the Mexican soldiers,

General Taylor took up his position at Buena Vista, a valley a few

miles from Saltillo. His whole troops numbered only four thousand

seven hundred and fifty-nine, and here, on the 23d of February, he

was vigorously attacked by the Mexicans. The battle was very

severe, and continued nearly the whole day, when the Mexicans fled

from the field in disorder, with a loss of nearly two thousand men.

Santa Anna speedily withdrew, and thus abandoned the region of



140 HISTORY OF INDIANA.

the Rio Grande to the complete occupation of our troops. This left

onr forces at liberty to prosecute the grand enterprise of the cam-

paign, the capture of the strong town of Vera Cruz, with its re-

nowned castle of San Juan d'Ulloa. On the 9th of March, IS-iT,

General Scott landed near the city with an army of twelve thousand

men, and on the 18th commenced an attack. For four days and

nights an ahnost incessant shower of shot and shells was poured

upon the devoted town, while the batteries of the castle and the city

replied with terrible energy. At last, as the Americans were pre-

paring for an assault, the Governor of the city offered to surrender,

and on the 26th the American flag floated triumphantly from the

walls of the castle and the city. General Scott now prepared to

march upon the city of Mexico, the capital of the country, situated

two hundred miles in the interior, and approached only through a

series of rugged passes and mountain fastnesses, rendered still more

formidable by several strong fortresses. On the 8th of April the

army commenced their march. At Oerro Gordo, Santa Aima had

posted himself with fifteen thousand men. On the IStli the Amer-
icans began the daring attack, and by midday every intrenchment

of the enemy had been carried. The loss of the Mexicans in this

remarkable battle, besides one thousand killed and wounded, was

three thousand prisoners, forty-three pieces of cannon, five

thousand stand of arms, and all their amunitions and mate-

rials of w^ar. The loss of the Americans was four hundred

and thirty-one in killed and wounded. The next day our forces

advanced, and, capturing fortress after fortress, came on the

18th of August within ten miles of Mexico, a city of two hun-

dred thousand inhabitants, and situated in one of the most

beautiful valleys in the world. On the 20th they attacked and

carried the strong batteries of Contreras, garrisoned by 7,000 men,
in an impetuous assault, which lasted but seventeen minutes. On
the same day an attack was made by the Americans on the fortified

post of Churubusco, four miles northeast of Contreras Here

nearly the entire Mexican army—more than 20,000 in number—
were posted; but they were defeated at every point, and obliged to

seek a retreat in the cit}-, or the still remaining fortress of Cliapul-

tepec. While preparations were being made on the 21st by Gen-

eral Scott, to level his' batteries against the city, prior to summon-

ing it to surrender, he received propositions from the enemy, which

terminated in an armistice. This ceased on the 7th of September.
On the Sth the outer defense of Chapultepec v/as successfully
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stormed by General Worth, tliough he lost one-fourth of his men
in the desperate struggle. The castle of Chapultepec, situated on

an abrupt and rocky eminence, 150 feet above the surrounding

country, presented a most formidable object of attack. On the

12th, however, the batteries were opened against it, and on the

next day the citadel was carried by storm. The Mexicans still strug-

gled along the great causeway leading to the city, as the Americans

advanced, but before nightfal a part of our army was within the

gates of the city. Santa x\nna and the officers of the Government

fled, and the next morning, at seven o'clock, the flag of the Ameri-

cans floated from the national palace of Mexico. This conquest of

the capital was the great and final achievement of the war. The

Mexican republic was in fact prostrate, her sea-coast and chief

cities being in the. occupation of our troops. On the 2d of Feb-

ruary, 1848, terms of peace were agreed upon by the American

commissioner and the Mexican Government, this treaty being rati-

fied by the Mexican Congress on the 30th of May following, and

by the United States soon after. President Polk proclaimed peace

on the 4th of July, 1848. In the preceding sketch we have given

only a mere outline of the war with Mexico. We have necessarily

passed over many interesting events, and have not even named

many of our soldiers who performed gallant and important ser-

vices. General Taylor's successful operations in the region of the

Rio Grande were duly honored by the people of the United States,

by bestowing upon him the Presidency. General Scott's campaign,

from the attack on Yera Cruz, to the surrender of the city of

Mexico, was far more remarkable, and, in a military point of view,

must be considered as one of the most brilliant of modern times. It

is true the Mexicans are not to be ranked with the great nations of

the earth; with a population of seven or eight millions, they have

little more than a million of the white race, the rest being half-civ-

ilized Indians and mestizos, that is, those of mixed blood. Their

government is inefficient, and the people divided among them-

selves. Their soldiers often fought bravely, but they were badly

officered. While, therefore, we may consider the conquest of so

extensive and populous a country, in so short a time, and attended

with such constant superiority even to the greater numbers of the

enemy, as highly gratifying evidence of the courage and capacity

of our army, still we must not, in judging of our achievements, fail

to consider the real weakness of the nation whom we vanquished.
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One tiling we may certainly dwell upon with satisfaction—the ad-

mirable example, not only as a soldier, but as a man, set by our com-

mander, Gen. Scott, who seems, in the midst of war and the ordinary

license of the camp, always to have preserved the virtue, kindness,

and humanity belonging to a state of peace. These qualities

secured to him the respect, confidence and good-will even of the

enemy he had conquered. Among the Generals who effectually

aided General Scott in this remarkable campaign, we must not

omit to mention the names of Generals Wool, Twiggs, Shields,

Worth, Smith, and Quitman, who generally added to the high

qualities of soldiers the still more estimable characteristics of

good men. The treaty of Guadalupe-Hidalgo stipulated that the

disputed territory between the Nueces and the E,io Grande should

belong to the United States, and it now forms a part of Texas, as

has been already stated; that the United States should assume and

pay the debts due from Mexico to American citizens, to the amount

of $3,500,000; and that, in consideration of the sum of $15,000,000

to be paid by the United States to Mexico, the latter should

relinquish to the former the whole of New Mexico and Upper
California.

The soldiers of Indiana who served in this war were formed into

five regiments of volunteers, numbered respectively, 1st, 2d, 3i'd,

4th and 5th. The fact that companies of the three first-named reg-

iments served at times with the men of Illinois, the New York

volunteers, the Palmettos of South Carolina, and United States

marines, under Gen. James Shields, makes for them a history; be-

cause the campaigns of the Rio Grande and Chihuahua, the siege

of Yera Cruz, the desperate encounter at Cerro Gordo, the tragic

contests in the valley, at Contreras and Churubusco, the storming
of Chapnltepec, and the planting of the stars and stripes upon

every turret and spire within the conquered citj' of Mexico, were

all carried out by the gallant troops under the favorite old General,

and consequently each of them shared with him in the glories at-

tached to such exploits. The other regiments under Cols. Gorman
and Lane participated in the contests of the period under other com-

manders. The 4th Regiment of Indiana Yolunteers, comprising
ten companies, was formally organized at Jefiersonville, Indiana,

by Capt. R. C. Gatlin, June 15, 1S47, and on the 16tli elected

Major Willis A. Gorman, of the 3rd Regiment, to the Colonelcy;

Ebenezer Dumont, Lieutenant-Colonel, and W. McCoy, Major. On
the 27th of June the regiment left Jefiersonville for the front, and
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subsequently was assigned to Brigadier-General Lane's command,
which then com])rised a battery of five pieces from the 3rd Regi-
ment U. S. Artillery; a battery of two pieces from the 2nd Regiment
U. S. Rrtillei-y, the 4th Regiment of Indiana Volunteers and the 4th

Regiment of Ohio, with a squadron of mounted Louisianians and

detachments of recruits for the U. S. army. The troops of this

brigade won signal honors at Fasso de Ovegas, August 10, 1S47;
National Bridge, on the 12th; Cerro Gordo, on the 15th; Las Ani-

mas, on the 19th, under Maj. F. T. Lally, of General Lane's staff,

and afterward under Lane, directly, took a very prominent part in

the siege of Pnebla, which began on the 15th of September and

terminated on the 12tli of October. At Atlixco, October 19th;

TIascala, November 10th; Matamoras and Pass Galajara, Novem-
ber 23rd and 24th; Guerrilla Ranche, December 5th; Napaloncan,
December 10th, the Indiana volunteers of the 4th Regiment per-

formed gallant service, and carried the campaign into the following

year, representing their State at St. Martin's, February 27, 1848;

Cholula, March 26th; Matacordera, February i9th; Sequalteplan,

February 25th; and on the cessation of hostilities reported at

Madison, Indiana, for discharge, July 11, 1848; while the 5tli In-

diana Regiment, under Col. J. H. Lane, underwent a similar round

of duty during its service with other brigades, and gained some

celebrity at Vera Cruz, Churnbusco and with the troops of Illinois

under Gen. Shields at Chapultepec.
This war cost the people of the United States sixt3'--six millions

of dollars. This very large amount was not paid away for the at-

tainment of mere glory; there was something else at stake, and

this something proved to be a country larger and more fertile than

the France of the Napoleons, and more steady and sensible than

the France of the Republic. It was the defense of the great Lone

Star State, the humiliation and chastisement of a quarrelsome

ceio-bbor.



SLAVERY.

We have already referred to the prohibition of slavery in the

l^orthwestern Territory, and Indiana Territory by the ordinance of

178Y*, to the imperfection in tlie execution of this ordinance and the

troubles which the authorities encountered; and the complete estab-

lishment of the principles of freedom on the organization of the State.

The next item of siirnificance in this connection is the followino; Ian-

guage in the message of Gov. Ray to the Legislature of 1828: " Since

our last separation, while we have witnessed with anxious solicituae

the belligerent operations of another hemisphere, the cross contena-

ing against the crescent, and the prospect of a general rupture among
the legitimates of other quarters of the globe, our attention has

been arrested by proceedings in our own country truly dangerous
to liberty, seriously premeditated, and disgraceful to its authors

if agitated only to tamper with the American people. If such ex-

periments as we see attempted in certain deluded quarters do not

fall with a burst of thunder upon the heads of their seditious pro-

jectors, then indeed the Republic has begun to experience the days
of its degeneracy.' The union of these States is the people's only
sure charter for their liberties and independence. Dissolve it and

each State will soon be in a condition as deplorable as Alexander's

conquered countries after they were divided amongst his victorious

military captains."

In pursuance of a joint resolution of the Legislature of 1850, a

block of native marble was procured and forwarded to Washington,
to be placed in the monument then in the course of erection at the

National Capital in memory of George Washington. In the

absence of any legislative instruction concerning the inscnplion

upon this emblem of Indiana's loyalty, Gov. Wright ordered the

following words to be inscribed upon it: Indiana Knows No
North, No South, Nothing but the Union. Within a dozen

years thereafter this noble State demonstrated to the world her loy-

alty to the Union and the principles of freedom by the sacrifice of

blood and treasure which she made. In keeping with this senti-

ment Gov. Wright indorsed the compromise measures of Congress
on the slavery question, remarking in his message that " Indiana

takes her stand in the ranks, not of Southern destiny, nor yet of

(144)
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Northern destiny: she plants herself on the basis of the Consti-

tution and takes her stand in the ranks of American destiny."

FIFTEENTH AMENDMENT.

At the session of the Legislature in January, 1869, the subject
of ratifying the fifteenth amendment to the Federal Constitution,

allowing negro suffrage, came up with such persistency that neither

party dared to undertake any other business lest it be checkmated

in some way, and being at a dead lock on this matter, they adjourn-
ed in March without having done much important business. The

Democrats, as well as a portion of the conservative Republicans,

opposed its consideration strongly on the ground that it would be

unfair to vote on the question until the people of the State had had

an opportunity of expressing their views at the polls; but most of

the Kepublicans resolved to push the measure through, while the

Democrats resolved to resign in a bodv and leave the Legislature

without a quorum. Accordingly, on March 4, 17 Senators and 36

Kepresentatives resigned, leaving both houses without a quorum.
As the early adjournment of the Legislature left the benevolent

institutions of the State unprovided for, the Governor convened

that body in extra session as soon as possible, and after the neces-

sary appropriations were made, on the 19th of May the fifteenth

amendment came up; but in anticipation of this the Democratic

members had all resigned and claimed that there was no quorum

present. There was a quorum, however, of Senators in office,

though some of them refused to vote, declaring that they were no

longer Senators; but the president of that body decided that as he

had not been informed of their resignation by the Governor, they

were still members. A vote was taken and the ratifying resolution

was adopted. When the resolution came up in the House, the

chair decided that, although the Democratic members had
resigned^

there was a quorum of the de facto members present, and the

House proceeded to pass the resolution. This decision of the chair

was afterward sustained by the Supreme Court.

At the next regular session of the Legislature, in 1871, the

Democrats undertook to repeal the ratification, and the Republican

members resigned to prevent it. The Democrats, as the Republi-

cans did on the previous occasion, proceeded to pass their resolu-

tion of repeal; but while the process was under way, before the

House Committee had time to report on the matter, 34 Republican

members resigned, thereby preventing its passage and putting a

stop to further legislation.



INDIANA m THE WAK.

The events of the earlier years of this State h.ave been reviewed

down to that period in the nation's history when the Republic de-

manded a first sacrifice from the newly erected States; to the time

when the very safety of the glorious heritage, bequeathed by the

fathers as a rich legacy, was threatened with a fate worse than death

—a life under laws that harbored the slave—a civil defiance of .he

first principles of the Constitution.

Indiana was among the first to respond to the summons of patri-

otism, and register itself on the national roll of honor, even as she

was among the first to join in that song of joy which greeted a Re-

public made doubly glorious within a century by the dual victory
which won liberty for itself, and next bestowed the precious boon

upon the colored slave.

The fall of Fort Sumter was a signal for the uprising of the State.

The news of the calamity was flashed to Indianapolis on the 14th of

April, 1861, and early the next morning the electric wire brought
"the welcome message to Washington:

—
Executive Department of Indiana, )

Indianapolis, April 15, 1861.
)

To Abraham Lincoln, President of the United States:—On behalf of the State
of Indiana, I tender to you for the deicase of the Nation, and to upho'd the au-

thority of the Government, ten thousand men.
OLIVER P. MORTON,

Governor of Indiana.

This may be considered the first official act of Governor Morton,
who had just entered on the duties of his exalted position. The
State was in an almost helpless condition, and yet the faith of the
" AVar Governor " was prophetic, when^ after a short consultation

with the membei*s of the Executive Council, he relied on the fidelity

of ten thousand men and promised their services to the Protectorate

at Washington. This will be more apparent when the military

condition of the State at the beginning of 1861 is considered. At
that time the armories contained less than five hundred stand of

serviceable small arms, eight pieces of cannon which might be use-

ful in a museum of antiquities, with sundry weapons which would

merely do credit to the aborigines of one hundred years ago. The

financial condition of the State was even worse than the military.

(148)
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The sum of $10,368.58 in trust funds was the amount of cash in the

hands of the Treasurer, and tJiis was, to all intents and purposes
unavailable to meet the emergency, since it could not be devoted

to the military requirements of the day. This state of affairs was

dispiriting in the extreme, and would doubtless have militated

against the ultimate success of any other man than Morton; yet
he overleaped every difficulty, nor did the fearful realization of

Floyd's treasiDU, discovered during his visit to Washington, damp
his indomitable courage and energy, but with rare persistence he

urged the daims of his State, and for his exertions- was requited
with an order for live thousand muskets. The order was not exe-

cuted until hostilities were actually entered upon, and consequently
for some days succeeding the publication of the President's procla-

mation the people labored under a feeling of terrible anxiety min-

gled with uncertainty, amid the confusion which followed the crim-

inal negligence that permitted the disbandment of the magnificent

corps (T armee (51,000 men) of 1832 two years later in 1831, Great

numbers of the people maintained their equanamity with the result

of beholding within a brief space of time every square mile of their

State represented by soldiers prepared to fight to the bitter end in

defense of cherished institutions, and for the extension of the prin>

ciple of human liberty to all States and classes within the limits of

the threatened Union This, their zeal, was not animated by hos-

tility to the slave holders of the Southern States, but rather by a

fraternal spirit, akin to that which urges tiie eldest brother to cor-

rect the persistent follies of his juniors, and thus lead them from

crime to the maintenance of family honor; in this correction, to

draw them away from all that was cruel, diabolical and inhuman in

the Republic, to all that is gentle, holy and sublime therein. Many
of the raw troops were not only unimated by a patriotic feeling,

but also by that beautiful idealization of the poet, who in his un-

conscious Republicanism, said:

"
I would not have a slave to till my 2;rouncl,

To cany me, to fan me while I sleep,

And tremble when I wake, for all the wealth

That sinews bought and sold have ever earned

No: dear as freedom is—and, in my heart's

Just estimation, prized above all price
—

I had much, rather be myself the slave,

And wear the bonds, than fasten them on him."

Thus animated, it is not a matter for surprise to find the first

call to arms issued by the President, and calling for 75,000 men,
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answered nobly by the people of Indiana. The quota of troops to

be furnished by the State on the first call was 4,6S3 men for three

years' service from April 15,1860. On the 16th of April, Gov-

ernor Morton issued his proclamation calling on all citizens of the

State, who had the welfare of the Republic at heart, to organize
themselves into six regiments in defense of their rights, and in

opposition to the varied acts of rebellion, charged by him against
the Southern Confederates. To this end, the Hon. Lewis Wallace,

a soldier of the Mexican campaign was appointed Adjutant-General,
Col. Thomas A. Morris of the United States Military Academy,
Quartermaster-General, and Isaiah Mansur, a merchant of Indian-

apolis, Commissary-General. These general officers converted the

grounds and buildings of the State Board of Agriculture into a

military headquarters, and designated the position Camp Morton,
as the beginning of the many honors which were to follow the pop-
ular Governor throughout his future career. Now the people, im-

bued with confidence in their Governmeat and leaders, rose to the

grandeur of American freemen, and with an enthusiasm never

equaled hitherto, flocked to the standard of the nation; so that

within a few days (19th April) 2,400 men were ranked beneath

their regimental banners, until as the official report testifies, the

anxious question, passing from mouth to mouth, was,
" Which of

us will be allowed to go?
" It seemed as if Indiana was about to

monopolize the honors of the period, and place the 75.000 men
demanded of the Union by the President, at his disposition. Even

now under the genial sway of guaranteed peace, the features of

Indiana's veterans flush with righteous pride when these days—re-

membrances of heroic sacrifice—are named, and freemen, still un-

born, will read their history only to be blessed and glorified in the

possession of such truly, noble progenitors. Nor were the ladies

of the State unmindful of their duties. Everywhere they partook
of the general enthusiasm, and made it practical so far as in their

power, by embroidering and ])resenting standards and regimental

colors, organizing aid and relief societies, and by many other acts

of patriotism and humanity inherent in the high nature of woman.

During the days set apart by the military authorities for the or-

ganization of the regiments, the financiers of the State were en-

gaged in the reception of munificent grants of money from pri-

vate citizens, while the money merchants within and without the

State oflered large loans to the recognized Legislature without even

imposing a condition of payment. This most practical generosity
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strengthened the hands of the Executive, and within a very few days
Indiana had passed the crucial test, recovered some of her military

prestige lost in 1834, and so was prepared to vie with the other

and wealthier States in making sacrifices for the public welfare.

On the 20th of April, Messrs, I. S. Dobbs and Alvis D. Gall re-

ceived their appointments as Medical Inspectors of the Division,
while Major T, J. Wood arrived at headquarters from "Washington
to receive the newly organized regiments into the service of the

Union. At the moment this formal proceeding took place, Morton,
unable to restrain the patriotic ardor of the people, telegraphed to

the capitol that he could place six regiments of infantry at the dis-

posal of the General Government within six days, if such a pro-

ceeding were acceptable; but in consequence of the wires being cut

between the State and Federal capitols, no answer came. Taking

advantage of the little doubt which may have had existence in re-

gard to future action in the matter and in the absence of general

orders, he gave expression to an intention of placing the volunteei's

in camp, and in his message to the Legislature, who assembled three

days later, he clearly laid down the principle of immediate action

and strong measures, recommending a note of $1,000,000 for there-

organization of the volunteers, for the purchase of arms and supplies,

and for the punishment of treason. The message was received most

enthusiastically. The assembly recognized the great points made

by the Governor, and not only yielded to them in toto, but also made

the following grand appropriations:

General military purposes $1,000,000

Purchase of arms 500,000

Contiui^ent military expenses 100,000

Organization and support of militia for two years 140,000

These appropriations, together with the laws enacted during the

session of the Assembly, speak for the men of Indiana. The celerity

with which these laws were put in force, thediligince and economy
exercised by the officers, entrusted with their administration, and

that systematic genius, under which all the machinery of Govern-

ment seemed to work in harmony,—all, all, tended to make for the

State a spring-time of noble deeds, when seeds might be cast along

her fertile fields and in the streets of her villages of industry to

grow up at once and blossom in the ray of fame, and after to bloom

throughout the ages. Within three days after the opening of the

extra session of the Legislature (27th April) six new regiments were

organized, and commissioned for three months' service. These reg-
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iments, notwithstaiidino' the fact that the first six regiments were

already mustered into the general service, were known as ''The

First Brigade, Indiana Yolunteers," and with the simple ohject of

making the way of the future student of a brilliant liistory clear,

were numbered respectively

Sixth Regiment, commanded by Col. T. T. Crittenden.

Seventh " " " " Ebenezer Dumont.

Eighth
" '• " " ^Y. P. Benton.

Ninth " " " " E. n. Milroy.
Tenth " " " " T. T. Reynolds.
Eleventh " " " " Lewis Wallace.

The idea of these numbers was suo-^ested by the fact that the

military representation of Indiana in the Mexican Campaign was

one brigade of five reo^iments, and to observe consecutiveness the

regiments comprised in the first division of volunteers were thus

numbered, and the entire force placed under Brigadier General T.

A. Morris, with the following staff: John Love, Major, Cyrus C«

Hines, Aid-de-camp; and J. A. Stein, Assistant Adjutant General.

To follow the fortunes of these volunteers through all the vicissi-

tudes of war would prove a special work; yet their valor and endur-

ance during their first term of service deserved a notice of even more

value than that of the historian, since a commander's opiniou has

to be taken as the basis upon which the chronicler may expatiate.

Therefore the following dispatch, dated from the headquarters of the

Army of Occupation, Beverly Camp, W. Virginia, July 21, 1861,
must be taken as one of the first evidences of their utility and

valor:—
"Governor O. P. Morton, Indianapolis, Indiana

Governor:—T have directed the three months' regiments from Indiana to

move to Indianapolis, there to be mustered out and reorganized for three years'
service.

I cannot permit them to return to you without again expressing my high
appreciation of the distinguished valor and endurance of the Indiana troops, and

my hope that but a short time will elapse before I have the pleasure of knowing
that they are again ready for the field. *******

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

George B. McC'lellan,

ijor-Oeneral, U. S. A.

On the return of the troops to Indianapolis, July 29, Brigadier
Morris issued a lengthy, logical and well-deserved congratulatory

address, from which one paragraph may be extracted to characterize
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the whole. After passing a glowing eulogium on their military

qualities and on that unexcelled gallantry displayed at Laurel Hill,

Phillipi and Carrick's Ford, he says:
—

" Soldiers ! You have now returned to the friends whose prayers went with you
to the field of strife. They welcome you with pride and exultation. Your State

and country acknowledge the value of your labors. May your future career be as

your past has been,—honorable to yourselves and serviceable to your country."

The six regiments forming Morris' brigade, together with one

composed of the surplus volunteers, for whom there was no regi-

ment in April, now formed a division of seven regiments, all reor-

ganized for three years' service, between the 20th August and 20th

September, with the exception of the new or 12th, which was ac-

cepted for one year's service from May 11th, under command of

Colonel John M. Wallace, and reorganized May 17, 1862, for three

years' service under Col. W. H. Link, who, with 172 officers and

men, received their mortal wounds during the Richmond (Ken-

tucky) engagement, three months after its reorganization.

The 13th Hegiment, under Col. Jeremiah Sullivan, was mus-

tered into the United States in 1861 and joined Gen. McClellan's

command at Rich Mountain on the 10th July. The day following it

was present under Gen. Rosencrans and lost eight men killed; three

successive days it was engaged under Gen. I. I. Reynolds, and won

its laurels at Cheat Mountain summit, where it participated in the

decisive victory over Gen. Lee.

The 14th Regiment, organized in 1S61 for one year's service, and

reorganized on the 7th of June at Terre Haute for three years' ser-

vice. Commanded by Col. Kimball and showing a muster roll of

1,134 men, it was one of the finest, as it was the first, three years'

reo-iment organized in the State, with varying fortunes attached to

its never ending round of duty from Cheat Mountain, September,

1861, to Morton's Ford in 1864, and during the movement South in

May of that year to the last of its labors, the battle of Cold Har-

bor.

The 15th Regiment, reorganized at La Fayette 14tli June, 1861,

under Col. G. D. Wagner, moved on Rich Mountain on the 11th

of July in time to participate in the complete rout of the enemy.

On the promotion of Col. Wagner, Lieutenant-Col. G. A. Wood

became Colonel of the regiment, November, 1862, and during the

first days of January, 1863, took a distinguished part in the severe

action of Stone River. From this period down to the battle of Mis-

sion Ridge it was in a series of destructive engagements, and was,
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after enduring terrible hardsliips, ordered to Chattanooga, and

thence to Indianapolis, where it was mustered out the ISth June,

186-4,
—tour daj^s after the expiration of its term of service.

The 16th Regiment, organized under Col. P. A. Hackleraan at

Richmond for one year's service, after participating in many minor

military events, was mustered out at Washington, D.C., on the 14tli

of May, 1862. Col. Hackleman was killed at the battle of luka,

and Lieutenant-Col. Thomas I. Lucas succeeded to the command.

It was reorganized at Indianapolis for three years' service, May 27,

1862, and took a conspicuous part in all the brilliant engagements
of the war down to June, 1865, when it was mustered out at New
Orleans. The survivors, numbering 365 rank and file, returned to

Indianapolis the 10th of July amid the rejoicing of the populace.

The 17th Regiment was mustered into service at Indianapolis

the 12th of June, 1861, for three years, under Col. Hascall, who
on being promoted Brigadier General in March, 1862, left the

Colonelcy to devolve on Lieutenant Colonel John T. Wilder. This

regiment participated in the many exploits of Gen. Reynold's army
from Green Brier in 1862, to Macon in 1865, under Gen. Wilson.

Returning to Indianapolis the 16th of August, in possession of a

brilliant record, the regiment was disbanded.

The 18th Regiment, under Colonel Thomas Pattison, was organ-
ized at Indianapolis, and mustered into service on the 16th of

August, 1861. Under Gen. Pope it gained some distinction at

Blackwater, and succeeded in retaining a reputation made there,

by its gallantry at Pea Ridge, February, 1862, down to the moment
when it planted the regimental flag on the arsenal of Augusta,

Georgia, where it was disbanded August 28, 1865.

The 19th Regiment, mustered into three years' service at the

State capital July 29, 1S61, v;;is ordered to join the army of the

Potomac, and reported its arrival at Washington, August 9. Two

days later it took part in the battle of Lewinsville, under Colonel

Solomon Meredith. Occupying Falls Church in September, 1861,

it continued to maintain a most enviable place of honor on the

military roll until its consolidation with the 20th Regiment, October,

1864, under Colonel William Orr, formerly its Lieutenant Colonel..

The 20th Regiment of La Fayette was organized in July, 1861,

mustered into three years' service at Indianapolis on the 22d of the

same month, and reached the front at Cockeysville, Maryland,
twelve days later. Throughout ail its 6rilliant actions from Hat-

teras Bank, on the 4th of October, to Oiover Hill, 9th of April, 1865,
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including the saving of the United States sliip Congress, at New-

port News, it added dail}^ some new name to its escutcheon. This

regiment was mustered out at Louisville in July, 1S65, and return-

ing to Indianapolis was welcomed by the great war Governor of

their State.

The 21sT Kegiment was mustered into service under Colonel I.

W. McMilhm, July 21, 1861, and reported at the front the third

day of August. It was the first regiment to enter New Orleans.

The fortunes of this regiment were as varied as its services, so that

its name and fame, grown from the blood shed by its members, are

destined to live and flourish. In December, 1863, the regiment
was reorganized, and on tlie 19th February, 1864, many of its

veterans returned to their State, where Morton received them with

that spirit of proud gratitude which he was capable of showing to

those who deserve honor for honors won.

The 22d Regiment, under Colonel Jeff. C. Davis, left Indian-

apolis the 15th of August, and was attached to Fremont's Corps at

St. Louis on the 17th. From the day it moved to the support of

Colonel Mulligan at Lexington, to the last victory, won under

General Sherman at Bentonville, on the 19th of March, 1865, it

gained a high military reputation. After the fall of Johnston's

southern army, this regiment was mustered out, and arriv-ed at

Indianapolis on the 16tli June.

The 23d Battalion, commanded by Colonel W. L. Sanderson,

was mustered in at New Albany, the 29th July, 1861, and moved

to the front early in August. From its unfortunate marine ex-

periences before Fort Henry to Bentonville it won unusual honors,

and after its disbandment at Louisville, returned to Indianapolis

July 24:, 1865, where Governor Morton and General Sherman

reviewed and complimented the gallant survivors.

The 21:TH Battalion, under Colonel Alvin P. Hovey, was

mustered at Vincennes the 31st of July, 1861. Proceeding imme-

diately to the front it joined Fremont's command, and participated

under many Generals in important affairs during the war. Three

hundred and ten men and officers returned to their State in August,

1865, and were received with marked honors by the people and

Executive.

The 25th Regiment, of Evansville mustered into service there

for three years under Col. J. C. Yeatch, arrived at St. Louis on the

26th of August, 1861. During the war this regiment was present

at 18 battles and skirmishes, sustaining therein a loss of 352 men



156 lIISTOR\ OF INDIANA.

and officers. Mastered out at Louisville, July 17, 1S65, it returned

to Indianapolis on the 21st amid universal rejoicing.

The 26th Battalion, under W. M. Wheatley, left Indianapolis

for the front the Tth of September, 1S61, and after a brilliant cam-

paiiTQ under Fremont, Grant, Heron and Smith, may be said to

disband the 18 th of September, 1865, when the non-veterans and

recruits were reviewed hy Morton at the State capital.

The 27th Regiment, uuder Col. Silas Coli^rove, moved from

Indianapolis to Washington City, September 15th, 1861, and in

October was allied to Gen. Banks' army. From Winchester

Heiirhts, the 9th of March 1862, through all the affairs of General

Sherman's campaign, it acted a gallant and faithful part, and was

disbanded immediately after returning to their State.

The 28th or 1st Cavalry was mustered into service at Evans-

villeon the 20th of August, 1861, under Col. Conrad Baker. From
the skirmish at Ironton, on tlie 12tii of September, wherein three

companies under Col. Gavin captured a position held by a

lew rebels, to the l)attle of the Wilderness, the First Cavalry per-

formed prodigies of valor. In June and July, 1865, the troops

were mustered out at Indianapolis.

The 29th Battalion of La Porte, under Col. J. F. Miller, left

on the 5 til of October, 1861, and reaching Camj) Nevin, Kentucky,
on the 9th, was allied to Rosseau's Brigade, serving with McCook's

division at Shiloh, with Buell's army in Alabama, Tennessee and

Kentucky, with Rosencrans at Murfreesboro, at Decatur, Alabama,
and at Dalton, Georgia. The Twenty-ninth won many laurels,

and had its Colonel promoted to the rank of Brigadier General.

This officer was succeeded in the command by Lieutenant-Col.

D. M. Dunn.

The 30th Regiment of Fort AVayne, under Col. Sion S. Bass,

proceeded to the front via Indianapolis, and joined General Rosseau

at Camp Nevin on the 9th of October, 1861. At Shiloh, Col.

Bass received a mortal wound, and died a few days later at

Paducah, leaving the Colonelcy to devolve upon Lieutenant Col. J.

B. Dodi'-e. In October 1865, it formed a battalion of General Sheri-

dan's army of observation in Texas.

The 31st Regiment, organized at Terre Haute, under Col. Charles

Cruft, in September 1861, was mustered in, and left in a few days
for Kentucky. Present at the reduction of Fort Donelson on the

13th, 11th, and 15th of February, 1862, its list of killed and

wounded proves its desperate fighting qualities. The organization
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was subjected to many changes, but in all its phases maintained a

fair fame won on many battle fields. Like the former reo-iment,

it passed into Gen. Sheridan's Army of Observation, and held the

district of Green Lake, Texas.

The 32d TvEaniENT of German Infantry, under Col. August
AV^illich, organized at Indianapolis, mustered on the 24th ofAugust,
18G1, served with distinction throughout the campaign. Col.

Willich was promoted to the rank of Brigadier-General, and Lieut.-

Col. Henry You Trebra commissioned to act, under whose com-

mand the regiment passed into General Sheridan's Army, hold-

ing the post of Salado Creek, until the withdrawal of the corps of

observation in Texas.

The 33d Regiment of Indianapolis possesses a military history

of no small proportions. The mere facts that it was mustered in

under Col. John Coburn, the 16th of September, won a series of

distinctions throughout the war district and was mustered out at

Louisville, July 21, 1865, taken with its name as one of the most

powerlul regiments engaged in the war, are sufficient here.

The 3-Ith Battalion, organized at Anderson on the 16th Sep-

tember, 1801, under Col. Ashbury Steele, appeared among the in-

vesting battalions before Kew Madrid on the 30th of March, 1862.

From the distinguished part it took in that siege, down to the

13th of May, 1865, when at Palmetto Ranche, near Falo Alto, it

fought for hours against fearful odds the last battle of the war for

the Union. Afterwards it marched 250 miles up the Rio Grande,

and was the first regiment to reoccupy the position, so long in

Southern hands, of Ringold barracks. In 1865 it garrisoned Bea-

consville as part of the Army of Observation.

The 35th ok First Irish Regiment, was organized at Indian-

apolis, and mustered into service on the 11th of December, 1861,

under Col. John C. Walker. At ^N'ashville, on the 22d of May,

1862, it was joined by the organized portion of the Sixty-iirst or

Second Irish Regiment, and unassigned recruits. Col. Mullen now

became Lieut.-Colonel of the 35th, and shortly after, its Colonel.

From the pursuit of Gen. Bragg through Kentucky and the affair

at Perryville on the 8th of October, 1862, to the terrible hand to

hand combat at Kenesaw mountain, on the night of the 20th of

June, 1864, and again from the conclusion of the Atlanta campaign
to September, 1865, with Gen. Sheridan's array, when it was mus-

tered out, it won for itself a name of reckless daring and unsur-

passed gallantry.
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The 36th Regiment, of Richmond, Ind., under Col. William

Grose, mustered into service for three years on the 16th of Sep-

tember, 1861, went immediately to the front, and shared the for-

tunes of the Army of the Ohio until the STth of February, 1862,

M'hen a forward movement led to its presence on the battle-field of

Shiloh. Following up the honors won at Shiloh, it participated in

some of the most important actions of the war, and was, in October,

1865, transferred to Gen. Sheridan's army. Col. Grose was pro-
moted in 1864 to the position of Brigadier-General, and the

Colonelcy devolved on Oliver II. P. Carey, formerly Lieut.-Colonel

of the regiment.
The 37th Battalion, of Lawrenceburg, commanded by Col.

Geo. W. Hazzard, organized the 18th of September, 1861, left for

the seat of war early in October. From the eventful Ijattle of

Stone river, in December, 1862, to its participation in Sherman's

march through Georgia, it gained for itself a splendid reputation.
This regiment returned to, and was present at, Indianapolis, on the

30th of Jul3% 1865, wliere a public reception was tendered to men
and officers on the grounds of the Capitol.

The 38th Regiment, under Col. Benjamin F. Scribner, was mus-

tered in at New Albany, on the 18th of September, 1861, and

in a few days were en route for the front. To follow its continual

round of duty, is without the limits of this sketch; therefore, it

will suffice to say, that on every well-fought field, at least from

February, 1862, until its dissolution, on the 15th of July, 1865, it

earned an enviable renown, and drew from Gov. Morton, on return-

ing to Indianapolis the 18th of the same month, a congratulatory
address couched in the highest terms of praise.

The 39rH Regiment, or Eighth Cavalry, was mustered in as

an infantry regiment, under Col. T. J. Harrison, on the 28th of

August, 1861, at the State capital. Leaving immediately for the

front it tookaconsi^icuous partin all the engagements up to April,

1863, wdien it was reorganized as a cavalry regiment. The record of

this organization sparkles witli great deeds which men will extol

while language lives; its services to the Union cannot be over esti-

mated', or the memory of its daring deeds be forgotten by the un-

happy people who raised the tumult, which culminated in their

second shame.

The 40th Regiment, of Lafayette, under Col. W. C. "Wilson,

subsequently commanded by Col. J. W. Blake, and again by Col.

Henry Learning, was organized on the 30th of December, 1861, and
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at once proceeded to the front,wliere some time was necessarily spent
in the Camp of Instruction at Bardstown, Kentucky. In February,

1862, it joined in Buell's forward movement. During the war the

regiment shared in all its hardships, participated in all its honors,

and like many other brave commands took service under Gen.

Sheridan in his Army of Occupation, holding the post of Port

Lavaca, Texas, until peace brooded over the land.

The 41st Regiment or Second Cavalry, the first complete regi-

ment of horse ever raised in the State, was organized on the 3d of

September, 1861, at Indianapolis, under Col. John A. Bridgland,
and December 16 moved to the front. Its first war experience was

gained en route to Corinth on the 9th of April, 1862, and at Pea

Ridge on the 15th. Gallatin, Vinegar Hill, and Perryville, and

Talbot Station followed in succession, each battle bringing to the

cavalry untold honors. In May, 1864, it entered upon a glorious

career under Gen. Sherman in his Atlanta campaign, and again

under Gen. Wilson in the raid through Alabama during April,

1865. On the 22d of July, after a brilliant career, the regiment was

mustered out at Nashville, and returned at once to Indianapolis for

discharge.

The 42d, under Col J. G. Jones, mustered into service at Evans-

ville, October 9, 1861, and having participated in the 'priucipal

military affairs of the period, Wartrace, Mission Ridge, Altoona,

Kenesaw, Savannah, Charlestown and Bentonville, was discharged

at Indianapolis on the 25th of July, 1865.

The 43d Battalion was mustered in on the 27th of September,

1861, under Col. George K. Steele, and left Terre Haute enroute to

the front within a few days. Later it was aPied to Gen. Pope's

corps, and afterwards served with Commodore Foote's marines in

the reduction of Fort Pillow. It was the first Union regiment to

enter Memphis. From that period until the close of the war it was

distinguished for its unexcelled qualifications as a military body,

and fully deserved the encomiums passed upon it on its return to

Indianapolis in March, 1865.

The 44th or the Regiment of the 10th Congressional District

was organized at Fort Wayne on the 24th of October, 1861, under

Col. Hugh B. Reed. Two months later it was ordered to the front,

and arriving in Kentucky, was attached to Gen. Cruft's Brigade,

then quartered at Calhoun. After years of faithful service it was

mustered out at Chattanooga, the 14th of September, 1865.

The 45th, or Third Cavalry, comprised ten companies
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organized at diiFerent periods and for varied services in 1861-

'62, under Colonel Scott Carter and George H. Chapman. The-

distinguished name won by the Third Cavalry is established in

every village within the State. Let it suffice to add that after its

brilliant participation in Gen. Sheridan's raid down the James'

river canal, it was mustered out at Indianapolis on the 7th of Au-

gust, 1865.

The 46th Regiment, organized at Logansport under Colonel

Graham N. Fitch, arrived in Kentucky the 16th of February, 1862,

and a little later became attached to Gen. Pope's array, then quar-
tered at Commerce. The capture of Fort Pillow, and its career

under Generals Curtis, Palmer, Hovey, Gorman, Grant, Sherman,
Banks and Burbridge are as truly worthy of applause as ever fell to

the lot of a regiment. The command was mustered out at Louis-

ville on the 4th of September, 1865.

The 47th was organized at Anderson, under Col. I. R. Slack, early

in October, 1862. Arriving at Bardstown, Kentucky, on the 21st

of December, it was attached to Gen. Buell's army; but within two

months was assigned to Gen. Pope, under whom it proved the first

regiment to enter Fort Thompson near New Madrid. In 1864 the

command visited Indianapolis on veteran furlough and was enthu-

siastically received by Governor Morton and the people. Return-

ing to the front it engaged heartily in Gen. Banks' company. In

December, Col. Slack received his commission as Brigadier-General,
and was succeeded on the regimental command by Col. J. A. Mc-

Laughton; at Shreveport under General Heron it received the sub-

mission of General Price and his army, and there also was it mus-

tered out of service on the 23d of October, 1865.

The 48th Regiment, organized at Goshen the 6th of December,

1861, under Col. JS'orman Eddy, entered on its duties during the

siege of Corinth in May, and again in October, 1862. The record

of this battalion may be said to be unsurpassed in its every feature,

so that the grand ovation extended to the returned soldiers in

1865 at Indianapolis, is not a matter for surprise.

The 49th Regiment, organized at Jefferson ville, under Col. J. W^
Ray, and mustered in on the 21st of November, 1S61, for service,

left en route for the camp at Bardstown. A. month later it arrived

at the unfortunate camp-ground of Cumberland Ford, where dis-

ease carried off a number of gallant soldiers. The regiment, how-

ever, survived the dreadful scourge and won its laurels on many
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a well-foiiglit field until September, 1865, when it was mustered out
at Louisville.

The 50th Ri-XiniENT, under Col. Cyrus L. Dunham, organized

during the month of September, 1S61, at Seymour, left en route to

Bardstown for a coarse of military instruction. On the 20th of

August, 1862, a detachment of the 50.th, under Capt. Atkinson, was
attacked by Morgan's Cavalry near Edgefield Junction; but the

gallant few repulsed their oft-repeated onsets and finally drove

them from the field. The regiment underwent many changes in

organization, and may be said to muster out on the lOtli of Septem-
ber, 1865.

The 51sT Regiment, under Col. Abel. D. Streight, left Indianap-
olis on the llth of December, 1861, for the South. After a short

course of instruction at Bardstown, the regiment joined General

Buell's and acted with great effect during the campaign in Ken-

tucky and Tennessee. Ultimately it became a participator in the

work of the Fourth Corps, or Army of Occupation, and held the post
of San Antonio until peace was doubly assured.

The 52d Regiment was partially raised at Rushville, and the

organization completed at Indianapolis, where it was consolidated

with the Railway Brigade, or 56th Regiment, on the 2d of Feb-

ruary, 1862. Going to the front immediately after, it served with

marked distinction throughout the war, and was mustered out at

Montgomery on the lOth of September, 1865. Returning to Indian-

apolis six days later, it was welcomed by Gov. Morton and a most

enthusiastic reception accorded to it.

The 53kd Battalion was raised at Kew Albany, and with the

addition of recruits raised at Rockport formed a standard regi-

ment, under command of Col. W. Q. Gresham. Its first duty was

that of guarding the rebels confined on Camp Morton, but on

going to the front it made for itself an endurable name. It was mus-

tered out in July, 1865, and returned to Indiananoplis on the 25tli

of the same month.

The 5-iTH Regiment was raised at Indianapolis on the 10th of

June, 1862, for three months' service under CoL D.G.Rose. The

succeeding , two months saw it in charge of the prisoners at Camp

Morton, and in August it was pushed forward to aid in the defense

of Kentucky against the Confederate General, Kirby Smith. The

remainder of its short term of service was given to the cause. On the

muster out of the three months' service regiment it was reorgan-
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ized ibr one year's service and gained some distinction, after which

it was mustered out in 1S63 at New Orleans.

The 55th Hegiment, organized for three months' service, retains

the brief history applicable to the first organization of the 5-ith.

It was mustered in on the 16th of June, 1862, under Col. J. R.

Mahon, disbanded on the expiration of its term and was not reor-

ganized.

The 50th Regiment, referred to in the sketch of the 52nd, was

designed to be composed of railroad men, marshalled under J. M.
Smith as Colonel, but owing to the fact that many railroaders had

already volunteered into other regiments, Col. Smith's volunteers

were incorporated with the 52nd, and this number left blank in the

army list.

The 57Trr Battalion, actually organized by two ministeTs of the

gospel,—the Rev. 1. W. T. McMuUen and Rev. F. A. Hardin, of

Richmond, Ind., mustered into service on the IStli of Novem-

ber, 1861, under the former named reverend gentleman as Colonel,

who was, however, succeeded by Col. Cyrus C. llaynes, and he in

turn by G, W. Leonard, Willis Blanch and John S. McGrath, the

latter holding command until the conclusion of the war. The

history of this battalion is extensive, and if participation in a num-
ber of battles with the display of rare gallantry wins fame, the 57th

may rest assured of its possession of this fragile yet coveted prize.

Like many other regiments it concluded its military labors in the

service of General Sheridan, and held the post of Port Lavaca in

conjunction with another regiment until peace dwelt in the land.

The 58th Regiment, of Princeton, was organized there early in

October, 1861, and was mustered into service under the Colonelcy
of Henry M. Carr, In December it was ordered to join Gen-

eral Buell's army, after which it took a share in the various

actions of the war, and was mustered out on the 25th of July, 18G5,

at Louisville, having gained a place on the roll of honor.

The 59th Battalion was raised under a commission issued by
Gov. Morton to Jesse I. Alexander, creatine: him Colonel. Owins:

to the peculiarities hampering its organization. Col. Alexander could

not succeed in having his regiment prepared to muster in before

the 17th of February, 1862. However, on that day the equipment
was complete, and on the 18th it left e/i route to Commerce, where

on its arrival, it was incorporated under General Pope's command.
The list of its casualties speaks a history,

—no less than 793 men
were lost during the campaign. The regiment, after a term char-
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acterized "by distincpuislied service, was mustered out at Louisville

on the 17th of July, 1865.

The 60tu Ekgimknt was partially organized under Lieut.-Col.

Hicliard Owen at Evansville during November 1861, and perfected

at Camp Moi-ton during March, 1862. Its first experience was its

gallant resistance to Bragg' s army investing Muntbrdsville, which

culminated in the unconditional surrender of its first seven com-

panies on the 14th of September. An exchange of prisoners took

place in November, wjiich enabled it to joine the remaining com-

panies in the field. The subsequent record is excellent, and forms,

as it were, a monument to their fidelity and heroism. The main

portion of this battalion was mustered out at Indianapolis, on the

21st of March, 1865.

The 61sT was partially organized in December, 1861, under Col.

B. F. Mullen. The failure of thorough organization on the 22d of

May, 1862, led the men and ofticers to agree to incorporation with

the 35th Regiment of Yolunteers.

The 62d Battalion, raised under a commission issued to Wil-

liam Jones, of Ivockport, authorizing him to organize this regiment
in the First Conoressional District was so unsuccessful that consoli-

dation with the 53d Regiment was resolved upon.

The 63d Regiment, of Covington, under James McManomy,
Commandant ot Camp, and J. S. Williams, Adjutant, was partially

organized on the 31st of December, 1861, and may be considered

on duty from its very formation. After guarding prisoners at

Camp Morton and Lafayette, and engaging in battle on Manassas

Plains on the 30th of August following, the few companies sent

out in February, 1862, returned to Indianapolis to find six new

companies raised under the call of July, 1802, ready to embrace

the fortunes of the 63d. So strengthened, the regiment went forth

to battle, and continued to lead in the paths of honor and fidelity

until mustered out in May and June, 1865.

The 64Tn Regiment failed in organization as an artillery corps;

but orders received from the War Department prohibiting the con-

solidation of independent batteries, put a stop to any further move

in the matter. However, an infantry regiment bearing the same

number was afterward organized.

The 65th was mustered in at Princeton and Evansville, in July

and August, 1862, under Col. J. W. Foster, and left at once en

route for the front. The record of this battalion is creditable, not

onlv to its members, but also to the State which claimed it. Its
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last action darinor the war was on the ISth and 20t]i of Febrnarv,

1865, at Fort Anderson and Town creek, after which, on the 22d

June, it was disbanded at Greensboro.

The 66rH Regiment partially organized at New Albany, under

Commandant Roger Martin, was ordered to leave for Kentucky on

the 19th of August, 1S62, for the defense of that State against the

incursions of Kirby Smith. After a brilliant career it was mus-

tered out at Washington on the 3d of June, 1S65, after which it

returned to Indianapolis to receive the thanks of a grateful people.

The GTth Regiment was ors^anized within the Third Cono^ressional

District under Cul. Frank Emerson, and was ordered to Louisville

on the 20th of August, 1862, whence it marched to Munfordville,

only to share the same fate with the other gallant regiments en-

srao'ed ao-ainst Gen. Braofg's advance. Its roll of honor extends

down the years of civil disturbance,
—

always adding garlands, un-

til Peace called a truce in the fascinatins: race after fame, and insured

a terra of rest, wherein its members could think on comrades forever

vanished, and temper the sad thought with the sublime mem-
ories born of that chivalrous fight for the maintenance and integri-

ty of a great Republic. At Galveston on the 19th ofJuly, 1865, the

gallant 67th Regiment was mustered out, and returning within a

few days to its State received the enthusiastic ovations of her citi-

zens.

The 6Sth Regiment, organized at Greensburg under Major Ben-

jamin C. Shaw, was accepted for general service the 19th of August,

1862, under Col. Edward A. King, with Major Shaw as Lieutenant

Colonel; on the 25th its arrival at Lebanon was reported and with-

in a few days it appeared at the defense of Munfordville; l)iit shar-

ing in the fate of all the defenders, it surrendered unconditionally to

Gen. Bragg and did not participate further in the actions of that

year, nor until after the exchange of prisoners in 1863. From this

period it may lay claim to an enviable history extending to the end

of the war, when it was disembodied.

The 69th Regiment, of Richmond, Ind., under Col. A. Bickle,

left for the front on the 20th ot August, 1862, and ten days later

made a very brilliant stand at Richmond, Kentucky, against

the advance of Gen. Kirby Smith, losing in the engagement two

hundred and eighteen men and officers together with its liberty.

After an exchange of prisoners the regiment was reorganized under

Col. T. W. Bennett and took the field in December, 1862, under
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Generals Sheldon, Morgan and Sherman of Grant's army. Chick-

asaw, Vicksbnrg-, Blakely and many other names testify to the valor

of the 69th. The remnant of the regiment was in January, 1865,
formed into a battalion under Gran Perry, and was mustered out in

July following.

The 70th Regiment was organized at Indianapolis on the 12th of

August, 1S62, under Col. B. Harrison, and leaving for Louisville on

the 13th, shared in the honors cf Bruce's division at Franklin

and Riissellville. The record of the regiment is brimful of honor.

It was mustered out at Washington, June 8, 1865, and received at

Indianapolis with public honors.

The 71sT OR Sixth Cavalry was organized as an infantry regi-

ment, at Terre Haute, and mustered into general service at Indian-

apolis on the ISth of August, 1862, under Lieut. -Col. Melville D.

Topping. Twelve days later, it was engaged outside Richmond,

Kentucky, losing two hundred and fifteen otficers and men, includ-

ing Col. Topping and Major Conklin, together with three hundred

and forty-seven prisoners, only 225 escaping death and capture.

After an exchange of prisoners the regiment was re-formed under

Col. I. Bittle, but on the 28th of December it surrendered to Gen.

J. H. Morgan, who attacked its position at Muldraugh's Hill with a

force of 1,000 Confederates. During September and October, 1863,

it was organized as a cavalry regiment, won distinction throughout
its career, and was mustered out the 15th of September, 1865, at

Murfreesboro.

The 7Tth Regiment was organized at Lafayette, and left en route

to Lebanon, Kentucky, on the 17th of August, 1862. Under Col.

Miller it won a series of honors, and mustered out at Nashville on

the 26th of June, 1865.

The 73rd Regiment, under Col. Gilbert Hathaway, was mustered

in at South Bend on the 16th of August, 1862, and proceeded im-

mediately to the front. Day's Gap, Crooked Creek, and the high

eulogies of Generals Rosencrans and Granger speak its long and

brilliant history, nor were the welcoming shouts of a great people

and the congratulations of Gov. Morton, tendered to the regiment
on its return home, in July, 1865, necessary to sustain its well won

reputation.
The 74th Regiment, partially organized at Fort Wayne and made

almost complete at Indianapolis, left for the seat of war on the 22d

of August, 1862, under Col. Charles W. Chapman. The desperate

opposition to Gen. Bragg, and the magnificent defeat of Morgan,
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together with the battles of Dallas, Chattahoochie river, Kenesaw

and Atlanta, where Lieut. Ool. Myron Baker was killed, all bear evi-

dence of its never surpassed gallantry. It was mustered out of ser-

vice on the 9th of June, 1865, at Washington. On the return of the

regiment to Indianapolis, the war Governor and people tendered it

special honors, and gave expression to the admiration and regard

in which it was held.

The 75th Regiment was organized within the Eleventh Congress-

ional District, and left Wabash, on the 21st ofAugust, 1862, for the

front, under Col. I. W. Petit. It was the first regiment to enter

Tullahoma, and one of the last engaged in the battles of the Repub-
lic. After the submission ofGen. Johnson's army, it was mustered

out at Washington, on the 8th of June 1865.

The 76th Battalion was solely organized for thirty days' service

under Colonel James Gavin, for the purpose of pursuing the rebel

guerrilas, who plundered Newburg on the 13th July, 1862. It was

organized and equipped within forty-eight hours, and during its

term of service gained the name,
" The Avengers of Newburg,"

The 77th, or Fourth Cavalry, was organized at the State capi-

tal in Auixust, 1862, under Colonel Isaac P. Grav. It carved its

way to fame over twenty battlefields, and retired from service at

Edgefield, on the 29th June, 1865.

The 79th Regiment was mustered in at Indianapolis on the 2nd

September, 1862, under Colonel Fred Knefler. Its history may be

termed a record of battles, as the great numbers of battles, from

1862 to the conclusion of liostilities, were participated in by it.

The regiment i-eceived its discharge on the 11th June, 1865, at

Indianapolis. During its continued round of field duty it captured

eighteen guns and over one thousand prisoners.

The 80th Regiment was organized within the First Congress-

ional District under Col. C. Denby, and equipped at Indianapolis,

when, on the 8th of September, 1862, it left for the front. During
its term it lost only two prisoners; but its list of casualties sums

up 325 men and ofiicers killed and wounded. The regiment may
be said to muster out on the 22nd of June, 1865, at Saulsbury.

The 81sT Regiment, of. New Albany, under Colonel W. W.

Caldwell, was organized on the 29th August, 1862, and proceeded

at once to join Buell's headquarters, and join in the pursuit of

General Bragg. Throughout the terrific actions of the war its

influence was felt, nor did its labors cease until it aided in driving

the rebels across the TennesseCo It was disembodied at Nashville
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Oil the loth June, 1S65, and returned to Indianapolis on the 15th,

to receive the well-merited congratulations of Governor Morton

and the people.

The 82nd Regiment, under Colonel Morton C. Hunter, was

mustered in at Madison, Ind., on the 30th August, 1S62, and

leaving immediately for the seat of war, participated- in many of

the great battles aown to the return of peace. It was mustered out

at Washington on the 9tli June, 1865, and soon returned to its

State to receive a grand recognition of its faithful service.

The 83rd Regiment, of Lawrenceburg, under Colonel Ben. J.

Spooner, was organized in September, 1S62, and soon left en route

to the Mississippi. Its subsequent history, the fact of its being
under fire for a total term of 4,800 hours, and its wanderings over

6,285 miles, leave nothing to be said in its defense. Master of a

thousand honors, it was mustered out at Louisville, on the 15th

July, 1865, ami returned home to enjoy a well-merited repose.

The 81th Regiment was mustered in at Richmond, Ind., on the

8tli Se])tember, 1862, under Colonel Nelson Trusler. Its first

military duty was on the defenses of Covington, in Kentucky, and

Cincinnati; but after a short time its labors became more con-

genial, and tended to the great disadvantage of the slaveholding

enemy on many well-contested fields. This, like the other State

reo-iments, won manv distinctions, and retired from the service on

the 11th of June, 1S65, at Nashville.

The 85th Regiment was mustered at Terre Haute, under Colonel

Jolin P. Bayard, on the 2d September, 1862. On the 4th March,

1863, it shared in the unfortunate affair at Thompson's Station,

when in common with the other regiments forming Coburn's Bri-

gade, it surrendered to the overpowering forces of the rebel

General, Forrest. In June, 1863, after an exchange, it again took

the field, and won a large portion of that renown accorded to

Indiana. It was mustered out on the 12th of June, 1865.

The 86Tn Regiment, of La Fayette, left for Kentucky on the 26th

August, 1862, under Colonel OrvilleS. Hamilton, and shared in the

duties assigned to the 84th, Its record is very creditable, particu-

larly that portion dealing with the battles of Nashville on the 15th

and 16tli December, 1864. It was mustered out on the 6th of June,

1865, and reported within a few days at Indianapolis for discharge.

The 87th Regiment, organized at South Bend, under Colonels

Kline G. Sherlock and N. Gleason, was accepted at Indianapolis

on the 31st of August, 1862, and left on the same day en route to
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the front. From Springfield and Perrjville on the 6th and 8th of

October, 1862, to Mission Ridge, on the 25th of November, 1863,

thence through the Atlanta campaign to the surrender of the South-

ern armies, it upheld a gallant name, and met with a true and en-

thusiastic welcome* home on the 21st of June, 1865, with a list of

absent comrades aggregating 451.

The 88th Regiment, organized within the Fourth Congressional

District, under Col. Geo. Humphrey, entered the service on the

29th of August, 1862, and presently was found among the front

ranks in war. It passed through the campaign in brilliant form

down to the time of Gen. Johnson's surrender to Gen. Grant, after

which, on the Yth of June, 1865, it was mustered out at Washing-
ton.

The 89th Regiment, formed from the material of the

Eleventh Congressional District, was mustered in at Indianapolis,

on the 28th of August, 1862, under Col. Chas. D. Murray, and

after an exceedingly brilliant campaign was discharged by Gov.

Morton on the 4tli of August, 1865.

The 90th Regiment, or Fifth Cavalry, was organized at

Indianapolis under the Colonelcy of Felix W. Graham, between

Augr.st and November, 1862. The different companies, joining

headquarters at Louisville on the 11th of March, 1863, engaged in

observing the movements of the enemy in the vicinity of Cumber-

land river until the 19th of April, when a first and successful

brush was had with the rebels. The regiment had been in 22 en-

gagements during the term of service, captured 640 prisoners, and

claimed a list of casualties mounting up to the number of 829.

It was mustered out on the 16tli of June, 1865, at Pulaski.

The 91sT Battalion, of seven companies, was mustered into

service at Evansville, the 1st of October, 1862, under Lieut.-Colonel

John Mehringer, and in ten days later left for the front. In

1863 the regiment was completed, and thenceforth took a very

prominent position in the prosecution of the war. During its ser-

vice it lost 81 men, and retired from the field on the 26tli of June,

1865.

The 92d Regiment failed in oro^anizinor.

The 93d Regiment was mustered in at Madison, lad., on the

20th of October, 1862, under Col. De Witt C. Thomas and Lieut.-

Col. Geo. W. Carr. On the 9th of November it began a move-

ment south, and ultimately allied itself to Buckland's Brigade of
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Oeii. Sherman's. On the 14th of May it was among the first regi-
ments to enter Jackson, the capital of Mississippi; was next pres-

ent at the assault on Vicksburg, and made a stirring campaign
down to the storming of Fort Blakely on the 9th of April, 1S65.

It was discharged on the 11th of August, that year, at Indianapo-

lis, after receiving a public ovation.

The OIth and 95th Regiaients, authorized to be formed within

the Fourth and Fifth Congressional Districts, respectively, were

only partially organized, and so the few companies that could be

mustered were incorporated with other regiments.
The 96th Regiment could only bring together three companies,

in the Sixth Congressional District, and these becoming incoruo-

rated with the 99th then in process of formation at South Bend, the

number was left blank.

The 97th Regiment, raised in the Seventh Congressional Dis-

trict, was mustered into service at Terre Haute, on the 20th of

September, 1S61, under Col. Robert F. Catterson. Reaching the

front within a few days, it was assigned a position near Memphis,
and subsequently joined in Gen. Grant's movement on Yicksburg,

by overland route. After a succession of great exploits with the

several armies to which it was attached, it completed its list of

battles at Bentonville, on the 21st of March, 1865, and was dis-

embodied at Washington on the 9th of June following. During its

term of service the regiment lost 311 men, including the three

Ensigns killed during the assaults on rebel positions along the

Augusta Railway, from the 15th to the 2Tth of June, 1861.

The 9Sth Regiment, authorized to be raised within the Eighth

Congressional District, failed in its organization, and the number

was left blank in the army list. The two companies answering to

the call of July, 1862, were consolidated M-ith the lOOtli Regiment
then being organized at Fort Wayne,
The 99th Battalion, recruited within the Xinth Congressional

District, completed its muster on the 21st of October, 1862, under

Col. Alex. Fawler, and reported for service a few days later at

Memphis, where it was assigned to the 16th Army Corps. The va-

ried vicissitudes through which this regiment passed and its remark-

able gallantry upon all occasions, have gained for it a fair fame.

It was disembodied on the 5th of June, 1865, at Washington, and

returned to Indianapolis on the 11th of the same month.

The 100th Regiment, recruited from the Eighth and Tenth

Congressional Districts, under Col. Sandford J. Stoughton, mustered
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into the service on the 10th of September, left for the front on the

11th of November, and became attached to the Army of Tennessee

on the 26th of that month, 1S62. The regiment ])articipated in

twentj-tive battles, together with skirmishing during fully one-third

of its term of service, and claimed a list of casualties mounting up
to four hundred and sixty-four. It was mustered out of the ser-

vice at Washington on the 9tli ofJune, and reported at Indianapolis
for discharge on the 14th of June, 1865.

The lOlsT Regiment was mustered into service at Wabash on

the 7th of September, 1862, under Col. William Garver, and pro-

ceeded immediately to Covington, Kentucky. Its early experiences
were gained in the pursuit ofBragg's army and John Morgan's

cavalry, and these experiences tendered to render the regiment one

of the most valuable in the war for the Republic. From the defeat

of John Morgan at Milton on the 18th of March, 1863, to the fall

of Savannah on the 23rd of September, 1863, the regiment won

many honors, and retired from the service on the 25th of June,

1865, at Indianapolis.
"*

THE MORGAN RAID REGIMENTS—MINUTE MEN.

The 102d Regiment, organized under Col. Benjamin M. Gregory
from companies of the Indiana Legion, and numbering six hun-

dred and twenty-three men and officers, left Indianapolis for the

front early in July, and reported at North Vernon on the 12th of

July, 1863, and having completed a round of duty, returned to In-

dianapolis on the 17th to be discharged.
The 103d, comprising seven companies from Hendricks county,

two from Marion and one from Wayne counties, numbering 681

men and officers, under Col. Lawrence S. Shuler, was contemporary
with the 102d Regiment, varying only m its service by being mus-

tered out one day before, or on the 16tli of July, 1863.

The IOIth Regiment of Minute Men was recruited from mem-
bers of the Legion of Decatur, La Fayette, Madison, Marion and Rush

counties. It comprised 71-1 men and officers under the command
of Col. James Gavin, and was organized within forty hours after the

issue of Governor Morton's call for minute men to protect Indiana

and Kentucky against the raids of Gen. John H Morgan's rebel

forces. After Morgan's escape into Ohio the command returned

and was mustered out on the 18th of July, 1863.

The 105th Regiment consisted of seven companies of the Legion
and three of Minute Men, furnished by Hancock, Union, Randolph,
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Putnam, Wayne, Clinton and Madison counties. The command
numbered seven hundred and tliirteen men and officers, under Col.

Sherlock, and took a leading part in the pursuit of Morgan. Re-

turning on the 18th of July to Indianapolis it was mustered out.

The 106th Regiment, under Col. Isaac P. Gray, consisted of

one company of the Legion and nine companies of Minute Men,

aggregating seven hundred and ninety-two men and otiicers. The

counties of Wayne, Randolph, Hancock, Howard, and Marion were

represented in its rank and file. Like the other regiments organized
to repel Morgan, it was disembodied in July, 1863.

The IOTth Regiment, under Col. De Witt C. Rugg, was organ-
ized in the city of Indianapolis from the companies' Legion, or

Ward Guards. The successes of this promptly organized regiment
were unquestioned.
The 108th Regiment comprised five companies of Minute Men,

from Tippecanoe county, two from Hancock, and one from each of

the counties known as Carroll, Montgomery and Wayne, aggregat-

ing 710 men and officers, and all under the command of Col. W. C.

Wilson. After performing the only duties presented, it returned

from Cincinnati on the 18th of July, and was mustered out.

The lOyTH Regiment, composed of Minute Men from Coles

county. 111., La Porte, Hamilton, Miami and Randolph counties,

Ind., showed a roster of 709 officers and men, under Col. J. R-

Mahon. Morgan having escaped from Ohio, its duties were at an

end, and returniug to Indianapolis was mustered out on the 17th

of July, 1863, after seven days' service.

The 110th Regiment of Minute Men comprised volunteers from

Henry, Madison, Delaware, Cass, and Monroe counties. The men

were ready and willing, if not really anxious to go to the front. But

happily the swift-winged Morgan was driven away, and conse-

quently the regiment was not called to the field.

The 111th Regiment, furnished by Montgomery, Lafayette,

Rush, Miami, Monroe, Delaware and Hamilton counties, number-

ing 733 men and officers, under Col. Robert Canover, was not

requisitioned.

The 112th Regiment was formed from nine companies of Min-

ute Men, and the Mitchell Light Infantry Company of the Legion.

Its strength was 703 men and officers, under Col. Hiram F. P>rax-

ton. Lawrence, Washington, Monroe and Orange counties were

represented on its roster, and the historic names of North Yernon

and Sunman's Station on its banner. Returning from the South
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after seven days' service, it was mustered out oil tlie 17th of

July, 1863.

The 113th Regiment, furnished by Daviess, Martin, "Washington,
and Monroe counties, comprised 526 rank and iile under Col. Geo.

"W. Burge. Like the 112th, it was assigned to Gen. Hughes'

Brigade, and defended North Vernon against the repeated attacks

of John II. Morgan's forces.

The 114th Regiment was wholly organized in Johnson county,
under Col. Lambertson, and participated in the aflair of North

Vernon. Returning on the 21st of July, 1863, with its brief but

faithful record, it was disembodied at Indianapolis, 11 days after

its orfi^anization.

All these regiments were brought into existence to meet an

emergency, and it must be confessed, that had not a sense of

duty, military instinct and love of country animated these regi-

ments, the rebel General, John H. Morton, and liis 6,000 cavalry

would doubtless have carried destruction as far as the very capital

of their State.

SIX months' regiments.

The 115th Regiment, organized at Indianapolis in answer to the

call of the President in June, 1863, was mustered into service on

the ITth of August, under Col. J. R. Malion. Its service was short

but brilliant, and leceived its discharge at Indianapolis the 10th

of Februar}', 1864.

The 116th Regiment, mustered in on the 17th of August, 1863,

moved to Detroit, Michigan, on the 30th, under Col. Charles Wise,

During October it was ordered to Nicholasville, Kentucky, where it

was assigned to Col. Mahon's Brigade, and with Gen. Willcox's

entire command, joined in the forward movement to Cumberland

Gap. After a term on severe duty it returned to Lafa^-ette and

there was disembodied on the 24th of February, 1864, whither Gov.

Morton hastened, to share in the ceremonies of welcome.

The 117th Regiment of Indianapolis was mustered into service

on the 17th of September, 1863, under Col. Thomas J. Brady.
After surmounting every obstacle opposed to it, it returned on the

6th of February, 1864, and was treated to a public reception on

the 9 th.

The 118th Regiment, whose organization was completed on the

3d of September, 1863, under Col. Geo. W. Jackson, joined the

116th at Nicholasville, and sharing in its fortunes, returned to the
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State capital on the 1-itli of February, 1864:. Its casualties were

comprised in a list of 15 killed and wounded.

The 119th, or Seventh Cavalry, was recruited under Col. John
P. C. Shanks, and its organization completed on the 1st of Octo-

ber, 1863. The rank and tile numbered 1,213, divided into twelve

companies. On the 7th of December its arrival at Louisville was

reported, and on the 14th it entered on active service. After the

well-fought battle of Guntown, Mississippi, on the 10th of June,

1864, although it only brought defeat to our arms. General Grier-

son addressed the Seventh Cavalry, saying:
" Your General con-

gratulates you upon your noble conduct during the late expedition.

Fighting against overwhelming numbers, under adverse circum-

stances, your prompt obedience to orders and unflinching courage

commanding the admiration of all, made even defeat almost a vic-

tory. For hours on foot you repulsed the charges of the enemies' in-

fantry, and again in the saddle you met his cavalry and turned his

assaults into confusion. Your heroic perseverance saved hundreds

of your fellow-soldiers from capture. You have been faithful to

your honorable reputation, and have fully justified the confidence,

and merited the high esteem of your cominander."

Early in 1865, a number of these troops, returning from impris-

onment in Southern bastiles, were lost on the steamer "Sultana."

The survivors of the campaign continued in the service for a long

period after the restoration of peace, and finally mustered out.

Th6 120th Regiment. In September, 1863, Gov. Morton re-

ceived authority from the War Department to organize eleven regi-

ments within the State for three years' service. By April, 1864,

this organization was complete, and being transferred to the com-

mand of Brigadier General Alvin P. Hovey, were formed by him

into a division for service with the Army of Tennessee, Of those

regiments, the 120th occupied a very prominent place, both on ac-

count of its numbers, its perfect discipline and high reputation.

It was mustered in at Columbus, and was in all the great battles

of the latter years of the war. It won high praise from friend

and foe, and retired with its bright roll of honor, after the success

of Right and Justice was accomplished.

The 121st, or Ninth Cavalry, was mustered in March 1, 1864,

under Col. George W. Jackson, at Indianapolis, and though not

numerically strong, was so well equipped and possessed such excel-

lent material that on the 3rd of May it was ordered to the front.

The record of the 121st, though extending over a brief period, is
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pregnant with deeds of war of a higli character. On the 26th of

April, 18G5, these troops, while returning from their labors in the

South, lost 55 men, owing to the explosion of the engines of the

steamer " Sultana." The return of the 3S6 survivors, on the 5th of

September, 1865, was hailed with jov, and proved how well and

dearly the citizens of Indiana loved their soldiers.

The 122d Regiment ordered to be raised in the Third Conerres-

sional District, owing to very few men being then at home, failed

in organization, and the regimental number became a blank.

The 123d Hegiment was furnished by the Fourth and Seventh

Congressional Districts during the winter of 1863-'64, and mus-

tered, March 9, 1864, at Greeusburg, under Col. John C. McQuis-
*ton. The command left for the front the same day, and after win-

ning rare distinction during the last years of the campaign, par-

ticularly in its gallantry at Atlanta, and its daring movement to

escape Forrest's 15,000 rebel horsemen near Franklin, this regi-

ment was discharged on the 30tli of August, 1865, at Indianapolis,

being mustered out on the 25th, at Raleigh, North Carolina.

The 12-iTH Regiment completed its organization by assuming
three companies raised for the 125th Regiment (which was intended

to be cavalry), and was mustered in at Richmond, on the 10th of

March, 1864, under Colonel James Burgess, and reported at Louis-

ville within nine days. From Buzzard's Roost, on the 8th of May,
1864, under General Schofield, Lost Mountain in June, and the

capture of Decatur, on the 15th July, to the 21st March, 1865, in

its grand advance under General Sherman from Atlanta to the

coast, the regiment won many laurel wreaths, and after a brilliant

campaign, was mustered out at Greensboro on the 31st August,
1865.

The 125th, or Tenth Cavalry, was partially organized during
November and December, 1862, at Yincennes, and in February,

1863, completed its numbers and equipment at Columbus, under

Colonel T. M. Pace. Early in May its arrival in Nashville was

reported, and presently assigned active service. During September
and October it engaged rebel contiufjents under Forrest and Hood,
and later iu the battles of Nashville, Reynold's Hill and Sugar
Creek, and in 1865 Flint River, Courtland and Mount Hope. The

explosion of the Sultana occasioned the loss of thirty-five men with

Captain Gaffney and Lieutenants Twigg and Reeves, and in a

collision on the Nashville & Louisville railroad, May, 1864, lost

five men killed and several wounded. After a term of service un-
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surpassed for its utility and character it was disembodied at Vicks-

bu!"g, Mississippi, on the Slst August, lS6o, and returning to

Indianapolis early in September, was welcomed by the Executive

and people.

The 12GTn, or Eleventh Cavalry, was organized at Indian-

apolis under Colonel Robert H. Stewart, on the 1st of March, 1861,

and left in May for Tennessee. It took a ver}^ conspicuous part in

the defeat of Hood near Nashville, joining in the pursuit as far as

Gravelly Springs, Alabama, where it was dismounted and assigned

infantry duty. In June, 1865, it was remounted at St. Louis, and

moved to Fort Itiley, Kansas, and thence to Leavenworth, where it

was mustered out on the 19th September, 1865.

The 127x0, or Twelfth Cavalry, was partially organized at

Kendallville, in December, 1863, and perfected at the same place,

under Colonel Edward Anderson, in April, 1864. Reaching the

front in May, it went into active service, took a prominent part in

the march through Alabama and Georgia, and after a service bril-

liant in all its parts, retired from the field, after discharge, on the

22d of November, 1865.

The 128th Regiment was raised in the Tenth Congressional Dis-

trict of the period, and mustered at Michigan City, under Colonel

R. p. De Ilart, on the 18th March, 1861-. On the 25th it was

reported at the front, and assigned at once to Schotield's Division.

The battles of Resaca, Dallas, New Hope Church, Lost Mountain,

Kenesaw, Atlanta, Jonesboro, Dalton, Brentwood Hills, Nashville.

and the six days' skirmish of Columbia, were all participated in by
the 128th, and it continued in service long after the termination

of hostilities, holding the post of Raleigh, North Carolina.

The 129th Regiment was, like the former, mustered in at

Michigan City about the same time, under Colonel Charles Case,

and moving to the front on the 7th April, 1864, shared in the for-

tunes of the 128th until Auo-ust 29, 1865, when it was disembodied

at Charlotte, Notrh Carolina.

The 130th Regiment, mustered at Kokomo on the 12th March,

1864, under Colonel C. S. Parrish, left en route to the seat of war

on the 16th, and was assigned to the Second Brigade, First Division,

Twenty-third Army Corps, at Nashville, on the 19th. During the

war it made for itself a brilliant history, and returned to Indian-

apolis with its well-won honors on the 13th DecemDer, 1865.

The 131sT, OR Thirteenth Cavalry, under Colonel G. M L.

Johnson, was the last mounted regiment recruited within the State.
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It left Indianapolis on the 30tli of April, 1864, in infantry trimv

and gained its first honors on the 1st of October in its magnificent
defense of Hnntsville, Alabama, against the rebel division of

General Bnford, following a line of first-rate military conduct to

the end. In January, 1865, the regiment was remounted, won
some distinction in its modern form, and was mustered ont at

Yicksburg on the 18th of November, 1865. The morale and

services of the regiment were sucli that its Colonel was promoted
Brevet Brio'adier-General in consideration of its merited honors.

THE ONE HUNDKED-DATS VOLUNTEERS.

Governor Morton, in obedience to tlie offer made under his auspices

to the creneral Government to raise volunteer reo^iments for onehun-

dred days' service, issued his call on the 23rd of April, 1864. This

movement suggested, itself to the inventive genius of the war Gov-

ernor as a most important step toward the subjection or annihila-

tion of the militar}" supporters of slavery within a year, and thus

conclude a war, wliich, notwithstanding its holy claims to the name
of Battles for Freedom, was becoming too protracted, and proving
too detrimental to the best interests of the Union. In answer to

the esteemed Governor's call eight regiments came forward, and

formed The Grand Division of the Volunteers.

The 132d Regiment, under Col, S. C. Vance, was furnished by

Indianapolis, Shelby ville, Franklin and Danville, and leaving on

the 18th of May, 1864, reached the front where it joined the forces

actinsc in Tennessee.

The 133d Regiment, raised at Richmond on the 17th of May,
1864, under Col. R. X. Hudson, comprised nine companies, and

followed the 132d.

The 134rH Regiment, comprising seven companies, was organ-
ized at Indianapolis on the 25th of May, 1864, under Col. James

Gavin, and proceeded immediately to the front.

The 135th Regiment was raised from the volunteers of Bedford,

Noblesville and Goshen, with seven companies from the First Con-

gressional District, under Col. "W. C. "Wilson, on the 25th of May,

1864, and left at once en route to the South.

The 136th Regiment comprised ten companies, raised in the

same districts as those contributing to the 135th, under CoL J. W.

Foster, and left for Tennessee on the 24tli of May, 1864.

The 137th Regiment, under Col. E. J. Robinson, comprising
volunteers from Kokorao, Zanesville, Medora, Sullivan, Rockville,
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and Owen and Lawrence counties, \et'ten route to Tennessee on the

28th of May, 1S64, having completed organization the day previous.
The 13Sth Regiment was formed of seven companies from the

Ninth, with three from the Eleventh Congressional District (un-

reformed), and mustered in at Indianapolis on the 27th of May,
lS6i, under Col. J. H. Shannon. This fine regiment was re-

ported at the front within a few days.

The 139th Regiment, under Col. Geo. Humphrey, was raised from

volunteers furnished by Kendallville, Lawrenceburg, Elizaville,

Knightstown, ConnersviHe, Newcastle, Portland, Vevay, New
Albany, Metamora, Columbia City, New Haven and New Phila-

delphia. It was constituted a regiment on the 8th of June, 1864,

and appeared among the defenders in Tennessee during that month.

All these regiments gained distinction, and won an enviable po-
sition in the glorious history of the war and the no less glorious

one of their own State in its relation thereto.

the president's call of JULY, 1864.

The 140th Regiment was organized with many others, in response
to the call of the nation. Under its Colonel, Thomas J. Brady, it pro-

ceeded to the South on the 15th of November, 1864. Haviuii taken

a most prominent part in all the desperate struggles, round Nash-

ville and Murfreesboro in 1864, to Town Creek Bridge on the 20th

of February, 1S65, and completed a continuous round of severe duty
to the end, arrived at Indianapolis for discharge on the 21st of July,

where Governor Morton received it with marked honors.

The 14 1st Regiment was only partially raised, and its few com-

panies were incorporated with Col Brady's command.

The 142d Regiment was recruited at Fort Wayne, under Col. I.

M. Comparet, and was mustered into service at Indianapolis on the

d of November, 1864. After a steady and exceedingly effective

service, it returned to Indianapolis on the 16tli of July, 1865.

THE president's CALL OF DECEMBER, 1864,

Was answered by Indiana in the most material terms. No less

than fourteen serviceable regiments were placed at the disposal of

the General Government.

The 143d Regiment was mustered in, under Col J. T. Grill, on

the 2 1 St February, 1865, reported at Nashville on the 24th, and af-

ter a brief but brilliant service returned to the State on the 21st

October, 1865.
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The 14-4x11 Regiment, under Col. G. W. IliJdle, was mustered in

on the 6th March, 1S65, left on tlie 9th for Harper's Ferry, took an

effective part in the close of the campaign and reported at Indian-

apolis for dischargee on the 9th August, 1865.

The 145th Regiment, under Col. W. A. Adams, left Indianapolis
on the 18th of February, 1865, and joining Gen. Steadman's division

at Chattanooga on the 23d was sent on active service. Its duties

were discharged with rare fidelity until mustered out in January,
186G.

The llruTii Regiment, under Col M. C. Wolsh, left Indianapolis
on the 11th of March en route to Harper's Ferry, where it was as-

signed to the army of the Shenandoah. The duties ot this regiment
were severe and continuous, to the period of its muster out at Bal-

timore on the 31st of August, 1865.

The l4TrH Regiment, comprised among other volunteers from

Benton, Lafayette and Henry counties, organized under Col. Milton

Peden on the 13th of March, 1865, at Indianapolis. It shared a

fortune similar to that of the r4:6th, and returned for discharge on

the 9th of August, 1865.

The 14:8Tri Regiment, under Col. N. R. Ruckle, left the State

capital o-n the 28th of February, 1865, and reporting at Nashville,

was sent on guard and garrison duty into the heart of Tennessee.

Returning to Indianapolis on the 8th of September, it received a

final dischai'ge.

The 149Tn Regiment was organized at Indianapolis by Col. W.
H. Fairbanks, and left. on the 3d of March, 1865, for Tennessee,

where it had the honor of receiving the surrender of the rebel

forces, and military stores of Generals Roddy and Polk. The reg-

iment was welcomed home by Morton on the 29th of September.
The 150rn Regtment, under Col. M. B. Taylor, mustered in on the

9th of March, 1865, left for the South on the 13th and reported at

Harper's Ferry on the 17th. This regiment did guard duty at

Charleston, "Winchester, Stevenson Station, Gordon's Springs, and

after a service characterized by utility, returned on tlie 9th of

August to Indianapolis for discharge.

The 151sT Regiment, under Col. J. Healy, arrived at Nashville on

the 9th of March, 1865. On the llth a movement on Tullahoma

was undertaken, and three months later returned to Nashville for

garrison duty to the close of the war. It was mustered out on the

22d of September, 1865.

The 152d Regiment was organized at Indianapolis, under Col.
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W. W Griswold, and left for Harper's Ferry on the 18th of March,

1865. It was attached to the provisional divisions of Shenandoah

Army, and engaged until the 1st of September, when it v-^as dis-

charged at Indianapolis.

The 153d Rp:giment was organized at Indianapolis on the 1st of

March, 1865, under Col. O. H. P. Carey. It reported at Louis-

ville, and by order of Gen. Palmer, was held on service in Ken-

tucky, where it was occupied in the exciting but very dangerous

pastime of lighting Southern guerrillas. Later it was posted at

Louisville, until mustered out on the 4th of September, 1865.

The 15-1:TH Regiment, organized under Col. Frank Wilcox, left

Indiana})olis under Major Simpspn, for Parkersburg, W. Virginia,

on the 2Sth of April, 1865. It was assigned to guard and garrison

duty until its discharge on the 4th of August, 1865.

The 155Tn Regiment, recruited throughout the State, left on the

26th of A])ril for Washington, and was afterward assigned to a

provisional Brigade of the Niuth Army Corps at Alexandria. The

companies of this regiment were scattered over the country,
—at

Dover, Centreville, Wilmington, and Salisbury, but becoming re-

united on the 4th of August, 1865, it was mustered out at Dover,

Delaware,

The 156Tn Battalion, under Lieut.-Colonel Charles M. Smith,

left en route to the Shenandoah Valley on the 27th of April, 1865,

where it continued doing guard duty to the period of its muster

out the 4th of August, 1865, at Winchester, Virginia.

On the return of these regiments to Indianapolis, Gov. Morton

and the people received them with all that characteristic cordiality

and enthusiasm peculiarly their own.

independent cavalry company of INDIANA VOLUNTEERS.

The people of Crawford county, animated with that inspiriting

patriotism which the war drew forth, organized this mounted com-

pany on the 25th of July, 1863, and placed it at the disposal of

the Government, and it was mustered into service by order of the

War Secretary, on the 13th of August, 1863, under Captain L.

Lamb. To the close of the year it engaged in the laudable pursuit

of arresting deserters and enforcing the draft; however, on the

18th of January, 1864, it was reconstituted and incorporated with

the Thirteenth Cavalry, with which it continued to serve until the

treason of Americans against America was conquered.



182 HISTORY OP^ INDIANA.

OL'K COLORED TROOPS.

The 2Sth Regiment of Colored Troc^ps was recruited throno'h-

out the State of Indiana, and under Lieut.-Colonel Charles S.

Russell, left Indianapolis for the fronton the 24th of April, 1864.

The reij^inicnt acted very well in its first entragement with the

rebels at White House, Virginia, and again with Gen. Sheridan's

Cavalry, in the swamps of the Chickahominy. In the battle of

the "
Crater," it lost half its roster; but their place was soon filled

by other colored recruits from the State, and Russell promoted to

the Colonelcy, and afterward to Brevet Brigadier-General, when he

was succeeded in the command by Major Thomas 11. Logan.

During the few months of its active service it accumulated quite a

history, and was ultimately discharged, on the Sth of January,

1866, at Indianapolis.

batteries of ligut artillery.

First Battery, organized at Evansville, under Captain Martin

Klauss, and mustered in on the 16th of August, 1801, joined Gen.

Fremont's army immediately, and entering readily upon its salu-

tary course, aided in the capture of 950 rebels and their position
at Blackwater creek. On March the 6th, 1S62 at Elkhorn Tavern,

and on the Sth at Pea Ridge, the battery performed good service.

Port Gibson, Champion Hill, Jackson, the Teche country, Sabine

Cross Roads, Grand Encore, all tell of its efiicacy. In 1864 it was

subjected to reorganization, when Lawrence Jacoby was raised to

the Captiancy, vice Klauss resigned. After a long term of useful

service, it was mustered out at Indianapolis on the 18th of August,
1865.

Second Battery was organized, under Captain D. G. Rabb, at

Indianapolis on the 9th of August, 1861, and one month later pro-

ceeded to the front. It participated in the campaign against Col.

Cofiee's irregular troops and the rebellious Indians of the Cherokee

nation. From Lone Jack, Missouri, to Jenkin's Ferry and Fort

Smith it won signal honors until its reorganization in 1864, and

even after, to June, 1865, it maintained a very fair reputation.

The Third Battery, under Capt. W. W. Frybarger, was organ-
ized and mustered in at Connersville on the 24th of August, 1861,

and proceeded immediately to join Fremont's Army of the Mis-

souri. Moon's Mill, Kirksville, Meridian, Fort de Russy, Alex-

andria, Round Lake, Tupelo, Clinton and Tallahatchie are names
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which may be engraven on its guns. It participated in the affairs

before Nashville on the 15th and 16th of December, 1864, when

General Hood's Army was put to route, and at Fort Blakely, out-

side Mobile, after which it returned home to report for discharge,

August 21, 1865.

The Fourth Battery, recruited in La Porte, Porter and Lake

counties, reported at the front early in October, ISiJl, and at once

assumed a prominent place in the army of Gen. Buell. Again
under Rosencrans and McOook and under General Sheridan at

Stone River, the services of this battery were much praised, and it

retained its well-earned reputation to the very day of its muster out

—the 1st of August, 1865. Its first organization was completed
under Capt. A. K. Bush, and reorganized in Oct., 1864, under Capt
B. F. Johnson.

The Fifth Battery was furnished by La Porte, Allen, Whitley
and Noble counties, organized under Capt. Peter Simonson, and mus-

tered into service on the 22d of November, 1861. It comprised
four six pounders, two being rifled cannon, and two twelve-pounder
Howitzers with a force of 158 men. Reporting at Camp Gil-

bert, Louisville, on tlie 29th, it was shortly after assigned to the

division of Gen. Mitchell, at Bacon Creek. Daring its term, it

served in twenty battles and numerous petty actions, losing its Cap-
tain at Pine Mountain. The total loss accruing to the battery was

84 men and officers and four guns It was mustered out on the

20th of July, 1864.

The Sixth Battery was recruited at Evansville, under Captain

Frederick Behr, and left, on the 2d of Oct., 1861, for the front,

reporting at Henderson, Kentucky, a few days after. Early in

1862 it joined Gen. Sherman's army at Paducah, and participated

in the battle of Shiloh, on the 6th of April. Its history grew iu

brilliancy until the era of peace insured a cessation of its great

labors.

The Seventh Battery comprised volunteers from Terre Haute,

Arcadia, Evansville, Salem, Lawrenceburg, Columbus, Vin-

cennes and Indianapolis, under Samuel J. Harris as its first

Captain, who was succeeded by G. R. Shallow and O. H. Mor-

gan after its reorganization. From the siege of Corinth to the

capture of Atlanta it performed vast services, and returned to

Indianapolis on the llth of July, 1865, to be received by the peo-

ple and hear its history from the lips of the veteran ])atriot and

Governor of the State.
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The Eighth Battery, under Captain G. T. Cochran, arrived at

the front on the 26th of February, 1862, and subsequently entered

upon its real duties at the siege of Corinth. It served with dis-

tinction throughout, and concluded a well-made campaign under

Will Stokes, who was appointed Captain of the companies with

which it was consolidated in March, 1865.

The ISTiNTH Battery. The organization of this battery was

perfected at Indianapolis, on the 1st of January, 1862, under Capt.

1^. S. Thomj)Son. Moving to the front it participated in the aftairs

of Shiloh, Corinth, Queen's Hill, Meridian, Fort Dick Taylor, Fort

de Russy, Henderson's Hill, Pleasant Hill, Cotile Landing, Bayou

Rapids, Mansura, Chicot, and many others, winning a name in

each engagement. The explosion of the steamer Eclipse at Johnson-

ville, above Paducah, on Jan. 27, 1865, resulted in the destruction of

58 men, leaving only ten to represent the battery. The survivors

reached Indianapolis on the 6th of March, and were mustered out.

The Tenth Battery was recruited at Lafaj^ette, and mustered in

under Capt. Jerome B. Cox, in January, 1861. Having passed

through the Kentucky campaign against Gen. Bragg, it partici-

pated in many of the great engagements, and finally returned to

report for discharge on the 6th of July, 1861, having, in the mean-

time, won a very fair fame.

The Eleventh Battery was organized at Lafayette, and mus-

tered in at Indianaj)olis under Capt. Arnold Sutermeister, on the

17th of December, 1831. On most of the principil battle-fields,

from Shiloh, in 1862, to the capture of Atlanta, it maintained a high

reputatii>n for military excellence, and after consolidation with the

Eighteenth, mustered out on the 7th of June, 1865.

The Twelfth Battery was recruited at Jefferson ville and sub-

sequently mustered in at Indianapolis. On the 6th of March, 1862,

it reached Nashville, having been previously assigned to Buell's

Army. In April its Captain, G. W. Sterling, resigned, and the

position devolved on Capt. James E. White, who, in turn, was suc-

ceeded by James A. Dunwoody. The record of the battery holds

a first place in the history of the period, and enabled both men and

officers to look back with pride upon the battle-fields of the land.

It was ordered home in June, 1865, and on reaching Indianapolis,

on the 1st of July, was mustered out on the 7th of that month.

The Thirteenth Battery was organized under Captain Sewell

Coulson, during the winter of 1861, at Indianapolis, and proceeded

to the front in February, 1862. During the subsequent months it
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was occupied in the pursuit of John H. Morgan's raiders, and
aided efFectivelj in driving them from Kentucky. This artillery

company returned from the South on the 4th of July, 1865, and
were discharged the day following.
The Fourteenth Battery, recruited in Wabash, Miami, Lafay-

ette, and Huntington counties, under Captain M, H. Kid d, and
Lieutenant J, W. H. McGuire, left Indianapolis on the 11th of

April, 1862, and within a few months one portion of it was cap-
tured at Lexington by Gen. Forrest's great cavalry command. The
main battery lost two guns and two men at Guntown, on the llis-

sissippi, but proved more successful at Nashville and Mobile. It

arrived home on the 29th of August, 1865, received a public wel-

come, and its final discharge.

The Fifteenth Battery, under Captain I. C. H. Yon Sehlin,
was retained on duty from the date of its organization, at Indian-

apolis, until the 5th of July, 1862, when it was moved to Harper's

Ferry. Two months later the gallant defense of Maryland Heights
was set at naught by the rebel Stonewall Jackson, and the entire

garrison surrendered. Being paroled, it was reorganized at Indian-

apolis, and appeared again in the field in March, 1863, where it

won a splendid renown on every well-fought field to the close of

the war. It was mustered out on the 24th of June, 1865.

The Sixteenth Battery was organized at Lafayette, under

Capt. Charles A. Nay lor, and on the 1st of June, 1862, left for

Washington. Moving to the front with Gen. Pope's command, it

particrpated in the battle of Slaughter Mountain, on the 9th of

August, and South Mountain, and Antietam, under Gen. McClel-

lan. This battery was engaged in a large number of general en-

gagements and flying column affairs, won a very favorable record,

and returned on the 5th of July, 1865.

The Seventeenth Battery, under Capt. Milton L. Miner, was

mustered in at Indianapolis, on the 20th of May, 1862, left for the

front on the 5th of July, and subsequently engaged in the Gettys-

burg expedition, was present at Harper's Ferry, July 6, 1863, and

at Opequan on the 19th of September. Fisher's Hill, New Mar-

ket, and Cedar Creek brought it additional honors, and won from

Gen. Sheridan a tribute of praise for its service on these battle

grounds. Ordered from Winchester to Indianapolis it was mus-

tered out there on the 3d of Julv, 1865.

The Eighteenth Battery, under Capt. Eli Lilly, left for the
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front in August, 1862, but did not take a leading part in the cam-

paign until 1863, when, under Gen. Rosencrans, it appeared prom-
inent at Hoover's Gap. From this perigd to the affairs of West
Point and Macon, it performed first-class service, and returned to

its State on the 25th of June, 1S65.

The Nineteenth B,vttery was mustered into service at Indian-

apolis, on the 5;li of August, 1862, under Capt. S. J. Harris, and

proceeded immediately afterward to the front, where it participated
in the camr)aign against Gen. Bragg. It was present at every post
of danger to the end of the war, w^ien, after the surrender of John-

son's army, it returned to Indianapolis. Reaching that city on

the 6th of June, 1865, it was treated to a public reception and

received the congratulations of Gov. Morton. 'Four days later it

was discharged.
The Twentieth Battery, organized under Capt. Frank A. Rose,

left the State capital on the 17th of December, 1862, for the front,

and reported immediately at Henderson, Kentucky. Subsequently

Captain Rose resigned, and, in 1863, under Capt. Osborn, turned

over its guns to the 11th Indiana Battery, and was assigned to the

charge of siege guns at Nashville, Gov. Morton had the battery

supplied with new field pieces, and by the 5tli of October, 1863, it

was again in the field, where it won raanv honors under Sherman,
and continued to exercise a s^reat influence until its return on the

23d of June, 1865.

The Tw^enty first Battery recruited at Indianapolis, under the

direction of Captain "W. W. Andrew, left on the 9th of September,

1862, for Covino;ton, Kentucky, to aid in its defense a^-ainst the

advancing forces of Gen. Kirby Smith. It was engaged in numerous

military affairs and may be said to acquire many honors, although
its record is stained with the names ofseven deserters. The battery
was discharged on the 21st of June, 1865.

The Twenty-second Battery was mustered in at Indianapolis
on the 15th of December, 1862, under Capt, B. F. Denning, and

moved at once to the front. It took a very conspicuous part in the

pursuit of Morgan's Cavalry, and in many other affairs. It threw

the first shot into Atlanta, and lost its Captain, who was killed in

the skirmish line, on the 1st of July. While the list of casualties

numbers only 35, that of desertions numbers 37. This battery was

received with public honors on its return, the 25th of June, 1865,

and mustered out on the 7th of the same month.
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The Twenty-third Battery, recruited in October 1S62, and
mustered in on the 8th of November, under Gapt. I. H. Mjers, pro-
ceeded south, after havin<^ rendered very efficient services at home
in guarding the camps of rebel prisoners. In July, 1865, the battery
took an active part, under General Boyle's command, in routing
and capturing the raiders at Brandenburgh, and subsequently to

the close of the war performed very brilliant exploits, reaching

Indianapolis in June, 180.3. It was discharged on the 27th of that

month.

The Twenty-fourth Battery, under Capt. I. A. Simms, was
enrolled for service on the 29th of November, 1862; remained
at Indianapolis on duty until the 13thof March, 1863, when
it lett for the field. From its participation in the Cumberland
River campaign, to its last engagement at Columbia, Tennessee, it

aided materially in bringing victory to the Union ranks and made
for itself a widespread fame. Arriving at Indianapolis on the 28th

of July, it was publicly received, and in five days later disembodied.

The Twenty-fiftu Battery was recruited in September and Oc-

tober, ISO-J:, and mustered into service for one year, under Capt.
Frederick C. Sturm. December 13th, it reported at Nashville, and

took a prominent part in the defeat of Gen. Hood's army. Its

duties until July, 1865, were continuous, when it returned to

report for final discharge.
The Twenty-sixth Battery, or "Wilder's Battery," was re-

cruited under Capt. I. T. Wilder, of Greensburg, in May, 1861; but

was not mustered in as an artillery company. Incorporating itself

with a regiment then forming at Indianapolis it was mustered as

company "A," of the 17th Infantry, with Wilder as Lieutenant-

Colonel of the regiment. Subsequently, at Elk "Water, Virginia,
it was converted into the "First Independent Battery,'' and became

known as "
Rigby's Battery." Tlie record of this battery is as

brilliant as any won during the war. On every field it has won a

distinct reputation; it was well worthy the enthusiastic reception

given to it on its return to Indianapolis on the 11th and 12th of

July, 1865. During its term of service it was subject to many
transmutations; but in every phase of its brief history, areputation
for gallantry and patriotism was maintained which now forms a

living testimonial to its services to the public.

The total number of battles in the " War of the Rebellion "
in

which the patriotic citizens of the great and noble State of Indiana

were more or less engaged, was as follows:
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Locality. No. of Battles. Locality. Ho of Battles.

Virginia 90 Maryland 7
Tennessee 51 Texas 3

Georgia 41 South Carolina 2
Mississippi , . 24 Indian Territory.. 2
Arkansas 19 Pennsylvania..". 1

Kentucky 16 Ohio 1

Louisiina 1.5 Indiana 1
Missouri .... 9
North Carolina 8 Total 308

The regiments sent forth to the defense of the Republic in the

hour of its greatest peril, when a host of her own sons, blinded by-

some unholy infatuation, leaped to arms that they might trample

upon the libertv-giving principles of the nation, have been passed
in very brief review. The authorities chosen for the dates, names,
and figures are the records of the State, and the main sui)ject is

based upon the actions of those 267,000 gallant men of Indiana

"who rushed to arras in defense of all for which their fathers bled,

leaving their wives and children and homes in the guardianship of

a truly paternal Govern ment.

The relation of Indiana to the Republic was then established;

for when the population of the State, at the time her sons went

forth to participate in war for the maintenance of the Union, is

brought into comparison with all other States and countries, it will

be apparent that the sacrifices made by Indiana from lS61-'65

equal, if not actually exceed, the noblest of those recorded in the

history of ancient or modern times.

Unprepared for the terrible inundation of modern wickedness,

which threatened to deluge the country in a sea of blood and rob,

a people of their richest, their most prized inheritance, the State

rose above all precedent, and under the benign influence of patriot-

ism, guided b}' the well-directed zeal of a wise Governor and

Government, sent into the field an army that in numbers was

gigantic, and in moral and physical excellence never equaled
It is laid down in the official reports, furnished to the War De-

partment, that over 200,000 troops were specially organized to aid

in crushing the legions of the slave-holder; that no less than 50,000

militia were armed to defend the State, and that the large, but abso-

lutely necessary number of commissions issued was 17,114, All

this proves the scientific skill and military economy exercised by
the Governor, and brought to the aid of the people in a most terri-

ble emergency; for he, with some prophetic sense of the gravity of

the situation, saw that unless the greatest powers of ihe Union

were put forth to crush the least justifiable and most pernicious
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of all rebellions holding a place in the record of nations, the best

blood of the country would flow in a vain attempt to avert a catas-

trophe which, if prolon<^ed for many years, would result in at least

the moral and commercial ruin of the country.
The part which Indiana took in the war against the Rebellion is

one of which the citizens of the State may well be proud. In the

number of troops furnished, and in the amount of voluntary con-,

tributions rendered, Indiana, in proportion and wealth, stands

equal to any of her sister States.
" It is also a subject of gratitude

and thankfulness," said Gov. Morton, in his message to the Leo-is-
' 'OCT

iature,
"
that, while the number of troops furnished by Indiana-

alone in this great contest would have done credit to a first-class

nation, measured by the standard of previous wars, not a single-

battery or battalion from this State has brought reproach upon the

national flag, and no disaster of the war can be traced to any want

of fidelitN', courage or etficiency on the part of any Indiana officer.

The endurance, heroism, intelligence and skill of the officers and

soldiers sent forth by Indiana to do battle for the Union, have shed

a luster on our beloved State, of which any people might justly be

proud. Without claiming superiority over our loyal sister States,

it is but justice to the brave men who have represented us on

almost every battle-field of the war, to say that their deeds have

placed Indiana in the front rank of those heroic States which

rushed to the rescue of the imperiled Government of the nation.

The total number of troops furnished by the State for all terms of

service exceeds 200,000 men, much the greater portion of them

being for three years; and in addition thereto not less than 50,000

State militia have from time to time been called into active service

to repel rebel raids and defend our southern border from inva-

sion."

AFTER THE WAR,

In 1867 the Legislature comprised 91 Republicans and 59 Dem-

ocrats. Soon after the commencement of the session. Gov. Morton

resigned his ofiice in consequence of having been elected to the U.

S. Senate, and Lieut.-Gov. Conrad Baker assumed the Executive

chair during the remainder of Morton's term. This Legislature,

by a very decisive vote, ratified the 14th amendment to the Federal

Constitution, constituting all persons born in the country or sub-

ject to its jurisdiction, citizens of the United States and of the

State wherein they reside, without regard to race or color; reduc-
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ing the Congressional representation in any ^ate in which thera

should be a restriction of the exercise of the elective franchise on

account of race or color; disfranchising persons therein named
who shall have engaged in insurrection or rebellion against the

United States; and declaring that the validity of the public debt

of the United States authorized by law, shall not be questioned.
This Legislature also passed an act providing for the registry of

votes, the punishment of fraudulent practices at elections, and for

the apportionment and compensation of a Board of Registration;
this Board to consist, in each township, of two freeholders appointed

by the County Commissioners, together with the trustee of such

township; in cities the freeholders are to be appointed in each

ward by the city council. The measures of this law are very strict,

and are faithfully executed. No cries of fraud in elections are

heard in connection with Indiana.

This Legislature also divided the State into eleven Congressional
Districts and apportioned their representation; enacted a law for

the protection and indemnity of all othcers and soldiers of the

United States and soldiers of the Indiana Legion, for acts done in

the military service of the United States, and in the military ser-

vice of the State, and in enforcing the laws and preserving the

peace of the country; made delinite appropriations to the several

benevolent institutions of the State, and adopted several measures

for the encouragement of education, etc.

In 1S68, Indiana was the first in the field of national politics,

both the principal parties holding State conventions early in the

year. The Democrats nominated T. A. Hendricks for Governor,
and denounced in their platform the reconstruction policy of the

Hepublicaus; recommended that United States treasury notes be

substituted for national bank currency; denied that the General

Government had a right to interfere with the question of sufirage
in any of the States, and opposed negro suffrage, etc.

;
while the

Republicans nominated Conrad Baker for Governor, defended its

reconstruction policy, opposed a further contraction of the currenc}^
etc. The campaign was an exciting one, and Mr. Baker was

elected Governor by a majority of only 961. In the Presidential

election that soon followed the State gave Grant 9,572 more than

Seymour.

During 1868 Indiana presented claims to the Government for

about three and a half millions dollars for expenses incurred in the

war, and $1,958,917.94 was allowed. Also, this year, a legislative
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commission reported that $413,599.48 were allowed to parties suf-

fering loss by the Morgan raid.

Tliis year Governor Baker obtained a site for the House of

Refuge. (See a subsequent page.) The Soldiers' and Seamen' &

Home, near Knightstown, originally established by private enter-

prise and benevolence, and adopted by the Legislature of the

previous year, was in a good condition. Up to that date the insti-

tution had afforded relief and temporary subsistence to 400 men
who had been disabled in the war. A substantial brick building
had been built for the home, while the old buildings were used for

an orphans' department, in which were gathered 86 children of

deceased soldiers.

DIVORCE LAWS.

By some mistake or liberal design, the early statute laws of

Indiana on the subject of divorce were rather more loose than those

of most other States in this Union; and this subject had been a

matter of so much jest among the public, that in 1870 the Governor

recommended to the Legislature a reform in this direction, which

was pretty effectually carried out. Since that time divorces can

be granted only for the following causes: 1. Adultery. 2. Impo-

tency existing at the time of marriage. 3. Abandonment for two

years. 4. Cruel and inhuman treatment of one party by the other.

5. Habitual drunkenness of either party, or the failure of the hus-

band to make reasonable provision for the family. 6 The failure

of the husband to make reasonable provision for the family for a

period of two years. 7. The conviction of either party of an infamous

crime.



FINANCIAL.

Were it not for political government the pioneers would have got

along without money much longer than they did. The pressure of

governmental needs was somewhat in advance of the monetary
income of the first settlers, and the little taxation required to carry
on the governmeat seemed great and even oppressive, especially at

certain periods.

In November, 1821, Gov. Jennings convened the Legislature in

extra session to provide for the payment of interest on the State

debt and a part of the principal, amounting to $20,000. It was

thought that a sufficient amount would be realized in the notes of

the State bank and its branches, although they were considerably

depreciated Said the Governor: " It will be oppressive if the

State^ after the paper of this institution (State bank) was author-

ized to be circulated in revenue, should be prevented by any assign.

ment of the evidences of existing debt, from discharging at least

so much of that debt with the paper of the bank as will absorb the

collection's of the present year; especially when their notes, after

being made receivable by the agents of the State, became greatly

depreciated by great mismanagement on the part of the bank

itself. It ought not to be expected that a public loss to the State

should be avoided by resorting to any measures which would not

comport with correct views of public justice; nor should it be

anticipated that the treasury of the United States would ultimately

adopt measures to secure an uncertain debt which would inter-

fere with arrangements calculated to adjust the demand against the

State without producing any additional embarrassment."

The state of the public debt was indeed embarrassing, as the

bonds which had been executed in its behalf had been assigned.

The exciting cause of this proceeding consisted in the machinations

of unprincipled speculators. Whatever disposition the principal

bank may have made of the funds deposited by the United States,

the connection of interest between the steain-uiill company and the

bank, and the extraordinary accommodations, as well as their amount,
effected by arrangeinents of the steam-mill agency and some of

the officers of the bank, were among the principal causes which
(194)
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had prostrated the paper circulating medium of the State, so far as it

was dependent on the State bank and its branches. An abnormal
state of affairs like this very naturally produced a blind disburse-

ment of the fund to some extent, and this disbursement would be

called by almost every one an " unwise administration."

Durincr the first 16 years of this century, the belh'gerent condi-

tion of Europe called for a^jricultural supplies from America, and
the consequent high price of grain justified even the remote pio-
neers of Indiana in undertaking the tedious transportation of the

products of the soil which the times forced upon them. The large
disbursements made by the general Government among the peo-

ple naturally engendered a rage for speculation; numerous banks

with fictitious capital were established; immense issues of paper
were made; and the circulating medium of the country was in-

creased fourfold in the course of two or three years. This infla-

tion produced the consequences which always follow such a scheme,

namely, unfounded visions of wealth and splendor and the wild

investments which result in ruin to the many and wealth to the

iew. The year 1821 was consequently one of great financial panic,

and was the first experienced by the early settlers of the West.

In 1822 the new Governor, "William Hendricks, took a hopeful
view of the situation, referring particularly to the "agricultural
and social happiness of the State." The crops were abundant this

A^ear, immigration was setting in heavily and everything seemed to

have an upward look. But the customs of the white race still com-

pelling them to patronize European industi'ies, combined with the

remoteness ot the surplus produce of Indiana from European mar-

kets, constituted a serious drawback to the accumulation of wealth.

Such a state of things naturally changed the habits of the people
to some extent, at least for a short time, assimilating them to those

of more primitive tribes. This change of custom, however, was

not severe and protracted enough to change the intelligent and

social nature of the people, and they arose to their normal height

on the very first opportunity.
In 1822-'3, before speculation started up again, the surplus

money was invested mainly in domestic manufactories instead of

other and wilder commercial enterprises. Home manufactories

were what the people needed to make them more independent.

They not only gave employment to thousands whose services were

before that valueless, but also created a market for a great portion
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of the surplus produce of the farmers, A part of the surphis cap-

ital, however, was also sunk in internal improvements, some of

which were unsuccessful for a time, but eventually proved remu-

nerative.

Xuah Noble occupied the Executive chair of the State from 1S31

to 1837, commencing his duties amid peculiar embarrassments.

The crops of 1832 were short, Asiatic cholera came sweeping along
the Ohio and into the interior of the State, and the Black Hawk war

raged in the Northwest,—all these at once, and vet the work of

internal improvements was actually begun,

STATE BANK.

The State bank of Indiana was established by law January 28,

1834. The act of the Legislature, by its own terms, ceased to be a

law, January 1, 1857. At the time of its organization in 1834, its

outstanding circulation was $4,208,725, with a debt due to the insti-

tution, principally from citizens of the State, of $6,095,368. During
the years 1857-'58 the bank redeemed nearly its entire circulation,

providing for the redemption of all outsi^anding obligations; at this

time it had collected from most of its debtors the money which they
owed. The amounts of the State's interest in the stock of the bank

was $1,390,000, and the money thus invested was procured by the

issue offive per cent bonds, the last ofwhich wa^ payable July 1, 1866.

The nominal profits of the bank were $2,780,604.36. By the law

creating the sinking fund, that fund was appropriated, first, to pay
the principal and interest on the bonds; secondly, the expenses of

the Commissioners; and lastly the cause of common-school educa-

tion.

The stock in all the branches authorized was subscribed by indi-

viduals, and the installment paid as required by the charter. The

loan authorized for the payment on the stock allotted to the State,

amounting to $500,000, was obtained at a premium of 1.05 per

per cent, on five per cent, stock, making the sum of over $5,000 on

the amount borrowed. In 1836 we find that the State bank was

doing good service; agricultural products were abundant, and the

market was good; consequently the people were in the full enjoy-

ment of all the blessings of a free government.

By the year 1843 the State was experiencing the disasters and

embarassment consequent upon a system of over-banking, and its

natural progeny, over-trading and deceptive speculation. Such a

state of things tends to relax the hand of industry by creating false
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notions of wealth, and tempt to sudden acquisitions by means as delu-

sive in their results as they are contrary to a primary law of nature.

The people bei^ati more tlian ever to see the necessity of falling
back upon that branch of industry for wiiich Indiana, especially
at that time, was particularly fitted, namely, agriculture, as the

true and lasting source of substantial wealth.

Gov. Whitcomb, 18-13-'49, succeeded M-ell in maintaining the

credit of the State. Measures of compromise between the State

and its creditors were adopted by which, ultimately, the public

works, although incomplete, were given in payment for the claims

against the Government.

At the close of his term, Gov. Whitcomb was elected to the

Senate of the United States, and from December, 1848, to Decem-

ber, 1849, Lieut-Gov, Paris C. Dunning was acting Governor.

In 1851 a general banking law was adopted which gave a new

impetus to the commerce of the State, and opened the way for a

broader volume of general trade; but this law was the source of

many abuses; currency was expanded, a delusive idea of wealth

again prevailed, and as a consequence, a great deal of damaging

speculation was indulged in.

In 1857 the charter of the State bank expired, and the large

gains to the State in that institution were directed to the promotion
of common-school education.

WEALTH AND PROGRESS.

During the war of the Kebellion the financial condition of the

people was of course like that of the other Northern States generally.

1870 found the State in a very prosperous condition. October 31

of this year, the date of the fiscal report, there was a surplus of

8373,249 in the treasury. The receipts of the year amounted to

$3,605,639, and tlie disbursements to $2,943,600, leaving a balance

of $1,035,288. The total debt of the State in November, 1871, was

83.937,821.

At the present time the principal articles of export from the State

are flour and pork. Nearly all the wheat raised within the State

is manufactured into fiour within its limits, especially in the north-

ern part. The pork business is the leading one in the southern

part of the State.

When we take into consideration the vast extent of railroad lines

in this State, in connection with the agricultural and mineral

resources, both developed and undeveloped, as already noted, w^ecan
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see what a substantial foundation exists for the future welfare of

this great commonwealth. Almost every portion of the State is

coming up equally. The disposition to monopolize does not exist

to a greater degree than is desirable or necessary forliealthy compe-
tition. Speculators in flour, pork and other commodities appeared

during the war, but generally came to ruin at their own game.
The agricultural community here is an independent one, under-

standing its rights, and "
knowing them will maintain them."

Indiana is more a manufacturing State, also, than many imagine.

It pi'obably has the greatest wagon and carriage manufactory in the

world. In 1875 the total number of manufacturing establishments

in this State was 16,812; number of steam engines, 3,684, with a

total horse-power of 114,961; the total horse-power of water wheels,

38,614; number of hands employed in the manufactories, 86,402;

capital employed, is $117,462,161; wages paid, $35,461,987; cost of

material, $104,321,632; value of products, $301,304,271. These

figures are on an average about twice what they were only five years

previously, at which time they were about double what they were

ten years before that. In manufacturing enterprise, it is said that

Indiana, in proportion to her population, is considerably in advance

of Illinois and Michigan.
In 1870 the assessed valuation of the real estate in Indiana was

$460,120,974; of personal estate, $203,334,070; true valuation of

both, $1,268,180,543. According to the evidences of increase at

that time, the value of taxable property in this State must be double

the foregoing figures. This is utterl}'- astonishing, especially when

ws consider what a large matter it is to double the elements of a

large and wealthy State, compared with its increase in infancy.

The taxation for State purposes in 1870 amounted to $2,943,078;

for county purposes, $4,654,476; and for municipal purposes,

$3,193,577. The total county debt of Indiana in 1870 was $1,127,-

269, and the total debt of towns, cities, etc., was $2,523,934.

In the compilation of this statistical matter we have before us the

statistics of every element of progress in Indiana, in the U. S.

Census Reports; but as it would be really improper for us further

to burden these pages with tables or columns of large numbers, Ve
will conclude by remarking that if any one wishes further details in

these matters, he can readily find them in the Census Reports of

the Government in anv city or village in the country. Besides,

almost any one can obtain, free of charge, from his representative in
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Congress, all these and other public documents in which he may be

interested.

INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS.

This subject began to be agitated as early as 1818, during the

administration of Governor Jennings, who, as well as all the

Governors succeeding him to 1843, made it a special point in their

messages to the Legislature to urge the adoption of measures for

the construction of highways and canals and the improvement of

the navigation of rivers. Gov. Hendricks in 1822 specified as the

most important improvement the navigation of the Falls of the

Ohio, the Wabash and White rivers, and other streams, and the

construction of the National and other roads tlirouij:h the State.

In 1826 Governor Ray considered the construction of roads and

canals as a necessit}- to place the State on an
e(j[ual financial footing

with the older States East, and in 1829 he added: "This subject

can never grow irksome, since it must be the source of the bless-'

ings of civilized life. To secure its benefits is a duty enjoined upon
the Legislature by the obligations of the social compact."

In 1830 the people became much excited over the project of con-

necting the streams of the country by
" The National New York

& Mississippi railroad." The National road and the Michigan
and Ohio turnpike were enterprises in which the people and Legis-

lature of Lidiana were interested. The latter had already been the

cause of much bitter controversy, and its location was then the

subject of contention.

In 1832 the work of internal improvements fairly commenced,

despite the partial failure of the crops, the Black Hawk war and

the Asiatic cholera. Several war parties invaded the Western

settlements, exciting great alarm and some sniFering. This year

the canal commissioners completed the task assigned them and had

negotiated the canal bonds in New York city, to the amount of

$100,000, at a premium of 13^ per cent., on terms honorable to the

State and advantageous to the work. Before the close of tnis year

§5-1,000 were spent for the improvement of the Michigan road, and

$52,000 were realized from the sale of lands appropriated for its

construction. In 1832, 32 miles of the Wabash and Erie canal was

placed under contract and work commenced. A communication

was addressed to the Governor of Ohio, requesting him to call the

attention of the Legislature of that State to the subject of the

extension of the canal from the Indiana line through Ohio to tj^e
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Lake. In compliance with this request, Governor Lucas promptly
laid the subject before the Legislature of the State, and, in a spirit

of courtesy, resolutions were adopted by that body, stipulating that

if Ohio should ultimately decline to undertake the completion of

that portion of the work within her limits before the time fixed by
the act of Congress for the completion of the canal, she would, on

just and equitable terms, enable Indiana to avail herself of the bene-

fit of the lands granted, by authorizing her to sell them and invest

the proceeds in the stock of a company to be incorporated by Ohio;
and that she would give Indiana notice of her final determination

on or before January 1, 1838. The Legislature of Ohio also

authorized and invited the agent of the State of Indiana to select,

survey and set apart the lands lying within that State. In keeping
with this policy Governor INoble, in 1834, said: "With a view of

engaging in works of internal improvement, the propriety of

adopting a general plan or system, having reference to the several

portions of the State, and the connection of one with the other,

naturally suggests itself. ]^o work should be commenced but such

as would be of acknowledged public utility, and when completed
would form a branch of some general system. In view of this

object, the policy of organizing a Board of Public Works is again

respectfully suggested." The Governor also called favorable atten-

tion to the Lawrenceburg & Indianapolis railway, for which a

charter bad been granted.
In 1835 the Wabash & Erie canal was pushed rapidl}' forward.

The middle division, extending from the St. Joseph dam to the

forks of the Wabash, about 32 miles, was completed, for about

$232,000, including all repairs. Upon this portion of the line nav-

igation was opened on July 4, which day the citizens assembled
"
to witness the mingling of the waters of the St. Josepli with

those of the Wabash, uniting the waters of tlie northern chain of

lakes with those of the Gulf of Mexico in the South." On other

parts of the line the work progressed with speed, and the sale of

canal lands was unusually active

In 1S36 the first meeting of the State Board of Internal Im-

provement was convened and entered upon the discharge of its

numerous and responsible duties. Having assigned to each mem-
ber the direction and superintendence of a portion of the work,
the next duty to be performed preparatory to the various spheres of

active service, was that of procuring the requisite number of

engineers. A delegation was sent to the Eastern cities, but returned
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without engaging an Engineer-in-Cbief for the roads and railways,

and without the desired number for the subordinate station; but

after considerable delay the Board was fully organized and put in

operation. Under their management work on public improve-
ments was successful; the canal progressed steadily; the naviga-
tion of the middle division, from Fort Wayne to Huntington, was

uninterrupted; 16 miles of the line between Huntington and La

Fontaine creek were filled with water this year and made ready for

navigation ;
and the remaining 20 miles were completed, except a

portion of the locks; from La Fontaine creek to Logansport prog-
ress was made; the line from Georgetown to Lafaj'ette was placed

under contract; about 30 miles of the Whitewater canal, extending
from Lawrenceburg through the beautiful valley of the White-

water to Brookville, were also placed under contract, as also 23

miles of the Central canal, passing through Indianapolis, on which

\work was commenced; also about 20 miles of the southern divis-

ion of this work, extending from Evansville into the interior,

were also contracted for; and on the line of the Cross-Cut canal,

from Terre Haute to the intersection of the Central canal, near

the mouth of Eel river, a commencement was also made on all the

heavy sections. All this in 1836.

Early in this year a party of engineers was organized, and

directed to examine into the practicability of the Michigan &
Erie canal line, then proposed. The report of their operations

favored its expediency. A party of engineers was also fitted out,

who entered upon the field of service of the Madison & Lafayette

railroad, and contracts were let for its construction from Madison

to Yernon, on which work was vigorously commenced. Also, con-

tracts were let for grading and bridging the New Albany & Vin-

cennes road from the former point to Paoli, about 40 miles.

Other roads were also undertaken and surveyed, so that indeed a

stupendous system of internal improvement was undertaken, and

as Gov. Noble truly remarked, upon the issue of that vast enter-

prise the State of Indiana staked her fortune. She had gone too

far to retreat.

In 1837, when Gov. Wallace took the Executive chair, the

reaction consequent upon '-over work" by the State in the internal

improvement scheme began to be felt by the people. They feared

a State debt was being incurred from which they could never be

extricated; but the Governor did all he could throughout the term

of his administration to keep up the courage of the citizens. He
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told them that the astonisliing success so far, surpassed even the

hopes of the most sanguine, and that the flattering auspices of the

future were sufficient to dispel every doubt and quiet every fear.

Notwithstanding all his efforts, however, the construction of ])ub-

lic works continued to decline, and inhislast message he exclaimed:
" Never before—I speak it advisedly

—never before have you wit-

nessed a period in our local history that more urgently called for

the exercise of all the soundest and best attributes of grave and

patriotic legislators than the present.
* -^j *

'J'j^q

truth is—and it would be folly to conceal it—we have our hands

full—full to ovei'flowing; and therefore, to sustain ourselves, to

preserve the credit and character of the State unimpaired, and to

continue her hitherto unexampled march to wealth and distinction,

we have not an hour of time, nor a dollar of money, nor a hand

employed in labor, to squander and dissipate upon mere objects of

idleness, or taste, or amusement."

The State had borrowed $3,827,000 for internal improvement pur-

poses, of which $1,327,000 was for the Wabash & Erie canal and

the remainder for other works. The live per cent, interest on

debts—about $200,000—which the State had to pay, had become

burdensome, as her resources for this purpose were only two,

besides direct taxation, and they were small, namely, the interest

on the balances due for canal lands, and the proceeds of the third

installment of the surplus revenue, both amounting, in 1S38,

to about $-15,000.

In August, 1839, all work ceased on these improvements, with

one or two exceptions, and most of the contract's were surrendered

to the State. This was done accordinor to an act of the Le^jfislature

providing for the compensation of contractors by the issue of

treasury notes. In addition to this state of atfairs, the Legisla-

ture of 1839 had made no provision for the payment of interest on

the State debt incurred for internal improvements. Concerning
this situation Gov. Bigger, in 18-40, said that either to go ahead

with the works or to ai>andon them altogether would be equally
ruinous to the State, the implication being that the people should

wait a little while for a breathing spell and then take hold again.
Of course much individual indebtedness was created during the

progress of the work on internal improvement. When operations
ceased in 1839, and prices fell at the same time, the people were

left in a great measure without the means of commanding money
to pay their debts. This condition of private enterprise more than
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ever rendered direct taxation inexpedient. Hence it became the

policy of Gov. Bigger to provide the means of paying tlie interest

on the State debt without increasing the rate of taxation, and to

continue that portion of the public works that could be immedi-

ately completed, and from which the earliest returns could be

expected.
In ISiO the system embraced ten different works, the most im-

portant of which was the Wabash & Erie canal. The aggregate

length of the lines embraced in the system was 1,160 miles, and

of this only 140 miles had been completed. The amount expended
had reached the sum of $5,000,000, and it required at least $11:,000,-

000 to complete them. Although the crops of 184I were very

remunerative, this perquisite alone was not sufficient to raise the

State again up to the level of going ahead with her gigantic

works.

We should here state in detail the amount of work completed and

of money expended on the various works up to this time, 181:1,

which were as follows:

1. The Wabash & Erie canal, from the State line to Tippe-

canoe, 129 miles in length, completed and navigable for the whole

length, at a cost of $2,041,012. This sum includes the cost of the

steamboat lock afterward completed at Delphi.

2. The extension of the Wabash & Erie canal from the mouth

of the Tippecanoe to Terre Haute, over 104 miles. The estimated

cost of this work was $1,500,000; and the amount expeiided for the

same $408,855. The navigation was at this period opened as far

down as Lafayette, and a part of the work done in the neighbor-

hood of Covington.
3. The cross-cut canal from Terre Haute to Central canal,

49 miles in length; estimated cost, $718,672; amount expended,

$420,679; and at this time no part of the course was navigable.

4. The White Water canal, from Lawrenceburg to the mouth

of Nettle creek, 76^ miles; estimated cost, $1,675,738; amount

expended to that date, $1,099,867; and 31 miles of the work

was navigable, extending from the Ohio river to Brookville.

5. The Central canal, from the Wabash & Erie canal, to

Indianapolis, including the feeder bend at Muncietown, 124 miles

in length; total estimated cost, $2,299,853; amount expended,

$568,046 ; eight miles completed at that date, and other portions

nearly done.
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6. Central canal, from Indianapolis to Evansville on the Ohio

river, 194 tnilesin length; total estimated cost, $3,532,394; amount

expended, $831,302, 19 miles of which was completed at that date,

at the southern end, and 16 miles, extending south from Indiauao-

olis, were nearly completed,
7. Erie & Michigan canal, 182 miles in length; estimated cost,

$2,024,823; amount expended, §156,394. No part of this work
finished.

8. The Madison & Indianapolis railroad, over 85 miles in

length; total estimated cost, $2,046,600; amount expended, $1,493,-

013. Road finished and in operation for about 28 miles; grad-

ing nearly finished for 27 miles in addition, extending to Eden-

burg:.

9. Indianapolis & Lafayette turnpike road, 73 miles in length;
total estimated cost, §593, 737; amount expended, $72,118. The

bridging and most of the grading was done on 27 miles, from

Crawfordsville to Lafayette.

10. New Albany & Vincennes turnpike road, 105 miles in

length; estimated cost, $1,127,295; amount expended, $654,411.

Forty-one miles graded and macadamized, extending from New
Albany to Paoli, and 27 miles in addition partly graded.

11. JefFersonville & Crawfordsville road, over 164 miles long;
total estimated cost, $1,651,800; amount expended, $372,737.

Forty-five rniles were partly graded and bridged, extending from

Jeffersonville to Salem, and from Greencastle north.

12. Improvement of the Wabash rapids, undertaken jointly by
Indiana and Illinois; estimated cost to Indiana, $102,500; amount

expended by Indiana, $9,539,

Grand totals: Length of roads and canals, 1,289 miles, only
281 of which have been finished; estimated cost of all the works,

$19,914,424; amount expended, $8,164,528. The State debt at

this time amounted to $18,469,146. The two principal causes

which aggravated the embarrassment of the State at this juncture

were, first, paying most of the interest out of the money borrowed,

and, secondly, selling bonds on credit. The first error subjected
the State to the payment of compound interest, and the people,
not feeling the pressure of taxes to discharge the interest, natu-

rally became inattentive to the public policy pursued. Postpone-
ment of the payment of interest is demoralizing in every way.

During this period the State was held up in an unpleasant manner
before the gaze of the world; but be it to the credit of this great
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and glorious State, she would not repudiate, as many other States

and municipalities have done.

By the year 1850, the so-called "internal improvement" system

having Ijeen ahandoned, private capital and ambition pushed for-

ward various "public works." During this year about 400 miles

of plank road were completed, at a cost of $1,200 to $1,500 per

mile, and about 1,200 miles more were surveyed and in ]irogress.

There were in the State at this time 212 miles of railroad in suc-

cessful operation, of wliich 12-1 were completed this year. More

than 1,000 miles of railroad were surveyed and in progress.

An attemi)t was made during the session of the Legislature in

1869 to re-burden the State with the old canal debt, and the matter

was considerably agitated in the canvass of 1870. The sul)ject of the

Wabash & Erie canal was lightly touched in the Republican plat-

form, occasioning considerable discussion, which probably had

some eifect on the election in the fall. That election resulted in

an average majority in the State of about 2,864 for the Democracy.
It being claimed that the Legislature had no authority under the

constitution to tax the people for the purpose of aiding in the con-

struction of railroads, the Supreme Court, in Anril, 1S71, decided

adversely to such a claim.

GEOLOGY.

In 1869 the development of mineral resources in the State

attracted considerable attention. Hich mines of iron and coal were

discovered, as also fine quarries of building stone. The Vineennes

railroad passed through some of the richest portions of the mineral

region, the engineers of which had accurately determined the

quality of richness of the ores. Near Brooklyn, about 20 miles

from Indianapolis, is a fine formation of sandstone, yielding good
material for buildings in the city; indeed, it is considered the best

building stone in the State. The limestone formation at Gosport,

continuing 12 miles from that point, is of great variety, and

includes the finest and most durable building stone in the world.

Portions of it are susceptible only to the chisel; other portions are

soft and can be worked with the ordinary tools. At the end of this

limestone formation there commences a sandstone series of strata

which extends seven miles farther, to a point about 60 miles from

Indianapolis. Here an extensive coal bed is reached consisting of

seven distinct veins. The first is about two feet thick, the next

three feet, another four feet, and the others of various thicknesses.
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These beds are all easily worked, having a natural drain, and they

yield heavy profits. In the whole of the southwestern part of the

State and for 300 miles up the Wabash, coal exists in good quality

and abundance.

The scholars, statesmen and philanthropists of Indiana work-

ed hard and long for the appointuient of a State Geologist, with

sufficient support to enable him to make a thorough geological

survey of the State. A partial survey was made as early as lS37-'8,

by David Dale Owen, State Geologist, but nothing more was done

until 1869, when Prof. Edward T. Cox was appointed State Geolo-

gist. For 20 years previous to this date the Governors urged and

insisted in all their messages that a thorough survey should be

made, but almost, if not quite, in vain. In 1S52, Dr. Ryland T.

Brown delivered an able address on this subject before the Legis-

lature, showing how much coal, iron, building stone, etc., there

were probably; in the State, but the exact localities and qualities

not ascertained, and how millions of money ,could be saved to the

State by the expenditure of a few thousand dollars; but "they
answered the Doctor in the negative. It must have been because

they hadn't time to pass the bill. They were very busy. They had

to pass all sorts of regulations concer-ning the negro. They had to

protect a good many white people from marrying negroes. And as

they didn't need any labor in the State, if it was '

colored,' they

had to make regulations to shut out all of that kind of labor, and

to take steps to put out all that unfortunatelj^ got in, and they didn't

have time to consider the scheme proposed by the white people"
—

W. W. Clayton.
In 1853, the State Board of Agriculture employed Dr. Brown to

make a partial examination of the geology of the State, at a salary

of $500 a year, and to this Board the credit is due for the final

success of the philanthropists, who in 1869 had the pleasure of

witnessing the passage of a Legislative act " to provide for a Depart-

ment of Geoloffv and Natural Science, in connection with the State

Board of Agriculture." Under this act Governor Baker immedi-

ately appointed Prof. Edward T. Cox the State Geologist, who has

made an able and exhaustive report of the agricultural, mineral

and manufacturing resources of this State, world-wide in its celeb-

rity, and a work of which the people of Indiana may be very

proud. We can scarcely give even the substance of his report in a

work like this, because it is of necessity deeply scientific and made

up entirely of local detail.
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COAL.

The coal measures, says Prof. E. T. Cox, cov^er an area of about

6,500 square miles, in the southwestern part of the State, and

extend from Warren county on the north to the Ohio riv^er on the

south, a distance of about 150 miles. This area comprises the fol-

lowing counties:Warren, Fountain, Parke, Vermillion, Yigo, Clay,

Sullivan, Greene, Knox, Daviess, Martin, Gibson, Pike, Dubois,

Yanderburg, Warrick, Spencer, Perry and a small part of Crawford,

Monroe, Putnam and Montgomery.
This coal is all bituminous, but is divisible into three well-marked

varieties: caking-coal, non-caking-coal or block coal and cannel

coal. The total depth of the seams or measures is from 600 to 800

feet, with 12 to 14 distinct seams of coal; but these are not all to

be found throughout the area; the seams range from one foot to

eleven feet in thickness. The caking coal prevails in the western

portion of the area described, and has from three to four workable

seams, ranging from three and a half to eleven feet in thickness.

At most of the places where these are worked the coal is mined by

adits driven in on the face of the ridges, and the deepest shafts in

the State are less than 300 feet, the average depth for successful

mining not being over 75 feet. This is a bright, black, sometimes

glossy, coal, makes good coke and contains a very large percentage
of pure illuminating gas. One pound will yield about 4|- cubic feet

of gas, with a power equal to 15 standard sperm candles. The

average calculated calorific power of the caking coals is 7,745 heat

nnits, pure carbon being 8,080. Both in the northern and southern

portions of the field, the caking coals present similar good qualities,

and are a great source of private and public wealth.

The block coal prevails in the eastern part of the field and has an

area of about 450 square miles. This is excellent, in its raw state,

for making pig iron. It is indeed peculiarly fitted for metal-

lurgical purposes. It has a laminated structure with carbonaceous

matter, like charcoal, between the lamina, with slaty cleavage, and

it rings under the stroke of the hammer. It is
"
free-burning,"

makes an open fire, and without caking, swelling, scaflbldingin the

furnace or changing form, burns like hickory wood until it is con-

sumed to a white ash and leaves no clinkers. It is likewise valuable

for generating steam and for household uses. Many of the principal

railway lines in the State are using it in preference to any other

coal, as it does not burn out the fire-boxes, and gives as little trouble

as wood.
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There are eiglit distinct searas of block coal in this zone, three of

which are workable, having an average thickness of four feet. In

some places this coal is mined by adits, but generally from shafts,

40 to 80 feet deep. The seams are crossed by cleavage lines, and

the coal is usually rained without powder, and may be taken out in

blocks weiirhing a ton or more. When entries or rooms are driven

angling across the cleavage lines, the walls of the mine present a

zigzag, notched appearance resembling a Virginia worm fence.

In 1S71 there were about 24 block coai mines in operation, and
about 1,500 tons were mined daily. Since that time this industry
has vastly increased. This coal consists of 81^ to 83|- percent, of

carbon, and not quite three fourths of one per cent, of sulphur.
Calculated calorific power equal to 8,283 heat units. This coal also

is equally good both in the northern and southern parts of the field.

The great Indiana coal field is within 150 miles of Chicago or

Michigan City, by raih'oad, from which ports the Lake Superior

specular and red hematite ores are landed from vessels that are able

to run in a direct course from the ore banks. Considering the

proximity of the vast quantities of iron in Michigan and Missouri

one can readily see what a glorious future awaits Indiana in respect
to manufactories.

Of the cannel coal, one of the finest seams to be found in the

countr}' is in Daviess county, this State. Here it is three and a

half feet thick, underlaid by one and a half feet of a beautiful, jet-

black caking coal. There is no cla}', shale or other foreign matter

intervening, and fragments of the caking coal are often found

adhering to the cannel. There is no gradual change from one to

the other, and the character of each is homogeneous throughout.
The cannel coal makes a delightful fire in open grates, and does

not pop and throw off scales into the room, as is usual with this

kind of coal. This coal is well adapted to the manufacture of

illuminating gas, in respect to both quantity and high illuminating

power. One ton of 2,000 pounds of this coal yields 10,400 feet of

gas, while the best Pennsylvania coal yields but 8,680 cubic feet.

This gas has an illuminating power of 25 candles, while the best

Pennsylvania coal gas has that of only 17 candles.

Cannel coal is also found in great abundance in Perry, Greene,

Parke and Fountain counties, where its commercial value has already

been demonstrated.

^Numerous deposits of bog iron ore are found in the northern part

of the State, and clay iron-stones and impure carbonates and brown
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oxides are found scattered in the vicinity of the coal field. In some

places the beds are quite thick and of considerable commercial

value.

An abundaiice of excellent lime is also found in Indiana, espe-

cially in Huntington county, where many large kilns are kept in

profitable operation.

AGRICULTURAL.

In 1852 the Legislature passed an act authorizing the organization

of county and district agricultural societies, and also establishing a

State Board, the provisions of which act are substantially as follows:

1. Thirty or more persons in any one or two counties organizing
into a society for the improvement ofagriculture, adopting a consti-

tution and by-laws agreeable to the regulations prescribed by the

State Board, and appointing the proper officers and raising a sum
of $50 for its own treasury, shall be entitled to the same amount

from the fund arising from show licenses in their respective

counties.

2. These societies shall offer annual premiums for improvement
of soils, tillage, crops, manures, productions, stock, articles of

domestic industry, and such other articles, productions and improve-
ments as they may deem proper; they shall encourage, by grant

of rewards, agricultural and household manufacturing interests, and

so regulate the premiums that small farmers will have equal

opportunity with the large; and they shall pay special attention to

cost and profit of the inventions and improvements, requiring an

exact, detailed statement of the processes competing for rewards.

3. They shall publish in a newspaper annually their list of

awards and an abstract of their treasurers' accounts, and they shall

report in full to the State Board their proceedings. Failing to do

the latter they shall receive no payment from their county funds.

STATE BOARD OF AGRICULTURE.

The act of Feb. 17, 1852, also established a State Board of Agri-

culture, with perpetual succession; its annual meetings to be held

at Indianapolis on the first Thursday after the first Monday in

January, when the reports of the county societies are to be received

and agricultural interests discussed and determined upon; it shall

make an annual report to the Legislature of receipts, expenses,

proceedings, etc., of its own meeting as well as of those of the local
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societies; it shall hold State fairs, at such times and places as they

may deem proper; may hold two meetings a year, certifying to the

State Auditor their expenses, who shall draw his warrant upon the

Treasurer for the same.

In 1861 the State Board adopted certain rules, embracing ten

sections, for the government of local societies, but in 1868 they
were found inexpedient and abandoned. It adopted a resolution

admittino: delegates from the local societies.

THE EXPOSITION.

As the Board found great difficulty in doing justice to exhibitors

without an adequate building, the members went earnestly to work

in the fall of 1872 to get up an interest in the matter. They

appointed a committee of five to confer with the Councilor citizens

of Indianapolis as to the best mode to be devised for a more

thorough and complete exhibition of the industries of the State.

The result of the conference was that the time had arrived for a

regular "exposition," like that of the older States. At the Janu-

ary meeting in 1873, Hon. Thomas Dowling, of Terre Haute,

reported for the committee that they found a general interest in

this enterprise, not only at the capital, but also throughout the

State. A sub-committee was appointed who devised plans and

S])ecifications for the necessary structure, taking lessons mainly
from the Kentucky Exposition building at Louisville. All the

members of the State Board were in favor of proceeding with the

building except Mr. Poole, who feared that, as the interest of the

two enterprises were somewhat conflicting, and the Exposition being
the more exciting show, it would swallow up the State and county
fairs.

The Exposition was opened Sept. 10, 1873, when Hon. John

Sutherland, President of the Board, the Mayor of Indianapolis,

Senator Morton and Gov. Hendricks delivered addresses. Senator

Morton took the high ground that tlie money spent for an exposi-

tion is spent as strictly for educational purposes as that which goes

directly into the common school. The exposition is not a mere

show, to be idly gazed upon, but an industrial school where one

should study and learn. He thought that Indiana had less untill-

able land than any other State in the Union; 'twas as rich as any
and yielded a greater variety of products; and that Indiana was

the most prosperous agricultural community in the United States.



. HISTORY OF INDIANA, 211

The State had nearly 3,700 miles of railroad, not counting side-

track, with 400 miles more under contract for building. In 15

or IS months one can go from Indianapolis to every county in

the State by railroad. Indiana has 6,500 square miles of coal field,

450 of wliicli contain block coal, the best in the United States for

manufacturing purposes.
On the subject of cheap transportation, be said: "

By the census

of 1870, Pennsylvania had, of domestic animals of all kinds, 4,006,-

589, and Indiana, 4,511,094. Pennsylvania had grain to the amount
of 60,460,000 bushels, while Indiana had 79.350,454. The value of

the farm products of Pennsylvania was estimated to be $183,946,-

000; those of Indiana, $122,914,000. Thus you see that while

Indiana had 505,000 head of live stock more, and 19,000,000

bushels of grain more than Pennsylvania, yet the products of Penn-

sylvania are estimated at $183,940,000, on account of her greater

proximity to market, while those of Indiana are estimated at only

$122,914,000. Thus you can understand the importance of cheap

transportation to Indiana.

"Let us see how the question of transportation affects us on the

other hand, with reference to the manufacturer of Bessemer steel.

Of the 174,000 tons of iron ore used in the blast furnaces of Pitts-

burg last year, 84,000 tons came from Lake Superior, 64,000 tons

from Iron Mountain, Missouri, 20,000 tons from Lake Champlain,
and less than 5,000 tons from the home mines of Pennsylvania.

They cannot manufacture their iron with the coal they have in

Pennsylvania without coking it. We have coal in Indiana with

w^liich we can, in its i*aw state, make the best of iron; while we are

250 miles nearer Lake Superior thaii Pittsburg, and 430 miles

nearer to Iron Mountain. So that the question of trans])ortation

determines the fact that Indiana must become the great center for

the manufacture of Bessemer steel."

"What we want in this country is diversified labor.''

The grand hall of the Exposition buildings is on elevated ground
at the head of Alabama street, and commands a fine view of the

city. The structure is of brick, 308 feet long by 150 in width, and

two stories high. Its elevated galleries extend quite around the

building, under the roof, thus affording visitors an opportunity to

secure the most commanding view to be had in the city. The

lower floor of the grand hall is occupied by the mechanical, geologi-

cal and miscellaneous departments, and by the offices of the Board,

which extend along the entire front. The second floor, which is
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approached by three wide stairways, accommodates the fine art,

musical and other departments of light mechanics, and is brilliantly

lighted by windows and skylights. But as we are here entering

the description of a subject magnificent to behold, we enter a

description too vast to complete, and we may as well stop here as

anywhere.
The Presidents of the State Fairs have been: Gov. J. A. Wright,

1852-'4; Gen. Jos. Orr, 1855; Dr. A. C. Stevenson, lS56-'8; G. D.

"Wagner; 1859-GO; D. P. Ilolloway, ISGl; Jas. D. AVilliams, 1862,

1870-'l; A. D. llamrick, 18G3, lSGT-'9; Stearns Fisher, lS61-'6;

John Sutherland, 1872-'4; Wm. Grim, 1875. Secretaries: John B.

Dillon, 1852-'3, 1855, 185S-'9; Ignatius Brown, 185G-7; W.T. Den-

nis, 1854, 18G0-'l; WME. Loomis, 1862-'6; A. J. Holmes, 18G7-'9;

Joseph Poole, 1870-'l
;
Alex. Heron, lS72-'5. Place of fair, Indian-

apolis every year except: Lafayette, 1853; Madison, 1851; iSfew

Albany, 1859,- Fort Wayne, 1865; and Terre Haute, 1867. In

1861 there was no fair. The gate and entry receipts increased from

$4,651 in 1852 to $45,330 in 1874.

On the opening of the Exposition, Oct. 7
, 1874, addresses were

delivered by the President of the Board, Hon. John Sutherland,

and by Govs. Hendricks, Bigler and Pollock. Yvon's celebrated

painting, the " Great Republic," was unveiled with great ceremony,
and many distinguished guests were present to witness it.

The exhibition of 1875 showed that the plate glass from the

southern part of the State was equal to the finest French plate; that

the force-blowers made in the eastern part of the State was of a

world-wide reputation; that the State has within its bounds the

largest wagon manufactory in the world; that in other parts of the

State there were all sorts and sizes of manufactories, including roll-

ing mills and blast furnaces, and in the western part coal was mined

and shipped at the rate of 2,500 tons a day from one vicinity; and

many other facts, which " would astonish the citizens of Indiana

themselves even more than the rest of the world."

INDIANA HORTICULTURAL SOCIETY.

This society was orrjanized in 1842, thus taking the lead in the

West. At this time Henry Ward Beecher was a resident of Indian-

apolis, engaged not 3nly as a minister but also as editor of the

Indiana Fanner and Gardener, and his influence was very exten-

sive in the interests of horticulture, floriculture and farming.

Proniinent among his pioneer co-laborers were Judge Coburn,
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Aaron Aldridge, Capt. James Sigarson, D. Y. Culley, Eeuben

Kagan, Stephen Hampton, Cornelius Ratliff, Joshua Lindley,
Abner Pope and many others. In the autumn of this year the

society held an exhibition, probably the first in the State, if not

in the West, in the ball of the new State house. The only pre-
mium offered was a set of silver teaspoons for the best seedling

apj)le, which was wonin- Reuben Ragan, of Putnam county, for

an apple christened on this occasiou the " Osceola."

The society gave great encouragement to- the introduction of

new varieties of fruit, especially of the pear, as the soil and cli-

mate of Indiana were well adapted to this fruit. But the bright
horizon which seemed to be at this time looming up all around the

field of the young society's operations was suddenly and thoroughly
darkened by the swarm of noxious insects, diseases, blasts of win-

ter and the great distance to market. The prospects of the cause

scarcely justified a continuation of the expense of assembling from
remote parts of the State, and the meetings of the society therefore

soon dwindled away until the organization itself became quite
extinct.

But when, in 1852 and afterward, railroads began to traverse the

State in all directions, the Legislature provided for the organization
of a State Board of Agriculture, whose scope was not only agri-

culture but also horticulture and the mechanic and household arts.

The rapid growth of the State soon necessitated a differentiation of

this body, and in the autumn of 1860, at Indianapolis, there was

organized the

INDIANA POMOLOGICAL SOCIETY.

October 18, Reuben Ragan was elected President and Wm H.

Loomis, of Marion county, Secretary. The constitution adopted

provided for biennial meetings in January, at Indianapolis. At
the first regular meeting, Jan. 9, 1861, a committee-man for each

congressional district was appointed, all of them together to be

known as the " State Fruit Committee," and twentj'-five members
were enrolled durinor this session. At the reojular meetino: in 1863

the constitution was so amended as to provide for annual sessions,

and the address of the newly elected President, Hon. I. G. D. Nel-

son, of Allen county, urged the establishment of an agricultural

college. He continued in the good cause until his work was

crowned with success.
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In 1S64 there was but little done on account of the exhaust-

ive demands of the great war; and the descent of niereury 60° in

eighteen hours did so ranch mischief as to increase the discourage-
ment to the verge of despair. The title of the society was at this

meeting, Jan., 1864 changed to that of the Indiana Horticultural

Society.

The first several meetings of the society were mostly devoted to

revision of fruit lists; and although the good work, from its vast-

ness and complication, became somewhat monotonous, it has been

no exception in this respect to the law that all the greatest and

most productive labors of mankind require perseverance and toil.

In 186G, George M. Beeler, who bad so indefatigably served as

secretary for several years, saw himself hastening to his grave, and

showed his love for the cause of fruit culture by bequeathing to

the society the sum of $1,000. This year also the State Superin-

tendent of Public Instruction was induced to take a copy of the

Societ3''s transactions for each of the township libraries in the State,

and this enabled the Society to bind its volume of proceedings in

a substantial manner.

At the meeting in 1867 many valuable and interesting papers
were presented, the office of corresponding secretary was created,

and the subject of Legislative aid was discussed. The State Board

of Agriculture placed the management of the horticultural depart-
ment of the State fair in the care of the Society.

The report for 1868 shows for the first time a balance on hand,
after paying expenses, the balance being S61.55. Up to tliis time

the Society had to take care of itself,
—

meeting current expenses, do-

ing its own printing and binding, "boarding and clothing itself,"

and dift'using annually an amount of knowledge utterly incalcu-

lable. During the year called meetings were held at Salem, in the

peach and grape season, and evenings during the State fair, which

was held inTerre Haute the previous fall. The State now assumed

the cost of printing and binding, but the volume of transactions

was not quite so valuable as that of the former year.

In 1870 S160 was given to this Society by the State Board of

Agriculture, to be distributed as prizes for essays, which object

was faithfully carried out. The practice has since then been con-

tinued.

In 1871 the Horticultural Societv brought out the best volume

of papers and proceedings it ever has had published.
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In 1S72 the office of corresponding secretary was discontinued;
the appropriation by the State Board of Agriculture diverted to

the payment of premiums on small fruits given at a show held the

previous summer; results of the exhibition not entirely satisfac-

torv.

In 1873 the State officials refused to publish the discussions of

the members of the Horticultural Society, and the Legislature

appropriated $500 for the purpose for each of the ensuing two

years.

In 1875 the Legislature enacted a law requiring that one of the

trustees of Purdue University shall be selected by the Horticultu-

ral Society.

The aggregate annual membership of this society from its organ-
ization in 1860 to 1875 was 1,225.

EDUCATION.

The subject of education has been referred to in almost every

gubernatorial message from the organization of the Territory to

the present time. It is indeed the most favorite enterprise of the

Hoosier State. In the first survey of Western lands, Congress set

apart a section of land in every township, generally the 16th, for

school purposes, the disposition of the land to be in hands of the

residents of the respective townships. Besides this, to this State

were given two entire townships for the use of a State Seminary,
to be under the control of the Legislature. Also, the State con-

stitution provides that all fines for the breach of law and all com-

mutations for militia service be appropriated to the use of county
seminaries. In 1825 the common-school lands amounted to

680,207 acres, estimated at $2 an acre, and valued therefore at

$1,216,Oil. At this time the seminary at Bloomington, supported
in part by one of these township grants, was very flourishing. The
common schools, however, were in rather a poor condition.

PUBLIC SCHOOLS.

In 1852 the free-school system was fully established, which has

resulted in placing Indiana in the lead of this great nation. Al-

though this is a pleasant subject, it is a very large one to treat in

a condensed notice, as this has to be.

The free-school system of Indiana first became practically oper-

ative the first Monday of April, 1853, when the township trustees
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for school purposes were elected through the State. The law com-

mitted to them the charge of all the educational affairs in their

respective townships. As it was feared by the opponents of the

law that it would not be possible to select men in all the town-

ships capable of executing the school laws satisfactorily, the

people were thereby awakened to the necessity of electing their

v^ery best men; and although, of course, man}" blunders have been

made by trustees, the operation of the law has tended to elevate the

adult population as well as the youth; and Indiana still adheres to

the policy of appointing its best men to educational positions.

The result is a grand surprise to all old fogies, who indeed scarcely
dare to appear such any longer.

To instruct the people in the new law and set the educational

machinery going, a pamphlet of over 60 pages, embracing the law,

with notes and explanations, was issued from the office of a super-

intendent of public instruction, and distributed freely throughout
the State, The first duty of the Board of Trustees was to establish

and conveniently locate a sufficient number of schools for the edu-

cation of all the children of their township. But where were the

school-houses, and what were they? Previously they had been

erected by single districts, but under this law districts were abol-

ished, their lines obliterated, and houses previously built by dis-

tricts became the property of the township, and all the houses were

to be built at the expense of the township by an appropriation of

township funds by the trustees. In some townships there was not

a single school-house of any kind, and in others there were a few

old, leaky, dilapidated log cabins, wholly unfit for use even in sum-

mer, and in " winter worse than nothing." Before the people could

be tolerably accommodated with schools at least 3,500 school-houses

had to be erected in the State.

By a general law, enacted in conformity to the constitution of

1852, each township was made a municipal corporation, and every
voter in the township a member of the corporation; the Board of

Trustees constituted the township legislature as well as the execu-

tive body, the whole body of voters, however, exercising direct con-

trol through frequent meetings called by the trustees. Special

taxes and every other matter of importance were directly voted

UDon.

Some tax-payers, who were opposed to special townships' taxes,

retarded the progress of schools by refusing to pay their assess-

ment. Contracts for building school-houses were given up, houses
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half finished were abandoned, and in many townships all school

operations were suspended. In some of them, indeed, a rumor was
circulated by the enemies of the law that the entire school law from

beginning to end had been declared by the Supreme Court uncon-

stitutional and void; and the Trustees, believing this, actually dis-

missed their schools and considered themselves out of office. Hon.
"W. C. Larrabee, the (first) Superintendent of Public Instruction,

corrected this error as soon as possible.

But while the voting of special taxes was doubted on a constitu-

tional point, it became evident that it was weak in a practical point;
for in many townships the opponents of the system voted down every

proposition for the erection of school-houses.

Another serious obstacle was the great deficiencj in the number
of qualified teachers. To meet the newly created want, the law

authorized the appointment of deputies in each county to examine

and license persons to teach, leaving it in their judgment to lower

the standard of qualification sufficiently to enable them to license

as many as were needed to supply all the schools. It was therefore

found necessary to employ many
"
unqualified

"
teachers, especially

in the remote rural districts. But the progress of the times

enabled the Legislature of 1853 to erect a standard of qualifica-

tion and give to tlie county commissioners the authority to license

teachers; and in order to supply every school with a teacher, while

there might not be a sufficient number of properly qualified teach-

ers, the commissioners were authorized to grant temporary licenses

to take charge of particular schools not needing a high giade of

teachers.

In 1851: the av^ailable common-school fund consisted of the con-

gressional township fund, the surplus revenue fund, the saline

lund, the bank tax fund and miscellaneous fund, amounting in all

to $2,460,000. This amount, from many sources, was subsequently
increased to a very great extent. The common-school fund was

intrusted to the several counties of the State, which were held

responsible for the preservation thereof and for the payment of the

annual interest thereon. The fund was manao:ed bv the auditors

and treasurers of the several counties, for which these officers were

allowed one-tenth of the income. It was loaned out to the citizens

of the county in sums not exceeding $300, on real estate security.

The common-school fund was thus consolidated and the proceeds

equally distributed each year to all the townships, cities and towns
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of the State, in proportion to the number of children. This phase
of the law met with considerable opposition in 1854.

The provisions of the law for the establishment of township
libraries was promptly carried into effect, and nnich time, labor

and thought were devoted to the selection of books, special atten-

tion being paid to historical works.

The greatest need in 1854 was for qualified teachers; but never-

theless tiie progress of public education during this and following

years was very great. School-houses were erected, many of them

being fine structures, well furnished, and the libraries were consid-

erably enlarged.

The city school system of Indiana received a heavy set-back in

1858, by a decision of the Supreme Court of the State, that the

law authorizing cities and townships to levy a tax additional to the

State tax was not in conformity with that clause in the Constitu-

tion which required uniformity in taxation. The schools were

stopped for want of adequate funds. For a few weeks in each year
thereafter the feeble " uniform "

supply from the State fund en-

abled the people to open the schools, but considering the returns

the public realizes for so small an outlay in educational matters,
this proved more expensive than ever. Private schools increased,

but the attendance was small. Thus the interests of popular edu-

cation languished for years. ,But since the revival of the free

schools, the State fund has grown to vast proportions, and the

schools of this intelligent and enterprising commonwealth compare
favorably with those of any other portion of the United States.

There is no occasion to present all the statistics of school prog-
ress in this State irom the first to the present time, but some

interest will be taken in the latest statistics, which we take from the

9th Biennial Report (for ]877-'8) by the State Superintendent of

Public Instruction, Hon. James H. Smart. This report, by the

way, is a volume of 480 octavo pages, and is free to all who desire

a copy.
The rapid, substantia] and permanent increase which Indiana

enjoys in her school interests is thus set forth in the above report.
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The increase of school population daring the past ten years has

been as follows:

Total in 1868, 592,865.
Increase for year ending Increase for year ending

Sept.l,18G!) 17,609 May 1, 1874 1.3,923
"

1,1870 9.063 "'1,1875 13,372"
1,1871 3,101

"
1,1876 11,494"

1,1872 8.S11 "
1,1877 15,476

May 1, 1873 (8 months) 8,903
" 1,1878 4,447

Total, 1878 .699,153

No. of white males 354,271 ; females 333,033 687,304
" "colored" 5,937;

"
5,912 11,849

699,153

Twenty-nine per cent, of the above are in the 49 cities and 212

incorporated towns, and 71 per cent, in the 1,011 townships.
The number of white males enrolled in the schools in 1878 was

267,315, and of white fema'es, 237,739; total, SOojOo-l; of colored

males, 3,794; females, 3,087; total, 7,481; grand total, 512,535.

Tlie average number enrolled in each district varies from 51 to 56,

and the average daily attendance from 32 to 35; but many children

reported as absent attend parochial or private schools. Seventy-
three per cent, of the white children and 63 per cent, of the colored,

in the State, are enrolled in the schools.

The number of days taught vary materially in the different town-

ships, and on this point State Superintendent Smart iterates: " As

long as the schools of some of our townships are kept open but 60

days and others 220 days, we do not have a uniform system,
—such

as was contemplated by the constitution. The school law requires
the trustee of a township to maintain each of the schools in his

corporation an equal length of time. This provision cannot be so

easily applied to the various counties of the State, for the reason

that there is a variation in the density of the population, in the

wealth of the people, and the amount of the township funds. I

think, however, there is scarcely a township trustee in the State

who cannot, under the present law, if he chooses to do so, bring his

schools up to an average of six months. I think it would be wise

to require each township trustee to levy a sufficient local tax to

maintain the schools at least six months of the year, provided this

can be done without increasing the local tax beyond the amount

now permitted by law. This would tend to bring the poorer schools

up to the standard of the best, and would thus unify the system,

and make it indeed a common-school system."
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The State, however, averages six and a half months school per

year to each district.

The number of scliool districts in the State in 1878 was 9,3S0, in

all bnt Si of which school was taught during that year. There are

306 district and 151 township graded schools. Number of wJiite

male teachers, 7,977, and of female, 5,699; colored, male, C2, and

female, 43; grand total, 13,781. For the ten years ending with

1878 there was an increase of 409 male teachers and 811 female

teachers. All these teachers, except about 200, attend normal

institutes,
—a showing which probably surpasses that of any other

State in this respect.

Tlie average daily compensation of teachers throughout the

State in 1878 was as follows: In townships, males, $1.90; females,

$1.70; in towns, males, $3.09; females, $1.81; in cities, males,

$4.06; females, $2.29.

In 1878 tliere were 89 stone school-houses, 1.724 brick, 7,608

frame, and 124 log; total, 9,545, valued at $11,536,647.39.

And lastly, and best of all, we are happy to state that Indiana has

a larger school fund than any other State in the Union. In 1872,

according to the statistics before us, it was larger than that of any
other State by $2,000,000! the figures being as follows:

Indiana $8,437,593.47 Michigan $2,500,314.91
Ohio 6,614,816.50 Missouri 2,525,352.53
Illinois 6,348,538..33 Minnesota 2.471,199.31
New York 2,880,017.01 Wisconsin 2,337,414.37
Connecticut 2,809.770.70 Massachusetts 2,210,864.09
Iowa 4,274.581.93 Arkansas 2,000,000.00

Nearly all the rest of the States have less than a million dollars

in their school fund.

In 1872 the common-school fund of Indiana consisted of the

following:

Non-negotiable bonds $3,591,316.15 Escheated estates 17,866.55

Common-school fund,. . . . l,H66,'-24.50 Sinking fund, last distrib-

Sinking fund, at 8 per cent 569,139.94 ution 67,068.72

Congressional township Sinking fund undistrib-

fund 2,281,076.69 utcd 100,165.92

Value of unsold Congres- Swamp land fund 42,418.40
sional township lands.. 94,245.00

Saline fund 5,727.66 $8,437,593 47

Bank tax fund 1,744.94

In 1878 the grand total was $8,974,455.55.

The origin of the respective school funds of Indiana is as follows:

1. The "
Congressional township

" fund is derived from the

proceeds of the 16th sections of the townships. Almost all of these
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have been sold and the money put out at interest. The amount of

this fund in 1S77 was $2,452,936.82.

2. The "saline" fund consists of the proceeds of the sale of

salt springs, and the land adjoining necessaVy for working them to

the amount of 36 entire sections, authorized by the original act of

Congress. By authority of the same act the Legislature has made

these proceeds a part of the permanent school fund.

3. The "
surplus revenue '' fund. Under the administration of

President Jackson, the national debt, contracted by the Kevolutionary

war and the purchase of Louisiana, was entirely discharged, and a

large surplus remained in the treasury. In June, 1836, Congress
distributed this money amcng the States in the ratio of their repre-

sentation in Congress, subject to recall, and Indiana's share was

$860,254. The Legislature subsequently set apart $573,502.96 of

this amount to be a part of the school fund. It is not probable that

the general Government will ever recall this money.
4.

" Bank tax
" fund. The Legislature of 1834 chartered a State

Bank, of which a part of the stock was owned by the State and a

part by individuals. Section 15 of the charter required an annual

deduction from the dividends, equal to 12^ cents on each share not

lield by the State, to be set apart for common-school education.

This tax finally amounted to $80,000, which now bears interest in

favor of education.

5.
'•
Sinkino:

" fund. In order to set the State bank under

good headway, the State at first borrowed $1,300,000, and out of

the unapplied balances a fund was created, increased by unapplied

balances also of the principal, interest and dividends of the amount

lent to the individual holders of stock, for the purpose of sinking

the debt of the bank; hence the name sinking fund. The 114th

section of the charter provided that after the full payment of the

bank's indebtedness, principal, interest and incidental expenses, the

residue of said fund should be a permanent fund, appropriated to

the cause of education. As the charter extended through a period

of 25 years, this fund ultimately reached the handsome amount of

$5,000,000.

The foregoing are all interest-bearing funds; the following are

additional school funds, but not productive:

6.
"
Seminary

" fund. By order of the Legislature in 1852, all

county seminaries were sold, and the net proceeds placed in the

common-school fund.
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7. All fines for the violation of the penal laws of the State are

placed to the credit of the common-school fund

8. All recognizances of witnesses and parties indicted for crime,

when forfeited, are collectible bj law and made a part of the

school fund. These are reported to the office of the State Superin-
tendent of Public Instruction annually. For the five years ending
with 1872, they averaged about $34,000 a year.

9. Escheats. These amount to $17,865.55, which was still in

the State treasury in 1872 and unapplied.

10. The "swamp-land" fund arises from the sale of certain

Congressional land grants, not devoted to any particular purpose

by the terms of the grant. In 1872 there was $42,1:18.40 of this

money, subject to call by the school interests.

11. Taxes on corporations are to some extent devoted by the

Constitution to school purposes, but the clause on this subject is

somewhat obscure, and no funds as yet have been realized from this

source. It is supposed that several large sums of money are due

the common-school fund from the corporations.

Constitutionally, any of the above funds may be increased, but

never diminished.

INDIANA STATK UNIVERSITY.

So early as 1802 the U. S. Congress granted lands and a charter

to the people of that portion of the Northwestern Territory resid-

inof at Vincennes, for the erection and maintenance of a seminarv

of learning in that early settled district; and five years afterward

an act incorporating the Yincennes University asked the Legisla-

ture to appoint a Board of Trustees for the institution and order the

sale of a single township in Gibson county, granted by Congress in

1802, so that the proceeds might be at once devoted to the objects

of education. On this Board the following gentlemen were ap-

pointed to act in the interests of the institution: William H. Har-

rison, John Gibson, Thomas H. Davis, Henry Yanderburgh, Wal-

ler Taylor, Benjamin Parke, Peter Jones, James Johnson, John

Rice Jones, George Wallace, William Bullitt, Elias McNamee,
John Badolett, Henry Hurst, Gen. W. Johnston, Francis Yigo,
Jacob Kuykendall, Samuel McKee, Nathaniel Ewing, George

Leech, Luke Decker, Samuel Gwathmey and John Johnson.

The sale of this land was slow and the proceeds small. The

members of the Board, too, were apathetic, and failing to meet, the

institution fell out of existence and out of memory.
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In 1816 Congress granted another township in Monroe county,

located within its present limits, and the foundation of a university

was laid. Four years later, and after Indiana was erected into a

State, an act of the local Legislature appointing another Board of

Trustees and authorizing them to select a location for a university

and to enter into contracts for its construction, was passed. The

new Board met at Bloomington and selected a site at that place for

the location of the present building, entered into a contract for the

erection of the same in 1822, and in 1825 had the satisfaction of being

present at the inauguration of the university. The first session was

commenced under the Rev. Baynard R. Hall, with 20 students, and

when the learned ]n'ofessor could only boast of a salary of $150 a

year; yet, on this very limited sum the gentleman worked with

energy and soon brought the enterprise through all its elementaiy

stages to the position of an academic institution. Dividing the

year into two sessions of five months each, the Board acting under

his advice, changed the name to the " Indiana Academv," under

which title it was duly chartered. In 1827 Prof. John II. Harney
was raised to the chairs of mathematics, natural philosophy and

astronomy, at a salary of $300 a year; and the salary of Mr. Hall

raised to $1:00 a year. In 1S28 the name was again changed by the

Legislature to the " Indiana College," and the following professors

appointed over the different departments: Rev. Andrew Wylie,
D. D., Prof, of mental and moral philosophy and belles lettres;

John H. Harney, Prof, of mathematics and natural philosophy; and

Rev. Bayard R. Hall, Prof, of ancient languages. This year, also,

dispositions were made for the sale of Gibson county lands and for

the erection of a new college building. This action was opposed

by some legal difliculties, which after a time were overcome, and

the new college building was put under construction, and continued

to prosper until 1854, when it was destroyed by fire, a-nd 9,000

volumes, with all the apparatus, were consumed The curriculum

was then carried out in a temporary building, while a new struct-

ure was going up.

In 1873 the new college, with its additions, was completed, and

the routine of studies continued. A museum of natural history,

a laboratory and the Owen cabinet added, and the standard of the

studies and morale generally increased in excellence and in strict-

ness.

Bloomington is a fine, healthful locality, on the Louisville, New

Albany & Chicago railway. The University buildings are in the
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collegiate Gothic style, simply and truly carried out. The building,

frontinor Colleire avenue is lio feet in front. It consists of a

central building 60 feet by 53, with wings each 38 feet by 26, and

the whole, three stories high. The new building, fronting the

west, is 130 feet by 50. Buildings lighted by gas.

The faculty numbers thirteen. Number of students in the col-

legiate department in lST9-'80, ]83; in preparatory, 169; total,

349, allowing for three counted twice.

The university may now be considered on a fixed founaation, car-

rying out the intention of the President, who aimed at scholarship

rather than numbers, and demands the attention of eleven pro-

fessors, toofcther with the State Geoloo^ist, who is ex-officio member

of the faculty, and required to lecture at intervals and look after

the geological and mineralogical interests of the institution. The

faculty of medicine is represented by eleven leading physicians

of the neighborhood. The faculty of law requires two resident

professors, and the other chairs remarkabl}' well represented.

The university received from the State annually about $15,000,

and promises with the aid of other public grants and private dona-

tions to vie with any other State university within the Republic.

PURDUE UNIVERSITY.

This is a "
college for the benefit of agricultural and the mechanic

arts," as provided for by act of Congress, July 2, 1862, donating

lands for this purpose to the extent of 30,000 acres of the public

domain to each Senator and Representative in the Federal assem-

bly. Indiana having in Congress at that time thirteen members,
became entitled to 390,000 acres;, but as there was no Congress

land in the State at this time, scrip had to be taken, and it was

upon the following condition (we quote the act):

" Sectigm' 4. That all moneys derived from the sale of land

scrip shall be invested in the stocks of the United States, or of

some other safe stocks, yielding no less than five per centum upon
the par value of said stocks; and that the moneys so invested shall

constitute a perpetual fund, the capital of which shall remain undi-

minished, except so far as may be provided in section 5 of this act,

and the interest of which shall be inviolably appropriated by each

State, which may take and claim the benefit of this act, to the

endowment, support and maintenance of at least one college, where

the leadinsr object shall be, without excluding other scientific and
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classical studies, and including military tactics, to teach such

branches of learning r.s are related to agriculture and the mechanic

arts, in such a manner as the Legislatures of the States may re-

spectively prescribe, in order to promote the liberal and practical
education of the industrial classes in the several pursuits and pro-
fessions of life.

" Sec. 5. That the grant of land and land scrip hereby author-

ized shall be made on the following conditions, to which, as well as

the provision hereinbefore contained, the previous assent of the

several States shall be signified by Legislative act:
'

" First. If any portion of the funds invested as provided by the

foregoing section, or any portion of the interest thereon, shall by

any action or contingency be diminished or lost, it shall be replaced

by the State to which it belongs, so that the capital of the fund

shall remain forever undiminished, and the annual interest shall be

regularly applied, without diminution, to the purposes mentioned

in the fourth section of this act, except that a sum not exceeding ten

per centum upon the amount received by any State under the pro-
visions of this act may be expended for the purchase of lands for

sites or experimental farms, whenever authorized by the respective

Legislatures of said States.

'' Second. No portion of said fund, nor interest thereon, shall

be applied, directly or indirectly, under any pretence whatever, to

the purchase, erection, preservation or repair of any .building or

buildings.
" Third. Any State which may take and claim the benefit of

the provisions of this act, shall provide, within five years at least,

not less than one college, as provided in the fourth section of this

act, or the grant to such State shall cease and said State be bound

to pay the United States the amount received of any lands pre-

viously sold,, and that the title to purchase under the States shall

be valid.

"Fourth. An annual report shall be made regarding the prog-
ress of each college, recording any improvements and experiments
made, with their cost and result, and such other matter, including
State industrial and economical statistics, as may be supposed use-

ful, one copy of which shall be transmitted by mail free, by each,

to all other colleges which may be endowed under the provisions

of this act, and also one copy to the Secretary of the Interior.

'"Fifth. "When lands snail be selected from those which have

been raised to double the minimum price in consequence of railroad
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grants, that they shall be computed to the States at the maximum

price, and the number of acres proportionately diminished.

'"Sixth. 1^0 State, while in a condition of rebellion or insur-

rection against the Government of the United States, shall be

entitled to the benefits of this act.

"Seventh. No State shall be entitled to tlie benefits of this act

unless it shall express its acceptance thereof by its Legislature
"witliin two years from the date of its approval by the President."

The foregoing act was approved by the President, July 2, 1862.

It seemed that this law, amid the din of arms with the great Rebel-

lion, was about to pass altogether unnoticed by the next General

Assembl}',' January, 1863, had not Gov. Morton's attention been

called to it by a delegation of citizens from Tippecanoe county, "who

visited him in the interest of Battle Ground. He thereupon sent

a special message t6 the Legislature, upon tlie subject, and then

public attention was excited to it everywhere, and several localities

competed for the institution
; indeed, the rivalry was so great that

this session failed to act in the matter at all, and would have failed

to accept of the grant within the two years prescribed in the last

clause quoted above, had not Congress, by a supplementary act,

extended the time two years longer.

March 6, 1865, the Legislature accepted the conditions ol the

national cift, andorsranized the Board of " Trustees of the Indiana

Agricultural College." This Board, by authority, sold the scrip

April 9. 1867, for $212,238.50, which sum, by compounding, has

increased to nearly $400,000, and is invested in IT. S. bonds. Not
until the special session of May, 1869, was the locality for this col-

lege selected, when John Purdue, of Lafayette, offered $150,000

ahd Tippecanoe county $50,000 more, and tlie title of the institution

changed to " Purdue University." Donations were also made by
the Battle Ground Institute and the Battle Ground Institute of the

Methodist Episcopal Church.

The building was located on a 100- acre tract near Chauncey,
which Purdue or'ave in addition to his magnificent donation, and to

which 86^ acres more have since been added on the north. The

boarding-house, dormitory, the laboratory, boiler and gas house,

a frame armory and gymnasium, stable with shed and work-shop
are all to the north of the gravel road, and form a group of build-

ings within a circle of 600 feet. The boiler and gas house occupy
a rather central position, and supply steam and gas to the boarding-

house, dormitory and laboratory. A description of these buildings
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may be apropos. The boarding-bouse is a brick structure, in tlie

modern Italian style, planked by a turret at each of the front angles
and measuring 120 feet front b}' 68 feet deep. The dormitory is a

quadrangular edifice, in the plain Elizabethan style, four stories

high, arranged to accommodate 125 students. Like the other build-

ings, it is heated by steam and lighted by gas. Bathing accommo-

dations are in each end of all the stories. The laboratory is almost

a duplicate of a similar department in Brown University, R. I. It

is a much smaller building than the boarding-house, but yet suffi-

ciently large to meet the requirements. A collection of minerals,

fossils and antiquities, purchased from Mr. Richard Owen, former

President of the institution, occupies the temporary cabinet or

museum, pending the construction of anewbuildijig. The military

hall and gymnasium is 100 feet frontage by 50 feet deep, and only
one story high. The uses to which this hall is devoted are exer-

cises in physical and military drill. The boiler and gas house is an

establishment replete in itself, possessing every facility for supply-

ing the buildings of the university with adequate heat and light.

It is further provided with pumping works. Convenient to this

department is the retort and great meters of the gas house, capable

of holding 9,000 cubic feet of gas, and arranged upon the principles

of modern science. The barn and slied form a single building,

both useful, convenient and ornamental.

In connection with the agricultural department of the university,

a brick residence and barn were erected and placed at the disposal

of the farm superintendent, Maj. L. A. Burke.

The buildings enumerated above have been erected at a cost

approximating the following: boarding-house, 837,807.07; labora-

tory, $15,000; dormitory, $32,000; military hall and gymnasium,

$6,410.47; boiler and gas house, $1,814; barn and shed, $1,500;

work-shop, $1,000; dwelling and barn, $2,500.

Besides the original donations, Legislative appropriations, vary-

ing in amount, have been made from time to time, and Mr. Pierce,

the treasurer, has donated his official salary, $600 a year, for the time

he served, for decorating the grounds,
—if necessary.

The opening of the university was, owing to varied circumstan-

ces, postponed from time to time, and not until March, 1874, was a

class formed, and this only to comply with the act of Congress in

that connection in its relation to the university. However, in

September following a curriculum was adopted, and the first regu-

lar terra of the Purdue University entered upon. This curriculum
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comprises the varied subjects generally pertaining to a first-class

university course, namely: in the school of natural science—
physics and industrial mechanics, chemistry and natural history;
in the school of engineering

—civil and mining, together with the

principles of arcliitecture; in the school of agriculture
—theoret-

ical and practical agriculture, horticulture and veterinary science;

in the military school—the mathematical sciences, German and

French literature, free-hand and mechanical drawing, with all the

studies pertaining to the natural and military sciences. Modern

languages and natural history embrace their respective courses to

the fullest extent.

There are this year (1880) eleven members of the faculty, 86

students in the regular courses, and 117 other students. In respect
to attendance there has been a constant increase from the first.

The first year, 1874- '5, there were but 04 students.

INDIANA STATE NORMAL SCHOOL.

This institution was founded at Terre Haute in 1870, in accord-

ance with the act of the Lesjislature of that year. The buiklincris

a large brick edifice situated upon a commanding location and

possessing some architectural beauties. From its inauguration

many obstacles opposed its advance toward efficiency and success;

but the Board of Trustees, composed of men experienced in edu-

cational matters, exercised their strength of mind and body to

overcome every difliculty, and secure for the State Normal School

every distinction and emolument that lay within their power,
their efibrts to this end being very successful; and it is a fact that

the institution has arrived at, if not eclipsed, the standard of their

expectations. Not alone does the course of study embrace the

legal subjects known as reading, writing, spelling, arithmetic,

geography. United States history, English grammar, physiology,

manners and ethics, but it includes also universal history, the

mathematical sciences and many other subjects foreign to older

institutions. Tlie first studies are prescribed by law and must be

inculcated; 'the second are optional with the professors, and in the

case of Indiana generally hold place in the curriculum of the nor-

mal school.

The model, or training school, specially designed for the training

of teachers, forms a most important factor in State educational

matters, and prepares teachers of both sexes for one of the most

important positions in life; viz;, that of educating the youth of the



HISTORY OF INDIANA. 229

State. The advanced course of studies, tosrethcr "svltli the liio-her

Studies of the normal school, embraces Latin and Germati, and pre-

pares young men and women for entrance to the State University.

The efficiency of this school may be elicited from the following

facts, taken from tlie official reports: out of 41 persons who had

graduated from the elementary course, nine, after teaching success-

fully in the public schools of this State from two terms to two

Tears, returned to the institution and sous^ht admission to the

advanced classes. They were admitted; three of them were gentle-

men and six ladies. After spending two years and two terms in the

elementary course, and then teaching in the schools during the

time already mentioned they returned to spend two and a half or

three years more, and for the avowed purpose of qualifying them-

selves for teaching in the most responsible positions of the public

school service. In fact, no student is admitted to the school who

does not in good faith declare his intention to qualify himself for

teaching in the schools of the State. This the law requires, and

the rule is adhered to literally.

The report further says, in speaking of the government of the

school, that the fundamental idea is rational freedom, or that free-

dom which gives exemption from the power of control of one over

another, or, in other words, the self-limiting of themselves, in their

acts, by a recognition of the rights of others who are equally free.

The idea and origin of the school being laid down, and also the

means by which scholarship can be realized in the individual, the

student is left to form his own conduct, both during session hours

and while away from school. The teacher merely stands between

this scholastic idea and the student's own partial conception of it,

as expositor or interpreter. The teacher is not legislator, executor

or police officer; he is expounder of the true idea of school law, so

that the only test of the student's conduct is obedience to, or

nonconformity with, that law as interpreted by the teacher. This

idea once inculcated in the minds of the students, insures industry,

punctuality and order.

NORTHERN INDIANA NORMAL SCHOOL AND BUSINESS INSTITUTE,

VALPARAISO.

This institution was organized Sept. 16, 18Y3, with 35 students

in attendance. The school occupied the building known as the

Valparaiso Male and Female College building. Four teachers
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were employed. The attendance, so small at first, increased rap-

idly and steadily, until at the present writing, the seventh year
in the history of the school, the yearly enrollment is more than

three thousand. The number of instructors now employed is 23.

From time to time, additions have been made to the school

buildings, and numerous boarding halls have been erected, so that

now the value of the buildings and grounds owned by the school

is one hundred thousand dollars.

A large library has been collected, and a complete equipment of

philosophical and chemical apparatus has been purchased. The

department of physiology is supplied with skeletons, manikins,
and everything necessary to the demonstration of each branch of

the subject. A large cabinet is provided for the study of geology.
In fact, each department of the school is completely furnished

with the apparatus needed for the most approved presentation of

every subject.

There are 15 chartered departments in the institution. These

are in charge of thorough, energetic, and scholarlj- instructors, and
send forth each year as graduates, a large number of finely cultured

young ladies and gentlemen, living testimonials of the efiiciencv

of the course of study and the methods used.

The Commercial College in connection with the school is in itself

a great institution. It is finely fitted up and furnished, and ranks

foremost among the business colleges of the United States.

The expenses for tuition, room and board, have been made so

low that an opportunity for obtaining a thorough education is

presented to the poor and the rich alike.

All of this work has been accomplished in the short space of

seven years. The school now holds a high place among educational

institutions, and is the largest normal school in the United States.

This wonderful growth and development is wholly due to the

energy and faithfulness of its teachers, and the unparalleled exec-

utive ability of its proprietor and principal. The school is not

endowed.

DENOMINATIONAL AND PRIVATE INSTITUTIONS.

Nor is Indiana behind in literary institutions under denomina-

tional auspices. It is not to be understood, however, at the present

day, that sectarian doctrines are insisted upon at the so-called
" denominational" colleges, universities and seminaries; the youth at

these places are influenced only by Christian example.
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Notre Dame University^ near South Bend, is a Catholic institu-

tion, and is one of the most noted in the United States. It was

founded in 1842 by Father Sorin. The first building was erected

in 1813, and the university has continued to grow and prosper until

the present time, now having 35 professors, 26 instructors, 9 tutors,

213 students and 12,000 volumes in library. At present the main

building has a frontage of 224 feet and a depth of 155. Thousands

of young people have received their education here, and a large

number have been graduated for the priesthood. A chapter was
held here in 1872, attended by delegates from all parts of tlie world.

It is worthy of mention that this institution has a bell weighing
13,000 pounds, the largest in the United States and one of the finest

in the world.

The Indiana Ashury University, at Greencastle, is an old and

well-established institution under the auspices of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, named after its first bishop, Asbury. It was

founded in 1835, and in 1872 it had nine professors and 172

students.

Howard College, not denominational, is located at Kokomo, and

was founded in 1869. In 1872 it had five professors, four instructors,

and 69 students.

Union Christian College, Christian, at Merom, was organized in

1858, and in 1872 had four resident professors, seven instructors

and 156 students.

Moore'' s Hill College, Methodist Episcopal, is situated at Moore's

Hill, was founded in 1854, and in 1872 had five resident professors,

fiv'e instructors, and 142 students.

Earlhain's College, at Richmond, is under the management of

the Orthodox Friends, and was founded in 1859. In 1872 they
had six resident professors and 167 students, and 3,300 volumes in

library.

Wahash College, at Crawfordsville, was organized in 1834, and

had in 1872, eight professors and teachers, and 231 students, with

about 12,000 volumes in the library. It is under Presbyterian

management.
Concordia College, Lutheran, at Fort Wayne, was founded in

1850; in 1872 it had four professors and 148 students: 3,000 volumes

in library.

Hanover College, Presbyterian, was organized in 1833, at Han-

over, and in 1872 had seven professors and 118 students, and 7,000

volumes in library.
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Sartsville University, United Brethren, at Hartsville, was

founded in 1854, and in 1872 liad seven professors and 117 students.

NorthweHtern Christian University, Disciples, is located at

Irvington, near Indianapolis. It was founded in 1854, and by
1872 it had 15 resident professors, 181 students, and 5,000 volumes

in library.

BENEVOLENT AND PENAL INSTITUTIONS.

By the year 1830, the influx of paupers and invalid persons was
so great that the Governor called upon the Legislature to take

steps toward regulating the matter, and also to provide an asylum
for the poor, but that body was very slow to act on the matter.

At the present time, however, there is no State in the Union which

can boast a better system of benevolent institutions. The Benevo-

lent Society of Indianapolis was organized in 1843. It was a

pioneer institution; its field of work was small at first, but it has

grown into great usefulness.

INSTITUTE FOR THE EDUCATION OF THE BLIND.

In behalf of the blind, the first eifort was made by James M. Ray,
about 1846. Through his etforts William 11. Churchman came

from Kentucky with blind pupils and gave exhibitions in Mr.

Beecher's church, in Indianapolis. These entertainments were

attended by members of the Legislature, for whom indeed they
were especially intended; and the eflPect upon them was so good,

that before they adjourned the session they adopted measures to es-

tablish an asylum for the blind. The commission appointed to carry

out these measures, consisting of James M. Ray, Geo. W. Mears,

and the Secretary, Treasurer and Auditor of State, engaged Mr.

Churchman to make a lecturing tour throuo:h the State and collect

statistics of the blind population.
The " Institute for the Education of the Blind " was founded by

the Legislature of 1847, and first opened in a rented building Oct.

1, of that year. The permanent buildings were opened and occu-

pied in February, 1853. The original cost of the buildings and

ground was $110,000, and the present valuation of buildings and

grounds approximates $300,000. The main building is 90 feet

long by 61 deep, and with its right and left wings, each 30 feet in

front and 83 in depth, give an entire frontage of 150 feet. The
main building is five stories in height, surmounted by a cupola of
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the Corinthian style, while each wing is similarly overcapped
The porticoes, cornices and verandahs are gotten up with exquisite

taste, and the former are molded after the principle of Ionic archi-

tecture. The building is very favorably situated, and occupies a

space of eight acres.

The nucleus of a fund for supplying indigent graduates of the

institution with an outfit suitable to their trades, or with money in

lieu thereof, promises to meet with many additions. The fund is

the out-come of the benevolence of Mrs. Fitzpatrick, a resident of

Delaware, in this State, and appears to be suggested by the fact

that her daughter, wiio was smitten with blindness, studied as a

pupil in the institute, and became singularly attached to many of

it's inmates. The following passage from the lady's will bears

testimony not only to her own sympathetic nature but also to the

efiiciency of the establishment which so won her esteem. " I give
to each of the following persons, friends and associates of my blind

daughter, Margaret Louisa, the sum of $100 to each, to wit, viz:

Melissa and Phtebe Garrettson, Frances Cundiff, Dallas JMewland,
Naomi Unthunk, and a girl whose name before marriage was

Rachel Martin, her husband's name not recollected. The balance

of my estate, after paying the expenses ot administering, I give to

the superintendent of the blind asylum and his successor, in trust,

for the use and benefit of the indigent blind of Indiana who may
attend the Indiana blind asylum, to be given to them on leaving
in such sums as the superintendent may deem proper, but not more

than $50 to any one person. I direct that the amount above direct-

ed be loaned at interest, and the interest and principal be distributed

as above, agreeably to the best judgment of the superintendent,
so as to do the greatest good to the greatest number of blind

persons."
The following rules, regulating the institution, after laying down

in preamble that the institute is strictly an educational estab-

lishment, having its main object the moral, intellectual and phys-
ical training of the young blind of the State, and is not an asylum
for the aged and helpless, nor an hospital w^herein the diseases of

the eye may be treated, proceed as follows:

1. The school year commences the first Wednesday after the

15th day of September, and closes on the last Wednesday in June,

showing a session of 40 weeks, and a vacation term of 84 days.

2, Applicants for admission must be from 9 to 21 years of age;

but the trustees have power to admit blind students under 9 or
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over 21 years of age; but this power is extended only in very
extreme cases.

3. Imbecile or unsound persons, or confirmed immoralists,

cannot be admitted Ivnowingly; neither can admitted pupils who

prove disobedient or incompetent to receive instruction be retained

on the roll.

4. No charge is made for the instruction and board given to

pupils from the State of Indiana; and even those without the State

have only to pay $200 for board and education during the 40 weeks'
*
session.

5. An abundant and good supply of comfortable clothing for

both summer and winter wear, is an indispensable adjunct of the

pnpil.

6. The owner's name must be distinctly marked on each article

of clothing,

7. In cases of extreme indigence the institution may provide

clothing and defray the traveling expenses of such pupil and levy the

amount so expended on the county wherein his or her home is

situated.

8. The pupil, or friends of the pupil, must remove him or her

from the institute during the annual vacation, and in case of their

failure to do so, a legal provision enables the superintendent to

forward such pupil to the trustee of the township where lie or she

resides, and the expense of such transit and board to be charged to

the county.
9. Friends of the pupils accompanying them to the institution,

or visitincr them thereat, cannot enter as boarders or lodg^ers.

10. Letters to the pupils should be addressed to the care of the

Superintendent of the Institute for the Education of the Blind, so as

the better to insure delivery.

11. Persons desirous of admission of pupils should apply to the

superintendent for a printed copy of instructions, and no pujiil

should be sent thereto until the instructions have been complied
with.

INSTITUTE FOR THE DEAF AND DUMB.

In 1843 the Governor was also instructed to obtain plans and
information respecting the care of mutes, and the Legislature also

levied a tax to provide for them. The first one to agitate tlie subject
was William Willard, himself a mute, who visited Indiana in 1843,
and opened a school for mutes on his own account, vvith 16 pupils.
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The next year the Legislature adopted this school as a State insti-

tution, appointing a Board of Trustees for its management, consist-

ing of the Governor and Secretary of State, ex-officio,and Revs. Henry
Ward Beecher, Phineas D. Gurlej^ L. II. Jameson, Dr. Dunlap,
Hon. James Morrison and Rev. Matthew Simpson. Tliey rented the

large building on the southeast corner of Illinois and Maryland
streets, and opened the first State asylum there in 1844; but in 1846,

a site for a permanent building just east of Indianapolis v^^as selected,

consisting first of 30 acres, to which 100 more have been added.

On this site the two first structures were commenced in 1849, and

completed in the fall of 1850, at a cost of $30,000. The school

was immediately transferred to the new building, where it is still

flourishing, with enlarged buildings and ample facilities for instruc-

tion in agriculture. In 1869-'70, another building was erected,

and the three together now constitute one of the most benefi-

cent and beautiful institutions to be found on this continent, at

an aggreofate cost of $220,000. The main buildino- has a facade of

260 feet. Here are the offices, study rooms, the quarters of officers

and teachers, the pupils' dormitories and the librarj^ The center

of this building has a frontage of eighty feet, and is five stories high,
with wings on either side 60 feet in frontage. In this Central

structure are the store rooms, dining-hall, servants' rooms, hospital,

laundry, kitchen, bakery and several school-rooms. Another struct-

ure known as the " rear building
" contains the chapel and another

set of school-rooms. It is two stories high, the center being 50 feet

square and the wings 40 by 20 feet. In addition to these there are

many detached buildings, containing the shops of the industrial

department, the engine-house and wash-house.

The grounds comprise 105 acres, which in the immediate vicinity

of the buildings partake of the character of ornamental or pleasure

gardens, comprising a space devoted to fruits, flowers and veget-

ables, while the greater part is devoted to pasture and agriculture.

The first instructor in the institution was Wm. Willard, a deaf

mute, who had up to 1844 conducted a small school for the instruc-

tion of the deaf at Indianapolis, and now is employed by the State,

at a salary of $800 per annum, to follow a similar vocation in its

service. In 1853 he was succeeded by J. S. Brown, and subse-

quently by Thomas Mclntire, who continues principal of the

institution.
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HOSPITAL FOR THE INSANE.

The Legislature of 1832-'3 adopted measures providing for a

State hospital for the insane. This good work would have been

done much earlier had it not been for the hard times of 1837,

intensified bj the results of the gigantic scheme of internal improve-

ment. In order to survey the situation and awaken public sympa-

thy, the county assessors were ordered to make a return of the

insane in their respective counties. During the year 1842 the

Governor, acting under the direction of the Legislature, procured
considerable information in regard to hospitals for the insane in

other States; and Dr. John Evans lectured before the Legislature

on the subject of insanity and its treatment. As a result of these

efforts the authorities determined to take active steps for the estab-

lishment of such a hospital. Plans and suggestions from the

superintendents and hospitals of other States were submitted to the

Legislature in 1844, which body ordered the levy of a tax of one

cent on the $100 for the purpose of establishing the hospital. In

1S45 a commission was appointed to obtain a site not exceeding
200 acres. Mount Jackson, then the residence of Nathaniel Bolton,

was selected, and the Legislature in 1846 ordered the commissioners

to proceed with the erection of the building. Accordingly, in

1847, the central building was completed, at a cost of 875,000. It

has since been enlarged by the addition of wings, some of which

are larger than the old central building, until it has become an

immense structure, having cost over half a million dollars.

The wings of the main building are four stories high, and entirely

devoted to wards for patients, being capable of accommodating
500.

The grounds of the institution comprise 160 acres, and, like

those of the institute for the deaf and dumb, are beautifnUy laid

out.

This hospital was opened for the reception of patients in 1848.

The principal structure comprises what is known as the central

building and the right and left wings, and like the institute for the

deaf and dumb, erected at various times and probably under various

adverse circumstances, it certainly does not hold the appearance of

any one design, but seems to be a combination of many. Not-

withstanding these little defects in arrangement, it presents a very

imposing appearance, and shows what may be termed a frontage
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of 624 feet. The central buildinof is five stories in heio'lit and con-

tains the store-rooms, offices, reception parlors, medical dispensing

rooms, mess-rooms and the apartments of the superintendent and

other officers, with those of the female employes. Immediatelj
in the rear of the central building, and connected with it by a

corridor, is the chapel, a building 50 by 60 feet. This chapel

occupies the third floor, while the under stories hold the kitchen,

baker}', employes' dining-room, steward's office, employes' apart-

ments and sewing rooms. In rear of this again is the engine-

hon?e, 60 by 50 feet, containing all the paraphernalia for such an

establishment, such as boilers, pumping works, fire pings, hose,

and above, on the second floor, the laundry and apartments of male

employes.

THE STATE PEISON SOUTH.

The first penal institution of importance is known as the "State

Prison South," located at Jeft'ersonville, and was the only prison
until 1859. It was established in 1821. Before that time it was

customary to resort to the old-time punishment of the whipping-

post. Later the manual labor system was inaugurated, and the

convicts were hired out to employers, among whom were Capt.

Westover, afterward killed at Alamo, Texas, with Crockett, James

Keigwin, who in an aflVay was fired at and severely wounded by a

convict named Williams, Messrs. Patterson Hensley, and Jos.

R. Pratt. During the rule of the latter of these lessees, tlie atten-

tion of the authorities was turned to a more practical method of

utilizing convict labor; and instead of the prisoners being per-

mitted to serve private entries, their work was turned in the direc-

tion of their own prison, where for the next few years they were

employed in erecting the new buildings now known as the " State

Prison South." This structure, the result of prison labor, stands

on 16 acres of ground, and comprises the cell houses and work-

shops, together with the prisoners' garden, or ]>leasure-ground.

It seems that in the erection of these buildings the aim of the

overseers was to create so many petty dungeons and unventilated

laboratories, into which disease in every form would be apt to

creep. This fact was evident from the high mortality character-

izing life within the prison; and in the efibrts made by the

Government to remedy a state of things which had been permitted

to exist far too long, the advance in prison reform has become a

reality. From 1857 to 1871 the labor of the prisoners was devoted
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to tlie niannfacture of wagons and farm implements; and again the

old policy of liiring the convicts was resorted to; for in the latter

year, 1871, the Southwestern Car Company was organized, and

every prisoner capable of taking a part in the work of car-building
was leased oat. This did very well until the panic of 1873, when
the company suffered irretrievable losses; and previous to its final

down-fall in 1876 the warden withdrew convict labor a second time,

leaving the prisoners to enjoy a luxurious idleness around the

prison which themselves helped to raise.

In later years the State Prison South has gained some notoriety
from the desperate character of some of its inmates. During the

civil v.'ar a convict named Harding mutilated in a most horrible

manner and ultimately killed one of the jailors named Tesley. In

1871:, two prisoners named Kennedy and Applegate, possessing,

themselves of some arms, and joined by two other convicts named
Port and Stanley, made a break for freedom, swept past the guard,

Chamberlain, and gained the fields. Chamberlain went in pursuit
but had not gone very far when Kennedy turned on his pursuer,
fired and killed him instantly. Subsequently three of the prisoners
were captured alive and one of them pa'id the penalty of death,

while Kennedy, the murderer of Chamberlain, failing committal for

murder, was sent back to his old cell to spend the remainder of his

life. Bill Ilodifer, better known as "The Hoosier Jack Sheppard,"
effected his escape in 1875, in the very presence of a large guard,
but was recaptured and has since been kept in irons.

This establishment, owing to former mismanagement, has fallen

very much behind, financially, and has asked for and received an

appropriation of $20,000 to meet its expenses, while the contrary
is the case at the Michigan City prison.

TUE STATE PRISON NORTH,

In 1859 the first steps toward the erection of a prison in the

northern part of the State were taken, and by an act of tile Legis-
lature approved March 5, this year, authority was given to construct

prison buildings at some point north of the National road. For this

purpose $50,000 were appropriated, and a large number of convicts

from the Jefiersonville prison were transported northward to

Michigan City, which was just selected as the location for the new

penitentiary. The work was soon entered upon, and continued to

meet with additions and improvements down to a very recent

period. So late as 1875 the Legislature appropriated $20,000
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toward the construction of new cells, and in other directions also

tlie work ot" improvement has been going on. The system of

government and discipline is similar to that enforced at the Jefier-

sonville prison; and, strange to say, by its economical working has

not only met the c.\j)enses of the administration, but very recently
had amassed over $11,000 in excess of current expenses, from its

annual savings. This is due almost entirely to tlie continual

employment ,of the convicts in the manufacture of cigars and

chairs, and in their greac prison industry, cooperage. It differs

widely from the Southern, insomuch as its sanitary condition has

been above the average of similar institutions. The strictness of its

silent system is better enforced. The petty revolutions of its

inmates have been very few and insignificant, and the number of

punishments inflicted comparatively small. From whatever point

this northern prison may be looked at, it will bear a very favorable

comparison with the largest and best administered of like establish-

ments throughout the world, and cannot fail to bring high credit to

its Board of Directors and its able warden.

FEMALE PRISON AND REFORMATORY.

The prison reform agitation which in this State attained telling

proportions in 1809, caused a Legislative measure to be brought

forward, which would have a tendency to ameliorate the condition

of female convicts. Gov. Baker recommended it to the General

Assembly, and the members of that body showed their appreciation

of the Governor's philanthropic desire by conferring upon the bill

the authority of a statute; and further, appropriated $50,000 to aid

in carrying out the objects of the act. The main provisions con-

tained in the bill may be set forth in the following extracts from

the proclamation of the Governor:
" Whenever said institution shall have been proclaimed to be

open for the reception of girls in the reformatory department

thereof, it shall be lawful for said Board of Managers to receive

them into their care and management, and the said reformatory

department, girls under the age of 15 years who may be committed

to their custody, in either of the following modes, to- wit:

"1. When committed by any judge of a Circuit or Common
Pleas Court, either in term time or in vacation, on complaint and

due proof by the parent or guardian that by reason of her incorrig-

ible or vicious conduct she has rendered her control beyond the

power of such parent or guardian, and made it manifestly requisite
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that from regard to the future welfare of such infant, and for the

protection of society, she should be placed under such guardianship.
"

2. When such infant has been committed by such judge, as

aforesaid, upon complaint by any citizen, and due proof of such

complaint that such infant is a proper subject of the guardianship
of such institution in consequence of her vagrancy or incorrigible

or vicious conduct, and that from the moral depravity or other-

wise of her parent or guardian in whose custody she may be,

such parent or guardian is incapable or unwilling to exercise the

proper care or discipline over such incorrigible or vicious infant.

"3. When such infant has been committed by such judge as

aforesaid, on complaint and due proof thereof by the township
trustee of the township where such infant resides, that such infant

is destitute of a suitable home and of adequate means of obtaining
an honest living, or that she is in danger of being brought up to

lead an idle and immoral life."

In addition to these articles of the bill, a formal section of

instruction to the wardens of State prisons was embodied in the

act, causing such wardens to report the number of all the female

convicts under their charge and prepare to have them transferred

to the female reformatory immediately after it was declared to be

ready for their reception. After the passage of the act the

Governor appointed a Board of Managers, and these gentlemen,

securing the services of Isaac Hodgson, caused him to draft a plan
of the proposed institution, and further, on his recommendation,
asked the people for an appropriation of another $50,000, which

the Legislature granted in February, 1873. The work of construc-

tion was then entered upon and carried out so steadily, that on the

6th of September, 18T3, the building was declared ready for the

reception of its future inmates. Gov. Baker lost no time in

proclaiming this fact, and October 4 he caused the wardens of the

State prisons to be instructed to transfer all the female convicts in

their custody to the new institution which may be said to rest on

the advanced intelligence of the age. It is now called the
" Indiana Keformatory Institution for Women and Girls."

This building is located immediately north of the deaf and

dumb asylum, near the arsenal, at Indianapolis. It is a three-

story brick structure in the French style, and shows a frontage of

174 feet, comprising a main building, with lateral and transverse

wings. In front of the central portion is the residence of the

superintendent and his associate reformatory officers, while in the
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rear is the engine house, with all the ways and means for heating
the buildings. Enlargements, additions and improvements are

still in progress. There is also a school and library in the main

building, which are sources of vast good.
October 31,1879, there were G6 convicts in the "

penal" depart-

ment and 147 in the "
girls' reformatory

"
department. The

" ticket-of-leave
"
system has been adopted, with entire satisfaction,

and the conduct of the institution appears to be up with the

times.

INDIANA HOUSE OF REFUGE.

In 1SG7 the Legislature appropriated $50,000 to aid in the

formation of an institution to be entitled a house for the correction

and reformation of juvenile defenders, and vested with full powers
in a Board of Control, the members of which were to be appointed

by the Governor, and with the advice and consent of the Senate.

This Board assembled at the Governor's house at Indianapolis,

April 3, 1867, and elected Charles F. Coffin, as president, and

visited Chicago, so that a visit to the reform school there might
lead to a fuller knowledge and guide their future proceedings.

The House of Refuge at Cincinnati, and the Ohio State Reform

school were also visited with this design; and after full consider'

ation of the varied governments of these institutions, the Board

resolved to adopt the method known as the "family" system,

which divides the inmates into fraternal bodies, or small classes,

each class having a separate house, house father and family offices,

—all under the control of a general superintendent. The system

being adopted, the question of a suitable location next presented

itself, and proximity to a large city being considered rather

detrimental to the welfare of such an institution, Gov. Baker

selected the site three-fourths of a mile south of Plainfield, and

about fourteen miles from Indianapolis, which, in view of itsi

eligibility and convenience, was fully concurred in by the Board

of Control. Therefore, a farm of 225 acres, claiming a fertile soil

and a most picturesque situation, and possessing streams of running

water, was purchased, and on a plateau in its center a site for the

proposed house of refuge was fixed.

The next movement was to decide upon a plan, which ultimately

met the approval of the Governor. It favored the erection of one

principal building, one house for a reading-room and hospital, two

large mechanical shops and eight family houses. January 1, 1868,
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three family houses and work-shop were completed; in 1869 the

main building, and one additional family house were added; but

previous to this, in August, 1867, a Mr. Frank P. Ainsworth and

his wife were appointed by the Board, superintendent and matron

respectively, and temporary quarters placed at their disposal. In

1869 they of course removed to the new building. This is 64 by
128 feet, and three stories high. In its basement are kitchen,

laundry and vegetable cellar. The first floor is devoted to offices,

visitors' room, house father and family dining-room and store-

rooms. The general superintendent's private apartments, private
offices and five dormitories for officers occupy the second floor;

while the third floor is given up to the assistant superintendent's

apartment, library, chapel and hospital.

The family houses are similar in style, forming rectangular build-

ings 36 by 58 feet. The basement of each contains a furnace

room, a store-room and a large wash-room, which is converted into

a play-room during inclement weather. On the first floor of each

of these buildings are two rooms for the house father and his

family, and a school-room, which is also convertible into a sitting.

room for the boys. On the third floor is a family dormitory, a

clothes-room and a room for the " elder brother," who ranks next

to the house father. And since the reception of the first boy, from

Hendricks county, January 23, 1868, the house plan has proved

equally convenient, even as the management has proved efficient.

Other buildings have since been erected.
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CHAPTER I.*

Geology— Surface Configuration— Glacial Drift— Gen-
eral Section of the County— Hot Wells— Paleo-
zoic Geology— Devonian and Silurian Ages— Fossils—
Local Details— Conn's Creek and "Waldron Beds,"
Etc.

'HELBY COUNTY was organized as a municipality,
pursuant to an act of Legislature, in 182 1, and contains

an area of 408 square miles, or 261,120 acres. It is

bounded on the north by Hancock, east by Rush and
Decatur, south by Decatur and Bartholemew, and west by

}^ Johnson and Marion counties. Shelbyville, the county
seat, is twenty-six miles southeast from Indianapolis.
Sugar Creek, Big and Little Blue Rivers, and Flat Rock,

are the principal water courses. These afford a large amount of
water power, only a small part of which is properly utilized. Brooks
and creeks ramify into all parts, affording stock-water and drainage
to their respective districts.

To the casual visitor the surface configuration is uniform* and
monotonous, except in the vicinity of Flat Rock River, in the
southeastern parts, where hills and boldly escarped bluffs give va-

riety to the view. As a rule the uplands slope gently to the rivers
and creeks, presenting to the observer a great plain, nearly level,
but with gentle undulations hardly sufficient to discharge the rain-

fall, without artificial drainage. The upland divides attain a pretty
uniform elevation of 900 feet above the ocean. The valley streams
are usually from 100 to 175 feet lower. In some regions soils are
made up from the destruction of local rocks, hence lean and thin,

or, in other parts, the stiff, cold clays of unmodified glacial drift

prevail. Remote from great rivers or actual beds of water, one is

astonished to find almost the whole surface of the county covered
with alluvium, either ancient or modern. This explains at once
the uniform depth and fertility of the soil, and asks what great

Adapted to this volume from the report of Prof. John Colle:t, state geologist fjr the year 1881.
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floods of water and ice plowed out these valleys, contrary to the

usual westsouth direction of the drift, and afterward covered the

hill tops and glacial drift with clay sands of the loess:

The forest mould and peaty soils are caused by the decay of

leaves, grass and other vegetable remains. The alluvial loams of

creeks and river bottoms, are due to causes now in action. Water,
in swift motion, grinds rolling rocks and pebbles to sand and clay,
a slow, but sure and mighty mill, and these, by floods, are spread

upon overflowed lands, blessing them with renewed fertilit3\ These

deposits are from two to ten, and, on the larger streams, twenty
feet in thickness, and make a soil of unrivaled fertility, always pro-
ductive, and commanding full prices.

There was a period when a great lake of fresh water covered

southwestern Indiana, and adjoining regions in Illinois. Kentucky, Mis-

souri, etc. A sub-tropic or tropic cHmate prevailed. A southern vege-
tation was known to exist, with tHe Elephant, Megalonyx, Peccary,
etc. This lacustral deposit in these parts exhibits a summit level

of about 800 feet above the ocean: hence, shallow on the elevated

plateaus and dotted with island hills, it deeply covered with its

waters the vallevs previously eroded. The inflowing streams gave
rise to slow currents, so that the deposits are often finely and dis-

tinctly laminated. Few or no pebbles, only flne sands, are found

even upon its shores, for the temperature did not permit the trans-

porting agencv of ice. The loess deposit is seen on many of the

highlands of the countv, and is well exhibited in the wagon road

cut at the hilltop near Mount Auburn. Long exposure to rainfall

and other atmospheric conditions have removed most of the deposit
from the slopes, and its material modified bv fluviatile action largely
forms the tenacious soil of the " flat woods," or enriched b}' coarse

sand, the loams of the river bottoms.

Glacial Drift.
— The surface features of the county are largely

due to the agencies of the great Ice Age. The underlying rocks,

by parallelism of laminre and strata, indicate that when upheaved
from their ocean birthplace the general surface was nearh' level,

and now their general elevation would exhibit a line 1,000 to 1,100

feet above the ocean, draAvn from the highest points in Rush, De-
catur and Shelby westward, to the knobs of Brown and Johnson
counties, the intervening valle^'S being 300 to 500 feet deep. The

hard-pan clavs, gravel and boulders indicate the transporting and
erosive powers of that slow, solemn river of icy mystery, and its

summer sluices of torrent water, which has so wonderfully moulded
the contour and blessed the soil of Indiana.

As a rule, the northern ice flow filled up ancient valleys, and

river beds, as was determined bv test bores and shafts in Knox,
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Clay, Putnam, Vigo, Fountain and Tippecanoe counties, and as may
be recognized in the sand and gravel pits near Waldron; pushing
into such valleys, dividing hills and the masses of material beneath
and at the Joot of the glaciers and forming innumerable lakes,
which dotted the entire surface of the State. At other times, the

ice flow followed liorth and south vallevs. or depressions parallel
with the outcrops of the geological formations, as the rocks were
more or less easily eroded by it and the existing conditions.

But all these elements and a^'encies cannot account for the re-

suits exhibited in this and adjoining counties. The trend of tlie

streams and valleys do not coincide with the dip of the underlying-
rocks. On the other hand, with slight southern deflections, they
are parallel with the western extension of the axis of Lake Erie,
and parallel with the general trend of the great vallevs or benches

crossing the State from east to west. The northern ice flow

brought white, gray and black granites, and a multitude of speci-

mens, positively indicating the line of transit by Lakes Michigan
and Superior. In Shelby County few such rocks are found, but

instead, massive boulders, from small, to six, eight and ten feet in

diameter, are constantK', abundantly seen in the southern parts, of

red felspathic granite, enough laminated to flx their gneissic or sed-

ementary origin, closely resembling the red granites of Lower
Canada and Vermont.

An inspection of the map of the state discloses the fact that the

valleys of the actual streams crossinij^ the county from northeast to

southwest, haA'e their sources near the eastern boundary of the

State, and a water-shed, or general valley extends from the dividing
rid<re in Rush County to a similar divide in Hendricks County, con-

ducting .a central water-shed distinct from those of the Wabash
and Ohio, with bluffs at the extreme barriers i,ooo to 1,200 feet

above the ocean, and with a valley depth of 300 to 500 feet. Over
much, or all, the included space, at various depths, are beds of

gravel, sand and clays, showing that the whole included area has

been subject to the denuding and modifying energy of currents of

fresh water. This is especially true of Shelby Count}'. Beds of

gravel and sand are remarkably defined at Waldron and St. Paul,
and in all the northwestern area

;
the irregularity of these pockets,

of greater or less extent, often interrupted, very often partially re-

moved, leaving mounds and knolls as the outliers at Waldron and
St. Paul, indicates. an inconstant stream, at one season with gentle
current carrying only pebbles, sands and clays, but in the spring
and summer, the season of melting ice, a mighty flood, with furious

currents and sufficient volume to tear loose from the foot of the

eastern glaciers great bergs and floating islands of ice, competent



250 SHELBY COUNTY.

to bear the boulders of red feldspathic granite, some of which con-

tain 300 cubic feet, and would weigh from 40,000 to 60,000 pounds,
and are common on denuded points in the south part of the county.

Collect Glacial River.— Crossincr the western bounds of the

county, this great stream of water and icebergs impinges agamst
and is obstructed, bv the hilh' district of Johnson-and Brown coun-

ties, having an elevation of 400 to 500 feet above the valley, and is

deflected south perpendicular to the dip or along the strike of the

rocks to the southern boundar}- of the State at Jeffersonville. This

valley is a wonderful exhibition of energ'v and forces which have

ceased to exist. The volume may be estimated by the amount of

the erosion, which exhibits a width of live to ten miles, and depth
of 300 to 500 feet as measured by the w^all-like bluffs of the ad-

joining high lands. The mightv ships which sailed upon this river

sea were silvery bergs of ice, scattering boulders along its shore

line, or in its depths as discovered in deep wells in Scott and Clark

counties, its broad eastern pathway indicated by lower silurian fos-

sils, found in Ohio and eastern Indiana. Economically, it furnishes

an inclined plane, utilized as the roadway of the railroad from In-

dianapolis to Jeffersonville. In the course of ages the valley was

tapped by newer lines of drainage along the dip of the rocks b}^

the east branch of White River, and the old bed silted up at and

near Seymour, in Jackson County, depositing during this transition

period of alternate eddy and current the vast hills and ridges of

sand peculiar to that vicinage.

GENERAL SECTION.

1. Recent alluvium 20 to 10 .ft.

2. Ancient alluvium 50 to 10 ft.

3. Lacustral Loess o* to 10 ft.

4. Glacial drift 20 to 50 ft.

Devonian.

5. Magnesian limestone, upper beds of Geneva lime-

stone, CornifcroHs 38 ft-

6. Rubble stone of Waldron and top of St. Paul

quarries, Corniferoits? o to 14 ft.

• U-pfer Silurian.

7. Blue shale, Waldron fossil bed, JViagari '. 7 ^t.

8. Blue limestone., A^iagari 9 ft.

9. Cherty limestone, top of St. Paul quarry,iV7c/^rtr/. 8 ft.

10. Laminated quarry strata at St. Pauls, JViagari. . 54 ft.

Total 191 ft.
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The general section is an exhibit of all the strata and deposits
of the county gathered from widely separated stations. The beds
of recent or ancient alluvium have been generally referred to in the

preliminar}^ topographical description of the county. For' specitic
information the survey is indebted to Mr. David Louden for a state-

ment of facts of high interest to science, but even more valuable

economically to those who desire pure water free from organic
matter from the lower beds. Mr. Louden has bored more than a

thousand wells in different parts of the county. In the valley of

Lewis and Slash creeks, the wells sought water above the boulder

clay, and along the bluffs or edges of these valleys and were from
twelve to eighteen feet deep, but along the center of the valley re-

quired a depth of twenty-live to thirty-live feet, or twenty to

twenty-live feet, below the present bed of the creek, showing that

the ancient valley, two to three miles wide, had a riverway eroded

through the boulder cla\' to a depth of thirty to seventy feet as

compared with adjoining highlands or bluffs.

Average Section of Welh on Lczuis and Slash Creeks.

Black peaty soil '. 6 ft.

Yellow clay 2 ft.

Sand and tine pebbles 27 ft.

Total : 35 ft.

A similar state of affairs exists in the beautiful and productive

valley of Blue River, as is shown by the following:

Average Section of Bhit River Valley.
Alluvial loam 2 to 6 ft.

Yellow clay 2 to 6 ft.

Sand and tine gravel 30 to 23 ft.

Total 35 ft.

A well made for Jacob Henry gives the following exhibit:

Section at Manilla.

Soil 3 ft.

Yellow loamy clay 7 ft.

Loamy sand 10 ft.

Boulder drift blue clay 47 ft.

Fine quicksand 3 ft.

Snow white sand i ft.

Gravel and sand 2 ft.

Total 73 ft.
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Water was here as usual at the bottom of boulder clay, found
in large supply, neither increasing in wet years nor decreasing at

time of drouth. It rises to within one foot of the surface, and in-

dicates a perennial fountain of pure water. A well on the adjoin-

ing farms of Arbuckle and Mills, shows the following:

Section ill Drift West of Manilla.
Soil 2 ft.

Clay 33 ft.

Quicksand 3 ft.

Blue clay 5 ft.

Cla}' and gravel 3 ft.

Boulder clay 17 ft.

Sand and gravel 3 ft.

Blue boulder clay 57 ^t.

Total 123 ft.

All these bores indicate a probabilit}- of an abundant supply of

pure water below the glacial or boulder clay. At the residence of

W. E. Teal, in the southwest part of the county seat, a bore gave
the followinfj results— commenced twelve feet above low water in

Blue River:

SheJbvviUe Well.

Alluvial soil '. 8 ft.

Gravel 2 ft.

Fluvatile silt i ft.

Boulder clay 40 ft.

Sand and hne o-ravel i ft.

Limestone i ft.

Total 53 ft.

The following section shows the depth of the ancient river valle}'

in one of the lowest points, the farm of Wm. Rouse, Southeast

quarter. Section 3, Township 13, Range 5, near northwest corner of

Sugar Creek Township, a region of level, rich, agricultural farm
land:

Section of Ancient Allitviiiin.

Black soil
, 25 ft.

Clay and sand 2 ft.

Gray clay and gravel 10 ft.

Quicksand 3 ft.

Gravel, fine, no bottom 5 ft-

Total 45 ft.
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At Waldron, an elevated station, the ancient fluviatile action is

well developed.
*

Sect10 >i i)i Wclh at Waldron.

Soil and loam 4 ft.

Yellow clay 6 ft.

Sand and gravel
— fluviatile 14 ft.

Grav clav i ft.

Soft eddy clay
—

plants 27 ft.

Sand— snow white i ft.

Flat biscuits— Medina sandstone 3 ft.

Total 56 ft.

In the northeast corner of the county a well bored gives the fol-

lowing :

Section at Gzvynnville.

Soil
'

3 ft.

Yellow clay, Loess? 6 ft.

Sand, Lacustral 10 ft.

Boulder clay 35 to 47 ft.

White (and black magnetic) sand i ft.

Gravel and sand 3 ft.

Total 70 ft.

The ancient and recent alluvium of the river beds gives this ex-

hibit, of alluvial deposits east of the railway in the southwestern

parts :

Section in AUuviiim at Flat Rock Station.

Loamy soil 3 ft.

Yellow clay 10 to 15 ft.

Sand 5 ft.

Gravel i ft.

Gray clay i ft.

Silt— fine clay and sand— Lacustral, deep, still water

deposit 19 ft.

Total 44 ft.

Other wells in the same vicinity find limestone at a depth of

sixty to seventy feet, passing through similar deposits, and show
an extreme erosive depth here.

The " Haw Patch," a great alluvial plain of wonderful fertilit}^,

in the southwestern part of Shelby and the northwestern part of

Bartholomew, has been pierced by wells to a depth of sixty to sev-
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enty feet. It presents a similar general section, indicating, first, the

erosive action and confluence of an ancient affluent to the great

glacial river before Flat Rock River was in existence
; second, the

gradual silting up of the channel by decrease of water or change
of current, and thence the deposit of underlying yellow clays and

loess, during the subsequent lacustral period.

Section in Warner's Well.

Soil 3 ft.

Yellow cla}'
— Loess? . . . 2 ft.

Yellow sand— Loess? 30 to 20 ft.

Black muck 2 ft.

Snow white clay /^ ft.

Dark sand 4 ft.

Dark cla}' ^ ft.

Gravel washed clean 3 ft.

Total 35 ft.

Section in Scoffs Well.

Soil 3 ft.

Yellow clay 3 ft.

Gravel and sand, level of stream 10 ft.

Gravel and dust, absoluteh' dried 27 ft.

Gray clay ^ ft.

White sand >^ ft.

Gravel 3 ft.

Limestone o ft.

Total 47 ft.

These bores show an erosion to a depth of thirty-seven to forty
feet below the present deepest channel of the river. The great-
est thickness of the glacial or bowlder cla^-s are shown in the fol-

lowing :

Section one mile west of Alt. Auburn.

Soil '. 4 ft.

Yellow clay 6 ft.

Sandv clav 10 ft.

Bowlder clay 80 ft.

White sand \ i ft.

Sand gravel 7 ft.

Limestone o ft.

•

Total 108 ft.
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This shows the ancient river bed had a depth of
lift}- feet be-

low low-water mark of Blue River.

Hot Wells.— The construction of deep wells discovered the ex-

istence of thermal water quite unexpectedl}'. Althou^di this fact

has not attracted much attention, it is of economic importijnce. It

is a well known fact that at the level of perpetual spring water a

constant temperature of 52° F. is maintained in this latitude; thence

downward, the temperature becomes higher with regular incre-

ments, and in this State the rate of increase has been found to be 1° F..

for each space of seventy-nine feet of depth. By this law we ma}-,
without estimating the cooling effects of the stony walls of the fis-

sure and the inflow of surface water, safely conclude that a change
of 28° F. indicates the source of supply at a depth of 2,212 feet.

The Shelb3'ville thermal well was put down in December, 1870,
in the east part of the city, near Little Blue River bridge. At a

depth of eighteen feet the water was found to be warm, and at the

bottom, twenty-four feet from the surface, a constant temperature,
winter and summer of 76° was maintained.

The Barlow thermal well is near Barlow's mill. Section 3, Town-

ship 13, Range 6, nearh' four miles west of Shelbyville. An old

well, twenty-three feet deep, at the residence of Henry Barlow, had
been used for household purposes, and was favorably known for

furnishing cold water, 52° F. Suddenly the water became warm,
and no longer desirable; the thermometer indicating 65° F. A
pipe was driven in November, 1870, from the bottom, through fine

sand and pebbles, resting in a bed of gravel, to a depth of sixteen

feet, or thirt3'-nine feet from the surface. The water was found to

have a temperature of 80° F., and during the next winter attained

a maximum heat of 86°. These wells were excavated for potable
water only, and being unfit for this use, were neglected and allowed

to be filled up. If found permanent, these springs will invite the

attention of those needing hot baths, and suggest that it would be

cheaper (and surel}' more efficacious
)
to use the thermal waters of

Shelb}^ County than the distant hot springs of southern regions.
Paleozoic Geology.

—The rocks of this county comprise a por-
tion of the strata of the Devonian and upper Silurian formations,

and exhibit in outcrop a single group of each; the line of de-

markation between the two formations will hereafter be seen to be

the top of the Blue Shale fossil bed.

Devonian Age.— The rocks of this age, although in some force,

generally contain but few fossils, obscurely replaced with calc spar,

as in the Magnesian limestone. No. 5, of general section, east of

Flat Rock Station, at Geneva, and thence to the railway bridge at

St. Paul. These rocks, although unfit for masonry, are of great
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economic importance, as will be seen, furnishing a lime which in-

vites the attention of manufacturers and architects. At a few lo-

calities,^^ at Waldron and a short distance above Geneva, a rubble
stone occurs, in convenient layers between the fossil beds and the

Magnesian limestone, of excellent qualitv and well suited for walls,
hammered masonry, etc., and extensivelv used for fence posts. No
fossils were seen, but it is probably of Devonian age as well, and

together they represent the corniferous group here. These rocks

probably cap all the hills in the southern parts, although hidden bv

clays and soils; it is probable that outliers of the black Marcellus
shale of the Hamilton group ma}' yet be discovered bv deep bores
or wells in the extreme western parts, though now deeplv covered
wath drift soils and consequentlv unseen.

At a few localities in the southeastern corner of the county and
the contiguous portions of Rush and Decatur counties, the iden-

tifying fossils given in the following lists were seen :

RADIATA.

Amplexus yandelli, Blothrophyllum decorticatum, Cvstiphyllum
americanum, C^'stiphyllum sulcatum, CystiphvUum vesiculosum,

Clisiophyllum oneida?nse, Cvathoph\llum corniculum, Cpathophvl-
lum da^idsoni, Cyathophyllum rugosum, Cvathoph^'llum juvenis,

Cyathophyllum scyphus, Cladopora linneana, Diphyphvllum ar-

chiaci, Diphyphyllum straminium, Diphvph^llum simcoense, F^vo-
sites emmonsi, Favosites hemisphericus, Favosites canadensis,
Favosites limitaris, Favosites clausus, Favosites epidermatus,

Heliophyllum exiguum, Stromatopora tuberculata, Stromatopora
nodulata, Zaphrentis conigera, Zaphrentis gigantea, Zaphrentis

unguia.
BRACHIOPODA.

Ambocelia umbonata, Athyris vitata, Atrypa reticularis, Chone-
tes yandelliana, Productus spinulicostus, Rhvnchonlla tethvs, Spiri-
fera angusta, Spirifera segmenta, Spirifera varicosa, Spirifera oweni,

Spirifera euruteines (var fornaculaj, Strophodonta demissa, Stro-

phodonta arcuata, Strophodonta macronata.

PTEROPODA.
Tentaculites fissurella.

GASTEROPODA.

Bellorophon patulus, Euomphalus cvclostomus, Euomphalus
decewd, Lexonema nexile.

CEPHALOPODA.

Cyrtoceras (Sp.?), Orthoceras (Sp.^).
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LAMELLIBRAXCIIIATA.

Conocardium trigonale, Nucula lirata, Pterinea flabellum.

CRUSTACEA.

Phacops bufo.

U^pcr Silurian Fonuation. jViagara Group.
— This formation

is seen almost exclusively in the valleys of the extreme southern

part of the count}-. A single outcrop is reported at low water in

the channel of Blue Ri\er above Shelbvville. Limited in exposure,
these rocks are written all over in symbols of the "life and times"
of silurian seas.

x\ great ocean prevailed. The cool or cold water was of suf-

ficient depth to relieve the bottom life from the pulverizing force of

surface waves. Gentle currents flowed from north to south, as is

shown by the shapes of the cla3--stone concretions, without sufficient

power to carry sand and coarse material. It was filled with marine
life which in death built up calcareous bottoms from the crushed

shells and other organic remains. At the close of this period an

evenf transpired which shows that the occurrences of our day are

but repetitions of the past. A great tidal wave swept across the

quiet sea. Violent currents prostrated the plant like crinoids, or

tore them from their rock-anchored roots, separating the stems in

sections. Impure water came laden with death, and muddv shoal

waters ended the growth of corals, burying all in a sepulchre of

clay, in which they are preserved with wonderful perfection. To
the geologist and student these graves give up their dead to tell

in resurrection how their obedience to the laws of reconstruction,
oscillation and compensation, modif}- and vary the surface of the

earth. Life in this ocean was annihilated, or unfavorable condi-

tions followed, as but few animal remains are seen in the superim-

posed rocks.

The Waldron fossil bed. No. 7 of section, is the grand paleon-

tological bed of the district. It is fovmd with well preserved fossils

at St. Paul, near French's Mills, just below the railway track at the

bridge, thence west at every exposure in the bluffs of Flat Rock,
till it passes beneath low water within half a mile of Geneva, show-

ing a dip west southwest of about fortv feet to the mile. Outcrops
still richer in fossils are found on Deer Creek, and on Conn's Creek
from its mouth to a point a short distance southwest of Waldron.
It is a "Blue Shaly Soapstone," in regular beds, obscurely
laminated, weathering to a light buff. Within its homely out-

crop or breast are hidden the fossils which, to a large degree,
have tilled with beautiful specimens the cabinets of the world, and

as developed have, like some old palimpsest, disclosed the still life

2
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of the past
— a new Rosetta stone giving a key to its history and

cuhninating death. Prof. James Hall, the distinguished geologist
of New York, was one of the first to recognize the importance of

these beds. He has expended large sums of money in their devel-

opment, and more important, has brought to bear the results of

his long experience, wise reasoning, and covered Conn's Creek
localities with a world-wide renown. The followino- is full though
not complete list of fossils obtained to date, at Waldron and St.

Paul, in strata Xos. 7 to 10 of general section, and comprises those

actually in the State Museum:
PORIFERA.

Astylospongia prsemorsa, Ast3dospongia bursa.

POLYPI.

Favosites forbesi (var occidentalism, Favosites niagarensis, Fa-
vosites favosus, Favosites spongilla, Favosites pyriformis, Streptel-
asma spongjaxis, Stromatopora concentrica, Strombodes pentagonus,

Cyathophyllum radicula, Duncanella borealis, Eridophyllum rugo-
sum, Chetetes consimilis, Trematopora infrequens, Trematopora
varia, Inocaulis bella.

CRIXOIDEA.

Cyathocrinus polyxo, Cvathocrinus pucillus, Saccocinus christyi,

Eucalvptocrinus crassus, Eucalyptocrinus ca^latus, Eucalyptocrinus.
ovatus, Rhodocrinus melissa.

BRYOZOA.

Lichenalia concentrica, Fenestella parvulipora.

BRACHIOPODA.

Pholidops ovalis, Eichwaldia reticulata, Anastrophia verneuili,

Retzia evax. Crania siluriana. Crania setifera, Orthis elegantula,
Orthis hybrida, Rhynchonella acinus, Rhynchonella cuneata, Rhvn-
chonella neglecta, Rhynchonella whitii, Rhynchonella stricklandi,

Rhynchonella indianensis, Meristina maria, Meristina nitida. Atrypa
reticularis, Spirifera eudora, Spirifera crispa, Spirifera radiata,

Strophomena rhomboidalis, Strophomena striata.

PTEROPODA.

Conularia niagarensis, Tentaculites niagarensis.

GASTEROPODA.

Platvostoma niagarensis, Platyostoma plebium, Strophost3dus

cyclostomus.
CEPHALOPODA.

Trochoceras waldronense, Ormoceras (Sp.?), Gyroceras elrodi,

Orthoceras annulatum, Orthoceras virgulatum.
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LAMELLIBRAXCHIATA.

jVIodiolopsis subalatus, Amphicoelia leidyi, Pterinea brisa.

ARTICULATA.
Cornulites proprius.

CRUSTACEA.

Cvphaspis christyi, Calymene blumenbachi (var niagarensis),
Dalmanites vigilans, Dabiianites verrucosus, Phacops limulurus,
Licbas boltoni

(
\-ar occidentalis), Ceraurus (^Cheirurusj niagaren-

sis, Homalonotus delphinocephalus.
Tbe state cabinet contains specimens of nearly every 'fossil here

mentioned: hundreds of some species in manv cases, and as crinoid

roots, etc.. individuals of everv aije, from the full-irrown adult to

the tin\- speck, which developed with a lens, discovers the first deli-

cate babvhood of the animal. The "blue limestone" No. 8, is

generally present, but not persistent, and is only in rare cases avail-

able for use. The "cherty limestone'' No. 9, is generally persist-
ent, and is often an important strata, marking the floor of the fossil

bed. Economicall\- it is a drawback, and will so remain until the

demand for permanent roads calls for its use. The "laminated"

quarry beds. No. 10 of section, are of high economic importance.

Geologicallv thev are an argillaceous limestone, slightly magnesian,
of a pale blue color, weathering to light gray, in regular beds varying
from flags two to four or five inches thick, to strata of one or two

feet, all evenlv bedded and readily separated at the partings. The

top and bottom of each strata is thus presented, ready dressed, and

nearlv readv for the mason. It is easily broken with drills and

wedges to dimension stone, and furnishes, cheaply, good flags, rub-

ble and dimension stone in unlimited quantity. A thousand car

loads of this stone were shipped to Chicago in a single season.

Larije amounts of excellent lime are calcined from the St. Paul

quarries, and the whole forms one of the important industries of the

State. The fossils comprise Cephalopods. Orthoceras, Gomphoceras,
Cyrtoceras. etc.. with but few Brachiopods.

Local Dctaih.— Shelbvville, the county seat, is a thrifty young
city, situated on the east bank of the beautiful, clear flowing Blue

River, and is surrounded bv one of the richest agricultural regions
of the State. Broad vallevs, with strong alluvial soils, spread out

an inviting mine of wealth, richer than "true fissures" in the land

of speculation. Knolls and gentle headlands give modest variety
to the landscape, and first class gravel roads radiate to all points
of the compass.

There are no outcrops of the underlying limestones near Shel-

bvville, and but a single one reported in the bed of Blue River.
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Bowlder drift, with striated gravel and rocks, build up the higher
lands and plateaus near. The surface of the adjoining broad val-

le3'S are of fluviatile drift, of the present or ancient river, deeply
coverincT the eroded bowlder drift beneath. The oro-anic matter in

these alluvial soils may explain the presence of "typhoid fevers" in

some districts, and invites the use of water from deep wells or rain-

fall.

Cvnthina, one of the oldest settlements in the county, is situated

on a ridge, which is well up to the summit level of the glacial drift.

In fact, free gravel and sand containing black grains of magnetite,
indicate it was probably the' flood plain in the ice age, between the

sluice torrents which poured down Blue and Flat Rock rivers, in

their ancient volume. A landscape of quiet thrift and beautv is

overlooked from the adjoining Leefers farm, along and across the

valley of Conn's Creek, here ninety-five feet deep, and one or two
miles wide. Manilla occupies about the same elevation, and thence

to Gwynnville the surface is a level, black soil, presenting the char-

acteristics of a lake basin, sometimes still wet and peaty. It con-

tains great elements of fertility, to be made available only bv

drainage. TimbeV is abundant and is marketed at stations on the

railwa\". At Morristown, Blue Ri^•er valley is forty to sixty feet

in depth, and two or three miles in width, full of profitable farms.

At Marion the earliest settlements were made, and the alluvial bot-

toms here produce full crops of corn, wheat and grass. An es-

carped bank of the river, seven miles northeast from Shelbyville,

gives the following:

Section at BiUiumis Farm.
Soil 3 ft.

Yellow fluviatile clay 15 ft.

Glacial blue clay, with planished and striated bowlders and

pfravel 2 1 ft.
fc>

Total 39 ft.

About Fairland, and in fact all the northwestern portion of the

count^', the surface is so level or gently rolling that it can onlv be

characterized as a great farmland plain. The railway onl}' indicates

a difference of level at stations of ten to fifteen feet. Bores put
down at several points find fluviatile sand gravel and alluvium to a

depth of twenty to thirty feet. No further estimate of good re-

turns and profitable farming is needed.

The southwestern and western parts of the county are char-

acteristic vallc}' bottoms, rich in strong, alluvial loams, and highly

productive. The highlands are exceptional, limited in area and
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height. Mt. ]McCrea, with its comrades, north of Marietta, are

sharp, tumular hills, sometimes isolated by cross-flows from the

northern or second glacial flow, they stand as silent monuments of

past natural forces and offer interesting outlooks over broad fields

of thrift. The elevated region at Mt. x\uburn invites the attention

of fruit growers. Surrounded by low valle}'S to which the heavy
cold air settles in times of sudden " cold snaps," these highlands are

largelv benefited by the mitigating and equalizing effects which are

a constant result. It is a romantic scene. East, the valleys of

Lewis Creek and Flat Rock are displayed in level fruitfulness ten

to fifteen miles; west, the alluvial bottoms of Blue River, Sugar
Creek and White River extend to the terraced " Wall Bluff

"
of

the great glacial river, in Johnson County, fifteen to twenty miles

awa\' in the blue distance. At NibeFs Mill, Section 29, Township
II, Range 6, a mile south, the same view is enjoyed over an area

forty bv thirty-five miles, or 1,400 square miles.

St. Paul, at the eastern line of the county, is noted for its exten-

sive quarries and for the great amount of good stone and lime

shipped. The level region heretofore prevailing is here varied b}^

precipitous hills and bold outcrops, which exhibit in different local-

ities a complete series of the rocks seen in the county.

Section at Floyd''s Milh.

Slope and gravel 55 ^^t.

Magnesia (Geneva) limestone— corniferous 2 ft.

Flintv blue Hmestone '^
it.

Rubble stone 18 ft.

Waldron fossil bed, blue shale ^ it.

Grav cherty limestone 14 ft.

To Mill Creek .....

Total
,. 99 ft.

In the western or Shelby County part of the village of St. Paul,

John L. Scanlan employs fifty hands, two compound derricks with

a good equipment of tools, drills, etc., and two powerful steam

pumps, which throw 1,000 gallons of water per minute. The pro-
duct is dimension and cut stone for foundations, piers, building
stone, especially for jails, paving flags and curb stones. The large
demand shows the extensi\e use, and the high estimation placed

upon this material by engineers, architects and the pubHc. The
rubble stone in the upper beds is largely used for calcining. The
waste of the quarry is broken to regular '•'•^gg'''' by a Blake

crusher, driven by a forty horse power engine with a capacity of

preparing one hundred cubic yards a day, suitable for metahng
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pikes, ballasting railways or concrete foundation. This broken
stone is sold in car load lots at 50 cents per cubic yard. The pro-

prietor has also in operation two common kilns for calcining lime-

stone, and one "perpetual burner," haA'ing a combined capacity of

oyer tiye hundred bushels a day. The lime is "hot," of (jood

quality for masonr}', and extensiyely used at the Cincinnati gas
works. We are indebted to P. McAuliff, superintendent, for

specimens and information. The following exhibit was seen:

Section at Scaniaifs ^^farry.

Slope, stripping
— Niagara 6 ft. 00 in.

Gray limestone in 4 to 10 inch strata, used for calcin-

ing, ballast and rubble foundations 30 ft. 00 in.

Stratified limestone, same use 8 ft. 00 in.

Gray flag and dimension stone in strata 4, 6, 8, 10

inches 5 ft. 00 m.

White limestone— may be spht i ft. 4 in.

White Hmestone i ft. 2 in.

Blue dimension stone 10 in.

Choice flags 4 in.

Blue dimension stone, to leyel 3 feet below surface of

riyer i ft. 8 in.

Total 54 ft. 4 in.

The ancient yalley of Flat Rock is two to three miles wide.

Many mounds or hillocks of gra\el and sand exist, showing the

sorting process of flowing water, and we assume that the surface

clay, measuring a yertical height of 100 to 125 feet has been car-

ried away. Great red gneiss boulders of 10, 20, 30, 50, 94 cubic

feet are seen upon the surface, attesting the transporting power of

glaciers or floating ice. One boulder, near Moscow, Rush Count}',
is nine feet long, and nearly the same in cross dimension, including
nearly 700 cubic feet.

Going down Flat Rock the "Waldron" fossil bed is seen a short

distance southwest of town, thence, dipping faster than the fall in

the riyer, each of the subordinate strata pass below the surface

water, and near the mouth of Conn's Creek, the fossil bed ap-

proaches the same level and the yalley widens from a half to a mile

or more. The " Blue Shale
"

fossil bed here is pyritiferous, and on

exposure decomposes, becomes soft, and was borne away by the

flowing water, undermining and breaking down oyerhanging rocks,

which in turn were pulverized by the currents and removed. This

explains the breadth of the valley. At Geneva, where this bed

passes under the bed of the river, precipitous bluffs close in again.
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The Geneva limestone calcined, furnishes a pure, white lime of

superior quality, which thoroughly slakes, works " cool
" under the

trowel, and sets without -•

popping
"

or '^ crick." These qualities

giye an extensive demand beyond the possibilities of wagon trans-

portation, and invite railway competition. Equal to the Utica lime,

near Louisville, it possesses, besides other good qualities, the fea-

tures that it is easily and economically quarried, and being porous,
is calcined with a small percentage of fuel. The output of three

common kilns supplies the vicinage and the few car loads hauled to

the railway at Shelb3-ville.
A similar outcrop, giving the thickness of thirty-two feet of mag-

nesian limestone, is seen at Nelson's Cave Mills, southwest quar-
ter. Section 16, Town ir. Range 7. Opposite the mill, an oval

opening, six feet high by five feet wide, discharges the drainage
from a considerable area of rainfall. Half a mile north of the mill,

a doorway four feet high, leads into a cavern with several rooms,
and a dome is reported to have a height of twenty-five feet, an evi-

dence of the solving power of acidulous rain water acting upon lime-

stone. The Geneva limestone, with all its good qualities, is the surface

rock of the high lands about Wright's, Geneva, Mt. Pleasant, and

especially accessible in the uneroded hillocks, near Norristown,
where it has been used for stoning the turnpike, and thence west-

ward toward Flat Rock Station, at Ensley's ford of Plat Rock, the

upper bed of this limestone is seen, forming the solid floor of the

river, a little over a mile west of the railway station.

Comis Creek.— Waldron is a home-like station on the Cincin-

nati, Indianapolis, St. Louis & Chicago Railway. One of the

highest points in the county on this railway, it has promise of a

salubrious air. The surrounding farmers show thrift in their well

appointed farms and residences. Much of the adjoining region has

a soil made loamy by a generous admixture of sand, and sometimes
underlaid with valuable beds of gravel, indicating the former course

of rivers or irlacial sluiceways. But still more has it crained a wide-

spread reputation, by the discovery long ago of rich beds of fossils

on Conn's Creek. Described and illustrated b}^ the patient zeal and

broad knowledge of Prof. James Hall, State Geologist of New
York, the "Waldron fossils" are known and recognized through-
out the scientific world. Hotels and equipments are found at the

village, and within a mile the first ''•Waldron beds" are to be seen.

Several cabinets of fossils may be visited, of which that of Dr.

Washburn is full of choice specimens.
Without repeating sections it is thought best to give a list of

outcrops with localities, so that visitors may at once reach those not

before mentioned. Mill Creek, northeast part of St. Paul. Rail-
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way bridge, St. Paul. Sullivan's— Bailey's Mill, St. Paul. Car-

lisle's, Section 6, Township ii. Range 7. Cuskaden's, Section 12,

Township 11, Range 7' Fairbank's, on Deer Creek, Section 6,

Township 11, Range 7. For lists of fossils, see (ante) description
of general section.

The ph3'Sical phenomena of Shelby County represent ages of

life, centuries of energy, cycles of time, writing with mightier hand
than wields pen of lead or iron, events on the rocks forever. The
romantic history it tells is of a deep, cold, quiet sea, and unseen life

of mollusk and radiate; it records attending astronomic changes of

climate and time, and leaves a thousand log-books of wondrous

ships of crystal silver, floating on a river-sea of icy water.

Aj-chacologv.
—The only earthworks

b}-" prehistoric man were
seen adjoining the village of St. Paul. A mound thirty-two feet in

diameter, and nearly six feet high, is built on the brow of the ter-

race bluff, overlooking the river in the valley and commanding a

wide view toward "sunrise" between the rocky hills. When ex-

plored it contained human bones, which on exposure, quickly went
to dust. They were covered with flags, supported by a stone wall,

indicating a national vault or grave. Several smaller tumuli, pos-

sibly habitation mounds, were seen near by. Many interesting
stone implements have been found scattered along the valle}' of

Flat Rock River, evincing the taste as well as skill of the ancient

inhabitants, and that if not their permanent home, this was at times

a favorite hunting and visiting localit}'.
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CHAPTER II.

Indian Historv— Early Tribes—The Delawares—Treaty
Ceding Shelby County to the United States— Remin-
iscences -— Miscellaneous Items.

PON the first introduction of Europeans among the

primitive inhabitants of this country, it was the prevail-

ing opinion among the white people that the vast domain
since designated as the American Continent, was peopled

by one common family', of like habits, and speaking the

same language. The error, however, was soon dispelled
bv observation, ^^•hich at the same time established the

fact of great diversity in characteristics, language and physical

delopment, the diversity arising sometimes from one cause and

sometimes from another.

The principal division known at this period is the Algonquin,

embracing among other powerful tribes, the Miamis recognized as

one of the most perfect tvpes, and one of the most extensive on the

continent. Next in rank to the Miamis, if, indeed, they are not

entitled to precedence, are the Delaw^ares.

The Delawares, the tribe with which the history of this county
has to deal, had their homes originallv, savs Schoolcraft, on the

shore of the Atlantic, on the Delaware and Susquehanna and their

tributaries. Here it was that that peaceful hero, William Penn, found

them and made his first treaty wuth them in 1682. They w^ere a

powerful nation, and during the lifetime of Penn lived on terms of

peace with the w^hites. After his death things changed. Prior to

1736, the pow^erful confederacy of the Six Nations had waged suc-

cessful war against one of the divisions of the Delaware tribe, and

had compelled it to acknowledge its supremacy. Claiming that by
right of conquest the}' had acquired the ownership, not only of the

lands belonging to the conquered portion, but of the whole territory
belono-ino- to the Delaware tribe, thev made a treatv without the

knowledge of the rightful owners of the soil, transferring then- pre-
tended title to the whites.

A few years later the Delawares were driven from their homes
and passing beyond the Alleghanv Mountains they built their wig-
wams upon the banks of the river Mahoning in Western Pennsyl-
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vania. Here they sojourned for awhile, but civilization kept up its

westward march, and the sullen savages disdaining- the enlighten-
ment of white men retired constanth' to the gloom and solitude of

their native forests. The next stopping place was Eastern and Cen-
tral Indiana and part of Ohio. Here they remained until by trea-

ties made from time to time, they extinguished their title to all the

rich domain and agreed to go beyond the Mississippi.
The last and most important treaty made with the Delawares

was that of 1818, which is as follows:

Articles of a treaty with the Delawares at St. Marys in the

State of Ohio, between Jonathan Jennings, Lewis Cass and Ben-

jamin Parke, commissioners of the United States, and the Dela-

ware Indians.

Article i. The Delaware Nation of Indians cede to the

'United States, all their claims to land in the State of Indiana.

Article 2. In consideration of the aforesaid cession, the United

States agree to provide for the Delawares a country to reside in

upon the west side of the Mississippi, and to guarantee to them the

peaceable possession of the same.

Article 3. The United States also agree to pay to the Dela-

wares the full value of their improvements in the country hereby
ceded, which valuation shall be made by persons to be appointed
for that purpose by the President of the United States, and to fur-

nish the Delawares with 120 horses not to exceed in value $40
each, and a sufficient of pirogues to aid in transporting them to the

west side of the Mississippi, and a quantity of provisions propor-
tioned to their numbers, and the extent of their journey.

Article 4. The Delawares shall be allowed the use and oc-

cupation of their improvements for the term of three years from
the date of this treat}' if the}' so long require it.

Article 5. The United States agree to pa}- to the Delawares

a perpetual annuity of $4,000, which, together with all annuities

which the United States b}- former treaty agreed to pav them, shall

be paid in silver at any place to which the Delawares may remove.

Article «6. The United States agree to provide and support
a blacksmith for the Delawares, after their removal to the west

side of the Mississippi.
Article 8. A sum not exceeding $13,312.25, shall be paid by

the United States, to satisfy certain claims against the Delaware

Nation. * * *

Article 9.
This treaty after it shall be ratified by the Presi-

dent and Senate, shall be binding on the contracting parties.

In testimony the said Jonathan Jennings, Lewis Cass and Ben-

jamin Parke aforesaid, and the chiefs and warriors of the Dela-
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ware Nation of Indians, have hereunto set their hands at St. Marys,
in the State of Ohio, this 23d day of October, 1818.

"•Jonathan Jennings,

Signed: "Lewis Cass,
" Benjamin Parke."

Ahhough under the provisions of the treaty the Delawares were

permitted to remain in the territory ceded, for three years, there

were but few here at the expiration of that time. Those that re-

mained were peaceable and gave the settlers no trouble. Indeed,

so short a time did they remain after the lirst white settlers came,
that but little mav be said of them in connection with the settlement

of the county. The following reminiscences of the, venerable

Isaac Wilson will serve to show some of the remarkable character-

istics of the noble red man and to w^hat extent they were associated

with them during their brief stay:

"By the terms of the treat}' of October, 1818, the Indians re-

served the right of hunting and trapping in the New Purchase for

the space of three years. And during that period there were occa-

sional encampments of the red men in the various parts of what is

now our countv. Near Marion, James Wilson established a trad-

ing-post, and exchanged coarse cloths, blankets, flints, knives, etc.,

for the furs they brouirht in. Sometimes as many as 100 up
to 150 would come to the post in a single dav. As a gen-
eral thing, thev were quiet and honest neighbors, and gave ht-

tle trouble or uneasiness. During the entire winter of 1819-20,
two Indian families remained encamped wdthin half a mile of Mr.

Wilson's home. Their names were Pishan Quenum and Captain
Canam. Their households consisted only of themselves and their

wives. The latter, having but little to do during the hunting season,

often called on Mrs. Wilson. On one occasion, they and their hus-

bands were invited to tea and to spend the evening. The ladies

arrived first, mounted on handsome ponies and seated upon per-

fectly beautiful side-saddles. The horns of the saddles and also the

neat slippers in the stirrups, were literally covered with graceful
silver bands of their own w^orkmanship. Their toilets consisted of

colored cahco chemise, with rufiies upon the neck, bosom and

wrists, brick-cloth leggins, moccasins highly ornamented with beads

and porcupine quills, together with the indispensable blanket.

Their arms, both above and below the elbow, were encased in sil-

ver bracelets three-fourths of an inch wide; upon their bosoms the}^

wore brooches nearlv as large as an ordinary saucer. At the table,

they and their husbands handled the tea-cups and knives and forks

in a most civihzed manner. In the conversation, but one at a time

took part. A little baby boy of Mrs. Wilson's was the object of
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much caressinfj' to the Indian ladies. When they were about to de-

part, after spending a pleasant evening, one of them took her hus-

band apart, and, after talking and laughing a little, sprang toward
the little babv boy, clasped her hand around the instep of his foot,

then placed the heel between her thumb and forefinger, and ex-

tended her hand lengthwise of the foot, at the same time calling the

attention of her husband, who gave a sort of a grunt, as if to say,
'all rio-ht!' Not lonij:- afterward, when she visited Mrs. Wilson

again, she caught up the babe and put upon its tiny feet a beautiful

pair of moccasins, fitting as neatly as a pair of kid cloves. This

pleasant incident indicates not only the friendly relations that ex-

isted, but also a degree of refinement we do not look for among
the aborigines."

An Indian Captive.
— "In the last incident we saw how amiable

the relations of the Indians to the first settlers were. We will

now narrate a few instances of hostility. Although they were

peaceable and honest generally, yet occasionally they were a little

tricky and disposed to take advantage of' the new-comers. It is

said that when they had been unsuccessful in the chase, the first pig
that came into their way would be seized as a lawful prize. One in-

stance of the kind is told which resulted advantageously to the

w^hite settler. Richard Thornbury, who had settled on the east

bank of Big Flat Rock, where Whetzell's trace crossed that

stream, had a fine lot of hogs ranging in the woods on the opposite
side of the river. Finding their number gradualh' decreasing, he

at length suspected his red neighbors, who were encamped in the

same neighborhood. He therefore concluded to keep watch over

his herd of swine. In a few days his suspicions were proved well

founded. While on rruard in the woods, not more than half a mile

from his cabin, he suddenly heard the crack of a gun and the squeal
of a hog. Approaching the spot from which the noise came as

cautiously and noiselessly as he could, he found an Indian upon one

of his hogs, trying to cut its throat. The hog had made such a

loud noise that the Indian had not percei^'ed the approach of Thorn-

bury until the latter had secured the Indian's gun, which was lean-

incy ajrainst a tree near by. The noble red man was talking to the

hog when Thornbury approached. He would use the English

tongue and then the Delaware in his eager efforts to persuade the

hog to make less noise. The instant he found the white man near,

he sprang up and would have fled; but Thornbury bade him stay,

reminding him that he had both the guns. Upon this the brave

hegan to beg for his gun; he assured Thornbury that this was his

first offense, and that it should be his last: that he was really in

want and had taken no meat for three days, or he would not have
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done this. " No," said Thornbur}',
"
3'ou must stay until I show

you how to stick a hog."* After doing this, he made the Indian

take it upon his sho^klers and carry it across the river upon the

ice, and place it in the dooryard of his cabin. The Indian obeyed

sullenly, and then said,
" Now me go."

" Not yet," said Thorn-

bury,
" YOU must stay until I show you how to clean a hog without

skinning it as you do." So, he had to remain and assist in the

scalding and cleaning. After it was duly hung up, the red man
again modestly interposed,

" Now me go."
" No," said the imper-

turbable Thornbury,
"
you must stay and see me cut him open."

After this part of the operation had been performed, the captive

again interposed,
" Now me go." Again the white man replied,

" Not Yet," and deliberately split the hog in two, right in the mid-
dle. He also commanded the Indian to lash the one half upon his

back. He then returned his gun, and in a pleasant tone bade him

go back to his camp and get his squaw to cook some pork for sup-

per. The Indian was overcome with this kindness and presence of

mind, and afterward tried to show his appreciation and gratitude."
Clirisiiini Indians.— ^ One day a settler, whose cabin was near

the banks of Sugar Creek, where the Indians had come to hunt,
went to them for the purpose of trading dogs. It was the morning
of a beautiful Sabbath day. As he approached their camp, he was

surprised to see them all collected together, sitting upon the ground
in a circle, in the center of which one of their number was reading
out of a book. That book proved to be a New Testament, in the

Delaware language. The settler felt much rebuked when he found
that thev were hallowing the Christian Sabbath bv the worship of

God.
'•Their ideas of Christianity were few and simple, but they were

firm and steadfast in their faith, and stated that they had been con-

verted through the labors of a missionary by the name of McCoy.
"Sometime after the Indians had all gone a famih' of fifteen or

twenty returned, and camped on Lewis' Creek, five miles below

Shelbyville. My recollection is that it was in the fall of 1825; and
as they were some distance from any white man's cabin, and

peaceable, they were permitted to remain and trap raccoon and
muskrat. While there the following occurence took place: One
Lewis Buskirk who had entered and settled on what is now the

Guy Johnson farm, purchased a horse at Lebanon, Ohio. The
"animal escaped from its new master and returned to Lebanon, pur-
sued by Buskirk on foot and alone. After he had been gone sev-

eral day his friends became alarmed because of his continued

absence, and at once concluded that the Indians had killed him.

A company was at once raised consisting of John C. Walker, then
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Sheriff, William George and James Goodrich, J. M. Young, William
Morris, James H. Lee, Nimrod Galewood, and perhaps others, all

well armed, and marched to the Indian camp on Sabbath morning.
To their great surprise they found the red men engaged in religious

worship. They stopped a short distance from where the worship-
pers were congregated, where after the services had concluded

the}^ were greeted by the aboriginal minister who inquired of them

why they carried their arms on Sunday.
" This no good," said he.

"The white men told the Indians there was a man missincr, and
that it was the supposition that they had murdered him, and fear-

ing the result they had come to advise them to leave, which they
agreed to do if allowed three days for preparation. Before the

time had expired they had struck tents and departed for the far

west. Buskirk returned with his horse in a few days, but not un-

til the innocent band of red men were far on their journey west-
ward. Near the house of Esquire Wells, in Marion Township, is

the grave of one of this noble race, and tradition tells that it is

the last resting place of one of the distinguished warriors of the

Delaware tribe. At each recurring anniversary of the death of

this celebrated war chief (if such he was), the remnant of the

tribe that inhabited this section would gather at this consecrated

spot, and the exercises are described by Mr. Wilson as he saw
them in the spring of 1819, and again in 1820.

" Quite a number of Indians came to my father's cabin one brio-ht,

spring morning and borrowed of my mother a coffee pot, into

which they poured a quart of whisky. The}' then proceeded to

the grave, forming a circle thereabout, with the spokesman at the

head. He lifted the coffee pot to his mouth as if in the act of

drinking, and then passed it around the circle three times, each one

pretending to drink of the contents. This having been done they
folded their arms and stood for minutes in the attitude of solemn
meditation or silent prayer. The leader then emptied the con-

tents of the vessel at the head of the grave of the dead hero, after

which the band dispersed."'
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CHAPTER III.

County Organization— Act of the Legislature— First

Townships— Locating the County Seat— Sale of Lots
— Early Acts of the County Board— Reorganization
of To^vNSHIPS—Early Jails

— Court House— Finances—
County Poor— Roads— Railroads—Elections— County
Officers— Medical Society— County Fairs— Local In-

dustries. ^

"'^^^'(^^^ LITTLE more than a quarter of a centur}- after the

-i^^MiC^ colonists had dechired their independence of the

""^^^fe mother countr^•, and hve years after Indiana became a

W^^^^ part of the Union, the Legislature passed an enabling
act whereby Shelby County was organized. The man
in honor of whom the new county a\ as named was Isaac

/g^--^^ Shelby, the first Go\'ernor of Kentucky, a gallant soldier,
"^ * a patriotic citizen, and a pure and just man. The fol-

lowing act was passed and approved in December, 182 1 :

An Act for the formation of a new count}- north of Bartholomew

County.
Section i. Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the

State of Indiana, that from and after the first day of April next, all

that part of Delaware County, contained within the following
bounds shall form a separate county, yiz. : Beginning at the south-

east corner of Section 33, in Township 11 north. Range 8 east, of

the second principal meridian: thence north twenty-four miles, to

the northeast corner of Section 4, Township 14 north, of Range 8

east; thence west seventeen miles, to the southwest corner of Section

2, Township 14 north, of Range 5 east; thence south twent3--four
miles to the north boundary of Bartholomew^ County; thence east

seventeen miles to the place of beginning.
Section 2. The said new county shall be known and desig-

nated by the name of Shelby County, and shall enjoy all the rights,

privileges and jurisdiction, which to separate and independent coun-

ties do and may properly appertain and belong.********
Section 4. The circuit and all other courts of the County of

Shelby, shall meet and be holden at the house of David Fisher, in

said County of Shelb^^ until suitable accommodations can be had
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at the seat of justice; and so soon as said county are satisfied that

suitable accommodation can be had at the county seat they shall

adjourn their courts thereto, after which time the courts for the

County of Shelby shall be holden at the county seat of Shelby

County.*"* * * * * * *

Signed: Samuel Milroy,
Speaker of House of Representatives.

Ratliff Boon,
President of Senate.

Approved December 31, 1S21.

Jonathan Jennings,
Governor.

Coininissioners' Court.— The first term of commissioners' court

was held at the house of David Fisher, near the Town of Marion,
on Tuesda}', April 9, 1822. Richard Tyner, Joseph Davison and

David Fisher having presented certificates of election, received the

oath of office, and immediately organized by electing Richard

Tyner, President. Hiram Alldredge was appointed Clerk of the

Board, and Wilham Davis, County Treasurer, for the term of one

3'ear. The first regular business of the board was the division of

the countv into the following townships: Union, Marion, Hen-
dricks and Noble. An election was ordered held in each town-

ship on the 27th da}' of April, for the election of a Justice of the

Peace, the following places being designated as polling places:
Union Township, at the house of C\'rus H. Stone; Marion Town-

ship, at the house of John Summer; Hendricks Township, at the

house of Eli x\dams, and Noble Township, at the house of Samuel
Drake. After the appointment of Election Inspectors, the board

adjourned sine die. The second special session was held May 13th,

of the same year. Benjamin Hodges w^as appointed
" lister

"
for

the year 1822. A superintendent w'as appointed for each school

section of the county, after which the time of the board was occu-

pied in hearing the petitions for the establishment of county roads.

These petitions w'ere signed by
" divers and sundry

"
citizens, and set

forth in very convincing terms the public utiht}' of the proposed
fines. The prayer of these petitioners was always granted, and

viewers accordingly appointed to survey and report as to the prac-

ticability and convenience of the proposed route.

The Commissioners, George Bently, Benjamin Blj'the, Amos
Boardman, Joshua Cobb and xVbenezer Ward, appointed b\- the

Legislature to locate the seat of justice of Shelby County, met at

the house of David Fisher on the first Monday in July, 1822. They
proceeded to examine the several proposed sites, namely: First,
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Marion, which was the geographical center of the county; Second,
the farm of Isaac Lemaster, who offered a donation of forty acres;

Third, the present site of Shelbyville, where sevent}' acres were

offered, Major John Hendricks, forty acres; James Davison, twenty
acres; and Hon. John Walker, ten acres. After four days of ar-

duous labor, the offer of Messrs. Hendricks, Davison and Walker
w^as accepted, and the present site selected. The decision of the

Commissioners was announced on the Fourth of July, and was re-

ceived bv the patriotic citizens of the county who had gathered to

celebrate that glorious day with shouts of applause, accompanied by
expressions of regret by those who had been disappointed. The
wisdom of the selection was questioned, and the action of the com-

missioners openly criticised by many. At that time, and for many
years subsequent it is said, that the present site of Shelbyville Avas

covered ^^ith water for a considerable portion of each }'ear, while

the other proposed sites were nearer the geographical center and

comparativelv dry.

The Board of Countv Commissioners met in special session on

Juh- 5th, and accepted the report, which defines the boundaries of

land donated in the following language, to-w^it. : "Conunencing at a

stake dividing Sections 5 and 6, in Range 7 east, of the second prin-

cipal meridian, Township 12 north; thence east on Township line

dividing Townships 12 and 13, along the northeast quarter of Sec-

tion 5, township and range aforesaid, supposed to be i6o rods,

more or less; thence south, to inclose twent}- acres. Also twenty
acres on the southeast quarter of Section 31, Range 7, Township
II, h'in"- as follows: Commencin<>- at the southeast corner of sec-

tion aforesaid; thence running north to Blue River; thence down
Blue River to make twent}^ acres. Ten acres in Section 31, Range
7, Township 13, as follows: Commencing at the southwest quarter
of section aforesaid, at the southwest corner; thence east across

said quarter section ; thence north to include ten acres, and that the

said site hereby located shall be known by the name of Shelbyville."
After accepting the report of the Locating Commissioners, the

Board ordered the claim of said Commissioners, amounting to $135?
to be allowed, and that the same be paid out of the first money re-

ceived by the treasurer. Hon. Abel Cole was appointed County

Agent, and directed to have all the west half.of the Hendricks and

Walker donation laid off into town lots, streets and alle3'S.
The

first sale of lots was advertised for September 23, and the terms of

sale fixed as follows : One-twelfth in cash, the balance payable in

three annual installments,
" with interest from date if not paid at

maturity." The price of lots was from $10 to $50, depending on

location. The cash proceeds from the first sale of lots was $i5-755

3
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of which amount $1.75 was expended for whisky to be used on
the day of pubHc sale, and it is said by one who was in attend-

ance that it was not drunk as a beverage, but as a preventative
of the malarial diseases that " flesh was heir to

"'
in those days.

At the January- term of the Commissioners' Court, the

Clerk, Treasurer and Sheriff were each allowed $22 for their

services for one year, which, in comparison with the amount paid
at present, is a very meagre sum. The rates adopted for the reg-
ulation of taverns were: for each meal of victuals, 25 cents; for bed,

6% cents: for horse, at hay, 12}^ cents: for each gallon of grain,

12^ cents;, for each half pint of whisky, 10 cents, and for one-
half pint of brandy, 25 cents. At the same time the countv agent
was ordered to sell to the lowest bidder, Januarv i, 1S25. a con-

tract for the building of a pound, said pound to be 50x50 feet, post
and rail fence six feet high, with gate five feet wide. The south-

east lot of the public square was designated as the location of said

pound, and Benjamin Williams appointed keeper of the same. The
board then adopted the following described seal: To be in the

form of a circle, around the edge of which were the words, Shelby
Count}' Seal, Indiana. In the center of the circle is an eagle

perched upon the head of a lion.

At the September term, 1826, the board made an allowance of

37/^ cents for whisky furnished the countv h\ Smith Wingate,
and ordered that the same be paid out of anv monevs in the treas-

ury not otherwise appropriated. The price of whisky, as estab-

lished b}^ the board, was 10 cents per pint, so it mav be seen that

neither the quantity used nor the amount expended was excessive.

A second allowance was made November, 1827: this was 75 cents,
and brand}- was used at that meeting instead of whisky.

In 1824, the law creating a board of county commissioners was

repealed and a board of justices with similar duties created instead..

The board was composed of justices of the peace from each town-

ship, and organized bv the election of one of its members president,
the clerk of the court being ex-officio secretary. The first board
was composed of the following gentlemen : Alex Vanpelt, Merrv
McGuire, Willis Law, H. H. Lewis, John Kennedy, Nathaniel

Davis, Joseph Hough, James Wray, John B. Morgan, Lewis Hen-

dricks, John M. Goung, David Lavman, David Brawn, Richard

Williams, William Hawkins, Adam Wright, Nathan Wheeler and

Josiah AVilliams. The first meeting was held at the house of Ben-

jamin Williams, and Josiah Williams was elected president. After

four years this law was repealed and the old S3-stem re-established.

Organization of Tozoiiships.
— At the first meeting of the board

of commissioners of Shelby County, held at the house of David
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Fisher, April 9, 1822, the territory of the county was divided into

the following townships: Town 14, formed and constituted the

civil township of Union; Town 13, the township of Marion ;Town 12,

the township of Hendricks, and the Town 11, the township of-

Noble. At a special term held in May of the same year, the

name of Union was changed to Harrison, and that of Marion to

Shelby. Addison Township was organized February 11, 1823;

Sugar Creek, May 13, 1S23; Liberty, March 5, 1827, and Monroe,

May, 1 831; Fleming, Hanover and Moral were other townships
that were organized prior to 1840.

At a regular meeting of the board held on the first Monda}' in

January, 1840, the townships of the county were reorganized and
new townships created—Jackson Township was formed out of the

territory of Township 11, Range 6 east, and all of Township 11,

Range 5 east, lying in said county.
Noble Township.— Township 11, Range 7 east, and that part of

Township 11, Range 8, lying in Shelby County.

Hendricks Township.— All that part of Township 11, Range
5, lying in Shelby County, and that part of Township 12, Range 6,

contained in the following boundary: Beginning at the southeast

corner of Section 34; thence north on the section line to the north-

east corner of Section 3; thence west to the northwest corner

of said township; thence south to the line dividing townships 11

and 12; thence east four miles to the place of beginning.

Sugar Creek Township.— Beginning at the southeast corner of

Section 34, Township 13, Range 6; thence north on section

line to the northeast corner of Section 3, in the aforesaid township;
thence west along the line dividing townships 13 and 14, to the

west line of said cOuntv; thence south to the line dividing townships
12 and 13; thence east to the place of beginning.

Moral Township.—Township 14 north. Range 6 east; that pai't

of Township 14, in Range 5, lying in Shelby County.
Marion Township.— Beginning at the southeast corner of Sec-

tion 23, Township 13 north, of Range 7 east; thence north on sec-

tion line to the northeast corner of Section 35, in Township 14
north, and Range 7 east; thence on section line to the range hue,

dividing ranges 6 and 7 at the northwest corner of Section 31,

Township 14, Range 7; thence south to line dividing townships 13
and 14; thence west two miles to the northwest corner of Section

5, Township 13, Range 6; thence south on section line to the south-

west corner of Section 23, Township 13, Range 6; thence east on

section line to the place of beginning.
Hanover Township.:^

— Beginning on the east line of Shelby
County, at the southeast corner of Section 28, Township 14, Range
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8; thence west on section line to the line dividing ranges 6 and 7
at the southwest corner of Section 30, Township 14, Range 7;
thence north on county line; thence east to northeast corner of said

county; thence south to the place of beginning.
Union Township.— All of Township 13, Range 8, l3^ing in

Shelby Count}- also sections i, 12, 13, 24, 25 and 36, in Township
13, Range 7, and sections 31, 32 and 33, in Township 14, Range
8, and Section 1,6, Township 14, Range 7.

Liberty Township.— All of Township 12, Range 8, lying in

Shelby County, and sections i, 12, 13. 24, 25 and 36, in Township
12, Range 7 east.

Addison Township.— Beginning at the southeast corner of Sec-
tion 35, Township 12, Range 7; thence north on section to the

northeast corner of Section 26, Township 13, Range 7; thence
west seven miles to the northwest corner of Section 26, Township
13, Range 6; thence south eight miles to the southwest corner of

Section 35, Township 12, Range 6; thence east seven miles to the

place of beginning.
Van Buren Township.— Beginning at the southwest corner of

Section 26, Township 14, Range 6; thence east to the line of Sec-
tion 27, Township 14, Range 7; thence east on said line to the

county line ; thence west on said county line to the northwest corner
of Section 2, Township 14, Range 6; thence south to the place of

beginning.

Brand^'wine Township.— Beginning on the range line dividing

ranges 6 and 7 at the northeast corner of Section 36, Township 14,

Range 6; thence two miles west to the northwest corner of Section 35,

Township 14, Range 6; thence one mile south to the township line

dividing townships 13 and 14; thence two mile west on said line to

the northwest corner of Section 4, Township 13, Range 6; thence
south six miles to the township line dividing townships 12 and 13;
thence two miles on said line to the southeast on said line to the

southeast corner of Section 34, Township 13, Range 6; thence
north two miles to the northwest corner of Section 26, Township 13,

Range 6; thence two miles east to the range line dividing ranges 6
and 7 ;

thence north on said line to the place of beginning. Organ-
ized March 7, 1843.

Washington Township.— Beginning on the township line divid-

ing townships 11 and 12, Range 6, at the corner of the northeast

quarter of, and the northwest quarter of Section 3, Township 11,

Range 6; thence running south on said open line of sections 3, 10,

15, 22, and 27 to Flat Rock River, to the count}' line; thence east

on said line to the southeast corner of Section 33, Township 11,

Range 7 ;
thence north on said section line to the township line
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dividing townships 1 1 and 1 2 ; thence west on said Hne to the place
of beginning. Said township was organized on the first Monday in

April, 1845.

Shelby Township.— Beginning at the southeast ccrner of Section

35, Township 12, Range 6, which point is the southwest corner of

Addison Township; thence north on the line dividing the townships
of Addison and Hendricks to the northwest corner of Section 14 in

Si^id township and range; thence east on section line to the north-

east corner of Section 13, and also range line di\'iding ranges 6

and 7 ;
thence north on range line to the northwest corner of Sec-

tion 8: thence east to the northeast corner of Section 14, Town-

ship 12, Range 7; also to the west line of Liberty Township; thence

south on the section dividing the townships of Addison and Liberty
to the southeast corner of Section 35, Township 12, Range 7;

thence west on section line dividing the Township of Addison

from Noble and Washington to the place of beginning. Organized,

June 26, 1882.

yail.
— The necessity of providing a prison for the confinement

of those who refused to obey the laws, became manifest early in

the existance of the county. Indeed, the county had been organ-
ized but a few months until the Board of Commissioners, which

met at the house of Hiram Alldredge, in November, 1822, ordered

that a contract for the erection of a jail be sold on the ist day of

Januarv, 1823. James Gregory was appointed architect, and to

Nathan Johnson was awarded the contract for the erection of said

building. The plans and specifications as prepared by the archi-

tect, provided for a hewed log structure 16x16 feet and two stories

high. The first story was to contain the prison room or dungeon
in which the most vicious class of criminals were to be incarcerated,

while in the second &tOY\ was an apartment less securely con-

structed, and set apart as a debtor's' room. Under this operation
of the law, which was one of the first enactments of the new State,

any person who failed in the payment of his debts, either from

inability or otherwise, might at the pleasure of the creditor be

thrown into, prison. It is remembered by many of the old settlers

that not a few of the most honorable and respectful people were

victims of the law, that like many other relics of the " dark ages
"

had been promulgated by that little band that landed at Plymouth
Rock, in 1620. The location of this building was the northeast

lot of Public square, and cost about $600.
This old structure stood for a few years, when it was abandoned

and a new jail erected on the corner of Harrison and Broadway.
This building was of logs and more substantially constructed than
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the first, and was built at a cost but little in excess of the amount

paid for the first jail.

The contract for the third jail was awarded to John Craig,
Michael West and Jacob Parris, at the March term. of court, 1845.
This building stood near the site of the present jail and was built

of stone. Attached to said jail was a Sheriff's residence 20x24 feet

and tw^o stories high. This building was of a very substantial char-

acter and durinff the thirty-three years of its use there was confined

within its walls some of the most yicious criminals of that period.
In the fall of 1872, in accordance ^vith the instructions of the

board, D. A. Bohlen prepared and submitted plans for a new jail

and Sheriff's residence. In accordance with a notice previously

given the following bids were recorded at the November meeting:
Norris & Hinkley, $55,824; Travis Carter & Co., $70,500;

Wingate & Hester, $55,998; Travis L. Farmer, $55,500, and

Victor & Springer, $54,000. The contract w^as aw^arded to Victor

& Springer. The building is a two-story brick and is ninety-five
feet long and fifty feet wide. The prison apartment is pj'ovided
with eighteen cells and two hospital rooms, while the Sheriff's res-

idence contains nine rooms.
Court House.— Before the location of the seat of justice at its

present site, all county business was transacted at the little village
of Marion. The first courts were held at the house of David

Fisher, but it is authentically stated that when the weather was not

too inclement, the judge and jury would adjourn either to an un-

finished barn that stood near by, or to the top of a large oak tree

which had fallen— the branches answering the purpose of both

bench and jury-box. After the location of the county seat, all

county business was transacted, and courts held first at the residence

of Benjamin Williams, and later the residence of Hiram Alldredge.
The first action taken to\A^rd the erection of a court house was

an order made by the board January, i, 1823, authorizing the county

agent to contract for the erection of a temporary frame building

20x30 feet and two stories high. This order was recorded at a

subsequent meeting of the board, and on the 3d of. July, of the

same year, the aijent was directed to <rive notice that a substantial

brick building would be erected instead. In March, of the follow-

ing year, it was declared to be the sense of the board that the ex-

penditure of a large sum for the erection of a court house was at

that time both unw^ise and inexpedient, and the matter w^as accord-

ingly postponed. The matter was not again considered until March,

1825, when the contract for the erection of a two-story, brick build-

ing fift}' feet wide and sixty long, was purchased b}' William Bush-
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field and Arthur Major, for $2,240. According to the plans

prepared by the architect, John E. Baker, the first story was» set

apart for a court room, and although the furniture and appointments
were in no way extravagant, they served the purpose. The sec-

ond story was divided into four apartments, and was used for

county offices. Tiie house was located in the center of the public

square (which had been but partially cleared of the heavy growth
of trees) and was not completed ready for occupation until 1830.
The present court house was built in 1852, by Edwin Ma}',' con-

tractor, at a cost to the count}' of $27,000. The superstructure is

of brick and stone. The building is two stories high and 100 feet

long and seventy-five feet wide. It was remodeled in 1S78, according
to the plans and specifications of R. P. Daggett, architect. The con-

tract for the reconstructure was awarded Osborne, Carlisle & Jones
for the sum of $31,000. In order to meet the payment of the debt
thus incurred, bonds aggregating $30,000 were issued in denom-
inations of $500, payable in one, two and three years, and bearing
interest at the rate of eight per cent.

Finances.— To give a correct statement of the condition of the

finances for the first decade of the county's history is almost impos-
sible ; but so far as the records reveal the facts its true condition will be
seen in the subjoined exhibit. The principal source of revenue for

the first iew years was from the sale of lots which were donated to

the county as a consideration for the location of the seat of justice
at its present site. The first sale of lots occurred September 23,
1822. The cash received at said sale was $15.75, the balance be-

ing in notes and accounts. The proceeds from the several sales

of lots probably exceeded, in the aggregate, $3,000, but on account
of county agent being a defaulter, the true condition of the funds

could never be ascertained. The first tax levied was in 1822, the

rate upon each horse or mule more than three years old, 37/^
cents; each two-wheel pleasure carriage, $1.00; each four-wheel

pleasure carriage, $1.50; each yoke of oxen more than three years
old, i8)4^ cents; each brass clock, $1,00; each pinch back or silver

watch, 25 cents; and on each gold watch, $1.00. The first collec-

tion of tax was in 1823, and the treasurer's report for said year
shows that there were taxes collected to the amount of $314.75?
merchant's licenses, $7.50, and tavern licenses, $20. The same

report shows that $386.12 was dispersed during the year; thus it

will be seen that at the close of the first fiscal vear there was a cash
-J

balance against the county of $43.87.
The following statement will show the expenditure of the

county revenue for the first and last ten years of the county's his-

tory :
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1823,

1824,

1825,

1826,

1827,

1828,

1829,
1830,

183I,

1832,

$386 12
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and accepting propositions at any time for the keeping of the poor
and others who may at any time hereafter become a county charge."
It ^vas further proyided that the oyerseers should keep a record in

Ayhich should be transcribed the ijames of all persons in their

respectiye townships who were unable to take care of themselyes,
and who in their opinion were entitled to the benefits provided for

the maintenance of those unfortunates. A further provision made
it necessary then to put as apprentices all poor children whose

parents were dead or were found to be unable to maintain them—
males until the age of twenty-one, and females until they attained

the aij^e of eiohteen years.

During the tirst thirty years of the county's history but little

progress was made toward the development of a more practical
method of providing for the wants of the poor and indigent of the

county. For many years succeeding the organization of the county
the farming-out system was adopted by the commissioners, and the

result, while at first satisfactory, later became impracticable. Profit-

ing by the experience of older counties, the commissioners bought
a farm in 1847, upon which was erected a suitable building for the

comfort of the poor of the county. This plan was adopted as a

matter of economy, the purpose being to utilize the personal labor

of such inmates as were physically able to work. This plan was
found to be beneficial because it offered proper exercise for such
inmates, besides contributing to their own sustenance. The county
farm, which was bought of John Lemasters. July 3, 1847, is five

miles south of Shelbyville, in Shelb}' Township. It contains 160
acres and cost $i,8oo. The contract for the erection of a brick

building, 40x20 feet, was awarded to Benjamin & Jackson Maple,
for the sum of $550. As the county increased in population there

was a corresponding increase in the number who were entitled to

its benefactions, and the old building was soon found to be inade-

quate. In May, 1861, the commissioners contracted for the con-

struction of a brick building with enlarged capacity and the

necessary appointments to accommodate all who were entitled to

enter. The annual expense of keeping the poor was for the first

several years merely nominal. According to the records the aver-

age annual expense from 1828 to 1836, inclusive, w'as $140, or an

aggregate, for the period, of $1,260. If this amount be compared
with the following exhibit of annual expenses for the last twenty
years, the contrast will show an alarming increase in this element

of society:
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1867,

1868,

1869,
1870,

1871,

1872,

1873,

1874,
1875,

1876,

$1,213
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no further south than IndianapoHs, but in the latter part of the thir-

ties, was buik to Madison, by the way of Shelbyville.
After many years of experience with dirt roads, which until

1850, were the only public thoroughfares in the State, it was

thought proper to authorize by legislatiye enactment, as man}- older

states had done, the construction of roads whereby the products of

the farm might be transported to meet the demands of trade. In

response to this demand the General Assembly of 1849, authorized

the incorporation of Stock Companies for the construction of Plank
Roads. In all but few of the counties of the State such roads were
built and operated, but after a few years were abandoned as im-

practicable.
Since i860, thei*e has been constructed on all the principal thor-

oughfares leading out of Shelbyyille, as well as on many of the

cross roads in yarious parts of the county, gravel roads, of which
the following is a complete list:

Shelbyyille & Morristown, ten miles: Edinburg, Flat Rock &
Norristown, eleyen miles and a half; Mount Auburn & Lewis

Creek, nine miles and a half: Jackson Grand Road, three miles;

Shelbyville, Flat Rock & Norristown, twelve miles; Hope &
Norristown, one and a half miles; Flat Rock & Waldron, five

and a half miles; St. Paul & Norristown, nine and a half miles;

Shelb}-yille & Cynthiana, four miles; Shelb3'yille & Chapel, seven

miles: County Line & Chapel, rive miles; Waldron & Middleton,
one mile; Shelbyville & Columbus, four and a half miles; Shelby-
ville & Rushvifle, four miles; Shelbyville & Manilla, ten miles;

Lewis Creek & ShelbN-yille, three miles: Shelbyville, Smithland
& Marietta, seven and a half miles: Michiiran Road, six miles;

Shelbyyille & Brandywine, two and a half miles; Brandywine,

Boggstown & Sugar Creek, four miles : Fairland Company, four and
a half miles; Shelbyville & Indianapolis, four miles; Fairland &
Shelbyville, two miles; Fairland & Brand3-wine, one and a half

miles; Northern County, one mile; Brandywine Junction, one mile;

Morristown & Hanover, five and three-fourths miles; Blue River

& Chapel, four miles; Marion Township, five and a half miles;

Morrison Turnpike Company, four and a half miles.

I^ai/roads.— From the year 1822, forward for a series of years,
the qviestion of internal improvements was the all-absorbing theme
of discussion. In his messao-e to the General Assembly, in 1822,
Governor Wm. Hendricks urged strongh' the necessity of construct-

ing state roads, improvement of the rivers, etc. This sentiment
became strong among the masses, and no sooner had the practica-

bility of railroads been demonstrated to the world than there was

among the most intelligent and progressive citizens a desire to give
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it a practical test. The tirst action taken with this object in ^•ie^v

was bv the people of Shelby County, early in the thirties. Judge
Peaslee, at that time a citizen of Shelbyville, was the projector of

the road which extended from the top of the hill in the southeast-

ern suburbs of the city, to Lewis Creek, a distance of one mile

and a half. The road was constructed entirely of wood, and the

car was pulled b}' horses. It was put into operation on the Fourth
of July, 1834, ^^^ passengers were taken the "round trip" for

twenty-five cents. William Ford was the conductor. This was
the beginning of what the projectors hoped would be a line ex-

tending to Cincinnati, but failing to interest capitalists, and not hav-

ing the means of their own, the project was abandoned. This was
the first road, if such it may be called, that was built west of the

Alleghany mountains.

The Shelbyville Lateral Branch, connecting Shelbyville with

the Madison & Indianapolis road at Edinburg, was located in the

year 1S46, and completed in 1849-50. Length 16 miles. Major John
Hendricks was first president. This was the second railroad con-

structed in the State of Indiana, and the third one in the United

States west of Cincinnati — Madison & Indianapolis being the first,

and the Louisville & Portland the second.

The second railroad, the Rushville & Shelb3'yille, nineteen

miles in length, and also the Kni^htstown & Shelbyville, twenty-

five miles in length, were located in 1847, and completed at about

the same time as the lateral branch. The first President and

projector of the Knightstown road was Henry B. Hill, of Carthage.
Dr. Helm was first President of Rushville & Shelbyville road.

The branch connecting Shelbyville and Edinburg, as well as the

Knightstown road, were abandoned after being successfully operated
for a few years. About the time of the abandonment of the old

road, what is now known as the Cambridge City Branch of the Jef-

fersonville, Madison & Indianapolis Road was completed. This inter-

sects the main road at Columbus, and the Pan Handle Railroad at

Cambridge City, and all being under the management of the Penn-

S3-lvania Company, these connections furnish many advantages to

passengers as Avell as shippers.
The Cincinnati, Indianapolis, St. Louis & Chicago Railroad was

commenced at Lawrenceburg, in the fall of 1849, and completed

through 'Shelby County in 1853. It was at that time known as the

Indianapolis, Cincinnati & Lafayette Railroad. The projector and
first President was Hon. George H. Dunn, of Lawrenceburg,
" from whose indefatigable industry and perseverance, Shelby County
has derived more substantial benefit in her material interests than

from the labor of any other sin";le individual in the State." To
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those who will succeed the present generation, and especially to the

farmers of Shelby County, it ma}' be interesting to know that be-

fore construction of railroads, corn was a drug at 10 cents per
bushel; wheat, 35 to 40 cents: pork, $1.50 to $2 per one hundred

pounds, net; good beef steak 21^2 to 3 cents per pound, and other

products in proportion.
The compan}-"s lines (either owned or controlled) gave the peo-

ple of Shelby County direct communication with four of the largest
western cities, viz. : Chicago, St. Louis, Cincinnati and Lidianapolis.
Thus enabling them to transport, directlv, the products of the farm,
factorv and shop to the best markets of the world. Equal advan-

tages are afforded to the traveling public, live trains being run each

way daily. Parlor cars, reclining chair cars and Pullman sleepers
are among the accommodations provided. The C, I., St. L. & C.

with its lateral branch extending; from Fairland to Martinsville via

Franklin; the J., M. & I., and the Cincinnati, Hamilton and Indian-

apolis, which runs across the northeast corner of the county, a dis-

tance of about ten miles, give the people of Shelby County, in the

aggregate, about sixtv-five miles of railroad.

Elections..— The followinii tables of the elections have been

compiled from the county records and other available sources.

None but the Presidential votes are given, and those prior to 1832
could not be found :
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XOVEMBER, 1848.

Moral
Hancrver
Marion
Union
Liberty
Noble
Jackson
Hendricks .

t^ugar Creek . .

A'iilison

Wasliington ..

Braniivwine ..

Van Buren. ...

Totals.... 1,4U

lOCRAT.
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Treasurers.— William Davis, 1822-23; Elijah Mayhew, 1823-
39; Thomas H. Fleming, 1839-42; Levi Lainger, 1842-44; John
Cartmill, 1844-50; Alexander Miller, 1850-54; Isaac H. Wilson,

1854-56; Elias M. Wilson, 1856-60; Andrew J. Winterowd, 1860-

62; Wilham M. Phillips, 1862-66; Fountain G. Robinson, 1866-70;

James M. Sleeth, 1870-74; James O. Parrish, 1874-79; E. B. Ami-
den, 1879-83; David TuU, 1883-85; Michael Posz, 1885 to present.

Comniissioners.— William Goodrich, Calvin Kinsley, Alexander

Vanpelt, Elias Millikin, Elijah Tyner, David Fisher, Joseph Daw-
son, Adam Mow, Ashbel Stone, V. Conover, John Sleeth, James
Robertson, W. A. Doble, Hugh Campbell, George Conger, Jacob
Fox, John Kern, Gideon Stafford, James Rule, Thomas Clayton,
Samuel Montgomer}-, Henr}' Buck, Moses P. Higgins, Alexander

Cory, J. J. Curtis, John McConnell, George W. Davis, William S.

Ensley, C. Girton, George Senior, Edmund Cooper, St. Claire En-

siminger, Louis Fessenbeck, Ithamer Davison, N. Bailey, D. T.

Culbertson, A. P. Wortman, George Cuskaden, Hiram Drake,
W. H. Barlow, H. H. Torhne, J. S. Carpenter, Alfred Fox,

J. W. Harrell and Michael Garling.
State Senators.—James Gregory, 1825-31 ;

Thomas Hendricks,

1831-34; William Fowler, 1834-36; John Walker, 1836-40; Joseph
B. Nickall, 1840-43; John Y. Kennedy, 1843-46; Augustus C.

Handy, 1846-49; James M. Sleeth, 1849-53; George W. Brown,
1853-57; Davids. Gooding, 1857-61; Martin M. Ra}', 1861-65;
James L. Mason, 1865-69; Thomas G. Lee, 1869-71; Oliver J.

Glessner, 1871-75; R. M. Slater, 1875; C. B. Tarlton, 1875-79;
T. M. Howard, 1879-1887.

Rerprcsentatives I'ji Indiana Legislature.
— Thomas Hendricks,

1823-26; Lewis Morgan, 1826-27; John Smiley, 1827-28; Sylvan
B. Morris, 1828-29; Rezin Davis, 1829-30; John Smiley, 1830-31;
Sylvan B. Morris, 1831-32; Rezin Davis, 1832-34; Jacob Shank,

1834-35; John Walker, 1835-36; Erasmus Powell and Edward
Gird, 1836-37; WiUiam J. Peaslee and Joseph B. Nickoll, 1837-38;
WilHam J. Peaslee and Erasmus Powell, 1838-39; William W.
McCoy and Joshua B. Lucas, 1839-41 ;

in the session of 1839, Wil-
liam J. McCoy and Balis Coats; in the session of 1840-41, William W.
McCoy and Joshua B. Lucas; John Hendricks, 1841-42; Fletcher

Tevis, 1842-43; Augustus C. Handy, 1843-45; James M. Sleeth,

1845-46; James M. Sleeth, 1846-47; William Major, 1847-48;
Thomas A, Hendricks, 1848-49; George W. Brown, 1849-51;
William Major, 1851-54; Samuel Donelson, 1853-55; Thomas A.

McFarland, 1855-59; John L. Montgomery, 1859-61 ; Jacob Mutz,
1861-65; James Harrison, 1865-67; George C. Thatcher, 1867-69;
Isaac Odell, 1S69-71 ; James J. Curtis, 1871-73; Samuel D. Speell-
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man, 1873-75; William Patterson, 1875-77; Cris Gerton, 1877-79;
Squire L. Vanpelt, 1879-81; Edmund Cooper, 1881-83; J^^cob

Mutz, 1883-85; Thomas Hoban, 18S5-87; Charles Major, 18S7-89.
Joint Representatives.

— N. B. Berrvman, 1880-82; B. S. Sut-

ton, 1882-84; Sid. Conger, 1886-88.

Clerks.— Hiram Aldredge, from 1822 to 1829; S. B. Morris,
from 1829 to 1843; Jacob Vernon, from 1843 to 1855; Alexander

Miller, from 1855 to 1859; William C. Miller, 1858-1859; Alonzo

Blair, from 1859 to 1867; Jacob G. Wolf, from 1867 to 1871; John
Elliott, from 1871 to 1875; B. S. Sutton, from 1875 to 1879; Fred.

H. Cheuden, 1879-1883; A. J. Gorgas, 1883-1886; Chas. J.

Fastlaben, 1886; T. S. Jones, present.

Sheriffs.— Sevier Lewis, 1822, died in office; Isaac Templeton
appointed to serve unexpired term; John Walker, from 1826 to

1830; Jacob Shank, from 1S30 to 1834; Elisha Baker, 1834-38;
John Stewart, from 1838 to 1842; Apollo Kinsley, from 1842 to

1844; Alexander Miller, from 1844 to 1848; William Wood, from

1848 to 1854; S. L. Vanpelt, from 1854 ^o 1858; H. H. Bogess,
from 1858 to i860; Henry Doble, from i860 to 1864; E. B. Ams-
den, from 1864 to 1868; John Hoop, from 1868 to 1870; Ithamar

Spurlin, from 1870 to 1872; T. H. Lee, 1872-76; Albert W.
McCorkle, 1876-1880; James Brown, 1880-1882; Sid. Conger,
1882-1884; James Magill, 1884-1886; Henrv Meer, 1886-1888.

Cireuit Jiidq-es.— W\\\n\m W. Wick, 182-2; B. F. Morris, 1825;
William W. Wick, 1835; James Morrison, 1839; William J. Peas-

lee, 1843; WiUiam W. Wick, 1850; William M. McCarty, 1853;
Reuben D. Logan, 1853; Jeremiah M. Wilson, 1866; S. P. Oyler,

1869; D. D. Banta, 1870; K. M. Hord, 1876.
Associate yiidgcs.

— John Sleeth, Wm. Goodrich, 1822; Joseph
Dawson, 1825; A. Wilhams, 1826; L-a Bailey, Thomas Cotton,

1836; Joshua B. Lucas, 1843; Jacob Kennerly, 1S50; Deivid

Thatcher, Calville Pierce, 185 1.

Probate yiidges.
— Erasmus Powell, 1822-36; Jacob Kennerly,

1836-43; William H. Sleeth, 1843-50; Cyrus Wright, 1850-53.
Common Pleas.— Jas. M. Sleeth, 1853; Geo. A. Buskirk, 1861;

O.J. Glessner, 1865; Tos. W. Wollen, 1868; R. L. Coffey, 1870.
Coroners.— Major John Hendricks, Major Joseph B. Nickel,

John Dargin, William Rock, James Marshal Elliot, Edward Win-

chel, William Richard Norris, John Hoop.
Surveyors.— William H. Miller, (Jerry) Jeremiah Dugan,

Charles F. Webster, George S. Murphy, William H. Isley, Thomas

Finley.
Medical Profession.

—^The practice of the "healing art" has an

antiquity co-existant with the prevalence of diseases to wkich the

4
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human famil}' have been subject in all time past, and the degree of

proficiency attained has always depended upon the activity and zeal

of the members of the profession. To secure the knowledge indis-

pensable to the proper treatment of human ailments and the restora-

tion of the organic functions to their normal condition, union of

effort and mutuality of counsel have been universallv acknowledged
as essential. This would suggest the necessity for the organiza-
tion of societies in which members may meet, and bv a comparison
of individual experiences deduce the most practical methods.

Early in the fifties an effort was made by a few of the leading

physicians of Shelbyville to organize upon a pernament foundation,
and although the organization was effected its existance was but

temporary.
What was known as the Shelby County Medical Societv, with

headquarters at Morristown, was organized April 3, 1854. ^^e
membership of this society was made up of the following phvsicians
who lived in the northern portion of the countv: D. S.McGauhev,
J. G. Wolf, J. M. Adams, J. H. Spurrier, F. M. Pollitt. W. W.
Rigdon and T. M. Stevens. The first officers were Dr. D. S.

McGauhey, President; J. M. Adams, Secretary : J. G. Wolf and
W. W. Rigdon, Censors: and J. H. Spurrier, Treasurer. This

organization continued until 1864, a period of ten years, when it

disbanded and has never since been revived.

Of the early history of the profession, but little can be said.

There having been no early organization, there is in consequence
no record from which the data may be obtained. It is remembered

by the oldest residents that the first to offer his professional ser-

vices to the people of Shelby County was Dr. James Kipper, who
came probably, as earh' as 1820. He was a man of verv ordinarv

abilitv, with very little professional learning, although he is said to

have been reasonabl}- successful in the treatment of diseases most

prevalent in those da3's. Dr. Sylvan B. Morris came the following

year, 182 1, and opened an office in the house of Alexander Van
Pelt, at the mouth of Conn's Creek. The next year, 1822, he

moved to Shelbyville, where he remained until his death, 1843.
Dr. Morris was a native of Pennsylvania, but spent the greater

part of his boyhood davs in Warren County, Ohio. He was one

of the best educated of all the early physicians of the county, be-

ing a literary graduate of Lebanon Academy, and a medical grad-
uate of the famous Jefferson Medical College of Philadelphia.
Dr. John T. Kennedy came in 1828. He was a surgeon in the

War of 181 2, a man of much intellectual force and a very success-

ful practitioner. Drs. Archibald Smith and Edward Beall came a

few years earlier.
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Others who may be classed among the pioneer physicians are

as follows: Drs. Harrison (a son of Gen. Harrison), Nathaniel

Teal, Homberg, Cummins, Davison Gaskell Free, W. W. McCoy,
Albert G. Webb, John Forbes. George Fleming, Charles Fishback,

Graham, Sanders, Cull, McGauhey, Elder, Milton Robins and
Samuel D. Day. The two last named are still living in Shelbyville.

In the history of the profession in Shelby County there is little

that ma}' be said. The incidents of the early practice are similar

to those of all western communities. Milk sickness, a disease

now unknown to the profession, was prevalent in some localities in

the latter part of the thirties. Of the disease, but little was known,
further than that it was by drinking the milk or eating the meat of

cattle that were atflicted with a disease of the same name. The
disease was not necessarily fatal, but the rate of mortality was con-

siderable. In 1845, the black tongue prevailed; cholera in 1850;
a malignant form of dysentery in 1851, and cholera again in 1866.

The "• chills and fever," was the most prevalent, and gave the set-

tlers the most inconvenience. It was a terror to new-comers; in

fact but few of any class escaped. It was not contagious, but de-

rived from impure water and air, which are always developed in

the opening up of a new countr}-. The impurities were absorbed

from day to dav until the whole body became saturated with the

poison, and then the shock came. It had a fixed beginning and

ending, coming, generally, on alternate days with a regularity that

was surprising. After the shock came a fever that was burning-
hot and lasted for hours. When a person had the chill, he

couldn't get warm, and when he had the fe\'er, he couldn't get
cool. The patient felt languid and stupid; back was out of fix, the

head ached and the appetite was crazed. The eyes had too much
white in them, the ears, especially after taking quinine, had too

much roar in them, and the whole bodv and soul were entirely woe-

begone, disconsolable, sad, poor and good for nothing. It is

claimed bv one of the pioneer physicians that there was not a sin-

gle person who Hved in the county, during the decade of the fifties,

that was not a victim of this malady. The patients, after a long
continued struggle, became weak, emaciated and thin, and the fol-

lowing can hardly be said to be a picture of the imagination :

"And to-day the swallows flitting,

Round my cabin see me sitting;

Moodily within the sunshine,

Just inside my silent door;
\yaitinaf for the '

Ager,' seeming
Like a man forever dreaming;

And the sunlight on me streaming.
Throws no shadows on the floor;

For I am too thin and sallow,
To make shadows on the floor—

Nari' a shadow any more."
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Those physicians who have obtained hcense to practice in the

county under the operations of the acts of Legislature of 1885, ^r^

as follows: W. T. Knapp, the Starling Medical College; T. C,

Kennedy, Kentucky School of Medicine; Morris Drake. Ohio Med-
ical College; W. G. McGadden, Jefferson Medical College, Phila-

delphia; J. E. Inlow; W. M. Pierson, Lidiana Medical College;
Geo. W. Fleming, Bellevue; R. R. Washburn; W. W. Keehng,
Ecleclic Institute, Ohio; W. B. Gordon, Ohio Medical College;
W. F. Green, Rush Medical College; John W. Snider, Rush Med-
ical College; H. Comstock, Ohio Medical College; S. A. Kennedy,
Ohio Medical College; W. M. Ford, University of Louisville;
I. W. Trees, Indiana Medical College; James K. Stewart, Ohio
Medical College, John W. Parrish, Eclectic Institute; H. Wrav,
H. Smith: Joseph Bowlby, Ohio Medical College; R. M. Floyd;
Thomas K. Rubish, Indiana Medical College; J. N. Lucas, Medi-
cal College, Cincinnati; James A. Comstock, Rush Medical Col-

lege; John F. Maddox, Eclectic Medical College; J. R.Jenkins,
Miami Medical Institute; Fredrick Dickman; I. H. Drake, Hudson
Medical College; T. J. McClain, Indiana Medical College; I. W.
Inlow; James M. Adams; John Lov\den, Eclectic Medical College,
Ohio; S. S. Salisbury; Samuel A. Kennedy, Ohio Medical College;
John Perry, Cincinnati Medical College; M. K. Gilmore, University
of Michigan; J. P. Robins, Ohio Medical College; J. G. Wolf,

Jefferson Medical College, Penns3'lvania; G. G. Winter; R. D.

Ravnes; James W. Green, Rush Medical College; John E. Mc-

Gaughe}', Bellevue Hospital; J. M. Larimore, University of Iowa;
H. M. Connelly, Indiana Medical College; M. P. Howard,
Sr., Indiana Medical College; T. S. Jones, University of Penn-

sylvania; F. F. Whetzel, Indiana Medical Colleg-e; J. H. Al-

exander, Ohio Medical College: J. P. Howard, Jr., Indiana Med-
ical College; F. M. Howard, Cincinnati College of Medicine and

Surgery; J. W. Howard, Medical College of Indiana; Ira C. Fisher,
Medical College of Indiana; D. J. Ballard, Cincinnati College of

Medicine; George S. Crawford, Medical College of Indiana; J. W.
Spicer, Cincinnati College of Medicine; John F. Taylor, Ohio Med-
ical College; Emma E. Colem.an, Eclectic Medical College; G. P.

Ruby, New York Homeopathic College; John B. Stewart; W. R.

Bentley, Homeopathic Medical College; J. H. Sanford; J. W. See-

man, Indiana Medical College; H. W. Hendricks, American Medi-
cal College; Robert S. McCrav, Indiana Medical College; T. H.

Rucker; Edward F. Wells, Indiana Medical College; D. A. Pete-

grew, Indiana Medical College; U. Stackhouse, Indiana Medical

College; William T. Shrout, Eclectic Medical College, Richmond,
Va.; James Carter, Indiana Medical College; Charles A. Tindall,
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Eclectic Medical College, Cincinnati; E. W. Leech, Eclectic In-

stitute, Cincinnati.

Agricultural Societies.— The most important of the occupations
into which the labors of mankind are divided is that of aijriculture.

This is true not only because a larger per cent, of the population is

engaged in tilling the soil, but because it forms the basis of the pros-

perity of ever}' country. It has long since been conceded that intel-

ligence is as necessary on the part of those engaged in the cultivation

of the soil as in the other vocations of life. It is for the dissemination

of knowledge and the diffusion of better methods amono- the far-

mers that agricultural societies have been established and maintained

throughout the State. There is no doubt that through the agency
of these societies, great changes have been wrought during the

latter half of the present century. No considerable progress was
made in the organization and maintenance of agricultural societies

until the enactment of a law, February 14, 185 1, providing for the

encouragement of the same. A State Board of Agriculture, with
Gov. Joseph A. Wright as President, was organized pursuant to

this act, and throuirh the influence of said board many district and

county societies were formed.
The preliminary arrangements for the organization of an agri-

cultural society in Shelby County, were perfected at a meeting held
in the old court house in the summer of 1848. Forty acres of land

lying southeast of the present site of the Shelby distillery was pur-
chased by the association, and the lirst fair was held, probably, in

the fall of the following ^ear, 1849. After the enactment of Feb-

ruary, 1 85 1, went into effect, an association was organized on a

different basis. The following historical sketch of the society was
contributed to the report of the State Board of Agriculture, for 1854,

by L. J. Hackney, Esq., Secretary of the Association:
" I have had an opportunity recently to observe in abstract form

the progress of agriculture in this county since the 25th day of

October, 1851, when the citizens friendly to agricultural improve-
ment met at the court house and selected Rev. David Whitcomb
to preside over the meeting, and David Thatcher, then editing and

publishing the }\)Iiiiitcer, was chosen secretary. A societ}^ was
formed, and November i, 1851, the venerable judge J. M. Sleeth,
for a committee, reported a constitution, and Thomas A. Hendricks,
Martin M. Ra}- and James ElHott, reported by-laws. A librarian

was one of the officers of the society, and it was made his duty to

subscribe for all such books and periodicals for the use of members
as might be ordered, and to keep a register of the receipt and the re-

turn of the same by members. A committee was required to furnish

two columns of agricultural newS weekly to the Volioifecr, and the
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librarian ordered to subscribe for the Cultivator, '^1.00; Horticiiltur-

alist, $3.00; The PIozv, 50 cents; The Prairie Farmer, $1.00: The

Plow, the Tooni and the Anvil, $2.00; Western Horticidtural Pe-

viezc', $3.00; Ohio Agriculturalist, $1.00: 'Journal of Agriculture,

$2.00; Pennsylvania Farm yournal, $1.00; American Farmer,
$1.00; Iiidiana Farmer, $1.00; Ohio Cultivator, $1.00. On the

first Saturday in Februar}', 1852, Governor Wright and W. T.

Dennis, addressed the societ}'. In the moldy old volumes \\here

this record is found, is a list of the premiums offered at the first

fair of the pioneer society and it covers less than five and a half

pages, written, in the book, 8x10 inches, and comprising farms,

crops, horses, jacks and mules, cattle, hogs, sheep, fowls, fruits,

farming implements, flov.'ers and domestic manufactures. In the

first is a sensible award, though abandoned b}' modern manage-
ment, ' the best arranged and cultivated farm, a silver cup worth

$10; for second best, Stephen Farm book and a diploma.'
The Farmers' Encylopedia, Coleman European Agriculture, Ameri-
can Farm Book, silver cups, spoons and butter knives, etc., consti-

tuted the premiums. In 1852, and 1853, these pages show that

much annovance was experienced by
'

huckstering near the fair

grounds.'
"The progress of the societ}- during 1853, was reported to the

State Board, showing great advancement by the "
offering of 188

premiums, of which 120 were awarded, their cost being about $400,
of which $230 is silverware, and the remainder in books and bound
volumes of periodicals on agriculture and hundred topics." The
score and a half of 3'ears, since this remarkable manifestation of

agricultural interests, have brought us much of which to be proud.
We have a ground, upon which there are permanent improvements
of more than $10,000 in value, and the fair of the past season paid
in cash premiums fully $5,000, and received in entry fees, privileges
at the gates, amphitheater, and from stalls, $6,280.66, having paid
more money for building forty new stalls than all the awards of

our brethren of 1853, amounted to. Their efforts were laudable,
and probablv more productive of good results than ours of this day,

considering and comparing the circumstances affecting both. Cer-

tain it is, that we are reaping the harvest of prosperity, that have

grown from the seeds of industry and hardships sown by them."

The present societv is a joint stock association, and was organ-
ized in 1874, with about 300 shareholders. The grounds which
are just outside the citv limits is the property of the county, but all

improvements were made by and belong to the association. The
value of both grounds and improvements is probably $12,000.
This fair under its present management is one of the best in the
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State, which is due to the energy and business-like management of

its othcers.

Prominent among those who have contributed much to the success

of the society since its organization the following names deserve

special mention: John Blessing, Jacob Mutz, Christopher Girton,

S. L. Van Pelt, Albert Gorgas, David Conger and L. J. Hackney.
Beside the above association the people of Shelby County con-

tribute much to the success of the following district fairs: Shelby,

Johnson, Bartholomew and Brown, Shelby and Rush.

The Shelby County Live Stock Association was organized in

1886, with H. B. Cole, President; D. H. Thompson, Vice Presi-

dent; Walter Elliot, Secretary, and William Kinsley, Treasurer.

The principal public sales that have taken place within the county
were that of T. A. Colton & Son, Wednesday, June 15, 1887; and

that of Madison Talbert, W. R. Zike and R. H. Phillips, June i6,

1887.
Poultry Farmino-.— This branch of industry has since its in-

ception, but a few 3'ears ago, grown to vast proportions. To Hon.
Sid Con<rer is due the credit of first conducting the business of

"
fanc}- poultr}^ raising," on a large scale. He began the business

in 1875 ^^'^th two Partridge Cochin pullets, given him by a friend,

to which by purchase he added a cockerel, and with this begin-

ning he laid the foundation of a business which is at present one of

the most extensive in the west. In 1S77, Mr. Conger added to his

stock the Plymouth Rocks, Buff Cochins, and later the WN^an-

dottes, and in the same year began exhibiting at the fairs of Cen-

tral hidiana. He has since exhibited at the principal fairs of the

United States, and in 1885, won man}^ prizes at the World's Fair

at New Orleans.

So great has become the reputation of Mr. Conger that he has

sold a single chicken as high as $150, and a pen consisting of six

females and one male for $500. Starting on a rented farm and with

no means save what was borrowed, he has by his energy, integrity

and correct business methods increased his business to such an ex-

tent that his patrons may be found in every State and Territory in

the Union, besides Canada and England, and his sales of poultry
and* eggs for the year 18S6, aggregated but little less than $9,000.

Other growers of fancy poultry who deserve mention in this

connection, althouirh not so extensively engaged, are, T. E. Good-

rich, Ph-mouth Rocks; Justus Clapp, Light Brahmas; James K.

Bowers, Light Brahmas; Robert Hale and Charles Cage, of Shel-

byville, and Frank Cory, of Morristown.
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CHAPTER IV.

Early Settlements— The Ixdl\x Trader— First Set-

tlers, AND Where They Settled— Early Land Sales— The Log Cabin—Early Milling— First Crops—Wild
Animals— A Reminiscence— Snakes— Trade and Com-
merce— Amusements— Incidents. Etc.

LEASAXT it is, vet sad, to recall the scenes of the

past. Pleasant, because we see the faces of dear ones;
sad, because the picture is unreal and will vanish like the

mists of morning. Could the scenes of sixtv vears ago be

reproduced the reader would behold a series of tableaux
in \\hich would be seen the unknown loir hut, its crevices

tilled with clay, the stick chimnev, the broad tire place,
the rough, unseemly furniture and the small clearing. Such pictures
were most familiar to the pioneers, and yet under all those uncom-
fortable circumstances they were happy and contented and enjoved
life to the utmost. Some have lived to note the changes and im-

provements made since the first white settler pitched his tent on the

bank of Blue River, now sixty-nine years ago. They have seen

the " wilderness rejoice and blossom as the rose," savages and wild

beasts disappear, the log cabins changed into the comfortable and
luxurious homes, and thus, in the great transformation presented

they have witnessed the culmination of civilization and refinement.

While a few of the heroes of pioneer times still remain, manv
have passed awav, and with them the landmarks thev erected. A
few of the pioneer incidents have been preserved and cherished, but

man is mortal and the memorv weak and uncertain, hence much of

the early history is buried in eternal oblivion. At the time of the

admission of Indiana into the Union, that portion which is now
Shelbv Countv, as well as a very large tract in the Eastern and
Central part of the State was in possession of the Delaware Indians.

Their title to the lands was not finally extinguished until Oct(5ber,

i8i8, as ma}' be seen in a foregoing chapter.
Prior to this time but few white men had ever set foot on the soil

of Shelby County. It is quite probable that the first white men to

cross this territorv were the French traders, who dealt largeh' with

the Delawares, and whites traveling from Detroit to Vincennes, by
way of Old Fort Valonia, in Jackson County: it is reasonable to con-

clude that thev followed the White Ri^•er and its tributaries and thus
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passed through the section now contained within the bounds of

Shelby County. The lirst who is positively known to have entered
the territory was William Conner, an Indian trader, who at that

time had a trading post at the present site of Connersville. Early
in 1 816, he floated down Flat Rock River in a small boat filled

with such goods as he might exchange with the red men for their

peltries. Later he traveled along the course of Blue River and to

the bands that camped along its banks he became a welcome guest.
Mr. Conner, who is often called the father of Central Indiana, was
a typical frontiersman and being familiar with the customs and
habits of the Indians, he was able to render valuable service to

General Harrison during his struggle with the natives in the early

part of the century.
No sooner had the news of the consummation of the treatv with

Delawares, at St. Mary's, reached the settlement in Franklin

County, than did Jacob Whetzel start out for the new El Dorado,
blazing a road from Brookfield to the bluffs on White River.
This blazed way, long known as Whetzel's trace, passed through
Shelhy County in a northwesterly direction, crossing Big Blue
River about four miles and a half north of the present site of Shelby-
ville. The Whetzels, Jacob and Cyrus, with their families, returned
to the bluffs of White River in 18 19, and permanentlv settled there.

Richard Thornberry settled at the point where Whetzel's trace

crossed the Flat Rock, now in Rush Countv. James Wilson, ac-

companied by a man by the name of Logan, and another by the

name of Hanna, followed the trace to where it crossed the Big
Blue River, and after selecting the site of his future home, returned
to Fairfield, Franklin County, where he then resided. After a brief

stay with his family, he returned to the wilderness, accompanied by
his three sons, William, Jonathan and Weslev. Thev at once

began to fell trees with which to construct a cabin home, and
for the first time the wood-man's ax sent its peaceful echoes

through the forest. Log was placed upon log until a cabin,
16x16 feet in dimensions, with slab floor, stick and clav chimnev,
and big fire place, was completed. The location of this cabin
was in Section i6, Marion Township, about 300 vards south of

where Squire Wells now lives. After the cabin was under roof,

leaving the boys to complete the work, Mr. Wilson returned and

brought the first load. Remainino- but a few davs, he returned to

the old home at Fairfield, reaching there late in December. Prep-
aration* were at once begun to move the familv, and on the New
1 ear's day, 1819, father, mother, Isaac H. (then a boy of twelve

summers), four little sisters, and the baby boy, bade farewell to the

old home and the friends who had gathered, and began the journey
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to the forest home. A deep snow had fallen and the dav was se-

verely cold, the creeks were frozen over, which enabled them to

cross without dithculty, until they reached Flat Rock, where the

wheels broke through the ice, but after much dela}' it was extri-

cated. After a tiresome and tedious journey, they reached the

cabin about lo o'clock in the night of the third day. The boys, in

anticipation of their coming, had roasting, before the great tire place,
some of the choicest venison, and when the supper was prepared,
and the interesting group gathered around the table, who will say
that with all their lack of comforts, with all their pinching poverty
and all their isolation, the}' were not happy?

The next to pitch his tent in the wilderness was Bennett Michael,
a shoe-maker. He had for years followed his trade, but with in-

different success at the old home in Fairheld. He came at the

solicitation of Mr. Wilson, who had provided for him a small cabin

a few vards south of his own residence. In the spring of 1820,

Benjamin Kaster, John Foeman,John Smith and Henr}- Fishel, with

their families, came and settled on the school section in Marion

Township. Later, in the same year, David Fisher, Balser Fox,

James Grier, Benjamin Hodges, Adam Rhodes, John Sleeth, Caleb

Sleeth, W. H. Sleeth and Abel Summers, came and squatted in

and around the town of Marion. The land was surveyed b^' the

government immediatelv after its acquisition by treaty, and the dif-

ferent parties who did the work in Shelby County, with date of its

completion, were: W. B. Laughlin, July 23, 1819; A. Wallace, July
23, 1819: B. Bentlev, May 31, 1819; Abraham Lee, Julv 22, 1819;
John Hendricks, April 20, 1820. The government land office at

Brookville was opened for the sale of the land on the first Mon-
day in October, 1820; and immediately afterward settlements were
made in various parts of the county almost contemporaneously.
It is claimed that two squatters, Joseph Hewitt and Firman Smith,
had come into the territory, now^ occupied by Hanover Township,
as early as the latter part of 1819, and began to carve out homes
in the dense forest. Thev were soon followed bv Joshua Wilson,
Richard Tvner, James Griffin, Josiah Glover, William Johnson,
Rezin Davis, Seth M. Cole, David Calken, James Van Arsdell, Eli

Lucas, William Smith, John Carmony, Nathan Young, Lewis John-
son, William and Augustus C. Handy, William AVolf, Dr. David
Seth McGaughev, James T. Reid, James Tyner, G. Spurrier,

Jonathan and Thomas Swain, Paris C. Talbert, William Montgom-
ery, Joseph and John Davis, Maj. Ashbel Stone, Joshua Holding,

Lathrop Francis, Rev. Samuel Morrison, Alexander Rittenhouse,

Joseph Adams, Chauncv Butler, Jr., Jacob Fonts, Henry Buck,
Thomas Tyner, Andrew Woodyard, George G. Righter, Dr. David
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Tracy, Moses Kitchell, Isaac Adams, William Dver, James and
Thomas Philips, Ira Bailey, Benjamin Norris, Cyrus Stone, Jesse
Miller, Benjamin Cole. The Yankee settlement, in the vicinity of

Freeport, was one of the most prosperous.
The first settlement made in Addison Township, was in the north-

west corner long known as the " Wray Settlement." The pioneers
of that neighborhood were: Rev. James Wrav, Isaac and James
•Templeton, Samuel and John Nail, Zeboniah Stubbs, James Mont-

gomery, Zebedee and Barnabas Wray. These were all native

North Carolinains. In and about Shelbyville the Hendrickses,
Goodriches, Walkers, Davissons, Mayhews, Wingates and Will-
iams with many others whose names are mentioned in the history
of the city, constitute the first settlers of that section.

A settlement made in Jackson Township and for many years
known as the " Haw Patch Settlement

"
three miles northeast of

Edinburg, was one of the earliest made in the county. Many of

the settlers of Jackson became active in the public affairs of the

county. One of the first to take up his residence in that section

was Colonel Hiram Alldredge, who was appointed ^by the board
of commissioners, at their first term in 1822, to the office of County
Clerk. This office he filled most faithfully until his death which
occurred early in the thirties. Other prominent early settlers

were — Judge Joseph Dawson, the Rev. James Clark, Moses
Pruitt, Judge Joshua B. Lucas, Zechariah Collins, the P^ev. Alfred

Phelps, Ivory H. Leggett, Dr. Benjamin Sanders, John Cutsinger,

Jacob Wirtz, David and Jesse Scott, Abner Connor, John and

George Warner, Dr. A. J. Treon.
It is probable that there were no squatters in the southeastern

portion of the county, but soon after the land was surveyed Alexan-
der Van Pelt came with his family and settled at the mouth of

Conn's Creek, in what is now Noble Township. Others who came
about the same time were Arthur Major, Isaac Avery, Josiah and
Daniel Williams, William Major, Mathias Floyd, John and Ander-
son Winterrowd, Peter Bailey and Jonathan Paul. The last named
was a conspicuous figure in the settlement of both Shelby and
Decatur counties.

During the year 1821, settlements were made in almost every
part of the county. Indeed, they, were made so rapidly that it is

difficult to tell which is entitled to the priorty. Those who were

prominent among the early settlers of the various part of the

county, not elsewhere mentioned, were: Hugh and Jeremiah
Campbell, James Woods, Peter Andrews, Nathan Simpson, John
Andrews, Elijah Kirkpatrick, Wilhs and William Law, Peter Heck,
Noble Grimes, Robert Kennedy, Thomas Vaughan, Hudson Ray,
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Edward Toner, John Salla, John Snyder, James Young, Lewis
Hendricks, Rev. Henry Logan, Sevier Lewis, John I. Lewis,
Philip Robins, Benjamin Reece, Jesse Beard, Ephraim Webb,
James Hill, Archibald Gordon, Benjamin and John Wallace, Rich-
ard Bought}', William Fleming, Fleming Kennedv, Edward Miller,
Reuben Davison, William and Martin Updegraff, Joseph and Enoch
Tucker, John Goodwin, Zachariah Collins, Joshua Ensminger,
David French, Jacob Creek, Dr. John Hamond, Jedidiah Tingle,
Henry Moore. Lewis Henry, Marcus Mesener, Joseph Chapman,
Kemble E. Midkiff, Rev. Henry Fisher, Rev. Thomas Jones, Jacob,
Michael, Thomas and Jesse Youngman, Ira L. Bartle}-, Ehjah
Byland, Samuel Love, William McNeillv, Samuel Monroe, John
Ballard, Wesley Rucker, William Trackwell, David Robertson,
Abraham Leonard, Meager and Bennett Powell, John Wvkoff,
Aaron Moneack, John Steers, Phillip Ensmenger and St. Claire

Ensmenger, John McConnell, S. G. Huntingdon, Adam Smith, Sr.,

James Johnson, Mathew Capipbell, William McConnell, John
Hindsman, Joseph Trusler, Reuben Strickler, Daniel Padrick,

James White^ Henry Willard, William Dannell, David Hoover,
Linsey Boggess, Joseph Hough, Robert Mvers, James Holmes,
William Hoskins, William Croddy, William F. Morgan, Amos
Collins, John H. Stewart, William Edwards, Lee Parish, Robert

Hankins, Bissell Burr, Hugh Campbell, Lewis Morgan, Daniel

Williams, James Norville, David Bradlev, John Nail, Daniel Camp-
bell, Jeremiah, Joseph and Isaac Odell, John Oldham, Bvron Har-

rell, George W. Holmes, Rev. Mathew Sedgwick, John Griflith,

Edward and Joseph Hunt, John Brierh-, Benjamin Bass, James H.

Gregor}-, George Updegraff; Samuelj Derrick,^THarman Updegraff,
Hall}- Helper, Phihp Fix, Jonathan Winans, Joseph, Jacob and
David Winterowd, James Van Bentusen, John and Thomas Clav-

ton, Thomas Cochran, Joseph, Isaac, Samuel and Ithamar Drake,
John Eberhart, Samuel Walker, Zachariah Vansickle, William

Deiwert, John J. Lewis, Harvey Pope, George Conger, Adam
Mow, Wilham Hays, Thomas Woole}^, David and Thomas Maze,
William and James Bone, Mathew Flovd, Enoch Krimble, Moses

Billingsly, Joseph Jones, Aaron and James Fix, Joshua and Jesse
Spurlin, Claibourne and Joel Williams, Martin Warner, John M.
Coleman, Thomas Watson, David Keplev, Jacob Youngman, Hugh
and Samuel Hamilton, William Arnold, James Kitchen, Rev. Sam-
uel Loudan. George Bass, Joshua Campbell, Francis Amos. William
A. Doble, James Smith, Michael Murnan, John and Alexander

Means, Archibald and Peter Mann, Fountain Means, John and Mas-
ton House, James Murnan, Benjamin Breedlove, Jordan Wright, John
D^ke, Heman Keeler, George W. Holmes, Fliram Johnson, James
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Holmes, Jackson x\ndrews, John K. Paulen, John Stanley, Henry
D. Andrews, John Hoop, Ichabod Jackson, Peter Crum, John Wal-
droff, Nimrod Jackson, Frederick House, Robert Means, William

Harper, John Gregg, Samuel Cones, Enoch Ruggles, George Mar-
tin, Dr. Culbertson, George Waldroff, Lewis J. Reeves, Caleb
Reeves, Green and John Vernon, Peter and William Fousler,
K. Parrish, Jackson Plummer, Duncan McDougal, Henry Yout-
sev, William Oley and W^ebster Milkins, Nathaniel Vice, N. B. Snod-

grass, George W. Wood, George Nulliner, James, Stephen and
Daniel Nichols, Samuel Bawlins, Jackson Campbell, James H. Smith,
Phillip Ensminger, William Cotton, Moses Cothn, Thomas Goldino-,
Peter De Witt, Mathew C. and Samuel Brown, John Derrick-

son, John Vance, Zacheus Bennett, WilHam Nixon 13ennett, James
Robertson, Rezin Wheeler, Hiram A. Cotton, Thomas Moberly,
David Gunning, John Glenn, Major Robert, F. Farris, Isaac Far-

ris, George Forsythe, Robert Brown, James B. Gunning, Henley
B. Branson, Lewis Crim, John and Moses Linville, Paris and Jo-
seph A. Talbert, George Michael Becker, George Leiss, John G.

Keppel, George M. Keppel, George M. Plaehl and John Jacob
Haehl.

For three months after the land office had been opened for the

sale of the land c^ontained within the new purchase the office was
overrun with buyers. Those who entered land in Shelby County
in 1820 were:

Township 11, Range 5
—

Jesse Scott, October 4; Joch Colhns,
October 4; Archibald Gordon, November 11; Jesse Cole, Octo-
ber 4; Mary McGuire, November 25; Joseph Dawson, November
28; C. C. Tn-es, October 24; George Graham, October 4; Jand A.

Wilson, October 23; William Slayback, December 5; Moses
Pruitt, October 5 ; Henr}' Warman, October 5 ; John Priest, Octo-
ber 5 ; David Jamison, October 5 ;

David Scott, October 5 ;
Isaac

Wilson, October 5; Thomas Gwynn, October 5.

Township 11, Range 6—James McCov, October 6; Arthur

Major, October 6; Samuel Ward, October 20; Joseph Reece, July
20; Lewis Drake, October 7; Anson Betts, October 18; William

Campbell, October 7 ; Jeremiah Long, October 7 ;
Alexander Van

Pelt, October 7: Abraham Lee, November 11; Aaron Atherton,
November 3; Agulla Cross, October 7: Samuel Walker, Octo-

ber 7; Moses Wiley, October 7; Ithamer Drake, October 7; Job
Moor, October 7; WiUiam Powers, October 24; Amos Higgins,
October 13; Daniel Hock, October 20; James Records, Decem-
ber 2

;
Martin Cheney, October 2 1

;
Leonard Cutter, October 7 ;

Adam Seeney, October 21; WilHs Tow, October 7; David Guard,
October 7; Benjamin Ensley, October 7; Harvey Brown, Octo-
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ber 13; Charles Collett, October 7; Judah Tingle, November 13;

John Venard, November 6: James Campbell, October 7: James
Thompson, November 13; J. D. Conrey, November 13.

Township 12, Range 6 — Peter Andrews, October 24; Charles

Hubbard, November 22: Hugh Campbell, October 21; Nathan

Simpson, October 24; John Fancher, October 10; Edward Toner,
October 9; Jerre Campbell, October 31: James Wood, Octo-
ber 31.

Township 13, Range 6— John Higbee, November 11; William

Creddv, November 24; S. G. Huntington, October 30; James
Johnson, October 7; Joseph Roll, October 30; Matthias Campbell,
October 23.

Township 11, Range 7
— Isaac Avery, October 23; George

Palmer, October 9; Davit Jewett, December 31.

Township 13, Range 7
— Jacob Fox, December 9; Jane Sleeth,

October 9; William Sleeth, October 9; William Fouts, October 9;
David Fisher, October 9; Benjamin Williams, October 9; James
Williams, October 9; James Greer, October 9; Thomas B. Brown,
A. Wallace, S. Lewis, Thomas Harvey, John N. Cobert, Februarv

20; John Walker, December 20: John Walker, October 10: Fran-

cis Walker, October 30; Henry Bass, December 19; Calvin Ken-

ley, November 13; James Davison, December 20; William

Goodrich, October 9; John Love, October 9; Thomas Porter. Jan-
uarv I : J. H. and James Young, November 24: John Van Bus-

kirk, November 28.

Township 14, Range 7
—

Josiah Gover, November 21; Resin

Davis, October 12; E. Lucas, November 7: Joseph Hewitt, No-
vember 7: Joshua Wilson, October 9; Richard Tyner, October 9;

James Griffin, October 19; William Johnson, October 9; P. Kitch-

ell, November 17: Eleazer Burham, October 21; S. M. Cole, No-
vember 7; Benjamin Cole, October 12; Nathan Davis, Octo-

ber 21.

Township 11, Range 8— George Salrey, October 23.
It will be observed that the above shows that entries were made

in a few instances prior to October, 1820. This is doubtless a

clerical error made in copying from the original records.

The Log Cabin.— After arriving and selecting a suitable location,

the next thing to do was to build a log cabin, a description of which

may be interesting to many of our 3-ounger readers, as in some
sections these old-time structures are no more to be seen. Trees

of uniform size were chosen and cut into logs of the desirable

length, generally twelve to fifteen feet, and hauled to the spot
selected for the dwelling. On an appointed day the few neighbors
who were available would assemble and have a "

house-raising."
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Each end of every log was saddled and notched so that thev Mould lie

as close down as possible; the next day the proprietor would pro-
ceejl to '-chink and daub" the cabin, to keep out the rain, wind and
cold. The house had to be re-daubed every fall, as the rains of

the intervening time would wash out a great part of the mortar.
The usual heiirht of the house was seven or eio-ht feet. The crables

were formed by shortening the logs gradually at each end of the

building near the top. The roof was made by laving very straight
small logs or stout poles suitable distances apart, generally about
two and a half feet from gable to gable, and on these poles were
laid the "clapboards" after the manner of shingling, showing
about two and a half feet to the weather. These clapboards were
fastened to their place by "weight-poles" corresponding in place
with the joice just described, and these again were held in their

place by
" runs

"
or " knees," which were chunks of wood about

eighteen or twenty inches long fitted between them near the ends.

Clapboards were made from the nicest boards in the vicinity b}^

chopping or sawing them into four-foot blocks And riving these

with a frow.

The chimney of the western pioneer's cabin was made by leav-

ing in the original building, a large open place in one wall. The
fire-place thus made was often large enough to receive, fire-wood

six to eight feet long. The more rapidly the pioneer could burn

up the wood in his vicinity, the sooner he had his little farm cleared

and ready for cultivation. In the interior, over the fire-place would
be a shelf, called the " mantle," on which stood the candle-stick or

lamp, some cooking and table ware, possibh' an old clock, and
other articles: in the fire-place would be the crane, sometimes of iron,

sometimes of wood—on it pots were hung for cooking ;
over the door,

in forked cleats, hung the ever-trustful rifle and powder-horn; in one
corner stood the larger bed for the "

old-folks," and under it the

trundle-bed for the children: in another stood the old-fashioned

spinning wheel, with a smaller one by its side: in another the heavy
table: in the remaining corner was a rude cupboard, holding the

table ware. These simple cabins were inhabited by a kind and
true-hearted people. They were strangers to mock modest}-, and
the traveler seeking lodgings for the night or desirqus of spending
a few days in the community, was always welcome. A single
room was made to answer for kitchen, dining-room, sitting-room,
bed-room and parlor.

JMillitig.
— Not the least of the hardships of the pioneer was the

procuring of bread. The first settlers must be supplied, at least,

one year from other sources than their own lands; but the first crops
however abundant, gave only partial relief, there being no mills
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accessible to grind the grain. Hence the necessity of grinding by
hand power, and man}' families were poorly provided with means
for doinfr this. The "frrater" was used by many, and in not a few
instances the hominy block resorted to. •

*

There was probably no mill built in the county for more than

three years after the first settler came, therefore it was necessary'

to manufacture the bread-stuffs by the means above mentioned or

return to the mills at White Water, in Franklin County, a distance

of nearly forty miles. A few years later what was for many years

known as Quary's Mill, was built near Moscow, Decatur County.
This was extensively patronized by the people of Shelby County,
until mills were built nearer home.

Going to mill says one, who spoke from experience, was quite
an undertaking with the pioneers. It was, perhaps, a two or three

days' journev. Sometimes a pair of oxen attached to a two wheel

cart carried the farmer and his grain on his journey: but frequent^
he went on horseback seated on a bag of grain. This was a tedious

journev, and his. return was anxiously awaited by mother and chil-

dren.

There are some recollections of "
going to mill

"
that bring with

them pictures of weary, watchful nights when father did not return

as promised and expected, being delayed by the number of "grists"
before him, or the impassable condition of the roads or traces.

Those were dismal phases of pioneer life, when the darkness closed

in upon the anxious mother and crying children, when the winds

beat upon the rude cabin, bringing to their ears unwelcome sounds,
laden with howls of starving wolves, when hunger' pressed heavily

upon the helpless inmates.

Soon enterprising citizens of the county began to embark in the

milling business. A desired location along a stream being found,

an application was made to the authorities for a writ of ad quod
dauiniim. This would enable millers to have adjoining land offi-

cially examined and the amount of damage, by making a dam,
named. Mills were such a great public convenience that objections
were seldom made to their location, and in many instances they
were built and operated for months before a writ was applied for.

According to the statements of those whose opinions deserve most

credence, the first mill built within what is now Shelby County was
that of J. C. Walker, on Blue River, at the present site of the

Shelby Mills, in Shelbyville. This was a small frame building and

was probably completed earh' in 1S23. Nathan Johnson was the

millwright. Later in the same year, Abel Summers built a mill in

Marion, which stood on the same lot now occupied b}' the Marion

flouring mill. Contemporaneous with the building of the Marion
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mill, but possibly a little later, Ira Bailey built a mill on Blue River
near the present site of Freeport. Lathrop Francis was the man-

ager. In the summer of the same year, 1823, a writ of ad quod
danuuiiJi was procured by Isaac Drake, and the records show that

a mill had been constructed and in operation some time previous to

the procuring of the same. This mill was located on the northeast

quarter of Section 25, Town 11, Range 6, on Flat Rock River.

Although there were other mills built a few years later, these were
the principal early mills that supplied the settlers with bread-stuff.

To nearly all of these, saw mills were attached that supplied the

people with necessary lumber for the construction of frame build-

ings and repair of the old log cabin. A few years later this became
one of the greatest sources of wealth. The oak, the poplar, the

ash, the wild cherry, the black walnut, the maple and many other

varieties indegenous to this section have yielded large quantities of

lumber which have been transported to the markets of the world.

Pioneer Dress.—The dress of a people throw much light upon
their conditions and limitation. The dress of the pioneer father

and son was either a coon-skin cap or home-made wool hat for the

head. The feet were covered with moccasins made of deer-skins

and shoe-packs of tanned leather, but shoes were worn by most of

the pioneers of this count}', except in summer, when old and young,
male and female, went barefoot a considerable portion of the time.

The blue linsv hunting shirt was almost universally worn by men
and boys, and says one of the pioneers,

" I have never felt so hap-

py and healthy since I laid it off." It was made with wide sleeves,

open before, with ample room so as to envelop the body almost

twice around. The pantaloons of the masses were at a very early

day made of deer-skin and linsy, but to the early settlers of Shelby

County cotton and jeans were most common.
As to how women's dresses were made in those earl}' days, the

following from the recollections of Aunt Susan Goodrich, given
in her own language will best tell the story:

" Now let me tell you
how we made our dresses. When the right time of the year would
come around, father, Cynthia and I would put the flax-brake on the

log-sled, and haul it down near the river where there were plenty
of nettles, Cynthia and I would carry netdes to father and he would
brake them. It took an arm full to make a hand full when it was
broken. We would work on this way until mother would say we
had enough for one piece, and then we would hackle and spin it for

chain; then take an equal quantity of wool cord and spin it for fill-

ing. We would then dye it in different colors, by using different

kinds of bark, place it in the loom and weave it when we would

have beautiful striped linsy.

5
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Savs Dr. Robbins: The first crops raised were corn, potatoes
and flax. It was deemed all-important that flax should be sown on

Good Friday, and by the moon. The women and children were to

pull it and spread it out to rot. Then the men would break it upon
breaks, and the women would scratch, hackle, spin, and weave it

into linen. They would then make it up into wearing apparel for

the summer use of men, women and children. If there was any
more on hand than was absolutely needed, it was sold to the mer-
chant for calico for Sunday and wedding occasions.

The first wool we had was carded by hand, and then spun,
Avove, and made up into linsey, jeans, flannel and blankets. It was
used for dresses, pants, coats, shirts, and all other necessary winter

clothing. As we had no tailors or professional dress-makers, it was

necessary- for the women to do all work of this kind. Not\vith-

standing all this exertion and labor, they were just as healthy then

as now. There were no more headaches, backaches, and other

diseases peculiar to females in those days than now— when they
can luxuriate in their silks, satins, tiebacks and all other finery.

Time soon wrought a chauLre, and now the cotton and woolen

frocks, spun, woven and made by their own fair hands stripped and

cross-barred with blue dye and Turkey red has given place to

gowns of silk. The feet before in a state of nudity, now charmed
in shoes of calf-skin or slippers of kid; and the head formerh'

unbonneted, but covered with a cotton handkerchief, now^ draping
the charms of the female face under many forms of bonnets of straw,

silk, etc. The ladies instead of walking a mile or two to church on

Sunday, carryinjy their shoes and stockin^rs in their hands until

within a few yards of the place of worship, as formerly, now come
forth arraj-ed complete in all the pride of dress, in fashionable

equipages.
JVative Animals.—-The principal wild animals found in the

count}', b}' the early settlers, were the deer, wolf, bear, panther,

wild-cat, fox, otter, raccoon, ground-hog. skunk, mink, weasel,

muskrat, opossum, rabbit and squirrel. These animals furnished

meat for the settlers for a few years, deer being used most abund-

antly. The wolf was the most troublesome of all wild animals,

it being the common enemy of sheep and some other domestic ani-

mals. Their hideous howlincrs at nifjht were so constant and terri-

fying, that they seemed to do almost as much mischief by that

annoyance as by direct attack. Bears and panthers were not so

numerous, but were often seen and sometimes encountered as will

be seen b}^ the following:
"On one occasion, in the 3'ear 1821, one Lewis Hendricks, who

lived near School Section Ford, went to a neighbor by the name of
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Solomon George, who was a skillful hunter, and asked him to shoot
a deer for him. George consented, and the two started upon the
chase. They had not gone far when they suddenly happened upon
two young bear cubs. George immediately said,

' Now we'll have
some sport.' He directed Hendricks to pinch the ears of the young
bears. Their loud and piteous howling soon caused the mother-
bear to appear. George then took dehberate aim and fired. The
bear turned back and ran; and Hendricks, confident that she had
been mortally wounded, hastened to the pursuit. He had not gone
far, however, before the bear turned suddenh* upon his unarmed
pursuer, and with great fury, threw him down. The situation was
critical. But with wonderful bravery and presence of mind Hen-
dricks doubled up his two fists and boldly pushed them into the

mouth of the bear. In this desperate condition the intrepid

George rushed to the spot, and, plunging his hunting-knife deep in

the bowels of the bear, saved his friend's hfe. Hendricks bore the

scars of this fierce encounter ever after."

Reminiscences of Dr. Milton B. Robins :
" Mv Indian and hunt-

ing experience is limited. I never saw an Indian here or killed a

bear or wolf. The only bear storv I have, is, that one night a

bear attacked a hog near our cabin and made a meal of it. We
heard the cries of the hog, but were afraid to venture into the

woods. I often saw three or four deer at a time in going to the

mill, but never killed one. We often heard packs of liungrv wolves

howling in the night. Our dogs were sometimes injured by attack-

ing porcupines and getting, their quills in their mouths, necks and

paws. Squirrels were very numerous, and would eat almost all our
corn by taking it up when first planted, but more especially eating it

after the ears were formed. The earlv settlers formed hunting par-
ties, took sides and offered premiums for squirrel scalps, the side

killing the greatest number obtaining the prize.
" In the early days the settlements were all on the low bottom

lands, and we dreaded the fever and ague and bilious fever as we
would now the cholera if it made its annual visit. This was before

the days of quinine. Then the woods were one dense forest, the

undergrowth being nettles and pea-vines, often so thick you could

scarceh' penetrate them. Having no grain to feed our horses, they
were compelled to run out at night in order to obtain food; they
would have to be hunted in the mornings when the dew was on the

vegetation, and a man would get perfectly wet chasing them, and

then go to work plowing in his wet clothes and keep them on until

they dried out towards noon.
"I have oftened wondered how a communit}' could live with as

little monev as we had. The country was mostlv settled bv Ken-



312 SHELBY COUNTY.

tuckians and Ohioans, with a few from Tennessee, Carolina and

Pennsylvania. It being just after the Indian war and war of

i8i2-'i3, there was no foreign demand. We had nothing to sell,

no one had anythino- with which to buy. Evervthing- bartered:

one dollar then would go farther than five or six now, but then it

was merely nominal as we rarely handled a dollar.
" What little wheat was raised, was cut with sickles, it being

before the days of cradles and reapers. We thought this never

would be a wheat country, as the ground was so rich that the grain
would fall down. After we began to raise more wheat than was
needed for home consumption, the nearest market was Lawrence-

burg; consequently the}' brought their grain from midway between

Lawrenceburg and Michigan City
— this way to, the Ohio, and the

other wa}' to Lake Michigan. The old Michigan road would be
lined with wagons containing from ten to fifty bushels of wheat
drawn by one yoke of oxen and one horse; by two horses, and by
three and four horse teams. They would be on the road ten days
or two weeks, take their horse feed and provisions along with them,
and bartered their wheat for salt, leather, cotton, yarn, coffee, etc.

Hogs were driven the same way, either to Michigan City or Cin-
cinnati. The number of grain wagons in the fall, and hogs in the

winter, was astonishing, as the hogs from the north as far as Craw-
fordsville and Greencastle were driven through here to Cincinnati."

Snakes.— In the pioneer days of Shelby County, snakes were
numerous and consisted of many varieties, viz. : rattlesnakes, vipers,

adders, milk snakes, garter, water snakes, black snakes, etc. Many
of these varieties were venomous and exceedingly dangerous. It.

was the practice in some sections for the settlers to form themselves
into companies, and with stick mattocks and crowbars attack the

principal dens and sla}' large numbers of them. An incident of

this kind is given by Mr. James Smith, an early resident of the

county, who says :
" While en route home from Edinburg in the

summer of 1834, "ear the present site of the Baptist Church, in the

Scott neighborhood, my attention was attracted b}' a noise in the

leaves near the roadside. I stopped suddenly, and soon discovered
that it was a combat for life between a rattlesnake and a black

snake. Drawing near, the black snake became frightened at my
presence, and quickly disappeared in the brush. The rattlesnake

after a few seconds of apparent rest crawled slowly away to the

base of a small cliff near the creek bank. Following but a few

paces behind, and as I came near the cliff, I discovered what ap-

peared to me at first sight to be hundreds of those venomous rep-
tiles. I immediately repaired to the nearest house, and with the

father, sons and dogs, w'e returned to the spot armed with various



EARLY SETTLEMENTS. 313

implements of warfare, where we killed many rattlesnakes of all

ajres and sizes."

Trade a)ui Coninicrce.— In pioneer times, the transactions of

commerce were gennerally only neighborhood exchanges. Money
was little known and seldom seen among the early settlers. Indeed,

they had but Httle use for it, as they could transact all their busi-

ness about as well without it, on the " barter
"

system, wherein

great ingenuity was sometimes displayed. Peltries came nearer

being money than anything else, as it came to be the custom to es-

timate the value of everything in coon skins. Even some tax col-

lectors and postmasters were known to take peltries and exchange
them for money required by the government. The surplus pro-
ducts of the farm that did not find a market at home were taken
to Lawrenceburg, by way of the old state road, or to Madison, by
way of the Michigan road. These were two important thorough-
fares, and it is said that processions of a score or more of wagons
were often seen en route to one of these points. January 26, 1824,
Flat Rock was declared to be a navigable stream and public high-
w^ay from its mouth to Little Flat Rock, and Blue River was de-

clared navigable to the north line of Shelby County. January 28,

1828, Sugar Creek was declared navigable to Manan's mill, in

Moral Township, in this county, and William Dobble was made
commissioner to keep it free from obstructions. Blue River was
the first of these avenues of commerce used. The Goodrich

Brothers, in the latter part of the twenties, built a flat-boat, loading
it with various kinds of produce, launched on the placid waters,
headed for New Orleans. This boat was a large one, and to get
over the dam on Driftwood River, near Rockford, was a matter
that gave the boatmen much concern. On this occasion Mr.
Nathan Goodrich accompanied his father as far as the dam; there

he left the boat and returned on foot. A man by the name of Isley,
launched a boat laden with produce, probablv the next year. Will-

iam Farris and a man by the name of Vanasdol, sent two boats

from near Freeport. John C. Walker built and sent two from

Shelbyville. Another was sent from Wolf's mill, and still another,
with a cargo of lumber, from the mouth of Brandywine. It is

claimed by those best informed, that at least ten boat-loads of pro-
duce were shipped to New Orleans in this way.

Gal]icri)}!^-s and Auutscuicnts.— The people of to-day might im-

agine from the nature of the surroundings, that the pioneer settlers

seldom engaged in any kind of social intercourse. However strange
it may seem, it is nevertheless true, that the opportunities were

greater then than they are to-day. The log-rolHngs, house-raisings,

corn-huskings, bean pickings, wool pickings, quiltings and apple-
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parings, while attended with hard labor, Avere never without their

social elements. The "corn-husking"' was engaged in by both

sexes. Thev usually assembled in a laK<2"e barn, but not unfre-

quentlv in the field; each gentleman would select his lady partnei
and then the huskin<j[' would beo-in. When a ladv found a red ear

she was entitled to a kiss from ever}" gentleman present; when a

gentleman found one he was allowed to kiss every l^dy present. It

is related that at such a rratherinij held in the barn of one Mr. Hunt,
an earlv settler of Brandywine Township, there were present a young
lady of the neighborhood and two gentlemen admirers, each of whom
had most diliirently soug'ht her favor. Early in the work one of

them found what each had so persistently searched for— the red

ear. He immediately sought the privilege that his prize guaran-
teed, but was confronted by his rival, and a fight ensued which re-

sulted in the maimincj of one of the combatants for life. Such

proceedings, however, were of rare occurrence. The night follow-

ing these gatherings were usually spent by the 3-oung folks in

dancing. Such social gatherings were known as the "frolic" or

"shindig," and not the german or ball. The young gallants would

gather in for miles around and bring their "gal«," and it was not

uncommon for them both to ride on the same horse. When a suf-

ficient number had gathered, the Aoiceful fiddle would send forth

its inspiring strains and the dance would begin. Some would dance

the "double shuffle" while others would "cut the pigeon wing" or

other hiah vaultin<r figures. David Calclazier, who hved near

Marion, was the most famous of all the pioneer "fiddlers" of the

county, and his services were in demand wherever he was known.
Those happy days are gone, and with them many of the old forms

of amusement, which for true enjoyment far surpassed the formal

social o-atherinas of to-day.

The pioneer wedding, which was one of the interesting features

of pioneer life, is desc'-ibe'^ by one who often attended the festivi-

ties in the following lanov, '^re: For a long time after the first set-

tlement the people married young. There was no distinction of

rank and but little of fortune, consequently the first impression of

lov^e generally resulted in marriage. The marriage was generally
celebrated at the house of the bride. In the morning of the wed-

ding day the groom and his intimate friends would assemble at the

house of his father, and after due preparation departed for the

mansion of the bride. The journey was some 'r^es ma^-e on horse-

back, sometimes on foot and sometimes in a farm wrgon or cart.

It was always a merry journey, and to insure merrimc it .he bottle

.was taken along. After the marriage ceremonies were performed,

supper eaten, dancing commenced and usuall}- lasted till morning.
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At the proper time for retiring a deputation of young ladies

would steal off the bride and put her to bed. This done, a depu-
tation of young men would escort the groom to the same apartment
and place him snugly b}' the side of his bride. A romantic incident

of a marriage of pioneer da3-s as written by Rev. George Sluter,

is of sufficient interest to be inserted here :

"Abel Summers, who built the first mill at Marion, in 1823, em-

ployed a man by the name of Cor}-, from Fayette County, to

frame his mill. This millwright brought with him his three sons,

Whitman, Stephen and Alman. Now, it so happened that at that

time one Samuel Endslev lived just across the river from where the

mill was in process of construction. His family consisted of a wife

and six children, the oldest of whom was an unmarried daughter of

eio-hteen. It seems that Alman Cory soon became enamored of

this voune ladv and determined to marry her. His suit being sue-

cessful, he obtained leave of absence from his father to go home
after clothino- suitable for the occasion. There he was detained

several days longer than he had intended, without being able to ex-

plain the matter.

His brother. Whitman Cor}', who had been his rival, thought
this the time for him to speak. So he told the young lady that Al-

man had no intention of returning, and that he himself was very
much in need of a wife. He artfully insinuated that as he was a

widower and had known what wedded bliss was, he was far more
lonely than one who had never been married. He put the case so

strongly that Polly told him, if those things were so, then the sooner

he got his license the better.

Of course. Whitman was m great haste for fear his brother

should return before he had secured his prize. So having bor-

rowed a suit of clothing from James Carr, who lived in Marion, late

in the evening, he crossed the river in a canoe, accompanied by
Carr and Squire Kennedy. Mrs. Carr had kindly agreed to set

her house in order for the reception of the bridal party, as soon as

the two were made one. They arrived at the bride's residence in

due time. The ceremony was soon over. And, after partaking of

some ginger and whisky to keep out the cold, the bridal party
started for Marion. But,"^ upon reaching the river, the canoe was

gone. They searched diligently, but it could not be found. Their

embarrassment was great. It was no laughing matter to them.

They were compelled to return to the log cabin they had left but

a short time before. It was a rude structure, only sixteen feet

square, with round poles for joists, so low that a man of ordinary

size could hardly stand erect under them, and two-thirds of the

space of one end taken up by the huge fireplace. This would be
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considered a scant}" accommodation in om- da}-, for so large a num-
ber as were now beneath that roof. No supper had been prepared
for the unexpected guests. But the crisis was only momentary,
for the father of the bride came to the rescue. He seized his mat-

tock, made an opening in the turnip-hole, and said :
" Come, gen-

tlemen, help yourselves; here is plenty."
The next da}' the canoe was discovered, and the wedding party

brought over to Marion, it is said, "with shouting and great joy."
And some time afterward it was found out that William Wilson
and William Michael, two young bloods of the neighborhood, had
actuallv swam the river throuo-h the mush ice in order to brinrr the

canoe to the opposite bank, and concealed it about half a mile above
the landincr in the bushes.

First Indcfoidcuce Day.— On the day upon which the Legis-
lative Commissioners arrived at a decision— the Fourth of July,
1822— there was the greatest gathering that had yet been had by
the early settlers, at a barbecue, immediately north of our present
Fair Grounds. The selection of the seat of justice was there an-

nounced and received with general applause, and the occasion was

long and pleasantly remembered as important and memorable.
Mr. Isaac H. Wilson, who participated in that festivity, gives

the following interesting account of the proceedings:
There were present about 200 persons on that occasion, hailing

from half a dozen different settlements— Marion, Freeport, Wray's
Settlement, Tucker's, Handpack and some live or six families from
the immediate vicinitv. We had a delightful day, and enjoyed our-

selves as well, probably, as the same number of persons ever did

in the same length of time. We had provisions in abundance, such
as beef, pork, mutton, deer, bear, turkey and fish. The bread was

excellent, and plenty of it, and all donated. No one thought of

asking pay for anything that was furnished. Nimrod Gatewood, a

brother of Peter and William, was chief cook. Our meats were

barbecued, over a ditch that had been dug for the purpose, and
filled with live coals. John Cherry went out that morning, killed a

four-pronged buck and brought him in as his contribution. Mother

Young; furnished a loaf of raised corn bread about the size of half

a bushel, which had been baked in a Dutch oven, and I defy you
to produce anvthing equal to it, baked in the stoves of the present

day. Our tables were hastily gotten up by driving forked sticks in

the ground; poles were then put crosswise, and upon these were

placed slabs.

When all things were ready to be put upon the table, we were

brought to a dead stand for the want of dishes upon which to serve

our meats. But our delay was only momentary. An old lady by
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the name of Goodrich, who, it was reported, had been a captive
among the Indians in her youth, upon hearing of the difficulty
directed a couple of young men to cut down a young hickory tree.

They then peeled off the bark in sheets about two feet long, and
tied up the ends in such a manner as to form a dish larsre enouoh
to hold a saddle of venison. She next showed them how to sharpen
their knives, using one as a steel to whet the other.

I remember well on that memorable dav, ridino- throuirh the
beautiful fertile bottom, now owned by Messrs. Gordon and Senour,
upon a horse, fifteen and a half hands high, carrying a stick in my
hand to keep the nettles out of m}- face. There is one other inci-

dent of that day which has left a deep impression upon my mind.
It was this : Some fifteen persons formed a circle, one of them had
a violin. It was passed round, each one playing a tune; after which
we dispersed and all went home, well satisfied and contented. This
was the first celebration of the Fourth of July in the newly organ-
ized county.

Old Settlers^ Association.— Meetings of the old settlers have
been held at various places and at irregular periods for more than
a score of years. Within the last few years they have been of

more frequent occurrence, and more largely attended. A joint as-

sociation, composed of Shelby, Johnson, Rush and Bartholomew
counties, was organized a few years ago with a regular meeting
place at Riverside Park near Flat Rock in Shelb^' County. These

meetings are attended by thousands of people from the counties

composing the association, and much interest is manifested, not only

by the old settlers themselves, but by the generation of younger
people who are now reaping the rewards of the industry of their

fathers, and lose no opportunity to make their decHning years
pleasant. These exercises consist of addresses by some of the

most distinguished men of the county and State, and reminiscences
of the pioneer days, portraying in their own language the trials and

hardships encountered in order that>they might lay the foundation

of homes, the blessings of which their children might enjoy.
Reminiscences of Rev. Eliphalet Kent, who came to the county

as a missionary in 1829, and is now upward of eighty-eight years
of age:

" It is now more than half a century ago since I came to Shel-

byville. I had left the Theological Seminary in 1829; and, feeling
that it was important for a minister to be suitably married, upon
my return home, I turned my attention in that direction. I met my
first wife and proposed successfully. Her father's favorite maxim

upon the subject of marriage was that daughters should be married

oj' and not on. When my wife and I were ready to start for our
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Home Mission field in the then Far West, it seemed as if his daugh-
ter had been married too far off. The trip to Indiana at that time

was an immense affair, an undertaking of far more magnitude than

a journey to Europe would be in our day. It was a sad leave-

taking, and we parted ^^•ith many tears. We came down the Ohio
River on a steamboat, and arrived at Madison at night. I preached
for the Rev. James H. Johnston, the Pastor of the church, for two

Sabbaths, while he went off on a missionar}- tour into the country.
I purchased a horse, saddle and bridle, paying the sum of $35- My
wife rode in the stage. In this way we reached Bartholomew
County. Thence we entered Shelby County, and reached the house

of Mr. John Conover. While there, Mr. James Hill, the grand-
father of Mrs. Teal, sent his son James with a horse for my wife.

This family was better off than most of the early settlers, for they
had a log cabin with two rooms. From there we went to Shelby-
ville, to the house of Maj. Hendricks. We were well received

everywhere. I \vas now upon my field of ministerial labor, and

engaged boarding in the house of Dr. S. B. Morris. There were
two rooms in his residence, and one of them, ioxi6 in size, became
the parlor, study and bed-room of ni}- wife and self. After three

months, we moved into a small two-story brick building, just finished,

which stood opposite where the post office now is. In the lower

room my wdfe immediately opened a school, and we lived up-stairs.
"I remained in this field till 1835, and then received a call to

Greenwood, where I continued my ministerial labors five years.
"As I stand here to-day and look back, I feel that it is ver}^ dif-

ficult to realize the changes that have taken place within this time.

The limits of the town then were very small. From Hendricks
Street to Franklin, and from Tompkins to Pike was all there was of

it— and that small space was occupied by but a few cabins. At
some seasons it was extremely muddy. From where I now live it

was often impossible to reach town on account of the bad roads.
" Once, a young minister, Mr. Danforth, and I, had been preach-

ing in the country. Upon our wa\' back we were overtaken by
night. It was so very dark, and the creeks were so high, that we
concluded to remain in the woods overnight. So we hitched our

horses and entertained ourselves the best we could: and if I have
ever in all my life danced, it was that night

— danced to keep my-
self'w'arm. Earh' in the morning we started, not knowing what
direction to take, but soon found a pig path, which led us to the

house of Mr. Curran. who had been at our meeting the da}' before;
and he piloted us to Shelbyville.

"To me it is very pleasant to look back upon those days gone

by. I felt that I was the happiest of men. My wife, too, enjo3'ed
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the ii-'jisionarv- labor we were engaged in, and on her dying bed

said she never regretted coming here. The Presbyterians were

anxiuus to have preaching of their own faith, and treated us with

the greatest of kindness. I would often take ni}- wife with me on

Saturday to my preaching places. We always found the latch

strino" out. It is true there was generally but one room in the

house. When we suggested perhaps it would not be convenient

for us to stay all night with them, the invariable reply was, it would

be entirely convenient. At bed-time, the one bed would be made
into three or four, and then the task was, how to get in. This was

a little mortif3'ing to m}^ young wife at first, but after a time we

got used to these unavoidable inconveniences of a new country."

Shelby County is second to none in almost everthing that goes
to make a prosperous community and a happy and contented peo-

ple. But the people of the present generation must know that they
owe a debt of gratitude to those who opened up the avenues

that have led her to such a condition. Energy and preseverance
have peopled every section of her wild lands, and changed from a

wilderness to gardens of beauty and profit, where but a few years
airo the barkinrr of the wolves and the screaming of the panthers
made night hideous with their wild shrieks, now is heard only
the lowing and bleating of domestic animals. On the spot where

but little more than a half century ago the savage pitched his tent,

now rise the palacial dwellings, school-houses and church spires.

The transformation has been brought about by the incessant toil

and aggregated labor of thousands of tired hands and anxious

hearts, and the aspirations of such noble men and women as make

any country great.
There are but few of these old pioneers yet lingering on the

shore of time as connecting links of the past with the present.

Their trials, their privations and hardships were many, and they
bore them without a murmur; of burdens, they have borne their

share, and now as they are fast passing far down the western de-

clivity of life, they should be cheered up, revered and respected,

for beneath those rough exteriors beat hearts as noble as ever

throbbed in the human breast.
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CHAPTER V.

Military History—Mexican War—Causes of the Civil
War— Public Opinion in Shelby County—The Boggs-
TowN Resolutions—News from Fort Sumter— First
Company for the Front—Flag Presentation—Other
Companies—Change in Sentiment—The County's Early
Record— Democratic Resolutions— Renewed Volun-
teering— Sword Presentation—The ioo Days Men—
The Morgan Raid— Public Opinion in 1863-4—^Men
Furnished for the War—Indiana Legion—Bounty and
Relief—Roll of Honor.

NATION'S wars form the most interesting of all its

chapters in history, and its combats on the iield of

battle are often struggles for existence and independ-
ence. This very contest for life itself, is sufficient to

create the absorbing interest with which a people watch
the country's warlike movements. But when feats of

/^iv^ daring heroism, inspired bv the most exhalted patriot-

ism, are added there is an additional halo thrown around
the scenes of these conflicts and the}' become consecrated to the

cause that was victorious. The deeds of the heroes live in song
and poetry; and the Nation bows in reverence at the shrine of its

illustrious warriors.

The first war of any consequence that engaged the attention of

the United States after the organization of Shelby County, was the

campaign against Mexico. In that war Shelby County did its full

share. Two companies were organized in the county for the Mexi-
can service. The first of these started for the front in June, 1846.
It was company H, in the Third Regiment of Indiana Volunteers.

Its officers were Voorhis Conover, Captain; Samuel McKinsey,
I St Lieutenant; William Aldredge, 2nd Lieutenant, and Jonathan
Keith, 3rd Lieutenant. It was a full company and served for one

year. The only battle of consequence in which it took part, was
that of Buena Vista. In that engagement a few in the company
were wounded. At the expiration of its service it returned home
where it arrived in Juh', 1847. Another company was at once

organized by Lieutanant McKinsey, who was chosen Captain of

this second compan3% But little can now be learned of the inci-
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dents through which these men passed that were engaged in the

Conquest of Mexico.

The Civil War in the United States, was of such gigantic pro-

portions, and was brought about by so long a train of circum-

stances that have an exclusively national bearing, that a review in

this place would be impossible and impertinent to this work.
The political campaign in i860, exceeded any of its predeces-

sors for excitement and interest, and few, if any, have since equaled
it. In Shelby County, the contest was most vigorous, and the en-

ergv displayed by the politicians and partisans of the different

sides was but a reflex of the larger national contest. The fact that

Thomas A. Hendricks, who was then a resident of Shelbvville,
was a candidate for Governor on the Democratic ticket, gave addi-

tional zest to the contest. Speeches were made here by a number
of the leading men in each party. Rallies w^ere held in all parts of

the countv. Nearly every township had its organization of " Wide
Awakes "

for the Republicans, and a "
Hickory Club "

for the

Democrats. Night after night was disturbed by the fitful glare of

torch-light processions, and the hoarse shouts of partisans. In the

State election in October, Hendricks received a majorit}' in the

county of 242, over Lane, the opposing candidate. The general
result showed the election of Lane by nearly 10,000 majority.
From that time on the fio-ht was more bitter than ever. In

November, the result in the State was still more disatrous for

the Democrats. In this county, Douglas received 2,047 votes;
Lincoln 1,900; Breckenridge, 43, and Bell, 25. Douglas' major-

ity over Lincoln was 147, and over all, 79. This shows a falling
off in the Democratic majority from October to November, while

in the State the Republican majority was increased to more than

20,000. Lincoln was elected, having received 180 electoral

votes out of a total of 303. Then came the news of the seces-

sion of the States, and man}- stout hearts began to fail and doubt

the final outcome.
In this community nearly eveiy phase of the leading public

questions found ready advocates. The Shelby Volunteer, then

edited by R. Spicer, in its issue of December 13, i860, says:
" The excitement and secession turmoil in the South gives no indi-

cation of abatement and even the most skeptical Unionists, north

and south, have made up their minds to look upon the secession of

some six or eight of the Southern States as inevitable and it is

hardly probable that any terms in the way of compromise can re-

tain them. They have fully made up their minds (the politicians

who control the States, we mean), to go out of the Union and out

they will go. It appears to be the general opinion that the wisest
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and best plan is to let them and trust to future events, or the return

of the sober second thought, to get them back, probably repent-

ant." On the 27th the same paper at the close of a long editorial

with the heading, "Coercion— Is it Policy?" has this paragraph:
"The true pohcv of the north is to assume and maintain a conserv-

ative and non-interference policy and act on the defensive: and that

when her territory is invaded. This policy it is believed will induce

the border States' to remain in the Union, and eventually pave the

way for a re-uniting of the dissevered fragments on a lasting basis,

and at the same time preserve the feeling of brotherhood existing

between the two sections."

These of course, are only the opinions of one man— the edi-

tor but it is fair to presume that they were that of a large

portion of the party he represented in this county.

On Saturday, the 19th of January, 1861, there was a Union

mass meeting held by all parties in the court house at Shelbvville.

The control of the convention was in the hands of the Republicans.

Speeches were made by James M. Sleeth, James Harrison and

Thomas A. Hendricks on behalf of the Democrats, and by Capt.

Brandywine and Jasper H. Sprague on the part of the Republicans.

Two sets of resolutions were presented to the convention, one by
each of the two parties, but a dispute in reference to them ended

by an adjournment without the adoption of either, and the first

effort of a movement "
irrespective of party" in Shelby County,

was a failure.

TJic Famous Boggstozun Resolutions *—The meeting of the cit-

izens of Sugar Creek Township, that assembled at the school-house

in Boggstown, on Saturday, the i6th day of February, 1861, was

the most notable one that ever met in the history of that township.
^

It

had been well advertised throughout the township by written notices

posted up in all public places the week before, and a general turn-

out of the citizens was secured. The school-house was full and

overflowing. The evening was mild, but cloudy and threatening,

somewhat in keeping with the disturbed condition of the country

at that time. The meeting was promptly organized at i o'clock

P. M., by the selection of W. C. E. Wanee for president or chair-

man, and Wm. R. Norris as secretary, both citizens of Shelbyville

now, but who were then residents of " Old Sugar Creek." At

this time Sugar Creek Township possessed more debating talent to

the square inch, and a better knowledge of parliamentary rules and

usages, than any other township in the United States. Debating had

*This article, describing the proceedings of the Boggstown Convention, Avas written by

Mr. Wm. R. Norris, who was the secretary. It is the most complete account
ever^prmted

of this famous meeting.
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been assiduously cultivated at Boggstown as the central point of the

township for years and years, until eyeiybody that would talk or wanted

to talk, could talk. All the questions of the day current in debat-

ing societies had been discussed time and again by the debating
society that flourished at Boggstown permanently, and it took in

the entire township. The consequence was that the old farmers

and their boys were all debaters, and all took a pride in extempo-
raneous speaking. Hence a liyely time ^vas expected, as it was

anticipated that the last resolution would provoke bitter opposition
from the Republicans present, and there was a general turnout of

them as well as the Democrats, who were in a large majority in

the township, being then about three to one.

On motion, W. C. E. Wanee, Dr. J. W. Smelser and Wm. R.

Norris, were appointed a Committee on Resolutions. The com-

mittee retired behind the school-house for consultation. Dr.

Smelser drew from his coat pocket the Resolutions "cut and dried"

already written out, they had been prepared b}- him and a cousin

of his, Mr. Fullaloye, of Louisville, Ky., who had been visiting his,

Dr. Smelser's, famih- for some two or three weeks, and who was

very desirous to have them adopted by the meeting, that he might
take them back home with him as the popular expression of the

true sentiment of the people in a township like Sugar Creek, situ-

ate in the heart of Central Indiana. The debate was opened by
Dr. Smelser, who read the resolutions and supported them in a

speech of probably fifteen or twenty minutes. Smelser was a good

speaker, well informed and thoroughly posted on the political new^s

of the day, and as he eloquently urged the passage of the resolu-

tions, especially the last one, the attention of the audience was

intense, you could have heard a pin drop, the silence was so com-

plete ; he was followed by Norris w^ho advocated the resolutions

likewise and urged upon the meeting the propriety of adopting
them entire and especially the last one as the most important of all.

Mr. Wanee, the chairman of the meeting then rose, and drawing
from his pocket a small book, said :

" My friends, we are all met

here to-day for a common purpose, not as party men, but for the

consideration of the great questions that now disturb our common
country and threaten this lovely land with all the horrors of civil

war. 1 will thereby read you some extracts from this little book I

hold in my hand, \vhich is a laconic work, on the horrors and ter-

rors of w-ar. I think the writer so much better expresses and

describes the horrors and evils than anything that I myself could

offer, that I will read it to you, his essay on war." He then read

from the book an exceedingly well written description of the calam-

ities caused by war. This occupied about ten minutes, as Mr. Wanee
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read very slowly and impressive!}', he being an excellent reader.

Three speeches had now been made in behalf of the resolutions,

and all of them by the Committee on Resolutions, and it begun to

look like there would be no opposition to the passage of the reso-

lutions, but at this juncture Dr. Wm. G. McFadden, a young
physician and Republican, who then lived about two and a half

miles north of Boggstown, on the old McFadden homestead, the

Doctor is now and has been a w^ell known citizen of Shelbyville for

many years, arose from his seat in the audience and re( guested the

secretarv to re-read the resolutions and particular!}^ the last one, as

he thought that he had some objections to the last one. The sec-

retary complied, reading the resolutions deliberately and the last

one very slowly, word by word.

Dr. McFadden then proceeded to state his objections to the last

resolution, saving, that he thought it inexpedient in the present dis-

turbed condition of political opinion, and in view of the heated and

exasperated feelings of the southern people, especially the slave

holders, to pass such a resolution, as it would in his judgment
already add fuel to the flame so fiercely burning in all the states

south of the Ohio River. That it would encourage them and make
them believe that they had abundance of sympathy and support

right here in Indiana, and it might be the cause of precipitating a

dissolution of the Union, they expecting in that event that Indiana

and other western states would go with them, and form a new con-

federation that would embrace the Southern States, the Western

States, New York and Pennsylvania, and would leave the Yankee
or New England States out in the cold. That for his part he pre-
ferred keeping all the states together and not permitting any divis-

ion of the Union, and that, if necessary to keep them in, he should

be in favor of the government using coercion, much as he depre-
cated war, and civil war above all wars. The young Doctor's

speech made a profound impression, and was received with many
marks of approval by the Republicans present, whilst the Democrats
looked somewhat uneasv for fear the resolution would encounter

decided opposition. At this point. Secretary Norris sprang to his

feet and commenced a rapid argument in favor of the resolution,

enumerating the many geographical, commercial and business ad-

vantages that would enure to our people by going w^ith the South
in case of a dissolution of the Union. He said amongst other

things that the whole Mississippi valley should go together, that

God Almio-htv and nature desio-ned them to be one and indivisible,

that as waters of our State flowed to the Mississippi, and the Mis-

sissippi to the Gulf— nature herself had pointed out our destiny
—

that as for his part he was born with southern blood in his veins,
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that he could never go back on his native State, old Kentucky, that

he had lived as they were all well aware, for more than tv/o years

quite recently, in the Land of the Border Ruffians, Western Missouri,

right in the hot-bed of negro slaver}^ where they all owned slaves— that to his certain knowledge western Missouri was a perfect

nigger's paradise, that the slaves were well treated, many of them
better than they deserved. That from his know'ledge of southern

slave holders he would much prefer going with them if they did

secede and leave the Union, to allying himself to the hypocritical,

cunnin<j:, craftv, foxv, blue-bellied Yankees of the New Enirland

States— and a great deal more was said b}' the secretar}' in the

same vein.

Dr. Smelser follow^ed with an earnest appeal in behalf of the

South, stating that he had been in slave states, that he knew the con-

dition of the niggers in Kentucky was much preferable to that of

many poor w^hite men in the North, and a thousand times better

than the condition of the overw^orked and underpaid operators in

the factories of the Yankee States. That he would prefer, infin-

itelv prefer, a union with Southern slaveholders to a union wdth the

hypocritical Pharisees of New England, the cold-blooded calcula-

ting Yankees, whose only God was money, who first stole the nig-

gers from Africa and sold them to the south, and who now^ wanted
to free the niggers, so that they could get them to come North and
w^ork for them, and wait on them for little or nothing, pay them off

in old clothes and cold victuals, whilst pretending to be their

friends— they would rather steal a nigger from a good comfortable

home wdiere he was well treated and taken care of, than to pay
some poor white man good living wages to do their drudgery.
The Yankees were nearly all Abolitionists, and he hoped that Caleb

Gushing, Ben Butler and all such good Democrats, who were will-

ing to stand by the south in protecting their rights to their slave

propert}- would move out, and go to the south or west, where the

people would w^elcome them wath warm hearts and open hands.

The Doctor said much more in a similar strain, advocating the pas-

sage of the resolution w'ith vehement eloquence. Fie sat down and
Dr. McFadden undertook to reply, by saying that he had no love

for the Yankees nor the Abolitionists, but he thought the resolu-

tion was premature and imprudent in view of the excited condition

of the public mind both north and south, that it might hasten a dis-

solution of the Union much sooner than we anticipated, etc.

At this stage of the discussion, Homer Palmeter, an old man,
and a Jackson Democrat, who read the A^ezv Tork Day Book, an

ultra fire-eating. Democratic paper, morning, noon and night, took

the floor. He was an old man whose soul absorbing passion was
6
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politics, and who kept posted on its every kaleidoscopic phase.
He said amongst other things,

" Mr. President, we hear much said

about coishun (coercion) in the papers, they're full of it, both

Dimekratic and Rippublican. I say Mr. President, let's bring it

right home to ourselfs. How would 3'ou, Mr. President, like to be
coished (coerced, he meant). I know you wouldn't. AVe all know

you wouldn't. Now if it isn't right to coish (coerce) a man, it ain't

right to coish (coerce) a State. What's right between man and
man is right between States and States. ' Do as you would be
done by,' is the golden rule of Hoh^ Writ, laid down by Christ

himself, and don't undertake to coish (coerce) our Southern brith-

rin." He then launched into a philippic against the Abolitionists

for agitating the slavery question and disturbing the harmony of

the people and the States.

Speeches were also made by many others, as the Secretar}' per-
sisted in calling on every one present for an expression of opinion.
The two brothers, Washington and John McConnell, made tem-

perate and logical speeches in favor of the resolutions. Young
Robert McConnell, eldest son of John McConnell, warmly endorsed
the resolutions. Armstrong Gibson advocated them in an impul-
sive manner. David Smith earnestly favored their adoption and

thought it was high time to cut loose from the meddlesome and
accursed Abolitionists of the Yankee States. He was followed by
Adam Smith, his brother, who has distinguished himself of late

years in advocating the theory that the earth stands still and the
" sun do move" around it, in numerous debates with some of the

scientific men of the age. Uncle Adam said: " Gentlemen, I have
been much interested in the discussion of the resolutions, and I for

one, am emphatically in favor of their adoption. If it comes to a

sepperation of the States I prefer to go with the Southern nigger
drivers all the time to agoin' with the Blue-Bellied Yanks. By
Griddy them's my sentiments, gentlemen."
A number of other short speeches were made, by Chairman

Wanee, Secretary Norris, Dr. Smelser, Homer Palmerton and
others. The large and influential relationship of the Johnstons and

Carsons, who comprised the bulk of the Republican voters of the

township, were out in full force, and they at first supported Dr.

McFadden, the Union-at-all-hazards champion, in his determined

opposition; but they were gradually won over to the affirmative by
the continued argument and persuasion of the Democrats, until

finally Dr. McFadden was left solitary and alone in his opposition.
As a last despairing effort, he said: "Gentlemen, the people of

New England are not all Abolitionists, and they are not as bad as

has been represented. The Yankees were good soldiers in the
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War of the Revolution, they helped us mightily to achieve our in-

dependence. The Re^'olution, you remember, began at Lexing-
ton and Bunker Hill. I for one am not willing to give up "Yan-
kee Doodle, Lexington and Bunker Hill." At this point the

secretary, who was familiarly known as Dick Norris, called upon his

fast friend and bosom crony, Ben Farmbrough, the great trading man
of the township, for an expression of his sentiments. Ben, sur-

named " Old Sh%" slowly rose to his feet, and in his peculiarly

quaint and comical tone, said :
" Gentlemen, you all know Fm not

speech maker; but at sich a time as this I thinks it stands every
man in hand to impress his sentiments. I know the Southerners

w^ell; I hev traded in Old Kaintuck; I hev hot stock thar, and I

hev sold stock thar. Whatever a Kaintuckian tells you, you can

depend on; he's fair and squar; his word 's as good as his bond.

I speak what I know; I hav et at thar tables, staid at their houses
of nights, and had lots o' deelins with 'em, and thars not a more
cleverer or a more honorabler set of people on the face of the urth

than thev ar. As for the blue-belli'd Yanks, Fve hed deelins with

them too; an you've got to watch 'em all the time, watch 'em as

well as pray, for prayin wont do no good; they'll cheet' you enny
how if thev git the least chance, an if they don't they make a

chance. I tel vou the Devil will never git his own until he gits the

Yanks, and he'll be mi<i;'htv loth to claim 'em for he knows 'em too

well; he knows they wouldn't be in hell six months before they
cheet him out of his kingdom and set up a government of their

own. No, he'll not take 'em in if he can help it, he'll just shut the

door in their faces and tel 'em thro' the key-hole that he don't want

em, for 'em to go on still lower down, and set up a kingdom of

their own, and cheet it out among themselves. If we had the few

good Dimekrats out o' New England, I would say, go to thunder,
we don't want to be associated with 3^ou dead-beets and everlastin

cheets no lons-er. I fer one am fer the south. Them's mv senti-

ments."

It is needless to remark that Ben's speech brought down the

house, and that a motion was thereupon made to vote for the reso-

lutions. The chairman put the question, shall the resolutions pass,
it was answered from all parts of the room as well as out doors by
a stentorian yes. He then said, are there any opposed to the reso-

lution. Dr. McFadden rose and said, I vote no against the last

resolution
;
he was feebly seconded by two others, whose names I

have forgotten, and one voung man, Washington Andrews, refused

to vote either way. The chairman declared the resolutions passed

by a large majority, nearly unanimous
— he regretted that it wasn't
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entirel}' unanimous, but the minority, no matter how small their

numbers, were entitled to vote tlieir sentiments.

The resolutions as passed by the meeting were taken to Louis-

ville, Ky., the next Monday by Mr. Fullalove, Dr. Smelser's cousin,
and by him furnished to the Louisville papers, with a report of the

meeting. The resolutions were published in the papers of that city,

with glowing comments by the editors, who represented that this was
a true exponent of the sentiments of the Western States, and that

Sugar Creek Township had simply taken the initiative in giving voice

to their sentiments. That Sugar Creek Township was situated in

Shelb}' County, the home of the distinguished Democratic politician
the Hon. Thomas A. Hendricks, and that no doubt these resolutions

were a true reflex of the sentiments prevailing not only in Indiana,
but in all the Western States. Thev were published all over the

country from the Atlantic to the Paciflc and from the Lakes to the

Gulf, and were circulated broadcast over the entire South. There
is no doubt that they proved an important factor in stimulating
the spirit of secession and hastening the advent of the inevitable

conflict."'

The Volunteer of March 7, 1861, contained this article: "The
following are the resolutions passed by the Sugar Creek union

meeting on the i6th. The first and second resolutions were passed
unanimously, and the third by three or four dissenting voices. The
meeting was about equally composed of Democrats and Repub-
licans."

"Whereas, We do acknowledge, and are proud to confess the services of our Con-

gressmen, who are stirring and using their united efforts to promote the best interests and

safety of the Union, and

"Whereas, We do fully endorse the Crittenden resolutions or any fair and honorable

adjustment, that will answer as a basis for the settlement of our national affairs, that will be
honorable and fair to the interests of all portions of our nation. Therefore,

"
Resolved, That we, the citizens of Sugar Creek Township, do most earnestly recom-

mend and request the Ceneral Assembly o5 this State, now in session, to make application
to Congress to call a convention as soon as possible for the purpose of proposing
amendments to the constitution of the United States, based on the Crittenden resolutions, or

any other fair and honorable policy, that will amicably and forever settle the slavery ques-
tion between the North and the South.

''Resolved, That while we deprecate the precipitate action of the Southern States, we
are opposed to the general government using any means of forcible coercion, but believe

if proper concessions and compromises are offered by the Northern States with adequate
constitutional guarantees, that all these seceding States will readily come back, and a

reunion of our glorious Union will be the result.

Ixesolved, That if, after all peaceable efforts have been made to keep the several States

united in one grand confederacy, they must divide, and we must be cast with one or the

other portion, we do of choice prefer to be attached to the Southern Confederacy."

There were no further attempts to hold Union meetings in Shelby
County for some time, and things drifted along in this manner until

the firing on Fort Sumter brought about the crisis. Nothing can well
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exceed the excitement occasioned by that tirst act of the rebelhon.

Public meetings were held in most of the villages and hamlets

throughout the North, at which speeches were made and resolu-

tions passed, denouncing the secession movement in unmeasured
terms. The President's call for 75,000 volunteers w^as responded
to with alacritv. No portion of the country was more prompt in

stepping forward in defense of the Union than w^as Shelby County.
In less than a week two full companies were organized and ready
for the field, and five others were nearly completed. One of these

w^as accepted by the authorities at Indianapolis, and was assigned
the position of C, in the Seventh Regiment, three months' volun-

teers. It was mustered into service on the 22nd of April, with

John M. Blair, as Captain; John M. Flynn, ist Lieutenant; and John
C. Maze, 2nd Lieutenant. From the Volunteer oi April 25, 1861,

the following account of the departure of that company is taken:
" On Sabbath afternoon last, Johnson's Hall was filled to over-

flowing with citizens to witness the presentation of the elegant flag

(purchased by the patriotic ladies of Shelbyville) to the first com-

panv of volunteers from this county, under the command of Capt.

John M. Blair. The ceremonies were of an impressive and enter-

taining character. Order of Exercises: First— Prayer, by
Rev. Mr. L^-nch ; Second— Song,

' America ;'
Third— Addresses,

by Revs. Montgomery, Smythe, Kent and Lynch; Fourth— Pres-

entation of a copy of the Bible to each of the officers, and a copy
of the Testament to each volunteer. The Bible and Testaments

were presented bv the American Bible Society, and a full copy of

the Bible would have been given each soldier had the agency at

this place had a sufficient number on hand; Fifth
— Presentation of

flag. Misses Annie Green, Laurie Sprague and Fannie Robins, in

behalf of the lady donors, came forward and presented the elegant

flag, procured for the occasion as a gratuity of their zeal for the

cause in w^hich their countrymen were about to engage. Miss

Green said:

"
Captain Blair and Gentlemen of the Company: In behalf of the ladies of Shelbyville, I

present you this flag
— the flag of our country

— as a mei^aento of the past, the emblem of

our happiness and greatness, and the hope of our future. The hi>tory of the world teaches

us that liberty has ever been assailed, has ever been struggling for her rights, but has

never been conquered. When the Roman Empire became enervated by the luxuries and

licentiousness of her people, and despotism erected a throne upon her ruins, then liberty

was enshrouded in the dark mantle of oppression and wrong. Hut amid all the struggles

of mankincL for their liberties, noble and patriotic fathers, husbands, brothers and sons

have bared their manly breasts to the blows of her enemies, in defense of their rights.

And when fallen— as many have, and may again in defense of this flag— the soldier's brav-

ery, the soldier's grave and the soldier's monument, are the fondest legacies of a nation, hon-

ored by historians and poets
— the theme and pride of generations. Who would blot from

Grecian history her Thermopyloe, or the fame of Alexander, who wept on the shores of the

Indian Ocean because there were no more worlds to conquer; from Rome her hundred un-

paralleled victories— the fame of her Fompeys, her Scipios and her Cresars; from France
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her tragic victories on the Rhine and the fame of lier Napoleon at whose victorious tread the
whole continent trembled; from England her Waterloo, her Nelson and her Wellington;
from America the glorious deeds of Bunker Hill, Vorktown, Lunday's Lane, battle of Lalce

Erie and defense of Fort Sumter? Who would forget her warriors— her Washington, her

Marion, her Knox, her Greene, her Jackson, her Scott, or her Major Anderson? Is there

one who would sully these bright achievements of our country or dishonor the glorious old

flag of our Union? Alas! there comes a voice from the land of Marion, of Greene, of Knox,
and lastly, and most mournful of all, from the land of Washington, uttered by degenerate
sons thereof, whose highest aim is their country's dishonor, boastingly answering, YES.
But here is a bright oasis in the desert of degeneracy. Scarcely has the echo of that voice

died away, ere that banner is lifted aloft by proud and patriotic hands, and around its

standard are gathered the bravest and noblest of the land, to defend and protect it from
traitorous hands, wherever found. And now as you go forth to swell the mighty number
rising in the strength and majesty of a nation to repel the invasion of a traitcrous foe, and
to vmdicate our nation's honor, bear it proudly, guard it well, defend it nobly and

' In the dark and trying hour,
' In the breaking forth of power,
' In the rush of steeds and men,
'God's right hand will shield thee then.

'

Let your motto be 'Victory or death!' And may this flag with its stars and stripes,
never be trailed in the dust, but

'

long may it wave
' O'er the land of the free and the home of the brave. "

Capt. Blair responded:
"To the liberal and patriotic ladies of Shelby ville, allow me, and in behalf of my fellow

soldiers', to express our warmest gratitude for this noble Banner. Speaking is not the

soldiers' province. Rather is it their duty to defend that right, when the voice is raised in

behalf of the Union and Constitution, but to crush it out when uttered by unworthy men
against the Constitution and that glorious old Banner, which has so often waved over many
a hard fought battle-field, and never yet been struck at half mast until assailed by the trait-

orous hands of its own countrymen. We accept this noble and generous gift, and with it,

the motto suggested by the fair donors, 'Victory or death!' May we hope tire first senti-

ment shall crown our efforts. But, for me, and I but reiterate the sentiments of my fellow

soldiers, death is far more preferable than this noble Banner should ever l^e disgraced."

After this the volunteers sat down to a sumptuous banquet given

by order of the city council.

The second company was organized on the 22nd of April by
electing T. A. McFarland, Captain, D. T. Sleeth, ist Lieutenant, and

Robert Connor, 2nd Lieutenant. The meeting for recruiting this

company was held on the 17th of April. The following account of

it w^as published at that time: "The meeting was organized by the

appointment of Hon. T. A. McFarland, President, Green Vernon
and Joseph T\ill, Vice Presidents, and J. W. Elliott, Secretar}'.
After a few patriotic remarks by Mr. McFarland, on taking the

chair, the meeting was addressed at length by Col. W. M. Mc-

Carty, T. A. McFarland, James Milleson, Mr. Oldham and E. G.

Ma^'hew, in favor of the maintenance of the Union, the constitution

and the enforcement of the laws. On motion a committee, con-

sisting of James Elliott (Mayor), John C. Green, E. B. Wingate,

James Milleson and Dr. D. Adams, was appointed to draft resolu-

tions expressive of the sense of the meeting. The committee,
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through their chairman, reported the following, which were passed
amid great enthusiasm :

"Whereas, There exists an open and avowed rebellion against the constitution and laws
of our country, which, if permitted to continue, will prove subversive of the liberties of the
whole people of the union, and tarnish forever the gloiy, honor and fair name ot our lieloved

country in the eyes of the world; therefore,

"A'esokrJ, That we, the people of Shelby County, totally ignoring all past divisions, unite
in one common sentiment, that the supremacy of the constitution, the union and the laws,
under their properly constituted authorities must be maintamed.

"'Resolved, That, emulating the example of our forefathers, we pledge our lives, our for-

tunes and our sacred honors, to maintain the honor of our national flag, consecrated by the
blood of patriots on a hundred battle iields, and the integrity of the Union, the palladium
of our liberty and the only hope of our posterity.

"Resolved, That appealing to the God of battles to sustain us, we are determined to

crush out this rebellion, as the only means of perpetuating the noblest system of Govern-
ment ever devised by human wisdom.

"During the absence of the Committee on Resolutions a paper
was presented for the enrollment of Volunteers. Forty names
were signed at once and arrangements made to continue the en-

rollment in the morning.
* * * After three rousing

cheers for Gov. Hicks, of Maryland, and three times three for the

stars and stripes, the meeting adjourned."
This company was entirely filled by the 22nd, the date of elect-

ing officers. At that time the name "
Shelby Guard of Honor "

was adopted and an invitation extended to the "
Freeport Rovers,"

the "
Brandywine Invincibles," the "Home Guard,"'of St. Paul,

and all other companies in the county to meet at Shelbyville and
muster the military forces of the countv. Cols. McKenzie and

Shank, and Capts. Coalscott and McGuire were asked to assist in

thfc drilling and mustering.
The following items of interest appeared in the Vohmtecr of

April 25th:
"The second company of volunteers from Shelby County, under

command of Captain T. A. McFarland, are now awaiting marching
orders. The company numbers about one hundred, mostly robust

and able-bodied men."
"A High Company.— There is now being organized in this

place a company of volunteers, whose services wnll be offered to

the General Government, when required, of a high order— or

rather high men— no man standincr less than five feet ten inches

being eligible to membership. Some twent}^ odd names have

already been enrolled, and it is intended to have the company filled

up and ready to report itself under the next requisition, which may
probably be in the course of a few days. Able-bodied men filling

the bill in stature and willinfr to do dutv commensurate with their

size, are requested to come forward and enroll their names imme-
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diately. The whereabouts of the list can be ascertained on inquiry
at this office."

"Aid for Volunteers' Families.— Our citizens have sub-

scribed hberally towards the support of famihes of volunteers during
their absence. We learn it is also the intention of the Cit}' Council

and the Count}' Commissioners to make liberal provisions for the

same object."
It is probable that Shelbyville has never had a more exciting

time than the week following the announcement of the fall of Fort
Sumter. The whole county was in a state of unusual commotion,
while martial bands served to quicken the patriotism of the citizens.

On the first Saturday niirht after the news reached to\Vn of the

inauguration of war, one man was shot. This was John Vanpelt, a

volunteer in company number one. It occurred during a raid made
on the saloon of a man named John Frakes, who did the shooting.
From the extracts just made and the resolutions passed at that

time, there can be but little doubt as to the loyalty of the people in

this community at the beginning of the war. Nothing can give a

better idea of the progress of events than these items taken from
the weekly paper published here at the time. During this period
there was but one paper published in Shelbyville called the Volunteer.

The Banner, a Republican organ, had suspended prior to the open-

ing of the \Var. The Volunteer was Democratic in politics, and
the articles ma}- at times be somewhat biased with the opinions, or

in the interest of that party. Thev are given, however, as the

best that is now at hand adapted to this work. The reproduction
of these local items will be continued to a considerable extent

throughout this chapter on the military history.
The Seventh Regiment to which Capt. Blair's company be-

longed, was one of the earliest of the Indiana regiments in the field.

The regiments for the civil war began with the Sixth, as the State

had furnished five for the Mexican War, and those numbers were
not again used. Ebenezer Dumont, who had served with distinc-

tion in the Mexican War, was commissioned Colonel of this regi-
ment. In the latter part of May it proceeded to Western Virginia,
and on the 2d of June, took part in the first battle of the war after

Fort Sumter, at Philippi. In writing home about this affair, Cap-
tain Blair said :

" Col. Dumont's division entered the town by a

bridge direct from the north of the town, in which a portion of the

Rebels had encamped. Col. Dumont was at the head of his regi-
ment and the first to enter Philippi: Company B next, and Com-
pany C (Capt. Blair's), was the first full company that entered the

town. * * * To the Seventh Regiment be-
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longs the honor of hauhng down the Rebel flag and placing in its

stead the stars and stripes, and the colors of our regiment. Cor-

poral Hacker, one of the color guards of my compan}', claims the

honor of first throwing the stars and stripes to the breeze. Others
claim the same honor, but to the color guards of the Seventh be-

long the honor." The regiment remained in camp there for six

weeks, after which it moved to Bealington, and was there engaged
in some shirmishes. On the nth of Julv, near Leadsville, Capt.
Blair and Lieut. Tucker, of the Seventh, captured three Rebel

prisoners. On Cheat river, at Carrick's Ford, where the Rebel
General Garnett was killed, the Seventh took a conspicuous part,
and after the engagement pursued the enem}^ for a considerable

distance. The regiment was mustered out at Indianapolis, at the

expiration of its term of enlistment. Capt. Blair re-entered the

services as Adjutant of the Seventh Regiment, three vears' volun-

teers. Lieut. Flvnn became Lieutenant in the Fifty-first, and Lieut.

Maze became First Lieutenant in the Thirty-third Regiment.
The compan}' of Capt. McFarland was mustered into the ser-

vice as Company A, in the Sixteenth Regiment, one }ear's enlist-

ment, on the 14th of May. The officers were Thomas A.

McFarland, Captain; David T. Sleeth, ist Lieutenant, andWm. H.

F. Randall, 2d Lieutenant. In this regiment, Robert Conover, of

Shelbvville, was Adjutant. This was the regiment, at the head of

which Pleasant A. Hackleman was placed. He led it through the

vicissitudes of a vear's campaign, most of which was in the Vir-

ginias. In April, 1862, he was made Brigadier General and after-

ward, at the battle of Corinth, was killed. He lived at Rushville.

At the expiration of their term of enlistment, Capt. McFarland and

Lieut. Sleeth re-entered the service in the Seventieth Indiana

Regiment.
Besides this company of Capt. McFarland's Shelby County had

another full compan}- in the Sixteenth Regiment. This was H, and

it was raised in the vicinitv of Fairland. The commissioned offi-

cers were: William Judkins, Captain; Henry L. Francis, First

Lieutenant, and Samuel Tull, Second Lieutenant, their commissions

bearing date April 23, 1861, one week after the firing on Fort

Sumter. They all served out the year of enlistment w^ithout

change.
There was, of course, some opposition to the war in this com-

munitv, but it was so feeble then as to receive but little attention.

Indeed, there was scarcely a locality in the whole country where

there were not differences in this regard. Many who were patriots

at heart still thought there was no lawful way to compel the south

to remain in the Union, and they somehow or other retained that
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now exploded doctrine that there was no power in the constitution,

or elsewhere, to coerce a State. An incident of the times that will

illustrate how easily suspicion attached to a person holding adverse

views, is given in the following from the ]\)linitccr of Julv nth,
1861 : "On Monday Mayor Elliott received a letter from the Sur-

veyor of Cincinnati, informing him that Moses Frankel, of this place,
had been detected with a quantity of contraband goods in his pos-
session, consisting of nine Colt's Navy revolvers. Frankel repre-
sented to the surveyor that he intended selling the pistols to citizens

of this place and vicinit}^ when the surveyor consented to release

him and his goods on condition that the latter should be shipped to

this place in care of Mayor Elliott. The pistols arrived on Mon-

day evening when Frankel managed to get them and retained them
until Tuesday evening, when he surrendered them up to the Mayor.
We believe Frankel has not yet been arrested, nor are we aware
that there is any direct evidence that he meant to put them in

improper hands, but the case is an uglv looking one, and will require
a prettv straight and well authenticated explanation to exculpate
Mr. F. from an intention to place these formidable weapons in the

hands of the enemies of the government, especially in the estima-

tion of the community." On the 17th of the same month Frankel
was still here, and there was loud talk, and some steps taken, to-

ward a plan of dealing summarily with him and his goods. Deem-

ing "discretion the better part of valor," he suddenly left for parts
unknown.

It was still hoped by a large number throughout the north that

the war would be waged with the sole object of saving the Union
without putting down slaver}', the prime cause of all the trouble.

The following paragraph of editorial appeared August ist and
is to the point: "Disunionists in all parts of the Union, and under

every possible disguise, will attempt to engineer this war so as to

accomplish their cherished design. It will soon be made apparent
to the world, whether there is yet enough true loyalty to the con-

stitution, and genuine patriotism in this country to effectually put
down this great rebellion and at the same time, in the midst of the

frenzy and turbulence of civil war, and the animosities and factions

it engenders, baffle the machinations of these conspirators, who
would convert a war for the maintenance of the Union into a cru-

sade against slavery."

During the month of August, the recruiting for the company
that was to take the place of Capt. Blairs in the 7th reorganized

regiment, was begun. A considerable number of the old company
re-enlisted for three years or during the war. Several other com-

panies were being enlisted at the same time with good success. In
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the issue of August 29th, the }^ohi)itccr contained the following
summary of the troops already furnished for the war: "We think

no one will dispute that Shelb}- County has done her duty in the

way of furnishing men for the present war. The company now
being organized by Capt. Blair and Lieut. Flynn, makes five she
has turned out, viz.: Shelb}' Guards of Honor, Capt. McFarland;
Fairland hivincibles, Capt. Judkins; Waldron Guards, Capt. Uonel-

son; Dumont Guards, Capt. McCrea; Shelby Guards, Capt. Blair.

Besides these, parts of two companies ostensibly raised in Bar-
tholomew County were recruited out of this county, and several

of the Shelby boys are in artillery and cavalry companies at Indian-

apolis. It is safe to estimate that full 500 men from this county
have gone forth to sustain the flag and maintain the integrity of the
Union."

As the fall advanced there was a more earnest stand taken by
all parties. Instead of being a " before breakfast

"
job, the put-

ting down of the rebellion had grown into such proportions as to

almost appal the stoutest heart on the northern side. The whole

country began to hold conventions that " resolved
" no end of

contrary ideas. In this county several of the townships held such

meetings. But the one of most interest in this locality, was the

county convention held by the Democrats on the 14th of Septem-
ber. At this meeting Thomas A. Hendricks and Martin M. Ray,
were the principal speakers. The former contended that parties
were then as essential to act as a check upon the usurpations and

corruptions of those in power as at any previous epoch in our his-

tory
— not to oppose the administration in a prosecution of the war,

but to hold it accountable for its stewardship to the people. It is

now expending two millions of dollars per day and was it not right
that the people should know what was done with the money—
whether it was applied to the legitimate expenses of the Govern-
ment or a large portion absorbed by speculators and favorites.

In relation to the war he held that it should be vigorously and

energetically prosecuted to a successful termination. For him-
self he entertained no doubt that the government would triumph,
and that speedily, if it judiciously used the means and force placed
at its disposal by the people. Congress having recognized by law
that war exists, it was the duty of every loyal citizen to stand by
and sustain the Government.

Mr. Ray made a forcible and eloquent speech in which he ad-

vocated the same opinions as Mr. Hendricks.
The resolutions are too long for insertion here, but they were

almost exclusively devoted to the war. They arraigned the
" fanatics and Abolitionists north, as well fire-eaters and Rebels



338 SHELBY COUNTY.

south," for bringing on the war, and advocated a compromise or

peace that should be honorable to both sides. They declared that

the Democratic party was still in the right and still supporting the

Constitution and the Union. Perhaps the two most important res-

olutions bearing upon the war question were the following:
Resolved, That while we believe it is our duty to sustain and aid the present Adminis-

tration in a vigorous prosecution of the war for the protection of the Government and the

Union— and upon this question there should be no division of sentiment or action among
the American people

—
yet let it be understood that in doing this we do not think it neces-

sary to abandon our party organization and principle, nor to justify the causes which led to

the war, endorse the odious doctrmes and doings of the Republican party or any or the un-
wise and unconstitutional acts of the present Administration.

Resolved, That the Democracy of Shelby County will sustain no war, nor countenance

any peace, tending to the separation of these States, and that tliey will regard any attempt
to pervert this conflict into a war for the emancipation of the slaves, as fatal to all

the hopes of the restoration of the Union, and a return of peace and prosperity to the

country.

Such were the expressions of the assembled Democracy of

Shelb}^ County in the fall of 1S61. This party was then, and

nearly always has been, the dominant political organization of the

county and its expressions can safely be taken as the opinions of

the majority of the people in the county.
It must not be presumed that there was no sentiment in the

county adverse to this, or even opposed to the war. The Sugar
Creek resolutions, already given, indicate that there were some in

the county who could fairly be classed among what were then

known as " Southern Sympathizers." In the vicinity of Shelbyville
and in other parts of the county there were a few who even went
so far as to uphold the cause and doings of the Southern Seces-

sionists, but the}' were in such an extreme minority that their

influence counted for nothing.
Other CoiupcDiics for the War.— The next company ready for

the war from this county was that of Capt. Donalson. It was
raised in the vicinity of Waldron, and during its entire term of ser-

vice, which lasted until August, 1865, the company had the following
commissioned officers: Captains

— Samuel Donalson, July 15, 1861
;

Abraham B. Lowes, December 9, 1862; John W. Hickman, August
10, 1864; Benjamin S. Fisher, July 20, 1865. First Lieutenants—
Elijah N. Wines, July 15, 1861

;
Abraham B. Lowes, April i, 1862;

Alexander Leechman, December 9, 1862; Thomas L. Ha3anond,
April 9, 1863; John W. Hickman, August 8, 1S63; Benjamin S.

Fisher, April 10, 1865; James H. Cook, July 20, 1865. Second
Lieutenants— Michael Imhoff, July 15, 1861

;
Alexander Leechman,

April I, 1862; Thomas L. Haymond, December 9, 1862; John W.
Hickman, April 9, 1863; Joseph W. Higgins, July 20, 1865.

This company was assigned the position of K, in the Eighteenth

Regiment commanded by Thomas Pattison, of Aurora, as Colonel.
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It was mustered into the service August i6th and at once started

for the southwest where it took part in the Missouri and Arkansas

campaigns, under Generals Fremont and Pope, until the spring of

1863. It then joined Grant's movement against Vicksburg, and in

that memorable campaign the Eighteenth took a conspicuous part
in nearly all important battles. After the fall of Vicksburg it went
to New Orleans, whence it made several short campaigns of

importance. Early in 1864, it came home on veteran furlough and
at the expiration of that, it joined General Butlers's forces at Ber-
muda Hundred. In August it was placed under the command of

General Sheridan, in Virginia, where it was actively engaged until

January, 1865, when it started for Savannah, Georgia, in which
State it remained until it was mustered out August 28, 1865, having
served a little more than four years.

Thirtx-third Rcgiiiioif.
— Company D, of the Thirty-third

Regiment, was the next full company mustered into the service

that was composed of Shelby County men. The date of its mus-
ter was September i6th, 1861. Officers of the company, with dates

of their commissions, were as follows: Captains
— Edward T.

McCrea, September 6, 1861; William Chandler, October i, 1864.
First Lieutenants—John C. Maze, September 6, 1861; William

Chandler, November 20, 1863; David A. Fately, October i, 1864.
Second Lieutenants— William H. Miller, September 6, 1861; John
E. Smith, May i, 1865. Lieut. Maze was promoted Captain of

Company G, November 20, 1863, and Major of the regiment May
4, 1865. In Company C, of this regiment, Amos J. Thomas, of

Shelbyville, became First Lieutenant and Captain. At the begin-

ning of its term of service, Company D had ninety-eight enlisted

men, and was afterward recruited with 106. These recruits nearly
all came in at the end of the three years for which the men first

enlisted. Of these, thirty-tive died and seven deserted.

The Thirty-third Regiment was engaged in Kentucky until

April, 1862, most of the time doing garrison duty. At that time it

joined Gen. Morgan's forces against Cumberland Gap, and after

the evacuation of that place it returned as escort to the amunition

convoy to Kentucky, in which State it remained, doing but little

hard service until January, 1863, when it was transferred to Nash-
ville. From that time on the regiment saw much hard service, at

Columbia, Thompson's Station and Franklin. Early in 1864, the

recjiment re-enlisted and came home on veteran furlough. On its

return to the field, it joined in the Atlanta campaign, and was en-

gaged at the following places: Resacca, Cassville, New Hope
Church, Golgotha, Gulp's Farm, Kenesaw, Marietta, Peach Tree

Creek, and the seige of Atlanta. On September 2, Atlanta was
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surrendered to Col. Coburn, of this regiment. In this campaign
the regiment lost more than 300 killed and wounded. It remained
in camp at x\tlanta until November 15, when it started in the cele-

brated " March to the Sea," in \\ hich it took a distinguished part.
After that it started north through the Carolinas, and was several

times enijaa-ed with the enemv. The Thirtv-third was one of the

strongest regiments engaged m the war, and was always well re-

cruited and kept together. It was mustered out at Louisville, Ky.,

July 21, 1865.

Fiftx-prst Rcg/Jiieiit.
— Taken in the order of their numbers,

the next regiment that had a considerable number of men credited

to Shelby County was the Fifty-hrst. Company F was raised in

Shelbyville and vicinity. Its oliicers for its entire term of service

were: Captains
—James E. McGuire, October 11, 1861: John M.

FHnn, October 25, 1S62: Joel x\. Delano, December 15, 1864: Le-
onidas Smith, October i, 1865. First Lieutenants—John M.
Flinn. October 11, 1861; Joel A. Delano, October 25, 1862; Leon-
idas Smith, April 10, 1865; Thomas A. Morrison, October i,

1865. Second Lieutenants—Joel A. Delano, October 11, 1861;
Gideon T. Hand, October 25, 1862; Leonidas Smith, April 7,

1865; Thomas A. Morrison, April 10, 1865; Joel Gatewood, Oct-

ober I, 1865. In Company D, Sylvester R. Brown, of Shelbyville,
became Captain at its organization, October 11, 1861. Of the regi-
mental officers, David Adams served for a short time as assistant

surgeon. William H. Colescott was the first Major of the regi-

ment, and in June, 1862, he was promoted Lieutenant Colonel.

Capt. Delano was promoted Major, October i, 1865.
The Fifty-first Regiment was commanded by Abel D. Streight

as Colonel, a man whose reputation is by no means local. It was

originally organized as a regiment of sharp-shooters. Capt. Mc-
Guire had seen considerable service in the Mexican War, in the

Second Kentucky Regiment, which was commanded at first by
Col. McKee, and afterward by Col. Clay, both graduates of West
Point. He was thus, to a considerable extent, prepared for the ac-

tive duties of a military life. On Saturday, November 23,

1 86 1, a mass meetinof was held at the court house in Shelby ^'ille,

at which Gov. Morton, Col. Nichlin, M. M. Ray and other promi-
nent men were advertised to speak. None were on hand except
Col. Nicklin, who made a stirring speech.

Sword Presentation.— In the program for that meeting was the

presentation of a sword, revolver, sash and belt to Capt. McGuire.
The presentation speech was made by Eden H. Davis, who said:

Captain McGuire: Before proceeding to the discharge of a duty assigned to me by
the union loving, patriotic citizens of Shelby County, I hope it may not be regarded as in-
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appropriate for me to advert briefly to the circumstances wliich render the performance of
that duty quite a matter of necess^ity.

Allow me to call your attention to the fact that the inhabitants of almost one-lialf of the
states composing this once happy but now distracted republic, are in a state of rebellion

against the constitution and laws thereof History furnishes no account of a rebellion of

equal magnitude, one recpiiring the same amount of force to put it down. In fact, sir

were all rebellions heretofore known consolidated into one, in magnitude and potency it

would not equal the present. But, sir, those rebels must he subJited, and this rebellion put
do7c.'u. With a view to this end, because of your patriotic devotion to and efforts in behalf
of your country and her cause, the good people of old Shelby, with their own means, for
that purpose freely and voluntarily contributed, have caused to be purchased this sword,
sash and revolver, and have directed that the same should this day be presented to you as a
small token of their regard and esteem. Therefore, Captain McGuire, in obedience' to their
wish and directions, and on their behalf, I present you with the same and solicit your ac-

ceptance thereof on their account, because of the spirit in which it is presented, havino- the
utmost confidence in your ability and patriotism, they willingly commit the same to your
care and keeping. Entertaining not the i-emotest idea that they will ever have cause to re-

gret the bestowal thereof, I have willingly and cheerfully consented to become the instru-
ment to present the same, and to communicate at the same time some of their wishes in
relation thereto. The sword in all ages of the world has been regarded as an emblem of

authority. Therefore, bearing with you this emblem of authority from them, they wish

you to repair to the field of battle as their companion, and there engage in the patriot's
cause— the cause of our country

— use the same in putting down this damnable and un-
natural rebellion. And allow me to say that I know you will cheerfully comply with
their requests in this partiaular, and on behalf of them I give it to you, strictly in charge.
]^et your patriotic de\otion so shine forth that others seeing your devotion to our common
country and her cause, may be thereby induced to follow you to the battlefield and there vie

with you in deeds of daring and of patriotism in defense of our common country; and may
they, nor you, not falter by the wayside until the American flag again floats in triumph over

every hill and every valley, and from the housetops in every city, town and village, north
and south, and until the patriot shall have placed the heel of one foot on the head of the
rattlesnake of the south and the other foot on the palmetto flag, and while thus standing,
clipps the wings of the pelican, and until not one traitor can be found to bear witness that
this glorious country was ever in a state of reliellion. Let me in conclusion assure you that

when you go hence to the field of battle armed with that sword and revolver, and with your
loins girt about with that Ijelt and sash, to do battle for your country, that you will carry
with you the prayers and sympathies of a loyal, patriotic, generous and confiding people;
and when this rebellion shall cease and peace be again restored to our country, then may
you return to your family and friends, and once more enjoy the happiness of their society.
And may the God of heaven prosper you in your patriotic undertaking.

In reply to this speech Captain McGuire, in acceptance spoke
as follows:

Mr. Davis— On receiving at your hands this splendid sword, sash and revolver \\hich

have been purchased with funds voluntarily contributed by my personal friends, and by
you presented to me, permit me to say that I thank you most heartily for the favor you thus

confer upon me, and allow me to add that during my eight years' residence in old Shelbv

County, I have always been surrounded by friends who are firm, tried and true. I will not

boast that I intend to perform great deeds in the future. If 1 survive this war I do not ex-

pect to emerge from it wearing such laurels as crowned the father of our country, I simply
expect in my humble way to faithfully and honestly perform all duties assigned me, and
when it becomes necessary in the performance of those duties, to buckle on this sword and

girt about me this sash, sweet memories of those who have presented them will flash

through my brain and nerve my arm for the conflict. Should it be my lot to fall in battle,

I could ask no more than just such friends would place me in the silent tomb, where I will

wake no more to the voice of my commander, until God shall call and angels muster the

long line of resuiTCction. Hoping that the black cloud of war that now obscures

the star of our country's destiny will soon be dissipated, and the bright \\ing of

peace once more hover over a united and happy people, the ship of state riding

securely at anchor in a tranquil harbor, the stars and stripes waving over every hill-top and

valley on the continent, the soldier restored to the bosom of his family and friends, peace



342 SHELBY COUNTY.

and prosperity reign supremely over our whole broad land, the bonds of the Union made so

strong that an occasion for presenting a sword to defend it may never again occur, I bid

you adieu.

This compan}- started out with an enrollment of eighty-one men
and received in all seventy-three recruits

; twenty-three died in the

service and twelve deserted. The regiment did not see much ac-

tive service until the seige of Corinth, in which it took part.

Under Gen. Buell it returned to Kentucky, and after the campaign
in that State, moved again to Nashville, whence it marched with

Rosecrans' army in December, 1862. It was in the battle of Stone

River losing in killed, wounded and missing, forty-nine. Soon after

this it left on the Streight expedition. This was a provisional brigade

organized by Col. Streight, and consisted of the Fifty-tirst and Sev-

enty-third Indiana, Third Ohio and Eightieth Illinois regiments, with

two cavalry companies and two pieces of artillery. It proceeded
to Palmyra, on the Cumberland River, and later reached the base

of Sandmountains on the 29th of April, 1863, where a battle en-

sued with Forrest's Cavalry, which resulted disastrously to the latter.

On the I St of May, another tight took place at Crooked Creek, in

which the enemv was repulsed and again defeated at Blunt's farm.

The command pushed forward with the hopes of capturing Rome,
Ga., but on the 3d of May was overtaken at Ga3-lesville, Ala.,

by Gen. Forrest and compelled to surrender. The whole force

was consigned to a Rebel prison, but after some time the enlisted

men were paroled for exchange. On the 9th of February Col.

Streight escaped from Libby Prison by means of a tunnel. In No-

vember, 1863, the regiment was exchanged and at once returned to

the field. In February, 1864, a portion of the regiment re-enlisted

as veterans, and, on the 14th of December, the non-veterans were

mustered out of service. On the 15th it took part in the battle of

Nashville. In the following year the regiment moved to New Or-

leans, and thence to Texas, where it was mustered out at San

Antonio December 13, 1865. It arrived at Indianapolis January 10,

1866, with twenty-three officers and 286 men.

Company /, of the Fifty-tirst regiment, also contained in all

about fifty men from Shelby Count}', nearly all of whom Hved in

the vicinity of London and Fairland. The captains of the com-

pany were Marquis L. Johnson, October 11, 1865; James W.

Hafey, December 31, 1862; James W. Barlow, May i, 1S65;

George W. McCauley, July i, 1865. First Lieutenants—James S.

Reeves, October 11, 1861; Fred. J. Brownell, December 31, 1862;

George W. McCauley, May i, 1865: Albert S. Hartley, July i,

1865. Second Lieutenants—John Bowman, October 11, 1861;

James W. Barlow, February 14, 1863; Samuel Astley, May i, 1865.
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Excepting Capt. Haley, these officers are all credited to London.

Capt. Barlow was " mustered out a prisoner of war."

The Scvoiticlh Rcgi'incut.
— Shelby County had two companies

almost entirely composed of her men in the Seventieth Regiment.
These were B and F. Company B was made up largely of men
who had already served one year in the war in the Sixteenth Reg-
iment. Its commissioned officers were: Captains

—Thomas A.

McFarland, August i, 1862; David T. Sleeth, September i, 1862;

John C. Newton, November 14, 1864. First Lieutenants— David T.

Sleeth, August i, 1862; Edward L. Davison, September i, 1862;

John C. Newton, January 4, 1863; James A. Stafford, November

14. 1864. Second Lieutenants— E. L. Davison, August i, 1862;

John C. Newton, September i, 1862; Samuel B. Robertson, Jan-
uary 4, 1863; James A. Stafford, August 6, 1864; James C.

Bennett, January 17, 1865. Nearly all of the men in this

company were credited to Shelbyville. The company started out

with TOO men, received forty-eight recruits. It lost thirty-three
that died in the service and four by desertion. Compan}- F was
raised in the vicinity of Fairland, and was officered by the following
men: Captain

— Henry M. Endsley, August 8, 1862, who served

until the regiment was mustered out. First Lieutenants—Thomas
B. Carey, August 8, 1862; George W. Grubbs, September 7, 1863;
Isham Reed. January 21, 1865. Second Lieutenants— Coleman
F. Storus, August 8, 1862; William W. Thomas, February 7,

1863: Isham Reed, March i, 1864; John S. Parker, Februar}^
II, 1865. The original enrollment was ninety-eight and the

number of recruits forty-seven. Of these, twelve deserted and

twenty-five died while in the service. The Seventieth Regiment
was organized at Indianapolis in August, 1862, with Benjamin
Harrison as Colonel, and was the first regiment in the field

under the July call of 1862. It moved to Bowling Green, Ky., in

the vicinity of which it remained until November, 1862. It

then went to Gallatin, Tenn., and in December it was posted

along the railroad between that place and Nashville on guard
duty. It remained in that vicinity until June, 1863. In August of

that year it was stationed at Nashville, w^here it remained until

Januar}', 1864. At that time it marched to Wauhatchie, Tenn.,

and from that place in May following it started on the Atlanta cam-

paign in which it took an active part. It was engaged at Resacca,

Cassville, New Hope Church, Lost and Kenesaw Mountains,

Marietta, Peach Tree Creek and the Siege of Atlanta. In this

campaign its loss was forty-one killed in action, forty-three died of

wounds, and 191 wounded; total, 275. It marched with Sherman

to Savannah, and then north to Raleigh, where it was at the time

7
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of Lee's surrender. After this the men were mustered out at the

expiration of their terms of enlistment.

Seventy-sixth Regiment. — In Julv, 1862, a small band of rebel

guerillas under command of Adam Johnson made a raid on New-
bur£*"h Indiana. It was the first invasion of Northern soil that

occurred during the war, and, although insignificant in itself, the

alarm that it created in Southern Indiana was little short of panic.
In less than forth-eight hours a regiment was raised to repel and

punish the invaders. This was the Seventy-sixth Regiment in

which Shelby County had a company. Its position was F, and its

officers were: Elijah N. Wines, Captain; John R. StogsdoU and

John McCain, Lieutenants, all of Waldron. The regiment was
only raised for thirty days and this term was all spent in the region of

Henderson, Kentucky, having several skirmishes with guerillas.
The Thirteenth Cavalry^ One Hundred and Thirty-prst Regi-

ment, had one company from Shelby County. Its position was I,

and its officers were: Captains
— George Muth, March i, 1864;

George Haney, November 16, 1865. First Lieutenants— George
Hanev, March i, 1864; Elisha Weakley, February 6, 1865; Jas.
S. McFadden, October i, 1865. Second Lieutenants—James R.

Fry, March i, 1864; Fortune L. Bailey, February 6, 1865; Ed-
ward P. Kent, October i, 1865. The company started out with

eighty-eight men, was recuited with twenty-two, lost nine by death

and one by desertion. This was the last cavalry regiment raised

in Indiana. It was mustered into the service April 29, 1864, and
the next day it left Indianapolis for Nashville. Early in June it was
stationed at Huntsville, Alabama, where it remained until October,

having several fight engagements with the enem}-. Until this time

it had been doing infantry service, but was then mounted ana fully

equipped as cavalry. Early in December, companies A, C, D, F,
H and I under Gen. Rousseau took part in the battles at Overall's

Creek, Wilkinson's Pike and twelve skirmishes with a loss of

sixty-five men killed and wounded out of 325 engaged. Februar}'

II, 1865, it embarked on transports for New Orleans and from
there early in March to Mobile Bay where, under Gen. Canby, it

assisted in the operations against the forts and defenses of Mobile.

After the fall of that place it started on a raid of 800 miles through
Alabama, Georgia and Mississippi, under Gen. Grierson. It ar-

rived at Columbus, Mississippi, May 22. From there it proceeded
to Macon, garrisoning that point and sixt}' miles of railroad and

taking possession of immense army supplies. In June it returned

to Columbus where it remained until mustered -out of service,

November 18, 1865.

Early in 1864, the Governors of Ohio, Indiana, Ilfinois, Iowa and
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Wisconsin, offered to raise a volunteer force to serve 100 days.
These troops were to do duty in the service of the United States, but

were not to receive army bounty. They were to aid in making the

campaign of 1864 more successful and decisive b}' relieving the

veterans from guard and garrison duty, thus enabling them to join
in the active campaigns. Eight of these 100 da^^s' regiments were
raised in Indiana. Shelb}' County furnished eighty-eight men for

this service, in Company E, One Hundred and Thirty-second Regi-
ment. The companv othcers were : Stephen Allen, Captain, May
5, 1864; Anderson C. Winterrowd, May 5, 1864, and Wm. H. Miller,

May 25, 1864, First Lieutenants; James C. Morrison, Ma}'' 10,

1864, Second Lieutenant. They were all mustered in May, 1864,
and served in Tennessee most of the time guarding railroads and
lines of communications used by Gen. Sherman for transporting

supplies to his army then advancing on the Atlanta campaign.
Under the President's call for troops of December 19, 1846,

the quota for Shelby County was 321 men. It is needless to say
thev were furnished. No single complete company was organized
from these men, but several regiments were represented by Shelby
Countv men. The most conspicuous showing of men from this

countv under that call was in the One Hundred and Forty-eighth

Regiment. The officers in that regiment that are credited to this

county were: James M. Goodrich, First Lieutenant, Company D;
James M. Teeple, Second Lieutenant, Compan}^ G. Compan}- D,
alone, contained more than tiftv men from Shelby County. In the

One Hundred and Fifty-sixth Regiment William J. Craycraft be-

came Second Lieutenant of Company B.

The Morga',1 Raid.— In Jul}', 1863, there occurred an affair that

created more excitement in Southern Indiana than any other

period has known. This was the raid of the Confederate General,

John H. Morgan, through the southeastern portions of the State into

Ohio. He crossed the Ohio River, at Corydon, this State, and began
his short raid that spread more terror among the inhabitants than

any other occurrence of the kind during the war. He proceeded
northword to Paoli, in Orange Countv, then to Salem, the county
seat of Washington County. From that place his next town of

importance was Vernon, in Jennings County, whence he directed

his course toward Lawrenceburg. He was finally captured with

nearly all his band of about 4,000 men.
When the news arrived that Morgan had invaded Indiana soil,

there was scarcely a town in the State in which the people did not

at once conclude that they were to be the direct object of attack.

Consternation spread with the most alarming rapidity. In Shelby-
ville the excitement was fully equal to that in other places, and
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steps were taken to capture or repel the daring rebel. The mavor
of the city assumed the lead in the matter, and issued the fol-

lowing
PROCLAMATION !

Fellow Citizens of Shelby County! You are all aware that John Morgan with

his guerilla band of from 6,000 to 8,000 men, is invading our State, putting to death our

citizens, applying the torch to our towns, our railroad bridges, mills, and newly gathered

crops; horses, mules, beef cattle, wagons, farming implements, everything that can be of

use to the citizen is destroyed wherever he goes. He is at this time marching in the

direction of our county; he may, however, change his course, but of this we are not cer-

tain. And in order to foil his designs upon this place, I call upon the citizens of Shelby
County to bring forthwith to this city, all rifles, shotguns, and other arms that they may be

in possession of, to be formed into companies and squads for the jjurpose of ambushing,
bushwhacking and harrassing him in front until the organized troops in the rear overtake

him.
I call upon others who have no arms to come in with axes, spades and picks, to be

formed into working sc[uads for the purpose of building stockades and barricading the ap-

proaches, and be ready to fall timber, forming abattis to prevent his approach if we should

ascertain definitely that he is marching upon this point.
Come in fellow-citizens, without delay and let us unite in solid body and beat back this

Rebel invader in a manner so terrible and decisive as to render it their last attempt upon
the State of Indiana.

James E. McGuire,
Mayor of ShelhyviUe.

July 13, 1S63.

A meetini*- was held at the MaYor's office and work was

begun by enrolling and organizing the men into companies. The

following from an eYC witness appeared in the Daily Republican^
December i8, 1886:

" Our meeting then adjourned. When we arrived upon the

Public S(]uare it was literally jammed with people, men, women and
children all discussing the situation, and each one had their own

plan of operations. All was confusion. No man would stand still

long enough to hear the other's plan. The present whereabouts of

John Morgan was what the cooler-headed wanted to know. We
inquired by telegraph of Indianapolis, but recei^'ed no reliable in-

formation. Parties began recruiting a company of infantr}', and

others, among whom E. B. Amsden was the leader, commenced

recruiting a companv of cavahy, all to be armed with such guns as

could be obtained either in the country or city. The Amsden party
had the best of argument. They would say:

' AVhat do you want
to go in the infantrv for? Moroan's men are mounted and none
but mounted men can follow him,' which was true. The next

morning recruiting was resumed with great vigor. Country people
came streaming from all directions and by 9 o'clock the city was

literally filled with people all anxiouslv in(]uiring the news. It had
been learned that Morgan had passed through Salem, the county
seat of Washington County, taking many valuable horses, and com-

pelling Mr. Depauw, the banker, to give Morgan $5,000, and that he
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had marched out and would either strike Vernon or Seymour. Ex-
citement now ran high and the people were very earnest but much
perplexed to know what to do. Another effort was made to hold
a meeting at the maj'or's office but it was of no avail, you might as

well have called upon the clouds to come and hover over and give
shelter to those on the Public Sijuare exposed to the rays of the

sun, that burning hot July day."
A compan}' of cavalry and one of infantry was formed, and

every precaution taken to insure the safety of the town. Many
ludicrous scenes and incidents occurred, the narrative of which
would be too tedious for this work. This account of the Mororan
Raid excitement will be closed with the following from the same
article as last quoted:

*•• One of the details of infantry being posted near George
Senour's field across the river, about lo o'clock at night the squad
concluded that pickets ought to have some whisky; so a purse was
made up and one of their number appointed a committee to come
into the city and get the ' commissarv supplies.' The farmers

having heard that the cavalry were seizing all horses that were

brought to town, for the use of the new recruits, hitched their

horses along the fences north of the river. The committee of one
on his wav to get the whisky discovered the horses and went back
and told his comrades that Morgan was already in Shelbyville ;

that

the}' had dismounted and thousands of horses were hitched along
the fences and that the men had gone in a-foot. Whereupon the

guards fired off their guns and started on a run for the cit}^ not

taking time to climb the embankment and cross the railroad bridge
but wading the river wherever thev came to it. All that night
men and women staid upon the Pubhc Square anxious as to their

welfare. Morning came and with it the news that our troops had
a skirmish with some of Morgan's men, near Lawrenceburg, but

that Morgan had made his escape and was marching in the direc-

tion of Harrison, Ohio. Then came a general hand-shaking and

expressions of joy and gladness all around. Hundreds visited the

Rebel prisoners in
jail. The last duty our cavalry performed was

to escort the Rebel prisoners to the train and deliver them to the

proper authorities. Our troops were disbanded and peace and

quiet reigned once more in Shelbyville."
Public ofiiiwii in iS6j and 1864— During the spring of 1863

there was another paper started in Shelbyville, advocating the

principles of the Republican party. At the state election in the fall

of 1862, the Democrats were successful in many of the northern

states. This fact, alone, gave renewed impulse to the campaigns
of 1863. The Republicans construed the result adversely to their
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conduct of the war, and on the testimony of no less authority than
General Grant, they were determined to make a better showing on
the field of battle. In Shelby County there was but little if any
abatement in the tension of public opinion. During the summers of

1863 and 1864 mass meetings were held in all portions of the

county at which the leading speakers made addresses, and resolu-

tions covering the yarious phases of the public questions were dis-

cussed and adopted. As the Administration adopted the emanci-

pation theory the Democrats became more hostile toward its meth-
ods of conducting the war. They were in for preserving

" the

Union as it was " and were opposed to the abolition of slavery.

They did not want to disturb the " domestic relations
"
of any of the

States. But it was impossible to fight out the war on any other

grounds. Slavery had been the prime cause of the conflict and it

was an element that was doomed to overthrow if the Union of the

States was to be preserved with stability. There was no mean

ground to be occupied between the Union without slavery and dis-

union. Fortunately the sentiment of Union without slavery, pre-
vailed.

Soldiers at home on furlough, wearing their uniforms, were the

universal object of attention. It was not infrequent that the}' over-

stepped the bounds of reason and dut}' in maintaining their princi-

ples. The}- often became insolent and intolerant, and imagined
that their coats of blue were sufficient excuses for whatever ex-

cesses they saw fit to indulge. Collisions between the soldiers and
citizens were of common occurrence all over the north. In this

county they were not an exception. It is probable that few por-
tions of the north were more deeply agitated than Shelby County.
By some it has been alleged that there were several lodges of the

Knights of the Golden Circle in the county, and it is probable that

the allegations are true. The Union Banner charged it openly at

the time, and it called attention to the times and places of meetings.

Party strife ran high, and there were frequent physical encounters

between the contendincr sides.

Notwithstanding all this, the volunteering went on with com-
mendable zeal, and the number of men furnished by the County for

the war shows well for a community in which there was so much
active opposition to the methods of carrying on the struggle.

The Third Battery Light Artillery contanied several men
from this county of whom Leonidas Thrasher was commissioned
Second Lieutenant, August 15, 1861.

TJie Lidiana Legion was an extensive organization throughout
the State for the purpose of home defense in case of need. It

served another purpose, however, that proved more useful than
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as Home Guards. It was the medium through which many good
soldiers were brought into the service, that perhaps, would not
otherwise so readily have entered the active service of the United
States. The drilling, too, was useful in preparing men to a con-
siderable extent for the evolutions that were required in actual war.
In other words it was a training school where men learned the
rudiments of knowledge in war that so soon enabled them to per-
form in the face of the enemy like trained veterans. Shelby
County had seven of these companies in the Legion and the roster

of the othcers reveals the names of many who led companies to the

field of battle.

Bounty and Relief.
— In order to stimulate volunteering, the

Unitfed States Government authorized the payment of bounties

early in the war to those who should enlist for the term of three

years. In the first year of the war this amount was fixed at $ioo.
Orders from tlie war department at \'arious times authorized
the payment of additional sums ranging as high as $400, accord-

ing to the nature and term of service. The inequalities of

bounties created great dissatisfaction, but it was claimed by the

authorities that the exigencies of the times demanded it and could

not be avoided. An additional inducement was offered in the w^ay
of a land-warrant for forty acres of public land to each soldier

receiving an honorable discharge. This, taken with the amount of

the bounty, which was considered about the value of a mule,

brought about that that famous and popular phrase,
"
forty acres

and a mule," and doubtless had much to do with the successful

volunteering' which characterized the war. Besides the national

bounties, large and often extravagant sums were paid by many of

the counties. These had the effect to lii^'hten the drafts, but at the

same time increased the taxes. The latter, however, cut but little

figure in the question. People would not put a price on the Union,
and no matter what was required to preserve it, that re(|uirement
was always met. In Shelby County this spirit was fully maintained

and the Board of Commissioners at different times met the popular
demand by offering bounties. These ranged all the way up to ^500,
and were offered under the various calls of the President for

troops.
Another important item came under the head of Relief. This

included whatever sums were paid to support the families of those

who had enlisted and were absent in the field of battle, and also the

supplies forwarded to the soldiers themselves. A few months'

experience showed how much the Government lacked of being

prepared for supplying an army with the necessary comforts

required by a soldier. Immediately after the opening of the war
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there was a Soldiers' Aid Society formed in Shelbyville bv the

leading ladies of the town. The work which those noble-hearted

women did went far toward relieving the wants of the soldiers.

Scarcely a week passed without a shipment to the front of mittens,

socks, blankets and such other articles as a soldier would likely
need to withstand the extremities of the seasons. These contri-

butions were purely personal and the women of the whole county
were requested to bring in whatever could be properly spared. In

this way many dollars were spent in the soldiers' behalf which are

not included in the following amount of Bounty and Relief paid by
the county and townships:

Shelby County Bounty $121,840 00

Shelby Countv Rehef 39?04i 19
Amount of relief furnished by the various townships

independent of count}' 20,000 00

Total Bounty and Relief $180,889 19

Men Furnished for the War.—The various calls made by the

President for troops during the Rebellion were as follows:

First call, 75,000 men, three months' service, April 15, 1861.

Second call, 42,034 men, three years' service. May 3, 1861.

Third call, 300,000 men, nine months' service, August 4, 1862.

Fourth call, 100,000 men, six months' service, June 15 1863.
Fifth call, 300,000 men, three years' service, October 17, 1863.
Sixth call, 500,000 men, three years' service, February i, 1864.
Seventh call, 200,000 men, three years' service, March 15, 1864.

Eighth call, 500,000 men, one, two or three vears' service, July
18, 1864.

Ninth call, 300,000 men, one, two or three years' service, De-
cember 19, 1864.

These calls aggregate more than 2,300,000 men and give some
idea of the magnitude of the Civil War in the United States. It

will be interesting to know what part of this immense army was
furnished by Shelby County. The first enrollment of the militia in

Indiana after the commencement of the war was made September
19, 1862. The total militia force of the county was 3,285, of which

425 were exempt from bearing arms, leaving 2,860 subject to draft.

The county was at that date credited with having furnished 1,238

volunteers, 973 of which were then in the service. It was under

this enrollment that the first draft in Indiana occurred October 6,

1862, to supplv the number required by the call of August 4th.

The quota of Shelby County under that draft was 141 men, appor-
tioned among these townships: Jackson, 20; Noble, 32; Liberty, 28;
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Hendricks, 22; Union, 19; Moral, 20. The draft officers were
Martin M. Ra}', Commissioner; Isaac Odell, Marshal, and John Y.

Kennedy, Surgeon.
The call of October 17, 1863, demanded of Shelby Countv 254

men, which nmiiber was furnished without resorting to a draft.

Under the calls of Februar}^ ist, March 15th, and July i8th, 1864,
the total quotas for the county, was 1,217 men, to offset which it

was credited with 1,009 '^^'^^' recruits, 108 veterans and 182 by
draft, making 1,299, or seventy-two more than were required. The
President's last call for troops, December 19, 1864, asked Shelby

County for 321 men. Against this number the county was credited

with 259 new recruits, forty-nine veterans and twenty-one by draft,

making in all 329. This was the condition of the account with

Shelby County, on the 14th of April, 1865, at which time all

efforts to raise troops were abandoned. It shows a balance in favor

of the county. The draft under this last call was made upon the

basis of the third enrollment of the State, or second under the En-

rollment Act of Congress. That enrollment showed Shelby
County to have had a militia force of 2,369. These figures show
that the count}- furnished 3,261 men for the war, or within twenty-
four of the number first reported as its total militia force. This

need not imply that there were that number of separate men from

this county in the war, for there were not. A considerable number
of the men enlisted twice, and some three times, and the}- were

counted for each enhstment. It is probable that 400 will include

the number of those who were thus recounted. Thus it will be

seen that Shelby County alone furnished enough men to make more
than three full regnnents, a considerable army in itself.

The following is a roll of honor, as taken from the Adjutant
GeneraFs Report for the State, and as that work contains many er-

rors, it can hardly be hoped that this roll is free from mistakes. The
list given comprises only the privates who died either from wounds
or otherwise before receiving a final discharge. It doubtless con-

tains many errors and omissions, but is the best that can be ob-

tained at this time:

Company 6\ Seventh Regiment. (
Three iMonths.)

Smith, John R., killed at Bealington, Va., July 8, 1861.

Company A, Sixttenth Regiment. [One 2'ear.)

Barch, PhiHp, died at Columbus, Ohio, July 23, 1861.

Company JT, Sixteenth Regiment. (
One Tear. )

Cadmill, Robert T., died at Camp Seneca, November 5, 1861.

Potter, WilHam, died at Aldie, Va., March 22, 1862.

Strange, George, died at Warrenton Junction, May 2, 1862.
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Company I), Seventeenth Regiment.

Deitzer, Nicholas, died August 21, 1863, of wounds received at

Hoover's Gap.

Company K, Eighteenth Regiment.

Burlington, Benjamin B., died at Helena, Ark., August, 1862,

Crigler, Joshua, killed at Magnolia Hills, May i, 1863.

Hank, John, killed at Magnolia Hills, May i, 1863.

Hays, Timothv, veteran, died March 19, 1864.
Hull, Daniel, died at Georgetown, Mo., September, 1861.

Israel, George, killed at Magnolia Hills, May i, 1863.

Littlejohn, William F., killed at Magnolia Hills, May i, 1863.

McLaughlin, John A., killed at Vicksburg, May 23, 1863.

Miller, James T., killed at Vicksburg, May 22, 1863.
McCee, Wilham, died at St. Louis, November, 1862.

Mann, James M., died at Black River, Miss., May 18, 1863.

Morris, Carloo, died at Indianola, Texas, November, 1864.
Osburn, Wallace, died in Missouri, 1862.

Wilhelm, Benj. F. died at Booneville, Mo., September, 1861.

Young, Homer, died at Helena, Ark., 1862.

Conipa)iy J/, Tzuenty-first Regiment.

Britton, Alfred D., died of incision of neck, made by himself,

September 7, 1864.
Gaines, Wm. H., died near Terrehutte, September 26, 1864.

Hyatt, Milton, died at New Orleans, October 25, 1864.

Pope, James, died at New Orleans, September 11, 1864.
Woodard, John, died at New Orleans, September 2, 1864.

Company D^ Thirty-third Regiment.

Barger, Thos. H., died at London, Ky., November 19, 1861.

Boicourt, David, died at Big Shanty, Ga., June 25, 1864.
Casto, William, died at Crab Orchard, Ky., November 24, 1861.

Corney, Frederick, died March 12, 1862.

Candell, Fountaine, died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December 12,
1861.

Campbell, James, killed at Peach Tree Creek, Ga., July 20, 1864.
Coalscott, Benj. F., died at Columbia, Tenn., March 7, 1863.

Divert, Jefferson T., died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December 11,

1862.

Erwin, John, died at Chattanooga, Tenn., November 8, 1864.
Gillard, Jmaes, died at Spring Hill, Tenn., of wounds, March 7, 1863.

Husted, James, died of wounds, July 20, 1864.

Hynes, Milton, died at Nashville, Tenn., April 27, 1863.
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Kennedy, Samuel, died at Crab Orchard, Ky„ February 14, 1862.

Messick, Henry, died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December 19, 1861.

McConnell, James, died at Crab Orchard, Kv., December 7, 1861.

McConnell, Louis B., died at Sidney Pass, October 31, 1862.

McQueen, Benj. F., died at Spring Hill, Tenn., March 7, 1S63,
wounds.

McFerran, Lewis, killed at Wild Cat, Ky., October 21, 1861.

Phillips, Emanuel, died at Crab Orchard, Kv., December 10, 1861.

Phillips, Memory, died of wounds, Columbia, Tenn, March 7, 1863.

Robertson, Wm., died at Crab Orchard, Ky.^ November 27, 1862,

Warble, Jacob, died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December 4, 1861.

Willis (Wills), Andrew C, died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December
12, 1861.

Williams, Franklin, died at Kingston, Ga., June 22, 1864.

Mitchell, Hiram, died at Nashville, July 15, 1864, wounds.

Winterro\vd, Anderson, killed at Peach Tree Creek, Ga., July
20, 1864.

Smith, William, died January 24, 1S62.

Norvell, Robert, died at Shelby ville, April 20, 1863, wounds.

Smith, Henry H., died at Crab Orchard, Ky., December 17, 1861.

Company L, Eighth Cavalry, ( Thirty-ti/iith) Regijiuvit.

Conrad, William H., died at Nashville, June 26, 1864.

Ir\\in, Weslev, died at Nashville, December 23, 1864.

Company 7% Fifty-first Regiiuoit.

Gatewood. John M., died at Nashville, March 29, 1862.

Gatewood, Robert, died at Nashville, January 28, 1863.

Kendall, Ethan A., killed at Day's Gap, April 30, 1863.

Lock, Levi, died at Woodsonville, K3^, March 21, 1862.

Miller, Fielding J., died at Bardstown, Ky., January 4, 1862.

McConnell. John E., died at Nicholasville, Ky., March 27, 1862.

Palmer, James, died at Bardstown, January 5, 1S62.

Parker, Washington, died at Day's Gap, May 3, 1863.

Raines, Robert, died at Camp Morton, Ky., January 11, 1862.

Shvlock, John, died at IndianapoHs, December 29, 1S61.

Company /, Fiftyfirst Reginioit.

Aldridge, James, killed at Stone River, December 31, 1862.

Burr, Lewis R., died at Louisville, January 7^ 1862.

Creviston, Aaron, died at Nashville, March 26, 1862.

Chambers, James, died at New Orleans, July 14, 1865.

ElHngton, Albert, died at Bardstown, December 28, 1861.

German, Charles E., died at Bardstown, December 29, 1861.

Holden, Charles, died at Stanford, Kv., February i, 1862.
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Jarvis, John, died at Huntsville, Juh' 2, 1862.

Smith, Samuel, died at Bardstown, February 4, 1862.

Williams, Francis O., died at Lebanon, February 6, 1862.

Company B, Fift\-sccond Reginient.

Barton, Francis A., died October 6, 1864.

Company G, Fifty-second Ncgiment.

Medhiff, WilHam, died February 15, 1862.

Company B, Seventieth Regiment.

Adams, George W., died at Bo\yling Green, September 30, 1862.

Adams, John H., died at Layergne, Tenn., June 20, 1863.

Aydelott, Joseph W., died at Scottsyille, Ky., November 27, 1862.

Gordon, Zacheus, died at BowHng Green, November 27, 1862.

Gibbons, John W., died at Scottsyille, December 2, 1862.

Hawkins, Alex. S., killed at Resacca, Ga., May 15, 1864.
Lazar, Charles, died at Nashville, November 19, 1863.

Miller, John W., died at Sandersville, Tenn., February 7, 1863.

Miller, Thomas B, died at home, August 11, 1862.

Miller, Robert H., died at Chattanooga, July 22, 1864, wounds.

McMillen, Abraham, died at Sanders\-ille, February 22, 1863.

McFall, James H., died at Bowling Green, November 7, 1862.

Maholm, George H., killed by railroad accident, November 6, 1864.
Newton, John II., died near Atlanta of wounds, August 12, 1864.
Price, George A., died at Chattanooga, August 29, 1864.
Powell, Elijah, died at Chattanooga, May 24, 1864.

Rogers, Achilles, died of wounds, July 14, 1864.

Story, William, died at Bow^ling Green, August 30, 1862.

Scotield, David F., died at Scottsyille, Ky., December 17, 1862.

Stoddard, Marshall, died at Scottsyille, K}'., November 19, 1862.

Smith, Adelman, died at Indianapolis, August 7, 1862.

Tanner, Robert, died at Gallatin, Tenn., May 7, 1863.

Wheeler, Jeremiah, died at Gallatin, Tenn., December 23, 1862.-

Walton, John B., died at Gallatin, Tenn., December 15, 1862.

Clark, James, died at Lookout Mountain, February 2, 1865.

Frank, Chas. W., killed at Resacca, Ma}- 14, 1864.
Goodrich, Louis, killed at Peach Tree Creek, July 20, 1864.

Stubbs, Jesse, died at Jeffersonville, Ind., September 4, 1864.

Company F, Seventieth Regiment.

Andrews, John W., killed at Resacca, May 15, 1864.

Arthur, James M., died at Murfreeboro,July 15, 1863.

Bassett, Samuel, killed at Peach Tree Creek, July 20, 1S64.

Cox, John, killed at Dallas, Ga., May 25, 1864.
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Collins, Leander M., died at Murfreeboro, August lo, 1S63,

Hulsopple, William, died at Murfreeboro, August i, 1863.

riulsopple, Andrew J., died at Bowling Green, November i, 1862.

Howerv, Charles, died at Saundersville, Januar}' 28, 1863.

Howard, Watson C, killed at Peach Tree Creek, July 20, 1864.
Hacker, William A., killed at Kenesaw Mount, June 14, 1862.

Joyce, Thomas S.. died at Bowling Green, November 16, 1862.

Nichols, Jasper, died at Gallatin, Tenn., Feburary 22, 1863.

Odell, Jeremiah, killed at Kenesaw, June 15, 1864.

Rouse, WilHam T., killed at Dallas, Ga., May 27, 1864. »

Rouse, Phillip,
died at Bowling Green, November 16, 1862.

Ross, Thomas, killed at Resacca, May 15, 1864.

Stewart, James, died at Bowling Green, October 21, 1862.

Speagle, George S., died at Sandersville, December 19, 1862.

Stoddard, Marshall, died at Scottsville, Ky., November 26, 1862.

Vanlew, John F., died at Sandersville, Tenn., January 15, 1863.

Alexander, Thomas, died at Bowling Green, November i, 1862.

Bradv, John, died at Gallatin, Tenn., April 25, 1863.

Griffith, Luke, died at Bowling Green, October 15, 1862.

Holdrom, Thomas J., killed at Resacca, May 14, 1864.

Miller, Philip, died at Madison, February 20, 1864.

Company E, Sci'ciily-ii/iit/i Regi'niciif.

Burk, Edmund, killed by guard at Louisville, September 5, 1862.

Dick, Samuel, died at Nashville, November 7, 1863.

Davis, George W., killed at Atlanta, July 21, 1864.

Fox. Daniel, killed at Stone River, January 2, 1863.

Golding, William B., died at Nashville, December 5, 1862.

Hill, ^Iilton, died at Louisville, December 30, 1862.

Kendall, John E., killed at Stone River, January 2, 1863.

Larmore, Oliver P., died at Lebanon, Ky., November 15, 1862.

Laird, Robt., died at Louisville, October 25, 1862.

Reed, James, died at Cave Springs, Ky., November 24, 1862.

Smith, Henry, died at Nashville, December 15, 1862.

Tucker, Benjamin, died in Shelby County, November 24, 1862.

Company /, Seventh Cavalry [One Hundred and KinetecntJi)

Reg'inienf.

Cherv, James, died in Andersonville, September 5, 1864.

Peterson, William, died at Union City, Tenn., January 22, 1864.

Phillippe, John W., died at Memphis, May 28, 1865.

Robinson, Lewis, died at Andersonville.

St. John, Albert, died February 22, 1864, w^ounds.
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Company H, Al)ith Cavalry [One Hundred and
Tzuenty-firsf)

Regiment.

Aydelott, Joseph, died January 26, 1865.

Allison, William M., died Februaiy 24, 1865, wounds.

Bagley, Joseph, died July 13, 1864.

Baglev, Henry, died April 15, 1864.

Becklv, Charles, killed at Sulphur Trestle, Ala., September 25,

1S64.
Colcaizer, Philip, died at Pulaski, Tenn., August 17, 1864.
Delano, Geo. W., lost on Sultana, x\pril 27, 1865.

Goius, Milton, died at St. Louis, June 16, 1865.

Hill, Lorenzo D., died September 22, 1864.
Houton, Cassander T., killed at Sulphur Trestle, September 25,

1864.

Huls, Marion, died April 4, 1865.

Hulsopple, John, died at Pulaski, September 8, 1864.

Jenkins, John, died at Nashville, of wounds received September
25, 1864.

Pratt, Josiah, lost on Sultana, April 27, 1865.
Ross, William A., died at Nashville, March 19, 1865.

Smith, Milton, killed by guard at Vicksburg, July 11, 1865.

Strap, James H., died at Memphis, March 13, 1865.
Shull, John W., lost on Sultana, April 27, 1865.

Swango, Henry, died at New Orleans, April 27, 1865.
Vance, Wm. D., died at St. Louis, June 19, 1864.
Williams, John R., died in Rebel prison, February 5, 1865.

Company I), One Hundred and Tzuenty-f/iird Keginienf.

Holton, William F., killed near Kenesaw, July 17, 1864.

Company E, One Hundred and Tzuenty-tJiird Regiment.

Denickson, John W., died near Atlanta, August 27, 1864, wounds.

Company I, One Hundred and Twenty-third Regiment.

Pence, Jacob, died at Louisville, March 2, 1865.

Company /, Thirteenth Cavalry {One Hundred and Thirty-firsf)

Regiment.

Anderson, John B., died at Louisville, October 29, 1864.
Dodd, John M., died at Chattanooga, September 9, 1864.

King, Thomas B., died at Murfreesboro, December 26, 1864.

Company R, One Hundred and Forty-sixth Reg'iment.

Gunning, Hiram, died at Baltimore, May 14, 1865.
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Comfany D, One Hundred and Forty-eigJdh Regiment.

Badger, Milton J., died at Columbia, Tenn., August 15, 1865.
Newton, Thomas G., died at Indianapolis, March 3, 1865.
Pearson, John J., died at Nashville, March 25, 1863.
Roe, James M., died at Pulaski, May 12, 1865.
Robertson, Samuel, died at Nashville, June 27, 1865.

Company G, One Iliuidrcd and Fort\-eighih Regiment.

Crouch, George, died at Columbia. Tenn., April 12, 1S65.
Keith, WilHam G., died at Nashville, March 22, 1865.
Mosman, John C, died at Nashville, May 5, 1865.

Third Battery, Light Artillery.

Ray, Henry L., killed at Lone Jack, Mo., August 16, 1S62.

Twentieth Battery., Light Artillery.

Kenedy, Albert, died at Nashville, February 10, 1863.
Kenedy, Nathaniel, died at Nashville, April 15, 1863.

Pope, Charles L., died at Nashville, May 3, 1863.

Grand Army oj the Republic.
— Nothing could be more natural

than for those who had spent months and years together following
the fortunes of w^ar, to form a society somewhat exclusive in its

character. It was natural for them to exclude all who had not shared
the hardships of the camp nor been a soldier in fact. Such a so-

ciet}' is the Grand Arm}- of the Republic, one that per\'*ades every
part of the Republic where those who fought the battles of the

Union are to be found. It is to-day c^ie of the most extensive or-

ganizations in the coimtry. In Shelby County there are four lodges
or posts of this order. They are: George Haney Post, at

Morristown; Andrew Winterrowd Post, at Flatrock; Meredith

Post, at Mt. Auburn; Dumont Post No. 18, at Shelbyville. The
total membership in the county is about 300, of which 180 are at

Shelbyville and vicinity. The organization is composed of Union

soldiers, and an honorable discharge is necessar}- for membership.
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CHAPTER VL

Religious History— Early Piety— The Methodist Episco-
pal Church— Its Classes at Marion, Shelbyville,
Wrays, Boggstown, Brandywine, Fairland, Flatrock,
NoRRiSTOWN, Marietta, Morristown, Fountaintown,
Pleasant Hill, Waldron, Winchester, Ripple's, Toners,
Geneva, Acton Circuit and Cynthiana—The Presby-
terians AT Shelbyville and Boggstown—The Roman
Catholics—The Missionary Baptists— The Disciples
at Shebyville, Mt. Auburn, Morristown, Cave Hill,
GWYNNVILLE UnITED BRETHREN MeTHODIST PrOTES-
tant—Southern Methodist Episcopal Church— Adven-
TisTs— Christian Union— Lutherans, etc.

ELIGION has never been without its humble devo-

tees: but it is, indeed, a matter of wonder that in

-iJ^ifiS'the primitive days of Shelby County such a large pro-

portion of the settlers should have been zealous advo-

cates of the cause of Christ, and wide-awake partisans
of some Christian denomination. Books were few and

newspapers were well nigh unknown; the mental activ-

ity was aroused and nourished almost whoUv bv atten-

tion to and meditation upon the great themes of religious thought.
Plain, practical religion, found abundant welcome in the hearts of

sincere, simple-hearted, earnest men and women. Almost eveiy
denomination was represented among those who planted their homes
within what is now Shelby County. The settler's cabin was

scarcely completed before an itinerant was there with his Bible and

hymn book gathering the families for devotion around the altar in

the wilderness. Without the hope of remuneration, the pioneer

preachers came to labor in the vinevard, foregoing all the joys of

home, only to be instrumental in the salvation of souls. To those

men, and their self-sacriticing devotion, do we owe the planting of

churches and the hallowed iniiuences as seen and felt in society

everywhere. One of the most common modes of worship was
what was called "family prayers." There was then most emphat-
icallv an American edition of that pious old Scotch practice so elo-

quently described in Burns' " Cotter's Saturday Night."
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The cheerfu' supper done, w'l' serious face

They, roun 1 the ingle, form a circle wide;
The sire turns o'er, wi' patriarchal grace,

The big Ha' Bible, ance his father's pride;
His boriiiet rev'rently is laid aside.

His lyart haffets wearin thin and bare;
Those strains that once did in sweet Zion glide.

He wales a portion with judicious care;

And,
" Let us worship God!" he says, with solemn air.

Once or twice a day, in the morning just before breakfast or in

the evening just before retiring to rest, the head of the family would
call those around him to order, read a chapter, announce the hymn
and tune by commencing to sing it, when all would join ;

then he would
deliver a most fervent prater. If a pious guest was present he
w'ould be called on to take the lead; and in those days if a person
who prayed in the family or in public did not pray as if it w^ere his

very last on earth, his piety was thought to be defective.

Methodist E^iscofal Churchy Marion.^— The first regular

preaching place in Shelby County was at the house of Mrs.Jane Sleeth,
one mile north of Marion. Later meetings were held at the house
of William H. Sleeth. The Sleeths were native Virginians, and

having enjoyed the privilege of religion in their native homes, they
could not long forego that pleasure, and at once began to make

preparations for religious worship here. In the fall of 182 1,

John Sale, Aaron Wood, James Horn and William Beechamp held

meetings at the above named places. x\fter a few years
'

the

school-house was used for a meeting place until 1840 when the

societv which was known as Sleeth's Class, was removed to Ma-
rion, and the meetings held in the school-house until the erection of

the present frame building in 1862.

A class paper, which is now in possession of Mr. Sleeth, of

Shelbvville, reveals some facts of -interest about the early members
and ministers, and reads as follows :

"• Class paper of Sleeth's class

for 1837, Shelbvville Circuit, Indiana Conference, Ministers in

Christ, James HaVens, P. E.; Elijah Whitten, C. P.; John B. Birt,

A. P.: Members of the Class— Jacob Winton, Class leader:

Jane Winton and WiUiam H. Sleeth, Recording Stewards;
Evahne Sleeth, Margaret Sleeth, Sarah Hacker, Caleb Sleeth,

Thomas Hacker, Cyntha Kuster, Sarah A. Moflit, Robert Bene-

field, Stephen Giel, Nancv Giel."

This the oldest organization in Shelby Count}', has pursued its

course with variable success for sixtv-six years, and is still in a

vigorous and healthy condition. The present church house, which
was built in 1862, is a commodious frame building, and with recent

*A considerable portion of the facts for this church were furnished by Rev. George
Curtis, U. U.

8
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improvements that have been made, it will answer the purpose of

the congregation for many years. Among the early ministers, the

names of James Corwin and James Havens deserve special men-
tion. They were both able and energetic workers. The following
ministers have been assigned to this charge since 1877: T. C.

Crawford, John Machlin, J. H. Doddridge, W. B. Clancy, Albert

Cain, Frank Tincher, J. McCaw, and B. F. Morgan. The church

membership at present numbers about 105.
S/ielbyville JMethodist Episcopal Church.— The introduction of

Methodism into Shelbvville dates from the year 182^. Durino-that

year prayer meetings were held at private houses and preaching was
had in a few instances by ministers who were passing through from
Cincinnati to Indianapolis. Revs. Jesse Hale and James Horn may
be mentioned among the number. During the vear 1824, Rev.
Hale administered the ordinance of baptism to the daughter of Mr.
and Mrs. Van Scyoc. The next year, 1825, the following settlers

were organized into a class : Elisha Mavhew, wife and two daught-
ers, James and Jerusha Van Scyoc and Mrs. Catharine Goodrich.

These seven persons constituted the first Methodist organization'
and their place of meeting was in the cabinet shop of Jacob Shanks,
which stood on Washington street. Of these seven pioneer
Christians much might be written, but suffice it to say that each of

them lived to see the church, the foundation of which they had
laid in the wilderness, grow, prosper and accomplish much good.
Late in the fall of 1824, J. C. Sleeth came to Shelbvville from

Virginia. Though he brought a letter of membership with him he
does not appear to have been of the lirst class formed in Shelby-
ville, but not long after he became a member and a class leader.

Mr. Sleeth built a log cabin on Tompkins Street, and a chair shop
on the lot adjoining. Besides being used as a chair shop and post
office it was also used as a place of worship, but for quarterly meet-

ings Shanks' Cabinet Shop was used. These shops were privileged
with hearing the eloquence of more than ordinarv men. Strange,
the eccentric and eloquent; Wilev, the natural logician and organ-
izer; Havens, the faithful and intreped apostle of the order; Hale
and Sale, the rugged pioneers; Grifhth the pre-eminently good man,
and many others of lesser note, but equally warm hearts here

preached a gospel of love and full salvation. These old buildings
have long since passed away and their existence is only known in

the memorv of the oldest patriarch.
An old Revolutionary hero, by the name of Harsin, came to

Shelbyville about the time of the organization of the church, but it

is now a disputed question as to whether he was a member of the

first class. He built a log cabin near where the C, I., St. L. & C»
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depot now stands. In his house prayer meetings were frequently
held, which were always characterized by religious fervency. From
Sleeth's and Shanks' shops, the society in a few 3'ears occupied the
court house, and later, more permanent^, the brick school-house,

standing on the ground of the present public school building on
FrankHn Street. From the school-house they went, in 1832, to the
first church building, which was just erected on Mechanics Street.
In 185 1, a new church was erected on Washington Street, and was
used by the congregation until the dedication of the present build-

In 1825, the Rushville Circuit was formed, with John Strange
as Presiding Elder, and Stephen R. Beggs, preacher in charge.
The circuit then included six towns, Shelbyville among the number.
Within the safne territory there is now sixt}^ Methodist churches,
and sixteen circuits, which require the services of twenty-eight
preachers. Both Strange and Beggs were men of great ability.
The latter left Indiana, and in 1832, became the first resident mis-

sionary to the few traders then in Chicago, and to him is due the

honor of establishing the Methodist Church in that great city.
Rev. Strange continued to preside over the circuit until the sum-
mer of 1S28, and the same year James Havens became the succes-

sor of Rev. Beggs. Havens continued with greater or less

fre(juency as Pastor, Presiding Elder or Visitor at Shelbyville, un-

til his death, which occurred in 1864. He was referred to b}' one

high in official authority as the Napoleon of Methodist preachers
in eastern Indiana, and to him he said the State owed a heavier

debt of gratitude for the efforts of his long and valuable life to

form society on the basis of morality, education and religion, than

anv other man living or dead.

In 1828, x\llen Wiley succeeded Strange as Presiding Elder, and
served in that capacity until 1833. James Havens succeeded to the

place and served until 1836, when the Shelbyville Circuit was cre-

ated. The pastors who served during the same period were : John
Kerns, 1828; Joseph Tarkington and William Evans, 1829; Amos
Sparks and J. C. Smith, 1830; Charles Bonner and C. Swank, 1831 ;

S. W. Hunter and Isaac Kimball, 1832; I. N. Elsberry and David

Stivers, 1833; Joseph Carter and C. B. Jones, 1834; Joseph Carter

and Thomas Gunn, 1835.
The lefial existence of the Methodist Church commenced May

7, 1 83 1, with the following members constituting the first board of

trustees: Dr. E. J. Beall, Ehsha Mayhew, George Harsin, David

Thacher and Robert Telton. A lot was procured and a building

30x45 feet in dimensions was erected that answered the purpose for

twent}' years. Besides James Havens, the circuit was presided over
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for the fifteen years ending in 1850, by Elders Augustus Eddy, L. W.
Berrv and E. R. Ames. Rev. Elijah Whillen was preacher in

1836-37. During his term of service Shelbyville became the head
of a circuit with twenty-two appointments. Quarterh' Conference

was for the first time held in Shelb3'ville, consisting of the pastor;

James Wra}' and J. B. Birt, local preachers; Peter Stemback, Ab-
salom Paris, Archibald Clark and Barnabas Wrav, exhorters;
David Thacher, John Nail, J. Michael, David Hacker, leaders;
David Thacher, Edward Toner, Thomas G. Mendehall, William

Farrow and W. H. Sleeth, Stewards. In the latter part of the

thirties the venerable Dr. Robins became a steward, and since that

time has served in all the offices of the church, and it can truh- be
said that none has served the church more faithfully (^see

elsewhere

for sketch). Other pastors: John W. Sullivan and j. B. Birt, 1S37;

James Scott and George Havens, 1838; Richard Hargrave and

J. S. Barwick, 1839; H. S. Dane and J. V. R. Miller, 1840; H. S.

Dane and J. D. Temphn, 1841; Jacob Mevers and James Webb,
1842: C. B. Davidson and G. H. McLaughhn, 1843; C. B. David-

son and S. P. Crawford, 1844; Seth Smith and James Corwine,

1S45; A. H. Shaeffer, 1846; James Crawford, 1847-48; John S.

Winchester, 1849, ^^^^ John W. Sullivan, 1850-51. During the

period from 1836 to 1850, the names of Voorhis Conover, Jeremiah
Bennett, Isaac Sorden, Jacob Kennerly, Wilham Hacker, Cyrus
Wright, T. G. and James M. Randall and Willis Wills, appear on

the church records amono; those who were most active in the work.
A parsonage was built during the same period and the church

work put upon a solid foundation. Shelbyville Station was estab-

lished in 185 1, and an official board organized with J. S. Campbell,
W. Swift and Dr. H. Cowger as new members. The board of

trustees purchased a lot on Washington Street on which to erect a

commodious brick church. The enterprise was successful, and in

August, 1852, the church was finished and dedicated on the first

Sabbath of October— Bishop Osman C. Baker, officiating.
The presiding elders who served this district from 1S50 to 1875

were: J. Takington, 1851; A. Robinson, 18^3: T. M. Eddv, 1S55;
F. C. Hollidav, 1857; T. H. Lvnch, i860; John A. Brouse, 1S61;
E. G. Wood,' 1862; J. G. Lathrop, 1865: F. C. Hollidav, 1867;
R. D. Robinson, 1868; F. C. Hollida}-, 1871; W.Terrell, 1872,
and F. C. Holliday, 1873. The pastors for the same period were:

John W. SuUivan, 1851; Ashburv Wilkinson, 1852; Giles C. Smith,

1853-4; W. W. Snyder, 1855-56; Thomas G. Beharrell, 1857-58;
William Montgomerv, 1859-60: John G. Chafee, 1861; T. H.

Lynch, 1862-64: J. S. Tevis, 1865-66; T. G. Beharrell, 1867-68;
E!^ L. Dolph, 1869-71; George P.Jenkins, 1872-73, and R. Rob-
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erts, 1S74-75. For this period there was nothing remarkable in

the church's history except its rapid growth and spiritual enthusi-

asm. During this time many of the most scholarly and able min-

isters of the State preached here, among whom the names of Rev.
Giles G. Smith and Thomas H. Lynch deserve special mention.

The former was noted for his classical attainment and great power
in the pulpit, while the latter was a most symetrical character.

Other members who were officially connected with the church as

class leaders, stewards and trustees were : J. Nichols, N. Thompson,
Elisha Smith, James Dorsey, E. T. Bussell, E. W. Wheeler,
William Moore, William Randall, B. Pettit, J. H. Sprague, Joseph
Smithers, Benjamin Powers, George W. Toner, W. S. Marsh,

J. C. Green, Elijah Powell, W. S. Mahan, M. Robins, William

Brown, J. S. Campbell, A. Davis, Thomas Devoll, H. Clarkson,
A. O. Porter, Alfred Bowman, D. L. Conroy, Thomas Wray,
A. D. Lynch, Perry M. Green, William F. Green, Samuel Mason,
B. B. Cooper, Elias Thompson, J. K. Jamison, John Wise, Royal
Jennings, J. A. Young, John D. Pierce, George W. Kennedy,
J. M. Hester, J. B. Pugh, William Lacy, J. H. Enos, Sidney
Robertson. In 1876 and 1877, Rev. George L. Curtiss served as

pastor of the church with great acceptabilit}-. He is a forcible

speaker, a man of classical learning, and has accomplished much in

scientilic investigation. The church has been served since 1877, by
Rev. J. G. Shafee, S. F. Tincher, J. K. Pye, and J. A. Sargent the

present incumbent. During the incumbency of Rev. Chafee the

old building was remodeled and enlarged. The basement is divided

into four rooms which are used for class rooms, study and Sunday
school room. The second floor consists of one large audience room

40x90 feet in dimensions. The church was dedicated in 1881,

Bishop Walden, of Cincinnati, officiating. The estimated value of

church propertv, including parsonage which stands on the corner of

Mechanics and Tompkins Streets, is $20,000. The present mem-

bership is about 4C0. There is sustained in connection with the

church a well regulated Sunda}' School as well as such auxiliary

organizations as the Home and Foreign Missionar}' Societies.

IVray's Meeting House.— In the winter of 1S21 and '22, James
and Thomas Wrav, with their wives and Huston Ray and wife,

came to Shelby County from North Carolina, and settled in the

woods about three mile northwest of Shelbyville. James Wray
was a Methodist preacher, and after they had cleared a small tract of

land and planted the corn, made arrangements for the organization of

a Methodist Society, James Scott, who was in charge at Indianapolis

at that time, visited the neighborhood and organized the church.

The following year Revs. Jesse Hale, George Horn and John
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Miller, were the pastors in charge. The house in which the church

was organized was a log cabin built and used by James Wray as a

dwelling. It was built of small logs or poles, and although not

very commodious it answered both the purpose of church and resi-

dence for several vears.

The original members were James and Tabitha Wray, Thomas
and Elizabeth Wray, Huston and Margaret Ra}-, Susanah Bass,
Guillia Beverly and Rhoda Templeton. The old log building in

which the church was organized soon gave place to a larger and
more comfortable structure which was used until 1829, when a

large hewed log church house was erected on land donated by Col.

Gregory and Capt. Templeton. The ground is now used for a

cemetery just south of the site of the old church house on land

donated by Benjamin Bass. A new frame w^ith modern improve-
ments has been completed, and there a different generation worships.
The history of Methodism of Wray's, now known as Center, is one

of continued success, it has an active membership at present of

about sixty. Rev. J. P. Pell is the present pastor.

Bogg'stozvn.
— What was for several years known as Boggs-

town Methodist Episcopal Church, was organized at the house of

Mr. Houo-h, and four years later removed to the house of Adam
McFadden, one mile south of the present site of Boggstown.
Among the original members were Mr. Hough and wife, Adam
McFadden and family, William Edwards, Sophia*Edwards, Reuben
Strickler and wife, Jackson Strickler, Caroline Strickler, James
Donnelly, and David Smith and wife, and three families by the

name of Carson. Besides at McFadden's, meetings were held at

the Presbyterian Church and occasionally at the barn of a Mr. Cas-

ler, two miles south of Boggstown. In 1850, the present frame
church was erected at Boggstown, and the society has since been
known by that name. The church has had a hard struggle for

life. It has passed through adversity and trials. It has suf-

fered from its enemies within and its foes without, but has always
stood the storms and at present has a membership of ninety-five.

Brandyzvinc.— The first effort to organize was made in the

fall of 1827, and a meeting for that purpose was held at the house
of Mrs. Seena, near Fairland. Until 1849, the date of the building
of the first church, services were held at the houses of the follow-

ing settlers: G. G. Harsins, Messrs. Dements and Quinn's. For
the first few years the church had a hard stnifrcjle for life at Bran-

dywine. Two parties of rough S(]uatters had camped, one north

and the other east of the town. Between the two was a path

crossing Harsin's farm. The squatters were an idle and worthless

class, and had protested against the preaching of the doctrine of
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the Methodist Church in the community. They frequently held
mock prayer meetings before the door of the settler's cabin. These

proceedings so exasperated the Christian people that they rose in

might and put a stop to such lawlessness. In 1847, Sugar Creek
Circuit (now Fairland) was formed out of parts of Shelbyville

and Edinburo- Circuits and Pleasant View Mission. Rev. E. R.
Ames was Presiding Elder, and A. PI. Shafer, preacher. The
church has been very prosperous. In later years, Rev. Mathew
Sedgwick, a local preacher, did much good work. Thomas
Hacker, now dead, was one of the most active members. He was
an earnest, conscientious Christian, and devoted all his energies to

the cause of religion.
Fairland.— The Methodist Episcopal Church was formed at

Fairland in 1855. The moving spirit in the organization was
Matthew Mitchell, who was at the time, pastor in charge of the

London Circuit. The early leading members were: Thomas
Hacker and family. Dr. Lewis and wife and Mrs. Hoskins.
Thomas Hacker was class leader and Dr. Lewis, Steward. A
church building was commenced in 1856, by Rev. George Win-

chester, and completed in 185S, under the pastorate of Rev. R. S.

Barnes. The house was dedicated January i8, 1859, ^^' ^^"- ^- ^•

Wood. A Sunday School was organized before the church was

finished, with Dr. Lewis, Superintendent. This school has done

good work for the children of Fairland and vicinity. It is safe to

say that but few of the organizations have received more benefit

from the Sunday School work than has this organization. Rev. J.

W. Dashiel, A. M., who served the church in 1877, '7^5 ^^''^'^ oi^G

of the ablest men ever connected with the circuit. He was fol-

lowed by Revs. G. C. Clouds, B. F. Morgan. The present pas-

tor, J. P. Pell, is now serving his third year. He is a native of

Kentucky, where he was born in 1819. He has been preaching
for many years, having been ordained in 1850. He served three

years as Chaplain of the Twelfth Kentucky Cavalry during the

late war.

RobcrCs Chapel in Flatrock Circuit, about three miles below^

Flatrock Station, and twenty feet from the line between Shelby
and Bartholomew counties, is a church representing the second

oldest Methodist society in Shelby County. The society was
formed in the fall or winter of 1822. Alfred Phelps came to

Shelby County in 1824, settled in this neighborhood and immed-

iately united with the church, and to him much credit is due. The

original members w^ere Alfred Phelps and family. George Holmes
and wife, John Ensle}' and wife, Mrs. Sallie Chambers, William

Callet and wife. Dr. Sanders, although not a charter member
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deserves to be mentioned among the oldest. Alfred Phelps be-

came a local preacher at an early day and did much effective work
in that line. The meetings for ten years were held in the house

of Mr. Phelps, and it was not until 1846 that a church house was
erected. In 1845 was held one of the most famous camp meetings
ever held in this section of the State, resulted in the conversion of

manv souls. In 1870, the present large and commodious brick

house was completed and the congregation is now one of the most

prosperous in the county.
Flatrock Methodist Efiscofal Church.— In 1852, a frame church

was erected about three miles southwest of Norristown, on Flat-

rock near Girton's Mill. Among the members of the church at

the building were: Thomas Wooley, Richard Drake, Peter

Messick and Mr. Vansyckle. The society worshipped here until

1870, when it was removed to Flatrock Station, and used the school

until the present beautiful brick church was completed. This

church was built at a cost of $3,000, two-thirds of which was se-

cured bv subscription through efforts of Rev. A. M. Thornton.

The remaining $1,000 was a beijuest by Mr. Warner, a \\ealthy
citizen of Flatrock. The church is at the head of the circuit, and

.has a large and flourishing congregation, with many opportunities
for doing good. In the winter of 1878, Rev. J. G. Hood, the

pastor in charge, was accidentally drowned while trying to ford

the river. He was returning home from Tomer's Chapel, where

he had been holding- church. A heaw rain had fallen in the

afternoon and the stream was considerably swollen, makmg an

attempt to ford exceedingly hazardous. The ford where he

attempted to cross, a few rods above the railroad bridge, is

deep and swift, and it is supposed that he could not withstand

the force of the current and was swept away to a watery

grave. Although hundreds went in search of the body it was not

recovered for one month after the accident had occurred. The pas-
tors who have served the church since the death of Rev. Hood,
are: Rev. Morrow, J. E. Gullett, C. E. Line and L. N. Jones.
The present pastor, Mr. Jones, was educated at Hartsville Uni^'er-

sity, and was ordained by the United Brethren in 1875, in which

church he preached for ten years when he joined the Southeastern

Indiana Conference.

A^orristozvn Methodist Episcopal Church.— This is among the

vouno-est of the Methodist societies of Shelbv Count v. There had

been preaching here occasionally by ministers of this denomination

prior to the coming of Rev. William Maupin, of the Hope Circuit,

in 1866. A class was organized with twelve members, John Rench,
now deceased, being the first class leader and S. D. Spellman, first
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Steward. Mr. Spellman and wife, George Newton and wife, Squire
Deiwert and wife and Thomas Andres are the old members who
are still living. It lias been a growing church, losing many by
death and removals, but at present has a membership of ninetv.

The class has no buildincj of its own, but has from the be^innino-

used the old Union Church, which was erected many years ago.
Marietta Mct/wdist Episcopal Church was organized some

time in the forties. For several years meetings were held occas-

ional}' by itinerants, in the residences of the citizens of Marietta

and vicinitv, and in the school-houses. The early ministers were
those who have been mentioned as active in the organization of

churches of other communities of the county. The Marietta

class as it is known, was prosperous for many years, and large ac-

cessions were made in its history at different periods. In 1876,

something in the nature of a calamity came, when many of the

most active members withdrew from the Methodist Episcopal
Church, and assisted in the organization of the Protestant Metho-
dist Class, of which class they became active members. The
building is a frame, and althou<rh it has been built for several vears^

is still in fair condition. The membership of the church is about

seventy, and the value of the church property' is probablv $1,000.,

A well regulated Sunday School, under the supervision of Mr. H.

A. Hageman, is maintained throughout the year.
Morristcncii Circuit.— Of the church organizations which now

constitute the Morristown Methodist Episcopal Circuit, the Asbury
Methodist Episcopal Church was the tirst* established. Soon after

the land of Shelby County had been surveyed, and the land office

opened for the sale of the same; emigrants came rapidl}- and in a

short time a settlement was made in the northwest portion of Han-

over Township. Those settlers had come from sections that

had long enjoved the comforts of civilization, and they did not long

forego the pleasure of religious worship. They at once began to

gather at the cabins and have some kind of religious services. It

is probable that the first meeting, at which a minister was present,,

was held at the house of Jonathan Johnson in 1822. In the follow-

ing year, as nearly as can be ascertained, a hewed log-house to be

used for both school and church purposes, was erected. This was

a very comfortable building with a brick chimney and the pulpit in

one corner. The families that constituted the organizing members

were : Jonathan Johnson and wife, Thomas Gadd and wife, Henry
Watts and wife, and Joshua Wilson and wife. Two of the earliest

and most prominent members were John Strange and James Havens.

They are the pioneer preachers to whom the Methodists of Shelby

County owe much. There was scarcely an early class in the
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organization of which they were not the most potent factors; Rev.

John Stover was the first regular circuit rider. Other early ministers,
who afterward became distinguished in the church work, were : Bishop
Ames, L.W. Berr}^ andj.V. R. Miller. In 1839 ^^^ present frame build-

ing which now belongs to the cemetery association was completed at

a cost of $400. S. W. Ingram was the contractor and Henry
Watts, Joshua Wilson and Jonathan Johnson, building committee.

In 18S3, because of the inconvenience of the location the old house

was abandoned and in the same year the new brick edifice was

completed and dedicated, Simpson Tincher preaching the sermon.

Mr. W. W. Woodyard was the architect of the new building and

superintended the Avork. The name of W. A. Bodine deserves to be

especially mentioned because of his liberal contributions, and active

interest taken in the work. The total cost of the building was

$4,600, all of which has been paid. The Stewards are: Frank

Tyner and Mrs. John Miller. Trustees—W. A. Bodine, J. M.
Tvner, W. W. Wood3^ard, the last named being the Secretary.
The society which at present number ninety-five, is under the

pastoral care of Rev. B. F. Morgan, a native of Franklin County,
where he was born in 1831. He received his elementary training
in the district schools after which he spent one year in Hartsville

University. He was ordained in the United Brethren Church in

1859, with which church he worked until 1870, when he joined the

Southeastern Indiana Conference.

Foitntaiiitown iMcf/iodisf Episcopul Church.— After the aban-

donment of the old MetliiDdist Episcopal Church which stood east

of Fountaintown, a new class was formed in the town in 1857, by
Revs. P. I. Rosecrans and Thomas Rav, and attached to the Pales-

tine Circuit, of which William G. Ransdall was preacher in charge.
The church had for its first class leader Isaac Robinson, and for

steward, Ezra Fountain. A house of worship was commenced in

1874, '^"^^ finished in 1876, Rev. W. B. Nichols, pastor. The
church was dedicated free from debt and remains so yet. The
church which for several 3'ears had a small membership, was re-

cently blessed with a revival which resulted in fifty accessions to

the church.

Pleasant Hill Chur'ch was formed at the house of John Glenn,
in 1830, and retained the name of Glenn's Society for thirty years.

John Glenn, as well as Andrew Derickson, who was the first class

leader, long; ai^o left the neifjhborhood. Near the old Glenn resi-

dence a substantial frame church has been erected; for which Rev.
David Whitcomb and Benjaman Walker deserve the credit. The

present board of trustees is composed of John Yearling, John Briley,

John Gaines, Oscar Gatewood and George Phares. Stew^ards,
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John Yearling, John Briley and John Mohr. The following pastors
have supplied the pulpit for the last several years: Rev. Jamison,
Tincher, Gullett, Clancy, McCair and the present pastor, Rev.

B. F. Morgan.
Waldrou Mdhodht episcopal C/iurch.—This is the consolidation

of the Middletown and Conn's Creek societies. The Middletown

Society was established in 1836, with Frank Toler as class leader, and

Revs. Whittien and Birt, preachers. Conn's Creek was organized in

1849, at the cross-roads, now the site of Waldron. Some of the

original members were: William Knight, Elizabeth Knight, Levi

Kmght, Reitter Chaplett, Washington and Mary Bliss, and Mar-

garet Vanpelt. The meetings were held at the school-house and

at the residences of the members until 1858, when the present
brick church was erected. From this date the society took the

name of Waldron. Soon after the erection of the church at Wal-

dron the society at Middletown disbanded and almost the entire

membership absorbed by the W^aldron society. The pastors who
have served this church for the ten years last past are : George Win-

chester, J. C. Gullett, Alexander Jameson, William Grubb, and the

present member John Scull. The officers are : Trustees, J. J. Curtiss,

Henry R. Ming and A. H. Raymond. Stewards, Mrs. R. R. Wash-

burn, Mrs. Elizabeth Washburn and A. H. Raymond. The mem-

bership of the church is about fifty. The Sunday School and mis-

sionary societies are the auxiliary organizations.
Winchester.— Shadlev's Society known as Winchester, is five

miles south of Shelbyville, on the line of the Norristown pike.

The meetings were held at the house of Mr. Hadley until 1848,

when it was moved to the house of Mr. Thomas Maddy. In 1850,

a frame church 26x36 feet was built at a cost of $420. Thomas

Maddy and WiUis Wills were president and secretary respectively

of the board of trustees and were the most active in the building of

the house. Prominent among the early members were the Shadley

familv, Charles Thompson and wife,"^Mrs. John Monroe, T. H.

Wherret, Hannah Wherret and Kitura Green. The frame church

above mentioned was replaced bv a substantial brick house, dedi-

cated by Rev. Sampson Tincher, D. D., in October, 1872. The

church and its surroundings, which include a cemetery, are kept

with scrupulous care. Among those who w^ere active in the build-

ing of the church, the following deserve special mention : Andrew

Maple, Thomas Thompson, Job D. Tindall, John A. Gore and

John W. Wilson. Other old members are. Susan Tindall, Jacob

Guill, Mary Guill and Adaline Young. The membership is eighty.

Union
'

Church.— Ripple's Class was formed and ofiicially or-

ganized in 1833, and continued to be known by that name until
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recent years, when it was changed to Union. The first preaching
was held at the house of Mr. Ripple, one of the old settlers, who
afterward moved west, but is now long since de'ad. The class

next occupied a school-house until 1S49, when a frame church was
erected. x\fter worshipping there for fifteen years, the old build-

ing was abandoned for a new one which was dedicated in rS64.
The Greens, McFalls and Thompsons are among the few of the

old members who still remain. Washington Green, Thomas Fos-

ter and Andrew Jackson are Stewards, and Rev. John T. Skull,

pastor.
Toners' Chapel, four miles west of Shelbyville, became a

preaching place in 1836. The services were first held in a log
house erected as a union church near the site of what was long;

known as the Hill Gravevard. After a few years a school-house

was built near the residence of Mr. Hill, not far from the present
brick school-house, and in this the society worshipped until 1S45,
when the present frame building was completed. The leading and
most active workers were Edward Toner, Martin Toner and J. M.
Barwick.

Geneva.— The oldest and most active members of the Gene^'a

class are David J. Conger, Delilah Conger, John M. Edward and

Fidelia Edward. Meetings were held in the school-house until the

completion of the frame church. This house was built at a cost of

$1,000, and is yet in a good condition. The trustees are: John M.
Edward, James B. Israel, W. W. Keehng, David J. Conger and

John T. Conger. James Bowls and William H. Jones are Stew-

ards, and Dr. W. W. Keehng, Sunday School Superintendent. The

membership of the church is forty-one.
-

Acton Methodist Episcopal Circuit.— Two of the churches of

this circuit, viz., Landan and Canaan, are in Shelby County. The
former has been organized for many years, the precise date being
unknown. This class has never been strong in numbers, but there

has always been a display of earnestness in the work that is char-

acteristic of the true Christian. There are at present about fifty

active members, of whom William Clayton, John Sleeth and family,

Joel Crum and wife, Jordan Perry and wife, and Margaret House
are among the oldest members. The present frame building, which
has been used for more than twenty vears, is still in good condition.

The trustees are : Mar(]uis Case, Joel Crum, William Clayton, Jor-
dan Perry and F. Sleeth. A Sunday School, which is well at-

tended and from which much good has resulted, is now under the

supervision of William Clayton.
Canaan Methodist Episcopal Church is located in Moral Town-

ship, about four miles south of Palestine. The house is an old
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frame, in which the people have for many years gathered to-

gether to listen to the word as it fell from the lips of the many who
have served them as pastor. The old members are : Amos Wilson
and wife, Amelia Campbell, John Willis and wife, J. C. Wilson and
wife and Samuel Rollings and wife. The trustees are: Amos
Wilson, Samuel Rollings, Robert Phares, Tames Moore and Wri<>-ht

Borning. James Reed is Superintendent of Sundav Schools. The
names of those who have been in charge of this circuit since 1880
are as follows : Revs. W^illiam Nickols, R. L. Kinnear, Albert Cain,
Alexander Jameson and J. H. Burton.

Cynthiana Methodist Episcopal Church was organized and a

church built in 1854. Henry Fisher, Thomas Jones, William

Fisher, M. E. Macaughlev, J. N. Marshall were the most active in

the establishment of the church. The church is weak and at times
has almost been abandoned. The membership at present is about
sixteen. The Christian Union members hold meetings occasionally in

the same building.
First Presbyterian Cliurc/i.^— In the rude and primitive log-

cabin home of Zebulon Wallace, in the centre of Hendrick's Town-
ship, on a calm, serene Sabbath morning, July 7, 1824, a small

company of worshippers met to hear the preaching of the Cross of

Christ by the Rev. John McElroy Dicke}-. It was then and there
that thirteen Presb}-terians were constituted into a church, under
the care of the Presbyter}- of Salem, and the Holv Communion
was administered for the tirst time. In honor of Providence

Church, of which some of them had been members in their former

places of abode, they named it New Providence Church. Those
who, on that memorable morning, subscribed to the solemn cove-
nant of Christian fellowship as a church of the Presbyterian faith

and order, were: Elijah Kirkpatrick, Martha Kirkpatrick; Archi-
bald Gordon, Nancy Gordon, James Hill, Elizabeth Hill, Catharine

Hill, Miss Lizzie Hill, Zebulon Wallace, Seneh Wallace, Thomas
Vaughan and Sarah Vaughan. Father Kirkpatrick was the first

Elder, and Mr. Vaui^fhan the first Deacon.
The founders of this church, however, so deeply felt the import-

ance of the Sanctuary to the well being and safety of a communit}'^,
that they planted the church in the wilderness. On the nth of

October, 1824, it was duly enrolled by the Presbyter}^ and Rev.

Dicke}^ was appointed to supply it one Sabbath during the interim

of six months till next Presbytery. Nine months before the church
was established, the Presbytery of Salem had been begun. It was
then in the Synod of Kentuck}-, but in the year 1825, the Synod of

Indiana composed of the three Presbyteries, Salem, Madison and

*Taken in part from a sketch by Rev. George Sluter, A. M.
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Wabash, was formed, and on the loth of April, 1826, this church was
transferred to the Presbyter}- of Madison, and Rev. Dickey again

appointed pastor. At the full meeting of the Presbytery, October

7, 1S26, the church reported to the Presbytery, fifteen, one added

during the year, and an increase of two since organization in 1824.
Mr. Dickey was admirabh' adapted to the work of church planting
on the frontiers. He devoted several years to it, and founded a

number of churches now on the roll of the Synod. Fie was in the

very prime and vigor of his manhood at 'the time, having been

born in the State of South Carolina, December 16, 1779- He was
of Scotch-Irish ancestry, that so honorably enter into the history
of the Presbyterian Church. He served successively the churches

at Washington, Lexington, Pisgah and Graham, and died Novem-
ber 21, 1849, much lamented. From 1827 to 1829, inclusive, the

following ministers served this church : James M. Duncan, Joseph
Trimble, 1827; Samuel Gregg, 1828; Samuel G. Lowry and Will-

iam Sickles, 1829. During the same period, Rev. George Bush
served at times. Rev. Bush was the first minister of the Presby-
terian church ordained in Indiana. He afterward became a great
Oriental scholar and professor in the University of New York.

To Rev. Eliphalet Kent belongs the' honorable distinction of

being the first permanent clergyman who had charge of the church.

Rev. Kent was a native of Vermont; graduated at Williams' Col-

lege in 1825, and at Auburn Theological Seminary a few years
later. He came to Shelbyville under the direction of the American
Home Missionary Society in 1829, and preached at various places
until 1835, when he was assigned the church at Greenwood. After

Rev. Kent the church was supplied by Rev. W. W. AVood. Then
came the interestinp" ministry of Rev. Wells Bushnell, a native of

Connecticut, and a graduate of both Jefferson and Princeton Col-

leges. After seven years' pastorate at Meadville, Pa., he came
west and divided his labors between Greensburg and Shelbyville.
Rev. J. G. Monfort, Rev. Charles McKinney, Rev. Samuel Orr,
Rev. A. T. Hendricks, Rev. James Gilcrist and Rev. John M.

Wampler, and Rev. Caldwell, were each assigned by the Presby-

tery of Indianapolis. The necessity for a church building became
so urgent that steps were taken in this direction, and in December,

1839, Messrs. Thomas H. Fleming, Aaron Bennett, Thomas
Vau^han and Dr. William McCoy were elected trustees, in view of

the erection of a church building. They first purchased the entn-e

square upon which the old brick church now stands. Several lots

were sold to good advantage and the proceeds applied on the build-

ing. The house was a frame structure 40x50 feet in dimensions,

and cost about $2,500. The building was plain, the lumber used
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being undressed. A plain cupola adorned the roof, in which the

now historic bell, that has so often called the worshippers to the

house of God, first sent forth its sonorous sounds. This church
was completed and dedicated early in the forties, and was used as a

place of worship until the completion of the old brick building,
which until recently stood on the corner of Harrison and Broadway
streets, and which was dedicated the first Sabbath in September,
1853. It was under the management of Rey. Caldwell that this

church w-as built. Besides property yalued at $1,000, hberal con-

tributions were made by the members, the largest of which were

by Thomas Vaughan, Major Hendricks and Samuel Hamilton.

The contractors were Messrs. Malone & Baker, and the entire

cost, including furniture, was $4,500.
Among early clerg^ymen of the church the name of Abram T.

Hendricks, a brother of the late Vice President Hendricks, de-

seryes prominent mention. He was one of the first of the clergy
of the Presbyterian Church who receiyed their education and

theoloa'ical training^ west of the Alleghany Mountains, he beintr an

alumnus of Hanoyer College. He seryed as chaplain in the late

war with fidelit^• and usefulness. He died at Petersburg, Ind.,

July 24, 1866. Rey. Caldwell seryed the church until 1858, with

marked ability, and he is yet remembered by the older members
with affectionate tenderness. Rey. William Bishop seryed the

church for a short time, and was succeeded b}' Rey. James J.

Sm3-the, a graduate of Trinity College, Dublin, and of the Uniyer-

sity of Glasgow. He served the church seven ^ears, and his

ministry here was most successful and prosperous. Next came
Rev. Charles P. Jennings, who had several years before served the

church very acceptably. The church w'as never more prosperous
than when under his pastoral charge. He is described as a man
of fine personal appearance and dignified manners, a ripe scholar,

of varied and extensive acquirements in theolog}', general literature

and physical science, and as a pulpit orator easy, graceful and

always interestini^^.

During the year 1870, know^n in the church as Memorial year,
the pulpit w^as supplied by Rev. J. R. Walker, of Greensburg.
Rev. George Sluter, A. M., was elected pastor in December, and

in January, 187 1, entered upon the discharge of his duties. He
was a man of scholarly attainments and of much intellectual strength.
Like most men who five more with books than with people he was

generally believed to be selfish. It is probable that he lacked the

necessary social qualities to secure uniform support, and to insure

unity in church work. He served the church for nine 3^ears and

during the time there was much good accompHshed. In Decem-
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ber, 1880, Rev. George D. Marsh was elected to succeed Mr. Sluter.

He was a voung man with but few years" experience, but by his

uniform courtesy he soon won the esteem and contidence of his

congregation. He was a man of much intellectual force and an

orator of great brillianc}'. He was fluent in speech, and in rhetorical

finish, his sermons are said to have been beyond criticism. During
his stay here he was a great sufferer from a complication of

diseases; he died in the fall of 1883, much lamented by his congre-

gation who almost idolized him. During the ministry" of Rev. Marsh
the movement which resulted in the erection of the present elegant
church edifice, was set on foot. The building was completed under

the pastorate of Rev. Hughes, to whose influence the success of

the undertaking is very largely due. The work was put into the

hands of a building committee composed of the following gentle-
men: John Blessing, John C. Deprez, Silman Morris, Joseph R.

Stewart, G. W. F. Kirk, and F. C. Sheldon. The plans and speci-
fications by D. A. Bohlen, architect, and the contract for the erec-

tion of the builiding was purchased by Elijah Victor. The building
was completed in less than nine months, and was dedicated m
April, 1885, the sermon being preached by Rev. J. L. Evans D. D.,

of Cincinnati. The entire cost of the church building was $21,000.
The congregation owns a frame building on East Franklin Street,

which through the instrumentality of Mrs. Dr. S. D. Day, was
erected for the benefit of a class that was beyond the reach of the

other church. This division of the church is under the pastoral

charge of Mr. Sanford Morris, a lay preacher, and be it said to his

credit that he has accomplished what, perhaps, no one else could

have done.

Rev. Thomas L. Hughes, the present pastor of the First Presby-
terian Church, entered upon the discharge of his duties in December,
1883. He is a regular graduate of Princeton College and Lane

Theological Seminary. After completing his literary course at

Princeton, he studied and practiced law in Cincinnati, but soon aban-

doned the profession, and in 1876 was ordained to preach. His

sermons are delivered without notes but never without the most

careful preparation. His discourses are clear and logical, and

always appeal to the reason rather than the emotions of his audi-

tors. As a pulpit orator Rev. Hughes has but few equals. He is

much beloved by his church, and is the pride of ever}' member.
Second Presbyterian Church {German).

— Was organized at the

instance of the Indianapolis Presbyter}^ New School in 1867.

Preliminary meetings, with this purpose in view, were held at the

house of Father Shutt early in said year. The or<ranization was
effected by Henry Burkher, Sr., Mathias Schoelch, John De Prez,
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George Posz, Henry Hale, John Maholm, August Schwall, John
Mohr, Jacob Stephens and John Shutt; Rev. Francis F. Friedgen
was hiro'elv instrumental in brinijinfj about the result. He served

as pastor until March, 1872, when he was succeeded by the present

pastor, Rev. I. Eshmeyer, who was educated in Germany and or-

dained in 1855. Previous to his pastorate here he served as pastor
at Tithn, O., Toledo, O., and at Indianapolis. Until 1872, services

were held in the old Presbyterian Church, which stood on the cor-

ner of Harrison and Jackson streets. In said year the brick church

on East Washington Street was completed at a cost of $6,500, Henry
Burkher being the largest contributor. The church prospered be-

yond the most sanguine expectations of the members, and in the

latter part of the seventies the communicants numbered about 140.
Early in 1880 dissentions arose and differences between the pastor
on one side and a large number of the most influencial members on

the other, having failed to be amicably adjusted, about sixty-five

of the members withdrew. The church at present is in a healthy
condition and has about forty-nine active members.

The Boo-os/ozcn Prcshxtcrian Church, was organized in 183 1

or '32, bv the Rev. E. Kent and William Woods. The meeting
for this purpose was held in the old log school-house which stood

near the town. Those who constituted the class as organized at

that meeting were: William Morgan and wife, Joseph Boggs and

wife, William Manwarren and wife, John White and wife, Mr.

Vandebelt, and Mrs. Hopper. Other old and prominent members
who became members soon after the organizatian were: Joseph
Carson and wife, Hugh McFadden and wife, George W. McCon-
nell and wife, John T. McConnell and wife, James Barngrover,

Stephen Collins, Whallen Gibson and Dr. Smeltzer and wife.

Soon after the organization preparations were begun for the erec-

tion of a frame church house; was probably completed in 1S33.
This house was used until 1852, when the present frame building

costing $2,500 was completed. The old frame building is still

standing and is now a part of the residence of Mrs. Rhoda McCon-
nell. After its organization Rev. Kent served the church as its.

regular pastor for four years. He was followed by Revs. Dun-

ning, Cable, Wood, and Gilcrist. The church has at times in its

history been quite prosperous, but at present its membership is

much depleted, and its prospects for the future not encouraging.
Catholic.— " In the settlement of Indiana and the Northwest

Territory, the CathoHc Church, through the agency of its mission-

aries, played a most important part. If they were not the first to

explore, they followed quick in the path of those who led the way
into the unknown region, and began the work of civilizing and

9
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Christianizing the savage tribes of the forests. For their self-sac-

rificing devotion, and tlie fervency and zeal of those followers of

the Cross, they have been the admiration of the civilized and
Christian loving people of the world. To the Jesuit Fathers, Indi-

ana owes much, indeed, it is now a well-established fact that the

first white man to enter the Territory, now Indiana, was a French

Jesuit from the mission at St. Joseph. From this time until the first

celebration of Mass at Post Vincennes, the work of the missionary
was attended with many danrjers, and not a few became the vie-

tims of savage butchery. But for the last century the growth of

the church has been almost phenomenal, and to-da^^ there is

scarcely a nook or corner in the State but that these devotees of

Christ may be found. The first Catholic who settled in Shelby
County was, according to good authorit}', Mrs. Mary Cornell, a

native of Maryland, who probably settled here as early as 1824.*"
In 1825, Mr. and Mrs. L. H. Worland, of Scott County, Ky., came
to visit Mrs. Nancy Young, a sister of Mrs. Worland, and settled

permanently in 1826. John Newton and family came in 1827, and
Thomas Worland and family in 1828. The latter was a generous
and pious Christian, and with him the Priests and Missionaries

always found a pleasant and comfortable home.
Rev. George Elder, of St. Pius' Church, Scott County, Ky.,

came on a visit to his former spiritual children in the fall of 1828. The

holy sacrifice of Mass was then offered for the first time in Shelby
County, in the rude log cabin of Thomas Worland. He preached
in the school-house where, by his eloquence, he attracted large
audiences, although many no doubt, attended through curiosity,.
a Catholic priest at that time being looked upon with awe and as-

tonishment.

Rev. S. P. Lalumiere was sent by Bishop Flaget, of Bardstown,

K}'., to visit the Catholic families of Shelby County in 1830, com-

ing twice a year, in the spring and fall. A few years later he was

accompanied by Father Petit, a Jesuit, on a missionary tour through
Indiana, preached a short mission here, during which George Lows,
was baptized and received into the church. In 1834, Rev. S. T..

Baden, and in 1836, Joseph Femedmg, visited here, each remaining
but a short time. In August, 1837, Bishop Brute sent Rev. Vin-

cent Bacquelin to take charge of the congregation as resident

priest. He was a native of France, a man of zeal and activity,

and soon gained the love and esteem of his people. In July, 1S38,

Bishop Brute visited the congregation and administered the Sacra-

ment of Confirmation to thirteen persons. The zealous Father

Bacquelin held a meeting January 6, 1838, to consult as to the

*'Taken from Rev. H. Alerding's History of the Diocese of Vincennes.
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propriety of undertaking the erection of a church editice. The re-

sult was that action was at once taken toward this end, and in Sep-
tember a contract was let for $619. In October, 1839, Mass was
lirst celebrated in St. Vincent's Church; and in October, 1840,

Bishop de la Hailandiere visited the congregation, blessed the

church, and confirmed seven persons. Father Bac(|uelin, after nine

years' service at this church, was thrown from a horse September
2, 1846, and almost instantly killed. This sad event caused deep
and lasting regret among his people, who mournfully followed his

remains to their last resting place in St. Vincent's cemetery-.
From 1847 to 1855, the following priests served as pastors:

Revs. John Ryan, John McDermott, Thomas Murphy, John Gueguen
and Daniel Maloney. In May, 1855, Rev. Edward Martino\'ic be-

came pastor, and in 1861, with the assistance of Mother Superior
of the Sisters of St. Francis, he established a Catholic School.

The Sisters' home and school-house are each of brick, two stories

high, and located in a beautiful grove near the church. Father

Martinovic, who was very much beloved by his congregation, left

in 1863, and was succeeded bv Rev. John P. Gillig. He served

until 1868, when Rev. William Dovle was assigned to this place.
In November, 1868, Joseph Rudolf became pastor of St. Vincent's.

In 1870, the parsonage was built, and in 1877, arrangements were
made to build a new church, which was completed in 1880. The
new church is a very line brick building, 112x43 feet, with a

steeple 138 feet high. In May, 1881, Father Rudolf left St.

Vincent's and was succeeded by Rev. Francis G. Torbeck, who
remained in charge of St. Vincent's and St. Joseph's congregations
until June, 1886. Under his ministry the parsonage at St. Joseph's
was completed. Until June, 1886, both congregations were at-

tended by the one pastor, but since that time each have been pro-
vided separatelv. The present pastor at St. Vincent's, is Rev.
Michael L. Guthneck, who for the past eight years has served

both St. Patrick's and St. Michael's at Cannelton, Indiana.

ShcUryviUe Congregation.
— There were Catholics living in Shel-

bvville as earlv as 1825, but the congregation was not organized
until 1865. Priests at St. Vincent's had charge of Shelbyville; also

they had services in private houses a few times a year at the

houses of Dr. Michael French, Joseph Lucas and Thomas O'Connor.
In 1865, Father Gillig, appreciating the necessity of a church in

Shelbvville, at first rented a hall of Samuel Hamilton, which was
used temporarily. The lot upon wdiich the church now stands was

bought, and under the supervision of Father Doyle, not without

much hard work, the church was completed. There was no paro-
chial school in connection with St. Joseph's until 1 881, when the
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present school building was completed, at a cost of $2,500. The
school is in charge of the Sisters of St. Francis, and is in excellent

condition. In June, 1886, Rev. A. Kaelin, a young man of ability

and excellent social qualities, who was ordained in June, 1882, was as-

signed to the pastorate. Father Kaelin served as pastor of a Ger-
man congregation at Vincennes from the time of his ordination till

his appointment at this place.
JMiss/'uiiary Baptist.

"^— In the settling of Shelby County, per-
sons came from different localities, some from one State and some
from another. As they came they settled in neighborhoods. One
of the early settlements in the county was live or six miles

northeast of Edinburg. Among their number w^ere a few Baptists.
In their new homes, rude as they were, they longed for gospel

privileges. Hence in thisoieighborhood the few Christians met al-

ternately at their houses and held prayer meetings, until in the

spring of 1823, when nine persons, (viz.:) Thomas Russell,
Polly Russell, William Barnet, Nancy Barnet, Lewis Bishop,
Elizabeth Bishop, Simon Shafer, Sarah Shafer and Merit McGuire,
were organized the hrst day of March, 1823, into a Missionary

Baptist Church. They held their meetings at the houses of the

members- and neighbors until 1826, when they built a hewed log
house on a lot bought of Mr. Isaac Harvey, in the edge of Johnson
County. The church occupied this house until 1832, when a frame
house on the same lot, was built. In 1843, this house was destroyed

by lire, and the church immediately commenced to build a third

house one mile northeast, in Shelby County at a cost of about $1,200.
Of the constituent members, it may very truthfully be said that

they were earnest and faithful Christian men and women. Rev.

John Barnet, was the first pastor of the church, sustaining that re-

lation until 1825, a very godly, earnest preacher. He was succeeded

by Rev. Samuel Hardini^, who served the church until his death in

1835. Following him as pastors were: Revs. T. C. Townsend, A.
R. Hinkley, B. Reece, A. P. Titton and S. G. Miner, all pioneer
ministers worthy to be remembered. Rev. S. Harding was one of

the tirst to engage in efforts for the founding of Franklin College,
was one of the constituent members of the general association (now
State convention). The church sent out a colony to organize a

church in Franklin, Johnson County, Ind., also one to form the

second Mount Pleasant Church, which are now, strong vigorous
churches. The mother church is extinct. Among the early mem-
bers worth}' to be remembered, we may mention Waggoner and

wife, Pierson and wife, Matthew Kelly, Sen., and wife, John Duck-
worth and wife, all of whom have gone to their reward.

*
By Rev. John Reece.
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The next Baptist Church organized in the county was in the

town of Shelbyville, the county seat of Shelby County. Amonor
the few inhabitants of the town there were some Baptists. They
felt the need of religious priyileges, hence Rey. S. Harding and
Rev. D. Stogsdil were solicited to yisit the town and preach to the peo-

ple. On the third Saturday in October, 1S26, there was a Baptist
church organized with the following persons as constituent mem-
bers, (viz.:j George Titus, William Morris, James Emmit, Han-
nah Titus, Patsy Morris, Phebe Emmet, Sally Gatewood,
Catharine Wingate, Morning Simpson and Sally Hippers, making
ten in all. This church was hrst called Shelbyyille, which name it

bore until February, 1883, when the location of the church was
moved four miles east of Shelbyville, when it took the name Bethel,

retaininij this name a short time when it took again the name of

Shelbyville, and iinally was called Mount Pisgah, by which name
it is still known. The meetings of the church for about eight years

were held at private houses, but in December, 1832, the church

resolved to build a hewed log house 28x36 feet, to be covered with

clap board. For seats, rude benches were hewed out of logs-
Rude as this house was, it was in keeping with the times, and these

pioneer Christians were happ}^ in their humble Sabbath home, and

many were the precious seasons enjoyed in this primitive sanctuary.
This house was used until the year 1853, when the log house was
removed and a frame house built 22x30 feet, on the same lot. The
church occupied this house until 1865, when they resolved to build

a frame house 36x50 feet, costing $2,000. This last house is still

occupied Ij^'
the church as their place of worship. Rev. Samuel

Harding was her lirst pastor. Rev. D. Stogsdil was one of her

first pastors, a ver}- earnest, faithful minister, often walking
sixteen miles to meet his appointments. The church now numbers
about no members, with a flourishing Sabbath School. Rev. J.

Reece served this church as pastor about twenty-seven years.
TAe Mt. Gilead Baptist C/iurch located in Hendricks Town-

ship, was organized on the 27th day of May, 1S30. Ministers

present in the council were Rev. C. Butler and Rev. Samuel Hard-

ing. After an appropriate sermon by Rev. S. Harding the council

was organized by electing Rev. S. Harding, moderator, and Lewis

Morgan, clerk. Neither the names nor number of the constituent

members can be given, but we may mention Alexander Miller and

wife, Levy Laingor and wife, Thomas McFerrin and wife, Mrs.

Lucy Miller, Mrs. Updegraff, as among the early members of the

church. Among the earh' pastors were Rev. S. Harding, Rev.

John Reece, Sen., Rev. B. Reece. They held their meetings at

private houses until 1843, when a log house 24x24 feet was
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located on John McCray's land. This house was used until 1848,
when a frame house was built on the farm of Jesse Laingor. This
house was finished in 1848. June 22d, 1872, the church voted to

build in Smithland, about one mile southeast of the present location.

Said house was dedicated January 28th, 1873. In the year 1858, a

number of the members withdrew by letter, and constituted a

church in Marietta. This church soon dissolved and a part of them
came back to the mother church. The histor}' of the church has

been varied between prosperity and adversit}'. x-Yt the present time

it is in a very bad condition. The church propert}- is worth about

$1,300.
The Brandyv.'ine, now Fairland Baptist Church, was constituted

July 30, 1832, with the following persons as constituent members,
viz.: James V. A. Woods, Lewis Morgan, D. A. M.Morgan,
Wm. C. C. Morgan, Henry Serber, A. M. Morgan, Levi Bishop,

Johathan Bishop, Justice Hubble, Phebe Pope, Elizabeth Riggs,
Sarah Oldham, Nancy Morgan, Nancy Surber, Nancy Oldham,
Nancv Hubble and Mar}- Bishop. The church was first located

near the town of Brandvwine, six miles northwest of Shelbvville.

The location was changed to Fairland in 1859. From 1832 to

1837, services were held from house to house. The third Satur-

day in June, 1833, the church resolved to build a house of worship,
which was not finished until 1837. The first sermon preached in

the new house was b\' Rev. William G. Eaton, the third Satvu^day
in ]May, 1837. This was a frame, and was built in the town of

Brandywine, on a lot donated by Lewis Morgan, and was 30x46
feet. The present house is a frame 36x50 feet, and ^^^as built in

the town of Fairland, on a lot donated by David Bradly. The first

meeting in this house was in Januarv, i860, preaching by Rev.

John Reece. The house was dedicated to the service of God the

first Sabbath in February, i860; sermon b}' Rev. M. G. Clark.

Among the earlv pastors of the church we may refer to Rev. S.

Harding, Rev. Lewis Morgan, Rev. D. Stogsdil, Rev. William G.

Eaton, Rev. B. Reece, Rev. T. C. Townsend, J. M. Smith, Rev.

J. Thares and J. Reece. Among the earlv members of the church

outside of the constituent members we would mention J. Brimm
and wife, Jeremiah Odell and wife, Joseph Odell and wife, Abraham

Bishop and wife, William Bishop and wife, George Debourd and

wife, Isaac Bishop and wife, and W. C. E. Wanee and wife.

These, with others, did much to sustain the cause. The church

has had seasons of prosperity and adversity.
The Second Mount Pleasant Baptist Church was organized July

II, 1835, at a school-house in Hendrick's Township, Shelby County,
Indiana, six miles east of Franklin, Johnson County. The names
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of the constituent members are as follows (viz.) : Joseph Reece, John
Webb, Nancy Webb, Samuel Tetrick, Benjamin Reece, Sarah

Reece, Henry Williard, and Mary Kelly. The council organized
by choosing Rev. S. Harding, moderator, and Rey. L. Morgan,
clerk. For two years or more after the church was organized, they
met for worship at private houses, in the woods and in the school-

house where the church was organized.

January 2, 1836, the church agreed to build a house of worship
Avhich was located six miles northeast of Franklin, in the edge of

Johnson County. The house was a frame, 30x40 feet, 14
feet story. The church occupied this house until June 10, 1865,
when it agreed to build a brick house, on or near the old

site, the size of the house to be 40x60 feet, 18 feet story. Satur-

urday, July 2, 1868, the building committee reported the cost to be

$4,413.56. May 14, 1881, the church agreed to re-roof the house
with slate, and added a belfry, all of which cost $900. Rev. Ben-

jamin Reece was the first pastor, serving the church until his death,
which occurred November 9, 1853. He was very successful, and
under the blessing of God, built up a strong church. Rev. John
Reece assisted B. Reece a part of the time. There have been re-

ceived into the church about 850 persons. The constituent mem-
bers deserve to be remembered for their faithful, earnest Christian

work. The church numbers at this time about 280 members. Be-
sides the constituent members, the following deserve to be remem-
bered as active workers in the church (viz.) : John Williard and

wife, William A. Reece and wife, William Needham and wife,

Ephrain Tucker and wife, William Webb and wife, with many oth-

ers, that did good service in the cause of Christ.

After the Baptist Church, which was organized in Shelbyville
in 1826, and changed to the country in 1832, there was no further

effort made by the Baptists to establish a church in the town until in

the summer of 1848, when the State Convention of Baptists placed
Rev. John Reece under appointment to labor half time in Shelby-
ville. The first sermon preached by him was in November, 1848.
The service was held in the old court house, with twelve persons

present. At that time there were but live Baptists in the town.

The meetings were held every two weeks until March, 1849, when
a church was organized with thirteen members, viz. : William E.

Midkiff, Mary Midkiff, Thankful Bassett, Olive Bassett, Samuel

Midkiff, Agnes Midkiff, Elizabeth T. Brown, Eliza Robertson,
LA'dia Rodiffer, Ruben Deboard, Eliza Deboard, Jonah Bassett

and Mary Veach. These were all true and tried men and women.
For some years the church had quite a struggle to live, having no

house of worship. In the winter of 1849, the members resolved to
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build a brick house, 40x60 feet, but this was not fully completed
until 1S63. This house was sold for $4,500, a new one, costing

$17,000, built. The church has had a steady but slow growth, so

that now, in 1887, it numbers about 250 members. Names that

should be remembered in the early history of the church are: Z. T.

Bullock and wife, L. C. Janes and wife, A. J. Vawter and wife, x\nn

Stewart, and Oscar D. Padrick and wife, with many of later date.

Little Blue River Baptist Church is located in Union Township,

Shelby Count}^, about seven miles northeast of Shelbyville, and

was organized on the second Saturday in March, 1828, at the house of

Thomas Golden, with the following persons as constituent members,
viz. : Thomas Golding, Sarah Golding,Jane Golding, William G. Mor-

ris, Nancy Morris, Jacob Rosel, Barbara Rosel, John Golding,

John Derrickson, Eligah Cotton, Peter Dewitt, Tally Wicker,
Bette Ann Wicker, Jane Cherry and Elizabeth Brown. For some
time the church held their meetings at private houses. The first

church-house erected was a log structure, which served the church

for several vears. A good degree of prosperity attended the

labors of the church while occupving this primitive sanctuary. In

time the church built a frame house 40x60 feet, which is occupied
at the present time. For some years the growth of the church was
slow. About 1839 and ^^4°' ^"*^ from that time up to the present,
the church has enjoyed a good degree of prosperit}-, numbering
now 250. The church has been very fruitful in turning out min-

isters of the gospel, having sent out six in all, viz. : Rev. James M.

Smith, who has been very successful in winning souls to Christ.

He has labored in Indiana, Iowa and Missouri, and at this writing,

1887, is actively engaged in the work in Missouri. Rev. M. B.

Phares, n-raduated at Franklin College. His ministrv was confined

to Indiana. He died at Greenburg while serving the church as

pastor. Rev. D. J. Huston received a liberal education at Franklin

College; is at this writing actively engaged in the ministr3\ He
spent several 3'ears as agent for Franklin College. Rev. John
Phares entered the ministry when about fifty years old, not pos-

sessing very great literaay advantages, yet made a very successful

minister, is still living. Rev. William Golden proved to be a very

acceptable minister and w^as quite successful. Rev. George W.
Zike labored for a time in the Baptist connection, and then went to

the Wesleyan Methodist. All of the above were converted and

united with the church. The first pastor of the church was Rev.

William Oldham. Rev. Landy Hurst succeeded him in the pas-
torate and served the church in that capacity several years. The
first marked prosperity was under the pastorate of Rev. Joshua
Currier. Since that time the church has had great success.
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The Goodwill Baptist Church is located in Hanover Township^
Shelby County, Ind.: was organized in May, 1S59, with the follow-

ing constituent members, viz. : Presly Morris, Rebecca Morris,
Oliver Morris, Elizabeth Merideth, Archibald Canady, Eliza I. Love,
Thomas Merideth, Deliah Talbert and Jesse A. Gibson. This
church was organized through the influence and labor of Rev.

John Phares who was her tirst pastor, and served the church in

that capacit}' for six years. Through his labors and the blessing of

God, the church was prosperous. Rev. Hendricks succeeded him,

durinix his ministry trouble came and the church lost some ijround
that had been gained. Following him was Rev. Renales, Rev. A.
C. Hume and Rev. Crews. The church at this writing numbers

fifty members, and have a pretty good frame meeting house.

East Union Baptist Church is located in Moral Township,
Shelby County, Ind. The constituent members came from the

Pleasant View Baptist Church. It was through the labors and
influence of Rev. J. M. Smith that the church w^as organized. The

following persons were in the organization which occurred March
I, 1S67: Lindsey Leonard, Lucinda Leonard, A. J. Joyce,
Hetuvia R. Joyce, Margaret T. Joyce, Archibald Mann, R. C.

Mann, Letia Mann, B. P. Mann, Caroline Mann, Emily Russel,

Julia A. Ross, Telitha Ross, O. D. Mann, and Eliza E. Mann.
The church was constituted at the Center school-house, and for

some time held her meetings there. They had no pastor until Sep-
tember after it was organized in March, 1867. In September, 1867,
Rev. J. M. Smith was called, and accepted the call to preach for

the church one-fourth the time, the church agreeing to pay him
thirty dollars per annum. He served the church about two years.
The church has been, a large portion of the time since her organi-

zation, without a pastor, which has been a great hindrance to her

growth. April 16, 1868, the church agreed to build a house of

worship, said house to be a frame 36x40 feet fourteen foot story.
Revs. J. Reece, A. C. Hume, and B. Buckhanen have served the

church as pastors. Rev. Crisp is the present pastor. The church

at this writing numbers ninety members. The church sustains a

fine Sabbath School.

Pleasant View Baptist Chiuxh is located in the northwest corner

of Moral Township, Shelby County. It was organized December

28, 1836, consisting of the following members, viz. : James Bobbett,
Archibald Mann, Elijah Mann, Elijah Vice, George Hume, Jacob
Balor and J. M. Johnson. Rev. T. C. Townsen was chosen mod-

erator, and J. Bobbett, clerk of the council. One thing remark-

able about this church in its organization, there was not a female in

the constitution, but the meeting held January 29, 1837, the follow^-
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ing persons united with the church, viz. : Susan Vise, Elizabeth

Mann, Margaret Bobbett, EHzabeth Grain and Mar)' Joyce. At
this meeting Rev. T. C. Townsend called as pastor. For the first

3"ear's service the church paid him $10.12^. Among other min-

isters who served the church as pastors may be mentioned Lewis

Morgan, D. J. Huston, J. Pv. Philips, E. B. Smith and J. M. Johnson.
The church has been depleted very much by removals. It has

sent out three colonies to form other churches. Among the per-
sons who deserve to be mentioned are Lewis Morgan, H. Keeler,
the Meanes and the Joyces, with many others.

Brookfield Baptist Church is located in Moral Township,
Shelby Countv, on the C, I., St. L. & C. R. R. It was organized in

March 24, 1866. Neither the names nor number of members in

the organization are given. Rev. J. M. Smith was chosen pastor
of the church, who served as such for a number of years, when
he was succeeded b}- F. M. Buchannan in Julv, 1S69, serving to

June, 187 1, when the church called Rev. A. J. Martin, who served

until July, 1874. Rev. H. McCalip called August, 1872, serving un-

til 1874. Rev. T. J. Murphy called September, 1874, serving until

April, 1876, when Rev. F. M. Buchannan was called Ma}', 1876.
The church maintains a good Sabbath School. The present mem-
bership is 56. The church has a good brick house, worth about

$2,000.
It will be seen from the above, that there have been seventeen

Baptist churches organized in the county, with the following, which
are now extinct, (viz.:) Hopwell, Sugar Creek, Waldron, Forks of

Blue River, and Marietta.

The Disciples of Christy or Christians.—The years following
the first settlement of this county, were made memorable by the

relio'ious awakeninp" in the west. The stron<x battlements of de-

nominational exclusiveness were being attacked and carried by
storm. People would not accept the dogma of any denomination
without the authority for such dogma could be found in the Bible.

Anything else was human innovation and unworthy of belief. As
a result new doctrines were evolved and old ones modified. The
reformation started by Alexander Campbell, Barton Stone, and
Walter Scott grew^ in magnitude and extended far beyond the

limits contemplated by the originators. The teachings of Alexander

Campbell were considered heterodox by the Baptists with whom
he had hitherto been associated, and in 1827 they severed all"' con-

nection with the reformers, who then organized a new church
which was called by them the Church of the Disciples of Christ or

Christian Church, but by their opposers the Campbellite Church.
The cardinal principle of their organization was the rejection of
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all creeds or confessions of faith and the adoption of the Bible as

their onlv rule of faith and practice.
S/icIbxT/lIc Christia)i Church.— Among the first to be converted

by the teaching of Alexander Campbell was Father Obediah
Butler. He at once became an apostle of the new religion, and soon

had a sufficient following to organize a church class', which was ef-

fected in the spring of 1B34. The meeting for that purpose was
held at the house of Ovid Butler, that stood on the southeast cor-

ner of the public s(|uare, the present site of Teal's block. The lit-

tle band that met Father Butler on that occasion and who constituted

the charter membership of the church, was composed of: James M.
Smith, Sallie Smith, John Weaklev, Nancy Weakley, Silas Jaen and

wife, George Bates and wife, E. Knowlton and wife, Ovid Butler

and wife, and Spencer Thaver and wife. Of the history of this

church for inany years following its organization but little is known.
Whatever of historic value there was has passed into oblivion with

the death of those early members. It is known, however, that the

organization was kept up, and at the time of the coming of Mrs.
Martin Ray and her mother, Mrs. Nancy Cross, both devovit Chris-

tians, meetings were occasionally held, although of unfrequent oc-

currence, and often without the assistance of a minister. The
members were few and poor, and could not afford to pa}^ for the

.services of a preacher nor build a house in which they might meet
to worship. But hungry for religious associations they met in the

dwellings, which for the time thev' would transform into the temple
of God. They came not to mock, but to pra}' and worship, and no
-doubt from that little band of believers, arose the pure incense of

unsullied faith and conscious and unwavering consecration. It is

believed that God looked down with the same, if not deeper and
more perfect approval than he does now upon the piles of stone and

brick, covered and burdened with the elaborateness of ornament
till the human eye is wearied to behold. Meetings are remembered
to have been held in the second storv of the building now occupied

by Ziegler's restaurant. Here it was that Rev. New, the father of

Hon. John C. New, preached. He was a man of great earnest-

ness, plain and practical, very pronounced in his likes and dislikes.

Revs. O'Kane and Prichard may be classed among the pioneer

preachers of the Christian Church of Shelby County. They were
both men of rare ability, forcible speakers and conscientious

workers. It is probable that the best type of a pioneer preacher
was found in Rev. Decatur Davis, who occasionally preached at

this place. He was illiterate, and it is said by one who knew him

intimately that he read no book but the Bible, and that he had
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committed it to memory, having at his command the whole of it,

when it became necessary to sustain a position taken.

In the early part of the tifties the old organization was revived,

and meetings lor a time held in Concei't Hall. The lot upon which

the church now stands was bought and the foundation for a build-

ing laid. Sufficient money could not be obtained to erect a build-

in"- and the lot was in a few vears sold at sheriff's sale. It was

redeemed, however, and in 1867 the present frame building was
erected thereon. The church is 40x60 feet, and with its improve-
ments, costing $2,500, made during the present year (1887), the

property will be worth $6,000. A few of the older members who
worked hard to sustain the church during its struggle for existence,

were : Bailes Coats, Jacob Wagoner, Isaac Woods, E. M. Wilson, Mrs,

Nancy Cross, Susan Ray, Mother Davisson, Mr. and Mrs. Wingate
and the Weakleys.

The present officers are: A. P. Bone, Dr. Clayton, J. L. Ray-
mond, and Charles Culbertson, Elders; John Toner, senior and

junior. Dr. E. W. Leech, T. J. Claycraft, John Whitehead and John
Dobbins, Deacons; A. P. Bone and Wilham A. Moore, Trustees..

The following are those who have more recently served the church

in the capacity of pastor: Revs. Goodwin, Davis, Hughes, Wilson,,

Burroughs, Hopkins, Roberts, Stanley Ackman, Samuel Tamlemon,

J. H. Edwards, at present a missionarv to Australia, and the present

pastor, H. H. Nesslage. Rev. Nesslage is a native of the Empire
State, where he was born August 22, 1854. He received his ele-

mentarv training in the schools of New York City, and at the age
of twenty entered Bethany College, West Virginia, where he re-

mained for four years, completing both the literary and theological
courses. His first work was at Bellefontaine, Ohio. Rev. Nesslage
is a young man of both natural and acijuired ability, and is an •

earnest and consciencious worker.

One of the greatest auxiharies of the church is the Sunday School,

which is now under the management of Mr. Charles Culbertson,

Superintendent. The attendance is large and much interest mani-

fested.

Mt. Auburn Christian Church.— Through the efforts of Joseph
Fasset, the following httle band of Christians were organized into

a church at Mt. Auburn in the summer of 1837: William Record

and wife, M. J. Nelson and wife, Giles Holmes and wife, Isaac

Rodgers and wife, Joshua Nolton and wife, and Elisha Townsend
and wife. Of this number, Mr. and Mrs. Record are the only sur-

vivors who still retain their membership in the church. C. M.
Allen and wife, William Cutsinger and wife, and Abner Conner,
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although not members at the time of organization, joined soon

after, and are now among the oldest and most respected members.
After Fasset, William Irwin and T. J. Edmondson served the

church for many years in the capacity of pastor. Rev. John
Brazleton, of North Vernon, Ind., the present pastor, has served
the church in a most acceptable manner for many years. The first

building was of logs and was probabh- completed as early as 1840.
In 1854, th^ present frame house, costing about $800, was com-

pleted and dedicated, and with the additions and recent improve-
ments, it is in fairly good condition. The present officers are:

Elders— C. M. Allen, Thomas Clarke and Henrv Lisk. Deacons—
John Clarke and Cutsinger.

The jMorristoiL'ii Christitui Churcli is the outo-rowth of the old

Hanover Class, which was organized in the latter part of the thirties in

a school-house which stood in Section 23, Hanover Township. Many
of the early members and ministers were formerly Baptists, having
been constituent members of a society of that denomination, which
was established at the same place as early as 1824. Rev. Isaac

Benjamin having renounced the creeds and doctrines of the Baptist
Church became one of the most earnest supporters of the doctrines

of the Church of Christ, and many of the members left the old

church and with him as their pastor, organized the new. Among
the most prominent earlv members were the Coles, Stones,

Bloods, Dyers and Caulkins. Elder Butler was probably the lirst

regular pastor, after Benjamin. Revs. HolHngsworth, Hurst,
Hobb, Smith, Dabbinspike, Franklin, Land, Rayens, Conner, Mc-

Duffey and Campbell, all served the church in an earh' da}-. In

1843, a large frame church house was erected, and although it has

stood for almost a half century, it is still in good condition, and is

an evidence of the character of work done in those davs. Within
the last twenty years the membership of the church has been com-

posed largely of citizens of Morristown and vicinity, and the con-

venience of having the church located in or near the town was

universally conceded. The present brick edifice costing $3,800,
was completed and dedicated in 1880. The officers of the church

are: H. B. Cole, Trustee; John Keaton and William Carney,
Deacons, and Jesse Robinson, Elder. The membership is 125.
Rev. Prichard, of Indianapolis, is the pastor in charge.

Care Mill C/in'stia)i Churcli is located on Flat Rock River, in

Washington Township. Meetings anterior to the organization were
held at the private residences, and in one of the rooms of the old

mill, as early as 1855. It is probable that no permanent organiza-
tion was effected before 1859 or i860. While the organization was

yet in its infancy, the tocsin of w^ar was sounded, and so universally



390 SHELBY COUNTY.

did the male members respond to the call of their country, that the

church was almost deserted, and suspension became necessary.
Prominent among the members of this first organization were:

Dr, Norris and wife, J. C. Deacon and wife, Elder Higgins and

wife, Sarah Bone, Stephen Knowlton and wife and Mrs. Harvey.
Rev. John A. Williams was the first pastor. After the war had

ceased and the survivors had returned, steps were at once taken to

reorganize, but this was not effected, however, until early in the

seventies. A frame church house was erected near the old water

mill, and the church is now in a prosperous condition. The minis-

ters who have served the church are: John Williams, Revs. Mc-

Gowan, Huff, Finle}^, Howe and Brazleton.

Fouiitaiiitozvn Christian Church.— It is probable that more than

a half centvu-v ago the members of this denomination held services

in the vicinit}^ of FountaintovN-n. The birth place of this church

was two miles east of the present site of Fountaintown in what

was known as the Pope neighborhood. The organization was
effected in the old Methodist Church with the Popes, Davises,

Dobbles, Duncans, Roans and Robinsons as active members.

Meetings were, for several 3'ears, held at the residence of Peter

Pope, and later at a church house built in the Pope neighborhood,
which was destroyed by fire about ten 3-ears after its erection.

Earlv in the sixties the present church was erected. It is a frame

structure and cost $1,800. The members who were active in

building and sustaining this church and who deserve special men-

tion in this connection, were : James Conner, D. Holt, James Smith,

John O'Kane and Rev. Walker.
Christian Center is located near Gwynnville in Hanover Town-

ship. This society was first organized at Beach Grove, probably
as early as 1850, bv the Rev. James Conner. Active in the or-

ganization were the Darmers, Swains, Pollitts. McConnels, Wests,

Bogues, Webbs, Alexanders and Rigbees. The pioneer ministers

of this church were: James Conner, Decatur Davis, Thomas Lock-

hart, Rev. Blackman, Aaron Walker and Noah Walker. After

the lapse of a few years the place of meeting was changed, and

the school-house of District No. 6, was used as a place of worship.
In 1870 a frame church costing $1,500 was erected on a lot

donated by Mr. Gwynne. This is located three-fourths of a mile

east of the town. The present membership is about forty. The
officers are: John Alexander, Benjamin Duncan, Alfred Pollitt,

George Hayes and J. R. Harris, Trustees: J. W. Alexander and

Hamilton Watson, Deacons.

United Brethren.—Many of the early and important facts con-

nected with the establishment of this church in Shelby County have
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not been preserved, and consequently a complete history of this d^~

nomination is impossible. From the best information obtainabl^'

the first meetino- held by a United Brethren minister ^vas at
^

school-house which stood near where Michael Billman now lives'

in Marion Township. It is probable, however, that no perma-
nent organization was effected at this place. The next meeting-

place was on a tributary of the Big Blue River, near where old

Kingdom Church was afterward built. The first religious exer-

cises of this neio'hborhood were held in the barn of a man by the

name of Thornberry. Other meetings were held in the woods and
at private residences. Early in the forties what was known as

Kingdom Church was organized, and a hewed log house 30x36
feet was built in Section 30, Hanover Township, near the line sep-

arating said township from Union. This house was used only for

a short time after the erection of the Blue River Chapel house,
which was probably completed in 1S55, at a cost of $1,600. The
house is a frame structure 35x45 feet in size, and having recently

undergone some needed repairs is now in good condition. Among
the early members, the following deserve special mention: Bow-
erses, Copples, Billmans, Frenches, Boohers, Bolibaughs, Car-

monys, Montgomerys, Talberls, Nighs, Youngs, Andersons, Work-
mans, Sleeths, ]MA-ers and McCombses. Among the early ministers

Rev. George Mooth (probably the organizer), Jacob and Daniel

Storer, J. T. Vardeman, Amos Hanway and T. G. Conner were
the most active. The church is now in a prosperous condition, and
has a membership aggregating 155. A well regulated Sunday
School, under the supervision of Miss E. Meyer, is sustained.

Winfall United Brethren Church is located in Section 27, Van
Buren Township, and was organized more than forty years ago by
Rev. Mooth. The meeting's were for many years held in the

school-house which stood near where the church has since been

erected. Many of the members who participated in the organiza-
tion came from the old abandoned church of Fairview. A neat

frame church house was erected in the latter part of the sixties, and

probably cost $1,200 The dedicating exercises were con-

ducted by Bishop Edwards. Of the early members, the names of

Joseph Dungan and wife, George Boss and wife, Noah Miller and

wife, and Hardy Wray and wife, deserve special mention. There
are probably not to exceed seventy active members at present.

The third church of the Blue River Circuit, as to time of or-

ganization, is situated in the northeast corner of Hanover Town-

ship, and was organized in 1877. A house was not completed,

however, until 1880, when the present frame building was dedicated

by Bishop Weaver. To Rev. Felix De Munbrum, a Frenchman
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of both eners'v and ability, is due the credit of oro-anizincr this

church. The active members of the church are: W. S. Robbins
and wife, Mrs. Rutherford, Miss Ball, ]Mrs. Van Scvoc, George
Ball and wife, James Arnold and wife, Riley Wagoner and wife,
and AMlliam Mver.

Liberty United Brethren Church.— The house in which this

society now worship was built more than twenty years ago by the

Baptists and Christians, but has for several years been abandoned

b}^ them, and is now controlled
b}'-

the United Brethren. This class

was organized in i8Si, by Rev. McNew, with a charter member-

ship of about fifteen.' Prominent among the members are : Leander
Fox and wife, William Farris and wife, John Unger and wife, and
Richard Roan and wife.

Methodist Protestant Church *— Revs. Peter Clinger and Haw-
ley, came as missionaries to this county as early as 1832 or 1833,
and established preaching at Joseph Hewitt's, in Hanover Town-

ship; at Caleb Reeves', in Moral Township: at John Carson's, in

Sugar Creek Township, and perhaps at Tandy Brockman's, in

Hendricks Township. Churches were organized at the above
named places sometime in 1833 or 1S34: At Hewitt's, by Joseph
Hewitt and wife, Thomas Gadd and wife, Re\'. Samuel ^lorrison

and wife; at Reeves', by Caleb Reeves and wife. Rev. Ditto x\mos,
wife and daughter, Phineas Woodberry and wife, Daniel Zumalt
and wife, Frank Amos and wife, Hiram Banks and wife; at Car-

son's, by John Carson and wife,James Johnson, Sen., and wife, William

Carson and wife, Joseph Johnson, Sen., and wife, Thomas Hacker.
The names of the chartered members at Brockman's are not given
because their house of worship is just across the line in Johnson
County. In 1840, the Rev. Thomas Shipp was called to the pas-
torate of these churches and organized a church at the Kern school-

house in Van Buren Township sometime within the year. Shipp
was continued, and the ensuing year he organized at William C.

Davis's in same township, with the following: William C. Davis

and wife, Samuel and Hugh Hamilton and wives, Finley Bud and

Avife.

In 1850, Rev. Harvey Collings, organized the church at Morris-

town with the followino-: Rev. Henry Fletcher Levis and family,

Cyrus Johnson, Samuel Boretz and wife, Belinda Johnson, Martha
Morriston, Mariah Hewitt, WilHam Judd. Dr. William W. Riedon
assisted by others organized a church in Freeport, in 1866, of some
tW'Cntv members, amongst whom were xVrchibald Millis and

family, Harriett Kinsley and others. In 1843, James Johnson, Sr.,

donated a lot to the church, and a house was erected thereon cost-

*Written bv Rev. Louden.
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ing some $1,200, at Boggstown. In 1850, Samuel Hamilton gave
a lot to the church, and a log house was built immediately. This

was used until it was superseded by a good frame structure in

1S71, costing $i,Soo. About 1S52, a site was secured and a frame

house built costing some $1,500. About the same time a lot was
secured near the Kern school-house and a house built worth $1,300,
which has been taken down and that lot disposed of and another

secured; house not yet built. A lot was obtained in Morristown,
and a good commodious frame building erected in 1858, costing-
some $1,600. In 1886, a lot was donated to the church at Free-

port and a neat substantial frame house erected valued at some

$1,500.
It mav be said of Peter Clinger and associates, that the}- were

"John the Baptist" of the Methodist Protestant churches in this

county. They prepared the way, blazed the paths, marked the

stations, started the camp-fires. They often had to swim swollen

and angry streams. It was a maxim with all pioneers never to miss

an appointment. Succeeding these were: Thomas Shipp and Sam-
uel Morrison, residents of the county. Later, but who passed

away ere they did, was Dr. William W. Rigdon, whose labors

were more local, nevertheless owned of God and abundantly
blessed. Rev. John Bogle was another who most nobly and faith-

fully performed his part. But perhaps none did more in gathering
in and reviving than Rev. Harvey Collings, who labored for some
seven years, mostly in this county. The earh' reformers who stood

by and sustained the church, deserve perhaps as much credit as

the ministers. They did a great deal of private work, and at camp
and quarterly meetings were side by side with the minister. At
alter service manv of them were a mighty power for good. Some
of them would do anvthing for the church of their choice. As in

the case of Thomas Hacker who walked to an annual conference

held in Cincinnati and secured a preacher and brought him home
with him rejoicing. Names of churches: Boggstown, Old Union,
Marietta— pastor, Samuel J. Jones: Sugar Creek, Fairview, Free-

port
—

pastor, John M. Heim; Morristown—James G.Smith, pastor.

Membership, some 800 or 900. Valuation of property, $8,500.
Old Union was organized soon after the doctrine was first preached
in the county. They for several years met in the old log church of

the Methodist Episcopal Church, but later built a good, substantial

frame which is still in good condition. The church is strong and

in a a-ood condition. The last class of said denomination was or-

ganized at Marietta, about the year 1876. Its membership was
made up largely of a faction who withdrew from the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church. A large, frame building wa: erected in

10
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1882, at a cost of about $1,600. The membership is at present
about 175.

The German Evangelical Protestant.— Zion Church, which is

located in the southern part of Union Township, was . organized in

1836, and incorporated ten years later. The meetings were held

in the residences of members and in the neighborhood school-

house, until 1845, when a small log church house was erected near
the site of the present building. Among the early members and
these who were prominent in the organization, the following may
be especially mentioned: George M. Haehl, John J. Haehl, Con-
rad Haehl, Peter Neeb, Henry Naegle, Jabob Gegenheimer, Val-

entine Freitag, John Fuchs, Adam Smith, George Burk, George
Cowein, John Ohmer, George Keppel, John Keppel, George Zeisz,
and G. M. Becker. The old log building served for the church

for more than twenty years, a new building- havincr been erected in

1868. This frame structure is large and commodious, and was
built at a total cost of $4,000. The first pastor was Rev. Rice,
who during his pastorate served the church most faithfulh\ The
following pastors have served in the order named: Revs. Huhn-

holg. Miller, Caltenhaeuser, Teichmann, Flick, Brandstettner,

Baumann, Sachs, Auker, Wetterstroem, Richler, Kissel, and the

present pastor. Dr. G. G. Winter. The church has a steady

growth, and now numbers in the aggregate about 198 members.
The present ofhcers of the church are Michael Gegenheimer, Con-
rad Kuhn, George Haehl, Valentine Posz and Michael Kuhn.
The fact that Dr. Winter, the present pastor, has served the church

for seventeen 3'ears speaks for his acceptability.
ShelbyviJle Evangelical Protestant.— The organization of the

Shelbyville congregation was perfected June 11, 1880. The organ-
ization of this church was the outgrowth of a division in the Ger-
man Presb3"terian Church. One faction of said church, about

seventy in number, becoming dissatisfied with the minister and his

teachings withdrew, and applied to Dr. Winter for the organization
of an Evangelical Protestant Class, which was effected as above.

The meetings are held in the Christian Church building, the church

as yet havinp" no buildinfj of its own. The buildin"' fund which at

present amounts to $700 is rapidly increasing, and the erection of

a new building is now in contemplation. The oflicers of the church
are: Henry Burkher, Chris Abel, Conrad Schroeder, John
Schoelch, Lewis Koch, Rudolph Hilpert and George Schaepfel.
Dr. G. G. Winter (a sketch of whom appears elsew^here in this

work) who has served as pastor since its organization, is a native

of German}^, where he completed both a literary and theological
course. He was ordained to preach in 1868.
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The SoiitJicDi Methodist Episcopal Churchy of Shelb}' County,
had its origin in the consolidation of said denomination and the

Evangelical United Brethren (Repubhcan United Brethren). The
first move with this general object in view, was in conference,
held the third Friday in August, 1869. It w^as unanimously agreed
that the proposition should be submitted to a vote of the members
of the Evangelical United Brethren Organization, and the result

was -the ratification of the action of the conference and the union

was according!}' effected in November, 1869. The onl}' organiza-
tions of this sect in that time which are still in existence were Eno--

lish Chapel and Pleasant Valley, both in Noble Township. (The
records of the church having been recently destroyed, no authentic

information can be obtained.) A few years later, New Bethel and

Center, in Washington Township, and Geneva Mission, near the

town of Geneva, in Noble Township, w^ere established, which makes
in all, five organizations in the county. Those who have served in

the capacity of pastor for this circuit are : Revs. Caldwell, Murrell,
B. F. Rogers, John Branoteller, T. C. Hawkins, J. P. Glass, V. P.

Thomas, Leonard Aimes, John Gilliam, Enoch Crow, J. T. Walers,

R.J. Watts, and S. H. Gregory, who has been a regular traveling
minister since 1880. The buildings of the church are: English

Chapel, brick, Pleasant Valley, Geneva and New Bethel, each has
a comfortable frame building, while Center owns no property.

Seven Day Adveiitists.— hi the year of 1878, J. W. Johnson,
of Boggstown, had after thorough investigations, become an advo-

cate of the doctrine of the Adventist's Church, and began the

observance of the Seventh day of the week as the true Sabbath,
hi the doctrines he so much cherished he felt it a duty incumbent
to make an earnest effort to interest his neighbors, and to this end
secured the assistance of Elder S. H. Lane, vvho in 1879, delivered
a series of lectures on Bible subjects, touching the faith of this

religious sect. Services were held under a tent the following year
by Elders W. W. Sharp and J. P. Henderson, but the seeming
indifference of the people caused a discontinuance. Elders A. W.
Bartlett and O. C. Godsmark preached occasionallv, and in 1887,

twenty-four of the citizens of Boggstown and vicinity had become
converted to the faith, and were organized into a church by Elder
W. Covert. Within a few months from date, of oro-anization a

neat frame building 30x42 feet in dimensions w'as completed at a
cost of $1,500. The church is now prosperous and in a healthy
working condition.

Waldroii Class.— To Elders Hoffman and Godsmark is due
the credit of first preaching, to the people of Waldron and vicinity,
the doctrines of what they believe to be the true church. In
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August, 1 886, they pitched their tent in the suburbs of the little

village, and after seven weeks of earnest, conscientious work
the}'-

were rewarded by results which were most satisfactorv, the organ-
ization of a church of their own faith, Twentv-h\'e had sio-ned

the covenant, to observe the Seventh day as the true Sabbath. In

conjunction with other denominations the Adventists have erected
a commodious frame building which when completed will probabl}'
cost $1,000.

Christian Union Church.— This somewhat peculiar religious
sect was the outgrowth of the late rebelHon, and had its beginning
in a convention held at Columbus, Ohio, in Februar}-, 1S64. The
delegates were from the various religious denominations of the

countr}-, who had become aggreived at and had withdrav.-n from
their respective churches because of the real or fancied intolerance

and fanaticism of its members and ministers. This new sect was

organized on the basis declared by the convention as follows:

Having a desire for a more perfect fellowship in Christ, and a more

satisfactory enjoyment of the means of religious edification and

comfort, we do solemnly form ourselves into a religious societv,

under the style of The Christian Union, in which we avow our

true and hearty faith in the received scriptures of the Old and New
Testaments as the word of God and the only sufficient rule of faith and

practice, and pledge ourselves through Christ which strengtheneth
us " to keep and observe all things whatsoever he hath commanded
us." Mr. A. M. Hargrave returned from the convention thor-

oughh^ in sympathy with the teaching of the new church, and
with the following named members of Asbury Methodist Episcopal
Church withdrew and established what has since been known as

Blue River Chapel: Henry Wolfe and wife, August Handv and

wife, Alexander Smith and wife, Mrs. William Handy, John Jack-
son and wife, Mrs. Dallas Smith, Charit}' Wolfe, Simpson Chandler
and wife and Mrs. A. M. Hargrave. These were all Democrats
and all the early accessions to the church were from the same

party, consequently the class was for many years known as the
" Democratic Church." Indeed, the same was true of all the or-

ganizations of this sect— it was at first composed almost exclusively
of members of that part}'. The first preliminary meeting with a

view to organizing a class was held at Gales' school-house in

Hancock County, in the summer of 1864. An organization was
soon perfected and meetings were held in said house until the erec-

tion of the present frame church in the early part of the seventies.

The church building is 40x52 feet in dimensions, and was completed
at a cost of $1,000. Rev. O. H. P. Abbot, now of Indianapolis,
was the first regular pastor and served the church for many years.
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Lutherans.— The first class of this denomination was organized
in Jackson Township more than fort}' 3'ears ago. The first meet-

ings were held in the residences of the members and in the district

school-house. Early in the forties, what is now known as St.

George's Lutheran Church was established, and a frame building
probably 36x40 feet in dimensions was erected on the line of the

Edinburg & Flatrock pike, tvro miles south of Mt. Auburn, The
early members were: George Warner, B. Brooks, A. J. Treaon,
Daniel Heck, Peter Borry, Lewis Snepp. The leading early min-
isters were: Revs. Rudesill, Laudslager and Hinkle. Later the

church was served by Revs. Levengood, Graundt, Fairchilds,
Wesner and J. H. Link. The old frame church building gave
place, late in the sixties, to the present brick edifice, which was

completed at a cost of about $5,000. The membership at present
is 120.

St. Paul's Lutheran Church, at Mt. Auburn, was organized in

the latter part of the sixties, with the following families most prom-
inent: Wei-tzes, Stines, Lamberts and Niebels. The first and only
church building used by the congregation was bought of the Meth-
odists, remodeled, and is now valued at $1,500. There are now
about eighty active members in the church. The ministers who
have served are the same as above mentioned. The present pas-
tor is Rev. D. A. Kuhn.

Separate Baptists.
—-The only organization of this division of

the Baptist Church, is that known as Pleasant View in the Scott

neighborhood, Jackson Township. Meetings were held in the

school-house until the old Lutheran, which stood two miles south
of Mt. x\uburn was purchased in 1868, and removed to its present
location. Rev. Martin Layman was probabi}' the organizer of this

church, but did not remain long in charge; he was succeeded by
Benjamin Stoughton. Other pastors were: Benjamin Whittington
and Joseph McQueen. Prominent among the members were:
Abner Conner and wife, Joel D. Scott and wife, John Layman and

wife, Sarah Davis, John Shauer and wife, and T. French and wife.

The church has a membership of sixty-two and is in a fairly good
condition.

JVeii^ Lights.
— Although there were a few adherents of this

particular faith in the county at an early day there was no perma-
nent organization. Meetings were occasionally held in the neigh-
borhood of Marion, and indeed it is claimed that one of the first

religious gatherings was of the few New Lights who resided in

that vicinitv. '

Grange Hall Church which is the only one of said denomination
in the count}^ was organized by Peter Baker, but a few years ago.
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The prominent members of the church who were active in organ-
izing and sustaining it, are : W. F. Wicker and wife, August Hun-
dredthmark and wife, Abraham Baker and wife. The present

pastor is Rev. Thrailkill. The membership has grov.'n very rapidlv
and the church is now in a prosperous condition. The present

meeting place is in the oki Grange Hall in the north central part of

Union Township. The building is a frame and was bought by the

church for $ioo, and with the repairs, since made it is now a com-
fortable building.

African JMcthodist E^iscofal Church.—The colored people of

Shelbyville and vicinity enjoyed but few privileges of public wor-

ship prior to 1872. The few representatives of the colored race

who came here at the close of the war^ \vere illy prepared to pa}-
for the services of a pastor, or to provide themselves with a place
of public worship. All efforts to organize a class of this denomin-
ation failed until the coming of Robert Watkins, to whom credit is

due for the establishment of a Methodist Episcopal Church. The
first meeting was held b}' Robert Watkins at his own residence,
and the only resident mem^ber of the church was Frank Allen,
Daniel Morgan's family being at that time members of the white
Methodist Episcopal Church. An organization was perfected in

the fall of 1872, and after holding meetings in various places Wise's
Hall was leased, and this was used as a place of worship until the

completion of the present church building. This building which is

a small frame was erected at a cost of $250, which was contributed

largeh' by the white people of the town. The church belongs to

what is known as the Lexington Conference, by which the follow-

ing ministers have been assigned: Daniel Tucker, Rev. Straws,

James Molan, George Zeigler, Daniel Heston, Rev. Steen and
C. Nickols. There are at present about fortv-eight active mem-
bers, and much enthusiasm is manifested at their meetings.

Second Baptist Church of Shelbyville. (^Colored.')
—The or-

ganization was perfected Februarv 19, 1869. There were present
Revs. Wilham Moose, J. Reece, J. B. Shaff, M. Brayles, W. Sin-

gleton and William Neal. Rev. William Moore officiated as mod-
erator. The meetings for this purpose, as well as for the general
purposes of the church, for the first six years were held in the

third stor}- of the brick building now occupied by Julius Joseph.
There were seven members that constituted the church as organized,
but the church gained rapidly in numbers, and at present there is a

total membership of seventy. The present brick building which
stands on Hendricks is 33x50 feet in dimensions and was com-

pleted at a cost of $2,500. The dedication exercises were held in

1.875, Rev. Moses Brayles delivering the sermon on that occasion.
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CHAPTER VII.

COMPII.ED BY WILLIAM R. NORRIS.

Towns— Shelbyville—Early Items—Public Improvements— Banks— An Old Map— The Town in 1856— Incorpo-
ration— Additions— Reminiscence of 1836— Population— Secret Societies— Manufacturing Enterprises—The
Press— Other Towns of the County, Etc.

f^HELBYVILLE is a young city, her history is all

(/'^ comprised within the limits of sixty-live years, that is,

from July 4, 1822, to the present time, 1887, a period by
five years less than that allotted to man by the Psalmist:
" Three score years and ten." There are several men

t^^^S^ still living, who helped to " clear" the site of the Original
r^->A, Town Plat. Youth and vigor mark her proportions,

rather than ancient fame and medieval renown. Her

growth from inception has been steady, progressive, and continuous;
not subject to ephemeral booms nor protracted depressions; hence

she is solid to the core, and her future prosperity is assured, by
reason of the fact, that she is situate in the verv heart of the gar-
den spot of Central Indiana's unsurpassed fertility. Shelby County
havinir been orijanized in 182 1, bv Act of the Lefjislature in ses-

sion assembled that ^-ear at Coryden, the then Capital of the State

of Indiana; the next step to be taken was the selection of a site

for the Capital or Count\- Seat. On the 31st of December, 1821,
the Legislature appointed Messrs. George Bentley, Benjamin J.

Bh'the, x\mos Boardman, Joshua Cobb, and Ebenezer Vv^ard, five

in number, constituting a Board of Commissioners for that

purpose. On July i, 1822, they met together at the house of

David Fisher, near where the little town of Marion now stands;
and after being duly sworn according to law, the}^ proceeded to

examine the four sites that had been offered the county for such

purpose. First, Marion, the central geographical position of which
was warmly urged. Second, Mr. Isaac Lem.aster, whose farm was
the same now owned by Mr. John Shaw, three miles southwest of

us on the Marietta or River Pike, who offered fort}^ acres. Third,
the Hon. John Walker offered forty acres situated one mile north-

east. The fourth proposition was that of three gentlemen. Major
John Hendricks, Hon. John Walker and Mr. James Davison, who
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agreed to donate seventy acres, for the town site, which was the

one eventual!}' accepted. The commissioners of the Legislature

spent four davs in visiting and examining these proposed sites, and

weighing and considering the arguments urged in favor of each,
which resulted in their giving the award to the seventy acre offer,

the site of the present city of Shelbyville. The donors of the

seventv acres were Major John Hendricks, who donated forty acres

of the above seventy. The Hon. John Walker, who donated ten

acres; and Mr. James Davison who donated twenty acres. On the

dav upon which the Legislative commissioners arrived at a decis-

ion, the Fourth of July, 1822, there was the greatest gathering of

the people that had yet been held by the earlv settlers and pio-
neers of the county, at a barbecue held immediately east of our

present fair grounds. The selection of the seat of justice was there

announced and received with general applause, and the occasion

was long and pleasantly remembered. On the next day, July 5,

1822, the Count}' Commissioners of the then newly organized
countv met the commissioners of the Legislature, at the house of

Mr. David Fisher, and formally received their report, fixing the

site of the county seat. It was understood that the proceeds of

the sale of the lands donated, were to defray the expense of put-

ting up a court house. The County Commissioners therefore

appointerl an agent, the Hon. Abel Cole, to begin the pre-
liminarv work necessary. On the 15th of August he was au-

thorized to "proceed to survey or cause to be surveyed and laid

off into streets, alleys and town lots, all the west half of the dona-

tion made by Major John Hendricks and the Hon. John Walker, at

and adjoining the place established for the seat of justice." On
the 23rd of September, 1822, the lirst disposal of lots took place,
and it will illustrate the financial condition and monetary stringency
of those times to recall the terms of said sale. They were these :

" One-twelfth in hand, the balance in three equal annual payments,
with interest from date of sale, if not paid at maturity." Soon after

this the public square was cleared of trees, logs, bushes, brush and

undergrowth, and improvements were begun upon several lots on

the public square and principal streets. A discount of eight per
cent, was allowed to those paying cash in full. The lots brought
from $30 to $50 each, those fronting on the public s(|uare selling
for $50 each, where they are now worth $100 per front foot for the

land alone, exclusive of the buildings thereon. Messrs. Francis

Walker, Henry Gatewood and Ezra McCabe made the first open-

ing in the town, clearing away the trees where it is now all open,

except as inclosed by buildings and fences. Henry Gatewood
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bought the lot upon which the Ray House now stands for $50.
It was thus that our present beautiful and prosperous city began its

steadily progressive career. The first house erected upon the

site of the city of Shelb3'ville was the home of Mr. Francis

Walker, and it stood on the northwest corner of Washington and
Tomkins Streets, where Mrs. Susan Dixon now resides.

The first court ever convened here, was on the loth of October,
1822, and the first judges were Messrs'. John Sleeth and William
Goodrich. The first business transacted by them was to admit five

applicants to the practice of the law as attorneys and counsellors, "in

this court." The prosecuting attorney was Hiram W. Curry, Esq.
The first oath of allegiance was that of Mr. John N. Calvert, who on
the 1st day of May, 1823, declared his intention to renounce the

authority of King Georve IV, of Great Britain and Ireland, and to

become a loyal citizen of the United States. The first document

upon record in our Recorder's office, is a warranty deed from
David and Beniah Guard to John J. Lewis, dated June 25, 1822,
and recorded July 19th of the same year. The first election ever

held in the city took place in the forks of a tree on the public

square, for the purpose of selecting a major of the militia, and re-

sulted in the choice of Major Ashbel Stone. The first flour and
saw-mill in the county was built b}' Mr. John Walker, in 1822,

upon the site now occupied by the Shelby water mills. Our first

postmaster was Mr. William Little, and the rate of postage in his

day was twenty-five cents per letter.

Banks.— Previous to 1851, all money transactions with the

great cities were done b}' carrying the amount usually in saddle-bags,,
to Indianapolis or Cincinnati. In that year, the banking business

had its origin here in the establishment of a private bank by Messrs.

John Elliott, James Hill, Samuel Hamilton and Alfred Major, under
the firm name of Elliott, Hill & Co. Out of this in 1858 grew two

enterprises, to-wit: the Shelby Bank of Mr. Samuel Hamilton,
which still exists and is carried on at the northwest corner of

South Harrison and Jackson Streets, in Mr. Hamilton's bank build-

ing. And the bank of Messrs. Elliott & Major, which continued

until 1865, when it sold out to Elliott & Co., who merged their

business in the First National Bank, which still does business at the

southwest corner of the Public Square on West Washington
Street. Wonderful strides have been made in this department of

financial business since its commencement here.

An Old Maf.— In the County Recorder's office hanging on the

north side of the room in a central position on the wall, is an old

map, representing Shelby County, Ind., as it was in 1856. This

old map which is worn with age, dirty, tattered and torn, and
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stained a buff yellow by the lapse of time, from long exposure to

light and dust, evidently has done much good in its time, and is still

good for many 3'ears of service yet, if properly preserved. On the

map is marked the thirteen townships of the county, Shelby Town-

ship not having been established at that time, it constituting the

south half of Addison Township, prior to the division. At the top
are the words, " A new Gazetteer Map of Shelby County by R. S.

Davis, civil engineer, published by Davis & Kenned}^, in the 3''ear

1856." At the upper left hand corner is a picture of the old

Shelbyville Seminary, built in 1855, and on the upper right hand
corner is a picture of the old Shelbyville Court House, built in

185 1, by Edward May, of Indianapolis, Ind., the architect and
builder. Near the centre of the map is located the town, now city
of Shelbyville. In those days it was not near so large as it is now,
nor had it so many inhabitants by two or three thousand. On this

quaint and curious map, the north and east boundaries of the town
were the same as at the present time. On the south, all below

whcU is now South Street, was owned by Ralph Colescott, long
since deceased. All west of West Street, was owned by Jackson

Aldridge. In 1856, three railroads passed through Shelbyville, as

follows: The Indianapolis and Cincinnati Railroad, now a part of

the Cincinnati, Indianapolis, St. Louis & Chicago Railroad, com-
monly called the "

Big Four." The Shelbyville & Rushville Rail-

road and the Shelb3'yille & Columbus Railroad, now known by the

name of the Cambridge City Branch of the Jeffersonville, Madison
& Indianapolis Railroad, often abbreviated to "

Jeff. R. R.," or

"Jim & I" for J., M. & I. R. R. And thirdly, the Edinburg, Shelby-
ville & Knightstown Railroad. This line ran along the Smithland

Pike, passed through the town on Broadway Street, out by the fair

grounds and thence to Knightstown, in Henry County, Indiana. It

was a curious old fiat bar railroad which did not prove profitable to

the stockholders, hence it got out of repair, and during the war, the

rails were taken up by the government and shipped south, to be

used in the construction of temporary railroad tracks in the south-

ern states, for transportation of troops and munition of war. This

road was never rebuilt, and nothing but the old grades and cuts in

some places remain. Into Shelb3'ville, in those days, ran six highways,
all dirt roads, which are now iirst-class turnpikes. The county of-

licers were: Alexander Miller, Clerk; S(|uire L. Vanpelt, Sheriff;

John J. White, Auditor; Isaac H.Wilson, Treasurer; James Mile-

son, Recorder, The County Commissioners were Samuel Mont-

gomery, Henry Buck and Moses P. Higgins.
Business Men of 1856.— Around the edges or margin of this

map are the business cards of man}' who were actively engaged in
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mercantile and professional pursuits at that time. The list is as

follows: Rav & McFarland, S. D, Lyon, Alfred Major, Peaslee &
JMcFadden, Davis & Wright and James Harrison, Attorney's at Law.
JMiller & James, Real Estate and Stock Agency; David Adams,
M. D., Physician and Surgeon, oliice in Odd Fellows' Building; W.
F. Green, M. D., Ph3'sician and Surgeon; J. Y. Kennedy &
J. S. Forbes, Phvsicians and Surgeons; Dr. C. T. Rowell, Den-

tist, office with Dr. Kennedy on Franklin Street, opposite new sem-

inary; Milton Robins, M. D., dealer in Drugs and Medicines, north-

east corner of the Public Square; Hendricks & Morgan, Drug
Store, George Lupton, Surgeon and Dentist, all work warranted.

Streng & Frankel, wholesale and retail manufacturers of all kinds

of gentleman's wearing apparel; store north side Public Sijuare;
W. C. Miller & Co., retail dealer in foreign and domestic dry

goods, groceries, hardware, boots and shoes; James Thomas,
retail dealer in foreign and domestic dry goods, hardware,

etc.; G. W. Toner & Co., dealers in dr}' goods, groceries,
boots and shoes, at I. Sorden's old stand; J. & M. Levinson,
manufacturers and retail dealers in clothing, then adjoining the

Masons' and Odd Fellows' Hall; W. H. Comingore, dealer in

staple and fancy dr}^ goods, boots, shoes, etc., east side of Public

Square, one door south of Masonic Hall; J. Freeman & L. Free-

man, dealers in staple and fancy dry goods, ready-made clothing,

hats, caps, boots, shoes, carpets, looking-glasses, etc., on Harrison

Street, opposite Sprague building; F. J. Faivre, variety store and

dealer in confectioneries, cigars and tobacco, fire-works and drugs;
store in Iron Front Building, west side of Harrison Street, second

block south of old Public Square ;
Botts & Hubbell's family grocery

and provision store, north side of Public Scjuare; N. Vanpelt, re-

tailer of all kinds of family groceries; Go to Blair & Elliott's for

cheap dry goods, in Masonic Hall; J. S. Campbell, merchant tailor

and gent's furnishing store; M. D. Stacey, dealer in watches and

clocks, north side of Public Square; D. M. Burns, fashionable jew-
eler, repairing of all kinds done in the best style and shortest no-

tice; Stoves, Stoves, Stoves, at McElwee's, call for Climax, best in

the market; W. M. & I. T. Brown, stove dealers and manufactur-

ers of all descriptions of tin, copper and sheet-iron ware, southwest

corner of Public S(|uare; W. Browning, saddler and harness

maker, south side of Public Square; I. B. Wood, saddler and har-

ness maker, northwest corner PubHc Square; Cash for Hides and

Leather, by George Kennedy; W. M. Parrish, fancy and orna-

mental plasterer and cistern builder; Joseph Smithers, manufacturer

of marble, tomb and ornamental work; J. Cummins, furniture ware-

room on Washington Street; J. T. Ross, steam manufacturer of
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all kinds of furniture; J. H. Sprague, manufacturer of flour barrel

staves; A. Wilkinson, picture gallery, over Gorgas' store; Johnson
& Letherman, ambrotvpe and daguerreau artists; life-like pictures
taken as cheap as any artists in the United States; give them a call;

Shelby Bank.— We are prepared to buy and sell eastern exchange,

gold and silver, and uncurrent bank notes. Interest allowed on

time deposits. Elliott, Hill & Co.

Of the above named business men the following are dead, to-

wit. Martin M. Ray and Thomas A. McFarland, law firm of

Ray & McFarland; WiUiam J. Peaslee, of the law firm of Peaslee &
McFadden; Eden H. Davis and Cyrus Wright, of the law^ firm of

Davis & Wright; S. D. L^on, attorney; Dr. W. F. Green, Dr.

John Y. Kennedy and Dr. J. S. Forbes, of the medical firm of

Kennedy & Forbes; Dr. C. T. Rowell, dentist; Dr. George Lupton,

surgeon and dentist; Mr. Hubbell. of the firm of Botts & Hubbell,

grocers; N. Vanpelt, grocer; W^illiam Browning and I. B. Wood,
saddlers and harness makers: Joseph Smithers, marble man; G. W.
Toner; James Thomas, J. Freeman, of the firm of J. & L. Free-

man, general dry goods merchants; Michael Levinson, of the firm

of J. & M. Levinson; John S. Campbell, merchant tailors and

clothiers; A. Wilkinson, picture gallery artist; John Hendricks, of

the firm of Hendricks & Morgan, druggists. Of the first named
business men of 1856 the following are still living, to-wit: Mr.

_

Botts, of the Botts & Hubbell firm is in Kentucky; M. D. Stacey,

jew'eler is in Indianapolis; Alfred Major, attorney and banker, resides

in this city; Dr. Milton Robins, resides here, retired from business;
Dr. David Adams is practicing his profession wath good success in

Edinburg, Johnson Countv, Ind. Mr. McElwee, our old time stove

dealer, is in Wisconsin; John Blair, of Blair & Elliott, dry goods
merchants, lives in Ohio, and his whilom partner, Jesse W. Elliott,

resides at Danville, 111.
; Joseph Cummins still resides in this city

en<xa2:ed in the undertaker . and funeral director's business.

George W^. Kennedy, who formerly dealt in hides and leather,

now' owns and runs the Star Mills, near the C, I., St. L. & C. R. R.

depot; W. H. Comingore lives at Indianapolis; Joseph Levinson, of

the old firm of J. & M. Levinson, lives in this city, a kind of gen-
eral purpose man who deals in anything and everything that brings
the cash in. Lafe Freeman, of the old firm of J. & L. Freeman,
lives in Cincinnati, a genial commercial tourist; F. J. Faivese is en-

gaged in business in Kansas City, Mo.
;
William C. Miller, of the

firm of Miller & James, runs a real estate agency and is the oldest

agent in that line of business in the city; his old time partner,
Thomas James, runs a notion and confectioner's stand on the Public

Square, and keeps a boarding house on West Washington Street;
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James B. McFadden, of the old firm of Peaslee & McFadden, at-

torneys, still lives here and practices his profession; Daniel M.
Barns, sih'ersmith, resides at Indianapolis; James Harrison lives

here and is the oldest practitioner in the law at our bar; Mr. New-
ton Johnson, of the old firm of Johnson & Letherman, lives at

Morristown, this county, engaged in the carpenter and builder busi-

ness; Jasper H. Sprague lives here, an old gentleman whose great

age and invalid condition has compelled his retirement from all

active business pursuits; he was formerly a railroad surveyor and
civil engineer. The old clothing firm of Streng & Frankel were

charged with shipping arms, principally revolvers, into the seced-

ing states during the war, and had to skip out in hot haste. The}'
went to Louisville, K}-., where they engaged in business, and
toward the close of the war Streng returned to Shelbvville and

very quietly made collections and accounts due the firm; he then re-

turn eel to Louisville, Ky.
lucorforal10)1.— For a long time the growth of Shelbyville was

very slow. Not until January 21, 1850, was the town incorpo-
rated by a special act of the Legislature. George Caruthers, Sr.,

was elected Mayor, and J. S. Campbell, James M. Randall, Will-

iam H. Coats, James H. Elliott, and Eden H. Davis, Councilmen.

Onlv 156 votes were cast. The second election under this charter

was held April 3rd, 1852, and resulted in the choice of John Mor-

rison, Sr., for Mayor, and Woodville Browning, James M. Randall,
S. Midkiff, Joseph Cummins and J. T. Bullock, for Councilmen.

Two hundred and forty-one votes were cast. Population, white,

1,407; colored, 17; total, 1,424. July 25, 1853, the ofiice of Mayor
was discontinued, and the present cit}' organization dates from May
16, i860. The first settlers of Shelbyville, were : Joseph Campbell,

James Davison, Henr}' Gatewoo.d, William Goodrich, Nathan Good-

rich, George Goodrich, William Hawkins, John Hendricks, James
Lee, Wilham Little, Ezra McCabe, Elisha Mayhew, Sr., Elisha

Mayhew, Jr., Royal Mayhew, Sylvan B. Morris, John Walker,
Francis Walker, Isaac H. Wilson, Smith Wingate, Benjamin Will-

iams and John M. Young.
Original Tozi'ii Plat.— Laid out for the County Commissioners

of Shelby County, by Eber Lucas, surveyor, September ist, 1822.

The original town plat was acknowledged by Abel Cole, who had
been appointed Count}' Agent, before John Kennedy, Justice of

the Peace, September 23d, 1822. Said town plat is recortted in

the First Deed Record of the county, designated as Deed Record

A, page 5. It is headed a map of shelbyville, variation 6'^ (de-

grees) east. The lots were all laid out of uniform size, that is,

eight rods— 132, feet east and west-— by six rods— 99 feet, north
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and south. The original town plat extended north of the Public

S(|uare to the alley running east and west between Franklin and
Mechanics Streets ; south to the north line of Broadway Street : east

to the alley runnini^ north and south midway between Pike and
Noble Streets, now occupied by the big stone coyered ditch; and
west one tier of lots beyond Tompkins Street. Washington and
Harrison Streets were each laid out ninety feet in width, crossincf

each other in the centre of the Public Square, which was laid out

near the centre of the plat, in such manner by the intersection of

the two principal streets, as to giye it tweiye corners, that is four

inside corners and eight street corners; or three corners to each

quarter, that is one inside corner and two street corners. All streets

except Washington and Harrison were laid out three rods or forty-
nine and one-half feet in width.

The Public Square is 2S8 feet north and south, by 354 feet east

and west. Thus it will be seen that the Public Square contains

101,952 square feet, equivalent to 2.34 acres. This note appears
at the foot of said page 5, in Deed Record A, just below the

acknowledgment of the original town plat:
" Sold to Abel Sum-

mers and William H. Sleeth, Lot number seyen (7 )
on Washington

Street in the Town of Shelbyville at $99, which when paid for

according to the conditions of the sale will entitle them to a deed
for the same.

Shelbyyille, 23d September, 1822.

William H. Sleeth, A. Cole,
JRecorder. Af^ent for Shelby County.

Additions to Shelbyville.— The prosperity of Shelbyyille has been

remarkably steady and uniform, as is attested by the numerous
additions that haye been made to the town, now city, from time to

time, there being twenty-fiye additions in all. The first addition to

Shelbyyille was made by Abel Cole, the aforesaid County Agent,
July 2nd, 1823. It extended east from the Big Ditch Alley, here-

tofore described, to Hamilton Street. It was surveyed by Major
John Hendricks, who was Count}^ Surveyor at that time; variation,
6° 2'. The original town, with the first addition attached on the

east end or side thereof, was platted July 2nd, 1823, and re-

corded the same day, in Major Hendricks' hand writing, on page
23, of said Deed Record A, by order of said Abel Cole, County
Agent. The second addition consisted of thirty lots, fifteen on
each side of Mechanics Street, and on the north of the original town

plats, made by Abel Cole, County Agent. It extended east to the

first alley east of Noble Street, which in said plat is called Madison
Street. In this plat, Tompkins, Pike and Madison (now Noble),
are each recorded 50 feet wide, instead of 49/4, and Mechanics
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Street is for the first time laid out and recorded 66 feet wide. This
addition was made by John Walker, one of the original donors, De-
cember 5, 1823, and recorded the next day, December 6, 1823.
It is also known as Walker's addition. Davison's donation con-

sisted of twenty acres, donated by James Davison, one of the orig-
inal donors of the town site, which lay between Township Hne No.

12, running east and west, a short distance north of Franklin

Street, and nearly parallel with the same, it being 20 feet north at

Harrison Street, 32 feet north at Hamilton, and 33 feet north at

Vine Street, as determined by an accurate survey, made December

ist, 1862, the township line being run twice with J. M. Elliott's

transit. Said survey was made for the city of Shelb^'ville by
J. Marshall Elliott, City Civil Engineer, conjointly with WiUiam R.

Norris, Countv Surveyor at that time. Said donation extended

north from said township line to Big Blue River. It was platted
and surveyed by John Hendricks, County Surveyor, June 12, 1S27;
variation 6°. Acknowledged by Abel Cole, County Agent, July
2nd, 1827, and recorded the same day. This plat includes the

ground subsequently donated for the purpose of a burial place, by
Arthur Major, now known as the Old Cemeter3\ In this plat
Grave Street, long since vacated, appears 66 feet wide, running
east and west through the middle portion of the old cemeter}^; also,

West Street is marked thereon as New York Street, which name
has become obsolete; it was abolished by an ordinance of the City
Council.

Kent & Hendrick's Addition was made April 10, 1833, by the

Rev. Eliphalet Kent and Major John Hendricks. It consisted of one

tier of town lots, ten in number, on the south side of Broadway Street,

east of Harrison, each lot 132 feet east and west, by ninety-nine
north and south. On this plat, Broadway Street, is represented

eighty-four feet in width, adjoining an alley on the north, sixteen

and one-half feet wide running parallel with it on the north side,

thus makino- East Broadwav lOO^A feet wide, as a matter of rec-

ord. In the laying off of this addition, the proprietors failed to

plat a strip thirty-three feet in width on the south, extending the

entire distance, east of Harrison Street to the stock 3^ards, on the

J., M. & I. R. R., and this unplatted strip, thirty-three feet wide,

appears on the Shelby Countv Atlas, published in 1880, as a vacant-

white strip in the city map of Shelbyville, gotten up by Mr. Gus-

tavus Murmann, the German map draughtsman for the publishers
of that work. He platted Shelbyville as he found it, by the rec-

ords, and did not trouble himself to svipply any defects or omissions

in the plats of the cit}'.
See Deed Record D, page i. This defect

in the original plat was subsequently recti tied by extending the lots
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each thirty-three feet south to Major John Hendrick's south line,

which was the middle line, east and west of the north half of Sec-
tion 5, Township 12, Range 7, thus making all the lots in said addi-

tion 132 feet deep. This statement is verilied by the deeds made to

said lots by the proprietors themseh^es. It furthermore appears
that Mr. Kent owned but one lot, out of all laid off in said addition,
and that was Lot No. i, at the southeast corner of Harrison and

Broadwa}' streets.

Fletcher & McCarty's Addition. This addition comprised 125
lots lying east of Harrison Street and north of Pennsylvania, ex-

tending east to East Street a north-end prolongation of Hamilton

Street; except that it is three rods further west than Hamilton
Street: its east side coinciding with the middle line north and south

of Section 32, Township 13 north. Range 7 east. Its northern

boundary being the Mill Race lands, belonging to the Shelby
Water Mills Company. This addition was made September 28,

1848, by Calvin Fletcher and Nicholas McCartv, both residents of

Indianapolis.
Western Addition to the Town of Shelbyville, comprised

eight lots lying w^est of the original town plat, extending from the

Township Line No. 12 south to Broadway Street. This addition

was made by William Little, James M. Randall, TaHtha Capp,
Benedict Worland and Andrew H. McNeely. Recorded April 23,

1849.
Toner & Bennett's Addition. From Depot Street, now Hen-

dricks Street, south to and including one tier of lots, south of South

Street, and extending west from Harrison Street to the alley on the

Section line west of Tompkins Street. The court house and jail

are situate on this addition, immediately west of Harrison Street

and between Polk Street on the north and Tavler Street on the

south. Made by Edward Toner and Jeremiah Bennett, Sr., October

3, 1849.
Samuel Hamilton's First Addition. From a point eight rods

north of Hendricks Street, south to the middle line of Section 5,

Township 12, Range 7, and lying between Harrison and Pike
Streets. Made September 12, 1850, town plat including all addi-

tions was made by order of the Town Council of Shelbyville,

February 3,*^i85i. Samuel Hamilton's Eastern Addition. Made by
Samuel Hamilton May 9, 1853. This included all that part of the

citv lying east of Hamilton Street and between Franklin and Broad-

way, it was afterward extended, to include one tier of lots between

Broadway and the northeasterly extension of Hendricks Street.

Ray & McFarland's Addition, made by Martin M. Ray and
Thomas A. McFarland, April 11, i860. This addition consisted
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of all that part of the city lying east of Hamilton and East Streets

and north of Township line No. 1^2 north, contained in the south-

west quarter of the southeast quarter of Section 32, in Township
13 north, of Range 7 east, amounting to nearly forty acres, all of

said forty acre tract being platted that could be laid off in square
lots at that time. It extended twent3'-one rods east of Vine Street,

embracing Blocks seven, eight and nine, from said Township line

No. 12 north, to 100 feet north of Walker Street, as is shown by
the city plat before mentioned in the Recorder's othce, also the

same thing in the City Engineer's plat book in the City Engineer's
office of Shelbyville. x\t that time the channel of Little Blue Riyer
ran about twent}' rods east of the present channel. A great por-
tion of the lots lying east of Vine Street in the low "'rounds are

now and have been for many A'ears nothing but waste land, only
available for dirt, sand and gravel. This addition left a narrow

strip of land unplatted lying between Township line No. 12, the

south boundary of said addition, and the north line of Franklin

Street, in Samuel Hamilton's eastern addition heretofore described,

belonging to said Samuel Hamilton. This narrow strip of land is

thirty-two feet wide at Hamilton Street and thirty-three feet wide
at the intersection of Vine Street. The intervening location of

this narrow strip of ground between the two additions, rendered it

necessary- for each purchaser of a lot fronting on the north side of

Franklin Street, to procure two deeds each; one from Ra}' &
McFarland for their lot, the other from Samuel Hamilton for the

strip fronting immediately on the street. Such double deeded lots

on Vine Street are composed of two parts, 108 feet from Ray &
McFarland, and thirty-three feet from Samuel Hamilton, making
141 feet in depth, in all, by forty-nine and a half feet in width,

fronting on Franklin Street.

Miller & McFarland's Addition or western addition made by
AVilliam C. ISIiller and Thomas A. McFarland, March 8, 1858.
This addition comprised all that part west of the section line be-

tween Sections 5 and 6 in Township 12 north, Range 7 east, lying
between Washington and Broadway Streets, and extending west
from said section line to Miller Street. It is commonly known and

designated on our maps as Miller's Addition. William C. Miller's

subdivision, made September 24, 1877. This includes Lots num-
bers 6 and 7 in Block 3 in Miller's addition, subdivided into six lots,

h'ing between Broadway and Hendricks Streets, and lying east of

IVIiller Street, which was formerly the northern terminus of the

Shelbyville and Columbus Turnpike.
Montgomery's First Addition, made by John L. Montgomery,

April 15, 1868. Fourteen lots in the west part of town, all lying
II
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north of Waehington Street. Montgomery's Second Addition,
made by Mrs. Mary Montgomery, widow of John L. Montgomery,
deceased, as guardian of the Montgomery heirs; June 23, 1B73,

twenty-five lots in the west end of town, adjoining Montgomery's
first addition on the west and southwest, and all lying north of

Hendricks Street. Montgomery's Third Addition, made by Mary
R. Sluter, wife of R-ev. George Sluter, former widow of John L.

Montgomery, as guardian of the Montgomery heirs; April 9, 1883,

thirty-nine lots in the west part of town, all lying south of Broad-

way Street, and the southwestern extension of Washington Street,

commonly called Washington Avenue. Dorsey's Addition, made
by Sylvester L. Dorsey, October 26, 1870. Fifty-four lots lying
between Broadway and Hendrick's Streets, and all situate west of

J '

South Harrison Street. Bone & Major's Addition, made by Alfred
P. Bone and Alfred Major, January 25, 1878. Fifteen large lots

lying south of Hendricks Street and east of Miller Street.

The Martz Addition made by Joseph L. Martz, Mary
Martz, Richard M. Clark, Malinda J. Clark, Edward -L. Davisson,
and Mary Davisson, October 15, 1883. Ten large lots between
Hendricks Street and Taylor Street, and situate west of West
Street. Colescott's Addition made by Ralph Colescott, February
8th, 1873. Twenty-four lots lying between the middle line east

and west of Section 5, Township 12, Range 7 and Colescott Street

and extending west from Elm Street eight lots in width. Teal's Ad-
dition, made by Wilham E. Teal, April 28th, 1884. Forty-two lots

Ijnng south of Locust Street, west of Tompkins Street and Cole-
scott's Addition; and extemdin'^ on the south side of Colescott

Street to the Columbus Pike or Miller Street. The western ex-

tension of this addition on Colescott Street, lying immediately south

of Noah Milleson's nursery. Bishop Administrator's Addition,
made by Cyrenius Bishop, administrator of Fountain G. Robert-
son's estate; Rehuesina Robertson, widow of said Fountain G. Rob-
ertson, deceased, Harr}" C. Morrison, Laura L. Morrison, M. G.
Murdock and Ellen J. Murdock. July 8th, 1882, ten large lots ly-

ing between the middle line east and west of the west half of Sec-
tion 5, Township 12, Range 7, and Locust Street; bounded on the

west by Harrison Street, and on the west by Pike Street. Maria
A. Robertson's Addition, made by Maria A. Robertson, wife of

Samuel B. Robertson, Januar}' 29th, 1872. Ten large lots lying
east of South Pike Street and south of the eastern extension of South

Street, also, bounded on the east by thel., M. & I.R. R. Mc Gavin
Murdock's Addition, made June 24, 1884, nineteen lots lying on
each side of the south end of Pike Street, terminating at the I., M.
& L R. R. The Elliott farm Additions, or Westernmost Additions^
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Love, Major and Morrison's Addition, made bv Ben F. Love,
Martha J. Love, Alfred Major, Helen T. Major, Harry C. Morri-

son, Laura L. Morrison, John A Young and Hester A. Young,
November 6th, 18S3, twenty-tive large lots lying north of Wash-

ington Avenue, it being the southwestern extension of Washington
Street. Eleaser B. Amden's Addition, made June 17th, 1884, ten

lots lying immediately west of Love, Major and Morrison's Addi-

tion, all north of said Washington x\venue, heretofore described;
the same being virtually an extension of said addition, as shown by
the streets, alleys and numbering of the lots. Teal's Second Addi-

tion, made by William E. Teal, October 6th, 18S6, forty-five lots

lying south of Teal's First Addition.

Plats of Presbyterian Church property. First plat made by
Elisha Baker, proprietor, December 30th, 1839, including Lots
10 and 12 on Harrison Street; Lot No. 10 on Jackson Street,
and Lot No. 3, south of and adjoining Lot No. 10. Second plat.

Replatted January 24th, 1853, by John Hendricks, Aaron Bennett,
and Zaccheus Bennett, Trustees of the Presbyterian Church.

Small Tracts JVot Platted. — In addition to the numerous addi-

tions, and subdivisions of town lots platted as herein described, there

are a very large number of small tracts of land about the usual size of

town lots, that have from time to time been sold to citizens, by the

owners of adjacent farming lands; such tracts have usually been
described b}' metes and bounds, in feet, or in rods and feet, the

same as little farms, and recorded as such; so that the transition

from platted and numbered town lots, to lots described by metes
and bounds, often occurs in such close proximity, that only a street

or an alley separates the platted lots from the unplatted. Such

unplatted lots are especially numerous on South Harrison Street,
below South Street, extending not only to the corporation line at

the intersection of the J., M. «& I. R. R., but for a full quarter of a

mile further on the Shelbyville and Norristown Turnpike, where

quite a village subsists, out of the cit}^ and beyond the present cor-

poration lines. A similar state of affairs exists on all the principal
roads leadincr into the citv, notablv so on the road leadinjr to the

fair grounds by way of the Rushville Pike. A plat of the City by
the Town Council, including all additions up to the year 185 1, wq^s
recorded February 3, 1851, in Deed Record R, on pages 418 and

419. Said plat was -made by J. M. Elliott, City Civil Engineer, by
order of the City Council. In this plat he included considerable

ground previously unplatted, and in doing so, he platted it to con-

form to the adjoining additions then on record. The grounds lying
at and near the north end of North Harrison Street, on both sides

thereof, were platted by him to correspond with the adjacent lots
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and streets already platted and on record, and in accordance with

the facts at that time existing. This work although done without strict

technical legal authorit}^, was so well done, and bears on its face,

such indubitable evidence of care and correctness, that it was

adopted by common consent and is now firmly established by thirty-
six years' acquiescence and peaceable possession. The statute of

limitations only requires twenty 3'ears peaceable adverse possession
in order to establish and quiet title; hence the owners of any such

lots need have no apprehensions whatever about the validity of their

titles.

Shelby villc in i8j6.— The following is extracted from the recol-

lections of a gentleman who resided in our city for a few months
in 1836, or hfty-one years ago. The}^ were originall}' published in

a little paper edited by Reuben Spicer in 1876. He says:
" At the period I refer to, Shelbyville was a mere village of

probably six or seven hundred inhabitants. The buildings were

chiefly one-story frames— a few log cabins were still remaining
—

and the brick houses did not number over a dozen to the best of

my recollection. It contained some live or six stores, which em-

braced, in addition to dry goods, groceries, hardware, queensware,

drugs, medicines and dye stuffs: no separate stores for the last

named articles were then thought of in so small a place. There
were two ' taverns

' on a small scale, and at least two licensed

saloons, known in those da3's as '

doggeries.' The population was

chiefly made up of the merchants alluded to, county oflicials, law-

yers, doctors, no preachers, except one local Methodist, and quite a

number of mechanics in a small way. The onlv church building in

the place was a weather-beaten frame of small dimensions, innocent

of paint outside or in, where some thirty or forty Methodists wor-

shipped when the two ' circuit-riders
' made their calls alternately

once in two weeks. I remember that year one of the itinerants

died, leaving only one in charge, and of course the congregation
then fasted longer between their spiritual meals. The salaries paid
then to pastors were ver^- diminutive compared to the present time.

This preacher, I was credibly informed, received for his salary only

$120 during the whole year, and he with a family to support; and

what was particularly hard on him, he lost, in the meantime, a horse

w^orth some $50 or $60. The Presbyterians, some twenty or

thirty in number, had meeting at the court house once a month,
and Rev. Mr. Monfort, of Greensburg, supplied them with preach-

ing. There was nothing in the shape of a market house in those

days; the citizens depended on the vegetables raised on the ample
sized lots of rich soil, which ever}- citizen carefully cultivated, and
the produce occasionally brought in b}- country people. As 3'et
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there were no butchers to furnish fresh meats, and the only supplies
to be obtained in the summer were on each Saturday afternoon,

when a number of ' shootists
' would assemble on the commons

east of the mill, and having procured a live beef, often a miser-

able, scrav>'ny-looking bovine; and having divided the costs into

a certain number of ' shoots
'

corresponding to the number who
desired to participate, they would take shares and shoot for

the beef. When it was decided who had won the prize, the

beef was slaughtered and cut up before it was cold; the citi-

zens standing around, each waiting for a piece, and fortunate

was he who could secure any part of the animal that was

digestible. I have gone there and found such a scramble for

pieces of the coveted 'fresh meat' that I would retire in disgust
without anv. There was no newspaper published in the place
while I was a resident; the people obtained their news mostly

through Indianapolis papers. I can call to mind only a few of the

more prominent citizens: Dr. S. B. Morris, County Clerk, and

Dr. M. Robbins, Recorder, two excellent men; David Thacher,

merchant, and a leading member of the Methodist Episcopal

Church; Messrs. Kennerly & Mayhevr, merchants, the former also

probate judge, both tirst-class citizens
; Royal Mayhew and WiUiam

J. Peaslee, lawyers of good standing; Cummings & McCoy, lead-

ing physicians of the old school, and Drs. Romberg, brothers, from

Germany, homeopathic. That mode of practice just being intro-

duced into this country, it was subjected to much ridicule, and it

was but natural that the people should slightly change the pronun-
ciation of their name, calling it Hmnbitg\ which was freely done,

and sometimes to their great annoyance b}' rude boys in the steeets

hoUooing to them. One of the brothers, a bachelor, reputed to

have been well educated in his own country, became so sensitive

on the subject that he actually applied to the Legislature and had

his name changed.
The standard of morahty, and particularly temperance, was far

below the present, bad as it is supposed to be now. Perhaps four-

fifths of the people then drank intoxicating iiijuors,
the almost uni-

versal beverage being whisky. At gatherings of every kind, such

as log-rolhngs, house-raisings, harvesting, and especially at elec-

tions, the whisky bottle was one invariable accompaniment. Those

candidates who provided most hberally the beverage on election

day were most likelv to succeed, as one who would not treat was

regarded illiberable" and mean, or what was worse, a temperance
man. To show the influence that whisky had in election results, I

will mention two incidents : The year previous to my sojourn in

Shelbyville, a genUeman was elected Senator, he being a decided
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Whig, when the count}- was largeh^ Democratic. I inquired how
this came about, and was informed, that the Senator elect being
wealthy, had furnished each poll with liquor, far beyond the ability
of his opponent to do, and thus he prevailed. The next year,

among the candidates for the Legislature was John Hendricks,
father, I believe, of our late Vice President. He was an intelli-

gent, religious and temperate man, and everybody acknowledged
his (lualifications for the office, but he had declared in advance that

he would not ' treat.' Soon he was denounced all over the county
as a 'temperance man,' and he was defeated by a large vote.

While such was the prevailing sentiment of the people throughout
the county, yet in the town of Shelbyville there seemed to be a

strong current of opposition to the traffic, as one circumstance will

show: A dogger}- keeper, wishing to renew his license, and it be-

ing required that he present to the Commissioners, a petition, with

a certain number of freeholders, twenty, I think, he sought the

town over and failed in getting the requisite number. But this did

not defeat him. He resorted to the trick well known among li(|uor
sellers at that day of deeding a foot square of ground off the rear

of his lot to the number of persons required, who thus became free-

holders (?) and signed his petition. Although it was evidently a

great fraud, it was decided good by the Commissioners."
"I. S. D."

PofIllation.— Shelbyville, at its last city election in the. month
of May, cast i,ii6 votes for City Clerk, which was the highest
vote cast. This, on the basis of one vote to everv five inhabitants,
would indicate a population of 5,580 within the corporate limits;

but there are suburbs enough surrounding the city to swell the pop-
ulation to over 6,000, and they should all be annexed, so that the

city would include all who reside within one-half mile of the pres-
ent corporate boundary lines.

Odd Fellozvshij).
—The following extracts are taken from a his-

tory of Odd Fellowship in Shelbyville, Ind., written by Rev. T. G.

Beharrell, P. G. Rep., associate editor of the Odd FeUoxvs' TaJis-

inan and Literary Journal. It was published in the April number,
1877? Vol. X, No. 4, of that well known monthly magazine, and

brings the history up to 1875.

Shelby Lodg-e No. jq, I. O. O. F.— Odd Fellowship took its

initiatory step in this section of Indiana, in the fall of 1846, a time

when our Order was yet in its infancy in this State, as is indicated

by the number of this lodge. A charter was granted bv virtue

of a dispensation from the Grand Master of the Grand Lodge,
I. O. O. F., of Indiana, Joel B. McFarland, bearing date October

29, 1846; and upon the petition of the following named brothers,



TOWNS. 417

viz. : P. G. Joseph L. Silcox, John L. Robinson, Willam Hacker,
John Cartmill, John M. WoUen, and Hiram Comstock. Shelby-

Lodge No. 39, was instituted on the 13th day of November, 1846,

by D. D. G. M. Jacob P. Chapman officiating, in the city of Shelby-
ville, County of Shelby, and State of Indiana. The lodge met at •

the hour previously agreed upon, and proceeded with the work, by
conferring the several degrees of the Order upon those that had
not already been made Odd Fellows, after which the election and
installation of officers took place, and the following brothers declared

duly elected officers for the first ensuing term, to-wit: John L.

Robinson, N. G., William Hacker, V. G., John Cartmill, Recording
Secretary, John M. Wollen, Treasurer. The lodge then met in

regular meetings on Monday night of each week, with a member-

ship of twelve, several of whom belonged to neighboring lodges,
but took temporary leave from them, for the "

only purpose
"

of

starting Shelby Lodjje, which was a very commendable act indeed.

The Lodge though havijig been started with as good material as

the county afforded, increased in membership very slowly for the

first four or five 3'ears, for the reason that the community in which
the lodge was started, had but a very limited experience in secret

organizations, and the Order itself was yet in its infancy^ so to

speak. But to give anything like a correct account of the workings
of Shelby Lodge from its beginning until October 26, 1849, would
be a useless undertakino;, as will be seen from the followin£»' state-

ment: On the night of October 26, 1849, Shelby Lodge was

destroy^ed by lire, losing her charter, books, and papers,

together with all the working fixtures of the lodge, which
of course deprived the lodge of all power and authorit}^
This being the third year of her existence, the lodge attained to a

membership of twenty-five, with a fair prospect in the future.

Steps were immediately taken to apprise the Grand Officers of the

loss this lodge had sustained, and at the same time petition for a

new charter. This call was promptly^ complied with, and a new
charter immediately granted, by the then officiating Right Worthy
Grand Master Joel B. Eldridge, of Logansport. This new charter

contains the names of the following brothers, to-wit: Joseph L.

Silcox, William Hacker, John Cartmill, John S. Campbell, Samuel
D. Day, Samuel B. Robertson, Milton A. Malone, and Dwight R.

Hovey, whom the Grand Officers empowered, without any" cere-

mony on the part of the Grand Lodge, to proceed to work in the

good cause of Odd Fellowship, which was accordingly done, and

Shelby Lodge once more allowed to occupy her rank, to which she

was entitled. Shelby Lodge, being thus unfortunate, was com-

pelled to apply for aid to her sister lodges, and by permission of
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the Grand Lodge, circulars were sent to the lodges in the State,

stating loss and soliciting aid. In return quite a number of these

lodges sent handsome contributions, which assisted the members
of Shelby Lodge (juite materially in starting their new lodge,
which is evidence that "a friend in need is a friend indeed." The
only celebration of any consequence, took place July 4, 1874.
Shelby Lodge made very extensive preparations on that occasion.

We were visited by quite a number of neighboring lodges, and it

was said to be the tinest gathering of the kind that had taken

place in this part of our State for years. The orators on the oc-

casion were : Brothers T. G. Beharrell, Thomas Underwood, the
Rev. Na^-lor, and Brother Thomas Morrison, who read the Declara-
tion of Independence. The festivities were celebrated in the Fair
Grounds of our county. The speeches delivered on this occasion
were said to be master-pieces of their authors, and were well re-

ceived by all present. The impression created thereby on " out-

siders," had the effect to allay that bitter feeling that existed

among non-initiates toward secret organizations, to a considerable

extent, and had, also, a good moral effect on those alreadv members.
In the vears of 18 Si and 18^2, and after Shelbv Lodg-e had

somewhat recovered from her recent loss, Shelby Lodge, No. 39,
I. O. O. F.,in connection with Lafayette Lodge, No. 28, F. and A. M.,
formed a "Joint Hall Stock Association." The object was to build

a hall wherein both lodges could meet, and thereb}- avoid rent,
and at the same time have a home of their own. The proposition
was well canvassed in both lodges, and finally it was decided to go
on with the enterprise. The trustees of either lodo-e were in-

structed to mvestigate as to the probable cost of the building in

contemplation, and then report to their lodges. These reports

being favorable, the arrangement was consummated upon the fol-

lowing terms: Each lodge agreed to take stock to the amount of

$500; the members of each of the lodges obligated themselves to

take such amounts as they felt able, which the}' did to the amount
of $2,550. To secure the balance of the monev needed, a loan was

negotiated, secured by mortgage on the propertv, when completed,
to the amount of $2,000; amount required for lot and building,
when completed, $5,550. The building so to be built was con-
tracted to one James Baker, and was to be a three-story structure,
built of brick. This hall was completed in 1852, and was then con-
trolled by Bro. William Hacker, who acted as commissioner for

both lodges, who, b}' his good management, succeeded in buying
in all the individual stock, and in equal amounts it was held and
controlled by each of these lodges; and by so managing, the build-

ing was soon paid for in full. The hall, after completion, was ded-
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icated in iJie presence of a great many Odd Fellows from far and
near. The dedication address was delivered by Bro. Joseph L.

Silcox. The hall was occupied jointly by both orders until some-
time in 1867 or 1868, when the Masonic fraternit}- became the sole

occupants of the hall. In 1869, the Masonic lodge, being the

stronger in numbers, found these quarters were not large enough
to accommodate them, when they proposed to sell their interest to

the Odd Fellows, who as a brother not long ago remarked, were
odd enough to buy, which they did for the amount of $3,500. In

the end it will, of course, by consulting the above figures, be seen

that the investment was a paying one, for these reasons: First,

the property cost, in the beginning, $5,550; one-half of that amount

paid bv Shelbv Lodge, $2,775; P^id to the Masons for their in-

terest therein, $3,500; total amount paid for building and ground,
$6,275.

In the years of 1S54, 1S55, 1856 and 1857 — the time when

Know-Nothingism was raging in this country
—

politics also found

its wav into the lodijes of secret orcjanizations. It invaded the

ranks of Shelbv Lodge to such an extent, that it threatened at one

time to utterly wipe out the existence of our lodge, and did in a

measure, destroy harmony and brotherly love between quite a num-
ber of the members of the lodo-e. This strife was introduced into

this lodire bv indiscreet brothers in the wav of a wager that existed

between them. Said waijer was on the election or defeat of one can-

didate before the people at that time, the candidate himself, belong-

ing to Shelbv Lodge, and, bv the way, a very popular man

amongst his adherents in politics, and also in the lodge. The trans-

gressors were finallv arraigned before the lodges and the wrong
brother suspended, and the guilty part}' accjuitted. This transac-

tion did not take well with a majority of the lodge. The decision

of the lodge was appealed from and taken to the Grand Lodge,
who censured the action of the lodge. The case was sent back,
with instructions to give the brothers a new hearing, which was

done, when the actual wrong doer was found guilty, and finalh' ex-

pelled bv the lodge. This by way "of illustration, to show what ef-

fect in lodges, to get politics mixed up with lodge affairs. Keep them

separate brothers, and you will never have cause to see a decline in

members for simplv the want of better judgment. But politics,
' that insatiable serpent,' has once more found her way into the

secret ranks of the order, and plied her avocation, with such a force,

as to make it an impossibility to get members enough together, and

be able to open the lodge in a lawful manner. The two presidential

political parties at those days, had each of them, as a matter of course,

its adherents. Sides were taken, and no respect paid to the feel-
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ings that should exist between good old fellows. The membership
from 49, in i860, was still further reduced, in 1863, to 28. After

the close of the rebellion, and the country- became once more settled

the march of progress has also taken possession in the hearts of the

members of this lodge; the partisan feeling once more wiped out,

and the principles of Odd Fellowship replanted in its stead.

The number of the members of Shelby Lodge has, as the

country passed through the different "changes and crises," been at

considerable variations, as will be shown by taking a casual obser-

vation and consulting figures. When Shelby Lodge was started

in 1846, her lirst report to the Grand Lodge indicated a member-

ship of twelve. The work in the cause went on until 1850, in

December, when the report showed an increase of seventeen in

four vears— makincj in all twentv-nine. From 18 So the work com-

menced in good earnest, and in 1854 ^^'^^ ^^^^ *o report a member-

ship of 126, the highest number attained in membership in Shelby

Lodge. From June, 1854, ^^ ^^^ outbreak of the late war in i860,

the membership of this lodge was reduced to forty-nine. The
lodere has since flourished in an unusual decrree and now numbers

125 members.
T/ic Degree of Rehekah has been rather neglected than other-

wise. August i8th, 1874, a charter was granted by the R. W.
Grand Master, Richard Owen. This charter was granted upon the

petition of the following named brothers and sisters, to wit. : I. B.

Springer, Margarette Springer, K. M. Hord, Mrs. K. M. Hord,
Henson E. Clark, John H. Reed, Thomas Harrison, Michael Posz,

Mary A. Posz, James C. Morrison, Mrs. James C. Morrison,

George C. Morrison, Anna Morrison, Henry Burkher, Margaretta
Burkher, W. L. Carter, Mrs. W. L. Carter,"^ and Charles E. Ams-
den. It was named Norah Lodge No. 126, Degree of Rebekah,
I. O. O. F., and was instituted by Brother B. F. Foster, September
ist, 1874, assisted by P. G. John Reynolds, and J. E. Barrett,

Gr. Rep. The attendance was very good on the occasion. In ad-

dition to those that were charter members, there was also six new
initiates. The instituting ceremonies being over, the lodge went

into the nomination and election of officers for the ensuing term,

resulting as follows: Bro. J. B. Springer, N. G.; wSister K. M. Hord,
V. G.; Sister W. L. Carter, Rec. Secretary; Bro. J. H. Reed,
Assistant Secretary; Sister J. A. Morrison, Treasurer.

Rev. BeharrelFs History of Odd Fellowship in Shelbyville, con-

tains several biographical sketches of deceased members, which

though interesting, we have no room for; also, the financial statis-

tics of the order in detail, from which we quote the leading items,

to-wit: Amount paid for funeral benefits, $795; thirty widows, with
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their families, assisted at various times, $455.86; total number of

initiations, 3S5; withdrawn, no; suspended, 56; expelled, 11; de-

ceased, 24;. dropped 109; total, 310. Number belonging, Juh^ i,

1S75, 75. Total receipts from 1846 to 1875, $15,688.64; Total

expenditures from 1846 to 1875, $i5v3oS-24; balance in the treas-

ury, $380.40; total resources of the lodge, $9,092.01 ;
total liabil-

ities of the lodge, $2,133.67; total orphan fund at that date, 1875,

$3,360.13.^
These figures were made in 1875, or twelve years ago, and

are the only accessible reliable authority since that date. But since

that time the membership has increased
fift}'^,

and it is not more
than reasonable to suppose that the financial and other statistics

are correspondinglv favorable. The present officers are: John
Dobbins, P. G.; W. E. Blakely, N. G.; James T. Caughey, V. G.;
H. C. Ray, Secretary; Michael Posz, C. W. Culbertson and J. H.

Enos, Trustees. But few lodges in the State are more prosperous
than this one.

History of Freemasonry in Shelby County.— Freemasonry was
introduced into Shelby Countv, Indiana, in an organized form, by
dispensation from R. W. x\bel C. Pepper, D. G. M., November
15, 1824. The charter issued, bears date, October 5, 1825, when
the lodge received the title of Lafayette Lodge No. 28, leaving it

discretionary with the members to locate the lodge in such part of

the county as they might deem most expedient.
*

Brothers : David

Tracy, W. M.
; Justus Ferris, S. W.; Joseph Adams, J. W. Names

of the first petitioners: Dr. David Tracy, Justus Ferris, Joseph
Adams, Percy Kitchell and John C. Walker, five in number. The

lodge had no fixed location, but met at the member's houses. The

lodge for the three years it remained without a permanent location,

had considerable prosperitv; manv of the prominent citizens of the*

county becoming member, either b}' initiation of affiliation.

Among the more prominent are the names of Calvin Kinsley,
Chandler Huntington, Erasmus Powell, Abel Cole, William

Hawkins, Nathan Johnson, William Goodrich, William Little, and
others. This charter was surrendered, and a new charter issued^

imder date of November 25, 1828, constituting Erasmus Powell,
W. M.; Josiah Reed, S. W., and Nathan Johnson, J. W., requiring
the communications of the lodge to be held alternately at Hanover
and Shelbvville, still retainino- its original name and number. Under
this arrangement the lodge for several years more seemed to pros-

per, and other prominent citizens became members, among whom
are the names of the following brethren, viz. : Austin W. Morris,
Amaziah Williams, Matthias Vanpelt, Harmon Updegraff, Jacob
Rice, Richard S. Cummins, and William Hacker. At the semi-
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annual election held on the 4th day of July, 1835, the following-
officers were elected, to-wit: William Placker, W. M.

; James
Lisher, S. W.; Harmon Updegraff, J. W.; M^illiam Goodrich,
Treasurer; John Walker, Secretary; Chandler Huntington, S. D.;

Joseph Thrasher, J. D., and John Stout, Tyler.
In consequence of having to keep up what really amounted to

two organizations, one in Hanover, and the other at Shelbyville, it

soon became evident that the lodge would have to dissolve its then

existing organization. Accordingly on the 25th of June, 1836, by
formal resolution, the charter was surrendered to the Grand Lodge,
which, however, was never called for by the Grand Lodge, but re-

mained in the hands of the then W. M., William Hacker, until the

meeting of the Grand Lodge in 1S45, when the Grand Lodge
granted permission to the lodge to reorganize and resume labor.

At the communication of the Grand Lodge in 1845, application for

a restoration of the charter was made which was granted, and the

location of the lodge permanently fixed at Shelbyville. From this

time forth the lodge has met with much prosperity, and good suc-

cess has attended its labors. The following were the petitioners
for the re-organization of the lodge, to-wit: Stephen D. Ludlow,
William Hacker, James Elliott, William W. McCo}^ Jacob Rice,
W^oodville Browning, Jesse Smith, John Morrison, Nathaniel Teal,

and Harmon Updegraff. May 26, 1852, the Grand Lodge changed
the title from Lafayette Lodge No. 28, to that of Shelby Lodge
No. 28, under which the lodge is still successfully at work, and now
numbers 152 members. This lodge has furnished two Grand Mas-
ters of Indiana, two Grand High Priests and two Eminent Grand
Commanders.
Wilham Hacker Lodge, U. D., dated January 3, 1867, was lo-

cated at the city of Shelb^-ville, Shelby County, upon the petition

of Thomas F. Kirk, Wilham M. Parrish, Joseph L. Irwin, William

F. Mason, Daniel J. Shaw, John S. Tevis and David L. Conrey.

June 3, 1867, the lodge was regularly constituted under charter

dated May 29, 1867, as Wilham Hacker Lodge No. 360; Brother

Jesse K.Jameson being appointed W. M.; Wilham F. Green, S. W.,
and John Messick, J. W. This lodge, though the 3'oungest of the

family of Masonic organizations, in Shelby Count}^, numbered

thirty-six members in 1871. This lodge was subsequently merged
in the parent lodge, Shelby Lodge No. 28, under date of June

11,1879.
Hio-Jier Deoi'ce Oro-anizations.— In addition to these several

lodge organizations which have grown out of the original lodge,

organized Januarv 7, 1825, the following Masonic organizations
have sprung up, all of which are located at Shelbyville, Ind., and
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are faithfully at work canying out the objects of their organizations.
First: Shelby Chapter No. 20, of Roval Arch Masons, organized:
U. D., dated April 2, 185 1, upon the petition of William Hacker,
Fabins M. Finch, Henry B. Hill, Cyrus N. Williams, Jacob W.
Mills, John W. Sullivan, Samuel White, Daniel Shew, James ElHott,
Danief Mowrer, Joseph .L. Silcox, and Benjamin J. Irwin, compan-
ions; William Hacker being appointed H. P.: James ElHott, K.;
and Daniel Shew, S. The Chapter received its charter under date

of May 24, 1851, with companion William Hacker, H. P.; Cyrus
W^nght, K., and Andrew Selman, S., and was regularh' constituted

June 5, 185 1. This chapter has never faltered in her work, for

the thirty-six years of her existence. The Chapter now numbers

seventy-nine members. Second: Shelbv Council No. 3, of Royal
and Select Masters, hrst organized U. D. froin the Grand
Master of Ohio, under date of August 31, 1B55, upon the petition
of William Hacker, Jacob E. Houser, John D. Defrees, Moses
Wolff, Max Gasser, Theodore Bullard, George F. Henning, John S.

Bobbs, and Charles Fisher. Under date of October 18, 1855, a

charter was issued by authoritv of the Grand Council of Ohio, con-

stituting companions William Hacker, T. I. G. M.; Cvrus Wright,
Dep. I. G. M., and Eden H. Davis, P. C. W. The Council was

regularly constituted under charter, on the loth day of November,
1855, by Companion Loring R. Brownell, acting as Special Deputy
for the M. P. Grand Master of Ohio. This Council participated in

the organization of the Grand Council of Indiana, on the 20th day
of December, 1855, at which time it received its present "No. 3,"
on the registry of the Grand Council, and now numbers thirty-five
m.embers. Third, Baldwin Commandr}' No. 2, K. T. This Com-
mandry was hrst organized on the 25th of March, 1851, at the

town of Greensburg, Decatur Countv, Ind., under the title of

Greensbur^j Commandrv U. D. from M. E. Wilham Blackstone

Hubbard, G. G., Master of Knights Templars, of the United States,
dated January 5, 1851. The original petitioners were: James
Mcllroy William Hacker, William F. Pidgeon, William Crawford,

George Hibben, Jacob E. Houser, M. V. Simonson, John W. Sul-

livan, Homer T. Hinman, Burris Moore, and John S. Scobey.
Under date of September 19, 1853, a charter was issued appointing

Jacob E, Houser, E C.
;
Israel T. Gibson, G., and John S. Scobey,

C. G. This Commandrv participated in the formation of the

Grand Commandrv of Indiana, when it received its present "No. 2,"

on the registry of the Grand Commandrv, and continued its labors

with varying success until the 30th of June, i860, when its mem-
bers ceased to meet, and the organization became dissolved. Upon
the petition of Sir Knights Thomas Pattison, William Allen, Jacob
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Vernon, Thomas H. Lynch, Daniel Stewart, Barton W. Wilson,

James Gavin, Putnam Ewing, Jacob V. Berensdaffer, Will C.

Cumback, James Elliott, Robert Cones, and John Elliot, Sir William

Hacker, as Grand Commander, authorized the transfer of the

Commandry to Shelbyville, Ind., and on the iSth day of March,
1865, the Commandr}^ was re-organized at Shelbyville. The Com-
mandry subsefjuently recei\'ed from the Grand Commandry of

Indiana, a new charter, and under date of April 4, 1866, the title

of the Commandry was changed to Baldwin Commandry No. 2, and
its permanent location fixed at Shelbyville, Ind.; since which time
the organization of the Commandr^^ has been eminently a success,
and now numbers sixty-two members.

Knig/jfs of Pythias.— The order of Knights of Pvthias
became represented in Shelby County by the institution of Chillon

Lodge on the 23rd day of September, 1885. The charter mem-
bers of this lodge were: P. C. Akers, Dr. J. N. Lucas, Charles
P. Hall, Judge K. M. Hood, Edward H. Chadwick, Robert W.
Harrison, David L. Wilson, Joseph H. Akers, Robert B. Hale,

James E. Walker, Lester Clark, Taylor Winterrowd, Henry
Friday, J. Edward Baggs,

'

David B. Wilson, Ernest Mueller,

George H. Dunn, Frank Roth, John J. Wingate, James Magill,
Richard D. Flaitz, John N. Whitehead, Christ. Steinhouser,
Milton R. Senour.

The first set of officers were: Past Chancellor, P. C. Akers;
Chancellor Commander, J. N. Lucas; Vice Chancellor, David L.

Wilson; Prelate, Ta3'lor Winterrowd; Keeper of Records and

Seal, E. H. Chadwick; Master of Finance, George H. Dunn;
Master of Exchequer, James H. Akers; Master at Arms, Milton

R. Senour; in Rear Guard, Robert B. Hale. The Lodge was named
from Chillon Castle, in Lake Geneva, suggested by the incidents

celebrated by Byron in his poem,
" The Prisoner of Chillon."

The Lodge has grown in two years from twenty-three to over one
hundred members. On the 8th da}^ of November, 1886, Navarre

Lodge 159, was instituted at Morristown with thirty charter mem-
bers, among whom were: Messrs. T. C. Wrenwick, WiUiam F.

and George Hand}^, Dr. Williams Pierson, Prof. E. T. J. Gordon,
M. C. Burt, George Spurrier, and Isaac Kaufman. The lodge
now numbers over seventy members, and is rapidly growing. On
the 22nd day of August, 1887, a third lodge was instituted in the

county, at Fountaintown, with about thirty charter members, among
wdiom were: Dr. William M. Pierson, Prof. E. T. J. Gordon,

Cyrus Fountain, David and Isaac Sexton, W. H. Buckingham,
John W. Draper, Isaac Inlow, Marion Ayers and Prof. Jordan, Jr.

On the 23rd da}' of June, 1887, Chillon Division No. 37, Uniform
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Rank Knights Pythias was instituted with thirt}- charter members,
among whom were the following persons: M. R. Senour, Chris.

Steinhouser, Robert B. Hale, Clinton Nelyt, George W. Michel-

son, E. H. Chadwick, John S. Ferris, Robert W. Harrison, J. C.

Akers, David B. Wilson, John N. Whitehead, James E. Walker,
A. H. McAhren, John W. and Henry Frida}-, Albert Arzet, Otto

Deigler, B. F. Swain, James Barnett, Frederick Horst, F. W.
Mohr, Charles H. Wood, Harr}- Clark and others. The order is

growing rapidly in numbers and in popular favor in the county and
State, numbering over 200 in the county, and over 10,000 in the
State. It is now in its earl}- years of growth, but is recognized as

one of the three leading orders of the world, and is wielding an
influence for good wherever its tenets are published.

FiiJton
Lodi^x

A^o. jo, A. O. U. IV., was organized m 1877,
with the following charter members: vSolomon Auerbach, Francis

Flaitz, D. B. Wilson, J. B. Springer, Robert Montgomery, John C.

Edwards, Frederick Stephan, W. H. Colescott, John T." Grier, A.
V. Robbins, Royal Jennings and A. A. Louch, a total of twelve.
Since that time the members have increased until it now has on the
roll forty-five names, among which are some of the foremost citi-

zens of the town. The present officers are: Master Workman,
C. S. Fleming; General Foreman, George Schoepfel; Overseer,
Frederick Stephan; Recorder, C. K. Bryan; Receiver, J. H. Mc-
Guire; Financier,. L. F. Bokering; Guide, Wilham H. Bassett;
Inside and Outside Watchman, Jacob Stephan and Henr}- Gathman.

Harnio-ari.— In addition to the societies alreadv named, there
is in ShelbN'ville a lodge of this order. It is a German society and
it is called Hertha Lodge No. 80, D. O. H. It has been organized
twenty-six years and has been reasonabl}' prosperous. The offi-

cers are: Frederick Chueden, O. B.; Phihp Weimer, U. B.; Conrad
Schroeder, Secretary; Frederick Stephan, Treasurer. The mem-
bership numbers at this time eleven.

The Star Mills.— This building where the Star Mills is estab-

lished, was original!}- erected in 1856 bv H. P. Johnson, who was
a noted grain dealer and pork packer. The upper, or fourth story,
was all in one large room fitted up for a hall, and it was called

Johnson's Hall, after the builder and proprietor, H. P. Johnson.
The hall was used for balls and theatrical performances, conven-

tions, mass meetings, etc. In a few years Johnson broke up and

badly worsted man}- of his former friends, from whom he had bor-

row^ed money. He w^ent west to Davenport, Iowa, where he en-

gaged in business. He was succeeded by the firm of Porter &
Dixon, grain dealers, their names were A. O. Porter and James
Dixon. This firm was succeeded in business by Jasper H. Sprague,
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who dealt in grain; he is still living in the city quite an old man,
infirm, and retired from business. Next came Aionzo Swain and
Lewis Neibel of Jackson Township, who dealt in grain and manu-
factured hominy. In 1867, Aionzo Swain bought his partner Lewis
Neibel out, and became sole proprietor; he put in milling machin-

ery and converted it into a flouring mill. He dealt in grain, fiour

and meal, etc., and ran it successfully up to the time of his death,
which occurred in 1872. After his death a company called the

Star Mills Co., composed of S(|uire L. Vanpelt, Sidney .Robertson,
William A. Moore, George W. Kennedy, James Y. Stewart and
Michael Snyder, of Hendricks Township, bought it, ran it for two

years, from 1873 to 1875, <^^^ then sold it to Peyton Johnson, who
carried on the business until the spring of 1879, when the mill

propert}- was sold at sheriff's sale to Samuel Hamilton, banker, of

this city, who bid it off for the amount of his mortgage judgment,
which was something over $5,000. George W. Kennedy who had
the mill rented ran the business until 1883, when he and John M.
Brown, a prominent lumber dealer, bought the property of Samuel
Hamilton, rebuilt, remodeled and thoroughly reconstructed it, put
in the new Roller Process, which was then just coming into use,
the first in this town to adopt this new system of mill machiner}",
and increased the capacity of the mill to 150 barrels in twentv-four

hours. The firm of Kennedy & Brown continued to run it until

the spring of 1887, when James B. Kennedy, a voung man, the son

of George W. Kennedy, bought Mr. Brown out, and engaged in

business with his father, George W. Kennedy, under the firm name
of George W. Kennedy & Son, who are the present owners. They
do a general milling business, deal in flour, meal, bran, shorts,

grain of all kinds. The main building is 60x100 feet and four tall

stories high.
The Water Mill, commonly called the Shelby Mills, the old

original mill, to which this is successor, commenced operations

many years ago, even before the settlement of the country, before

roads were made, and when "going to mill" was an important
event in the lives of old and young. Year after year its ponderous
wheel revolved, its machinery clanked. Almost a generation was
born and passed away, when, having outlived its usefulness, it was
torn down, and the present mill, or a part of it, built. The first

flour and saw mill in the county was built by Mr. John Walker, in

1822, upon the site now occupied by the Shelby ^lills. Early in

the year 1842, James Elliott bought the property now known as

the "Shelby Mills;" it then consisted of an o/d o-rist-mill with two
run of buhrs, and the remains of a saw-mill. The latter was im-

mediately rebuilt. In the spring of 1844, John Elliott came to
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Shelbyville and took a half interest in the property, and the same
year a woolen factory was built just above the race bridge, and
between the race and river. In 1846, the saw-mill was removed
and the present flouring mill was built upon its site, and in 1856
enlarged to the present dimensions and its capacity increased to six

run of buhrs and an output of 100 barrels of flour per day, besides

meal and feed. In 1850 the property passed into the hands of

Jacob Vernon and W. O. Rockwood. The latter was soon suc-

ceeded by Evans Elliott, and under the name of Elliott & Vernon
a steam mill was added to the water-power and the capacity of the

mill was greatly increased; but owing to an accident caused by the

machinery, Evans Elliott's health failed and he was compelled to

retire from the business. The mill passed into the hands of Alex-
ander Cory in the year 1859, and continued in his hands up to the

time of his death, in 1864. David Kemp afterward purchased it,

and ran it for some time. In the year 1865, William Elliott, David
P. Campbell and A. O. Porter purchased the propert}^ and carried

on the business under the firm name D. P. Campbell '& Co. In

1866, J. M. Elliott became a partner, and still retains a one-third in-

terest in the same, though compelled to retire from the active busi-

ness of the concern on account of ill health. In 1868, George W,
Kennedy succeeded D. R. Campbell as part owner, and in the

same year A. O. Porter retired, selling his interest to the other

proprietors. The firm was then known as Elliott, Kennedy & Co.
In 1870, G. W. Kennedy sold his interest to John Messick, now
president of the First National Bank, and business was carried on
under the firm name of Elliott & Co. In 1881, George E. Kent
became a partner. In 1883, WiUiam Elliott retired, disposing of

his interest to George E. Kent and J. M. Elliott, and the hrm name
became Elhott, Messick & Co. Durinsf this year the mill was re-

modeled and roller machinery put in to take the place of buhr

stones, the kind that have been in use since the earliest history of

milling. In 1884, John Messick disposed of his interest to George
W. Senour, and the firm now consists of the following e([ual part-

ners, viz.: J. M. Elliott, George E. Kent and George W. Senour,
under the firm name of Elliott, Kent & Senour, and is doing a pros-

perous business. The mill building covers an area 50x80 feet, and
is four stories hicyh.

T/ic Shelhy-ciUc DidiUcry was first built in the year 1S57. It

has been owned and run by a number of persons since its original
erection. In 1872, it became the property of John Beggs, who con-

tinued to run it up to May 9, 1883, when the main distillery build-

ing was burned down; the office, warehouse, cribs, cattle pens and
all outbuildings were saved. Immediate steps were taken for re-

12
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building the distillery department, on the foundation of the burnt

buildings, and the whole concern was rebuilt during the summer
of 1883, in an enlarged and more substantial manner than before.

A change of ownership was also effected by vesting the proprietor-

ship in a company called the Shelb}^ Distilling Company, consisting
of five persons, to-wit: John Beggs, former proprietor; John E.

Beggs, commonly called "Ed" Beggs, son of John Beggs;
Henry W. Beggs, brother of John Beggs; Reuben D. Harshman,
an old distiller, formerh^ of Dayton, Ohio, and Robert M. Frazer,
of Cincinnati, Ohio. The company was organized July 28, 1883,
as follows: John Beggs, President; Reuben D. Harshman, Vice

President; Henry W. Beggs, Secretary and Treasurer, and John E.

Beggs, Superintendent. They commenced running the distillery

again November 2, 1883, and have continued to run it ever since.

At the present time they are engaged in manufacturing cologne

spirits and alcohol. Their capacity is 3,000 bushels of corn per

day, but are not in the habit of running to their full capacity, as

that would require the enormous amount of 1,095,000 bushels of

corn per 3'ear. They can put in the market 15,000 gallons per dav,
on which the revenue ta?c at 90 cents per gallon, would be $13,500

per day, or $4,927,500 per year.
In addition to the main distillery building proper, they have

erected a new distiller}'^
for manufacturing high wines, a rectifying

house where high wines are purified by filtering through charcoal;
a re-distilling house where the fusil oil is extracted, leaving the

li(|Uor perfectly pure; and a new cistern room and malt house.

They also own the large warehouse on the north side of East

Washington Street, immediately east of the C, I., St. L. & C. R. R.

depot, which has been remodeled this year and its facilities for

dumping corn very much improved, as well as its storage room en-

larged; its capacity in that line now being 23,000 bushels, besides

the machinery for elevating and shelling corn rapidly. The storage
for corn at the distillery building is 85,000 bushels; making a total

storage capacity or cribbing room for 108,000 bushels of corn in

the ear, which of course requires much more space than the same
amount of shelled corn would. The government tax paid from

August I, 1886, to August I, 1887, w^as $847,413; besides 480
barrels of alcohol were exported to Europe, on w^hich no tax was

paid; a barrel of alcohol usually averages about eighty-seven gal-
lons proof; and a barrel of cologne spirits forty-seven gallons

proof. The proof is tested by the government officers in charge
of the revenue business, of whom there are four storekeepers and
three gaugers. The number of hands employed by the distillery

company will average forty-five men. Said company last year
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bought and consumed of corn raised in Shelby County alone, the

very large amount of 210,000 bushels, always paying the highest
market price for the same, and ver}' frequently from one to two
cents more on the bushel than the cit}^ dealers in grain were giving.

Conrey^ Wallar d: Dcfrez.— The amount of capital invested in

the furniture business in the United States, and the number of hands
to whom, either directly or indirecth% it furnishes employment, ren-

ders this one of the most important factors of our national and com-
mercial systems. One of the leading houses of Shelbyville, and
one of the most extensive of its class in the State, making a spec-

ialty of manufacturing ever}' description of chamber and dining
room furniture, from the plainest to those of the most highly orna-
mental and elaborate designs, is that now conducted under the st3-le

of the Conrey, Waller and Deprez Furniture Co., the outgrowth
of an enterprise inaugurated in this city upon a comparatively
small scale in 1S74. Tiie business was materially increased, and
the facilities considerably enlarged in 1883, at which time a reor-

ganization was effected, and the present companv was incorporated
under the laws of the State of Indiana, with an authorized capital
stock of $100,000, all paid in. It is one of the most complete
and thoroughly e(|uipped establishments of its class in the

State. In January, 1885, the factory at the west end of town, on
the western extension of Washington Street, commonly called

Washington Avenue, was burned down by fire from the iron smoke

pipe, a high wind prevailing at the time. They immediately went
to work rebuilding, and pushed the work so energetically that it

was rebuilt and again reoccupied July ist, 1885. The new
building is a solid and substantial brick structure 50x230
feet in dimensions, containing three stories and basement, supplied
with all the latest improved designs of wood-working and labor-

saving machinery, for the economical and expeditious prosecution
of the business upon an extensive scale. The office and ware-rooms
of the company, located on East Washington Street, near the pub-
lic sijuare, occup}- a commodious three story brick building 60x200
feet in dimensions, extending through from W^ashington to Jackson
Streets; also another room 40x90 feet, south of Jackson Street; a

portion of which is also used for the finishing department. The
prodvicts of this compan}- consists of new, elegant and original de-

signs of walnut furniture, and re-productions in cheaper materials

of the most elaborate and ornamental stvles, which are sold by them
to dealers, and shipped in car load lots to the principal cities in all

sections of the United States and territories. An average force of

fully 1 20 experienced workmen is regularly employed in the differ-

ent departments, and the sales for the year 1886, amounted in
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round numbers to $200,000, an increase over preceding years,
while present indications point to a gratifying increase for the

present year. The individual members and officers of the com-

pany as at the present organized, are: D. L. Conrey, President;
Z. B. Wallar, Vice President and John C. Deprez, Secretary.
These gentlemen are all old residents and well known citizens of

Shelby County, and possess a detailed and comprehensive knowl-

edge of all branches and departments of the furniture business,
from the time the raw inaterial reaches the workman's hand, un-
til it emerges from the finisher's touch, in all its beauty and ele-

gance of design and ornamentation.

The city hall of Shelbyville, is situated on the north side of West
Washington Street, near the intersection of Tompkins Street, with
said West Washington Street, is a handsome brick edifice, two
stories in height, with dimensions of 30x60 feet. It is surmounted

by a cupola for the fire alarm bell. The first floor contains the en-

gine room for the fire department. The second floor, the ma3'or's
office and council chamber, which are comfortably arranged for the

transaction of municipal business. Its original cost was about

$2,Soo, about $300 has since been spent upon it in the way of im-

provements. In 1874, '^ first-class steam fire engine was purchased,

together with reel and 1,000 feet of hose, at a cost of $6,000, and
it has already more than paid for itself many times over, by value-

able services in extinguishing numerous fires and thereby saA'ing large
amounts of property from destruction. It is called the Major Hen-
dricks, in honor of Major John Hendricks, one of the original donors
of the town site.

The Shelbyville gas works were built in the spring of 1874, ^7
Messrs. Luce & Bro., of Ashtabula, Ohio. The city was first

lighted on the evening of April 26, 1874, v/ith gas. The works
soon passed into the hands of the present company, July i, 1874.
The amount of capital stock is $20,000 and it is held.

Shelbyville Water-zvorks Com-pany was organized September 9,

1885, by the election of John Blessing, President; Henry S. B3'ers,

Secretar}^, and Lynn B. Martindale, of Indianapolis, Treasurer.
These men are still in oflice, by re-election. The capital stock is

$75,000. They have eight miles of water-pipes, or mains, as they
are called, laid in the streets of Shelbyville; sevent3^-five hydrants
established, and so well distributed, as to fight fire successfully in

any part of town; also, 175 private consumers, having water plugs
on their premises for their own use. The capacity' of the water
works systein is in excess of 2,000,000 gallons every twenty-four
hours. The well at the water-works building is twenty-five feet in

diameter and twenty-three feet deep, deriving its supply of water
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from a lower stratum than the bed of Blue River, as the water
comes into the bottom of the well from an underp^round current or

channel, flowing from a southeast direction and rising- like the water
from a spring. The water stands eleven feet deep in the well at its

normal standard, and is considered one of the best water-works
wells in the United States by all the civil engineers who have seen

it. It is e(|uipped with ample machinery for producing a liberal

supply of water to the city, having two large engines for running
the machinery and a stand-pipe 125 feet high.

TJie Press.— It is now more than half a century since the first

newspaper was established in Shelby County. The county had
been organized but ten years, and the people who had coriie to

found homes in the newly acquired territor}' were poor and illy pre-

pared to support such an enterprise. The field to the ambitious

journalist was certainly not inviting; but a few of the leading citi-

zens recognizing the influence of the press in giving tone and char-

acter to society began to search for a journalist of experience who
was willing to try his fortunes in the new field. Such a man was
W. H. Heslip, a Pennsylvanian by birth, a practical printer and an

experienced journalist. Mr. Heslip came in 1832, bringing with

him from Philadelphia the material and equipments for an office.

The first issue of this pioneer venture made its appearance in the

summer of that year, under the title of the SiicJbyville Argus.
After a bitter struggle for probably two years, its publication was

suspended and its projector returned to his native State, rich in ex-

perience, but poor in that which is most essential to the success of

such enterprises
— money. Undaunted by the experience of their

predecessor, Messrs. Kendall & Churchm.an, two active 3'oung men
of but little experience, began issuing, probably in 1838, a five

column folio called the Recorder. After a few months the paper
passed into the hands of Coleman & Maymen, who continued its

publication until 1842, taking an active part in the famous campaign
of 1840. In 1842, according to the best information obtainable, the

material of the office was purchased by John P. Wood, and the

name of the paper changed to the Indiana Sun. The name was
considered unpopular, and in a short time was changed back to

that of Recorder.

In 1844, the Recorder was purchased by Judge David Thacher,
a man of great personal popularity, an able and vigorous writer,

under whose guidance the press of the county was raised to a

higher plain, and its usefulness more generall}^ recognized. After

two years the name of the paper was changed to the JValio)iaI Vol-

iinteer. The paper was a seven column folio, artistic in its make

up, newsy, and contained much editorial matter. It was a vigor-
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ous Democratic journal, and served its party well for nearly forty

years. Judge Thacher continued its publication until 1857, when,
in consequence of declining health, it became necessary that he

should retire from business, and he sold the office to William R.
Norris and John White. They, in a few months, sold to Smith &
Randall, who, in the winter of 1858-9, gave it over to the Demo-
cratic party. The party voluntarily contributed enough to put it

in running order, and placed it under the editorial management of

Thomas A. McFarland.
In September, 1859, ^^'^^ office was purchased by Reuben Spicer,

an experienced journalist and practical printer, and under his man-

agement the paper was much improved and the plant became quite
valuable. In Mav, 187 1, John Hoop bought a half interest, and in

August of the same year purchased the remaining half. The pub-
lication was continued by Mr. Hoop until 1880, when the office ma-
terial was sold to Ray & McCorkle.

The success of the papers in opposition to the Democracy has

been varied. Manv of them were ephemeral and hardly deserve

mention. It is probable that the first of these was the Lancet, a

campaign sheet, published in 1848, with Hon. Martin M. Ra^' as

editor. During the Pierce-Scott campaign, W. II. Colescott and

J. W. Elliott estabhshed a Whig paper, called the Grape Shot.

After the campaign Mr. Colescott retired, leaving the paper in the

hands of Mr. Elliott and a joint stock compan\-, who changed its

name to the Hazuk Eye, and under this appellation it soon died. It

is probable that Mr. Ray, who was one of the most prominent

Whigs of Central Indiana, an able lawyer and forcible writer, did

much of the editorial work on these papers.
In 1850 The Indepeiidejit was published by a man named

Vaughn. The Scissors and £)iiiH was published later by Edward
Paine. "In 1853, Brainbridge & Weakley began the publication of

the Banner, which was continued but one year, when Weakley
sold his interest to Brinbridge, who continued but a short time,

when a stock compan}' purchased it and Col. Colescott was put in

editorial control. In 1855, the Banner was purchased by Solomon

Alter; in 1858 or 1859, ^^ ^^^*^ one-half interest to W. B. Gordon.
This arrangement continued but a short time, when Gordon re-sold

to Alter, who continued its publication until 1861, when, he receiv-

ing an appointment in one of the departments at Washington, the

paper was suspended. In 1862 or 1863, a Mr. Hall, of Rushville,

commenced the publication of a paper, again taking the name of

Banner, which was under the editorial control of D. M. Cantril.

After a short career, Hall disposed of the Baiuicr to James Thomp-
son, who was in a few months succeeded by George W^. Stubbs.
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After the campaign of 1S64, the Banner suspended. In 1866, Mr.

J. M. Cumback came from Germantown, Ohio, and established and

began the pubHcation of the Shelby Union, a seven-column paper.
The name was soon changed to the Shclbv Republican Union, and
the paper enlarged to an eight column. The word Union was soon

dropped, and called as now, the Republican. Mr. Cumback con-

tinued the control for eight years and nine months, and in Decem-
ber, 1874, ^^^^ o^it to Simeon J. Thompson," now of Lebenon,
Indiana. While under his management the Daily Republican was
first issued, January 3, 1879, with Mr. Thompson as editor and J. J.

Wingate, business manager and reporter. In June, 1884, the otiice

was sold to a joint stock company organized under the name of the

Shelby Printino- Co., by which it is still owned. The officers of

the company are : Charles X. Matthews, President; James Caughey,
Secretary and Treasurer; J. J. Wingate, Business Manager. The

Weekly is a six column quarto, the Daily a six column folio. The
latter is an evening paper issued every day except Sunday. Under
its present management Mr. C. X. Matthews has had exclusive

editorial control and it is largely due to his ability that the Repub-
lican has taken high rank among the more ably edited and pro-

gressive newspapers of the State. He has had much experience
in newspaper work, having owned and edited a paper in Wythe-
ville, Viro'inia before cominjj to this State. He has been editori-

ally connected with each of the local papers of Shelbvville, and was
for more than one year the Indianapolis correspondent for the

Cincinnati Enquirer, and for a time traveling correspondent for the

same paper. As a writer he has but few e(|uals, and is by nature

a journalist. In thought he is independent, in combat bold and

aggressive, never at his best except when attacking, and then woe
to the victim on whom his unsparing lash may fall. The repor-
torial work of this paper is done by Mr. James Caughey, who is by
education and experience well fitted for this department of news-

paper work.
In 1872, the Shelby Independent was established by Reubea

Spicer and continued till 1875. The first daily published in the

county was the Republican, which was begun September, 1875? ^^id

continued for a short time. A paper named the Shelby Democrat
was published as a campaign paper in 1872, by Robertson & Wolf
and edited by H. C. Conner. The Shelby Democrat \s not the legit-

imate successor of any other paper, but was rather an independent
venture of Messrs. Sutton & Ray, by whom it was established June
13, 1878. In November of that year Mr. Sutton sold his interest

to Albert McCorkle, then Sheriff, and it was published under the

firm name of Ray & McCorkle until the death of the latter, which
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occurred October 10, 1S80. Since that time W. S. Rav has been
sole proprietor and editor. In Ma}', 1880, the Daily Denwcrat ^^'as

established, its first issue appearing on the 4th of said month. It

was started as a five column folio, but has since been enlarged to a

seven column folio. Mr. Ray has not only given his personal at-

tention to the general business management but the editorial page
has from the inception of the paper bee;n supplied almost entirel}'
from his pen. From the beginning it became not onlv a valuable

local organ, but one of the most aggressive, outspoken political

papers of the State: indeed, one of the most ably conducted, and

consequently one of the most popular of its class. As a political

journaHst ]\Ir. Ray has always been fearless in the expression of

opinion, a bold, yet somewhat independent writer almost command-

ing public opinion by the force of his editorial comments on party
issues and party leaders. His assaults upon the present Civil

Service law as enforced by President Cleveland have been so gen-
erally approved by his conferees and his comments so unusualh'

copied by the press of the country, including many of the great

metropolitan journals, that he has become the most widely known
of all the Indiana editors and his paper one of widespread popular-
ity. Charles Sprague has been connected with the Daily Democrat
in the capacity of city editor since April, 1881. As a nevrs gath-
erer he is energetic, watchful and ever on the alert. He writes

with a facile pen, and possesses that rare faculty of arranging his

matter in an attractive and readable maner.

George S. Jones, in 1880, removed the material of the Fair-
land Bulletin to Shelbyville, and in the spring of said year began
the publication of a paper called the Volunteer. In a few months
the ofiice was bought by Frank Drake and Willard Barnes, who
transferred its editorial management to Charles X. Matthews now
of the Reftihlican. He at once, through the columns of the Volun-

teer began a vigorous warfare upon the Democratic office holders

and many of the local party leaders, charging them with extrava-

gance in the management of the public fund, etc. After one of the

most hotly contested and bitter campaigns in the political histor^^
of the county, the Democratic ticket, with probably one or two ex-

ceptions was defeated. In the following year Drake purchased the

interest of Barnes, and he in time sold to Hoop & Treadway, who
sold to the Democratic Publishing Co., in 1885. The naine was at

this time changed to the Shelby Times and on the first day of May,
1886, the initial number of the Daily Morriing Times was issued.

In Juh' of the same year the office was purchased by James Magill,
who is now associated with his brother Joseph Magill as publisher.

Joseph Magill at once assumed the editorial management, and under
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his guidance the paper has had a rapid and healthy growth. In

the newspaper work Mr. Magill has probably had a more varied

experience than any one else who has been connected with the press
of the county, commencing at the compositor's case he has occupied
every position up to that of managing editor. He w^as for many
years connected with the daily press of Evansville, having been

city editor of each of the three dailies published at that place.

Among other papers w^ith which he has been connected ma}^ be

mentioned the Cleveland Herald^ Chicago JVexvs, Chicago Mail^

and many others of more or less pretentions. As a w^riter he is

rapid, versatile, trenchant and possesses that faculty so essential in

modern journalism, viz. : the power to condense into a short para-

graph what others would re(]uire a column to express. The Times

is brio-ht and newsv, and besides its editorial and local matter con-

tains each morning, six columns of telegraphic news, which is fur-

nished to considerable extent in plates. The service is a valuable

one and the readers of the Times show their appreciation by the

way they support and sustain the paper. Harry Griffey, a Shelby-
vilfe bo}', is at present doing local work on the paper.

Alorristozvn.— Original town plat of Morristown was laid out by
Rezin Davis and Samuel Morrison, May 3, 1828. Surveyed and

platted by Meredith Gosney. It consisted of 48 lots 60x132 feet

each. Streets sixty feet in width, and alleys twenty feet w^ide, are

unusually broad width for alleys, which are generally one rod

(sixteenand one-half feet) in width. Main Street w^as laid out on the

Brookville State road, bearing north seventy-nine degrees w^est at

that date. In the original town plat of Morristown, the broad

twenty foot alleys were named as well as the streets, which is some-

thing "very peculiar; for instance, the streets were named Main,

North, South, Poplar and Jackson ;
and the alleys. East Alley, at

the east part of town: Pike Alley, between Main and North Streets;

and Maiden Alley, between Main and South Streets; North and

South Streets were laid out running parallel to Main Street, which

included the Brookville State road.

Rezin Davis' Addition.— Addition was made by Rezin Davis,

July 3, 1840. It comprised twenty-four lots immediately east of and

adjoining the original tow^n plat, surveyed and platted by Joseph B.

Nickel. Nancy and Owen Davis' Addition.— Addition was platted

by Eden PI. Davis and Owen Davis, with assistance of John Dargin,

surveyor. It was acknowledged by Nanc}' Davis November 20,

1849,' and by Owen Davis, August i, 1851. It consisted of forty-

five lots laid off east of the Knightstown & Shebyville Railroad

track. Wolf and Kinsley's Addition.— Made Dr. J. G. Wolf and

Calvin C. Kinsley, June 26, 1867. It contained fort3'-five lots lying
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south of what was then called the Junction Railroad, now the C, H,
& D. R. R. It also lay north of Xanc\' and Owen Davis's Addi-

tion, and between a county road on the east and the Knightstown
and Shelbvville Railroad track on the west. The John B. John-
son's Additions.— First Addition, made by John B.Johnson Decem-
ber 23, 1867. Twenty-one lots east of K. & S. R. R. track, and
south of Nancy and Owen Davis's Addition. Second Addition.—
Made bv John B.Johnson, March 31, 1882. Fourteen lots east of

AVashington Street and south of Johnson's First Addition. Third
Addition.— Made by John B. Johnson, July 9, 1884. Twenty-eight
lots east of Washington Street and south of Johnson's Second Addi-

tion. Martha J. McGaughey's Addition. Made November 8,

1886. Seventeen lots Iving south of the original town and between
South and Johnson Streets. John B. Johnson's Second and Third
Additions were incorporated and recorded by the town trustees of

Morristown, June 18, 18S5.
One of the first merchants was R. A. Toal who opened a stock

of goods in a log house that stood on the hill near the present site of

Dr. Salisbury's residence. Soon a frame addition was built and
the stock largely increased. This was for many 3'ears the princi-

pal business house of the town, and was occupied by many of the

earlv merchants. Seth M. Cole and son, W. B. Cole, deserve to

be named among the earlv business men. Joseph Stafford, Isaac

Miles, Alex Hargrove and James Osborne complete the list of

those who may be classed among the pioneer merchants. There
was very little business done at this point until the Edinburg and

Knightstown R. R. was constructed, in 1848; but no real impetus
was given to the growth of the town until the completion of the

C, H. & I. R. R., in 1866. Since that time it has grown rapidly
and is at present the second in size and commercial importance of

the towns of the county. Almost ever}^ branch of trade is repre-

sented, and the stores and business houses are large and commo-
dious and would do credit to a place of much more pretentions. As
a shipping point it is third in importance on the entire line of the

C, H. & I R. R. Morristown at present numbers about 700 souls.

The Morristown Lodge No. 193, F. & A. M., charter was dated

Ma}' 27, 1856, and the first officers were: Abram Reeves, W. M.
;

Wareham W. Woodvard, S. W., and Augustus C. Handy, J. W.
Present officers: Wesley Talbert, W. M.; Marion Moore, S. W.;
Dayton Gates, J. W.; F. F. Whetzel, S. D.; Doctor Carter, J. D.;
W. W. Woodyard, Secretary; M. Meyers, Treasurer, and JM. A.

Sleeth, T.
"

Navarre Lodge No. 157, K. of P., was instituted in 1886, with

twenty-six charter members. The first officers were: T. C.
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Wrenick, P. C; M. C. Burt, C. C, S. W. Deibert, V. C; A. F.

Kinsley, P.; U. Stackhouse, M. E.; George O. Handy, M. F.;
Isaac Kaufman, K. of R. & S.; Quincy Johnson, I. G.; T. K.
Graham, O. G., and T. C. Wrenick, Representative. The mem-
bership is about sixty. The present officers are: S. W. Dei-

bert, P. C.
;

A. F. Kinsley, C. C.
;
U. Stackhouse, V. C, and

Vernon Johnson, Prelate.

Valley Lodge No. 627, I. O. O. F.^ was instituted February
24, 1887, by the members of the Shelbyville, Rushville and Green-
field Lodges. The number instituting, thirty-seven. The first

officers were: O. F. Fitch, P. G.; S. W. Deibert, N. G.; G. B.

Jorden, V. G.; J. M. Tyner, R. S.; H. W. Buck, P. S.; John
Sleeth, Conductor, and E. T. J. Jorden, D. D. G. M. The present
membership is forty-seven.

Lodge No. 281, Daughters of Rebekah, was instituted August
1887, with fourteen charter members, but has in this very brief

period grown to a membership of thirty-two. The officers are
Miss Hattie Fox, P. G.

;
Mrs. Frances' Deibert, N. G.

;
Mrs. J

Johnson, V. G.; Miss Fannie Buck, R. S.; Mrs. Hannah Justus, P. S.

Mrs. Anna E. Williams, Treasurer; Mrs. A. Fox Conductor
Miss Mar}- Sleeth, Warden.

GcIIcttsburgh.
— In earh' days there \^•as a town laid out one-

half mile west of Morristown, next to Big Blue River, on both
sides of the Brookville State road. It was called Gellettsburp-h,
and Its proprietor, who had it surveyed and platted, rejoiced in the
almost unpronounceable jaw-breaking cognomen of Augustus
Eitelgeorge. He not only laid out an original town plat, but he
afterward made an addition thereto. We are informed by some
of the old residents of Morristown and vicinity, that in the early
settlement of that region, Gellettsburgh was a formidable rival to

Morristown; there were stores, blacksmith shops, wagon shops,
taverns, and all the paraphenalia of a flourishing pioneer town on
a well travelled thoroughfare. But the fates were against the pre-
tentious Gellettsburgh, it went into inevitable decay, and naught
remains now to mark its whilom whereabouts, except two farm
houses. But its old-time rival Morristown, hung on to life tenaci-

ously, and since the construction of the C, H. & D. Railroad,

running through it, has prospered and grown to be a live, energetic
town of not less than 700 inhabitants, and is the second best town
in the county. Another illustration of nature's law, which decrees
" the survival of the fittest."

jFairlaiid.— Original town plat of Fairland was laid out by
Heniy Jenkins and Isaac Odell, October 21, 1S52. Daniel Brad-

ley's Addition, made by Daniel Bradley, March 26, 1857. Isaac
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Odell's Addition, made October 31, 1865. Granville S. Harrell's

Addition, made November 8, 1S66. Richardson & McQuiston's Ad-
dition, made bv David Richardson and John C. McQuiston, Jul}'

9, 1872.
Fairland is six miles by railroad northwest of Shelb^^ville, it is

the capital and principal business point of Brand^^wme Township.
It was founded about the time of the construction of the I., C & L.

R. R. When that railroad was located and its building: became

assured, the said Isaac Odell, who was then selling goods in Shel-

byville, established a general supply store at that point, selling

large quantities of goods to the hands engaged in the construction

of the railroad as well as the neighboring farmers. Isaac Odell,
after selling goods for several years, engaged in banking and estab-

lished the Fairland Bank, a private bank, loaning and discounting
money, shaving notes, etc. The people elected him Justice of the

Peace, this turned his attention to the study of law; having abund-

ance of means, he procured a good law librar}' and engaged in the

practice of law, soon becoming the best Justice of the Peace lawyer
in this part of the State. He was a formidable opponent in a law

suit, managing his cases with such consummate skill as to be dreaded

by the cit}^ attorneys, who frequently encountered him before Justices
of the Peace. His ability before a justice of the peace was so great
that the celebrated jurist and politician, Hon. James Hester, of the
" State of Brown," pronounced him the " Prince of Pettifoggers,"
the Judge himself having been worsted in a forensic fight with Odell.

He took an interest in politics and represented Shelby County
one term in the legislature from 1869 to 1871. He practiced law
to the day of his death, literally dying in the act of making a

speech, with a law book in his hand, in Squire Mitchell Han's court

near Fairland. Other leading merchants and business men in

the early days of Fairland were Joseph D. and James Lace}',
who sold goods and dealt in grain. Joseph D. Lacy is now
a resident of Shelbyville and engaged in the United States

service at the Shelbyville distillery; his brother James, still

' lives at Fairland and follows the trade of carpenter, contractor

and builder. Captain Wiliam Judkins, who was in 1866, pro-

prietor of the Fairland Mills, dealer in grain, flour, seeds, etc. He
now resides in Indianapolis, where he has served as Justice of the

Peace for some years. Whalen Gibson, father of C. A. Gibson,
sold goods in Fairland for several years prior to his death. Will-

iam B. Elder, who kept a general dry goods and grocery store, and
who probably sold more goods and made more money in the same

length of time, than any other business man ever did in the town.

He died suddenly, many years ago, in Lawrenceburg, while on a
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visit to his relatives, seeking relaxation for the benefit of his health,
but too late. Dr. S. J. Lewis, physician and surgeon, dealer in

drugs and medicines: he enjoyed a very extensive practice, and

though not a highlv educated medical man, seemed to be a born

doctor, as his remarkable success in the "
healing art

''

abundantly
evidenced. He died quite a number of vears since, leaving- a

reputation second to none in the county as a doctor.

Sugar Creek Lodge No. 279, F. & A. M., was located at

Boggstown, under charter dated Mav 27, 1862, with. James W.
Smelser, W. M., EH Johnson, S. W.," and Moses G. TuU, J. W.
This lodge was subsequently transferred to Fairland and now num-
bers forty-eight members.

Bog'gslozi'ii.-
— Laid out by John McConnell and Armstrono-

Gibson in the spring of 1867. Acknowledged by Robert McCon-
nell, administrator of John McConnell's estate, March 4th, 1869, and

by C. A. (Armstrong) Gibson, February 17th, 1S69. Twenty-
four lots at the intersection of the Fairland, Franklin & Martins-
ville R. R. with the Bluff Road. Range line No. 5 east, runs

through the tov.'n north and south, and is marked variation 4° 17'

east, by William R. Norris who surveyed and platted the town.
This town is at the geographical centre of Sugar Creek Township,
and is the precinct for voting, and the general point for all public
business in the township. It was named in honor of Joseph Bo^^gs,
one of the pioneer settlers who lived one-quarter mile north of the

present town site. It is eight miles northwest from Shelbyville.

The original Boggstown of pioneer days consisted of a general
country store, post office, blacksmith and wagon-maker's shops, and
an extensive tobacco manufactor}- about one-quarter mile north of

the present town. The tobacco factory was established by the said

Joseph Boggs, and manufactured all the tobacco raised in the neigh-
borhood into plug tobacco

;
tobacco at that time being a staple crop

in that vicinity. The tobacco was peddled out by several large

wagons which perambulated Middle Indiana, Eastern Illinois, and
Western Ohio; it had a great reputation. The Boggstown brand
was considered a guarantee of good qualities, and it met with ready
sale. The earliest merchants were ; Joseph Boggs, William H. Man-

warring, Hugh McFadden, an old Pennsylvanian, father of the three

McFadden brothers, to wit: James B. McFadden, attornev, and
William G. McFadden, M. 'D., of Shelbyville, and " Uncle "

Hugh McFadden, a prominent farmer of Sugar Creek Township.
They were succeeded by Simon D. Rohrer, John McConnell, Dr.

James W. Smelser and others, of whom I remember the two Pher-

sons, James and George, a Mr. Hamilton of Franklin, also the tirm

of Thomas Keightly and James N. Judd, Dr. Stephen J. Lewis ,
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William H. Mannwarring is remembered as the highly educated

and polished school teacher, who had the reputation of having
studied grammar and being able to teach arithmetic beyond the

double rule of three, which at that time was considered the ne-phis
2iltra of preceptorial accomplishments. He was "

high larnt for

thein davs." But he soon gave up wielding the beech, not the

birch, nor the ferule, for the " beech gad
" was the teacher's favor-

ite weapon for the enforcement of discipline in his school, and was

promoted to clerkship in the Boggstown store, where he made
himself so useful and such a successful salesman, that he became a

partner, and sold goods for many years, until the building of the

Madison & Indianapohs R. R., made him desirous of a more eligi-

ble location, when he sold his interest in the Boggstown store and

migrated to Franklin, the county seat of Johnson County, ten

miles southwest of Boggstown, whither many of his patrons fol-

lowed him to buy goods, when thev desired a big supph' of family

stores, and wanted to see the railroad. He sold goods for many
years in Frankhn, dyinfj at an advanced ao-e, an old man in busi-

ness, and a highly respected citizen. Hugh McFadden, after sell-

ing goods for many years at Boggstown, purchased a large farm

about three miles north of Boggstown, to which he removed, and

devoted the last years of his life to agriculture, and the improve-
ment of his farm, which is now owned by two of his sons, viz. : Dr.

William G. McFadden, of Shelbyville, and " Uncle "
Hugh McFad-

den, as he is generally called, because of his many genial qualities,
who resides on the old homestead. An influential citizen of North

Sugar Creek, John McConnell, was a farmer, and served one term
as county commissioner, he died in 1868, I think. Thomas

Keightlev, after several years in the goods business at Boggstown,
went back to Franklin, Johnson County, Ind., whence he came;
thence to Indianapolis, where he lived, and was elected joint repre-
sentative for Marion and Shelby counties. Stephen J. Lewis went
to Fairland, where after a successful career as physician and drug-

gist, he died full of years and honors. James N. Judd is

still living' and resides at Fairland, engaged in tobacco culture.

Simon D. Rhorer, in early days a successful business man in Boggs-
town, retired to his farm in the south part of the township, where
he resided many years. After the death of his first wife beseemed
to lose that shrewdness in financial matters which had distinguished
him when younger, and in a few vears lost all his property, dying
a very poor man. The Mr. Hamilton, of Franklin, was a decidedly
dressy man for a country merchant; he sold out and returned to

Franklin, where he engaged in business successfully: is still living,
I think. The two Phersons— one, James, the elder, died at Boggs-
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town; the other, George, left there; I have lost all trace of him.
Dr. James W. Smelser was at one time the most prominent citizen

of the township; he had become quite wealthy for that section, by
marrying well, and shrewd business dealing in selling goods and

buying real estate, and the large income that accrued to him in the

practice of his profession; he also took an active interest in politics,
and was a good average stump speaker; he became dissatisfied

during the war, sold out in 1S63, purchased property in Indianapo-
lis, removed there, and after the war was over went south, where
he died a few years later.

No place in the county, outside of the county seat, was better

known in early days than Boggstown. It was situate on the Bluff

road, eight miles northwest of Shelbyville, on the direct route to

Indianapolis, and on a much better road in the wet season than the

Michigan road. This drew a large amount of travel that way. I

am also informed that the old pioneer firm of Joseph Boggs, Hugh
McFadden, and William H. Manwarring, heretofore mentioned, not

only sold immense (luantities of fjoods and ocroceries to the neio-h-

boring farmers, but sent their tobacco wagons as far north as Chi-

cago and Milwaukee, on Lake Michigan, which were then onh-

flourishing small towns.
...

II 'aldrou.— The original town plat of Stroupville, now Waldron,
was laid out by George Stroup, March 27, 1854. It consisted of

twenty-four lots, and was surveyed and platted by John Dargin,
who was then the county surveyor. The Alfred H. Raymond Ad-
ditions: First addition, made as guardian, September 16, 1S55.
" Laid out north of Stroupville." Second addition, made March 4,

1856, by said Raymond as guardian. Third addition, made May
10, 1864. Surveyed by J. rvl. Elliott, November 25, 1864, varia-

tion north and south four and a half degrees east. Fourth addition,
made April 9, 1870. Milton Cofiin's Addition, made December 11,

1863. Surve3-ed by J. M. ElHott, November 18, 1863.

Waldron, when first laid out, was called Stroupville or Stroup-
town, after George Stroup, who owned the land on which the

original town plat was staked off. It was in subsequent years

changed to Waldron by petition of the citizens to the State Legis-
lature. It is located on the line of the C, I., St. L. & C. R. R., in

Liberty Township, about eight miles south of Shelbyville, and sur-

rounded by a country of unusual fertility. Its history dates from
the completion of the railroad and the establishment of a station.

To George Wooden belongs the credit of being the first merchant.

Re brought here a small stock of goods and began selling in the

frame house now occupied by J. & K. Ra3'mond. The stock con-

sisted of boots and shoes, hats and caps, dr}^ goods, groceries,
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notions and hardware. J. J. Curtis followed in the same hne and

kept at the present site of Chapman & Laremore's store. Then
came Robinson & Stroup, Raymond & Cm-tis, Thompson, Trees &
Co., Hahn & McCain and Bryant & Row, which constitute the

list of early merchants.

The first of the manufa'cturing enterprises was a saw-mill which,

was operated very extensively b}- Messrs. Graw & Newton. John
Farren became their successor, and in response to an almost uni-

versal demand for a grist mill Mr. Farren built such an attachment

to his saw-mill and the two mills were operated more or less suc-

cessfully until some time in the sixties, when they were removed

from the place. Richey & Pearson began the manufacture of car-

riages in the fall of 1854, which developed unto a prosperous busi-

ness, but was discontinued after a few years. The post othce was

known and ofliciallv recognized as Conn's until about ten 3-ears

ago when it was changed to Waldron. The tirst post master was
T. K. Short, who served for more than ten years. Prominent

among those who have been engaged in the practice of medicine

at this place are: Drs. J. C. Richey, R. R. Washburn, C. B.

Kennedy, D. C. Skull, J. S. Parsons and J. R. Jenkins. Waldron
has grown very rapidly in the past few years and now has a popu-
lation of about 450 people. There are seven stores, a saw and

planing mill, lumber yard, two blacksmith shops, three saloons, a

wagon shop, two restaurants, two barber shops, an undertaker

shop, a hotel and a feed and sale stable.

Waldron Lodge, I. O. O. F., A^o. igj, was chartered May 20,

1858, with the following members: W. V. French, Greenville

Wilson, WilHam Newton, Milton Corvin, Aaron Lewis, A. G.

Thompson, George Canull, J. P. Knott, J. Deem and E. O. Wal-

lace. Prior to that time the lodge had been working under dispen-

sation for about six months with George Canull, Secretary, and W.
V. French, N. G. Its present officers are: Joseph McCain, N. G.;

J. I. Wharton, V. G.; E. L. Armstrong, Secretary; S. P. Stroup,

Treasurer, and H. M. Cotterman, Per. Secretary. The lodge is

flourishing, and it has at this time more than $1,600 in the treasury
and thirty-eight members. Charity Lodge No. 52, Daughters of

Rebekah is also in a prosperous condition with forty-six members.

The Waldron Encampment No. 154, had for its first officers . L. T.

Raymond, H. P.; S. P. Stroup, C. P.; H. M. Cotterman, S. W.,
and L. S. Young, J. W. It was organized May 19, 1880, and at

this date has a membership of seventeen. Its officers are: K. H.

Wood, C. P.; C. E. Cotterman, H. P.; Milton Corvin, S. W.;

J. C. McCain, J. W.; H. M. Cotterman, Scribe, and S. P.

Stroup, Treasurer.
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The Masonic Lodge at Waldron was chartered May 25, 1858,
with John C. Richey, W. M.

; John Lewis, S. W., and David W.
Fossett, J. W. This lodge has now a membership of fom-teen.

The room in which it meets is owned by the lodge, and it is out of

debt. The otBcers at this time are : Ira A. Chapman, W. M.
;

Israel Buell, S. W., and George W. Stroup, J. W. A lodge of

the Eastern Star was at one time instituted, but never flourished.

jMiddlctozvn.— Laid out by William Raymond and Daniel

French. Acknowledged by Raymond June 19th, 1829, and by
French September 30th, 1838, consisting of twenty-nine lots laid

off. Main Street laid out on the Michigan Road from the land

east seventy-four and a half feet, from the bend northwest seventy-
one feet eleven inches. The other streets thirty-three feet wide;

alleys ten. Joseph Cummins' Addition was laid out March 30th,

1838, by "Joseph Cummins as Commissioner of the Probate Court

of said county, for the heirs of Thomas J. Euband, deceased."

Surveyed by John Rendricks, January 31st, 1838, consisting of ten

lots laid off north of the original town plat. Michigan road runs

north 28° west, 100 feet wide, next to Conn's Creek on the west.

The Moscow road in this plat is made a street forty feet wide.

This is one of the oldest towns in the eastern part of the county,
and prior to the construction of the C.,I., St. L. &. C. R. R. was a

business point of considerable importance. The road was at first sur-

veyed and graded through the town. The citizens, to meet the de-

mands of a supposed increased business, built large and commodious

houses, which, when the route was changed, depreciated at least

seventy-five per cent, in value. The town has never recovered

from the blow, and at present has but a dr}' goods, grocery, drug
and milinery stores and blackshith shop. The Moses, Raymondses,
Frenches and Eubands were some of the early residents of the

town and vicinity. The first stores of any consequence were kept

by Joseph Cummins and David Lovett. Samuel Baxter was an

early blacksmith. Re also kept tavern. G. W. Bliss was a cabi-

netmaker. J. J. Bliss sold goods a few years later. About ten

years ago a distillery was built near the town by Miller & Powell,

but later the firm name was Powell & Feaster. The capacity is now
about one barrel per day. Business has been suspended for the

past two years.
Toil' II of Marion.

— This town is the oldest in the county, it was

laid out by John Sleeth and James Wilson, December 27th, 1820.

It was surveyed by R. P. Wilson, a surveyor from Franklin County.
Said plat shows that it was originally recorded January 15th, 1821,

at Brockville, the county seat of Franklin County, which then in-

cluded Shelby County within its territory. In 1876, a copy of the

13



446 SHELBY COUNTY.

recorded plat of said town, was procured from the said record o f

Franklin County, and the same was copied and recorded in our

records. The town original^ consisted of 5^ lots, each marked

30-100 A., and a public square containing 120-100 acres. Said

town plat was acknowledged by but one of the proprietors, viz. :

James Wilson, January 15th, 182 1, before Robert John, J. P., of

Franklin Count}^ And the acknowledgment of said James Wil-

son states, that each lot is 4 chains in width, by 8 chains in length,
which would make them equal to 4x8— 32 square chains— 3.2 Acres—

3 1-5 Acres. It also states that the streets are 2 chains in width,
which would be equal to 8 rods or 132 feet in width. Rather

large lots and wide streets. There is obviously a " Comedy of

Errors "
right here in this acknowledgment, for we presume that

rods were meant instead of chains, and that the lots are 4x8— 32

S(|uare rods— .2 Acre— 2-10— 1-5 Acre in area in each; and
that the streets are 2 rods in width perhaps. The variation of the

needle is marked at 7*^ 20' which was probably taken from the

Government Surveyor's field notes, at that time. wSleeth's full name
is not given on the plat, but I have ascertained that it was John
Sleeth, from the venerable Isaac H. Wilson, now living in Shelby-
ville, at the advanced age of eighty years, who was one of the or-

iginal inhabitants of Marion, his father being the said James Wilson

who signed the acknowledgment of the town plat before the

aforesaid Squire, Robert John. The measuement of the west half

of the southwest quarter of Section 9, in Township 13 north, Range
7 east, on which the town is located is on the plat, as the east and

west lines of the half quarter section, each 40 chains— 160 rods.

While the north and south lines are each marked 20, 50 chains.

Furthermore, each lot on the plat is marked 30- 100, which is ob-

viously wrong for 30-100 A.— 30 A.— 160x30— 48 square rods—
3-10— 3 acres, whereas 4 rods by 8 rods— 32 square rods. Hence,
it appears that the lots are each marked wrong with 30-100, when
it should be 20-100. In conclusion, we have this to say: We do
not know who is responsible for so many errors and absurdities

both in the plat and in the acknowledgment, but it is fair to assume
that all such egregious mistakes have been cured b\' the lapse of

time, it being now about sixty-seven years since the little town was
located and laid out.

The inhabitants of Marion, in 1822, made a persistent effort to

secure the location of the county seat on the site of their town, by
urging upon the commissioners of location, the beautiful, high, and

dry characteristics of the soil within and contiguous to the town

site; but failed to secure it by reason of the more central situation

of the site proffered by the county seat at the mouth of Little Blue
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River, which was finally selected by the commissioners, and which
became the present city of Shelbyville. A large portion of the

lots, in the south part of Marion, was some years afterward va-

cated, and reverted back to the original proprietors or their heirs.

Braiidvzvine Tuzcn commonly called Pin-Hook.— This lit-

tle town was laid out by Lewis Morgan, June 14, 1832, sur-

veyed by Leroy Gregory, deputy county surveyor, April 9, 1832;

acknowledged b}' said Lewis Morgan, August 6, 1832. Washing-
ton Street was located on the Michigan road, ninety-six feet wide.

Clay and Jackson Streets, each thirty-three feet wide. Alleys only
six feet wide. Lots live rods by eight rods— forty square rods—
one-fourth acre in each. Four lots were laid off in a block, and
the blocks from one to ten. There were forty lots laid off in low
second bottom land. Said town is situate about one-fourth mile

beyond the point where the Michigan road crosses Brandywine

Creek, and is about five miles northwest of Shelbyville, and about
one mile northeast of Fairland, on the C, I., St. L. & C. R. R.
The nickname or sobriquet so often applied to Brand3'wine Town,
of " Pin-Hook,"' originated in this wa}'. The earl}' inhabitants

were not only very poor
— too poor to buy steel fish hooks, which

in those da3^s were worth at least ten times as much as they are

now, so they took the common brass pins which were much

cheaper, and bent them into hooks, with which they fished. They
were also inveterate fishers, and it was no uncommon sight to see

both banks of Brandywine Creek lined ^\ith men, women, boys,

girls, and children generallv, all busily engaged in fishing with pin-
hooks. Brandywine Creek at that time swarmed with fish, and
an expert angler could soon " ketch "

a mess of fish with no
better implement than a pin-hook, for he did it with skill and

sleight-of-hand dexterity, the result of incessant and persevering

practice. Goods were sold here at different times in the history of

the place, but in a business point of view it is of little importance..
Alount Aiihirn.— This town was originally laid out by John

Warner, Christopher M. Allen, Daniel A. Allen and William P.

Records, Januar}' 18, 1837. It consisted of thirty-two lots each

703/^x141 feet. Main and Walnut Streets each seventy feet wide,,

other streets fifty. Alleys twelve. It was laid out at the corner

common to four sections, viz.: Sections 17, 18, 19, 20 in Township
II north, Range 6 east, variation 5'^. Two additions were made to

Black Hawk, by William P. Records, Daniel A. Allen and Chris-

topher M. Allen, May 15, 1839, consisting of sixteen lots on the

north of the original town plat, and eight lots on the south. Klein's

Addition to Mount Auburn was made by Jacob Klein and Phebe

Klein, February 14, 1884. See plat book No. 2, page 28, consist-
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ing of six lots in southwest (juarter, of the southwest one quarter,
Section 17, Township 11, Range 6; all lying east of Mulberry Street

and north of the new school-house lot, each 40^ feet front by 237

deep.
Mount Auburn is situate at the geographical centre of Jackson

Township, the southwest corner Township of the county, twelve
miles southwest of Shelb3'ville, and five miles northeast of Edinburg,
Johnson County, Indiana, on the I., M. and I. R. R. The original
name of Mount Auburn was Black Hawk, so named after the cele-

brated Indian chief Black Hawk. The first goods brought to Mt.
Auburn were bv a man bv the name of Huffman. His stock con-

sisted of general merchandize, and was kept in a small frame
house that stood on the same lot now occupied b}' Mr. Conner's
business house. Mr. A. Barnett came soon after and opened a store

across the street from Huffman's. Then came S3'lvester Delano
and Caleb Sanders. Other earlv merchants were : John S. Camp-
bell, A. B. Alsip, Obediah Sims, Joshua Lucas, Austin Ship and
Edward Ferrell. In 1839, Joseph Hageman located his saw mill

near the town. He sold in a short time to Delano & Sanders, who
operated it more extensively, and in 1841, attached a grist mill, or

more properly a corn cracker. Among the early enterprises of the

town may be mentioned a tanner}^, which was owned and operated by
a man named M. Reisman. The site of this tannery was a few 3'ards
west of the residence of Mr. John M. Pa\'ne. The hides of the

wild and domestic animals, were dressed and thus the local demand
for leather was met. The business at present consists of two stores,

a wagon and blacksmith shop. The town numbers about 175 in-

habitants.

CyntJiiana was laid out by Andrew Sn^'der and Isaac Springer,

August 18, 1835. Surve3'ed and platted bvj. B. Nickel same date.

It contained
fift3' lots arranged as follows: Twenty-five on the

north side of Main Street laid off for Andrew Sn3'der and twent3'-
five on the south side for Isaac Springer. Main Street

fift3'
feet

wide, occup3'ing the county road running east and west; Walnut
Street fifty feet wide, and North and South Streets each thirt3'-

three feet. All alleys ten feet wide. The lots
fift3^

feet front on

Main Street 100 feet back. This village is situate near the north-

east corner of Liberty Township, and Main Street extends east to

the count3^ line between Shelby and Rush Counties. It is eight
miles east of Shelbvwille, and about one-fourth mile east of the

crossing of Conn's Creek, on the county road running west to Shel-

b3^ville. C3'nthiana itself is "set on a hill," and is remarkable for

the high hills north, south, and west of it; whilst to the east is

a broad level plain extending far into Rush Count3'. The post
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office at this place is called Blue Ridge. The land upon which the

greater part of the town has been built was owned by Andrew
Snyder. It was named by James Marshall in honor of his native

town Cynthiana, K3'. John Youngman, was the lirst merchant and

probably sold goods there as early as 1833. S. Robinson was the

second. Then came John De Vaul, M. Crail, and A. Jerrell.
D. Fox built a saw mill late in the thirties. The present business

of the town is conducted by W. C. Yeager, I. W. Inlow, Jacob
Querry, I. W. Marshall, J. N. Marshall, Aaron Austin, and James
Stead.

Blue Ridgx Lodge, I. O. O. 7^, VYc. 55^, w^as established at

Cynthiana November 22, 1877. The charter members were: M. L.

Waggoner, N. G.; Arrass Jones, V. G.; E. T. Jones, Secretary';
S. H. Yager, Treasurer; Asa Forsythe, Smith Solomon, Stanfield

Marshall and David Solomon. The present membership is twenty-

two, and the treasury has about $900 on hand, showing vigorous

growth. In the hall of the lodge hangs an old clock that has been

marking the course of time for more than fifty years, and is still

counting the hours with a melancholy tick that echoes through the

lonely room. The present officers are : Pliny Hungerford, N. G.
;

J. C."' Marshall, V. G.; E. W. McDaniel, Secretary, and S. H.

Yager, Treasurer. A grange flourished here at one time and had

upwards of sixty members. A store was kept by the society a

short distance west of Cynthiana, but it was discontinued four or

live years ago.
Dobhstozvn was laid out bv William A. Doble, October 3d, 1837.

Surveyed by Joseph B. Nickel, County Surveyor, September 30th,

1836. See Deed Record G,' page 597. This town as laid off cov-

ered a good deal of territory, something over twent}' acres. There
were sixty-eight lots laid off. Main Street was located on the Mich-

igan Road, 100 feet in width. One-half the lots, thirty-four in

number, next to Main Street, were each 4x10— forty scjuare rods—
one-quarter acre, and the other half, thirty-four in number, were

each 4x8— thirty-two S(|uare rods— one-fifth acre. The following
was inserted just below the plat at the bottom of the page:

" N. B.—The proprietor of this tow^n shall not be compelled to

open the streets and alleys in Doblestown, any further nor any
sooner than the adjoining lots are occupied."

This proved to be a wise provision, showing forethought in the

projector, for the town did not improve much. A tavern kept by
Mr. Doble, and a woolen factory some distance below the town, on

the western bank of Big Sugar Creek, constituted about all the

town that ever materialized. The town site is now occupied by a

good farm.
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Pleasant Viezu was laid out by Alexander Means, July 6, 1836.

Surveyed the same day by John H. Messinger for said Means.
Recorded July 20th, 1836, thirty-one lots, all regular full-sized

lots 4x10 rods— forty S(]uare rods— one-quarter acre, Michigan
State Road recorded 100 feet wide, adopted as the main or prin-

cipal street. Sycamore Street is spelled Sickamore on this plat.
First addition was made September ist, 1837, and the record fails

to show by whom. Sixty-two lots more laid off, all full lots 4x10,

Michigan Road 100 feet wide platted as Main Street. All other

streets in said town twent^'-four feet wide.

Pleasant View was in early times the principal town in the

northwestern part of the county. The town began its existence as

a trading point about the year 1835, when Frederick Thatcher
moved a small stock of goods from the Means place, about one-
half mile east of the village. He is said to have been the first mer-
chant in the township, and after locating at Pleasant View did a

good business for some time. The town was situated on the old

Michigan road, and was for many years a stage station, where
horses were changed and the weary traveler could find refresh-

ments according to his taste. A hotel was among the early insti-

tutions of the place, and the number was soon increased to two.

Merchants multiplied and doctors grew plenty. Among the

merchants, Adamson «& McDougal, Joseph Kennedy, John Stanley,
McCracken & Berry, and others, were some of the leaders. The
first doctor was a Scotchman named Hutchinson

;
then came Tj^ner,

Levitt and many others. Levitt was probably one of the lead-

ing physicians of the county. Until the building of the railroad,
Pleasant View was a flourishing country village, and gave promise
of a bright future, but after the completion of the railway, it grad-
ually declined to its present condition. A woolen factory at one
time did a flourishing business, and other small enterprises were
commenced. The present and only merchant is O. F. Mann. The
post office has been discontinued at that place, but under the same
name is now at Brookfield, less than two miles away, upon the rail-

road.

Broohfield is a station on the Cincinnati, Indianapolis, St. Louis
& Chicago Railroad, situated in the southwestern part of Moral

Township, and near the county line. As a post office it is the suc-

cessor of Pleasant View in name. It befjan its career as a tradin^j

point upon the completion of the railroad early in the fifties. The
first merchant was John Joyce, who remained until i860. At that

date E. H. Stanley succeeded him, and since then has been in some
manner interested in the business of the villao-e. There is now a

good grist mill in operation. The building \y£is originally con-
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structed for a grain and warehouse, but in 1869 was converted to

its present use. Since then Mr. Stanley has been identified with it

as half owner. During war times two stores were in full opera-
tion with a fair measure of success. The present merchants are

Means & Stanley, who succeeded Means & Brother. The last

named were for twenty years the leading merchants. The town

was laid out November 26, 1863, by Robert Means and Joshua
Dearman.

Norristown was laid out by David Winterrowed, William P.

Winterrowed, Joseph Winterrowed, and Henry Deiwert, Novem-
ber 22, 185 1. Fifty-four lots, Main Street running east and west

on the section line sixty feet wide, including the county road and

Main Cross Street running north and south forty-eight feet. The

post office is called Winterrowd.
It is said that Henry Deiwert was the first merchant here as

early as 1845, and that he remained about ten j^ears. About the

3'ear 1850, William P. Winterrowd began merchandising, which

was continued several vears. The leading merchants have been:

Sylvestor Tillson, David Tuel, Dr. V/. A. Bodine and John Newton.

James Eason, the present merchant, has been there for some time

doing a good trade. The first physician was James M. Norris, for

whom the village was named. Dr. S. A. Kennedy is the only one

there now. Farmers' Lodge, F. «& A. M., No. 147, was organized
Mav 27, 1853, David Conger was W. M., David Flynn, S. W., and

Jesse Moorman, J. W. This lodge is said to have a present mem-

bership of sixty-one. It is one of the most prosperous country lodges
in this locahtv, and owns the building in which the meetings are

held. The Grangers and Red Men formerly had organizations

here, but both have gone dow^n.

Flatrock was laid out by Thomas Woolley, January 4, 1855.

Forty-two lots laid out. Columbus & Shelby Railroad eighty

feet\vide; Broad Street, sixty feet; all other streets, fifty feet;

alleys, twenty finks wide variation, 5° 30'. This village is

situated in the extreme southern part of the count}^ near the

southwestern corner of Washington Township, and is on the fine

of the J., M. & I. Railroad. It is a thriving little place and since

its inception has been considered a good trading point, but has in

the last few vears made more progress than formerly. The rail-

road gives it advantages the neighboring villages do not have.

One of the most important business concerns is the grain elevator

and warehouse conducted by John and V/ifiiam Nadings. It is one

of the largest of the kind in this locality and a large business is

carried on. Wesley Nadings and C. P."^Isley have general stores

and do a good retail trade. Alvin Moore owns a saw mill, which
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he has conducted for several years with profit. D. A. Pettigrew
and H. M. Connellev, are the present ph^-sicians. In addition to

them, Drs. Norris, Free, Benham, Kennedy, L3'tle, Handy and

Jones, have practiced medicine from this place. The usual num-
ber of blacksmiths, shoemakers and other mechanics are here, that

go to make a thriving country town. The people are energetic,

enterprising and law-abiding. There is in existence there a horse

thief detective association that is somewhat novel in its workings.
The members are united for the purpose of apprehending criminals

and bringing them to justice. If they fail in finding the property,
they contribute suflicient money per capita to replace it with another

as good. It is practically a horse thie:^ insurance societ}^
Smithland was laid out by Hezekiah Smith, October 28, 1851,

containing sixteen lots 4 rods by 10 rods — Y^ acre each. Varia-

tion of surveyor's compass needle 5° 45'. It was laid out on the

line of the old Edinburg & Shelbyville Railroad, and its first busi-

ness was conducted bv Austin Clarke, who opened a store here

about the time of the completion of the railroad. Aaron Smith
and Jesse Smith were also earh^ merchants. McCain and Smith
built a saw mill there some time in the fifties. The pres-
ent business is conducted by Dr. Smith & Son and Mr. Sloan.

Hiawatha Lodge No. 193, I. O. O. F., was first instituted

at Marietta but owing to the number of its members who re-

sponded to the call of their country and went to the war the char-

ter was surrendered during that period. Early in the seventies a

petition was presented to the grand body asking for a new charter,
which was granted and the lodge established at Smithland, with

L. Jones as Noble Grand. The lodge now own the property
which the}^ occupy, and although not strong in numbers are pros-

perous.
Marietta ^N2<s,\a!\^ out by James Wray June 19, 1S39; surveyed

by Joseph B. Nickel, County Surve3'or. Twenty lots each 66 feet

front by 165 feet deep,
— ^ acre. Mam Street 66 feet wide, all

other streets 33 feet. Allevs 12 feet wide. Plat of Marietta and

Engler's Addition, by David Engler, August 11, 1849, showing
sixty-seven lots in all. Church Street and Railroad Street each 66
feet in width. Soon after the town was laid out, William Cooper
embarked in the mercantile business in a large frame dwelling-
house (which was probably the fi.rst built), that stood on Main

Street, near the Methodist Episcopal Church. This was a grocery
store. There was a great demand for a general store and in re-

sponse to this demand S. Robertson bought a stock of general
merchandise and began business in a frame building on Railroad

Street. The later merchants were: Rush & Engler, Samuel Elliott,.
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B. F. Sturgis, Thomas McGarren, Lafayette Davison, William

Higgins, Harry Norton, "Bud"' Snapp, William Cochran, Abner

Richey, Harry Hageman, Lewis Conner and James French.
About the time of the completion of the Edinburg & Shelbyville

Railroad, a saw mill was established on Blue River bv Mr. Heas-
ton, but was sold to Samuel Elliott and a grist mill built in connec-
tion. An extensive lumber business was carried on for several

3-ears until the mill was destroyed by fire. D. H. Slagle may be
be mentioned as an extensive operator in the same line. At pres-
ent Hageman and Mile}-, John Beucheimer, John Pile, Samuel Dick,

Jesse Sithen and Joseph Kanouse are engaged in the different

branches of trade in the town.

jFotiiitainiozvii, laid out by Matthew Fountain, December 23,

1854. Twenty-three lots, each 5x8 rods— i^ acre. Railroad

Street, including eighty feet belonging to the C, H. & D. Railroad,

formerly called the Junction Railroad, is 120 feet wide; Main and
Hill Streets, thirty-three feet wide: allevs, one rod wide. Mil-

bourn's Addition, by Richard Milbourn, January i, 1868. Fiftv-

seven lots north of the original plat and east of the Greenfield

road. White Fountaintown was not laid out until 1854; there had
been several houses erected and some business done prior to that

time. The Fountains and Benjamin Freeman were among the

early merchants. The town grew slowly until 1867, the date of

the completion of the Cincinnati, Hamilton & Indianapolis Railroad,
when it began a new life, and at present has a population of prob-
ably 350 people. The various departments of business are at

present represented as follows: General stores, J. S. Smith and J. E.

Campbell; groceries, Marion Campbell: notions, E. T. J. Jorden;
agricultural implements, Meyers & Jorden: pump factory, F. M.

Ayers & Son; tile factory and saw mill, J. W. Draper; grist mill,

Clark Macy; blacksmiths, Kroening & Fout and Coleman Lisher.

The only secret order in the town is the Knights of Pythias, which
was instituted August 23, 1887, having been in existance less than

one month.

Gwynneville was laid out by Alexander D. Pollitt, January 25,
1881. "Pollitt's First Addition— May 20, 1881 — Recorded March
II, 1882. Surveyed by Charles F. Webster, County Surveyor.
It contains 34 lots, most of them 60x120 feet. Alleys 16^ feet.

Main Street, on the Brookville State road is 60 feet wide. All

other streets, 50 feet, except West Street, 30 feet. Main Street

runs north 75° west. This town was named in honor of O'Brien

Gwynne, a distinguished merchant and business man of Carthage,
Rush County, Ind., who owned large tracts of land in the vicinity.
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The first merchant was Warren King, who commenced selling

goods, October, 1881; Second was William M. Swain and Robert

Meredith, partners; Third, W. W. Wilcoxen and William Leism-e,
and J. E. Earnest, first blacksmith. The present business: War-
ren King, general merchandise; A. W. Swain, general merchandise;
Wortman & Leisure, implements and hardware

;
F. W. Ruse}', tile

and brick; M. M. Hacket, saw mills; Frank Conrad, blacksmith,

Frceport was laid out by Ira Bailey, Alexander Rittenhouse
and John McCormick, March 17, 1836. Surveyed by Joseph B.

Nickel, County Surveyor, March 3, 1836. Also acknowledged by
Hopkins Harris " as far as his land comes into the said plat, and
wishes the same to go to the record," April 25, 1836. On the

line between Sections 14 and 15, Township 14 north, Range 7
east. Twenty-eight lots laid off. Main Street, located on the pub-
lic road running north and south on the said section line 40 feet

wide; variation 5'' 45'. Baile3'"s Addition to Freeport. By Ira

Bailey, May 7, 1838. Surveyed by Joseph B. Nickel, County Sur-

veyor. Thirteen lots laid off " south of the original town plat, on
the east side of said section line, and reaching from the east side of

Main Street to Blue River. Laid out to the south line of said Sec-

tion 14." The location of Bailey's mill at the present site of Free-

port, early in the twenties, brought many people there for bread
stuff and made it a desirable point for the location of a store, which
was done a few years later by John Corell, who it is claimed, was
its first merchant. This, however, is disputed by others who claim

to know, saying John McCormick deserves the credit of being the

first. Nathan Prince, Alexander Rittenhouse and Judge Bailey,
were also early merchants. The present business of the town con-

sists of a flouring mill, owned by Alexander Mellis, and a general
store by A. F. Kinsl}^

Vinton was laid out by John Andrews and James Templeton,
March 20th, 1838. Surve3'ed by Joseph B. Nickel, County Sur-

veyor, March 19th, 1838, 40 lots laid off, each 82 1-2 feet by 132
feet deep. Main Street located on Michigan Road, 100 feet wide.

All other streets 50 feet, alleys 13.

Geneva^ Postofiice Sulphur Hill, was laid out by Lewis Cline,
October 28th, 1853, consisting of 32 lots, each 60x120 feet. Streets

50 feet wide. It was laid out on the left bank ot Flatrock River in

the western part of Noble Township. As a business point it is not

now nor never has been of much importance. Messrs. Gibbs and

Johnson, sold goods here at an early day. John Drowberger many
years ago was engaged in merchandising just outside the limits of

the town. At present C. C. Drowberger aud J. R. Keeling are
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selling goods. A grist mill owned and operated by Leonard Hier
and the lime kiln of S. H. Gregory are the most important enter-

prises.
The Vlllaor of London is principally located in Section 25, of

Moral Township. Before the building of the Cincinnati, Indianap-
olis, St. Louis & Chicago Railroad early in the decade of the fifties,

there was nothing attempted at its present site in the way of mer-

chandising. Soon after the completion of that important highway
of commerce, Jesse Oaks began doing a small retail business in a

building he had erected for that purpose. It was the first building
erected on the present site of the town and it still stands for the

accommodation of business. Oaks remained but a short time

when, on account of failing health, he sold to McDougal & McKay,
who did a prosperous business for some time. McDougal had

formerly been in business at Pleasant View, and after about two

years he sold his interest to his partner who continued for several

years. This same store building has nearly always been occu-

pied by merchandising, the present merchant being Oliver

Means. After the railroad had been completed a few years,

Joel Crum and John Jeffries began business under the firm

name of Crum & Jeffries. For a while they did a good
business. Their store stood on the site now occupied by the new

building of Wesley Crum. The most successful merchant that has

ever been in trade at London was Thomas Francis, who succeeded

Crum '& Jeffries. There have been others in business here at vari-

ous times, but the importance of the place as a trading point has

decreased much in the last few years. Various other enterprises
have been started, but all alike have disappeared. About the year
1856, a large building was erected for the purpose of holding a

seminary, but after a few years the school was discontinued, and

the house is now occupied as a dwelling. Nathan Earlywine was the

earliest village blacksmith, and the business has been represented
from his time to this. Thomas Rubush is the present physician.
London is now little more than a decaying village, and excepting in

name can have no hope of rivaling its namesake the renowned me-

tropolis of the British Empire.
The town with its additions was laid out by Aaron House, July

2ist, 1852; surveyed by J. M. Elliott, June 30, 1852; see Deed
Record T, 405; also; New Plat Book No. i, page 23, plat 4; thir-

ty-two lots and one outlot laid off; Main Street, on the C, I., St. L.

& C. R. R., is 100 feet wide. Aaron House's first addition was
laid out June 13th, 1852; surveyed by John Dargin, County Sur-

ve3'or, June 4th, 1852; eleven lots south of the original town plat

of London, and five lots not numbered; no dimensions given.
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Aaron House's second addition was laid out October 17th, 1854;
this plat shows tifty-nine lots, includincj four outlots.

St. Paul in Shelby Count}'. John F. Stephens' Addition. Laid
out April 4th, 1856. Surveyed b}^ John Dargin, Count}- Surveyor.
One hundred and twenty-three lots lying west of St. Paul, in Dec-
atur County, Ind., said lots laid off in six blocks. Asa J. Avery's
Addition. Laid out October 6th, 1858. Nineteen lots laid off.

Henrv C. Lord's Addition was laid out October 27th, i860. Sur-

veved by Ed. Winchel, County Surveyor, September 22th, i860.

Counting 114 lots northwest of Stephens' Addition. The business

portion as well as probably three-fourths of the entire town lies in

Decatur Countv and therefore does not deserve space in this work.
Prcscott.— Laid out by S. L. Dorsey, June 28th, 1867. Dor-

sey's Addition was laid out March 12th, 1869. This town like

Lewis Creek, St. John's stations and Ray's Crossing on the line of

the J., M. & I.Railroad are but way stations, and while each has

done something in a commercial way there is but little or nothing
of historic value that may vet be recorded.
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A BIOGRAPHY

OF THOMAS A HENDRICKS, PREPARED SPECIALLY FOR THIS VOLUME
BY LEE F. WILSON.

HOMAS A. HENDRICKS was the son of Major
!fj%&Jo^"-I^^"^"cks, and the grandson of Abraham Hen-

dricks, a descendant of the Huguenots, who immi-

grated to New Jerse}', and thence to Pennsylvania, just
before the Revolution. Abraham Hendricks, as well as

his amiable wife, who was of a Scotch family
— the

Jamiesons—-was a person of remarkable force of character.

He was elected to Pennsylvania Assembly first, in 1792,
and served four terms in the Legislature, the last ending in 1798.

William Hendricks, second governor of Indiana, preceded his

brother John in moving to this State from Ohio, and had gained
much notoriety as a talented and public man, when Major John
Hendricks finally concluded to risk his fortune in the wilds of the

New West. The last named, John Hendricks, afterward known
as Major, on account of his being commissioned as Major of the

State militia, prior to 1820 resided with his little family at Zanes-

ville, Ohio. His wife was hio-hlv connected and was noted for her

strong sense of dut}^ and earnest pietv. Her name was Jane
Thomson, and was, with a niece, the only member of that family
who emiorrated west, the others remaininij in Pennsvlvania and
other eastern States, some of whom have gained enviable reputa-
tions in law% medicine, politics and the ministry. The Agnews, of

New York, the Blacks and Watsons of Pittsburgh, the Wylies of

Philadelphia, and the descendants of Alexander Thomson, of

Chambersbuurg, Pa., are worthv of special note in this connection.

Shortly after their marriage, Alajor John Hendricks and his wife

moved to Muskingum County, Ohio. While there they lived in a rude

log house, one stor}^ one room, one door and two windows, built from
round logs, unscutched, chinked and daubed after the pioneer fash-

ion. In this little domicile, wherein reigned peace and domestic

tranquility, were born two sons, one Abram, the other Thomas A.
The last named, Thomas A. Hendricks, was born on September
7, 1819. The next year, 1820, lured by the brilHant career of Wil-
liam Hendricks, heretofore spoken of as the second governor of

the State, and afterward a member of Congress and later a dis-
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tinguished United States Senator, Major John Hendricks, with
his little family, removed to Madison, hidiana, then the metropolis
of the State. Two years later, 1822, Major Hendricks moved to

Shelby Countv, then a wilderness of wood, now the site of Shelb}^-
ville. Here the parents of one of the Nation's greatest men com-
menced to hew out a house and carve a career for their hopeful
son, then scarcely three years of age. A house was soon erected,
trees felled, and a new farm opened. The latch string of Major
Hendrick's liouse always hung out for all comers and goers, min-

isters, politicians, officials, all, found a welcome at the Hendricks
farm. Mrs. Hendricks was a devout Christian, by profession a

Calvinist, as were all the Hendricks family on both sides, the Thom-
sons and Hendrickses. By her charitable acts, Christian deport-
ment and natural urbanitv, the new familv soon became the leading"

familv of the county, and most noted for its hospitality.
Late in the year 1822, a log school-house was erected in the

woods, where Shelbyville now stands. A Mr. Griffin was the first

instructor, but gave place to William H. Hawkins before the sub-

ject of this sketch was old enough to attend school. Mr. Hawkins
was noted for his abilitv to "wield the rule and the birch." The
late Vice President seldom referred to Mr. Hawkins when giving
reminiscences of his early school days. He afterward conducted
his school in the Methodist Church. Realizing' the need of a new
school-house and a home for the teacher's family, John Hendricks
and John Walker headed a subscription and built a two story brick

school-house, which is now occupied as a business house,- and is

situated on Washington Street, one block from the public square.
In 1829, Rev. Eliphalet Kent came to fill the Presbyterian pastor-

ate, and brought with him froin the east a young bride, a ladv of

excellent culture, fine education, graceful and nobly consecrated to the

work of the Master. She was soon given the school and to her Mr.
Hendricks owed much of his training and success. Here uncle Isaac

Wilson, Squire L. Vanpelt, Judge Sleeth and many of the oldest citi-

zens of the citvnow living, attended school with Thomas x\.Hendricks.

Having completed his course in the common schools of Shelby^'ille,
he entered the Hanover College in 1836, where he remained until

1841, save a few months he was unavoidably absent. Here he
studied the sciences, political economy, Latin, Greek and the Bible.

Returning to his home, he commenced the study of law in the office

of Stephen Major, then a young lawver of brilliant attainments and
considerable tact and experience. In 1843, Mr. Hendricks went to

Chambersburg, Pennsylvania, where he entered the law school, in

which Alexander Thomson was instructor, a man of high ability,

extensive learning, much experience as Judge of the Sixteenth



BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCHES. 459.

Judicial District, comprising Franklin, Somerset, Fulton and Bed-
ford Counties, and was, as heretofore stated, a relative of Mr.
Hendricks on his mother's side. To this private school also went
the late Governor Conrad Baker, and others, who afterward became
men of distinction. It was at this place that Thomas A. Hendricks
became acquainted with the talented Judge Jere S. Black. After

eight months' hard work, he returned to Shelb}' ville, passed an ex-

amination and was, the same 3'ear, admitted to the practice and at

once started an office of his own. His first case was before S(]uire
Lee. Nathan Powell, a young lawyer with whom Hendricks had

grown up, was his opponent. They had finished their school edu-

cation the same year; had opened their law offices within a few

days of each other, and this was the first effort of young Powell,
as well as Mr. Hendricks. Each had volunteered his services, and
the "Squire's" office was crowded, a prize offered to the victor.

The cause was a trivial one, yet the young law3"ers worked hard
and with the vim of old practitioners. Mr. Hendricks Avon, and
after complimenting Mr. Powell upon his effort, he gracefully served
the apples which had been furnished bv an enthusiastic spectator.
Thus started the young advocate who was destined to become one
of the Nation's greatest and most beloved statesmen.

It was about this time that Martin M. Rav, a voung attornev,
and the father of W. Scott Rav, settled in the town. He was, in

politics, a Whig, and it mav be here remarked that all of the

Hendricks family on both sides, except Thomas A., were Whigs.
Mr. Ra}' and Hendricks soon became fast friends, and though
pitted against each other both in law and politics, they remained
friends to the last.

In 1843, he formed the acquaintance of Miss Eliza Morgan,
who was the daughter of a widow, living at North Bend, Ohio,
her father, Hon. Isaac Morgan, having died some years before.

She was visiting her sister, Mrs. Daniel West, at Shelbyville,
and soon became the centre of the social circle of the village, being
at the time, in her teens, a beautiful girl, accomplished, affable, and

of the highest type of social culture. Two years later, September
26, 1845, Thomas A. Hendricks and Miss Eliza Morgan were mar-
ried at North Bend, Ohio, the Rev. Mr. Jones, a Baptist minister,

officiating.

PROFESSIONAL AND POLITICAL CAREER IN SHELBY COUNTY.

So soon as Thomas A. Hendricks emerged from boy-hood, his.

success as a lawyer and a public man was assured. Having estab-

lished an office in Shelbyville, he gained in a short time a fair com-

petence and soon became one of the leading attoneys of the place.
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As an advocate he had few equals, and as a safe counsellor none in

whom the people had unbounded confidence.

In 1848, January 16, a son was born to Mr. and Mrs. Hendricks— the only child they ev'er had. He was named Morgan. He was
a beautiful boy, full of life and joy, the pride of his parents and the

object of general admiration with all their acquaintances. He died

in 1 85 1, causing gloom to cover the household and grief to linger
on the countenace of the devoted parents.

In the same year, 1848, without his seeking, Mr. Hendricks was
nominated for the Lower House of the General Assembly, against

Capt. Nathan Earlywine. His canvass was marked by his forci-

ble arguments and brilliant oratory. Although young, he proved
himself a forcible speaker, a sound reasoner and a successful de-

bater. He was elected to the Lei^islature and served his term with

marked distinction. He took an active part in the passage of a law
in the interest of "the common schools" which was approved in

June, 1849. He was a member of the committee which reported a

bill for making all tuition free.

At the August election of 1849, a majorit}- of the voters of the

State favored the proposition for a constitutional convention, to con-

sist of 150 members, chosen from the senatorial and representative
districts. Thomas A. Hendricks and James Vanbenthusen were

chosen, the same being unsought by either, and the election with-

out opposition. The convention assembled in October, 1850, and
was presided over by George W. Carr, of Lawrence County. Mr.
Hendricks served on two important committees— County and

Township Organization, Powers and Officers, and on Finance. He
won much distinction in the convention, especially by his speech on

the resolution relative to the abolition of the grand jur}' system.
On the 13th of November, 1850, the venerable colleague of Mr.
Hendricks died, and on the i8th following, Mr. Hendricks made a

very touching speech upon the life and career of the deceased.

The following year, in the spring, was the beginning of Mr.

Hendricks' career in national politics. This congressional district

was composed of several counties, extending far to the east and as far

north as Tipton County, including Marion. The convention was held

at Indianapolis, May i6th, 1851, and the candidates were numerous.

Among them were : Jonathan McCarty, who had served with much
credit for many years, James H. Rariden, Andrew Kennedy, Will-

iam J. Brown, and William W. Wick. The contest was heated,
but on the thirty-third ballot Mr. Hendricks was made the nominee
for Congress from the then fifth congressional district. This was
the last close contest for a nomination that he ever had. Col.

James P. Rush, of Hancock County, was nominated by the Whigs
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as his opponent, and made a vigorous canvass of the district. Mr.
Hendricks in this contest gained the appellation of "

log-roller,"
from a little incident said to have occurred during that race: One
day, while on his journey to fill an appointment some place in Ham-
ilton Count}', and reaching the neighborhood in which he was to

speak, he alighted from his horse to help a man who was tr3-ing to

put a log on a heap. For one man this was a difficult task, but
with the help of Mr. Hendricks it was easily accomplished. Mr.
Hendricks, without explaining his purpose or giving his name
mounted his steed and went on. The next day he spoke in New
Lancaster, Tipton Countv. The day after he addressed a meeting
in Boxleytown, Hamilton County, at the conclusion of which, a

gentleman came forward and said to Mr. Hendricks:
"Did you assist a man rolHng logs (at such a place) da}- before

3'esterday?"
"Yes, I believe I did," said Mr. Hendricks.

"Well, that settles it," said the man of toil, who had every ap-
pearance of being a frontiersman. "We 'lowed that it was vou,
and I want to say to ye, stranger, that any man es will neighbor
with a feller that Avay, an' not be blowin' 'bout such important busi-

ness to his self es runnin' fur congress, is just our kind of a man.
That feller you helped is my son-in-law. He and another son-

in-law, my son and me are all Whigs, but every darned one of us
intends to vote fur you."

The returns from that precinct showed that the tallv was

changed eight votes in Hendricks' favor. His log rolling had

accomplished there an example worthv of emulation.

Since that campaign, the man who gets out among the people,

mingles with them and neighbors with the voters, is called a politi-
cal "log roller."

Of course Mr. Hendricks was elected. In congress he pro-

gressed with signal ability, was called to act on some of the most

important committees, and won not only a national reputation, but

the good will and friendship of all with whom he came in contact.

Scarce had Congress adjourned when he was re(|uired to make
another campaign, for the constitution had transferred the con-

gressional elections to even years and the month to October. The
new district included six counties, Marion County as one.

The Whig candidate, John H. Bradley, of Indianapolis, was a

brilliant man, and a public speaker of rare attainments. He had not

been nominated by anv convention but had declared himself the can-

didate in response to a published card signed by three of his friends

and admirers. The Whigs refused to call a convention, preferring
to let him pose as the "People's candidate." He made a thorough

H
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canvass of Shelby County, but to no avail. The usual Democratic

majority in Old Shelby was doubled and Mr. Hendricks was again
triumphantly elected to Congress.

In 1854, when the Northern Whigs were in a chaotic condition,

Pro-Slavery and Anti-Slaver}^ Free Soilers, Garrisonian Abolition-

ists, Know-Nothings and Democrats commingling in a storm of confu-

sion, a "Fusion" State and Congressional ticket was formed for the

occasion. Opposed to Mr. Hendricks in this district, was Lucian

Barbour, a talented lawyer of Lidianapolis, who had been a Demo-
crat, and now exerted himself to combine all the opponents of

Democracy. Mr. Hendricks did not desire this nor the former
nomination for Congress, preferring rather the pursuit of his pro-
fession, but the charge that he had misrepresented his constituency
in voting for the Kansas-Nebraska bill, and the challenges made
to him personalh' by the opposition to defend his course, led him
to accept the nomination, which his part}^ was eager to bestow upon
him. He made a strong, vigorous and manly contest for the elec-

tion, but the tidal wave had started and politics of the State vmder-
went a change. Mr. Hendricks was defeated. This he bore with

becoming dignity, and, after serving a single session more, retired

to his profession and his home in Shelbvville.

In August, 1855, he was commissioned h\ President Pierce,
General Land Commissioner, one of the most important positions
in the gift of the President. He served in this capacity nearlv four

years, when in 1859, he resigned, and again resumed his practice at

home. In i860, the Democratic State Convention was held at Indian-

apolis, and Thomas A. Hendricks was made the unanimous nomi-
nee for Governor. His opponent was Henry S. Lane, a soldier of

the Mexican War, a patriot and an orator. These two men, even

tempered, of the sweetest and most admirable character, spoke
together in nearly every county in the State. It was,' however, the

most exciting canvass ever made in the State, yet each retained his

composure, and each throughout the campaign showed the other

the utmost courtesy and the fairest consideration. Defeat again
came to Mr. Hendricks. In the same 3-ear he moved to Indian-

apolis, where he lived to the day of his death. He immediately
gained a large practice in law, which he always enjoved.

In January, 1863, he was elected to the United States Senate,
which position he held for six years, gaining for himself additional

honors and a national reputation. In 1S72 he was again nominated
for Governor of Indiana. His opponent was General Thomas
Browne, a Republican of considerable ability and an enviable repu-
tation. This campaign was peculiar, in one particular. The Re-

publicans had infused the crusaders with the idea that the}-' were
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the salvation of their cause, while the Democracy opposed all

sumptuary laws. Yet, Mr. Hendricks went before the people as a

temperance man, opposed to prohibition, but willing to sign any
constitutional legislation looking toward the amehoration of crime
and the advancement of temperance. He was elected, and kept his

pledges to a letter. In the Legislature, elected at the same time, the

Baxter bill, a mixture of high license and local option, was passed
and submitted to Governor Hendricks for approval. He regarded
the bill as unconstitutional, and was himself politically and indi-

vidually opposed to the principles of its provisions : but in his canvass
for election, he had promised the people that if the Legislature, which
would be elected with him, on the same issues, should pass a tem-

perance law, he would sign it, and he did so. This was character-

istic of Thomas A. Hendricks. He always kept his pledges
inviolate, and ever remained true to his friends. He had a high
sense of duty and a spirit of philanthropy pervaded his whole na-
ture.

The writer sent to Col. Samuel Donelson, now a resident of

Sedan, Kansas, but formerly, and for man^• years, a citizen of Shel-

byville, and a close friend of Mr. Hendricks, for data and incidents

he might remember of the late Vice President during his career in

the county from 1822 to i860. Col. Donelson's acquaintance with
Mr. Hendricks began in the year 1852. The Colonel was the Dem-
ocratic nominee for the Lower House of the General Assembly, to

which he was elected in that year, and the subject of this sketch
was the nominee for re-election to Congress— the short term—
made so b}- the new constitution of the State. The Colonel was
billed to speak at Blacb Hawk, and Mr. Hendricks was there-

Col. Donelson made his speech— quite an arraignment of the old

Whig party
— in which he eloquently contrasted the policies and

measures of the two great parties. To say the least, it was a.

statesman-like speech, during the dehvery of which Mr. Hen-
dricks was a few yards off, seated under a large sugar tree in com-

pany with John Snepp. As the Colonel warmed up, Mr. Hendricks,
drew' near and listened attentively to the close of the speech, and at

its close, Mr. Hendricks went up to the Colonel, and said: "Mr..

Donelson, you have made an ingenious speech." After remarking-
that the}' would dine with Mr. French that day, they started on
their way to the hotel together, when Mr. Hendricks said: "Sam,
where did you get the ideas of your speech?" The Colonel said:

"I picked them up from what I could remember of a speech de-

livered by Hon. Bill Hill, of Ohio, at Maysville, Ky., in 1849."
Mr. Hendricks laughed heartily, for it brought to his mind a little

incident of his ow^n experience. In 1842, a year before Mr Hen-
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dricks quit school, he made a speech in Johnny Young's Grove, on
the occasion of a Fourth of July barbecue. It was well received,

says a biographer, and added much to his reputation as a speaker.
Two years later (1844) Captain Nathan Earlywine, a Whig poh-
tician, who afterward became Hendricks' opponent for the Legis-
lature, was invited to deliver an annual address, and he came to Mr.
Hendricks to borrow his oration delivered in 1842, suggesting that

the latter might make some alterations and additions suitable to the

time and the man. Mr. Hendricks very generously consented to

the plan, and, in revising the oration, inserted some very sound
Democratic sentiments on the Oregon question, which was just
then agitating the people. The obtuse and unsuspecting Earlywine
made the speech and placed special stress upon the amended por-
tion of his adopted oration, much to the chagrin of his Whig friends,

and the astonishment of Democrats who grouped about laughing
unseemly and nudging those who were " onto

"
the joke.

In speaking of the Vice President's fidelity to his friends and his

devotion to those of his early association, Col. Donelson savs:

"Some vears after Mr. Hendricks went into the practice of law, a

little incident occurred which, to ine, proved the true greatness of

this man who was destined to fill the second highest place in the

gift of the people. About one mile east of Shelbyville, lived a

queer old man who had but two children, a son and daughter. The
old man was very eccentric, and, at his death, he left the bulk of

his estate to the society of colonization. In vain the children tried

for several years to get a lawyer to undertake the breaking up of

the will. Almost destitute and in despair, the daughter applied to

Mr. Hendricks to take the case. She went to his office carrvin<r

her little baby. Mr. Hendricks listened attentively to her stor}-, at

the conclusion of which he turned to me— as I happened to be

present
— and said,

' Will you go and request Martin M. Ray to

call at my ofiice?
'

'

Yes,' I replied, and I went immediately to Mr.

Ray, and told him what Mr. Hendricks said. I accompanied Mr.

Ray to the office. Hendricks explained the case to Mr. Ray, re-

marking at its close,
' I want your assistance in this case. I went

to school with that girl, and I intend that she shall have her share

in the estate.'
"

Col. Donelson recites a conversation he had with

the late Vice President, a few weeks before his death, in which
Mr. Hendricks, in contrasting the conventions of to-day with those

of former years, gave an account of a convention held in Brandy-
wine Township, on the roadside near the residence of the late Capt.
Hawkins. He said that after the meeting had been called to order

and its object talked over by the moderator, one gentleman spoke

up in a loud voice,
" All of those who are in favor of Col. Miller,
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for the Legislature, come on this side of the road!" Then Jerre
Odell. standing on the other side of the road, said,

" All those who
fa\or Thomas A. Hendricks, for the Legislature, come on this side

of the road, with me! "
They then counted noses, and Mr. Hen-

dricks was declared the choice of Brandywine Township, for rep-
resentative.

Reference has been made to his first nomination and election to

the General x\ssembly in 1848. As a matter of fact he did not

seek this nomination. Under the old constitution, all the State offi-

cers (except Governor and Lieutenant Governor), the circuit

judges and the judges of the supreme court, were elected by the

Legislature. In the winter of 1847, a vacancy in the judgeship of

Shelby County occurred, and Judge William W. Wick was a can-

didate before the Legislature, wiiich. met in December, for re-elec-

tion. Judge Wick was a very able law3'er, an impartial judge, and
in every wa}- much of a gentleman, and well known to the people
of the State. Judge J. M. Sleeth, of Shelbyville, was then serving
his third term in the lower house, and in that Legislature strongl}"-

urged the election of Thomas A. Hendricks to the judgeship. Mr.
Hendricks was then scarcely tw^ent3'-eight years of age, and as yet
had not become much know^n to the members of the Legislature,
and Judge Wick was re-elected by a small majority. At that time

the Lea'islature met in the first week of December, each vear.

Representatives were elected each 3'ear, and Senators every three

years. In 1848, Judge J. M. Sleeth desired to go to the Senate

from Shelbv County, which, at that time, was entitled to one Sen-

ator and one Representative, and Thomas A. Hendricks wished
also to go to the Senate. Judge Sleeth, however, defeated him for

the nomination, and the friends of the former, without his consent

or even desire, nominated him for the lower house. As has been

said, he was elected, and did much ^'aluable service as a Repre-
sentative, making himself felt on every important occasion.

During all his career in Shelbyville, the Hon. Martin M. Ray
was ever his near and confidential friend. To him he confided his

political plans and aspirations. The friendship was mutual and re-

ciprocal. After the death of Martin M. Ray, he became the

intimate friend of W. Scott Ray, a son of Martin M., whom he

alwavs visited when in Shelbyville. About two weeks before the

Vice President's death, he came to Shelbyville, and in the evening
from 6 o'clock till 9:45 P. M., he spent in the office of the Democrat^

talking with its proprietor, Mr. Ray, and a number of friends who
had assembled to see him on that occasion. He talked freely on

the topics of the day and his intended trip to Washington to re-

sume the duties of President of the Senate. During the evening
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he made frequent mention of his old friend, the father of his

auditor. Shelb}' County was, to him, always a pleasant place to

come. Here he met true and devoted friends, friends who both
loved and admired him. From 1S60, to his death, he always came
to the county on or about the eve of election to speak to the

Democracy of the home of his childhood.

In 1876, he was nominated for the Vice Presidency on the

Democratic ticket, with Samuel J. Tilden, of New York. Of this

election, it was claimed, they were flagrantly defrauded by return-

ing boards and the electoral commission selected for that purpose,
or for the purpose, as was claimed, of arbitrating the rights of both

political parties, and of averting an impending civil war if Tilden

should take his seat.
.
In 18S0, the name of Thomas A. Hendricks

was placed in nomination for the Presidency at Cincinnati, by
Indiana, and his nomination strongly urged in the convention. In

1884, he was delegate to the Chicago convention, and as chairman
of the Indiana delegation, presented, in befitting terms and a mas-

terly manner, the name of Joseph E. McDonald for the Presidency.
After the latter had positively refused to accept the second place
on the ticket, Mr. Hendricks was almost unanimously chosen, and
the successful ticket for 1884, the first in twenty-five years, be-

came Grover Cleveland for President and Thomas A. Hendricks
for Vice President.

In 1883, Mr. and Mrs. Hendricks made a trip to Europe, visit-

ing Great Britain, Ireland, France, Italy, Switzerland and Germany.
This they enjoyed very much, and he often spoke of the many
pleasures of that trip. Of Major John Hendricks' family there now
remain but two. The famity consisted of iVbram, Thomas A., Jane,
Anna, John, James, and two others. Abram became a Presbyterian
minister, and died in 1S60. Jane married Dr. Webb, of Shelbyville,

who, in 1850, died of cholera. She afterward married Dr. Pierce,
of New York, and moved to that city where she died. Dr. Pierce,
a few years after married Anna, the only remaining sister of

Thomas A., and she and Dr. Pierce are still livinix in New York City.

John lived here until about 1870, acting for a number of years as post
master of Shelbyville. He moved to Delhi, Ohio, vv'here he died

a few years a^jo. Tames Hendricks, the youno;est, still lives here

(Shelbyville), himself and Mrs. Dr. Pierce being the onh^ survivors

of a family of eight.
But few greater calamities ever befell a people than the death

of Vice President Hendricks. He was one of the Nation's greatest
men, deep, broad minded, diplomatic and above all, a true man.
On the 25th day of November, 1885, he died at his home at In-

dianapolis, of heart disease. At the moment of his death, he was
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alone. His loving wife, who had ever been his companion,
his solace and his adviser, had, a moment before, left the room after

hearing him say
" I am free at last,

"
meaning that he was at last

free from pain, and had responded to a call at the door, when upon
her return to her distinguished husband, she found him dead, his

eyes partly closed, his face shapely, with no signs of pain or strug-

gle and his countenance placid as if fallen asleep. The doctor was

summoned, but it was too late. The great statesman, lawyer, and

citizen had passed beyond the reach of human aid. The funeral

was the largest ever known in the State and thousands went from

Shelbv County to pay their last respect to the honored dead. The
ladies of Shelbyville and vicinity, made and sent to the persons in

charge of the funeral, a beautiful miniature floral cabin, represent-

ing the house of his birth, with appropriate wreaths to be used on

that occasion. This floral tribute expressive of the tender affec-

tion of the ladies for the Vice President, was the finest, both as to

qualitv and design, ever made in the State.

We have thus briefly traced the life of one of nature's noble-

men, giving only an outline of his public career without attempting
to narrate his individual efforts in the discharge of the duties of the

manv trusts conferred upon him. To do this would require more

space than we are allowed in the performance of our difficult,

though pleasant task. His acts and speeches in Congress, both in

the House and Senate, his defense of what he conceived to be

right, his labor for the poor, the oppressed and the wronged of

every class in this and other countries would be of great interest

to his people and worthy of emulation by all. His devotion to his

partv, his candor and honesty of purpose, his noble ambition to

faithfully serve his people, his philanthropy and universal love of

mankind combined to make him one of the noblest of men. Strong
in his profession, vet courteous to his opponents. Great in intel-

lect, vet approachable by the humblest of men. High in position,

he met every man as his equal. Independent in thought, self-reliant

in principle and rich in pleasant greetings to all whom he met. He
had few critics and fewer enemies. He rejoiced *vhen others re-

joiced and wept when thev wept. He gave alms to the poor and

sympathised with them in adversity. His life has taught a lesson

of the past, the duties of the present and a glorious hope for the

future. Though dead, he vet lives in the hearts of his people, and

his noble characteristics stand out in bold relief as beacon lights to

guide and direct generations vet to be. His place in life mav be

occupied, but can never be filled.
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Edmund K. Adams.— The subject of this sketch is descended

from an old Scotch family, several representatives of which emi-

grated in an early day to Ireland, the latter country being the na-

tivity of James Adams,' the grandfather of Edmund K. James
Adams came to America in Colonial times, and often participating
in the struggle for independence, settled in Pennsylvania, where he

married and where he remained until after the birth of John H.

Adams, father of subject, when he emigrated to Ohio. John H.

Adams, at the age of thirty years, came to Indiana and settled in

Bartholemew County, where he subsequently married Amanda,

daughter of Nathan and Jane Graves, who bore him six children,

the subject of this sketch being the second in number. Edmund K.

Adams was born on the 14th day of August, 1852, and spent the

years of his youth upon his father's farm, obtaining a rudimentary
education in the meantime by attending such schools as the country
afforded. In the fall of 1869, he entered the Hartsville University
where he pursued his literary studies until the spring of 1874,

spending a portion of his vacations in the meantime as teacher in

the counties of Shelby, Bartholemew and Johnson, in all of which

he held first-class certificates of qualifications as an instructor.

Early in 1874 he conceived the idea of preparing himself for the

legal profession, and at once entered as a student the law office of

Messrs. Hord & Blair, of Shelbyville, a law firm of superior

abilities, and at that time possessing one of the most extensive

practices in Southern Indiana. Under the instruction of these able

tutors, he applied himself arduously until the spring of 1877, at

which time he was admitted to the bar, and at once entered upon
the active practice of his profession. He continued the practice

alone until December, 1879, when he united in a co-partnership
with Hon. O. J. Glessner and L. J. Hackney, which at once took

rank as one of the strongest and most successful law firms in Shelby

County. Since 1883, Mr. Adams has been senior member of the

firm of Adams & Hackney, and is justly accorded a place among
the most efficient and painstaking as well as one of the most suc-

cessful lawyers in the southern part of the State. He is a Dem-
ocrat in politics and a member of the Masonic Fraternity, having
identified himself with the order in 1884. December 29, 1880, he

was united in marriage with Miss NelHe Ludlow, of this county,

daughter of Stephen and Teressa ( Blankenship )
Ludlow. Mrs.

Adams was born November 17, 1861. Mr. and Mrs. Adams have

one child— Ethel.
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Hon. John Beggs, President of the Shelb}- Distilling Company,
is a native of Ireland, and son of Edward and Elizabeth

(^
Gibson)

Beggs; parrents both born in the same country, about the year

1798. Edward Beggs was for many years a merchant in the town
of Ballinamallord, Ireland, where his death occurred in the year

1872. John Beggs is the second of a family of seven children and
dates his birth from the 6th day of April, 1830, having tirst seen

the light in the town where his father carried on the mercantile

business. He received his primary education in his native country,
and at the age of ten years, came to America, locating at Cincin-

nati, where for some time he pursued his studies under competent
instructors in a select school. Having completed liis preparatory
course he subsequently became a student of Woodward College,
which institution he attended for a period of three years, making
substantial progress during that time. In the spring of 1845, he

began to learn the distillery business, at New Richmond, Ohio, un-

der David Gibson, and after becoming proficient in the same, put
his knowledge into practice by taking charge of a distillery in the

city of Troy, thence to Ashville, Ohio, where he was similarly en-

gaged for more than four years. In 1852, he engaged in distillery

business at Metamora, Franklin County, Ind., and after remaining
there for a period of twenty years sold out in 1872, and removed
to Shelbyville, in which cit}' he operated a distillery, until 1883. In

that year he suffered severely by fire, his loss aggregating about

$25,000. Immediately after this disaster, Mr. Beggs founded the

Shelby Distilling Company, of which he has since served as Presi-

dent. This company under the efficient management of Mr.

Beggs, has succeeded in building up a very prosperous business,

and is one of the largest and most successful corporations of the

kind in southern Indiana. In addition to his business enterprises,
Mr. Beggs has given a great deal of attention to public and

political affairs, having been elected to the State Senate in

1876. In his political affiliations he is a Democrat, and as

such has rendered valuable service to his party in this county.
He married in 1853, Miss Rebecca Lewis, who was born in Frank-

lin County, Indiana, in the vear 183 1. To this marriage were born

eight children, seven of whom are living, viz. : Elizabeth C, Belle,

Clara, John E., Kate, Harr}- and Thomas.

John E. Beggs, Superintendent of the works of the Shelby Dis-

tilling Company, and also one of the stockholders, was born at

Metamora, Franklin County, Indiana, July 28, 1861, and is the son

of John and Rebecca (Lewis) Beggs. He is the eldest son of

seven children. The greatest part of his education was obtained

in the public schools of Laurel, Ind., but his father moved to Shel-
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byville in 1879, and John E. had the benefit of attending the Shel-

bYville High School a year or so.- After having learned the trade

of veast maker at Cincinnati, he entered his father's distillery at

Shelbyville in 1881, and having applied himself with great care,

was made superintendent of that institution during the year follow-

ing. It was while holding this position, that Mr. Beggs made
some rare and valuable discoveries in the art of yeast making,
which greatly increased the amount of alcohol a given (quantity of

grain will produce. Not long after he became superintendent of

his father's distillery, a serious fire broke out which entirely de-

stroyed that establishment. A fine new building was immediately
erected in its stead, by the Shelby Distilling Compan}', in which

company, the subject of this sketch is now a stockholder, and is

also superintendent of the distilling department. In politics, Mr.

Beggs is an uncompromising Democrat, and cast his first vote for

Cleveland for President. He is a member of one secret order, the

Knights of Pythias, which he joined in 1886. He was married

February 13,' 1887, to Miss Kate C. Webb, of this city. Mrs.

Beggs is the daughter of Robert and Clara (Mason) Webb, who
are natives of Virginia.

John Blessing was born in Frederick Count}^ Maryland, on the

3d of March, 1828. His father John Blessing, was a native of

Virginia, but died in Maryland when our subject was quite young.
The mother of Mr. Blessing was Mary Ann (Kesselring) Blessing,
a native of Frederick County, Maryland, and where she died. Our

subject was raised on the farm, and at nine years of age began
supporting himself. In 1847, he came to Ohio' and settled in Mont-

gomery County. In February, 1848, he enlisted in the United

States army and was attached to Company D, 8th Regiment Regu-
lars and ordered to the seat of war in Mexico. He only served

.six months, then was discharged at Jefferson Barracks, St. Louis,

August. 1848. He returned immediately to Montgomery County,
and for some time was engaged in the distilHng business. From
1S51 to 1852, he was engaged in raising tobacco. In 1853, he be-

gan running a canal boat from Cincinnati to Toledo. In 1857, he

engaged in the distillery business at Little York in Montgomery,
upon his own responsibility. In August, 1863, he came to Shelby-
ville and was engaged in the distillery near this city until 1866,
when he sold out and during the following year engaged in the

hardware business until 1869. During the latter and the year fol-

lowing, he erected the large and commodious structure known as
*'
Blessing's Opera House. " Mr. Blessing has invested some of

his capital in bank stock and has been a director of the First National

Bank since 1865. He has also for many years been President of
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the Shelby County Joint Stock Agricultural Association. Mr. Bless-

ing is one of the most progressive men in the city. He has been
a leading spirit in all of the public enterprises of this vicinity. He
is a self-made man, and as such deserves high honor for what he
has accomplished. He was married in 1S51, to Miss Martha

J. Otey, of Montgomery County, Ohio. They have three children,
Emma R., Jennie and Gertrude. Mrs. Blessing died in 1875. Her
husband has since wedded Miss Mary Linville, of Lancaster County,
Penn. In politics, Mr. Blessing is a Republican. He is a member
of Shelby Lodge No. 39, I. O. O. F., and he and his wife are

Presbyterians.
Charles H. Campbell.— Conspicuous among the enterprising

and public spirited citizens of Shelbyville is Charles H. Campbell,
who was born in the town of Lexington, Indiana, November 28,

1853. His paternal ancestors were among the early colonists of

Virginia, his grandfather Andrew Campbell having been born in

that State about the year 1777. The family came to Indiana in an

early day, settling in Scott County in 1S23, where Andrew Camp-
bell's death occurred 1856. Subject's parents, A. H. and Mary J. E.

(Doolittle) Campbell were both natives of Indiana, the former born
in Scott County, October 17, 1825, and the latter in the southern

part of the State, June 27, of the same year. Charles H. Camp-
bell's early educational experience embraced the studies apper-

taining to the course prescribed b}' the public schools, in which he
made commendable progress, obtaining a practical knowledge of

the common branches of learning. In 1S72, he accepted a position
with the railroad locatinij in Shelbyville the followincr year and mak-

ing this city his headquarters, Imtil 1875. In the latter year he
was transferred to Cincinnati, but in 1876, returned to ShelbvA'ille

and accepted the position of ticket agent for the C, I., St. L. & C.

Railroad, the duties of which responsible trust he is still discharging.
Mr. Campbell is a faithful and accomplished business man, alive to

the interests of the company, bv which he is employed and enjoA'S
the respect and confidence of all who know him. In addition to his

ofiicial duties he takes an active interest in all measures having for

their object the public good deserving special mention for his efforts

in behalf of the city's welfare as member of the common council to

which body he was elected in 1885, and in which he displayed wisdom,
and rare executive ability. Politically he is a Republican, and cast

his first vote in 1876, for R. B. Hayes. He is a member of the

Odd Fellows faternitv, having identified himself with the same in

1885. He married in 1876, Miss Lucy Harding, daughter of Will-

iam and Margaret Harding, of Ohio, a union blessed with the

birth of two children viz. : Ada L. and George W. Campbell.
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Moses Carithers was born in New York City, April 9, 1823.
He is of Scotch descent, both parents having been born in Scot-

land. His father, John Carithers, born March 12th, 1792, came to

America in youth; died in Jefferson County, Kan., October 23, 1886.

His mother, Lydia (Speer) Carithers, was born in 1793, and died

in Hillsdale County, Mich., in 1870. The subject of this sketch is

the eldest of six children, of whom four are now living. Mr. Car-
ithers received a common school education. In 1839, he went to

Lucas County, Ohio, but from there removed to Covington, Ky., in

1847, and engaged in the lumber business until 1S56. In 187 1, he
removed to Madison, Ind., and engaged in the manufacture of car-

riages. Since 1875, when Mr. Carithers came to Shelbyville, he
has also engaged in the manufacture of carriages. In 1849, Mr.
Carithers married Miss Martha Patterson, who was born in Phila-

delphia, in 1 83 1. There are three children to this marriage living,
viz. : Frank E., Mary A. and Lee B. Mr. Carithers is a member
of the Presbyterian Church in Shelbyville: in politics he is a Re-

publican.

James T. Caughey, city editor of the Rcfiihlican, is a native

of New Paris, Ohio, born February 2, 1861. His father was

George W. Caughey, born in Preble County, Ohio, September 17,

183 1, and died in Shelbyville, Indiana, November 11, 1883. He
was, by occupation, a merchant tailor, and carried on that business

in this city for quite a number of years. The paternal grandfather
of the subject here considered, was John Caughey, a native of one
of the Eastern States. The family first settled in Ohio, and in

187 1, came to Shelbyville. The mother of our subject is Sarah

Caughey, born August 31, 1833, and whose maiden name was

Johnson. Mr. Caughey is the younger of two living children.

He was a student in the common schools at New Paris, Ohio,
and on coming to Shelbyville, entered the public school and gradu-
ated from the High School in this city in 1879. Subse([uent to his

graduation, he entered the law office of Adams & Michner, and
there remained for several years. In 1885, he became city editor

of the Shelbyville Rcpiihlicaii, and his success as a newspaper man
is unquestioned. The prosperity of the Republican is in a great
measure due to the energ}^ and untiring effort of Mr. Caughey.
He is also Secretary and Treasurer of The Shelby Printing Com-
pany. In politics, he is a pronounced Republican, and in 1885, was
a candidate on the Republican ticket for city clerk, and owing to a

slight difference in his own party, was defeated by twelve votes cast

in favor of Charles Major. In 1885, he became a member of the

I. O. O. F. He is a leading, active member of the order, and
now holds the position of Vice Grand. Mr. Caughey is a promi-
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nent and highly respected young man, and a firm friend of the Re-

publican party and of education.

Edward H. Ciiadwick, attorney at law, was born at Eaton,
Preble Co., Ohio, March 12, 1852. His earlier da3'S were spent on a

farm, and in the district school-house. Later on he passed through
the preparatory department of Miami University, at Oxford, Ohio.

He also completed the academic course at Dartmouth College in

New Hampshire, graduating from that institution in a class of

eightv-five, in 1878. In 1879, he came to Shelbyville and began
studying law in the office of Ben. F. Lo^'e. He was admitted to

the bar in the spring of 1881, since which time he has engaged in

the practice of his profession. He married, May 6, 1879, Miss
Mary Hughes, who has borne him the following children: John
Erwin, James Manning (deceased) and Edward Hughes. Mr.
Chadwick is a charter member of Chillon Lodge No. 129, Knights
of Pythias. He is a yery faithful attendant at the same, and has

filled some of its most important positions. Politically he is an ar-

dent Republican. Socially he is polite and affable. He has many
friends, and no doubt will make a success in the business he has

chosen.

Lester Clark, Superintendent of Schools of Shelby County,
was born March 27, 1S56, and is the son of Barrack E. and Sarah

(Bilby) Clark, and is of English descent. Our subject is the

younger of two children, and the only one now living. He
was raised on the farm by his maternal grandparents, and received

a fair common school education. He afterward was a student at

normal schools. Both of his parents having died while he was an

infant, Mr. Clark has had to work his own way up in the world,
hence his education is entirely due to his own enerji^y and effort.

He began teaching school in 1876 in Hendricks Township, this

county. Since then he has taught seven terms in that toAvnship
and two terms in Johnson County. About two years ago he moved
to Shelbyville, and spent the winter of 1886 and 1887, teaching
school in Addison Township. June 6, 1887, he was elected Super-
intendent of Shelby Count}- over eight competitors, which position
he now holds. Mr. Clark has been married twice. August 24,

1880, Miss Bettie Hoover, of Johnson Count}', became his wife,

and bore him two children, Arthur B., who died March 12, 1883,
and Willie. She died March i, 1883, of that dread disease con-

sumption. December 24, 1885, he was wedded to Miss Rebecca
Trew of this city, and to them one child has been born, Charles

Trew. Politically, Mr. Clark is a Democrat. He is a member of

Chillon Lodge No. 129, K. of P. He and his wife are both mem-
bers of the First Baptist Church of this city. Mr. Clark is a con-
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scientious Christian gentleman, and his friends predict that his

adminstration as County Superintendent will be eminently suc-

cessful.

Michael Cooxey was born in the southwestern part of Ire-

land, December 26, 1833, and is the son of Patrick and Bridget

(Corey) Cooney, parents both natiyes of the same country. Pat-

rick Cooney was born in 1782, and died in the year 1846. Mrs.

Cooney was born in 1795, and departed this life about the year

1839. Michael Cooney is the third of a famil}- of six children,
three of whom are at this time liying. He was educated at a pri-
vate school in his native countr}^ spent his youthful years on a

farm, and in 1863, came to the United States, and accepted a posi-
tion with the Cincinnati, Hamilton & Dayton Railroad, with head-

quarters at Cincinnati. Februar}-, 1864, he came to Ripley County
Ind., where for three ^-ears he was in the employ of the "

Big Four "

Railroad Co. At the end of that time he was transferred to Shel-

byyille, where, since 1876, he has been foreman of Section 17, on

the above named road, making in all twenty-three years spent in

railroading. Mr. Cooney is one of the trusted employes of the
"
Big Four," and one of the leading and public spirited citizens of

Shelbyville. He was elected to the City Council in 1882, re-elected

in 1886, and at this time is Chairman of the Ditch and Sewer Fund
and the Water Works Committees of that body. Fie takes an ac-

tive interest in all the deliberations of the Council, and is justly es-

teemed one of the city's most faithful and efficient officers. He
was married in 1858, to Miss Catherine Hines, a native of Ireland,

born in the year 1843. Four children have been born to this mar-

riage, viz. : Patrick, John, Mary and Annie Cooney. Mr. Cooney
is a Republican in politics, and with his wife, belongs to the Cath-

olic Church.
Hon. Edmund Cooper.— Conspicuous among the leading citi-

zens of Shelby County, is the gentleman whose name introduces this

biographical sketch. Edmund Cooper was born in Virginia, March

19, 1819, and is the son of Edmund and Catherine (Mason) Cooper,
natives of Virginia and Pennsylvania, respectiveh'. The father was
born in the year 1768, and in an early day emigrated to Indiana,

settling in what is now Washington County, as long ago as 1819,

having been one of the prominent pioneers of that part of the

State. He was a farmer b}' occupation, and departed this life in

the year 1835. Mrs. Cooper w^as born in 1772, and died at her

home in this State about the year 1858. The immediate subject
of this sketch was reared to manhood on a farm, and early chose

agriculture as a life work, in which he has been more than ordi-

narily successful. His early educational advantages were limited
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to the country schools, but having always been a great reader and
an intelligent observer, he has since obtained a fund of general
and practical knowledge such as schools fail to impart. In 1847, he
came to Shelby Count}' and settled in Noble Township, and two

years later went to Iowa, in which State he remained for only a

limited period, returning to this county in the fall of 1850. He
then resumed farming in Noble Township, and was thus engaged
until 1885, at which time he retired from active life and removed
to Shelbyville. He has always taken an active interest in political
and public affairs, and a number of \-ears ago was elected to the

office of Justice of the Peace, and later County Commissioner, in

which capacity he served two terms. In 1880, he was elected to

represent Shelby County in the General Assembly of Indiana, and
as a member of that body discharged his duty in a manner credit-

able to himself and satisfactory to his constituents. He has been a
life long Democrat, but enjoys great personal popularity with all

parties irrespective of political affiliation. He has been twice mar-

ried, the first time in 1848, to Miss Margaret Van Pelt, bv whom
he had several children, three of whom. Squire J., Lewis W., and
Laura A., are now living. Mrs. Cooper died in 1874, and two

years later Mr. Cooper married his present wife, whose maiden
name was Harriet E. Stockton.

Samuel D. Day, retired physician and surgeon, was born in

Dalton, Mass., March 2d, 181 1. His parents were Amasa and
Hannah Day, who lived and died in Massachusetts. The subject of

this sketch received his early education in the district school at which
he was a student during the winter, and his summers until the age
of fifteen, were spent at Pittsfield Academy. Later he began the

study of medicine, and by the time he had gained his majority, he
had taken two courses of lectures at the Birkshire Medical Institute in

Massachusetts, and was graduated therefrom in 1831. In 1832, the

General Assembly of New York attempted to prevent the spread of

cholera by quarantine, and Dr. Day was appointed quarantine phy-
sician at French Creek, where he remained until August, 1832.
In 1836, Dr. Day located for the practice of his profession at Wil-

mington, Decatur Co., Ind. He only remained there a short time and
then removed to Rush County. Dr. Day came to Shelbyville in

1838, and here he has since resided. Here he continued the active

practice of medicine until 1878-— was a regular prctitioner in

Shelbyville for fort}- years. Quit the practice on the account of

failing health. He was married October 28th, 1847, to Miss Jane
Thomson of Pittsburg, Pa., a cousin of the late lamented Vice
President T. A. Hendricks. Mr. and Mrs. Day have spent many
years in Shelbyville and always have been held in exalted esteem.
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John C. Deprez, prominent citizen and manufacturer of Shel-

byville, is a native of Ohio, born in the city of Cincinnati, Novem-
ber 8, 1844. His parents, John and Mary (Corwein) Deprez,
were natives of Germany, the former born, 1803, and the latter in

the 3^ear 181 7. They came to the United States in 1832, and after

a short time spent in Shelby County, Indiana, removed to Cincin-

nati, which city was their home until their return to Shelby County
in 1855. The father died in August, 1867, the mother is still living
in this citv. The subject of this sketch is the oldest son of seven

living children. He enjoved the advantages of a common school

education, and in 1855, accompanied his parents to Shelbyville, of

which city he has since been a resident. In 1866, he became inter-

ested in the woolen mills at Shelbyville, and from that time until

1873, continued the same, abandoning the business the latter year
and affecting a co-partnership in the manufacture of furniture with

Messrs. Conrev & Wallar, a firm which still continues. The fac-

tory operated by this company is one of the largest manufacturing
establishments in Shelbv Count}', and the goods turned out /. r., all

kinds of furniture, will compare favorably with that made in any
other city of Indiana or the west. He is a Mason, having identified

himself with that order in 1868, and in politics votes the Republi-
can ticket. He vs-as married April 11, 1871, to Miss Zera Miller,

of this countv, daughter of Col. Alexander and Lucy (Templeton)
Miller. Mrs. Deprez was born in this county in 1850, and is the

mother of four children, whose names are as follows, to-wit: John
D., Harry W., Herbert B., and Russell, who died June 15, 1887.
Mr. and Mrs. Deprez are members of the Presbyterian Church.

Thomas Devol was born in Washington County, Ohio, July

28, 1 81 7, son of Arphaxed and Mary (Dye) Devol. His father

was born in Rhode Island, and was raised in Massachusetts. He
came westward to Ohio, in a ^•ery early day, and died in Morgan
Count}^, in 1840. His mother was born in Pennsylvania, and died

in Morgan County, about 1846. The subject of our sketch is the

fifth of eight sons, and is the onlv one now living. He was raised

on a farm in Morgan Countv, Ohio, and came to Indiana in 1835.
He did not move to Shelby County, however, until 1839. Since

1842, this county has been his permanent residence. Mr. Devol

carried on the business of farmer until 1871, after which time he

lived in Shelbyville, and since 1874 has been a grain merchant.

In 1842, he was united in the bonds of matrimony to Miss Priscilla

B. Ross, who is a native of Ross County, Ohio. They have been

blessed with three children: Aurilla V., Mary M. and Clarke R,
Mr. Devol was once a member of the Whig party, but is now a

Republican, although ver}^ liberal in his political views. Mr.
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Devol became a Mason about twenty-eight years ago, and was
the sixteenth member to join the I. O. O. F. He and his wife are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He is one of the

most zealous Christians in this city. He is one of the leadinij'

spirits in all reforms and revivals. He attends the other churches

as well as his own, and loves to minirle his voice with other con<jre-

gations in worship. He is honest and upright in all of his business

dealin<rs, and is one of the best men in Shelbyville.

DouLAS Dobbins, Ex-County buperintendent of Schools was
born in Shelby Covmtv, July 27, i860, the son of Hugh and Clarissa

(Miner) Dobbins. The father w'as born in Virginia in 181 3, and

at an earh' age accompanied his parents to Indiana, the family set-

tling in Shelb}^ County about the year 1822, having been among
the tirst pioneers. Mrs. Dobbins was born in Delaware County,
New York and came to this county in 1856 or '57. Mr. Dobbins
was raised on a farm and obtained a rudimentary education in the

common school's of the county. He made rapid progress in his

various studies and at the early age of thirteen was sufficiently ad-

vanced to obtain a teacher's license, although he did not engage in

school work until several years later. His first experience as an

instructor was in 1878, from which date until 1883, he was regu-
larly employed in the schools of the county, earning the reputation
of an able and painstaking teacher in the meantime. In the latter

year he was chosen Superintendent of the Shelby County Public

Schools, the duties of which he discharged until 1887, having
been re-elected in 1885. As a teacher Mr. Dobbins has been very
successful and possesses in a marked degree the traits of character

which insure his success and popularity. He is prominently identi-

fied with the I. O. O. F. fraternity, and politically supports the

principles of the Democratic party. December 24, 1885, he mar-

ried Miss Lena Smith, daughter of H. H. Smith, of Indianapolis a

union blessed with one child, Jessie.
Ithamar H. Drake, M. D., was born in Warren County, Ohio,

near Lebanon, September 4th, 1828. His father, Peter Drake, was
born in Washington County, Pa., in 1787, and died in 1S71, at Le-

banon, Ohio.» He was a farmer by occupation, and was one of the

pioneers of Ohio. The paternal grandfather of Dr. Drake, was Peter

Drake, a native of New Jersey. The family dissented from the

Church of England, and the ancestors of Dr. Drake came to America
in the noted Mayflower. The family is of Baptist faith. The grand-
father of Dr. Drake was accidentally killed while raising a log house

in Warren County, Ohio. The mother of our subject was Sarah

Drake, whose maiden name was Merritt, a native of Delaware in i793-
She was the daughter of Isaac Merritt, a Delaware slave holder,

15
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who early became impressed with the idea that slavery was wrong,
and brought his slaves to Ohio and emancipated them, and gave
them homes in Ohio. Isaac Merritt died in the early part of this

centurv. The subject of this biography is the sixth of nine chil-

dren, five of whom are yet living. The boyhood of Dr. Drake was

spent on the farm of his father. He attended the common school;
afterward entered Lebanon Academy where he remained for three

years. Subsequently he entered the law othce of Lauren Smith, at

Lebanon, Ohio, and continued the study of law for about one year.
From 1848 to 185 1, he was principal of Pearl River Academy in

Madison County, Minn. He also began the stud}' of medicine about

this time. Returning from Minnesota in 1 851, he entered the office

of Drs. Van Halangen and Drake, at Lebanon. He graduated
from the Cleveland Medical College in the class of 1S52 and 1853.
In May, 1853, he came to Indiana and located in Putnam Count}',
at Brick Chapel. Here he remained for fifteen years. In 1869,
he removed to Delaware, Ripley Co., Ind., and there remained

until 1S80, when he came to Shelbyville. He has been in the ac-

tive practice of medicine for thirty-three years. In 1855, he was
President of the Medical Society of Putnam County. Was elected

from Ripley County to the legislature of 1879 '^"^ 1880. He was
married in September, 1853. to Miss Christiana Morrison, of Cleve-

land, Ohio, a native of Scotland, born in 1832. They have three

sons, viz. : Lauren, Dr. Morris and Frank.

HiRAivi J. Drake, Ex-County Commissioner, was born in Wash-

ington Township, Shelby County, Indiana, September 13, 1835.
He was the son of Ephriam and Sarah

( Fulks) Drake, and is of

English descent. The Drake family came to Shelby County in the

spring of 1831, and settled in Washington Township. The first

dwelling which sheltered this pioneer family was a rail-pen. The
father died December 11, 1867, and the mother followed three

years later November 16, 1870. Mr. Drake is the sixth member of

a family of eleven children, seven of whom are now living. The
boyhood of this gentleman was spent in work upon the farm. He
did not have very many chances to obtain an education, but at-

tended the few subscription schools which were then taught. After

he attained his majority, he began doing for himself. In 1856, he

commenced the occupation of a farmer upon his own responsibility,
and has continued in that line until now. Politically, Mr. Drake is

a Democrat. In 1880, he was elected Commissioner for the second

district, which position he filled for two years. The family have

quite recently moved to Shelbvville, and now reside in Love, Major
and Morrison's Addition to the city. Mr. Drake still owns a farm

in Hendricks Township. April 2, 1857, Miss Mary Ellen Earns-
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worth became the wife of our subject, and three children had been

born to this union, Amanda E., Sarah M., and Phcebe M. Mr.

Drake is one of the old settlers of this county and is well known in

this community.
Morris Drake, M. D., began life's career on the 4th day

of March, 1856, in Putman County, Indiana. He is the son of Dr.

Ithamar H. Drake and Christiana (Morrison )
Drake. He received

such an education as is o-enerallv obtained in the common schools.

He also attended Moor's Hill College in Dearborn County, Indiana,

severalterms. He began the study of medicine in 1878. Immed-
iately he began attending lectures at the Ohio Medical College at

Cincinnati and graduated from that institution in i38i, and the same

year, began the practice of his profession at Shelbyville. He was

appointed County Physician several years ago, and has held that

position ever since, save one ytar. During the year 1884-5, he

served as Secretary of the Shelby County Board of Health, a pos-
ition of considerable importance. He is a member of the Shelby

Lodge No. 39, I. O. O. F., and has been secretary of said lodge
for two years or more. He is also a member of the Shelb}- En-

campment. He is one of the most prominent young physicians,..

and has acquired an enviable reputation as a surgeon. He is a very

popular citizen and a most elegant gentleman.

John C. Eagl?:, A. M. — The gentleman whose name intro-

duces this biograph}', was born March 23, 1845, in Montgomery
County, Ohio, and is a son of David B. and Ann Eagle, whose
maiden name was Mason. The family here treated, is of German;

descent on the one side, and Scotch-Irish on the other. The father

of Prof. Eagle was a native of Ohio, born in Montgomer}^ County
in 1806, and died in that State in 1S76. By occupation he was a

farmer and contractor. The mother of Prof. Eagle was born in

Montgomery County, Ohio, in 181 3, and died in Illinois in 1871.

Our subject is one of four children now living and was raised on

the farm. His first, or primary education, was accjuired at the

country schools of his native county.- At fourteen years of age, he

be£ran for himself, a self-education at his Ohio home. So

thoroughly had he prepared himself, that upon an exammation in

1866, he was permitted to enter the senior class of Denison Uni-

vesity at Granville, Ohio, and from which he graduated in 1867.

In 18^68, he went to Clay County, Illinois and for two years, was

Superintendent of the Lewisville Schools. He then returned to

Ohio and for some time, was engaged in the life insurance business.

From 1873 to 1879, he was Superintendent of the Union City
Schools and from 1879 to 1887, had charge of the Edinburg
Schools. In June, 1887, he was elected Superintendent of the Pub-
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lie Schools of Shelbyville. His success as an educator, at Union

City and at Edinburg was of the highest order and as a school man
in every sense, he is a pronounced success and Shelbvville is very
fortunate in gaining his services. Prof. Eagle removed to Shelb}'-
ville in July, 1887. His marriage occurred in 1S70, to Miss Mag-
gie Grant, a native of Kentucky and born in 1852. The}' have one

child, viz. : Mable. Mr. Eagle is a Mason and a member of the

G. A. R. He enlisted in 1862, in Company G, Sixty-ninth Ohio
Volunteer Infantry and was honorably discharged after one

3-
ear's ser-

vice, at Nashville, Tenn. Prof. Eagle is a most pleasant and refined

gentleman and a true friend of the public schools, and extended

education.

Joshua H. Exos.— The gentleman whose name introduces this

sketch, was born in Philadelphia, Pa., January 5, 1823, being the

son of Joshua S. and Nancy (Pearson) Enos, natives of the State

of Delaware. Paternally, Mr. Enos is descended from Scotch-Irish

ancestors, and on the mother's side, is of English descent. His father

moved to Philadelphia at an early day and died in that city in 1824.
The mother, in 1852, came to Shelbyville, Ind., and resided here

until her death, about twelve years later. Joshua H. Enos in early
life learned the stone cutter's trade in Ciiicinnati, and after becom-

ing proficient in the same, began working and contracting in vari-

ous places. He did the first cut limestone work in Indianapolis,
aside from the old State house, the material for the building he put

up being hauled by wagons from this county. In 1852, he came
to Shelbyville, where he has since resided, being at this time one of

the oldest and most highly respected residents of the city. He
served as a member of the Common Council from 1871 until 1882,
and was again elected a member of that body in 1886. During
the year 1883, he served as Ma3-or of Shelbvville, in which office

he displayed wise judgment and good executive ability. He was

originally a Whig, but when the standard of that old party was trailed

in the dust, he identified himself with its successor, the Republican
party, of which he is an earnest supporter. He joined the Odd
Fellows fraternity in 1852, and for thirty years has been a member
of the Grand Lodge of Indiana. Mr. Enos was married in 1843,
to Miss Louisa La}'ton, by whom he is the father of four children,

viz.: Mary, Nannie, Joseph and Lulu.

Charles J. Fastlaben.— The gentleman whose biographical
sketch is herewith presented, is a native of Shelby County, Ind.,

and dates his birth from the 4th day of June, 1859. -^^^ father

was Henry Fastlaben, a native of Germany, born March 13, 1828,
and his mother w^hose maiden name was Caroline Markley, was
born in the same country, on the 24th day of March, 1828. Mr.
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and Mrs. Fastlaben were the parents of eight children, the subject
of this sketch being the second in number. His early educational

training was obtained in the Shelbyville city schools, supplemented
bv a course at St. Joseph's Academy, Cincinnati, and later at the

St. Mary's Institute, Dayton, Ohio, where he made substantial pro-

gress in the higher branches of learning. x\ugust 2, 1873, he ac-

cepted the position of Deputy Clerk, Shelby Circuit Court, the

duties of which position he discharged in an eminently creditable

manner, until March 4, 1886, when owing to the death of Albert J.

Gorgas, Clerk, he was appointed to till out the unexpired term.

He acted as Clerk until November 11, 1886, at which time he

again became Deputy under Thomas S. Jones, the present incum-

bent of the ofhce. Mr. Fastlaben is an accomplished business man,
thoroutrhlv familiar with all the details of the office with which he

has so long been identified, and has the respect and confidence of

the public irrespective of political affiliation. He is a Democrat,
and as such has been a potent factor in local politics, though in no

sense a bitter partisan. Religiously, he is a Catholic. Mr. and

Mrs. Fastlaben are the parents of an infant girl, unnamed, the

source of much pride to them.

Hon. Edwin P. Ferris was born July 13, 1829, at the town of

Little Falls, Herkimer County, N. Y., and is the youngest son

of a family of eight children. His parents' names were Syhester
and Rhoda (King) Ferris, natives of the Empire State. The father

was a Baptist minister. The family moved to Chillicothe, Ohio, in

I S3 5, and during the following year they came to Hogan Hill,

Dearborn County, Indiana, and resided thereuntil 1846, when they
removed to Ripley County, and located about seven miles from the

countv seat. Here he assisted his father in clearing a small farm, and

durino- the winter attended the common schools. About the time

he became of age he went to the county seat to attend the county

seminaries, but in a short time was promoted to be one of the

teachers. He afterward attended a Commercial College and re-

ceived a diploma therefrom. He also began attending Franklin

College, where he remained until 1854. During the same year he

was elected County Surveyor of Ripley County, serving two years.
December 31, 1854, Mr. E. P. Ferris was married to Miss Sibyl F.

Stephens, who was born in Ohio. They have had eight children,

six of whom are now living, two boys and four girls. After Mr.

Ferris' term as Surveyor had expired, and while working on the

farm, he spent all of his spare time studying law. He began the

practice thereof in 1858, with Hon. A. C. Downey. He soon se-

cured a good practice. In 1862, he was elected representative in

the State Legislature, and had the pleasure of voting for Hon.
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David Turpie, for United States Senator, vice Hon. Jesse D. Bright,

expelled, and also voted for Hon. Thomas A. Hendricks, for a

position in the same august body. In the canvass of 1876, Ferris

was one of the Democratic electors, and ag-ain voted for Governor
Hendricks for Vice President. In April, 1878, Mr. Ferris removed
from Versailles to Shelbyville, where he has since resided. The

subject of this sketch and his family are members of the Presbv-
terian Church, and the former has been for manv years a faithful

and earnest Sabbath School worker, meeting two classes each dav,
one in the morning at the Christian Church, and one in the even-

ing at his own. Mr. Ferris is a prominent and influential Chris-

tian gentleman.
Thomas Finley, Countv Survevor of Shelby County, was born

in Indianapolis, October 18, i860. He is the son of Morris and

Bndgett (McVey) Finley, and is an Irish-American, both of his

parents having been born in Ireland. The father came to this

country about 1852, and landed at New Orleans, subsequently
comint*' to Indiana. Thomas is the eldest of six children. He has

received a good common school education, together with quite an ex-

tensive course at two of our best Normal Colleges. He attended

quite a number of terms at the Central Indiana Normal School at

Danville, where he completed the course of Surveving and Civil-

engineering, and a term or so at the Northern Indiana Normal
School, located at Valparaiso. The family came to this county
about 1S72, and settled on a farm near Boggstown. For several

years Thomas worked at the various duties which usually fall to

the lot of a farmer's bov. He afterward bv means of hard study,
and perseverance succeeded in obtaining a teacher's license and be-

gan teaching school, about the fall of 1880. In his teaching he be-

came ver}' successful, and the best schools of the county were offered

him. In the spring of 1886, he became a candidate for County
Surveyor, and received in the Democratic primary election a

large pluralitv o^'er several competitors. In the fall, he was
still further honored bv being elected to that responsible office by
a large majority as alreadv intimated. Mr. Finley is a Simon-pure
Democrat, and cast his first vote for Cle^'eland, in 1884. He is a

member of St Joseph's Catholic Church of this citv. He is a self-

made voung man, and has worked his own wav up in the world.

He deserves great credit for what he has already accomplished,
and his friends hope that "the end is not yet."

George W. Fleming, M. D., is a native of Westmoreland

Co., Pennsylvania. He is a son of Dr. George W. Fleming, and
Belinda (McGrew) Fleming, and was born November 27, 1843.
The father of Dr. Fleming, born in Washington Countv, Pennsvl-
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vania, in the year iSoi, entered Washington College at an earl}^

age, and completed his literar}- course in 1822. He immediately

began the study of medicine in his native town under Dr. James
Straus, an eminent physician of that place. In 1S30, he tirst came
to Shelby County; remaining but two years, he returned to Penn-

sylvania: but in 1849, came again to Shelby ville, where he resided
until his death, March 21, 1864. He is remembered as one of the

most eminent physicians this section of Indiana ever had. The
mother of our subject, born in Westmoreland County, Pennsylvania,
in 1808, is still living in Shelbyville. Dr. Fleming is the elder of

two children, the younger of whom, Thomas, is cashier of the

Shelby Bank. He came with his parents to this county in 1849,
and soon attended the public schools of Shelbvville. In 1861, he
entered "Washington and Jefferson College" of Pennsylvania,

graduating from that school in 1865. First beginning the studv of

medicine in the otHce of S. D. Day, M. D., in 1866, he next at-

tended school at Ann Arbor, Mich., and graduated from the depart-
ment of chemistry; then attending lectures at Bellevue Hospital
Medical College, of New York City, he received his degree from
that institution in 1868. The same year he located at Shelbyville,

where he has since continued in the practice of his profession. In

1879, ^^- Fleming married Mrs. Laura G. Wilson, youngest daugh-
ter of Soloman A. Gorgas. He is up with the times in every
thing relating to his profession and has made several trips to Europe,
taking the advantage of visiting the hospitals of its different coun-

tries, to further his knowledge. In politics he is an ardent Repub-
lican, and socially, is a very pleasant and courteous gentleman,
t Hon. Oliver J. Glessxer, attorney at law, was born in Fred-
erick City, Maryland, October 11, 1828. The Glessner family
came originally from Germans', and settled in Pennsylvania. John
Glessner, Oliver's father, was born in 1800, and died in 1865, in

Morgan County, Indiana. His mother, Elnora Glessner, a native

of Baltimore, Md., was born in 1803. The subject of this sketch

is the second of twelve children, ten of whom are living. Mr. Gless-

ner came with his parents to Indianapolis in 1836, and there re-

mained a short time, thence moving to Morgan County. He grew
to manhood on the farm, receiving a good common school educa-

tion meanwhile. He began the study of law in 1853, in the office

of W. R. Harrison. Durin<y the same winter he entered the De-

partment of Law in the State University and graduated in 1856.
He located afterward at Martinsville and began the active prac-
tice of law. In 1864, he was elected Judge of the 8th Judicial Dis-

trict, and served until 1868. He moved to Shelbvville in 1865,
and has been practicing law ever since his term as judge expired.
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Judge Glessner is in politics a Democrat. He was elected a mem-
ber of the State Senate from Shelby and Bartholomew Counties,
in 1870, and served four 3-ears. In 1872, while vet a Senator, he
introduced the bill which abolished the Common Pleas Court. He
was married to Miss Louzena Moore, of Georgetown, Ills., in i860.

To this union live children have come, Louann, Daniel M., Franklin,
Martha and Oliver J. In 1880, he was chosen to act as one of the

presidential electors upon the Democratic ticket, but was not elected.

Judge Glessner is one of Shelbyville's most prominent citizens. He
is an active man in everything he undertakes, and always makes
his influence felt whatever way he chooses to move.

James W. Green, M. D., was born in Rush County, Ind., Feb-
ruary 5, 1825. He is the son of Lot and Anna (Cooper) Green,
and is of English extraction. The family is descended from four

brothers, who came to America from England. Our subject is the

eldest of five sons and three daughters. His boyhood was spent
on the farm, where he received a common school education. He
began the study of medicine in the office of Dr. William Frame, at

Rushville. In 1847, he was licensed to practice medicine by the

Fifth District Medical Institute, and by Rush Medical College, at

Chicago, in 1856. From 1856 to 1886, he was engaged in the

practice of his profession at Arlington, Rush County, where he
was very successful. He came to Shelbyville September i, 1886,
and took charge of a large and lucrative practice, which was
turned over to him b}' the death of his brother, William Frame
Green, who for man}^ years lived in Shelbyville, and lead the medi-
cal profession in Shelby County. The latter was born in Rush

County, Indiana, April i, 1831. The earlier days of his life were

passed on a farm, where he managed to get a fair common school

education. He taught school for two winters, then began the study
of medicine in Drs. Selman & Bassell's office, afterward stud^'ing
with his brother in Rush County. He graduated from the Rush
Medical College, of Chicago, February 20, 1856. He immedi-

ately began the practice of medicine in Shelbyville, and so contin-

ued until his death, which occurred August 19, 1886. His brother,
the immediate subject of this sketch, was for many years a mem-
ber of the Rush Count}- Medical Society, and is also a member of

the State Medical Society. In 1882, he became a member cf the

National Medical Association, at St. Paul, Minn. He was married
in 1846, to Miss Mary J. Gowdy. This union has produced nine

children: Dr. Lot, Annie, Preston S., Dr. James C, Isabella M.,

John D., William and Thomas (twins), and Nellie.. In politics,

Dr. Green is a Republican. He is an Odd Fellow, and his wife

and he are members of the Christian Church.
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Wn.LiAM Hacker.*— I trace my ancestorial line back near
five hundred years. In the year 149^, so far as is now known, my
line of descent commenced at the birth Wilhelm Heckardt, near
the city of Dresden, in Saxony. This gentleman being the first

born of his parents, of course under the laws of the country then

prevailing, inherited his father's estates, which were large and ex-

tensive. In early manhood he espoused the cause of the Reform-
ation as taught by Luther and his co-adjutors. In consequence,
for personal safety, he was compelled to leave his native State and
he became reduced to want if not to real beggary. In 1520, he
reached the city of London. Being true to his convictions of re-

ligious faith, for a term of some six vears, he emploved his time in

preaching the Reformation and distributing the Bible with Luther's

tracts, in and about London and Essex. While thus engaged he
became (juite proficient in the English language, and having now
nothing left to ever call him back to his native country, he Anglic-
ized his name, writing it ever after William Hacker. This is the

origin of the name, and with his descendants it has remained such
in all lands. The Bishop of London had been watching the Reforma-
tion with much uneasiness. In 1527, he caused Hacker to be ar-

rested, thrown into prison, examined, abused and mistreated in

many ways in order to make him confess and renounce his faith,

and finally bv order of Sir Thomas More, as Chancellor under

Henry VIII, he was placed in the rack and tortiu-ed, but no re-

nunciation of his convictions could they extort from him. He was
left bv his tormentors to linger along in awful agony and suffering
for perhaps near a year when he died. About 120 years later a

great-grandson of this original W'illiam Hacker, became the fa-

mous Col. Francis Hacker, the Drill Officer and Commander of

Cromw^ell's Iron-Side Brigade, and led that famous brigade in many
a well-fou(jhl battle durino" the Commonwealth of Enirland. During-
the imprisonment of Charles I, Col. Hacker had command of the

troops thatkept guard over the King, andleadthatunhappy Monarch
to the scaffold at his execution. Among the first acts of Parliament
after the restoration of the monarchy was the bill of attainder

against those who had taken part in the condemnation and execu-

tion of Charles I, which was to extend -to them and their posterity
forever. Under this act Col. Hacker was arrested, condemned

by the king's star chamber court, and on the 20th of October,

1660, was lead off to execution. A son of Col. Francis Hacker^

during the Commonwealth of England, became a cadet under

Admiral Blake. The law of attainder being passed, of course this

gallant sailor became an out-law, he accordingly made his way to

"Written by himself.
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the now free State of Holland, where under an assumed name, he

joined the Holland Nav}', in which he continued rendering good
service for the remainder of his life. A son of this sea captain,
named William, born in 1680, was taken bv his father with him on

shipboard almost from his infancy, and thus in every sense of the

word he became a true sailor-boy. In 1725, being then about forty-
five years of age, he determined to quit the sea, come to America,
and settle down for life. He accordingly shipped as a common
sailor on an emigrant vessel, and on his way over he became ac-

quainted with a young lady of Scotch descent, and on arriving at

Philadelphia, they were married, and soon after moved to the

Shenandoah Valley, near Winchester, Virginia, where they con-

tinued to reside, cultivating a farm until 1773, when they removed
with their children over the mountains on the west fork of the Mo-

nongahela, near what was then called Fort Buchannan, when two

years later he died at the age of ninety-six years. His widow
survived him thirty-one years. She died in 1803, at the age of

ninetv-tive years. They had two sons— William and John— and
live daujJ'hters. William, durino- the French and Indian war, be-

came a soldier under Washington, and served in the army through
the Revolution and until the treaty of Greenville with the Indians.

John, the second son of the sailor-boy, became my grandfather. He
remained with his parents on the farm near Winchester, Virginia,
until 1769, when he brought his family over the mountains into

Western Virginia and settled on a tract of land he had purchased
from the State near where the town of Weston, in Lewis County,
is located, where he continued to reside cultivating his farm until

1824, when he died at the age of eighty-one years. Grandfather

Hacker was connected with the armv in some capacity on the

frontiers from the commencement of the Revolution, until the

close of the Indian War in 1795, and was with General

Wayne at the treaty of Greenville, in that vear,~ which closed the

Indian War in the west. My father, also named John, was the

second son of his parents. Born in a block-house on the west fork

of the Monongahela, in Lewis County, Virginia, Januuary 17,

1773. He continued to reside with his parents, assisting in cultivat-

ing the farm and lighting back the marauding bands of Indians

until 1805, when he emigrated with his family to Ohio, and settled

for a time in Greene Count}-. In 1809, with a number of his neigh-
bors, he moved up into what was then called the Big Darby Plains,
where he remained until about the commencement of the last war
with Enjjland, when he returned with his family to Greene County.
At the surrender of General Hull, at Detroit, volunteers being
called for, he promptly enlisted under Gen. Harrison, and was with
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that o-allant officer until the war in the northwest closed. He then

purchased from the government a tract of land in Montgomery
County, Ohio, where he resided until the fall of 1833, when he,
with his family, came to Shelby County, Indiana, and settled on a

farm some six miles north of Shelbyyille, where on the 15th of

October, 1834, he died. While my parents were residing in the

Darby Plains, on the 5th of December, 1810, I was born. As this

was at that time an unorganized territory, and claimed by the

Indians, they becoming quite hostile toward the white settlers for

thus— as they claim— intruding upon their lands. A short time

before the battle of Tippecanoe, in 181 1, my parents moved back
to the settlement in Greene County, consequently I never did

know the exact place of my birth, but it was some where in what
was then known as the Big\ Darby Plains. When about five years

of ace I lost my mother, my father beiniif thus left with nine chil-

dren to look after and provide for, I was in consequence thus left

in early life to look after and take care of myself, in a ijreat meas-
ure. This, perhaps, more than any one thing else, taught me self-

reliance by which I have been enabled to successfully work my
way through life to the present time. Being thus brought up in a

new country, and but thinly settled, I liad scarcely no educational

privileges. About two months in the winter season of four or five

years is all the schooling I ever had the privilege of receiving.
But m\' memorN' bein(j extraordinarily fjood and mv mind active

and vigorous, I naturally improved every spare hour in acquiring
such a knowledge of matters and things as would enable me to

take an honorable position in community and become useful to my
day and generation. This studious habit, commenced in early life

from necessit}', has become a second nature to me, so that now at the

age of seventy-seven years I cannot enjoy an idle moment unless read-

msi and searchincr for further useful knowled"'e in some branch of

history or science, I am therefore as will be seen emphatically a self-

educated person. And such has been my success in this line that some

twenty years ago one of our incorporated colleges thought proper
to confer upon me the honorary title of LL. D. Until the age of

seventeen I remained working with my father on the farm, but be-

ing of a nervous, bilious temperament and consequently somewhat

weakly in bodily organism it was thought best for me to change

my occupation, I therefore went to Davton, and served a four years'

apppenticeship to a mechanical profession. In 1833, I came with

my father to Indiana, purchased propert}' in Shelbyville, which has

been my home ever since. In 1838, I
(]uit my trade and engaged

in mercantile pursuits. It, however, soon became evident that I

was made for a more acti\'e life. My health failed and I was thus
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compelled to abandon such business pursuits. In 1843, I assisted

in organizing a railroad company, became its secretary, assisted in

locating the line, and superintending the construction of the road

until completed and in running order. In 185 1, I tried merchandis-

ing again, but in the short space of three years failing health com-

pelled me to relinquish the business a second time. This was my
last venture in that line. Between 1841 and 1864, I served nine-

teen vears as Justice of the Peace, and although in that time I de-

cided thousands of cases between neighbors, yet I never had a law

suit with anv one on my own account in my life, nor did I ever

have a serious (|uarrel with any one. The best work, however, as

I conceive in which I have, perhaps, been of the greatest benefit

to mv dav and 2;eneration, has been in connection with the Masonic

Fraternity, the Church, the Sunda}' Schools and the temperance

organizations. I was made a Mason in St. John's Lodge No. 13,

Dayton, Ohio, Julv 9, 1832. The principles of pure moralit}-' taught
me at my admission into the order being so in accordance with those

taufrht me in earlv life, that I at once conceived an ardent attachment

for the order which has not abated in the least to the present time. I

have passed through the grades of the lodge, chapter, council and

commandry ;
have presided over all those departments for many years;

have received the grades of the Scottish Rite to the thirty-third and

last degree of that rite. I became a member of the Grand Lodge
of Indiana in 1835, '^"^ have been a working member of that body
at everv session since. In 1846, I filled the office of Grand Master
for two vears, and that of Grand Secretary three years. In 1868,,

my hearing becoming so defective I was necessarily compelled to

decline further service in that position. I became a member of

the Grand Chapter of Indiana in 1848, and have been present and
assisted in its labors at every session held since. Served four years
as Grand High Priest and three years as Grand Secretary. I as-

sisted in the organization of the Grand Council of Indiana, in 1855,
and have served six years as its Grand Master, and three years as

Grand Recorder; have been present and participated in its labors at

everv session to the present time. I also assisted at the organiza-
tion of the Grand Commandry of Knights Templars of Indiana,
in 1854, and have filled almost ever}^ station in that Grand Body to

that of Grand Recorder three years, and Grand Commander, two

years, and have been present and assisted in its deliberations .at

ever}' conclave held since its organization but one, when from sick-

ness I was unable to attend. For the past twenty years or more, I

have annually been placed at the head of the committee on juris-

prudence in all those Grand Bodies. In consequence, their consti-

tutions and laws, as the}' now stand, are principally as I have
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moulded them. I assisted in the orcranization of the council of

High Priests for Indiana, and in 1S55 was elected its presiding otli-

cer, which honorable position I held by annual re-elections until

the session of 1875, when my hearing becoming so defective that

I was compelled to decline further service in that important posi-
tion. In i8s6, at the city of Hartford, Conn., I became a

member of the General Grand Chapter and Grand Encampment
of the United States, and still retain my membership in both of

those Grand Bodies to the present day. I was an officer in the

General Grand Chapter for twelve years. Three 3'ears of that

time I held that of General Grand King. At the triennial session

at Baltimore, in 1871, from my defective hearing I had necessarily
to decline all further official duties with these National Grand
Bodies. The first otlicial station to which I was called in the Ma-
sonic fraternity, was that of W. Master of the Lodge. This was
in June, 1835. Since then I have not been one moment's of time

without holding some prominent position among the craft, often,

and for years at a time, as hi<>'h as eleven honorable stations. At
the present I hold, and for the past fifteen years I have held,se\'en,

four elective and three appointed offices. This may signif}^ that

my declining 3'ears have not abated my interest and zeal in the in-

stitution in the least. In 1825, at about fifteen years of age, I be-

came a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and to-day I

remain as tirmly attached to the o'overnment and doctrines of that

church as at any time m my life. In 1843, I was appointed a stew-

ard in the church and continued such until my loss of hearing com-

pelled me to decline further service. For twelve years in succession

I represented the district as lay delegate in the annual conference.

In 1850, I was elected as one of the trustees of the church in Shel-

byville, which position I held until 1879, when I sent in nw resig-
nation. At the same time I was holding' a similar position in the

Second Methodist Episcopal Church, which position I still hold and
endeavor to discharoe its duties to the best of my ability. I be-

came attached to the Sunday School cause as early as 1823, and

continued to attend upon its interests and labors until loss

of hearing rendered me useless. After having settled in

Shelbyville, I assisted in the organizing of the present Sunday
School of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and my labors

in that line as teacher, secretar}-, librarian, treasurer and

eighteen years as superintendent or until 1875, when my inability

to hear, became so great that I had to retire from further partici-

pation in these, to me, pleasing labors. I have been a warm advo-

cate of temperance all my life, never made use of a drop of ardent

spirits except as a medicine, consequently do not know from personal
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experience, the feelings produced when under the influence of in-

toxicating Hquors. I connected myself with, and became an active

worker, in all the early temperance organizations, andopenlv advo-

cated their cause until it went into politics. Not caring to carrv a

pure moral principle into State and National politics, I declined

further co-operation with the present temperance organization,

though, adhering as strongly as ever to the principle of temper-
ance as a moral reformation that must and will inevitablv prevail,
as I believe. I have ahvavs been an ardent politician of the Henry
Clav School, though never a noisy one. Have advocated as stren-

ouslv as I could, without giving offense to those who might differ

with me in opinion, the doctrines of American labor, public im-

provements, national currenc}' and free schools. Mv father left

Virginia on account of slavery, consequently I was brought up un-

der the free soil doctrines. Hence when the present Republican

partv was organized, I naturally went with that party, and so re-

main to the present day. The happiest hour perhaps that I ever

felt in mv life, was when I read President Lincoln's emancipation

proclamation. I was married January 20, 1S39, ^^ Miss May Ann,

daughter of Re^•. Thomas W. Sargent, a distant relative of Hon.

John Sargent, many years a Senator in Congress, from Pennsyl-
vania, as also of the several noted ministers of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church of that name at Baltimore and Cincinnati. We have
raised seven children, five girls and two boys, one died a few years
since, leaving us six still living, all married, settled in life, industri-

ous and strivincr to make an honest livino-. I have thus mven as

concise a sketch of the male line of my family from the earliest au-

thentic history, down to the present time as I know how, and were
I to sketch the female or maternal line, it would no doubt be far

more interesting than that of the paternal side of the house, but as

this is not called for, like the old Indian chief, I exclaim " Al-a-

bain-a," here I rest.

John B. Hardebeck, a native of Hamilton County, Ohio, was
born on the 29th dav of March, 1844. His parents, Barney and
Elizabeth (Lutt) Hardebeck, were natives of Germany, the former

born 1819, and the latter in the year 1823. They came to the

United States in 1840, and settled in Hamilton County, Ohio, mov-

ing subsequently to Indiana, and locating in Decatur County. John
B. Hardebeck was educated in the common schools, and having
earlv manifested a decided taste for mechanical pursuits, engaged
at the age of fifteen to learn the machinist's trade at Lawrence-

burgh, Ind., in which city he remained until 1861. In the latter

year he responded to the country's call for volunteers, enlisting in

the Sixth Ohio Battery, with which he served for a period of three
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months, enlisting in Company E, Thirty-fifth Kentucky Infantry at

the end of that time, and sharing the fortunes and yicissitudes of

\yar ^yith that regiment until 1S62. He \yas then transferred to the

Fifth Indiana Cayalry, Company H, with which he participated in

some of the bloodiest engagements of the war, including the Battle

of the Wilderness in 1864, where he was captured and taken to the

noted prison pen at Andersonyille. He was held a prisoner for

three months, suffering many priyations and hardships during that

time. He was honorably discharged from the seryice September
15, 1865, and immediately thereafter began W'Orking at his trade at

Millhousen. During the succeeding four years he carried on the

mercantile business at the town of Millhousen, Ind., after which he

eniraned in the manufacture of woolen floods, continuing the latter

until 1874, when he sold out and remoyed to Indianapolis. He sub-

sequently returned to Millhousen. and later moyed to Shelb3'yille

and opened a grocery and saloon, w'hich afterward- burned, entail-

ing upon him a loss of about $7,000. With that energy character-

istic of the man he at once resumed business, and although

experiencing many difficulties, continued the same until 1885, at

which time he abandoned merchandising and accepted the position

of Gauger of the Sixth Indiana District, the duties of which posi-

tion he has discharged until the present time. Mr. Hardebeck's

military record is one of which any man might feel justly proud,
and as an intelligent and courteous gentleman he has the respect
and confidence of the community around him. He is a Democrat
in politics and belongs to the G. A. R. and K. of L. He has seryed

as a member of the City Council of Shelbyyille, haying been

elected to that body in 18S5, and re-elected in 1887. In 1863, he

married Miss Christina E. Koeler, who was born in Ohio, August
24, 1843. Mr. and Mrs. Hardebeck haye fiye children, yiz. : Rosa,

Charles, Bertha, Lawrence and Leo.

Andrew J. Higgins was born near Brookyille, Franklin

County, Indiana, December 28th, 1830. His father, Henry Hig-

gins, of Iris)i descent, w^as born in Kentucky, came to Shelby

County in 1835, and died in this city in 1872. Malinda (Jackson)

Higgins, the mother of our subject, was born in Ohio, January ist,

1813, and now resides in Shelbyyille. Andrew^ J. is the eldest of a

family of eight children. He receiyed a common school education

sufficient to enable him to teach school, which he began at the age
of seyenteen years and followed at interyals with marked success

for a period of nine years. In 1847, he embarked in the jewelry

business, which he carried on with financial profit until 1877, when
he retired and entered the business arena as real estate dealer, and

being a man of excellent judgment, has made some yery profitable
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investments. In 1852, he was united in marriage with Miss Frances

Shadlev, by whom he is the father of eleven children, Marv J., Eliza-

beth A., James B., Margaret E., Francis M., Geo. T., Mattie E.,

Ursula, Charlie A., and Samuel T., and William, now dead.

Hon. Kendall Moss Hord.— That every man will follow his

own inclinations the best and do it so easily that he hardly seems to

put forth an effort, is proof that great excellence and superioritv
usuallv are the results of natural endowments, which will always exxel

mere education and culture. The present Circuit Judge of Shelby
County, to those who know him, demonstrates the truth of this as-

sertion. In him the voice of nature .comes ringing down through
the past, lavishing upon him many of her choicest gifts, and mark-

infr him with the brio-ht star of genius. The family oricrinallv came
from Sweden, settling in Virginia at an early day, where Elias

Hord, the grandfather of Kendall M., was born, grew up and

married, afterward moving to Mason County, Ky., where he spent
the latter part of his life. The father of Kendall M., viz. : Francis

T. Hord, was born in Mason County, K}-., where he grew to man-
hood and married Elizabeth S. Moss, a native of the " Old Domin-

ion," who had come to Kentucky with her parents in early girlhood;
nine children were born of that marriage, Kendall M. being the

seventh in the family, and tlie sixth son. He was born in Maysville,

Ky., Oct. 20, 1840, and his youth was passed in his native county.
His father entered the law profession in Washington, Mason
County, but upon the removal of the count}^ seat to Maysville, he

located in that city, where he continued practice until his death.

He was a lawyer of extraordinary natural ability, and one of the

leaders of the Kentucky bar. His sons have inherited his talents

and love for the legal profession, three of whom are leading law-

3'ers of Indiana, and the balance have become prominent in their

respective callings. The subject of this sketch, in early youth,
exhibited more than ordinary ability, and when but nineteen 3'ears

of age, graduated from the Maysville Seminary. In 1859, he be-

gan the study of law in his father's office, teaching school in the

winter season, but still continuing his legal studies. In the spring
of 1862, he underwent an examination before two Judges of the

Circuit Court of Kentucky, and was admitted to the bar. He
immediately located in practice at Flemingsburg, Ky., where he

remained until the fall of 1863, when he came to Indianapolis, and

entered the office of Hendricks & Hord, for the purpose of be-

coming familiar with the code practice in Indiana, but more espec-
ially to await an opportunit}- of selecting a town in which to locate.

In the early winter of 1863, he located at Shelbyville, and the fol-

lowing year was elected District Prosecutor of the Common Pleas
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Court, holding the position two years. In 1866, he was elected on
the Democratic ticket Prosecutincj Attorney of the Circuit Court,
which he held two years, during which time he began to be recog-
nized as one of the leading lawyers of the Shelby Count}^ bar. He
was married August 20, 1S67, to Miss Emily McFarland, to whom
has been born one son — Luther J. Mrs. Hord was born in

Springfield, Ohio, and is the daughter of John and Betsey McFar-
land, who settled in Shelbyyille about 1855, where they resided

until death. In 1872, Mr. Hord was again elected as Prosecuting

Attorney of the Circuit Court, and in 1876, he was elected Judge of

the Circuit Court, which position he now occupies. In his practice as

a lawyer, and in his experience as a judge, he has exhibited a keen-

ness of perception, a hrmness of grasp upon legal propositions, and a

power of analysis which are giyen only to the natural jurist. As
a practitioner, his abundant theoretical resources neyer failed to ad-

yance the interests of his client; and in his discussions of law to the

court, or of fact to the jury, he was eyer practical, logical and lucid;

and with his personal magnetism, fluency, scope of language and

perfect yoice, he secured the attention of his auditor and always
made deep impressions. He combines within himself rare (juali-

ties of mental and physical strength, an indefatigable will, keen

judgment and quick obseryation. ,

Henry H. Jackso.n.
— 'I'he gentleman whose biography is here-

with presented is a natiye of North Carolina, born near the cit}^ of

Greensborough, on the 25th day of January, 1844. His father,

Eliab Jackson, was born in the city of Philadelphia, Pennsylyania,
about the year 1793, and died in North Carolina in 1873. The
mother, Mary (Gassett) Jackson, was born in North Carolina in

1797, and died at her home in that State about the 3'ear 187 1.

They raised a famih- of ten children the subject of this sketch being
the youngest. Henry H. Jackson spent the years of his youth on

a farm, enjoyed such educational adyantages as were afforded by
the country schools, and while still youne^ engaged as a clerk in

which capacity he continued for some time. In 1865, he came to

Indiana and for six years thereafter was engaged in the manufac-

ture of carriacres, at the city of Columbus. At the end of that

time he abandoned mechanical pursuits and opened a hotel, in the

same place, which he operated until 1873. In the latter 3-ear he

came to Shelbyyille, and after remaining here until 1879, ^'eturned

to Columbus, where he resided until 1882. He then took charge
of the Ray House, Shelbyyille which under his successful manage-
ment soon became a fayorite stopping place for the trayeling pub-
he. He has been in the hotel business continuously since 1871.

He in January, 1884, furnished and fitted the Hotel Enghsh, which

16
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he continued to operate until May, 1885, and during that time has

earned the reputation of a very successful and obliging landlord.

February 22, 187 1, he married Mrs. Sarah R. Toll, daughter of

Capt. G. R. Rader, of Kentucky. Mrs. Jackson was born in the

city of Louisville, October 7, 1846. Mr. Jackson is a Democrat in

politics, and a member of the Masonic fraternity, having identified

himself with the order in 1865. Mr. and Mrs. Jackson hiwc two

children, Edward R. and Addie J.

Edwwrd p. Jewett.— The subject of our sketch is a native

of Wayne Count}-, Ind., born in the city of Hagerstown on the

i8th da}' of July, 1857. Flis paternal ancestors came from Eng-
land many years ago and settled in New Hampshire, in which State

his father, Parker Jewett, was born December 26th, 1809. Parker

Jewett was by occupation a blacksmith, and worked at his trade for

several years in Cincinnati, having located in that city about the

year 1825. Subsequently (1833) he moved to Randolph County,
Ind., and still later to Wayne County, where his death occurred
in 1873. The subject's mother, Jane (Bowen) Jewett, was born in

Lebanon, Ohio, March 26th, 1820, and is still living, making her

home at this time in Wayne County, Ind. Edward P. Jewett is the

elder of two children by his father's second marriage. He received

a good education in the schools of Hagerstown, Ind., and at the age
of seventeen began learning the stone cutter's trade, in which he
soon ac(|uired great proficiency, doing his first work in the city of

Connersville. In 1879, he came to Shelbvville, and for sometime
thereafter was in partnership in the niarble business with J. H.

Enos, the firm thus formed continuing until 1881. Since the latter

year he has been . alone in the business, having in the meantime
built up a large and constantly increasing trade, his shop at this

time being the largest in Shelby County, and one of the most ex-

tensive in this part of the State. Mr. Jewett is a skillful workman
and as such enjoys much more than a local reputation. He has

been quite successful in his business, and is none the less prominent
as a citizen, having the confidence and respect of the community
around him. He cast his first vote for James A. Garfield, and since

that time has been an earnest supporter of the Republican party,

though in no sense an office seeker. He was married in 1882, to

Miss Alma Aten, daughter of Abram and Eliza (Thompson) Aten,
of Johnson County, Ind. Mrs. Jewett was born in the year 1859,
and is the mother of two children, viz.: Charles W. and Chester A.

Jewett.
Thomas S. Jones, physician and surgeon, and Clerk of the

Shelby County Circuit Court, is a native of Kent County, Dela-

ware, and son of George and ]Mary (Ford) Jones, of the same



SHELBYVILLE SKETCHES. 49^

State, the father, born in 1S03, and the mother in 1809. The doc-

tor was born on the 29th day of June, 1843, and acquired a good
Enghsh education in the common schools of his native county.

During the progress of this primar^- course he chose the medical

profession as the channel in which his life's voyage was to be made
and in 1864, began the study of the same at the town of Hazletville,

Delaware, under the instruction of William B. Maloney, M. D.,

one of the leading physicians of that place. Actuated by a laud-

able desire to increase his knowledge of the profession, the doctor

in 1 866, entered the Michigan University at Ann Arbor, and after

taking one course there, became a student of the University of

Pennsylvania, from which institution he graduated in the spring of

1868. Having thus familiarized himself with the details of his

profession he began the active practice of the same, at the town of

Mar}'dell, Md., where he continued until his removal to Shelby
Countv, Ind., in 1869. On coming to this county he located at the

village of Flat Rock, where he soon acquired a large and lucra-

tive practice. May 29th, 1886, Dr. Jones entered the arena of

.politics as the Democratic nominee for the office of Clerk of the

Shelby Countv Circuit Court, a position to which he was elected

by a very decided majority, and w^hich he now fills to the satisfac-

tion of his friends and pohtical enemies. He is a member of the

Masonic fraternity and an active worker in the Methodist Episco-

pal Church, to which he has belonged for a number of 3'^ears. He
married in 1878, Miss Kate Struble, of Bartholomew County, Ind.,

a union blessed with the birth of three children, viz. : Mary E., Wil-

liam S. and Herbert C.

Charles E. Karmire.— The subject of this biography is a na-

tive of Germanv, born in Prussia on the 29th day of May, 1829..

His parents, William and Elizabeth (Winden) Karmire, were na-

tives of the same countv— the father dving there when Charles

was quite a small boy, and the mother departing this life in the

United States about the year 1868. In 1863, he accompanied his;

mother to this country, and settled with the family in New York

Citv, where he soon obtained emplo3'ment as salesman in a grocery
house, in which capacity he continued until 1865. In January, of

the latter year, he went to Toledo, Ohio, where he was similarly

engaged until the following fall, at which time he took a thorough
course in Bryant & Stratton's Commercial College, thus laying
the foundation for the successful business career which has marked
his subsecjuent years. After completing his business education, he

went to Indianapolis where, until the fall of 1866, he clerked

in the hardware house of Wilson and Gorgas, and then went to

New Orleans, in which city he was employed as clerk for about one
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year. In August, iS67,he came to Shelbyville,Ind., and began clerk-

ing for A. J. Gorgas, in whose employ he continued until January,

1S69, when he opened a grocery house, to which he subseijuently
added a hardware stock, and still later agricultural implements.
He continued this business with gratifying success until 1877, at

which time, he disposed of his grocery and hardware stock and

began dealing extensively in agricultural implements, buggies,
wao-ons, carriacres, etc., in which branch of trade he has met with

extraordinary success, his atinual sales averaging over $65,000.
Mr. Karmire has met with success such as few attain in a much

longer life, and is a notable example of what a man of energy and

determination can accomplish in the face of adverse circumstances.

In the vear 1885, he made a tour of Europe for the purpose of

"reixainino; his health which had become seriouslv impaired bv close

attention to business, and the followingr year removed from Shelby-

ville to his beautiful farm of 240 acres of fine land two miles south-

east of the city where he now resides. He still carries on his busi-

ness, however, and in addition to his home farm, owns other

valuable real estate in both city and country. He was married

June 2, 1870, to Miss Fannie Brown, daughter of Jacob and Eliza-

beth Brown. Mrs. Karmire was born in Shelb^'ville and is the

mother of four children, viz.: Earl F., Harry E., William J., and

Charles A. Politically, Mr. Karmire is a Republican, but not a

partisan in the sense of seeking office. He is prominenth- identified

with the Masonic fraternity, having joined that order in 1880.

Joseph Kennerly was born in Augusta Count}-, Va., January
12, 1822, and is the son of Jacob and i\manda (Cravens) Kennerly;

parents natives of the same State. Jacob Kennerly was born

April 5, 1796; emigrated to Jefferson County, Ind., in 1830, and

two years later moved to Shelby County, where he resided until

his death, in 1867. He was for some years an Associate Judge of

Shelby County, and is remembered as one of the most prominent
earlv settlers of this part of the State. Mrs. Kennerly was born

on the 6th of October, 1804, and died at her home in this county
in the year 1884. Joseph Kennerly enjoyed the advantages of a

common school education, spent the years of his youth and earl}'

manhood on the farm and at the age of twent3'-three began life

for himself, choosing agriculture for his vocation. In this he met
with much more than ordinary success, having by diligence and in-

dustry succeeded in accumulating a handsome competence by means
of which he is enabled to spend his declining years in ease and
comfort. In his early life he was a hard working man as is attested

b}- the fact that he cleared and prepared for cultivation about 200

acres of land. In 1S86, he disposed of his farm and removed to
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Shelbvville, where he is now Kvino- a retired life. He was a sol-

dier in the war with Mexico, serving twelve months in Company
H, Third Regiment, which he accompanied to and from Mexico.
He is a Democrat in politics and deserves mention as one of Shelby
County's representative citizens.

George W. F. Kirk first saw the light February i6, 1S37, in

a house which stood where L-ove, Major & Morrison's law office

now stands in the Cit}' of Shelbvville. He is the son of Samuel
and Elizabeth (Fleming) Kirk, and is of Scotch-Irish origin. The
Kirk family came to Shelbv Countv in 1832, and has remained ever

since save a few years' sojourn in Bloomington, Ind. Mr. Kirk has

never received more than a common school education. He began
the active duties of life as a painter, beginning at the age of four-

teen. He then entered a drv goods store as a clerk, which position
he held until 1861. After the war began he entered the Quarter-
master's Department under Capt. H. H. Boggess. Here he served

until 1863, when he was transferred to the Commissary Depart-
ment of the Army of the Cumberland, where he remained until

April, 1864. Then coming home he engaged in the boot and shoe

business in Shelbvville. In 1875, he quit the boot and shoe trade

and became a solicitor of insurance, in which business he has since

remained. He is also a director and the Secretary of the Shelby-
ville Gas-Light Companv. He married Miss Emma Browning of

this countv and city, October 2, 1875. There are but two of their

five children living, Woodville B., and Frank S. Mr. Kirk is an

ardent Republican. He was made a' Mason in 1862, and since has

advanced considerably in that fraternity, being now a member of

Baldwin Commandery No. 2, and is the present Right Eminent
Grand Commander of Indiana. He is also a member of the Knights
of Pythias. He and his wife are members of the First Presby-
terian Church, and are faithful in their attendance.

Oscar E. Lewis.— Prominent among the successful young
business men of Shelbyville is Oscar E. Lewis, who was born in

Franklin Count}', Indiana, May 20, i860. His parents, Alexander
and Jane E. Lewis, were natives of the United States and England
respectively, the mother coming to this countr}' in 1838. The
earh' 3'ears of his life were spent on his father's farm, and in

1872, he came with his parents to Shelbyville, where he immediately
became a student in the city schools. He pursued his studies for

a period of eight years, graduating from the high school in 1880, and

the same vear encraered in teachinir, which he continued three terms,

meeting with encouraging success as an instructor, in the meantime.

In 1882, he accepted a position in the mercantile house of H. E.

Schortemeier, Shelbyville, and three years later effected a co-
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partnership with his employer in the grocery business, purchasing
the large stock of John W. Vannoy. Mr. Lewis, by his courte-

ous conduct and honorable dealing, has succeeded in building up
a large and constantly increasing trade, his house being at this time

one of the best known places of business in the city. He is an en-

terprising man and possesses those traits of character calculated to

make him popular with the people.
W. F. Little, an enterprising and public-spirited 3'oung citi-

zen of this city, was born December 24, 1856. His parents were
Robert F. and Sarah (Thrasher) Little, who were natives of

Union and Bartholomew Counties, Indiana, respectively; the former

was born September 19, 1833, and the latter the nth day of

November, 1834. Both accompanied their parents to this county, of

which they continued residents until their death, she dying February
16, 1 866, and he February 28, 1874. WiUiam F., attended the

common schools of this place, working in the intervals between
terms with his father, who was a merchant tailor. He became

quite proficient at that trade, and served as journeyman for a num-
ber of years. In 1880, he embarked in the business for himself,

and he has met with most gratifying success, and now enjoys a

large, remunerative and constantly increasing trade. October 4,

1882, Miss Josephene A. Robertson became his wife. He and she

are both members of the Christian Church. He also belongs to

Lodge No. 39, I. O. O. F. Politically he is a Republican.

Benjamin F. Love.— It is a fact worthy of consideration that

nearly all of the eminent men of this country have struggled up
from obscurity to fortune, position and fame. Here industry, learn-

ing, talent and genius secure the highest reward of life. In a

^yord, the true nobility— nature's rulers, God's noblemen— come to

the front, and the people recognize them. They make our laws,

shape our institutions, and free the minds of the masses from that

ignorance that would otherwise trammel their intellectual develop-
ment. These reflections thrust themselves upon us as we quietly

contemplate the many eccentricities of the talented lawyer whose
name heads this biography, and whose face we have seen in the

legal battle light up with the radiant hope of success, when, with

invincible argument of logical fact, he was demolishing the polished

sophistries of a wily antagonist. Benjamin F. Love is a native

Hoosier, born in Liberty Township, Shelby County, Ind., March 31,

1 83 1, and is the son of Samuel and Lucy Love, and the ninth in a

family of fourteen children. His grandfather, John Love, a native

of the Keystone State, moved to Kentucky, where he was married,
Samuel being the only fruit of that union. He grew up in Ken
tuckv and married Lucy Crisler, a native of the " Old Dominion 5
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and in 1823 came to Bartholomew Count}^ Ind., where the family
remained but a short time; and, not being satisfied with the country
in that \'icinitv, the}' returned to Kentucky. In iS2_|., Samuel Love
and family again came to Indiana, this time selecting a home in

Shelby County, where he resided until his death, in the spring of

1S43. Snmuel Love was an "
early-day

"
Justice of the Peace in

this county, and it is said by some of the oldest inhabitants that

Benjamin F., while a boy, was a constant attendant upon the trials

in his father's court, and always gave strict attention to the conflicts

of the lawyers, and while quite young he displayed great aptitude
in grasping and comprehending knott}^ questions of fact; and from

his youth he exhibited a logical and analytical mind, which he to

some extent cultivated at neighboring debates with the teachers and

briirht vounff men of his locality. He received his education at the

common district school, with the exception of a short course of

study in the Shelbyville Seminary, and in early manhood followed

teaching and surveying. During the latter part of this time, he

studied law in his spare moments, and had charge of a few cases,

which was his first experience in the legal profession. Hoping to

better his condition, and with a desire for change, he went to Mis-

souri, and in the spring of 1861, entered the law department of

Cumberland University, Lebanon, Tenn., remaining there one ses-

sion. He then returned to Missouri, and in a few months went to

Jackson County, 111., and shortly afterward, in the summer of 1861,

came back to his boyhood home and located in practice at Shelby-

ville, where he has since remained. He was married in Kentucky, in

November, 1855, to Miss Elizabeth Johnson, of that State, who
died in July, 1S57. He was again married, July 3, 1865, in Shelby
County, Ind., to Mrs. Martha J. Wooley, nee Winterrowed, daugh-
ter of Anderson Winterrowed, one of the early pioneers of this

county. Mr. Love is regarded as an eccentric man, which arises

from his very unreserved and unpretentious bearing toward his

acquaintances, and, when the cares of business are cast aside, his

indul<rence in his lar<je fund of humor and anecdote; and, having a

keen sense of the ridiculous, he enjoys repeating anecdotes and

passages from humorous speeches and orations; and at other times

rising to great intellectual force and power, when the occasion de-

mands it, thus producing an inconsistency in the make-up of the

man that is only appreciated by those who know him best. \\ hen

he presents himself before the court or jury in the conflict in behalf

of his client, his combative nature and intellectual power rise to any

emergency that presents itself, and his greatest force is only brought
out when hard pressed or grave responsibility rests upon him; and

the man as surrounded by his friends in the social circle, and the
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man before the jury, presents a change and contrast of intellectual

make-up that is striking, and it is not strange that those who know
him think him eccentric. While he is a lawyer of extraordinary
ability and strong faculties, he yet in an important case appears slow,

and labors harder than others of his professional brethren ; but

a client may always be certain he will fully develop all the strong

points in his case. His great caution and genuine solicitude for the

cause of his client, and his fear that he might omit something or

commit an oyersight that would prejudice his client's cause, is the

reason of his apparent tardiness in such a case. Nothing would be

more mortif\'in<r to him than to feel, or to have his client feel, that

he had not done all that could possibly be done in a case. Though
possessing great combative force, he is not what is understood as

an aggressive lawyer until he is sure of his position, and then he

presses his point with vigor, deducing from ever}^ fact, or seeming-

fact, a logical conclusion that cannot be broken down or undermined.

He has never aspired to office or political preferment, but has de-

voted himself to the law, and, though an ardent Republican, his

party has not succeeded in obtaining his power and influence upon
the stump. He is scrupulously honest and frank in all his dealings
with his fellow-man; and in all his agreements or professional

ensfacrements with the court or bar, he will not allow himself to vio-

late the letter or spirit of any engagement upon any technicahty or

quibble; but he is slow to make any engagement or contract affect-

ing other persons without their full concurrence and approval, but

when once made, it must be honestly and fully maintained. He
has always been temperate and moral; is a man of generous, kind

impulses, and has secured a large circle of warm, sincere friends,

who are PTcatlv devoted to him, and in the social circle his fine

qualities and jolly good humor cast a glow of sunshine over all

who come in contact with him.

James Magill, business manager and senior proprietor of the

Shelby Times, is a native of Ireland, where he was born April

4, 1839. He is the son of Edward and Mary (Cauthers) Magill.

He grew to manhood in his native country, receiving there a

national school education. In 1861, he emigrated to America, land-

inp- at New York, where he remained three months. He then

came to Cincinnati, where he lived four years, thence removmg to

Butler County, Ohio, where he was married to 'Miss Martha Barnett.

In 1S6S, he came to Shelby County, and rented a farm east of

Shelbyville about two miles. Upon the election of Albert McCorkle
to the Sheriff's office, Mr. Magill was appointed Deputy, and at

the death of his chief he was advanced by the Commissioners to

the position of Sheriff. His term only lasted one month. From
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1880 to 18S2, he served as Deput}- under James L. Brown. In

1S84, he received the nomination of his party for Sheriff and was
elected. In i8S6, his term expired, and he immediatelv took con-

trol of the J5i7/£://'r Ti/nes, with which he has since been connected.

In February, 1880, he suffered the bereavement of losing- his be-

loved wife. To their union seven children were born, of whom six

are now living, Mary, Martha, Ida B., James, Margaret J. and
Annie L. Mav 9, 1883, his and Belle McDougal's nuptials were
celebrated. By his last wnfe he has two children, Katie and Ethe.

He is a member of the Knights of Pythias fraternity. In politics

he has always been an ardent Democrat, and has always worked
hard for the success of his party.

Joseph Magill, brother of the above and Editor-in-Chief of

the Times, was born in the County of Fermanagh, Ireland,

November 22, 1852, being the voungest of a family of seven

children. In 1867, he came to the United States, going immediately
to Cincinnati, and there joined his brothers with whom he made his

home, four vears, when in 187 1, he came to Shelby ville and en-

gaged as a clerk in the shoe store of John Sheik, with whom he

remained something" over one vear. While there he conceived a

desire to adopt the profession of Journalism. With that in view
he set to work, commencing at the foot of the ladder as a typo in

the otfice of the S/ielhv Republican. At intervals, until 1876, he

was engaged at the trade of his adoption on important work on

the following papers: Clezrhind Herald, JVe-u) Albany Ledger-
Standard, Louisville Ledger, Cinainnati Commercial and Chicago
Times. In 1876, he took charge of the Literary Department of

the Southern Rural Gentleman, at Grenada, Miss. Owing to ill

health he was compelled to retire from that position in the latter

part of that year. He then returned to Shelbyville, remaining a

short time when he went to the West Indies via New York. In

1877, he returned to the United States. With the exception of

three 3'ears when he w^as engaged in the Dramatic profession, he

has made Journalism his life profession. After his return from the

West Indies he took the position of City Editor of the Evansville

Tribune. In 1879, he took the same position on the Courier of

that city, with which he was connected in that capacity for three

years; 1883 and 1884, he was City Editor of the Journal ^t that

place; the latter part of 1884, he severed his connection with that

paper and secured emplovment with R. G. Dunn"s Mercantile

Agency, stationed at Minneapolis and Omaha, but as that did not

prove agreeable to him he took a position as Reporter on the

Chicago JVezi's and Alail about two \-ears, when he came to Shel-

b^^'ille in 1886, and has since been in charge of the Times. De-
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cember 31, 1886, his marriage with Miss Anna Deprez was sol-

emnized. He is a member of the Knights of Pythias.
Hon. Stephen Major.—Few men are more entitled to have

their biography handed down to posterity than the subject of this

sketch, and few men leave their footprints so indelibly impressed

upon the sands of time. He is one of the rare men we meet with

in life, about whom we have no unpleasant recollections. Honor-

able, honest and sensitive, he has vindicated, in his long hfe of use-

fulness, that love of justice and fair play that characterizes the Irish

race from its lowlv laborer to its Emmet, its Burke, its Grattan, its

Shields and its Sheridan. The Majors came from Normandy,
France, to England, with William the Conijueror; and the branch

from which the subject of- this sketch descends settled in Scotland;

but, during the time of Cromwell, three brothers of the family
moved to Ireland, two of whom settled in Granard, County of Long-
ford, where Stephen Major was born March 25, 181 1. He is the

son of Allen and Martha
( Hysop ) Major, natives of the County

Loncrford, Ireland, and was the second in a familv of eight children

— three sons and five daughters
— five of whom are yet livmg. In

early boyhood, he attended a neighboring school, where he acc^uired

a ready knowledge of mathematics, going from there to a classical

school at Granard. He then attended Edgeworth School, which was

quite a noted classical and scientific educational institution. In 1829,
when but eighteen years of age, Mr. Major came to the United

States and settled in Shelby County, Ind. Soon after coming, he

entered the law office of Philip Switzer, of Columbus, who was

then one of the most noted lawyers at the bar of Indiana. By dil-

igent application and rigid study, he soon mastered the fundamental

principles of the law profeession and was admitted to the bar in

1831. On account of ill health, he did not begin active practice
until 1834, ^vhen he located in Shelbyville. In 1836, he was ad-

mitted to practice before the Supreme Court of Indiana, and, in

1843, moved to Indianapolis, where a more extensive field awaited

him in which to exercise his then well known abilit}' as a lawyer
and jurist. Soon after locating in that city, he was appointed by
Gov. Whitcomb as one of the Commissioners of the Indiana Hospital
for the Insane, which he held until the spring of 1853, when he was

appointed by Gov. Wright as Judge of the Indianapolis Circuit, com-

posed of six counties; and, in the fall of that year, he was elected,

by a large majority, as his own successor, and occupied the seat six

3-ears. During the earlv practice of Mr. Major in Shelbyville, a

voung man— who has since risen to eminence as a lawyer and a

statesman— entered his office as a student; and, in 1864, Mr. Major
was admitted to practice before the United States Supreme Court,
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on the motion of that student, the Hon. Thomas A. Hendricks, who
was then a prominent member of the United States Senate. In

1869, he returned to Shelbyville and entered into partnership with

Alfred Major, since which time he has been actively engaged in

the practice of his profesion. He was married in Shelby County,
Ind., x\pril 9, 1840, to Miss Phoebe Gaskill, daughter of Dr. George
Gaskill, to whom were born three sons. Mrs. Major was born in

Dearborn County, hid.; was a conscientious member of the Epis-

copal Church, and died October 4, 1874, '^vith a strong and abiding
faith in a happv immortality. Mr. Major was a member of the

Episcopal Church, and belonged to the Masonic fraternity.
Alfred Major, Shelbyville. — There is not in Shelby County

a professional or business man who possesses, to a greater degree,
the unlimited confidence of every citizen than Alfred Major. In

his professional and business experiences of more than forty years
in this count}', he has won and retained the friendship and respect
of everv one with whom he has had dealings or been associated

with in any capacity. Men in every grade of society and station

in life, place the most unbounded trust in his word, honor and in-

tegrity. The Majors originally came from Normandy, France, to

England, with William the Conqueror, and the branch from which
the subject of this sketch descended, settled in Scotland, two broth-

ers of which afterward removed to Ireland, and located at Granard,
in the county of Longford. Here Alfred's father, Stephen Major, was
born and educated, and after reaching manhood, purchased a com-
mission in the British Army; he went with his regiment to the West
India Islands, where the unhealthy climate so affected his constitu-

tion that he was compelled to retire from the service as a half-pay

officer; he settled in Quorndon, Derbyshire, England, close to the

city of Derby, where he was married to Miss Harriet Bigsby, of

Quorndon, whose family were connections of the noted banking
firm of Smith, Payne & Smith, of London, England; the eminent

English author, Sydney Smith, being also a member of this family.
Of this union were born six children, Alfred, being the fifth in the

family, his parents residing at Leamington, at the time of their

death. Alfred Major was born at Quorndon, May 8, 1828, and

grew up in his native village, finishing his education at the Isle of

Man College, located on the island of that name; in 1820, his uncle,

Arthur Major, had come out to Indiana and entered a large tract

of land on Flat Rock, in Noble Township, Shelby County, which

fell by heirship to Alfred and his brother Stephen, and in 1846, Alfred

Major came out for the purpose of examining, and, if suitable, set-

tling on his property. In 1847, he entered the law office of Thomas
A. Hendricks, where he remained, studiously applying himself in
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mastering his chosen profession, until admitted to the bar; soon-

after, he formed a law partnership with Eden H. Davis, which con-

tinued in a large and successful practice for several years. He was
married in Rushville, Ind., May 20th, 185 1, to Miss Jane Lowrey,
daughter of WiUiam and Elizabeth Lowrey, natives of Ireland.

Mrs. Major was born in Philadelphia, January i, 1828, and had the

following children: William S., Harriet, Elizabeth and Alfred L.

After dissolving partnership with Eden H. Davis, Mr. Major con-

tinued alone, and, in 1857, became a partner in the banking lirm of

Ellfott, Hill & Co., which was sold out to Samuel Hamilton, Janu-
ary I, 1858, and in 1S59, he and John Elliott established the bank
of Elliott & Major, which they operated successfully until January,

1865, at which time they disposed of their bank to Elliott & Co.,
this hnallv merging into the First National Bank of Shelbyville, in

August of that year; in 1867, he became a stockholder in that in-

stitution, and December 31, 1868, when the capital stock was in-

creased, he became the largest stockholder, and January 12, of the

following year, was elected Vice President, which position he has

filled continuously to the present, with the exception of the year 1875,
when he was President of the Bank; during all this time he was still

activeh' engaged in the practice of his profession, and in 1869, he

entered into partnership with his cousin. Judge Stephen Major,
which constituted a legal firm second to none in this part of In-

diana. Up to November 4, 1874, nothing had occurred to mar the

happiness of his successful career, but on that day the devoted Chris-

tian wife and fond, loving mother, died, passing away as she had

lived, a faithful member of the Presbyterian Church, with a strong
and abiding faith in a blissful immortality. At the age of seventeen,

she became an active member of the church, and for a space of nearly
thirty years was a constant attendant upon all the regular services;

to the poor in their need, she was a warm friend, not by word alone

but by substantial help; to every call of benevolence, she made
some response in her quiet unostentatious way, using her money
freely for the interests of the Gospel; and she went further; she

advocated and practiced self-denial for the sake of doing good.
Mrs. Major was peace loving in her disposition, and prudent to an ex-

traordinary degree, yet she possessed that decision of character and

that heroic devotion to her own ideas of right, which is one of the

noblest characteristics of a true Christian. One interesting pecul-
iarity of her character that shone out conspicuously through her

entire sickness, as it had been before an ornament of her life, was her

unselfish thoughtfulness of the interests and comforts of others.

Her presence of mind and carefulness even about her household,

never forsook her. To all her family she gave repeated and most
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tcMider admonitions and expressions of her wishes and views for

them, and especially for their Christian hope and welfare. There is

a power in such a character that is really decf^ and there is a force

in its simple truth that is felt and acknowledged far more than the

mosf lofty pretentions. Mr. Major was again married November 28,

1878, to ^Iiss Helen Thomson, a native of Pittsburgh, Penn., and

daughter of the Hon. James Thomson, a prominent citizen of that

•city. Mrs. Major is a member of the Presb3'terian Church, who,
bv her liberalitv to God's poor, and her kindness and benevolence

at all times, fulfills the true conception of the Gospel. Mr. Major
is a consistant attendant of the Presbyterian Church, but is a commu-
nicant of the Episcopal Church, to which denomination he has ever

adhered with that tenacity of purpose which is one of his stron^st
characteristics. In his profession, he devotes his time principally to

the settlements of estates, doing an immense probate business, and

is noted for the large amount of cases which he settles without resort-

ing to the uncertain process of the law. In giving legal advice, he is

alwavs cautious, ever remaining within the strict letter of the law, so

that he may be rehed upon as one of the safest of counsellors. He
is well versed in legal lore, and his law points are always well taken,

and founded on the highest authority, making him a safe lawyer,
whose decisions are candid, whose conclusion are carefully and

logically reached, and who aspires only to be right and do right

under the law. As a business man, Alfred Major is a model to be

followed. Industrious, careful, painstaking, polite, earnest, unyield-

ing, and withal, accommodating, his business and social life has

be'en marked with no extravagance, no ostentation, no entangle-

ments; (quietly, smoothly, his fortune and reputation have grown to

proportions attained by few. Since the formation of his first polit-

ical ideas, he has been a cordial supporter of the Democratic party,

and, though a man of great earnestness and clearly defined ideas of

pohtical (juestions, he has avoided politics. He is a man of extreme,

retiring modesty, largely conservative in his views on every subject,

a man of undoubted integrity in all the relations of life, and imbued

^vith that spirit of liberality and progressiveness, which, coupled
with his cultivated and genial disposition, have won him hosts of

the warmest friends throu<diout Shelby County. He is now a chief

member of the law firm of Love, Major & Morrison.

Charles Major is the second of three children, born to Step-

hen and Phoebe (Gaskill) Major. His early boyhood was spent in

Indianapolis, where until the age of thirteen he attended a private

institution of learning, obtaining a thorough rudimentary education

in the meantime. In 1869, he accompanied his parents to Shelby-

ville, in which city he pursued his literary studies until 1872, grad-
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uating from the high school that }'ear, and the following year
entered the Michigan University at Ann Arbor, where he re-

mained until 1S75. Returning to Shelbyville after completing his

literary education, he began the study of law, under the able instruc-

tion of his father and Alfred Major, and in 1S77, was admited to

the bar, and at once entered upon the successful practice of his

profession. In 1881, he effected a co-partnership with H. S. Downey
and the firm thus constituted, continued until 1S84, since which

time Mr. Major has been alone in the practice. He is and always
has been an earnest supporter of the Democratic part}-, and as such

was elected in 1885, City Clerk of Shelbyville, the duties of which

position he discharged until his election to the General Assembly
the following vear. His race for the Legislature in the primary
election was made against one of the most prominent men of the

county, and his majority of yotes attests to his personal popularity
and standing. He defeated his competitor in the election by a

majority of 520, and has proved himself an able and trustworthy
member of the House, participating in all the deliberations and tak-

ing an active part in the debates upon the leading measures pre-
sented for discussion. As a lawyer Mr. Major, though still a young
man, has already won some prominence in the profession. He is a

member of the Masonic and Odd Fellows fraternities and a friend

and liberal patronizer of every movement having for its object the

welfare of the city and county. In 1883, he married Miss Alice

Shaw, of Shelby County, Ind.

Charles X. Mathews, editor of the Shelby Rcfiiblicau, is a

native of the Old Dominion State, having been born in Wythe
County, Va., December 26, 185 1. His' father was Alexander S.

Mathews, who was at one time a noted writer on agricultural sub-

jects and one of the leading importers and breeders of live stock in

Viro-inia, to which State he was the first to introduce the famous breed

of Shorthorn cattle. His grandfather. Gen. AlexanderSmythe, was
an eminent lawyer in his time, a general in the War of 181 2, and

for many years a member of Congress from the Old Staunton dis-

trict in Virginia. The ancestors of Mr. Mathews were people of

more than ordinary abihty, and were among the first in a State that

contained many families of prominence. He attended school for sev-

eral years at Georgetown College in the District of Columbia and

afterward graduated at the University of Virginia. Not long after his

graduation he came to Shelby County and at once began his career

as a successful newspaper man and editorial writer. In June, 1878,

at the founding of the Shelby Democrat, he was editorially con-

nected with that paper, a position he occupied for more than two

years. On severing his connection with the Democrat he became
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the Indianapolis correspondent of the Ciuciiiuati Eiujiiircr, a place
that is of more than ordinary importance, owing to the large circu-

lation of that paper throughout Indiana. In February, 1882, Mr.
Mathews returned to Shelbvville and took charije of the J^olnjiteer,

a paper that had been revived. In politics it was an independent
Democratic sheet and opposed the ticket nominated by the regular
Democratic orn^anization for the countv offices. The course of the

paper, which was maintained with much ability and vigor, created

a bitter factional fight in the Democratic ranks and caused the over-

whelming defeat of that party in the county. Through the

columns of the Vohinteer he advocated temperance legislation, re-

form of the civil service and independent political action as the

method of remedving abuses of the old parties. In June, 1884, a

stock companv purchased the ShcUr\ Ref>iiblicaii, refitted the office

and offered editorial control of the paper to Mr. Mathews. He
accepted the offer and has since become one of the principal stock-

holders. Under his management the Rcj^iihliccni has been placed

among the leading and most ably edited papers in Indiana. His

fearlessness of expression and his scholarly attainments have con-

tributed very much toward this end.

George C. McConnell, lumber dealer and successful business

man of Shelbyville, is a native of Shelby County, and the 3'oungest
of a familv of six children born to George W. and Catherine

(Morris) McConnell. The McConnells were among the pioneer
families of Indiana, settling in what is now Dearborn County, where

George W. McConnell, father of this subject, was born in the year
1812. They subsequently, in 1822, moved to the western part of

Shelby County, and assisted in founding the earliest permanent set-

tlement of that localit}'. Catherine McConnell was born in High-
land Countv, Ohio, 181 5, and died at her home in this county in

1873. Her husband preceded her to the grave, departing this Hfe

in the year 1868. George C. McConnell was born August 16,

1853. He received his early educational training in the common

schools, and amid the active and rugged scenes of farm life, spent
the years of his youth and early manhood. He began life for him-

self as a farmer, and followed the pursuit of agriculture until Sep-

tember, 1880, at which time he moved to Shelbyville, and one year
later engaged in the lumber business, which he has since successfully

continued. April, 15, 1875, was solemnized his marriage with Miss

Laura D. Smith, daughter of David and Delitha Smith, who were

among the early settlers of Shelby County. David Smith was

born in Clement County, Ohio, MaVch 28, 181 3; came to Shelby

County in 1829, and died October 22, 1881. Miss Delitha Denley,
whom he married in 1834, was born in Virginia, March 25, 1817.
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Mrs. McConnell was born in Shelby County, May i6, 1S55, Po-

litically, Mr, McConnell is a Democrat, and in religious belief is a

Presbyterian, he and his wife being active members of the church
in Shelbyville.

Samuel P. McCrea, M. D., one of the enterprising business

men of Shelbyville, is a native of Shelby Count}', and the voungest
of a family of ten children born to John and Elizabeth McCrea.
His paternal ancestors came originally from Scotland, and settled

in New York, in which State John McCrea was born on the 26th

dav of July, 1787? being the ^-oungest son of Samuel McCrea.

John McCrea, on the 27th dav of November, 1828, was united in

marriage to Miss Elizabeth Templeton, who was born in Virginia
in the year 1807. The familv came to Indiana in 1835, and settled

in Hendricks Township, Shelby County, locating at what has long
been known as McCrea's Mountain, where the father entered land and

developed a farm, being one of the early settlers of that section of

country. Mr. McCrea was by occupation a tanner, but after loca-

ting in the countv, engaged in agricultural pursuits, which he fol-

lowed until his death in 1859. Mrs. McCrea preceded her husband
to the grave, departing this life on the 23d day of November, 1852.
Dr. McCrea was born February 2, 1845, and grew to manhood on the

farm with the ruir^'ed duties of which he earlv became familiar. He
received his rudimentarv education in the common schools and sub-

sequently, in 1861, entered Franklin College, in which institution

he obtained a knowledge of the higher branches of learning. Hav-

ing decided upon the medical profession for his life work, the doctor,
after a course of preliminary reading, entered in 1865, the Rush
Medical College of Chicago, from which he graduated in 1868.

Having thus prepared himself for the duties of his calling, he be-

gan the active practice of the same in Shelbyville, in partnership
with the late Dr. W. T. Green, a firm which lasted until 1870. In

the latter vear, the doctor abandoned the practice and engaged in

the drug business, which he has since successfully continued, being
at this time in partnership with C. Bishop. Dr. McCrea, in addi-

tion to his profession and business relations, has taken an active in-

terest in the welfare of the city, and at one time served as a

member of the Common Council. He was made a Mason in 1868,
and stands high in the order having taken the orders of the Temple,
and at this time is the Eminent Commander of Baldwin Commandery,
No. 2. Politicallv, he is a Republican, but not a partisan in the

sense of seeking official position. The doctor was married No-
vember 21, 1878, to Miss Phebe A. Robertson, of this city, a

union blessed with the birth of one child, viz., Florence J. McCrea.
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Thomas J. McLane was born in the County Darry, Ireland,
March 4, 1S27, and is the son of WilHam and Anna (Irvin) Mc-
Lane. He is the third of live children. Most of his school educa-
tion he received in Ireland, but went to school for some time after

coming here. Mr. McLane came to America in 1844, and landed
at Philadelphia, thence coming immediately to Shelbvville. In the

same fall he began learning the carpenter's trade under the instruc-

tion of Smith Wingate. This has been his occupation through
life. In 1S46, he enlisted in Company H, Third Indiana Regiment
and spent one year in war against Mexico, and was in the Battle of

Buena Vista. He was married in 1862, to Miss Margaret A. New-
ton, daughter of Isaac and Elizabeth

( Gra}^) Newton. The chil-

dren of this marriage are : William C, Thomas D., EUzabeth, Harry,

Margaret and Dunn. Mr. McLane is a Democrat in poHtics. He
has been a member of the I. O. O, F., for more than thirty years.
He and his famih" are members of the First Presbyterian Church of

this cit}'. For about eight years, Mr. McLane has been giving
special attention to beeculture. He has the largest apiary in Shelby
County, numbering over seventy stands. Not only in this latter

work, but in everything else undertaken has the subject of this

biography been successful. He stands very high in this com-

munity as an honest. Christian gentleman.
Alexander McLane was born in County Darry, Ireland,

October 28, 1S31. He is the son of William and Anna (Irvin)
McLane, both of whom were natives of the Emerald Isle. The
famih' came to America in 1S51, and on June nth of that

year, settled in Shelbyville. Here his father died in August, 185 1,

and his mother in October, 1869. The subject of our sketch is the

3'oungest of live children, two of whom are now living. He was
educated in Ireland before his family came to the United States.

In the summer of 185 1, Mr. McLane began learning the carpenter's

trade, and has since continued that occupation with considerable

success. In 1866, he went to Ireland, and while there wedded
Miss Mary A. Given. Mr. McLane, with his wife, returned to

Shelb}'ville during the same year. Only one child was born to this

union, Annie I. Mrs. McLane died in 1870, and the subject of

this sketch has since wedded Miss Angeline E. Linton, a native of

Pennsyh'ania. They have five children, Gertrude, James, Bertha,
Robert and William. In politics, Mr. McLane is a Democrat.

He and his wife are members of the Presbyterian Church, and
are faithful in their attendance. He is a respected and honored

citizen.

Cornelius Means is a native of Moral Township, Shelby
County, Ind., and was born March 8, 1837. He is the son of Robert

'17
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and Jemima (House) Means, and is of Irish-German descent. His
father was born in Rockingham County, N. C, February 2, 1S07,
and died in Shelby County, May 8, 1884. The mother of our sub-

ject was a native of Kentucky, and died in this county in 1846.
The family came originally from the " Emerald Isle,'' settled in

North Carolina, but afterward removed to the northwestern part of

Shelby County. Mr. Means is the third of seven children by his

father's first marriage, and was raised on the farm. He received

a fair common school education. In i860, he be£jan merchandisino-

at Brookfield, this county, in which business he continued two

3'ears. He then went to Vandalia, Iowa, where he remained some
time. Afterward he enlisted in Company F, Forty-seventh Reg -

ment Iowa Volunteer, Infantry. After a service of four months,
he returned to Shelby County. In 1867, he again began the busi-

ness of merchant at Brookfield as the partner of his brother,
Caleb F. Means. This business union lasted sixteen years. In

1884, Mr. Means came to Shelbyville and engaged in the dry goods
business with J. H. Akers, the firm now being known as J. H.
Akers & Company. In this relation Mr. Means still remains. The

subject of our sketch was married November 24, 1867, to Miss
Belle J. Weaver, a native of Indianapolis, born March 6. 1848, and
the daufjhter of Edward A. and Marcraret Weaver. They have
four children: Oren W., Jessie M., Earl W. and Amy F. In pol-

itics, Mr. Means is a Republican. While at Brookfield he was for

many years both railroad agent and post master. He was at the

same time the leading business man of that section of the countr}-.
He and his wife are members of the Baptist Church. Mr. Means
has been a resident of this county for more than fifty years, and is

a well-known and highly respected citizen.

Henry Meer, Sheriff of Shelby County, was born in Hano-
ver, Germany, April i, 1847, and is the son of Harman and Effa-

mia (Wesling) Meer, natives of Germany, The first twelve years
of his life were passed in his native countr}', at the end of which

time, in 1859, he accompanied his parents to the United States, and
settled in Franklin County, Ind., where, at the age of thirteen, he

began life upon his own responsibility. Two years later he took

up the shoemaker's trade, which he continued with success and
financial profit for a period of fifteen years, moving to Shelby
County in the meantime (1867), locating at the village of Prescott,
about five miles east of Shelbyville. He subseijuently embarked
in the general mercantile business at this place, which he carried on

in connection with the grain trade, having had charge of the rail-

road and express offices at the same time. He earh' took an active

interest in political affairs, and while a resident of Prescott held the
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office of Justice of the Peace for four A^ears, besides making an un-

successful race for the office of County Treasurer, in which he was
defeated by a ver}- small majority. In 1885, he disposed of his in-

terests in Prescott, and moved to Shelbyville, and the foliowin <>• year
was elected Sheriff of Shelb}- County, defeating his competitor,
the Republican nominee, by a majority of over 400 votes. Mr.
Meer is a noted exkmple of what energy and determination can

accomplish in the face of adverse circumstances. Beginning life in

an humble sphere, he has b}^ diligent application and perse\'ering

industr}-, succeeded in winning for himself an honored place in the

estimation of the people of his adopted count}-. He cast his iirst

presidential vote for Horatio Seymour, since which time he has
been an earnest supporter of the Democratic party, hi 1868, he
was united in marriage to Miss Rebecca J. Newton, daughter of

John H. and Mary New^ton. Mrs. Meer was born in Shelby
County, November 17, 1849, ^"^^ ^^ ^^^^ mother of six living chil-

dren, whose names are as follows, to-wit. : John H., Annie A.,

George L., Arthur F., Frederick O., and Mary. Mr. and Mrs.
Meer are leading members of the Shelbyville Catholic Church.

Silas Metzger, was born in Germany, May 25, 1826, and is

the son of Joseph and Mary (Helpart) Metzger, both of whom
w^ere natives of the " Fatherland " and lived and died there. Our

subject is the eldest of five children and was educated in the old

country. He came to America in 1847, and settled in Shelbyville,

having lived here ever since. He began the wine and li(|uor busi-

ness in this city about 1855, and has since continued in it. He
erected his beautiful and commodious business house in 1878. Mr.

Metzfjer is one of the old settlers of this county. He was married
in 1858, to Miss x\nna Mary Deprez, who was born in 1841, and is

the daughter of John Deprez, formerly of this city, now deceased.

This union has produced six children, Peter, Anna, deceased,

Laura, Edward, Lena and Zora. Mr. Metzger is a Democrat, and
is one of our wealthiest citizens.

Matthew R. Montgomery is a native of Shelby County,
Ind., born in Marion Township, on the 21st day of February, 1854.
His parents were William and Mary (Young) Montgomery. The
father was born in Pennsylvania in 1801. He came to Shelby
Count}' when about fourteen years of age, and died here in 1868.

Matthew R. Montcromery is the third child by his father's third

marriage. His boyhood and youth, until he was twenty years of

age, were spent working upon the farm and attending the common
schools, in which by diligent application he became quite a good
scholar. At the age of twenty he began teaching, and was thus

engaged winter seasons for a period of ten years, ac(juiring the
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reputation of an able and competent instructor during that time.

In 1880, he engaged in the insurance and real estate loan business,
which he still continues, and in which he has met with the most

encouraging success. Politically, Mr. Montgomery is a Republi-
can, but in local affairs votes for the man instead of party. May
10, 1877, he married Miss Sallie Hiestand, who was born in Wis-*

cousin, in the year 1855. Of the four children born to Mr. and
Mrs. Montgomery, but one is now living, viz., Charles R. Mont-

gomery.
John E. Morner was born in Hamilton, Ohio, Februar}' 23,

1855. Son of J.. G. and Amelia (Wallenweber) Morner. The
father was born in Germany and at the age of six years, came to the

United States. He was b}' occupation a carriage maker, and died

in Hamilton, Ohio, 1876. Mrs. Morner was born in Virginia in the

year 1837, and is still living in the Cit}- of Hamilton, Ohio. John
E. Morner is the eldest of a family of eleven children, nine of whom
are still living. He received a good business education, and at the

age of thirteen, engaged to learn the wood turner's trade in his na-

tive city, a vocation in which he soon acquired great proficiency.
In 1881, he came to Shelbyville, Indiana, and engaged in the manu-

facturing of hubs and bent wood work in partnership with George
W. Fretchling. Mr. Fretchling was killed on the railroad, Novem-
ber, 1 88 1, and his brother, William Fretchling, purchased his inter-

est. He still continues the business, and at this time twenty-five

hands are required to operate his factory, which is one of the most
successful manufacturing enterprises of the city. Mr. Morner is

in the true sense of the word a self-made man, as he began life

with no capital, save a willingness to work and a determination to

succeed. He was honored by an election to the city council in

1884, aside from which he has never held nor asked for official po-
sition at the hands of his fellow citizens. November 11, 1884, he

w^as united in marriage to Miss Laura Metzger, who was born in

Shelbyville on the 27th day of March, 1865.' Mr. and Mrs. Mor-
ner are consistent members of the German Protestant Church, and

among the niost esteemable and highlv respected citizens of the cit}'.

Sylvan B. Morris, Shelbyville's merchant prince, and most

enterprising citizen, was born in this city, April 7, 1830, and is the

son of Dr. S3dvan B. Morris and Catherine (Knox) Morris. His

father was one of the first settlers of Shelby County, having come
here in a very earl}^ day from Washington County, where he was
born November 25, 1795. His mother was born in Londonderry,
Ireland, in 1801. They were married at Lebanon, Ohio, May 25,

1825. To this union were born: Martha H., Sylvan B., and

John K. Sylvan B., remained in Shelbyville until about fourteen
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years of age, when he went with his parents to Lebanon, where he
received most of his schooHng. He gained considerable experience
in the dry goods business, and in the fall of 1854, began to do for

himself as a merchant in the latter place. He was married to Miss

Myrtilla John, of Harrison, Ohio, May 24, 1854. Mr. Morris car-

ried on the dry goods business in Lebanon, Ohio, for twenty-one
years, and also, during two years of that time had a branch house
in Franklin. In September, 1875, he moved his store to Shel-

byville, and it was not long until his trade began to grow exceed-

in<rlv. He has built several additions to his orio-inal store-room
and now has perhaps, the largest and best organized dry goods
emporium in Indiana, outside of the metropolis. He has his store

conveniently divided into different departments. In connection

with dress goods, carpets, notions, etc., he has lately added a mer-
chant tailoring and gents' furnishing goods department. He has

latelv put in a patent cash delivery which greatly facilitates the

duties of the clerks. Politically, Mr. Morris general^ votes the

Republican ticket, and has been a member of our City Council, and
also one of the Board of Trustees of the public school. He is a

member of the Masonic fraternity, and has been advanced in

that order to be a Knight Templar. His wife and he are mem-
bers of the Presbyterian Church. Mr. Morris' success has resulted

from two causes: First, a wonderful energ}', and second, a re-

markablv good judgment in the selection of as w^ell as in bu3'ing,

goods. Mr. and Mrs. Morris have five children: Sylvan H., born

May 26, 1858; Harold K., born April 8, 1861: Florence, born June
II, 1866; Robert L., born June 5, 1869, and William H., born

December 26, 1872.
Harry C. Morrison, attorney and counsellor at law, junior

member of the tirm of Love, Major & Morrison, was born in Shelby
County, Ind., April 26, 1858. His paternal ancestors were among
the earlv residents of Pennsylvania, his grandfather, John Morri-

son, having been born in Westmoreland County, in that State,

Februarv i, 1800. Sarah J. (Carruthers) Morrison, wife of John
Morrison, was a native of Shenandoah County, Virginia, born

January 18, 181 1. The family came to Shelbyville, August, 1832,
and opened a hotel, the " Morrison House," a name by w^hich it is

still known. George C. Morrison, our subject's father, was born

in Wheehng, West Virginia, August 15, 1829, and his mother,
whose maiden name was Ann Doble, was born at Dobletown,

Shelby County, Ind., April 14, 1833. George C, and Ann Morri-

son, were the parents of six children, the subject of this biography

being the third in number. Harry C. Morrison received a liberal

education, and early determined to make the legal profession his



5l8 SHELBY COUNTY.

life work, and at the age of eighteen entered the law office of Love
& Connor, where he pursued his studies until admitted to practice
in Shelby Circuit Court, May 27, 1S79. Soon after his admission

to the bar he effected a co-partnership with B. F. Love, and the firm

thus formed continued until September, 1882, when he became a

member of the law firm of Love, Major & Morrison. Mr. Morri-

son has made a creditable record as a lawyer, and is in the enjo}'-
ment of a large and lucrative practice in the courts of Shelby
and adjoining counties. He stands high professionally, and in addi-

tion to his legal business, takes an active interest in all measures

having for their object the public good. On the i6th da}^ of May,
1878, Mr. Morrison was united in marriage to Miss Laura Ray,
daughter of Hon. Martin M. Rav. Mrs. Morrison was born in

Shelb^'ville, Ind., August 20, 1859, and is the mother of six child-

ren, viz.: Clarine B., Susie R., Annie E., Martha L., William C,
and Cordelia. Mr. Morrison was made a Mason, August 4, 1882,
since which time he has risen high in the order, being at this time

a Chapter Member and a Sir Knight. He is also prominenth' iden-

tified with the Odd Fellows fraternity, joining the same in 1882.

He wields a political influence for the Democratic party, but has

never been a partisan in the sense of seeking official position.
M. G. Murdoch was born in Scotland, July 20th, 1827. His

parents were George and Agnes (Murdoch) Murdoch. Mr. Mur-
doch came to America in 1840, and settled in Ohio; but in 1845,
went to Pittsburgh, where he learned the machinist's trade, subse-

quently to engage in steamboating and railroading. He came to

Shelbyville in 1855, where he has since resided. On coming to

this place he began the saw mill business, which he still continues.

His establishment was burned out in 1864, but the same year

bought what was known as the "James Lindsay saw mill.
" The

subject of this sketch was married in 1858, to Miss Mar}'
Rebstock, who died in 1865. To this union were born three chil-

dren, viz.: George, Agnes and John, He was again married, in

1867, to Miss Ellen J. Auh, of Ohio. By this marriage are five

children, viz. : Charlotte, Robert, McGavin, Hugh and James A.

Mr. Murdoch has made his own way in the world, until he is now
one of the wealthy men of Shelbyville, and one of the leading lum-

ber merchants in this part of the State. He is a Mason and a Knight
Templar, (Baldwin Commandery No. 2.) andinpoHtics is a Repub-
lican.

George W. Neal is a native of Scott County, Ky., and born

September 27, 1844. He is the son of Robert H. and Lucy Ann

(Wells) Neal, and is of German-Irish descent. His father was
born in Scott Countv in 1816, and died at Omer, Indiana, in 1863.
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His mother was born in the same county, August lo, 1823, and

died March 23, 1862. The Neal family came to Indiana in 1862,

and settled at Shelbvville. The subject here treated is the oldest

of six children, four of whom still survive. He received a common
school education. When about twenty years of age he embarked
in the boot and shoe business, wherein he continued until 1882.

During the years 1882 and 1883, he served as deputy under Sheriff

Sid Conger, of this county. Mr. Neal was married to Miss Phoebe
A. White, of Shelby County, October 4, 1870. Mrs. Neal was
born September 10, 1852, and is now the mother of four children:

Herbert M., Ella D., Clarence R., and Clethra M. George W.
Neal has been a hfe-long Republican, and cast his first vote for

General Grant for President. He is a member of the I. O. O. F.,

Shelby Lodge No. 39. Mr. Neal is one among our best citizens.

He is strai<rht-for\vard in all of his transactions, and is known as a

generous and sociable man. Mrs. Neal and her daughter are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

William A. Neu, City Treasurer, Shelbyville, is a native of

Germany, born in Bavaria, April 25, 1846. His parents, Louis C.

and Eva (Mackert) Neu, were also natives of Germany, the

former born in 1819, and the latter in the year 1821. Louis C.

Neu lost his wife in 1848, and the following year immigrated to

the United States and settled in the City of New York. He sub-

sequentlv returned to Europe, and while making a tour of that

countrv died in London, England, in the year 1857. William A.

Neu was reared and educated in New York, and at the age of

thirteen engaged in the hardware business, which line of trade he

has successfully followed until the present time. He left New York
in 1875, moving to Bartholomew County, Ind., and from thence six

years later to Shelbyville, of which city he has since been an

honored resident. Since locating in Shelbvville, Mr. Neu has won
a conspicious place in the estimation of his fellow citizens as is at-

tested by the fact that in 1885, he was elected to the office of City

Treasurer, the duties of which position he has discharged in an

eminently satisfactory manner to the present time. He has also

made a creditable record as a business man, being watchful and

systematic in all his transactions, and noted for his financial ability

and prompt and honorable dealing. He is in strong sympathy with

the Repubhcan partv, and is recognized as one of its standard

bearers in Shelby County. Mr. Neu married in 1871, Miss Emma
C. Gruhl, who was born in Germany, November 30, 1850. To
this union have been born four children, to-wit : Louisa M., Ed-

ward E., William A. and Clara E. Mr. Neu is prominently
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identified with the Odd Fellows fraternit}', having joined the same
in 1885, and with his wife belongs to the Moravian Church.

William Richard Norris, was born in Bracken Countv, Kv.,

June 12, 1832: son of Edward and Catherine
( Brig-htwell) Norris,

and is of English extraction. His father, born in Bracken Countv,
Kv., February 8, 1805, and died in Shelby County, Ind., in

1877. The mother of Mr. Norris born also in Bracken Countv,
Kv., in 1804, and died in Shelby County, September 6, 1865. The
paternal grandfather of Mr. Norris, Joseph Norris, born in Balti-

more County, Md., and died in Bracken County, K}'., at a ripe old

age. He erected the first log cabin and built the first mill in

Bracken Count}-. The maternal grandfather of Mr. Norris was
one of the pioneers of Bracken County, Ky., and was the first sur-

vevor of the county. The Norris family received its introduction

to Shelbv County in 1832. Our subject is the eldest of six chil-

dren only two of whom are now living. Was raised on the

farm, educated at the eail}- schools. Taught school for a

number of years, hi the fall of 1857, went to Missouri and re-

mained till May, i860, and then returned to Shelby County. While
in that State he taught school for some time, hi i860, he was
elected Survevor of Shelbv Countv, and re-elected in the fall of

1862. Was appointed in 1868, City Engineer of this city, and
served more than one year, hi the fall of 1869, he was elected

Real Estate Appraiser of this county. In 1871, appointed School
Examiner of this county, serving two years. Li 1873, elected

County Superintendent, making him the last School Examiner and
the first Count}- Superintendent of this countv. Since 1873, he has

been engaged in the practice of law to some extent, and engaged
in various other capacities. Married November 22, 1S63, to Mrs.
Maria Roberts of this countv. Have two children, James E., and

Robert Ross. Has a step daughter, Rose E. Roberts. In poli-

tics, Independent, up to 1882 a strong partisan Democrat. He is

a Mason, and is a well posted and greatly respected citizen of this

county.
Samuel O'Coxner (deceased), was born in Countv London-

erv, near Linivada, Ireland, June 4, 182 1, and died in Shelbyville,
December 2, 1886. His marriage took place May 12, 1849, ^^

Miss Mary J. McGinn, of Philadelphia. Mrs. O'Conner died August
20, 1884. There were six children born to this union: Annie, Kate,

Alice, Samuel, Jr., Jennie and James. INIr. O'Conner came to

Shelbyville in 1S52, and opened a tailor shop and later engaged in

the clothing business. He continued this occupation until 1870,
when he sold his stock of ijoods and eniiaored in the wine and

liquor business, and in that was still engaged at the time of his
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death. By close application to business he had become in eas}^
circumstances. He was a member of the City Council for several

years; was also a member of the hrst tire company ever oro^anized
in Shelbyville. He was pubHc spirited, and gave frequent en-

couragement to enterprises favoring the common weal. " Uncle

Sam," as he was familiarh' known, commanded the respect of un-

numbered friends. He was one of our leading citizens. He was
careful and shrewd in all of his ^dealings. Andrew Raymond, Mr.
O' Conner's son-in-law, was born in this county September 26, 1845.
He moved to Shelbyville in 1869. He was married November 27,

1882, to Alice O'Conner. James O'Conner, the }'oungest of these

six children, was born August 22, 1865. He received a common
school education. He is now engaged in the wine and li(|uor busi-

ness at his father's old stand. He bought an interest in the wine
and liquor store after his father's death, and now runs it in partner-

ship wdth Andrew Raymond. Mr. O'Conner is one of the popu-
lar young business men of this

cit}'.

James O. Parrisii. successful business man, and Ex-County
Treasurer, is a native of Shelby County, Indiana, and dates his birth

from the 24th day of Januar}', 184Q. His parents were Lee and
Mary (Pullam) Parrish, the former born 1798, in North Carolina,
and the latter in 1809, in Virginia. Their respective deaths oc-

curred in the years 1880 and 181^7. James O. Parrish is the fourth

of a family of nine children, five of whom are at this time living.
He was reared on a farm, and in the common schools, obtained a

good English education which, with his subsequent business train-

ing, has developed into a fund of valuable practical knowledge. He
continued agricultural pursuits until 1863, at which time he aban-

doned the farm and embarked in the mercantile business at the

town of Brooktield, which he carried on with success and financial

profit for a period of six years. In 187 1, he was appoiated Deputy
Treasurer of Shelby County, and three years later was elected

Treasurer, the duties of which responsible position he discharged in

a highly creditable manner until 1879, having been re-elected in

1876. At the expiration of his otiicial term he engaged in the lum-

ber and coal business in Shelbyville in which he still continues under

the firm name of McConnell & Parrish, being at this time the most

extensive dealers in the cit}^ Politically Mr. Parrish is an ardent

supporter of the Democratic party and as such has been a potent
factor in local politics, taking an active part in the elections of this

count}-. He takes a lively interest in the welfare of the city, and

all enterprises of public nature, having for their object the public

good, find in him a readv and willing assistance, being at this time

a member of the City School Board. He married, December 10,
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1865, Miss Adelia F. Jo3'ce of this county, a union blessed with the

birth of two children, x\z. : Minnie L. and M\-rtle V. Mr. and Mrs,
Parrish are members of the Baptist Church, with which thev have
been identified for a number of years.

John H. Phillips was born in Virginia, February 12, 1826,
.son of Jesse and Jane (Jones) Phillips; parents natives of the

same State. The family came to Indiana as early as 1828, and
settled in Noble Township, this county, thence subsequentlv to

Decatur County. John H. Phillips is the second of three children

by his father's first marriage. He was raised a farmer and fol-

lowed agricultural pursuits the greater part of the time until 1852,
when he came to Shelbvville and engaged in the carpenter trade.

In 1S54, he accepted a position with the "Big Four" railroad com-

pany, and for eleven years thereafter worked in the freight depart-
ment with head(juarters in this city. At the end of that time he
went to Indianapolis, where he continued in the service of the road

nine years longer, making in all twenty consecutive years spent as

a railroader, during which time he became thoroughly familiar with

all the details of the business, and earned the reputation of a skillful

and painstaking employe. Seyering his connection with the road,
Mr. Phillips returned to Shelbvville, and in 1875, opened a wine
and liquor house, which he has since successfully carried on. In

his business ventures he has been (juite fortunate, having succeeded
in accumulating a comfortable competence, including the old family

homestead in Decatur County and valuable property in Shelbyville.
In politics, he was originally a Whig, but on the dissolution of that

party, he identified himself with the Republican party, of which
he has ever since been an earnest supporter. He is one of Shelby-
ville's leading citizens, and enjoys the confidence and respect of a

large number of friends in both city and county. May 26, 1844,
he was united in marriage to Sarah A. Champ, of Kentucky. Mrs.

Phillips was born in 1819, and departed this life on the 4th day of

January, 1887.
Michael Posz, County Treasurer and prominent citizen of

Shelbyville, is a native of Bavaria, Germany, and dates his birth

from the lOth day of November, 1834. His parents were John
and Elizabeth (Schloss) Posz, the former born March, 1808, and
the latter about the year 1800. They came to the United States in

1852, and for two 3'ears thereafter resided in the city of Cincin-

nati. In 1854, they moved to Shelbyville, Ind., where their respec-
tive deaths occurred, the father dying October 29th, 1885, and the

mother December 29th, 1876. Michael Posz received a liberal edu-

cation in his native country, and at an earh" age engaged to learn

the trade of cabinet making, in which he soon acquired great pro-
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ficiency. He accompanied his parents to the United States in

1852, and a short time after landing began working at the bar-

ber's trade, ^^•hich he followed in the City of Shelbyville for a

period of nineteen years. In 1874, he was elected a Justice
of the Peace, re-elected in 1878, and in the meantime (1875)
was appointed joint agent for the American and Adams Ex-

press Companies in this city. In 1881, he took charge of the

Adams Express otiice in Shelbyyille, and three years later was
elected on the Democratic ticket. Treasurer of Shelby County,
his majorit}' being 521, a fact which attests his great personal pop-

ularity and superior business ability. His management of the office

was such that in 18S6, he was renominated, and after a spirited con-

test was again elected by an oyerwhelming majorit}'. Mr. Posz

may be regarded as a true t3-pe of the successful self-made man of

his town and county. He is a good financier and careful business

man, his judgment being seldom wrong in matters of business

policy. Beginning life's battle in a field of adyersity, with the aid

of little or no capital, and a meagre experience wholly dependent
upon personal effort, his good sense and sound judgment haye forced

success out of what to many others would haye been certain defeat,
and at the same time secured a prominent position among the repre-
sentatiye men of Shelby County. He is an uncompromising Demo-
crat in politics, zealous in the adyancement of party measures, and is

recognized as one of the standard bearers of Democracy in this

part of the State. He married in the year 1857, Mary Maholm,
who was born in Shelby County in the Aear 1839. MV. Posz is an

Odd Fellow of high standing, holding at this time an important offi-

cial position in Shelby Lodge No. 39. He and wife are actiye

members of the Presbyterian Church.
Erasmus S. Powell, was born near the city of Shelby^•ille,

February 8, 1838, and is the son of Erasmus and Mary (Allen)
Powell. He is of Scotch-Irish and Welsh extraction. His father

was born in Washington County, Pa., December 25, 1788, and

died at La Porte, Ind., February 25, 1843. The mother of Mr.

Powell was born in North Carolina, January 25, 1796, and died

December 31, 1872. The family came to what is now Dearborn

County, Ind., in 1810, and moyed to Shelby County in 1826. Thus
his father was one of this county's pioneers. The subject of this

sketch is the younijest of a family of eleyen children, fiye of whom
are yet Hying. He receiyed a common school education. Since

his school days he has been somewhat unstable in the occupations
he has chosen. He seryed quite a while as Justice of the Peace.

He then began the business of a merchant, deaHng in hats and caps.
Later he was appointed to a positton in the United States Internal
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Revenue Department and spent the whole of President Arthur's
term in that place. In 1885, he was made President and Superin-
tendent of the Shelby County Creamery Association and now fills

both positions. ]Mr. Powell was a soldier. He enlisted in Com-
pany "C," Seventh Indiana Volunteer Infantry, served in this

company three months, then enlisted in the Forty-second Regiment
and did not come out until the close of the war. He was the sec-

ond man in Shelby County to enlist. He was married in 1865, to

Mrs. Triffie Smithers who was born in Delaware. In politics he is

a Republican. He and his wife are members of the Methodist
Church. Mr. Powell is a straight-forward, honorable gentleman
and stands high in our community.

Leonard C. Powell, one of the successful business men of

Shelbyville, is a nati^'e of Shelby Count}', born at the village of

Waldron, August 11, 1844. His father, Micaj ah Powell, was born
in Boone County, Ky., in 1820, and at the age of eleven years ac-

companied his parents to this count}', where he has since resided.

Phebe Ann (Van Pelt) Powell, wife of Micajah Powell, was born
in Shelbv Countv, and is the mother of ten children, the sub-

ject of this sketch being the first in number. Leonard C.

Powell was educated in the common schools, and until his

twent3'-second 3'ear remained under the parental roof, assisting
his father on the farm in the meantime. In 1866, he came
to Shelbyville and accepted a clei*kship in a grocery house, in which

capacity he continued until 1871. In that year he engaged in busi-

ness for himself, and is at this time one of the leading merchants of

the city, being in the enjoyment of a large and constantly increas-

ing trade. Politically he is a Republican, and in religion belongs
to the Presbyterian Church, being at this time an official in the

Shelbyville congregation. April 21, 1868, he married Miss Emme-
line Dickison, of Decatur County, Ind. Mrs. Powell was born Jan-
uary 14, 1845, and departed this life on the 8th day of August,
1886. Mr. and Mrs. Powell were the parents of three children, all

now deceased.

Joseph B. Randall was born at Red Line, Louden Co., Ohio,
November 27, 1841, and is the son of James M. and Sarah (Pettit)
Randall. The father of our subject was born in Loudoun County,

Virginia, September 13, 181 3, and died in Shelbyville, Indiana, Janu-

ary 18, 1883. The mother was born in the same countv and
State as the father, Ma}' 9, 1809, and is still living. The subject of

our sketch was married May 21, 1868, to Miss Corneha C. Jen-

nings, a native of Michigan, born May 8, 1844, and a daughter of

Rev. C. P. Jennings, a native of New Jersey. This union has

brought forth six children, \"ernon, Burnet S., Walter S., Charles



SHELBYVILLE SKETCHES. 525

M., Gertrude and Bertha. While his father was vet liviner, Mr.
Randall became his partner in the wholesale and retail grocery and

produce business, under the firm name of J. M. Randall & Son.
Since the death of the senior member, the same firm name has been
retained. This firm, under the able and energetic management of

the subject of this biography is doing an immense business. They
ship annually, a great amount of butter, eggs and poultry to the

large cities of the east. Mr. Randall is a faithful Republican. He
and his wife are leading members of the First Presbyterian Church
of this city. Mr. Randall is also a member of the Masonic fraternity.

There is no man more thorough!}- identified with the interests of

this city and county. He is, indeed, one of our best men, and al-

ways ready to fayor public enterprises.
Martin M. Ray (deceased).

— Martin M. Ray was the son of

John Ray. He was born in Butler County, Ohio, and has left us

little or no account of his early childhood and youth. We know
nothing' of his career until we find him in the Clerk's office of

Wayne County, earning a liyelihood in the capacity of Deput}'
Clerk and laying up means for the foundation of that legal knowl-

edfje and the distinction which made him one of the briirhtest orna-

ments of the bar of Indiana, a thorough lawyer, and an urbane,
courteous and accomplished gentleman. He subsequently read law
for awhile with Goyernor Ray, who was his father's brother, and
then went to the law school of Harvard University, where he heard
lectures and pursued his studies for about eighteen months. Upon
his return to Indianapolis, he resumed his studies under the direc-

tion of his uncle, and in 1843, having been licensed to practice law,

opened an office in Shelbvville. After the usual trials and difficul-

ties incident to the beginning of a professional career in a country
town, he finally obtained solid footing as a lawyer: and in the

spring of 1S45, married Miss Susan Cross, and thus gave society
his pledges of fidelity to its welfare and happiness. No marriage
could have been more wisely chosen, or the source of greater

blessings. He and his good wife have been blessed with children,

several of whom have been carefully educated and prepared to

enter upon the greater theater of life with honor to themselves and

advantacje to society, and all of whom would have been, had death

not deprived three younger children of his labors and his care, for

never was father more entirely devoted to his family.
It was his good fortune in settling at Shelbyville, to be brought

early into association and contact with the Hon. T. A. Hendricks,
whose exxellent manners, careful habits and sound learning afforded

him a constant measure for his own. As lawyers, they were planted
and grew up together, and, although we have never heard their
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mutual influence upon each other's habits and modes of thought^

speech and professional discussion, we think we run no risk of mis-

take in saying that both were better lawyers and more accomplished
men than either would have been but for the other. Thev were
for the flrst ten or twelve 3'ears, of different politics. Mr. Ray
bein<r a Whig' and jMr. Hendricks a Democrat. It is needless to

say that, while thus opposed, they naturally led their parties in the

county.
In 1S54, when the Whig party died, like its other members,

he looked about him for some political organization where a

man of his principle and patriotism might go. He was induced by
persuasions of a friend to enter a Know-Nothing Lodge, but im-

mediately and openly discarded and denounced it as unworthy of

the support of an American citizen, and always afterward spoke
with feelinp" of the trick which had induced him to <io into it. His
mind rested on principles too broad and generous for its narrow
creed. He united with the Democratic party then led by the Little

Giant, and ever afterward maintained his connection with it. He
was not, however, servile in his adherence to the party platform,
but held and fearlessly uttered his own opinions whenever occasion

led him to differ with his brethren.

In 1858, the convention of his party in his district honored him
with his nomination for Congress, and he made the race, being op-

posed by the Hon. A. G. Porter, b\- whom he was defeated. This

was the result of the defection of the Douglas wing of the party,
and not from any failure of Mr. Ray to carry on the canvass with

great zeal and ability. Nor was an}- contest conducted with greater

energy and consistency on both sides; and it is scarcely sa3'ing too

much to say that, if the entire Democracy of the district had stood

by Mr. Ray, he would have been elected. But it was not to be.

He was destined never to adorn our National Congress, in which
he was well fitted both b}' nature and culture to shine. In 1S60,
Mr. M. M. Ray voted the Democratic Union ticket, with the fol-

lowing written protest over his signature attached thereto, which
was returned to his son, W. S. Ray, on September 27, 1887, by
W^. P. Fishback, Master of Chancery in the United States Court,
in Indianapolis, into whose possession it had come. The protest
reads as follows :

"
Knowing the men on this ticket, and believing

them loyal and patriotic, I vote it; but protesting at the same time

against a portion of the speeches, resolutions and proceedings of

the 8th of January convention; protesting also against the spirit

and tone which the Breckenridge element has sought to infuse into

the Democratic party; protesting also against every word and deed

by which ambitious men have sought to commit the part}- to a po-
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litical alliance with the rebellion; and glad of the great change that

has taken place in Democratic sentiment within six or twelve

months, and believing that I can do more good in than out of the.

party, I vote the ticket." In i860, he was chosen by the Democ-

racy of Shelby County to represent it in the Senate of the State.

He felt deeply the situation on the country when he entered that

body in January, 1S61, and, like many other leaders of the party,
said man\" things to induce it, if possible, to compromise between
the North and South, until it became perfectly clear that no such

compromise could be effected. One would have believed that he

sympathized profoundly with the South, but, when the war began
and it became perfectly clear that the (juestions must be fought out,

he, like Mr. Douglas, took bold ground for the Government against
the seceders, and made some of the ablest speeches of his life in

support of the war. He was a true and devoted patriot, and re-

gretted with all his heart whatever tended to the injury of the cause
of the country. He felt the defeat of our armies as sorely as any
man in the Union, and rejoiced in their triumphs as sincerely, if not

as noisily. On the other hand, he regretted with sincere grief the

unnecessary harshness of martial law and military arrests, which he

justly regarded as illegal, because unnecessary. As a lawyer, he

profoundly respected the methods of peace, and hated to see them

departed from hx those intrusted with the conduct of our affairs. In

1864, h^^ profoundest convictions brought him S(]uare affront of the

military arrests and trials of Dodd, Bowles, Milligan and others, and
when called upon, he did not hesitate a moment to engage in their

defense. In his arguments before the military commission which
tried them, he performed great labor and displayed great learning
and eloquence; and although his speeches were devoted to the dis-

cussion of the facts of their cases, he missed no opportunity to

place his opinion upon the record against the assumed jurisdiction
of the commission. Throughout these trials he displa3'ed great

patience, great learning and courage in maintaining the rights of

his clients, and must have established himself in the confidence of

all who witnessed his efforts, as a man of fortitude and ability, de-

voted to his cause. Never shall we for^jet the rare beauty of the

closing paragraph of his speech in defense of H. H. Dodd, Esq.,
who had escaped from his prison, and was tried in his absence.

He closed thus: "With much solicitude and anxiety, we commit
the cause of the defendant, in his absence, to the learning, to the

patriotism, to the honor and to the justice of this court. To the

learning, because the great legal question of jurisdiction lying at

the threshold of your inquiries is still open ;
to you patriotism, be-

cause the highest interests of public liberty and the victory of
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reason over passion are in you hands; to your honor, because the

graces of magnanimity and mercy which should follow the weak,
the unfortunate, and even the guilty, and plead against the calami-

ties of conviction: to your justice, because she sits blind to the

scenes of our national drama, unseduced bv the blandishments of

power, and deaf to the cries of resentment and passion."
Harry C. Ray, Deputv Auditor, is a native of Shelby Count}',

Indiana, born July 11, 1846, the eldest son of Hon. Martin M. and
Susan

(^
Cross) Ray. He received his early educational training in

the schools of Shelbyville, and subsequently entered the North
Western Christian Universit}- at Indianapolis, in which institution

he took a thorough literary course, graduating in 1868. Soon
after completing his education, he accepted a position in the Treas-

ury Department at Washington, and was thus engaged until the

following year, when he returned to Indiana. In 1S70, he began
reading law in Danville, and, in connection with his legal studies,

wrote for the press until 1873, ^^ which time he came to Shelb}'-
ville and engaged in the practice of his profession. He abandoned
the legal business in 1875, and for four years thereafter was Deputy
Treasurer, retiring from that position in 1879, and accepting his

present place as Deputy County Auditor. Mr. Ray is a corteous

gentleman, an accomplished business man, and enjoys the confi-

dence and esteem of a large number of friends in the city and

county. He is a member of the I. O. O. F., and has represented

Shelby Lodge No. 39, in the Grand Lodge of Indiana. In 1S83,
he was elected as a member of City Council for a term of two

years. In 1887, he was again honored, this time with an election

to the position of City Clerk. He is also a member of the K. of P.,

having joined that order February, 1887. Politically, he is iden-

tilied with the Democratic party, and cast his first presidential vote

for Horace Greely. February 22, 1872, was solemnized his mar-

riage with Sarah E., daughter of William H. and Mary Blake, of

Danville, Hendricks County, Ind. Mrs. Ray was born on the 6th

day of January, 1852. In the spring of 1886, he was a prominent
candidate for the office of County x\uditor, but unfortunately,

owing to a division of his party, he was defeated by a small

majority in the primary.
W. S. Ray, editor of the S/icIbx Douocraf, stands prominent

among the successful men of Shelby County. He was born in

Shelbyville on the nth of February, 1848, and is the son of Martin

M. Ray, one of the most prominent men of his time in Indiana.

The subject of this sketch completed a good common school edu-

cation, with a collegiate course at the Northwestern Christian Uni-

versity of IndiaiiapoHs, where he graduated in 1869: he then entered
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Upon the study of law and continued in it until 1873, when he formed
a partnership with his brother, Harry Ray, and they commenced
the practice of law in Shelbyyille. After this, Mr. Ray devoted
himself to his profession so successfully, that in 1874, he was
elected Prosecuting Attorney, and re-elected in 1876; the same

3'ear, 1876, he received the Congressional nomination for the Sixth

Congressional District of Indiana, in a convention held at Anderson.
This was an honor which rarely falls to the lot of one so young, he

being at that time but twenty-eight years of age, but it was an

honor which he saw ht to decline, as he refused to accept the

nomination and continued in his law business, fulfilling the duties of

Prosecutor, until 1878. On the 13th of June, 1878, Mr. Ray started

a new Democratic paper in Shelbvville, in capacity of editor and

part proprietor, his partner being B. S. Sutton, of Shelbyville. The
name of the paper was the Shelby Democrat^ and from the first it

was a success: it was a first-class county paper, and its circulation

increased in an unprecedented manner; the intention of its editor

was to make it as good a paper as there could be found in Indiana;
to this end the Danocraf was enlarged in September, 1878, to its

present dimensions. In October, 1878, Mr. Sutton sold his interest

in the paper to A. McCorkle, and until the death of the latter, was

published under the firm name of Ray & McCorkle. Mr. Ray
became sole proprietor in 1878, and in 1880, established the Daily
Democrat, which has been sustained, as perhaps but few papers
have, in a city of but 5,000 people. As a politician, Mr. Ray is

bold and zealous; as a newspaper writer, is able and aggressive,
and his influence has been an important factor in moulding the

character and actions of the Democratic party in Indiana. Although
universally regarded as a strong partisan, he has always freely
criticised what he believed to be wrong in either the principles or

policy of his party. In his denunciation of civil service reform,
under the operations of the present law, and in his advocacy of

Governor Hill of New York for President, he has made himself a

reputation that is co-extensive with the boundaries of the Nation.

Mr. Ray is, in personal appearance, prepossessing, in manners

pleasing, popular among his associates, and withal a most elegant

gentleman.
MiLTOx RoBBixs, M. D., one of the oldest living pioneers of

Shelby County, is a native of Ohio, born in the town of Hillsboro,

November 16, 1810. His paternal ancesters were natives of

Wales, and among the early settlers of New Jersey, his grand-

father, John Robbins, having been born in that State about the year

1760. The Doctor's father Phihp Robbins, was born in Washing-
ton County, Pennsylvania, in 1785, emigrated to Shelby County,

18'
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Ind., in 1S21, and died here about fourteen years later. His wife,

Nancy (Bovd) Robbins, was born in Paris, Ky., in 1791? and de-

parted this hfe in Shelby Count}', Ind., in the year 1856. Philip
and Nancy Robbins, were the parents of ten children, the subject
of this sketch being the eldest. Dr. Robbins was eleven years of

age when his parents came to Shelb}' County, and from that time

until the present he has been justly classed among its most intelli-

gent and trustworthy citizens. He was reared on a farm, and hay-

ing early decided upon the medical profession for a life work,

began his preliminary study of the same in 1831, under the efficient

instruction of Dr. Syh-an B. Morris. Actuated b}' a laudable de-

sire to mcrease his knowledge of the profession, he subsequently
entered the Ohio Medical College, of Cincinnati, from which insti-

tution he graduated in 1844. In 1S35, he was elected to the office

of County Recorder, the duties of which position he discharged in

an eminently satisfactory manner until 1842. At the expiration of

his term as Recorder he resumed the practice of his profession,
which he continued with success and financial profit for a period
of about forty years, bein"- at this time one of the oldest and best

known medical men in southern Indiana. Dr. Robbins ranks high

professionally, and as an energetic citizen, fully aliye to all that in-

terests and benefits the general public: few in the count}' possess
the esteem and confidence of the people in as marked a degree.
He is a Republican in politics, and in religion holds to the creed of

the Methodist Church. In March, 1836, he was united in marriage
with Miss Frances Powell, daughter of Judge Powell, of Dearborn

County, Ind., a union blessed with the birth of four children, \\z. :

Alfred V., Dr. James P., Milton B., and Francis. Mrs. Robbins
was born in the year 1S16, and departed this life in 1884.

John W. Robertson, one ot the pioneers of Shelby County,
was born in Madison County, Ky., Noyember 13, 182 1. He is the

son of James and Nancy (Wheeler) Robertson, and is of Scotch-

Irish ancestry. The father of Mr. Robertson was born in Madi-
son County, Ky., November 10, 1791, and died on his eighty-
seventh birthday. The mother of the subject of this sketch was
born also in Madison County, Ky., in the year 1796, died in Sep-
tember of 1 84 1. The paternal grandfather of Mr. Robertson was
Samuel Robertson, a native of North Carolina, who emigrated to

Kentucky and died in that State in 1827. The Robertson family

came to Shelby County, when John W. was about five years of age,
and settled on Lewis Creek, five miles east of Shelbyville. Our

subject is the third of a family of seven children now living. He
was raised in the woods of this county, and ac(|uired all the educa-

tion he could from the subscription schools, then common. At
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twenty-six 3-ears of age, he began farming for himself, and lived on
one farm, which he still owns, from 1828 to 1886, or for fifty-eight

years. He now owns 800 acres of land in this county. Mr.
Robertson removed to Shelby ville in August, 1886. In poli-

tics, a Republican
—

formerly a Whig— and a leading member of

the Baptist Church. He is one of the most successful and highly re-

spected men of this county.
Dix W. Sayler is a native of Montgomery County, Ohio,

where he was born July 4, 1864, He is a son of Solomon J. and

Mary (Weaver) Sa3-ler, and is of German descent. His father

was born in Frederick County, Md.,Juh' 14, 1833, and died August
16, 1872. He was a distiller by occupation, and from the time of

his coming to this city to the day of his death, he was connected
w'ith the Shelby Distillery. He was a leading Republican and al-

wa3'S took an active part in the affairs of his part3\ B3' his death

the county lost one of its representative men. The mother of the

immediate subject of this sketch was born Januar3^ 27, 1840. The
Savler familv came to Shelbv Count3- in 1867, and located at

Shelbvville. Our subject is the second of three children and was
educated at the Public Schools of Shelb3"ville and at Asbur3' Uni-

versitv (now Depauw). In Februar3', 1883, he engeged in the

grocer3' business in this city, taking charge of a grocer3^ store for

his step-father John W. Vanno3'. In the fall of 1886, he engaged
in the gents' furnishing business in this citv with Mr. Philip J. Shaw,
the hrm being known as Shaw & Sa3-ler. This firm keeps a full

line of hats, caps, and ever3-thing usually to be found in a gents'

furnishing store. They have a splendid trade and are ver3' popu-
lar with the 3'oung men of the cit3-,

Mr. Sa34er is a Democrat
and a member of Shelb3' Lodge No. 39, I. O. O. F.

Mathias Schoelch, is a native of German3' born in Hesse
Darmstadt on the 20th of October, 1831, son of Peter and Barbara

(Braun) Schoelch. The father was born in the 3'ear 1805, married

in his native countrv and died on the Atlantic Ocean in 1854, while

on a vovage to the United States. Mrs. Schoelch was born in

1804, and died in Germany- in 1843. The subject of this biograph3'-
is the eldest of five children born to the above parents, only two of

whom are at this time living. He enjo3'ed the advantages of a

liberal education in his native countr3', and in 1852 came to the

United States landing in New York, from which cit3^
he made his

wa3- direct to Shel^'ville, where he has since resided. For a

period of fourteen years he worked as a day laborer, and at the end

of that time in 1867, engaged in his present business, the manufac-

ture- of brick, which he has conducted with success and financial

profit to the present date. He is a Democrat in politics, and a
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member of the A. O. U. W., in the deliberations of which order he
takes an active part. On the 8th day of May, 1855, was solem-

nized his marriage with Margaret, daughter of John Schroeder.

Mrs. Schcelch was born in Germany, Novembt^' 17, 1829, and was
the mother of thirteen children, the following of whom are living,
to-wit: John C, George A., Conrad, Robert and Valentine,

twins, Mollie, Maggie and Henry. Mrs. Schoelch died September
20, 1881.

Philip J. Shaw, of the firm of Shaw & Sayler, was born in

Lam*el, Franklin County, Ind., November 29, 1864. He is the

son of Daniel J. and Eliza L. (Sullenberger) Shaw, and is of Irish-

German descent. His father was born in Courtland County, N. Y.,

February 9, 1831, and came to Indiana at the age of four 3'ears,

stopping at Laurel until ten years of age; then he removed to

Shelby ville. Subseijuentl}^, however, he went to Franklin County,
and there was married. He died a resident of Shelbyville, De-
cember 27, 1882. The mother of Mr. Shaw was born February
25, 1836, at Petersburg, Va., and became his father's wife January
3, 1854. Our subject is the sixth in a family of eleven children,

four of whom are now living. He attended the public schools of

Shelbyville, began clerking in the hat and cap store of George W. F.

Kirk, in 1880, and continued a clerk in different stores until 1886,
when he began business for himself as partner with Dix W. Say-
ler, dealing in hats, caps and gents' furnishing goods. This firm is

doing a good business, and the members are among the most pop-
ular young business men in the city. Mr. Shaw belongs to Shelby
Lodge No. 39, I. O. O. F., and is a member of "The Club." In

politics he is a Republican, and cast his first vote for Blaine.

Frank Clark Sheldon was born in Adrian, Michigan, March

9, 1852. He is the son of William M. and Elizabeth (Day) Shel-

don, both natives of the Empire State. The father was born in

1807, and the mother in 1824. His parents now reside in Adrian.

Our subject is the elder of two children by his father's second

marriage, and was educated at the Adrian High School. He be-

gan learning the jeweler's trade in 1866, in his native town. In

1867, he went to Toledo, and remained about six years, then went
to Chicago, and stayed there until 1S75, when he came to Shelby-
ville and engaged in the jewelery business, and has since continued

therein. He is now the leader in his line of business in Shelby-
ville. He was married November 13, 1877, to Miss Harriet Major,

daughter of Alfred Major, one of our wealthiest and most influen-

tial citizens. Mrs. Sheldon was born October 23, 1856. This
union has produced one child, Jane M. In politics, Mr. Shel-

don is a strong Republican. He and his wife are members of the
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Presbyterian Church, and the former is a deacon, and at present
Treasurer of the church. Mr. Sheldon is one of our most enter-

prising business men. He is a courteous gentleman, one who does
not interfere in the affairs of others, but attends strictly to his own
business. He has been very successful and is on the high wav to

wealth and all of the good things which the word " business
"
sug-

gests.
Edward Small was born in New York, September 7, 1835.

His father was a native of Europe, born in 1S08, and in 1834, came
to America. A few years later he located in Hamilton County,
Ohio, where he died in 1861. Soon after that time Edward came
to Shelby County, where he has lived ever since. As a member
of Company G, Thirty-seventh Regiment, Indiana Infantry, he
served in the Civil War for a period of twenty months. At the Bat-
tle of Stone River, he was taken sick, and after that spent consid-
erable time in the hospitals until he was discharged for physical
disabilitv. For more than twentv vears he has been encracred in

the confectionery and news business, with a success that is almost
without' precedent. His wife was Mary Morrison, a native of this

county. They are the parents of seven children, the eldest of

whom is

WiLBER M. Small, who was born July 26, 1865. He received
a common school education in the schools of Shelbyville, and at

the age of sixteen began business for himself in the confectionery
trade. He moved into his present location in March, 1887, where
he is conducting a successful business. He was married January
26, 1887, to Stella J. Pherigo, a native of this county, born March
31, 1866. She is a daughter of John W. and Esther (Spurlin)
Pherigo. Mr, Small is an Odd Fellow and Democrat.

Isaac Sorden, deceased, was born in Sussex County, Del.,

May 8, 1806. At an early age he was left an orphan, to grapple
with the " stern realities

"
of life alone. A part of his early man-

hood was spent in Philadelphia. In 1837, he came west, and set-

tled for a time in Greensburg, Ind., but two years later moved to

Shelbyville, where he continued to reside until his death, a period
of thirty-nine years. During all that time his chief occupation was
that of a merchant, and he always sustained the reputation of an
honest and upright man, and was a worth}- citizen. He was a

member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and one of its prin-

cipal supporters in this community. As a member pf the Masonic

fraternit}' he was held in high esteem. His death occurred May 8,

1878, on his seventy-third birthda}-, and he was lamented by the

entire communit}'. Nanc}' Toner became his wife, and they were
the parents of ten children, these seven now living: Anna, Martin T.,
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Lizzie, Fannie, Alice, Maggie and Laura. Martin Sorden was
born January 27, 1843. His education was obtained in the Shelby-
ville schools. For two years he engaged in the grocery trade and
then went into the livery business, which he has followed for sev-

enteen years continuously. He was married to Belle Warren in

1867, by whom he has two children, namely, Albert and Efhe. His

second marriage took place in November, 1877, when Clara L.

Clark became his wife. By this union he is the father of five chil-

dren, these four living: Harry, Jennie, Anna and Clara Maud. Mr.
and Mrs. Sorden are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Jasper Hazen Sprague was born in Hartford, Vermont, June
6, 181 2, and graduated at the Norwich Militar}^ University in the

same State in 1836. Immediately after his graduation he came
west, stopping at Madison, where he soom secured emplo3'ment as

Assistant Engineer in Survej'ing the Madison & Indianapolis
Railroad. He was soon promoted to the position of Chief

Engineer, and assumed the responsibility of performing correctly
some of the most difficult mathematical calculations known in sur-

veving. Although 3'oung and somewhat inexperienced, he did his

work remarkably well. Mr. Sprague was also employed for about

six years following 1842, in surveying short lines from Shelb3'ville
to Rushville; from Shelbyville to Kinghtstown, and from Shelby-
ville to Edinburg. In 1849, ^^^ ^^^^ employed as Chief Engineer in

surveving the line of Cincinnati and Indianapolis Railroad, now
known as "Big Four." In 1846, Mr. Sprague moved to Shelb}'-

ville, from Columbus, Indiana, and after remaining here until 1849,
he went to Lawrenceburg, making that place his headcjuarters
until 1853, when he again returned to Shelbyville. Immediately
after coming back he entered into the manufacture of staves and

barrels, which business he carried on until 1S83, then retired from
business altogether. In 1840, Mr. Sprague was wedded to Miss Dul-

cina C. Town, of Vermont. As a result of this union there were born

six children, Laura, Harriet L., Walter, H., Walter K., Charles T.

and Carrie. Of these but two are living, Charles T., city editor

of the Shclbyrillc Daily Democrat, and Harriet, wife of Dr. James
P. Robins, of this cit\\ Jasper H. Sprague is one of Shelbyville's
most Christian gentlemen. In times of public discord, he is one of

those who ever seek to bring about tranquilit}- and confidence.
" Blessed are the peacemakers: for they shall be called the children

of God." He has devoted a long life to the cause of truth and

right, and now, though quite old and very deaf, he is still cheerful

and happy. His wife and he are members of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church of Shelbyville. Mr. Sprague has alwavs been readv
to act and speak in the Master's cause. He has also held every
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position in the church to which a layman is eligible. May the sun-
set of his life be made bright with the glory of the good deeds he
has done.

Charles T. Sprague was born January- 20, 1854, i^ Shelby-
ville. His parents are Jasper H. and Dulcina (Town) Sprague.
He received a good education in the schools of the town, and after-

ward attended Asbur}^ now De Pauw, University. On his return to

this place in 1871, he began practicing civil engineermg for which
he had prepared himself. In 1875, he began the stud}^ of law in

the office of Hord & Blair, ^nd was soon after admitted to the bar.

In 1877, he was appointed City Engineer of Shelbyville for one
term. He next engaged in the stave business in which he con-
tinued until 1S80. In that year he beefan doins: local work on the

Daily Republican, which he followed for one year. In 1 881, he ac-

cepted the position of city editor on the Daily Evening Democrat.,
which position he now holds. He was married March 13, 1882, to

Miss Minnie Skinner.

Joseph R. Stewart was born in Mercer County, Penn., Jan-

uary 6, 183 1. He is the son of David M. and Lucia (Bierce)
Stewart, and is of Irish-Enij^lish oricrin. His father was born in

New Jersey in 1867, and died in Shelbyville, December 25, 1874.
The paternal grandfather of Mr. Stewart was born in County
Donegal, Ireland, and emigrated to America, and died in Mercer

County, Penn. The mother of Mr. Stewart was born in New
York, November 29, 1810, and is yet living. Joseph R. Stewart
came to Shelbyville in December, 185 1. He received a fair com-
mon school education. He began to do for himself in 1852, at

which time he engaged in the planing mill business. Since 1861,
he has constantly been occupied in that occupation. For the last

four years, he has added a lumber and coal yard to his other busi-

ness, and has taken a partner, Mr. Will E. Blakely, his son-in-law.

Mr. Stewart was married in October, 1852, to Miss ArtHssa Evans,
a native of Pennsvlvania, born October 30, 1830. They have only
one child, a daughter, Mrs. Elizabeth Blakely. Mr. Stewart was

formed)' an old line Whig, but is now an ardent Republican. He
has been elected a member of the Common Council of the Cit}^ of

Shelbyville five terms, serving in all ten years. He belongs to the

A. O. U. W., and he and family are Presbyterians, save Mrs.

Stewart, who is a Baptist. Mr. Stewart was Chorister of the

Presbyterian Church choir for thirty-four years. He is also one of

the citv's most valiant firemen, and for a long while was Chief of

the Fire Department. Shelbyville has few better men than Joe
Stewart. There is no one more universally popular than he. He
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is sociable, big-hearted and generous. He is always in the lead of

enterprises to suppress or avert public calamities.

Norman H. Strong, dealer in hardware, is a native of Elkhart

County, Ind., and son of Samuel S. and Ann Harriet B. (Stillman)

Strong, parents both natives of Ohio, the father born 1819, and the

mother about the year 1S21. Norman H. is the third of a family
of seven children, three of whom are at this time living. He was
born on the 31st day of August, 1845, received a rudimentary
education in the common schools and subse(|uently entered Wabash

College where he made substantial progress in the higher branches

of learning. In 1S62, when but little more than seventeen years of

age, he tendered his services to the Government to do battle in

defense of its rights, enlisting in Company I, Forty-fourth Indiana

Infahtrv, for the three years' service. He remained with his com-
mand for only eighteen months, having been discharged at the end
of that time on account of sickness. During the years 1866-7 ^nd 8,

he carried on the drv goods business in Elkhart, and the follow-

ing year came to Shelbyville, of which city he has since been an

honored resident. In 1870, he became a member of the hardware
firm of Gorgas, Strong & Wilson, which continued until 187 1,

when the stvle of the firm became Gorgas & Strong. On the

death of his partner in 1886, Mr. Strong succeeded to the control

of the business, purchasing the entire stock a little later, being at

this time sole proprietor. He carries a complete line of all kinds

of hardware demanded by the general trade, and in business circles

enjoys more than a local reputation. Politicallv he is an ardent

supporter of the Republican party, and cast his first presidential
vote for Gen. U. S. Grant. May 21, 1868, he was married to Miss
Emma Gorgas, daughter of Solomon and Mary F. Gorgas.
Mrs. Strong was born in Stark County, Ohio, June 11, 1844, and is

the mother of two children, Frank G., born November 17, 1869,
and Ursula V., born January 11, 1872. Mr. Strong was made a

Mason in 1872, since which time he has risen high in the order,

having taken a number of degrees including that of Sir Knight,
belonging to Baldwin Commandery No. 2.

Hon. Bellamy S. Sutton was born in Hamilton County, Ohio,
near Cincinnati, June 3rd, 1841, a son of Rev. John S. and Mary
A. (Addis) Sutton, and of English descent. His father was
born in Mercer County, Pa., 1807, and died at Blanchester, Ohio,

January 6, 1876. His mother was born in Fayette County, Pa.,

May 20, 181 5. His paternal grandfather, born in England, came
to America about 1790, and was a Brigadier.General in the War of

181 2. He died in Hamilton Count}', Ohio, prior to the birth of

our subject. The father of Mr. Sutton was a Methodist minister,
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and was in the active ministry for twenty-seven j^ears. Our sub-

ject is the fourth of six children, four of whom now live. He was
raised on a farm until sixteen vears of age, then learned telegraphy.
He began the stud}- of law in 1858, in the otiice of Judge W. H.

Baldwin at Blanchester, Ohio. In i860, he went to Lawrence

County, 111., and then as a partner of Hon. Aaron Shaw continued

the law practice until 1862, and then went into the service of the

United States, in the Department of Mihtary Telegraph and con-

tinued that until 1864, when he was employed by the Indianapohs
and Cincinnati Railway, now "

Big Four,
"
being stationed at Lon-

don, Fairland and Shelby ville. In 1874, he was elected Circuit

Clerk of Shelby County, and served one term. In 1880 and 1881,,

he practiced law in Shelbyville, in partnership with Hon. J. V.

Mitchell, and in 1882, elected Joint Repesentative for the counties

of Marion, Shelbv and Bartholomew, serving one term. He is a

Democrat of the kind that believe to the victors belong the spoils,

and has always taken an active part in the affairs of his party. He
is a Mason, and in 1879 was honored by being made Grand Master

of the Grand Lodge of Masons of Indiana. October 19, 1865, he

was married to Miss Matilda C. Crum, of London, this county,,

born February 7, 1845. Their two children are named Minnie E.

and Myrtie I."^ Mr. Sutton has long been one of the representative
men of this part of Indiana.

Franklin Talbert (deceased), was born in Union Township,

Shelby County, March 3, 1842, and was a son of Paris C. and

Nancy A. Talbert. His youth was spent upon the farm owned by
his parents. When the War of the RebelHon broke out, he enhsted

(August 8, 1862), in the Third Indiana Battery, continuing

through the war, until 1865. He came back July 24, of that year,

with an honorable discharge. On the third day of December, 1864,

his father died. In September, 1867, the subject of our biography
was married to Mary A. Wright. To them was born three chil-

dren, WiUiam, Lulu and Verhn. On April 14, 1874, the wife

died. In 1869, Mr. Talbert, in company with his brothers, Syl-

vanus and William, and his brother-in-law, Jacob Bower, started a

saw^ mill. In time, the subject of our sketch bought out the entire

mill, and in 1879, moved all of the machinery to Shelbyville, locat-

ing on East Hendricks Street, at the intersection of the J., M. & I.,

and "
Big Four " Railroads. The mill was started in a small way

but the business grew rapidly and he soon erected manufacturing

establishments of various kinds in connection with it. He began

manufacturing wagons in 1881, and it was not long until the "Tal-

bert wagon
" was famous everywhere. Next the planing mill was

added, and in July, of the next year, another saw mill was built.
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Mr. Talbert did an extensive business and employed a large num-
ber of hands. On the 14th day of September, 1877, he was again
married, this time to Angeline Westerfield, of Union Township, from
which marriage there were three children born, two of whom are

dead. Mr. Talbert was for several years a member of the City
Council of Shelbyville. He was a member of Shelby Lodge No. 39,
I. O. O. F. He was also a member of the G. A. R. He was struck

by a falling beam while at his mill, and a few days thereafter,
October 22, 1886, died, leaving a whole community to mourn his

loss. Frank Talbert, had, during his brief residence in Shelbvville,
contributed more to increase the population, and build up the manu-

facturing interests of the city, than anyone else. He was public

spirited in a high degree, and was always ready to help on popular
enterprises.

Arthur J. Thurston was born in Hendricks Township, Shelby
County, April 11, 1849, and is the son of David and Laurinde

(Lang) Thurston, and is of Scotch-Irish extraction. The family
came to Indiana in 1842, and settled first in Johnson County, and
afterward removed to Shelby Countv. The father of the subject
of this sketch still resides upon the old home place in Hendricks

Township. Arthur is the second child of a family of seven children.

He was brought up on a farm, where he remained until nineteen

years old. In 1868, he entered Franklin College at Franklin, Ind.,

and spent two years at hard study. He then engaged in teaching
school and while in the profession was considered one of the most

progressive members in Shelby County. He spent seven years in

the school room, and then in 1877, came to Shelbvville, and in-

vested his savings in an establishment handling agricultural imple-
ments and other machinery. He has since added a carriage and

buggy department to his business. He has been very successful

and is now a man of considerable propertv, owning several farms,
a great deal of town property, and his own business house. Mr,
Thurston was married to Miss Marv J. Ilacknev, of this county,

May 9, 1875. They have two children living, Frederick Neal and
William Eden. In politics our subject is a strong Democrat. He
is a member of Shelby Lodge No, 39, I. O, O. F., and is a Knight
of Pythias since 1886. His wife and he are members of the First

Baptist Church of this city, and are faithful in attendance thereat.

Mr. Thurston is one of the most prominent business men in Shelby-
ville, and his standing as a citizen is above reproach.

Charles A. Tinuall, M. D., the subject of this sketch, is a

native of Shelby County, Indiana, and son of Job D. and Susan

(Warner) Tindall, the father born in Kentucky, and the mother in

Ohio. This family came to this countv as early as the year 1837,
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and settled on a farm near the City of Shelbyville. Dr. Tindall's

early life was spent on his father's farm, and in the common schools
he received the elements of a good English education. He subse-

quently attended the Central Normal School at Danville one 3-ear,
and in 1885, began the study of medicine, in which, bv diligent ap-

plication, he soon made commendable progress. In order to more

thoroughly prepare himself for the duties of his profession, he

subsequently entered the Eclectic Medical Institute of Cincinnati,
where he pursued his studies three, terms, and from which he

graduated June, 1887. Having thus finished his medical educa-

tion, the Doctor began the active practice of his profession in

Shelbyville where he has already won a conspicuous place among
the successful medical men of the city. He is a diligent student,

thoroughly devoted to his profession, and has before him a future

of great promise. Politicalh', he votes the Republican ticket, but

is in no sense of the word a partisan.
H. Henry Torline, successful farmer and stock-raiser, and ex-

Countv Commissioner, is a native of Cincinnati, Ohio, and son of

B. H. and Adelheit (Grimmps) Torline, parents born in Germany.
The family in 1840, came to Indiana and settled in Franklin Count}^,
where the mother subsequently died, and where the father is still

living. The subject of this sketch was born on the 17th day of

December, 1837, and at the age of three years was brought to

Indiana, of which State he has since been a resident. He was
reared a farmer, and in the coi'nmon schools received an English
education, which supplemented by an experienced business training
in subsequent vears has enabled him to successfully discharge the

duties of a verv active life. In 1863, he came to Shelby County
and settled near Fairland, where he resided until purchasing his

present beautiful place near Shelbyville in 1885. As a successful

farmer, Mr. Torline has few, if any, superiors in the county, and

as an intelligent and public-spirited citizen, fully alive to all that

interest or benefits of the public, he occupies a conspicious place. He
is a Republican in politics, arid as such has rendered valuable service

to his partv in this countv. In 1882, he was elected a member of

the Board of County Commissioners, a fact which attests his great

personal popularity in a county overwhelmingly Democratic. He
was married June 9, 1859, ^'^ Miss Mary Bohman, of Cincinnati,

Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Torline are members of the Catholic Church,
and among Shelby County's most estimable and highly esteemed

citizens. In 1882, after repeated and urgent solicitation upon the

part of his friends, both of the Democratic and Republican parties,

he was induced to accept the nomination on the ticket of the latter

party for County Commissioner, to which position he was elected.
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Prior to that time he had been identified with the Democratic party^
but since that time has afiiUated with the Republican party, but in

no case does he allow party prejudice to control him in voting for

local officials. Mr. Torline's portrait can be seen on another page
of this volume.

Hon. Squire L. Vanpelt. — Among the many illustrious

men of Shelby County, few are entitled to more prominent men-
tion than the gentleman whose brief biographical sketch is here-

with presented. Mr. Vanpelt was born near the city of Lebanon,
Warren County, Ohio, September 21, 1819, and is descended from
an old and highly respectable Holland famih', several members of

which came to i\merica in the early part of the last century and
settled in the eastern colonies, where they enjoyed much more than

ocal distinction. Daniel Vanpelt, the grandfather of subject,
was born in New Jersey about the year 1750. He served with

distinction in the War of Independence, and fell while charging the

enemy at the bloody battle of Long Island in 1776. His son,

Alexander Vanpelt, father of the subject, was born in New Jersey,

1773, and was also a soldier, having done valiant service on many a

battle field in the last war with Great Britain in 1812. He emi-

grated to Ohio in an early day, and from thence in 1821, to Shelby

County, Indiana, having been among the first pioneers in this part
of the State. He was a farmer by occupation, a man of more than

ordinary powers of mind, and died in the county of his adoption in

1849. His wife, whose maiden name was Elizabeth Pearce, was
born in New Jersey in 1781, and departed this life at her home in

Shelby County about the year 1825. Squire Vanpelt was
the third child by his father's second marriage. When two

years of age, he was brought to the county, where amid the

stirring scenes of pioneer life were spent his early years,
and where in the rugged school of experience were de-

veloped those powers of perseverance and industry which have
made him conspicuous among his fellow men. He was reared to

agricultural pursuits, and in 1844, began life for himself, choosing
for a vocation that most useful of all occupations, farming, to which
he has devoted the greater part of his attention, and in which he

has met with encouraging success. In connection with the farm

he was for several years engaged in buying and shipping grain in

this cit}^ but this branch of trade was not entered into for the pur-

pose of making it a permanent business. Mr. Vanpelt early be-

came interested in politics, and as an active worker in the

Democratic party, his abilities as a leader in local affairs soon began
to be felt and appreciated by his friends and political enemies. His

first official position was that of Justice of the Peace, the duties of
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Avhich he discharged in such a manner as to recommend him to a

more responsible phice, according!}', in 1S54, he was elected Sheriff

of Shelby County, which position he held until 1858, having been

re-elected in 1856. In 1858, he ^^as the Democratic nominee for

County Auditor, and after a spirited contest was triumphantly
elected. His record in that office justified the party in renominat-

ing him four years later, with the same result, and he discharged
the duties of the position in an eminently satisfactory manner until

1867. For several years after the expiration of his term as

Auditor, Mr. Vanpelt did not present himself for the suff-

rage of the people, but in 1878, at the earnest solicitation of

his party friends he was nominated for the Legislature, and

elected by the unprecedented majorit}- of over more than 2,000

votes, a fact which attests his great popularity throughout the

county. His career as a legislator is similar to that earned in his

other official positions, and the records of the Assembly show that

he was always at his post ready to participate in the deliberations

and discussions of all measures coming before the House for con-

sideration. Since the expiration of his term in the Legislature, Mr.

Vanpelt has devoted considerable attention to the pohtical ques-
tions of the day, on all of which he is well informed, being consid-

ered one of the' party leaders in Shelby County. He enjoys great

personal popularity, and is a man of intelligence and generous im-

pulses. He is a representative Democrat of the old school, and

while an active partisan, against his official record no breath of sus-

picion has ever been uttered. He married, in 1844, Miss Mary
Major, who was born in Ireland in the year 1819. Mrs. Vanpelt
died in December, 1863. Mr. Vanpelt's second marriage was sol-

emnized in 1864, with Emily M. Shank, of this county. He and

wife are members of the Presbyterian Church, belonging to the

Shelbyville congregation.

Benjamin j. Weakley,^ one of tht? successful self-made men

of Shelby County, is a native of Shelbyville, and dates his birth

from the'27th day of September, 1850.

'

His father, Jerry Weak-

ley, son of John Weakley, was born in Scott County, Ky., Decem-

ber 5, 1826, and died in Shelby County, Ind., February, 1884.

The grandfather, John Weakley, was born in the year 1800, and

departed this life in 1885. Subject's mother, Martha A. (Fisher)

Weakley, was born in the State of Delaware, April 23, 1831, and

died in Waldron, Ind., December 30, 1885. Benjamin J. Weakley
is the eldest of a family of six children. He was educated in the

common schools and a't the age of nineteen engaged to learn th^

tinner's trade, in which he soon acquired great proficiency an^
which he has since successfully carried on. In 1881, he engage
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in the stove and tin trade at the Town of Waldron, and four years
later removed to Shelbvville, where in March, 1886, he opened his

present business house, one of the largest stove and tinware estab-

lishments in the citv. Mr. Weakley has made commendable pro-

gress in his business, his present substantial trade having been built

up by his own efforts, as he started in life with no capital save a

determination to succeed. October 3, 1872, was solemnized his

marriage with Miss Elizabeth Jackson, w^ho was born in this county,

August 22, 1854. Mr. and Mrs. Weakley have one child,

Lora B., born January 19, 1874, died November 6, 1879.
Charles F. Webster was born in Bradford, Yorkshire, Eng-

land, December 9, 1837; son of George and Martha (^Gath)
Webster. The parents of Mr. Webster were also born in the same

EngHsh State. Father born in 1809, and died in 1874; mother born

in 1 8 10, and died in 1862. The Webster family came to America
in 1843, and settled in Shelby County, Ind., and here the parents of

our subject died at the time as stated above. The subject is the

fifth of seven children. Received a common school education. At
the age of nineteen he began teaching school and continued in that

occupation for six terms, and during this time studied surveying,,
which in after years became so beneficial to him. Later, he held

the position of Deputy County Surveyor of this county. In 1874,
he was elected Surveyor of Shelby County; re-elected in 1878, and

elected again in 1880— serving three full terms. For quite a num-
ber of 3^ears he held the office of City Engineer of Shelbyville.
It is stating the fact without exaggeration to say, that Mr. Webster
was one of the most efficient Surveyors the county has ever had.

During 1870, Mr. Webster made and had copyrighted a Surveyor's
Record. During the winter of 1885, he made and had copyrighted
a General Index of Roads. Mr. Webster continued surveying and

engineering until April, 1886, when he engaged in the grocery
business, which he now continues. He was married in 1861 to

Miss Minerva Shaffer, a native of Pennsylvania. To this union

seven children were born: Cora M., Fannie M., George W.,

Gracie, Daisy, Gertrude H. and Bessie. He is a Democrat and

an honorable man.

James Wiles, Ex-Auditor of Shelby County, is a native of War-
ren County, Ohio, and the third of a family of four children born

to Edwin A. and Catherine F. (Wood) Wiles, parents both natives

of the same State. Edwin A. Wiles was born in the year 1809,
was by occupation a tanner and cabinet maker, and died at Le-

banon, Ohio, July 28, 1858. The mother was born in 1813, and

departed this life in Shelbyville, Ind., on the 8th day of September,
1 881. James Wiles was born in the city of Lebanon, July 13,
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1 84 1. He acquired a good English education in the city schools,
and at the age of eighteen entered the office of The Western Star,
to learn the art of printing, in which he soon accjuired great pro-

ficiency, and which he continued uninteruptedly until 1S63. In that

year he accepted a clerkship with the Paymaster of the United
States Navy, at Cairo, 111., in which capacity he continued until the

close of the war. In 1867, he came to Shelbyville, Ind., and after

working at his trade a short time was appointed Deputy County
Auditor, the duties of which position he discharged in an eminently
satisfactory manner for a period of twelve years, having served

two terms as City Clerk and once as member of the City Council
in the meantime. On severing his connection with the Auditor's

office, Mr, Wiles became Deputy Treasurer of Shelbv County,
and four years later, 1882, was nominated and triumphantly elected

to the office of Auditor, an office he recently vacated. He is an ac-

complished business man, and as a painstaking and accommodating
official, is highly esteemed by the citizens of the county, irrespective
of politics or part}' afliliations. Politically he is a Democrat, and is

one of the recognized leaders of his party in both count}' and city.

January 11. 1871, was solemnized his marriage with Sarah E.,

daughter of J. M. Randall, of Shelby County, a union blessed with

the birth of two children: Jessie B., born Juh^ 22, 1877, and Harry,
born March 10, 1874, ^"^ ^^^^ August 9, 1876.

"Uncle" Isaac H. Wilson, as he is famiharly known through-
out Shelby County, was born in Jefferson County, Ind., May 20,

1807, and was the son of James and Nancy (McCarty) Wilson.

William Wilson, his paternal grandfather, was a native of Vir-

ginia. He, with four brothers, entered the Colonial Army in the

War for Independence, and was the only one who survived that

severe strufj^-le. He married in Virmnia, a Miss McKav, and came
to Franklin County, Ind., a number of years before the State was

organized. James Wilson, father of Isaac H., was born near the

James River, in the Old Dominion, in 1779. He came when a

young man to Jefferson County about 1800. He met and married

Nancy McCarty in 1801. They then removed to Franklin County,
where the family resided until November, 1818, whence they came
to what is now known as Shelby County. He died here February

5, 1824. His wife, and the mother of the subject of our sketch, was a

native of Nelson County, Kentucky, born February 24, 17855 ^"*^

died in Adams County^ 111., December 30, 1S74. Isaac, at the

time of his father's death, w^as nearly seventeen years old. In the

fall of 1825, he came to Shelbyville and engaged to learn the cab-

inet maker's trade with Jacob Shank, with whom he remained five

years. Portions of the four following years he spent in the south
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investing the money he had earned in government lands which he
still owns. September 26, 1836, Rebecca A. Montgomery became
his wife. She bore him six children, four of whom are now living,
Martha A., Susan E., Sarah Z., and J. Marshall. James W. died

at the age of thirty-three in 1881. He lost his beloved wife in

1S60. He was elected Treasurer of Shelbv Countv in 1854, and
served one term, hi after years, he was elected Trustee ofAddison

Township, and served a number of terms. He was also elected

Assessor of the same township, serving two terms. Uncle Isaac is

a member of the Presbyterian Church, and is a conscientious Chris-

tian gentleman. He is the repositor\' of county lore and tradition,

and the publishers of this history seek this opportunity of thanking
him for many past favors.

David B. Wilson.—Among the successful business men of

Shelbyville, we may class the gentleman for whom this biograph-
ical sketch is prepared. David B. Wilson is a native of Ohio, born
in Montgomery County, November 27th, 1836, the son of David B.

and Cordelia A. Wilson. David B. Wilson, Sen., was born in the

Cit}' of Glasgow, Scotland, in 1797, came to the United States in

1820, and died in Paducah, Ky., in the year 1881. His wife whose
maiden name was Cordelia A. Brown, was born in Virginia, in

1815, and is still living, making her home at this time in the City of

Shelb3'ville. D. B. Wilson, the subject of this sketch, spent the

greater portion of his early Hfe in the City of Dayton, Ohio, receiv-

ing in the public schools an education which, although not of a high
scholastic order, was of a character that has since enabled him to

participate successfully in the details of an active business life. In

1852, he went to Paducah, Ky., and after several years' residence
in that cit}^ returned to Indiana, locating in Shelbyville in 1872.
Mr. Wilson's business prior to 1880, in this cit}^, was that of car-

riage making, which he abandoned the above year, and engaged in

undertaking, being at this time the proprietor of the largest estab-

lishment of that kind in the place. Mr. Wilson enjoys great per-
sonal popularity, and is well known and universally respected
throughout the county for his sterlinij qualities and manly intefrrity.

His poHtical views have ever been in sympathy with the principles
of the Democratic party, and his first presidential vote was cast in

1856, for James Buchanan. He was Whisky Inspector during the

administration of Andrew Johnson, and in 1879 and 1880, held the

position of Door Keeper of the Indiana House of Representatives.
He is pre-eminently identified with the Masonic and K. of P. fra-

ternities, and in religion holds to the creed of the Presbyterian
Church. On the i6th day of August, 1858, was solemnized his

marriage with Miss Ellen Bolan, a native of Ireland, and daughter
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of Thomas and Maria Bolan. Mrs. Wilson was born in the year
1S39, and is the mother of two children, viz.: Emma C. and
Thomas D. She is a worthy member of the Episcopal Church.

David Leonidas Wilson.—The grandfather of David L. Wil-
son w^as David Wilson, a native of Kentucky. He moved to Rush
County, Ind., in 1S24, w^here he lived until 1858. He then moved
to Shelby County and settled in Union Township. In 1S65, he
came to Shelbyville, where he resided until his death, which
occurred in the summer of 1867. The father of David L. Wilson— John W. Wilson— was born in Rush County, Ind., in 1825,
where he grew^ to manhood. In 1846, he w^as married to Miss
Martha A. Mauz}-, daughter of Peter and Sarah (Gooding) Mauzy,
natives of Kentuckv, who settled in Rush Countv in 1829. Mrs.
Wilson was born in Kentuck}' in 1828. They have reared a large
family, to-wit— ten children, of whom David L., the subject of

this sketch is the second. John W. Wilson, after marriage, settled

in Laurel, Franklin Count}', Ind., where he engaged in the harness
trade until 1849, "^vhen he moved to Shelby Count}', and settled in

the southern part of Addison Township, where he has since devoted
his attention to farming. Here, on the farm, David L. Wilson was
born, January 34, 1850. He was raised on the farm, assisting his

father in tilling the soil until his twenty-first year, at which time he
entered Harts\'ille University, in Bartholomew County, Ind. He
spent three years in college life, during all of which time he strove

to attain the tirst position in his classes. Bv his untiring efforts and
courteous treatment of others, he always enjoyed the confidence

and respect of his fellow-students, and it was with great reluctance

that the Faculty saw him quit the college, when but one term more
was necessary for him to graduate with high honor. He taught
five winter terms of school in all, giving entire satisfaction, and in

1874, he entered the law office of Hord & Blair, where he remained
until the spring of 1877, teaching school in the winter season for

the purpose of pa^'ing his expenses while a student. On the 5th

day of March, 1877, the day of the inauguration of Rutherford B.

Hayes as President of the United States,
" he swung out his

shingle
"

as an attorney at law, and since that time he he has been

actively engaged in the practice of his chosen profession. Politic-

ally, he is a Republican, and was nominated, in 1878, by that party
for Prosecuting Attornev of the Sixteenth Judicial District. The
District being- strono-ly Democratic he was defeated, although he

greatly reduced the majority, and even carried Johnson County by
a small majority. He now devotes himself exclusively to the law

practice, which he finds steadily increasing. He is a close student,

and is always to be found about his office. Among the people, he

19
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is known as an honest and upright young man. Among the attor-

neys, his reputation for fair deahng and honorable practice in his

profession, is estabhshed. He was elected Ma^'or of Shelbvville

in 1885, and served one term, June 11, 1885, he married Marv C.

Jonas, who has borne him one child named Irene. He is a mem-
ber of the F. & A. M., and K. of P., fraternities.

Lee F. Wilson, attorney at law and prominent member of

the Shelby County Bar, is a native of Jackson County, Ind., and
son of William T. and Sarah (Hosea) Wilson, the father born in

Maysville, Kentucky, in 1829, and the mother at Jonesboro, Tenn-
essee about the }-ear 1831. The subject is the oldest of a family
of six children, and was born in the town of Seymour, February
8, 1850. At the early age of nine years he began learning the

shoemaker's trade, from which time until 1S69, he continued the

same, attending school at intervals during that period. In the latter

year he entered the Hartsville University, Hartsville, Indiana, where
he pursued his literary studies for one year, providing himself with

books and defraying his necessary expenses in the meantime by
working at his trade. In 1870, he began teaching in the public

schools, and in connection with the duties of that calling took up
the study of law, continuing both until 1879, '^*- '^vhich time he

abandoned the former and entered upon the active practice of the

legal profession. He was elected City Attorney of Nashville,
Brown County, in 1879, ''"^ ^"^ year later went to Danville, where
for four years he was editor of The Hendricks Coiuiiy Gazette, the

Democratic organ of Hendricks Count}-. Abandoning the held of

journalism in 18S4, he went to Indianapolis, and the following year
came to Shelbyville, where he has since resided in the active prac-
tice of his profession, having at this time an extensive business in

the courts of Shelby and adjoining coujities. Mr. Wilson's legal
career presents a series of continued successes, and since locating
in this count}', has been an important factor in the Shelbyville Bar,

standing deservedly high in the profession. Mr. Wilson was mar-
ried in 1883 to Miss Fannie Tucker, daughter of Judge N. W.
Tucker, of Parkersburg, West Virginia, by whom he is the father

of one child, viz. : Harrold T. Mr. Wilson is a Methodist in his

religious belief, belonging to the Methodist Episcopal Church, South.

In his political affiliations he is a Democrat, being one of his party
leaders in this county. Mrs. Wilson is a member of the Episcopal
Church.

John J. Wingate, Business Manager of the S/icJby Republi-
can, and one of the contracting stockholders, was born in Shelby
County, Indiana, Juh' i, 1839. He is the son of Smith and Cath-

erine (Titus) Wingate, who came to this count}' from Owen
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County, Kentucky. The latter remained a resident of this county
until her death, but the former married again, and moyed to Tay-
lorsyille in Bartholomew, where he died in 1S82. In 1856, our im-

mediate subject engaged to learn the printer's trade with Solomon
Alter, who was then the publisher of the Inde-pendcnt Banner,
with whom he continued until the election of Mr. Lincoln, as Presi-

dent. Mr. Alter receiying an appointment under the new adminis-

tration, went to Washington, leaying the Banner in charge of

young Wingate. The latter soon suspended publication of his

paper, and accepted the position of foreman in the Vohinteer Office

where he continued until 1863. From this time until 1865, he was

engaged in the grocery business. In January, 1S66, the Shelby

Refnbliean was founded by Mr. James Cumback, as editor. The

subject of our sketch accepted a position on that paper then, and
has been eyer since in different capacities wdth the exception of

eighteen months, during which time he filled an appointment in the

mail service. In 1872, the proprietorship of the Repuhliean passed
oyer to S. J. Thompson. In 1884, Mr. Thompson sold his paper
to the Shelby Printing Company. This was a Stock Company,
and chose Charles X. Mathews, Editor, and John J. Wingate, Busi-

ness Manaffer. Mr. Wincjate now owns a large number of shares

of stock in this company. September 3, 1861, Mr. Wingate was
married to Miss Lucy A. Lacy, at Edinburg, Indiana. They
haye only one child, William L. Both Mr. Wingate and his wife

are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church, of this city. The
former is also a charter member of Chillon Lodge No. 129, Knights
of Pythias. Mr. Wingate has always been an ardent Republican.
He is a first rate business man, sociable and friendly, and conse-

quently is yery popular among many in both parties.

GusTAVE G. Winter, Doctor of Philosop}', is a native of Ger-

many, born at Leimbach, August 22, 1841. His father was
Rev. Carl G. Winter, born at Bueschdorf, Germany, in 1796. He
was a minister in the Lutheran Church for more than fifty years.
The mother of the subject here treated, was Wilhelmine Winter,
whose maiden name was Kaiser, a native of Leimbach, Germany,
born in 181 7, and died in her native town, in 1849. "^^e earh' ed-

ucation of Dr. Winter was acquired at the common schools at

Leimbach. Later, he received private instructions, which was suf-

ficient to admit him to the fourth class in the G}mnasium at

Eisleben (the famous place where Martin Luther was born and

died), in 1854, ^"^ from which he graduated in 1863. Subse-

quenth". Dr. Winter entered the University at Halle, and prepared
himself for the ministry, and was ordained in 1868. During 1866,



550 SHELBY COUNTY.

he was an Acting Lieutenant in the German Army, and was in the

Prussian-Austrian conflict. Since 1868, Dr. Winter has been

preaching; came to Shelbyville, Januar}- 3. 1869. For seventeen

years he has been Pastor of St. Zion's Church, in Union Town-

ship, this county, and since 1S80, Pastor of the EvangeHcal Luth-
eran Church, of Shelbyville. Since 1873, he has been connected

with the Shelbyville High School as teacher of languages, and for

two years past, has been Principal of Building No. i, Shelbvville

High School. Without question, he is one of the most efficient

teachers of lang'uag'es in Indiana. The marriajre of Dr. Winter
took place in 1S72, to Miss Rosa Thebold, a native of Shelby
County, born in 1856. To this marriage are three children, in

this order: Carl G., born September 28, 1873; Paul G., born Sep-
tember 22, 1880, and Emil G., born October 3, 18S5. Dr. Winter
was made a Mason in 1879; ^ member of the Chapter, Council,
and a Knight Templar in 1880. He is a forcible preacher, a lead-

ing teacher and a true Christian gentleman.
Albert F. Wray, attorney at law, is a native of Shelbv

Countv, born near the city of Shelb^wille, December 4, 1852. He
is the son of Isom Wray, also a native of this countv, and a very
prominent and wealthy citizen, ^^'ho was born April 5, 1829. Isom

Wray's father was James Wray, a North Carolinian, born in 1793.
The old gentleman came to this countv in an early dav, and died

in 1869. Mr. A. F. Wra3'^'s mother's maiden name was Miami

Bowen, and she was born in Ohio, in 1828. Her father was a cap-
tain in the War of 181 2. The subject of this writing is the eldest

son of four children. He was raised on his father's farm, and at-

tended the common school. In 1868, he entered Asbury Univer-

sity, now De Pauw, and graduated therefrom in 1873, with the

degree of A. B., and in 1876, was further honored with the degree
of A. M. He began the study of law in the spring of 1874, in the

office of Love & Conner. Here he remained until 1877. He was
admitted to the bar during the latter year. In 1S79, ^^ formed a

co-partnership with the Hon. E. P. Ferris, which continued for two
vears. Then Mr. Wray formed another partnership with David L.

Wilson, and this partnership lasted for three years. Since the fall

of 1884, he has been alone in the practice of the law. In the fall

of 1882, he was appointed Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for the

Sixteenth Judicial District, and reappointed in 1884, and again in

1886. He has exclusive control of all the criminal business of this

countv. In politics, Mr. Wrav is a Democrat, and voted first for

Tilden in 1876. He was made a Mason in 1875, ^^^ '^^ Odd Fel-

low in 1S80. Mr. Wra}- was employed in the famous criminal
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case,
" The State z's. Edward Kennedy," for the murder of Sheriff

Albert McCorkle in 1S80, and made himself quite prominent. He
is one of the leading young members of the Shelby County Bar.

Matthias Wright, a leading, substantial citizen of this county,
was born in Ross County, Ohio, at what is now Frankfort, Octo-
ber 22, 18 18. He is the son of Caleb and Mary A (Sleeth)
Wright, who were natives of New Jersey and Virginia, respect-

ive!}'. Mr. Wright was reared to manhood in Logan Countv, Ohio,
his parents were in limited circumstances and could not offer him
manv advantages for obtaining an education, but he improved every
one that was afforded, and the knowledge obtained was the germ
of a liberal education acquired latter bv close application and hard

stud}' without the aid of a teacher. He taught for several years in

Ohio and this State; he had determined to make the law his pro-
fession, and in 1839, entered the office, as a student, of Cvrus

Wright, then located at Lebanon, this State. He pursued his legal
studies at such intervals as he could, being compelled during the

time, to continue teaching for a livlihood. In 1845, he reached

Shelbyville, with a cash capital of fifty cents and a library valued
at $30, with which to begin the practice of his profession. Owing
to failing health he was compelled in 1S50, to retire and seek a less

sedentary pursuit. He then removed to a farm now occupied by
his sons, Charles M., and David A., where he remained until Janu-
ary, 1887, when he removed to Shelbyville. November 5, 1846,
he married Miss x\manda Young, by whom he is the father of

eight children, these three now living, David A., Charles M.,
and Nancv M. In his farmintj, the same effort characterized his

work as did everv undertakino- made durinir his life, and it is al-

most unnecessar}' to say that he was very successful. He is now
the proprietor of 340 acres of well improved land. Politicallv he
is a Republican, and during his career as a lawyer served efficiently
as Prosecuting Attorney.
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CHAPTER VIII.

Bench and Bar— First Courts— Adoption of Seal —
Riding the Circuit— Early Causes— Miscellaneous
Items — Admission of Thomas A. Hendricks— Early
Judges— Courts Under the New Constitution— Later
Judges— Common Pleas Courts— Resolutions of the
Bar— List of Prosecutors and Judges— Roll of Attor-
neys.

""N Gxevy community the Attorneys and Judges of

courts form the most conspicuous class of its residents,

and a brief history of them cannot fail to be of interest.

The account here given, pertains more to the individuals

than to the transactions of courts, although some of the

incidents pertaining to the methods and acts of the court

are interwoven with the narrative. The history of the

Shelby County Bar is of more than ordinary interest, and
its roll contains some of the most distin<>-uished names in both

State and National affairs. The Circuit Court has from the first

been the principal medium of administering justice in Indiana. On
this account the records of that court are taken as the basis of this

chapter. The other courts will, however, be mentioned in the

course of the work. The lirst session of the Shelby County Cir-

cuit Court began on the loth of October, 1822. In conformity
with the act of the Legislature creating the count}-, the court met
at the house of David Fisher. John Sleeth and WilHam Goodrich

presented their commissions as Associate Judges, signed by
Jonathan Jennings, as Governor of the State. Hiram Alldredge
was Clerk and Sevier Lewis, Sheriff. After all these were prop-

erly (|ualiiied by taking the oath of ofhce, the business of the court

began.
The first motion in the court was made by Hiram M. Curry,

asking that he, with Charles H. Test, Calvin Fletcher, James Du-

lany and John A. Brackenridge, be admitted to practice as attorne3'S
and counsellors at law in this court. The record then says :

" On
producing their licenses from under the hands of two of the Pres-

ident Judges of the State of Indiana, permitting them to practice
in all the Circuit and Inferior Courts of t]ie State," and " after be-

ing duly sworn to support the Constitution of the United States
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and of the State of Indiana, and to demean themselves as attorneys
and counsellors at law to the

'

best of their understanding while

practicing in this court, thereupon are admitted to practice as at-

torneys and counsellors at law in this court." "The Sheriff of said

county having satisfied the court that he has provided a more con-

venient house than the one at which the court convened * *

therefore it is considered by the court that they adjourn to the

house of John Summers, in the county aforesaid. Now the court

met and opened at the house of John Summers agreeable to ad-

journment."
Hiram M. Curry was appointed Prosecuting Attorney, and the

following named persons were returned by the Sheriff as Grand

Jurors: Willis Law, John Oldham, Hiram H. Lewis, Reuben

Penwell, George Goodrich, Abraham Jones, Lewis Hendricks,

John Kenaday, Sq. Huntington, James Campbell, Benjamin Raster,
Moses Blood, James Mclntire, George Cutsinger, James Davidson,
Elisha Mayhew, Peter Dewett and Shubel Coy. Of these the fol-

lowing appeared: Willis Law, George Goodrich, John Kenaday,

Benjamin Raster, Moses Blood, George Cutsinger and Peter

Dewett. The panel was filled with the following talesmen: James
Gregor^•, Jesse Beard, Able Cole, Henr}' Shearer, Zadock Plum-

mer and Zachariah Collins. James Gregory was appointed fore-

man, and under the charge of Jacob Fox as bailiff the jury retired

to deliberate on presentments and indictments.

In the afternoon of the same day an indictment was returned

against William Welch for assault and battery. This concluded

the business for the first day's session of the Shelby Circuit Court.

On the following day another indictment for assault and battery
was returned against John Greer. There being no further business

before the Grand Jury, it was discharged. On being informed by
WilHam H. Sleeth that James Wilson was a man of unsound mind,

the court ordered the Sheriff to summon a jury of " twelve inteUi-

gent, disinterested men," and inquire into the sanity or insanity of

Wilson. Upon a verdict of insanity by the jury, the court appointed

John, James and Francis Walker his guardians.
The following adoption of a seal for the court is something of a

novelty in the line of seals. The order reads as follows :
" Ordered

by the"^ court that there be a seal devised, which seal shall be of the

following description : Twenty-five cents in silver is stamped on a

white piece of paper, notched around the edges with sealing-wax-

under."
" And now comes Abel Summers into court with a petition for

tavern Hcense. The court being satisfied with said petition, there-

fore it is ordered by the court that Abel Summers aforesaid obtain
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a license for keeping tavern and retailing spirituous liquors, and
that he pay the sum of $io, as a tax for said license for one year.

"

With commendable attention to their pecuniary interests the follow-

ing allowances were made: Each Grand Juror, 75 cents per day;
the Associate Judges $6 for their total services. Hiram Alldredge
and Sevier Lewis, were allowed $15 for extra services in criminal

causes for the year.
It was then " ordered that the court now adjourn to the house

of Hiram Alldredge and stand adjourned until court in course."

So ended the first session of the Shelby Circuit Court. There
was no Presiding Judge present during the term, and all the busi-

ness was conducted by the Associate Judges.
The courts then were differently organized than they are now»

Then one Judge who was " learned in the law "
held court in a

large number of counties, and in each there were two Associate

Judges, elected from among the citizens, who occupied the bench
with the Presiding Judge.

The second term of the Circuit Court began on the ist day of

May, 1S23, at the house of Hiram Alldredge, in Shelbyville. At
this time the Hon. William W. Wicks appeared as President of the

Fifth Judicial Circuit, and of the Shelby Circuit Court. On his com-
mission was indorsed his oath of office, to the effect that he would

faithfully discharge the duties of his office; that he had not, since

the first day of January, 1819, either directl}' or indirectly, given or

accepted, or knowing carried a challenge to an}^ person or persons
to fight in single combat with any deadly weapon, either in or out

of the State of Indiana, and that he will not do so during the con-

tinuance of his term of office.

Those were days when dueling was yet in vogue for the settle-

ment of private differences, but the tide of public opinion had set

against it. A law had been passed making any person who had

sent, accepted, or knowingly carried a challenge to fight in a duel

ineligible to hold the office of Judge.
James Raridan, Oliver H. Smith, Philip Swatzer, James T.

Brown and Abel Cole were admitted to the bar as attorneys and
counsellors at law. This made a total of ten who had been ad-

mitted to practice law, while but two cases were yet upon the docket.

It was customory then, and continued to be so for many years
afterward, for the leading attorneys to ride the circuit with the Pre-

siding Judge. On the day set for the court to begin, or on the day
before, the Judge, accompanied by from one to half a dozen or

more attorneys, would ride into the country town, all on horseback,
and with large old-fashioned saddle-bags thrown over their saddles

filled with law-books. Litigants having suits in court seldom en-
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gaged their legal assistants until the lawyers came, and then made
their choice. The Judge and attorneys generalh' put up at the

same hotel, and however sharp or embittered may have been their

legal engagements during the day, the evenings, sometimes extend-

ing far into the night, were spent around the hotel sitting-room in

the best of friendship and good feeling, which, at the close of the

term, very often degenerated into a drinking bout, in which Judge,
attornevs and court officers became "too full for utterance."

The two indictments against William Welch and John Greer, for

assault and battery, were quashed at the re(juest of the Prosecut-

ing Attornev. The first civil cause that appears upon the docket

was entitled : Thomas Lawrence, John F. Lawrence and Thomas
G. Casey, partners, etc., vs. Able Cole and Moses Blood, partners,
etc. The action was in assumpsit, a style of proceeding that has

disappeared bv that name under the code practice of the new con-

stitution.

John N. Calvert, a subject of King George the Fourth, of Great

Britain and Ireland, declared his intention to become a citizen of

the United States.

The adoption of a new seal for the court reads,
" The following

devices, to-wit : around the edge the words, '

Shelby County Seal,

Indiana,
'

an eagle perched upon a lion, the impression of which

seal is in perpetual testimony of its adoption.
" The seal was un-

doubtedly devised by some patriotic American citizen who had not

-Vet allowed his enthusiasm over the termination of the War of 1S12

to subside. The triumph of the American Eagle over the British

Lion, is a verv distinguishing feature of this early seal of the county.
The Grand Jury returned indictments against Bennett Michael

Joseph Hunt and Adam Roads, for assault and batter}-, and one

a<Tainst Stephen Vail for retailing without license. The jury was

then discharged with an allowance of 75 cents each.

Abel Summers appHed for a writ of ad qiiod danuiuin and the

Sheriff was ordered to summon a jury where Summers was building
a mill on part of the east half of the southeast (quarter of Section 8,

Township 13, Range 7, and the west half of the southwest quarter,

of Section 9, same township and range, on Blue River. It was
the duty of the jury so summoned to determine what, if any, would

be the damage to the land owners along the banks of the stream

caused by erecting a dam for the purposes of a mill. This was the

method of estabhshing a mill seat in the early times, but steam has

done away with the old fashioned water mills to a large extent.

In theearly history of the county two terms of court each year
were sufficient in which to dispose of the legal business that came

up for the determination of the court. These terms were held in
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Mav and October. At the October Term, in 1S23, Daniel B.

Wick, Bethuel F. Morris and Edg'ar C. Wilson, were admitted to

the bar. Calvin Fletcher was appointed Prosecuting Attorney,
and the court adopted rules governing the practices in the court.

The Grand Jury returned three indictments against John Greer
for larceny. On one of these he was tried by a jury and found

guilty. He v\-as sentenced to a tine of ^17 and one year at hard
labor in the State's Prison at Jeffersonville.

This was the first jury trial in this court, and the jurors were :

Benjamin Applegate, David Brown, William Cotton, William Hef-

flin, John Andrews, Jeremiah Campbell, Joseph Hewitt, Eber

Lucas, Adam Roads, James Da^•idson, Arthur Major and Henr}-
Gatewood. Greer was defended by Daniel B. Wick and Edgar C.

Wilson. This was the first judgment imposing confinement in the

State Prison, passed in the county. Shelby County justice was
neither asleep nor negligent when offenders of the law were at the

bar. William D. Smith and Bennett Michael, were fined for con-

tempt of court, and the Shelby County Seminary Fund was aug-
mented thereby.

In the first civil cause, already mentioned, between Lawrence
et al. and Cole et al., the jury found for the defendants. This was
also the first civil trial in this court. Greer, on being tried on one
of the other indictments, was ac(|uitted.

The next term convened in March, 1824, at the house of

Benjamin WiUiams in Shelbwille. Williams had been licensed to

keep a tavern about a year before this and the court was doubtless

keeping in mind the conveniences of itself and the itinerant attor-

neys. It will be somewhat suggestive when it is remembered that

the "taverns'" of those days were not famous for following the

rigid rules of prohibition. Gabriel J. Johnson, Harvey Gregg and
Hiram Brown were admitted to the bar as attorneys.

At this term the Commonwealth of Kentucky appeared as

plaintiff in a writ of foreign attachment suit against Jabe Moore,

^executor of the will of William Bledsoe. The cause was continued

for publication which was to be made in the " Western Censor and

Eniigranfs Guide, a public newspaper and one of general circula-

tion, printed at Indianapolis."
On the charo-e of beo'ettinii; an illeo-itimate child Arthur Morgan

was compelled to pay the overseers of the poor of Jackson Town-

ship the sum of $4 per month.
The President Judge after some severe criticism on a portion of

the clerk's records says :
" The records in the order-books

have been as well kept as could be expected considering the manner
in which the sessions of court have holden, surrounded by noise
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and confusion and in the bar room of a tavern."' This reads a little

queer to one of the present da}'. He recommended that " a full

round mechanical execution be adopted, that the good old fashioned
technical language be adopted as much as possible and that particu-
lar attention be paid to orthography."

The next term of the court began on the i6th day of Septem-
ber, 1824, and was still held at the house of Benjamin Williams.
The Grand Jury roll at that term, contains a number of names that

were among the earliest as well as the most influential of the

county. They were: Jacob Crick, John Wallace, Bennett Michael,

Jacob Hartez, Jesse Scott, William Morris, Andrew Derickson,
Joseph Allen, Ebenezer Cross, John Hendricks, Andrew Gwinn,
Solomon George, David Winterrowd, Daniel French. John Foster,

John Bone and Justus Farris. John Hendricks was appointed fore-

man. Henry Gregg produced his commission as Prosecuting Attor-

ney for the Fifth Judicial Circuit of Indiana.

The Grand Jury returned two indictments against Benjamin
Williams for retailing spirits. One was for selling to David Winter-

rowd, a Grand Juror. John Greer seems to have been still abroad
in the land, notwithstanding his sentence to labor in the State Prison,
for there are two new indictments returned against him, one for

affray and one for assault and battery. This was the last term of

Judge Wick upon the bench, during that term of his office.

In March, 1825, Hon. Bethuel F. Morris, assumed the duties

of President Judge of the Fifth Circuit. William W. Wick,
Joseph Vanmatre and James Braman, were dulv admitted to the

bar. At this term Joseph Dawson succeeded William Goodrich
as ssociate Judge.

The first divorce case appears upon the docket at this term. It

is entitled: Elizabeth Johnson z'5. James Johnson. Elizabeth was

granted a dissolution of the bonds of matrimon}- and $130 alimony.
In September, of that year, Chancy H. Burr was sentenced to one

year, hard labor, in the penitentiary on a charge of larceny.
Until the September term, 1827, court continued to be held at

the house of Benjamin Williams, but at that time the record says
it met in " the Court House in Shelbyville." In March, of the fol-

lowing 3'ear, the trustees of the school in Shelbyville, were allowed

$4 for court room.. This would indicate that court was held in

the school house. This same allowance continued for several

terms thereafter.

At the March term, 1829, new rules were adopted, the last two
of which read as follows: "

19. When attorneys wish to en-

gage in wrangling, personal abuse and recrimination, they will re-

tire from the court room or submit to punishment by fine,
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imprisonment or suspension at the pleasure of the court. 20. As
the court sits for the purpose of administering justice, the}' will

with patience and pleasure listen to any argument or authority that

wall in the least degree aid them in the discovery of truth or the

detection of fraud. But they will not unnecessarily consume the

time of persons and witnesses, and increase the public as well as

the individual expense by listening" to mere idle declamation or

popular harangues made with other views and for other purposes
than the investigation of truth and advancement of justice." Both

• of these rules were soon expunged, most likelv in accordance with

indignant recjuests of the bar. The last rule smacks loudly of an

electioneerino- " dodge."
In September, 1830, Lewis Barlow made proof in court neces-

sar}' to obtain a pension under the United States laws for Revolu-

tionar}' soldiers. This law was passed in 18 18, and provided that

the poor persons who had been in the service during the Revolu-

tion, that were without property or other means of support, could

obtain a pension bv making the proper proof in a court of record.

He must have two persons make the affidavits with him, at least

one of which should be a minister of the gospel. They were re-

(juired to schedule all their propertv and to state the number of

persons in their family that were dependent upon them for support.'
MisceUaneotis, Items.— In March, 1831, Cyrus Fultz was

sentenced to one year in the Penitentiary, on a charge of larceny.
At the same term Stephen Major declared his intention to become
a citizen of the United States, and renounced his allegiance to the

King of Great Britain. He was a native of Ireland, born March

25, 1810, and came to America in 1829. He was certified of re-

cord a few days later as a man of good moral character, a proceed-

ing that was necessary then before he could be admitted to the bar

as an attorney.
The jail bounds for the county were limited to the inlots of

Shelbvville. In March, 1832, S3'lvan B. Morris succeeded Hiram

Alldredge as County Clerk. Barnet Snider, on a charge of assault

and battery, with intention to commit a rape, w^as sentenced to two

years in the State Prison at hard labor. At a special session held

in January, 1834, John R3'an was convicted of larcenv, was fined

$100, and given six years in the Penitentiar}'. In September, 1834,
a judgment was rendered in favor of Homer Brooks against
Samuel Brown and Noah Noble. The last was Governor of the

State. A little later than this the publication of notices was made
in the Iiidhiia yoiiriial. In August, 1841, the Lawrenceburg,
Indianapolis Railroad Company was party to a number of cases

for obtaining the right of way over property. This was the first
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Railroad litigation in the county. Joseph Montgomery was con-
victed of larceny, and sentenced to seven 3-ears' hard labor in prison,
lined $50 and disfranchised for ten years. Daniel Hartlv received
a verdict ofthree years and $25 for burglary.

Judge Morris had been succeeded b}^ Judge Wick, in 1835,
and the latter by James Morrison, in August 1S39. These, of course,
were the President Judges.

At the February Term, 1S43, Hon. WilHam J. Peaslee assumed
the duties of President Judge of the Fifth Judicial Circuit. His
associates on the bench were, Ira Bailey and Thomas Gotten. The
term began on Thursday, the i6th of February-, and among the pro-

ceedings of that day appears the following record:
" On motion of Mr. O'Neal, Edward Lander, Thomas A. Hen-

dricks and James Harrison, are admitted attorneys and counsellors

at la\\- at the bar of this court; and the said Edward Lander,
Thomas A. Hendricks and James Harrison, here now in person,
take the several oaths required by law as such attorne3-s and
counsellors at law."

Such is the simple record of admission to the bar of one of

America's foremost men, Thomas A. Hendricks. Lander and

Harrison, who were admitted at the same time, were also residents

of Shelbyville. James Harrison is vet a practicing attorney at this

bar. None could come more prominently into public favor as an

advocate, and the records show that from the beginning he was
one of the foremost lawyers of the county.

In February, following, he was appointed by the court to de-

fend criminals who were too poor to hire an attorney. The first

one that appears of record was against John Thompson, who was
sentenced by a jury to thirty days in the County Jail, a fine of one

cent, and was disfranchised for one year. For defending in this

case, the court allow'ed him $10.
x\t the August term, 1846, the following record appears:
" And now comes into open court, Abraham T. Hendricks, and

resigns his appointment as Examiner of Common School Teach-
ers. And thereupon the court appointed Thomas A. Hendricks,
M. G. Reeves and Nathan Powell, Examiner of Common School

Teachers for Shelb}' County."
It is probable that this is the first public office to which he was

ever appointed, and how he gradually ascended to the highest place,
in the estimation of a mighty people, is familiar to even the school

boys of the land. An extended biographical sketch of Mr. Hen-

dricks, appears in this volume in another place.
The first indictment for murder, returned by a Shelby County
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Grand Jury, was probably one against Joseph Gonzales at the

August term, 1850. The fact that twenty-eight years of the

county's history passed away without a crime of this kind, is hi<rh

eyidence of the character of the early settlers that came to Shelby
County. There had been a few indictments for assault and batter}^
with intent to kill, but the defendants were each time acquitted of

the intent. But the old saying, that misfortunes never come sincrly,

seems to haye been yeritied at that time, for a large number of in-

dictments followed this in rapid succession. An acquittal followed

in each case except that against George Bixler, who was found

guilty of mm^der in the second degree, or rather manslaughter, and
was sentenced to two years in the penitentiary. In August, 1845,
the Grand Jury seems to haye been a specially yirtuous one. At
that time there were returned seventy-two indictments for gaming,
seven for assault and batter}-, four for affra}-, besides a number of

others for violating the liquor law and disturbing lawful assemblies.

Judge Peaslee continued to preside in the Circuit Court until

1850, at the expiration of his regular term. In February, of that

year he was succeeded b}' Judge Wicks, who thus for the third

time became President Judge of the Shelby Circuit Court. Judge
Wicks remained upon the bench until the new constitution brought
about a complete change in the Indiana Judiciar}'.

Character oj Early yiidgrs.
— At this point it \\'\\\ probabh' be

well to take a retrospective view of the early judges that presided
in the Shelby Courts. The new constitution marks a distinctive

era in the judicial affairs of Indiana, and a pause can properly be
made here to take a farewell view of those early ministers of jus-
tice in the country.

William W. Wicks, \\\\o was the first President Judge of the

Circuit, then known as the Fifth District, was for many years a

resident of Indianapolis. Few men were better adapted to the

impartial administering of justice than Judge Wicks. His mind
was well stored with the principles of law, and he possessed the

faculty of applying the law to an}- combination of facts, no matter

how intricate, with almost unerring accuracy. His intellect was of

the hiii'hest order, and this combined with the unusually tine

physique which he possessed, made him a man of irresistible

qualities. During his time he was one of the leading men of the

State. For a time, it is said, he held the office of Postmaster at

Indianapolis. Late in life he moved to Franklin to make his home
with a daughter, where his death occurred.

The next Judge was Bethuel F. Morris, who was also a resident

of Indianapolis. Although not considered quite so able a man as
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his predecessor, he is yet remembered by the earliest attorneys as
one of superior abihty, and an ornament to the bench he so'loni,^

occupied.

James Morrison first assumed the duties of Judge in the Shelby
Circuit Court at the x\ugust term in 1839. Like his predecessors,
he too hved in Indianapolis, where he took high rank as Judge,
business man and citizen. He was an accomplished gentleman,
an able lawyer, and a superior Judge. For a considerable time he
is said to have been President of the old State Bank, which was
one of the best conducted institutions of its kind in the United
States in its da}-.

When in February, 1S43, William J. Peaslee became President

Judge, Shelby Count}', for the first time, was honored with the res-

idence of its highest judicial officer. At that time he had been

practicing at this bar for a period of ten years during which he was
a constant resident of Shelbyville. He had acquired an extensive

practice for that day, and that, too, in opposition to the more

weighty and successful practitioners from Indianapolis, and other

points, who '• rode the circuit
"

as was the custom then. Judge
Peaslee remained upon the bench until 1850. During his term
the business of the courts in this countv rapidly increased and from
two terms a year the number was increased to four. As a judicial
officer he was not above the average. His mind was of that active

kind that nearl}- always took a position on every question at the

first statement of it. In consequence of this his decisions were
often partial without any intention on his part that they should be
so. He was a man of strong convictions and his ideas were freely
and publicly expressed. The natural bias of his mind contributed

to make him a better advocate than Judge. After retiring from
the bench, he again resumed the duties of practice and continued
that for several years. He later took up his residence at another

place, but late in life returned to the scene of early successes.

The third term of Judge Wick in this count}', immediately suc-

ceeded that of Judge Peaslee. Under the old constitution the Cir-

cuit Judges were elected by the Legislature, and at that time there

was considerable talk of electinc^ Thomas A. Hendricks to the

place in this circuit. But Judge Wick was too well and fa\'orably
known to be easily defeated. His abilities, too, in that direction

had been tested while there was probably some hesitancy in trying
the somewhat youthful attorney. Judge Wick remained upon the

bench until the ratiiication of the new constitution.

Courts Under tlie Neiv Constitution. — The Courts of Indiana

received a radical change under the new constitution. They were

organized throughout the State in the early part of 1853. Hith-
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erto the old common law methods had been in vogue, but under
the new order of things the practice was much simplified and
many of the long and tedious forms were done a\\ay with. The
change brought about much opposition from some of the older

members of the bar throuirhout the State. Thev had studied the

common laws for years, until they had become imbued with its

principles. To them it embodied the genuine wisdom of the ages
that concerned law and liberty. They admired it for its grandeur
and its equality. It had been so long the recognized channel

through which justice had been sought that the " memory of man
runneth not to the contrary," and they were reluctant to give up
any of its well known avenues. Indeed, to many of these older

practitioners the common law practice had grown to be of such

paramount importance, and had assumed, to them such beauty
and symmetry that they held it in awe and reverence. It was
therefore little short of sacrilege to attempt the pruning of this

system, even in its smallest branches. To such an extent was
this opposition carried that many never became reconciled to the

change, while some even went so far as to abandon the practice
altooether.

One distinctive feature of the change was the abolishment of

the ollice of Associate Judge. This was an office more for orna-

ment than for utility. The Circuit Judge then held court in several

counties, and in each he was assisted by two Associate Judges,
who resided in the county. They were men that seldom, if ever,

had any knowledge of the law and their decisions usualy fol-

lowed in harmony with the President Judge. At this time, how-
ever thev folded away their ermine and took their final leave of

the Indiana courts, leaving the task of supporting the scales of

justice to a single judge.

yohn Doe vs. Richard Roe.— The present, code practice in In-

diana, has been in operation since May 9, 1853. Under the old

system mamy relics of feudal times were still lingering. Several

fictions of the ancient common law were still retained, but under
the new code the methods of pleading were much simplified and
the fictions were all abolished. Thenceforth all actions were to be

prosecuted and defended in the names of the real parties. It was
at that time that the famous mythical personages John Doe and
Richard Roe were forever banished from the courts of Indiana.

These were ficticious plaintiffs and defendants that were used in all

actions to recover the possession of real property. This common
law action of ejectment originated about the beginning of the four-

teenth century on account of " the thousand niceties with which
real actions are harrassed and entangled."' The readiness with
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which John Doe always came forward to assert the alleged right of

the man out of possession, and the equal promptness of Richard
Roe to maintain that the man in possession was the lawful owner,
were such as to command the devotion and sincere attachment of

all true lovers of the old system. It was with deep regret that the

old practicioners took leave of these knights errant of the common
law.

The first term of court under the new constitution held in

Shelbv Countv, began in April, 1S53, with William M. McCarty,
as Judge. Mr. McCarty was a resident of Brookville, in Franklin

Countv. His abilit}' as a Judge can hardly be estimated, as he held

the office in this county but a short time, less than a year. As an

advocate, he sustained the reputation of a good one, but it is not

everv good advocate that makes a good Judge.
Reuben D. Logan became the successor of Judge McCartv, in

this county at the October term, 1853. His home was at Rush-

ville, where he had earned the reputation of being a good practi-
tioner. It was Judge Logan upon whom really fell the task of re-

orcanizinif the courts in this district, accordincj to the new code

practice which went into operation on the 9th of May, 1853. This
was a matter of some difficulty. The old style of pleading was
what had been learned by all the lawyers and it was not an easy

thing for them to immediately accommodate themselves to the new
conditions. Some of the older members, of the bar do not remem-
ber Judge Logan as a man of more than ordinarv ability, yet the

fact that he continued to preside in this court until 1866, is strong
evidence of his havinir been a man of much force of character.

His was the longest term ever held b}' an}- Judge in Shelby County.
Jeremiah M. Wilson was the seventh Judge of the Shelby Cir-

cuit Court. His first term in this county began in April, 1866.

At that time he lived in Connersvalle. In Judge Wilson, it is prob-
able that Shelbv County had the ablest Judge that has ever been

upon her circuit bench. He was exceedingly kind and courte ous

to both attorneys and litigants, and in those qualities which go to

make a man popular, he was unexcelled. His knowledge of the

law was profound and his facultv for applving it to an^' given case,

no matter how perplexing, contributed to make him one of the

ablest Judge in the State. Another, who is thoroughly competent
to decide, has pronounced him the best Judge Shelby County has

ever had. He is now residing in Washington, D. C, and is a

member of one of the leading law firms of that city.

Samuel P. Oyler, who succeeded Judge Wilson, and who was
his opposite in almost every particular, held his first term in this

county in October, 1869. Judge Oyler was not liked by the mem-
20
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bers of the bar, and he was an unpopular official. He possessed a

rough exterior and was gruff in manners. He had fair ability as a

lawyer and his decisions were, in the main, correct and fair. He is

3'et liying at Franklin, where he is esteemed for his uprightness
and integrity.

Dayid D. Banta was the next Judge upon this bench and began
his duties here in October, 1870. He, too, is a citizen of Johnson
County, and resides in FrankHn. As a Judge, he was well liked by
the members of the bar, and his decisions were fully up to the

standard of the Circuit Judges. He is a good adyocate and a for-

cible speaker.
Kendall M. Hord has been Judge of the Shelby Circuit Court

since its October term, 1876. He is the second person from Shelby
County who has been called to perform the duties of that high po-
sition. His term of eleyen years is already second in length only
to that of Judge Logan, and bids fair to exceed the thirteen years

of the latter. Judge Hord has many (jualities that ht him for the

bench, and a few that militate against him for such a position. His

legal learning is adequate for the place he holds, and his capacity
for the work is large enough when properly exercised, and he can

be eyen expeditious. He is somewhat oscillating in arriying at his

decisions, but his judgments stand the test well in the higher courts.

As a public speaker he is good, and this combined with his aggres-
siyeness, would render him strong as an adyocate. He has a

special taste for politics, and had his attention been turned in that

direction, would doubtless haye occupied high official positions that

result more directly from the politician's skill, long ere this. His

social qualities are of a high order and his friends are numerous.

The reputation he has earned in his present capacity is surely grat-

ifying and one that might well be emulated.

The Common Picas Court. —- At its establishment the Court of

Common Pleas was giyen exclusiye jurisdiction of probate matters,
and the old Probate Courts were abolished. This was another of

the changes which the new practice brought about. It had the

jurisdiction of all that class of offenses which did not amount to a

felony, except those oyer which Justices of the Peace had exclusiye

jurisdiction. State prosecutions were instituted by affidayits and

information. Under certain restrictions this court had jurisdiction
oyer felonies, where the punishment could not be death, and in no

case was the interyention of the Grand Jury necessary. In all

ciyil cases, except for slander, libel, breach of marriage contract,

action on official bond of any State or county officer, or where the

title to real estate was inyolyed, this court had concurrent jurisdic-
tion with the Circuit Court, where the sum of damages due or de-
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manded did not exceed $i,ooo, exclusive of interest and costs. It

also had concurrent jurisdiction with Justices of the Peace, where
the sum due or demanded exceeded $50. When the court was

organized appeals could be taken from it to the Circuit Court, but

that right was afterward abolished, but appeals could be taken to

the Supreme Court, and its jurisdiction was from time to time en-

larp-ed. The Clerk and Sheriff of the county officiated in this court

as well as in the Circuit Court, and the judge was ex officio judge
of the court of conciliation. This last had jurisdiction of causes

of action for libel, slander, malicious prosecution, assault and bat-

tery, and false imprisonment, and extended to questions of recon-

cihation and compromise only. No attorney was allowed to appear
for his client before the court of conciliation, but the parties were

required to appear before the judge apart from all other persons,

except that an infant was required to appear by guardian, and a

female bv her husband or friend. This branch of the court was
abolished in 1867.

The lirst term of the Common Pleas Court in Shelb}' County,

began on Monday, the 3d day of January, 1853. Hon. James M.
Sleeth was Judge. The first act of the court was to adopt a seal.

The order read as follows: "It is ordered, adjudged and decreed

by the court that the seal of this court shall be a circle of one and

five-eighths inches in "diameter, with the words engraved on the

margin, Shelbv County Court of Common Pleas, Indiana, with a

device of the Godess of Liberty and thirteen stars inclosed in the

centre."

Judge Sleeth was then and is now a citizen of Shelb3wille. He
was admitted to practice at this bar in 1842, and is now the oldest

resident attorney in Shelby County. As an active practitioner and

advocate he was not conspicuous, but his knowledge of law was

good, and in this particular was (jualified for the duties of Common
Pleas Judge. His term of office expired in 1861. Prior to this

Judge Sleeth had held several responsible positions, and was a

member of the first Legislature that met under the new constitu-

tion, and upon which devolved so great a responsibility in reorgan-
izino- the laws of the State. Since retiring from the bench he has

almost wholly abandoned the practice, although in earlier years his

practice was quite extensive.

George A. Buskirk succeeded to the Common Pleas Bench in

this county at the March term, 1861. He was a resident of Mon-
roe County. His attainments were all that could be desired in that

position. He was a man of broad intellect, of commanding pres-
ence and a genial man among men. He remained upon this bench
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four years, and was then succeeded in March, 1S65, by another

Shelby County man.
OHver J. Glessner had been practicing law at the Shelby

County Bar for several years when he was called to assume the

duties of Common Pleas Judge. His reputation as a skillful at-

torney and an able advocate, gave promise of an enviable career

upon the bench. His mind, however, is not one that is well

adapted to the trials of a Presiding Judge in a court of justice.
His positions upon intricate questions of law were uncertain. Judge
Glessner is pre-eminently at home with any combination of facts

before a jury. He possesses the qualifications necessary to make
a jury see the case in a convincing light from his own standpoint.
This alone renders him powerful before a jury, and an adversary
which the ablest may well fear in an open contest. He is yet in

the enjoyment of an extensive practice.
The next to occupy the Common Pleas Bench was Thomas W.

"Woollen, whose fame is co-extensive with the boundary of the

State as an able and efficient jurist. His first term in this county
was in November, 1868. It is needless to say that he was a good
Judge. He afterward served one term as Attorney-General of the

State with marked abilit}-. His home is at Franklin.

Richard L. Coffev was the fifth and last of the Common Pleas

Judges in this county. He began here in November, 1870, and re-

mained upon that bench until the court was abolished in 1873, his

last term occurring in March of that year. He was a resident of

Brown County, and as a Judge he was but moderately successful.

Resolutions of the Bar, etc.— The following resolutions and
other items of interest were o-leaned from the records of the Circuit

Court in reviewing them briefl}' :

April 15, 1865: On motion of E. H. Davis, Esq., seconded by
Hon. M. M. Ray, the following resolutions were spread of record,
viz. :

Whereas, Telegraphic communications announce a great Na-
tional calamity in the assassination of the President of the United

States, as well as the attempted assasination of the Secretary of

State of the United States. This bloody tragedy must inspire ev-

ery American citizen with emotions solemn as death and boundless

as space, working conviction upon their minds that the time has

arrived when personal safety is no longer known or recognized, and

Whereas, We, as Americans and Union loving citizens, feel

that we are called upon to mourn and deeply deplore this great Na-
tional calamity and crime against humanity, and that we may calmly
reflect upon our condition in view of the surrounding circumstances;
be it
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Resolved, That this court will now adjourn until Monday next

at one o'clock P. M.
Francis M. Conner, an attorney of this court, died in September,

1870. The bar met and made suitable arrangements for the fun-

eral and passed appropriate resolutions. These were spread upon
the record at the October term following.

John L. Montgomery, who had been practicing at the Shelbvville

bar for several years, died in March, 187 1, and again the bar were
called upon to express their sorrow by resolution. The record for

the April term, 187 1, contains those resolutions.

On the 25th day of October, 1875, the bar met and passed
resolutions on the death of Cyrus Wright, who had been practicing
at the bar since August, 1842.

The death of AVilliam Z. Conner, in September, 1877, was a

great loss to the Shelbyville Bar, appropriate resolutions were

passed bv the attorneys at a special meeting held for that purpose.

They were spread on the records upon the assembling of court in

October.

At a meeting on the 14th of January, 1879, the following reso-

lutions of the Bar of Shelby County were passed:
" Resolved, That the communication published in the Indianapolis

Safnrdav Herald in its issue of the iithinst., and recent publications
in the Jiidianafolis Se/i//ne/ of similar pm^port are, so far as the

same reflect upon the judicial fairness and honesty of Judge Hord,
slanderous and false, and we take this occasion to express our ut-

most confidence in his judicial integrity, and the purity of his official

acts.
"
Resolved, That any inference that may be dra\N'n from said

publication that Albert McCorkle, Sheriff of Shelby County, has

been cognizant of, or a party to the packing of juries in said county,
is false and slanderous and that no act of that gentleman during his

official course will warrant any such imputation."
This meeting of the bar was held at the office of B. F. Love.

Twenty-two members were present as follows: •

Judge Major,
James Harrison, B. F. Love, Alfred Major, O. J. Glessner, T. B.

Adams, Alonzo Blair, E. P. Ferris, L. T. Michener, J. B. McFadden,
N. B. Berryman, R. W. Wiles, E. K. Adams, E. S. Stillwell,

H. H. Daugherty, L. J. Hackney, D. L. Wilson, Harry Morrison,

John W. Tomlinson,J. L. Ferris, A. F. Wray, G. M.Wright.
The publications mentioned, caused considerable interest at the

time, and there was some talk of attaching certain persons who
were supposed to be the authors, for contempt, but this fortunately
was abandoned, as there was found to be no authority for such a pro-
ceeding.
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In March following, the Board of County Commissioners passed
the following:

" Whereas the Lidiaiiapolis Sentinal and Indian-

apolis Herald and Shelby Refuhlicaii^ have published slanderous

and libelous articles, calling in question, the honesty of the Board of

County Commissioners of Shelby County, Ind., in reference to the

purchase of a clock and bell for the court house, charging them
with receiving bribes, and in consideration of the premises, the

board now recjuests the Hon. K. M. Hord, Judge of the Shelby
Circuit Court, to appoint a committee to investigate the action of

the board, in reference to the above mentioned contracts or anv and
all other contracts in connection with said buildin"'."

In compliance with this request, the Judge appointed L. J.

Hackney, Thomas B. Adams and Oliver J. Glessner, as a commit-
tee of investigation.

" At a meeting of the Shelby County Bar, upon the occasion

of the death of Hon. Stephen Major, the undersigned committee
on Resolutions reported the following:

"We have met to pay our tribute of respect to the memorv of

Hon. Judge Stephen Major, who has been for upwards of half a

century a member of our bar, excepting an interval extending

through one full term, in which he held the position of Judge of the

Marion Circuit Court. He has been taken from us in his mental

vigor, but in the fullness of his davs and professional honors. He
falls ripe for the sickle of death. We have knoAvn him long and

well, and desire, rather in our emotional feelings than in compliance
with the usage of the profession, to give expression to our high es-

timation of his merits as a man, a lawyer, a judge, and a Christian.

Therefore, as expressive of our unfeigned sorrow and sympathy
with his family and fellow citizens in their bereavement,

" Resolved, That we herebv express our admiration and respect-
ful remembrance of the professional courtesy, talents and merits of

our deceased brother, and that we will emulate his virtues as the

best tribute to his memory.
" Resolvedy That w^e tender his family and friends our sincere

condolence, feeling that although to them even more than to us the

loss is irreparable. Yet to him it is a great gain that he has en-

tered upon the rewards of a well-spent life, before that higher bar

where all must appear.
'^Resolved, That we attend the funeral obsequies in a body, and

that our Chairman for us request that the minutes of this meeting
be spread upon the records of the Shelby Circuit Court.

"James Harrison,
"B. F. Love,
" Thomas B. Adams."
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JRoII of Attorneys.— The following Roll of Attorneys comprises
most of those who were admitted to the Shelby Bar prior to 1S52,
as well as many of those since that time. From that time to the

present the records are so voluminous, and not being properly in-

dexed, that it was next to an impossibilit}' to obtain them all. These
are given as a matter of some interest and for reference:

ROLL OF ATTORNEYS.

Hiram M. Curry, October, 1S22.

Charles H. Test, October, 1S22.

Calvin Fletcher, October. 1822.

James Dulaiiv, October, 1S22.

John A. Brackenridge, October, 1822.

James Kariclan, May, 1823.
"Oliver If. Smith, May, 1823.

Philip Swetzer, May, 1823.

James T. Brown, May, 1S23.
Able Cole, May, 1823.
Daniel B. Wick, October, 1S23.
Betlniel F. Morris, October, 1S23.

Edgar C. Wilson, October, 1823.
Gabriel Johnson, March, 1S24.

Harvey Gregg, March, 1824.
Hiram Brown, March, 1S24.
William W. Wick, March, 1S25.

Joseph Vanmatre, March, 1S25.

James Braman, March, 1S25.
Ovid Butler, September, 1S25.
Andrew Davidson, September, 1S25.

Henry Hurst, September, 1825.

James Forsee, March, 1826.

Albert S. White, March, 1826.

William Quarles, March, 1827.

George W. Wallace, March, 1S28.

Marinus Willitt, March, 1S28.

James T. Brown, September, 1828.

Matthias C. V'anpelt, September, 1828.

George Lyon, September, 1828.

John W. Alley, March, 1830.
Isaac M. Johnson, March, 1830.
William I. Brown, September, 1830.

Hugh B. Eggleston, September, 1830.
William O. Ross, September, 1831.

John Eccles, March, 1832.

James B. Ray, March, 1832.

Humphrey F. Robinson, September, 1832.

Stephen Major, September, 1832.
William Brown, March, 1833.
William J. Peaslee, March, 1833.
William Herrod, September, 1833.
Fabius M. Finch, September, 1833.
Burril B. Taylor, September, 1834.

Gilderoy Hicks, September, 1S35.

John Ryman, September, 1S35.
Christian C. Nave, September, 1835.
Peter Ryman, September^ 1835.
A. A, Hammond, prior to October, 1836.
Mason Hutton, October, 1836.

Alfred Major, August, 1850.
Thomas D. Walpole, August, 1850.
Thomas A. McFarland, August, 1850.

Squire W. Robinson, February, 1S51.
David S. Gooding, February, 1851.

Joseph F. Roberts, February, 185 1.

Hiiam B. Brown, August, 185 1.

William Singleton, August, 1851.
Samuel P. Oyler, August, 1851.
Simeon Stansifer, Fel)ruary, 1852.

Beaty C. Stewart, February, 1S52.

Cyrus Wright, April, 1853.
Isaac X. Johnson, April, 1S53.
\\'illiam H. Bainbridge, April, 1S53.

John W. Robinson, October, 1853.

Josiah W. Robinson, October, 1853.
Lewis H. Thomas, October, 1853.

James C. Hart, October, 1854.

Stephen D. Lyon, April, 1855.

Johnson A. Kendall, April, 1855.
Samuel W. Workman, April, 1855.

Perry M. Green. October, 1859.

Livingston Plovvland, October, 1859.

Benjamin F. Slocumb, April, i860.

John A. Beale, April, i860.

Isaac X. Odell, April, 1861.

Benjamin F. Love, October, 1S61.

William H. Payne, October, 1861.

Levi Runshee, October, 1 86 1.

J. H. Brenton, prior to October, 1861.

George A. Johnson, April, 1866.

Charles W. Snow, October, 1866.

Harvey H. Daugherty, October, 1866.

Robert B. F. Pearce, October, 1866.

Kendall Hord, prior to October, 1866.

John R. Mitchell, April, 1867.
Fletcher Meredith, April, 1867.

James L. Mason, April, 1867.

James B. McFadden, prior to April, 1867.
Richard Norris, April, 1867.

George W. Workman, April, 1867.

George D. Hinkle, prior to October, 1867.

McGuire, prior to October, 1867.

Lancaster, prior to October, 1867.
Robert H. Power, October, 1867.

Bellamy S. Sutton, April, 1868.

Piatt Wick, April, 1869.
O. J. Glessner, prior to April, 1869.
A. B. Campbell, October, 1869.
F. M. Conner, prior to April, 1869.
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Royal Mayhew, October, 1836.

Harvy Brown, August, 183S.
A. F. Mayo, prior to August, 1838.

James B. Sleeth, April, 1839.
David B. Farington, August, 1839.
Moses Kelley, February, 1840.
Irwin W. Madison, August, 1840.

Hugh O'Neal, February, 1841.
Lucian Barbour, February, 1S41.
William H. Brumfield, February, 1841.
Robert S. Cox, February, 1841.

Finley Bigger, February, 184 1.

James M. Sleeth, 1842.

Cyrus Wright, August, 1S42.
Edward Lander, February, 1843.
Thomas A. Hendricks, P^ebruary, 1843.

James Harrison, February, 1843.
'Matthias Wright, February, 1844.

John Morrison, February, 1844.
P. A. Hackleman, February, 1844.
Eden H. Davis, Feliruary, 1S44.

Hugh F. Fugit, February, 1845.
R. A. Riley, February. 1845.

Tingle, prior to February, 1S45.
A. W. Hubl:)ard, prior to February, 1845.
R. D. Logan, August, 1845.
Daniel A. Hart, August, 1845.
David Stone, August, 1845.
M. M. Ray, prior to August, 1845.
David M. C. Lane, February, 1S46.
Albert G. Porter, February, 1846.
Lewis F. Coppersmith, February, 1846.

John Slater, August, 1847.
William Henderson, August, 1847.
William Wallace, February, 1848.

John (^uarles, P^ebruary, 1S48.
Larkin Reynolds, February, 1849.
Duane Hicks, August, 1849.
William B. Hagins, August, 1849.
Horatio C. Newcomb, prior to August, 1S49
Andrew J. Boone, February, 1850.

Alonzo Blair, October, 1S69.

Henry H. Whitcomb, April, 1S70.

John Hoop, October, 1870.
Austin F. Denny, April, 1871.
William F. A. Bernhamer, April, 1871.
S. B. Jenkins, April, 187 1.

Harrie H. Francis, May, 18715.

Leopold Feibleman, May, 1875.
Edmund K. Adams, May, 1875.
Robert W. Wiles, October, 1875.
Charles Sprague, October, 1875.

Corydon W. Morrison, December, 1875.
Oliver B. Phillips, December, 1876.
Albert F. Wray, December, 1876.
Newton L. Wray, December, 1876.
William R. Burton, December, 1S77.

James Mc F. Dunn, March, 1878.

John A. Tindall, March, 1878.
Charles Major, May, 1878.

John S. Ferris, October. 1878.

Joseph W. Thompson, October, 1S78.
Isaac Carter, May, 1879.
Charles G. Adams, May, 1879.

Harry S. Downey, October, 1879.
Marine D. Tackett, October, 1879.

Lyman L. Mobley, March, 18S0.

W. B. Wilson, May, 1880.

Everett E. Stroup, May, 1880.

A. C. Harris, December, 1880.

Lee F. Wilson, March, 1881.

William Cassady, March, 1881.

James Wright, May, 188 1.

Geo. C. Butler, May, 1 881.

Wm. F. McBane, (October, 1881.

James C. Caughey, December, 1881.

Edward Dealy, .March, 18S3.
William Wright, .March, 1883.
E. H. Chadwick, prior to October, 1883.
W. H. Isley, prior to October, 1883.
Ara. E. Lisher, March, 1884.

PROSECUTING ATTORNEYS.

Hiram M. Curry, October, 1822.

Calvin Fletcher, October, 1S23.

Harvey Gregg, .September, 1824.
Calvin Fletcher, September, 1825.

James Whitcomb, .September, 1826.

William W. Wick, .March, 1S29.

Philip Sweetzer, March, 1831.
Hiram Brown, September, 1831.

Harvey Gregg, March, 1832.
William Herrod, September, 1833.
William (guards, February, 1837.
William J. Peaslee, April, 1839.

Hugh O'Neal, February, 1841.
A. A. Hammond, February, 1843.
Edward Lander, February, 1847.
Matthias Wright, February, 1849.
David S. Gooding, August, 185 1.

Oscar B. Hord, .A.pril, 1853.
Thomas A. McFarland, October, 1S53.
William Patterson, .\prd, 1855.

Henry C. Hanna, April, 1859.
Milton G. Cullum, .'\pril, 1861.

Samuel S. Harrel, .\pril, 1863.

Creighton Dandy, .'\prd, 1865.
K. M. Hord, April, 1867.
Piatt Wicks, April, 1869.
Daniel W. Howe, October, 1869.
Nathaniel T. Carr, .\pril, 1871.
K. M. Hord, October, 1872.
W. Scott Ray, October, 1874.
L. J. Hackney, October, 1878.

Jacob L. White, December, 1880.

Fred S. Staft", December, 1882.

Peter M. Dill. December, 1S86.
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PRESENT ATTORNEYS.

Benjamin F. Love.

Alfred Major.
Oliver J. Glessner,
H. H. Daugherty.
Thomas B. Adams.
Nelson B. Berryman.
Ed. K. Adams.
David L. Wilson.
Alljert F. Wray.
Robert W. Wiles.

Edward H. Chadwick.
Robert Harrison.

John F"erris.

I'lverett E. Stroiip.

George M. Wright.

James Harrison.

James B. McFadden.
Edwin P. Ferris.

Lewis T. Michener.

Leonard J. Hackney.
Henry's. Downey.
Harry Morrison.

Charles Major.
Will H. Isley.

John A. Tindall.

Albert Akers.
Lee F. Wilson.

Charles J. Fastlaben.

While it would doubtless be of much interest to have sketches of the

different members of the bar who are now living, inserted here,

such a feature is foreign to the plan of this work. Through the

bodv of the work frequent reference is made of those who have

won prominence at the Shelby Bar, and have now passed away.
No county of like population in the State has been more prohhc
of attorneys that have become conspicuous in their profession.
Foremost of them all was Thomas A. Hendricks, while but little,

if anv, less able as a lawyer, was Martin M. Ray. Other con-

spicuous members of the bar have been, Eden H. Davis, William

J. Peaslee and Stephen Major, that have long since disappeared
from the scenes of their conijuests and renown. Among those now

living who appropriately occupy high positions among their pro-
fessional associates are: B. F. Love, Alfred Major, O.J. Glessner,

Thomas B. Adams, L. T. Michener, James Harrison and perhaps
others of the voun<xer attornevs. A short notice of each of the

Judges has been given, as seemed prompted by the records. Ex-

tensive accounts also have been presented of some of the earlier

practitioners, those who have been translated to a tribunal of more

enlarged jurisdiction and one endowed with unfailing justice.
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CHAPTER IX.

BY DOUGLAS DOBBINS, EX-COUNTY SUPERINTENDENT.

Schools— Public School System— First Schools in The
County— Early Methods of Teaching— County Semin-
ary — The Township System — Evolution of The
Schools— County Examiners and Superintendents —
Schools of To-Day— Shelbyville Schools.

HE air-castles of one generation sometimes become

'^^^rfe the dwelling places of another. The theorizing and

da3'-dreaming of one age often develop into the

active living principles which animate a succeeding one.

The speculations of the learned which once terrified the

ignorant have now become accepted as primal truth.

There have been philosophers in all ages whose know-

ledge and research would have compared favorably with

the wase men of our day. But they pushed far ahead of their

times in the unexplored realms of thought. These sages have given
to the world the results of their reflection and observation, so

that we to-day use the maxims and theorems which were, perhaps,
first made known two thousand years ago. Some of the greatest
thinkers of the past have pictured to themselves an ideal govern-
ment, in which the supreme power should be wielded by the people ;

in which social standing shall depend wholly upon merit; in which
civil liberty should be granted to all, and where tyranny should

never exist. So they searched the histor}' of former years and

noted, here and there, a solitar}^ Republic, which rose and flourished

like a green Bay tree, but which quicklv fell to give place to so'me

more despotic form of political power. Disappointed in their

fancies by the application of cold facts, they set about studying the

causes which brought such untimely dissolution upon their cherished

scheme. As a result of these investigations we have the principles
now held by all political economists. It was found that as long as

men loved country better than self and as long as the}^ ser\^ed in a

public capacit}^ to benefit only their countr}', and not to enrich

themselves, just so long did their nation prosper. But when a

country becomes a prey to scheming, dishonest demagogues, who
rule an ignorant populace, then her doom is sealed.
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From these notable facts, we have the following: A Republi-
can form of government can only exist where general enlighten-
ment prevails among the masses and where the standard of public

morality is high. It was said in other words to the founders of all

Repubfics,
" You must enact or you will perish." So one great

political economist followed another, and each left behind him the

same reasoning and deductions. The founders of this Republic
were well ac(|uainted with all of these historical truths, and there-

fore within the very organic law of the land the}' have made pro-
visions for freedom in religious worship and for the freedom of the

press. In the constitutions of the different States, there also ap-

pear ample measures looking forward to systems of popular edu-

cation. Colleges w^ere immediately estabhshed; academies were

built, and district schools were taught in the ''log school-house in

the clearing." But, perhaps, the grandest provision ever penned
was the "Ordinance of 1787." Its principles are as follows:
"
Religion, moralitv. and knowledge being necessary to a good

government, schools and the means of education shall forever be

encouraijfed." Not like manv sound theories which never become
better than such, for want of good and sufhcient backing, those

who passed this enactment gave it a practical existence by setting
aside one section in every congressional township for the support
of the common schools, and two entire townships for the establish-

ment of higher institutions of learning. In after ^-ears, this section

was subdi\'ided and became the live great States, Ohio, Indiana,

Illinois, Michigan and Wisconsin. The land, thus granted, w^as

sold in after years, and the proceeds of such sale, now form part
of the school fund of these States. Indiana bv the above means,
and from other sources, has an immense tuition fund.

J^irsf School.— The history of the schools of Shelby County
has, no doubt, been repeated in nearly all of the ninety-one coun-

ties of our State. Yet there are so man}- special incidents that

have happened, that may serve to give freshness to the narrative

and the readers for whom it is intended, being a native here, our

sketch may possibly be an interesting one after all. Less than

seventy years ago, the population of Shelby County could be num-
bered by the census taker in a few hours. In the year 1821, there

were probablv less than 100 families in the whole county. There
were three principal settlements, one located near the mouth of

Brandywine, called the Ray Settlement, one near Edinburg, in a

rich, flat country called the " Haw Patch," and one, the most his-

toric, too, at the Village of Marion, in Marion Township.
This settlement at Marion was a public spirited place; they

loved advancement and progress, and in fancies their lonely cabins
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*' melted away into stately halls." The forests, dark and gloom}',
shut out the great world with its culture and refinement, and so to

do the next best thing, they concluded to set up shop, and manu-
facture those articles at home. A school-house must be built and
that immediately. They had no brick, no lumber, no door-frames,
nor window glass. In fact, they had none of the materials a mod-
ern workman would set about to build a house of. One dav, by
previous arrangement, the heads of those pioneer families as-

sembled and prepared to erect a school-house in the square at

Marion. Each carpenter brought his tools along, which consisted

of one axe. They felled the straight beech trees and cut them
into the desired lenijths, and befjan to build. For windows thev
cut out about half of two logs, placing one above the other

with the hewn-away portion side to side. They had no win-

dow panes, so when the weather was cold, greased paper
was pasted along this " crack

" which did quite well. They
had no tongue-and-grooved lumber for flooring so they left

the bare earth instead. Thev had no shin<>;les, nor slate,

but were forced to use clap-boards for roofing. There were

ver}' few stoves in the world at that time, and of course these folks

had to contrive what some might call a very peculiar
" heater."

Several logs were cut out of one end, and a lire-place extending
the whole length of that end was built of small pieces of timber
covered with clay. The furniture consisted of rude benches made

by splitting small logs in two, and planing the flat sides of each

piece with an axe. Then pegs were driven in each end of the con-

vex side. Upon these the pioneer children sat all day without a

brace to lean upon, and often with their tender limbs dangling in

mid-air. They were taught writing by being ranged along the

sides of the house under the alleged windows. A writin<^ desk
made of a board hewn out of a tree, called in those days a "

pun-
cheon," was placed upon a row of pegs driven in the wall and slant-

ing down toward the pupils. Here seated upon a rough slab,

armed with a quill pen, and often using
"
poke-berr\^ juice

"
for ink,

sat Shelby County's first li^eneration learnino- to write. The teacher
" set

"
all the copies and the pupils wrote them without regard to

elements or principles.
In the fall of 1S21, the first teacher began his work. He was

not a graduate of any famous college. He had only the advantage
of a six months' previous attendance at a pioneer school in Fair-

field, Franklin County, Indiana. There he had learned to read,
write and ''

cipher
"

to the " Rule of Three." His name was

Jonathan M. Wilson, and he was a brother to Mr. Isaac H. Wilson,
of this county. During this same winter, having some enterpris-
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ing pupils who pushed ahead, he was forced to prepare his lessons

in advance each evening by the aid of a fire made of hickory bark.

Mr, Wilson articled to teach the school for a term of three

months for six-bits, or 7 5 cents a scholar. There were twenty-live or

thirty pupils in attendance. Counting the number thirty, and giving
the old pioneers credit of having all paid up, the teacher made the

princely sum of $22.50 or $7.50 a month. They used no readers
in the school, as we do to-day. Their text-book in reading was the

New Testament. They "
ciphered

"
in Pike's Arithmetic and

learned their letters and spelling from Webster's Spelling Book.
There was no graduation or even classification. Each pupil recited

separately, except in spelling. The classes in the latter study were

ranged around the room and "
spelled for head." The pioneer

idea of the school well disciplined, was one well whipped. To
stimulate the body, was to invigorate the mind. Often were the

echoes of the forest awakened b\' the plaintive howls of the boy
who suffered at the hands of the teacher,

" who spared not the

rod." When the weather was cold, the teacher and pupils pre-

pared the lire-wood. It was no great task, however, for the woods
were on every hand, and the fire-place capacious enough to

take in fuel without much cutting. Several terms of school were

taught in this same house. Mr. Wilson's immediate successor, was
a Mr. Jesse Frazer, who in turn, was succeeded by Mr. Ben. P.

Alward. The attendance had by this time increased to forty or fifty.

The last named teacher was accidentally drowned in the Wabash
River, a short time after his school closed.

The second school ever taught in Shelby County was in Shel-

byville, in 1822. The building occupied at that time was a log
house 16x18 feet, "clap-board door and puncheon floor," etc. It

was the first house ever built in Shelbyville, and was originally the

residence of Mr. Frank Walker. It stood on the lot now owned

by Mrs. Susan Dixon on the corner of Tompkins and Washington
Streets. The first teacher was a Mr. William Hawkins. This
same teacher afterward taught a school in the second story of the

log jail. In 1824, the first school-house was built in Shelbyville, of

round logs, on what is now the southeast corner of the public

square. The first brick school-house was erected in 1826, where

school-building No. i now stands in the City of Shelbyville. It was
2*0x26 feet, and was also used for town meetings and sometimes
for holding court. Just before the first term of school was taught
the patrons held a meeting for the discussion of various educational

subjects of importance. Some one introduced a resolution in re-

gard to the fuel. A prolonged debate ensued upon the question
whether the wood should be cut in suitable lengths for the fire-
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place before it was hauled to the school-house, or whether it should

be taken there in "
drags," leaving the teacher and his pupils to

prepare it for burning. The meeting ended in a row. At a sub-

seciuent meeting, however, it was determined that among other

duties the master and his scholars might chop their own fire wood
to give them plenty of exercise.

In 1825, the Legislature of the State began chartering county
seminaries in the various counties. The Shelbv County Seminary
was chartered June 29, 183 1. During the next month the Assembly
by a general law rendered charters unnecessarv. The building, it

appears, was not erected until about 1835. It was a two-story
brick building with a cupola on top. The first principal of this

school was Mrs. Kent, wife of the Rev. Eliphalet Kent, an old-time

Presbvterian minister. She was ably assisted bv her husband.

Thomas A. Hendricks, afterward Vice President of the United

States, was one of her pupils, as he had also been one of Mr.

William Hawkins'. He always spoke of Mrs. Kent as one of his

greatest benefactors. When Mr, Hendricks was Governor of In-

diana, he visited Shelbyville and delivered an address upon some
occasion of importance. He referred to the days of his boyhood,
and paid a glowing tribute to the nobility and worth of Mrs. Kent,

saying that she first gave him a taste for learning and an inspiration
for true livin"'. "The Governor has not mentioned his first teacher,"

remarked Mr. Isaac Wilson, at the close of his address. " He has

said nothing about Mr. Hawkins." "No," remarked Mr, Hen-

dricks, "I confess I do not relish the memory of his birch rods,"

Rev, Mr, Kent is yet livin"-, but his wife has lono- since gone
to join the Great School abo\'e. Quite a number of teachers taught
in the " Old Seminary," The names of some are as follows :

JNIisses Knowlton and Town, Messrs, Vawter, Cummins, Reeves
and others whose names can not now be obtained. Many interest-

ing stories are told in connection with the old seminary. The

teaching done there, if all reports are true, would compare favorabl}'
with some of our modern institutions of learning. The results, at

least have proved highly satisfactory-. In 1852, the General As-

sembly ordered the sale of all of the county seminary buildings

throughout the State, as the county was no longer a corporation
for school purposes, having been superseded by the township. Be-

fore a sale of the one in this county could be effected, and during
the same year of the passage of the act, the old building took fire

and burned.

For quite a while school-houses were erected in the following
manner: There were elected three trustees for each township,
who were empowered to locate school districts, appointing for each
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district sub-trustees, to manage the school lands and the school

generally. Every able-bodied male person, not a minor, was liable

for one day's ser\'ice upon the school-house, in his own district

once a week, or else pay a line of 373^2 cents for each day's failure

to aid in the work. All school-houses were to measure eight feet

from floor to rafters above, and one foot from the ground to the
floor. The school fund, which was year by year increasing, was

put at interest in various ways, and onh' the interest was used in

the payment of teacher's wages. This was divided among the

various counties in the State, in proportion to the number of, pupils
of school age. It was onh' suflicient to run the school a short time,
and if a longer term was desired, the residue was made up by
private subscription. In 1851, the State of Indiana adopted for her-
self a new constitution, which gave the State Legislature great lati-

tude in making laws favoring education. Since the adoption of the
new constitution, a series of continually improving laws have been

passed, granting among other things the power to levy a sufficient

per cent, of tax upon the taxable property of a school corporation,
and for the purpose of making up the deflciency in the State ap-
portionment for school revenue and for building school-houses and

furnishing" them.
The Theory of Evohttion^ although some may doubt its

scientific accuracy, when applied to the animal kingdom, may be
illustrated in a peculiar way by the progress of the school system
in Shelby County. Several great causes were at work to bring
about the results we are just going to notice. First, there was the

impetus given by the " Ordinance of 1787,
" and the old constitu-

tion. Then the rapid accumulation of revenue, kept the matter on
a practical basis. Again the popular esteem in which the benefits

of an education were held, secured the co-operation of the people.

Lastly, the grand work of an intelligent General Assembly removed
the obstacles in the way of advancement as fast as they presented
themselves. When we speak of the condition and civilization of

nations gone before, judging from relics and monuments left be-
hind them, we have a "

golden age,
"

a " bronze age,
"

a " stone

age
" and an "iron age.

" The period of the early pioneer might
be called the " wooden age

" and it was certainly the rudest of all.

The cabin of the early settler was probably one of the poorest habi-

tations known among the people of the earth.

Taking the log school house at Marion, alread}^ described, for the

starting point, the advance has simply been miraculous. First round

logs were used, then they were hewed. The log-house gave place to

frames of different construction. Now in nearly all of the districts

handsome brick structures are found. The windows were elongated
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openings covered at first with greased paper, then b}' a row of small-

sized panes. After a few years the opening
" braced up

"'
so to speak,

divided itself into two or more parts and began a more window-like

existence. It was in this shape transferred to the frame and at last

found its way into the brick, with carved stones above and below,
and green shutters. Clap-board roofs have disappeared. At first

shingles were cut or planed out of native timbers. Now they are

sawed from northern pine or Hemlock. In many instances slate-

roofs have superseded all others. In earliest times the fire-place was
a wonderful institution. It was usualh- one of the dimensions of the

house in length. In wet, foggy weather, the smoke so filled the room,
that the air was blue, and woe unto the eyes of those who had
to endure it. The pioneer children seem not to have minded the

smoke at all. The fire-place shrunk until it became about the size

of the fire-places now in use in some of our country homesteads.

First they were made of small pieces of timber covered with cla3^
Afterward the}" came to be made of brick or stone. Nothing but

stoves or " heaters
"

are now used in the school-rooms. Great im-

provement has been made in stoves, even since they first came into

general use.

Rude benches without backs gave place to those made of

dressed lumber with backs. First thev wei^ made lon^r enouirh

for a dozen pupils to sit in a row. They narrowed down to allow

room enough for two. In man\' of our schools of to-day each pu-

pil sits alone in a handsome single desk. At first, writing tables

were constructed along the sides of the house under the windows.
The earHest improvement seems to have been the substitution of

planks instead of "
puncheons."' The larger pupils sat upon their

benches in front of their writino" tables, while the smaller ones oc-

cupied the centre of the room. When not engaged in writing,

thev, the larger ones, sat facing the school, leaning back against
their writing tables for braces. Now, the benches are constructed

with desks in front to write upon, and also there is a place to put
away books and slate. Thev are also made of different sizes to

accommodate all grades of pupils.

Perhaps in nothing has the spirit of progress been so clearly
exhibited as in the school master himself, andiiis methods. To-day
the profession of teaching is an honorable one. Some of the best

talent to be found in any calling is found among the pedagogues.
The descriptions given by writers, not only of our State but of oth-

ers, of the early school masters, are ridiculous in the extreme.

For examples, read Irving's "Legend of Sleepy Hollow," "Pro-
fessor Smith's School," in the State Superintendent's Report of

1885-1886; also, "Early School Days," in the same work. There
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seems to have been no species of punishment except the rod. It

was applied for all offenses. The teacher kept a large number of

long gads as part of the apparatus of the school. Each pupil
studied and played in fear and trembling. The whip has dimin-
ished so in size that in man}- schools it has entirely disappeared.
Other modes of punishment are now in vogue in nearly all of the

schools, relying more in correcting the pupil by appealing to his manli-

ness. The methods used in schools in early days depended wholly
upon the teacher's originality and inclination. There were no normal
schools or institutes, where the best methods were discussed, and
of course each teacher followed the bent of his own mind. There
were some good teachers in those days, mind you. The teacher is

born, not made, some say. That man or women who loves little

children, who has a high ideal in regard to the importance of

training the 3'outh properly, and who really enjoys teaching, cannot
fail. So, in the annals of early times, a noble man or women who
did good work, was long cherished and remembered by his or her

pupils.
In the first schools each pupil recited alone, except in spelling.

Even to this day there are parents who request teachers to allow
their children to recite by themselves. Spelling was considered
the most important branch. The spelling class was the onlv place
where a pupil could win distinction. To be the best speller in a

school was to be upon the ver}^ pinnacle of fame, only to be sur-

passed b}' the still higher honor of being the winner at the "spell-

ing school;"' most of the energy of teacher and pupil was thrown
in that channel. In the classes every incentive was used to induce
the pupil to work for " head marks." The author of this sketch
was at the residence of Mr. Lewis Barlow, Trustee of Jackson
Township, some time ago. Mr. Barlow and he were conversing
about the early schools of that township. "I have something to

show you," said Mr. B. After considerable rumaging up-stairs he

produced the following unique document:

Mount Auburn—Reward of Merit. Ke"Y

Th39 v39 T4 c2o73f6 Thiy L2W39 B10I4W W19 h2id of 7h2
'

^^

f3097 chi99 i8d 7h202 f402 m20379 7^^ 29722m 4f b47h P102S79
~

i8d 72ch2o. 7h39 Mioch 7h2 17" 1848. i. D. 1848.
'^

R4d203ck H. M4402,"
I89705C740." .

After some trouble it was translated and read as follows: ^
" This is to certify that Lewis Barlow was head of the first -7

class, and therefore merits the esteem of both parents and teacher.

This March 17, 1848. Roderick H. Moore," ^-.

21 Instructor." [
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The hand writing in this slip of paper was very creditable, and
the fact that it has been preserved so long shows that its owner
must have been pleased in receiving it.

Reading, writing and arithmetic were all the branches that any
one was thought to need, and few teachers pretended to teach any
others. The writer of this chapter, though a young man, remem-
bers the time some eighteen or twenty years ago, when he was the

only pupil in a large school situated live miles from Shelbvville,
who studied grammar, and to his certain knowledge there was not

a geography or physiology in the school. A few histories were
used by the large class as a text-book in reading. The pupils came
with an inspiration to "

cipher," and the boy who ciphered through
Ray's third part arithmetic was considered of great importance.

Principles and methods in arithmetic were not taught, neither were
the definitions given to be learned. A pupil came with a text-book

in arithmetic and began to cipher, except when interrupted by his

reading or spelling classes, after which recitations he seldom wasted
much time in preparing. He kept on passing through his book
until he was "stalled." He then called his teacher to his seat by a

few significant taps with his pencil. The teacher " worked "
the

"sum" and the boy resumed his journey.
In the earlier times, spelling was considered the most important

study. But later on arithmetic came to divide the honors, and un-

less there was a spelling match in a neighborhood, or something
to call unusual attention to spelling, arithmetic received the lion's

share of attention. It is wonderful to note the progress that has

been made even in the last twenty years. Then the farmer's boy
went to school to learn arithmetic in order to prevent being cheated

w^hen hauling off his corn or driving awav his hogs. Now he has

a higher idea. He studies physiologv, a name unknown in the

schools twenty years ago, to know himself and to preserve his

health; he studies history to be a good citizen; he studies grammar
to learn to speak good English; he studies geography to know
about the great world. He not only studies arithmetic to aid in his

business calculations, but to give him mental discipline. Any one
of average age can remember the time, if he went to school in

Shelby County in his boyhood, when many of the absurdities in

methods and government to be seen in the first schools were still

found. The great and sweeping changes have been caused by the

County Superintendency and the County Board of Education. It

would be unjust not to speak of our grand Normal Schools, of the

State Superintendency, and the State Board of Education. But
still the County Superintendency is the central figure in the van.

Through the township and county institute he has accomplished
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much. A great deal has been done by school visitations, and more
bv the examination of teachers.

Prior to the year 1S37, there were three Township Trustees who
examined all applicants for teachers' positions. Some of the fun-

niest things in the w^orld have happened while the primitive teach-

ers were underjjoinfj this ordeal before the old Board of Trustees.

A pioneer teacher once told the following story on himself: He
was "on examination." "What is the shape of this 'yarth?'

"

asked the spokesman.
" Well, said the teacher, who was some-

thing of a policy-man, and afterward became a celebrated poli-

tician, "I can just teach it any way you like." "We want it taught
as she is— flat." "

Alright, gentlemen, I alwa3's aim to please the

people," responded the teacher. He got the school, but since he
had no class in geography to deal with, we never found out how he

taught the shape of " the yarth." February 6, 1837, the General

Assembly passed a law taking awa}- the power of examining teach-

ers from the Township Trustees, and created a board of three County
Examiners. These were appointed by the Judges of the Circuit

Court and were often lawyers, sometimes clergymen, and fre-

quently physicians. Their questions, always given orally, were
often practical and suggestive, and although they were not what
we would now call "

professional," the}^ answered the purpose very
well. In 1852, the Legislature made one officer answer for the

purpose of examining the teachers, and he was called the County
Examiner. Eden H. Davis, now deceased, a former prominent at-

torney of Shelbyville, was Shelby County's first examiner. He
was a staunch friend of the common school svstem. Amono- the

attorneys he was celebrated for his remarkable memory. Mr.
Davis was examiner for several years.

In 1873, the County Superintendency was established, and in

June of the same year, the State Board of Education devised the

plan of issuing (]uestions for the examination of teachers. William
R. Norris was the first person ever elected to that position. He
had served the last term as examiner, and now claims the proud
distinction of being the last County Examiner and the first County
Superintendent. Mr. Norris was a careful man, and took great

pains in managing the details of his office. By examining the

twentieth report of the Superintendent of Public Instruction for 1872,
we find that Shelby County has the most complete and best writ-

ten report to be found. Mr. Norris served from 1S73-1875.
After him, came Mr. S. L. Major, who was " the right man in the

right place." He made the examinations for teachers' license very
rigid, and many incompetent and unsuccessful teachers were dropped
from the list. He worked diligently to secure a uniformity of text-
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books and succeeded. During his term a continuous fight was
made in the Legislature against the County Superintendency,and the

office came very nearly being abolished several times. Mr. Major
did the cause of education a great service by becoming a member of

the "Third House," and working among the Legislators to prevent
the proposed dangerous legislation. He served the county faith-

fullv for six years from 1875 to 1881. He was followed by W. T.

Jolly, a Baptist minister, and a thoroughly good man. Mr. Jolly
had a complexity of duties to perform. He was very popular

throughout the county, and was called to preach at more funerals,

and marry more couples, than any other two preachers in the city.

He also filled the pulpit of the First Baptist Church at Shelbyville.
His time was so completely taken up in other duties that he could

not devote as much time and energy to the schools as he would
liked to have done. However, he was a good speaker, and did

much toward popularizing education by his timely remarks upon
many occasions. He was genial and whole-souled and kept up
a feeling of good will and fellowship among the teachers

and the people. He pubhshed during his term of office, a small

pamphlet containing the " course of study," and the rules and regu-
lations of the Count}' Board of Education, The schools advanced

under his administration as they did also under the administrations

of his predecessors. His term lasted from 1881 to 1883. He was

succeeded by Douglas Dobbins, the author of this sketch, who de-

sires to make one statement before heralding his own accomplish-
ments. He has given more space to a detailed account of what

took place during his administration, than to those of the other

superintendents, because the department of public instruction was

in charge of an unusually active man, who kept one improvement
following upon another quite rapidly, and the County Superintend-
ents of the State were stimulated by his example to attempt many
thing's heretofore unattempted. Again the author, as a portion of

this history, has set apart a description of the school system at the

present time, and a great deal of what follows will come properly
under that head. Lastly, your most obedient servant has just

passed through a four years' term and is very familiar with the work-

inf of the educational system as it is to-day. It is said that one

can write best concerning the things with which he is most fa-

miliar.

In the fall of 1883, the first county manual was published. It

was a pamphlet containing thirty-two pages devoted to educational

^.opics of importance to the schools. Five hundred of these were pub-
lished and placed in the hands of all of the teachers and many of

;he pupils
and patrons. In the fall of 1884, a "

Supplement to the
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County Manual" was printed, containing fifteen pages. During
the year 1885, a new and complete manual was published, contain-

ing sixtv-six pages. Twenty-live hundred copies of this work
were printed and distributed to all of the patrons, teachers and

school officers in the county. The last manual included a brief
" Historical sketch of the Schools of Shelby County." .

During this administration a great effort was made to increase

the per cent, of attendance at the schools. A prize consisting of a

beautiful silk banner was offered to the township having the largest

per cent, of attendance. After the schools closed in the spring of

1884, it was found that Moral Township had won the prize. Her

average dailv attendance upon the enumeration was 56 per cent.

An " Educational Mass iNIeeting
" was held in Shelbyville, May 30,

1884, at which meeting State Superintendent J. W. Halcombe

presented the banner to the people of Moral Township. It was a

beautiful prize, glorious in gilt and spangles and contained the

following: "All Honor to Those Who Trv— Awarded to Moral

Township — 56 Per Cent. Average Daily Attendance." This had
a great effect throughout the county, and the attendance has kept
steadih' increasing ever since.

In the spring of 1884, the first examination for pupils wishing to

graduate from the common schools was held. Over thirty pupils

appeared for that purpose, and about twenty passed the examination

successfullv. The first township commencement exercises were
held in Jackson Township, at Mt. Auburn, under the auspices of

Mr. E. T. J. Jordon, principal of the Mt. Auburn schools. The

people flocked for many miles to attend the exercises, and were

greatlv pleased and interested in hearing them. Since that time many
commencements have been held in Shelbv County, and the s} stem
is thoroughh' established. August 27, 1885, the first "Graduates,
Prize Contest

" was held in Blessing Opera Hall, in Shelbyville.
A representative was selected from each township or corporation
commencement held during the same year, who was to reproduce
his commencement oration at the " contest.

" Those two who did

best should be awarded prizes. The first prize was a Webster's

Unabridged Dictionary, and the second an edition of Dante's In-

ferno. Five judges were selected who gave Miss Mary Jones, re-

presentative from the Shelbyville schools, the first prize, and Claude
C. Conner, of Shelby Township, the second prize. August,
1886, the second annual "Graduates' Contest" was held. Frank

Clayton, of Hendricks Township was awarded the first prize, and
Lizzie Addison, of Noble, the second.

During the same administration great pains was taken to cele-

brate " Arbor Da}',
"

that is to plant trees and shrubs in the school
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yards throughout the count3\ A number of teachers observed
" Arbor Day

" with proper ceremonies. But the work of beauti-

fying the school yards and grounds has only just begun.
In the spring of 1884, Messrs. Levy, Baker & Co., a school

supply house in Indianapolis, offered three prizes in order to stimu-

late the system of township graduation throughout the State as fol-

lows: For the best manuscript, submitted at anv graduates' exam-

ination, one grand gold medal; for the second best, an edition of

the People's Cyclopeedia; for the third best, an Unabridged Dic-

tionary. Only one manuscript was to be received from each

county. A committee was appointed to pass upon the merits of

the work sent in from the different counties, and gave to Miss Met-
tie Burgess, of Shelby County, the gold medal.

In 1884-5, the Cotton Centennial at New Orleans was held.

The State Superintendent asked all of the County Superintendents
in Indiana, to prepare an exhibit of work done in the countr}'^
schools. Shelby County responded by sending 136 manuscripts
of various grades, and many maps and drawings; with this exhibit was
sent a handsome little banner bearing this inscription:

" A dot on
the map of our nation; a fraction of the Northwest Territory,

Shelby County presents her tribute to the Crescent City.
"

All of

the townships were represented.
The last report of the enumeration of Shelby County, shows

the number of children to be as follows: White males, 4,437;
white females, 4,169; colored males, 67; colored females, 61. Grand
total, 8,737. The reports from the teachers throughout city and

county, show the number enrolled to have been: Males, 3,446;
females, 3,112; total, 6,517. The daily average attendance for

this number enrolled, was 4,417. This makes the per cent, of

attendance based upon the enumeration fifty plus. The number
of brick school-houses, including those of the city, is ninety-
three; number of frames, thirty-six. The whole number in the

county is 129. There are eight district graded schools and five

township graded schools. In all of these thirteen graded schools,

higher branches, such as Algebra, U. S. Constitution, Physical

Geography, and sometimes Latin are taught. The district schools

are in a manner graded, but the term "
graded school," as used

above, is taken from the statute establishing it, and is held to be a

school having two or more departments and emploN'ing two or more
teachers. In the common district schools a course of study is in

vogue dividing the work into five grades, corresponding to a series

of five readers. As the pupils advance through the course from
the first grade, they are graduall}^ inducted into a studv of all of

the common branches, by simple oral lesson at the beginning, by
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primary text-books, in the intermediate grades, to a study of com-

plete works in Arithmetic, Geograph}-, Grammar, History, Phy-
siology, Orthography, Penmanship, and Reading. This course of

study is most systematically observed in some of our schools,

while in others great looseness prevails. It will take time to make
anv system of gradation entirely complete. If the school system

improves in the next sevent}' years as it has in the last, our schools

will be little short of perfect.
In the old County Superintendent's records we find the follow-

ing entry:

"July 31-August 4, 1S65. — Held a teachers' institute, con-

ducted jointly by the examiner and Mr. Charles Peterson. The
number of teachers enrolled was thirty-four (34)- Average
attendance 26 1-5.

"

J. J. Smythe,

The last Shelby County Teachers' Institute was held August,
1886, the number of teachers, and those aiming to be teachers,

enrolled was 210, while there were several hundred visitors.

The County Institute lasts one week each year, and is a

period which teachers devote not only to receiving instruc-

tion, but to having a general good time and a grand reunion. The

Township Institute is held on some Saturday of each month in

every township. Each teacher employed in a township is com-

pelled to atttend or forfeit one day's wages. At the Township
Institute (questions relating to school economy are discussed. Last

year fifty-seven Township Institutes were held during the winter

and spring terms of school in Shelby County. The schools of

Shelby County are in a prosperous condition. The corps of

teachers is unusually strong and active. Last year the average
number of days taught in the county was 128, and the amount

paid male teachers per day was $2.69^; females, $1.91^. Per-

haps no county is so blest in some particulars.
The term of Douglas Dobbins, as County Superintendent, began

June 8, 1883, and his successor was chosen June 6, 1887. The
name of the present Superintendent is Mr. Lester Clark. He was
elected on the fifty-first ballot by the Township Trustees receiving

eiirht votes acrainst a scattering; six. He will administer the office

with faithfulness and ability, and his many friends predict a success-

ful and prosperous term. Without doubt the schools will advance

and improve under his administration. May success attend him,

and may blessings ever rest upon that noble institution, the common
school.

ShelhvviUc Schools. — In the winter of 1822-3, a school was

taught by WiUiam Hawkins, in a log cabin built by Frank Wal-
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ker. It was the first house built in the town, on the northwest cor

ner of Washington and Tompkins Streets, where Mrs. Susan Dixon's

residence now stands. In 1824, the first school-house was built on

what is now the southeast corner of the Public Square. It was
built of round logs; one log on each side was cut out and greased

paper pasted over the openings, for windows. In 1826, a brick

building 20x26, was built in the east part of town for a school-

house. This was also used for town meetings, for holding court,

and other matters of a public nature. In 1835-6, a somewhat stylish

County Seminary, with cupola, was built, between Jackson and

Broadway Streets. The first teachers in this seminary were the

venerable and well-aged Rev. Eliphalet Kent, and his first wife.

Said Kent, commonly called " Father Kent," is still living on a farm

two miles west of town at the advanced age of eighty-seven.

Shelbyville was incorporated as a town, by act of the Legislature,

Februar}' 21, 1850, and divided into school districts, and an enumer-

ation taken of all children between five and twelve years of age.
No record of their number was kept, but the seminary was so

crowded that the trustees rented the old Presbyterian Church, for

an additional school, in which the Rev. Eliphalet Kent, above men-

tioned, taught the following winter and spring.
Mr. Eden H. Davis, an eminent attorney, was the first School

Examiner, an office somewhat similar to the present ofiice of

County Superintendent. He was ordered by the Township Trus-

tees and County Commissioners to license no teacher who could not

furnish a certificate of good moral character. In 1851, the new
constitution made it the duty of the Legislature "to provide by
law for a general and uniform system

"
of free schools. In order

to carry this law into effect, the council levied a tax to build a

school-house. Meetings of the citizens were held in favor of the

measure, and a site and plan were chosen. In 1852, the town con-

tained 241 voters, the number of children between the ages of five

and twenty-one, was 477, and the entire population was 1,424.

This vear the common school fund was apportioned among the

"scholars learning the elementary branches, to-wit: reading, writ-

ing and arithmetic," and the tuition of the advanced pupils was paid
in full by the subscribers.

As the schools continued to demand more room on account of the

loss bv fire of the Seminary, the town council in 1852 and 1853, rented

the basement of the Baptist Church. During the summer Wilham
Petit taught in the old Presbyterian Church, and in the upper part

of Mr. James Harrison's brick building, southwest corner of Har-

rison and Franklin Streets. The construction of the school build-

ing on the site of the present Seminary, or school-building No. i,
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northeast corner of Franklin and Pike Streets, was delayed for a

lack of funds, and fre(]uent levies \vere made "to discharge the

debt on the school-house." In 1S55, a cupola was added to the

Seminary, and Eden H. Davis, the School Examiner, was ordered

by the city council " to organize a graded school as near as circum-

stances would permit, and place the same under the control of one
teacher." In the spring and summer of 1856, the building was

completed and furnished. In March of that year, Mr. J. H. Moore
"was employed as Principal of the school at a salary of $1,500
for self and assistants," and " and ordered to determine competency
and employ teachers." The said Mr. Moore superintended and

taught successfully for two years. In February, 1858, the Presi-

dent of the School Board, Mr. Solomon A. Gorgas, laid before the

Board a decision of the Supreme Court of Indiana, declaring the

school law unconstitutional, and it was decided not to attempt the col-

lection of any more school taxes. Most of the schools of the State

suspended, but the people of Shelbyville subscribed and placed in

the hands of the Trustees sufficient money to continue the schools

FREE until June. In September of that year the school was again

organized; Mr. W. F. Hatch was elected Principal. In February
following the school was again suspended. In 1859, ^^^- ^' Clark-
son was elected Principal. In i860, a bell weighing 600 pounds,

costing $205.23, was purchased by private subscriptions for the use

of the school building. The school for 1861-2, commenced Sep-
tember 17th and continued nine months. Mrs. M. E. Powell com-
menced teaching in i860, and continued up to 1878, a period of

eighteen years. In 1861, Mr. J. M. Ta3-lor, of Washington, Pa.,
was elected Principal. This year Miss Amelia McKcnzie com-
menced teaching, and continued teaching with brief intervals in the

public schools of Shelbyville until 1875, when she secured a posi-
tion in the Indianapolis Public Schools at an increased salary, where
she remained up to the fall of 1880, when declining health compelled
her to resign. She died in March, 1881, after having taught nearly
nineteen years.

The school of 1861-2, had an enrollment of 720, and an aver-

age of 317, with nine teachers. In 1862, Mr. A. D. Lynch, was
elected Principal. At the end of the term the enrollment was 555;

average 320. At this time the Board added a number of new
studies, and ordered, that when a class should have completed the

course and passed an examination, they should be graduated, and
receive a diploma. School commenced for 1863-4, January 3rd,

1864, and closed in April. No report is on record. In 1864-5

public and private were taught as before, but no record can be
found. In 1865, Mr. A. D. Lynch retired from the profession
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having acceptably filled the position of Superintendent for three

3-ears. In 1867, he was elected a member of the School Board,
which position he held until 1874.

The next Superintendent was Mr, Levi Wright, of Ohio.

During the summer $2,500 was expended in repairing the Semin-

ary and it was insm^ed for $10,000. November 5th, 1865, at

noon, the building caught fire and was entirely consumed. A large
and valuable library, together with an extensive and costly phil-

osophical cabinet, and the books of the pupils were also destroyed.
Ward meetings were immediately called to recommend what course

should be taken bv the Board. It was recommended that no effort

be made to have school during the winter, keeping the funds for

the spring of 1866. The insurance on the building was promptly
paid, and active preparations for rebuilding commenced. The

question of ward schools was discussed, but the present building
on the old site was determined upon. Additional ground was pur-
chased, and in 1868, the present building was erected at a first cost

of $29,000. The public schools were again opened in 1867, with
D. Eckley Hunter as Superintendent, who remained with us in that

capacity for one year.

For 1868-9, Pi"of- W. A. Boles was employed as Superintend-
ent. School commenced September 14, 1868, and closed March 5,

1869, number of teachers employed, ten. During the year 1869-70,
there were fourteen teachers employed and an enrollment of 729
pupils; length of term, six months. This is the first year that a

separate school was organized for the colored children. In 187 1-2,
the enrollment was 771; average attendance, 500; number of

teachers, thirteen ; length of term, eight months. This year a class

of six were graduated from the High School department, the first

for the Shelb3'ville schools. The class consisted of Miss Eva Stod-

dard, Cannie Robertson, Louisa Tindall, Carrie Levinson, Mr.
Charles Wright and Mr. Charles Major. Prof. Boles had charge
of our schools for nine years consecutively; he was an able and
industrious Superintendent. In 1877, he resigned his superintend-

ency, he having secured the superintendency of the Public Schools
of Lawrence, Kansas, a much larger place, at a substantial increase

of salary.

Prof. R. S. Page, a Principal of one of the ward schools of

Indianapolis, succeeded Prof. Boles in the superintendency of our
schools in 1877, he remained with us six years, but having been
chosen Superintendent of the schools of Ironton, Ohio, a large city,

at a corresponding increase of salary, he resigned the superintend-

ency here and went there, where he still remains. He had been
educated early in life for a physician, and during his superintend-
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«ency here he benefited many of our pupils by practical hints and

su£ffyestions in sanitary Hyo-iene and the preseryation of their

health. He had many warm friends, and his departure for other

educational fields was generally regretted.
In the summer of 1883, Prof. W. H. Fertich, Superintendent of

the Schools, at Mishawka, St. Joseph County, Lid., was selected

by the School Trustees for Superintendent of our city schools.

He was an author and lecturer of some note on elocution, and a

leader in County Institutes. He held the position for four years,
or until the close of the last school term. In the summer of 1887,
a new school board haying been organized, composed of Messrs.

Henry Doble, Thompson Francis and Harry C. Morrison, they, in

obedience to the public demands of the people, selected out of a

very large number of applicants for the position of Superintendent
of the Schools, Prof. J. C. Eagle, of Edinburg, Johnson Co., Ind.,

where he had filled the post of Superintendent of Schools for eight
years successiyely, with yery general satisfaction to the people of

that flourishing town.

Shelbyville at this time possesses ample accommodations for

pupils in the way of school buildings, of which we have three:

First, The Seminary or school building No. i, situate on East

Franklin Street, which we understand has cost the city $35,000,
this includes the large lot on which it stands, the school furniture,

interest, repairs, improvements, etc. School building No. 2, the

Colored School, situate near the South end of Harrison on the

€ast side thereof, a two-story brick house, with stone foundation,

costing $3,000. School building No. 3, situate in the southwest

part of town on the high bluff grounds at the intersection of South

and Miller Streets. It is a large and elegant building, erected in the

most substantial manner, with stone basement and foundation,

massive brick walls, surmounted by a handsome tower, and is con-

sidered a model of school architecture. It cost the city $21,800.
The cost of the three school buildings, it will be seen, aggregate

$59,800.

ADDISON SKETCHES.

Thomas J. Conger, fruit raiser and gardener, a native of

Shelby County, was born in Noble Township, near Cave Mills, Au-

gust 4, 1842, being the next eldest in a family of five children born

to David J. and Delilah ( Jeffras) Conger, who were both natives

of Butler County, Ohio, their marriage occurring in 1838, and they
immediately moved to Shelby County and settled at the farm on

which they now live. Our immediate subject grew to manhood on
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that farm, remaining with and assisting his parents until he attained

the age of twenty-two years, receiving a common school education.

October 23, 1864, ..his marriage wdth Charlotte F. Peak, was sol-

emnized, and to their union this one child was born, Jefferson L.,

aged twenty years. May, 1864, Mr. Conger realized the neces-

sity of the preservation of our Union, and enlisted in Co. E, One
Hundred and Thirty-second Regiment, in the 100 day service. He
was a member of Col. James Gavin's command of militia who pur-
sued Morgan in 1863. He was honorably discharged at Indianapo-
lis, August, 1864. He has always made farming his occupation. In

1882, he removed to his present location, since which time he has

made the raising of sniall fruits a specialty, and he has been quite
successful, having fifteen acres of land, one-half of which he has
in fruit plants. He and wife are members of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church. He also belongs to the Masonic fraternity. He
formerly was identified with the Grange movement. In politics he
is a Republican.

Clark R. Devol, an enterprising farmer of Addison Town-
ship, and only son of Thomas Devol (see sketch ), was born March

9, 1848. He was reared to manhood on the farm where he now
lives. He received a common school education, greatly supple-
mented in later years by being associated with business men.
October 13, 1863, at the early age of seventeen, he realized the

necessity of the preservation of our Union, and enlisted in Company
M, Twenty-first Regiment, First Indiana Heavy Artillery, where
he served until the close of the war. He was present and partici-

pated in the following important engagements: Vicksburg, Baton

Rouge, Nashville and Mobile, besides numerous minor engage-
ments. October 9, 1865, his marriage with Nannie J. Robertson
xVas solemnized. He has always made farming his occupation, and
he has been very successful. He occupies his father's farm of 326
acres, and in addition he owns seventy-eight acres in his own right.
He and wife are members of the Baptist Church at Shelbyville.
He also belongs to the Masonic fraternity. In politics he is Re-

publican.

Benjamin Heistand (deceased), was a native of Montgomery
County, Ohio, and was born December 28, 1S26. He came to

Shelby County in 1849. ^^ ^^^^ married to Melinda Nail, March 7,

1850. He expired at Deland, Florida, March 28, 1S87, and was
buried there. He served his country in the struggle for national

life, enlisting in 1861, in Company F, FiftN'-first Regiment, Indiana,
and served five years. He received an honorable discharge at

Jeffersonville, Ind. He was present and participated in a number
of important engagements. He was by occupation a farmer.
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Peter Hoffman, a farmer of Addison Township, is a native

•of Germany, where he was born June 7, 1826, being the next eld-

est in a family of six children born to John and Margaret (Gillman)
Hoffman, who were also natives of Germany, where they always
lived. Our subject grew to manhood in his native country, receiv-

ing a common school education. At the age of twxnty-seven

years, in 1854, ^^ emigrated to the United States, coming direct to

Indiana, and first settled in Franklin County, but only remained
there about two months, when he came to Shelbyville, living here

for a period of ten months, when he removed to the country, but

has always resided in Addison Township. In May, 1854, his mar-

riage with Margaret Soltong was solemnized, and to their union

seven children were born, these four now living: John, who mar-
ried Ellen (Worland) Fessenbeck; Margaret, now Mrs. Henrv Gor-

don; Lizzie, widow William Houston, and Katie. March 16, 1887,
Mr. Hoffman suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved wife.

His occupation has always been farming, and he has been very
successful. He now owns 115 acres of well-improved land. He
belongs to the Presbvterian Church. In politics, he is a Democrat,

although in voting for local officials he does not allow party preju-
dice to control him.

Thomas W. Jackson, a prominent farmer of Addison Township,
was born in the house where he now lives, January 3, 1848, being
the elder of two sons born to William and Sarah (Richart) Jack-
son, who W'Cre natives of Clermont County, Ohio and Bass County,
Ky., respectively. William was born December 22, 1806, emigrated
with his parents to Franklin County in 1816, where he lived until

1837, when he came to Shelby, and settled on the farm now owned

by our subject, where he continued to live until his death, which
occurred February 16, 1885. He was honored with an election to

the office of Township Trustee, two terms. He always followed

farming and ranked as one of the foremost farmers of the com-

munity. By a former marriage, when Mary Stafford was his wife,
he was the father of nine children. His last wife was born March 22,

1809. She came with her mother to this country, in 1825. She
still survives him, making her home with her son, our subject, who
grew to manhood on the home farm, receiving a common school

education sufficient to enable him to teach, which he did seven
terms. April 20, 1873, Thomas married with Martha M. Har-

rell, and to their union, six children have been born, viz. :

Emma J., Mary G., Sarah E., William H. Miles H. and Thomas
A. He has always made farming his occupation and he has been

very successful. He now owns 115 acres of well improved land.

He and wife are members of the Christian Church. In politics he
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is a Democrat. Andrew Jackson, parental grandfather of our sub-

ject, was born in 1754, ""^ ^^^^ State of Maryland, served with

distinction in the .Revolutionary War.
Thomas M. Jeffras, a farmer of Addison Township, is a

native of Butler County, Ohio, where he was born, July 3, 1835,

the eldest in a family of four children, born to Francis A. and Sarah

(Thompson) Jeffras, who were natives of Maryland and Ireland,

respectively, this marriage occurring in Ohio, When the subject
of our sketch was yet quite young, the father died, leaving the

mother and four small children. In 1856, his mother with himself

and two sisters, came to Shelb^'ville, Nathaniel, the other child, re-

maining in Cincinnati, where he still hves, engaged at present in the

manufacture of cloaks. Mrs. Jeffras continued a resident of Shelby-

ville, until 1867, when she removed to a farm one mile south of the

citv, living there until her death, which occurred September 13,

1883, at tTie age of sixty-seven years. She died as she had always
lived, a devout Christian, and member of Methodist Episcopal Church.

Thomas M. received a common school education. His home was

always with his mother, he caring for
'

her in her declining years.
He has always made farming his occupation, commencing when

quite young, and by dint of his industry and econoni}^ he is now
the proprietor of a fine, well improved farm of 234 acres. Mr.

Jeffras is a man of pronounced temperance views, and as such en-

dorses the principles, and votes with the Prohibition party.
Rev. Eliphalet Kent, a superanuated worker in Christ's

vineyard, was born in Dorset, Vt., March 17, 1800, the son Cephas
and Lydia (Sheldon) Kent, who were both natives of Suflield,

Conn., from whence they removed to, and were among the

early settlers of Vermont. The immediate subject of our sketch

acquired a collegiate education at Williams College, Massachusetts,

graduating from that institution in 1825. He obtained his theolog-
ical education at Auburn Seminary in New York. In 1829, he

was licensed to preach by the Berkshire (Mass.) Association and

ordained shortly afterward by the Rutland (Vt.) Association.

The same year he came to Shelbyville, and took charge of the

Presbyterian Church, his field for the first year consisting of

Bartholomew and Shelby Counties. In 1835, l"'^ was called from

Shelbyville, to the church at Greenwood, where he continued five

years. He was first married to Miss Fannie Capron, August, 1829,
at Tinmouth, Vt., who came with, and assisted, him in his min-

isterial labors, and for a time she managed the Seminary at Shelby-
ville. Her children are: Frances, now Mrs. J. Marshall Elliott,

George E. and Edward. Father Kent was married a second time

to Fannie Henderson, daughter of the late Dr. Sylvan Morris, Sep-
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tember 19, 1844. To that union these children were born,

Joseph H. and Lydia D. (Mrs. Warren Snyder).. Joseph H.
Kent was born February 4, 1846, graduated at Wabash College in

1868, studying theology at Lane Seminary. He was married to

Nettie C. Harter, of Crawfordsville, in 1870, spent two years in

study and travel in Europe. He was ordained in 1872, and became

pastor of the Presbyterian Church, at Cambridge City, and died

July 4, 1876. His career was brief, but his character was singularly

deep and his piety was extraordinarily profound. Father Kent's
third marriage was with Matilda West on September 20, 1849.
Rev. Kent has always taken decided positions on e^•ery great ques-
tion of religion, temperance and politics, and was among the first

Abolitionists of this community. In old age he retains remarkable

vigor and very few pass through life with so few enemies and so

many warm devoted friends.

John M. Moberly, an enterprising farmer, is a native of Union

Township, Shelb}- County, born August 8, 1843, being the eldest

in a famih' of six children, four boys and two girls, born to Thomas
and Julia (Barnes) Moberly, who were both natives of Madison

County, Ky. ;
the former came with his uncle to Shelby County

when he was but seven 3^ears of age, and the latter came with her

parents in an early day, and they have since continued residents of

the county. Our immediate subject was reared to manhood on the

home farm, receiving a common education in the schools of the

county sufficient to enable him to teach, which he did for nine

terms. He remained at home and assisted his parents on the farm
until he attained the age of thirty-three years, when, December 27,

1876, his marriage with Mary Dewitt was solemnized, and to their

union three children have been born, viz. : Charles E., Harry M.
and Frank. He has always made farming his occupation, and he
has been very successful. He now owns 122 acres of well im-

proved land, he belongs to the Masonic fraternity, hi politics he
is a Republican.

Samuel Nail, a leading old and respected citizen of Addison

Township, is a.native of what was then Roann County, North

Carolina, where he was born September i, 1809, being the sixth

in a family of thirteen children, born to Henry and Mar}^ (Keller)
Nail. They were natives of Germany and Pennsylvania, respec-

tively. The former was born in 1771, and came to Penns3'lvania
with his parents in 1774. About two years later they moved to

North Carolina, where his marriage with Mary Keller occurred in

1799- The family emigrated to Indiana and Shelby County in

1824, first settling in what is now Brandywine Township, and con-

tinued residents of this county until the father died. The mother
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survived him a few years, and died in Illinois. The immediate

subject of this biographv remained at home and assisted his parents
on the farm, until he attained the age of twenty-two years. He
received a verv limited education, in consequence of the poor
facilities for schooling then in existence. January Sth, his marriage
with Cherrv Wray was solemnized. He has always made farniing
his occupation and has been uniformly successful. He now owns

420 acres of well improved land in this county, sixt}- acres in

Fulton Countv, and eighty acres in Missouri, beside some property
in Fairland. All of this is the accumulation of himself, assisted by
an economical and industrious wife. They both are members of

the Methodist Church, and have always tried to lead true and con-

sistent Christian lives. In politics, Mr. Nail was originallv an old

line Whig. Since the downfall of that part}', he has usually voted

for the best man without regard to party lines. Cherry (Wray)
Nail, wife of the above was born September 30, 1S13. She was a

daughter of James and Tabitha (Bass) Wray, who were natives of

Virginia and North Carolina, respectively. They came to Shelby
County about 1822, where the}' resided until their deaths. James
Wrav, Mrs. Nail's father, was born Januarv 13, 1787, and died

October 8, 1S65. Her mother was born Julv 5, 1789, and died

March 30, 185 1. The father was a minister of the Gospel.
Samuel and Cherrv Nail have had seven children, three boys and
four girls: Daniel W., James H., John W., Melinda, Rebecca, Har-
riet A., and Nancy E. Daniel W. Nail was born Febru-

ary 3, 1S41. He married Lizzie Parker, and they have three

children, viz.: Harry, (who has lately wedded Nora Bass,) Gracie

and Carrie. James H. Nail was born December 25, 1844. He
has been twice married, and his wedding with his present wife,

JMary Howe, took place December 30, 1883. Melinda Nail, now
Heistand, was born June 9, 1834. Her husband's name was Benja-
min Heistand, whose biographv is given elsewhere. She is the

mother of four children: Rebecca, now Mrs. Samuel Hoover,

jVIary E., wife of George Ballard, and Sarah, consort of Mr. M. R.

Montgomery; Samuel, the fourth, died several years ago. Re-
becca Nail, now Thomas; see biography of Allen Thomas. Har-
riet A. Nail was born ]Mav 12, 1849. She was united in marriage
to Mr. Henry Malpas, August 2, 1867, and they now have three

children: Samuel H., Charles H., and Raleigh McRae. Nancy E.

Nail was born June 5, 1S51, and is now the widow of William F.

Francis, who died August 10, 1880. Three children were a result

of this union, only one of whom is now living, viz., Hattie Francis.

John W. Nail was born April 27, 1856. He married Miss Laura

Gray June 30, 1882. They have had two children, one now is
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alive, Maud. Mr. Samuel Nail, the principal subject of this sketch,
has nineteen grandchildren and sixteen great-grandchildren. Most
of this large famih' are engaged in the pursuit of farming. The
family of Mrs. Malpas lives in Indianapolis. The portraits of Mr.
and Mrs. Nail are presented on the opposite pages of this volume,

John Shaw, an old citizen of Addison Township, was born in

Jackson Township, this county, October 3rd, 1823, being the

vouno-est of a family of nine children born to Wilham and Elizabeth

(Miller) Shaw, who were natives of Penns^dvania, and emigrated
from Ohio to this State about 1816 or '18, and first settled in Jack-
son Township, where the}' continued to live about two years, when

they removed to another tract in the same township, where they
lived until their death. The father dying when John was but four-

teen years of age, left him to aid in the support of his widowed
mother, who survived her husband, and made her home with our

subject until her death, which occurred, January 2nd, 1863. They
were poor and endured all the hardships and trials that were inci-

dent to pioneer life in the early settlement of the county. John re-

ceived a very limited education, the family being unable to spare
him much from work on the farm. Januar}' 4th, 1857, his mar-

riage with Salina Willits was solemnized, and to their union six

children have been born of whom these five are now living : Thomas,
who married Florence Bradley, Ellen now Mrs. James Cheny, Jen-
nie, wife of Martin Cherry, James and Harry. Mr. Shaw has

always made farming his principal occupation, in connection with
which he trades in stock for several, years and he has been very suc-

cessful. He commenced a poor boy, and by hard work, industr}^ and

economy, he now owns a fine well improved farm of 277 acres, form-

erly owned by the La Master brothers, later by Jacob Vernon. In

politics he is a Democrat, and always manifests a live interest in

the political affairs of the county. State and Nation, being a citizen

universall}' esteemed by those who know him.

Allen ThoiAL^s, a prominent farmer of Addison Township, is a

native of Marion Township, this county, where he was born, August
15, 1824, being the fourth son of a family of ten children, born to Wil-
liam and Mary (Reece) Thomas, who were natives of Maryland
and Ohio, respectively. They were among the early settlers of

the county, having come about 181 8. They remained residents of

this county until their death. Allen remained with his parents un-
til they both died, which took place when he was about fifteen

years of age. He was thus earl}- thrown upon his own resources,
and had to fight his own way in the world. He received such an
education as was to be afforded in the log school-houses which then
existed. February 17, 1848, his marriage with Nanc}^ Hewitt was

22
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solemnized. To them were born two children, one only now living,
Martha J. Parker. About six years later, Mr. Thomas suffered

the bereavement of losing his wife. November lo, 1854, ^^^ mar-

riage with Rebecca Nail, daughter of Samuel Nail, was celebrated.

To the latter union have been born eleven children, seven of whom
are now alive : Samuel, who married Marietta Hankins, Nancy A.,

unmarried, Alice, wife of George Sanders, Dora, Charles, Augus-
tus and Zella. Farming, with the exception of a few 3'ears, has

been Mr. Thomas' business. Those few years excepted, were

spent in the grain business in Fairland, Ind. He has been ver}^

successful, and now owns one of the finest and most valuable farms
in Shelby County, comprising about 250 acres. He and wife are

members of the Methodist Protestant Church. In politics ,Mr.
Thomas is a Republican.

William J. Thompson, an old resident of Shelby County, is a

native of Greensburg, Decatur Co., Ind., where he was born, Octo-

ber 23d, 1828, being the third in a family of nine children, born to

Thomas and Theresa (Little) Thompson, who were natives of

Washington, D. C, and the State of Maryland, respectively, emi-

grating from the latter State with their parents to Lexington, Ky.,
where their marriage occurred. A few years subsequent they re-

moved to Decatur County, remaining there two years; removing
thence to Cincinnati and staying there for a period of two years,
when in August, 1832, he came to Shelby County and located in

Shelbyville, where he remained until his death, which occurred in

1874. ^^ ^"^'^^ honored with an election to the office of Constable.

He was a gallant soldier in the Mexican War, serving one year.
His wife survived him a number of years and died January loth,

1884, Our immediate subject grew to manhood in the city of Shel-

byville, receiving a limited education in consequence of his help

being needed in his father's wagon shop. He commenced to learn

wagon making at the early age of eleven years, and continued in

that business until 1871, when he removed to the farm on which he

now lives. He has since made farming his occupation and he has

been very successful. He now owns sixty-four acres of improved
land, all the accumulation of his own industry and economy. June
26th, 1850, his marriage with Rebecca Willes was solemnized, and
to their union four children were born, these two now^ living: Will-

iam T., who married Margaret J. Hobbs, and Arilla F. July 3d,

1886, Mr. Thompson suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved

wife. December 23, 1886, his and Mary Furgeson's nuptials were
celebrated. In politics, Mr. Thompson has alwa3's been a Demo-
crat. He is of a quiet, unassuming disposition, industrious, honest,

thorough going citizen, in all, a pleasant, courteous gentleman.
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George W. Vaxlue is a native of Illinois, born near Mattoon,
Pebruarv 3, 1851, being the fourth in a family of eight children

born to John and Marv xV. (Wilson) Vanlue, who were both na-

tives of Kentucky. They became permanent residents of this

countv about 185 1, having resided here some time prior to that date,
but removed to Illinois. Our immediate subject was reared on a

farm. His father, who lost his life in the service of his country,
of sickness, contracted by exposure, was a member of the

Seventieth Regiment. George was thus earl}- thrown upon his

own resources. He had received a limited education, the advan-

tages afforded, being poor. January 13, 1875, his marriage with

Viola Coats, was solemnized, and to their union three children have
been born, these two now living, Charles B. and William A. The
deceased child was x\lonzo, who died at the age of three years. He
and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In

politics he is a Democrat, and he always manifests a good live in-

terest in the political affairs of the county and community. He has

always made farming his occupation and he has been very success-

ful. He now owns 67 acres of well improved land, which is in ap-

pearance, a model of system and neatness.

William Walker, a native of Addison Township, was born

May 17, 1829, being the eldest in a family of ten children born to

Francis C. and Isabel (Bushfield) Walker, who were natives of

New York City and Pennsylvania, respectively. By a prior mar-

riage, the former was the father of two children. He emigrated
to Shelby County about 1818, and lived here until his death oc-

curred, which was in 1850, dying while en route to Kansas, at Han-
nibal, Mo. Our immediate subject grew to manhood on the farm,,

receiving a limited education, such as the facilities of those da3^s-

afforded in the primitive log school-houses of that time. He re-

mained at home and assisted his parents until he attained the age
of twenty-two years. June 5, 185 1, his marriage with Miranda
Woodard was solemnized, and to their union four children have
been born, these two now living: James, who married Fannie

Brown, and Elizabeth, widow of Thomas Stearns. The deceased
children were: Belle, and an infant, unnamed. He has always
made farming his occupation, and has been quite successful. He
now owns 100 acres of well improved land. He has always, with

the exception of three years, when he removed to and lived in Wis-

consin, resided in this county. He and wife are members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics he is a Republican.
Matthias Wright, a leading, substantial citizen of this county,

was born in Ross County, Ohio, at what is now Frankfort, Octo-

ber 22, 1818. He is the son of Caleb and Mary A (Sleeth)
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Wright, who were natives of New Jersey and Virginia, respect-

ively. Mr. Wright was reared to manhood in Logan Countv, Ohio,
his parents were in limited circumstances and could not offer him
-manv advantages for obtaining an education, but he improved every
one that was afforded, and the knowledge obtained was the germ
<of a liberal education acquired latter by close appHcation and hard

studv without the aid of a teacher. He taught for several vears in

Ohio and this State; he had determined to make the law his pro-
fession, and in 1839, entered the office, as a student, of C3'rus

Wright, then located at Lebanon, this State. He pursued his legal
studies at such intervals as he could, being compelled during the

time, to continue teaching for a hvlihood. In 1845, he reached

Shelbvville with a cash capital of fifty cents and a library valued

at $30, with which to begin the practice of his profession. Owing
to failing health he was compelled in 1850, to retire and seek a less

sedentary pursuit. He then removed to a farm now occupied b}^

his sons, Charles M., and David A., where he remained until Janu-

ary, 1887, when he removed to Shelbyville. November 5, 1846,
he married Miss Amanda Young, by whom he is the father of

eight children, these three now living, David A., Charles AI.,

and Nancy M. In his farming, the same effort characterized his

work as did every undertaking made during his life, and it is al-

most unnecessarv to sav that he was verv successful. He is now
the proprietor of 340 acres of well improved land. Politicallv he

is a Republican, and during his career as a lawyer served efficiently
as Prosecuting Attorney.

Charles M. Wright, one of the three living children of

Matthias and Amanda (Young) Wright, who were among the

earliest settlers of Shelby Count}', was born June 6, 1857, being the

youngest son now living. He was reared on the farm, where he
now and has always lived. Following in the footsteps of his father,

has made farming a life occupation and has been very successful.

He occupies a portion of his father's farm, and has succeeded in

purchasing a tract of sixty-eight acres, in his own right. He was
educated in the schools of the county, supplemented by attendance

one term at the Danville Normal College. He is an enterprising
and systematic farmer and bids fair to become one of the county's

most substantial citizens. In 1881, his marriage with Anna Bass
was solemnized and to their union these three children have been

born, Verlie A., Mary M. and Lesta J.

David A. Wright, son of Matthias and Amanda (Young)
Wright, was born October 15, 1854, being the eldest child now
living. He was reared on the home farm, receiving a common
.school education, mostly obtained in the schools of the county. Hav-
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ing parents who recognized the value of an education, he was early
put under private instruction. He has always hved on the home
farm. November 10, 1S80, his marriage with Dolly Hankins was
solemnized, and to their union these two sons were born, Harrv and
Bertie. July 3, 18S3, he suffered the bereavement of losing his be-
loved wife. July 7, 1886, his and Sophia Williamson's nuptials were
celebrated. He has always followed agricultural pursuits and he
has been quite successful. He belongs to the Knights of Pythias
fraternity. In politics, he like his father, is a Republican.

BRANDYWINE SKETCHES.

John M. Boals, one of the prominent farmers of Brandywine
Township, was born in L3'coming Count}', Pa., May 15, 1834. ^^
was the second of three children— one son and two daughters—
born to Seely and Jane (Murph}-) Boals, the former a native of the

State of New York, of English descent, and the latter, who was
the daughter of John and Jane (Porter) Murphy, was a native of

Pennsylvania, of Irish descent. His two sisters are: Martha J.,

the wife of Solomon Toner, of Edinburg, and Marv, the wife of

Dr. Samuel McGaughy, of Acton, Marion County. The subject
of this sketch was but six months old when his mother died. His
father then placed him in charge of an uncle and aunt and went to

the east never more to see the son again. The latter, therefore,
has no recollection whatever of either his father or mother. While

yet a very young child he accompanied his uncle, aunt and grand-
parents to Shelby Count}', where he was reared upon a farm. He
continued with his uncle until his marriage, which occurred March
II, 1857, when Margaret E. Williams became his wife. She was
born in Brandywine Township, this county, March 4, 1837, and
was the daughter of Isaac and Hannah (Taylor) Williams, the

former a native of Virginia, of English descent, and the latter a
native of Burlington County, N. J., also of English descent.

Her paternal grandparents were Hugh and Artemiss (Craig)
Williams, natives of Virginia. Her maternal grandparents were

John and Ehzabeth (Lippencott) Taylor, both of whom were
also natives of Burlington County, N. J. Mrs. Boals had
four brothers and two sisters, as follows: John W., Mary E.,
Richard E., Thomas, Caleb, and Sarah C, all of whom are de-

ceased except Sarah C, who is the wife of George Dipple, of Hen-
dricks Township. Immediately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs.
Boals settled upon a farm in Hendricks Township. There they
resided until 1868, when thev emig-rated to the State of Missouri,
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but shortly afterward they returned to this county, and again set-

tled in Hendricks Township. Two years later, or in 1871, they re-

moved to Tipton Count}', in this State. In 1873, they returned to

this county and located, temporarily, in Addison Township. They
removed to Brandywine Township, and settled upon the farm they
now occupy, in the spring of 1874. The life occupation of Mr.
Boals has been that of a farmer, and as such he has had good success.

He and wife are the parents of eight children as follows : Mary B.,

born December 18, 1858; Samuel E., born January 19, 1861, died

December 3, 1S63; Thomas M., born October 11, 1863; Hattie L.,

born December 3, 1866; Albert W., born December 22, 1868;
Sadie E., born June 16, 1871; Martha J., born February 15, 1875,
died January 20, 1883, and a son that died in infanc}, unnamed.
Mr. and Mrs. Boals are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. In politics, the former is a staunch Democrat. He is an

industrious farmer, and he and wife are among the worthy and es-

teemed citizens of the township. They have a fine farm of about

eighty acres, sixty of which are in an excellent state of cultivation.

Their farm is fitted up with a very handsome frame residence,

which, with other substantial improvements, makes it one of the

most desirable locations in the county.
George W. Bryax, an industrious farmer of Brandywine

Township, and one of her honored citizens, was born in Pendleton

Countv, Ky., September 30, 1844. He was the youngest of eleven

children, eight sons and three daughters, born to Hampton and

Margaret (Gosney) Br3'an, both natives of Campbell County, K}-.,
the former of whom was born in 1796, and died September 20,

1844. The latter, who was the daughter of Benjamin Gosney,
was born August 5, 1803. His seven brothers were: William E.,

Benjamin L., Daniel B., Zachariah G., Napoleon B., John S., and

Joseph H., of whom Zachariah G., John S. and Joseph H. are de-

ceased. His three sisters were: Nancy M., Mary M. and Min-
erva R., all of whom are living. As will be seen above, the father

of our subject died before the latter was born. When he was yet
a child about two 3'ears old his widowed mother removed to Camp-
bell County, Ky., where was reared upon a farm. He attended the

district school in winter, in which he received the rudiments of an

education. At sixteen years of age he took up the avocation of a

teacher and at that time taught two terms. At the age of eighteen
or in Februar}', 1863, he entered the service of the Confederate

Army in Company C, First Kentucky Battalion, Mounted Riflemen,
with which he served until the 7th day of the following October,
when he was taken prisoner at Shelbyville, Tenn. After an im-

prisonment of seventeen months at Camp Morton, Indianapolis, he
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was given his freedom, after which he remained for some time in

this State. He returned to Campbell County, Ky., in the spring
of 1S66, and resumed the avocation of a farmer and school teacher.

He continued to teach in winter and farm in summer, until the

spring of 1870, when he returned to this State and during one sum-

mer he was engaged in private study at Franklin, Johnson County.

During the two winters that followed he taught school in that county.
His marriage to Mary E. Murphy occurred March 21, 1872. She was

born in Hendricks Township, this count}^ October 21, 1847. She was

the daughter of Samuel and Sophia E. (Vaughan) Murphy, the

former a native of L3^coming County, Penn., of Irish descent,

and the latter a native of Preble County, Ohio, of English descent.

Her paternal grandparents were John and Jane (Porter) Murphy
who were natives of Ireland. Her maternal grandparents w^ere

Thomas and Sarah (Slayback) Vaughan, the former a native of

England, and the latter a native of New Jersey. Mrs. Bryan had

two brothers, and live sisters, as follows: Sarah J., John T.,

Martha E., Annie J., George S., Ora J., Nellie R., of whom Sarah

J., Annie J. and Ora J., are deceased. Immediately after their

marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Br3'an, located upon a farm in Hendricks

Township, this county. A year later they removed to Brandywine

Township, in which they have ever since resided. They are the

parents ot one child. Bertha S., born April 7, 1S74. Since his

marriage Mr. Brvan has given his entire attention to his farm ex-

cepting two winters, during which he taught school in Hendricks

Township. He and wife and daughter. Bertha, are members of

the Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics the former is a Demo-
crat. Pie is an enterprising, intelhgent and successful farmer, and

he and wife are worthy and esteemed citizens. They have a hand-

some farm of eighty acres, about fifty-live acres of which is in a

high state of cultivation. Their farm is fitted up with a nice resi-

dence, which, with other substantial improvements makes a very de-

sirable location.

Thomas B. Carey, one of the industrious farmers of Brandy-
wine Township, was born near Wheeling, in Brooke County, West

Virginia, May 4, 1839. He was the oldest of four children, one

son and three daughters, born to Thomas V., and Margaret E.

(Lee) Carey, the latter of whom w^as a relation of the illustrious

General Robert E. Lee. His parents w^ere natives of Virginia
and Pennsylvania, respectively, the former of Scotch-Irish and the

latter of German descent. In 1850, he accompanied his parents to

this State, and located with them in the town of Edinburg. Two
years later the family came to Shelby County, and located at Fair-

land, then a little hamlet of perhaps a half dozen houses. There
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the father and mother spent the rest of their hves, their respective
deaths occurring- May 14, 1S36, and August 11, 1854. Left an or-

phan at this early age and penniless at that, the prospects for a

bright future were very discouraging to young Thomas. How-
ever, he made the most of his surroundings, and with wilHng hands

as his only capital, he went to work, and spent the greater portion
of his youth working upon a farm in summer and endeavoring to

secure an education in winter. During this time he also worked
some at the carpenter's trade, to which he was naturally inclined.

He has always possessed a great deal of natural tact and genius,
and to secure a knowledge of carpentry as he did, without any in-

struction, was but little trouble to him. In April, 1861, he entered

the service of the Union Army, in Compan}^ H, i6th Indiana V'ol-

unteer Infantry, commanded by Captain William Judkins. He en-

tered as a private, but at the organization of the company was
chosen Third Sergeant, and shortly thereafter was promoted to

the rank of Orderly Sergeant, which position he held until the mus-

tering out of the company at Washington, D. C, in May, 1862.

He then returned to Shelb}^ County and assisted in recruiting and

organizing Company F, Seventieth Indiana Volunteer Infan-

try, which entered the service under command of Gen. Harrison.

Mr. Carey was first chosen a Second Lieutenant, but when the

company was mustered in at Indianapolis he was commissioned as

Second Lieutenant. With this he served until in August, 1864,
when, owing to the uncongeniality existing between him and
Gen. Harrison, he resigned, returned again to this count}^, and in

the winter of 1864, he recruited the Ninth Indiana Cavalry Com-
pany. Of this he was chosen Captain, but in conse(]uence of an

attack of erysipleas he was incapacitated for duty and when his

health was restored he entered as a private in Company G, One
Hundred and Forty-eighth Indiana Infantry, with which he served

until the close of the war. He then returned to Fairland and accepted
a position as salesman in a general store. He also worked at the

trades of carpenter and painter occasionally. He was married

April 5, 1868, to Susan E. Reed, a native of this county, and

daughter of Isham and Irene (Ray) Reed. After their marriage
Mr. and Mrs. Carey resided for two years upon a farm in Brand}--
wine Township. The former taught school in winter. He resumed
his position as salesman in the store at Fairland in 1870, and in 1872
he was elected a Justice of the Peace and was re-elected in 1876,
but in the fall of that 3'ear he resigned the office to accept the posi-
tion of Deputv Sheriff of Shelby Countv. In the meantime his

marriage relation was severed by the death of his wife February
27, 1876. After serving two years as Deputy Sheriff, he was
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employed as salesman in the local agricultural implement trade.

Two years later he entered the employ of Walter A. Wood for

whom he trayeled as salesman four 3'ears. On the first da}^ of

November, 1885, he was united in mariage to Sarah J. Holmes, a

native of Moral Township, this county, born February 22, 1840.
She was the youngest of five children, two sons and three daughters,
born to George W. and Sarah (Floyd) Holmes, the former a native

of Broom County, N. Y., and the latter a native of Madison County,

Ky., both of EngHsh descent. The first marriage of Mr. Carey
resulted in the birth of three children: Charles G., May I., and

Maggie B., all of whom are living. Mr. Carey is a member of the

F. & A. M. Lodge, and a staunch Democrat in poHtics. He and

wife have a good farm of 160 acres and a comfortable home where

they reside in a quiet, happy way. They are among the worthy
and esteemed citizens of the township.

Joseph L. Carson, ex-Auditor of Shelby Count}', Ind., was born

in Marion County, Ind., October 7, 1836, and is the son of Alexan-

der and Mary (Wells) Carson— he is a native of Ohio, and she

of Kentucky— who settled in Marion County about 1828. Joseph
L. was the fifth in a family of six children, and, his mother dying
in Marion County when he was but four years old, his father was
married to Mary Morphew, to whom were born six children.

When Joseph L. was thirteen years old, his parents moved to Tip-
ton County, Ind., where he lived three years, then returned to Mar-

ion Count}', where he grew to manhood. His father died in Clinton

County, of this State. In 1864, Mr. Carson came to Shelby

County, settHng in Fairland, where he engaged in general mer-

chandising and grain dealing, which he carried on until the close of

1877, when he sold out his business and interests therein. During
his residence at Fairland, he filled the office of Justice of the

Peace ten years. He was married in Marion County, Ind., March

8, 1864, to' Nancy Smith, daughter of Samuel and Agnes Smith,

natives of Kentucky; Mrs. Carson was born in Marion County,

Ind., and has two children. She is a member of the Baptist, and

her husband of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He is a member
of the Masonic fraternity, also of the A. O. U. W., and politically

a staunch Democrat, believing that the principles of that party are

conducive to the stability and perpetuation of a free government.
In 1878, Mr. Carson was elected on the Democratic ticket. Auditor

of Shelby County, Ind., taking his seat September i, 1879. He was a

careful and painstaking official, and after the expiration of his term

of office he returned to Fairland, where his home has ever since

been. In 1885, he again engaged in merchandising and the grain

business which he has continued to the present time. In May>
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1887, he was appointed by Gov. Gra}-, President of the Board of

Benevolent Institutions of the State, a position he now fills. Mr.
Carson is one of the county's leading citizens, and this public recog-
nition of his services is well merited. His portrait appears in this

volume.
Daxiel T. Culbertson, one of the prominent citizens of Fair-

land, was born in Wa3'ne County, Ind., May 24, 181 7. He was
the sixth of twelve children born to Robert and Rebecca (King)
Culbertson, the former a native of New Castle County, Delaware,
and the latter a native of Louden County, Virginia, of Scotch and

English descent, respectively. Our subject was reared upon a farm
in his native county, and at seventeen years of age he entered

White Water College, of Centreville, Wayne County, where he

completed a classical course, graduating at twenty-one years of

age. In the meantime he had taken up the avocation of a teacher,

having taught two terms before entering college. On completing
his education he resumed the business of teaching and thus con-

tinued for live years. During that time he devoted his spare
moments to the study of law, and at the age of twenty-two he was
admitted to the bar. He entered upon the practice in Centreville,
and continued until 1845, when he located upon a farm and turned

his attention to agricultural pursuits. He thus continued in Wayne
County until 1S63, when he located in Olive Hill of that county,
where he engaged in mercantile pursuits and also acted in the ca-

pacit}' of postmaster and railroad agent. In 1867, he sold out and
after spending some time visiting with relatives in Virginia and

Kentuck}^ he came to Shelby County, in 1868, and located in Fair-

land, a resident of which he has been ever since. He was married

January- 17, 1839, ^^ Martha Hoover, a native of Wayne County,
and his former school mate. She was born March 17, 1818, and
Avas the daughter of Henry and Susannah (Clark) Hoover, both
natives of North Carolina. The death of Mrs. Culbertson occurred

October 22, 1867, and on the 17th day of November, 1868, he
was married to ?»Irs. Martha Smith, daughter of Alexander
and Sarah (Tallbot ) Bridgland, and was born in Campbell County,
Va., August 3, 1830. The first marriage of Mr. Culbertson re-

sulted in the birth of five children, Thomas J., Louisa A., Martha S.,

John F. and Anna J., of whom John F. and Anna J. died, each one

aged about eighteen years. He and his present wife are the

parents of two children, Lillie D. and Carrie M., both living. Mr.
and Mrs. Cullbertson are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. In politics, the former is a Democrat. While a resident

of Wa^-ne County he served as Justice of the Peace five 3'ears. In

the fall of 1852, he was the candidate of his party for the ofiice of
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County Treasurer, and reduced an opposing majority from 2,500
down to sixty-three which reflects very creditably upon his stand-

ing in that county. In 1876, he was elected one of the Commis-
sioners of Shelby County and served one term, during which time

the county court was remodeled and fitted up to its present good
condition. In 1882, he was elected to the office of Justice of the

Peace and served four 3'ears. In all of his official capacities he has

discharged his duties with credit to himself and satisfaction to the

public. He is now acting as Deputy Prosecutor of Brandywine
and Sugar Creek Townships. He is now in the seventieth year of

his age, and would easily pass for a man of fffty-five. He is an

influential man and he and wife are worth}' and esteemed citizens.

In 1880, Mr. Culbertson performed the duties of Census Taker in

Brandywine Township, and his report proved to be perfectly true in

every particular.
Elzy Ensmixger, a prominent young farmer of Brandywine

Township, and the present Trustee of that township, was born in

Liberty Township, this county, June 24, 1850. He was the oldest

of five children born to St. Clair and Sarah (Wilson) Ensminger, with

whom he remained working upon the farm until he reached the

age of twenty, when he took up the vocation of a school teacher.

He taught in all, six consecutive terms with good success. He
was married March 16, 1873, to Martha E. Hilligoss, a native of

Rush County, this State, born July 21, 1849, and daughter of

Jacob Hilligoss, who also was a native of Rush County. Mr. and
Mrs. Ensminger continued to reside upon a farm in Van Buren

Township for six years after their marriage, and in 1879, they re-

moved to Brandywine Township, and settled upon a farm in Sec-

tion 35, where the}' have ever since resided. They are the parents of

five children, Oscar, Nellie, Urban, and a son and daughter that

died in infancy unnamed. The son was the twin brother of Nellie,

and the daughter was the twin sister of Urban. Mr. Ensminger is

a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and a staunch Democrat in

politics. While a resident of Van Buren Township, he held the

office of Assessor one term. He was elected Trustee of Brandy-
w^ine Township in the spring of 1884, and was re-elected in the

spring of 1886. He owns a farm of eighty-three acres, nearly all

of which is in a good state of cultivation. He is an industrious

and successful farmer, a trustworthy official, and a first class citizen.

William A. Ewixg, an industrious young farmer of Brandy-
wane Township, was born in the township in which he resides,

February 16, 1848. He was the oldest of six children, three sons

and three daughters born to James A. and Sarah (Allen) Ewing,
both natives of Hamilton County, Ohio, the former of Dutch and
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Scotch-Irish descent, and the latter of Enghsh descent. His parents
were married in their native count}' in 1844, and shortly afterward

they came to this county and settled in Brandywine Township,
where the father died March 15, 1870, and where the mother still

resides. His brothers are: John C. and James R., both of whom
are living. His sisters are: Sarah J., Mary E. and Elizabeth E.,
all of whom are living. As yet, but one death has occurred in the

family, which is that of the father. The subject of this sketch was
reared upon his father's farm. He continued upon the old home
place until the time of his marriage, which occurred March 27,

1872, when Eliza Watts became his wife. She was also born in

Brando-wine Township, the date being September 17, 1850. She
was the daughter of Morgan and Elizabeth (Judd ) Watts, who
came to this count}- with their respective parents in an early day.

Immediately after the marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Ewing located upon
the farm they now occup}-, and which is a part of the one ujjon
which the former was born. The life occupation of Mr. Ewing has
been that of a farmer, and as such he has been reasonably success-

ful. He and wife are the parents of two children, both sons.

They are William F., born January 22, 1875, '^^^ Charles M., born

July 9, 1877. Mr. and Mrs. Ewing art; members of the Methodist
Protestant Church. Politically, Mr. Ewing is in favor of the prin-

ciples of the United Labor Party. He has served as Assessor of

his township, one term. He owns a small farm of about twenty-

eight acres, nearly all of which is in cultivation. He is an honest,

upright man, and a No. i citizen.

Anthony A. Fraker, of Brandwine Township, was born in

the City of Wilmington, Delaw'are, February 3, 1834. He was the

second of six children, four sons and two daughters, born to Anthony
and Hannah (Preston) Fraker, the former of whom was born in

Oberhoff, Switzerland, November 27, 1799, and emigrated to

America with his mother, in 1816. After an eventful voyage of

ninety days, they landed at New Castle, near Philadelphia, on New
Year's Day, 18 17. He remained with the man who paid his pas-

sage seven years, after which he spent two vears in Philadelphia.
He then spent one winter in New Orleans, after which he returned

to Wilmington, Delaware, and there w'as married to Hannah Pres-

ton. She died twelve years later, leaving to his care four small

children. With these he emigrated to Indiana, and settled in

Brown County. He afterward moved to Johnson County, five

miles north of Franklin, where he was married to Sarah Anderson.
He moved to Shelby County in 1S65, where he has ever since

resided except three years during which he was a resident of Edin-

burg, where his second wife died. He now makes his home with the
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subject of this sketch, and though in the eighty-eighth year of his age
he is enjoying good health and still works at the trade of a carpet
weaver, which has been the chief vocation of his life. The
paternal grandparents of our subject were: Joseph and Anna

(Taylor) Fraker. His maternal grandparents were, Isaac

and Sarah (Cartwell) Preston, the former a native of Ireland,
and the latter a native of Delaware. His three brothers were

Joseph, Isaac and Daniel, the last two of whom are de-

ceased. His two sisters were Sarah and Mary, the former
of whom is deceased. His mother was born in Penns3^1vania. He
was about fifteen years old when his father came to this State and
settled in Brown County. About three years later they removed
to Johnson County. There our subject was married to Melissa

Bishop, October 6, 1859. ^^^ '^^'^^ born in Brandywine Township,
this county, June 5, 1839, '^"^ ^'^'^^ ^^^ daughter of Isaac and

Weighty (Tilson) Bishop, both natives of Virginia. Her paternal

grandparents were: John B. and Rhoda Bishop. Her maternal

grandparents \Aere: Thomas and Eunice Tilson. She had six broth-

ers and four sisters, as follows : Ransom, Mary A., Marcy, Stephen,
Rhoda, John B., Eunice E., David, Wilham H., and Lewis C, of

whom. Ransom, Mary A., Rhoda, Eunice E., and David, are de-

ceased. Immediately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Fraker
located in Brandywine Township, in which they have ever since re-

sided. Since his marriage, Mr. Fraker has given his entire atten-

tion to farming, in which pursuit he has had good success. He and
wife are the parents of five children : Florence A., born Jan-
uary 6, 1861; Lillie B., born April 6, 1863, died April 26, 1866;

Maggie M., born December 29, 1866, died December 18, 1870;
Minnie I., born February 19, 1874, ^^^ Clarence T., born July 26,
1 87 7. Mr. and Mrs. Fraker are members of the Baptist Church.
In politics the former is an ardent Republican. He owns a hand-
some little farm of tifty-one acres, nearly all of which is under cul-

tivation. He is an industrious farmer, and he and wife are among
the worthy and esteemed citizens of the township.

Philip Gephart, an old and honored citizen of Brandywine

Township, is a native of Montgomery County, Ohio, born October

3, 1829. He was the sixth of eleven children— seven sons and
four daughters— born to John and JuHa x\nn Gephart, both natives

of Lancaster County, Pa., of German descent. He spent his boy-
hood upon a farm in his native county. At fifteen years of age he

began to learn the trade of a shoemaker. This was finished in

due time and received his attention for six, years. December 27,

185 1, he was married in his native county to Judith A. Pomeroy, a

native of Henry County, Va., born April 8, 1832, and daughter of
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Thomas and Judith (Fifer) Pomeroy, the former a native Connec-

ticut, and the latter a native of "V'irginia, of French and English
descent, respective!}'. For seven years after their marriage, Mr.
and Mrs. Gephart resided upon a farm in Montgomer}- County,
Ohio. In 185S, they came to this county and located upon the

farm they now occupy near Fairland. Thev are the parents of

five children, as follows: Florence, born February 8, 1853, died

August 17, 1853; Agnes J., born March 18, 1854, died July 29,

1854; Julia"^Ann, born February 20, 1855; Charles T., born June
21, 1857, and George H., born August 22, 1859. Mr. and Mrs.

Gephart are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In

politics the former is a staunch Democrat. He is the owner of

200 acres of excellent land, about three-fourths of which is in

a high state of cultivation. He is an industrious and successful

farmer, and he and wife are worthv and esteemed citizens.

William Goodwin, a prominent farmer and honored citizen of

Brand3'wine Township, was born in Hendricks Township, this

county, July 31, 1829. He was the eldest of nine children, three

sons and six daughters, born to James and Patsy (Landingham)
Goodwin, the former a native of Butler County, Ohio, of English
and Irish descent, and the latter a native of North Carolina, of

English descent. His father, James Goodwin, came to this county
with his father, mother and one sister, in 1822, and settled in Hen-
dricks Township. His paternal grandparents were John and Mar-
tha Goodwin. His two brothers are John and Martin, both of

w^hom are living. His six sisters were: Elizabeth, Amanda, Eliza,

Mary, Maria and Celia, all of whom are deceased, except Maria,
who is the wife of Lewis Ray, of Shelbv Township. 'I'he sub-

ject of this sketch was reared upon his father's farm, and at

twelve years of age he accompanied his parents to Addison

Township, where he continued with them until his marriage,
which occurred December 21, 1854. His wife was Sarah, daughter
of Zebedee and Martha (Pierce) Ray, both natives of North Car-
oHna. Mrs. Goodwin was born in Addison Township, this county,

January 19, 1839. ^^^ ^^^ seven brothers as follows: Reuben,
William, Simeon, Alfred, Hudson, Martin M. and Edward, all of

whom are living except Reuben. She had three sisters: Jincey,
Elizabeth and Eliza, of whom Elizabeth onlv is living. The pater-
nal grandparents of Mrs. Goodwin were Hudson and Margaret
(Byerly) Ray, both natives of North Carolina. Her maternal

grandparents were John and Clarissa Pierce, both of whom were
also natives of North Carolina. Immediateh- after their marriage
Mr. and Mrs. Goodwin located upon a farm in Hendricks Town-
ship. Two years later they removed to Brandjwine Township,



BRANDYWINE SKETCHES. 615

where thev have ever since resided. The hfe occupation of Mr.

Goodwin has been that of a farmer, and as such he has been very
successfuh He and wife are the parents of six children, as follows:

James A., born March 23, 1856; Alice A., born i\pril 26, 185S,
died December 15, 1875; Maggie A., born March 28, 1861;
Louie A., born May 3, 1866; Ora E., born May 19, 1876, and

Carrie C, born February 20, 1876. Mr. and Mrs. Goodwin are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. The former is a

member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and a Democrat in politics. He
was elected Trustee of Brandywine Township in 1867, and served

one year. In 1870, he was again elected, and was re-elected in

1872, and again in 1874, and in 1876. In 1882, he was again re-

elected, and served two years. In all he served his township in

that capacity eleven years. He made a reliable and trustworthy
ofKcial, and discharged his duties to the entire satisfaction of his

constituents, evidence of which they gave by prolonging his term

of otiice. Mr. Goodwin is an enterprising, industrious and success-

ful farmer, and he and wife are among the worthy and esteemed

citizens of the county.

John Goodwin, a native born citizen of this county and at pres-
ent a prominent citizen of Fairland, was born in Hendricks Town-

ship, November 10, 1831. He was the second of nine children,

three sons and six daughters, born to James and Patsy (Landing-

ham) Goodwin, the former of whom came to this county with his

parents, John and Martha Goodwin, in 1822. The mother of our

subject was born in North Carolina. When the latter was about

ten years old his parents removed to Addison Township, where his

youth was spent assisting to clear and cultivate a farm. As soon

as he became of age he took up the vocation of a farmer himself,

and continued to devote his entire attention to that pursuit, until

1883, when he retired and moved his family to Shelby ville. On
the 26th day of March, 1885, he removed to the town of Fairland,

where he has since resided. For the past year he has acted as

salesman in the general store of J. W. Parkhurst. In connection

with that he also performs the duties of Assistant Post Master.

He was married December 31, 185 1, to Margaret Ray, a native of

Addison Township, this county, born November 8, 1832, and

daughter of Barnabus and Lydia (Truitt) Ray, both natives of

North Carohna. Mr. and Mrs. Goodwin are members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church. The former is a member of Shelby

Lodge F. & A. M., No. 28; Shelby Chapter No.- 20; Shelby
Council No. 3, and of the Baldwin Commandry No. 2. Pohtically
he is a Democrat. He is a reliable and influential man and he and

wife are worthy and esteemed citizens.
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James S. Gray, a prominent farmer and influential citizen of

Brandvwine Township, was born in Preble Count}', Ohio, Januar}-

20, 182 1. He was the fourth of six children, three sons and three

daughters, born to Robert and Margaret (Sheaffer) Gray, the former

a native of Chester County, Pa., of Irish and German descent, and the

latter a native of Lancaster County, Pa., of German descent. His

two brothers were both named Williani, the older one having died

before the younger one was born. The younger one died at the

age of sixteen. His sisters were Elizabeth, Sarah Ann and Mary
Ann, of whom Marv Ann is deceased. His paternal grandfather
was James Grav, who was born in Ireland and emigrated with his

parents to America when he was eighteen years old. The great
French General, Marquis de La Fa3-ette, crossed over to America

with the same fleet, and assisted the Colonies to secure their indepen-
dence. On reaching this country his grandfather espoused the Col-

onial cause and served during the entire Revolutionary War. The
maternal grandparents of iNIr. Gray were Peter and Catharine

Sheaffer, both natives of Pennsylvania, the former having been

born in 1757, and also served as a Colonial soldier throughout the en-

tire Revolutionary War. His wife, Catharine Sheaffer, was born in

1 761. They were the parents of ten children, only one of whom, Mrs.

MonieBog'gs,of Wayne County, this State, is sdll living. She was

born in Lancaster County, Pa., December 22, 1783, and is therefore

now in the one hundred and fourth year of her age. The subject of this

sketch spent his boyhood and earl}- youth in his native count}', working

upon a farm. At the early age of eighteen, or in 1839, he accompanied
his parents to St. Clair County, Ills. The country was new and the

deer and other kinds of game were plenty. Amid a great deal of

work devolving upon James, he found time to shoulder his gun and

join in the chase and hunt— a thing he frequently did. He enjoys
the credit of killing more than 800 deer during his twelve

years of residence in that county. -In 1849, ^^ came to Shelby,
and here on the 9th day of September he was married to Eliza

Vanpelt, a native of Liberty Township, this count}', born Septem-
ber 10, 1 83 1. She was the fourth of ten children— five sons and

five daughters
— born to Aaron and Margaret (Robertson) Vanpelt,

the former a native of New Jersey, of Dutch descent, and the lat-

ter a native of Warren County, Ohio, of EngHsh descent. Imme-

diately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Gray went out to St.

Clair County, Ills., where they resided upon a farm five years. In

1854, they returned to this countv and located near Waldron,
Liberty Township. They removed to Brandywine Township and

settled where thev now live in 1867. The life occupation of Mr.

Grav has been that of a farmer, and as such he has been very sue-
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cessful. He and wife are the parents of seven children, as follows:

Marv E., born January 30, 1851, died October 1 1, 1S52 ;
William R.,

born October 27, 1852; John M., born February 10, 1855; Mar-

garet A., born March 22, 1857; Laura E., born May 27, 1S60;
Rosa Mav, born July 27, 1862, and Cassius E., born December 20,

1864. Mr. and Mrs. Gray are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. In politics the former is an ardent Republican. He has

a (jood farm of eighty acres, nearly all of which is in a fjood state

of cultivation.

WiLLiAxM Hankins, an old and honored pioneer of Shelby
County, and one of the prominent farmers of Brandyvvine
Township, was born in Franklin Count}^, this State, Januar}^ 14,
182 1. He was the second child and only son of a famil}- of three

children, born to Robert and Sarah (Curry) Hankins, the former,
a native of East Tennessee, of French descent, and the latter a na-

tive of Virginia. When the subject of this sketch was yet a young
child, but six weeks old, his parents removed to this county and lo-

cated upon a tract of wood land about one mile north of Shelbvville,
in Addison Township. A year later, they removed to Brandywine
Township, where William spent his early life, assisting to clear and
cultivate the farm. x\t the age of twenty-two, or November 21,

1843, he was married to Huldah G. Salla, who was born in Rush
County, this State, February 15, 1823. She was the daughter of

Lewis and Julia Ann (Gordon) Salla, the former a native of Ver-

mont, and the latter a native of Virginia. Immediately after their

marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Hankins located upon the farm they now
occup}', in Section 12, Brandywine Township, where they have
ever since continued to reside. It has now been more than forty-
three 3-ears since they moved into the little log cabin in a wilder-

ness that has many years since, been replaced with a fine residence

and a beautiful and well tilled farm. The life occupation of Mr.
Hankins has been that of a farmer, and as such he has been very
successful. He and wife are the parents of eight children, as fol-

lows: Sarah, born March 4, 1847; Lewas C, born October 13,

1851; Alice, born August 20, 1854, died September 7, 1877;

Julia Ann, born August 28, 1856, died August 8, 1885; Dolly and

Molly (twins)^ born October 22, i860, the former died July 3,

1884, and the latter died January 31, 1861; Mettie, born December

15, 1862, and Katie, born August 26, 1865. Mr. and Mrs. Han-
kins are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. The for-

mer is a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and an ardent Repub-
lican in politics. He owns a fine farm of 200 acres, about 160 of

which is in a high state of cultivation. His farm is fitted up with

a handsome frame residence, which, with other substantial im-

23



6l8 SHELBY COUNTY.

provements, makes one of the most desirable locations in the

county. He is a reliable and influential man, and he and wife are

among the worthy and esteemed citizens of the county.
Lewis C. Hankins, an enterprising and successful 3'oung

farmer of Brandywine Township, was born in the township in

which he resides, October 13th, 1S51. He was the second child

and only son in a family of eight children born to William and Hiil-

dah G. (Salla) Hankins, a history of whom appears above. He
w^as reared upon the farm and continued with his parents until his

marriage, which occurred February 12, 1880, when Nanc}^ M.

Wright became his wife. She was born in Addison Township,
this county, September 22, 1859, '^"^ "^^^ ^^^ youngest of seven

children born to Matthias and Amanda (Young) Wright, a biography
of whom appears elsewhere in this work. Immediatel}' after their

marriage Mr. and Mrs. Hankins located upon a farm in Sections 13
and 14, Brandywine Township, where they have ever since resided.

They are the parents of three children: Julia A. G., born Febru-

ary 5, 1881, William, born November 13, 1882, and Matthias

W., born March 9, 1886, all of whom are living. Mr. Hankins
is a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge and an ardent Republican in

politics. He owns a fine farm of 120 acres, about ninety
of which is in an excellent state of cultivation. His farm is

fitted up with a handsome slate-roofed frame residence, which with

a good barn and other substantial improvements, makes one of the

most attractive and desirable places in Shelby County. He is an

industrious and successful farmer.

Zachariah Hulsopple, a prominent citizen of Brandywine
Township, was born in Herkimer County, N. Y., May 23, 1830.
He was the third of eight children, four sons and four daughters,
born to Zachariah and Betsey (Curtiss) Hulsopple, the former of

whom was born in the State of New York July 3, 1806, and died

in this county September 24, 1884. His mother died in Herkimer

County, N. Y., June 28, 1837. His three brothers were : George W.,
born February 28, 1829, died March 7, 1882; Henry, born Decem-
ber II, 1831, died May 8, 1861, and Curtiss, born June 25, 1837,
died February i, 1866. His four sisters were: Maria, born Feb-

ruary 4, 1827, died May i, 1858; Catharine, born August i, 1833,
died in 1864; Betsey, born October 19, 1834, died October 23,

1834, and Ehzabeth, born September 6, 1835, died May 14, 1838.
As will be observed by this record, the subject of this sketch is the

only member of the family now living. He was reared upon a

farm in his native county.' His mother died when he was seven

3'ears old, after which he was taken in charge by John Hadley, a

farmer and dairyman of Herkimer County, with whom he re-
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mained until he was twenty-one years of age. Following this, he
worked upon a farm by the month one 3^ear. By this time he had
made up his mind to join the throng that was then flocking to Cal-

ifornia, but owing to a financial disappointment he was compelled
to abandon that notion, and in the fall of 1852, he went 10 Tren-

ton, N. J., whither he had been recommended to a position as an

overseer in the State Insane Asylum of that place. He reached
his destination on the 29th day of September, and immediately en-

tered upon the discharge of his duties. He continued in that

capacity for about three years and three months, or until

January 7, 1856. He immediately started for Shelbyville, this

county, where he arrived four days later, or on January ii,

1856. Here he formed a partnership with his brother-in-law, Arm-
herst Harwood, in the dairy business, which they conducted in Ad-
dison Township during one summer. December 24, 1856, he was
married to Milissa Snyder, a native of Brandywine Township, this

count}', born October 13, 1834. She was the eldest of four child-

ren, two sons and two daughters, born to Albert and Betsey Eliza-

beth (Landingham) Snyder, natives of Ohio and Kentuck}-, respec-
tivelv. The two brothers of Mrs. Hulsopple are JohnW., born April
26, 1846, and Warren W., born August 18, 1848. Her sister is

Sarah E., born October 18, 1842, now Mrs. Springer, of Addison

Township. Immediately after their marriage Mr. and Mrs. Huls-

opple located upon a farm in Addison Township, in which they
continued to reside until December 3, 1873, when they removed to

Brandywine Township, and located where they now live. They
have had two children— a daughter born December 17, 1857,
died in infanc}', unnamed, and Flora C, born March 23, 1859, ^^lar-

ried to Levi V. Mann, August 21, 1879, ^J whom she has had
three children, a daughter, born June 3, 1881, died in infancy, un-

named; Harry L., born August 22, 1883, and Albert Z., born

April 8, 1887. Mr. and Mrs. Hulsopple are faithful members of

the Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics the former is a Demo-
crat. He owns sixty-two acres of first class land, nearly all of

which is in a good state of cultivation. He is an intelligent man,
an industrious and successful farmer, and he and wife are worthy
and esteemed citizens.

Martin Jones, an industrious farmer of Brandywine Town-
ship, was born in Fleming County, Ky., March 4, 1847. He was
the sixth of eleven children born to John F. and Lucinda (M3^ers)
Jones, with whom he went to Brown County, Ohio, when he was
about three years old. There his boyhood was spent upon a farm.

At the age of seventeen, or in August, 1864, he entered Company
D, One Hundred and Seventy-fifth Ohio Volunteer Infantrj^, with
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which he served until the close of the war. On returning from the

war he took up farming in Brown County, Ohio; but a year later

he came to this county, a resident of which he has been ever since.

Here he first found employment upon a farm by the month and

thus continued until his marriage, which occurred March 6, 1870,
when Elizabeth L. Boles became his wife. She was born in Brown

County, Ohio, March 17, 1850, and daughter of David and Mary J.

(Dickson) Boles. Immediately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs.

Jones located upon a farm in Brandywine Township. In 1880, they
removed to Hendricks Township, and in 1881, to Addison Town-

ship. They returned to Brandywine. Township, and settled where
they now live in the spring of 1884. They have two children:

Elnora, born September i, 1870, and Audra M., born June i, 1879.
Mr. and Mrs. Jones are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. In politics the former is a Republican. He owns a farm

of eighty acres, about sixty-five of which are in cultivation. He is

a successful farmer and a first-class citizen.

JoHX E. Montgomery, a prominent young farmer and stock-

raiser of Brandywine Township, was born in Addison Township,
this county, December 15, 1853. He was the ninth of thirteen

children, five sons and eight daughters, born to Joseph and Eliza-

beth (Steers) Montgomery, both natives of Scott County, Ken-
tucky. The former was born July 4, 181 2, and was the son of

William Montfromery, with whom he came to this county when he
was about twelve years of ajje. His death occurred in Brandvwine

Township, January 28, 187S. The latter was born in about the

year 18 19, and was the daughter of William Steers, a native of

Kentucky, with whom she came to this county in childhood. She
died in Brandy\vine Township, November 26, 1868. The four

brothers of our subject, were William W., Alfred, James M. and

Columbus, of whom Alfred and Columbus are deceased. His eight
sisters were Frances J., Tabitha, Emeline, Susan, Isabel, Eliza,

Mary and Lizzie, all of whom are living, except Emeline nnd Liz-

zie who died, the former at the age of twenty-five and the latter at

old, his parents removed to Brandvwine Township, and located up-
the age of five. When he was 3-et a child, less than a year
on the farm, upon which they lived during the rest of their lives,

and the one upon which our subject now resides. The latter was
reared upon the farm and at about twenty years of age he took up
the vocation of a farmer for himself. His entire attention has

been given to that pursuit in which he has been fairly successful.

He was married Ma}- 20, 1880, to Laura Campbell, who
was born in Hendricks Township, this county, December

13, 1 861. She was the eldest of five children, two sons
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and three daughters, born to John W. and Mary E. (Riley)
Campbell, the former a native of Ohio, and the latter a native of

this State of Irish descent. Her paternal grandfather was David

Campbell, a native of Ohio. Her maternal grandparents were
William and Margaret (Kennedy) Riley, the former a native of

Ireland, and the latter a native of Pennsylvania. Her two brothers

were Franklin, born October 13, 1863, died February 11, 1867,
and William A., born October 29, 1871. Her two sisters were

Ida, born August i8, 1865, and Electa, born May 29, 1868,
both of whom are living. Immediately after their marriage Mr.
and Mrs. Montgomery located where they now reside. They are

the parents of three children : The first was a daughter, born June
18, 1 88 1, died in infancy unnamed. The others are Ethel, born

May 18, 1883, and J. Walter, April 23,1887. Mr. and Mrs.

Montgomery are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.
In politics the former is an ardent Republican. He owns 113 acres

of tine land, about 100 of which are in a high state of cul-

tivation. His farm is fitted up with a handsome residence which,
with a good barn and other substantial improvements, makes a very
desirable location.

Obadiah Nail, a pioneer of Shelby County, and an old resi-

dent of Brandywine Township, was born in Roann Co., N. C,
September 22, 1818. He was next to the youngest of thirteen

children, born to Henr}^ and Mary (Keller) Nail, both natives of

Pennsylvania, of German descent. His brothers and sisters in the

order of their ages were: John, Doretha, Katie, Daniel, Samuel,

Lydia, Henry^ Martha, Emily, Greenberrv, and two others that died

in infancy. In 1824, while the subject of this sketch was yet a

young child, he came with his parents to Shelby County, where he

grew up to manhood and where he has almost ever since resided.

He w^as reared upon the farm and at the age of nineteen, on March
28, 1838, he was married to Jane Allison, who w^as born in Frank-
lin County, this State, May 11, 1819. She was the daughter of

Timothy and Nancy (Walker) Allison, the former a native of

Ohio, of German descent, and the latter a native of Georgia,
of English descent. Her paternal grandparents were John and
Sarah Allison. Mrs. Nail was the eldest of fourteen children as

follows: Jane, Martha M., Sarah W., La Fayette, EHza Ann,

George W., Eunice, Thomas, EHzabeth, Elbert, John, Isabel, James
and Ellen, of whom Eliza Ann, George W., Eunice, Elizabeth,
Elbert and James, are deceased. After their marriage Mr. and
Mrs. Nail continued to reside upon the former's old home place in

Brandywine Township for about ten 3-ears. They then removed
to another farm in that township, but in May, 1851, they went to
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the State of Illinois, but in the following November they returned

to this county and again settled in Brandywine Township, in which

they have ever since resided. They located where they now re-

side in March, 1S78. They are the parents of seven children as

follows: Mary E., born December 10, 1841, died October 15, 1841;
Lottie, born October 30, 1843; Martha A., born November 15,

1845; WilHam H., born March 25, 1849; Nancy E., born March

14, 1851; Warren, born March 26, 1855, and James A., born June
22, 1858. Mrs. Nail is a member of the Protestant Methodist

Church. In politics, Mr. Nail is a staunch Democrat. He and

wife have a comfortable home where they reside in a quiet, happy
way.

James Parker, one of the prominent farmers of Brandywine
Township, was born in Hendricks Township, this count}-, February
19, 1841. He was the second of seven children, four sons and

three daughters, born to Squire G. and Merrib (Updegraff) Parker,
the former a native of Kentucky, of Irish descent, and the latter a

native of Pennsylvania, or(Se-iiia/i descent:
''
His paternal grand-

father was James Parker. The parents of his mother were Mar-
tin and Rebecca Updegraff. His three brothers were: William,

Washington and Martin D., of whom Washington is deceased, hav-

ing been killed in the army. His three sisters were: Sarah J.,

Elizabeth, and Frances A., of whom Sarah J. is deceased. He
was reared upon his father's farm in his native township, and on

the 31st day of December, 1863, he was married to Maria Clark,
who was born in Dearborn County, this State, October 27, 1842,
and was the daughter of James M. and Mary (Mason) Clark, the

former a native of Newport, R. I., born August 2, 1809, and the

latter a native of England, born about 1814, both of English de-

scent. Her paternal grandparents were George W^. and Desire

Clark. Hei mother's .parents were Robert and Elizabeth Mason,
with whom she came to America when she was three years old.

Mrs. Parker had six brothers and three sisters, whose names, in

the order of their ages, are as follows: John M., George W., Ann
EHzabeth, Robert M., Wilham, Charles H., Clara L., Edward J.,

and Mary J., all of whom are living except Mary J., who died at

the age of fifteen. For two years after their marriage Mr. and
Mrs. Parker resided upon a farm in Hendricks Township. They
then removed to Brandywine Township, and two 3'ears later they
became residents of Addison Township. They returned to Bran-

dywine Township in September, 1883, and located upon the farm

they now occupy. The life occupation of Mr. Parker has been
that of a farmer and as such he has been very successful. Pie and

wife are the parents of five children; They are: Mar}^ J., born
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July 4, 1S65; Cora L., born January 4, 1868; Charles F., born

June II, 1S70; Roy J., born July 2, 1877, and Merrib, born No-
vember 13, 1882. These children are all living, and strange to

say, none of them has ever needed the service of a ph3^sician. The
oldest daughter, Mary J., was married March i6, 1887, to Henry
Bass, a native of Brandywine Township, born November 16, 1855.
Mr. and Mrs. Parker are members of the Christian Church. In

politics the former is a Republican. He owns a handsome farm
where he lives,, of 180 acres, nearly all of which is in a high state

of cultivation. His farm is fitted up with a good residence, which,
with other substantial improvements, makes a very desirable loca-

tion. Besides this he owns a good farm of eighty acres in Addison

Township. He is an enterprising, industrious and successful far-

mer and a first-class citizen.

Nathaniel Poland, a promment farmer of Brandywine
Township, was born in Clermont County, Ohio, Januar}- 18, 1825.
He was the fourth of eight children— four sons and four daugh-
ters— born to Nathaniel and Eleanor (McChesney) Poland, the

former a native of Essex County, Mass., of Irish descent, and the

latter a native of Monmouth County, N. J., of Scotch descent. He
was reared upon a farm in his native county, and at the age of

twenty-one he began to learn the cooper's trade. This was finished

in due time, and for several years he worked as a journeyman
cooper in the States of Ohio, Illinois and Indiana. In March, 1853,
he came to Shelby County and located in the woods of Van Buren

Township. There he immediately set about clearing up a farm,
and he also erected a cooper shop which he conducted in con-

nection with farming until in the spring of 1865, when he removed
to Brandywine Township and located upon the farm he now
occupies. There he also erected a cooper shop which he con-

tinued to operate in connection with the management of a large
farm until 1885. His entire attention is now given to superintend-

ing his farm. His marriage to Elizabeth Bass occurred March 17,

1853. She was born in Marion Township, this county, June 27,

1827, and is the daughter of Henry and Judith (Fox) Bass, the

former a native of Randolph Count}', N. C, of English descent

and the latter a native of Bunkam County, N. C, of Dutch
descent.* Mr. and Mrs. Poland are the parents of seven children,
as follows: John H., born December 23, 1853; WiUiam, born

March 8, 1856; Albert, born January 5, 1859; Mary E., born

August 9, 1861; Charles, born April 28, 1864; Juda, born No-
vember 24, 1867, died February 9, 1874; Amanda Belle, born

August 12, 1871. Mr. and Mrs. Poland are members of the Chris-

tian Church. The former is a member of the I. O. O.. F. Lodge,
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and a Republican in politics. He owns a handsome farm of 225
acres, about iSo of which are in a fine state of cultivation. His farm

is fitted up with a handsome brick residence, erected at a cost of

$9,000, which, with other substantial improvements, makes one of

the most desirable locations in the county. He is a reliable and
influential man, and he and wife are among the worthy and
esteemed citizens of the count}'.

Solomon Stew'Ard was born upon the farm he now occupies,

May 9, 1832. He was the tenth of thirteen children, eleven sons

and two daughters, born to John and Christena (Pate) Steward,
the former a native of Penns^-lvania, of German descent, and the

latter a native of Virginia, of English descent. His parents were

among the earliest im^migrants to this county, having come proba-

bly as earlv as 1S15. They settled upon the farm where our sub-

ject now lives, the father having entered the land from the

crovernment. That was one among; the first settlements made ino ...
Brandvwine Township. The subject of this sketch was reared-

upon the farm, and at the age of twenty-one he took up the voca-

tion of a farmer for himself. In the meantime his marriage to

L-A'dia H. Reed occurred on the ist day of July, 1S52. She was
born in Sussex Countv, N. J., and was the daughter of William

and. Betsey (Hart) Reed, natives of New Jersey, but who emi-

grated to Henry County, this State, in an early day. For two years
after their marriage Mr. and Mrs. Steward resided upon the farm

they now occupy. In the fall of 1854, thev moved to Clark

County, Ills., but three vears later they returned to this county and
first settled in Brandvwine Township. About two years later they
removed to Moral Township, and later returned to Brandywine
Township. After residing upon other places, they, in 1867, re-

turned to the old home place where the}' have ever since resided.

The life occupation of Mr. Steward has been that of a farmer, and
as such he has been reasonably successful. He and wife are the

parents of thirteen children, ten daughters and three sons, named
as follows: Nathaniel R., Nancy E., Louisa A., Emma C, Will-

iam S., Rachel, Martha L., Doreathy, Magnola, Mary, MiUia, Riley
and a daughter that died in infancv, unnamed. Of those named
Nathaniel R. and William S. are also deceased. Mr. and Mrs.
Steward are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In

politics the former is a staunch Democrat. He owns seventy acres

of good land, nearly all of which are in an excellent state of cultiva-

tion.

WiLLL\M P. Steuart, a prominent citizen of Fairland, was
born in Johnson Countv, in this State, Mav 24, 1839. He was the

eldest of nine children born to James R. and Mary (^Pierce) Steu-
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art, both natives of Wythe Count}-, Va. He was reared upon a

farm in his native countrv, and at about twenty-three years of a_o-e,

he took up the avocation of a farmer for himself. He continued in

that pursuit in Johnson County until in 1865, and for about three

3'ears thereafter he was engaged in the buggy trade and deahng
in horses, in Franklin and Greenwood, of Johnson County. He then

engaged in mercantile pursuits, in Whiteland, and thus continued

about six years. In 1874, he engaged in saw milling, in Johnson
Countv, to which his entire attention has been directed ever since.

He came to Shelby County in x\pril, 1878, and located at Fairland,

where he has ever since conducted a saw mill. He was married,
December 25, 1876, to Mary F. Browning, who was born in the

State of Missouri, September 29, 1846. She was the daughter of

Charles and Elizabeth (Webb) Browning, both of English
descent. To them, tv/o children have been born: Stella May, born

April 7, 1879, ''^"cl William O., born March 5, 1883. Mr. and Mrs.

Steuart, are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. The
former is a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and a Democrat in

politics. He is an influential and enterprising man, whose por-
trait appears elsewhere.

Dr. James K. SteuArt, a prominent ph3'sician of Fairland, is

a native of Johnson County, this State, born August 24, 1849. He
was the fifth of eifrht children— three sons and five daughters—...
born to James R. and Mary (Pierce) Steuart, with whom his boy-
hood was spent upon a farm. At thirteen years of age, he entered

an academv at Greenwood, where he remained two years; after

which he spent the same length of time in an academy at Hopewell.
He then took up the avocation of a teacher, in order to secure

means with which to enter college. He taught public school and

attended Franklin College, alternately, for four years by which
time he had completed the sophomore 3'ear. On leaving college
he began the study of medicine, in Frankhn, with Dr. P. W. Payne,
under whose instruction he remained two years. In October, 1867,
he entered the Medical University, of Louisville, where he at-

tended one course of lectures. He then returned to Franklin and

resumed his studies with Dr. Payne. A A^ear later he received the

appointment of Principal Teacher in the Asylum for the Blind, at

Indianapohs, which position he filled with credit two years. He
howe^•er, did not fail, during that time, to avail himself of every

opportunity presented, wherebv he might obtain instruction that he

could utilize in the profession he was soon to enter. A good por-
tion of his leisure time was spent attending medical schools, and

taking practical lessons in the hospital. He then returned once

more to Franklin, and after spending a few months with his old pre-
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ceptor, he in March, 1S73, came to this county, and located at Fair-

land, where he has ever since been actively and successfullv en-

gaged in the practice of his profession. His first marriage oc-

cm-ed March 26, 1874, when Miss Josephine P. Thomas became
his wife. She was a native of Hancock County, this State, and was
the daughter of Capt. T. W. and Zuelda A. Thomas, both of

whom were natives of Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Steuart continued to

live happily together until their union was broken by the death of

the latter, August 3, 18S1. On the 8th day of May, 1884, the

marriage of Dr. Steuart and Miss Jennie A Wharton, was solein-

nized. She was born in Fairland, February 27, 1852, and was the

daughter of John and Virginia (Odell) Wharton, natives of Ken-

tuck}', and North Carolina, respectively. Dr. Steuart is the father

of one son, Arthur T., who was born to his first wife, August 25,

1877. In November, 1882, the Doctor entered the Ohio Medical

College, of Cincinnati, where he graduated in the spring of 1883.
He is a member of the Presbyterian Church, the F. & A. M.

Lodge, and in politics he is a Democrat. Though 3'oung in his

profession he is a very successful practitioner, and he already ranks

among the leading physicians of Shelby County. For the last four

years he has been employed by the C, I., St. L. & C. Ry., as

one of the surgeons of the road, the duties of which position he dis-

charges in connection with his regular practice.

John J. Totten, a prominent young farmer and stock-dealer

of Brandywine Township, was born in Van Buren Township, this

county, November 16, 1853. He was the eldest of thirteen child-

ren, seven sons and six daughters, born to William S. and Mar}- J.

(Andus) Totten, the former of whom was born in Virginia, and

accompanied his parents to this county when he was yet a child less

than one year old. The latter was born in this county. Hi&

parents now reside in Brandywine Township. He was reared

upon his father's farm in this county and at the age of ten he

accompanied his parents to a farm in Brandywine Township. He
attended the common schools in which he received the necessary
instruction for a good practical education. He continued with his

parents until he reached the age of twenty-three, when on the

4th day of Febrviary, 1877, he was married to Mary M. Oldham,
who was born in Brandywine Township, this county, No^'ember

I, 1857, and daughter of Joseph and Matilda (Harrell) Oldham,
old residents of this country. Immediately after their marriage
Mr. and Mrs. Totten, located in Fairland, but a year later they
removed to their present home one-half mile south of that place,
where they have ever since resided, excepting a temporar}' residence

of six months in Shelbyville. Since his marriage the entire atten-
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tion of Mr. Totten has been given to the buying, feeding and sell-

iniT of Hve-stock, in which business he has been verv successful.

During a period of ten years his business in this direction has grad-
ually increased until it has reached an aggregate of over $50,000
worth of stock bought and sold annually. Our subject and his wife

are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics the

former is a staunch Democrat. He ow^ns a handsome farm of

120 acres, nearl}- all of which is in an excellent state of cultivation.

His farm is titted up with good fences and buildings and is a very-
desirable location. He also superintends the management of his

farm in connection with his live-stock interests. He is a shrewd,

pushing and energetic young business man, and he and wife are

first class citizens. Mr. Totten began life without a dollar, but

through industry, economy and good business tact, he has, though
young, already accumulated considerable property and is now

recognized as one of the substantial citizens of the county.
Isaac D. Tull, a prominent farmer of Brandywine Township,

and an ex-Treasurer of Shelb\' County, was born in Bracken

County, Ky., February 11, 1832. He was the tifth in a family of

ten children, eight sons and two daughters, born to Joseph and
Hester A. (Pilchard) Tull, both natives of Maryland, of English
descent. When he was yet a child but two years of age, his

parents came to Shelby County, and located upon a i6o

acre tract of wood land, which the father had entered in Sugar
Creek Township. There the boyhood and youth of our subject
were spent in assisting to clear and cultivate the farm. For some
two or three years after he reached the age of twent}^ he acted

in the capacity of stationary engineer in the States of Indiana and
Illinois. In 1854, ^^ engaged in mercantile pursuits in the village
of Fairland, this county, and thus continued about six years. A
period of three years, beginning with 1861, was spent in prospect-

ing. In 1864, he located upon a farm in Sugar Creek Tow^nship,
and continued to devote his attention to agricultural pursuits in that

township about six years. He purchased and located upon the

farm he now occupies in 1872. He was married in January, 1865,
to Miriam E. McFadden, a native of Sugar Creek Township, this

county, born March 20, 1844. She was the seventh of eleven

children, five sons and six daughters, born to Hugh and Rebecca

(Huff) McFadden, both natives of Ohio. Mr. and Mrs. Tull are

the parents of six children: Ella, born April 29, 1866, died January
8, 1873; Nora C., born Februar}- i, 1868; Fannie, born October

14, 1870; Albert, born April 5, 1874; Gibson, born October 26,

1879, died November 15, 1882, and Jessie, born August 3, 1883.
Mr. Tull is a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and a Republi-
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can. He was elected to the office of Justice of the Peace in 1874,
and served four years. In November, 1882, he was elected Treas-

urer of Shelby County, which reflects very creditably upon his

standing in the county, considering that he had an opposing ma-

joritv of over 800 to overcome. He was elected by a majority of 447-
When he was elected Justice of the Peace he overcame a majority
of about eighty. In the fall of 1886, he was the candidate of his

party for State Representative, but failed to overcome an opposing

majority. He is a reliable and influential man, and he and wife are

worth}- and honored citizens.

John W. Vanarsdall, a prominent farmer of Brandywine
Township, was born in Mercer County, Ky., March 10, 1848. He
was the eighth of ten children— hve sons and five daughters

—
born to John and Catharine Vanarsdall, both of whom were also

natives of Mercer County, Ky., of German descent. His paternal

grandfather was Stephen Vanarsdall. His four brothers were,,

Stephen, Abram B., Elijah and James, all of whom are living

except Abram, who died at the age of forty-one. His five sisters

were, Mary, C3'ntha, America, Eliza and Cora, of whom C3'ntha
and Eliza are deceased. When he was a lad eight 3''ears of age
he accompanied his parents to this State and located with them near

Franklin, Johnson Count}-, where he worked upon a farm until he
reached the age of sixteen, when he came to this county and
for a period of three and one-half years worked upon a farm by
the month. i\t the age of nineteen he took up the vocation of a

farmer for himself, in which pursuit he has ever since continued.

He began farming in Brandywine Township and there continued

until February, 1880, when he removed to a farm in Addison

Township. In February, 1884, he returned to Brandywine Town-

ship, and settled upon the farm he now occupies. His first mar-

riage occurred March i, 1877, when Maria B. Thayer became his

wife. She was born in Brandywine Township, this count}/,
March 31, 1857. She was the daughter of Sidney and Frances

(Bass) Thayer, both natives of this county, the birth of the former

occuring May 3, 1827, and of the latter June 21, 1832. Mrs. Maria
Vanarsdall died June 13, 1884, and October 30, 1885, Mr. Vanars-
dall was married to Annie J. Murphy, who was born in Hendricks

Township, this county, September, 4, 1853. She was the daughter
of Samuel and Emeline (Vaughn) Murphy, the former a native of

Pennsylvania, and the latter a native of Enj^land. The second wife

of our subject died within a year after their marriage
— the date

being October 4, 1886. His first marriage resulted in the birth of

one child, Sherman, born May 10, 1881, died when three weeks
old. His second marriage also resulted in the birth of one child,
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Orpha, born October 4, 1886, who is still living. Mr. Vanarsdall

is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and a Repviblican
in politics. He owns a fine farm, where he resides, of 280 acres,

about 240 of which are in an excellent state of cultivation. His farm
is fitted up with a handsome brick residence and a fine barn which,
with other substantial improvements, make it one of the most
desirable locations in the county. Besides this he is the owner of

two other good farms— one of 160 acres in Brandywine Township,
and one of eighty acres in Hendricks Township. He is an indus-

trious and successful farmer and is deservedly recognized as one of

the substantial and influential citizens of Shelby County.

HANOVER SKETCHES.

Abel Bennett, was born on the farm where he now resides,

November 7, 1830, and is the youngest of nine children, born to

Abel and Polly (Askcns) Bennett, both natives of Ohio, and who
removed from Butler County, that State, in 1829, and settled in

Shelby County. Here the mother of Mr. Bennett died in 1S39,
and his father in 1S51. The second wife of our subject's father

was Mrs. Christiana Keith, who is also deceased. The personage
here noticed was reared on a farm and received what was known
as a log school-house education. By occupation, he is a farmer,
and is now the owner of more than 200 acres of land. As a

"tiller of the soil" he is careful, industrious and prosperous. Mr.
Bennett was married August 28, 1851, to Miss Martha J. Bloom-

field, a native of Butler County, Ohio, born May 28, 1833. To
this marriage were born seven children, as follows: James R.,

Moses, Washington M., John R., Sarah E., Nancy E., and Harvey C.

Of these seven, four are deceased. Mrs. Bennett died July 5, 1881,
and in 1883, Mr. Bennett was united in marriage to Miss Margaret
A. Munden, who was born in Wavne Count}^, Ind., September 2,

1848, and is a daughter of Isaiah and Mable (Bedgooc^) Munden,
natives of North Carolina. Politically Mr. Bennett is an earnest

supporter of the Repubhcan party. He is a member of the

Protestant Methodist Church, having united with that denomina-

tion when twenty-three years of age. The life of our subject has

been one of continued hard labor, and his success is the result.

Marcus B. Chadwick, a native of Hamilton County, Ohio, was
born April 12^ 1820, son of Samuel R. and Jerusha (Hofling)
Chadwick, natives of New Jersey, and of English descent, who, in

1819, emigrated to Ohio, where they resided until their death.

Our subject received a good education, having attended the Miami
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University at Oxford, Ohio. He completed the regular course of

the Sophmore class of that institution, but failing health caused him
to cease his literary studies, and he returned to the home of his parents
and engaged in a general merchandise store with his father. Mr.
Chadwick was married April 12, 1842, to Miss Mary Ann Neff, a

native of Prebel County, Ohio, and whose death occurred March

19, 1843. After the death of his wife, Mr. Chadwick began the

study of law with Mr. Lewis D. Campbell, of Hamilton, Ohio. He
is a graduate of the Cincinnati Law School, and was admitted to

the bar in 1847. To this profession he gave his attention until

i860, and was reasonably successful. In 1849, ^^^ "^^'^^ elected by
the Whigs, to the Prosecutorship of Prebel County, Ohio. He»

represented his Congressional district in the Whig National Con-
vention at Baltimore, in June, 1852, which nominated General Win-
field Scott, for the presidency. November 11, 1847, he was united

in marriage to Mary E. Rossman, born October 22, 1821, by whom
he became the father of eight children, viz. : an infant son, unnamed

(deceased), Mary J. (deceased), Edward H., Charles C, Frank,

(deceased), Marcus M. (deceased), Horace M. and Albert R.
In May, 1864, Mr. Chadwick removed to Hanover Township,
Shelby County, and has since resided there. September 19, 1871,
the death of his second wife occurred. His third marriao-e w'as

solemnized September 4, 1876, to Mrs. Mariah L. Pottenger, a na-

tive of Delaware. To this marriage one child, Lurton, was born

June 21, 1877, and died September 5, 1886. Mr. Chadwick was
elected to the otiice of Trustee of Hanover Township, at the elec-

tions of 1872, 1874 and 1876, by the Republicans of that precinct.
Of this political organization, he has always been a staunch and ar-

dent supporter, since its emerging from the Whig, and was twice,
its candidate for the ofhce of Representative in the State Legislature,
in 1868 and 1884. He now owns a farm of ninety-two acres in Han-
over Township, which is in a good state of cultivation. Since his

residence in this county, Mr. Chadwick has been recognized as a

gentleman, of a leading disposition in enterprises tending to the pub-
lic good, and is now held in high esteem by his large circle of

friends.

Hiram B. Cole, a representative farmer of this part of In-

diana, w^as born in Shelby County, February 22, 1826, and is the

second son of Seth M. and Fannie (Warren) Cole, natives re-

spectively of Vermont and New Hampshire. The Cole family
came to Indiana as early as 1820, and first located at Connersville,
and in February, 182 1, moved to Shelb}^ County and settled in

Hanover Township. The father of Mr. Cole was born October

5, 179S, and died September 11, 1877, and the mother of Mr. Cole
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\vas bom October i6, 1796, and died April 14, 1S72. They were

members of the Christian Church, and commanded the respect of a

long line of acquaintances. The gentleman, whose name introduces

this biography, received such an education as could be obtained at

the early subscription schools of Shelby County. He was raised

on the farm and remained at home until about thirty years of age.

The life of Mr. Cole has been that of an active farmer and stock-

raiser. He now owns about six hundred acres of well improved
land. March 14, 1850, he was united in marriage to Miss Eliza-

beth Buck, who was born in Virginia April 11, 1825, and died

January 25, 1877. To this marriage were born these children:

Henry, Charles, Mary E., Fannie, Lincoln, Francis, Seth M., Jr.,

and William. On June 4, 1877, Mr. Cole was married to Mrs.

Mary E. Lowe, who is a native of Shelb}- County, and was born

Januarv 4, 1849. She is the daughter of James and Anna (Zeigler)
McDuffee, who were earlv settlers of this county, and are now de-

ceased. In politics, Mr. Cole is a firm friend and supporter of the

principles of the Republican party and was twice elected to the

otiice of Township Trustee of Hanover Township. He is a Mason
and member of Lodge No. 193, at Morristown. He and wife are

leading members of the Christian Church. i^^*5^
Alexander Cory, deceased, was born in June/1820, in Preble

County, Ohio. When he came to Shelby County he was only
seven vears of age. He was brought up at Freeport, by his uncle,

Alexander Rittenhouse, one of the best merchants ever in this sec-

tion. From his earliest boyhood, Alexander Cory was a business

man. Although his advantages of school education were very
small, he was a fine scholar, and in mathematics he was unex-

celled. At a period when young men usually are wasting their

time, he was already deeply involved in ambitious schemes of busi-

ness. In February, 1841, he was married to the daughter of a

venerable clergyman of the Methodist Church, the Rev. Samuel
Morrison. Loretta Morrison was born in Kingwood, Preston

Count}^ Va., November 30, 1823, and her father's family had

come to Shelby County in 1826. Their marriage proved to be a

very happy one; and the extraordinary personal beauty of both

the father and the mother are singularly reproduced in their seven

children: Mary (Mrs. Wadley), Anna (Mrs. Parker), Fanny
(Mrs. William S. Major), Frank, Henry, Laura and Loretta. The
business enterprises in which Mr. Cory was engaged are truly

surprising, both as to number and extent. An ordinary man's

mind would have given way or become confused with an amount
of occupation that to him seemed pleasurable. When onl}^ about

fifteen years of age he was in partnership with his uncle at Free-
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port, in a large and extensive mercantile business, and woolen, sa\Y

and grist mills. In 1847, they were active in the building of the

Knifjhtstown & Shelbvville Railroad, and Mr. Corv was one of its

directors. Upon his own responsibility and at his own expense,
he built a large warehouse and depot for the accommodation of the

public. In 1850, he built the Hanover mills, at that time and for a

long while the largest establishment of the kind in the countv.

When he removed to Shelbvville, in 1854, he bought out the old

Shelby Mills, carried them on with great energy, dealt largelv in

grain, had an extensive general store on the square, and yet had
leisure for any other enterprise that promised well. In politics he
was always an active and decided Democrat, and served several

terms as County Commissioner. The splendid gravel roads and
the beautiful iron bridges that are the pride of Shelbv Count}', are

largely due to him. He died suddenlv in the midst of business

plans that would have taken years for their accomplishment. This
was in March, 1864. At his funeral, a talented Presbvterian

clergyman. Rev. James Jones Smythe, who was a warm friend of

his, officiated. The attendance was immense. All the church
bells in town tolled. He was buried with Masonic honors. His
loss was recrretted by the entire community.

Frank M. Cory, a native of Shelby County, was born on the

farm where he now resides December 31st, 1854, and is the eldest

of nine children born to Alexander and Loretta (Morrison) Cory
a mention of whom appears elsewhere in this volume. The sub-

ject here mentioned obtained a good common school education at

the schools of Shelbyville. Later, he was engaged for some time

in breeding and handling thoroughbred horses, and subsequently
he engaged in the merchandise business in Shelbyville, which he
continued until July, 1877, when he removed to his mother's farm,
in Hanover Township, v»here he has since resided, and has had
entire management of the farm, which consists of about 700 acres

of fine land. In addition, he is extensively engaged in breeding
fine horses and poultry. The marriage of Mr. Cory occurred De-
cember 31st, 1879, to Miss Eugenia D. Ray, daughter of Martin M.
and Susan (Cross) Ray. To Mr. and Mrs. Cory was born one

child, Eugenia R., whose birth occurred November 15, 1880.

In politics Mr, Cor}' is an active Democrat.
Thomas Eyans, a native of Saffordshire, England, was born

February 28, 1829. He is the third son of Richard and Margaret
(Butler) Evans, natives of Shropshire, England, and of Welch ex-

traction. Our subject and family, came to America in 1853, ac-

companied by his parents, two sisters and one brother, and located

in Shelby Count}-, where the father died October i, 1856, at the
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age of seventy-four years The mother's death occurred in Illinois,

July 29, 18S0, at the ad\'anced age of eighty-one years, and Will-

iam, the brother, died December 28, 1875, aged thirty-seven years.
Our subject never attended school. At the age of eight years, Mr.
Evans began an apprenticeship with his father, who was a pratical

engineer. He was was married to Miss Mary Ann Pitt, in July,

1847, who was born in Bumble Hole, near Dudley, Worcestershire,

England, April 3, 1825, daughter of Samuel and Ehzabeth (Pier-

son) Pitt, natives of the same place. Mr. and Mrs. Evans are the

parents of four children, viz. : Ann, born in the year 1848, and
two daughters and one son, who were deceased in infancy. He is

the owner of 185 acres of good land, in Hanover Township, which
are well improved. He has been a member of Lodge 193, F. & A.

M., for twenty-five years. When Mr. Evans came to America, he

possessed $1,000, with which to begin life in his new found home.
He immediately secured employment, with the Jeffersonville Railway
Company, and assisted in the construction of the lateral branch of

that road, after which he went to Indianapolis, where he secured a

position with Kelso & Sinker, boiler makers, with whom he contin-

ued about six months, and then located in what was then Gwynne's
Mills, where he has since resided, and until 1882, was engaged
in the manufacture of drain tile, and saw milling. Politically he is

a Democrat, and usually exerts a live interest in political matters.

He is one of, the most substantial men in the community in which
he lives.

William F. Handy, Auditor of Shelby County, is a native of

Hancock County, Indiana, born December 10, 1852, and is the
fifth son of twelve children, born to William and Sarah A (Smith)
Handy, natives respectively of Kentuck}^ and Virginia. The father

was the first Post Master of the office at Morristown, Shelby County.
Mr. Handy was the recipient of a common school education, and
was raised on a farm, where he remained, until he became of age,
when he engaged in teaching "for about seven years. In 1881,
Mr. Handy and his brother August C, embarked in the grocery
business at Morristown, by purchasing a stock of goods of Mr. J. V.

Shipp, and are now doing a fair share of the business of this town.
His marriage to Miss Carrie M. W^hite, of Rush County, Ind.,
occurred December 24, 1884. Mrs. Handy is a daughter of Will-
iam and Susan (McGaughey) White, of Rush County, where she
was born Feburar}- 7, 1862. Mr. and Mrs. Handy have one son,
CHfford W., born September 2, 1886. Our subject owns a com-
fortable residence in Morristown. He was elected to the office of

Township Trustee of Hanover Township, in April, 1884, which

position he held two years. November, 1886, he was elected

24
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County Auditor, by the Democratic party, with a majority of 102.

His term of othce began September i, 1887. He is a member of

Navarre Lodge No. 157, Knights of Pythias of Morristown, and is

one of the trustees of that lodge.
George O. Handy, of the firm of Hand}^ & Cremeens, drug-

gists, was born in Hancock County, Indiana, February 10, 1861.

He is the youngest son of WilHam and Sarah (Smith) Hand}'. He
received a common school education, was reared a farmer and to

this occupation gave his attention until he was twent}- 3'ears of age,
when he was employed by his brother August C, then a butcher

in Morristown, where he remained two years. The following two

years, he was engaged with C. T. Wilhams, as a drug clerk. He
then received the appointment of Postmaster at Morristown, in which

capacit}' he officiated until January i, 1887, when he was suc-

ceeded b}' the present incumbent, George A. Spurrier. November

9, 1885, Mr. Handy and his partner Mr. James Cremeens, pur-
chased the drug store of Mr. C. T. Williams, and have since been

conducting a good paying business, to which Mr. Hand}', has de-

voted his entire attention. He was elected to the office of Town
Clerk, of the incorporated town of Morristown, in 1S81, and was
re-elected in 1882. He is a member of Navarre Lodge No. 157,

Knights of Pythias, of the above named place, and holds the posi-
tion of Master at Arms. Politically, he is a Democrat, and is highly
esteemed by his fellow-citizens.

Alexander M. Hargrove, a native of Maryland, was born

December 9, 1814, and is the only son of Benjamin and Milcah

(Harrington) Hargrove. The death of the mother occurred when
our subject was but an infant, and the father died in Indiana about

1854. Our subject never received any education so far as attend-

ing school is concerned, but he has acquired sufficient knowledge
to enable him to transact his own business matters in a satisfactory
manner. In 1828, our subject came to Ripley County, Ind., with

his father, who had previously emigrated to Kentucky. At the

end of two years he returned to Kentucky, where he remained
two years, and then returned to Indiana, where he has since

resided. When he was twenty-one years of age, he located- in

Morristown, Shelby Co., Ind. September 22, 1837, he was
united in marriage to Miss Mary Jane Smith, a native of Washing-
ton County, Va., born March 30, 181 6, daughter of Williani*^and

Ann (Alexander) Smith, natives respectively of Virginia and Penn-

sylvania. Mr. and Mrs. Hargrove are the parents of ten children,

viz.: Benjamin F., deceased; William S., Ann E., Leonidas,

Theophilus, Sarah J., Mary E., James F., Indiana A. and Florida E.

Our subject owns 160 acres of land in Hanover Township, which

^ -to. hS'o



HANOVER SKETCHES. 637

is under a fair state of cultivation. He also owns one acre of land in

the corporation of Morristown, on which he has a commodious resi-

dence, besides other property. This aged couple have been members
of the church for the past forty years; they former]}- belonged to the

Methodist Episcopal Church, but are now members of the Chris-

tian Union denomination. Mr. Hargrove, for a number of years,
took an active part in religious work, and assisted in many ways to

advance the cause of religion, he having been a preacher for a

number of years. He has never had a law suit, and has accom-

plished a great deal of hard work since his residence in Shelby
Countv. Politicallv, he is a Democrat. In social and relimous
circles Mr. and Mrs. Hargrove are held in hiah esteem bv their

acquaintances. They began life in poor circumstances and have
encountered man}^ hardships, but by perseverance they have ac-

quired a comfortable fortune.

William W. Hinds, one of the pioneers of this county, is a

native of Franklin County, Indiana, born September 14, 1821. He
is the third of eight children born to Michael and Mary (Smith)
Hinds, natives of Penns3-lvania, who in 1816 emigrated to Frankhn

County, where they lived until the spring of 1825, when they re-

moved to Shelby County, near Shelb3wille, where the father died
in 1844 and the mother in 1861. Thev were of German descent.

Our subject received but little education, having attended school
but three months. He was raised on a farm, which pursuit he has

always followed. Starting in life a poor boy, surrounded b}' dense

forests, he has, b}^ hard work and strict frugality, obtained a fair

competency. He was never married, and for manv years has made
his home with his brother George, the youngest of the fam-

ily, and Avas born in Shelby County, February 25, 1834, who was
married April 25, 1861, to Eliza Bassett, daughter of Sylvester and
Susan (Maroney) Bassett. By this marriage, there were born,

eight children, as follows: Melvin B., 1862; Susan F., 1864; WilHam
B., 1866; Leonard, 1868; Jesse, 1870; Sylvester, 1873; James,
1875, and Mary, 1S80. Politically, they are both Republicans.
George was a soldier in Compan}^ F, Thirty-eighth Indiana. He
was mustered out June 22, 1865, and was as gallant a soldier as

ever carried a musket. William now owns eighty-three acres of

land in Section 19 and George 205, on same section. These
brothers have both lived industrious lives, and are now among the

leading citizens of Hanover Township, loved and respected b}' all

who know them.

Arthur F. Kinsley, merchant and Postmaster at Freeport,
was born on what is known as the old Kinsley farm, near Freeport,
April 5, 1858. He was the third son ol nine children, born to
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Andrew E., and Harriet (Lisher) Kinsley, both natives of Shelby
County. The father of Mr. Kinsley died in this count}-, May 18,

1S56. He was a member of the Protestant Church. The mother
of our subject now resides at Hartsville, Indiana, and is an ener-

getic member of the United Brethren Church. She was largeh'
instrumental in establishing the first place of religious worship at

Freeport. The immediate subject of this sketch first attended the

common schools and then was a student at Hartsville University,
where he completed the collegiate course of that institution, and

subsequently engaged in school teaching for six 3'ears, with more
than ordinary success. Later, Mr. Kinsley engaged in the mer-
chandise business, which he has since successfull}- continued. The
marriage of Mr. Kinsley occurred July 14, 18S1, to Miss Irene

Tvner, who was born September 6, i860. Slie is the daughter
of Captain WilHam H. and Nancy Tyner, whose maiden name was
Sloan, natives of Franklin and Bartholomew Counties, respectively.
The mother of Mrs Kinsle}^ died September 6, 18S1. To the union

of Mr. and Mrs. Kinsley were born these children, viz. : Gladvs,
born May 13, 1884, and died October 15, 1884, and Guy, born

August 28, 1885. Mr. Kinsley is a Knight of P3'thias and a

member of Lodge No. 157. He is a successful merchant and a

prominent and useful citizen.

William H. Leisure, a native of Rush County, was born
March 30, 1S47, the son of Joseph P. and Dorinda (Fresh) Leis-

ure, natives of Kentucky, who emigrated to Indiana in 1835, and
located in Rush County, where they have since resided, and where
the mother died in 1875. 'T^^V ^vere the parents of seven children,

four of whom are still living. Our subject attended the common
schools, and received a fair education. He was reared on a farm,
where he remained until seventeen years of age, when he ran

away from home and joined the United States Army, enlisting in

Co. K, One Hundred and Thirty-fourth Regiment, Indiana Volun-

teers, Ma}^ 4, 1S64, and served until September 2, of the same

year, as a private soldier. He was married October 4, 1866, to

Miss Margaret Jane Holford, also a native of Indiana, born Decem-
ber II, 1846. They are the parents of eight children, viz.: Alva

J., born August 9, 1867; Minnie M., born September 16, 1870; an

infant daughter (deceased); Carrie B., born October 5, 1873;
Charles B., born December 7, 1876; John E., born December 13,

18S0; Grover E., born March 18, 1S83, and Dora R., born July i,

1886. Mr. Leisure is the owner of forty acres of fine farming land,

on Section 16, Hanover Township, which is well improved. He is

a member of the Elwood Hill Post No. 372, G. A. R., of Carth-

age, Rush Count}', and also holds a membership in Gwynneville
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Assembly, Knights of Labor. Mr. and Mrs. Leisure are members
of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and politically he is a staunch
Democrat. He is a partner of W. W. Wilcoxon, dealer in agricul-
tural implements, hardware and groceries at Gwynneville, having
purchased an interest in this establishment, October 18, 1886.

David S. McGauhey, M. D. (deceased), was a native of Ham-
ilton County, Ind., born October 24, 1809, and was the son of David
and Mary (Lytle) McGauhey, natives respectively of L-eland and
New Jersey. He received a common school education, and at the

age of twenty-four years began the study of medicine with Dr.

Guett, of Montgomery, Ohio. He graduated from the Ohio Med-
ical College, with the first honors of the class. In 1835, he located

in Morristown, Ind., and engaged in aciive practice of medicine,
which he continued until a short time prior to his death. He was
considered one of the leading physicians of this part of the State.

He was married in the vear 1838, to Miss Amelia Handy, and by
her became the father of four children, viz. : J ohn E., George F.

(deceased), Mary H., and Martha (deceased). The wife died in

1874, '^"'^ t^"^^ son, George F., in 1880. Mr. McGauhe}^ was again
married December 12, 1876, to Martha Jane Handy, a sister of his

deceased wife, w ho yet survives him. He was detailed by Governor

Morton, as Hospital Ph3^sician during the war, and was sent to the

field at the Battle of Shiloh as a special detailed ph3sician. His

death occurred March 17, 1884, at Morristown. He was a highly

respected member of the Masonic fraternitv, and an influential

member of the Presbvterian Church. In political matters he was
not an enthusiast, but in his own quiet way voted wdth the Repub-
lican party. He w"as a devoted lover of music and instructed vocal

music classes from an early age, and about 1840 organized a class

in Morristow^n, the remaininfj members of w^hich vet hold annual

meetings for the purpose of rehearsing the songs they used to

sing, and which always attract large crowds. The Doctor w^as the

leader of these singings until his death, and since that sad event,
has been succeeded bv Dr. Adams, of Marion. As a financier the

Doctor was successful to a remarkable degree, and at one time was
said to be worth $100,000, but an unavoidable accident in litigation

depreciated it so that his possessions did not exceed $10,000 at the

time of his death. His two sons were practitioners, and received

all the advantages of good judgment and financial assistance that

was necessary. The daughter is a graduate of the Ohio Female

Seminar}- of College Hill, near Cincinnati. Mrs. McGauhey is now

living on the property formerly owned by her mother, but purchased

by her husband in late years. She is the owner of nine acres of

land in Morristown, which is nearlv all laid off in town lots. She
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has been a resident of the town nearly sixty years, comincy from
Scott County, Ky., with her mother, on horseback, when about one

and a half years of age. Her father died when she was but three

weeks old, and owing to a promise made the father, the mother,
with her family of nine children, left that State for one in which

slavery did not exist. The mother died in 1852.
William B. Mohler was born September 22, 1839, ^" Rush

County, Ind., being the second son of twelve children born
to Frederick and Christiana Mohler, natives of Switzerland

and Virginia, and of Swiss-German descent. In boyhood, the

father of our subject was taken to France, where he lived until he
had reached man's estate, and then came to America and located in

Ohio, where he was married about the year 1824. The mother of

Mr. Mohler came to Ohio with her parents in the early days of that

State. The family lived in Ohio for about two years after their

marriage, and then came to Rush County, Ind., where the father of

our subject died in October, 1886, at eighty-six 3'ears of age, and
the mother died in 1861, at iift3'-two years of age. The subject of

this memoir was reared on a farm and received a common school

education. At ten years of age he was " bound out
"

to Mr. An-
drew Hinchman, with whom he continued to live about three years,
and then began life's battle for himself, and for some time worked
by the month and year for various men. In 18^6, he rented

land and began farming on his own account. Mr. Mohler now
owns 160 acres of land in Hanover Township, and is a prosperous
farmer. Mr. Mohler was married August 10, i860, to Miss Ann
Finney, a native of Rush County, born April 10, 1841. To this

union were born seven children, as follows: Charles Z., born April
20, 1861; John E. (deceased), born October 12, 1862; Me-
lissa E., born March 17, 1864; Luther F., born December 25,

1866; Anna C, born Juh^ 25, 1870; Lyman G., born May 30,

1872, and Estella C, born March 10, 1877. In politics, Mr.
Mohler was formerly a Democrat, but for the last few years he
has been supporting the men, who in his judgment, are best fitted

to fill the positions to which they aspire. Mrs. Mohler is a member
of the Christian Church, and the family is well known and greatly

respected.

Joshua Moore is a native of Kentucky, and was born in 181 8.

He is the fourth in a family of eight children born to Lee and Mary
(Law) Moore, who were natives of Mar3-land, of English ances-

try, and who settled in Kentucky at a very early date. In the fall

of 1827, they emigrated to Rush County, Ind., where they resided

until their deaths, which occurred as follows: the father, in 1832,
and the mother, January 22, 1869. The father was a soldier in
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the War of 1812. Our subject received little education. He was
reared on the farm, and came to Indiana with his parents, with
whom he remained until the death of his mother. He has farmed

continuously all his life, starting a poor man. He has, by hard
work and strict econom}-, accumulated a large amount of property.

Considering his opportunities, his success has been miraculous, as

he now owns 600 acres of land in Shelby and Hancock Counties,
all under a high state of cultivation and well improved. He was
married April 7, 1875, to Mar}^ McNaman, a native of Ireland, who
was born February 25, 1842, daughter of John and Sarah Mc-
Naman. By this marriage there has been one child, Eddie Lee,
born September 6, 1876. Mr. Moore is an ardent Repubhcan, is

not a member of any secret order or church, but is an honored
and respected citizen.

Myer Myers, a native of Germany, was born August 29,

1835; son of Isaac and Fanny (Levi) M3'ers, both natives of

Baden, Germany. Mr. Myers was educated in his native country,
and received a careful German commercial education. Subse-

quently he engaged in the grocery business, which he continued
until 1855, when he came to America and located at Hamilton,
Ohio, and later removed to Cumberland Gap, K3^ In 1864, he
came to Shelby County and located at Morristown, where he imme-

diately engaged in the merchandise business and which he success-

fully continued until 1887, when he exchanged his stock of goods
for a farm in Hanover Township. Several vears of the early busi-

ness life of Mr. Myers were spent in peddhng various kinds of

merchandise. April 29, 1859, he was united in marriage to Rachel,

only daughter of Samuel Carl. To this union were born three

children, viz.: Fannie, born April 13, i860; Yette, born May 26,

1862, and Ella, born September 12, 1870. Two of these are mar-

ried, Fannie, uniting with Mr. Isaac Kaufman, March 12, 1879,
and Yette, whose marriage occurred October 29, 1879, to Mr. J. C.

Turkenkoph. After the marriage of our subject, he formed a

partnership with his father-in-law, v/hich continued until the break-

ing out of the war, when he disposed of the business, and the fol-

lowing year, he engaged in buying and shipping cattle in various

parts of Ohio, and then he removed to Grant County, Ky., where
he purchased a general store, and did a thriving business for thir-

teen months, at the end of which time his store was entered by
guerrillas, who took everything of value in his possession. Mr.

M3'ers then emigrated to Shelby County, Ind., and located in the

little hamlet of Morristown, November 12, 1864, where, by the aid

of friends, he was again enabled to establish himself in a business

venture, with a capital of $5,000, of which one tenth was his
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own. January 24, 1887, he exchanged this business for a farm,
which is located in Hanover Township, and consists of eighty-nine
and one-third acres, and in addition to this, he owns fifty-six acres

in the same township, all of which is well improved. In 1873 he
was made a member of the Morristown School Board and held the

position for twelve successive years. He is a member of Morris-

town Lodge No. 193, F. & A. M., and an affiliate with Abraham

Lodge No. 56, L. O. B. B., of Indianapolis. He is a Democrat,
and a member of the Reformed Jewish Church, as is also his en-

tire family. Mr. M3^ers has been a resident of Morristown a long
time, and since his coming, has been recognized as an exemplary
and enterprising business man, and a kind and agreeable neighbor,

thereby commanding the respect of the citizens of the entire com-

munity with whom he has come in contact.

Joseph V. Poer, a representative farmer of Hanover Town-

ship, was born in Cass County, Michigan, April 19, 1846, and is

the youngest son of four children born to General Lee and Rebecca

(Vanbuskirk) Poer, natives of North Carolina, and of Irish-Ger-

man descent. The parents of Mr. Poer settled in Henry County,
Indiana, about 1834 or 1835, and there resided until 1839, when

they removed to Michigan, and in that State the mother of our

subject died in the early part of 1847, and his father died in the

same State June 6, 1853. After the death of our subject's parents,
he lived for six 3^ears with his maternal grandfather, in Tipton

County, Indiana, and subsecjuently he lived with other relatives

until he had reached the age of seventeen years; in the meantime,
however, he had received his education at the district schools. Sep-
tember 10, 1863, he enlisted in Company F, Fifty-first Indiana

Volunteers, and continued in the service of his country until Jan-

uary 6, 1886, when he was honorably discharged at Indianapolis.
He was wounded at the battle of Nashville, December 16, 1865,
and while crossing the plains of Texas, in July of the same 3'ear,

he received a sunstroke which affected his vision. At the close of

the war he returned to Shelby County, Ind., and in partnership
with his brother Edward, purchased a small farm in Union Town-

ship. Three years later he purchased a farm of eighty acres in

the same township. Mr. Poer now owns 200 acres of land

in Hanover Township, which he purchased in 1881, and where
he now resides. In 187 1, he was united in marriage to Miss

Georgia E., daughter of James and Lydia (Smith) Spurrier. Mrs.

Poer was born February 20, 185 1. To the above marriage were
born these children: Robert L., born December 16, 1871; Irena,

born October 2, 1873 (and died October 3, 1877) ; J. Claudius,
born March 31, 1876; Chauncy C. and David E. (twins), born
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October 2, 1878, and Jacob E., born February 16, 1880. Mr. Poer
is a Democrat in politics, and he and his wife are members of the

Christian Church. The success attained by our subject is indebted

to his own energy, faithful toil and strict economy.
Alexander D. Pollitt, a prominent and influential citizen of

Hanover Township, was born in Fleming Count}-, Kentucky, July,.

1832, and is the second son born to Nehemiah and Jane (Hoffer)
Pollitt, natives respectiveh' of Maryland and Virginia. At an early-

date, the parents of our subject emigrated to Kentucky, w^here they
were married. In 1834, they came to Indiana and located in Han-
over Township, near Morristown, where the mother died, Decem-
ber 31, 1850. Soon after this sad event, the father married Mrs.

Mary Huston. His death occurred December 31, 1851. The sub-

ject of this sketch was reared a farmer, and remained with his

parents until nineteen years of age, when he secured employment with

the Jeffersonville Railway Company, on the central branch which
ran from Shelbyville to Edinburg. He was engaged in the various

departments of railroad work until 1856, when he engaged in the

saw mill business, where the town of Gwynneville now stands.

Here he remained eighteen months and then removed to Shelby-
ville, where he followed the same business two years, in the employ
of McGavin & Murdock. In 1859, ^^ returned to Hanover Town-
ship, and he gave his attention to the same line of trade, until

1S73, when he, in partnership with Thomas E\'ans and O'Brien

Gwynne, established a tile factory, at what was then known as

Gwynne's Mills. This Arm was known as Gw3'nne, Pollitt &
Evans, and continued until 1882, when they disposed of the same
to Mr. F. W. Pusey. He was married June 6, 1881, to Miss Ann
Evans, born in Worchestershire, England, February 21, 1848,

daughter of Thomas and Mary Ann (Pitt) Evans, natives of Eng-
land, and of Welch-English lineage. They are the parents of one

child, Herbert D., born Januar}^ 22, 1885. Mr. Pollitt is the owner
of 107 acres of land, which is in a fair state of cultivation and well

improved. He is a member of the Beech Grove Lodge No. 399,
I. O. O. F., at Arlington, and also of the Encampment No. 12, at

Rushville. Politically, he is a Democrat, and an enthusiastic worker
for the success of his part}-. To Mr. Pollitt, is due much credit for

the progress of the eastern portion of this township, and it was he
who established the thriving little town of Gwynneville.

Francis W. Pusey w^as born September 7, 1S52, in Hancock

County, Ind., and is the third son of seven children born to Jesse F.

and Jane W. (White) Pusey, natives respectively, of Ohio and

North Carolina, and of English extraction. The subject of this,

biography received a good common school education, and was
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reared on a farm, where he remained until his twenty-first 3-ear,

when he bejian hfe for himself, by farmino- rented land in Kansas
for three rears, when he returned to Rush County. The marriage
of Mr. Pusey occurred September 25, 1882, to Miss Laura E. Ball,

daughter of Jonathan and Margaret (Addison) Ball, natiyes

respectiyely, of Pennsylvania and Indiana. Mr. and Mrs. Pusey
are the parents of one child, Leonore, born August 24, 1883. In

1884, he came to Gw3^nneyille and purchased a tile factory of

Messrs. Gwynne, PoUitt & Eyans, to which he has since giyen his

attention. Mr. Puse}' now owns considerable real estate. His

parents were members of the Friends' Church. Politically, he is a

Republican, and is a careful business man, who is held in high es-

teem by his acquaintances. He is an enterprising citizen, and to

himself he is indebted for his success.

Frank Riglesberger, one of the prominent and most enter-

prising business men of Morristown, was born in Baden, Germany,
September 15, 185 1, and is the eldest son of seven children born to

Andrew and Katherine (Ambuster) Riglesberger, natives of the

same place, and of German lineage. The father was engaged in

farming, and was also a dealer in various branches of merchandise,

by which our subject was enabled to fit himself for the business

world. He received a splendid German education, but onl}' a

limited English one, having attended night school for about three

weeks. About May 17, 1870, our subject left his native land for

America, and in a short time reached Piqua, Ohio, where he
remained one month, laboring in a stone quarry. From there he

came to Shelb^'ville, Shelby County, where he began working at

the carpenter trade as an apprentice with his uncle, Mr. John
Riglesberger, where he remained two 3-ears, and then for a short

time he sold the Victor sewing machine in Shelby County. In the

spring of 1876 he began farming, and continued the same for five

years, farming rented land there and then purchased forty acres, to

which his father-in-law added forty more, in Moral Township. In

January, 1881, he came to Morristown and established a saw

mill, with a capital of $5,000. This investment has proven a

profitable one, as he now employs from twenty to twenty-five men,
and an equal number of teams ever}' year. He saws and ships
about 2,^00,000 feet of lumber yearly, and ships saw-logs to other

mills, mostly eastern markets. He now owns a farm of eighty
acres in Hancock County, which is moderately well improved. He
was married to Miss Phebe Yarling, October 20, 1872, born Feb-
ruary 14, 1853, daughter of Philip and Katherine (Mohr) Yarling,
natives of GermanA*. To this union six children were born, viz. :

Joseph E., Frank, Kate, Emma, Maggie and AUie M., all of whom
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are living. The subject is now President of the Board of Trustees
of the incorporated town of Morristown. He was the candidate of

the Democratic party for the office of Township Trustee of

Hanover Township, and was defeated by a small majority. His
success is due to strict attention to business, and exercise of due

economy. He is respected by all who know him.

Jesse W. Robinson is a native of Rush County, Ind., born
December 27, 1843. He was the fifth of a familv of seven child-

ren, born to Osmyn and Nancy (Holton) Robinson, natives of

Mason County, Ky., and who emigrated to Rush County in the

winter of 1832. This was their wedding tour, and they rode on

horseback, across the Ohio on the ice, and into the woods of

Rush County, where they remained until death, enduring all the

hardships and privations of pioneer life. The father's death

occurred in 1847, and the mother's, in 1874. Our subject received

a common school education, which was much improved in later

years bv reading and observation. In 1871, Mr. Robinson mar-
ried Miss Susan Frazee, a native of Rush Count}^, and daughter of

E. S. and Francis (Austin) Frazee, natives of Kentuck}', who

emigrated to Rush County in 1840. To this union were born six

boys, viz.: Samuel Osmyn, December 18, 1873; John C, Novem-
ber 5, 1875; James H., April 3, 1878; WiUiam D., August 11, 1880;

Jesse B., November 12, 1882, Edward F., October 12, 1886.

Soon after marriage, he purchased a tract of land in Rush County,
where he lived until 1880, when he removed to Hanover Town-

ship, Shelby County, where he has since resided. He now owns

190 acres, in this county, and 160 acres near Springfield, Mo. He
is now engaged in the breeding of thorough-bred Short Horn cattle.

He is a member of the Christian Church, and has been a Sunday
School teacher for the past fifteen years. Mr. and Mrs. Robinson
are held in high esteem, as respected and honored citizens. Politi-

callv, Mr. Robinson is a Prohibitionist.

Samuel Salisbury, M. D., is a native of Clinton County,
Ohio, born July 14, 1836, son of John and Mary Liston Salis-

bury, natives of Scioto County, Ohio, and of Scottish-German
descent. The father of our subject was a Methodist Episcopal
minister, as was two of his brothers, William and Abraham. The
former died in Ohio, as did also the mother, in the 3'ear 1845.
Our subject was reared on the farm and received a liberal educa-

tion, having attended school at Asbury, now DePauw University,
at Greencastle for four vears. At the age of twent3'-one years he

joined the Cincinnati Methodist Episcopal Conference, and preached
the gospel for ten years following, during which period he devoted

much of his time to the studv of medicine, and since 1869 has been
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a successful practitioner of medicine in Shelby County. He was
united in the holy bonds of matrimony to Miss Jennie Coffman,

June 5, 1865, a native of Preble County, Ohio, born August 6,

1844. Her parents were Daniel and Margaret Neff Coffman,
natives of Germany. To this union four children born, viz. : Charles

Walter, Mary and Purdie. Politically, Dr. Salisbury is a Republi-
can, and usuallv exerts a live interest in political affairs. The family
a remembers of the Methodist Episcopal Church and cxccup}- a posi-
tion of confidence and esteem in the vicinity in which they reside.

Madison Talbert, a native of Union County, Ind., born

January 28th, 1835, is the second of a family of eleven children,

born to x\nderson and Mary A. (Robbins) Talbert, natives of Ran-

dolph County, N. C, who emigrated to Preble County, Ohio, in

1832. In 1833, they removed to Union Count}', Ind., and to Han-
over Township, Shelby County, in 1837, where they acquired about

700 acres of land. Our subject received a common school educa-

tion. He was reared on a farm, and removed to Hanover Town-

ship with his parents in 1S37, where he remained until October 9th,

1873, when he was married to Miss Susan Carter, daughter of

Landen and Nancy (Vaughn) Carter, natives of North CaroHna,
who emigrated to this township in an earh' dav. To this marriage
were born three children, viz.: Harrison, October 30, 1874; ^&&^^>
August 1 2th, 1877, and Myrtie, June 13th, 1880. Mr. Talbert

owns 134/^ acres of land, nearly all under cultivation and well im-

proved. For the past three years Mr. Talbert has been engaged
in breeding Short Horn cattle, having at present twenty-five very
fine ones. For eight years he has given a great deal of attention

to the apiarv business, and is the owner of 100 stands of fine Italian

bees. He belonrjs to the Knio-hts of Labor, and has been a devoted

member of the Masonic Order for fifteen years. Politically, he is

a Prohibitionist, and is also a member of the United Brethren Church.
He has ever been known as an industrious and enterprising man,
and is an honored citizen.

Alfred Smith Tucker, a retired farmer, was born in South

Carolina, June i6th, 1810. He is a son of Jesse and Rhoda

(Smith) Tucker, both natives of the same State. The father's

death occurred in his native State, and that of the mother in Shelb}^

Countv, Ind., in 1874. Our subject received a common school

education, according to the custom in those days, was reared a

farmer, and to this occupation has given almost his entire attention

to the present time. At eleven years of age, he was "bound out"

to Mr. Isaac Jones, of South Carolina, with whom he remained one

year, and then left for parts unknown. During his lonely voyage,
which he made without money, and scarcely sufficient clothing to
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cover his nakedness, he narrow!}' escaped drowning on one occa-

sion, and tinalh' reached the Georgia hne, where he met an old

acquaintance with whom he remained about six weeks. He was
discovered and taken back to his mother's home, after which he
was released by Mr. Jones, who afterward became insane. He
then was emplo}'ed in various occupations until he was seventeen

years old. On the 19th dav of June, 1827, he married Miss Jane
Collins. To this marriage seven children were born, viz. : Ed-
mond T., Susan E., Oliver N., Nancy J., John A., William L. and
Rhoda A. These children were all born in South Carolina, where
his wife's death occurred April 20, 1842. He then removed to

Georgia with his famih". August 25, 1844, he married Ehzabeth

Hendricks, a native of Georgia. Four children blessed this union,
viz.: James V., Moraline D., Jesse H. and George E. In 1851,
Mr. Tucker came to Rush Countv, where he lived three years, and
then located in Shelby Count}-, on a rented farm, over which he

presided three years, and then purchased 160 acres in Hanover

Township. September 15, 1873, Mrs. Tucker died. He married

Miss Martha J. Mauldin, x\ugust 27, 1874, and the result of this mar-

riage was the following issue: an infant son, unnamed (deceased),
Nettie, Mattie, another infant son, unnamed (deceased). This wife

died September 4, 1S81, aged forty-one years. He was married

August 17, 1882, to Mrs. Mary Kimback (Donaldson), born Oc-
tober 13, 1846, and of Irish extraction. Our subject is the owner
of 310 acres of land in Shelby County, which is under cultivation

and well improved. When our subject located in Shelby County,
he settled in the midst of a dense forest, and ensconced his family
beneath the shelter of a rail pen, where they existed until the erec-

tion of a substantial "
pole cabin

" was completed. From this finally

grew the comfortable and substantial buildings which now surround-

him. In 1S80, the subject, in company with W. A. Bodine, estab-

lished the Morristown Bank, in which he served as President until

the bank was closed in 1884. In the spring of 1885, he retired

from active life, and moved to Morristown with his family, and pur-
chased of Mr. Bodine, the most handsome and commodious resi-

dence in Hanover Township. He was for a time, a member of the

Know-Nothing organization, this being the only secret order to

which he ever belonged. He is a member of the Christian Church,
and his wife is a member of the organization known as the
" Shakers." He was a volunteer under John C. Calhoun, in the

struggle of South Carolina, against the Union, for the admission

of foreign merchandise, free of duty, into ports of that State, and
the declaration of President Andrew Jackson, to the citizens at that

time, made our subject a thorough Jacksonian Democrat, although
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since the organization of the Republican party, he has been its ad-
vocate. Although he is living a retired life, he still superintends
the tillage of his farm.

William Harris Tyner, of Hanover Township, was born in

Franklin County, Ind., May 31, 1S19, and is the elder of two
children of Elijah and Martha Tyner, whose maiden name was
McCune. His father, who was of Irish descent, was a native of

Abbvville District, South Carolina, and was born in 1799. "^^^^

paternal grandfather of our subject, was an old line Baptist minis-

ter, who emigrated to the Indiana Territor}-, in 1805, and located

near Brookville. The father of Mr. T^ner was three times mar-

ried; first to the mother of our subject, who was of Scotch descent,
and whose death occurred about 1822; second, to Miss Mary Nel-

son, who died in 1830; and third to Miss Sarah Ann Hilverstoutin,
whose death occurred in 1832. In early manhood our subject's
father removed from Franklin to Hancock Countv, where he lived

an honorable and creditable life. His death occurred Februar}- i,

1872. WiUiam H. Tyner recieved an ordinary education at the

district schools, but later in life ac([uired through his own effort, a

valuable fund of practical knowledge. By occupation Mr. Tyner
is a farmer and now owns 207 acres of w^ell improved land. In addi-

tion, however, to his farming interests, he deals in stock. March
25, 1 841, Mr. Tyner was united in marriage to Miss Emilv, daugh-
ter of Adam and Susanah (Hensley ) Virt, both natives of Ken-

tuck}-. Mrs. Tyner was also born in that State, Mav 24, 182 1. To
the above union were born these children, Martha E., Mary J.,

Elijah H., John N., Oliver P., Joseph M., Henrv C, Hannah E.,
an unnamed infant (deceased), Samuel F., Deloris, Charlotte,

Philip S., and Sarah. In politics, Mr. T^ner was formerly a Whig
and is now an ardent Republican. Mr. Tyner is a representative
of one of the first Indiana families, and is now recognized as one
of the leadini; citizens of the communitv in which he resides.

William W. Wilcoxon, is a native of MontgomervCount}-, Md.
He was born February 22, 1844, and is the third son of eight chil-

dren, born to Jesse P., and Elizabeth (Kemp) Wilcoxon, both natives

of the same State, and who caine to Shelby Countv in 1859, ^"^
located on Section 29, Hanover Township, where they remained
several years, and then removed to Freeport, where the father died

September 18, 1865. Our subject received a common school edu-

cation, was reared on a farm, where he remained until twenty
ye^ars of age, and September 26, 1864, enlisted in the Forty-eighth
Indiana Regiment, Volunteer Infantry, Companv I, and remained
in the service until the close of the war, being mustered out June
30, 1865. In April, 18S6, he was elected Trustee of Hanover
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Township, by the franchise of the Republican voters of the town-

ship. He now owns eighty-live acres of land on Sections 9 and

16, of this township, which is well improved. He was married to

Miss Nancy Jane Sleeth, August 26, 1866, a native of Shelby County,
born Januar}- 19, 1845, daughter of Caleb and Sarah (Frazier)
Sleeth of this countv- To this marriage nine children were born

as follows: Caleb S., David H., Richard Z., Thomas O., Franklin,
two infant sons who died unnamed, Emma and Pearl. Mr. and

Mrs. Wilcoxon are members of the United Brethren Church. In

1885, our subject established an agricultural depot at Gwynnville,,
to which he added a hardware and grocery department. He is in

partnership with Messrs. W. A. AVortman and W. H. Leisure.

Since the establishment of this business the proprietors of the

same have enjoved a growing business, which is now yielding
handsome and satisfactory returns.

Charles T. Williams, grocer and hardware dealer, at Mor-

ristown, is a native of Fayette County, Ind., born August 3, 1S55,
and is the voungest son of eleven children born to John and Mary A.

(Revnolds) Williams, natives of Delaware, who emigrated to In-

diana about the year 1836, and settled in Fayette County, ^'shere

the father died in the earl}- part of 1857. The subject of this

biographv received a common school education and was reared on

a farm. At the age of eighteen years he began life for himself, by
working as a farm hand, which he followed until the year 1882,

when he engaged in the drug business in Morristown, purchasing the

stock of Mr. C. H. Dailv. To this business he gave his attention

for three years, when he disposed of the same to Handy & Cre-

meens. In April, 18S6, he established a grocery and hardware store

in the same town, and is now conducting a thriving business. His

marriage to Miss Anna E. Connaway occurred January 5, 1875.
She is a native of Union County, Ind., born September 29, 1855.

To this union four children were born, viz.: Mamie H., Monti-

cello E., Hattie A., and Paul T. Mr. Wilhams is a member of

Valley Lodge No. 627, I. O. O. F., of Morristown. Politically, he

is a Democrat, and always manifests a live interest in political af-

fairs. He owns, aside from his business, a neat and comfortable

residence in the above named village. He is recognized as a suc-

cessful 3'oung business man, and is held in high esteem by those

with whom he has formed ac(]uaintance. Mrs. Williams is a mem-
ber of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and is a very estimable

lady.
'William Wolfe, one of the pioneer farmers of Hanover Town-

ship, was born in Scott County, Ky., January 12, 1809, son of Jacob
and Euphemy (Cannon) Wolf, natives of Maryland and Delaware^
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of German-Irish origin. The parents of Mr. Wolfe were born in

1779, and his father died in Hancock County, Lid., in 1S37, and his

mother in 1840. The Wolfe famih' came to Indiana in 1828, and
located in Hancock County, and subsequently the subject of this

biography removed to Shelby Count\'. He received a limited

education at the early time school-house. By occupation, Mr. Wolfe
has been a Hfe long farmer, and now owns 200 acres of land. His

marriage occurred in 1832, to Miss Editaca Tyner, a daughter of

Soloman and Jemima (Henderson) Tyner, a native of Indiana,
born in 1819. Mrs. Wolfe died about 1S36, and April 4, 1839,
Mr. Wolfe was united in marriage to Nancy M. Smith, who was
born in Virginia, February 4, 18 18, and is a daughter of William
and Ann (Alexander) Smith, natives of Virginia. To the above

marriage were born these children: Sarah E., Jerusha E.,
Warren W., Cornelia A., Pharaba and Edward C. Politicallv,

Mr. Wolfe is and ahva^'S has been an unchanging friend to the

Democratic party. He is a Mason and a member of Morristown

Lodge No. 193. He and wife are member of the Christian

Church. The life of Mr. Wolfe has been successful and he is one
of the prosperous farmers of Hanover Township.

Jacob G. Wolf, M. D., is a native of Huntingdon, now Blair,

Count}', Penn., born February 8, 1823, and the youngest son of o

seven children born to Jacob and Lydia (Hendershottj Wolf, na-

tives respectively of Pennsylvania and New Jersey, who emigrated
to Union County in 1834, "^^'here they resided one 3'ear, and then

removed to Wayne County, where they resided until their respect-
ive deaths, the father's April 29, 1844, aged sixty-one years, and .

the mother's January 13, 1867, aged eighty-seven 3-ears. The sub-

ject of this biography received a liberal education, ha^'ing attended

Asbury, now DePauw, Universit}'- for three years, after which he

began the study of medicine under Dr. Calvin West, of Hagers-
town, Wayne Count}', Ind., with whom he remained three vears.

He then attended the Ohio IMedical College of Cincinnati for two
terms and received the degree of Doctor of Medicine in the spring
of 1849, and practiced medicine in Hagerstown until 1851,
when he removed to Morristown, Shelby County, where he has

since resided, as a resident practioneer— with the exception of five

years, when he served as County Clerk. In the fall of 1856 he
attended the Jefferson Medical College, of Philadelphia, graduating
in the spring of 1857. He is the possessor of diplomas from two
of the leading medical institutions of the country. His marriage to

Miss Virginia A. Ricketts, a native of New Jersey, was solemnized

May 26, 1846. To this union were born seven children, viz. : Will-

iam R., Lydia M. (deceased), JuHa, Alma, Henry (deceased),

10, (r2U
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Agnes, and Charles (deceased). Mrs. Wolf died in 1S67. On the

1 8th of March, 1869, Dr. Wolf was married to Mrs. Elvira

J. Winship, a native of Rush County, born January 8, 1834. Our

subject is the owner of 139 acres of land in Hanover Township,
which is in a fair state of cultivation, and is improved in a substan-

tial manner. In October, 1867, Mr. Wolf was elected to the office

of Count}' Clerk of Shelby County, on the Democratic ticket, in

which position he served four years. He is a member of Morris-

town Lodge No. 193, F. & A. M., and was once a member of the

I. O. O. F., but withdrew therefrom by card. In the former he

has taken the Chapter, Council and Commander}^ degrees. As a

practitioner the Doctor has been successful to a satisfactory degree,
as a citizen, he is held in high esteem by the residents of Morristown

and surroundiniT country. He has been a member of the school

board for a number of years, and for the past eight years has been

president of that body.
Henry G. Wolf, general merchant at Morristown, is a native

of Shelby County, Indiana, born December 8, 1861, and is the only
son of seven children, born to Henry G. and Emehne (Henderson)
Wolf, natives respectively of Pennsylvania and Kentucky. The
father came to Indiana in 1834. Our subject received a first-class

education, having attended Earlham College, near Richmond, Ind.,

for three successive 3'ears, also Bryant & Stratton's Business Col-

lege at Indianapolis, one term. He was reared on a farm where he

remained until he was twenty-six years of age. He was married

to Miss Minnie Hill, a daughter of Thomas E. and Amanda

(Powers) Hill, September 18, 18S4. Mrs. Wolf was born Novem-
ber 30, 1865, in Hancock Count}^ Ind. To this union, one child,

Edwin E., was born August 19, 1885. In 1887, he removed from

Hanover Township to Morristown, where he purchased a general
merchandise store, and is now retailing dry goods, groceries, boots

and shoes, hardware, etc., of which he carries a full and complete
assortment and is doing a satisfactory business. He is a member
of Navarre Lodge No. 157, K. of P!, of Morristown. Pohtically,

he is a Democrat. He is a rising young man of Morristown, and

commands the respect of the citizens of the entire community.

HENDRICKS SKETCHES.

William Barlow is a native of Bartholomew County, Ind.,

where he was born, March 30, 1831, being the youngest son of

Jacob and Rebecca Pile Barlow, who were natives of Virginia

and Kentucky, respectively. They were married in the latter State,

emigrated to Indiana in 182 1, and continued residents until their

25
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death. Our subject remained at home and assisted his parents on
the farm until he attained the age of twenty-seven. He re-

ceived what was for those days a common education, such as was
to be obtained in the primitive log school-houses. October 21, 1858,
his marriage with Catharine Lamar was solemnized, and to their

union these three children have been born, Victoria, Izora and
Leona. Mr. Barlow has always made farming his occupation and
he has been quite successful. He now owns 190 acres of well

improved land. He formerly belonged to I. O. O. F,, but has been
on demit for several years. In politics, he has been a Republican.

Hiram Comstock, M. D., of Smithland, is a native of Madison

County, Ohio, where he was born March 17, 1820, the son of

James and Chloe (Bull) Comstock, who were natives of Vermont
and Connecticut, respectively. In 1824, they removed to Hamilton

Countv, Ohio, where our subject was reared to manhood, from
whence they removed to Montgomery County where the Doctor
commenced reading with his father. He came in 1843, to Green-
field where he engaged in the practice, remaining there until 1846,
when he removed to Freeport, this county. September, 1848, he
returned to Ohio and entered the Medical College of Ohio at Cin-

cinnati, that institution graduating him and conferring the degree of

M. D. in March, 1849; ^^ then resumed his practice in Freeport,

continuing there until 1855, when he located at Marietta, and has

since been engaged in active practice. May, 1843, his marriage
with Rebecca J. Mills was solemnized, and to their union three

children were born: James x\., who married Mary Anderson;
Frances S., wife of William F. Garrison; John T., whose consort

was Fannie Chamberlain. June 21, 1851, he suffered the bereave-

ment of losing his beloved wife. May, 1852, his and Nancy E.

INIorgan's nuptials were celebrated, this union was of comparative
short duration, death again taking his wife September, 1856. Sep-
tember, 1857, Luc}^ A. McCrea became his wife, and their union

has been blessed with these three children : Ella, now Mrs. George
Frederick; William D. and Edward D. He has always enjoyed a

ver}' large, perhaps the most extensive, practice of any physician
in the county, which proved ver}' lucrative, but recentl}- he has

been compelled to retire from active work. He and wife are mem-
bers of the Methodist Protestant Church. He also belongs to the

Odd Fellows fraternity, having united with that organization in

1846. In politics he is a Republican.

James Cooper, a citizen and native of Hendricks Township,
was born June 11, 1830, being the 3'oungest in a family of seven

children, born to James and Rebecca (Updegraff) Cooper, who
were both natives of Lycoming County, Pennsylvania, where both
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grew to man and womanhood, and were married. They emigrated
to what is now Laurel, Fa}'ette Count}', in a very early day, from,

there they came on to Rush County, living there about three 3'ears,

coming in February-, 1830, to Shelby County; about three weeks
later the father died. His widow survived him a number of years,

making this county her home until her death, which occurred May
15? I'^SS- Oui' immediate subject remained Avith his mother as

long as she lived. He received a limited education, such as the

facilities of those da3-s afforded. March ii, 1S55, his marriage
with Mary A. (Hartman) Kendall, was solemnized, and to their

union four children have been born, of whom, but this one is now

living, William M., who has married Eliza Snyder. Mrs. Cooper
was a daughter of Sampson and Mary (Omert) Hartman, both

natives of Penns3'lvania, they were also earl}^ settlers of Bartholo-

mew County. Mr. Cooper has always made farming his occupa-
tion, and he has been quite successful. He now owns 356 acres of

well improved land. He and wife are members of the Methodist

Protestant Church. In politics he is a Republican, and was honored
bv his party with the nomination to the position of County Com-
missioner, but his party being in the minority, he with the rest of

the ticket was defeated, but to his credit it may be said, that lie

carried his own township, which ordinarih' has a Democratic ma-

joritv of seventy.
Ithamar Davison, ex-member of the Board of Commissioners

of Shelby County, is among the old settlers of this county, and
claims a birthright in Addison Township, where he was born on

the 25th da\' of November, 1826. His parents, James and Martha

(Libbv) Davison, settled in the county in 182 1, and experienced
the hardships of an early settler's life. The subject of this sketch

remained at home till the year 1850, working on the farm, except
a short time in 1847, when he enlisted as a volunteer in the Mexi-

can war, but soon afterward met with an accident that re(]uired
him to remain at home. In the spring of 1S50, he started for Cali-

fornia by the overland route, the company he went with being
fitted out at Ottumwa, Iowa. Four months and twenty days were
consumed in making the journe\', the party remaining in Salt Lake
some ten days, receiving every kindness at the hands of Brigham
Youno- and others while there. Thev arrived at Placerville on the

20th of August, in a g^ood healthv condition. Mr. Davison mi-

mediatel}' went into the mines, with a Mr. Marshall, but after about

a month, the snow began to fall, which drove them in the valley.

Their mines did not pan out well. He remained in and about

El Dorado County, until 1856, some of the time running a hotel.

In the month of May of that 3-ear, he left by steamer for New
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York, via Panama, arriving home about the 20th of June, in time

for the Cincinnati Democratic Convention. He soon after went to

Iowa, remaining until spring, and then left again for California,

going by water. After reaching there, he went into the mines
fifteen mitfes east of Sacramento, on the American River, and re-

mained three months, when he received an appointment as Super-
intendent of Farming, on the Klamath Indian Reservation, where
he remained till 1859. He then took a voyage to South America,

returning however, to the Reservation, after a short absence of a

few months. That winter there was a big flood, which washed the

land so badly, as to cause change of Reservation to Smith River

Valley, forty miles away. Here Mr. Davison went and remained
until 1866, when he returned home. In 1864, while in California, he
w^as commissoned as Major of the State Militia; he spent most of

1866 and 1867, in Washington City, attending to official business.

He was present at the National Democratic Convention in New
York, in 1868, which nominated Horatio Seymour for the

Presidency. During the Avinter of 1868, he took a trip to Hav-

ana, Cuba, for his health, returning on the same boat, his health

much improved. He w^ent home in April, 1868, and spent that

summer with his father, in Brandywine Township. On the 30th of

December, 1869, Mr. Davison was married to Mrs. Cecilia Peutzer

daughter of John M. and Hannah Dodds, and moved on the farm
where he now resides. He has since been identified with the in-

erests of Shelby County. In 1874, ^'^ ^^^"^^ elected County
Commissioner; was re-elected in 1876, and the duties of that

position he has filled to the complete satisfaction of the whole

county. Mr. Davison's mother died in 1854; ^^^ father in 1877;
thev were both members of the Protestant Methodist Church; he
was a native of Tennessee, she of Virginia. Mrs. Davison is a

ladv well qualified to fulfill the duties of a wife
;
her father, John

M. Dodds, was a native of Pennsylvania, and her mother of Vir-

ginia. Mr. and Mrs. Davison are at present living on a fine farm
of over 300 acres, lying about five miles from Shelbyville, and on

the Shelbyville and Marietta Turnpike. It is especially adapted
to grain and stock raising. Mr. Davison may well look back over

his eventful life, now in the
'

autumn of his years, and think with

pleasure, of all he has passed through, and that now he can settle

down to a well deserved rest, surrounded by all the comforts of

civilized life, and having the popularity, which is due him for his

able performance of M'hatever duties the office, w^hich he has so

well filled, may have imposed upon him. Mr. Davison has not

held any public position since the expiration of his second term as

County Commissioner, but has devoted his time to agricultural
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affairs on his farm. His esteemed wife died November 6, 1885.
He has been engaged this season in erecting a large and elegant
residence at what is commonly called the Dodds* corner, where his

father-in-law, the late John M. Dodds, resided, four and one-half

miles southwest of Shelbyville, on the Marietta or river pike ;
which

when completed, will be one of the finest houses in the county, and

built in the most substantial manner. He is a member of the Mas-
onic fraternity and his portrait is given in this volume.

George J. Dippel, of Hendricks Township, is a native of

Germany, where he was born January 3, 1833, being the eldest of

a family of three children born to Tobias and Willemina (Fleck)

Dippel. The family emigrated to the United States in 1837, and

first located in Ohio, at Sydne}', remaining there about five years,
from whence they went to Montgomery County, where they lived

with the exception of two years, when they resided in Clark

Countv, Ohio, until 1855, when they came to and settled in Shelby

County, where they lived until their death, he d3'ing in October,

18S2, and she, in October, 1886. Our subject remained at home
and assisted his parents until he attained the age of twenty-five

years. He received a limited education, having to work on the

farm. December 25, 1858, his marriage w^ith Frances E. Davison

was solemnized, and to their union four children were born, these

two now living: Emma, now Mrs. George Controw, and Samuel.

March, 1869, Mr. Dippel suffered the bereavement of losing his

beloved wife. March, 1870, his and Sarah E. Williams' nuptials

were celebrated, and to their union these five children have been

born: Josie, Ehzabeth, Maggie, Mina and George. Mr. Dippel
has always made farming his occupation, and he has been (juite

suc-

cessful. He now^ owns 240 acres of well improved land. He is a

member of the Odd Fellows fraternity, Hiawatha Lodge No. 193.

In politics he is a staunch Democrat.

William J. Fisher, a citizen and native of Hendricks Town-

ship, was born August 3, 1848, being the next youngest in a family

of twelve children born to Michael and Mahala (Webb) Fisher.

The former was born in North Carolina, October 9, 1800, and the

latter November 22, 1806, in Woodford Countv, Ky. They emi-

grated to and settled in the county about 182 1. They were

married in this county and remained residents until their deaths,

he dying March 5, 1855, and she April 29, 1869. Wilham J.

remained with his parents until their death, receiving a common
school education, such as the facilities of his day afforded. July

24, 1874, his marriage with Sarah E. Bass was solemnized, and to

their union five children have been born, of whom these three are now

living, Stella M., John A., and Bertha J. Mr. Fisher has always
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made farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful.

He now owns lift}'
acres of improved land. He is a member of the

Baptist, his wife of the Christian Church. In politics he is a Dem-
ocrat, and he generally manifests a good live interest in the political

affairs of the county and community in which he lives, where he

was honored with an election of Justice of the Peace for two terms,

being the present incumbent of that position.

Joshua Herixg, proprietor of the Brandywine mill, in Hen-

dricks, purchased it in 1883, since which time he has greath' im-

proved it, changing it from a burr to roller. It has now a capacit}' of

fortv barrels per day. Its proprietor is a native of Montgomery
Countv, Ohio, where he was born October 11, 1834, being the

fourth in a family of six children, born to Henry and Sarah (Har-

nian) Hering, who were both natives of Maryland, and both re-

mained residents of Ohio until their death. Joshua was reared in

his native countv, receiving a common school education. He com-
menced life for himself as a carpenter, at which he worked eleven

vears, after which he engaged in milling, continued in that for a

period of five years. In 1865, he removed to Illinois, working at car-

pentering, but on account of ill health returned to Ohio. x\ugust
20, 1S56, his marriage with Mary Heistan was solemnized, and to

their union ten children have been born, these eight now living,

Priscilla, Lona, Mary E., now Mrs. George Murphy, Lucretia, now
]Mrs. Frank Baughman, Otis, Bertha, Lee C. and Elmer R. His

occupation has been principally milling all his life and he has been

quite successful. He is a member of the Masonic fraternit}'. In

politics he is a Republican.

James Hill, deceased, was a prominent citizen of Hendricks

Township, born in Nicholas Count}', Ky. He came to Shelby
Countv about 1822, and entered eiirhtv acres of land in Hendricks

Township. He returned soon after and brought his parents, and
the familv continued residents of this countv until their death.

Seven children were born to that n^arriage, of whom these four

are now living : Elizabeth ( Teal) , Margaret, George W., Theophilus
W. Harriet m'ew to womanhood and died the wife of George
Kent, January i, 1874. ^^'^- ^^^^ made farming his chief occupation,
in connection with which he dealt in stock quite extensively. He
was quite successful, and ranked as one of Shelbv County's sub-

stantial agriculturists. He owned, at the time of his death, about

600 acres of well improved land. He was a member of the Presby-
terian Church, and died a devout believer in that faith November,
1S64. April 27, 1844, George W., his eldest son, was born. He
remained liome and assisted his parents until he attained the age
of twentv-three vears. He received a common school education.



HENDRICKS SKETCHES. 657

August 27, 1867, his marriage with Julianna Salla was solemnized,
and to their union four children have been born, Leonidas, James,
Clara, and an infant unnamed. He has always followed the voca-
tion of farming and has been uniformly successful. He is the pro-

prietor of 250 acres of well improved land. In 1864, he realized

the need of the preservation of our Union, and enlisted in Company
E, One Hundred and Thirtv-second Reo-iment of Indiana Volun-
teer Infantrv, for the term of 100 days, serving his time out, and
w^as honorably discharged at Indianapolis. Theophilus W. was
born November 18, 1848. He was married December, 1883, to

Catharine V. Jameson, and two children have blessed their union,

Jo. and Ralph. Our subject dealt in grain quite extensively,
but has recently devoted his attention to farminp". Both are mem-
ber3 of the Masonic fraternity. In politics they are Republicans.

P. F. Kennedy, of Hendricks Township, is a native of Wash-

ington County, Penn., where he was born November 11, 1816,

being the fourth child and eldest son born to Robert and Margaret
(Fleming) Kennedy, who were natives of Augusta County, Va.,
and Westmoreland County, Penn., respectively. They emigrated
to and settled in Shelby County, November 11, 1829, and continued

residents of the county ever after. The former died August 27,

1833, his widow still survives him and has attained the remarkable
old age of ninety-eight years. Our immediate subject always
remained with his mother, receiving a limited education in conse-

(juence of the poor facilities of those days. September 23, 1843,
his marriage with Meranda Le Masters was solemnized, and to

their union eight children have been born, these six now living:

Ann, now Mrs. Daniel Sn3der; Mary, unmarried; Elizabeth, and

Sylvan, who married Cloie Comstock, who died June, 1886, and

George and Cassius. Mr. Kennedy has ahvays made farming his

occupation, and he has been very successful. He now owns 356
acres of well improved land. In politics, he is a Republican.

John F. McCain, Trustee of Hendricks Township, is a native

of Noble Township, this county, where he was born Ma};' 16, 1855,

being the youngest in a famil)' of live children born to Absalom
and Mary (Bailey) McCain, who were natives of Ohio and this

county, respectively. The former came with his parents to this

county about 1830, and settled near St. Omer, from whence they
later removed to the vicinity of St. Paul, where he met, and won
her hand in marriage, Mar}^ Bailey, daughter of Peter Bailey,
who was also a very early settler of the county. Our immediate

subject made his home with his parents until he attained the age
of twenty-three years, receiving a conimon school education, sup-

plemented by attendance at the graded school at vSt. Paul, and at
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the State Normal School at Terre Haute. At the a":e of twenty,
he began teaching, and continued in that profession for eleven vears,
in the schools of Hendricks. Township. August 27, 1878, his mar-

riage with Lillie West,, was solemnized, and to their union these

two children were born: Jesse C. and Cecil G. ^lay 20, 1884, Mr,
McCain suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved. Mav 31,

1886, his and Amanda Babb's nuptials were celebrated. At the in-

tervals between school terms, he was engaged in farming, until

1885, when he purchased the stock of general merchandise of Isaac

Banta, at the village of Bengal, and he enjoys a good remunerative
trade. He belongs to I. O. O. F., Hiawatha Lodge No. 193, at

Smithland. His political views are Democratic, and he always
manifests a good interest in the political affairs of the countv and

community in which he lives, where he was in April, 1886, honored
with an election to the position of Township Trustee.

Marion W. McFerran is a native of Kentucky, born near
Crab Orchard, December 19, 1831, being the eldest in a family of

five children born to Thomas and Lucinda (Hendricks) McFerran,
who were both also natives of Kentucky. Thev came to Indiana

about 1835, first settling in Johnson County, living there about two

years when he came to Shelb}- County, and they remained residents

of the county until their death. Our subject remained with and
assisted his parents on the farm until he attained the age of twenty-
four years, receiving a common education, such as the facilities of

those days afforded. September 27, 1856, his marriage with

Mar}- A. Gulley was solemnized, and to their union five children

have been born: Jasper N., who married Miss Smith: Lillie B.,
now Mrs. Leander Creek: J. D. Thomas, whose wife was Phebe
Pile; Laura, consort of John Pile, and Lizzie. Mr. McFerran has

always made farming his occupation and he has been quite success-

ful. He now owns 200 acres of well improved land. He and wife

are members of the Baptist Church. In politics he is a Republi-
can.

Albert McRea is a native of Hendricks Township, born Sep-
tember 21, 1839, being the seventh in a family of ten children born
to John and Elizabeth (Templeton) McRea, who were natives of

New York and Virginia, respectively. They married in Ohio, and
came to this county about 1833, continuing residents of this county
until their death, both having died before the immediate subject of

our sketch had attained his majority. He received a common
school education. In 1861, he realized the necessity of the preser-
vation of our Union, and enlisted in Company C, Seventh Regi-
ment, under Captain Blair, in what was known as the three months'

service, and was honorably discharged at the expiration of his
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term. In 1863, he again enlisted, this time in Company D, Six-

teenth Indiana Reiriment of Volunteer Infantry, servins: until the
close of the \var. He was present during both enlistments in the

following important engagements: Phillipi and Carick's Ford, and
all the battles incident to what was kno\Mi as the Red River Cam-
paign. He received his discharge at Indianapolis, in November,
1865, on account of the close of the war. x\bout two 3-ears later

his marriage with Mary Campbell was solemnized, and to their

union this one child was born: John. Their union was of compar-
atively short duration, he suffering the bereavement of losing his

beloved wife about two years subsequent. November, 1878, his

and Lillie Snyder's nuptials were celebrated, and to their union these

two children have been born : xVnnis and Harry. Mr. McCrea has

alwa3-s made farming his occupation, and he has been quite suc-

cessful. He now owns 155 acres of well improved land. In poli-
tics he is a Republican, and generally manifests a good, live interest

in the political affairs of the county and community in which he lives.

Mrs. McRea is a daughter of Jacob and Margaret (McPherson)
Snyder. The former, a native of Maryland, was born September
24, 1817.

JoHX T. Murphy, a citizen and native of Hendricks Township,
was born October 13, 1844, being the third in a family of eight
children born to Samuel and Emaline (Vaughn) Murphy, who were
natives of Pennsylvania and Ohio, respecti\'ely. They both came
with their parents to this county in a very early day. The former
continued a resident of this county until his death, the latter, his

widow, still survives him. Our immediate subject remained at

home and assisted his parents on the farm until he attained the age
of twenty-two 3'ears, receiving a limited education. In 1867, his

marriage with Emaline Montgomery was solemnized, and to their

union two children were born, Frank and Mary E. Januar}^
I, 1874, Mr. Murphy suffered the bereavment of losing his beloved

wife. December 27, 1877, his and Emma O'Neal's nuptials were
celebrated and to their union four children have been born; these

three are now living: George E., Charles R. and Mildred. Mr.

Murphy has always made farming his occupation, and he has been

quite successful. He now owns 477^ acres of well improved
land. In politics he is a Democrat.

William A. Reese, of Hendricks Township, is a native of

Clarke County, Ind., where he was born September 26, 181 7, be-

ing the eldest of a family of four children born to Benjamin and
Sarah (Davis) Reese, who were natives of Scott Co., K}-., and

Albermarle Co., Va., respectively. They were married in Jeffer-
son Co., Ind., and they came to Shelby County, November 7, 1S34,
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and located in Hendricks Township, on the farm now owned by
James Lamar, and they continued residents of this county until

their death, the former dying November 9, 1853, and the latter,

June 24, 1 868. WilHam A. remained at home and assisted his

parents until he had nearly attained the age of twenty-five 3'ears,

receiving a common school education such as the subscription
schools of those days afforded. July 21, 1841, his marriage with

Emily J. Tucker, was solemnized, and to their union five children

have been born, these two now living, Sarah A., now Mrs. Syl-
vester Sandefur, John T., who married Addie G. Schoonover. The
deceased children were : Ferdinand M., Benjamin E., and Ida Belle.

Mr. Reese has always made farming his occupation and he has

been (|uite successful. He now owns ninety-one acres, and in addi-

tion started each of their children in life with a good farm. He
and wife are members of the Baptist Church. He belongs and is

identified with the Grange movement. In politics he is a Republi-
can, and he has been honored with an election to the ofiice of

Township Trustee for several terms.

Charles J. Roe, a leading citizen of Hendricks Township, is

a native of Clarke Countv, Ind., where he was born June 20, 1820,

being the eldest in a familv of six children, born to Jacob D. and

Catharine (Johnson) Roe, who were natives of New York and

Kentucky, respectively. They came to Shelby County in 1827,
and settled in Hendricks Township, where they lived about three

years. Being of a rambling disposition he moved to Fountain

Count\ , living there four 3'ears, then returning to Hendricks Town-

ship made it his home until 1845, when he moved to Clarke County,
where they both, within four days of each other in April, 1847, died,

near New Washington. Our subject remained with and assisted his

parents until he attained the age of twenty-three years, receiving
what was for those days a common school education. May 19,

1844, his marriage with Maria Bower was solemnized, and to their

union three children were born, EHza J., now Mrs. S. S. Lewis,

John T., who married Emma Owens, William D., whose wife was
Amv Miller. Mrs. Roe was a daughter of Andrew Bower. She
was born February 20, 1826. December 29, 1882, Mr. Roe suf-

fered the bereavement of losing his beloved wife. Mr. Roe has

always made farming his occupation and he has been quite success-

ful. He now owns about 400 acres of well improved land. In

politics he has always been a Democrat, and served as Township
Trustee.

Jacob Rose, an old citizen of Hendricks Township, is a native

of Gallatin County, Ky., where he was born, June 10, 1823, being
the only child born to Archibald and Nancy (Bruce) Rose, who
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were also natives of Kentucky; the former died when Jacob was

only one year old, and he was taken and reared b}^ his grandparents,
the Bruces, with whom he remained until he attained the age of

eighteen years, receiving a limited education, which he has greatly

supplemented by study. In 1841, he came to Indiana, coming im-

mediately to Shelby County and engaged as a farm hand for John
G. Webb, who then lived in Hendricks Township. He has always,
with the exception of two vears when he resided in Sugar Creek,
lived in Hendricks Township. April 29, 1S49, his marriage with

Harriet K^der was solemnized, and to their union eleven children

have been born, these nine now living: Mahala, widow of George
Dorsey, Willis S., unmarried, George A., Stephen D., Lewis P.,

who married Emma Sandefur, Calvin F., Martin L., Frances E.,

and Howard. Mr. Rose has always made farming his occupation,
•and he has been quite successful. He now owns eighty-two and a

half acres of well improved land, all the accumulation of his own
industrv and economy. In politics, he has always been a staunch

Democrat, and he always manifests a good live interest in the po-
litical affairs of the county and community in which he lives, where
he enjoys the respect and esteem of all who know him.

Samuel A. Sandefur, a prominent citizen of Hendricks

Township, is a native of Jackson Township, Shelby County, where
he was born November 3, 1836, being seventh in a family of eleven

children born to James B. and Nancy (Shipp) Sandefur, who were
both natives of Kentucky, and came to Indiana and Shelby County
in a very earh' day. In the spring of 1837, they removed to John-
son County, where they lived until their deaths. Our immediate

subject was reared to manhood in Johnson County, remaining at

home and assisting his parents until he attained the age of twenty-
three 3^ears, receiving a common school education. November 3,

1859, his marriage with Agnes Williams was solemnized, and to

their union twelve children were born, these eight now Hving:

Dora, wife of Andrew Glover; Jane, now Mrs. John Harding;
Wilham, unmarried; Nancy, consort of Thomas Ware; Addie,
wife of Morton Howell; John, Effie and Reuben. August 22,

1882, Mr. Sandefur suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved

wife. He has always made farming his principal occupation, in

connection with which he has for sixteen years been engaged in

tile manufacturing and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 525 acres of well improved land. He belongs to the Metho-

dist Protestant Church. In politics he is a Democrat.

Sylvester W. Sandefur, a resident of Hendricks Township,
is a native of Jackson Township, this count}^ and was bora Decem-
ber 16, 1841, the youngest in a family of nine children born to
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Samuel D. and Elizabeth (Shipp) Sandefur, who were both natives

of Mercer County, Ky. They came to Indiana and Shelby County
in 1823, where they liyed until their death, the latter dying in

1872, and the former in 1S76. Our immediate subject remained
with and assisted his parents in their declining years until their

death, receiving a limited education in consequence of the poor facil-

ities of those days. May 19, 1864, his marriage with Sarah A.
Reese was solemnized, and to their union live children have been
born: Dilly D., Arizona G., Otto T., Ezra O. and Ora C. Mr.
Sandefur's principal occupation has been farming: for a short time
he was engaged in the mercantile business at Jollity, and at New-
ton, 111., in the restaurant business for two years, and he has been

quite successful. He and wife own 160 acres of well improved
land. Mr. and Mrs. Sandefur are members of the Methodist
Protestant Church. He also belongs to the I. O. O. F. fraternit}-,
Hiawatha Lodge No. 193. In politics he is a Republican.

John E. SHA^y, a native of Hendricks Township, was
born April 2, 1S38, the son of William and Margaret (Scott)
Shaw. Wilham Shaw, whose father was one of the earliest settlers

of Shelby Count}-, was born March 29, 181 3. His wife, Margaret
Scott, was born February 10, 1810; they were married here and
continued residents of the count}- until their death, the latter dying
March 19, 1868, and the former, January 8, 1876. Our immediate

subject remained at home and assisted his parents until he attained

the age of twenty-seven years, receiving a limited education, being
onh- permitted to attend school when the weather was so bad that

he could not work. January- 19, 1864, his marriage with Mary A.

Ropp, was solemnized, and five children were born, of whom two
are now living: Saloma now Mrs. Baker, and Harriet. December
17, 1873, ^Ij'- Shaw suffered the bereavement of losing his wife.

April 2, 1874, his and Harriet D. Ropp's nuptials were celebrated,
and their union has been blessed with this one living child, William
C. Mr. Shaw has always made farming his occupation, in connec-
tion with which he raises stock quite extensivel}-, and he has been

very successful. He now owns 400 acres of well improved land.

He belongs to the Odd Fellows fraternity, having united with that

order about ten years ago. In politics he has always been a Demo-
crat, and he generally manifests a good live interest in the political
affairs of the county and community in which he lives.

Michael Sxyder, a prominent citizen of Hendricks, is a na-

tive of Washington County, Md., where he was born October 8,

1S15, being the third child and eldest son in a family of five chil-

dren born to John and Anna (Miller) Snyder. The former died

when ^Michael was about seven years of age. His widow removed
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soon after his death to Virginia, remaining there one year, when
thev came out to Monto-omery County, Ohio, where Michael
remained until he attained the acre of eighteen years. He received

what was for those days a common education, such as was to be
obtained in the subscription schools of that time. In the fall of

iS33,he came to Indiana, and located in Jackson Township, Shelb}^

Count}', and made his home with his half-brother until he reached
his majority; he then went to Bartholomew County and engaged
in work at the carpenter trade. February 14, 1839, his marriage
with Magdaline Lambert was solemnized, and to their union fifteen

children haye been born; their names are as follows: Daniel,
who married Clarissa A.Kennedy; Elizabeth A., now Mrs. Martin

Goodwin, John H., whose present wife was Eliza Frederick; Dayid,

deceased; Sarah M., consort of Frank Hill; Barbara E., widow of

Wilham H. Campbell; Margaret M., unmarried; George, unmar-

ried; Mar}- ^I., deceased; Lucinda J.; Jacob, deceased; Andrew

J., who married Cora Dodds, Amand M.
;
Eliza M., now Mrs.

Wilham M. Cooper; Michael F. About 1S44, he returned to

Shelby County, where, with the exception of one year, when he

lived in what is known as the Haripatch, in Bartholemew County,
he has ever since lived. He located on his present farm in Feb-

ruary, 1854. ^^^ occupation has been mostly all his life farming,
and he has been quite successful. He now owns 248 acres of

well improved land. He and wife are members of the Lutheran
Church. In politics, he is a Republican, but has never sought any
political preferment.

Daniel Snyder, an enterprising farmer of Hendricks Town-

ship, was born December 23, 1839, being the eldest child of a

family of fifteen children born to Michael and Magdaline (Lam-
bert) Snyder, (See sketch of Michael Snyder). Daniel remained
at home and assisted his parents until he attained the age of

twenty-five years, receiving a common school education. Being
the eldest son, his father needed his help on the farm, and in conse-

quence, was not permitted to attend school. December 27, 1864,
his marriage with Clarissa A. Kenned^-, was solemnized, and to

their union this one child has been born: Alma K., born February

22, 1877. Mr. Snyder has always made farming his occupation,
and he has been quite successful. He now owns 172 acres of well

improved land. In politics he is a Republican.
John Warble, a worthy citizen of Hendricks Township, is a

native of Jefferson County, Virginia, where he was born April 13,

1 818, being the fourth in a family of six children born to Matthias and
Elizabeth (Staubs) Warble, who were both natives of Washington
County, Maryland. They emigrated to Montgomery County, Ohio,
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in 1 82 7, where they continued to reside until our subject grew
to manhood in that count}', receiving a limited education, such as the

subscription schools of those da3's afforded. June 22, 1839, his-

marriage with Elizabeth Snyder was solemnized. She was a

daughter of John and Nancy (Miller) Snyder; she was born and

reared in Maryland. To the union of Mr. and Mrs. Warble, ten

children were born, of whom these five are now living: John W.,
Daniel, Nancy, now Mrs. George Cooper, Michael and Minerva,
wife of John Patterson. October, 1878, Mr. Warble suffered the

bereavement of losing his beloved wife. October 15, 1879, his and

Elizabeth (Wirtz) Stein's nuptials were celebrated. He has

always followed agricultural pursuits, and has been uniforml}-

successful, being the proprietor of 160 acres of well improved land.

He and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In

politics he is a Republican, but does not allow party prejudice to

control him in voting for local officials. The deceased children

were : Matthias, Jacob, Solomon, Elizabeth and Margaret E.

John W^. Warble, of Hendricks Township, is a native of

Montgomery Count}-, Ohio, where he was born September 4, 1840,

being the fourth in a family of eight children born to John and

Eliza (Snyder) Warble, who were natives of Maryland and Ohio,

respectivel}-. They emigrated to Indiana and Shelby County about

1848, and have since made it their home. The latter died in 1877;
the former survives her, and has attained the good old age of

seventy-three years. Our subject remained at home and assisted

his parents until he attained the *age of twenty-three years, receiv-

ing a common school education, such as the schools of those days
afforded. November 27, 1864, his marriage with Celia Goodwin
was solemnized, and to their union these three children were born :

WilHam, Charles and Edward. Mr. Warble has always made farm-

ing his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 107 acres of well improved land. December 12, 1882, Mr.

Warble suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved wife.

He belongs to the Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics, he is a

Republican.
James Wilson, a pioneer of Hendricks Township, is a native

of Fleming County, Kentucky, where he was born April 5, 1825,

being the eighth in a family of twelve children, born to Samuel and

Polly (Matcliet) Wilson, who were also natives of Kentucky. They
came to Indiana and Rush County, in 1827, where they lived until

their death, the former dying in 1837, and the latter in 1840. The

year following his mother's death, James came to Shelby County.
In early Hfe he received a limited education. August 27, 1846, his

marriage with Eliza Donley, was solemnized and to their union
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three children were born: Melvin, Susan and EHzabeth. July 30,

1853, Mr. Wilson suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved

wife. November 5, 1854, his and Caroline Strickler's nuptials were

celebrated, and their union has been blessed with these two children :

Martin A., whose present wife was Delia Cox, and Maggie, now
Mrs. Oliver Stafford. Mr. Wilson has always made farming his

principal occupation, in connection with which he has been manu-

facturing tile since 1871, and he has been quite successful. He
now owns 139^ acres of well improved land, and in -addition a well

equipped tile factory. He and wife are members of the Methodist

Episcopal Church. He also belongs to the Masonic faternity. In

politics he is a Republican.

John Toner, a native of Lycoming County, Pa., where he

was born December 28, 1814, being the next eldest in a family of

twelve children born to Edward and Susanna (Updegraff) Toner,

who were also natives of Pennsylvania, the former of Irish, and

the latter of German descent. In 181 5, they emigrated to Indiana,

settling on White Water, in Franklin County, where they lived

exactly seventeen years, when in 1832, they came to Shelby County,

locating in Hendricks Township, about one mile from our subject's

present place of residence. They remained here and made this

county their home until their death. He died at the advanced age
of eightN'-four years. John remained at home until he attained the

age of twenty-two years. He received a common school educa-

tion such as was to be obtained in the primitive log school-houses

of those days. March 9, 1837, his marriage with Nancy J. Par-

ker was solemnized, and to their union eight children were born, of

^^•hom these four are now living: James E., who married Sophia

Salla; Mattie, now Mrs. William H. Miller; Elizabeth, wife of

Dr. J. PI. Sanford, and Belle, now Mrs. George WiUiams. June

14, 1856, Mr. Toner suffered the bereavement of losing his beloved

wife. May 3, 1857, his and Janette Thayer's nuptials were cele-

brated, and their union has been blessed with these four children :

John S. whose wife was Cad Hester, Caress L., Harry M. and

Elmer S. Mr. Toner has always made farming his occupation, in

connection with which he has always dealt in stock quite exten-

sively and he has been ver}^ successful. He now owns 900 acres

of well improved land. He and family are members of the

Christian Church. In politics he affiliates with the National Green-

back party. The Updegraff family preceded the Toner family a

number of years, coming in 182 1.
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Lewis Barlow, Trustee of Jackson Township and a well-to-do

farmer, was born on the old Barlow homestead near where he now
resides, May 15, 1838. John and Anna E. (Lisk) Barlow, were
his parents, the former a native of Kentucky, and the latter of

New Jersey. They came to Jackson Township in pioneer days
and grew up amid the scenes incident to that day. In 1836, they
were united in marriage, and for forty-eight years shared the bless-

ings of a happy home circle. Their children were : Lewis, Clarrisa,

INIahala, Mary A., William H., Willet, George, James H., Eliza

and Frances, of whom William H., George and Eliza are deceased.

The father and mother were devoted members of the Christian

Church, and after a long and useful life were called home, the

former dying April 12, 1884, and the latter. May 25, 1886. Lewis
Barlow spent his young days upon the farm, receiving a fair edu-

cation. He did not begin doing for himself until the age of twenty-
three. On February 14, 1861, he was united in marriage with Jane

Cutsinger, daughter of William and Parthenia (Deupree) Cut-

singer, who, at this date, (1887), are old and respected residents

of Jackson Township. Jane was born near where she now resides,

December 11, 1841. Our subject and wife were blessed with four

children, namely: Martha A., Sarah J., Edwin L. and Mar}' L., all

of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs. Barlow are members of the

Christian Church. Mr. Barlow is a Democrat in politics, and is

one of the active workers in his party. In April, 1884, he was
elected Trustee of Jackson Township, and re-elected again in 1886.

Under his careful management, the township affairs are in a prosper-
ous condition, especially the schools, which rank among the best in the

county. Farming has been his principal occupation in life, although
he has given some attention to saw milling, brick making and

threshing wheat, in all of which he has been successful. He be-

gan life in fair circumstances, and to-da}^ owns one of the finest im-

proved farms in his section. It la^'S one mile west of Mt. Auburn,
and is provided with first-class and substantial improvements. It

was entered in 1834, by John Jackson.
Noah N. Collins, of Jackson Township, and ex-Trustee as

born in Cincinnati, Ohio, January 16, 1828. His parents were John
and Rebecca (McCoy) ColHns, natives of Ireland, emigrating to

this countr}' about the time of their maturity. When Noah was
three 3'ears of age his parents remo ci to Boone County, Ind.,

where Mrs. Collins died about 1833. After this Noah was taken to

Indianapolis, and bound to a prominent attorney o that city, who soon
after died. He then went to live with James Flanigan, with whom
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he remained until he was about fourteen 3'ears of age. His next
venture was a settlement with his relations near Lagro, Wabash
County, where he remained until he arrived at his maturity. Be-

ing a poor boy and compelled to look out for himself from the age
of five years, his early education was limited, but being a close ob-

server he to-day has a fair practical education. On April 28, 1850,
he was married to Catharine A. Heck, daughter of Jacob and

Mary Heck, old and respected residents of this countv, having
emigrated here in 1825. Mrs. Collins was born in Ohio, and has

spent the most of her life on the farm, where Mr. Collins now re-

sides. This union was blessed with six children, Mary E., Aaron,
Cornelius and Philip, now living. Mr. Collins is a staunch Demo-
crat, and lirmly upholds the principles of his party. He held the

ofhce of Justice of the Peace eight 3'ears, and Constable of his

township six years, and in April, 18S0, he was elected Trustee of

Jackson Township. At the expiration of that term he was re-

elected, and therefore served four 3'ears in that capacitv. In Octo-

ber, 1849, ^^^ came to Jackson Township, and has been identified

with its interests ever since. He began life a poor bo}' but by dint

of industry he has succeeded in providing himself with a comforta-
ble home.

Abner Conner traces his ancestr}^ to times prior to the Revo-
lution. In Maryland, during the year 1754, "^^'^^ born Abner
Conner, who moved to Virginia when twentv vears of age, and
took an active part in the War for Independence. Soon after the

close of the war he was married to Anna Russel, daughter of John
Russel, a native of Ireland. In a short time they removed to

Tennessee, and remained there three years, when he resolved to

emigrate to Dearborn County, Ind., where he was the third settler

in the county. In a few years he sold out in Dearborn County, and
removed to Franklin County, Ind., and after a residence there of

three years he removed with his familv to Shelb}' Countv, landing
on the farm where his son now lives, March 5, 1S23. Their
nearest markets were Madison and Lawrenceburg, but under what
would seem to us to-day insurmountable difficulties, those hardy
pioneers by degrees developed what is to-day considered one of the

finest farming counties in the State. December 25, 1833, Abner
Conner, a respected citizen, a kind and lo^'ing father, and a member
of the Masonic order, passed away. A widow and six children sur-

vived him; they were, Massa, John, William, Eleanor, Sarah
and Abner. Mrs. Conner continued to reside on the old home-
stead until January, 1836, \vhen she, too, was called away.
Abner, the youngest child, was born January 27, 1804, in Dearborn

Countv, Ind. He came to Shelbv County in his 3'outh, and assisted

'26
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his parents in developing a home. His early educational advan^

tages were limited, but were fair for that da}-. He remained at

home as long as his father lived, and adopted farming as his life

profession. On February 28, 1S37, he was united in marriage with

Miss Mary A. Doughman, daughter of Jacob and Elizabeth

(Thompson) Doughman. Mrs. Conner was born in Center Countv,

Penn., November 6, 181 7. This union was blessed with ten children,

namelv: Eliza J., born March 26, 183S: John T., born June 27,

1840; Wilham B., born January 14, 1841; Lewis M., born August
19, 1843; Hiram S., born March 5, 1S46; Sarah M., born October

31, 1849; George C, born May 15, 1851; Jacob W., born June
20, 1854; Amanda E., born May 7, 1856; Alice A.-, January 19,

1858, all of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs. Conner are members
of the Christian Church at Mt. Auburn, and have been such over

thirty years. Politically, Mr. Conner is a staunch Democrat, and
thinks he will always remain true to the principles of the party.

George Conner, a native of Jackson Township, was born

here May 15, 1852. His parents were Abner and Mary Conner,
whose personal history appears in this volume. He was reared

on a farm, and lived on the farm until 1885, when he engaged in

the general merchandise business in Mt. Auburn, Ind. On Oc-
tober II, 1876, he was united in marriage with Miss Cordelia Hill,

daughter of John H. and Elizabeth (Stoughten) Hill, both natives

of Bartholomew County, where the^s' were born as follows: The
former, February 27, 1838, and the latter in 1842. They were
married on December 21, 1856. Mrs. Conner was born m Bar-

tholomew County, Ind., February 29, 1861. Her entire life has

been spent in this country. Mr. and Mrs. Conner were blessed

with five children: Clemie, born July 20, 1879, died September 30,

1880; Artie M., born February 19, 1880: Hallard, born May 19,

1882; Farrest V., born February 14, 1885, died January 14, 1886;

Corman, born October 25, 1886. Mr. and Mrs. Conner are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church. Politically, Mr. Conner is a staunch Dem-
ocrat. In April, 1884, he was elected Trustee of Flat Rock Town-

ship, Bartholomew County, Ind., but resigned to engage in business

in Mt. Auburn. By fair and honest dealing he has built up a good
trade, and has a comfortable home and business room.

G. F. CoNOVER, one of the leading citizens of Jackson, is a na-

tive of Shelby County, being born on the farm where he now resides,

October 29, 1836. His parents were Obadiah and Nancy (Breed-

ing) Conover, the former was the son of John B. and Eliza (Bairdj
Conover, natives of New Jersey, the latter was a native of Ken-

tucky. Obadiah and Nancy Conover were united in marriage in

Bartholomew County, and soon removed to Shelby County. The
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father of our subject is still living and in fair health for one seventv-

six years of age; the mother was called away in 1H36, when Garrett

was but two weeks old. He was reared amid the scenes incident

to farm life, and has adopted farming as a life profession. At an

early age he began working for himself, and carefully saved his

earnings. On October 19, 1864, he was united in marriage with

Miss A. J. Kelly, daughter of Matthew and Elizabeth (Armstrong)
Kelh', natives of Kentuck}-, and at present are old and respected
residents of Jackson Township. Mrs. Conover was born Decem-
ber II, 1842, in Shelby Count}', and with the exception of about

twelve years' residence in Iowa and Missouri, she has made this her

home. Mr. and Mrs. Conover are members of the Christian

Church, with which they have been united a number of years. Mr.
Conover is a member of Herndon Lodge No. 95, I. O. O. F., of

Edinburg, Ind. Politically, he is a staunch Republican, and firmly
believes in the principles of that part}'.

Henry K. Dunkel, a prominent farmer of Jackson Town-

ship, was born in Lancaster County, Penn., November 21, 1832.
His parents were John and Susan (Kline) Dunkel, natives of Lan-
caster County, Penn., where they were born and raised; the former
died there on March 22, 1859, ^^^ latter passed away in Clark

County, Ohio. Their wedded life was blessed with eight
sons and dau";hters, of whom Henry was the seventh child. He
spent his boyhood and youth on his father's farm, and adopted

farming as his life profession. At an early age he began doing
for himself by engaging at work by the day and month. He care-

fully sa\'ed his earnings, and by the time he was married he had
accumulated quite a start in life. On i\ugust 25, 1862, he enlisted

in Company G, Third Cavalry, Forty-fifth Regiment, Indiana Vol-

unteers. He was placed in the Army of the Cumberland, and par-

ticipated in the following noted battles: Nashville, Stone River,

Chicamauga, Knoxville, Shelbyville, Bentonville, Macon, Jones-
boro, Atlanta, and was with Gen. Kilpatrick on his famous raid

to the Gulf. On the 8th day of June, 1865, he received his dis-

charge at Newburn, N. C. Strange to say, during all those years
of almost constant peril and hard fighting, he never received a

w^ound, and returned home to enjoy the Union he had fought so

bravely to preserve. In 1865, he went to Pennsylvania, and

there he was united in marriage with Rebecca Alexander,
a nati\e of Ohio. This union was blessed with one child, Re-
becca C, who is now the wife of William Hostetter, and residents

of Osborne, Clark Co., Ohio. Mrs. Dunkel, after a brief wedded

life, was called away, her death occurring in November, 1866. On
March 7, 1869, Mr. Dunkel was again married to Mary A. Bar-



672 SHELBY COUNTY.

low, daughter of John and Eliza (Lisk) Barlow. Mary was born
in Jackson Township, November 14, 1845. Her entire life has

been spent here. This family circle was blessed with four chil-

dren: William S., Eliza F., Susan F., and Aaron, of whom Will-

iam S. died in infancy. Mr. Dunkel has made Shelby County his

home since June, 1865. He and his wife are members of the

Christian Church, and he is a member of John R. Cooper Post

No. 472, G. A. R., and is a Republican in politics.

John Eberhart, one of the farmers of Jackson Township, was
born in Washington County, Penn., March 18, 1804, therefore is

now in his eighty-fourth year. His parents were Adam and Bar-

bara (Pearson) Eberhart, both natives of Pennsylvania. They
were parents of eight children : Samuel, who lost his life while

under command of Gen. Hull, at Detroit, during the War of 1812;

Andrew, also a soldier of 181 2, and now deceased; Frederick, a

soldier during the War of 181 2, also deceased; David, deceased;

John, the subject of this biography; Jane, deceased; Nanc}^,
deceased, and Sarah, deceased. John is the only child now living.
About 1826, he resolved to seek a home in the west, and accord-

ingly started on foot, with his provisions on his back, for this

territor}'. He walked the entire distance and after arriving here

entered eight}^ acres of the west half of the southwest quarter of

Section 3, and returned to Ohio, where he continued to reside until

1829. Prior to this or during the holidays of 1823, he was mar-
ried to Nancy Randolph, daughter of David and Polly Randolph,
both natives of Virginia. This union was blessed with: Andrew,
Charlotte, Loretta, Jefferson, Isabella, Clarinda, Harriette and

Mary, of whom Charlotte, Loretta, Clarinda and Harriette are

deceased. After the harvest of 1829 was over, John Eberhart,
shouldered his ax and started for his land in this township,

leaving his wife and four children to await his return. x\fter

arriving here he put up a small cabin, covered with clap-boards,
and a puncheon floor. As soon as the cabin was completed he
returned for his famih'. The winter of 1829 will always be re-

membered by Mr. Eberhart. He spent a great deal of time in his

clearing, and by the spring of 1830, had a field ready for corn,
and from this time on crops never failed, and he was very success-

ful. He added to his first tract and now owns over 600 acres of

fine land. In 1864, his wife was called away. She was a kind and

loving wife and mother, respected by all who knew her. On Oc-
tober 12, 1865, he was married to Delilah Cox, daughter of

Jacob and Sarah (Moore) Cox. Delilah was born February 14,

1834, and was raised in Hamilton County, Ohio. This union was
blessed with two daugters : Clarinda and Lenore.



JACKSOX SKETCHES. 673

Edward J. Fields, a prominent resident of Mt. Auburn, was
born in Montgomer}^ County, Ohio, April 26, 1840. His parents
were Jacob H. and Elizabeth (Cotterman) Fields, natives of Berks

County, Pa., where they were married, but soon afterward re-

moved to Ohio, and resided there until their respective deaths, the
former's February 15, 1859, ^"<^ ^^^ latter's August 13, 1886. Ed-
ward J. was the lifth child, and was reared on the farm, receiving
a fair education. At the age of eighteen he was apprenticed to

learn the blacksmith's trade, and continued at that three vears. On
September 10, 1861, he answered his country's call by enlisting in

Company C, Forty-fourth Regiment Ohio Infantr}^ and took part
in the following noted battles: Lewisburg, Va., and in all the

scouting in that State, the battles of Beverly, Cotton Hill, Charles-

ton, Va., siege of Knoxville, Cedar Creek, and Cumberland Gap,
and during the siege of Knoxville he had a fingei; shot off. Au-
gust 10, 1865, he received an honorable discharge, and returned
home to enjoy the Union he had fought to preserve. During the

war, while home on a furlough, he chose for his life companion
Miss Mary E. Black, a native of Ohio. This union was blessed
with three children: Loren M., Harry E. and Elizabeth, all of

whom are living. Mrs. Fields died January 20, 1870. In Octo-

ber, 187 1, he was married to Elizabeth J. Niebel, daughter of

John and Catharine Niebel, whose personal history appears in this

volume. This union was blessed with one child, John M. On
September 20, 1870, our subject located in Mt. Auburn, where he

began, and has ever since followed, his trade, having come to

Shelby Countv some time prior to that. Politicallv, he is a staunch

Republican, and firmly believes in the principles oi that part}'. He
has never sought for political honors, but when it is necessary in a

campaign, he is always found in the front fighting for his party.
Mr. and Mrs. Fields are members of the Lutheran Church. He is

a member of Herndon Lodge No. 95, also of "Edinburg Camp,"
and a member of John R. Cooper Post, G. A. R., 472.

Dr. Walter M. Ford, a prominent physician and merchant of

Mt. Auburn, was born in Green County, Ky., November 16, 1852.
He was the son of Thomas J. and Emily J. (Thurman) Ford,
both of whom were natives of Kentuckv, the former beinrr a

wealthy planter. The Doctor was reared amid the scenes incident

to plantation life, receiving a good education. He attended Bethel

College, Kentucky, during the years 1872 and 1873. During the

year 1874, he entered the ofifice of Dr. J. N. McCormick, of New
Haven, Ky., and read medicine with him until September, 1874,
when he entered the Miami Medical College at Cincinnati, and
remained until March, 1876, when he began taking lectures in the
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University of Louisville, Kentucky, which to-day is considered one
of the best medical colleges in the west. From that institution he

graduated in March, 1877, and in June, 1877, he located in Mt.

Auburn, having traveled from Kentucky on horseback. He im-

mediately began the practice of medicine and surgery, and success

attended his labors from the beginning. On March 21, 1878, he
chose for his life companion, Miss Mary C. Emerick, daughter of

Abraham and Eliza (Gephart) Emerick, natives of Pennsylvania.
Mrs. Ford is a native of Shelby County, where she was born on

April 13, 1862; her entire life has been spent here. This union

has been blessed with four children: Luella, Eva L., Jesse E.,

and Dora I. M., of whom the last is deceased. Dr. and Mrs. Ford
are members of the church, and he is a member of Fidelity Lodge
No. 42, K. of P., of Edinburg, Ind. In 1884, he engaged in the

general merchandise businesss in connection with the practice of

medicine, and to-day owns a large and well selected stock of dry

goods, groceries and (jueensware, and by just and fair dealing, has

built up a reliable trade. In politics, the Doctor is a staunch

Democrat, and takes an active part in the affairs of his part\'. In

August, 1885, he received the appointment of Postmaster at

Mt. Auburn, which position he now holds.

Julius Haneman, a prominent resident of Jackson Township,
was born in Montgomery County, Ohio, January 5, 1835. ^i^

parents were: Bernard H. and Jane C. (Kemper) Haneman, both
natives of Hanover, Germany. Thev were married in Hanover,

July I, 1828. On the 15th of April, 1832, they bid farewell to

their native land, landing in New York in June following. After a

residence of six 3-ears in Ohio, they traded their property for the

farm our subject now^ resides on, and in May, 1838, started for

Shelb\' Count}'. Although not a practical farmer he had suc-

ceeded in putting himself on the road to prosperity when his

death occurred, October 4, 185 1. The mother died October

12, 1874. They both belonged to the Lutheran Church. Julius
has spent almost his entire life on the farm, where he now^

resides. In his 3^outh he received a fair education, and adopted
farming as his life occupation On December 24, 1876, he was
united in marriage with Miss Hattie L. Isle}', daughter of John and

Sophia (Warner )Isley, the former a nativeof Decatur County, Ind.,

and the latter a native of Montgomery County, Ohio. Mrs.
Haneman was born in Washington Township, Shelby County,
June 18, 1849, her entire life has has been spent in this county, re-

ceiving a fair education in her girlhood days. This union has been
blessed with three children, Estella J., born January 8, 1879;
Emma S., born October 30, 1881, and Bernice E., born January 29,
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1885, all of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs. Haneman are mem-
bers of the Lutheran Church. Politically, he is a staunch Republi-
can.

Jacob Klein, of Mt. Auburn, Indiana, is a native of Prussia,
born March 24, 1839. ^^^ parents were Adam and Margaret
(Hiem) Klein, natives of Prussia. By the time Jacob was fifteen

years of age, he had completed the common school course, he then
entered the higher schools and completed a good practical educa-
tion. During his school days, he began working at the carpenter's
trade at the age of sixteen, and made rapid strides in draughting,
which soon placed him among the leaders of his trade. Philipine,

daughter of Henry and Caroline (Hardt) Bruecher, born August
27, 1839, became his wife January 23, i860, and on October 15,

i860, they started for the United States. They immediately came
to Indiana, where an old friend resided, and the winter of '60 was

spent in Edinburgh. In April, 1861, they came to Mt Auburn,
where he has ever since been engaged in the work of carpentering
and contracting. They are the parents of six children, named:
Charles F., August E., Annie E., Clara M., William H. and
Edward W., the last two deceased. Mr. and Mrs. Klein have been
life long members of the Lutheran Church, and he belongs to the

Knights of Pythias order. In politics he is a Democrat, and has
held the offices of Assessor and Township Trustee. He has ac-

cumulated a considerable property as the fruit of his life-long indus-

tiy and integrity.
Hon. Jacob Mutz, a wealthy and influential citizen of Jackson

Township, Shelby County, Ind., is a native of Lancaster County,
Penn., born October 11, 1825. His parents were George and
Catharine (Fryberger) Mutz, the former a native of Germany, and
the latter of Switzerland. When Jacob was four years of age, his

parents removed to Montgomery County, Ohio. There he was
reared amid the scences incident to farm life; his early education

was fair for that dav of limited school facilities. At the a";e of tif-

teen, he was apprenticed to learn the blacksmith's trade. After

completing it, he followed that for an occupation about twelve

years. On the loth da}' of April, 1847, he arrived in Jackson
Township, and immediately began working at his trade, Decem-
ber 7, 1847, he was united in marriage with Maria Snepp, daugh-
ter of Leonard and Magdalena (Warner j Snepp, natives of Ohio.

Mr. and Mrs. Mutz were blessed with ten children, six of whom
are living, namely: Charles M., Catharine, Etoile Belle, Emma
A., Philo J., Oscar W. Mr. and Mrs. Mutz are members of the

Lutheran Church, with which they have been united a number of

3'ears. He is a member of Edinburg Lodge No. 100, F. & A. M.
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Politically, he is a staunch Democrat, and firmly upholds the prin-

ciples of that party. In the fall election of i860, he was elected to

the Indiana Legislature, and was re-elected in. 1862; during those

sessions, the business to be transacted was of the utmost importance
to the citizens of Indiana. In 1869, he was elected a member of

the Indiana State Board of Agriculture, and took such an interest

in the work, that he was continued in office fourteen 3'ears. He
was appointed by Gov. Porter as Trustee of Purdue University,
which position he held until his election to the Indiana Legislature
in the fall of 1884, when he resigned. He has alwa3'S been a hard

working man and now owms a farm of 400 acres. Mr. Mutz is one

of the foremost citizens of the count}-, and is pre-eminently a self-

made man.

John Niebel, a prominent farmer and resident of Jackson

Township, was born in Montgomery County, Ohio, December 5,

1 8 10. There his boyhood and youth were spent amid the hardships of

farm life, receiving a fair education for that da}'. His parents were

John and Elizabeth (Myers) Niebel. Our subject remained on the

old home farm until he was about twenty-five years old, when on

February 11, 1836, he was united in marriage with Catharine

Snepp, daughtei of Samuel and Elizabeth (Isley) Snepp. Mr.
Niebel came to Shelby County, Ind., arriving in Jackson Township,
in June, 1837, and has made that his home ever since. Their home
was blessed with seven children: Eliza, Mary, Louis, Daniel W.,
Elizabeth, Noah T. and Anna, of whom Louis died in infancy, all

the others are grown to maturity. Mr. and Mrs. Niebel are mem-
bers of the Lutheran Church, with which they have been united

over forty-five years. Politically, Mr. Niebel is a Democrat, and
has held the position of Township Assessor. Honest and upright in

all his dealings, he now holds the respect and confidence of the en-

tire community.
Levi Niebel, a prominent and influential farmer and citizen of

Jackson Township, is a native of Montgomery County, Ohio,
where he was born October 15, 1821. His parents were John and
Elizabeth Niebel. Our subject spent his boyhood and youth on the

farm, and owing to the limited school advantages he could not receive

more than a fair education. At the age of nineteen he began farm-

ing on his own responsibiility as a renter, which he followed until

his removal to Shelby County, Ind., in 1849. On Januar}' 17, 1843,
he was united in marriage with Miss Sarah Yoe, daughter of John
and Venia Yoe, natives of Pennsylvania. Mrs. Niebel was born

in Pennsylvania, October 6, 1822. There she was reared and in

Ohio she became the wife of our subject. This union has been blessed

with seven children: Jennetta A., Sarah M., Harriet, Joseph H.,
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Mary C, Clara J., Laura A., of whom Harriet, Joseph and Laura
are deceased. Mr. and Mrs. Niebel are members of the Lutheran
Church, with which they have been united over twenty-six years.

Pohtically, Mr. Niebel is a staunch Democrat, and at one time was
Trustee of Jackson Township. Mr. Niebel is one of the well-to-

do farmers of the township, and is highl}' esteemed b}' all who
know him.

Hon. William Patterson, a farmer of Jackson Township,
was born there February 11, 1827. His parents were David L.
and Ann (Shaw) Patterson, natives of Ohio, the latter of

whom is yet living and has arrived at the ripe old age of eighty-
two years. Mr. Patterson began life on his own responsibility, at

the age of twent}^ and on December lo, 1846, he w^as united in

marriage with Miss Charlotte Eberhart, daughter of John and
Nancv Eberhart, whose personal history is contained in this volume.
This union was blessed with three children: John, Willis and

George, of whom Willis is deceased. Mrs. Patterson was called

awa}^ in 1854, '^^'^ ^^'- Patterson was married to Loretta Eber-

hart, a sister to his first wife. Their union was blessed with one

child, Amanda. He owns a fine farm of 480 acres, all of which he has
made by adopting a straight forward course in life. He and his

wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church, and he is a

staunch Democrat. In 1874, ^^ '^'^^^ elected to the State Legisla-
ture, which position he tilled with credit. Loretta, the second
wife of Mr. Patterson, was called away, March 2, 1881, and Janu-

ary I, 1S84, he was married to Miss Eliza F. Mayes, daughter of

M. W. and Nanc}' Mayes, prominent residents of Jackson Town-
ship.

Richard Pile was born in Johnson County, Ind., January 12,

1827, the son of Richard and Margaret Pile, natives of Ken-

tucky. Richard was reared on the farm, in Johnson Countv, and
attended the schools of that day. At the age of twenty-one he

began life on his own responsibility, and at the age of twenty-three

engaged in work in a warehouse in Edinburg, where he remained
until he was twenty-five years old. On August 5, 1852, he was mar-
ried to Maria Anderson, daughter of William and Rebecca (Con-
ner) Anderson, born in Bartholomew Countv, Ind., in 1830. This

union was blessed with six children : John, Eliza M., George M.,

Emma, Albert and Arrilla, of whom Emma is deceased. Mr. and
Mrs. Pile are members of the Protestant Methodist Episcopal
Church. Politically, he is a Republican, and has never sought
political honors. Mr. Pile to-dav has a comfortable home, and has

been verv liberal with his children, and has assisted them to homes;
he, however, owns a fine farm of 232 acres, of good land. He is
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honest and upright in all his dealings, and holds the respect and con-

fidence of the entire communitv.
Alexander Pruitt, a wealthy farmer and lumber dealer of

Jackson Township, was born on the farm where he now resides,

September 4, 1835. His parents were Pleasant and Nancy Pruitt,

who were among the pioneer settlers of Jackson, the former of

whom is yet living. Our subject was reared on the farm and in

connection with saw milling and brick makincr, owns and controls

one of the finest farms in Shelby County. In the fall of 1S57, he
chose for his life companion Miss Sarah A. Miller, a native of

Ohio. This union was blessed with twelve children, seven of whom
are living, they are: Israel A., William A., i\dda A., Jackson A.,
Franklin A., Doc. A. and Gracie A. Politically, he is a loyal Dem-
ocrat, and when his services are needed he is always found at the

front. He has never sought office, but gives his time and mone}'
willingly for the success of his partv and its principles. He began
life in moderate circumstances, and in 1869, when he purchased
the old home farm he assumed a debt of $22,250, which
enormous amount he has wiped out. His fine improved farm con-

sists of over 300 acres, and is situated just east of the city limits of
"
Edinburg." He also owns a fine farm in Bartholomew Countv.

He has located on the home farm a large steam saw mill. He also

manufactures a fine (juality of brick, and all in all is one of the leading
business men of Shelby County, and to-day, the wealthiest resident

of Jackson Township.
John F. Shaner, a prominent resident of Jackson Township,

was born in Adams County, Penn., December 17, 1836. His parents
were John and Aaron (Feizer) Shaner, natives of Pennsylvania, of

German descent. Our subject, at the age of thirteen years, ac-

companied his parents to Shelbv County. They settled near St.

Paul, in Noble Township, and there John grew to manhood and
attended the district schools of that day, receiving a fair education.

At the age of seventeen he began life on his own responsibility by
engaging at work b}' the month. On March 15, i860, he was
united in marriage with Catharine A. Coffman, daughter of James
and Mary Coffman. Mrs. Shaner was born and reared in Jackson
Township, her birth occurring April 20, 1837. This union was
blessed with ten children, of whom Mary J., Clara F., James W.
Ellen, and Charlie are now living. Mr. Shaner is a staunch Demo-
crat, and firmh' believes in the principles of that party. In April,

18S4, he was elected Justice of the Peace of Jackson Township,
which position he now holds. October 22, 1862, he enlisted in Co.

G, Second Indiana Cavalrv, Fortv-first Regiment, under command
of Col. McCook, and was placed in the department of the Cum-
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T^erland. He took part in some of the most hotly contested bat-

tles of the war, namely: Triune, Shelbyville, Green River,

Knoxville, Nashville, Stone River, Buzzard Roost, Resaca, and
the Atlanta campaign. In the spring- of '65, he was selected to

accompany Gen. Wilson in his cavalry raid, starting in middle

Tennessee, passing through Mississippi, Alabama, Florida, and to

Macon, Ga., where they arrived about April 25, 1865. This com-
mand took part in a severe fight at West Point, after the sur-

render of Lee's arm}^ At the last battle he was wounded in the

\\rist. He began life a poor boy and has earned everv dollar he is

now worth by hard and honest toil.

Daniel Snepp, Sr., is an old and highly respected resident of

Jackson Township, born in Montgomery County, Ohio, September
I, 1814. His parents were Daniel and Elizabeth (Isley) Snepp,
the former a native of Pennsylvania, and the latter of Tennessee,
both of German descent. The father died when Daniel was nine

3^ears of age, leaving a widow and six children to mourn his loss,

thus it became necessar}- for Daniel to do for himself, and for a few

years, he was compelled to make his home among strangers. His

mother re-married, and once more the family was brought together,
but soon the happv circle was broken by the death of that dearest

friend on earth, the mother, which occurred in 1831. Daniel was
seventeen 3'ears old, and was soon apprenticed to learn the black-

smith trade, which he followed about five years. In 1832, he paid

Shelby Countv a visit and was verv much pleased with the coun-

try. On July 3, 1836, he was married to Mary Rollman, daughter
of George and Barbara Rollman. Mar}- was born in Pennsylvania,
but accompanied her parents to Ohio, when quite young. Mr.
and Mrs. Snepp began housekeeping about seven miles south-

w^est of Dayton, Ohio, where they resided on a rented farm until

March, 1839, when they started in wagons for Jackson Township,
The year before, Mr. Snepp came out and purchased seventy
acres of the farm he owns to-dav for $700. There was a cabin on

the land, and into that he moved his family and set about to clear

up a home. His land was co\'ered with a dense growth of heav}"

timber, and it has required a vast amount of hard labor to develop
the land, but to-day, he owns over 300 acres, divided into two fine

improved farms, and he is surrounded with the comforts of this life.

He and his wife were blessed with six children, namely : Joseph,. Will-

iam, Ehzabeth J., John E., George W., and Catharine A., of whom
Catharine A., is deceased. The mother and wife was called away
February 22, 1853. She was a true Christian woman, a member
of the Lutheran Church, and highly respected b}' all who knew
her. On October 16, 1855, Mr. Snepp was again married, his
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choice being Mrs. Man* Guntle, daughter of Jonathan and Mary
(Six) Guntle. Mrs. Guntle was a widow of John Guntle, (de-

ceased), a native of Pennsylvania. Mr. and Mrs. Snepp are mem-
bers of the Lutheran Church. Politically, he is a staunch Demo-
crat, and was selected one of the first Trustees ofJackson Township,
and has served ten or fifteen 3-ears in that capacity. His life has

been an honorable one, and to-day he stands without reproach in the

estimation of the people.
Henry Spurlix was born in Warren Countv, Ohio, in 1822.

His parents were Jesse and Elizabeth (Goodpaster) Spurlin, the

former a native of Virginia, and the latter of Kentuck}-. At the

age of six he came to Washington Township, Shelbv Countv,
with his parents, who resided here until their deaths. When he
came here this was a perfect wilderness, filled with all kinds of

game. Thev purchased land of Joseph Drake, and began to make
a home. Henry was reared amid the hardships of farm and

pioneer life, and has lived to see a wonderful change in this countrv;
what was a wilderness sixty years ago, has been transformed into

fine beautiful farms. At the ajje of twentv-one he beijan to do for

himself, and in 1847 was married to Miss Sarah J. Coffman, daugh-
ter of Henry Coffman, whose biography appears in this volume.

This union was blessed with fourteen children: Elijah W., George
W., Mary C, Andrew J., Harvey A., Christina E., Jacob L.,

Frances A., Sarah A., Ester J., Charley W., Bruce, Amanda M.
and Henr}' J., of whom Elijah W^., Andrew J., Sarah A. and Ester J.

are deceased. Politicallv, Mr. Spurlin is a staunch Democrat, and
firmlv believes in the principles of his partv. Bv hard and earnest

toil he has succeeded in providing himself with 259 acres of first

class land. He adopted farming as a life profession, and to-day can

be classed among the successful farmers of Jackson Township.
JoHX Stixe, a prominent farmer and lumber dealer of Jackson

Township, was born in Montgomerv Countv, Ohio, October i,

1838. His parents were Frederick and Elizabeth (Wertz) Stine,

the former a native of Frederick Countv, Md., where he was born

May 18, 181 3, and at the age of ten, he accompanied his parents,

John and Sophia Stine, to Montgomerv County, Ohio, where he

grevr to manhood, and was married in September, 1837. Eliza-

beth his wife, was born in Middletown, Ohio, June 29, 1818; her

parents were Daniel and Sarah Wertz, the former of whom lived

to be ninety-four years of age, when he died from an accident

received by falling down a flight of stairs. John, at the age of

five 3"ears, accompanied his parents to this countv, arriving here

October i, 1843. Thev settled on what is now known as the

George Muttendon farm, and in May, 1844, 11^0ved to a farm one mile
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east of jNIt. Auburn, where the father of our subject was called

away April 3, 1875. The mother is still living, and is to-day the

wife of John Warble, and resides in Hendricks Township. Our

subject grew to manhood here on a farm, and adopted farming as

a life profession. On March 7, 1858, he was married to Marv A.

Green, by whom he had five children: Matilda E., William H.,
Sarah S., Frederick F., and Charlotte A., of whom Charlotte A.
is deceased. On October 11, 1871, he was married to Phebe
Lamar, born May 29, 1849. This union was blessed with five

children, Clarke and Hattie, twins, Kittie, Carle and Grover, of

whom Hattie is deceased. Mr. Stine began life as a renter, and

to-day owns 298 acres.

Jacob Wertz (deceased,) was born in Ohio, w^here he was
raised. He w'as married there to Elizabeth Warble, daughter of

Mathias and Elizabeth Stoap. Mrs. Wertz was born in Virginia,
November 11, 181 7. She was quite young when her parents
removed to Ohio. Jacob Wertz and family moved to Shelb}'
County in 1847, and located on the farm where Mrs. Wertz
now resides. Jacob Wertz was suddenly called away September
16, 1S76. He was a member of the Lutheran Church. He left

a widow and three children : Mathias, John and Daniel, of

whom Daniel, born January 31, 1852, is deceased, dying August
9, 1884. Mrs. Wertz continues to reside on the old home farm.

She is a devout member of the Lutheran Church, with which she

has been united over fifty years. Jacob Wertz left home for

Edinburg, to meet Rev. Mr. Westner, of the Lutheran Church: on

his return home, while passing the house of an old friend of his,

William Cutsinger, it was on fire, and during the excitement

dropped dead. This was on September 16, 1876.

John Wertz, a prominent farmer of Jackson, was born in

Montgomery County, Ohio, Ma^' 30, 1844. He was the son of Jacob
and Elizabeth Wertz, whose personal history appears in this

volume. When three 3'ears of age he accompanied his parents to

Shelby County, locating one mile east of Mt. Auburn, on the farm

where his mother still resides. His boyhood and youth were spent
on the farm, and his life occupation has been farming. At the age
of twenty-two, or on October 12, 1865, he was married to Eliza A.

Myers, daughter of Jacob and Barbara Myers, the former a native

of Pennsylvania, and the latter of Ohio, where Eliza was born

April 8, in 1845. Shorth' after her birth her mother was called away,
but prior to her death they had removed to Shelby County, Indiana.

Her father Jacob Myers, continued to reside in this township, un-

til August 26, 1886, when he died. This union was blessed with

seven children: Elizabeth A., Minnie A., Philo J., Ida M., Elsie C.
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Clarance M. and Ottis A., all of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs.
Wertz are members of the Lutheran Church, also their daughters,,
Annie and Minnie. Mr. Wertz is a staunch Democrat; he owns a

tine farm one mile east of the village of Mt. Auburn, and has a

comfortable home, and is one of the successful farmers of Jackson
Township. The births of his children are as follows: Elizabeth

A., was born September 3, 1866; Minnie A., February 4, 1868;
Philo, March 30, 1871; Ida M., July 30, 1874; Elsie C, February
14, 1881; Clarance M., June 13, 1884; Otis A., Januar}' 19,

1887.
Mathias Wertz is a native of Montgomery County, Ohio,

where he was born August 22, 1840. His parents w^ere Jacob and
Elizabeth (Warble) Wertz, the former a native of Ohio, and the

latter of Virginia. They emigrated to Shelby County in the spring-
of 1847, and settled one and a quarter miles east of Mt. Auburn,
where Mrs. Wertz still resides. Mathias was then eight vears of

age, and therefore was almost entirelv reared in this county. At
the age of twent3'-one he began to do for himself, and adopted
farming as a life profession. In December, 1862, he was married
to Mar}' Mahley, daughter of John and Christena Mahley, natives

of Germany. Mary was born in Germany, and accompanied her

parents here when (juite 3^oung. This union has been blessed with

seven children: Daniel P., Jacob H., Charles S., William W..,

George A., Jesse M., and Frank M., all of whom are living. Mr.
Wertz began life with a fair start, and to-da}' owns 240 a.cres of

line land, and has one of the best homes we have had the pleasure
to see. They are members of the Lutheran Church. Politically,

he is a staunch Democrat. He has always been very successful,
and to-day can be classed among the substantial farmers of Jack-
son Township.

Peter Winterrowd, a prominent resident and farmer of

Jackson Township, was born Julv 9, 1824, in Warren Count}',
Ohio. His parents were Jacob and Jane (Anderson) Winterrowd,
natives of Pennsylvania, the former of German descent, and the

latter of Scotch-Irish extraction. They were married in Warren

County, Ohio, about 1823, and were in poor circumstances. Ac-

cordinglv they determined to seek a home in the west, and about
the middle of December, 1824, he loaded his household goods,
with his voung wife and infant son, into a two-horse wagon, and
started for Shelby County, Ind. Here they landed, December 25,
in what is now known as Washington Township, but then as No-
ble Township, near the bluffs of Flatrock, or about one mile east

of Flatrock. His brother Joseph and family also came at the same

time, and located near. He entered 160 acres of wild land, put
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up a cabin, and began to make a home in the forest. Thus we
find Jacob Winterrowd among the first settlers of the count}'. After
a residence here of five years, or on April 22, 1829, when he had
thirty acres cleared, he was called away. A kind and indulgent
father was gone, and the widowed mother and children mourned
his loss. Peter was then five 3'ears of age. He had two sisters,

Matilda and Belinda. Mrs. Winterrowd continued to reside on the

farm and care for her children. The pioneer schools of that day
were of the old type, and scarce. Mrs. Winterrowd was desirous
that her children should obtain as good an education as her means
and that day afforded. The district school was the only resort,
and our subject, by strict attention to his books, acquired an edu-
cation sufficient to enable him in after years to successfully teach in

the public schools of the county. He remained at home until his

maturity, when he began life on his own responsibility. On Oc-
tober 24, 1849, he was united in marriage with Miss Elizabeth

Hageman, born near Mt. Auburn, Shelby County, March 7, 1825.
Her parents were Peter and Clarissa (Dorsey) Hageman, who
were among the pioneers of Jackson Township, settling here in

1823, and locating on what is tovday known as the Lewis Nieble

farm, south of Mt. Auburn. Mrs. Winterrowd has spent her en-

tire life here, and has witnessed a great change in this country.
Her parents resided here until their deaths. Mr. and Mrs. Win-
terrowd were blessed with nine children : Walter S., Phebe J.,

George W., Clara L., Peter A., Julia M., Samaria C, David S.

and Jacob G., of whom Walter S., Samaria C. and Jacob G. are

deceased, the rest have all grown to maturity. Politicalh', Mr.
Winterrowd is a Republican, but has never sought political honors.

Peter Winterrow^d, the grandfather of our subject, was born in

Pennsylvania, where he was reared and married, and in 1808 emi-

grated to Warren County, Ohio, where he resided until his death,
which occurred about 1842. Jacob, the father of our subject, was
born January 18, 1798, in Pennsylvania, and therefore ten years of

age when his father removed to Ohio. Jane Anderson, the wife

of Jacob Winterrowd, and mother of our subject, was born in

Pennsylvania, August 2, 1802,,and accompanied her parents to

Warren Count}', Ohio, in 181 1, where she was reared. Jacob
AVinterrowd was called away April 22, 1829. The mother of our

subject, Jane Winterrowd - after the death of her husband, added

forty acres of land to the tract he had entered, paying government
price for it, or $50. She was called away in February, 1872.



684 SHELBY COUNTY.

LIBERTY SKETCHES.

J. B. Anderson was reared in Cincinnati, where he received a

common school education. He engaged in the cooper trade when
twenty years old, but later returned to his home and helped his

father, who was keeping hotel. Still later he opened a stone

quarry, and shipped stone to the city by boat for several years.

In 1838, he married Miss Elizabeth Darby, of Hamilton County,
Ohio, a daughter of Henry and Margaret (Baker) Darby. After

his marriage, he moved to Kentucky, where he remained fifteen

years, when he returned to his boyhood home, where he was a

successful farmer until he moved and located at his present
home. He now owns a fine farm and gives his exclusive attention

to farming and stock raising. He is the father of nine children, of

whom seven are now living: Henry D., Henrieta, Eliza, Isabel,

Ann, John K.,and Margaret; the deceased were aged nineteen 3'ears
and eight months respectively. Mrs. Anderson died in 1873. Mr.
Anderson was born in Boone County, Kentucky, February 12, 181 5.

He was the oldest son and third child born to Enoch and Rachael

(x-\rnold ) Anderson, who moved to Boone County in early child-

hood, and were married there. Mr. Enoch Anderson died at Cin-

cinnati, after making a good home, at the age of seventy-three; his

wife died some three years before at the age of sixty-five.
Elisha M. Arnold was born in Campbell County, Ky., May

10, iSio. He was the fifth of ten children born to John and Mary

(Cherry) Arnold, both natives of Virginia. Rev. John Arnold
moved to Kentucky with his parents, in early manhood. He was a

farmer, but began work in the ministry of the Baptist persuasion.
In 1835, he moved to Decatur County, Ind. He was a man of

some means, and soon had a crood home thoufrh in a wild country.

He continued in the ministry until old age compelled him to resign.
He died at the age of eighty-four, and his wife at the age of

seventy-six. Elisha Arnold passed his early life on a farm in

Campbell County, K3\ He lived with his parents until he was mar-

ried, March 8, 1S35, to Miss Margaret Powell, \vho came to Shelby
County with her parents, Abraham and Elizabeth Powell. Soon
after his marriage Mr. Arnold rented a small farm, and three years
later he purchased his present home. He served an apprenticeship
at the mason trade, which he worked at many 3'ears. He has made
a success of life and was at one time the heaviest tax-paver in the

county. He is the father of ten children: Mary, Eliza, Ripley,
Bennett W., Ferris, Laura, Fanny, James and E. Madison. Eliza

died at the age of thirty-four years. Mrs. Arnold died July 24,

1863, aged forty-one. Mr. x\rnold is an honest, upright man, and

although identified with no church has lived a moral, Christian life.
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Joseph Beyer was born in France, November, 1S32. He
remained with his father until twenty-three years old when he came
to America. He landed at New Orleans, in 1855, where he

worked one 3^ear and then came to Dearborn County, Ind., where
he worked in a brick yard for three 3'ears. He married Miss

Anna MaUiser, who was born June 7, 1839. By this marriage
there were six children : Mary, Josephine, Joseph, Frank, Max and

Aggie. Soon after his marriage he began the manufacture of

brick, at which he worked for fifteen years. In 1S70, he purchased
a tile factory, to which he added new machinery and increased the

business. He is is a prosperous business man. He and his wife

are members of the Catholic Church and are worthy citizens.

Daniel Callahan and his brother, in 1860, were among the

orphan children sent west to find a home. Daniel found a home
with Mr. Conrad Kuhn, and his brother Dennis with William

Burnett. His brother died, aged eighteen. Daniel remained with

Mr. Kuhn, and had the advantages of a common school education.

He knew nothing of work and had everything to learn, but Mr.

Kuhn was a kind and indulgent employer. When he was twent}^

years old his employer gave him wages for two years. He then

secured work at a saw mill and worked there two years. He
married Miss Mar}^ Posz in 1875, ^vho was born in Union Town-

ship, this county, December 25, 1854, a daughter of Valentine and

Margaret (Baker) Posz, both natives of Germany. By this mar-

riage there were three children: Albert B., born June 2, 1876,
Catharine E., born July 28, 1880, and Clara G., born April 19,

1884. Mr. Callahan located on the farm where he now lives in

1882. He was born in the Cit}' of New York, December 22, 185 1.

His father, Dennis Callahan, was a stock trader, and died in early
life at the age of thirty-five.

E. H. Crippen, M. D., was a mere boy when he came to

Indiana, with his parents. He had a common school education and

when eighteen, went to Marietta, Ohio, to school, where he paid
his own way by teaching when not in school. Later, he went to

school at Galesburg, 111. He then began the study of medicine,
and attended the University of the City of New York, where he

graduated in 1857. He located at Cynthiana in the fall of 1885,
where he is now doing a good practice. In August, 1858, he married

Miss Mary L.Filkins, who was a native of New York. She died

two months later. He was again marrried in 1859, to Miss Mis-

souri Hillagoss, a native of Indiana. By this marriage three child-

ren were born : Mora E., Elias E., and Nannie. Mr. Crippen
was married to his present wife. Miss Mary L. Innis, of Rush

County, born August 7, 1863, September 21, 1879. He was

27
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born in New York, July 23, 1833. He was the youngest of fiye

children born to EHjah and Ahnira (Benton) Crippen, who were
natiyes of Connecticut. They came to Indiana, Jennings County,
in 1844, where they resided the rest of their liyes. He died

in 1880, aged eighty-seyen, and his wife in 1887, at the age of

ninet}'. They were worthy people and highly esteemed.

George Eck was born in Bayaria, Germany, April 30, 181 7.

He had a good common school education. When he was fourteen

years old he learned the weayer's trade, and followed this for fiye

years. He then was subject to military seryice, but hired a sub-

stitute and came to America in 1837. He came to Cincinnati and

stopped with his brother Jabot, who came to America in 1832.
Later, he and his brother same to this county, but returned to Cin-

cinnati, where they worked at the blacksmith trade. In Septem-
ber, 1845, he married Miss Catharine Weise, who was born in

Bayaria, Germany, and came to this country in 1844. By this mar-

riage there were eight children, of whom four are still liying: John,
now Township Trustee, Margaret, wife of Jacob Teitig, Cathar-

ine, and Caroline, wife of Charles Miller. Mrs. Eck died Septem-
ber 15, 1865. Soon after his marriage, Mr. Eck came to this

county, and located where he now liyes. He now owns 145 acres

of well improyed land. He has been an honest, hard working man,
and is a worthy member ©f the Presbyterian Church.

John Eck, Township Trustee, was reared a farmer boy in Lib-

erty Township, this county, where he was born February 24, 1856.
He is the onh" son now liying, of George Eck of this county.
When he was of age he rented his father's farm, which he is now
working. He was married January 13, 1881, to Miss Flora B.

Ensminger, who was born in this to^^•nship, January 7, 1861, the

daughter of John and Lousia ( Hubbard j Ensminger, natiyes of

Virginia. By this marriage two children were born, Herman, born
in 1884, and Maggie P., born February 21, 1887. Mr. Eck is one
of the well-to-do young men of his township and highly esteemed
for integrity and honesty. He is a staunch Democrat and was
elected Township Trustee in 1886. He is a worthy member of

the Presbyterian Church.
Peter Gross was born in Germany, December 25, 1S24. He

was reared on a farm, but had a good education. He learned the

shoemaker trade with his father. He seryed in the regular army
for a short time, but w^as discharged because of a disabled hand.

One year later he came to America and went to Pittsburo- and
from ther^ to Franklin County, Indiana, where he worked at his

trade. He came to Shelby County in 185 1, but returned to Frank-
lin County, where he engaged in farming, and later at his trade at
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Cedar Grove, where he made $1,900. He then located at Waldron
in 1869, where he kept a saloon for a short time, then a shoe store,

and later a dry goods store. In 1872, he moved to his present
home, where he has been engaged in merchandising and farming.
He has now a fine home, the result of his own work. He is a

well liked and honorable citizen.

David Grubb was born in Rush County, Indiana, March 22,

183 1. His father, Abraham Grubb, came to Rush County when
he was twenty-one years of age. He married Miss Eliza Wood, in

1824, who came to Rush County with her parents in 1820. He
died in 1S68, at the age of sixtv-eight, having been a hard working,
honest man. His wife survived him and now resides with her son

David. David Grubb was brought up on a farm, he was a good
student and at the age of nineteen taught the home school. He
abandoned teachinff and irave exclusive attention to farming, until

1869, when he came to Waldron and engaged in the grain business.

He was married October 4, 1861, to Miss Mary E. Daniels, of

Shelby County. They are the parents of one son and a daughter,

Jessie E., born October 16, 1862, wife of Dr. H. R. Coons,
Norval D., born Julv 24, 1864, now a merchant. Mr. Grubb is a

successful, enterprising business man, and one highly honored for

his sterlini>" worth as such.

Jasper N. Heck came to this township in 1867, where he pur-
chased ei<rhtv acres of land on Conn's Creek, where he lived until

1887, when he moved to his present home where he now owns 167
acres of good land. He was reared in this county, but was born

in Montgomerv Countv, Ohio, January 16, 1843. His father, John
Heck, came to this county when Jasper was but four years old.

Mr. Heck eno-aored in the breedinp- of Berkshire hogs, and is one

of the leading breeders of the State. He is also raising Short Horn
cattle. He is a Democrat, and served as Township Trustee for

three terms. He was married February 28, 1864, to Miss 'Lorina

E. Mitchell, of Shelby Township, who was born November 29,

1847, a daughter of Fielding and Mary (Alley) Mitchell. By this

marriage four children were born: Wilham S., born May 9, 1865,
Charlie E., born April 27, 1868, Anna B., born October 7, 1870,
and Ida M., born October 18, 1873. Mr. Heck is one of the rep-
resentative farmers of his State.

Pliny Hungerford was born in Rush County, Ind., iVugust

22, 1847, the eldest of seven children born to John and Nanc}'

(Callahan) Hungerford, both natives of Ohio. John Hungerford
came to Rush County in earlv manhood, where he was married

January i, 1846. He purchased a farm and made a good home,
where he lived the remainder of his life. He died in February,
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1862, at the age of forty-two. His wife is still living at the age of

fifty-seven. Plinv Hungerford was reared on a farm, and had a

common school education. On becoming of age he started for

himself, farming on rented land, which he continued for seven or

eight vears. He then purchased a farm of ninetv-three acres,

where he is now living. In October, 1871, he married Miss Sa-

vannah E. Johnson, of Fulton Count}', Ind. She was born Decem-
ber 26, 185 1, and is a daughter of Elijah Johnson. Bv this mar-

riage two children were born: Ora, died at the age of eight vears:

Bertha, born April 3, 1883. Mr. Hungerford is a hne farmer, and
has made life a success.

J. W. Inlow, M. D., merchant, was reared a farmer boy.
He remained at home until he was of age when he began teaching
school. When he was twentv-four he be^an readinfj medicine

with Dr. J. J. Inlow, a cousin. He remained in this office for three

years and then began practice. He was married in May, 1871, to

Miss Marv Callahan of Rush County, born December 2, 1838.
For some fifteen years Dr. Inlow wa-s the only doctor in his town-

ship. He enjo3's the confidence of the people, and has a large

general practice. He also owns a large general store which does

a good business. He was born in Rush Countv, Ind., November
10, 1839, the third of a familv of six children born to Isham and
Martha (Cassada}') Inlow, who were natives of Kentucky. Grand-
father Cassaday was a native of Ireland: he came to America

previous to the Revolutionarv War in which he served. He set-

tled in Fleming County, that was first known bv his name. He was
a companion of Boone and others of the earlv Kentucky pioneers.
Grandfather Inlow entered land in Shelbv County, in 1830, to

which the father of our subject moved in 1S37, where he erected a

cabin on the present site of the town of Manilla. His wife died in

May, 185 1, when he married Miss Marv Nawpson. He is now

living at Homer, Rush County, where he enjovs a fair home and
the esteem of all.

J. R. Jenkins, M. D., graduated from the Miami Medical

College in Cincinnati, Ohio, in 1879. ^^ then located at Waldron,
where he has practiced ever since. In 1872, Mav 22, he married

Miss Maria Penn, a descendant of the famous William Penn. She
was born in St. Clair Count}', Michigan, December 11, 1855, a

daughter of George W. and Martha Penn, who were natives of

South Carolina and Virginia, respectively. Bv this marriage two
children were born, Mabel, born February 22, 1876, and John
Shelby, born December 30, 1877. Dr. Jenkins is a close student

and for many years has enjoyed a lucrative practice. He is a

inember of the Democratic party, and has twice been nomi-
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nated for County Clerk, but was defeated by a small vote, once in

this county and once in St. Clair Count}', Mich. He is a public

spirited man and highly esteemed where known. He was born in

Henry County, Ky., February 9, 1842, the eldest of nine children

born to William H. and Emily (Powell) Jenkins, both natives of

Kentuck}'.
Conrad Kuhn came to this county with his parents when but

twelve years old, where he worked on his father's farm, and

remained until he was married April 22, 1858, to Miss Catharine

Theobald. They had eleven children: William H., Amelia, Phihp,
Conrad H., Frederick, Lewis H., Oscar F., Catharine, Frederick

E., and Daniel W., three of whom are now dead: William H.,

Philip and Frederick G. Mr. Kuhn purchased his present farm

in 1870. He now owns 280 acres of fine land. He was born in

Germany, March 7, 1836. He and his wife are now enjoying the

fruits of their industry and are highly honored citizens. Mr. Kuhn's

parents came to America in 1848, and located at Marion Town-

ship, this county. Here they purchased a good farm and made a

fine home of 280 acres. He had a family of nine children, who
all grew to manhood and womanhood: Conrad, George M., John
H., Barbara, Daniel, Jacob, Catharine, Anna M., and Andrew.

The}' are all living in this county except Andrew and Barbara, who

died, aged forty-seven and twenty-two years, respectively. Mr.

Kuhn died February 12, 1870; his wife is still living and is seventy-
two years old.

John Laxdwerlen was born in France, October 28, 1830.

He is the eldest son born to John and Mary Landwerlen, natives

of France. He was reared a farmer and received a good educa-

tion. He studied for the priesthood for two years but gave it up
as he did not have sufficient means to pay his way. He went as a

substitute in the rebellion. He spent his early hfe at home until

he was married July 2, 1853, to Miss Mary Rudolph, who was a

native of France, born February 9, 1838. He came to America in

1854. He lived in Indiana for a short time and then went to Iowa,

but returned here and bought his present home, in Shelby County.
He was a stone mason, and has done a great deal of this work. He
is one of the scientific farmers and is a successful one. He is the

father of ten children, Albert, born April 4, 1854; Lizzie, born

February 18, 1856; Catharine, born November 2, 1857; John, born

April 25, 1861; Joseph, born May 20, 1863; Louis, born October

10, 1864; Magdeleana, deceased, aged seventeen months; Vincent,

born September 16, 1869; Benedict, born March i, 1871, and

Mary M., born July 9, 1873. Mr. Landwerlen and family are

members of the CathoHc Church.
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Robert G. McDuffee was born in Harrison County, Kv.,
October 28, 181 5. He was the eldest son of Robert and Sarah

(Taylor) McDuffee. Robert, the father of our subject, was reared

in Kentucky. He married at the age of twenty, Miss Taylor, who
came to Kentucky in early childhood. He started at the cooper's

trade, and also run a small farm. His wife died in 1823, and he

was married to Miss Sarah Scott, He was a minister and

beo'an preachins- when he was twenty-two years old. Robert Mc-

Duffee, our immediate subject, remained at home until he was mar-
ried in February, 1838, to Miss Elizabeth Isley, the eldest daughter
of John Isley. She was born in Pennsylyania, December 22, 1816.

By this marriage four children were born : John W., born August
19, 1840; Lorina, born Xoyember 30, 1842; Margaret, born June
26, 1848, and Greenberry, born June 6, 1853. Mr. McDuffee
came to this county in October, 1839, ^'^'here he cleared forty acres

for a home. He sold this in 1845, and purchased his present home,
where he now owns 130 acres of well improyed land. He has

been a hard working man, and now enjoys the pleasant home he

has succeeded in making.
John H. Meltzer, senior member of the firm of Meltzer Bros.,

machinists and manufacturers of lumber and building material, was
born in this county July 22, 1844, a son of John F. Meltzer. He
receiyed a o-ood common school education and at the age of sey-

enteen years began the carpenter trade. Haying reached his

majority he commenced contracting, and employed a large nuinber

of men. In 1867, he started for the Pacific coast yia New York
and Aspinwall, and after spending three 3-ears in the west he re-

turned home. Here he afjain turned his attention to his trade and

not long after purchased a saw mill of which he has been one

of the principal owners eyer since. They located at their present
site in 1879, and in partnership with his brothers, David and Frank,
in the fall of 1886, added to their already large business, a machine
and repair shop. They now, perhaps, do the largest business of

any firm in Shelby County outside of the county seat, and their

establishment is one of the most complete of its kind. In politics

he is an active worker in the Democratic party. He was married

May 18, 1876, to Maggie, daughter of George and Maggie
Cawein. This union has been blessed with two children, one died

in infancy, and the other, named George F., was born January 5,

1879. ^^^'- '^'^c^ Mrs. Meltzer are members of the German Presby-
terian Church.

Kimble E. Midkiff was born on the farm where he now lives,

February 19, 1843. He was the youngest son born to Kimble E.

and Ellen (Montgomery) Midkiff. Kimble E. Midkiff, Sr., the
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atner of our subject, was reared in Pennsylvania, and here married
Mrs. Henrietta Robertson. They came to Indiana in 1824. Mrs.
Midkiff died a few years later, leaving three small boys. He then

married Miss Montgomer}-, May 30, 1829. By this marriage seven
children were born. He and his wife were anion"' the hardwork-

ing members of the Baptist Church. He died October 7, 1867,
and his wife, January 31, 1872. Kimble E., Jr., began farming
for himself at the age of twenty. After the death of his father,

he lived on the home farm with his mother, and later became
owner of 180 acres, his share of the estate. He now owns a line

farm of 2S4 acres, with tine buildings. In 1865, July 20, he mar-
ried Miss Amanda Chatman, who was born in Rush County, Ind.,

April 20, 1S42. They are the parents of five children: Martha M.,
born June 19, 1869, Luella M., born June 24, 1871, Hattie D., born

April 21, 1873, William R., born August 10, 1875, and Orval L.,
born November 15, 1877. Mr. Midkiff is one of the successful

farmers of his county.
William Miller was born in Dearborn County, Ind., Decem-

ber 16, 1 8 19. He was but eight years old when his father died.

He remained at home until he was fourteen years old when he was

apprenticed as a blacksmith. At the age of nineteen he started

out for himself. On August 25, 1842, he married Miss Lucy J.

Perry, a native of Kentuck}', born February 29, 1824. They are

the parents of twelve children. Soon after his marriage he located

in Decatur County, where he worked at his trade. After moving
several times he located on a farm in Todd County, Minn., where
he now lives. He rents his farm in this county and visits here

often. He is a ver}- successful farmer. His parents, Rudolph and
Barbara Miller, came to Dearborn County, Ind., when it was yet a

forest. They moved to Decatur County in 1825, where he died,

lea\inij five small children. His wife later married Samuel Sea-

Wright, and they removed to Middletown where they both died.

Thomas Miller, Postmaster, is a native of Decatur County, Ind.,

born November 19, 1847. He came to Shelby County, earh' in

life, and here grew to manhood. He remained with his parents,
AVilliam and Lucy (Perry) Miller, until he became of age, he then

engaged in farming. He opened his present business, drugs and

groceries, in October, 1883. He was appointed Postmaster of the

Toga post office at Middletown, in 1887. He married, September
8, 1870, Miss Missouri Pulse, of Rush County, Ind., born April 26,

1852. They are the parents of three children: George W., born

March 22, 1873: Rosa J., born December 10, 1876; Bertha M.,
born March 28, 1879. Mr. Miller is a live business man and

highly esteemed by all.
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Bennet Powell was left fatherless when nine years old, and
at the agfe of fourteen took charfre of his mother's farm in Boone

County, Kentucky, where he was born December 2^, 1827. May
9, 1847, he was married to Miss Susan Worland, who was
born May 25, 1827. Her parents were John M. and Susan

(Palmer) Worland. He moved to the farm where he now lives

in 1849. ^^ ^^ '^ successful farmer and gives most of his attention

to the breeding of Short Horn cattle, and line, large mules. He
started in life poor, but has now one of the best farms in the town-

ship. His father, Abraham Powell, came to Kentucky in early

manhood, where he was married to Miss Elizabeth Crisler, a na-

tive of Virginia. He came to Shelbv Countv in 1830, and having
saved monev, bought a farm of three hundred acres. He was a

very successful man, and was able later in life to give each of his

children a good home, six of whom came to this county in 1830,
and settled in this township. He died at the age of hfty-three, a

respected and honored citizen. He and his wife were leading
members of the Baptist Church.

Jacob Query was born in Shelbv County, Union Township,
November 27, 1843, the son of Daniel and Delilah Query. Daniel

Query was a farmer, and early in life located at Moscow, Ind.,

where he built the first grist mill on Flatrock Creek. He served

as a soldier during the War of 181 2, and was a generous, kind-

hearted man, and a good Christian. He died June 9, 1869, at the

age of seventy-six, and his wife died April 13, 1881, at the age of

sevent3^-eight. At the age of eighteen Jacob Query engaged in

the blacksmith's trade with his brother, George W., w^hcre he still

remains. He is now doing a fine business, and has a fine large

shop. He also is the proprietor of a large tile manufactory. In

1868, he married Miss Melissa Jerrell, who was born in Liberty

Township, September 10, 1842. They are the parents of two

children, Dalton, born July 4, 1872; Harr}- G., born December 9,

1879. ^^^- Query is an influential citizen and highly esteemed.

Charles Schott was born in France, November 18, 1843^
the eldest of seven children to Philip and Margaret Schott, both

natives of France. Philip Schott came to America, and landed at

New York, where he worked for ten years, where he saved

$2,200. He returned to France in 1842, when he married. He
came to America again in 1844, and settled in Indiana, in Dear-
born County, where he resided the rest of his life. He died in

1865, aged sixty years. His wife died at the age of fifty. They
beloncred to the Catholic Church. Charles Schott was but a small

child when he came to Indiana. He was eighteen years old when
his father died, when he took charge of the farm. June i, 1866,
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he married Miss Caroline Buchert. The}' are the parents of seven
children: Mary, Carrie, Frank, Katie, Andy, Anna, and Amelia.
Mr. and Mrs. Schott are members of the Catholic Church.

Liberty J. Seely was reared on the farm where he now lives.

For many years before his father's death, he took charge of the

farm thus lightening the burden of his father in his old age. He
was married to Miss Margaret E. Newton, in January, 1863, a

daughter of William Newton, of New Jersey. By this marriage
there were five children, Melvin D., born June 19, 1866; Florence

E., born August 5, 1868; Jefferson, deceased, aged two years;
Ethel L., born November 26, 1880, and Anna May, born Febru-

ar}' 6, 1885. Mr. Seely was born in Liberty Township, January
24, 1837. He is one of the worthy and representative men of his

township. His father, Hiram Seelv, came to Fayette Countv,
Indiana, in 18 17. He started very poor in life, but had a good
trade; he remained at home until his marriage, August 8, 1824, to

Miss Anna Gunn, when he started for himself. He came to Shelby
County in 1835. He was a hard working, honest man, and made a
success of life. He died Jul}- 28, 1872, and his wife July 26, 1881,

aged respectively seventy-one and eighty.
Thomas E. Trackwell was born in Liberty Township, this

county, February 5, 1850, a son of John and Frances (Ballard)
Trackwell, natives of Virginia. John Trackwell was born July 15,

1809. hi his earl}' life he was a pilot on the Ohio River. Li

1834, he married a Miss Ballard, who was born Juh' 20, 1816. hi

1838, he left the river and located in this county, where he re-

mained until his death January 14, 1873. His wife died March 3,

1865. Thomas Trackwell w^as reared a farmer and had a good
common school education. When twenty years of age he began
teaching school and has taught school several winters, twdce

in this county and Rush County. He followed farming during the

summer season. He moved to his present home in March, 1887,
where he runs a general store. He is a staunch Democrat and is

now^ Postmaster of Meltzer, this county. He was married Jan-

uary 31, 1883, to Miss Josephine Higgins, of this township. By
this marriage two children were born, Jennie, born December 12,

1884, and Jessie, born December 7, 1886. Mrs. Trackwell is a

member of the Catholic Church.
William J. Trees was born in Clermont County, Ohio, July

I, 1820. He was the fifth born of ten children, to Adam and Mary
(Hill) Trees. Adam Trees, w^hen six years old, went to Kentucky,
and from there to Ohio, w^here he grew to manhood. Here he

married Miss Hill, and a few months later enlisted in he War of

1S12. His company was disbanded, after which he was drafted.
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but sent a substitute. He came to Rush County, Ind., in 1823,
where he Hved twenty years and then came to Liberty Township,
this county. He was a good mechanic and successful farmer. He
died December 6, 1863, aged seventy-five, and his wife in July,

1865, at the same age. Wilham Trees is one of the best farmers
in his countv, and for years was the acknowledged Poland hog
breeder of his county. He was married May 8, 1845, to Miss
Hannah Hill, a native of Rockbridge Count}-, Virginia, born in

1822, a daughter of Henry Hill, of Virginia. Mr. Trees is the

father of fourteen children, of whom eight are now living: Ann,
Shelbv, Missouri, George and Adam, twins, Aaron, Newton, John
and Douglas. By hard work he has made a good home, and is

esteemed by all. Mr. and Mrs. Trees are generous, kind hearted

people, and good to the poor.
Sheldon Waggoner was born in Rush County, May 18, 1854,

where he grew to manhood. He remained at home until his mar-

riage, which occurred August 3, 1876. He married Miss Caroline

Ross, a native of Shelby County, who was born May 10, 1857, the

daughter of Jesse and EHza (Miller) Ross. They are the parents
of five children: Alta M., Luther E., Maud F."^, Hover C. and

John W. In 1881, Mr. Waggoner located on the farm where he
now lives, which consists of 233 acres of fine land. He is a most
successful man and a fine citizen. His father, John Waggoner,
purchased a large farm in Liberty Township, this county, in 1869.
He was a Democrat and served as Justice of the Peace. He was
a farmer and a very successful one, and highlv esteemed by all who
knew him.

Marshall L. Waggoner, a native of Rush County, Ind., was
born July 28, 1858. He was the second son born to John Wag-
o;oner. He came to this countv when onlv twelve years old, and

grew to manhood on the farm where he now lives. When he be-

came of age he started for himself, and has given exclusive atten-

tion to farming ever since. Irt 1885, June 9, he married Miss
Hattie E. Ensminger, of this county, born September 2, 1863. Mr.

Waggoner is one of the finest farmers in his county, and is a worthy
and hio-hly esteemed citizen.

R. R. Washburn, physician and druggist, was born near

Georgetown, Kentucky, March 12, 1833, being the fourth of six

children born to Isaac and Maria (Bratton) Washburn, w^ho were
natives of Ohio. Isaac Washburn came to Indiana in 1833, and lo-

cated in Franklin County. Later, he moved to Rushville, where
he tauffht school and worked at his trade as shoemaker. He then

moved to Kentucky, where he died. He served in the Mexican
War. R. R. Washburn received a limited education, and early in
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life was taught to work. He went to Kentucky and worked at the

carpenter's trade, but abandoned this and took up the study of

medicine, and shortly after came to Rushville, Ind., and entered the

office of Dr. Mauzy, where he remained until 1855, when he lo-

cated at Cynthiana, Shelby County, and began practice. In 1859,
he moved to Waldron, this county, where he now lives. He mar-
ried Sarah E. Shults May, 1855. Bv this marriage there were
four children : Ida, Emma, Nora and Harry. By his hard working
habits and close attention to his profession. Dr. Washburn won the

confidence of the people, and has now a fine practice. He and
wife are honored citizens.

Nicholas Weintraut, a native of Prussia, Europe, was born
October 18, 1833, the only son now living born to Francis and

Magdaline (Huchart) Weintraut, both natives of Prussia. Francis

AV. came to America in 1846, and came to Franklin County, where
he purchased land. Here he made a good home of 120 acres. He
died in Ripley Countv at the age of eighty-four, and his wife at the

age of seventy-nine. They were members of the Catholic Church.
Nicholas Weintraut was twelve years old when he came to this

country with his parents. He was the only boy, and had to assist

in clearing and rolling logs. He was married, November 9, 1852,
to Miss Mary Schof, who was born in France, October 13, 1834.
He then started out for himself. He worked the home farm for

twelve years, and then sold and located in Ripley County, where
he sold furniture, and also run a tin-shop. He moved to Shelby
County in 1875, locating upon the farm where he now lives. He
is a verv successful farmer, and one hic;hlv esteemed. He is the

father of fourteen children: Mary, wife of John Schriner; Mag-
dalena, wife of George Baughman; John, Peter, Nicholas, Lizzie,

wafe of Otto Lentner; Josephine, a Sister in Oldenburg Convent;
Barbara, wife of John Shebo, Rosa, George, Frank, Ana and Jo-

seph; Trona died, age one year.
W. C. Yager was born in Lancaster, Penn., November 4, 1833.

He was the third of ten children born to George W. and Barbara

(Carpenter) Yager, both of Pennsylvania. George W. Yager
was a farmer and carpenter. He came to Shelby County in

November, 1852. Here Mrs. Yager died, leaving a family of

nine children. In 1854, Mr. Yager was married to Miss Amanda
Burton. During the last 3^ears of his life Mr. Yager gave exclus-

ive attention to his trade. He died September 10, 1874. ^ - ^•

Yager spent his early life in Ohio. At the age of sixteen, he came
to Indiana. He lived with his father and learned the carpenter's
trade. He remained at home until twenty years old, when he

started for himself. He en(ra"-ed in the saw mill business for some
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time. He then engaged in manufacturing of tile in partnership
with three others; but gave this up and engaged in the business

which he is now following. He runs a fine store, carrying a gen-
eral stock. He was appointed Post Master of the Blue Ridge post
office, in May, 1874. ^^ ^^ ^ Democrat and member of the I. O.
O. F. Blue Ridge Lodge. In June, 1859, he married Miss Eliza-

beth Stafford, of Shelby County, born April 3, 1837. Mr. Yager
is a thorough business man and a worthy citizen.

Michael Yarling, County Commissioner, is one of the influen-

tial men of Shelby Count}'. He was elected Count}' Commissioner
in 18S6, on the Democratic ticket. In March, 1872, he married
^Uss Talbert, of this county, born Noyember 22, 1852. They
are the parents of three children: Gertrude, born February 6, 1873;
Pearl, born November 31, 1874, '^^^ Raymond, born November
28, 1882. Mr. Yarling was born in Marion Township, this count}-,
December 15, 1845. He is the seventh of nine children born to

Poter and Mary (Miller) Yarling, the former born July 3, 1810,
and the latter March i, 181 2, in Holland, Germany. They came
to America in 1833. He worked at bridge building, but when he
came to Shelby County, in 1838, he began farming. Having a

large family, and little means, he was compelled to work very
hard, but he succeeded in building up a good home. He died April
II, 1876, aged sixty-six years, and his wife February 9, 1886, aged
seventy-five years. They were members of the Lutheran Church.

John H. Zauss was born in Hanover, Germany, July 27, 18 19.
He attended school until fourteen years old and then worked at the

shoemaker's trade. In August, 1847, he started for America, land-

ing at New Orleans, and went from there to Cincinnati by boat,
where he landed December 30, 1847. He then went to Louisville,

Kentucky, where he remained until 1853, and then located in

Decatur County, Indiana. Here he bought land and this taking
all his means, he depended on his hands for support. In i 866, he

purchased his present farm of ninety acres. He abandoned his

trade many years ago and now gives exclusive attention to farming.
He was married February 11, 1848, at Cincinnati, to Miss Mary
Miller, who was born in Hanover, Germany, in 1822. By this

marriage seven children were born, of whom six are now livins".

Mary, wife of George Scherrer, of Howard County, Indiana; John
a farmer in this State; Emma, wife of Mr. Litziner, of Shelbyville,

Indiana; Elizabeth, wife of John Ridgeway, of Syracuse, Nebraska;
Frederick, carpenter, of Syracuse, Nebraska; Amelia, wife of Will-

iam Weaver. Mr. Zauss by hard work has made himself a good
home. He and his wife are worthy members of the Lutheran
Church.
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James ]M. Adams, physician and surgeon, is a native of Scott

County, Ky., \vhere he was born January 15, 1820, being the eld-

est in a family of eleven children born to Isaac and Nanc}' (Polk)
Adams, who were also both natives of Scott County, Ky. They emi-

grated to Indiana and what is now Hancock County, October 25,

1825, where they lived until 1838, when they came to Shelby
County, living there, with the exception of three 3'ears, when

they resided in Rush Countv, until 1852, when the father died, the

mother's death having occurred in 1850. Our subject grew to man-
hood in Hancock County. His early education, which was limited

in conse(}uence of the poor facilities of those days, was greath'

supplemented by hard study and close application without the aid

of a teacher sufficient to enable him to teach. He went with his

parents to Rush Count}-, Januar}- 14, 1841, where his marriage with

Phebe J. Johnson, daughter of Uzal Johnson, was solemnized. For
the year immediatelv subsequent he lived on the farm of his wife's

father. He followed agricultural pursuits until 1850, when he be-

came afflicted with rheumatism, and was compelled to turn his at-

tention to some other vocation. He commenced reading medicine

with Dr. H. Comstock, with whom he remained two years. In 1853,
he took a course of lectures at the Ohio Medical College. He
returned and began the practice of medicine at Pleasant View. He
only remained there a few months when he returned to Freeport,
where he continued in the practice for fourteen years. To the

union of Mr. and Mrs. Adams eicjht children were born, of whom
these, three are now living: Marv, now Mrs. T. F. Vandegrift;
Marcellus W., and Martha B., wife of John C. Tyner. June 18, 1864,
Mrs. Adams died. December 20, 1864, his and Belinda Johnson's

nuptials were celebrated, and their union has been blessed with live

children, these three now living: Will C, Ovid L., and Jesse J. In

1867, he removed to Wabash Countv, living there a period of seven

years. In 1874, ^^^ returned and entered into practice at Marion,
where he has since been engaged. He enjoys quite a large and
lucrative practice. He and family are members of the Methodist

Episcopal Church, Mr. Adams having been connected with that or-

ganization over forty-six years, and has been a licensed exhorter

for t\vent3'-nine 3'ears, an active worker in the Sunda}' School and

church, pa3'ing especial attention to music.

Leason Bass, a prominent citizen and native of Marion Town-

ship, was born September 3, 1829, being the eighth in a famil3' of

twelve children born to Henr3' and Judiah (Fox) Bass, who were
both natives of North Carolina, where their marriage occurred,
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soon after which, in 1818, they emigrated to Wayne County, Ind.,

from whence the}' came to Shelby Count}' in 1S21, and they con-

tinued residents of this county until their deaths. Leason remained

at home and assisted his parents on the farm until he attained the

age of twenty-eight ^vears, receiving a limited education, such as

was to be obtained in the primitive log school-houses of those days.

August 30, 1857, his marriage with Elmira Nigh was solemnized,
and to their union seven children have been born, these five now

living: William, who married Elsie Williams; Huldah, Judith,
now Mrs. A. E. Lisher; Clara and Lillie. Mr. Bass' occupation
has always been farming, and he has been quite successful. He
now owns 640 acres of well improved land. He belongs to the

Masonic fraternity at Shelbyville. In politics he is a Republican,
and he alwavs manifests a good live interest in the political affairs

of the county and communitv in which he lives, where he enjoys
the respect and esteem of his fellow citizens.

James M. Bassett, an enterprising farmer of Marion Township,
is a native of that township, and was born April 12, 1840, being
the next eldest in a family of nine children, four sons and live

daughters, born to Sylvester and Susan (Monrony) Bassett. Our

subject was reared to manhood on the home farm, remaining at

iiome and assisting his parents on the farm until he attained the

age of twenty-two years, receiving what was for those days a

common education. August, 1861, his marriage with Clarinda A.
Norvell was solemnized, and to their union seven sons have been
born : William N., who married Ona Sally, George, Elmer, Curtis,

Walter, Ha\ es and Clancy. Mr. Bassett has alwavs been farmin"-,

and he has been quite successful. He now owns 297 acres of well

improved land. He, wife and family, are members of the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church. In politics, he is a Republican, and he was
honored with an election to the office of Trustee for two terms,

discharging the duties of that position in a highly creditable man-
ner. Mrs. Bassett was born October, 1841. She was the daughter
of Thomas and Lorinda (Hankins) Norvell. Mr. Bassett has
cleared and drained about 160 acres, and his home farm is a model
of neatness.

George Billman, deceased, was a native of Germany, born
October 16, 1809. He was the son of Jacob Billman. He grew
to manhood in his native country. He received there a good
common school education in his mother tongue. When about

twenty-one years of age he emigrated to the United States; he
first located in New York State, remainincr there five vears,
whence he removed to Hamilton County, Ind., where he met,
and won the hand in marriage of, Miss Margaret Eckert, by
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whom he became the father of twelve children, of whom these

five survive him: Elizabeth, widow of John Deprez; Katharine,
wife of Lewis Kaster; Caroline, consort of Christian Billman;

Margaret, now Mrs. B. Fox, and Lewis who married Lida Star.

The deceased children were : Michael, who died leaving" a widow
and family of five children; George died when quite young: John,
whose widow and three children survive him; Charles, Emma,
William and Josephine. For the first five years after coming to

the United States, he was enf»"ao"ed in work at his trade, that of

weaver. After his settlement in Indiana he alwavs made farminof
his occupation. He came to Shelby County, nearly, if not quite

fifty ^-ears ago. He was a very successful farmer, and died the

proprietor of over 500 acres, which was all accumulated by hard
work and strict economy. He was a self-made man in the truest

sense of the term. He was a member of the German Presbyterian
Church, and always endeavored to live a true and consistent Chris-

tian life. December iS, 1886, he died, and in his death the com-
munitv lost an honored and respected citizen, one whose memory
will be revered for years to come; he went to join his wife who
had preceded him, she dving January 20, 1883. Lewis inherited

one-half of the home farm, he havincr alwavs remained at home
and assisted them in their declining years. To him and wife two
children have been born: Georgie and Clara. He has been (juite

successful as a farmer. In politics he is a Democrat, and he always
manifests a good live interest in the political affairs of his township,
where he ranks as one of the enterprising and progressive young-
citizens. ^jsniiTvc-Tv c^Xs^c 'p. y I ^

Milton Booher is a native of Marion Township, born August
29, 1852, the only child of A. C. and Lucinda (Rhodes) Booher,
^vho were natives of Lewis County, Virginia, and Shelby Count}',

respectiveh'. The latter died September 14, 1856, the former emi-

grated to Shelbv County with his parents, in 1826, and is still Hving.
Our subject remained at home until he attained his majority, receiv-

ing a common education such as the facilities of those days afforded.

August 30, 1873, his marriage with Nanc}' A. Wicker, was solem-

nized, and to their union four daughters have been born, Elma B.,

Elva A., Hattie M. and Mary C. Mr. Booher has always made

farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 129 acres of well improved land. He is a member of the

United Brethren, his wife of the Baptist Church. In politics he is

a Democrat. Rebecca Booher, wife of Jacob Booher, is now living

and has attained the good old age of eighty-one years, having been

born July 18, 1806. She came with her husband to Shelby County
about 1826, making her residence in this county for over sixty years.
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Jacob Booher was a native of New Jersey, born April 13, 1799, he

died at the age of about sevent3'-six. Elijah Wicker, father of

Mrs. Booher, was born in North Carolina, came to Shelby County
when he was but t wo years old and is still living at the age sixty-eight

years. His wife was Milly Fair.

James K. Bowers, of Marion Township, is a native of Mont-

gomerv Countv, Lid., and was born October 9, 1844, the next

voungest in a family of seven children born to Henry and Mary
Bowers, who went to Montgomer}^ County from East Tennessee.

They both died when our subject was but six years of age, and he

was taken and reared to manhood by William A. Bennett, of this

countv. He received a common education, such as was to be

afforded in those days. He remained with Mr. Bennett until he

attained his majorit}'. March 21, 1866, his marriage with Zerua J,

Cross was solemnized and to their union five children have been

born these four now living: Arthur G., Leora G., Alvin and
Charles C, the deceased child was the next eldest named Clarence.

September 7, 1861, he enlisted as volunteer private in Company F,

Fifty-first Indiana Regiment of Volunteer Infantry- where he served

until December 16, 1864, when he was honorabl}' discharged at

Nashville, Tenn., on account of expiration of term of service. He
was present and participated in the following important engage-
ments: Shiloh, Stone River, Da3's' Gap, Crooked Run, Blouijt

Farm, Cedar Bluff near Rome, Ga., where he was made prisoner

remaining thirteen days, when he was paroled. He was under
Thomas at Atlanta, Columbia, Tenn., Springfield, Franklin, Nash-

ville, besides a number of minor engagements. Mr. Bowers has

always made farming his occupation. He, in the last ten years,
has devoted considerable attention to, and has been successful, in

raising and deahng in fine poultry of the Light Brahma variety and
he has been successful in his farming. He now owns ninety-six
acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church. He belongs to the Central Indiana

Poultry Association, being honored by an election to the office of

Vice President of that societv, and in 1883, he was honored with
an election to the positfon of Road Superintendent for Marion

Township. He entered the army as a poor boy at the early age
of not quite seventeen years. He saved his mone}' and at the ex-

piration of his service had amassed the handsome sum of $666.
Dr. James Bowlby, ph3^sician and surgeon at Marion, is a

native of Rush County, and was born February 17, 1854. He is

the youngest in a family of eight children, born to Dennis and
Eliza A. (Cregar) Bowlby, who were both natives of New Jersey.
They removed to Shelby County in 1869, where they have since
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lived. The Doctor remained at home with his parents until he
attained his majority, receiving a common school education in the

schools of the county, sufficient to enable him to teach, which he
did for six terms in Rush County. His attention was devoted to

farming" in the intervals between terms. In 1880, he commenced

reading medicine with Dr. Lot Green, with whom he continued

three years, during which time he took two courses of lectures at

the medical college of Ohio, at Cincinnati, graduating from that in-

stitution in March, 1883, when he immediately located at Marion
where he has since been engaged in the practice of his profession.
He enjoys a good lucrative practice. April 28, 1885, his marriage
with Mary E. Yarling was solemnized, and one child has blessed

their union: Bertha. He belongs to the Masonic fraternity at

Shelbyville. In politics he is a Republican.
Mahlon Bowman, a prominent citizen of Marion Township, is

a native of Franklin County, Ind., where he was born March 8,

1845, being the sixth in a famih^ of nine children born to Moses and
Evaline (Gordon] Bowman; the latter was also a native of Frank-
lin Countv. The family came to this county in the year 18 si, and
remained residents of it until their death, the former dying- Decem-
ber 15, 1872, and the latter, December, 1885. Mahlon received a

common school education. March 28, 1878, his marriage with

Eliza Pumphrey, a native of Fayette County, was solemnized, and
to their union this one child has been born : Nelson T. Mrs. Bow-
man is a daughter of B. M. and Eliza Pumphrey; she was born
•December 3, 1849. Mr. Bowman has always made farming his

occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now owns no
acres of well improved land. In 1865, ^^^'- Bowman enlisted in Com-

pany C, One Hundred and Forty-eighth Regiment of Volunteer

Infantry, but he never saw any active service, the war closing a

few months after his enlistment. In politics he is a Republican,
and he always manifests a good, live interest in the political affairs

of the county and community in which he lives, where he eniovs

the respect and esteem of all who know him.

Melvin Bowman is a native of Franklin County, Ind., born
December 25, 1846, being seventh in a family of nine children born
to Moses and Evaline (Gordon) Bowman. Our subject remained
at home wit)i and assisted his parents until he attained the age of

twenty-eight years, receiving a common school education, such as

the facilities of those days afforded. November 30, 1875, his

marriage . with Sarah F. Monroney was solemnized, and to their

union these two children have been born: Jessie and Clara. Mr.
Bowman has always been a farmer, and he has been quite successful,
and now owns eighty acres of well improved land. He and family

28
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are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. In poHtics he

is a Repubhcan.
Leaxder Fox, a native of Marion Township, was born No-

vember 21, 1836, the fifth in a family of nine children born to Jacob
and Sarah (Reed) Fox, the former a native of North Carolina and
the latter of Kentuck}^; the}^ both came to Shelby Count}^ wdth

their parents, in an early day, w'here they remained until their

deaths. She died August 19, 1852, aged fort}' years; he died De-
cember 22, 1870, aged nearly seventy-two years. Leander re-

mained at home and assisted his parents until he attained his ma-

jority, receiving a limited education in keeping w'ith the facihties

afforded in those da^-s. In 1857, he emigrated to Missouri, re-

maining there until i860, spending the summer of that vear

on the plains. In the fall of 1S60, he located in Kansas, where he
lived until the following spring, w^hen, in May, 1861, he enlisted in

Company C, 2nd Kansas Volunteer Infantry, w^here he served,
lackincr three days of three months, when he was wounded at the

Battle of Wilson's Creek, Springfield, Missouri, in the knee, which
rendered his leg stiff and compelled his retirement from the service.

He then returned to Shelby Count}^ where he has since made his

home. December 31, 1864, his marriage with Lida Phares was
solemnized. Since his marriage he has made farming his occupa-
tion, and he has been quite successful. He now owns no acres of

well improved land. He and wife are members of the United
Brethren Church. In politics he is a Democrat.

Henry T. Gaines, a prominent citizen of Marion Tow^nship, is

a native of Madison County, Va., and was born September 12,
1 8 10, the son of William M. and Sarah A. (Rucker) Gaines, who
were natives of Orange and Madison Counties, Va., respectively.

Henry Gaines, grandfather of our subject, was of English descent,

always a resident of Virginia. Angus Rucker was born in Vir-

ginia, of French parentage. He served with distinction in the War
for our Independence. He raised a company, was elected Captain,
and served during the entire struggle in that position, refusing to

be promoted. He lived to the good old age of about ninetv years.

WlUiam M. Gaines w^as born January 31, 1777, grew to manhood
in his native State, married there October 4, 1804, and in 181 1;

they removed to Boone Count}-, K3-., where they made their home
until their deaths. He died November 21, 1856, and was buried
in his native State, he being there on a business trip. Our imme-
diate subject was reared to manhood in Boone County, Ky., re-

ceiving a common education, such as was to be obtained in the

subscription schools of those days. August 9, 1836, he came from

Kentucky, and was united in marriage with Matilda Cornelius,



MARION SKETCHES. 705

daughter of George and Elizabeth Cornelius, who had come to

Shelby County from Boone County in the fall of 1833. Mr. Gaines
was engaged in the mercantile business at Petersburg, K\'., and re-

turned there with his wife where they lived until 1838, when he

disposed of his stock of goods and came to, and has since made his

home in, Shelb}- County. The following spring he established a

store in connection with which he was engaged in clearing and im-

proving his farm. To the union of Mr. and Mrs. Gaines three
children have been born, the^e two are now livin<r: Georefe C.
and William C, the latter a resident of Saline County, Mo. Mr.
Gaines continued the mercantile business on his farm for about five

years, since which time he has made farming his principal occupa-
tion, in connection with which he has dealt in stock most all his

life. He was in partnership, in 1850, with James E. Robertson, in

the mercantile trade, at Shelbyville, for one year, and, in 1859, in

company with E. G. Cornelius under the firm name of Gaines &
Cornelius, which continued for a period of six or seven vears.
From a business point of view, he has been quite successful. He
now owns 200 acres of well improved land. He and wife are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church. He also belongs to the Masonic fra-

ternit}'. In politics he is a Democrat, and he has been honored
with an election to the offices of Township Trustee, two terms, and

Justice of the Peace. Mr. George Cornelius, father of Mrs.

Gaines, was a prominent and influential citizen. He was a native

of Virginia, came here in 1833, and, in 1837 moved to Dearborn

County, Ind., from whence, in 1859, he returned to Shelby Countv,

locating in Shelbyville, and, in 1866, removed to Illinois and died

in that State, November 14, 1868, at the age eighty-one years.
His wife died in Indianapolis, July i, 1871, at the age of eight}'-
three years.

George C. Gaines, a native of Marion Township, was born
November 26, 1840, the eldest of a family of three children born

to Henrv T. and Matilda W. (Cornelius) Gaines, whose histor}- is

given above. Our immediate subject was reared to manhood on
the farm, remaining at home and assisting his parents until he at-

tained the age of twenty-seven years, receiving a common school

education, supplemented by attendance at the Franklin College two

3'ears. December 3, 1867, his marriage with Emily J. Kaster was

solemnized, and to their union six children have been born, these

five now living: Lulu, Willie H., Matilda B., Charles S. and Ed-
ward C. Mr. Gaines' occupation has always been farming and he

has been quite successful. He now owns eighty acres of well im-

proved land. Mr. Gaines is a member of the Baptist, his wife and

family of the Methodist Episcopal, Church. In politics he is a
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Democrat, and he always manifests a good live interest in the pohti-
cal affairs of the count}^ and the community in which he lives,

where he enjoys the respect and esteem of all who know him.

Taylor Gordon was born in Marion Township, October 4,

1853,, being the next eldest in a family of five children born to

WiMiam and Clarinda (Hankins) Gordon, who were natives of

Franklin and Shelby Counties, respectively, he being one of the

early settlers of Marion Township, and continuing a resident of

this countv until his death, which occurred in 1853, His widow
still survives him, and has attained the age of fifty-six years. Tay-
lor remained with his mother until he reached his majority, receiv-

ing a common school education. December 22, 1874, his marriage
with Christina Arnold was solemnized, and to their union these t^^•o

children were born: Bertha and Delia. Their union was of com-

paratively short duration, her death occurring in June, 1877. Oc-

tober, 1 88 1, his and Drusilla Sleeth's nuptials were celebrated, and
two children have blessed their union : Chester and Percy. Mr. Gor-
don has always made farming his occupation, and he has been very
successful. He now owns ninety acres of well improved land. He
and wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He
also belongs to the Masonic fraternity. In politics he is a Repub-
lican, and he generally manifests a good live interest in the po-
litical affairs of the county and community in which he lives, where
he enjoys the respect and esteem of his fellow citizens.

Samuel Herthel, a resident of Marion Township, is a native

of Harrison County, Ind., born September 22, 1844, the third in a

family of seven children, born to John and Elizabeth (Burkher)
Herthel, who were both natives of Germany. Our subject was
reared until he was twelve 3'ears of age in his native county, then
his parents removed to Washington Countv, where thev have
since lived. Samuel remained with them until he attained the age
of twenty years, receiving a common school education. In August,
1864, he came to Shelby County, where he has since made his home.
November 18, 1874, ^^^ marriage with Katie E. Yarling was
solemnized, and to their union these four children have been born:
William H., Harry, Mar}^ G. and Emma M. Mr. Herthel has

always made farming his occupation and he has been quite success-

ful. He now owns eighty acres of well improved land. He
belongs to the Masonic fraternity at Shelb3'ville. In politics, he is

a Democrat, and he alwa^'S manifests a good live interest in the

political affairs.

Benjamin Raster, one of the eariiest settlers of Shelby
County, was born February 17, 1791, and came from Ohio in

March, 18 19. He had married in Ohio, Priscilla Brock. Thev
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were the parents of fifteen children, as follows: William, Sarah,
Elizabeth, Jackson, Patsy, Benjamin, Nancy, Polly, Rebecca,
Cynthia, Samuel, John, James, Francis, Lewis. Benjamin was
a man of no education, but a sturdy, strong pioneer, a great hunter,
and during the first year's residence in this count}^, killed 100
deer. He died January 10, 1857. His wife was born March 16,

1796, and died September 24, 1865. Of the children there are five

3'et surviving, four sons and one daughter. William was born

April 16, 1 8 14, in Ohio. He remained with and assisted his

parents, until he attained his majorit}-. He received no education.
There were no schools for several years after thev settled in the

county, but the county was a wilderness of woods, and he was
compelled to assist in clearing and farming. Mav, 1837, his mar-

riage with Matilda Davis was solemnized, and their union was
blessed with one child: Hiram, who married Mary E. Fornian.
He died January 5, 1873. Their union was of a comparative
short duration, she died June 10, 1840. April 10, 1842, his and

Margaret A. (Hines) Davis' nuptials w^ere celebrated. Mr. Ras-
ter has always made farming his occupation, and he has been very
successful. He now. owns over 1,100 acres of well improved land.

In politics he has always been a Democrat.
Samuel Raster, a prominent citizen and native of Marion Town-

ship, was born February 11, 1825, being the son of Benjamin and
Priscilla (Brock) Raster who were natives of Pennsvlvania and

Ohio, respectively. They came to Shelby County in the early part
of the year 1820, and remained residents until their death. Samuel
remained at home and assisted his parents until he attained the age
of twenty-three 3^ears. He received a common education such as

the facilities of those days afforded. October 3, 1847, his marriage
with Eliza A. Brown was solemnized, and to their union seven

children have been born, these five now living: Emily J., now
Mrs. George C. Gaines; Margaret E., wife of Henry Socks; Ben-

jamin F., who married Mary Town; Missouri A., consort of Frank

Ingle, and Robert H. Mr. Raster has always made farming his

occupation and he has been quite successful. He now owns 117
acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church. In politics he has always been a

Democrat, and generally manifests a good live interest in the politi-

cal affairs of the county and community in which he lives, where
he enjoys the respect and esteem of all who know him.

Sampson Meiks is a native of Union Township, was born

August 9, 1837, being the next eldest in a family of eleven children,

born to Jacob and Nancy (Webb) Meiks, who were natives of Penn-

sylvania and Virginia, respectively, and they came to and settled
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in this vicinity, but in Rush County, with their parents in a ver}^

early day, about 1831, and came to Shelb}' County in 1836, and

remained residents of the county until their deaths. Our im-

mediate subject remained at home, and assisted his parents on the

farm until he attained the age of twenty-two years, receiving a com-
mon school education. March 22, i860, his marriage with Bar-

bara J. Halbrook was solemnized, and to their union six children

have been born, these four now living, John W., Maggie J., George
H. and Thomas S. January, 1864, he realized the necessity of the

preservation of our Union and enlisted in Company H, Sixteenth Indi-

ana Volunteer Mounted Infantry, where he served nearly two

3'ears; was honorably discharged at Indianapolis, on account of

close of the war. Mr. Meiks has always made farming his occupa-
tion, and he has been quite successful. He now owns 120 acres of

well improved land, all the accumulation of his own industry and

economy. He and wife are members of the Baptist Church. In

politics he is a Democrat, and was honored with an election to the

position of Justice of Peace, two terms.

Hamilton Morris, a resident and native of Marion Township,
was born May 23, 1830, the youngest in a family of eleven chil-

dren, born to William G., and Nancy (Young) Morris, who were
natives of Princess Ann County, Va., and Breckenridge County,
Kv., respectively, their marriage occurring in the latter State.

They came to Shelby County, March, 182 1, and continued resi-

dents until their death, the latter dying November 15, 1859, at the

age of seventy years, and the former's death occurred October,
1863. He had arrived at the good old age of eighty-two years.
Our immediate subject always remained with his parents support-

ing them in their declining years. He received a very hmited edu-
cation in consequence of the poor facilities afforded in those da3'S.
November 22, 1852, his marriage with Nanc}- D. McCabe was sol-

emnized, and to their union twelve children have been born, these
six now living: Amanda J., wife of James Rinehart; Ohver M.,
Charles O., Mary A., Didama R., and Francis M. The deceased chil-

dren were: Edwin R., two infants unnamed, William T., Malissa and
Priscilla W. Mr. Morris has always made farming his occupation
and he has been quite successful. He now owns 120 acres of well im-

proved land. He and wife are members of the Little Blue River

Baptist Church. He also belongs to the I. O. O. F. fraternity. In

politics he is a Republican, but he will not allow party prejudice to

control him. The father of our subject served six months in the
War of 181 2.

Nathan Nave is a native of Addison Township, born March
195 1839. I"^is parents were Solomon and Polly A. (Higbv) Nave,
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who were both natives of Kentucky; they came to this State about

1824, and were the parents of the following named children:

William, Wilson, Thomas, James and Joseph, twins, Emil}^, Morton,
Nathan, Sophia and two infants unnamed, of whom Thomas,
James, Morton, Nathan and the two daughters are yet living. Nathan
was reared to manhood on the farm, receiving a common school

education such as the facilities of those days afforded. • November

27, 1S67, his marriage with Elizabeth Bassett was solemnized, and
to their union six children were born, these two now living: Anna
and Georgie. Mr. Nave has always made farming his occupation,
and he has been quite successful. He now owns 200 acres of

well improved land, all the accumulation of his own industry and

economy. He and family are members of the Baptist Church,

having been connected with that organization for over twenty-five

years. In politics he has always been a Republican.
Granville L. Oldham, a prominent citizen of Marion Town-

ship, was born in Brandywine Township, May 23, 1850, being the

third in a family of five children born to Joses and Matilda

(Harrell) Oldham, who were natives of Kentucky and Virginia,

respectively ;
both came to this county with their parents in a very

early day, they both remained residents of this county. The former

died April 19, 1865, while his widow survived him and passed

away November 15, 1885. Our immediate subject was reared

on the farm, receiving a good education, attending three terms

at the Shelbvville Hio-h School. He remained at home with

his mother w^hen the family became disbanded, and Granville went

to live with his brother-in-law, Thomas Linville, with whom he re-

mained until he attained the age of twenty years, when November

8, 1870, his marriage with Elizabeth E. Oldham was solemnized,

and to their union four children were born, Maude E., Eflie E., Ira

A. and Harry N. June 9, 1879, Mr. Oldham suffered the bereave-

ment o'f losing his beloved wife. May i, 1881, his and Nelhe

Hoop's nuptials were celebrated, to whom four children were born,

these two now Hving: Tiercia I. and Neva V. April 17, 1887,

death again visited the home of Mr. Oldham and took his compan-
ion. He has always made farming his occupation and he has been

quite successful. He now owns 141 acres of well improved land,

besides what is known as the Oldham saw and grist mill which he

rents. He formerly belonged to the Methodist Protestant Church,

and holds his letter from that organization. He also belongs to

the Masonic organization, having been connected with that society

since he was twenty-three years of age. In politics he has always
been a Democrat, and he always manifests a good live interest in

the political affairs of the county and community in which he lives,
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where he enjoys the respect and esteem of all who know him, and

has been honored by being selected as his party's central committee

man for four years.
George W. Phares, of Marion, is a native of Union Town-

ship, born October 25, 1840, the youngest in a family of seven

children, born to Isaac and Polina (Halbrook) Phares, who w^ere

both natives of North Carolina, and they came to Shelby County
in a verv early day, about 1825; the former died in 1842, his widow
remained a resident until her death, which occurred in 1881.

George W. remained at home and assisted in the support of his

widowed mother until he attained the age of twenty-six years, receiv-

ing a limited education in consequence of having to work, his

mother needing his help. March 5, 1867, his marriage with Mary
Yarling was solemnized, and to their union seven children have

been born, these five now living: Mary C, now Mrs. Lon Rhoades;

John W., Henry E., Carrie and Nora. Mr. Phares has always
made farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He
and wife now own 325 acres of well improved land, all the accu-

mulation of their own industry and economy. He and wife and three

oldest children are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

In politics he has always been a Republican.
William H. Poxd, a leading citizen of Marion Township, is a

native of Franklin County, Ind., where he was born November 24,

1839, being the youngest in a family of nine children born to Henry
and Catherine

(
Watson

j Pond, who were natives of New York
and Scotland, respectively. Our subject was reared in his native,

county, remaining at home and assisting his father in his tannery,
and on a farm until he attained his majority. He received a com-
mon school education. February 16, 1859, ^^^^ marriage with Car-
olina Larrimore was solemnized, and to their union seven children

have been born, these six now living: Henry, who married Etta

Kennedy, Lucy, wife of Riley Sedgwick, Dewitt, Albert, Walter
and Oscar. In 1863, ^i'- Pond removed to and located in Shelby
County, where he has since made his home. He has always made

farrhing his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
ovyns 160 acres of well improved land. He and family are mem-
bers of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He also belongs to the

Masonic fraternitv. In politics he is a Republican, and he always
manifests a good live interest in the political affairs of the county
and community in which he lives. He was honored by his party in

1876, with the nomination to the position of Sheriff, but his party

being in the minority, he, with the rest of the ticket, was defeated.

Harrison Rhoades, a prominent citizen and native of Marion

Township, was born October 4, 1828, being the eldest in a family
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of eight chileren born to Beaton and Sarah (Rhoades) Rhoades.
They came to this county in February, 1S21, from North Carolina.

He was reared to manhood on the farm, remaining at home and

assisting his parents until he attained the age of twenty-four years.

In 1 85 2, his marriage with Lucretia J. Whicker was solemnized;
that union was of short duration as her death occurred February
14, 1853. Ma}' 16, 1859, his- and Rosanna Cook's nuptials were
'celebrated, and to their union seven children were born : Balser,
who married Rhoena Fisher; Mary J., now Mrs. Robert F. Hauck;
Sarah C, wife of John W. Brown; Franklin, unmarried; Emma M.,
consort of Jasper L. Whicker; Vira E., now Mrs. George W.
Whicker and George C. T. Mr. Rhoades has always made farm-

ing his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 152 acres of well improved land. In politics he has always
been a Democrat. Mrs. Rhoades was born July 7> 1832; she was
a daughter of Cornelius and Mary (Wilkinson) Cook, who were
also among the early settlers of this county, remaining residents

until their death.

Jesse Rhodes was born April ii, 1829, the son of John and

Perlina (Hodge) Rhodes, who were natives of North Carolina

and Kentucky, respectively. Adam Rhodes, paternal grandfather
of our subject, was of German parentage, was born in North Car-

olina, grew to manhood there and married Susan Fox. In 18 18,

himself and family came to Fayette County, Ind., coming in Feb-

ruary, 1 82 1, to Shelby County, w^iere the}^ lived until their deaths.

John Rhodes, father of our subject, was born March 26, 1800, and

was married in Shelby County, Ind., September 5, 1824, to

Perlina Hodges, daughter of Jesse and Rebecca (Fisher)

Hodges, natives of Virginia and Kentucky, respective!}^; they

having settled in Indiana in 1809. John Rhodes was started in

life by his father with forty acres of land, at the time of his

death he was the proprietor of over 1,100 acres of land. He died

on the farm now owned by our subject, January 28, 1849. His

widow survived him a number of years, and passed away October,

1883. Jesse remained at home with and assisted his parents until

he had nearly attained the age of twenty-one years, receiving a

limited education, such as the facilities of those days afforded.

September 27, 1849, his marriage with Corneha J. Nigh was

solemnized. She was a daughter of John and Cynthia Nigh, early

settlers of this county. Mrs. Rhodes was born June 28, 1830, and

is the mother of the following named children : Cynthia E., Elvira,

John F., Margaret A., Alonzo, William E. and Charles, now living,

Emma and an infant are deceased children. He and 'wife are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He also belongs to
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the Masonic fraternit}-. In politics he is a Republican. He ranks

as one of the most successful farmers of the county and owns 342
acres.

Sylvester Thomas was born in Marion Township, March i,

1827, being the sixth in a famity of ten children, born to William

<ind Mar}' (Reece) Thomas, who were natives of Maryland and

Virginia, respectively. They emigrated to Indiana and Shelby
County in the spring of 182 1, and settled in what is now Marion'

Township; they continued residents of this county until their deaths,
the father dying in 1836, the mother in 1845. Our subject after

his father's death lived with his brother-in-law for three years. He
worked around in the neighborhood, receiving a common school ed-

ucation such as was to be obtained in the primitive log school-houses

of those davs. Februar}^, 1848, his marriage with Colistia Kitchel

was solemnized, and to their union eight children have been born:

Jane, now Mrs. Leander Billman; Mary, wife of Leander Fortiner;

Milretta, consort of Allen Mver; Rebecca, w^ife of Gilbert Hartless;

Ellen, now Mrs. John Vought; Laura, wife of Douglas House; Al-

bert, who married Alice Engle, and George. Mr. Thomas has

always made farming his occupation, and has been quite successful.

He now owns 660 acres of well improved land, all the accumulation
of his own industry and good management. In politics he is a Re-

publican. Mrs. Thomas was also a native of Shelby County, the

daughter of Percy and Mar}- (Fox) Kitchel. She was born in

1824.

MORAL SKETCHES.

Robert Belton has been a resident of Shelby County since

December, 1833. He was born in Rockingham County, N. C,
April II, 1822. He accompanied relatives to this county and has
resided here ever since. He began life a poor boy, and can be
termed a self-made man. In 1849, he was married to Miss Emily
House, daughter of John and Ella House, old residents of this

county, w^here Mrs. Belton w^as born. This union was blessed with
two children, Tyrell and Cornelius. Mrs. Belton died in 1852,
and in 1854, ^^'- Belton married Caroline Chamberlain. Their
children are: Maria, Benjamin F. and Annie, all living. Mr. and
Mrs. Belton are members of the Baptist Church. Politically, Mr.
Belton is a staunch Democrat and an active worker in the party.
He owns a comfortable home in Section 26, and is honest and upright
in all his deahngs. He enlisted during the Mexican War and took

part in the battle of Buena Vista, and to-day draws pension for that

service.
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Marquis Case has been a resident of Moral Township forty-
five years. He was born in Herkimer County, N. Y., on January
17, 1815. His parents were EHjah and Mary Case, natives of New
York, deceased. Our subject Hved in New York until his twenty-
first vear. About 1836, he came to Switzerland Count}', Indiana,
and worked at millwrighting, which he followed for a number of

years. In 1840, he came to this county, and has resided here ever

since. In 1842, he was married to Darinda Doble, by whom he

had one child, William, who died in infancy; he has lived here most
all his life, and has been engaged in repairing mills. In 1886, his

wife, who had stood by his side for so many years, was called

away. He and his wife were members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. Mr. Case owns a farm near town, and valuable residence

property and eleven acres in London. Honest through life, he is

now an old and respected citizen.

Joel Crum, a well-to-do farmer of Moral Township, is a native

of Dauphin County, Penn., where he was born May 30, 18 16. His

parents were Peter and Elizabeth Crum, both natives of Pennsyl-
vania, and of German descent. '

Joel was reared on a farm, and

farming has been his principal occupation through life. By attend-

ing the district schools in his youth he received a fair education.

At the age of twenty, he removed to Juniata County, Penn., where
he resided three years, and while a resident of that county he was
united in marriage with Miss Maria L. Jeffries, who was born in

Juniata Countv, Penn., March 12, 1819. Soon after their marriage,
which occurred May 30, 1839, they emigrated to Fayette County,
Ind., and resided there as renters until the spring of 1842, when

they settled in Moral Township on what is known as the Jeffries

farm, west of Sugar Creek. This was then comparatively a new

countrv, and many changes have taken place since the arrival of

the Crums. The family circle of our subject was blessed with five

sons and three daughters. They were: Jerome, Michael E., Ma-
tilda C, George W.,J. W., Mary E., Louisa I., and Columbus O.,

of whom Jerome, Columbus and Louisa are deceased. Mr. and

Mrs. Crum are members of the Methodist Church. Politically, he

is a Democrat, and has served as Township Assessor. As early

as 1834, h^ ^^^ ^ threshing machine, known then as the " Ground

hog," and during every season for over fifty years he has been en-

gaged in threshing. All through life he has been a hard working,
industrious man and one whose labors have been attended by suc-

cess. He has reared a large family of sons and daughters with

whom he has dealt liberally by assisting them to homes. Pie has

passed his three score years and ten, but is in very good health,

and he and his venerable wife who have traveled life's journey to-
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gether through its trials and hardships, bid fair to hve many years

yet and enjoy the pleasures of honorable lives well spent. In

1855-56, Mr. Crum was engaged in the merchandise business in

London, Ind.

George W. Crum, a prominent farmer of Moral Township,
and son of Joel and Maria L. Crum, whose biography appears

above, was born near London, Ind., October 3, 1847. His entire

life has been spent here,- and farming is his occupation. In his

youth he received a fair education. On March 5, 1872, he took for

his life companion Miss Kate L. Havens, daughter of David and

Mary L. (Wilson) Havens, natives of Indiana. The former was

the son of Rev. James Havens, a noted minister of the Methodist

Episcopal Church of Indiana, who spent his life in the ministry,,

and was counted one of the leading workers of his day. David

Havens, the father of Mrs. Crum, also entered the ministr}^ at an

early age, and was battling for God at the time of his death, June
6, 1860. The mother is still living. Mrs. Crum was born near

London, August 23, 1853, and spent her girlhood days here, and

by attending the district schools received a good education. This

union was blessed with three children: Roena, born December 25,

1872; Orrin H., born May 18, 1875, ^"^ Frederick E., born March

6, 1884, all of whom are living. Mr. and Mrs. Crum are members
of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Politically, Mr. Crum is a

Democrat. He is one of the active workers of Moral Township.

John H. Garver, Trustee of Moral Township, was born in

Hamilton, Buttler Co., Ohio, May 15, 1855. His parents were
William H. and Mary A. (Kimble) Garver, natives of Ohio, the

former of German, and the latter of Irish extraction. Our subject

spent his boyhood and vouth in the City of Hamilton, Ohio, and

received an education in the Hamilton schools, reaching the High
School department at the age of eleven. After securing his educa-

tion he engaged in teaching, and successfullv taught for twelve years.
His career as a teacher began in Hancock County, Ind., in 1875?
and he has taught every year since. In 1871, he accompanied his

parents to Hancock County, this State, and in 1877, he began teach-

ing in Moral Township, and has resided here ever since. On
August 14, 1879, ^^ ^'^'^^ united in marriage with Miss Hannah

King, daughter of James and Mary (Smith) King, the former a

native of Kentuck\% and the latter of North Carolina. Mr. King
came to Shelbv Countv in 1825, he was then but seven vears of

age, and resided here until February, 1871, when he was called

awav. Mrs. Garver is a native of Moral Township, where she

was born December 23, 1858. Their five children are: Harry U.,

Mary A., A. M. Clare, Jolly J., and Chattie B., of whom Jolly J. is
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deceased. Politically, Mr. Garver is a staunch Democrat. In April
1886, he was elected Trustee of Moral Township, and now fills

that position. He takes a deep interest in the schools of his town-

ship, and with his experience as teacher is well calculated to select

teachers of a hiirh order.

George W. House, a farmer of Moral Township, was born

February 25, 1838. His parents were Masten and Nancy (Hoff-
man) House, both natives of Boone County, Ky. They came
to this county in an early day, and are among the pioneer settlers

of this county. Our subject was reared on a farm, near where he
now resides, receiving a fair education for that day. At the age of

twenty, he began life on his own responsibility, and on March 28,

1858, was united in marriage with Nancy J. Jackson', daughter of

Ichabod and Mary (Maholm) Jackson, the former a native of High-
land County, Ohio, and the latter of Pennsylvania. Mrs. House
was born on the farm where she now resides, March 22, 1842.
This union was blessed with six children: Irene, Abel D., Cor-
nelius M., Lauesa, Lizzie and Mary A. B., of whom Abel, Cor-
nelius and Lizzie are deceased; both sons died with that dread

disease, consumption. Mr. and Mrs. House are members of the

Missionary Baptist Church. Politically, he is a Democrat.

James McGuire, who has been a resident of Shelby County
since i860, was born in Ireland on March 8, 1831. His parents
were Edward and Nancy (Cambell) McGuire, natives of Ireland

and residents of that countr}'; at this time the latter is deceased. At
the age of twenty-five years our subject resolved to seek a home in

America, and on Februar}^ i, 1856, landed in New York, and
worked seven months on Long Island; he then started westward
and located near Cincinnati, Ohio, in Butler County, and from thence

to this county. In i860, he was married to Isabelle Palmer, a

native of Ireland, where she was reared. Politically, he is a staunch

Democrat. He has earned everything he is worth to-day by hard
and earnest toil. He moved to the fine farm where he now resides in

1872, and to-day owns one of the best farms in this community.
Honest and upright in all his dealings he is respected b\^ all.

Nehemiah Means, a native-born citizen of Moral Township,
was born September 13, 1830. He is the son of Fountain and

Letta (Edwards) Means, natives of North Carolina. They emi-

wrated to this State and settled near Madison in 1822, and in 1826

came to Moral Township, and located one mile north of Brookfield,

where they entered a wild tract of land, put up a cabin and began
to make a home in the forest. There they resided until their deaths;
that of Mrs. Means in 1849, and of Mr. Means in 1865. Our sub-

ject was reared amid the scenes of pioneer days, and assisted in
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developinn- a home. His school advantages were Hmited and of

necessity an education was hard to get. At the age of nineteen or

on October 4, 1S49, he was united in marriage to Martha H.

Holmes, daughter of George W. and Sarah (Floyd) Holmes. She
was born on the farm where Mr. Means now resides, and was
reared to womanhood there. This union was blessed with five

children: Sarah J., Margaret E., John R., George F., and Thomas

H., of whom John R. and George F. are deceased. Mrs. Means
was called away in 1862. In 1865, Mr. Means was again married,
this time to Mrs. Lucinda Rouse, widow of Thompson Rouse, by
whom she had three children. Their six children are: Albert P.,

Gary S., Rolla L., Anna B., Willard A. and Ezra P., the latter of

whom is deceased. Mrs. Means was also called away on March

17, 1880, and on November 10, 1880, he married Eliza A. Harri-

man, daughter of James N. and Catharine Judd. Mrs. Means
is a native of Ohio, and by Mr. Means is the mother of one child:

Roy J. Politically, Mr. Means is a Democrat, and is quite a worker
in that part}-.

Caleb F. Means, of the firm of Means & Stanley, dealers of

general merchandise, Brookfield, is a native of Moral Township,
being born January 19, 1842; his parents were Robert and Jemima
Means, old pioneers of this county, deceased. Our subject was
reared on a farm, and received a fair education and attended school

at Franklin College for a while. At the age of twenty-one, he

began life on his own responsibility and engaged in farming, and
at the age of twenty-two, he Went to Indianapolis and engaged in

clerking in a clothing store; soon afterward, he returned to Brook-

field, and entered into the merchandise business with his brother

Cornelius Means: this was in 1867. On November 13, 1868, he
was married to Miss Jennie M. Stanley, daughter of E. H. and
Elizabeth Stanley, whose personal history appears in this volume.
She was born here and has always resided here. This union was
blessed with two children: Clarence W. and Edith, both living.
Mr. and Mrs. Means are members of the Missionary Baptist Church.

Politically, Mr. Means is a Republican, but was raised a Democrat;
he takes an active part in politics. He is at present Postmaster of

Brookfield and an express agent and railroad agent. He is a self-

made man, and has earned what he is worth to-day by dint of

industr}- and perseverance. To-day he owns half-interest in a

large store building and general stock of merchandise, an interest

in the Brookfield Flouring Mills, two fine farms and a valuable

residence and other propert}' in Brookfield.

John Mohr was born in Germany, Februar}' 12, 1830. His

parents were John and Mary Mohr, natives of Germany. When
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our subject was eleven years of age, his parents emigrated to

America, and settled in Jackson Township, this county; there John
grew to manhood amid the scenes of farm life. At an earh^ age he
was apprenticed to learn the blacksmith trade and after completing
it he engaged in blacksmithing for several years, but finally re-

turned to the farm. In 1850, he was married to Elizabeth Yearl-

ing, by whom he had nine children. Mrs. Mohr was called away
in August, 1867. He was again married, and after bearing one child

the second wife died. His next wife was Mary A. Basey, she had
three children and died. His fourth wife was Jennetta Higenbothum,
she has had no children. Mr. Mohr has made the most of his

wealth by hard work and for awhile worked rented farms, and

to-day owns over 500 acres of fine farming land divided into three

farms, all under a high state of cultivation. Politically, he is a

staunch Democrat. His parents passed away in this county.

John Sleeth, who has been a resident of Shelby County since

the last of November, 1820, was born in Greene County, Ohio,
November 25, 1814. His parents were John and Sarah (Butler)
Sleeth, the former was the son of Alexander Sleeth, whose parents
were natives of Ireland, and had emigrated to America, and resided

in New York but a few weeks when Alexander was born. He
accompanied his parents to Virginia, where he grew to manhood
and was married. They soon afterward removed to Tennessee,
where Mrs. Sleeth died and Mr. Sleeth soon returned to Virginia.
After taking part in the War of the Revolution, he returned to

Virginia and was married to Miss Nancy Smith, by whom he had

ten sons and three daughters. They emigrated to Greene County,

Ohio, in 1S08. In February, 1815, Alexander, with several of his

sons, removed to Union County, Ind., where they secured homes,
and Alexander continued to reside there until his death, which

occurred during the summer of 1820. His son, John Sleeth, who
was the father of our subject, came and located in Marion Town-

ship, Shelby County, in the fall of 1820. John and Sarah Sleeth

were among the first settlers of Shelby County, and continued to

reside here until their respective deaths, which occurred as follows :

Mrs. Sleeth, March 7, 1839, ^^^ ^r. Sleeth September 15, 1851.

Mr. Sleeth while a resident of this county, held some very respon-

sible positions. For fourteen years he was Associate Judge, and

also filled the position of County Commissioner. Our subject, John
Sleeth, as stated, was six years of age when he accompanied his

parents to Shelby County, therefore his Hfe-has been principally

spent here. His early educational advantages were limited, owing
to the scarcity of schools. He remained at home until

_

he was

twenty-five, and February 14, 1839, he was united in marriage with
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Miss Rebecca Talbert, daughter of John and Elizabeth Talbert,

who were natives of North Carohna, where, in Guilford County,
Mrs. Sleeth was born June 13, 1818. This union was blessed with

seven children: Fernandes, Addison, Asa, Sarah J., Ann M.,

Nancy L., Matilda A., all living. Mrs. Sleeth died October 10,

1883. She was a kind and loving wife and mother, and a member
of the Methodist Episcopal Church. Mr. Sleeth is also a member
of that church, having united at the same time his wife did, in

1837. PoHtically, he is a Republican, and expects to end his days
a member of that part3\ His first vote was for Martin Van Buren,
and he continued to vote the Democratic ticket up to 1856. For

eiffht vears he was Trustee of Union Township, this countv, but

has never sought political honors.

James H, Smith, a prominent pioneer of Moral Township, was
born in Brook County, W. Va., April 30, 1819. His parents were
Robert and Isabella (Crawford) Smith, natives of Mar3'land. When
our subject was about seven years of age his parents removed to

Pittsburg, Penn., where the}^ resided about two years; from thence

they removed to Richland County, Ohio, where the mother of our

subject was called awa}- in 1833. In the spring of 1836, Robert
Smith and his family, which now consisted of three boys and three

girls, started with their household goods in a two-horse wagon for

Missouri, but on arriving at this point on the route they concluded

to stop and settle down. Accordingly, Mr. Smith entered eighty
acres of the line farm of 226 acres owned by James H. Smith to-

day. They put up a round log cabin and moved into it and began to

clear up a home. This was then almost an unbroken wilderness,
and but few cabins were to be found in a day's ride, it seemed
like an almost endless task to hew a home out of the dense forest,

but the sturdy pioneers never lost courage, and toiled on. Our

subject spent the principal part of his life on the farm he owns

to-day, and has witnessed a great change in the country, the wilder-

ness of lifty years ago, the old by-roads have disappeared, and
Mr. Smith carried the chain on the survey of the old Greenfield

and Franklin State Road; but civihzation has come to stay and the

whole country is now dotted with churches and schools. On Janu-
ar}' 22, 1843, he chose for a life companion, Nancy Emmons,
daughter of Uriah and Nancy (Richmond ) Emmons, natives of New
Jersey. Mrs. Smith was born in Butler Count}', Ohio, April 14,
1822. At the age of ten she accompanied her parents to Hancock

County where they setttled and continoied to reside until their

deaths. Mr. and Mrs. Smith were blessed with thirteen children:

Jerome C, Mary J., Hannah, James H., Sidney, Nancy, Martha,
Isabella, Eliza, Diza, Emily, Fernando W. aiid Caroline M., of
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whom Nancy and Isabella are deceased, eleven of whom have
arrived at maturity and seven are married and have families of their

own. Politically, Mr. Smith is a Democrat, and firmly beheves in

the principles of that party, but has never sought political honors.
TiNSLEY Smith was born in North Carolina, September i6,

1821. His parents were James and Nancy Smith, natives of North
Carohna. Our subject accompanied his parents to Switzerland

County, Ind., in 1829, there the}^ resided until 1830, when they re-

moved to Moral Township, and located near Pleasant View, this

was then a wilderness. In a few years he entered land east of

Sugar Creek; there our subject grew to manhood. He continued
to reside on that farm until his death, which occurred in 1884. Be-

ing reared on a farm, Tinsley adopted farming as a life profession.

Owing to limited school advantages, his education was only fair.

In 1844, he was married to Sarah Murnan, daughter of Michael
and Jane Murnan, old and respected pioneers of Shelby Countv.
This union was blessed with four children: Jane, Nancy, Elizabeth
and John J., of whom Nancy is deceased. Mrs. Smith was called

away in 1856. In 1857, Mr. Smith was married to Jane
Cunningham, daughter of David and Ellen Cunningham, residents

at the time of their deaths, of Hancock County. This union lasted

until the 15th of August, 1885, when Mrs. Smith was called home.

Politically, Mr. Smith is a Democrat, but never sought for politi-

cal honors. He began life at the bottom of the ladder, and has

earned what he is worth to-day, by hard and earnest toil. At one
time he owned about i,ooo acres of fine land in Moral Township,
but has been ver}- liberal with his children, helping them to homes.
He to-day, owns a comfortable home of 240 'acres, provided with

good and substantial improvements.
Martin Snepp, prominent farmer of Moral Township, and a

resident of London, Indiana, is a son of William and Magdalene
(Warner) Snepp. The former w^as the son of Daniel and Eliza-

beth (Isley) Snepp. Daniel was the son of Leonard Snepp, a native

of Berks Countv, Pennsvlvania, who emigrated to Montgomerv
Countv, Ohio, about 1800, where he ended his days. Daniel and
Elizabeth (Isley) Snepp, were, reared and married in Pennsylvania
and ended their days in Montgomery County, Ohio, the former

dving at the early age of forty. William and Magdalene (Warner)
Snepp, the former a son of Daniel and Elizabeth Snepp, and the

father of our subject, Martin Snepp, was born in JVIontgomery
Countv, Ohio. There he spent his boyhood days on a farm. In

1832, William Snepp with his family removed to a farm that he had

recently purchased in Jackson Township, Shelby County, Indiana.

Mr. Snepp soon erected a blacksmith shop, and began working at his

29
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trade. His death occurring in June, 1837, a widow and three

children were left to mourn his loss. The\- were Martin, Emauel
and Ann C. The mother is still living at the advanced age of eighty-
one vears. Martin Snepp was born in Montgomery County, Ohio,
but soon after accompanied his parents to Jackson Township, this

county, where he spent his boyhood and youth, receiving a fair

education. At the age of sixteen he started out for himself, and

engaged as a farm laborer. At the early age of twenty he was
married to Miss Martha Sawin, daughter of James H. and Caroline

(Harvey) Sawin. She was born in Bartholomew County, Indiana,

in 1827, where she was reared. On December 5, 1868, Mrs.

Snepp died; she was a devout member of the old school Baptist
Church. In 1869, our subject was married to Miss Margaret E.

Dicke}', and the union was blessed with three sons: Luther P.,

Homer D. and Leon B., all of whom are living. This union lasted

until 1877. In 18S0, Mr. Snepp chose for his companion Frances

Kelsev, widow of Newton Kelsey, and daughter of Jacob and Mar}^
Guile. Frances is a native of Washington Township, this county.
Mr. and Mrs. Snepp are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church. Mr. Snepp is a member of Edinburg Lodge No. 100,

F. & A. M., and a Democrat in politics. He now owns a farm in

Moral Township, and residence property in London, where he re-

sides.

Daniel H. Snepp, a prominent young farmer of Moral Town-

ship, is a native of this county, born December 5, 1862. He was
raised on a farm and received a good education in his vouth. For
a number of years he was engaged in selling agricultural imple-
ments, and pays some attention to that business yet. On March 9,

1884, he was married to Miss Naomi McGregor, daughter of

William and Margaret McGregor, old and respected residents of

Marion County, where Mrs. Snepp was born June 2, 1863. This
union was blessed with one child, Maggie, who died in infancy.
Mr. Snepp is a resident of London, and at present is Postmaster
and Democratic central committeeman from Moral Township. He
takes an active interest in the affairs of his party, and is one of

the promising young men of the county.
Napoleon B. Snodgrass, one of the pioneers of Moral Town-

ship, was born in Harrison County, Ky., November 8, 1822. He
was the son of Benjamin and Ursula (Evans) Snodgrass, the for-

mer a native of Virginia, and the latter a native of Pennsylvania.
Mr. Snodgrass is of English descent. When our subject was about
six years of age his parents removed to a tract of land which they
had purchased near Palestine, Hancock County. They located on
the land and moved into a rude log cabin on October 7, 1828, and
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on September 17, 1829, Mr. Snodgrass was called away, leaving a
widow and live children to mourn his loss. In early years Mr. Snod-
grass was taught a lesson which has distinguished him through
life. At the age of twenty-one he began to work at the

carpenter and milhvrighting trade. This he followed until he was
married. On February 17, 1850, he was married to Miss Susanah
Leonard, a native of Davison County, N. C. Her parents were
John A. and Lauina Leonard, of German descent; Susanah was
born in 1828. Their union has been blessed with eight children,
six of whom are living: Loretta, now Mrs. D. McDugul; Rob-
ert G., Sarah, Jennie, Annie, who is attending college and will soon

graduate at Danville, Ind., and John N. Mr. Snodgrass is a staunch
Democrat and iirmly believes in the principles of his party, but
never sought pohtical honors.

p. H. Stanley, proprietor of the Brookfield Mills, and grain
dealer, was born in Stokes County, North Carolina, October 30,

1824. He was the only son of John and Luc}' (Amos) Stanlev,
the former the son of Christopher and Elizabeth (Smith ) Stanley.
After a faithful service in the Revolution, Christopher married and
settled in Botetourt County, Virginia. There he resided until

the father of our subject, John Stanlev was about iifteen 3-ears of

age, when he removed to Stokes County, N. C, where he passed
away at the advanced age of eightv-four years. Shorth^ after the

marriage of John Stanley, which occurred in 1822, he removed
with his wife and son, to Jefferson Countv, Ind., landing at Madi-
son in the fall of 1829, and in the spring of 1830, to Moral Town-
ship, locating in Section 13, on the west bank of Sugar Creek.
Here he entered eighty acres and erected a log cabin, which he

occupied for several years. B}^ hard and earnest toil he succeeded
in developing a good farm which is owned to-day by our subject,
E. H. Stanley. After long and useful lives John and Lucy Stanley
were called away on almost the same date, that of the former, Feb-

ruar}' 23, 1863, '^^^ the latter February 25, 1863. Our subject
was a boy five vears of ao;e" when his father landed here, and has

spent his entire life since in the township. His early education was-

fair for that day of log school-houses. He was reared amid the

scenes incident to farm life, and engaged in farming until 1861,,

when he removed to Brookfield. and eno-acjed in merchandisino- and

buvinj^ p-rain, which he has since largelv followed. On February

17, 1848, he was married to Miss Elizabeth Smith, daughter of

James and Nancy (Vernon) Smith, old pioneers of this township.
Mi-s. Stanley was born February 22, 1827, in Patrick County, N. C,
and accompanied her parents to this county, when she was about

four years of acfe. This family circle has been blessed with se^en
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children, Mary J., Julia A., Amanda F., John J., Charles A., Nancy
I>., and Andrew J., of whom the latter is deceased. The rest have

all cn-own to maturity. Mr. and Mrs. Stanley and children, are mem-
bers of the Missionary Baptist Church. Politicall}', Mr. Stanley in

his youth, was reared a staunch Democrat, but changed his political

views in 1854, when the great difference of opinion with reference

to the extension of slavery was before the people. Since then he

lii^te'' t'oted the Republican ticket, and has always taken an active

part in politics, but has never sought political honors. He is a self

made man, and what he is worth to-day, he has made by dint of in-

dustry and perseverance. To-day he owns the old home farm of

over 200 acres, besides the Brookfield Mills and valuable residence

property in Brookfield. He has adopted a straight forward course

in life, which has won for him numerous friends, who speak of his

sterling qualities as a citizen.

Noah F. Weaver, deceased, and at the time of his death a

resident of Johnson County, was born in Vermont, June 7? 1806.

His parents were Frederick and Mary (Morse) Weaver, natives

of Vermont; the former was born, reared and died in Vermont.

The latter was the daughter of Capt. Morse, who was a sea

Captain, and descendants of the Morses of Colonial fame. Noah
F. Weaver was united in marriage on June 22, 1831, to Lucy I.

Wilkins, daughter of Uriah and Lucy (Wilkins) Wilkins, natives

of New Hampshire, of English descent. They w^ere married in

Vermont, where Lucy I. was born Februar}' 28, 181 5. In 1833,

they emigrated to Ohio, and in 1835 settled in Bartholomew

County, Indiana, thence to Jasper Count}', Indiana, where Mr. Wil-
kins was called away October 2, 1853. After his death, Mrs.

Wilkins removed to White Count}', Ind., and passed away January
22, i860. Noah F. Weaver and wife,,were blessed with five chil-

dren: Adaline L., Angeline L., Horace W., Charles F. and Mary
J., of whom Angeline is deceased. Mr. and Mrs. Weaver were
members of the Christian Church. In 1881, Mrs. Weaver re-

moved to the farm, where she now resides, in Moral Township,
and is irt fair health for one seventy-two years of age.

Horace Weaver, a prominent farmer and citizen of Moral Town-
ship, was born in Manchester, Bennington Co., Vt., August 13, 1836.
His parents were Noah F. and Lucy I. (Wilkins) Weaver, both
natives of Vermont, and of English descent, whose sketch is

given abt)ve. At the age of nineteen our subject began life on
his own responsibility by engaging to work by the month, and con-

tinued at this about two years, after which he began farming as a

renter. Prior to this, or on February 26, 1857, he chose for his

wife Lydia A. Tucker, daughter of Clark and Margaret (For-
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sythe) Tucker. Lydia was a native of Johnson County, where
she spent her entire hfe, dying November 15, 1859. This union
was blessed with one child: Luella, who is living, and the wife of

Jesse M. Duckworth. After the death of his wife, Mr. Weaver
continued to farm. Mr. Weaver was one of the first to answer to

his country's call, and thinks he was the tenth man to enlist in

Company H, Seventh Regiment Indiana Volunteers', under com-
mand of Col. Ebenezer Dumont, and Capt. Joseph P. Gill, for three

months. They were enrolled April 21, 1861, and left Franklin

about the first of May for Indianapolis, where they went into Camp
Morton. In a few days they were ordered to West Virginia, and

placed in the department of the Ohio, under the command of Gen.

George B. McClellan, and took part in the West Virginia cam-

paign, and in the battles of Phillipi, Laurel Hill, Cheat River and
Garrick's Ford, and in August, 1861, received an honorable dis-

charge and returned to Franklin. Mr. Weaver once more offered

his services. This time he enlisted in Company G, Third Cavalry,
under command of G. F. Herriott, with which he shared the vicisi-

tudes of man}^ hard campaigns. On the march through North
Carolina our subject was captured near Fayetteville, and was
hurried to Richmond, Va., where he was held until the surrender.

At the close of the war he was paroled and sent to Camp Chase,

Ohio, and on June 18, 1865, he received an honorable discharge.

Durinii" all those vears of hard fio-htincr he never received a wound,
and returned home to enjoy the Union he had fought so bravely to

preserve. After the close of the war he returned to Franklin, and

once more returned to the farm. On October 28, 1867, he was
married to Lucy E. McCaslin, daughter of James and Elizabeth

McCaslin, who were pioneers of Johnson County. This famil}''

is blessed with seven children : Emma, Frank, Eddie, Ollie, Fred-

die, Alice and Bertha, of whom Freddie is deceased. Mr. and

Mrs. Weaver are members of the Christian Church. Mr. Weaver
is a member of FrankHn Lodge, F. & A. M., and of Acton Post

No. 294, G. A. R. Pohtically, he is a staunch Repubhcan and

firmly believes in the principles he fought for.

NOBLE SKETCHES.

Benjamin Buxton was born in England, May i8, 1824. He
was the fourth son of seven children, three daughters

• and four

sons. His parents, John and Sarah (Wright) Buxton, were both

natives of England. When but eight years old, Mr. Buxton was

left fatherless, and eight 3'-ears later his mother died, when he was

thrown upon his own resources. He received some education at
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boarding-school prior to his mother's death. He worked as a car-

penter for some time, then as a salesman for a wholesale dr}' goods
house until 1847, when he came to America. He landed at New
York, going from there to Albany b}' steamer, from there to Buf-

falo bv canal boat, and from there to Chicago, where he remained

about a year, and then came to Shelby Count}', where he purchased
land and located in 1849. He purchased 100 acres on the south

bank of Flat Rock, where he has since resided. June 10, 1850, he

married Miss Diana Avery, a native of this county, born March,
1826, the daughter of William and Hannah (Magoe) Avery, of

English and Irish parentage, who were among the pioneers of this

county. Mr. Buxton is the parent of eight children : Wilham J.,

born October 22, 1850, who is Recorder elect; Helen A., born

March 22, 1852, wife of Hopkins Hoban; Evelena, born Novem-
ber 9, 1854, wife of Squire Cooper; Robert W., born August 30,

1862, who is now teaching school and running the home farm
;
Eliza-

beth, Thomas M., Thaddeus E., Alfred M., the last three of whom
are dead. Mr. Buxton and wife are members of the Methodist

Episcopal Church. Mr. Buxton is a stirring, energetic man; he
owns now a farm of 340 acres of line land, well improved, and
with line buildings upon it; he is one of the best farmers of his

township. He is a member of the Democratic party, an honest,

upright man, and one of the best of citizens.

William H. Craftox, a native of Decatur County, Ind., was
born July 23, 1835. He was the eldest of seven children born to

Thomas and Mary (Shirley) Crafton. Grandfather Crafton came
to America from Ireland before the War of 1776, in which he
served. Thomas Crafton was reared a farmer bov, and came to

Decatur County early in life. He married Miss Shirle}- in 1834,
who was a native of Indiana. In 1846, he located in Noble Town-
ship, Shelb}' County. He died just after the close of the late war,
and his wife died in 1872. Both were members of the Baptist
Church. William H. Crafton was reared on the farm, and had the

advantages of a common school education. At the age of twent}'-
one, he began life for himself as a farmer, which occupation he has
followed through life. In March, 1874, ^^ entered his present
home, where he owns 149 acres of improved land. In March,
1861, he married Miss Sarah E. Phillippe, born September 18, 1837,
a daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth PhilHppe, natives of Vir-

ginia. Mrs. Crafton died September 15, 1872, leaving six small
children : Pvlartha, wife of William G. Wasson, Mary, Allie, died

age thirteen, Kate, Grant and Thomas. Mr. Crafton was married
to his present wife, January 4, 1876, Miss Sarah Lawson, a native
of Decatur Count}-, who was born December 25, 1847. Her par-
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ents were natives of Kentucky. By this marriage three children

were born : Clyde, Nellie and Sherman. Mr. Crafton is one of the

leading citizens of his township.
George W. Cuskaden was born in Ireland, November 23, 1830.

His parents, Thomas and Bessie (Long) Cuskaden, were both na-

tives of Ireland, born in 1803 and 1804, respectively. George
Cuskaden was reared a farmer. He lived with his parents until

October, 1852, when he started for America. He landed at New
Orleans and found work there loading and unloading ships. He
then visited several of the large cities and then went through the

country selling goods. This enabled him to save a little money
and he determined to become an American citizen and live a

farmer's life. He worked as a farm hand and tended crops for

some time, then rented a farm, and finally buying one in Noble

Township. In 1857, he married Miss Charity Bartley, of Jasper
Countv, daughter of John P. and Elsie (Allen) Bartle}^, of Welsh
and Irish parentage. Mr. Cuskaden then purchased his present
farm of 187 acres in Shelby County. He now owns a fine, large,
and well improved farm. In politics he is a Democrat, and in the

fall of 1878, was elected County Commissioner of third district.

He was re-elected in 1884, also in 1886. Mrs. Cuskaden is a mem-
ber of the Episcopal Church, and an active worker. They are the

parents of nine children, seven now living: John, James A., Ed-

mund, Esther, Sarah A., George R. and Nora. The father of

,George, Thomas Cuskaden, after the death of his wife, came to

America, where he resided with his son. He is a member of the

Episcopal Church, and an honest. Christian man.

Morris Dilts was born in Ohio, December 18, 1837. He was
the youngest of nine children born to Morris and Parmalia (Jen-

kins) Dilts. Morris Dilts, Sr., was reared a farmer boy in Ken-

tucky, and had a common school education. He moved to Ohio

with' his parents and lived there until 1869, when he moved to

Shelby County, Ind. He then located at St. Paul where he is now

living^ Morris Dilts, Jr., was also reared on a farm and had a com-

mon school education. When he became of age he started for

himself in the pottery business. He then worked at farming until

he enlisted in Company C, Sixteenth Regiment Indiana Volunteers.

His compan}' was in Gen. Bank's Division under McClellan. He
received an honorable discharge in May, 1862. He then engaged
in stone (quarrying at St. Paul,lnd. He enlisted again in Lawrence

County with Company A, Thirty-fourth Regiment Indiana Vol-

unteers, and was at once taken to Kentucky, where active service

was begun. They marched through Kentucky, Tennessee and

Alabama. He was taken sick and moved back to Ohio. In 1867,
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he began farming at St. Paul, Ind., where he hved for seventeen

years, and then located at Flat Rock. He now owns a fine farm

of 160 acres. He is a member of the Democratic party and also a

member of the G. A. R. He is the father of nine children : James,

Harry, Rosa, Charles, Mary, Fredrick, Lewis, George, Renton.
Mrs. Dilts is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church.
Mr. Dilts is one of the representative men of his township.

Robert Elliott was born in Decatur County, Ind., July 8,

1826. He was the fifth born of nine children to Alexander and
Rebecca (Ewing) Elliott. Alexander Elliott worked at the tanner's

trade until the War of 181 2, when his brother was drafted, he then

served several months as a substitute for him. After the war he
married Miss Ewing, July 27, 1815- In 1824, he moved to Duck
Creek, Decatur Count}-, where he entered land. He died March
21, 1878, at the age of eighty-four, and his wife in 1880. Robert
Elliott was reared in Decatur County, within one and one-half miles

of where he now lives. He was married July 11, 1847, to Miss
Martha Neal, born in Boone County, Kv., in 1826. The spring
after he was married, Mr. Elliott moved on the farm where he now
lives. Mrs. Elliott died September 27, 1854, leaving two daugh-
ters: Rebecca and Elizabeth. Mr. Elliott married Ehzabeth Neal,
his present wife, sister of his first wife, in 1856. She was
born in this count}' May 25, 1838. By this marriage a son was
born, Vanison, now a farmer. Mr. Elliott is now well off, owning
a good deal of land mainly the fruit of his own hard work.

Jacob Feaster was born in Huntingdon County, Penn., De-
cember 14, 1816. His parents, Martin and Ann (Agelley) Feas-

ter, both natives of Germany, born near Strasburg in 1776 and

1782, respectively, had ten children, six boys and four girls; three

sons and one daughter are still living. Martin, the eldest son,
served as a soldier under Bonaparte for a short time on the Rhine.
He was furnished means by his father and came to America in

1799. While on board the ship he met Miss Agelley, and on

arriving in America they were married. They located in Hunt-

ingdon County, Penn., and later in Bedford County, Penn., where
he died in 1832, leaving eight small children. Jacob Feaster was

brought up on a farm and received a very limited education.
When sixteen years old his father died and he engaged as ap-
prentice in the millwright trade, but three years later started out
for himself. He came to Rush County, Ind., in 1837, where he
worked at his trade and was soon foreman of a corps of hands.
He worked at his trade until 1859, when he located upon his

present farm. He now owns a farm of 172 acres of improved land
worth $100 an acre. January 29, 1845, he married Miss Sarah A.
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Pence, of Rush County, born in Warren County, Ohio, daughter
of Lewis and Rachel (McDonald) Pence, natives of Virginia and
Ohio. By this marriage seven children were born. Royal P., Man-
ford, Leander, Lura, died aged two years, Allie J. and Rachel A.
Mr. and Mrs. Feaster are respected by all who know them.

William A. Goodw^in, a native of Decatur County, Ind., was
born February 20, 1846. He was the seventh born of twelve

children, eight daughters and four sons, of whom seven daughters
and four sons are still living. His parents, William and Mary
(Elder) Goodwin, were born in Dearborn County, Ind., and Lin-

coln County, Ky., respectively. The parents of the former were
of English and German descent, and were natives of Virginia.
Those of the latter were natives of Virginia and Michigan, of Irish

and English descent. William Goodwin came to Decatur County
with his parents when a young man, they being among the first set-

tlers in the county. He remained there until he was married June
16, 1832, to Miss Mary Elder, who came to the county with her

parents in 1820. They both had a common school education and

Mr. Goodwin taught school for several years. He would teach

during the day and work at night, thus making mone}' enough to

enter his first home, which was given by Andrew Jackson. He
started on forty acres of woodland and by hard work succeeded

in redeeming a good home. He sold this and purchased eighty

acres, where he lived until 1851. He then sold out and located in

Noble Township, purchasing there 160 acres where he resided the

rest of his life. During his early life he followed flat-boating on

the Ohio River. He was an active, hard working man of fine edu-

cation and highl}' esteemed by all w^ho knew him. He died Dec-

ember 26, 1873, at the age of sixty-eight, and his wife September 17,

1871, at the age of sixty-one. William Goodwin, Jr., came to

the county with his parents when but ten years old. He was reared

on a farm, but had a common school education, also one year in the

Milford Graded School, preparing himself for teaching, but when
he became of age he began farming on his own responsibility. He
worked his father's farm until he was twenty-seven years old, when

he married Miss Emehne Shirly of Shelby County, daughter of

Hardin and Cassandra (Moore) Shirly, natives of Kentucky. By
this union three children were born: Alva, born June 16, 1873;

Deusa, born December 14, 1874; Frank, born September 14,

1876. Mr. Goodwin located on the farm where he now lives, in

1873. It is well improved and consists of 160 acres, which when

he entered was partially cleared. He is a scientific farmer and

well posted. He is a p^ibHc spirited man and takes a great inter-
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est in school work. He is a member of the Democratic ranks and

served two terms as Township Trustee from 1876 to 1880.

Rev. Samuel H. Gregory was born in Noble Township,

April II, 1836, within two miles of where he now lives. His parents,

Joel and Nancy (Springer) Gregory, were natives of Kentucky.
He was reared on a farm and had a common school education.

When nineteen years old he began life for himself, farming on

rented land. He was married July 18, 1856, to Miss EHzabeth R.

Hinkle, of Noble Township ;
she was a daughter of Lewis and Saloma

(Reed) Hinkle, who were of German parentage. Mr. Gregory
followed farming until 187 1, when he commenced burning lime.

Being successful in this, he has continued the business to the present
time. He was called to the pulpit by Bishop Keenan, of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, m 1876, and has been actively en-

gaged in ministerial work ever since. He is the father of seven

children: Wilbur, Sarah, McClellan, Carrie, Joe, Effie, Chester.

His wife died August 18, 1887, after a long illness. Mr. Gregory
is a man highly esteemed, of line qualities and noble character, and

is an enthusiastic christian.

James Hendrickson was born in Mercer County, Kentucky,
Mav 9, 1827. He was the youngest of six children, boi'h to James
and Elizabeth (Navls) Hendrickson, natives of Virginia and North

Carolina, respectively. His mother (Elizabeth) was of English
and German parentage, his father of Welch parentage. His father,

James Hendrickson, Sr., came to Kentucky when about sixteen

years old. He was reared on a farm, and early learned to be in-

dustrious and honest. He was married early in life, and in 1827,
moved to Shelby County, where he took up eighty acres of land.

He assisted in the organization of his township, for he was among
the early settlers, and in his time there were only Indian trails for

roads. His wife was a great help to him in this hard life of the

pioneer, she spun and wove flax, and wool, and in this way clothed

the famil}'. Mr. Hendrickson was a Whig in politics, and an honest,

upright man. He died in 1842, at the age of sixty-three. His
wife Hved twenty years after his death and died in 1862, at the age
of seventy-eight 3'ears. Mr. James Hendrickson, Jr., is the only

living member of the family. He has spent his entire life in this

township, having never been out of the State but once, when he
visited some of the Western States. He was but six years old

when he came to this count}- with his parents, and his father died

Avhen he was fifteen, leaving him and his mother to take care of the

farm, where he lived until he was married. He married Miss B.

Dunn, born in Jefferson County, Indiana, December 7, 1829, -the
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daughter of Hosa and Elizabeth (Christie) Dunn, natives of Ken-

tucky, of Enghsh and German parentage. They had ten children:

Sarah J., John P., Mary E., Ruth W., Lewis M., Susan A., Joseph
M., James U., Melissa A. and Harvey Rosco. Mr. Hendrickson
resided on the old farm until his mother's death, when he purchased
his present home in 1864. He now owns a farm of 160 acres of

improved land, mainlv the fruit of his own labor. He is a member
of the Republican part}-, and one of the hard workers of his town-

ship. He is a member of the Presbyterian Baptist Church, a hard

working, honest man and highly esteemed by all who know him.

William R. Hinkle was born in this township September 25,

1S38. His parents were both natives of Butler County, Ohio. He
was the eldest of live children, three sons and two daughters.
Plis parents and grandparents were of German parentage. His

great-grandfather was killed by the Indians shortly after coming to

this countrv. The father of William Hinkle was reared in Ohio,
and remained there until 1S37, when he came to Shelby County, lo-

cating west of St. Paul. He served as Township Trustee, and was
a member of the Baptist Church. Wilham Hinkle was reared on

a farm and received a common school education. His mother died

when he w^as seven years old. He remained at home until he was

twentv-one years old, when he was married, October 6, 1859, to

Miss Hannah M. Weidner, who was born in Butler County, Ohio,
March i, 1840, daughter of John and Catharine (Miller) Weidner,
natives of Buder County, Ohio, of German descent. By this mar-

riage there were five children: Mary C, died, aged two years;
Sarah E., born September 29, 1862; John L., born October 14,

1864; Florence E., born July 15, 1869, and Samuel H., born May
9, 1874. Soon after his marriage, Mr. Hinkle purchased the place

where he now resides. He is a Democrat in principles, though lib-

eral in home elections. He and his wife are active members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church, and have been in the church for up-
wards of thirty years. He has acted as Superintendent of the

Sunday School the greater part of this time.

Thomas Hoban, ex-Representative, was born in Ireland in 1822.

His parents, John and Mariah (Grime) Hoban, natives of Ireland,

had four children, three sons and a daughter. While the children

were very young their mother died, and not long after Thomas

came to America with his father. In 1833, he went to live with

Mr. Henry McMurry of Delaware County, N. Y., with whom he

lived six years, going to school some of the time. He then went

to Connecticut where he worked for three years, then peddled,

making his way back to New York. He was married April 12,

1843, to Miss Donzilla Crosby, daughter of Hopkins and Elizabeth
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(Weed) Crosby, of New York and Connecticut, respectively. Soon
after Mr. Hoban was married, he purchased forty acres of hind in

Delaware Count}', N. Y., where he lived for several years, x^fter

this he owned several small farms. He moved to Shelby County
in 1850, and bought the farm where he now lives, in 1857. It is

located on the south bank of the Flatrock. He is an active worker
in the Democratic ranks, and served as Township Trustee from

1865 to 1870. He also was elected as Representative in 18S4.
Tired of political life he is now farming and stock raising. He is

the father of nine children, seven now living: John, Hopkins, An-

thony, Theodore, Calvin, Mariah and EHzabeth. Mr. Hoban's first

wife died June 22, 1879, ^"*^ ^^ married again in June, 1882, Mrs.

Oliva (Barlow) Keisling, born in Indiana, May, 1843. Mr. Hoban
is a man of great public enterprise and is highly respected.

John Howard came to Noble Township in 1854, '^"^ took up
forty acres of land near where he now lives; previous to this time

he had lived in Decatur on a rented farm, and before he went to

Decatur he lived at Brandywine, in this county. He now owns a

ijood farm of 280 acres, the fruit of his industry and economy.
He has built an elegant residence and other farm buildings. In

1852, January 22, he married Miss Mary E. Pullen, who was born
near Oxford, Ind., October 15, 1832. She was the daughter of

William and Martha Pullen, of Irish and German parentage. The}'
were both reared in Virginia, and came to Indiana in 1832, and came
to Shelby County in 185 1. By this marriage nine children were born,
of whom seven are now living : Dennis C, James W., Sarah J., Jesse,

Martha, Orthoe and Oscar. Mrs. Howard is a member of the Bap-
tist Church and a fine christian woman-. Mr. Howard's father was
born in 1795, August 21, in Camel County, Ky. He lived in Ohio
the greater part of his life on a farm. He married Miss Martha

Baldrige in 1818. She was born in Westmoreland County, Penn.,
in 1798. He came to Decatur County in 1834, ^vhere he purchased
a small farm. He hved there until 1875, and then moved to Noble

Township. He was a Democrat, and served as County Assessor
for nine years. He died January 19, 1882, at the age of eighty-
seven. His wife died one year before this. These worthy people
have three sons now living, of whom John Howard is the eldest.

Stephen lives in this county and Nicholas in Livingston County,
Mich. John Howard \^''as born in Ohio, August 14, 1824. He is

a thorough business man and a member of the Democratic party.
Francis W. Jones was born in Knaba County, April 11,

1825. His parents, Uriah and Jane Jones, were natives of Virginia,
and Ireland, of English and Irish parentage. His father was a

farmer and served in the War of 1812. He died in 1842, leaving
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seven children, Francis Jones was then seventeen years old, and
on him devolved the support of the family. The mother died in

1850. Francis, and his sister Rebecca, are the only children now
living. He was married to Miss Eleanor Johnston, of this count}-,

daughter of Henry and Margaret (Marshall) Johnston, natives of

South Carolina. Mr. Jones bought the home farm and owns be-

sides, 308 acres of good land. He is the father of four children,

one son and three daughters: Amos L., Margaret J., Henrietta,
and Mary. Mrs. Jones died June 18, 1886. She was a member
of the Separate Baptist Church. Mr. Jones is also a member of

this church.

Rev. John Keeling, a native of Washington County, Ky.,
was born July 28, 18 10. His parents, James and Mary Keeling,
were natives of Kentucky, of Scotch and German parentage.
Rev. Keehng came to Shelby County with his parents when seven

years old. He was married January 30, 1S31, to Miss Rebecca

Farrall, who was a native of Virginia, born August 25, 1808. She
was the daughter of John and Eleanor Farrall, of Virginia, of Irish

parentage. Mr. Keeling was taught industry in early life, and was
a hard working man. He started in life ver}- poor, but by hard

work saved some money and entered eighty acres of land at Flat-

rock. He lived here nineteen years, then sold out and w^ent to

Switzerland Countv, where he first began doing ministerial work
in 1S40, with the Separate Baptists. After this he moved to his

present home, where he owns 100 acres of well cultivated land.

During the last three 3'ears he has accepted no regular pastoral

work, but previous to this time had three or four churches. He
has been a great revivalist. He is the father of eight children,

three sons and five daughters. Rev. Keeling and wife are among
the leading citizens of their county, and highly esteemed by all

who know them.

Jonathan H. Lowe is a native of Decatur County, Ind. He
was born May 30, 1830, the second born of six children, three sons

and one daughter now^ Hving. His parents, Jonathan and Elizabeth

(Vance) Lowe, were both natives of Kentucky, born in 1803 and

and 1796, respectively, of English and German parentage. Jona-
than was a farmer, and in early Hfe came with his people to In-

diana, where he married Mrs. (Whittman) Vance. In 1828, he

located three miles south of Greensburg, where he lived a pioneer's

life. He entered 200 acres of land and had a nice home started,

when he died, being only thirty-five years of age. He was a

Whig in politics, and belonged to the Baptist Church. He left

five small children. His wife died in 1878, at the age of eighty-

two. Jonathan Lowe, Jr., was reared a farmer boy, receivng a
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limited education. He took charge of the farm and remained with

his mother until 1857, when he married Miss Charity A. James, a

native of Rush County, born October 11, 1S39. She was the

daughter of Walter and Nancy (Cones) James, natives of Penn-

sylvania and Kentuck}', of Irish and Scotch parentage. Soon after

his marriage Mr. Lowe bought a farm of his own near his old

home, where he lived until 1859. He then engaged in business

with his brother for a short time, and then removed to this count}^
where he has since resided, except eight 3'ears he lived in Decatur
Countv. His present farm contains 260 acres of highly improved
land. He is a Prohibitionist, but was formerlv a Democrat. He
has a familv of eight children: William J., Walter S., Henrv V.,

Alpheus C, Charity A., John A., Xancy E. and Joseph P. Mr.
and Mrs. Lowe are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church.

Matthias 'Mount, a native of Shelby County, Ky., was born

August 12, 181 7. He was the second born of six children to

P. J. and Elizabeth P. (Woodward) Mount. Thomas Mount
was born near New Lexington, Ky., Ma}' 18, 1794. He served in

the War of 181 2. In February, 181 5, he married Miss Wood-
ward, who was born in Virginia, March 24, 1793. He went to

Washington Countv, Ind., in 1818, where he lived a frontier life.

He then went to Olden County, then to Decatur Countv, and

finally settled in Shelby County, where he entered land in 1834. ^^^

built the second brick house in the township, burning his own
brick. He had a nice home nearlv completed when he died May
30, 1842, aged forty-eight years. He was a Democrat, and a mem-
ber of the regular Baptist Church. His wife survived him until Jan-
uarv 26, 1863. She was seventy years old when she died. JNIatthias

Mount was reared a farmer boy in Kentucky. He was seven-

teen years old when he came to this count}', and he helped his father

in the construction of their home. He remained with his father

until his death, working at teaming in the winter and staving on
the farm in summer. December 15, 1842, he married Miss Marga-
ret Marsh, a native of Butler Countv, Ohio, born December 24,

1824. She was the daughter of John R. and Elizabeth (Baker)
Marsh, natives of Ohio and New Jersey, respectiveh'. Bv this

marriage ten children were born, of whom four are now^ living:
Thomas J., born x\ugust 24, 1845; Martha J., wife of Sidney
Hanks, of Iowa; Amos H., born November 5, 185 1, and Emma,
born Februar}- 12, 1864. Mr. Mount still lives on the old farm
where he has erected fine brick buildings. He is a member of the

Democratic party, and is a strong advocate of temperance. He
also takes a great interest in school work. He. served as Township
Trustee under the old law. He and his wife are highlv esteemed
wherever known.
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Louis Neibert was born in Wertimburg, Germany, February
4, 1829. He was the youngest child of four children, two sons

and two daughters, born to Christopher and Christena Neibert,
both natives of Germany. Christopher Neibert was a shoemaker,
and followed this occupation throughout his life. He died in 1834,
at the age of fifty-two, and his wife in 1836, at the age of fifty-

seven. The}^ were members of the Lutheran Church. Louis

Neibert, when seven years old, was left an orphan and lived with

his grandfather. He attended school until fourteen years old, and
when twent3^-one years old, came to America. He located at Cin-

cinnati, where he was very poor, and engaged in gardening for a

few years. He then worked west from Cincinnati. In 1858, he
married Miss Sarah Cole, who was born March 10, 1840,

daughter of Abner Colee, of this township. Mr. Neibert, soon

after his marriage, located in this township, and located on a rented

farm. In 1868, he purchased his present home; he now owns 185
acres of improved land. He is the father of eleven children, eight

girls and three bovs. Arabelle, Hannah, Lorinda, John, Chnstena,

Mary, Bertha, Dallas, Cora, Ella, Roscoe. Mr. Neibert belongs
to the Republican party, and is a highly respected citizen.

William Reed was born in Butler Count}^ Ohio, September
20, 1830. He was the second son born to George and Mary
(Zerver) Reed, both natives of Pennsylvania. They came to

Decatur in 1836, and bought 240 acres of land. Three ^--ears later

thev moved to Noble Township. George Reed was a careful

business man and fine farmer. He was a member of the Demo-
cratic part}^ He died in March, 1875, aged seventy-three, and

his wife in 1869, aged sixty-five. Wilham Reed was employed in

his youth in helping his father on the farm, and received only a

limited education. In 1849, October 14, he married Miss Christena

Auspach, of Decatur County. She was born August 20, 183 1, and

was a daughter of Jacob and Edena (Israel) Auspach, natives of

New York. They had ten children, Lewis, Allen M., Eleanor,

Malinda, Mattie, 'Frank, Jacob, Georgiean, Hattie and Mollie.

Shortly after his marriage Mr. Reed rented a farm, where he

lived for thirt}^ years. During this time he saved enough money to

buy the home where he now lives. It consists of 186 acres of fine

land. He bought it in 1880, and began hving on it in 18S3. He
built a fine house and has now one of the best houses in the

county. He is a member of the Democratic party, and also belongs
to the Freemasons. He and his wife are members of the Presby-
terian Church.

John P. Taylor, M. D., born December 8, 1844, is the eldest

son of James and Mary (Howard) Taylor. John Tayloi, father
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of James, was born in Virginia, in 1775? ^^^ served unden Gen.

Anthony Wavne. John Taylor when but seven years of age moved
with his parents to Ripley County. He was reared a farmer's son

but had the advantage of a common school education. At the age
of seventeen he commenced to teach school, and followed this occu-

pation for three years, and working on the farm at the same time.

He then began the study of medicine with Dr. James R. Lewis, of

Canaan. He remained with him three years, attending lectures at

the medical school at Cincinnati, Ohio, in the meantime, where he

graduated with honors in 1869. He located at Cross Plains, Rip-

ley County, where he remained until the fall of 1874. He then

moved to Geneva where he has since resided. He has had an ex-

tensive practice, and is highly esteemed by all who know him. In

April, 18S5, he married Mrs. Hattie Akers, of Ripley County, a

highly accomplished lady. She was a suffererer from consumption,
and died April 18, 1887!

James B. Thornburg is a native of Noble Township. His

father, Thomas Thornburg, was born in jNIifflin County, Pennsyl-
vania, November 4, 1805. He married Miss Berry, February 22,

1833. They had seven children, of whom James was the fourth

born. In 1837, Thomas Thornburg came to Shelby County, where
he purchased a small farm. By hard work he succeeded in in-

creasing this farm, until he had upwards of 600 acres of good
land. He succeeded in life, so that in his last days he lived as a

retired farmer. He died January 11, 1884, and his wife in the

same year, August 21. They were among the leading citizens of

their township. James Thornburg was born September 7, 1841.
He lived at home until he was twenty-seven years old, when he
married Miss Mary D. Benson, who was born in Noble Township,
November 20, 1843. She was a daughter of John W. and Mary
J. (Clark) Benson, natives of North Carohna and Pennsylvania,
respectively. In 1882, he purchased his present farm in Decatur

County, v/here he owns 200 acres. He is the father of four chil-

dren: Ira A., John, Charlie M. and Nellie J. He and his wife are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He is a fine farmer
and has made life a success.

James Wassox was born in Kentucky, December 13, 1831.
He was the eldest of eight children born to George C. and Sarah

(Harper) Wasson, both natives of Kentuck}', born November 9,

1806, and August 27, 1829, respectively. George C. Wasson
came north from Kentucky, in the fall of 1834. He entered the

ministry early in life, and was always an active worker in Sepa-
rate Baptist Church. He died at the age of forty-six in 1852, and
his wife in 1854, at the age of forty-five. He 'left several small
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children of whom four sons and two daughters are still hving.
Nancy, Melvina, WilHam and John of this township, and Hardin of

Washington Count}'. James Wasson was reared on the farm
where he now lives, and being the eldest son, assisted in taking
care of the farm. At his mother's death he took charge of the

homestead, and when the children came of age bought their inter-

est. He married Miss Mary Goodwin in 1852. She was born in

Decatur County, April 2, 1831, and was the daughter of Wilham and

Mary (Elder) Goodwin. He began life very poor, but has now a

nice home. A great deal is due to Mrs. Wasson, who has worked
hard and made beautiful their pleasant home.

James Wasson, Township Trustee, was born December 31,

183S. His parents, John J. and Polly (Harper) Wassor, were
both natives of Bourbon Count}', Ky,, the former born December
5, 1810, of Irish and German parentage; the latter born Decem-
ber 24, 181 2, of English parentage. John Wasson was reared in

his native county a farmer boy, and received a common school ed-

ucation. He married Miss Harper in 1829, who was reared in the

same county. They moved north to Indiana in October, 1833,
where Mr. Wasson bought land and lived for a few years. He
then moved two miles north of Shelby County. He assisted in

laying out the roads of his township. He died March 2, 1875, aged
sixty-five years. He was a member of the Baptist Church for

over thirty years. James Wasson was reared as a farmer and re-

ceived a limited education in the common schools. He remained
at home with his parents until twenty-six years of age, when he
married Miss Mary E. Hill September 22, 1864; she is a native of

Noble Township, born August 24, 1845, and is the daughter of

John C. and Barbara (Kennedy) Hill, natives of Indiana and Ken-

tucky, respectively. They had eight children : Walter, Curtis, Ar-

thur, Barbara, Otis, Prudence, Marshall and Bessie. Mr. Wasson
worked the home farm for five years after his marriage and then

located in Noble Township, where he resided sixteen years, and

then located on the farm where he now lives. Mr. Wasson is a

staunch Democrat, and an active worker. He was elected Town-

ship Trustee in 1886. He takes a great interest in school work.

He and his wife are members of the Baptist Church.

George Wright is a native of Englan4, born March 11, 1835.
He was the seventh born of ten children— five sons and five

daughters. His parents, WilHam and Ehzabeth (Gould) Wright,
were both natives of England. William Wright was a farmer,

and was one of the self-made men. He reared nine children to

manhood and womanhood, eight of whom are now living. He was

a member of the Episcopalian Church. George Wright was reared

30
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on a farm, and received a good education. He remained home
until sixteen vears old, when he started for x\merica, November 2,

1852. He Avent to live with his brother in this countv. Having
limited means, he set out to find work. He found work on a farm,
and later in life bought the farm, where he has since resided. He
married Mary Avery in 1855; born in this county September 19,

1836, the daughter of George and Sophia (Bartley) Averv— the

former born in Auroa, N. Y., in iSoo, the latter in Adams Countv,
Ohio, in 1812, who 'were among the early settlers of this countv.

Bv this marriage three children were born : Frank Carlton, born

Mav 20, 1856; Albert William, born October 16, 1861; Sophia E.,

born August 3, 1864. Mrs. Wright died Februar}- 5, 1872, from

consumption. She belonged to the Presbyterian Baptist Church.
Mr. Wright was married again on June 3, 1873, to Miss Ellen

Short, who was born in Hamilton County, Ohio, March 31, 1S40,
the daughter of Thomas K. Short and Sarah Allen, both natives

of England. Mr. Wright's present home is on the left bank of

Flat Rock, and he has one of the most beautiful homes in the

township. ]Mr. and Mrs. Wright are Universalists in belief.

SHELBY SKETCHES.

William Amos, an honored pioneer of Shelby Countv, was
born in Bourbon Count}-, Ky., June 30, 1S16. He was the seventh

of eleven children— four sons and seven daughters
— born to Elijah

and Rebecca (Neal) Amos, the former a nati\e of Marvland, of

Dutch and Irish descent. When he was twelve vears of ajj^e he

accompanied his parents to Rush County, Ind., and settled with

them upon a farm. There his youth was spent assisting his father

to clear and cultivate the farm. At nineteen vears of aije. or

about 1835, he came to this count}-, a resident of which he has

been ever since. His life occupation has been that of a farmer.

His place of residence has chiefly been in Addison Township. He
has resided where he now lives in Shelbv Township but two vears.

His first marriage occurred in Febr-aarv, 1837, when oNIarv Treece
became his wife. She was a native of Ohio, and was the daughter
of Jacob Treece. She died Februarv i, 1869, and Februarv 10,

1870, he was married to Mrs. Mary Wood, who was born in the

State of Ohio, September 31, 1S35, and was the daughter of

William and Cyntha (Jackson) Cherrv, both natives of Ohio.
The first marriage of Mr. x\mos resulted in the birth of eleven
children: Rebecca J., Mohala, Sarah, Elizabeth, Thomas, Will-

iam, Cassie, John, Milton, Perry, and a daughter that died in
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infancy. Of those named, William, Cassie, John and Milton, are

deceased. His second marriage has resulted in the birth of two
children : Anna M. and Elisha, both of whom are living. In politics
Mr. x\mos is a Republican.

Jacob Emrich, a prominent citizen of Shelby Township, is a

native of Hesse Darmstadt, Germany, where he was born No-
vember 20, 1S24, being the eldest of a family of seven children

born to Peter and Christina (Schneider) Emrich, who were also

natives of Germany. Jacob grew to manhood in his native countrv.

He received a common school education. He remained at home
and assisted his parents, they being farmers, until he reached the

age of twent3--three 3-ears. i\pril 7, 1847, his marriage with Mary
Hartwein was solemnized, and to their union five children were

born, viz.: Catharine, Christine, Elizabeth, Mary, Chapman and

John. In 1855, Mr. Emrich and family emigrated to the United

States, coming immediatel}' to Shelby County. September 8, 1865,
he lost his beloved wife by death. September, 1866, his and Phebe

("Mohr) Lambert's marriage was celebrated; to their union these

two children have been born: Margaret and Jacob. Mr. Emrich
has always made farming his occupation, and he has been quite
successful. He now owns 290 acres of well improved land. He
and wife are members of the Lutheran Church. In politics he is a

Democrat.

James V. B. Fix, a farmer of Shelby Township, was born in

Washington Township, this county. May 16, 1S31. He was the

eldest of ten children, live sons and five daughters, born to Aaron
and Margaret A. (Van Benthuson) Fix, the former a native of

Montgomery County, Ohio, born of Dutch and Scotch-Irish de-

scent, in 1809, and the latter a native of New York Cit}-, born of

French and German descent, in iSii. His paternal grandparents
were Philip and Abigail (Hays) Fix, the former a native of Penn-

sylvania. His maternal grandparents were James and Susan

(Smith) Van Benthuson, the former a native of the State of New
York. He became a resident of Shelby Count}- in an earl}' day,
and was a member of the Constitutional Convention in 1852, and,

while in attendance in that body, he died from an attack of the

cholera. The subject of this sketch was reared upon a farm in

this county, and, at the age of twenty-one, or August 20, 1852, he

was married to Reuland Randolph. Immediately after their mar-

riage, Mr. and Mrs. Fix removed to Owen County, this State,

where the latter died in November, 1S54. In March, 1857, Mr.

Fix emigrated to the State of Kansas, but in 1858, he returned to

Owen County, and September 22d, of that year, he was married

to Mahala Burket. Shortly after that marriage, Mr. and Mrs.
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Fix came to Shelby County, and located in Washington Township,
but a year later they removed to Addison Township, now Shelby,
and se'ttled upon the farm Mr. Fix now occupies. His second wafe

died March 28, 1874, and on the 13th day of August, 1875, Mr.

Fix was married to Abigail A. Carney, a native of Bartholomew

Count}^, this State, born April 16, 1857, and daughter of John and

Susan (Fix) Carney, the former a native of Ohio, and the latter a

native of Bartholomew^ County, this State. The second marriage
of Mr. Fix resulted in the birth of seven children, as follows:

Margaret G., born September 29, 1859, died October 18, 1877;

John A., born January 31, 1862; Stephen S., born July 9, 1864;

James R., born October 15, 1866; Charles F., born April 17, 1869;
William M., born November 2, 1871; and Walter W., born De-
cember 2, 1873, died July 23, 1874. ^^^ ^"'^ ^i^ present wife are

the parents of tw^o children: Vorhees M., born April 18, 1876, and
Emma L., born March 8, 1878. Mr. Fix is a member of the I. O.

O. F. Lodge, and in politics he is a staunch Democrat. He was
elected to the office of Justice of the Peace in Addison Township
in 1876, and served four years.

Washington Greene is a native of Shelby Township, born

October 13, 1836, the eldest of a family of four children, two sons

and two daughters, born to Henr}' and Catharine (Zell) Greene,
who were natives of Stokes County, N. C, and Botetourt County,
Va., respectively. Our immediate subject grew to manhood on the

home farm, remaining at home and assisting his parents on the farm
until he attained the age of twent^'-two years, receiving a common
education, sufficient to enable him to teach, which he did for several

terms. November 25; 1858, his marriage with Margaret J. Hite

was solemnized, and to their union three children have been born,
of whom these two are now living: Chas. H. and Mary C. The
deceased child w'as Franklin, who died in his twenty-third year, his

death being caused by over study while in attendance at DePauw
University. Mr. Greene has always made farming his occupation,
and he has been quite successful. He now owns 125 acres of well

improved land. He and wife are members of the Methodist Epis-

copal Church. He was formely identified with the Grange move-
ment. In pohtics he is a Democrat, but a man of pronounced
temperance views, and will ardently support a prohibitory amend-
ment.

John B. Lantz, an old citizen of Shelby Township, is a native

of Boone County, Ky., where he was born February i, 1810, be-

ing the fifth son of Martin and Polh^ (Arnold) Lantz, who were
natives of Botetourt County, Va., and Bourbon County, Ky., re-

spectively. The former died in Kentuck}^, and the latter removed
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to Illinois, and died there. Our immediate subject was reared in

his native county, receiving a very limited education. In 1834, he
removed to Decatur County, where he lived until 1861, when he
came to Shelby Count}^ where he has since lived. In April, 1833,
his marriage with Jane W. Arnold was solemnized, and to their

union eight children were born, these four now living: Moses, who
married Susan Louden; Jefferson, whose wife was Hannah Pal-

mington; John, who espoused Eliza Knight, and Geneva, now
Mrs. Thomas Jackson. December 11, 1867, Mr. Lantz suffered the

bereavement of losing his beloved wife. April 8, 1885, his and
Fiona Shane's nuptials were celebrated. Mr. Lantz has always
made farming his principal occupation, and he has been quite suc-

cessful. He now owns 400 acres of well improved land. In faith

he is a Baptist, but is not a member of the church. In politics he
is a Democrat. Mr. Lantz has always enjoyed hunting, and for-

merly participated in a great many fox chases.

James Messick, a farmer of Shelby Township, was born in

Addison Township this count}', January 7, 1838, the elder in a

family of two children born to Covington and Nancy (Robinson)
Messick, who were both natives of Delaware. The former died

January 7, 1839, his widow survived him and died about 1854. A
short time before the death of the latter our immediate subject had

gone to live with John M. Tindall on the farm, with whom he

remained nearly eight years.
'

He received a limited education

such as the facilities of those days afforded. Upon leaving the

home of Mr. Tindall he worked as a farm hand for two years,
when in November 30, 1862, he realized the necessity of the pres-
ervation of our Union and enhsted in Company A, Sixteenth Indiana

Regiment V^olunteer Infantry, serving until May, 1863, when he

was honorably discharged at Washington, D. C. July 29, 1864,
his marriage with Arminta Maple was solemnized, and to their

union these two children have been born: John R., and Eva G.,

aged respectively 23 and 17. Mr. Messick has always made farm-

ing his occupation, and he has been very successful. He now
owns 160 acres of well improved land, all the accumulation of his

industry and economy. In politics he is a staunch RepubHcan, and

he always manifests a good Hve interest in the pohtical affairs of

the county and communit}- in which he lives, where he enjoys the

respect and esteem of all who know him.

William Newton, of Shelb}^ Township, is a native of Phila-

delphia, Penn., where he was born, November 6, 1815, beiog the

sixth in a family of nine children, born to John and Isabel (Owens)
Newton who were natives of England and Pennsylvania, respec-

tively. About 181 7 or 1 818, the family removed to Preble County,
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Ohio, where the parents made their home until their death. Our

subject was reared to manhood there, receiving a very limited edu-

cation, in consequence of the death of his father at the age of

sixteen vears, and he had to take charge of the farm, his older

brothers having gone to do for themselves. October 4, 1837, his

marriage with Sarah A. Gra}^ was solemnized, and to their union

six children have been born, of whom these four are now living:

Emaline, Mary E., Margaret and Camille. About 1857, Mr.
Newton came to Shelb}- County and established a saw mill, in

partnership with James Gra}', at w'hich he continued for about ten

years. In 1868, he moved to the farm on which and w^here he
since lived, since which time he has made farming his occupation,
and he has been quite successful. He now^ owns 100 acres of well

improved land. He and wife are members of the Universalists

Church. He belongs to the I. O. O. F., having united with that

order over forty 3'ears ago, he now belongs to Waldron Lodge No.

197. Under the call for thirty day men, he enlisted in the ser\'ice of

his countr}-, and served that length of time in Compan}^ A, Seventy-
sixth Regiment of Indiana Volunteer Infantry. He now belongs to

the G. A. R. In politics he is a Republican.
Shelby Stafford, a leading farmer of Shelby Township, is a

native of Scott Count}^, Ky., where he was born October 28, 1819,

being the next voungest in a family of twelve children born to

James and Mary (Leach) Stafford, "who were natives of Virginia
and Maryland, respectiveh'. The}' emigrated to Indiana and

Shelb}^ Count}^, in 1S31, settled six miles south of Shelbyville, in

what was then Addison, now" Shelby, Township. They ever after-

ward remained residents of the count}" until their deaths. Our
immediate subject grew to manhood in this county, remaining at

home and assisting his parents on the farm, clearing and culti\'ating,
until he attained the age of twenty-three years. Owing to the fact

that his help was needed on the farm, and in lieu of the poor facili-

ties afforded children of those days, he obtained no education.

September 22, 1842, his marriage with Mirinda Vansiock was
solemnized. This marriage was of short duration, her death

occurring April 17, 1843. March 28, 1844, ^^^ ^""^ Maria (Izor)
Rodehefer's nuptials w^ere celebrated. He has always made farming
his occupation and by industry and economy he is the proprietor of

forty acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of

the Missionary Baptist Church, having united with that organiza-
tion over thirty-three years ago. In politics he is a Republican,
but a man of pronounced temperance views and will heartily sup-
port a prohibitory amendment.

John L. Wheeler, an extensive farmer of Shelby Township,
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was raised onthe farm where he was born, November 29, 1841,
beinff the vounirest in a family of four children born to Tilson and

Rachel (Worland) Wheeler, who were natives of Madison and

Favette Counties, Kentuck}-. The former was born January 15,

1801, the son of John and Susanna (Tivis) Wheeler. They were
both natives of Maryland. Tilson Wheeler came to Shelby Count}^ in

1822, and settled on the farm upon which he continued to reside un-

til his death, which occurred March 28, 1876. He lirst entered a

tract to which he continued to add by purchase until at the time of

his death, he was the proprietor of 629 acres of improved land and

was one of the largest farmers. He was a member of the Catho-

lic Church, and always lived a devout Christian life. He was the

father of four childern of whom these three now survive him:

Virlinda, now Mrs. W. E. Higgins; Ceha, widow of William Craw-

ford, and John L., our subject, who has always lived on the home
farm. He received a limited education in consequence of poor
health preventing him from attendance. November 19, 1878, his

marriage with Ellen E. Farrell was solemnized, and to their union

five children have been born, viz.: James Tilson, Rachel, Mary T.,

Susan G., and Thomas V. Mr. Wheeler has made farming his

life occupation and he has been quite successful. He now owns

305 acres of well improved land. The family are members of the

Catholic Church. In politics he is a staunch Democrat, and always
manifests a good Hve interest in the poHtical affairs of the county
and community in which he lives, where he was honored with an

election to the position Justice of the Peace but did not serve.

WooDSOX WooDARD, an old citizen of Shelby Township, is a native

of Addison Township, born September 23, 1828, being the sixth of

a family of ten children, eight now living, born to James and Eliza-

beth (Nave) Woodard, who were both natives of Kentucky, their

marriage occurring in Jessamine County, Ky. They came to Indiana

and Shelby County about 1827; they remained residents of this

county until i852,\vhen they removed to Wisconsin, where they
lived "until their deaths. Our immediate subject remained at home
and assisted his parents until he attained the age of twenty-three

years, with the exception of the summer of 1849, which he spent

in Wisconsin. He received a very limited education, such as the

faciHties of those days afforded, and was not really permitted to

take advantage of such as were given, as his parents needed his

help. x\pril, 1850, his marriage with Louisa Lackey w^as sol-

emnized, and to their union four children were born : Thomas, Ed-

ward, John and Robert. In 1859, Mr. Woodard was bereaved by
the death of his wife. November, i860, his and Anna R. Greene's

nuptials were celebrated, and their union has been blessed
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with this one child, Emma, now Mrs. WilHam Debusk. Mr.
Woodard has always made farming his occupation, and he has been

quite successful. He now owns 120 acres of well improved land.

He belongs to the Masonic fraternity. In politics he is a staunch

Republican. He is a member of the Agricultural Society and
served two years as Vice President of that association. He was
instrumental in the building, and is a large stockholder in, the Lewis
Creek and Shelbyville Pike.

SUGAR CREEK SKETCHES.

John Bowman, a farmer of Sugar Creek Township, was born

in Moral Township, this county, December 9, 1835. ^^^ was the

elder of two children, a son and daughter, born to Christopher
and Catharine (Scott) Bowman, the former a native Shenandoah

County, Va., of German descent. The parents of his father were
Daniel and Anna (Reaser) Bowman, both natives of German}^
He was reared upon a farm in his native township, and at the age
of twenty-one, he took up the avocation of a farmer for himself.

In September, 1861, he entered the service of the Union Army as

a private in Company I, Fifty-first Indiana Volunteers, commanded

by Col. A. D. Streight. He was soon afterward commissioned as

Second Lieutenant, in which capacity he served until February 13,

1863, when the impaired state of his health compelled him to re-

sign. He participated in the siege of Corinth, after which he ac-

companied his regiment to Stephenson, Ala. From this point the

regiment followed Gen. Bragg on a forced march to Louisville,

K.y. On leaving the army he engaged in the book agency busi-

ness at Indianapolis. About a year later he returned to Shelby
County, and he engaged in the manufacture of tobacco, in partner-

ship with William L. Mason. He thus continued about fifteen

months, when he engaged in the retail grocery business in Indian-

apolis. In May, 1865, he sold out, and in the following October
came to this county, and located in Sugar Creek Township, in

w^hich he has ever since resided. Since then, his entire attention

has been given to agricultural pursuits. He was married August
II, 1864, to Fannie A. M. McGuire, a native of Marion Count}-,
Ind., born November 15, 1836. She was the daughter of John
D. and Ehzabeth (Lyons) McGuire, both natives of Kentuck}-.
Mr. and Mrs. Bov»^man are the parents of two children: Frank A.,
born May 2, 1873, and Maude M., born April 22, 1878, died August
23, 1879. Mr, Bowman is a member of the Baptist Church, and
she is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. The former
is a member of the G. A. R., and is an ardent Republican in poli-
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tics. He owns eighty-five acres of good land, nearly all of which
is in a high state of cultivation.

Willis Francis, an old and honored citizen of Sugar Creek

Township, was born in Bourbon Countv, K3'., May 14, 1814. He
was the fifth of eleven children, five sons and six daughters, born
to William and Sarah (Hardesty) Francis, the former a native of

Fairfax County, Va., of Welsh descent, and the latter a native of

Bourbon County, K^^, of English descent. When he was seven

years of age, he accompanied his parents to Boone Countv, Ky.,
and in 1831, he came with them to this count}^ and settled in the

wilds of Sugar Creek Township. He continued with his parents
until he became of age. In 1837, he went to Gallatin Countv, Kv.,
where he was married September, 1844, to Rhoda Ann Hatfield,
a native of. Spencer Countv, Kv., born January 19, 1821, and

daughter of William and Elizabeth (Gregory-) Hatfield, the former
a native of England and the latter a native of Virginia. In 1850,
Mr. and Mrs. Francis removed to Louisville, where the former en-

gaged at merchandising. There they continued to live happily to-

gether until their union was broken by the death of Mrs. Francis,

February 12, 1871. In the spring of 1876, Mr. Francis returned

to the old homestead in this county, where he continued to reside

until in March, 1886. Since then he has occupied another farm in

that township. He is the father of four children, as follows: Ed-

win, Anna, Emma and James, of whom Anna is deceased. The
other three children are residents of Dallas, Texas. Mr. Francis

is a member of the Methodist Episcopal Church, the K. of H.

Lodge, and a Democrat in politics.
'

Thomas Francis, an honored citizen of Sugar Creek Town-

ship, was born in Clark County, Kentuck}^, July 17, 1819. He
was the third of twelve children, seven sons and five daughters,
born to Jesse and Catharine (Lowman) Francis, the former a na-

tive of Virginia, of Welsh descent, and the latter was a native of

the City of Baltimore, of English and Pennsylvania Dutch descent.

His father was the son of Thomas Francis, who was a native of

Wales. His mother's father was John Lowman. When he was
about three years old his parents removed to Lexington, Kentucky,
and three 3-ears later located in Boone County, where he was
reared upon a farm. His father died in that count}'-, in November,

1835. In 1838, he accompanied his widowed mother to Lawrence-

burg, this State, where he entered upon an apprenticeship, to learn

the carpenter's trade; after finishing this, he continued to work at

that trade, in LawTcnceburg, until 1871, when he came to Shelby

County, and located in the village of Fairland. A few months

later he located upon the farm he now occupies. Since coming to
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this county, his chief occupation has been that of a farmer. His

first marriage occurred August 27, 1843, when Mar}- A. Preston

became his wife. She was born in the State of Ohio, and was the

daughter of Jonathan and Lydia (Fr}-) Preston. She died Octo-

ber 3, 1864, and on the 9th day of April, 1865, Mr. Francis was
married to Susan A. Butler, born in Switzerland Count}^ this State,

September 15, 1839. She was the daughter of James and Ann

(Fry) Butler. The first marriage of Mr. Francis resulted in the

birth of eight children, as follows: Lewis E., Lydia C, Mary J.,

Susanna, Laura E., the next was a son that died in infancy, Isabella

and Martha J., of whom Mar}- J., Susanna and Martha J. are de-

ceased. He and his present wife are the parents of five children :

Annie Mav, Ahce E., Fannie J., John L. and Edith E., of whom
AHce E., Fannie J. and John L. are deceased. Mr. Francis is a

member of the Baptist Church, and Mrs. Francis of the Methodist

Episcopal Church. In politics Mr. Francis formerly supported the

principles of the Wig Party, and was an ardent supporter of Henry
Clay. Since 1856, he has supported the principles of the Repub-
hcan party. He owns a farm of 160 acres, about no of w^hich is

in a hiirh state of cultivation.

Moses Rumsey Gilemore, M. D., one of the senior ph3'si-

cian of Shelby County, was born in Geauga County, Ohio, January
12, 1832. He was the fifth of six children, three sons and three

daughters, born to William and Jane (Rumsey) Gillmore, who
were natives of Massachusetts and New York, respectively. The
former who was the son of William and Jerusha (Stewart) Gill-

more, was born of Scotch descent, August 7, 1791, and died Sep-
tember 22, 1868. The latter who recentl}- died in Bellevue, Ohio,
at the advanced age of eighty-six, was the daughter of Moses and

Lydia (Miller) Rumsey, born May 11, 1801, and came of English

parentage. Her great grandfather was Simeon Rumsey, a captain
in the British Armv, a native of the Isle of Guernsey. He came
to America in 1695, and was engaged in the Indian and French
Wars in Virginia and became a large owner of real estate in Orange
Countv and Loni*' Island, New York. The two brothers of our

sketch were Hiram and Austin, both of whom died in childhood.

His three sisters w-ere: Lydia Ann, married to Rev. Joseph F.

Wade, she died in 1S86, and he i88s; Elizabeth, now the wife of

James S. Coak, of Spencer, Clay Count}-, Iowa, and Huldah S.,

who is the wife of Isaac Mundy, of Bellevue, Ohio. Dr. Gillmore
is a first cousin of L. M. and Moses Rumsev, brothers, who carry
on a large wholesale business and operate extensive iron works in

St. Louis, Mo., and are noted capitalists and millionaires. Also to

John A. Rumsey, a noted iron works manufacturer of Seneca Falls,
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N. Y., and millionaire. He is also first cousin to Gen. Gillmore, of

the late civil war. When he was three years of age his parents
removed to Sandusky CouQty, Ohio, where he was reared upon a

farm. His father was a minister in the Christian Church; but
in his latter years resided on a small farm. Of this his son
Moses assumed almost entire manafrement when only twelve

years of age, owmg to the unpaired condition of the father's

health. The son continued upon the farm until he reached the

age of seventeen, when he threw himself upon his own resources
and went out into the world to do for himself. He first found

employment with a carpenter, with whom he spent a few months

learning the trade. He possessed such natural mechanical skill

and genius, that before he v/as nineteen years of ap-e he had
a good knowledge of carpentr}^ and was taking contracts for him-
self. At twenty 3?ears of age he entered Antioch College, at Yel-
low Springs, Ohio, the president of which was the distinguished
author and lecturer, Hon. Horace Mann. He attended college and

taught school alternately for four years. In the meantime he had
determined to tit himself for the medical profession, and to that end

during his college life he selected studies bearing upon the practice
of medicine. Aside from his regular studies he also devoted con-

siderable time during his leisure hours to the reading of medical
works under the direction of Dr. A. W. Hartmen. On leavino; col-

lege he went home and continued his studies privately during one
summer. In the fall of 1857, he entered the medical department of

the University of Michig-an, and took one course of lectures, and
in the following spring he entered upon the practice of medicine in

Fulton County, Ohio. In the fall of 1859, he returned to Ann
Arbor and took his second course of lectures, graduating with the

class of i860. In January, 1861, he located at Hutsonville, 111., where
he practiced his profession about one year. In 1862, he entered the

service of the Union Army as Acting Assistant Surgeon, in which

capacity he continued one year. Plis surgical services were chiefly
rendered in the Hickory Street Hospital, St. Louis, in the Hospital
at Jefferson Barracks, Mo., and Pine Bluff, Ark. In April, 1883,
he located in Shelby County, a resident of which he has been ever

since. His professional labors have chiefly been performed in the

western part of the county, and they have at times made such de-

mands upon him as to imperil the condition of his own health, in con-

sequence of which it is now somewhat impaired. In the fall of 1863,
in order to be well up with the more recent advancements in the

medical science, he entered the Central College of Physicians and

Surgeons, Indianapolis, where he took a full course of lectures and

received his second medical diploma. Frequently the Doctor has
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yielded to the demands of his friends and delivered a number of

lectures upon various ph^'siological subjects, all of which have been

highlv appreciated by the public. March 9, 1887, he was appointed
United States Examining Surgeon at Shelbyville, which position
he now holds. Dr. Gillmore was married to Elizabeth x\llen, De-
cember 28, 1858. She was born in St. Lawrence County, N. Y.,
March 25, 1832, and was the daughter of Ira and Betsey (Wilder)
Allen, both natives of Vermont. Her father was born Ma}" 20,

1790, and died May 17, 1866. He was a prominent minister of

the Christian denomination, reared his family on a large farm, and
was a highh' respected citizen. Mrs. Gillmore had five brothers

and one sister, as follows: Harriet B., Ira W., Albert L., Henry S.,

Alden and Charles F., tv»'o of whom, Harriet B. and Henr}- S., are

deceased. Her brother, Ira W., is president of Allen's Academy,
in the City of Chicago; Albert L., a prominent physician in Han-
nibal, Mo.; Alden, a talented minister in New York State, and
Charles F., a successful farmer on the old homestead, near Pots-

dam, N. Y. The Allen famih' were relatives of the renowned
Ethan Allert of the Revolutionary War. Dr. and Mrs. Gillmore
are the parents of three children : Allen Rumsey, born Novem-
ber 17, 1863, now in the employ, as salesman, of L. M. Rumsey 's

Mfg. Co., of St. Louis; WllHam Moses, born August 23, 1868,
now a student at Purdue University, and Elizabeth Jane, born Au-

gust 22, 1873. Our subject and his wife are in their religion,

Presbyterians. The former is a member of the Masonic fraternity,
and was Master, for a number of years, of his lodge at Fairland,

Ind., and of Shelb}' Chapter he is also a member. The wife of

Dr. Gillmore w^as assistant teacher of music in Antioch College
w'hen she became acquainted wdth the subject of this sketch. Dr.
Gillmore is a scholar!}^ physician, a very successful practitioner, and
he and wife are highly esteemed citizens of this county.

John A. Hack, a prominent farmer of Sugar Creek Township,
was born in Butler County, Ohio, Ma}' 16, 1841. He was the

eldest of four children— all sons— born to George F. and Margaret
(Dingfelder) Hack, both of w'hom were natives of Germany.
About the year 1839, the parents came to Baltimore. On reaching
this country the}' made their way to Hamilton, Butler Co., Ohio,
where shortly afterward they were united in marriage. The three

brothers of our subject were: Frederick, George and Conrad, the
last of whom died in childhood. When John was ten years of age
his parents removed from Butler County, Ohio, to Hancock County,
this State, where his youth was spent upon a farm. He continued
with his parents until the time of his marriage, which occurred

January 12, 1865, when Jane Smith became his wife. She was
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born in Moral Township, this county, June 16, 1844. She was the

daughter of Tinsley and Sarah (Murnan) Smith, the former of
whom was born in North Carohna, of English descent, and the
larter was born in this county, of German and Irish descent. Her
paternal grandparents were James and Nancy Ann (Vernon)
Smith, natives of North Carolina. Her maternal grandparents
were Michael and Jane Murnan. Immediately after their marriage,
Mr. and Mrs. Hack located upon a farm in Sugar Creek Township,
Hancock Count}-, and there continued to reside until 1872, when
they removed to this county, and located in Moral Townsiiip. In

1880, they removed to Sugar Creek Township and located where
they now reside. The life occupation of Mr. Hack has been that

of a farmer, and as such he has been very successful. He and
wife are the parents of three children : Frederick T., born July 24,
1866; Charles A., born April 25, 1869, and Orin S., born April i,

1876, all living.
'

Mr. Hack is a member of the Lutheran Churchy
and Mrs. Hack possesses a membership in the Presbyterian Church.
In politics the former is a Democrat. H^e owns a fine farm where
he lives, of 160 acres, about 140 of which are in a high state of

cultivation. Besides this, Mrs. Hack owns a good farm of 180
acres in Moral Township.

Philip Hoop, one of the most successful agriculturalists of Shelby
County, was born in Highland County, Ohio, March 19, 18 16. He
was the tenth of twelve children, eight sons and four daughters,
born to Peter and Motilena Hoop, both natives of Virginia, of Ger-
man descent. He was but five years old when his father died, and
but fifteen years old when his mother died. After his father died he
remained with his widowed mother upon the farm until her death,
and for about two years thereafter he remained in Highland County^
working upon a farm. He attended school a part of the time. In

the seventeenth year of'his age he started out into the world for

himself. He walked to Cincinnati where he purchased an ox, and
with this he again started out on foot, and some time during the

month of March, 1832, he arrived in Shelby Count}'. After spend-

ing a short time with his brother, who had previously come to this

county, on the 6th day of August, 1840, he was married to Mary
J. Francis, who was born in Bath County, Kentucky, January 19,.

1822, She was the daughter of WiUiam and Sarah (Hardesty)
Francis. Immediately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Hoop
located upon a farm of eighty acres, which the former had pur-
chased in Sugar Creek Township. Some eight or ten years later

they removed to the farm Mr. Hoop at present occupies, where

they continued to live happily together until their union was broken

by the death of the wife, May 27, 1876. On the iSth day of May^



750 SHELBY COUNTY.

1879, ^^^ ^^'^^ married to Susan Baker, who was born in Madison

County, Kv., October i, 1856. She was the daughter of Reason
and Elizabeth Baker, both natives of Madison County, K}'. Mr.
and Mrs. Hoop are the parents of two children: Philip E., born

February 18, 1884, and Peter, born April 6, 1886, both living.
Mr. Hoop is a member of the F. & A. M. Lodge, and a staunch

Democrat in politics. He began life a poor boy, but through in-

dustr}^, perseverance and economy he is now one of the wealthiest

men in Shelb}' County. He owns a farm of 600 acres, most of

which is in a high state of cultivation. His farm is fitted up wdth

good fences and buildings, and a handsome brick residence erected

at a cost of $7,000.
Henry Huntington, a pioneer of Shelby Countv, and one

among the oldest residents of Sugar Creek Township, was born
in Connecticut, August 26, 1816. He was the third of six children,
four sons and two daughters, born to Septimius G. and Mar}- T.

(Morse) Huntington, natives of Connecticut and Alassachnsetts,

respectiveh', the former of whom was a descendant of Simon

Huntington, who left the shores of England with his wife and chil-

dren in 1633, and started for America. The father died upon the

voyage and was buried in the ocean. The mother broucfht her
children to America, and the latter became the progenitors of a

large family, several members of which have attained considerable

prominence in this country. A few of the more noted ones may
here be mentioned: Hon. Samuel Huntington, Ex-Governor of

Connecticut and President of the Continental Congress; Samuel

Huntington, a nephew of the former, who became Governor of

Ohio; Elisha M. Huntington, Ex-United States District Judge for

Indiana; Gen. Jedediah Huntington, Judge Benjamin Huntington
and a number of others. The paternal grandparents of Mr. Hunt-

ington were Rev. Joseph and Elizabeth (Hall) Huntington, both of

whom were natives of Connecticut. His maternal grandparents
were Ezekiel and Mar}- (T3'ler) Morse, the former of whom was
related to the antecedents of Prof. S. F. B. Morse, and the latter

was a relative of Col. Tyler, of Revolutionary fame. When our

subject was yet a child, his parents emigrated to Lebanon, Ohio.
About one year later they came to this State and located at Con-
nersville, but in the year 182 1, they removed to this county, and
settled in the wilds of Sugar Creek Township. That was one

among the earliest settlements in the township. He continued at

home until the time of his marriage, which occurred April 6, 1850,
when Sarah A. Edwards became his wife. She was born in Miami
County, Ohio, December 22, 1825, and was the daughter of Will-
iam and Sophia (Carsonj Edwards. Two years after their mar-
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riag-e, Mr. and Mrs. Huntington located upon the farm they now
occupy, and on which the}' have ever since continued to reside.

They are the parents of eleven children: Kate, born Jul}- 3, 1851,
died September 30, 1853; Eliza, born January 20, 1853; Thomas
H., born September 2, 1S54; Abbie, born May 14, 1856; Ella,
born March 7, 1858, died September 10, 1858; Maggie, born March
8, 1859; Jo^"*" ?., born March 10, 1861; George B., born Novem-
ber 8, 1863; Wilham ^., born November 16, 1865; Samuel, born

Januar}-" 13, 1867, died September 29, 1867, and Frank C, born

August 20, 1869. Mr. and Mrs. Huntington are members of the

Protestant Methodist Church. In politics the former is a Demo-
crat. He has held the office of Trustee in Sugar Creek Town-
ship thirteen years. He owns a good farm where he lives, of 160

acres, about lOO of which are in a high state of cultivation. His
farm is fitted up with good buildings and fences, and is a very de-

sirable location. Besides this, he owns two other farms in Su^^ar
Creek Township, one of eighty acres and one of thirty-two acres.

He is an honest, upright man, and he and wife are among the

worthy and esteemed citizens of Shelby County.
Thomas H. Huntington, a prominent citizen of Sugar Creek

Township and the present Trustee of the township, was born where
he now lives with his parents, September 2, 1854. ^'^ ^"^'^^ ^^^^

third child and oldest son born to Henry and Sarah A. (Edwards)
Huntington, a history of whom appears above in this work. He
was reared upon his father's farm, and he still continues with his

father and mother, his attention being given to agricultural pur-
suits. In the spring of 1882, he was elected to the office of Road

Superintendent, and served in that capacity until the office was
abolished. In the spring of 1884, he was elected Trustee of his

township and was re-elected in the spring of 1886. He is an agree-
able, genial man, a reliable and trustworthy official, and he pos-
sesses the confidence and esteem of all who know him.

Jonathan H. Keith, an honored pioneer of Sugar Creek

Township, was born in Lewis County, West Virginia, August 8,

1811. He was the youngest of thirteen children, six sons and

seven daughters, born to James and Mary Ann (Allkire) Keith,

the former a native of Winchester, Va., of English and Scotch

descent, and the latter a native of Pennsylvania, of German
descent. His boyhood and early youth were spent working upon
his father's farm in his native county. In the spring of 1828, he

accompanied his parents to Miami County, Ohio, but in the follow-

ing fall the family came to Shelby County, and located in the woods
of Marion Township. In the spring of 1829, they removed to a

farm which the father had purchased in Brandywine Township,
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near the present site of Fairland. In 1832, they removed to Sugar
Creek Township, and located upon a tract of land in Section 32,.

upon which the subject of this sketch has ever since resided. The
chief occupation of his life has been that of a farmer. His lirst

marriage occurred April 10, 1836, when Keziah Hutchison be-

came his wife. She was born in Warren Count}^ Ohio, March 27,

1818, and was the daughter of James and Sarah (Ulry) Hutchison.

She died March 31, 1837. On the second da}- of April, 1848^
Mr. Keith was married to Elizabeth Crosby, who was born in

Clermont Count}', Ohio, August 25, 1829, and was the daughter
of Joseph and Mary (Cook) Crosby. The first marriage of Mr.
Keith resulted in the birth of one child, Sarah C, born March 11,

1837, died September 12, 1837. He and his present wife are the

parents of ten children, as follows: Marshall, born January 29, 1849,
died in infancy; Mar}' K., born April 26, 1850; Frances L., born

January 23, 1S52, died August 19, 1884; Maude, born April 23,

1854; Joseph JVI., born October 27, 1856; James W. S., born De-
cember 22, 1858; Wilham A., born November 25, 1861; Susan M.,
born March 6, 1864, died June 6, 1884; Edward E., born February
27, 1867; Oscar H., born April 30, 1869. Mr. and Mrs. Keith are

members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. The former became
a member of the F. & A. M. about thirty-one years ago. In poli-
tics he is an ardent Republican. He has served his township as

Justice of the Peace five years. He served as Second Lieutenant
in Co. H, Third Indiana Regiment, of the Mexican War, from June
1846, tojuh^ 1847. He owns a good farm of 160 acres.

TiLGHMAN H. Lee, Ex-Sheriff of Shebly Count}-, and at

present a prominent farmer of Sugar Creek Township, was born
in Addison Township, this county. May 31, 1839. He was the
third of five children, three sons and two daughters, born to Louis
M. and Spicy (Campbell) Lee. He spent his boyhood and youth

working upon a farm in this county. As early as tw^elve years of

age he began working upon a farm by the month, and tlius con-
tinued among strangers for a period of fourteen years. February
23, 1865, he was married to Annie Hoop, a native of Moral Town-
ship, this county, born July 30, 1848. She was the daughter of

Furguson and NelHe (Doble) Hoop, the former a native of Ohio,
of German descent, and the latter a native of Kentucky. Imme-
diately after their marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Lee located upon a farm
in Sugar Creek Township. Mr. Lee continued the vocation of a
farmer in that township, until the fall of 1872, at which time he
was elected upon the Democratic ticket to the office of Sheriff of

Shelby County. He was re-elected in the fall of 1874, ^"<^ ^^ the

expiration of his second term, he returned to Sugar Creek Town-
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ship, and resumed the business of a farmer. His attention in this

connection, however, has chiefly been confined to the management
and overseeing of his farm, owing to the fact that for a period of

about seventeen years he has served the pubhc in the capacity of

an auctioneer. He is pecuHarly adapted for this vocation, and he
is universally recognized as one of the most successful auctioneers.

Mr. and Mrs Lee are the parents of four children as follows: Gill-

more and Elmore (twins), born November 14, 1866, the former
died December 23, 1866; Cora A., born September 17, 1869,
and Fannie, born February 25, 1878. Mr. and Mrs. Lee are mem-
bers of the Presbyterian Church. The former is a member of the

F. & A. M. Lodge, and a staunch Democrat in politics. He owns
a handsome farm where he hves, of 174 acres, about 135 of which
are in a high state of cultivation.

Charles P. McDonald, a prominent farmer of Sugar Creek

Township, was born in Rush County, this State, June 14, 1831.
He was the seventh of ten children—- seven sons and three daugh-
ters — born to Mordica and Sarah (Varner) McDonald, both
natives of Kentucky, the former of Scotch, and the latter of German
descent. He was reared upon a farm in his native county and at

the age of fifteen he began working upon a farm by the month, and
thus continued during the summer time for a number of years. At
the age of twenty he took up the vocation of a farmer for himself,
and this has been his life occupation. In April, 185 1, he came to

Shelby County, and became a resident of Sugar Creek Township,
in which he has ever since resided. His marriage to Mary J.

Bagley, occurred March 9, 1881. She was born in this county

Jul}' 21, 1858, and was the daughter of Joseph and Mary J. Bagley.

They are the parents of one child, Oscar, born August 7, 1883.
In politics Mr. McDonald is a Democrat. He owns a good farm of

1481^ acres, about 115 of which are in a high state of cultivation.

His farm is fitted up with good buildings and fences and is situated

in one of the best farming localities in Shelby Count3\ He is an

industrious and successful farmer and he and wife are worthy and
esteemed citizens.

Hugh McFadden, a prominent farmer of Sugar Creek Town-

ship, was born in Centre County, Penn., June 11, 1836. He was
the fourth of five children— four sons and one daughter

— born to

Hugh and Isabella (Hays) McFadden, with whom he came to this

county when he was but two years old. They settled in the woods
of Sugar Creek Township, where our subject was reared upon a

farm. At the early age of fourteen he assumed the management
of the farm, his father having died at that time. He has ever since

continued in agricultural pursuits upon the old homestead where he

31
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Still continues to reside. His marriage to Cannie Oldham occurred

January 2, 18S7. She was born in this county, November 25, 1863.

She was the daughter of Thomas J, and Louisa (Smith) Oldham,
old residents of this county. They, however, removed to Marion

Count}', this State, where the mother died August 15, 1886, and

where the father still resides. In politics Mr. McFadden is an

ardent Republican. He owns about 100 acres of excellent land

situated in one of the best farming localities in Shelby Count}'.
Mrs. Mary Elizabeth Mitchell, of Sugar Creek Town-

ship, was born in Coventry, Conn., May 16, 1811. She was the

eldest of six children born to SeptimiusG. andMary T. (Morse) Hunt-

ington, a more extended mention of whom appears elsewhere in

this work. She accompanied her parents to this county in 1S21,

and on the 3d day of July, 1836, she was married to Jabez G.

Bright, who was born September 9, 1807. They resided in Franklin,

Johnson County, and there her husband died April 14, 1843. Oc-
tober 20, 1844, our subject became the wife of Seth T. Mitchell,

who was born in Maine, in' 181 8, and is now deceased. Her first

marriage resulted in the birth of five children: Maria L., born

March 18, 1837, died July 23, 1880; Mary E., born March 7, 1838,
died September 23, 1838; Mary, born April 16, 1839, died Octo-

ber 28, 1844; Septimius G., born August 9, 1840, died November
17, 1850, and Elizabeth, born May 20, 1842, died November 15,

1843. Her second marriage resulted in the birth of one child: Em-
erson, born June 3, 1849, ^'^^^' '^ resident of Johnson County. Mrs.

Mitchell is a member of the Presbyterian Church. She owns a

farm of forty acres in Illinois and ten acres in Brandywine Town-

ship, and is altogether in comfortable circumstances.

Daniel Padrick, late an aged and honored resident of Sugar
Creek Township, was born in Currituck County, N. C, Novem-
ber 23, 1798. He was the only child born to the marriage of

Daniel and Phebe (Sawyer) Padrick. He was reared in his na-

tive county, working upon a farm, and was married there De-
cember 31, 181 8, to Margaret Casev, daughter of Dempsey and
Elizabeth Casey. In 1834, ^^ ^"^ l^i^ wife moved to the State of

Illinois, but a year later thev returned to Shelby Count}', and lo-

cated in Moral Township. Shortly afterward they removed to

Sugar Creek Township and settled on the farm now owned and

occupied by William G. Weaver. There Mrs. Margaret Padrick
died September 20, 1843. That marriage resulted in the birth of

fourteen children; but two of these fourteen children are still living.
On the 9th day of September, 1850, Mr. Padrick was married to

Rachael Ann Henricks, a native of Rush County, this State, born
October 15, 1830, and daughter of Jacob and Phebe (Cougar)
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Henricks. This latter marriage has resulted in the birth of six

children, as follows: James M., born August 26, 1851; Lewis C,
born March 12, 1853; Jacob V., born Februar}' 14, 1855; Marv
A., born May i8, 1857; Laura A., born October 2, 1859, died

August 3, i860, and Sarah A., born August 12, 1.861, died July 4,

1867. In the fall of 1868, Mr. and Mrs. Padrick removed to

Shelbyville, but in March, 1870, they returned to Sugar Creek

Township, and settled upon the farm the latter now occupies. Mr.
Padrick was a member of the Baptist Church, the F. & A. M.

Lodge, and a Democrat in politics. He died May 27, 1887. Mrs.
Padrick is also a member of the Baptist Church. She 'has a good
farm, and a comfortable home, where she resides in a quiet happy
way.

Jacob V. Padrick, a promising 3roung farmer of Sugar Creek

Township, was born in that township, February 14, 1855. He
was the son of Daniel and Rachel A. (Henricks) Padrick, a his-

tor3' of whom is given above. He was reared upon the farm
and on the lOth dav of January, 1877, he was married to Maria

Belton, a native of Moral Township, this county, born December
27, 1854, ^^^ daughter of Robert and Caroline (Holden) Belton,
natives of North Carolina and Indiana, respectiveh'. Aher their

marriage, Mr. and Mrs. Padrick settled upon a farm in Johnson
Count}', but a few months later, they came to Shelby Count}' and
settled upon the old homestead of the former, where they have
since resided. They are the parents of two children: Carrie, born

September 4, 1877, and May, born September 7, 1885, both liv-

ing. Mr. Padrick and wife are members of the Baptist Church.
In politics the former is a Democrat..

Joiix Rasp, a citizen of Sugar Creek Township, was born in

Bavaria, Germanv, March 31, 1838. He was the youngest of six

children, three sons and three daughters, born to John and Catha-
rine (Rasler) Rasp. His father was the son of Nicholas Rasp,
who lived to the advanced age of ninety-nine years. His boyhood
was spent upon a farm. At the age of fourteen he became em-

ploved in a grist mill, and continued in that employment in Ger-

manv, until 1867. In that year he emigrated to America, reaching
Ne\v York City in April. He first made his way to Pittsburg,
where he was employed in a saw mill about four months. He then

went to West Virginia, where he remained six months working in

a brewery, and upon the Baltimore & Ohio Railway. He then

came to Indiana, in 1868, and became employed in a flouring mill,

in Millersville, Marion County. Later lie found employment in a

rolling mill, in Indianapolis. He was married in that city, Febru-

ary 6, 1869, to Elizabeth Lieneke, a native of Prussia, born March
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15, 1S38. She was the daughter of WilHam and Mary (Shom-
•l)erg)

Lieneke. In July, 1871, Mr. and Mrs. Rasp came to Shelby
County, and located in Sugar Creek Township, where Mr. Rasp
has sjiven his attention to farminij and milling- ever since. He has

• been the proprietor of The Red Flouring Mills since December,
"1 87 1. Mr. and Mrs. Rasp are the parents of four children as fol-

liows; Katie, born Januar}" 2, 1870; Frederick, born March 6, 1872;

Emma, born May 18, 1875, died in October, 1876; Rosa, born

April 29, 1877, died February 20, 1880. Our subject is a member
of the Lutheran Church, and his wife is a member of the Presby-
terian Church. In politics the former is a Democrat.

Stephen L. Strickler, M. D., a prominent young physician
of Boggstown, was born in Sugar Creek Township, this county,

August 22, 1853. He was the third of eight children— four sons

and four daughters
— born to George W. and Rhoda (Tucker)

Strickler, who are old residents of Shelby County. He was reared

upon his father's farm, and in winter he attended the district school

in which he received the rudiments of an education. At nineteen

years of age he entered Franklin College where he pursued his

studies three years, after which he spent one year in De Pauw
University. He then returned home, and in the spring of 1877, he
entered upon the study of medicine under the preceptorship of Dr.

J. M. Scudder, of Cincinnati. In September, 1877, he entered the

Eclectic Medical College, of Cincinnati, where he attended three

courses of lectures, graduating in Februarv, 1879. He then located

at Boggstown, near his old home, and entered upon the practice of

his profession. In September, 1882, he entered Bellevue Hospital
Medical College, New York City, where six months were spent in

one of the best medical colleges in the world. He then returned
to his practice in this county in which he has been actively and suc-

cessfull}' engaged ever since. He was married September 20, 1880,
to Mary Montgomery, w^ho was born in Brandywine Township,
this county, September 20, i860. She was the daughter of Joseph
and Elizabeth (Steers) Montgomery, formerly of this county.
Their marriage has resulted in the birth of one child that died in

infancy unnamed. Dr. and Mrs. Strickler are faithful members of

the Seventh Day Adventist Church. In politics the former is a

Republican. Though young in his profession, the Doctor is a very
successful practitioner, and already has a creditable rank among
the leading ph3^sicians of Shelby Countv.
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John W. Barnes, a farmer of Union Township, is a native
of Madison County, Ky., where he was born January 19, 1827,

being the next youngest in a family of four children born to

Noah and Mar}- (Wheeler) Barnes, who were natives of Maryland
and Madison Count}^, Ky., respectively. They came to Indiana and

Shelb}' County, about 1832, and settled in Union 'I'ownship, living-
there until their deaths. Our immediate subject remained at home
and assisted his parents until he attained the age of twenty-three
years, receiving a common education, such as was to be obtained
in the primitive log school-houses of those da3's. September 22,

1849, ^^^s marriage with Rebecca A. Midkiff, was solemnized, and
to their union seven children have been born, these four now living :

Kimble E., Noah, Elma A. and Fidela. Mr. Barnes has alwa^-s
made farming, his occupation, and he has been quite successful.

He now owns 264 acres of well improved land. In politics he is a

Republican.

James B. Branson, a citizen of Union Township, is a native of

Guilford County, N. C, where he was born March 21, 1823, being
the eldest in a family of thirteen children born to Henry and Nanc}^

(Halbrook) Branson, who were natives of Maryland and North

Carolina, respectively. They came to Indiana and Shelby Count}',
about the 3^ear 1829, and located in Union Township, where they
continued to live until their deaths, the former dying a number of

3-ears ago, and the latter followed about two or three years later.

Our immediate subject remained at home and assisted his parents
until he attained the age of twent^'-three years, receiving a limited

education in the primitive log school-houses of that time. June 15,

1846, his marriage with Levina Cotton was solemnized, and to their

union two children were born. About 1849, ^^- Bi"'inson suffered

the bereavement of losing his beloved wife. April 14, 1853, his

and Elizabeth Anderson's nuptials were celebrated, and to their

union nine children have been born, these six now living are:

Robert, who married Mary Mohr; Augusta, now Mrs. Rufus

Hinchman; Ann, wife of Jacob Yarling; Larz A., whose consort

was Sarah E. Nigh; Luella J. and James C. Mr. Branson has

always made farming his occupation, and he has been quite suc-

cessful. He now owns 187 acres of well improved land. In poli-
tics he is a Repulican.

William W. Brown, a citizen and native of Union Township,
was born December 12, 1827, the ^^oungest in a family of eight
children born to Robert and Catherine (Cotton) Brown, who were
both natives of North Carolina, and they came to this count}^ about
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1822. The}^ continued residents of this county until their deaths.

William remained at home and assisted his parents until he attained

the ao-e of twenty-two years, receiving a limited education, such as

was to be obtained in the rude and primitive log school-houses of

those days. November i, 1849, his marriage with Nancy Linville

was solemnized, and to their union these live children have been

born: William J., Franklin P., David E., Levi and Electa C.

Mr. Brown has ahva^-s made farnjing his occupation and he has

been (pite successful. He now owns thirty-eight acres of well

improved land. He formerly owned 100 acres, but divided with

his children. He and family are members of the Blue River

Baptist Church. In pohtics he is a Democrat.

John H. Brown, of Union Township, is a native of Hamilton

County, Ohio, born March 13, 1829, the next eldest in a family of

seven children born to John and Sarah (Herrin) Brown, who were

natives of South Carolina and New Jersey, respectiveh\ Matthew

Brown, paternal grandfather of our subject, came to Shelb}^ County
in a very early dav, and continued a resident of the county until

his death. Our immediate subject was reared to manhood in his

native State and county, remaining at home and assisting his pa-
rents until he attained the age of twentA'-two, receiving a common
school education, supplemented by attendance at the Farmers' Col-

lege one term. February 20, 1851, his marriage with Sarah J.

Ellis was solemnized, and to their union six children have been

born: James L., Kate, Fannie, Charles, Lucy and Mollie. In the

year 1867, Mr. Brown and family came to Shelby County and

located on the farm where he now and has since continuously lived.

He has always made farming his occupation, and he has been quite
successful. He now owns 180 acres of well improved land. He
and his wife are members of the Methodist Episcopal Church. He
is a man of pronounced temperance views, and as such votes

the Prohibition ticket.

S. J. Carpejnter, a farmer of Union Township, is a native of

Rush County, born October 16, 1847, the youngest in a family of

three children born to Peter O. and Julia A. (Watson) Carpenter,
natives of Fleming County, Kentucky. They emigrated to Indiana
with their parents in a very early day, settling in Rush Count}',
where they married March 4, 1841; they continued residents of

Rush County, until 185 1, when they came to Union Township,
Shelby County, where they li\'ed until his death, which occurred in

1880. His widow still survives him, she having attained the good
old age of sixty-six years. Our immediate subject remained with
and assisted his parents until )\e attained the age of twenty-six
years. He received a common school education, such as was to
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be obtained in the schools of the vicinity. September 21, 1S73, his

marriage with Belle Macy was solemnized, and to their union these

three sons have been born: Claude W., Corydon E. and Vern O.
Mr. Carpenter has always made farming his occupation, and he has
been quite successful. He now owns 500 acres of well improved
land. He also makes a specialty of raising fine thoroughbred hogs,
also dealing in mules quite extensively. He belongs to the Ma-
sonic fraternity, having attained the rank of Knight Templar in that

organization. His political views are Republican, and he always
manifests a good live interest in the political affairs of the county
and community in which he lives, where he was honored in 1882,
with an election to the important position of County Commissioner,
which trust he filled in a very creditable manner.

George Cawein, a prominent citizen of Union Township, is a na-

tive of Leinsweiler Rliempfalz, Germany, and was born November

14, 1818, a son of Daniel and Mary (Kern) Cawein, who were also

natives of Germanv. They emigrated to the United States in

1833, coming immediately to Shelby County, settling on the farm

where our subject now Hves, where they continued to live until

1844, when they removed to Cincinnati, and made their home with

Mrs. Deprez, who liverl there. The father died in that city in

1845, and the mother at the same place in 1849, ^^ cholera.

Georo-e obtained a common school education in his native lan-

guage. When his parents removed to Cincmnati, he went to

Clermont County, Ohio. April 14, 1847, his marriage with

Margaret Rust, of Cincinnati, was solemnized. The year follow-

ing they came to Shelbv County, where they have since lived.

To their union, eight children have been born, these six now living:

Peter, Maggie, Daniel, John, Mary, William Henry. Mrs. Cawein
was born November 27, 1829. She was a daughter of Peter and

Mary (Weiler) Rust. Mr. Cawein has always made farming his

occupation, and he has been very successful. He now owns 132
acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of the

St. Zion's German Protestant Church. In politics he is a Demo-
crat.

Justus S. Clapp, of Union Township, is a native of Hampden
Count}', Mass., born near Springfield, Februnry 21, 1833, sixth in a

family of nine children born to Zebadiah and Aurelia (Hempsted)
Clapp, who were both also natives of Massachusetts, where they

always resided. Our immediate subject remained at home and

assisted his parents until he attained the age of nineteen years.

He received a common school education. In 1852, he came as a

bridge carpenter on what was then the Indiana Central R. R., to

Indiana, with whom he continued about two years, after which he
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engaged in house carpentering for a few years, or until 1859, ""^'^^^

the exception of two years when he was engaged in saw miUing.

In the fall of 1859, he located on the farm where he now Hves.

November 16, 1856, his marriage with Charlotte Lafuze was sol-

emnized. Since 1859, he has made farming his occupation, and he

has been quite successful. He now owns 120 acres of well im-

proved land. He belongs to the Grange. In politics he has always
been a Republican, but does not allow party prejudice to control

him, and alwavs votes for such candidates as in his judgment are

best calculated to fill the positions irrespective of party. Mr. Clapp
makes a specialty of raising fine poultry of the Hght Brahma breed.

He is a member' of the Central Indiana Poultry Association, and

has won numerous prizes at their, and other, exhibits.

William Cottox (deceased ).^
— A fitting representative of the

pioneer of Shelbv County- is William Cotton. A man of sterling

qualities and highly respected: who did his duty unostentatiously

in the condition of Hfe in which it pleased God to place him: who

brought up his family to do what is right in all cases, and who
raised a familv who are to-day among the foremost men of

the places where they reside. Coming to Shelby County, as he

did, at so early a day, he found a field for his energy and abihty,

and entered upon the work before him with the resolution of a

strong mind. That work he accomplished, and, though he has

passed awav, his life and its lesson are still with us, and tell us in

the strongest language how much the pioneers of Shelby County
endured to lay the foundation of our present prosperity, and how
much mav be accomplished by good, honest labor. William Cot-

ton was a native of Kentucky, and was born on the 15th of January,

1793, the son of WilHam and Elizabeth Cotton. At the age of five

years, he moved to Hamilton County, Ohio, where his 3'outh was

spent, and where he stayed until the tide of emigration tempted
him to turn his face westward. He arrived in Shelby County in

1822. Previous to this, he had been married to Mar}^ Anderson,
also a native of Kentucky. On his arrival in Shelby County he

entered 80 acres of land, which took all the cash he had. He soon,

however, got together enough to enter eighty additional acres, and

constantly added to his possessions imtil he owned some 720 acres al-

together. INIr. Cotton had eight children, as follows: Melvin (de-

ceased), John A., Joseph, Robert, Elizabeth J., Lavina (deceased),
William and Thomas A. Soon after their removal, on the nth of

]March, 1830, Mrs. Cotton died. In Jul}-, 1830, Mr. Cotton was
married again, to Ann Burgess, of Rushville, who lived with him
until his death. By this union they had no children. With strict

honor Mr. Cotton combined great shrewdness as a trader, and was
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very successful, leaving quite an estate to be divided among his

children at the time of his death. Politically, he was a pure Demo-
crat. For fortv-five years he was a consistent member of the Bap-
tist Church, making his business conform to his religion, and not

his religion to his business. His death took place February 22,

1864, and he left a name and memory of which his children and the

whole county are proud— the memor}^ of a well spent life. Mr.
Cotton's second wife died April i, 1875.

Thomas A. Cotton. — The Cottons are among the earliest

settlers of Shelby County, and it is to their thrift and enterprise
that Shelby County to-day owes some of its finest improvements
and best men. WiUiam Cotton, the father of Thomas A., was a

native of Kentucky, as was also his wife. On the 8th of Febru-

ary, 1828, Thomas A. first saw the light, and his birthplace was a

log cabin within a few feet of where his substantial and comfortable

house stands to-dav. On March 11, 1830, his mother, Mary Cot-

ton, died, leaving him a boy of tender years, and in July, 1830, his

father was married to Ann Burgess. Thomas' earh' years were

spent in the hard work that was the portion of all at that time,

though his father gave him what school advantages he could, and

when he was seventeen years of age, told him he might have a

collegiate course, or, if he would stay at home and work on the

farm, he would give him his portion in land. Thomas, seeing that

his father's heart was set upon his remaining at home, finally con-

cluded to do so, and thus, with some regret, closed upon hiiuself

the opportunity for professional honors. Though it is probable
that a man of his ability would have made his mark in a profes-

sional career, still one could hardly wish to be more successful than

Mr. Cotton has been as a farmer; and while his name might have

been more famous in a professional light, we are sure that for his

independence and happiness, his choice as a farmer was a wise one,

and to-day he is better off than by far the greater per cent, of men

who live by some profession. On the i8th of October, 1849, he

was married to Phebe Johnson, daughter of Jonathan and Ann

(McGrew) Johnson, and went to housekeeping in another house on

his father's farm. For one year he rented land and then bought

some, and has ever since been working his own farm. He has had

ten children, as follows: Theodore (deceased), Rosco (deceased),

Indiana, Carey C, America, Florence, Ida (deceased), Phebe A.,

Mary J. and Frank Ward. Mr. Cotton settled down to farming

with the determination of making a success, well knowing the re-

quirements of a successful farmer, and it is evident to all that he

has accomplished his object in that direction. To-day he is pos-

sessor of nearly 600 acres of beautiful farming land, and buildings
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that are an honor not only to him but to the whole count}' ;
his barn

is a model one, and constructed on a plan entirely his own, and is

convenient and complete in all particulars. It is probably the larg-

est in Shelby County, having a length of 86 feet by 48 feet wide

and 20 feet siding. In addition, a large basement 50 feet square is

fitted up with every convenience for his stock, of which he has a

choice collection. He makes a specialty of the short horned Dur-

ham breed of cattle, having at the present time in his possession
some of the best in the county. He and his wife are good Chris-

tian people, he being a Baptist by profession, as were his father and

mother, and his wife a Methodist, as were her father and mother.

Four of his children are at present members of the Baptist Church.

Mr. Cotton has given his children a good education, and they
are doing well in the world. Thomas A. Cotton is now in the six-

tieth year of his age. Politically, he is a Democrat, yet not too

partisan to recognize good wherever it is to be found, and believes

every man should vote according to his own conviction of right.
Mr. Cotton is voung for his years, and has ever}'' prospect of hold-

ing for a long period in the future his position as one of the enter-

prising, popular men of Shelby County. In stock breeding he has

been pre-eminentlv successful. June 15, 1887, he made the first

public sale of blooded cattle that was ever held in Shelby County.
November 29, 1886, he met with the misfortune of having his ele-

gant residence consumed bv lire. He, with that characteristic en-

terprise peculiar to him, has commenced a still better and more
commodious home, which, when completed, will be a magnificent

building, in keeping with everything he undertakes to do. The
portraits of Mr. Cotton and his father are presented in this volume.

William Creek, a prominent old citizen of Union Township,
is a native of Union County, Ind., where he was born, J'une 9, 1829,

being the youngest in a family of four children born to Thomas
and Isabel (Glidewell) Creek, who were natives of Virginia and
South Carolina, respectively, he having been born December 16,

1798, and she December 14, 1798. They were married in Union

County, where the former lived until his death, which occurred
December 16, 1829. His widow survived him and came to Shelby
County, November, 1831, where she became the wife of Andrew
Hensley. Our immediate subject remained with his mother until he
attained the age of fourteen years, when he entered the employ of

Spencer Thayer, as a farm hand, with whom he remained until he
reached his majority. He received a very limited education, which
he has greatly supplemented in later years by reading and study
without the aid of a teacher. June 10, 1852, his marriage with

Nancy, daughter of David Wicker, was solemnized, and to their
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union nine children have been born of whom these eij^ht are now
hving: David who married Sarah J. Carmon}-; Maria, now
Mrs. Cyrus Carmonv; Leander, whose wife was Lilhe McFerran;
LilHe, consort of Wilham Montgomerv; Lincoln, John Logan,
Thomas and Laura. The deceased child was Franklin, who died

at the age of twenty-five years, May 31, 1879. ^^^"- Creek has

always made farming his occupation, and he has been quite success-

ful. He now owns 185 acres of well improved land. He and wife

are members of the United Brethren Church. In politics he is

Republican.

Jacob Crim, a citizen and native of Union Township, was
born February 4, 1834, being the seventh in a family of nine

children born to Lewis C. and Charitv (Linville) Crim, who were
both natives of Guilford Countv, N. C, and they emigrated to

Indiana and Shelby County, about 1830, settling in Union Town-

ship, where they continued to reside until their deaths, the former

dying January, 1857, and the latter June, 1877. Our subject has

always remained at the old homestead caring for his parents in their

declinino- vears. He received a common school education, such as

the facilities in those days afforded, in keeping with the primitive

log school-houses of that time. June, 1879, his marriage with

Marv Gardner was solemnized, and to their union these three sons

have been born: Lewis F., and Thomas S. and Jesse N. Mr.

Crim has alwa^^s made farming his principal occupation, and he has

been quite successful. He now owns seventy acres of improved
land. He and wife are members of the Christian Church. In

politics he is a Democrat, and was honored with an election to the

office of Township Assessor, which bespeaks his popularity, as

ordinarily the township has a good working P.epublican majorit3\
HrRAM DeWitt, an old citizen of Union Township, is a na-

tive of Hamilton County, Ohio, where he was born Februaiy 10,

181 8, being the fourth in a family of nine children born to Peter

and Phebe (Cotton) DeWit, who were both natives of Kentucky.

They came to Shelby County in March, 1822, and settled in what

is now Union Township, the first family locating in that township.

They continued residents of the county until their deaths, he dying

December, 1837, and she June 16,"^ 1867. Hiram remained at

home until he attained the age of twenty-two years, receiving, what

was for those days a common school education in the primitive log
school-houses of that time. May 20, 1840, his marriage with

Mary E. Gunning was solemnized, and to their union eight children

were born; the six now living are: Hiram W., David, James,

Mary E., Phebe A., and Peter M. Mr, DeWitt has always made

farming his occupation, and he has been (|uite
successful. He now
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owns eighty-five acres of well improved land. He united with

the Blue River Baptist Church about forty-five years ago. In

politics he is a Democrat, and has been honored with election to

the offices of Township Trustee and Constable.

Allen T. DeWitt, a descendant of Peter DeWitt, the first

settler of what is now Union Township, was born November 19,
1 85 1, being the next eldest child and only one surviving of Robert

Wesley and Milla (Berry) DeWitt. Peter DeWitt came to Shelby

County and settled on Little Blue River, about 182 1. His wife

was Phoebe Cotton ; they reared a family of six children, of whom
but one is now Hving, Hiram. The family have, with one exception,
made this and the adjoining county of Rush, their home. Robert

Wesley DeWitt was born March 5, 1824. He was united in mar-

riage with Milla Berry, October 14, 1849. "^1"^*^}"
were the parents-

of four children: Phebe A., deceased, Allen T., Sarepta, de-

ceased, Landa, deceased. He died January 13, 1876. His widow
still survives him and has attained the good old age of about sixty

3'ears. Our immediate subject has always lived on the old home
farm. Pie received a limited education, his help being needed on

the farm, which he has greatly supplemented by reading and study"
and contact with business men in the affairs of life. March 23,

1879, his marriage with Elizabeth H. Gunning was solemnized.

Mr. DeWitt has always followed agricultural pursuits and he has.

been quite successful. He now owns eighty acres of well improved
land. He and wife are members of the Blue River Baptist Church.
In politics he is a Democrat, and he always manifests a good live

interest in the political affair of the county and community in which
he lives, where he enjoys the respect and esteem of those that

know him.

John Gahimer, of Union Township, is a native of Rush
County, born December 10, 1837, being the fourth in a family of

eight children, born to Jacob and Mary (Deprez) Gahimer, who
were both natives of Germany. They emigrated to the United
States about the year 1833, and came immediately to Rush
County, where they settled, and where the former is still living.
The latter died March 14, 1882. John remained at home and

helped his parents on the farm until he attained the age of twenty-
three years, receiving a very limited English education. March
26, 185 1, his marriage with Barbara Hauck was solemnized, and
to their union these six children have been born : John, Andrew,
Mary, Jacob, Kate and Emma. In 185 1, Mr. Gahimer located in

Shelby Count}^, where he has since lived. He has always made
farming his occupation, and he has been very successful. He now
owns 414 acres of well improved land. He and family, with the
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exception of one child, are members of the German Protestant
Church. In poHtics he has ahvays been a Democrat.

Philipp Haehl is a native of Rheinpfalz, German}', born
November lo, 183 1, being the youngest in a family of eleven chil-

dren, born to George Michael and Maria Katrina (Becker) Haehl,
who were also natives of Germany. They emigrated to the United
States and Shelby County in 1S33, where they continued to live

until their deaths; he died in 1850, and she in 1863. Our subject

always made his home with his parents until their deaths. He re-

ceived a very limited education in his mother tongue. September
8, 1853, his marriage with Anna M. Kuhn was solemnized, and to

their union six children have been born, these five now living: Mary
Amelia, Julia A., deceased, John H., Emeline, Sophia L. and
Daniel. Mr. Haehl has followed agricultural pursuits and he has
been very successful. He now owns a tine, well improved farm of

171 acres. He and wife are members of St. Zion's German Pro-
testant Church, and he is always a liberal contributor to the support
of that organization, having donated the land on which the church
is situated. In politics he is a Democrat.

George Haehl, a native of Union Township, was born Janu-

ary 6, 1849, ^^^^ third in a family of live children, born to John and
Marv C. (Zeisz) Haehl, who were both natives of Germany. Both

emigrated with their parents to Shelby Count}^, about 1829, and
continued residents of the county ever afterward, he dying in

1855; his widow still survives him, and has attained the good age
of sixty-one years. Our immediate subject remained at home and
assisted his parents, until he attained the age of twenty-three 3^ears,

receiving a common school education. December 7, 187 1, his

marriage with Catherine Kuhn was solemnized, and to their un-

ion these eight children have been born: Polina O., Henr}^ A.,

George W., Mary F., John R., Ida A., Ella C. and Laura L. Mr.
Haehl has always made farming his occupation, and he has been

very successful. He now owns 160 acres of well improved land.

He and wife are members of St. Zion's German Protestant Church,
of which he is the present incumbent of the position of one of its

Trustees. In politics he is a Democrat.

John M. Hawkins is a native of the Kingdom of Bavaria,
born at Baireith, May 17, 1834, being the youngest in a famih' of

two children, born to George and Barbara (Myer) Hawkins. In

1838, the family emigrated to the United States, coming imme-

diately to Indiana, reaching Shelby County, Januar}^ i, 1839, and set-

tling in Union Township, where they continued to live until their

deaths, the latter dying in 1852, and the former in 1856. John M.
remained with and assisted his parents until their deaths, receiving
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a very limited German education, mostly all obtained by reading
without the aid of a teacher. October 31, 1856, his marriage with

Mary A. Kney was solemnized, and to their union live children

have been born, these four now living: Mary A., Maggie, Carrie

and Lizzie
;
the deceased child was George M. Mr. Hawkins has

always made farming his occupation, and he has been very success-

ful. He now owns 157 acres of well improved land, all the accumu-
lation of his own industry and economy-. He and family are mem-
bers of the German Protestant Church. In politics he has always
been a Democrat, but never sought political preferment.

JoHX Hester, a native of Stokes County, N. C, was born

August 31, 181 3, the youngest and onlv surviving child of a

famih' of nine children, born to John and Mildred (Crews) Hester,
who were both natives of Granville County, N. C, where they
were reared to man and womanhood, and married there. They
remained residents of Stokes Countv until their deaths. Our imme-
diate subject remained with his mother, his father having died

when he was only a babe, until he attained the age twentv vears,

receiving a common school education, such as the facihties of

those days afforded. December 25, 1833, his marriage with Ma-
linda McCaleb was solemnized, and to their union six children were
born, of whom these three are now living: Newton H., John H.
and Sarah A. October, 1849, ^^ suffered the bereavement of los-

ing his beloved wife. October 22, 1850, his and Emahne (Linville)
Zike's nuptials were celebrated, and to their union these four children
have been born: Jacob, whose consort was Jennie Talbert; Benjamin
F., who married Frances M. Hicks

; Jasper, whose wife was Leona L.

Fisher, and Clara F., now Mrs. Lee Rigsby. By a former marriage,
Mrs. Hester had these two children : Joseph andJohn W. In 1845,
Mr. Hester emigrated to and settled in this county where he has
ever since lived, settling in Union Township.

"

He has always
made farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful.
He now owns 235 acres of well improved land. He and wife are
members of the Christian Church. In politics he is a Democrat.

Ephraoi W. Hester, a native of what was then Stokes

County, N. C, was born September 28, 1825, the eldest in a family
of eleven children born to James and Abigail (Workman) Hester,
who were also natives of North Carolina, from whence they emi-

grated to Indiana and Shelby County, in 1845, and they remained
residents of this county untif their de^aths. Our immediate subject
reniained at home and assisted his parents until he attained his

majority, receiving a limited education such as the facilities of those

days afforded. December 18, 1850, his marriage with Marv J.

Golding was solemnized, and to their union twelve children have
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been born, these six now living: Alonzo P., Amanda J., Dorothy J.,

John L., James E., and Effie M. Mr. Hester has ah.vays made

farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 120 acres of well improved land. He and wife are members
of the Baptist Church. He belongs to the Masonic fraternity at

Equity Lodge, at Manilla. In politics he is a Republican and was
honored with an election to the office of Justice of the Peace for

five terms, serving twenty-one years consecutively.

John Holbrook, of Union Township, is a native of Stokes

County, N, C, born July 13, 1813, the sixth, and only one now sur-

viving, of a family of ten children born to William and Luc}' (Crim)
Holbrook, who were natives of North Carolina and Culpepper
County, Va., respectively. They emigrated to hidiana and Shelby
County, in 1826, and settled in Union Township, where they con-

tinued to reside until their deaths. Our immediate subject remained
at home and assisted his parents until he attained his majority. He
received no education, being compelled to assist his father in the

maintenance of the family. His father was addicted to the habit of

drinking having formed the habit through the indulgence of his

parents who were extensive slaveholders in that day. John com-
menced life for himself as a laborer on the National road, in Wayne
County, Ind., where he worked four months. He returned to

Shelby Count}^, and immediately proceeded to Mississippi, where he

lived two years, then came back to this county where he has since

lived. February 11, 1836, his marriage with Mary A. Brown was

solemnized, and to their union seven children have been born, these

five now Hving: Robert W., William, Barbara, George W. and
Levi. Mr. Holbrook has always made farming his occupation, and
he has been quite successful. He now owns 280 acres of well im-

proved land. He and wife are members of the Baptist Church.

In politics he is a Democrat, casting his first vote for Andrew

Jackson.
George W. John, a citizen and native of Union Town-

ship, was born November 30, 1839, being the fifth in a family
of eleven children born to William and Sarah (Headlee) John, who
were both natives of Green County, Penn., where they grew to

man and womanhood and were married. They came to Shelby

County about 1832, and first settled in Addison Township, where

they lived for a short period, and then moved to Rush County, re-

siding there between one and two 3-ears, then came to Union

Township, where the former continued to reside until his death,

which occurred in June, 1859. ^"^^ widow^ survived him, and re-

moved to Taylor County, Iowa, in 1868, and died there in May,
1883. Our immediate subject remained with and assisted his
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mother until he attained the age of twenty-five, receiving a com-

mon school education. January 12, 1865, his marriage with Juha

F. Linville was solemnized, and to their union these eight children

have been born: Clark L., WilHam E., Nettie J., Cynthia P.,

Emma L., Wilbur D., Laura D. and Maggie. Mr. John's occu-

pation has been principally farming, in connection with which,

from the time he was eighteen years old, until he became thirty-

five, he taught school at intervals. He was also engaged in the

hardware and agricultural implement business at Manilla for a

period of sixteen months, and in all has been quite successful. He
now owns 320 acres of well improved land. He and wife are

members of the Christian Church. In politics he is a Democrat,

and he generally manifests a good live interest in the political

affairs of the county and community in which he lives, where he

enjoys the respect and esteem of his fellow citizens.

Andrew Kuhn, deceased. — He was a native of Rheinpfalz,

Germany, where he was born, January 22, 1834. ^^ "^^'^^ ^^^ ^^^

of Andrew and Maria (Theobald) Kuhn, who were also natives of

Rheinpfalz. They came to Shelby Count}' in the fall of

1847, and settled where their son Jacob now lives. Andrew re-

mained at home and helped his parents on the farm until he at-

tained the ase of twentv-seven vears. He received, for those

times, a very good education, sufficient to enable him to teach,

w^hich he did for, however, only one term. February 28, 1861,

his marriage with Margaret Gaheimer w^as solemnized, and this

union was blessed with five children : these four now living are : Will-

iam G., Frederick J., John A., and George A.; the deceased child,

was Caroline, the eldest, who died at the age of three years.
Mrs. Kuhn was born September 7, 1840. She was the daugh-
ter of Jacob and Mary A. (Deprez) Gaheimer. Mr. Kuhn

always followed agricultural pursuits, in which he was A'ery

successful, ranking as one of the leading farmers of the com-

munity in which he lived, owning at the time of his death

200 acres of well improved land. He was, as are his wife

and family, a member of the St. Zion's German Protestant Church,
and he always endeavored to live a true and Christian life. He
died January 28, 1881, and in his death the community lost an hon-

ored and respected citizen.^ one whose memory will be revered for

years to come.
George M. Kuhn, a farmer of Union Township, is a native of

Rheinpfalz, Bavaria, Germ anv, where he was born January 16,

1838, being the fourth in a familv of eleven children, born to Andrew^
and Mar}' (Theobald) Kuhn. The familv emigrated to the United

States, coming immediately to Shelby County in 1847, settling in
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Union Township, where they ever afterward made their home and
where the former died, January, 1S70. George M. remained at

home until he attained the age of twenty-three years, receiving a

rood common school education. December 2S, 1861, his marria£fe
with Mary C. Haug was solemnized, and to their union seven
children have been born, these six now living: Mary C, now Mrs.

Jacob Kuhn; Sarah, widow of Michael Bird; Edward, Charles,
Emma and Richard. Mr. Kuhn has always made farming his

occupation, and he has been very successful. He now owns 380
acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of St.

Zion's German Protestant Church, of which he filled the position
of Trustee a number of terms. In politics he is a Republican, but

never sought any political preferment.
Daniel Kuhn, of Union Township, is a native of Rheinpfalz,

Germany, born April 25, 1842, the son of Andrew and Maria

(Theobald) Kuhn, who were also born at Rheinpfalz. They came
to the United States the latter part of 1847, coming immediately to

Shelby County, and settled on the farm where their son Jacob now
lives and where the father died. Daniel remained at home and
assisted his parents until he attained the age of twenty-four years,

receiving a common school education such as the schools of those

davs afforded. September 23, 1866, his marriage with Louisa
Haehl was solemnized, and to their union six children have been

born, these four now living: Otilda, Herman, Louisa and Nora.
The deceased children were Julius and infant unnamed. Mr. Kuhn
has always made farming his occupation, and he has been very suc-

cessful. He now owns 240 acres of well improved land. He and
wife are members of the St. Zion's German Protestant Church.
In politics he is a staunch Republican.

Jacob Kuhn, Sr., of Union Township, is a native of Rheinpfalz,

Germany, born October 2, 1843, the next youngest in a family of

nine children, born to Andrew and Anna Maria (Theobald) Kuhn,
who were also natives of Rheinpfalz. They came to the United

States in 1847, and settled on the farm where our subject now
lives, in March 1848, and they ever since continued residents of this

county. The father died January, 1870; his widow still survives

him and has attained the good old age of seventy-eight years.

Jacob has always lived at the old homestead. He received a common
school education. November 9, 1873, his marriage with Elizabeth

Kney, was solemnized, and to their union seven children have been

born, these six now living: Anna M., Andrew J., Edward P.,

Elbert C, Katie and Walter H. Mr. Kuhn has always made farm-

ing his occupation, and he has been very successful. He now
owns 218 acres of well improved land. He and wife are members

32
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of the St. Zion's German Protestant Church. In pohtics he is a Re-

pubHcan.
Jacob Kuhn, Jr., an enterprising citizen of Union Township,

is a native of Rheinpfalz, Germany, born August 4, 1849, the

youngest in a family of four children, born to George M. and

Sophia (Silbemeger) Kuhn, who were also born in Rheinpfalz.

The}' came to the United States in 1853, coming immediately to

Shelb}^ County, and settled in Union Township, where they ever

since made their home, the father dying February 24, 1886, the

mother is still living and has attained the good old age of seventy-
six years. He received a common school education, such as the

schools of the vicinity afforded. November 7, 1878, his marriage
with Mary Louisa Kuhn was solemnized, and to their union six

children have been born, these four now living: Arno Michael,

Sophia Maria, Reinhold George and Lillie May. Mr. Kuhn has

always made farming his occupation, and he has been quite success-

ful. He now owns 167 acres of well improved land. He and wife

are members of the St. Zion's German'Protestant Church. In pol-
itics he is a Democrat.

Jacob Keppel, a prominent citizen and native of Union Town-

ship, was born April 11, 1841, the second in a family of three

children born to John G. and Susan (Carpenter) Keppel, who were
natives of Germany and Pennsylvania, respectively. They came
to Shelby County about 1833, and settled on the farm where Jacob
now lives, and where they lived until their deaths, he dying in 1861,
and she in 1874. Our subject has always resided at the old home-

stead, receiving a limited education in consequence of the poor
facilities of those days. February 28, 1866, his marriage with

Mary C. Coers was solemnized, and to their union ten children

were born, of whom these seven are now living: William E.,

Mary E., Jacob D., John H., George C, Charles F., and Bar-
bara E. June 14, 1 88 1, he suffered the bereavement of losing his

beloved wife. Mr. Keppel has always followed agricultural pur-
suits and he has been very successful. He now owns no acres of

well improved land. He belongs to St. Zion's German Protest-

ant Church, having served as Trustee in that organization. In poli-
tics he is a Democrat, and for the past five years has had the direc-

tion of the school for his district.

Lewis Linville, an old citizen of Union Township, is a native

of Stokes Count}^ N. C, born September 28, 1818, the eldest in a

family of six children born to John and Frances (Crim) Linville,
who were also natives of North CaroHna. The}" came to Shelby
County in 1829, and settled in Union Township, remaining, with the

exception of four years, when they lived in Howard Count}-, resi-
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dents of this county, until their deaths. Lewis remained with and
assisted his parents until he attained his majority, receiving a very
limited education, mostly obtained in the primitive log school-houses
of those daN's. November, 1839, his marriage with Sarah Zike
was solemnized and to their union nine children were born, these

six now living: James M., Nancy (Rhodes), Lorenzo, Hester

(Nigh), George and John. September, 1869, he lost his wife by
death. June 2, 1870, his and Alice DeBelFs nuptials were cele-

brated, and two children have blessed their union, Elbert, born
March 20, 187 1, and Charles, born May 6, 1875. I" 1861, Mr.
Linville enlisted in Company F, Fifty-first Indiana Regiment of

Volunteer Infantry, where he served for three years, and was hon-

orably discharged at Nashville in 1864. He was present and par-

ticipated in the following important engagements: Shiloh, Stone

River, Chattanooga and first day's fight at Nashville, and numerous
minor" skirmishes. Mr. Linville has always made farming his oc-

cupation and he has been reasonably successful. He now owns 100

acres. He is a member of the Baptist Church. In politics he is

a Republican.
William G. Macy, of Union Township, is a native of Iredell

County, N. C, and was born September 28, 1836, being the seventh

in a family of eleven children, born to William and Rachel (Worth)
Macy, the former a native of Stokes Count}', N. C, and the latter of

Yadkin County, N. C, the former born December 6, 1797, and
the latter born December 7, 1804; they were married in our sub-

ject's native count}^ William G. grew to manhood in that county, re-

maining with his parents until he attained the age of twenty-four years,

receiving a common school education, what would now be termed a

rather limited one. In i860, he emigrated to Indiana, stopping for

a period of twelve months in Wayne County, coming to Shelby

County, in 1861, where he has since made his home, with the ex-

ception of about six years when he resided in Rush County. March

5, 187 1, his marriage Avith Caroline Barnard was solemnized, and

to their union five children have been born, these three now living:
Ida L., Carey F. and Jesse E. Mr. Macy has always made farm-

ing his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now
owns 140 acres of well improved land, all the accumulation of his

own industry and economy. He and family are members of the

Friends Church. In politics he is a Republican, and under the law

of 1S82, he was honored with an appointment of Road Master.

March 15, 1878, the mother of our subject died in North Carolina,

and the father the following December, came to this county, to

finish his days with his children, and died January 25, 1887.

Thomas Mac}^ of the seventh generation counting from the birth of
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the subject, was the first white settler on the Island of Nantucket.

In line of succession was John, Jabez, Jethro, Gayer, William.

Daniel Meltzer, of Union Township, is a native of Dear-

born Count}^, Ind., born February 26, 1849, being the fourth in a

:familv of twelve children born to John F. and Sallie (Fuchs)
Meltzer, who were both natives of Germany. They came to the

United States in 1841. They returned from Ohio to Shelby

County in 1842. Daniel remained at home and assisted his parents

until he attained the age of twenty-three 3^ears, receiving a com-

mon school education. December 25, 1873, his marriage with

Lavina Fuchs was solemnized, and to their union these four chil-

dren have been born: Jacob D., Frederick W., Maggie F. and

Minnie. For twelve years Mr. Meltzer followed carpentering, but

since his marriage he has made farming his occupation, and he has

been quite successful. He now owns seventy-four and one-half

acres of well improved land. He and wife aremembers of the St.

Zion's German Protestant Church. In politics he is a Democrat.

Thomas Moberly, a citizen of Union Township, is a native of

Madison Count}', K}^, and was born January 20, 182 1, being the

next eldest in a family of three children born to Wilham and Martha

(Robertson) Moberly, who were natives of North Carolina and

Madison County, Ky., respectively, of whom both died in Ken-

tucky, the latter when Thomas was about three j^ears of age.

James Robertson, uncle of our subject, came to Shelby County
about 1822. After the death of Thomas's mother, when he was

about four years old, he came to live with his uncle, Robertson, by
whom he was reared to manhood, receiving, what was for those

days, a good education. February, 1842, his marriage with

Miss Julilah Barnes was solemnized, and to their union these six

children have been born: John M., who married Miss Mary De-

Witt; William, whose wife was Missouri Woodan; James, Mary,
now Mrs. Dr. A. M. Pherson; Martha, and Edward, whose con-

sort was Carrie Yarling. Mr. Moberly has always made farming
hiis occupation, and he has been quite successful. He now owns

150 acres of land; he originally had about 400 acres, but started

each of his children in life with some land, all the accumulation of

bis own industry and economy. He and his wife are members of

the Baptist Church. In politics, he is a Republican, and he has

b)een honored with an election to the office of Justice of the Peace,

for nine successive terms of four years each.

H. C. Pitts, a prominent citizen of Union Township, is a

native of Forsythe County, North Carolina, near Kennersville,
where he was born February 21, 1850, being the eldest in a family
of ten children born to Branson and Luzena (Cofiin) Pitts, who
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were both also natives of North CaroHna. They emigrated from

their native State to Indiana and Shelby County, August, 1864

They settled in Union Tov/nship, where the father died July, 1884.
His widow still survives him and lives at the old homestead. H. C.

remained at home until he attained the age of thirty-two years,

receiving a collegiate education at Spiceland, '72, '73, and North-

ern Indiana Normal School at Valparaiso, the summers of '78 and

'79. April 30, 1832, his marriage with Florella E. Rigsbee, was

solemnized, and to their union these two children have been born:

Lois V. and Wendell H. For the past five years his principal

occupation has been farming and stock raising, prior to that he

taught school at intervals for ten years. Mr. Pitts is quite a stu-

dent, has a large private librar}' of miscellaneous books. He and

family are members of the Friends Church. In politics he is a

Republican, and was honored in 1884, with an election to the office

of Township Trustee, and re-elected in 1886, and is the present
incumbent of that position. From a business point of view he has

been quite successful. He now owns 104 acres, mostly the ac-

cumulation of his own industry and economy.
Valentine Posz, a prominent old citizen of Union Township,

is a native of Rheinpfalz, Germany, born January 15, 1830, the

son of John Adam and Margaret (Schuhmacher) Posz. Valentine

grew to manhood in his native country, receiving a good common
school education in the schools there. In 1852, he emigrated to the

United States. He stopped for one year in Cincinnati, coming to

Shelby County in 1853, and has always hved in the county since.

March 9, 1854, his marriage with Margaret Becker was solemnized

and to their union nine children have been born, these eight now

living : Mary, wife of Daniel Callahan
; Catharine, unmarried ; Adam,

Emma; Maggie, now Mrs. John Gaheimer; Conrad, George and

Barbara. Mr. Posz has always made farming his occupation, and

he has been very successful. He now owns 120 acres of well im-

proved land. He and wife are members of the St. Zion's German
Protestant Church. His political views are Democratic.

Oliver Swain, of Union Township, is a native of Union

County, Ind., born December 22, 1829, being the next youngest in

a family of four children, born to Elihu and Hannah (Stanton)
Swain, who were natives of North Carolina and Virginia, respect-

ively. They came to Union County in a very early day, where

they continued most of the time until their deaths, he dying in 1839.
His widow survived him, married again, and lived for a time in Ohio,

but returned to the old homestead and died there October, 1886, in her

eighty-second 3^ear. Oliver remained with his parents and assisted

them until he attained the age of twent}-- years, receiving a common
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school education, such as the facilities of those days afforded.

Mr. Swain has always made farming his occupation, and he has

been quite successful. He now owns 193 acres of well improved
land. He and family are members of the Friends ChurCh. He
has always been a Republican since the organization of the party,
and he usually manifests a good live interest in the political affairs

of the Nation, State and county in which he lives, where he enjoys
the respect and esteem of all who know him.

Joseph Talbert, deceased, was a native of North Carolina,
where he was boi-n August 13, 1774. Rahah Beason was also a

native of North Carolina, born July 30, i779- They were married,
and most of their family were born in that State. They came to

Indiana in a vers' early day, and were the parents of twelve child-

ren, as follows: Thomas, Edward, William, Polly, Jesse, Eliza-

beth, Anderson, Margaret, Paris C, Sally, Charity and Joseph A.
Paris C. was born March 3, 1814. January 11, 1838, his and

Nancy Sleeth's, daughter of Judge John Sleeth, nuptials were cel-

ebrated, and to their union ten children were born. Paris C.

Talbert died December 3, 1864. His wife was born March 12,

181 7, and still survives him. Paris C. was an extensive farmer,

owning at the time of his death over 400 acres of well improved
land. Of his children, these five are now living: Sylvanus, Will-

iam, Louise J., now JNIrs. Bower; Barton M. and Madison. The
latter was born December 11, 1855. He was reared to manhood
in Union Township, remaining at home and assisting his mother
until he attained the age of twenty-three years, receiving a limited

education, his help being needed on the farm. April 12, 1879, -^^^

marriage with Capitola E. Gunning was solemnized, and to their

union these three children have been born: John W., Clara B.

and Walter B. He has always made farming his occupation, and
he has been very successful. He now owns 180 acres of well im-

proved land. In politics he is a Republican.
Barton M. Talbert was born in Union Township, February

20, 1854. ^^ ^^''''^^ reared to manhood on the farm, remaining at

home until he attained the age of twenty-three years, receiving a

common school education owing to his help being needed on the

farm, and sickness. March 21, 1S77, his marriage with Margaret
J. Fisher was solemnized, and to their union these five children

have been born: Luella, Arthur F., Effie A., Lizzie M., and Lelia
A. Fie has always made farming his occupation and he has been

very successful. He now owns 256 acres of well improved land.

His political views are Republican.
Michael Theobald, of Union Township, is a native of Rhein-

pfalz, Germany, born March 13, 1820, the son of George M.
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and Catherine (Haehl) Theobald, who were also natives of Ger-

many. The family emigrated to the United States in 1840, coming
immediately to Shelby Count}', settling in Union Township, where

they continued to reside until their deaths, the latter dying in 1875,
and the former in 1881. Our subject remained with his parents
about one year after their settlement in the countv. He received

a good education in his native country and mother tongue. No-
vember II, 1845, his marriage with Catherine Haehl was solem-

nized, and to their union twelve children have been born, these ten

now living: John J., who married Rosina Haehl; Julia E., wife of

Henrj'Weingarth; Charles H., whose consort was Sophia L. Haehl;
Rosa, now Mrs. G. G. Winters; Caroline E., unmarried; Louisa,
wife of George Fuchs; George H., who espoused Elizabeth Ilorst;

Julius E., Theodore and William. Mr. Theobald has always made

farming his occupation, and he has been very successful. He now
owns 260 acres of well improved land. He and familv are mem-
bers of the St. Zion's German Protestant Church. In politics he
is a Democrat, and he has never sought any political preferment.

Jacob H. Thomas, merchant, grain dealer and proprietor of

the saw^ mill located at Ray's Crossing, is a native of Ripley County,
Ind., born March 5, 1827, being the fourth in a family of eight
children, born to George and Elizabeth (Elder) Thom!is, who
were both natives of Tennessee. They came to Indiana in a very
early day, located for a time in Ripley County, then removed to

Rush County, where the}^ continued to reside until their deaths,
both dying in the year 1869. ^^^ immediate subject remained
with and assisted his parents on the farm until he attained his ma-

jority, receiving a common school education. December, 1847,
his marriage with Elizabeth Hefiin was solemnized, and to their

union' two children were born, this one now living, Mary E., now
Mrs. James Muse. June 8, 1854, ^^^- Thomas suffered the be-

reavement of losing his beloved wife. March 29, 1855, his and
Amanda Bramble's nuptials were celebrated, and one child blessed

their union, since deceased. Their union was also of comparative
short duration, death removing her January 8, 1857. March 19,

1859, Delilah Titus became his wife. By her he is the father of

two children: James J., who married Eliza J. Branson, and William
R. August 8, 1866, death again visited the home of Mr. Thomas,
taking his companion. In 1876, he became a permanent resident

of Shelb}', and engaged at times since at grain dealing and saw

milling. In 1878, he established his store. From a financial point
of \'iew, Mr. Thomas has been quite successful. He is a member
of the Independent Order of Red Men. In politics he has alwavs
taken a part, and always manifests a good, live interest in
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the political affairs of the county and communit}' in which he lives,

where he enjoys the respect and esteem of his fellow citizens.

Henry Weingarth is a native of Bavaria, Germany, and was
born January 5, 1844, being the fifth in a family of seven children

born to Henry and Barbara (Zimpelmann) Weingarth, who were
also natives of Germany. They emigrated to the United States in

1852, and landed at New Orleans, where the father died in April
of the following year. The family then came to Shelb}^ County,
where his widow lived until 1867, when she also died, at New Or-

leans, while on a visit to one of her daughters who had remained
there. At the early age of nine years our subject was thrown

upon his own resources. He made his home at different places in

the community, when he enlisted in Company K, Eighteenth Reg-
iment of Indiana Volunteer Infantry, where he served three years,
and was honorably discharged at Indianapolis, August 20, 1864.
He was present and participated in the following important engage-
ments: Pea Ridge, all the battles incident to the seige and capture
of Vicksburg, Fort Esparanza, Texas, and numerous minor skir-

mishes. February 22, 1868, his marriage with Julia Theobald was
solemnized, and to their union these eight children have been born:

Albert, Charles, George, Katie, Nora, Emma, Louise and Nellie.

His principal occupation has always been farming, in connection with
which he taught school for about eighteen years, and he has been

quite successful, now owning 160 acres of well improved land. He
and wife are members of St. Zion's German Protestant Church.
He also belongs to the I. O. O. F., Blue Ridge Lodge No. 554.
His political views are Republican, and he was honored with an
election to the ofhce of Township Trustee in 1880, and re-elected

in 1882.

Jacob R. Westerfield is a native of Henry Count}^ Ind.,
born July 3, 1830, being the youngest of a family of seven children

born to John, M. and Nancy (Downmg) Westerfield, who were both
natives of Ohio. Februar}', 1833, the famil}^ removed from Henry
County, to a farm three miles south of Manilla, where he con-
tinued to practice his profession, that of physician. In 1838, they
removed to Manilla, where he died in 1840. He had an extensive

practice m this and Rush County. Jacob remained with his mother
until her death, which occurred June 10, 1849. He received a
limited education, such as the facilities of the neighborhood
schools of those days afforded. January 8, 185 1, his marriage
with Nancy Headlee occurred, and to their union five children were
born, these two are now living : Mary A., widow of Franklin Tal-
bert; Sarilda, now Mrs. Kimball Barnes. February 7, 1862, Mrs.
Westerfield died. February 12, 1863, his and Mary J. Hurst's
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nuptials were celebrated, and this union has been blessed with

these five children: Granville G., Roscoe W., Maggie E., Erastus

and John E. Mr. Westerfield has alwaj's been farming, in connec-

tion with which, from 1859 ^^ 1866, he operated a saw and grist

mill, and he has been quite successful. He now owns 130 acres of

well improved land. In politics he is a Republican, and he usually
manifests a good live interest in the political affairs of the county
and community in which he lives. Mrs. Westerfield was born

July 23, 1833, she was a daughter of Elder Emmons Hurst, a min-

ister of Baptist denomination of considerable note in this section of

the State.

Tevis Wheeler, a citizen and native of Union Township, was
born July 5, 1839, ^^^ seventh in a family of eleven children born

to Reason and Polly (Batterton) Wheeler, who were both natives

of Madison County, Ky.; the former was born January 10, 1803,
and the latter April 16, 1805; they married in their native county
October 13, 1825; two years later, in 1827, they came to Shelby
County, and settled on the farm where Tevis now lives, and where

they lived the rest of their days, she dying May 20, 1878, and he

January 3, 1882. Our immediate subject always lived at the old

homestead, caring for his parents in their declining years. He re-

ceived a common school education, such as the schools of the vicin-

ity afforded. February 14, 1870, his marriage with Nancy J.

Cooper was solemnized, and to then- union one child has been born^

Jeremiah. Mr. Wheeler, like his father before him, has always
made farming his occupation, and he has been quite successful. He
now owns 160 acres of well improved land. He and wife are mem-
bers of the Baptist Church. In politics he is a Republican.

'

Thomas Wicker, an old resident of Union Township, is a na-

tive of Stokes County, N. C, born March 9, 1821, being the eighth
in a family of eleven children, born to Talley and Betty Ann

(Linville) Wicker, who were both also natives of North Carolina.

They emigrated to Shelby County in 1827, settling in Union Town-

ship, December 6, of that year, where they continued to reside until

their death, the former dying August 26, 1854, aged nearly seventy-
one years, and the latter, December 4, 1870, at the good old age
of eighty-three years and seven months. Our immediate subject
remained with his parents until he attained the age of twenty-seven

years, receiving what was for those days, a good education, such

as was to be obtained in the subscription schools those da3'S

afforded, in keeping with the primitive log school-houses of that

time. February 28, 1842, his marriage with Nancy Zike was

solemnized, and to their union eleven children have been born, of

whom these eleven are now Hving: William T., David, Catharine,
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Mary E., Sarah A., Dorothy, Nancy J., Hester A., Thomas N.,

Jasper L. and George A. Mr. Wicker has always made farming
his occupation, and he has been very successful. He now owns

217 acres of well improved land. He and wife are members of

the Baptist Church. In politics he is a Republican, but has never

sought any political preferment.
William R. Zike, farmer and stock raiser, and native of

Union Township, was born August 3, 1S51, being the third in a

family of nine children born to William and Mary (Phares) Zike, who
were natives of Kentucky and Maryland, respectively. They both

came to this count}' with their parents in a very early day, and

remained residents. WiUiam R. remained at home and assisted his

parents until he attained his majority, receiving a good common
education, sutiicjent to enable him to teach, which he did at inter-

vals for ten vears. November 2, 187 1, his marriage with Cynthia E.

Talbert, was solemnized, and to their union five children have been

born, of whom these four are now living: William W., Joseph F.,

Eddie E., and Mary E. He has alway made farming his occupa-

tion, and in connection, he has devoted a great deal of attention to

breeding and raising line cattle of the Short Horn variety, and

he has been verv successful. He now owns 150 acres of well

improved land. He also has a tine herd of cattle. He and wife

are members of the United Brethren Church. He is a man of

pronounced temperance views, and as such votes the Prohibition

ticket.

VAN BUREN SKETCHES.

Caroline Boring was born in Rush County, November 27,

1824, and is the sixth of eight children born to Wilham and Mary
(Wheeler) McCartey, natives of Pennsylvania, who emigrated to

Kentuck}^ in an earlv day, and afterward came to Indiana, and
settled in Rush Countv, and there lived until 1862, when they
came to Shelb}'' County, and here her father died in 1869, in his

seventy- sixth year, and the mother died two years previous in her

seventy-fifth vear. Mrs. Boring was married to Jacob L. Boring,
a native of Ohio, born October, 1821; he was a son of Jacob and
Catharine (Ruskiser) Boring. Seven children were the produc-
tion of that marriage, viz. : William, born 1842; Cyrus, born 1844;
Lawrence, born 1846; Mar}-, born 1849, anddiedin i85o;FrankP.,
born 1853; Jacob, born 1855 and John L., born 1858. Byoccupation
the husband of Mrs. Boring was a farmer, which he continued
until his death in August, 1865. Mrs. Boring now owns 200 acres

of well improved land, and is a devoted member of the Methodist
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Protestant Church. C3'rus Boring remained at home until twenty-
two years of age, when he was married to Catharine J. Wins-

ton, who was born in Shelby County, and is the mother of

these nine children : Jacob L., William R., Irvin, Lawrence, Adda
M., Flora B., JNIary E., Franklin W. and George C. In 1878,
Mr. Boring was elected Trustee of Van Buren Township. He be-

gan teaching school when nineteen N'ears of age, and continued

that occupation until 1885. He now owns forty acres of land in

Van Buren Township, is a Mason and a member of the Methodist

Protestant Church. John L. Boring, another member of this

family, was reared on the old home farm and received a fair edu-

cation, is by occupation a farmer and owns a sixty-acre farm. He
was married in 1877, to Miss Mary, daughter of John and Sarah

(Lapham) Hendricks, and is the mother of these two children:

Emilv L. and Eunice P. Jacob W. Boring, another representative
of this family, received an ordinarv education and at nineteen years
of afje was married to Miss Lucinda Crud, who was born in Shelby

Count}', and is the daughter of Allen and Louisa (Ballard) Crud,
natives of Ohio and Indiana. Mr. and Mrs. Boring are the parents
of four children, viz. : Addie L., Mvrtle, Murry E. and Ezra L. Mr.
Borino- continued farmini*' until 1882, when he en^aijed in the mer-

chandise business in Carlton, Ind., which he continued one year,
and then resumed his former occupation. His farm consists of

nearly 100 acres. Politically, he is a Democrat, and a member of

the Methodist Protestant Church.

Joseph E. Campbell was born in Shelby County, August 7,

1843, being the fourth of ten children, born to John and Ametia

(Ruggles) Campbell, and is of Irish origin. The grandparents of

Mr. Campbell came to Indiana in a very early day, and first settled

in Franklin County, and later removed to Rush County, and then

came to Shelby County. The parents of our subject were married

in Shelby Count}-, and began life for themselves in Moral Town-

ship, where the mother of Mr. Campbell still lives on the old home
farm, and where his father died in 1880. The subject of this

biography was raised on the farm, and at the common schools

obtained a fair education. He remained at home until eighteen

years of age when he enlisted in Company I, Fifty-first Indiana

Volunteers. He was at the siege of Corinth, battles of Stone

River, Franklin and Nashville. For four years and three months
he served his country in that memorable and terrible conflict. After

the war he engaged in farming, which he continued until 1884,
when he began general merchandising at Fountaintown, and which
he still continues, and is doing a good business. Mr. Campbell
was married in the spring of 1866, to Miss Matilda Ruggles, a
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daughter of William and Sarah (Wilson) Ruggles, natives of

Kentuck}'. Mr. Campbell is a well-known and honorable man.
William B. Davis, a native of Union County, Ind., was born

August 16, 1847, and is the second of eleven children born to Da-
vid T. and Rachel (Snodgrass) Davis, natives of Pennsylvania and
Indiana. His father was born in 181 7, and came to Indiana in

1839. The mother of Mr. Davis was born in 1825. The maternal

grandfather af Mr. Davis was a soldier in the War of 181 2. By
occupation, the father of our subject was a carpenter, and now re-

sides in Hancock County. Mr. Davis was reared on a farm, and
received an ordinar}' education. His life has been that of a farmer,
and he now owns 140 acres of land in Van Buren Township, where
he now resides. January 2, 1873, he was united in marriage to

Fannie, daughter of Nathan and Phebe (Trimble) Moon, natives

of Kentucky and Ohio. To this marriage have been born these

children: Isaac, born October 23, 1873; Mona, born December

24, 1874, ^^^^ Ma}' 5, J[877; Nathan David, born Januar}^ 22,

1877. He is a Republican, and a prosperous farmer.

Jacob K. Miller was born in Fairfield County, Ohio, Feb-

ruar}^ 7, 1835, and is the ninth of seventeen children born to Jacob
and Elizabeth (Kem) Miller, and is of German descent. The
Miller family emigrated to Ohio in 1826, and settled in Fairfield

County, and, in 1839, came to Shelby County, Ind., and settled in

Van Buren Township, and here the father of Mr. Miller died in

1850, and the mother in 1887. Mr. Miller was reared on a farm,
and received a limited education. His life work has been that of

a " tiller of the soil," and he now ov/ns a valuable farm in this

township. He was married November 25, 1858, to Miss Eliza T.

Bass, born in Shelby County, January 6, 1843, and is a daughter
of George and Anna (Copple) Bass, natives of North Carolina,
who emigrated to this count}^ and settled in this township in 1830.
To Mr. and Mrs. Miller were born the following children : Nicholas

A., Anna M., Lewis C, Noah L., and Cynthia F. Mr. Miller is

a Republican, and he and wife are members of the United Breth-

ren Church, and he is an industrious and honorable citizen.

Jacob S. Nigh, a native of Shelby County, was born Decem-
ber 8, 1845, and is the youngest of eleven children, born to John
and Cynthia (Fix) Nigh, natives of Pennsylvania, who emigrated
to Indiana and settled in Shelby Countv, in an early day. The
father of Mr. Nigh died August 26, 1856, and his mother Sep-
tember 4th, of the same year. The subject of this biography, was
a student at the common schools of this county, and at which he

received a fair education. Mr. Nigh was a member of Company
E, One Hundred and Second Regiment Indiana Volunteers, of the
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one hundred days' service, and in 1864 he again enlisted in Com-
pany F, Indiana Volunteers, and served until the close of the war.

Returning home he engaged in farming and now owns 100
acres of tine land, in Van Buren Township, where he now resides^'

In politics he is a Republican, and in 1884 was elected Trustee of

Van Buren Township, and two years later was re-elected to the

.same oflice, and is without question one of the best Trustees the

township has ever had. January 15, 1870, he was united to Miss

Mary E. Wicker, a native of this country, born October 27,

1847, and daughter of Thomas and Nancy (Zike~) Wicker, native

of North Carolina. The following children survive their mother,
who died September 4, 1886: Minnie, born December 23, 1870;
Nannie, born September 23, 1872; Thomas A., born March 10, 1876;

Verly M., born September 7, 1878 and Mary L., born October 20,
1880. Mr. Nigh is a member of the Methodist Protestant Church,
.and is a man in prominence in this countv.

Dr. William M. Pierson, a native of Indiana, was born Au-

gust 10, 1850, and is the 3^oungest of two children, born to Morris and
Lucena (Burtch) Pierson, natives of Vermont and New York,
respectively. His father emigrated to Indiana, and settled in

Switzerland County, in 1816, where he was married to Eliza Mon-
roe, who departed life in 1844. In 1827, he came to Hancock

County, and was the first Treasurer of that county, and also held

the offices of Surveyor and Civil Engineer. He died in 1878, in

the eighty-fourth year of his acje. The mother of Mr. Pierson

came to Indiana with her parents, and settled in Dearborn County,
and in 1826, came to Shelby County, and in 1838, was married to

Dr. William Silcox, who died five years later, and in 1844, Mrs.
Dr. Silcox, was married to the father of our subject, and now re-

sides in Greenfield, Indiana. The subject of this biograph}' was
educated at the public schools of Greenfield, and at the Normal

College at Lebanon, Ohio. Having served an apprenticesphip at

the painting trade for three years, and later for one year, was en-

gaged as a drug clerk, and then in the office of Dr. Adams, of

Greenfield, he began the studv of medicine. Continuing with
Dr. Adams for three years, he then attended the Indiana Medical

College, and graduated in 1874, and has since successfully contin-

ued the practice of his profession, at Fountaintovvn. Dr. Pierson

was married June 11, 1878, to Miss E. B., daughter of Hon. Jacob
and Maria (Snepp) Mutz, natives of Pennsylvania and Ohio, res-

pectively. To Dr. and Mrs. Pierson were born these children :

Oscar (deceased), Dessie M., Alma, and an infant daughter, 3'et un-

named. He is a Republican, a Mason and a K. of P. Dr. Pierson
is a careful practitioner, and has attained for himself a lucrative

practice.
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Mrs. Riioda A. Rigdox, a native of Shelb}- County, was born

May 9, 1826; she is the daughter of Henry and Sarah (Pannel)
Coalscott, natives of Maryland and Indiana. The subject of this

biograph}' was married in 1S55, to William J. Buckingham, who
was born in Ohio, December 22, 1833. He was a soldier in the

late war, enlisting in Compan}- E, Seventy-ninth Indiana Volun-

teers, in August, 1862, and died at Nashville, Tenn., December 3,

1862. Mr. and Mrs. Buckingham were the parents of two chil-

dren: Sarah A. and James W. Mrs. Buckingham was married in

1868, to William Rigdon, who was born in Fleming County, Ky.,
March 11, 1822, and was the son of James and Nanc}' (Shelly)
Rio'don, natives of Scotland and Ireland. His father was a soldier

in the War of 181 2. To the Rigdon-Buckingham union, were born

three children, viz. : Charles A., Thaddeus L., and an infant that

died unnamed. The Rig-don family came to* Indiana in 1826, and
settled in Rush County. In early life Mr. Rigdon began the study
of. medicine in the office of Dr. Kennedy, where he remained some-

time, and in 1854, gi"aduated from the Cincinnati Medical College,
and for a number of years thereafter he was engaged in the prac-
tice of his profession in the northern part of Shelby Count}'. Early
in life Dr. Rigdon became a member of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, and later in life he joined and became a minister of the

Methodist Protestant Church, and was admitted to the Indiana Con-
ference about 1863. As a preacher. Rev. Rigdon was comprehen-
sive and earnest; as a physician he was successful, and as a citizen

he enjoyed the confidence of all who knew him. Mrs. Rigdon is a

woman of culture and has been* lonp; and favorably known in this

part of the county.

John P. Wickliff was born in Shelb}', October 28, 1835, son

of Thomas and Sarah (Whitehead) Wickliff, and is of Scotch-Irish

descent. Mr. Wickliff received a good common school education.

He was reared on the farm and remained upon his father's farm
until about twenty years of age, when he was united in marriage
to Miss Margarite Fox, a native of Shelb}- County, daughter of

Jacob and Sarah (Reed) Fox, natives of North Carolina and

Indiana, respectively. As a result of the above marriage are the

following children: Eunice M., born August 7, 1858; Ida E., born
December 30, 1861; Margarite C, born January 7, 1864; Mary F.,

born December 28, 1870, and Myrtle A., born January 12, 1873.
Mr. Wickliff now owns more than 200 acres of good land, and is

an industrious farmer. He is a Democrat in politics and for many
years, has held an official connection in the Methodist Protestant

. Church. He is a well thought of citizen, and a Christian gentle-
man.
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Hon. Sidney Conger, present member of the Indiana House
of Representatives for the counties of Marion, Shelby and Han-
cock, or what has long been known as the old capital district, is a

native of this commonwealth, born in Shelby County April 28,

1850. He is a son of David and Sarah Conner, whose maiden
name was Winterrovvds. The Conger famil}- came to Shelby
County in early da3^s, and the father of Sidney was one of the pio-
neers of this county. By occupation he was a farmer. He died

in this countv, February 6, 1887. Of seven children, four now
live, of whom Sidney is the eldest. His early life was spent on the

farm. He received a common school education, and his knowledge
is of the practical kind, and on the questions of the day. His
father being poor, he was forced early in life to start out for him-

self. His marriage took place in 1871. For five years he farmed
rented land, and settled where he now lives in 1S74. He now owns
120 acres of fine and well cultivated land four miles from Flatrock.

In 1875, Mr. Conger began pa3ing attention to hne stock and

sheep, and subsequently, Jersey cattle. In 1877, he began breeding
fine poultrv, and is now one of the recognized poultry men of the

United States. In politics he has been successful as well as in

farming. He is an uncompromising Republican. In 1882, he re-

ceived the nomination and was elected Sheriff of Shelby County,

though the county is Democratic. He made one of the best Sher-
iffs the county ever had. He was elected to the Indiana Assembly
in 1886, by a majoritv of 387. He was a recognized leader and
Chairman of the Committee on Fees and Salaries. He has always
met with success in his journey through life, and has hosts of

friends wherever known. He is a Mason and also a K. of P. His

portrait appears on another page of this volume.
Henry M. Connelly, M. D., is a native of Illinois. Elijah

Connelly, his father, moved to Illinois when but ten vears old, where
he was reared as a farmer. He married Miss Koontz, who came
to Illinois very young. He started out very poor, but succeeded in

redeeming a large farm, which through misfortune, he after-

ward lost. Late in life he moved to Orey'on, where he died in 1882,
at the age of sixty-one. His wife is still living. Dr. Connelly had
a common school education and spent one 3-ear at Hartsviffe, Ind. He
prepared himself for teaching, and by doing this was enabled later

to take a thorough course at Hartsville, where he graduated in

1873. He then followed teaching, being Principal of Brookston
Acade my at Rossville, Ills. In 1878, he began reading medicine

at Elizabethtown, in the cfiice of Dr. K. D. Hawley. In 18S0, he
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entered the Medjcal College of Indiana, and graduated in 1882.

He then located at Flatrock, where he has a large practice. In

1874, he married Miss Josie Powell, born March 28, 1852; she was

the daughter of Robert and Rebecca Powell, natives of Virginia
and Kentuck}'. By this marriage one child was born: Earl, born

Mav 28, 18S6. Dr. Connelly gives his whole time to his profes-

sion, he is a thorough student and a rising man.

William M. Deiwert, Justice of the Peace, came to Shelby

County when but four years old. He was reared a pioneer far-

mer boy and attended the common schools of that time. When
twenty-one years old started in life for himself. In 1852, he started

for the gold fields of California, crossing the plains with ox teams,

and was on the road four months. He made a success here and

returned home by the Isthmus of Panama in a steamer, and from

there north by rail, arriving at home in June, 1859. He then en-

gaged in farming. He located on the farm where he now lives in

i860. He sold goods in Morristown, in 1867 and 1868. He was
Postmaster of Winterrowd four years. Early in life he was a

Whig, later a Douglas Democrat, and now a staunch Republican.
He was elected Justice of the Peace in the fall of 1874, ^^^ ^^^

been re-elected three times, which will make a term of sixteen

years. He is a member of the Ro3"al Arch Masons, and also of

the Patrons of Husbandry. He was married Februar}^ 20, 1861,

to Miss Eliza A. Newton, born in Hamilton, Ohio, November 28,

1837, a daughter of John Newton of Pennsylvania. By this mar-

riage twelve children were born, of whom eight are now living;
David J., John C, Linnis, Lottie, Katie, George, Edgar and Ethel.

Mr. and Airs. Deiwert are members of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, and are highly esteemed where known. Mr. Deiwert was
born March 2, 1828, in Montgomery County, Ohio. William Dei-

wert, his father, was born in 1788, near Portsmouth, Pennsylvania.
He lived at home, working at the shoemaker's trade until 1808,
when he started on foot for the west, and located in Montgomery
County, Ohio. A few years later he married Miss Mow, born in

Shelby County, Kentucky, March 5, 1792. Shortly after this he

enlisted in the service of the United States, in the War of 181 2,

and served a short time. He received a land warrant which secured

him a piece of land in Iowa. In 1832, he moved to Shelby County,
where he entered several tracts of land. Here he encountered
manv hardships. He helped to organize his township. He suc-

ceeded in surrounding himself with the comforts of life, and died

in 1862. His wife survived him several years and died at the age
of eighty.

D. C. DoDDS is a native of Montgomery County, Ohio. He

/
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was born March 28, 1824, the eldest of five children bom to John M.
and Hannah (Zeazel) Dodds, the former born in Pennsylvania,
in September, 1800, and the latter in Virginia, in 1802. John
Dodds came to Ohio when but a small child. Grandfather Dodds
settled in Ohio prior to the War of 1812. John was married in

earlv life and he farmed on 100 acres of land given to him by
his father. He then engaged in merchandising until 1848, when
he located at Blue River, near Shelbyville, where he purchased
330 acres of fine land. Here he lived a retired life, until he died.

He reared four sons and a daughter to manhood and womanhood,
of whom two sons are yet living, D. C. and James H., who live at

Morristown, this county. He died in 1872, and his wife in the

same year. D. C. Dodds remained at home until he was married,

Ma}' II, 185 1, to Miss Hannah Marsh, of Butler County, Ohio.

She was born May 17, 1837, a daughter of John and Ann (Ross)
Marsh, both natives of Sussex County, N. J. Soon after his mar-

riage he began merchandising, but in 1854, 8"^"^'e
this up and began

farming on Blue River. He remained here until 1870, when he

purchased his present home. Soon after this he rented his farm
and has lived a retired life. He has been Postmaster at Norris-

town for a period of eight years. He is a member of the Masonic
order of Blue Lodge. He and his wife are among- the leadino- cit-

izens of their township.

Joseph Fateley is a native of Virginia. His father, John
Fateley, was a soldier in the War of 181 2. He was a farmer, and
moved to Virginia in 1820, where he followed farming in Augusta
County the rest of his life. In his early manhood he married Miss
Barbara Beard, of German parentage. He died at the age of

sixt^'-five in 1852, and his wife died when only forty-five years.
He was married twice after her death. Joseph is the only son by
his first marriage. When but fourteen years old he was obliged
to start out for himself. In 1838, after a few years' hard work, he
came to Shelby County, and stopped at Noble Township, where he
is now living. After working seven 3^ears by the day or month,
he saved enough money to buy eighty acres of land. He then

was sick for a long time and lost his farm. He then began life

anew in 1847. He was married October 26, 1847, to Miss Sarah

J.Cookstin, of this county. She was born April 14, 1829. By
hard work, Mr. Fateley has made a success of life, and has now a

good farm and comfortable home. He is the father of eleven chil-

dren, of whom nine are now living: Mariah, Elizabeth, Emma,
Melissa, Franklin, David, Shelby, Laura, and William. He and
his wife are members of the Separate Baptist Church, and are

honored citizens.

33
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Hon. C. Girton was born Jul}^ 14, 1825, in Butler County,
Ohio. He was the eldest son of Jacob and Susannah (Hansel)
Girton, who had six children. His father was born in Salem

County, N. J., in 1799- In 1805, he moved to Cincinnati, Ohio.

He moved back to Butler County with his father when he was
fourteen. Here grandfather Girton redeemed a beautiful home
that is now owned by Elizabeth McCully, the only living sister of

our subject. Here Jacob Girton was reared. He gave exclusive

attention to farming and milling. Early in life he built a grist mill

and saw mill on Indian Creek. He came to Shelb}' County, Ind.,

and purchased the farm where his youngest son Adam Girton now
lives. He died in February, 1873, aged seventy-four 3^ears, and

his wife in September, 1884, aged eighty-four. Mrs. Girton was
a native of Ohio, born in 1800, and was reared in Franklin County,
Ind. Mr. Girton was well know and highl}'- respected. Hon. C.

Girton was reared in Butler County, Ohio, and was a clerk in his

father's store. At the age of eighteen he was able to see to his

father's business, run the mills and tend store. He remained at

home until he was married, March 4, 1849, to Miss Malinde Bake,
of Butler County, Ohio. She was born in October, 1S25, and was
a daughter of Mr. John Bake. Soon after his marriage he moved
to a farm of his father's, where he remained until 185 1, when he

moved to Shelby County. Here he run a mill for a time, and then

entjao-ed in buvinfr ""rain for a time at Flat Rock. In 1872, he

moved to Shelbyville where he built a large elevator and here did

a large business for eight years. He then moved to his farm near

Flat Rock, and built one of the first farm residences in his county.
He is a Democrat, and has served as Township Trustee and

Count}^ Commissioner. In 1876, he was elected as Representative.
He has a family of three children: Melissa, James D., Deputy
County Clerk, and Laura A., wife of Lewis Beades. Mr. and
Mrs. Girton are among- the leadin^r citizens of the vicinitv.

Adam Girton was born in Butler County, Ohio, September
4, 1832. He was the A^oungest son of Jacob Girton. Adam was
reared a farmer boy in his native county and schooled in the old

log school-house. He moved to Shelby County with his parents
in 1853. He took a position as clerk in his father's store, where
he continued until 1857, when he took an interest in his father's

planing mill, and in i860, took charge of the planing and saw
mill. He remained here until 1869, when he returned to the home
farm, where he now resides. He is a member of the Patrons of

Husbandry, and an active worker. He was married December

13, 1859, ^° Miss Adeline Tavlor, of Virginia, who was born in

1835. She died in 1869, leaving five children: Hannah, wife of
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Joseph Ryder; Arthur, Susan, wife of John Williams; Flora, wife

of David Hawkins, and Jacob. Mr. Girton married his present
wife, June 24, 1880, when Miss Anthony became the bride;
she is the daughter of Micajah Anthony. Mr. Girton has made a

success of life and now^ is w^ell off. He and his wife are highly re-

spected citizens.

Jacob Guile came to Indiana from Ohio, in 1834, when he

joined his father in Shelby County. His father had come to Shelby

County from Cincinnati, Ohio, some time previous to this. His

father was married twice, lirst to Miss Mary Howe, the mother of

Jacob, and after her death to Miss Nancy SpurHn. He was a

farmer and started in Shelby County as a pioneer. He died in 1834,

leaving a farm of 640 acres, mostly wild land. Jacob married Miss

Mary Clark, January 14, 1836. She was of this county, but was
born in Manchester, England, May 25, 1816. They resided on
their iirst farm for twentv years, then sold and located where they
now live. They have now a fine farm of 195 acres, with a good
house. They had eight children, of whom four are now living:
Martin J., Newton, Martha and Jacob A. J. Newton enlisted May,
1861, in Company A, Sixteenth Regiment Indiana Volunteers.

His regiment was in the First Brigade of the Army of the Poto-

mac, with General Banks, Division Commander. He fought at

Ball's Bluff and Winchester, and in many skirmishes. He was

discharged in May, 1862. He enlisted again May 2, 1864, in

Company E, One Hundred and Thirty-second Regiment Indiana

Volunteers, under Captain Stephen Allen. They joined General
Thomas' command at Nashville, Tennessee, and did service

through Pennsylvania, Alabama, Georgia and Kentucky. He was

discharged September 16, of the same 3^ear. Mr. and Mrs. Guile

are respected and honored citizens. Grandfather Guile was a sol-

dier in the War of 1776, and after the Battle of Lundy's Lane was
never heard of.

J. S. Hawkins, deceased, w'as born in Shelb}^ County, Ind.,

in 1829. His early days w^ere spent on a farm. He received a

common school education. Soon after he became of age he married
Miss Sarah Hogue, of this county. She was born in 1852, and
and is a daughter of Elizabeth and Sarah (Holden) Hogue. Mr.
Hawkins began dealing in grain at Shelby, in 1865, and also mer-

chandising in the county with John Edwards. He continued in

business at Shelby, until 1876, when he gave exclusive attention to

farming. He reared a famil}^ of eight children, five to manhood
and womanhood: George W., Thomas E., Tina, wife of Mr. W.
Brant; Lina, wife of Emmet Deacon. Mr. Hawkins died in 1883,

aged fifty-four and his wife in Februar}-, 1875, aged forty-three.
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He was a man of great public enterprise and good to the poor.

George W. Hawkins was reared in this township. He was born

September 30, 1856, and was the eldest son of J.S. Hawkins. He
took charge of the home farm when but thirteen years old, where
he has always lived. He was married September 30, 1880, to

Miss Jennie Rosencrans, of this county, born March 16, 1809,
daughter of T. W. Rosencrans. They had one son, Wilson S., born

July 6, 1884. Mr. Hawkins now owns eighty acres of the old

farm, where he gives his entire attention to farming. He is a

member of the Democratic party and a good citizen.

Elisha Hogue, deceased, was born in Rockbridge Count}^,

Va., in 1803. He was reared a farmer, and had but a meagre
education. He was a foreman on a plantation in earl}' life, and

drove the slaves to work. In 1820, he married Miss Sarah Hol-

den, a native of Virginia. In 1828, he moved to Rush County,
Ind. He remained there a short time and then moved to Shelby

County. He made a good home here, where he died, October,
1 85 1, at the age of fortv-eight, leaving a wife and seven children.

His wife continued to live on the farm, and died at the age of

sixty-five. Thomas C. Hogue was born in Shelby Count}', July
16, 1837. His father died when he was fifteen years old, and he

was thrown on his own resources. He worked as a farm hand,
and then served an apprenticeship as a blacksmith. In the fall of

1862, he enlisted in Company B, Fifty-fourth Regiment Indiana

Volunteers. His regiment was in the Nineteenth Corps, under

Gen. Grant, until after the siege of Vicksburg and the siege of

Jackson, Miss. He then went to New Orleans, where he v^'as dis-

charged in 1863. He followed his trade for some time, and then

began farming, when he purchased his present farm of 105 acres,

in 1870. He was married, August i, 1857, to Miss Julia A. Maple,
a native of this township, born April 9, 1840. They had five

children, three of whom are now living: Rachel, now a teacher in

the public schools; Laura, wife of Calvin Colman; Gertrude, a

graduate of the Morristown High School. Mr. and Mrs. Hogue
are respected citizens and Christian people, being members of the

Methodist Episcopal Church.
C. P. IsLEY was born in this county in Jackson Township,

January 2, 1855. He is a son of John and Sophia (Warner) Isley.
He was reared a farmer and had a common school education,
besides a year at the State University. After leavingr the Univer-

sity he taught school at Dearborn in the winter term and worked
on the farm in summer. He abandoned teaching in 1886, and run

a store at Flatrock. Here he built up a trade and is doing a fine

business, carrying a stock of $3,500 to $4,000 worth of goods.
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He is an energetic business man, courteous to all, and has many
friends. He was appointed Postmaster at Flatrock, November
i6, i8S6. He takes an active part in the pubHc welfare, and
is a liberal man. He is a member of the Lutheran Church.

John Isley, father of C. P. Isley, was born in Montgomery County,
Ohio, in 1 8 19. In 1S20, his parents moved to Decatur County, Ind.

In 1844, John came to Shelby County, where he now resides. In

1840, he was married to Sophia Warner, who is now deceased. She
died March i6, 1S73. He was again married to Sarah Mount.

By this marriage there were sixteen children, thirteen of whom
are now living. He started in hfe very poor, but by hard work,
industry and honesty, he has not only gained the respect of his

neighbors, but has made himself a beautiful home.
Samuel A. Kennedy, M. D., spent his early life on his father's

farm, and when seventeen years old, started to college at Franklin,

Pennsylvania, where he remained two 3-ears. He then began
readino- medicine in his father's office. He attended the Ohio Medi-
cal School, at Cincinnati, in 1854 and 1855. He then practiced with

his father at Shelbyville, for one year, and then returned to college to

finish. He then returned to Shelbyville to practice. From there

he moved to Marion, this county, and later located at Morristown,
where he now resides. In 1855, February 28, he married Almira

Goodrich, of Shelbyville, daughter of Nathan Goodrich. She
died in 1S61, leaving three small children, of whom two are now

living: Charlie, now a blacksmith, and Katie, wife of James Dodds.
In September, 1861, Mr. Kennedy married his first wife's sister,

Phoebe J. Goodrich. By this marriage six children were born:

Georgie, Jessie, Samuel, Frederick, Lorie and Archie. Mr. Ken-

nedy has enjoyed a good practice, and is a close student, giving his

entire time to his profession. He was born in Crawford County,
Penn., August 6, 1832. His parents, John Y. and Mary (Mac-
kinne}^) Kenned}^, came to Shelbyville in 1834. John Kennedy was
a fine scholar, and began the study of medicine when he was sev-

teen years old. He graduated from the Pennsylvania Medical

School when he was twenty. Shortly after this he enlisted in the

War of 1 81 2, going out as a surgeon, and remaining until the close

of the war. In his profession he was a success, enjoying a large

practice, mostly surgery. He died in 1882, July 10, at the age of

ninet}^, and his wife in the same year, in November, at the age of

eighty-seven. They were fine citizens and were honored by all

who knew them.
Henry Lemasters was born in Clermont County, Ohio, June

31, 1821. He was the eldest of three children, two sons and a

daughter, born to William and Polly Langsten. When a very
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small child, he was taken by his grandparents, Richard and Cath-

arine Lemasters, because of the sickness of his mother, and thus

adopted the name of his grandfather. Henry was compelled, by
the death of his parents and grandfather, to work hard in earl>' life.

When he was eighteen years old, his grandmother died, and he
started out in the world penniless. In February, 1842, he married
INIiss Susan Copland, born in Decatur, Indiana, April 23, 1823,

daughter of William and Mary (Mans) Copland. He then rented

Mr. Copland's farm, and later was given forty acres, where he
built a cabin. Later he traded for eighty acres in Addison Town-

ship. He afterward bought his father-in-law's farm, which, by
hard work, he has built up and increased until now he owns over

500 acres of land. He is the father of fifteen children, of whom
nine are now living. Mrs. Lemasters is a member of the Baptist
Church and a fine woman. Mr. Lemasters is a highly respected
citizen.

Caleb Morris ^^ as born in Addison Township, this county,

September 12, 1824. William and Martha (Young) Morris, par-
ents of Caleb, came to Shelby County in 1820, and settled on Blue
River. William was a carpenter, but when he came to Shelby
County he decided to farm. He worked hard and succeeded in

redeemino- a ijood home. Durin"; his last days he was able to live

a retired life. He died about i860. He was an active member of

the Baptist Church, and the first church organization of this county
met at his house. Caleb Morris was reared on the farm and worked
in the clearing. He received little education. He remained at

home until twenty years old, and then began learning the tanner's

trade. He was married December 21, 1848, to Miss Lydia

Thompson, a native of Virginia, daughter of Thomas and Frances

(Riner) Thompson. Soon after his marriage he purchased a piece
of land from his father-in-law^, and began farming. He sold this

and went to Illinois, but returned to Indiana, and in the fall of 1861,
located on the farm where he now resides. He is the father of

eight children, four of whom are now' living : John, Jemima, wife

of David Fateley, William and Joseph, the latter a teacher in the

public schools, and now a law' student. Mr. Morris, by honesty,

integrity and hard work, has succeeded in making a fine home. He
is a staunch Republican, and an honorable and much respected cit-

izen.

David A. Pettigew, M. D., was born in Decatur County,
Ind., March i, 185 1. He was a son of Samuel and Henrietta

(McClerrey) Pettigrew, natives of Virginia and Indiana, respec-
tivelv. He had a common school education and at the ag'e of fif-

teen, began reading medicine in the ofiice of Dr. M. E. Philips,
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where he remained for three years. He then attended the Indiana

Medical College, where he graduated in 1873. In 1880, he at-

tended the New York Medical Hospital, and then located at Flat-

rock. In 1884, he went to Lamar, Michigan, but returned again in

1886. He was married October 21, 1S74, to Miss Matilda

Schafer, who was born July 20, 1857. They had three children:

Charles, AureHa and Albert. Dr. Pettigrew is a member of the

Masonic order, and also of the United Workmen. He is a close

student and an honor to his profession.
Robert Titus came to Shelby County with his parents when

but two years old. He lived with his parents until he was twent}-
one 3^ears old, when he engaged in farming on rented land. At the

death of his father he purchased the home farm, but also owned
120 acres which he had purchased before this. He started in the

world very poor, but succeeded in making himself a fine home.
He is one of the leaders in the Democratic ranks. He served as

Township Trustee for eight years, from 1865 to 1875, excepting
two 3'ears. He also served as Constable for four 3'ears. He was
drafted in 1864, but at once hired a substitute. In 1847, May 27,
he married Miss Sarah Walker of Shelby County, who was born

September 15, 1829, a daughter of James and Eliza Walker, na-

tives of Indiana; she died March 8, 1871. In 1872, Mr. Titus

married his present wife. Miss Lydia E. Bruner, born in Forsythe

County, N. C, the daughter of George and Carolina (Livengood)
Bruner, both natives of North Carolina. Bv this marriage there

were four children, three boys and a daughter: Joseph R., born
October 17, 1875; Sarah E., born March 15, 1877; Thomas A.,
born May 12, 1879, '^"^ James D., born August 3, 1883. Mr.
Titus was born in Franklin County, Ind., April 14, 1826. He was
the eldest son, but second born of seven children to Joseph and

Margaret (Maze) Titus, the former boi^n in Pennsylvania in 1792,
and the latter born near Lexington, Ky., i799- Joseph Titus was
a farmer and came to Indiana shortlv after his marriage, but re-

turned to Ohio again, where he farmed until 1828, when he returned

to Indiana, locating in Washington Township, in this county. At
this time there were no roads, and game was abundant. By hard
work he made himself a good home, and after the death of his wife

lived a retired life. He died at the age of seventv-seven.

Harden Wasson was born in Shelby County, Noble Town-

ship, April 13, 1843. He is the son of Rev. George Wasson, one
of the old settlers of this county. He remained at home on the

farm until twenty-seven years old, his father having died when he
was but ten years old. He started farming on rented land, but

later purchased some land, but soon sold it again and worked at
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job work b}' the month. He then began farming on a small farm

in Noble Township, where he was married to Miss Miriah Fately,
the eldest daughter of Joseph Fately, of this county. In 1883, he
sold his old property and purchased his present home. By hard

work and honesty he has made himself a fine home, although start-

ing with nothing. He and his wife are members of the Separate

Baptist Church, and are worthy and honored citizens.

Andrew J. Winterrowd was reared a farmer boy near Mor-

ristown, and secured a limited education. At the age of twent}^-
one he began farming. When he was twenty-eight years old he was
elected Treasurer of Shelby County. In 1854, February 2, he
was married to Caroline L. Coleman, a resident of this township,
born February 22, 1837, daughter of John M. Coleman, one of the

old settlers of this county. B}' this marriage five children were
born: Alice, wife of Alvin Moore; Otis, Effie, wife of James
Spellman; Minnie L., wife of B. D. Spellman; and Katie, wife of

Wesley Wading. His father, Joseph Winterrowd, was born in

Pennsylvania, June 3, 1796. When but four years old he left with

his parents for Butler County, Ohio, where he grew to manhood.
In 1819, he married Miss Cynthia Bone, who was born in Warren

County, Ohio, November 13, 1804. Her parents were natives of

North Carolina, and emigrated from there to Kentucky and from

Kentucky to Ohio. Her grandfather served in the War of 1776-
Thomas H. Woolley came to Shelby County when but ten

years old. His grandfather, Thomas W. Woolley, was born in

Baltimore, England, and came over to America with his par-
ents in 1806, where he grew to manhood near Cincinnati, Ohio.

In 1 8 18, he married Miss Mary E. Craven, who was born in New
Jersey, October 12, 1794. Soon after his marriage he came to

Shelby County and located at Flatrock. The father of Thomas H.

Woolley, was the eldest of his two children. He was married
to Miss Armanda Drake, March 4, 1840. He died in 1843, aged
twenty-four years, lea^'ing two small children: Mary L. and
Thomas H. The latter was reared on a farm, and at the age of

eighteen years enhsted in Company D, Thirty-third Regiment In-

diana Volunteers. He received an honorable discharge at At-
lanta at the expiration of his term of enlistment. He married
Mrs. Nellie (Chambers) Cochran, who has born him one child,

named Wilson. He was elected Township Trustee, in 1886. He
is a member of the Masonic order, and also of the Grand Army of

the Republic.










